# **JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting**

Impact Factor (2023): 2.1 Volume 6 (2023) ISSN 2561-6722 Editor in Chief: Sherif Badawy, MS, MD, MBA

## Contents

## **Original Papers**

How People Use Web-Based Parenting Information to Support Others in Their Social Circle: Qualitative Descriptive Study (e40043)	
Reem El Sherif, Pierre Pluye, Virginie Paquet, Fidelia Ibekwe, Roland Grad.	20
Evaluation of an mHealth Intervention (Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums) Designed With and for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mothers: Engagement and Acceptability Study (e43673)	
Sarah Perkes, Belinda Huntriss, Noelene Skinner, Bernise Leece, Rosie Dobson, Joerg Mattes, Kerry Hall, Billie Bonevski.	33
Features, Design, and Adherence to Evidence-Based Behavioral Parenting Principles in Commercial mHealth Parenting Apps: Systematic Review (e43626)	
Kexin Li, Katherine Magnuson, Grace Beuley, Logan Davis, Stacy Ryan-Pettes.	49
Commercially Available Mobile Apps With Family Behavioral Goal Setting and Tracking for Parents: Review and Quality Evaluation (e41779)	
Summer Weber, Shelagh Mulvaney, Anthony Faiola, Madeline Brown, Tatsuki Koyama, Lili Sun, Susanna Goggans, Pamela Hull.	65
Understanding the Tensions of "Good Motherhood" Through Women's Digital Technology Use: Descriptive Qualitative Study (e48934)	
Danica Facca, Jodi Hall, Bradley Hiebert, Lorie Donelle.	82
Using Human-Centered Design and Cocreation to Create the Live 5-2-1-0 Mobile App to Promote Healthy Behaviors in Children: App Design and Development (e44792)	
Kiana Yau, Tricia Tang, Matthias Görges, Susan Pinkney, Shazhan Amed.	103
Health Information From Web Search Engines and Virtual Assistants About Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV Prevention in Adolescents and Young Adults: Content Analysis (e41806)	
Kaja Darien, Susan Lee, Kayla Knowles, Sarah Wood, Miriam Langer, Nellie Lazar, Nadia Dowshen	119
Health Care Professionals' Experiences and Views of eHealth in Pediatric Care: Qualitative Interview Study Applying a Theoretical Framework for Implementation (e47663)	
Charlotte Castor, Rose-Marie Lindkvist, Inger Hallström, Robert Holmberg.	126
Effects of a Smartphone App on Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among Saudi Adolescents: Randomized Controlled Trial (e43160)	
Israa Shatwan, Rabab Alhefani, Mawadah Bukhari, Danah Hanbazazah, Jumanah Srour, Shelini Surendran, Najlaa Aljefree, Noha Almoraie. 1 3 7	



Evaluating the Effectiveness of Interventions to Improve the Follow-up Rate for Children With Visual Disabilities in an Eye Hospital in Nepal: Nonrandomized Study (e43814)
Manisha Shrestha, Gopal Bhandari, Sureshkumar Kamalakannan, Gudlavalleti Murthy, Suresh Rathi, Anirudh Gudlavalleti, Varun Agiwal, Hira Pant, Binod Pandey, Ramesh Ghimire, Daman Ale, Sajani Kayastha, Rakshya Karki, Daya Chaudhary, Raghunandan Byanju, Operational Research Capacity Building Study Group
Improving Knowledge About Pregnancy for Deaf South African Women of Reproductive Age Through a Text Messaging–Based Information Campaign: Mixed Methods Study (e40561)
Hanne Haricharan, Damian Hacking, Yan Lau, Marion Heap.    162
Comparing the Effectiveness of a Web-Based Application With a Digital Live Seminar to Improve Safe Communication for Pregnant Women: 3-Group Partially Randomized Controlled Trial (e44701)
Lukas Kötting, Christina Derksen, Franziska Keller, Sonia Lippke
Parental Information Needs and Intervention Preferences for Preventing Multiple Lifestyle Risk Behaviors Among Adolescents: Cross-sectional Survey Among Parents (e42272)
Katrina Champion, Emily Hunter, Lauren Gardner, Louise Thornton, Cath Chapman, Karrah McCann, Bonnie Spring, Tim Slade, Maree Teesson, Nicola Newton.
Web-Based Conversations Regarding Fathers Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Content Analysis (e40371)
Lindsay Bouchacourt, Mike Henson-Garci a, Kristen Sussman, Dorothy Mandell, Gary Wilcox, Michael Mackert
Using Digital Communication Technology to Improve Neonatal Care: Two-Part Explorative Needs Assessment (e38435)
Kim Tenfelde, Marjolijn Antheunis, Emiel Krahmer, Jan Bunt.    251
Designing a Collaborative Patient-Centered Digital Health Platform for Pediatric Diabetes Care in British Columbia: Formative Needs Assessment by Caregivers of Children and Youths Living With Type 1 Diabetes and Health Care Providers (e46432)
Fatema Abdulhussein, Susan Pinkney, Matthias Görges, Tibor van Rooij, Shazhan Amed
The Usefulness of Web-Based Communication Data for Social Network Health Interventions: Agent-Based Modeling Study (e44849)
David Blok, Bojan Simoski, Thabo van Woudenberg, Moniek Buijzen
Using Digital Measurement–Based Care for the Treatment of Anxiety and Depression in Children and Adolescents: Observational Retrospective Analysis of Bend Health Data (e46154)
Landry Huffman, Darian Lawrence-Sidebottom, Jennifer Huberty, Monika Roots, Kurt Roots, Amit Parikh, Rachael Guerra, Jaclyn Weiser 0 1
Implementing a Digital Depression Prevention Program in Australian Secondary Schools: Cross-Sectional Qualitative Study (e42349)
Joanne Beames, Aliza Werner-Seidler, Michael Hodgins, Lyndsay Brown, Hiroko Fujimoto, Alexandra Bartholomew, Kate Maston, Kit Huckvale, Isabel Zbukvic, Michelle Torok, Helen Christensen, Philip Batterham, Alison Calear, Raghu Lingam, Katherine Boydell
Gamification to Support Adherence to a Therapeutic Ambylopia Treatment for Children: Retrospective Study Using a Focal Ambient Visual Acuity Stimulation Game (e32282)
Catheline Bocqué, Jingyun Wang, Annekatrin Rickmann, Henrike Julich-Haertel, Uwe Kaempf, Kai Januschowski
Mediating Role of Treatment Perceptions in the Relationship Between Individual Characteristics and Engagement With a Digital Psychological Intervention for Pediatric Chronic Pain: Secondary Data Analysis (e42399)
Rocio de la Vega, Tonya Palermo

XSL•F<del>O</del> RenderX

Long-term Memory Testing in Children With Typical Development and Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Remote Web-based Image Task Feasibility Study (e39720) Truong Bui, Cory Rosenfelt, Kerri Whitlock, Mickael Leclercq, Savannah Weber, Arnaud Droit, Sandra Wiebe, Jacqueline Pei, Francois Bolduc. 3 8 2	
Comprehension by Caregivers and Adolescents of Clinical Trial Information Delivered via Multimedia Video Versus Conventional Practice: Nonrandomized Controlled Trial (e44252) Kathryn Blake, Holly Antal, H Bunnell, Jiaxian He, Robert Henderson, Janet Holbrook, Suzanne McCahan, Chris Pennington, Linda Rogers, David Shade, Elizabeth Sugar, Alexandra Taylor, Robert Wise, Tim Wysocki.	399
Caregivers' Experiences With a Web- and Mobile-Based Platform for Children With Medical Complexity and the Role of a Live Platform Coach: Thematic Analysis (e43214) Ainslie Shouldice, Madison Beatty, Sherri Adams, Blossom Dharmaraj, Clara Moore, Jennifer Stinson, Arti Desai, Leah Bartlett, Erin Culbert, Eyal Cohen, Julia Orkin.	413
An After-Hours Virtual Care Service for Children With Medical Complexity and New Medical Technology: Mixed Methods Feasibility Study (e41393) Katherine Babayan, Krista Keilty, Jessica Esufali, Francisco Grajales III, Connected Care Live for Family Caregivers Advisory Group	425
Evaluation of a Mobile-Based Immunization Decision Support System for Scheduling Age-Appropriate Vaccine Schedules for Children Younger Than 2 Years in Pakistan and Bangladesh: Lessons From a Multisite, Mixed Methods Study (e40269)	100
The Acceptability of Using Augmented Reality as a Mechanism to Engage Children in Asthma Inhaler Technique Training: Qualitative Interview Study With Deductive Thematic Analysis (e40231)	438
Antonia O'Connor, Andrew Tai, Malcolm Brinn, Amy Hoang, Daniele Cataldi, Kristin Carson-Chahhoud Co-design of an Augmented Reality Asthma Inhaler Educational Intervention for Children: Development and Usability Study (e40219)	489
Antonia O'Connor, Andrew Tai, Malcolm Brinn, Amy Hoang, Daniele Cataldi, Kristin Carson-Chahhoud	502
During Pregnancy: Pilot Longitudinal Study (e53933)         Donna Balsam, Dawn Bounds, Amir Rahmani, Adeline Nyamathi.	533
Iterative Development, Validation, and Certification of a Smartphone System to Assess Neonatal Jaundice: Development and Usability Study (e40463) Anders Aune, Gunnar Vartdal, Gabriela Jimenez Diaz, Lobke Gierman, Håkon Bergseng, Elisabeth Darj	560
The Effectiveness of Interactive Text Messaging and Structured Psychosocial Support Groups on Developmental Milestones of Children From Adolescent Pregnancies in Kenya: Quasi-Experimental Study (e37359)	
A Mobile Self-Management App (CanSelfMan) for Children With Cancer and Their Caregivers: Usability	576
and Compatibility Study (e43867) Hamed Mehdizadeh, Farkhondeh Asadi, Eslam Nazemi, Azim Mehrvar, Azade Yazdanian, Hassan Emami	588
Characteristics of Inclusive Web-Based Leisure Activities for Children With Disabilities: Qualitative Descriptive Study (e38236) Mehrnoosh Movahed, Ishana Rue, Paul Yoo, Tamara Sogomonian, Annette Majnemer, Keiko Shikako	598
Prospective Association Between Video and Computer Game Use During Adolescence and Incidence of Metabolic Health Risks: Secondary Data Analysis (e44920)	
Stephanie Lebby, Sangeetha Shyam, Amutha Ramadas, Andrew Bohm, Julia Hill, Karen Fortuna, Stephanie Zoltick.	612

JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting 2023 | vol. 6 | p.3

XSL•F<del>O</del> RenderX

An Individualized Postoperative Pain Risk Communication Tool for Use in Pediatric Surgery: Co-Design and Usability Evaluation (e46785)	
Michael Wood, Nicholas West, Christina Fokkens, Ying Chen, Kent Loftsgard, Krystal Cardinal, Simon Whyte, Elodie Portales-Casamar, Matthias Görges.	624
Exploring Social Media Preferences for Healthy Weight Management Interventions Among Adolescents of Color: Mixed Methods Study (e43961)	
Selenne Alatorre, Aviva Schwarz, Kelsey Egan, Amanda Feldman, Marielis Rosa, Monica Wang.	637
Parents' Perceptions of the Factors Influencing the Uptake of Remote Pediatric Hearing Aid Support: Development of a Conceptual Framework (e47358)	
Silva Kuschke, Sheila Moodie, Keshinisuthan Kirubalingam, Robin O'Hagan, Danielle Glista.	660
Feasibility of Video Consultation for Preterm Neurodevelopmental Follow-up Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cohort Study (e40940)	
Bilge Albayrak, Larissa Cordier, Sandra Greve, Uta Teschler, Anne-Kathrin Dathe, Ursula Felderhoff-Müser, Britta Hüning.	671
Understanding Transgender and Gender-Diverse Youth's Experiences Receiving Care via Telemedicine: Qualitative Interview Study (e42378)	
Nicole Kahn, Yomna Anan, Kevin Bocek, Dimitri Christakis, Laura Richardson, Wanda Pratt, Gina Sequeira.	680
Remote Recruitment Strategy and Structured E-Parenting Support (STEPS) App: Feasibility and Usability Study (e47035)	
Katarzyna Kostyrka-Allchorne, Petrina Chu, Claire Ballard, Nancy Lean, Blandine French, Ellen Hedstrom, Sarah Byford, Samuele Cortese, David Daley, Johnny Downs, Cristine Glazebrook, Kimberley Goldsmith, Charlotte Hall, Hanna Kovshoff, Jana Kreppner, Kapil Sayal, James Shearer, Emily Simonoff, Margaret Thompson, Edmund Sonuga-Barke.	709
A Family-Based Collaborative Care Model for Treatment of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms in Perinatal Women: Results From a Pilot Study (e45616)	
Fallon Cluxton-Keller, Ardis Olson.	751
Novel At-Home Mother's Milk Conductivity Sensing Technology as an Identification System of Delay in Milk Secretory Activation Progress and Early Breastfeeding Problems: Feasibility Assessment (e43837)	
Sharon Haramati, Anastasia Firsow, Daniela Navarro, Ravid Shechter.	763
The Effectiveness of an After-school Sport Sampling Intervention on Urban Middle School Youth in the Midwest: Posttest-Only Study (e42265)	
Joseph Lightner, Katlyn Eighmy, Ella Valleroy, Bridget Wray, Amanda Grimes.	776
Supporting Children's Social Connection and Well-Being in School-Age Care: Mixed Methods Evaluation of the Connect, Promote, and Protect Program (e44928)	
Alyssa Milton, Zelalem Mengesha, Kristin Ballesteros, Tom McClean, Saskia Hartog, Lucie Bray-Rudkin, Cathy Ngo, Ian Hickie.	785
Canadian Pediatric Intensive Care Adaptations for Critically III Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Survey Study (e43602)	
Evan Parchomchuk, Tanya Holt, Gregory Hansen	877

## Reviews

XSL•F<del>O</del> RenderX

Physical Activity Surveillance in Children and Adolescents Using Smartphone Technology: Systematic	
Review (e42461)	
Nur Nasruddin, Joey Murphy, Miranda Armstrong	274

The Effectiveness of mHealth Interventions Targeting Parents and Youth in Human Papillomavirus Vaccination: Systematic Review (e47334)	
Lihong Ou, Angela Chen, Ashish Amresh	455
Social Media Interventions for Nutrition Education Among Adolescents: Scoping Review (e36132)	
Yalinie Kulandaivelu, Jill Hamilton, Ananya Banerjee, Anatoliy Gruzd, Barkha Patel, Jennifer Stinson.	648
Satisfaction With Telehealth Services Compared With Nontelehealth Services Among Pediatric Patients and Their Caregivers: Systematic Review of the Literature (e41554)	
Gergana Kodjebacheva, Taylor Culinski, Bushra Kawser, Katelynn Coffer.	691
Digital Behavioral Activation Interventions During the Perinatal Period: Scoping Review (e40937) Elisa Mancinelli, Gaia Dell'Arciprete, Davide Pattarozzi, Silvia Gabrielli, Silvia Salcuni.	734

## Viewpoint



## Exploring Parental Experiences With School-Aged Children Receiving Web-Based Learning: Cross-Sectional Study

Samaa Al Anazi<sup>1,2</sup>, RN, PhD; Eman Bajamal<sup>1,2</sup>, RN, PhD; Neama Hantira<sup>1,2,3</sup>, RN, PhD; Ola Esheaba<sup>3</sup>, RN, PhD

1

3

**Corresponding Author:** Samaa Al Anazi, RN, PhD

## Abstract

**Background:** Web-based learning has transformed education. Its ability to overcome physical barriers and deliver knowledge at the click of a button has made web-based learning popular and ensured that it will continue to be used in the future. The involvement of parents in web-based learning is fundamental to the success of the educational process, but limited attention has been paid to the impact of web-based learning on parents.

**Objective:** This study examined parental experiences with school-aged children receiving web-based learning in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia.

**Methods:** We sent cross-sectional, anonymous web-based questionnaires to school-aged children's parents. A total of 184 parents completed the survey.

**Results:** Parents' negative experiences of web-based learning (mean 4.13, SD 0.62) exceeded their positive experiences (mean 3.52, SD 0.65). The most negative experience reported by parents was their child's boredom due to prolonged sitting in front of a device (mean 4.56, SD 0.69). The most positive experience was their child's technological skill enhancement (mean 3.98, SD 88). Their child's lack of social interaction and friendship building promoted stress among parents (r=-0.190; P=.01). At the same time, their child's technological skill enhancement reduced stress among parents (r=0.261; P=.001). The most reported (63/184, 34.2%) obstacle to web-based learning was having multiple learners in the same household.

**Conclusion:** Web-based learning is a fundamental learning method and will continue to be used in the future because of its ability to overcome many barriers to education. Parental involvement in the continuity and success of the web-based learning process is crucial. However, the findings of this study illustrated that parents' experiences of web-based learning were more negative than positive. Parents who reported negative experiences reported an increase in stress and faced more obstacles due to web-based learning. Thus, more attention and intervention are needed to promote positive web-based learning experiences among parents.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e50892) doi:10.2196/50892

#### **KEYWORDS**

education; obstacles; online learning; stress reduction; obstacle; parent; parents; parental; parenting; e-learning; child; children; school; schools; student; students; experiences; experience; interaction; health outcome; health outcomes; family; dynamic; dynamics; parental experiences

## Introduction

In December 2019, a new strain of the coronavirus emerged [1], and many countries enforced anticontagion policies to slow the virus's spread [2]. Over 107 countries around the world closed their schools, causing 862 million children and young adults to remain home during the pandemic [3].

The Ministry of Education in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) suspended traditional face-to-face classes and implemented web-based learning to enforce social distancing policies; ensure the safety of teachers, students, and the community; and maintain the continuity of learning [4].

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50892

Web-based learning in the KSA included live sessions with student or recorded classes. It relied heavily on the provision of internet access to all students and teachers [5]. Additionally, the Ministry of Education used TV to broadcast lessons to students who lacked internet access. Over 127 teachers broadcast lessons to 19 TV channels [6]. The digitalization of education in the KSA during COVID-19 was essential to maintain students' academic achievements. It included the development of over 19 applications to serve the public, including the education sector. Collaboration between the government and telecommunication companies was initiated [6].



The shift in the educational process forced parents and children to transform their way of life, creating many advantages and disadvantages [7]. Web-based learning was introduced across the world, including in India [5], Pakistan [8], Indonesia [9], New Zealand [10], and Jordan [11]. It placed parents in an unusual situation, requiring increased parental involvement in children's education, compensation of children's social and interactional needs, and rearrangement of priorities to ensure the continuity of academic achievements [5,8].

Because of the gravity of COVID-19 and its devastating consequences, many parents agreed to the KSA's school closure and web-based learning policy. However, the parents faced multiple obstacles to web-based learning, such as an inability to manage several responsibilities, an inability to motivate children to carry out web-based learning, and feelings of uncertainty about web-based learning's effectiveness [12].

Parents in Indonesia reported the inability of their children to focus on their classes. The children felt bored, and parents were not able to motivate them [13]. Further, parents could not enforce web-based learning because children did not take it seriously, and they had limited understanding of the educational material [13].

Multiple factors affect parental involvement and web-based learning management, including the lack of communication between parents and teachers, lack of time to manage teaching and homework, and technological difficulties [14]. Parents also lack teaching skills and have little knowledge of educational materials [14]. Parents can use adaptation strategies for web-based learning. Coping strategies can include the establishment of a daily routine, an increase in physical activities, and positive reappraisal [15]. In studies of mindfulness and cognitive therapy, stress reduction is defined as the individual's ability to accept any unpleasant situation and promote a relationship between themselves and stressful ideas through emotional regulation [16].

As time passed and pandemic restrictions were lifted, the global perception toward educational systems changed. Many schools and universities started to view web-based learning as a new and important approach to overcome physical distance as a barrier to education.

Literature on the impact of web-based learning on parents and their children is still lacking in Saudi Arabia. Parental experiences of the shift in their children's educational processes from traditional classes to web-based learning need further investigation. This study aimed to explore parents' self-identified positive and negative experiences of web-based learning as a teaching method for their school-aged children. Figure 1, adapted from Garbe et al [12], shows the positive and negative experiences parents face during web-based learning [12]. We examined these experiences and their impact on stress reduction after 1 year of web-based learning and reported the obstacles they found. The results of this study will guide future research on the impact of web-based learning on parents and will help stakeholders formulate policies and procedures to enhance web-based learning and overcome identified obstacles.



Figure 1. Parental experiences of web-based learning.



### Methods

#### Design

A quantitative cross-sectional study design was used to explore parents' positive and negative experiences of web-based learning and parents' stress after 1 year of web-based learning. The relationship between the learning obstacles that parents reported and parents' negative web-based learning experiences was also examined.

#### Instrument

XSL•F() RenderX

Data were collected through a web-based survey. The survey and informed consent form were sent electronically to participants after obtaining institutional review board (IRB)

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50892
```

approval from King Abdullah International Medical Research Center. The survey consisted of questions about parents' demographics (10 questions), their school-aged children (13 questions), their overall positive and negative web-based learning experiences (13 items for negative experiences and 11 items for positive experiences), their stress reduction regarding web-based learning (3 questions), and the obstacles to web-based learning that they observed (3 questions).

Every item in the survey was graded on a 5-point Likert scale with 5 responses: strongly disagree (score of 1 point), disagree (2 points), neutral (3 points), agree (4 points), and strongly agree (5 points). Higher scores were associated with increased perception of a variable. The survey was adapted from Garbe et al [12] and then modified and translated to Arabic. Bajamal

et al [17] used the Arabic version to examine parents' positive or negative experiences of web-based learning. Internal consistency via Cronbach  $\alpha$  was reported at .890 and .892, with a confirmed correlation coefficient ranging from 0.52 to 0.73 and from 0.43 to 0.76. Additionally, exploratory factor analysis demonstrated a single factor with a total percentage variance of 52.89 for positive experiences and 56.83 for negative experiences [17].

#### Sample, Setting, and Data Collection

Participants were recruited using nonprobability snowball sampling. The study targeted parents with school-aged children who were enrolled in web-based classes during the COVID-19 pandemic in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia.

Those who met all of the following criteria were eligible to participate in the study: (1) mother or father of school-aged children taking web-based courses, (2) resident of Jeddah city, (3) ability to speak and read Arabic, and (4)  $\geq 18$  years of age. Participants filled out the informed consent form prior to answering the survey. The exclusion criteria were not being a parent, inability to speak and read Arabic, and younger than 18 years of age. Potential participants were recruited via snowball sampling on WhatsApp and Facebook. After the potential participants filled out the survey, the researchers identified those who met the inclusion criteria and enrolled them in the study. If participants agreed to participate in the survey after reading the informed consent form, they were directed to the survey page directly. For this descriptive study, the  $\alpha$  significant level was set at .05 with a power of 0.8. The sample size was estimated using G\*Power software (Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf). This study was the first to examine Saudi parents' experiences with web-based learning and the effect of obstacles to web-based learning on these experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. No effect size was used when conducting the power analysis. In cases such as this study, where an effect size has not been reported in the literature, the estimation of effect size is based on the researcher's logic and judgment [18]. Therefore, a medium effect size of 0.05, power of 0.80, and  $\alpha$ significance level of .05 were used to guide the statistical analysis. The targeted sample size was set at 180 parents, with the percentage of missing data presumed to be 10%. The total targeted sample size was as follows: N = 180 + 18 = 198.

#### **Data Analysis**

SPSS computer software (SPSS for Mac, version 28.0; IBM Corp) was used to analyze the data. Different types of analysis were proposed for this study. Descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables of interest, including means, SDs, frequencies, and percentages. In regard to inferential statistics, Pearson correlation coefficients were used to examine the relationships among continuous variables. Spearman correlation was used to examine the relationship among the survey items. Statistical significance was based on the standard  $\alpha$  level of .05.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

This study received ethics approval from the IRB of the King Abdullah International Medical Research Center (NRJ21J/111/04).

Electronic informed consent followed the same template of the informed consent form filed to the IRB committee. Electronic signature occurred via checking a box next to the following statement: "By checking this box, I hereby sign this informed consent electronically." Researchers' contact information was available in case questions were raised regarding the study. Potential participants were notified about the voluntary nature of participation in the study and its descriptive purpose. The fact that participation in the study involves minimum risks was also added to the consent form.

To ensure confidentiality, electronic data are stored in a computer protected by 2 passwords. Researchers used the collected data for the purpose of the study only, and data access was granted to study personnel only. Participants' data were anonymous. No compensation or incentive was delivered to the participants.

### Results

#### **Participant Characteristics**

As Table 1 shows, a total of 184 participants completed the survey. Of these participants, 139 (75.5%) were mothers. Most (n=98, 53.3%) of the participants were in the age group of 30-40 years. More than half (n=110, 59.8%) of the participants had an undergraduate degree.



#### Al Anazi et al

 $\label{eq:table_table} \textbf{Table} \text{. The sample's demographic characteristics (N=184)}. There were missing data (n=83, 45.1\%) for working hours, work shifts, and occupation related to education.$ 

Demographic variable		Participant, n (%)	
Person completing the survey			
	Mother	139 (75.5)	
	Father	40 (21.8)	
	Nonparent	5 (2.7)	
Age group (y)			
	<30	7 (3.8)	
	30-40	98 (53.3)	
	40-50	64 (34.8)	
	>50	15 (8.2)	
Educational level			
	Primary school	5 (2.7)	
	Intermediate school	2 (1.1)	
	High school	23 (12.5)	
	Undergraduate degree	110 (59.8)	
	Postgraduate degree	44 (23.9)	
Family income (SR \$; SR \$1=US 0	.26\$)		
	<3000	8 (4.3)	
	3000-5000	10 (5.4)	
	5000-8000	25 (13.6)	
	8000-12,000	33 (18)	
	>12,000	108 (58.7)	
Residency status			
	Family house	48 (26.1)	
	Separate apartment	136 (73.9)	
Person following web-based learni	ng		
	Mother only	121 (65.8)	
	Father only	4 (2.2)	
	Mother and father together	53 (28.8)	
	Another family member	6 (3.3)	
Parent occupation status			
	Working	101 (54.9)	
	Not working	83 (45.1)	
Working hours (n=101)			
	Full-time	86 (85.1)	
	Part-time	15 (14.9)	
Work shift (n=101)			
	Day	91 (90.1)	
	Night	10 (9.9)	
Occupation related to education (r	n=101)		
	Yes	49 (48.5)	
	No	52 (51.5)	

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50892

XSL•FO RenderX

```
JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e50892 | p.10
(page number not for citation purposes)
```

Demographic variable		Participant, n (%)
Parents deal with technology		
	Yes	164 (89.1)
	Somewhat	20 (10.9)
Internet connection during school closure		
	Yes	180 (97.8)
	No	4 (2.2)
Number of children		
	1	15 (8.2)
	2	48 (26.1)
	3	51 (27.7)
	>3	70 (38)
Number of school-aged children		
	1	35 (19)
	2	64 (34.8)
	3	53 (28.8)
	>3	15 (8.2)
	All <sup>a</sup>	17 (9.2)

<sup>a</sup>All children in the household, regardless of the total number of children, are school-aged and underwent web-based learning.

Further, more than half (n=136, 73.9%) of the participants lived in a separate home or apartment. Most (n=121, 65.8%) of the participants who followed up with their children for web-based learning were mothers.

Moreover, most (n=101, 54.9%) of the participants who followed up with their children for web-based learning were currently working. Most (91/101, 90.1%) of them were working during the day. More than half (52/101, 51.5%) of the participants' jobs were not related to the education field.

During school closure, almost all participants (180/184, 97.8%) had an internet connection. Almost all participants (n=164, 89.1%) knew how to use web-based learning technology.

As Table 2 shows, most (77/184, 41.8%) of the children who needed follow-ups by their parents during web-based learning were enrolled in elementary school, followed by children from elementary or intermediate school (n=33, 17.9%) and children from elementary, intermediate, or high school (n=24, 13.0%). Most (n=158, 85.9%) of these children shifted to web-based classes during COVID-19; only 26 (14.1%) participants reported that their children went to hybrid classes. During web-based learning, all children needed support from their parents. Most children (n=56, 30.4%) needed a total of 60-120 minutes of support, and the smallest proportion of children (n=34, 18.5%) needed 120-180 minutes of support.

Table . Academic profile of the children (N=184).

Demographic variable		Children, n (%)
Education level		
	Kindergarten	6 (3.3)
	Elementary school	77 (41.8)
	Intermediate school	12 (6.5)
	High school	5 (2.7)
	Elementary or intermediate school	33 (17.9)
	Elementary or high school	16 (8.7)
	Intermediate or high school	4 (2.2)
	Elementary, intermediate, or high school	24 (13)
	University level	7 (3.8)
Fully dependent during web-based classes		
	Yes	158 (85.9)
	Hybrid	26 (14.1)
Support time from parents (min)		
	<60	44 (23.9)
	60-120	56 (30.4)
	120-180	34 (18.5)
	>180	50 (27.2)

As Table 3 shows, during school closure, participants spent more time with their children doing activities such as school activities (117/184, 63.6%), web-based activities (n=67, 36.4%),

watching TV (n=66, 35.9%), and nonschool activities (n=45, 24.5%).

Table . Activities parents did with their children (N=184).

Activities	Participant, n (%)
School activities	117 (63.6)
Web-based activities	67 (36.4)
TV	66 (35.9)
Nonschool activities	45 (24.5)
Reading	33 (17.9)
Outdoor activities	29 (15.8)
Other activities	27 (14.7)
Indoor games	26 (14.1)

Table 4 shows which courses parents felt should be given<br/>priority. Table 5 shows parents' feelings and experiences ofschool closure (mean 3.88, SD 1.13) and toward school support<br/>during school closure (mean 3.39, SD 1.03).

Table . Subjects that parents felt should be prioritized during school closure (N=18
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

	• • • • •
Subjects	Participant, n (%)
Reading	142 (77.2)
Mathematics	135 (73.4)
Writing	120 (65.2)
Sciences	85 (46.2)
Others	86 (46.8)

Table . Descriptive statistics for parents' feelings.

and a person part of the statistics for particular forming	to be been pure subside for purelies reemings.		
Parents' feelings	Score, mean (SD)		
Parents' feelings about school closure	3.88 (1.13)		
Parents' feelings about school support	3.39 (1.03)		

Table 6 shows the most reported obstacles parents observed with regard to web-based learning. The highest reported obstacle was having multiple web-based learners in the same household

at the same time (63/184, 34.2%). This was followed by time constraints (n=58, 31.5%) and having an uncooperative child (n=47, 25.5%).

#### Table . Reported obstacles (N=184).

Obstacles	Participant, n (%)
Time constraints	58 (31.5)
Financial concerns	16 (8.7)
Noncooperative child	47 (25.5)
Many web-based learners in the same household	63 (34.2)

## Descriptive Statistics of Negative and Positive Experiences

The below data illustrate the overall positive and negative experiences of parents. The mean of negative experiences of web-based learning exceeded that of positive experiences, indicating that parents required more interventions to better equip them to manage web-based learning. As shown in Table 7, the total score of the negative experiences of parents regarding web-based learning was mean 4.13 (SD 0.62). The highest mean score was reported for feeling bored after sitting for a long time in front of a PC or laptop at 4.59 (SD 0.69). This was followed by a lack of social spirit and the loss of the ability to build new friendships at 4.49 (SD 0.75). The lowest mean score was reported for indigestion due to stress at 3.43 (SD 1.05), indicating that parents' negative experiences of web-based learning did not include physiological symptoms.

Table . Descriptive statistics for negative experiences of web-based learning (N=184).

Negative experiences	Score, mean (SD)
Weak direct interaction between teacher and student	4.24 (0.87)
Loss of educational motivation and low spirit of competition	4.25 (0.90)
Lack of social spirit and loss of ability to build new friendships	4.49 (0.75)
Boredom from sitting for a long time in front of the PC or laptop	4.59 (0.69)
Child's forgetfulness, inability to focus, or slowness in the development of speech or lan- guage	4.21 (0.91)
Teacher's inability to assess student performance and achievement	3.91 (1.01)
Weak vision due to sitting in front of the PC or laptop	4.19 (0.92)
Muscle pain due to sitting in front of the PC or laptop	4.16 (0.92)
Weight gain due to the lack of movement	4.05 (1.03)
Lethargy or headache	4.04 (0.95)
Spinal curvature	3.97 (1.00)
Indigestion due to stress	3.43 (1.05)
Total negative experience	4.13 (0.62)

Next, as Table 8 shows, the total score for the positive experiences of parents regarding web-based learning (mean

RenderX

3.52, SD 0.65) was lower than that for negative experiences (mean 4.13, SD 0.62). Out of all the positive experiences of

web-based learning, the enhancement of the child's technological skills had the highest reported mean score at 3.98

(SD 0.88). The lowest reported mean score was 3.05 (SD 0.95) for available time for hobbies.

Table . Descriptive statistics for positive experiences of web-based learning (N=184).

Positive experiences	Score, mean (SD)
Development of the child's research or learning skills	3.59 (0.92)
Availability of many educational resources	3.50 (0.88)
Feeling comfortable staying at home	3.54 (1.04)
Enhancement of the child's technological skills	3.98 (0.88)
Improvement of the child's independence	3.60 (1.07)
Availability of time for hobbies	3.05 (0.95)
Strengthening of the social relationship among family members	3.38 (0.97)
Strengthening of the child's ability to use many educational resources	3.63 (0.91)
Identifying the child's learning strengths or weaknesses	3.50 (0.98)
Strengthening the relationship with the child on a personal and educational level	3.46 (0.95)
Acting as a teacher for children as needed	3.50 (0.88)
Total positive experiences	3.52 (0.65)

#### Association Between Negative or Positive Experiences, Stress Reduction, and Obstacles to Web-Based Learning

 Table 9 shows the Pearson product-moment correlations among the study variables. Weak correlation was found between the variables of stress reduction after 1 year of web-based learning

and the experiences of parents. However, stress reduction after 1 year of web-based learning was positively correlated with parents' positive experiences (r=0.237; P<.01) more often than with parents' negative experiences. Further, obstacles reported by parents positively correlated with their negative experiences (r=0.209; P=<.01). The results showed that parents' experiences of web-based learning affected their stress reduction and the obstacles they reported.

 $\label{eq:table_table} \textbf{Table} \ . \ Pearson product-moment correlations among positive experiences, negative experiences, stress reduction, and obstacles toward web-based learning (N=184).$ 

Variables		Stress reduction after 1 year	Negative experi- ence	Positive experi- ence	Obstacles
Stress reduction	after 1 year				
	r	1	-0.121	0.237	0.017
	<i>P</i> value	<u> </u>	.10	.001	.82
Negative experie	ence				
	r	-0.121	1	-0.378	0.209
	<i>P</i> value	.10	_	<.001	.004
Positive experience					
	r	0.237	-0.378	1	-0.101
	<i>P</i> value	.001	<.001	_	.17
Obstacles					
	r	0.017	0.209	-0.101	1
	<i>P</i> value	.82	.004	.17	_

<sup>a</sup>Not applicable.



## Association Between Negative Experiences and Stress Reduction

experiences and stress reduction after 1 year of web-based learning. The results showed poor correlation between stress reduction and negative experiences.

Table 10 shows the Spearman correlations between negative

Table . Spearman correlations between negative experiences and stress reduction 1 year after web-based learning (N=184).

Variable	Stress reduction after 1 year, r	<i>P</i> value
Stress reduction after 1 year	1.00	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Weak direct interaction between teacher and student	-0.114	.12
Loss of educational motivation and low spirit of competition	-0.043	.56
Lack of social spirit and loss of ability to build new friendships	-0.190	.01
Boredom from sitting for a long time in front of the PC or laptop	-0.129	.08
Child's forgetfulness, inability to focus, or slowness in the development of speech or lan- guage	-0.050	.50
Teacher's inability to assess student performance and achievement	-0.018	.81
Weak vision due to sitting in front of the PC or laptop	-0.080	.28
Muscle pain due to sitting in front of the PC or laptop	-0.035	.64
Weight gain due to the lack of movement	0.007	.93
Lethargy or headache	-0.056	.45
Spinal curvature	-0.191	.009
Indigestion due to stress	-0.170	.02
Negative experience score	-0.161	.03

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

According to Table 10, stress reduction after 1 year of web-based learning was negatively correlated with spinal curvature (r=-0.191; P=.009) and the lack of social spirit and loss of ability to build new friendships (r=-0.190; P=.01), followed by indigestion due to stress (r=-0.170; P=.02) and the total negative experience score (r=-0.161; P=.03).

## Association Between Positive Experiences and Stress Reduction

Table 11 shows the Spearman correlations among the positive experience items. Stress reduction after 1 year of web-based

learning was positively correlated with the enhancement of the child's technological skills (r=0.261; P<.001), followed by strengthening of the child's ability to use many educational resources (r=0.219; P=.003), improvement of the child's independence (r=0.172; P=.02), strengthening of the social relationship between family members (r=0.171; P=.02), development of the child's research or learning skills (r=0.157; P=.03), and the total positive experience score (r=0.194; P=.008).



Table . Spearman correlations between positive experiences and stress reduction 1 year after web-based learning (N=184).

Variable	Stress reduction after 1 year, r	<i>P</i> value
Stress reduction after 1 year	1.00	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Development of the child's research or learning skills	0.157	.03
Availability of many educational resources	0.131	.08
Feeling comfortable staying at home	0.141	.06
Enhancement of the child's technological skills	0.261	<.001
Improvement of the child's independence	0.172	.02
Availability of time for hobbies	0.064	.39
Strengthening of the social relationship among family members	0.171	.02
Strengthening of the child's ability to use many educational resources	0.219	.003
Identifying the child's learning strengths or weaknesses	-0.003	.96
Strengthening the relationship with the child on a personal and educational level	0.129	.08
Acting as teacher for children as needed	0.115	.12
Positive experience score	0.194	.008

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study was the first to examine parents' reported experiences of their children's web-based learning in the city of Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Parents' reported obstacles to web-based learning and stress reduction after 1 year of web-based learning were also explored. Our results indicated that parents' negative experiences exceeded their positive ones. Additionally, parents who had positive experiences reported less stress after 1 year of web-based learning. Parents with negative experiences reported more obstacles to web-based learning compared to parents with positive experiences.

Web-based learning increased parents' responsibilities and their crucial role in web-based learning, causing them to face many challenges and difficulties. Findings from 2 international studies conducted in China and Indonesia examined parental experiences of web-based learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. Their findings agreed with this study's findings [19,20].

Out of all the negative experiences reported by parents, children's boredom from sitting in front of electronic devices scored the highest. Children's prolonged use of electronic devices to attend classes and do their homework led to a sense of boredom and decreased motivation. This sense of boredom can pose a great challenge to parents who aim to increase their child's interest and maintain their curiosity about the learning process. In 2 previous studies in Indonesia, parents used the same term, "boredom," to describe their child's feelings during web-based learning. Child boredom is associated with

RenderX

web-based learning and with the quarantine during the COVID-19 lockdown [21,22].

Parents recognized that the global pandemic led to the transformation of education and that with every hardship their child encountered, they had a positive experience or gained a skill. Skills such as independence in the learning process and the use of multiple educational resources remained crucial after the pandemic ended because web-based learning did not stop. Parents' positive attitudes and perception toward web-based learning has been proven in studies conducted in India and Indonesia [23,24]. In both countries, parents reported enhanced parental engagement in their children's education and noted the ability of web-based learning to allow education to persist despite social distancing.

Out of all the positive experiences, the enhancement of children's technological skills was the most reported by parents. Before COVID-19, the education system in some high-income countries gradually incorporated electronic devices to overcome barriers to education, such as distance and high absenteeism [25,26]. However, when the pandemic began, a rapid transformation occurred, and children had to digitalize their education. The literature argues that children's technological skills are crucial not only for education but also for their future careers [26]. Multiple studies examined the role technology plays in advancing education. Digital transformation is inevitable in the modern world. Therefore, equipping children with the necessary technological skills is important, and countries that lack resources for web-based learning will face challenges [27,28].

Parents who had more positive experiences reported stress reduction after 1 year of web-based learning. The findings of

this study confirmed that parents who adapted to web-based learning, used adaptive strategies, and viewed web-based learning as a positive event tended to experience less stress. Adaptive strategies such as planning, support, and proper communication with schools are important to facilitate the learning process, reduce stress, and enhance psychological health [29,30].

Participants with negative experiences reported greater obstacles in the education process, specifically having multiple learners within the same household. For web-based learning to be successful, proper collaboration between parents and schools and parental supervision during school days are needed. Parental engagement and supervision were reported by 81.7% of parents [24]. Parent involvement in the learning process requires parents to be attentive to children's educational needs, to ensure an environment conductive to learning, and to play the role of the teacher. All these factors can be stressful and difficult for parents with multiple children undergoing web-based learning at the same time within the same household [31]. Obstacles to web-based learning can be culturally specific as well. An Arab household can contain multiple children with ages proximate to each other, which might not be a challenge for parents from a different culture. Parents with multiple children need to give their full attention and engagement to each child, which can be challenging for the parent and for the child [32].

#### Limitations

Study data were collected from parents residing in the city of Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Therefore, the findings might not be generalizable to parents in different cities and regions within the KSA. Another limitation is the gender of the parents. The number of mothers who participated was 3 times more than that of fathers. Therefore, the results of the study are less applicable to fathers.

The use of self-reporting limited the findings because self-reports can induce social desirability bias. This can be overcome through the use of more vigorous and objective measures. However, because of financial and time constraints, only self-reports were used. Another limitation was the study's cross-sectional design. Cross-sectional study designs create ambiguity about the direction of the causal relationship between parental experiences and stress reduction. For example, did parents with positive experiences of web-based learning have lower stress, or was it the other way around?

#### **Conclusion and Recommendations**

The findings of this research highlight the experiences parents underwent when their children studied via web-based learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. Parents' experiences were more negative than positive, and parents with negative experiences reported more obstacles than parents with positive experiences. Regarding stress reduction after a year of web-based learning, parents with positive experiences were able to reduce their stress and adapt to their child's web-based learning. Given the results of the study and the possible continuation of web-based learning even after the end of the pandemic, it is important that future research investigate the ramifications of web-based learning for children's educational level, parents' ability to manage children's educational needs, and the support needed to be delivered to parents and children.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 2020 Feb 20;382(8):727-733. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017] [Medline: 31978945]
- 2. Hsiang S, Allen D, Annan-Phan S, et al. The effect of large-scale anti-contagion policies on the COVID-19 pandemic. Nature 2020 Aug;584(7820):262-267. [doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2404-8] [Medline: 32512578]
- 3. Education: from COVID-19 school closures to recovery. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. URL: <a href="https://www.unesco.org/en/covid-19/education-response">www.unesco.org/en/covid-19/education-response</a> [accessed 2023-12-06]
- 4. Alshehri YA, Mordhah N, Alsibiani S, Alsobhi S, Alnazzawi N. How the regular teaching converted to fully online teaching in Saudi Arabia during the coronavirus COVID-19. Creative Education 2020 Jul;11(7):985-996. [doi: 10.4236/ce.2020.117071]
- 5. Nambiar D. The impact of online learning during COVID-19: students' and teachers' perspective. International Journal of Indian Psychology 2020 Jun 25;8(2):783-793. [doi: 10.25215/0802.094]
- 6. Hassounah M, Raheel H, Alhefzi M. Digital response during the COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 1;22(9):e19338. [doi: 10.2196/19338] [Medline: 32790642]
- Yuhanna I, Alexander A, Kachik A. Advantages and disadvantages of online learning. Journal Educational Verkenning 2020 Dec 24;1(2):13-19. [doi: <u>10.48173/jev.v1i2.54</u>]
- Mukhtar K, Javed K, Arooj M, Sethi A. Advantages, limitations and recommendations for online learning during COVID-19 pandemic era. Pak J Med Sci 2020 May;36(COVID19-S4):S27-S31. [doi: <u>10.12669/pjms.36.COVID19-S4.2785</u>] [Medline: <u>32582310</u>]
- 9. Sutarto S, Sari DP, Fathurrochman I. Teacher strategies in online learning to increase students' interest in learning during COVID-19 pandemic. Jurnal Konseling dan Pendidikan 2020 Oct 1;8(3):129-137. [doi: 10.29210/147800]

RenderX

- Yates A, Starkey L, Egerton B, Flueggen F. High school students' experience of online learning during COVID-19: the influence of technology and pedagogy. Technology, Pedagogy and Education 2021 Jan 1;30(1):59-73. [doi: 10.1080/1475939X.2020.1854337]
- 11. Al-Salman S, Haider AS. Jordanian university students' views on emergency online learning during COVID-19. Online Learning 2021 Mar 1;25(1):286-302. [doi: 10.24059/olj.v25i1.2470]
- 12. Garbe A, Ogurlu U, Logan N, Cook P. COVID-19 and remote learning: experiences of parents with children during the pandemic. Am J Qual Res 2020 Dec;4(3):45-65. [doi: 10.29333/ajqr/8471]
- 13. Apriyanti C. The parents role in guiding distance learning and the obstacle during COVID-19 outbreak. Jurnal Ilmiah Pendidikan Dasar 2020 Jul;7(2):68. [doi: 10.30659/pendas.7.2.68-83]
- Brom C, Lukavský J, Greger D, Hannemann T, Straková J, Švaříček R. Mandatory home education during the COVID-19 lockdown in the Czech Republic: a rapid survey of 1st-9th graders' parents. Front Educ 2020 Jul 9;5:103. [doi: <u>10.3389/feduc.2020.00103</u>]
- Shanahan L, Steinhoff A, Bechtiger L, et al. Emotional distress in young adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: evidence of risk and resilience from a longitudinal cohort study. Psychol Med 2022 Apr;52(5):824-833. [doi: 10.1017/S003329172000241X] [Medline: 32571438]
- Khoury B, Sharma M, Rush SE, Fournier C. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for healthy individuals: a meta-analysis. J Psychosom Res 2015 Jun;78(6):519-528. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.03.009</u>] [Medline: <u>25818837</u>]
- Bajamal E, Anazi SA, Esheaba O, Hantira N. Psychometric properties of the Arabic version of the positive/negative experiences of parents for school-aged students about online learning during COVID-19 Pandemic Assessment Scale. BMC Res Notes 2023 Feb 28;16(1):24. [doi: 10.1186/s13104-023-06299-x] [Medline: 36855190]
- 18. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences: Academic Press; 2013. [doi: 10.4324/9780203771587]
- 19. Dong C, Cao S, Li H. Young children's online learning during COVID-19 pandemic: Chinese parents' beliefs and attitudes. Child Youth Serv Rev 2020 Nov;118:105440. [doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105440] [Medline: 32921857]
- 20. Lase D, Zega TGC, Daeli DO, Zaluchu SE. Parents' perceptions of distance learning during COVID-19 in rural Indonesia. Journal of Education and Learning (EduLearn) 2022 Feb;16(1):103-113. [doi: <u>10.11591/edulearn.v16i1.20122</u>]
- 21. Irawan AW, Dwisona D, Lestari M. Psychological impacts of students on online learning during the pandemic COVID-19. Konseli 2020 May 31;7(1):53-60. [doi: <u>10.24042/kons.v7i1.6389</u>]
- 22. Livana PH, Mubin MF, Basthomi Y. "Learning task" attributable to students' stress during the pandemic COVID-19. Jurnal Ilmu Keperawatan Jiwa 2020 Jun 20;3(2):203-208. [doi: <u>10.32584/jikj.v3i2.590</u>]
- 23. Khan SI. Online classes amid the COVID-19 pandemic: parents perspective. European Journal of Molecular & Clinical Medicine 2021 Jan 15;8(2):600-605 [FREE Full text]
- 24. Hafidz A, Muzakki A, Anam S, Sholeh M. Parental engagement in children's online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. In: International Joint Conference on Arts and Humanities (IJCAH 2020): Atlantis Press; 2020:1186-1192. [doi: 10.2991/assehr.k.201201.199]
- 25. Anderson T. Towards a theory of online learning. In: Anderson T, editor. Theory and Practice of Online Learning, 2nd edition: Athabasca University Press; 2004:109-119. [doi: <u>10.15215/aupress/9781897425084.01</u>]
- 26. Hall G. Teens and technology: preparing for the future. New Dir Youth Dev 2006 Nov 29;2006(111):41-52. [doi: 10.1002/yd.181] [Medline: 17225646]
- 27. Iivari N, Sharma S, Ventä-Olkkonen L. Digital transformation of everyday life how COVID-19 pandemic transformed the basic education of the young generation and why information management research should care? Int J Inf Manage 2020 Dec;55:102183. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102183] [Medline: 32836640]
- Danchikov EA, Prodanova NA, Kovalenko YN, Bondarenko TG. Using different approaches to organizing distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: opportunities and disadvantages. Linguistics and Culture Review 2021 Sep 3;5(S1):587-595. [doi: <u>10.21744/lingcure.v5nS1.1444</u>]
- 29. Yaghi A. Impact of online education on anxiety and stress among undergraduate public affairs students: a longitudinal study during the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Public Affairs Education 2022 Jan 2;28(1):91-108. [doi: 10.1080/15236803.2021.1954469]
- Babicka-Wirkus A, Wirkus L, Stasiak K, Kozłowski P. University students' strategies of coping with stress during the coronavirus pandemic: data from Poland. PLoS One 2021 Jul 26;16(7):e0255041. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0255041</u>] [Medline: <u>34310649</u>]
- Chang CS, Chen HM. Parental involvement in traditional and online education. Int J Learn Chang 2011 Jan 1;5(2):158-177. [doi: <u>10.1504/IJLC.2011.044188</u>]
- 32. Al Lily AE, Ismail AF, Abunasser FM, Alhajhoj Alqahtani RH. Distance education as a response to pandemics: coronavirus and Arab culture. Technol Soc 2020 Nov 1;63:101317. [doi: 10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101317] [Medline: 32836570]

### Abbreviations

RenderX

**IRB:** institutional review board **KSA:** Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50892

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 18.07.23; peer-reviewed by A Zuair, M Wang; revised version received 09.11.23; accepted 10.11.23; published 19.12.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Al Anazi S, Bajamal E, Hantira N, Esheaba O Exploring Parental Experiences With School-Aged Children Receiving Web-Based Learning: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e50892 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50892</u>

doi:<u>10.2196/50892</u>

© Samaa Al Anazi, Eman Bajamal, Neama Hantira, Ola Esheaba. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 19.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## How People Use Web-Based Parenting Information to Support Others in Their Social Circle: Qualitative Descriptive Study

Reem El Sherif<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Pierre Pluye<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD; Virginie Paquet<sup>2</sup>, MLiS; Fidelia Ibekwe<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Roland Grad<sup>1</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Family Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada
 <sup>2</sup>Health Sciences Library, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada
 <sup>3</sup>School of Journalism & Communication, Aix-Marseille University, Marseille, France

**Corresponding Author:** Reem El Sherif, PhD Department of Family Medicine McGill University Suite 300 Ch Cotes-des-neiges Montreal, QC, H3S 1Z1 Canada Phone: 1 5143987375 Email: <u>reem.elsherif@mail.mcgill.ca</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Almost two-thirds of the North American population have searched for health information on the web, and the majority report searching on behalf of someone else in their social circle, a phenomenon referred to as *proxy seeking*. Little is known about how proxy seekers use web-based health information and the outcomes they experience.

**Objective:** The main aim of this study was to explore why proxy seekers used a parenting website on behalf of parents in their social circle and the outcomes they reported.

**Methods:** A qualitative descriptive study was conducted in the context of a partnership with a web-based parenting resource to explore the contexts and motivations for proxy web-based health information seeking, use of information, and subsequent outcomes. A total of 14 participants who self-identified as family members, friends of parents of young children, or professionals who worked with young children were interviewed, and a thematic analysis was conducted.

**Results:** The following 4 reasons for proxy seeking were uncovered: for reassurance, out of personal curiosity, as part of a professional role, or following an explicit request from the parents. Information was used to provide informational support for parents or material support for a child. Positive outcomes of using the information and some of the resulting interpersonal tensions were described.

**Conclusions:** This study provides an in-depth look at proxy seeking behavior and outcomes among users of a web-based parenting resource.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40043) doi:10.2196/40043

#### **KEYWORDS**

consumer health information; information seeking behavior; child development; child health; information outcomes; health information; digital health; parenting; web-based information

## Introduction

#### **Online Health Information**

In 2020, over two-thirds of Canadians (69%) reported searching for health information on the web [1]. This is in line with results from the Health Information National Trends Survey in the United States between 2008 and 2017, in which two-thirds of respondents reported turning to the internet first for health

RenderX

information [2]. Online health information (OHI) is the term generally used to refer to information on all aspects of health (including mental, physical, and social) created for and directed toward the general public [3]. OHI is available in many formats, such as text and video, and is available at government health sites and from professional organizations, health journals, and blogs among other sources. Moreover, individuals are exposed

to OHI "posts" shared by their network through social media platforms such as Facebook [4].

#### **Outcomes of OHI Seeking**

Previous work has explored the different outcomes of OHI seeking from the individual self-seeker's perspective, and these outcomes are described at 4 levels: situational relevance, cognitive impact, use, and subsequent health outcomes of information [5]. People can use OHI in many ways, most commonly to discuss with health care providers, engage in their own health care, modify or comply with a management plan, or support relatives or friends with health conditions [5]. Using OHI is generally associated with positive perceived outcomes such as increased empowerment of consumers and their families and improved health outcomes [6-9]. There may be negative outcomes (referred to as *tensions* in previous work), such as increased anxiety or worsening of the patient-physician relationship; however, there are strategies, such as providing trustworthy resources, to reduce these tensions [10].

Several contextual factors are associated with OHI outcomes. These include age, education, income, eHealth literacy, and sources of social support [5]. Source of social support is an important factor because one of the main reasons people search for and use OHI is to support their relatives or friends with health conditions [11]. Moreover, findings from a study exploring internet use trends between 2008 and 2013 showed a significant increase in the involvement of family and friends to obtain health information [12]. Individuals are sometimes more likely to turn to their social circle to make sense of the information they find, rather than discuss it with a health professional [13,14].

#### Social Support

Social support is one of the positive products of "social relationships," which may have short- and long-term effects on health, for better and for worse, depending on their quality and quantity [15]. A model by Uchino [16] describes 2 broad dimensions of support: structure and function. Structural aspects of support are the extent or composition of one's social network (size, contact, type, density, and strength) and the interconnections among them. Functions are organized along 2 levels-perceived support and actual support-and have 3 aspects that are highly related to each other-informational, emotional, and tangible aspects. Most relevant to this study is informational support, which includes the provision of advice or guidance, and it may provide direction and carry an emotional message when received from a close source. Informational support can be construed as supportive, unsupportive, or mixed depending on context [17-19]. Emotional support is the offering of warmth and nurturance, including encouragement, empathy, trust, affection, and other positive facets, that can reduce stress or other negative emotions [16,20]. Tangible support involves the provision of material (practical) aid [16,20].

Informational social support can occur in 2 ways: an individual can request informational support from the social support provider (by discussing health information with them and asking for their help) or it can be unsolicited (the provider searches on behalf of the individuals and shares it with them). In the first case, for example, an individual's selection of the source of information depends on the individual's needs and expectations, so they may consult their friends and families when they need "more tailored emotional support in obtaining complex and serious health information" [21,22]. In the second case, a social support provider is aware of the individual's information need (eg, recently diagnosed health condition) and searches for information on their behalf to share with them, supporting their health care management. Although informational support has been explored in the past, few studies have focused on its outcomes in an OHI context, and none have looked at it from the perspective of both the provider and the receiver.

#### **Proxy OHI Seeking**

Proxy information seekers can be defined as "those who seek information in a nonprofessional or informal capacity on behalf (or because) of others without necessarily being asked to do so" [14]. Proxy seekers may also be "experts," such as health librarians or health care professionals with specialized knowledge or skills to use the information with the individual with whom they share a personal relationship [23]. Although this phenomenon of proxy information-seeking behavior has been explored in the literature, especially in relation to health information, few studies have explored the context of proxy OHI seeking being linked to the use of OHI and subsequent health outcomes.

This constitutes a critical knowledge gap. People may be able to overcome low eHealth literacy by discussing the information they find with others [10]. Proxy seekers in a person's social circle may help them overcome information-seeking barriers and illness challenges (eg, they are too physically weak or mentally incapacitated to search themselves) [14]. By better understanding how proxy seekers use information with people in their social circles, information providers can better adapt the information to meet their needs, and public health interventions can target patients' friends and family with information for dissemination and use [24]. Thus, the objective of this qualitative study is to explore the motivations, contexts, and outcomes of proxy seeking behavior from the perspective of proxy seekers.

### Methods

#### **Theoretical Model**

The model guiding this work was developed by following a mixed studies literature review on proxy OHI-seeking behavior and was published elsewhere [25]. The findings from the thematic analysis of 28 included studies were used to revise the existing conceptual framework [5]. Our Outcomes of Proxy OHI Seeking model is presented in (Figure 1). Individual characteristics such as age and gender influence proxy OHI seeking, for example, most studies report that proxy seekers are more likely to be women and aged between 31 and 64 years [13,26]. The OHI-seeking process is triggered by another individual's information need, which may be explicit (stated to the proxy seeker) or implicit (eg, observed by the proxy seeker). The proxy seeker will then actively search for or passively monitor OHI to fulfill this information need. When they find a situationally relevant information object that has a positive

```
XSL•FO
```

cognitive impact, they will use it to provide informational, tangible, or emotional support for someone else. A common example of use would be the sharing of information between caregiver and patient either directly by sending them a link or printout or indirectly by discussing the information found. The proxy seeker could also act as information gatekeepers for the individual to reduce the burden of information overload or prevent conflict. OHI use will lead to separate outcomes experienced by the individual and the proxy seeker. These outcomes are generally positive; for example, information can help people make a health behavior change like quitting smoking or allow them to feel more confident and able to discuss the information with their health care providers and request different management options. There are also negative outcomes such as increased anxiety for both the proxy seeker and the individual, for example, with conflicting information or with conflicting preferences for information in general [25].

Figure 1. Outcomes of proxy online health information (OHI) seeking framework. \*If no relevant information is found then there is no OHI use, as well as no outcomes \*\*If there is a negative cognitive impact then there is no OHI use as well as no outcomes.



#### Resource: Naître et Grandir

The Naître et Grandir (N&G) website provides free, expert-based, web-based parenting information content in French that caters to people with lower health literacy levels (Grade 8 reading levels) with additional audio and video content [9]. Web-based parenting information, which encompasses all mental, physical, and social aspects of children's health, is a large subset of web-based health information on the internet [27]. In addition to directly accessing the website, N&G readers can sign up to receive a weekly newsletter containing parenting tips and links to N&G webpages tailored to their child's age and evolution.

N&G is funded by the "Lucie and André Chagnon" Foundation, a Quebec-based philanthropic organization that seeks to create conditions and environments that are favorable to the educational success of children. Since 2014, the research team of 3 coauthors (PP, RG, and RES) has worked in partnership to implement the Information Assessment Method (IAM) questionnaire to evaluate this parenting information. When N&G readers land on a web page corresponding to a specific topic (directly or from the newsletter link), a lateral tab appears, inviting them to complete the survey. The first question asks the respondents to identify with one role for the purpose of this specific web page they are rating: parent, grandparent, family member, friend or neighbor, or professional who works with children aged 0 to 8. N&G editors have been able to improve their informational content using the comments provided by the readers through the IAM questionnaire [28]. Further details on the IAM and quantitative analysis of responses from parents and entourage members have been published elsewhere [9]. The translated version of the current questionnaire is available elsewhere [29].

#### Study Design

A qualitative descriptive study was conducted using semistructured remote interviews with IAM respondents who identified as entourage members. This type of study is used to provide an accurate account of the events or experiences of participants attributed to those events [30].

#### **Ethics Approval**

Institutional Review Board approval from McGill University was obtained before the start of the study (Institutional Review Board study number: A12-B73-18A). Methods and results were reported using the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) [31]. This study was the second component of a mixed methods convergent study, and the details of the quantitative study have been published elsewhere [29].

#### **Study Participants**

A purposive sampling strategy was used to select potential participants from a data set of IAM questionnaires received between April 13, 2019, and March 30, 2021. IAM responses that were completed by an entourage member who agreed to be contacted for an interview were exported into a separate Excel (Microsoft Corporation) file. After excluding those with no valid email addresses, the final list included 71 potential participants (25 grandparents, 17 family members, 15 friends or neighbors, and 14 professionals caring for children). An invitation email was sent to these potential participants, 4 per week, in the order they had completed the questionnaire, from the oldest to most recent.

#### **Data Collection**

An interview guide was developed using an iterative process based on the Outcomes of Proxy OHI Seeking model. The guide

was pilot-tested with 2 graduate students, and the researcher's notes and interviewee's feedback were used to revise it and produce the final version. A total of 14 individual semistructured interviews were conducted in French over the phone or videoconference (Zoom [Zoom Video Communications Inc]), depending on each participant's preference. When participants responded to the invitation email, they were sent the consent form and were asked to respond with their written consent and any questions that they had.

After being introduced to the purpose of the study, the participants were asked general questions regarding web-based consumer health information and the context and resources of their information-seeking behavior. They were asked about their role as entourage members and about the members of their social circle with whom they were frequently in contact. They were reminded of the N&G web page they had rated using the IAM questionnaire and were asked to describe how and why they had landed on that page. Finally, they were asked how they used the information on the page and what outcomes they perceived as a result. The interviews were recorded, and the recordings were transcribed by a professional transcriber, translated into

English by 2 of the authors, and analyzed using web-based translation software (deepl [32]).

#### **Data Analysis**

Transcripts were imported into NVivo (Release 1.5; QSR International), and a deductive-inductive analytical approach was adopted for coding [33,34]. A coding manual was created and discussed with another coauthor (VP). The codes were progressively clustered into themes and subthemes. Coding was conducted by the first author by participant and by coding meaningful extracts into the major themes first; then, the extracts in each theme were coded into subthemes. Themes and subthemes were discussed with the coauthors throughout the coding process, and their feedback was incorporated into the coding manual.

The interview transcripts were analyzed over 5 coding sessions, as shown in Figure 2. During the fourth coding session (after 12 interviews had been conducted and analyzed), only 2 new themes emerged. Two more interviews were conducted and analyzed, and no new themes emerged. Therefore, saturation had been reached, and data collection stopped.

Figure 2. Qualitative data analysis: saturation of themes reached after 4 coding sessions.



## Results

### **Description of Participants**

In total, 14 participants were interviewed, comprising 5 (36%) grandmothers, 4 (29%) family members, 4 (29%) professionals,

and 1 (7%) friend. Most of them were female (12/14, 86%) and had a bachelor's degree or higher (8/14, 57%). Respondents completed an average of 4 IAM questionnaires over the 2 years of study period (range 1-14). Full details of the participants are presented in Table 1.



Table 1. Participant characteristics.

Pseudonym	Age group (years)	Income <sup>a</sup> (CAD \$)	Education	Profession	Entourage type	Average internet use (hours/day)
Alisson	26-44	>60,000	Bachelor's	Teacher	Family	2
Sarah	26-44	<60,000	High-school diploma	Retailer	Family	5-6
Mark	26-44	<60,000	College	Practical technician	Family	3
David	>45	<20,000	High-school diploma	Unemployed	Friend	2-3
Mary	>45	>60,000	College	Admin in adult education center	Grandmother	3
Nadia	>45	>60,000	Master's	Research coordinator on aging	Grandmother	3
Sophie	>45	N/A <sup>b</sup>	Bachelor's	Spanish interpreter	Grandmother	5
Nathalie	>45	>60,000	Master's	Retired	Grandmother	2-3
Joelle	>45	>60,000	Master's	Retired school principal	Grandmother or professional	3
Florence	26-44	>60,000	High-school diploma	Kinder garden child educator	Mother or professional	1-2
Norma	26-44	>60,000	Bachelor's	Nurse	Professional	4
Alice	26-44	>60,000	Master's	Psychoeducator (0-7 years old)	Professional	3-4
Emilia	26-44	<60,000	Certificate	Kindergarten educator	Professional or friend	>8 (work + personal)
Mathilde	<25	<60,000	CEGEP <sup>c</sup>	Student	Sister	1

<sup>a</sup>The Institute for Research and Socioeconomic Information has identified CAD \$60,000 (CAD \$1=US \$0.70) as the sustainable income index for a family of 4, indicating the income a household should have to not only meet its basic needs but also get out of poverty, while the index for a single person is approximately CAD \$27,000 [35].

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>CEGEP: CollèGe D'Enseignement GéNéRal Et Professionnel. It is the equivalent of Grade 13 in Quebec, Canada.

## Contexts and Motivations of Proxy OHI-Seeking Behavior

Two main themes were discussed in relation to the context of proxy information-seeking behavior: individual characteristics of the entourage members and the information needs that triggered the seeking of web-based parenting information. The entourage members were reminded of the N&G web page they had landed on before completing the IAM questionnaire and were prompted to recall the reason they were on that topic. The specific N&G web pages and the reasons are reported in Table 2.

All the participants described who they considered as their social circle, and in addition to family members and friends, some professionals included their colleagues and clients (parents of children in their care) in their social circle. All entourage members were in close contact with the people for whom they were seeking information by proxy. This contact may be in

person, but many also described remote contact because of either geographic location or restrictions imposed by the pandemic:

Let's say they don't live that far away, but with the COVID context, what I was doing, I was Face Timing with them on the weekends, because, among other things, their mother was extremely strict about visitation and all that. But let's just say in a context, if I look at past years, we would see each other almost every week, we would go for a little walk, but that hasn't been the case since March 2020. [Nathalie, a grandmother]

Proxy information seeking was triggered by different motivations falling under 4 broad themes: for reassurance, out of personal curiosity, for work as a caregiver, and following an explicit request from someone else. Excerpts corresponding to each theme are presented in Table 3. Several entourage members described wearing multiple hats, as professionals who worked with children and as family members or friends with children in their personal circle.



Table 2.	Latest Naître et	Grandir	(N&G)	web p	age rated	by the	participants
----------	------------------	---------	-------	-------	-----------	--------	--------------

Participant	Last N&G page rated	Context
Alisson (family)	Development: Around 5 years old	"It was really from the beginning of [my nephew's] life, when he was very small, because he came into the world prematurely and he had some pretty close follow-ups in the first months of his life."
Sarah (family)	Learning to walk	(Could not recall the specific N&G page so referenced another page). Nephew: "Well, when he first started teething, I was wondering if it was normal, say, for him to have a lot of fever, rashes, things like that, what to do to help with the toothache."
Mark (family)	Verbal dyspraxia	"Yes, it was about my son's behavioural problemsIt was one of the few times that it was pretty clear that I was overwhelmed by the situation. The calls to the family didn't inform me well enough, in my opinion, about the situation, which was still pretty sharp and pretty specific, so I went looking for very specific information on a specialized and credible site that I knew and came straight to it."
David (friend)	Tantrums: Understanding them to better intervene	Friend's child: "This is not the first time I've seen a child have a meltdown. It was because she was coming up to three years old and I was wondering what the age range really is in that."
Mary (grandmother)	The benefits of music	"My interest in the education of this grandson."
Nadia (grandmother)	The benefits of reading with your child	"Granddaughter of a child who is one and a half years oldShe comes to spend, usually, one day a week on weekends at my house."
Sophie (grandmother)	2 to 2.5 years: intellectual development	Grandchild: "How to understand her, but also how to interact well so that I can give her all theso that her development is as good as possible."
Nathalie (grandmother)	The child who doesn't like kisses	"With the [grand]children I live with now, they have two completely different personalities. Bella, the little one, she is extremely affectionate. She always wants to be stuck to us. Matteo is the complete opposite. He's a very independent child, who has to be approached gently, and me, anyway, I don't want to impose my kisses and all that."
Joelle (grandmother and professional)	Grief in children	"It was my daughter-in-law who passed awaySo, I shared that information first with my son and his girlfriend. I sent them the linkThe child lives with them full time now. I sent him the link to Naitre et Grandir to encourage him to go see it"
Florence (mother or professional)	The child who doesn't talk yet	"I have my own private home daycareAs far as my son or my friends' children are concerned, because we talk about it a lot, or the kids I currently have in my daycare, be- cause we are confronted with little viruses, little bacteria, and big worries from parents as well, Naître et grandir is a great, great source."
Norma (professional)	The basics of breastfeeding	"I'm a nurse. I work in early childhood. I've always worked in the childcare setting."
Alice (professional)	Sleep: effects on development and behavior	"I am a psychoeducator for young children aged 0-7. My clientele is mostly children with autism spectrum disorders and their families as well. Yes, it was for one of my families that I'm following up with."
Emilia (professional or friend)	Yogurt: Which one to choose? & Food rewards	"It's because basically in a course where I'm going to be doing observations, there's also the health element, and I talk to students sometimes about nutrition and being able to offer a variety without necessarily threatening to take the dessert away."
Mathilde (sister)	Lessons and homework: accompanying your child	"Sometimes, also, on health, it's more my little brother. But for kids in general, it's mostly for my babysitting."

#### Table 3. Themes related to motivations for proxy information seeking (N=14).

Theme	Excerpt	Frequency, n (%)
For reassurance	"I was clearly overwhelmed by the situation. It was one of the few times that it was pretty clear that I was overwhelmed by the situation. The calls to the family didn't inform me well enough, in my opinion, about the situation, which was still pretty sharp and pretty specific, so I went looking for very specific information." [Mark, a family member]	4 (29)
Out of personal curiosity	"It's more of a special interest, because now I'm a grandmother and the context is that I don't have a spouse anymore, so my priority now is my children and my grandchildren." [Nathalie, a grandmother]	3 (21)
For work as a caregiver	"It was to go and get ideas for games to incorporate into my program, because I was going to explain somethingLearning, active play, we explain that a little bit, and here I had to give examples of games" [Alisson, a family member who is also a teacher]	4 (29)
Following an explicit request	"Actually, it was to reassure a pregnant friend about COVID vaccine" [Norma, a professional]	1 (7)

**RenderX** 

#### **OHI-Seeking Behavior**

Participants described their strategies for searching for OHI and how they assessed the credibility of the information they found. Many participants would typically start searching for OHI by entering  $\geq 1$  keyword into a search engine (eg, "Googling the word 'vaccine'") and clicking on the first few links or selecting links to resources they recognized. In contrast, 2 participants mentioned that they started from websites they had bookmarked, including N&G, rather than Google.

Participants had different ways of thinking about the credibility of a website, and for the most part, they preferred websites from institutions they recognized:

Mostly I look for it to be recognized, for it to be something I've heard of or seen before, if it's a medical clinic I know, Mayo Clinic in the United States. [Alice, a professional]

Some participants would check the credentials of the authors, and the validity of the references. Websites that had "too many ads" or "several spelling mistakes" were considered less credible. Several described using a critical attitude when assessing websites:

There's a bit of intuition, there's a bit of experience. I have a little trouble believing anything too. There's a lot of quackery on the Internet, and I'm wary of sites that aren't officially licensed. [Mary, a grandmother]

After checking a few sites or trying different keywords, the seeker would decide that they had found something relevant after triangulating from different resources:

After three references that talk about the same thing, that give about the same result. [Alice, a professional]

Some participants described the cognitive impact of the information, which gave them personal satisfaction to know more, allowed them to learn something new, or confirmed something they already knew:

It's because of what I've already studied and what I know, and then I'm mostly looking for either validation of the information I already have or to see if it's already out there in the mainstream at this point, if there is another way to explain it more easily. [Alice, a professional or aunt]

#### **Using Relevant Web-Based Parenting Information**

Participants described how they used the information they found on the N&G web page that they recently rated in symbolic and instrumental manners. Themes related to information use are listed in Table 4. With regard to *symbolic use*, most used the information to provide informational support to someone in their social circle. They sometimes shared the link to a relevant web page directly with the child's parent:

A lot of times I'll send her [the child's mother] a little message on Facebook in a private message, I'll send her the link outright. [Sophie, a grandmother] The 29% (4/14) of professionals described situations in which they would share the links to N&G web pages with the parents of children in their care after the parent had mentioned specific concerns on the topic:

I have a child who went to get vaccinated, and the mom was worried because he had had a reaction to his vaccines before and now, he was on the next vaccine. So, to reassure her, I sent the link two days ago to the mother which came from Naître et grandir. [Florence, a professional]

Other times, participants discussed the content of the web page without sharing the link itself:

I share my perspective (with my son), but my perspective is kind of informed by that information from N&G. [Nadia, a grandmother]

The entourage member would sometimes also discuss the information they found with people other than the individual for whom they were searching to help them make sense of it:

I am lucky enough to work with professionals in speech therapy, special education, and psychology, so at work it's fun to have a credible second opinion, to confirm or to refute. [Mark, a family member]

In contrast, in some situations, they did not share the information at all, often to avoid tension or conflict with the individual.

#### For example:

I'll take on the role of the specialist with respect to my sister, so sometimes that leads to discussions that are less pleasant. [Emilia, a professional]

Overall, 14% (2/14) of grandmothers discussed not sharing the information because they did not want to appear too intrusive or too judgmental about their children's parenting, as one of them said the following:

*Giving out information that is not sought after is, in my opinion, a waste of time* [Nathalie, a grandmother]

Another way the participants used the information was to provide material support (ie, *instrumental use*). This was specifically true for family members who were occasionally entrusted with the care of a child. Mathilde described using the information she found to help her brother with his homework while she was babysitting him in the evenings. A total of 36% (4/11) of grandmothers described learning new ways to interact with their grandchildren while they were spending time with them:

I'm going to make him do a recipe. We're not going to do math, we're not going to do written problems, we're going to do a muffin recipe. [Alisson]

Finally, one grandmother described providing emotional support to her bereaved son after she read relevant information on N&G:

It was more with my son that I talked about it, but really, him, it wasn't so much about where I found the information as it was about discussing the grief. [Joelle, a grandmother and professional]



Table 4. Themes related to proxy information use (N=14).

#### El Sherif et al

Theme	Excerpt	Frequency, n (%)
Did not share with someone	"I don't want to give them the impression that I'm watching how they are. I find that everyone gives so much advice when you're a parent. Everyone has their idea of what's best and what not to do and all that, so I try to gauge that, not put too much on it. It's more that I keep it in mind for if they ever bring it up or something like that." [Nadia, grandmother]	7 (50)
Doing something	"It helped me to be able to guide my brother in his learning at school, to know how to help him more, what I should do." [Mathilde]	5 (36)
Shared with someone else	"I shared that information first with my son and his girlfriend. I sent them the link. There are things that I photocopied and showed to my son." [Joelle]	10 (71)
To discuss with HCPs <sup>a</sup>	"I am lucky enough to work with professionals in speech therapy, special education, and psychol- ogy, so at work it's fun to have a credible second opinion, to confirm or specially to refute." [Mark]	3 (21)
To discuss with others	"I usually print the page out or email it to the parents to read. It depends. Sometimes they read more when it's paper because I email it and it gets lost with all the other emails. But I give, and afterwards, at my meeting after: 'What did you understand? Did you get a chance to read it? Do we read it together?' and so on." [Alice]	5 (36)
To make decisions	"I'm going to go back and read it again to confirm, actually, that the approach that I want to im- plement is really in line with the information that I've had, because I wouldn't want to go on and just like stay within my capabilities and it's like just motivated me, but not really being ap- plied."[Mark]	1 (7)
To provide emotional support	"It was more with my son that I talked about it, but really, him, it wasn't so much about where I found the information as it was about discussing the grief." [Joelle]	1 (7)

<sup>a</sup>HCP: health care professional.

#### **Outcomes of Using Web-Based Parenting Information**

Themes related to the outcomes of information use are presented in Table 5. The reported outcomes of using N&G information were generally positive. The most common outcome was improvement in the relationship with others. In the case of Sophie, reading the information on her granddaughter's intellectual development allowed her to better understand her behavior. This allowed her to change her interactions with her granddaughter, which led to them being more comfortable with each other. Another grandmother, Nadia, explained how the information allowed her to be more reassuring and supportive of her son and daughter-in-law. After sharing information a few times and feeling validated, one grandmother described feeling more comfortable discussing what she had read with her son again in the future, and a professional described how sharing information with the parents of a child in her care led to better discussions.

Another commonly reported outcome was reassurance. Sarah, a family member, described feeling reassured after finding answers to her questions about miscarriages on the web. She discussed the information she had found with her partner, and they both felt reassured as a result. Norma, a professional, was approached by her pregnant friend who was concerned about the COVID-19 vaccine. After Norma shared the N&G web page on the safety of the vaccine during pregnancy, her friend was reassured and proceeded to keep her vaccination appointment.

Some participants also felt more confident in making decisions with others and being more involved in the care of the child as one grandmother described: Yes, it gives me more confidence that I'm doing it the right way and that it's okay to do it, let's say. I guess it gives me more confidence in how I'm intervening with her [Nadia, a grandmother]

One professional reported that the parents in her care were the ones who felt more confident in their interventions with their child following a discussion of the information she had shared:

Yeah, it's not perfect, they don't all change their behavior, because it's still a loop, but they quietly start to realize, and then the kids' behavior starts to decrease, and then the parents become more confident in their interventions. [Alice, a professional]

A total of 2 (14%) of the 14 participants described negative outcomes or tensions as a result of sharing information. Alisson who shared information with her sister describes one such outcome:

I have to be careful, because she didn't take it very well. She, she thought I was doubting her...she wasn't too keen on me telling her about it after all. [Alisson]

Emilia, who is a proxy seeker both as a professional and as an aunt, described how her sister would sometimes be resistant to the advice and information she shared:

At one point she told me he wasn't that bad, but sometimes when she feels exhausted about it, she tells me about it like it's a mountain, and other times, once I bring the information, it seems like she doesn't want to. [Emilia, a professional]

Emilia concluded that she had better experience of sharing information in a professional context than in a personal one.



Table 5. Themes related to outcomes of proxy information use (N=14).

El	Sh	erif	et	al

Theme	Excerpt	Frequency, n (%)
Improved relationships	"Yes. In the relationship, it's clearer when we talk. They already know what we're talking about, how, and they know." [Alice]	4 (29)
Less worried	"Not necessarily, but it reassured me. Going to see that information really reassured me. I was kind of full of questions and stuff and I was not sure about everything, so I was like, 'Okay. At the same time, I do not necessarily want to call a doctor and ask him a little bitprobably bother him for nothing.' When I saw that, I was like, 'Okay, that's good. Okay, that explains some things.' It put some answers to my questions, and I was better with myself after reading that and I felt much better." [Sarah]	3 (21)
More confident in decision-making	"Yes, it gives me more confidence that I'm doing it the right way and that it's okay to do it, let's say. I guess it gives me more confidence in how I'm intervening with her." [Nadia]	3 (21)
Tension	"I have to be careful because she didn't take it very well. She, she thought I was doubting herI was curious, and at the same time I told her about it, but she wasn't too keen on me telling her about it after all. 'You don't mind your own business, old girl." [Alisson]	2 (14)

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study explored the motivations, context, and outcomes of proxy seeking behavior from the perspective of 14 entourage members of parents of young children, seeking information on a web-based parenting resource. Most respondents played one or more roles as family members, friends, or professionals who worked with younger children. They were proxy seeking for reassurance, out of personal curiosity, as part of their professional role, or following an explicit request from their parents. They used the information to provide informational support (either by sharing the web page or discussing its content) or to provide material support for a child in their care. In some cases, they did not share the information to avoid causing tension with the parents in question. Furthermore, they generally reported positive outcomes of using the information: feeling less worried, finding an improvement in their relationship with the parent or child, and feeling more confident in future interactions. Some interpersonal tensions were described as a result of sharing the information, specifically when it was unsolicited and when it was shared in the context of a personal relationship.

This study highlights the role of social support in web-based health information-seeking outcomes. Social support has consistently been linked to better health [16,36,37]. Several explanations have been proposed to explain why this occurs; for example, social support can act to reduce the impact of stress, which subsequently improves mental health [15]. Another potential explanation is that the provision of informational support encourages the receivers to manage their health, as demonstrated in a study that explored the relationship between maintaining an improved cardiovascular health status and social support networks [38]. If we use pregnant women as another example, those who were more satisfied with perceived and received social support initiated prenatal care earlier than those who were less satisfied [39]. Pregnant women who received more informational support from people in their social network delivered newborn infants with higher APGAR (Appearance, Pulse, Grimace, Activity, and Respiration) scores (a measure of health 5 minutes after birth) and higher birth weight [39,40].

RenderX

Although informational support has been explored in the past, few studies have focused on its outcomes in the OHI context.

Negative outcomes were reported by 2 participants after proxy OHI use, specifically related to interpersonal tension. In general, negative outcomes are rarely reported: a literature review found limited reports of patient anxiety or decisions to refuse cancer treatment [41]. There were 2 studies that reported that the proxy seekers themselves experienced more anxiety sometimes owing to information overload [42,43]. The proxy seeker and the individual did not always have the same approach to OHI; situations in which the individual did not want to "know" or ignored the information led to tension and conflict [44,45]. Moreover, a mixed methods study in the context of patients with diabetes reported that the greater the proxy OHI seeking, the lesser the family members were perceived to be supportive, owing to attempted influence and interference by proxy seekers [46].

To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study to focus on the entourage of young children's parents in the context of web-based parenting information. A recent review of the literature conducted by the authors on proxy OHI-seeking behavior included 10 qualitative studies: 6 explored the perspectives of both proxy seekers and self-seekers; 3 explored the perspective of proxy seekers only; and 1 explored the perspective of self-seekers who relied on others to make sense of the information. Most studies (7/10, 70%) focused exclusively on caregivers of patients diagnosed with a chronic or acute illness; 2 focused on the care of older adult family members; and only 1 explored the health information-seeking behavior in the general population. The latter explored how Singaporeans came to make sense of web-based health information seeking and described how people's roles within family relationships necessitated proxy seeking [47]. Similar to our study, that study reported positive outcomes of proxy OHI seeking and use, such as feeling less worried.

In this study, most participants were grandparents, who also represented 12% (6309/51,325) of N&G-IAM survey respondents in the previous quantitative study [29]. One contribution of this study is the perspective of older OHI consumers as the proxy seekers rather than the recipients of support. In 2018, almost 71% of Canadians aged  $\geq 65$  years used the internet, and in 2020, almost 50% searched for health

information on the web (Statistics Canada [48]) [1]. The grandparents in our study were frequent internet users who used the information they found on the web to provide informational and material support to their children and grandchildren and reported benefits such as improved relationships and increased confidence in their abilities. A recent study that explored web-based health information seeking in older adults reported that self-seeking and proxy seeking were active coping strategies to reduce health risks and improve health promotion in health care [49]. A large number of N&G readers are professionals who work with young children outside the health care field, as reflected in our study population that included 5 educators. Although they are considered important influences in the lives of young children, few studies have explored the OHI-seeking behavior of these professionals, as reported in a recent systematic review [50].

Another strength of our work is the partnership with N&G. One major limitation of empirical studies on OHI is the inability to assess the quality of the OHI used by the participants. N&G is an expert-based OHI source for people with low health literacy levels, with additional audio and video content [9]. By decreasing the health literacy gap, people are better able to process and use information [51]. This provides a context in which the phenomenon of proxy OHI seeking can be explored without major concerns about the quality of the information. N&G is neither a traditional scientific and medical resource nor a blog. In previous research, comments from the readers of websites and blogs have been analyzed, but few researchers have conducted interviews with users of parenting websites to explore their motivations and outcomes in-depth [52].

Our study allowed us to explore different concepts within the Outcomes of Proxy OHI Seeking model in the context of entourage members of parents of young children [25]. The context, OHI-seeking behavior, OHI use, and outcomes described in this study provide tangible examples to illustrate the different outcomes. Therefore, this work provides empirical support for the Outcomes of Proxy OHI Seeking model. In addition, we can now improve the IAM questionnaire to allow for response items catered to entourage members, as the IAM was originally developed and validated with parents.

There are 4 main limitations to our study. Although we attempted to recruit more men, most participants were women

(12/14, 86%), and this corresponds to the gender of the respondents to the IAM questionnaire (on average, 90% of respondents were women). Although this lack of heterogeneity may be considered a limitation, studies have consistently reported that most OHI proxy seekers are women, as reflected in our sample [13,53-55]. In a recent analysis of IAM responses by N&G users with low socioeconomic status, our team reported that fathers were more likely to report the benefits of N&G information than mothers [56]. This highlights the need to target men OHI seekers with inclusive information and to explore their use of OHI in future studies. The second limitation is that we only explored the viewpoint of proxy seekers and did not interview the parents for whom they were searching. These interviews may have provided a fuller picture of this phenomenon but were beyond the scope of this study. The third limitation is that the author who conducted the qualitative data analysis (in English) was not the author who conducted the interviews (in French). To mitigate this, the authors held frequent meetings throughout the study: before and after each interview and during the qualitative data analysis. The final limitation is that the contextual factors related to proxy OHI-seeking outcomes were not assessed within the scope of this study. Future work can explore the relationship between proxy seekers' characteristics and the outcomes they report.

#### Conclusions

This study supported our Outcomes of Proxy OHI Seeking model. We plan to use this study to improve the IAM questionnaire implemented by information providers in Canada. From a practical standpoint, this is an important topic for information specialists, primary health care practitioners, and public health officials. By better understanding how an individual's entourage uses information and experiences subsequent outcomes, information providers can better adapt their information to meet their needs, while health care practitioners can target the patients' entourage with web-based health information resources. Public health interventions aimed at supporting parents can do so by improving their social networks (eg, by facilitating longitudinal relationships with proxies such as other parents or extended family members). Other professionals involved in the support of parents and their children (eg, day care educators and teachers) can be specifically targeted with reliable OHI to promote positive outcomes.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was sponsored by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research through a doctoral research award (# 201710GSD-402379-251380) granted to the first author and by Naître et Grandir (Foundation *Lucie & André Chagnon*). This study is part of the first author's doctoral project, and the coauthors are her colleague, supervisor, and members of her thesis committee.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

All authors contributed to the study design and review of this manuscript. PP, RG, and VP contributed to the data collection. The first author and VP conducted the qualitative data analysis. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the results (*Discussion* section). The authors gratefully acknowledge the help of Quan Nha Hong for the revision of this manuscript and Geneviève Doray (Naître et Grandir Editor-in-Chief) for her ongoing support.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

PP and RG are consultants for Naître et Grandir.

#### References

- Table 22-10-0137-01 Selected online activities by gender, age group and highest certificate, diploma or degree completed. Statistics Canada. 2021 Jun 22. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=2210013701</u> [accessed 2022-06-01]
- Finney Rutten LJ, Blake KD, Greenberg-Worisek AJ, Allen SV, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Online health information seeking among US adults: measuring progress toward a healthy people 2020 objective. Public Health Rep 2019;134(6):617-625. [doi: 10.1177/0033354919874074] [Medline: 31513756]
- 3. Sillence E, Briggs P, Harris PR, Fishwick L. How do patients evaluate and make use of online health information? Soc Sci Med 2007 May;64(9):1853-1862 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.01.012] [Medline: 17328998]
- 4. Fox S. The social life of health information. Pew Research Center. 2011 May 12. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> internet/2011/05/12/the-social-life-of-health-information-2011/ [accessed 2022-06-01]
- 5. Pluye P, El Sherif R, Granikov V, Hong Q, Vedel I, Galvao M, et al. Health outcomes of online consumer health information: a systematic mixed studies review with framework synthesis. J Assoc Inf Sci Technol 2019 Jul;70(7):643-659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/asi.24178] [Medline: 31423458]
- Amante DJ, Hogan TP, Pagoto SL, English TM, Lapane KL. Access to care and use of the internet to search for health information: results from the US national health interview survey. J Med Internet Res 2015 Apr 29;17(4):e106. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4126]
- Prescott J, Mackie L. "you sort of go down a rabbit hole... You're just going to keep on searching": a qualitative study of searching online for pregnancy-related information during pregnancy. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 05;19(6):e194. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6302]
- 8. Case D, Given L. Looking for information. In: Mai JE, editor. A Survey of Research on Information Seeking, Needs, and Behavior. 4th edition. London: London Emerald Group Publishing; 2016.
- 9. Pluye P, El Sherif R, Gonzalez-Reyes A, Turcotte E, Schuster T, Bartlett G, et al. Outcomes of equity-oriented, web-based parenting information in mothers of low socioeconomic status compared to other mothers: participatory mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 10;22(11):e22440 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22440] [Medline: 33170125]
- El Sherif R, Pluye P, Thoër C, Rodriguez C. Reducing negative outcomes of online consumer health information: qualitative interpretive study with clinicians, librarians, and consumers. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 04;20(5):e169. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9326]
- Pluye P, Grad R, Repchinsky C, Jovaisas B, Johnson-Lafleur J, Carrier M, et al. Four levels of outcomes of information-seeking: A mixed methods study in primary health care. J Am Soc Inf Sci Tec 2012 Dec 10;64(1):108-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/asi.22793]
- 12. Massey PM. Where do U.S. adults who do not use the internet get health information? Examining digital health information disparities from 2008 to 2013. J Health Commun 2015 Nov 23;21(1):118-124. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1058444]
- Reifegerste D, Bachl M, Baumann E. Surrogate health information seeking in Europe: influence of source type and social network variables. Int J Med Inform 2017 Jul;103:7-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.04.006] [Medline: 28551004]
- Abrahamson JA, Fisher KE, Turner AG, Durrance JC, Turner TC. Lay information mediary behavior uncovered: exploring how nonprofessionals seek health information for themselves and others online. J Med Libr Assoc 2008 Oct;96(4):310-323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3163/1536-5050.96.4.006] [Medline: 18974809]
- Umberson D, Montez JK. Social relationships and health: a flashpoint for health policy. J Health Soc Behav 2010 Oct 08;51 Suppl(Suppl):S54-S66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0022146510383501] [Medline: 20943583]
- 16. Uchino B. Social Support and Physical Health: Understanding the Health Consequences of Relationships. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 2004.
- 17. Dubois S, Loiselle C. Cancer informational support and health care service use among individuals newly diagnosed: a mixed methods approach. J Eval Clin Pract 2009 Apr;15(2):346-359. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2753.2008.01013.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19335496</u>]
- 18. Loiselle CG, Lambert SD, Dubois S. Beyond the mere dichotomy of active search versus avoidance of information about the self. J Med Libr Assoc 2006 Oct;94(4):375 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17082826</u>]
- 19. McKinley C, Wright P. Informational social support and online health information seeking: examining the association between factors contributing to healthy eating behavior. Comput Human Behav 2014 Aug;37:107-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.04.023]
- 20. Tardy C. Social support measurement. Am J Community Psychol 1985;13(2):187-202. [doi: 10.1007/bf00905728]
- 21. Burleson B, MacGeorge E. Supportive communication. In: Knapp ML, Daly JA, editors. Handbook of Interpersonal Communication. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2002:374-424.
- 22. Johnson JD. Cancer-Related Information Seeking (Health Communication). New York, NY: Hampton Press; 1997.

- 23. Wyatt S, Henwood F, Hart A, Smith J. The digital divide, health information and everyday life. New Media Soc 2016 Jun 30;7(2):199-218. [doi: 10.1177/1461444805050747]
- Kim W, Kreps GL, Shin C. The role of social support and social networks in health information-seeking behavior among Korean Americans: a qualitative study. Int J Equity Health 2015 Apr 28;14(1):40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12939-015-0169-8] [Medline: 25927546]
- 25. El Sherif R, Pluye P, Ibekwe F. Contexts and outcomes of proxy online health information seeking: mixed studies review with framework synthesis. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jun 24;24(6):e34345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34345] [Medline: 35749210]
- Cutrona SL, Mazor KM, Vieux SN, Luger TM, Volkman JE, Finney Rutten LJ. Health information-seeking on behalf of others: characteristics of "surrogate seekers". J Cancer Educ 2015 Mar;30(1):12-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-014-0701-3] [Medline: 24989816]
- 27. Kubb C, Foran HM. Online health information seeking by parents for their children: systematic review and agenda for further research. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 25;22(8):e19985 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19985] [Medline: 32840484]
- El Sherif R, Roy P, Tang DL, Doray G, Dubois M, Bush P, et al. The value of user feedback: parent's comments to online health and well being information providers. In: Proceedings of the Association for Information Science and Technology. 2017 Oct 24 Presented at: Association for Information Science and Technology; 2017; Washington, DC p. 662-663 URL: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pra2.2017.14505401107">https://doi.org/10.1002/pra2.2017.14505401107</a> [doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pra2.2017.14505401107">https://doi.org/10.1002/pra2.2017.14505401107</a>]</a>
- 29. El Sherif R, Pluye P, Schuster T, Grad R. Proxy information seeking by users of a parenting information website: quantitative observational study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 Mar 04;5(1):e32406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32406] [Medline: 35254283]
- 30. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [doi: 10.1002/1098-240x(20008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g] [Medline: 10940958]
- 31. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec 16;19(6):349-357. [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042] [Medline: 17872937]
- 32. DeepL Translator. URL: <u>https://www.deepl.com/translator</u> [accessed 2023-04-06]
- 33. Boyatzis R. Transforming Qualitative Information: Thematic Analysis and Code Development. Thousand Oaks: Sage; 1998.
- 34. Fereday J, Muir-Cochrane E. Demonstrating rigor using thematic analysis: a hybrid approach of inductive and deductive coding and theme development. Int J Qual Method 2016 Nov 29;5(1):80-92. [doi: 10.1177/160940690600500107]
- 35. Couturier E, Nguyen M, Labrie V. Le revenu viable 2020 dans l'échelle des revenus. IRIS Research. URL: <u>https://iris-recherche.qc.ca/publications/revenuviable2020/</u> [accessed 2023-01-07]
- 36. Drentea P, Moren-Cross JL. Social capital and social support on the web: the case of an internet mother site. Social Health Illn 2005 Nov;27(7):920-943 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9566.2005.00464.x] [Medline: 16313523]
- 37. House JS. Social isolation kills, but how and why? Psychosom Med 2001;63(2):273-274. [doi: 10.1097/00006842-200103000-00011] [Medline: 11292275]
- 38. O'Reilly P, Thomas HE. Role of support networks in maintenance of improved cardiovascular health status. Soc Sci Med 1989;28(3):249-260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(89)90268-2] [Medline: 2919312]
- 39. Cutrona CE, Suhr JA. Controllability of stressful events and satisfaction with spouse support behaviors. Commun Res 2016 Jun 30;19(2):154-174. [doi: 10.1177/009365092019002002]
- 40. Guillory J, Niederdeppe J, Kim H, Pollak JP, Graham M, Olson C, et al. Does social support predict pregnant mothers' information seeking behaviors on an educational website? Matern Child Health J 2014 Nov 27;18(9):2218-2225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-014-1471-6] [Medline: 24671467]
- 41. Kinnane NA, Milne DJ. The role of the Internet in supporting and informing carers of people with cancer: a literature review. Support Care Cancer 2010 Sep;18(9):1123-1136. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-010-0863-4] [Medline: 20336326]
- 42. Bouju P, Tadié JM, Uhel F, Letheulle J, Fillatre P, Lavoué S, et al. Internet use by family members of intensive care unit patients: a pilot study. Intensive Care Med 2014 Aug 28;40(8):1175-1176. [doi: 10.1007/s00134-014-3371-z] [Medline: 24972885]
- 43. Coder M. Information needs and information seeking by family members and friends of terminal cancer patients: an exploratory study. J Hospital Librarianship 2020 Feb 04;20(1):1-26. [doi: 10.1080/15323269.2020.1702838]
- 44. Mazanderani F, Hughes N, Hardy C, Sillence E, Powell J. Health information work and the enactment of care in couples and families affected by Multiple Sclerosis. Sociol Health Illn 2019 Feb;41(2):395-410. [doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.12842] [Medline: 30677163]
- 45. Brown LK, Veinot TC. Information behavior and social control: toward an understanding of conflictual information behavior in families managing chronic illness. J Assoc Inf Sci Technol 2020 Apr 28;72(1):66-82. [doi: <u>10.1002/asi.24362</u>]
- 46. Veinot TC, Kim Y, Meadowbrooke CC. Health information behavior in families: supportive or irritating? In: Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology. 2012 Jan 11 Presented at: American Society for Information Science and Technology; 2011; New Orleans, LA. [doi: 10.1002/meet.2011.14504801070]



- 47. Dutta MJ, Kaur S, Luk P, Lin J, Lee ST. Health information seeking among Singaporeans: roles and collective contexts. Health Commun 2018 Apr 02;33(4):433-442. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2016.1278493</u>] [Medline: <u>28151015</u>]
- 48. Wavrock D, Schellenberg G, Schimmele C. Internet-use typology of Canadians: online activities and digital skills. Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series, Statistics Canada. 2021 Nov. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11f0019m/11f0019m/021008-eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-04-05]
- 49. Oh YS, Lim J. Patient-provider communication and online health information seeking among a sample of US older adults. J Health Commun 2021 Oct 03;26(10):708-716. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2021.1998846] [Medline: 34743676]
- 50. Jia X, Pang Y, Liu L. Online health information seeking behavior: a systematic review. Healthcare (Basel) 2021 Dec 16(12):1740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare9121740] [Medline: 34946466]
- Meppelink CS, Smit EG, Diviani N, Van Weert JC. Health literacy and online health information processing: unraveling the underlying mechanisms. J Health Commun 2016 Sep;21(sup2):109-120. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2016.1193920</u>] [Medline: <u>27668318</u>]
- 52. Jenkins MC, Moreno MA. Vaccination discussion among parents on social media: a content analysis of comments on parenting blogs. J Health Commun 2020 Mar 03;25(3):232-242. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2020.1737761] [Medline: 32154770]
- 53. Oh YS. Predictors of self and surrogate online health information seeking in family caregivers to cancer survivors. Soc Work Health Care 2015;54(10):939-953. [doi: 10.1080/00981389.2015.1070780] [Medline: 26671245]
- Cutrona SL, Mazor KM, Agunwamba AA, Valluri S, Wilson PM, Sadasivam RS, et al. Health information brokers in the general population: an analysis of the health information national trends survey 2013-2014. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 03;18(6):e123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5447] [Medline: 27260952]
- 55. Turner AM, Osterhage KP, Taylor JO, Hartzler AL, Demiris G. A closer look at health information seeking by older adults and involved family and friends: design considerations for health information technologies. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2018;2018:1036-1045 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>30815147</u>]
- 56. Pluye P, Tskhay A, Loignon C, Doray G, Sherif R, Bartlett G. Fathers and mothers with low socioeconomic status (SES) report more benefits from trustworthy easy-to-read online child-related information compared to other parents: A prospective 4-year time series study. OSF Home. 2022. URL: <u>https://osf.io/4javw/</u> [accessed 2023-04-04]

#### Abbreviations

APGAR: Appearance, Pulse, Grimace, Activity, and Respiration
COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research
IAM: Information Assessment Method
N&G: Naître et Grandir
OHI: online health information

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 26.08.22; peer-reviewed by C McKinley, D Jones, J Busch-Casler; comments to author 25.11.22; revised version received 31.01.23; accepted 07.03.23; published 28.04.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> El Sherif R, Pluye P, Paquet V, Ibekwe F, Grad R How People Use Web-Based Parenting Information to Support Others in Their Social Circle: Qualitative Descriptive Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40043 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40043</u> doi:10.2196/40043 PMID:37115603

©Reem El Sherif, Pierre Pluye, Virginie Paquet, Fidelia Ibekwe, Roland Grad. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.04.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## Evaluation of an mHealth Intervention (Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums) Designed With and for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mothers: Engagement and Acceptability Study

Sarah Jane Perkes<sup>1\*</sup>, MPH, BScOT; Belinda Huntriss<sup>2\*</sup>, BECSt; Noelene Skinner<sup>2\*</sup>, ATSIHP; Bernise Leece<sup>2\*</sup>, ATSIHP; Rosie Dobson<sup>3\*</sup>, PhD; Joerg Mattes<sup>2\*</sup>, MBBS, PhD; Kerry Hall<sup>4\*</sup>, PhD, ATSIHP; Billie Bonevski<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Flinders Health and Medical Research Institute, College of Medicine and Public Health, Flinders University, Bedford Park, South Australia, Australia

<sup>2</sup>School of Medicine and Public Health, College of Health, Medicine and Wellbeing, University of Newcastle, New South Wales, Australia <sup>3</sup>National Institute for Health Innovation, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

<sup>4</sup>First Peoples Health Unit, Griffith University, Southport, Australia

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Billie Bonevski, PhD Flinders Health and Medical Research Institute College of Medicine and Public Health Flinders University Health Sciences Building, Level 2 Sturt Road Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 Australia Phone: 61 8 72218410 Email: billie.bonevski@flinders.edu.au

## Abstract

**Background:** Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women have access to and interest in mobile health (mHealth), although few culturally relevant, evidence-based mHealth programs are available. We codeveloped an mHealth program in New South Wales with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women, focusing on women's and children's health and well-being.

**Objective:** This study aims to assess the engagement with and acceptability of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program among mothers caring for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children aged <5 years and assess the acceptability of the program among professionals.

**Methods:** Women were given access to Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums—a web-based application, a Facebook (Meta Platforms, Inc) page, and SMS text messages—for 4 weeks. Short videos of health professionals presenting health information were tested within the application and on the Facebook page. Engagement with the application was examined through the number of log-ins, page views, and links used on the application. Engagement with the Facebook page was examined through likes, follows, comments, and the reach of posts. Engagement with the SMS text messages was examined through the number of mothers who opted out, and engagement with the videos was examined through the video watched. The acceptability of the program was examined through posttest interviews with mothers and focus groups with professionals.

**Results:** A total of 47 participants joined the study (n=41, 87%, mothers and n=6, 13%, health professionals). Interviews were completed by 78% (32/41) of the women and 100% (6/6) health professionals. Of the 41 mothers, 31 (76%) women accessed the application, 13 (42%) scrolled the main page only, and 18 (58%) clicked on other pages. There were 48 plays and 6 completions of the 12 videos. The Facebook page received 49 page likes and 51 followers. The post with the most reach was a supportive and affirming cultural post. No participants opted out of the SMS text messages. Almost all mothers (30/32, 94%) reported that Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums was useful, and all mothers reported that the program was culturally appropriate and easy to use. Of the 32 mothers, 6 (19%) mothers reported technical problems with accessing the application. Moreover, 44% (14/32) of mothers suggested improvements to the application. All the women reported that they would recommend the program to other families.

RenderX

**Conclusions:** This study demonstrated that the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program was perceived useful and culturally appropriate. SMS text messages had the highest engagement, followed by the Facebook page and then the application. This study identified areas for technical and engagement-related improvements to the application. A trial is needed to assess the effectiveness of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program at improving health outcomes.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43673) doi:10.2196/43673

#### KEYWORDS

mobile health; mHealth; co-design; Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander; mother; baby; young children; mobile phone

#### Introduction

#### Background

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are the oldest surviving culture in the world [1]. The health of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people changed significantly upon colonization and has continued to be disrupted by subsequent policies [2]. Improving the health and lives of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people is a national priority. Mothers and babies receiving the best possible care and support for a good start to life is 1 of the 12 health priorities of the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Plan 2013-2023 [3]. Providing access to culturally responsive health information and services is an important strategy for achieving this goal [3].

Improving health literacy provides a foundation for individuals and communities to take action to improve their own health [4]. There is limited evidence on effective health literacy programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people [5]. A systematic review examining interventions for improving health literacy among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people included 5 studies with the following interventions: exercise classes, nutrition and cooking workshops, discussions and role plays, presentations, other learning activities, incentives, and reduction in the cost of fresh and frozen produce and low-sugar beverages and education at the point of sale [5]. All the included studies demonstrated statistically significant improvements in at least 1 health literacy-related outcome measure, although it should be noted that study quality was compromised because of small sample sizes and poor attendance [5]. More rigorous trials are needed on health literacy programs designed and implemented by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

An array of mobile technologies is available to find, share, and generate health information [6]. The major benefit of mobile health (mHealth) is its ability to reach a large number of consumers, including those who cannot attend health services. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women have a high interest in using mHealth [7] but have different preferences for delivery as well as content. Evidence to date shows that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are frequent users of Facebook (Meta Platforms, Inc) [8-11] and SMS text messaging [12-14] and report high acceptability of, but low engagement with [15], apps, as is often the case universally [16]. Content that centers on culture and frames positive health messages has greater acceptability [9,10,17]. Furthermore, certain delivery mechanisms may be particularly engaging to mothers. A report on Australian women's use of digital health found that women caring for infants and young children were more likely than

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43673
```

XSL•FC

other women to use social media and web-based forums to share and create health information [8], whereas other studies have found SMS text messaging to have high acceptability among mothers [10,11].

Available mHealth programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mothers or their children are limited but growing, including an app, a website, and SMS text messaging on infant feeding [18]; SMS text messaging, videos, and multimedia messaging service for otitis media in children [13]; SMS text messaging, a phone call, Facebook, or an email for postpartum blood glucose screening [12]; a prototype app for social and emotional well-being during pregnancy [19]; and a mindfulness app for women and children of all ages [20]. In the gray literature, the authors are aware of the Deadly Tots app and interactive website on child development [21] and Facebook pages such as Stay Strong and Healthy page for health during pregnancy [21] and Yarn and Heal—Our way for Aboriginal women of all ages to connect and yarn [22]. It is important that we seek to advance mHealth solutions developed by and for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women to promote digital inclusion and access to health information, particularly as it is known that cultural minorities are less likely to use mainstream web-based health technologies [6].

In 2019, we co-designed a multimodality mHealth program for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women's and children's health [23]. The aim of the program was to improve health literacy and health behaviors as well as increase access to health services. Formative research with 31 women and 11 health professionals took place in 3 communities in New South Wales (NSW) and included focus groups with storyboards, card sorting, and design activities [23]. On the basis of the findings from the formative research, we developed a web-based prototype application, an SMS text message library, and a Facebook page, collectively called the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums (an Yugambeh word used on the East Coast of Australia meaning children) program.

Following a formative research phase, subsequent steps to develop and evaluate mHealth interventions include conducting a pilot study, a randomized control trial, and an evaluation of the implementation impact [24]. The purpose of the pilot study stage is to determine acceptability, improve and refine the intervention, and test the content and regimen early in the research process [24]. Refining the intervention is often an iterative process in each research phase and beyond [24]. Continual improvements to mHealth interventions are important, given the constant upgrades to technology and that long-term engagement with mHealth can be difficult to achieve [25]. We used a pilot study design to evaluate the acceptability of and

engagement with the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums prototype program.

#### **Objectives**

The aims of this study were (1) to assess the engagement with the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program among mothers (or other women) caring for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children aged  $\leq$ 5 years; (2) to assess the acceptability of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program among mothers (or other women) caring for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children aged  $\leq$ 5 years; and (3) to assess the acceptability of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program among health professionals and early educators.

## Methods

#### **Project Design**

A 4-week pilot study of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums mHealth program was undertaken with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women caring for children aged <5 years. Health professionals and early educators from the participating services provided feedback on the intervention in focus groups. Details on the development of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums mHealth program can be found elsewhere [23]. The Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council (AH&MRC) Ethical Guidelines: Key Principles (2020) version 2.0 were used to guide the implementation of this pilot study [26].

#### **Research Team**

This research was governed by an Aboriginal advisory board in partnership with Aboriginal organizations (listed in the Acknowledgments section) and coled by a Kuku Yalanji and Lama investigator (KH), as well as 2 non-Indigenous investigators (BB and JM). In total, 3 team members were Aboriginal women from (or connected to) the communities where the research took place: a Gumbaynggirr woman (NS), Gomeroi woman in the Kamilaroi Nation (BL), and Worimi woman working in the Awabakal community (BH). The cultural remaining identities of the team members are Macedonian-Australian (BB), German-Australian (JM), Pakeha or European-New Zealand (RD), and European-Australian (SJP). The team has various professional backgrounds: 4 women with Aboriginal lived experience (KH, NS, BL, and BH), a behavioral scientist (BB), a pediatrician and academic (JM), a nurse and public health researcher (KH), an mHealth and public health researcher (RD), an early educator (BH), an Aboriginal health practitioner (NS and BL), and an occupational therapist and PhD candidate (SJP). All team members contributed to the conception of this study. Aboriginal researchers from the participating communities (NS, BH, and BL) led the implementation of the project to support cultural safety.

#### **Participant Sampling**

Women aged  $\geq 16$  years who were either mothers or primary carers of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander children aged birth to 5 years or were pregnant ( $\geq 30$  weeks' gestation), owned or regularly used a smartphone, and had accessed a participating service (an Aboriginal health service or NSW health service)

were eligible to participate. Health professionals from the participating health services and early educators from the participating preschools of all cultural identities who worked with women or children were eligible.

#### Procedures

This study was conducted remotely from August 2020 to March 2021 using telephone, SMS text messages, and videoconferencing owing to COVID-19 restrictions. Participants were recruited from 3 regional locations in NSW, Australia. A total of 5 Aboriginal organizations (2 Aboriginal health services, 2 Aboriginal preschools, and 1 Aboriginal family and parenting corporation) and 3 NSW health sites participated. In total, 2 Aboriginal researchers (NS and BH) completed most of the recruitment, consent procedures, interviews, and communication with the participants and services in line with the AH&MRC Ethical Guidelines to ensure culturally safe, best practice research procedures (2.2.3, 2.3.3, 2.5.2, and 3.3.1) [26].

Women who participated in the co-design phase [23] were contacted via phone and invited to participate in the pilot study. Convenience snowball sampling was also used [27]. The Aboriginal researchers (BH, NS, and BL) used their personal networks to recruit additional participants. The participants were also asked whether they would like to recommend a friend or family member to the study. The participating health services also reached out to potential participants. Potential participants were screened for eligibility when contacted by the researcher via phone. The researcher explained the study and obtained informed consent. The participants were sent an SMS text message with a link to a baseline survey on REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) before starting the pilot study. During the 4-week study period, the participants were given access to the intervention (Textbox 1). The participants were sent a link via an SMS text message to access the application, and where possible, the research team contacted the participants to check whether they were able to access the application, explain the use of the application, check whether they were receiving SMS text messages, and explain how to like the Facebook page. The participants were asked to access the application as often as they felt compelled to, that is, there was no required amount of time that women needed to spend on the application or other parts of the program. Following the Facebook page was optional. After 4 weeks, the participants were contacted via telephone for an interview. Semistructured interviews with a mixture of open- and closed-ended questions [28] were conducted by Aboriginal researchers (NS and BH) and a non-Indigenous PhD student (SJP). The interviews were 6 to 25 minutes in length. They were recorded and transcribed, and interview notes were taken as a backup to recordings [28]. The participants were reimbursed with a shopping voucher worth Aus \$20 (US \$30) at baseline, a shopping voucher worth Aus \$10 (US \$15) per week for the 4-week pilot study Aus \$40 (US \$60) in total to cover data use, and a shopping voucher worth Aus \$20 (US \$30) for participating in the follow-up interview. The interviews were completed between August and September 2020.



Textbox 1. Components of the prototype intervention.

#### Application

• The application is a central place for users to access all content. The application is primarily for the user who wants in-depth information and has the necessary digital device, internet connection, and literacy skills to access it. The application has four menu screens as follows: (1) home screen, (2) women's health, (3) children's health, and (4) contacts. The Facebook (Meta Platforms, Inc) page content feed was embedded into the home screen. The women's health menu page includes six buttons, one for each of the women's health modules as follows: (1) smoke-free families, (2) safe drinking, (3) feeling good, (4) women's business, (5) eating, and (6) exercising. The Jarjum's Health modules include (1) breathing well; (2) sleeping; (3) milestones; (4) feeding and eating; (5) vaccinations and medicines; and (6) ears, eyes, and teeth. Each topic includes (1) key messages incorporating the perceived threat of illness and benefits of changing health behavior; (2) tips to address the barriers to change through reassurance and credible advice; (3) cues to action, for example, "Each time jarjum sees a nurse or GP ask them to have a quick look in bub's ears to check if there is any infection"; and (4) links to further information, including information regarding skills and activities such as exercises and healthy recipes to support self-efficacy. The information is presented using small chunks of written information and videos using the same layout in each module.

#### Videos

• A total of 12 videos were developed (1 per topic). The length of the videos ranged from 1 minute and 42 seconds to 5 minutes. The videos included health professionals from the participating sites or contacts of the research team presenting key messages on each health topic. The presenters were given short scripts and encouraged to use their own expertise and experience. The videos were displayed in the application under each topic as well as added to the Facebook feed at least once. The users were able to watch the videos within the application; however, on Facebook, the users were taken to an external Vimeo (Vimeo, Inc) platform to view.

#### **Facebook page**

• The purpose of the Facebook page was to create community and connection, allow 2-way communication, and use a platform that is highly popular among users. Daily content was added to the Facebook page, including (1) links to reliable health websites, (2) activities for families, (3) weekly competitions, (4) key messages on the health topics listed earlier (written and video), (5) events in the community, and (6) supportive affirmative posts. The page was administrated by 2 Aboriginal team members (NS and BH), who shared posts relevant to their community and region.

#### SMS text messaging

• The SMS text messaging component allowed the users access to health information regardless of their mobile phone type, Wi-Fi access, or digital literacy. The SMS text messaging portion of the program was 1 way (unidirectional). The SMS text messages included two core topics: (1) breathing well and (2) smoke-free families, and the participants chose 3 additional topics (from the topics covered in the application). The women received 1 message per day for 5 days per week for 4 weeks (20 SMS text messages in total).

The professionals who participated in the co-design phase were contacted via phone and invited to participate in the pilot study. Where these professionals were no longer working at the service, other professionals known to the Aboriginal researchers were contacted to participate. A total of 2 focus groups were conducted in February and March 2021. Focus groups [28] were conducted rather than individual interviews as per the professionals' preference. Consent was initially obtained over the phone and then again in person, videoconference, or email before starting the focus group. A brief survey was conducted at the start of the focus group. The professionals accessed the program during the focus group only (not during the 4-week pilot study). We were interested in the professional's feedback on the content only, not in how they might engage with the program over 4 weeks, as they were not the target end users. It was important, however, to obtain feedback from professionals who routinely provide health information to mothers, as they may be instrumental to the implementation of the program, if the program is effective. One focus group was conducted in person (as COVID-19 restrictions had been lifted) and another over videoconference. The focus groups were 13 and 21 minutes in length. The professionals were not reimbursed.

#### Measures

#### **Demographics and Cultural Characteristics**

The survey completed by mothers was a 16-item survey including demographic, cultural, and socioeconomic items. The items were selected from a previous study [29], with all items having been tested with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mothers previously. The survey completed by professionals comprised 5 items related to demographic and professional practice characteristics.

#### Engagement

Objective measures are common for measuring the engagement of applications [30]. The user activity metrics collected included the number of log-ins, number of page views, length of page view, and number of links used on the application. We used user activity metrics in combination with interview data to identify user typologies. Data collected for the videos included the number of plays in total and per video, number of videos watched in full (completions), duration watched (in seconds; mean seconds and percentage), and number of unique videos. Data collected for the Facebook page included the number of posts by administrators, number of page likes, number of comments, number of followers, and the reach of posts and videos. Data were collected on topics that the women chose to receive SMS text messages on and the number of women who

RenderX
opted out of receiving SMS text messages. User engagement was evaluated only for the women participants (end users), not for the professionals.

#### Acceptability

An interview schedule was adapted from a previous study on the acceptability of a culturally tailored SMS text messaging program for mothers [31]. The interview schedule included the following topics: usefulness of the program, cultural appropriateness of the program, ease of understanding, appropriateness of the program, relevance of the program, perceived impacts, and suggestions for improvements. A shortened and adapted version of the interview schedule was used with professionals, which included items on usefulness and cultural appropriateness.

#### **Data Analysis**

The interview data were analyzed and summarized using descriptive quantitative analyses including means, SDs, and proportions [32]. Qualitative comments were analyzed using a simple thematic analysis with predetermined codes based on the research areas, for example, cultural appropriateness [28]. One of the researchers (SJP) cleaned and coded the responses

for each predetermined code. Then, 3 researchers (SJP, BH, and NS) reflected on and discussed the participant quotes to form a summary statement for each code and select representative quotes.

#### **Ethics Approval**

Human research ethics approval was received from the AH&MRC (1485/19) and University of Newcastle (H-2019-00760).

#### Results

#### Overview

A total of 47 participants were recruited for the study: 41 (87%) women and 6 (13%) health professionals. The average age of the women was 31 (SD 7.35) years. The women were from 15 different communities; Kamilaroi (12/41, 29%) and Gumbaynggirr (10/41, 24%) were the most common. Almost half of the women (20/41, 49%) in this study had participated in the co-design phase of the project. The demographic characteristics of the participants are presented in Tables 1 and 2.



 Table 1. Demographic and cultural characteristics of women (n=41).

Perkes	et	al

Characteristics	Values
Age (years), mean (SD; range)	31.54 (7.35; 17-50)
Participation in the co-design phase, n (%)	
Yes	20 (49)
No	19 (46)
Not sure	2 (5)
Indigenous status, n (%)	
Aboriginal	34 (83)
Torres Strait Islander	0 (0)
Both	0 (0)
Nonidentified	6 (15)
Unknown	1 (2)
Identified with an Indigenous community, n (%)	
Yes	25 (61)
No	5 (12)
Unknown	11 (27)
Maintain cultural connections at home (yes), n (%)	28 (68)
Ways of connecting to culture, n (%)	
Music or dance	22 (82)
Storytelling	21 (78)
Art	20 (74)
Indigenous television	18 (67)
Food	12 (44)
Indigenous internet sites	12 (44)
Indigenous newspapers	7 (26)
Traditional medicine	5 (19)
Indigenous radio	4 (15)
Other	3 (11)
Family members from the Stolen Generations <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	
Yes	14 (34)
No	13 (32)
Unknown	14 (34)
Education of the mother, n (%)	
Did not finish high school	7 (17)
High school	13 (32)
Certificate	11 (27)
Bachelor's degree	4 (10)
Diploma	3 (7)
Postgraduate degree	2 (5)
Not applicable	1 (2)
Number of people living in household, mean (SD; range)	4.17 (1.72; 1-8)
Number of children (aged <18 years) living in household, mean (SD; range)	2.44 (1.48; 1-6)

Smoking status of the mother, n (%)

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43673

XSL•FO RenderX

Perkes et al

Characteristics	Values
Nonsmoker	31 (76)
Yes, daily	10 (24)
Yes, at least once a week	0 (0)
Yes, less often than once a week	0 (0)
Number of cigarettes smoked per day (on smoking days), mean (SD; range)	10 (4.32; 2-15)
Smoking status of the partner (yes; n=25), n (%)	9 (36)
Number of smokers in household, n (%)	
0	24 (59)
1	14 (34)
>2	3 (7)
Child exposure to indoor tobacco smoke (yes), n (%)	0 (0)
Child exposure to outdoor tobacco smoke (yes), n (%)	7 (17)
Child exposure to tobacco smoke in the car (yes), n (%)	0 (0)

<sup>a</sup>The Stolen Generations refers to a period in Australia's history where Aboriginal children were removed from their families through government policies. This happened from the mid-1800s to the 1970s [33].

Table 2. Demographics of professionals (n=6).

Characteristic	Values				
Service type, n (%)					
Aboriginal medical service	3 (50)				
Aboriginal preschool	3 (50)				
Sex (female), n (%)	6 (100)				
Indigenous status, n (%)					
Aboriginal	2 (33)				
Torres Strait Islander	0 (0)				
Nonidentified	4 (67)				
Role at health service, n (%)					
Registered nurse	2 (33)				
Midwife	1 (17)				
Codirector or early educators	3 (50)				
Number of years at service, mean (SD; range)	10.5 (8.8; 1-25)				

#### User Engagement (n=41 Women)

#### App

RenderX

Of the 41 women, 31 (76%) participants accessed the application. Among these 31 participants, there were 154 log-ins, with an average of 5 log-ins per person. Of these 31 women, 13 (42%) users scrolled the main page only, and the remaining 18 (58%) users moved past the main page by clicking on other pages. A total of 23% (7/31) of the users clicked on 10 website links.

A total of four user typologies were identified: (1) could not use the app, (2) obligated to use the app, (3) reviewers, and (4) researchers. The "couldn't use the app" group included those who could not log into or download the application. The "obligated to use the app" group included those who used the

would not use the application in a real-world setting. The "reviewer" group included those who logged in once or twice out of curiosity to see what the application included but did not consistently use the application. The "researcher" group included those who used the application more regularly; they were users who likely wanted more information than available in the SMS text messages or on the Facebook page. By analyzing the user activity metrics, we estimated that 20% (8/41) of the women were "researchers," indicating that they may have long-term engagement with the application in the real world.

app to provide feedback in a research context and probably

#### Videos

There were 48 plays of the 12 videos (Table 3). The number of plays ranged from 0 for "Milestones" and "Exercise" videos to 11 plays for "Sleeping" video. The number of unique viewers

ranged from 1 to 5 per video. The highest number of unique viewers was for the "Feeling Good" video. Among the 48 plays, there were only 6 (13%) video completions. The mean viewing time was 38 seconds. The ability to obtain feedback on the video content may have been limited by the fact that the videos were not watched by most women. One reason for this was that to

is a near viewing [Vimeo, Inc]). Another reason may have been that the videos were not clearly displayed in the application. Finally, the duration of the videos may have been too long.

Table 3. Engagement with the application videos.

Video	Plays (n=48), n (%)	Completions (n=6), n (%)	Viewing time (seconds) <sup>a</sup> , mean	Unique viewers, n <sup>b</sup>
Sleeping	11 (23)	1 (17)	22	3
Ear health	9 (19)	1 (17)	77	3
Eating well	7 (15)	1 (17)	6	3
Breastfeeding	5 (10)	1 (17)	115	4
Feeling good	5 (10)	0 (0)	63	5
Women's business	4 (8)	1 (17)	72	1
Smoke free	4 (8)	0 (0)	11	1
Safe drinking	1 (2)	0 (0)	0	1
Vaccinations	1 (2)	0 (0)	0	1
Breathing well	1 (2)	1 (17)	89	1
Milestones	0 (0)	0 (0)	0	0
Exercise	0 (0)	0 (0)	0	0

<sup>a</sup>Total mean viewing time was 38 (SD 42.2) seconds.

<sup>b</sup>The average number of unique viewers was 2 (SD 1.62).

#### Facebook Page

Facebook administrators (Aboriginal researchers BH and NS) posted 101 posts over the 4-week pilot study. The page received 49 page likes and 51 followers, indicating reach beyond the study participants. The post with the highest reach was a supportive and affirming cultural post, which reached 308 people and had 17 reactions, comments, or shares. The second most popular post was a competition post, which reached 58 people and had 23 reactions, comments, or shares. The videos posted on Facebook (n=12) had an average of 20 people reach but only 1 to 2 reactions, comments or shares or clicks to watch externally.

#### SMS Text Messages

No participants opted out of the SMS text messages. The participants selected 3 topics to receive SMS text messages on.

Figure 1. Themes.



In the order of popularity, the topics chosen were ears, eyes, and teeth (23/41, 56%); sleeping (19/41, 46%); exercising (17/41, 41%); feeding and eating (13/41, 32%); eating (12/41, 30%); women's business (12/41, 30%); milestones (10/41, 24%); feeling good (10/41, 24%); vaccinations and medicines (6/41, 14%); and safe drinking (0/41, 0%).

watch the videos on the Facebook page, the user needed to leave

the Facebook page and watch them on an external host (Vimeo

#### Acceptability

#### Overview

Of the 41 women, 32 (78%) were interviewed at the end of the pilot study. All the 6 professionals were interviewed. There were 7 themes identified in the analysis related to the acceptability (Figure 1).

#### Usefulness

Almost all women (30/32, 94%) reported that the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program was useful. On a scale of 1 (a little useful) to 5 (extremely useful), the mean rating of usefulness was 3.9. Furthermore, 84% (27/32) of the women reported that the program was relevant to them.

All women (30/32, 94%) reported that they would recommend the program to other families; the reasons included the following: helpful to first-time mothers, younger mothers, and mothers without family and other supports; ease of having all information in 1 spot; connection with other mothers; provides a sense of community; visually appealing and representative of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people; and an accessible place for women feeling too ashamed or isolated to go the hospital or physician to access reliable health information:

I reckon just the feeling of still being connected, and being supported. I think it's a nice way, especially for mums with little, little kids, I reckon sometimes you feel pretty isolated, especially if you're not working and stuff. I think it's a nice way to still feel like someone's looking out for you or thinking of you. [Participant 6]

I think it's a good tool for our community, especially the young ones that we've got who may not have anywhere else to go to find that information or who are too ashamed to ask. I think having it in a way that they can find it themselves in an easy format is a good thing. [Participant 27]

All professionals (6/6, 100%) reported that the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program was useful. On a scale of 1 (a little useful) to 5 (extremely useful), the mean rating of usefulness was 3.3. All the professionals reported that they would recommend the program.

The professionals reported that the program would be useful to families for different reasons. Some of the cited reasons are as follows: the program is relatable to mothers because of co-design methods; using Facebook will result in family and friends seeing the health information; "Storytime" would be good for families that have less access to books; Facebook page was welcoming, easy to access, and visually attractive; the app was easy to navigate and would be easy for mothers to look through while "on the go"; overall, the program has a good balance of content, including health information, affirmations, and what is on in community; the Facebook page may be a good place for women to get ideas from each other and chat about recommendations from the posts; the Facebook page would be a good place for women to connect and not feel isolated; and the content is largely positive, which is important:

I like, on the Facebook page, it gives you a sense of not being so isolated. The Facebook page is a really nice place for Aboriginal mums or families to not feel isolated if they're being recommended all this stuff and things to do outside of their lives, and then there's the affirmations. It's probably a really nice place for them to be especially if they're suffering any mental *health or with any isolation in their own lives.* [Participant 6]

#### **Cultural Appropriateness**

All the women (32/32, 100%) reported that the program was culturally appropriate. They reported that the colors, graphics, and language used were culturally representative. Of the 32 women, 1 (3%) woman recommended using different languages depending on what community the program is intended for. Another woman who had no exposure to her culture said that it was a helpful way to learn about her culture:

I'm Aboriginal, but I only just learnt of my Aboriginality, so I wasn't actually brought up that way [according to her culture]. So it was helpful for me to learn new terminologies and stuff like that. [Participant 3]

All the professionals reported that the program was culturally appropriate. A total of 33% (2/6) of the professionals commented on the cultural appropriateness of the language in a positive light. Overall, 17% (1/6) questioned whether the language would be difficult for some women to understand. She emphasized the need to ensure that representatives from each community that the program would be used in be involved in developing the content as well as to administer the Facebook page to ensure that the program continues to be relevant to women from different communities:

You've got different lingos, different meanings, different sayings that's going to grab attention [in different communities]. When I look through these text messages there are some words in here that I would think some of our women wouldn't really understand. You actually need the women to do it, they're very different to the workers. They're the ones that are going to give you the right language. [Participant 1]

It's all culturally appropriate...the language is really nice. It's really easy to read and interpret. It doesn't have any of those big, yukky words that can be quite clinical. [Professional 5]

#### Easy to Understand

All the women (32/32, 100%) reported that the content was easy to understand. They talked about the program being jargon free but not too simplified:

It was spoken to you normally, not like all the medical jargon, do you know what I mean? It was understandable and relatable. I think if it's too technical sometimes, it gets overwhelming. [Participant 20]

It wasn't dumbed-down. Like some things that we give to Aboriginal families that we get, some of them are so simplified that makes people think that we're stupid, but this wasn't. It was easy to understand, but it didn't make me feel stupid, didn't make me feel bad. [Participant 27]



#### Appropriate

Most women (28/32, 88%) reported that the activities and information were appropriate. However, of the 32 women, 1 (3%) woman suggested that the language in the SMS text messages could have been more professional rather than colloquial:

We followed what was on those messages each day. We made it a project with our kids because we thought we would see how it would go. My son likes looking at the pictures of it when they've had the Facebook competitions because it was all kids that he knew. [Participant 27]

#### Relevance

Most women (27/32, 84%) reported that the program was relevant to them and their family. They said that it was good having other mothers to relate to and access to reliable health information to talk to family about:

Just sort of seeing other women with kids and stuff and sort of just having someone to relate to, somebody that's a little bit more similar to me. So you don't feel so alone in what you're kind of going through. Things that you might think are silly or you're a bit shamed to ask anyone. At least the messages address it and then you can see other women on the Facebook page. [Participant 4]

I learnt some good stuff. I think the thing I like most about the program for us personally, it allowed me to have conversations with my partner about smoking. With the program I was able to say 'hey I got a text about smoking,' 'do you know this' it meant that it wasn't just me making points. I sort of used the app as the conversation starter. [Participant 18]

The women who did not find the content relevant to them (2/32, 6%) said that they already knew the information or felt that the information was targeted toward women caring for younger children. Of the 32 women, 2 (6%) women also made comments about some SMS text messages not always being relevant to their family:

Some of them [SMS] might not be relevant to me personally, but I think as a community they are. The messaging was consistent, and I think that's really important. [Participant 6]

My little boy is older now, he's two. So I felt like a lot of the messages and stuff like that, was more around the newborn stuff. But in saying that, if I had a newborn still, then it would have been more relevant. [Participant 10]

#### **Perceived Impact**

Of the 31 women who commented on the overall positive impact of the program, 22 (71%) women reported that the program had an overall positive impact on themselves and their family. Table 4 presents a summary of the perceived impacts. The most common perceived impact was feeling more supported (21/29, 72%), followed by improvements in knowledge or understanding of child health (13/26, 50%), eating habits (11/29, 38%), and exercise (11/29, 38%). Many women commented on the supportive and affirming aspects that the program provided, including the validation of how hard parenting can be; information that certain health problems, such as ear infections, are common in children (validating that it was not their fault); the feeling that a service cared about their child's health; and the feeling that someone cared about them, which arose because of the reception of regular messages:

The favourite text of mine was the reminder that we all have rough days...And that it was okay, I thought you know what, yeah, I am going to take a breath right now, and it is all okay. [Participant 10]

It was good to know that there was a service out there that did care I guess or had an interest in my son's health. [Participant 14]

Other positive impacts that the women discussed included getting their child's ear health checked by a general practitioner, more play with children, spending time together as a family, taking children for hearing and vision tests, more exercise, taking care of themselves, talking to friends and family about quitting or reducing smoking, cooking with children, limiting alcohol, getting their child immunized, improved knowledge of contraception, and improved family eating:

Usually I'm the type where I walk to the park and then watch her play. When I read the messages, I'm like, I should actually try with her more, and be more active with her at the park. [Participant 24]

I was drinking far too much, it was just a stress handling thing, because we did have a lot of problems, and it was difficult the first couple years. And so, getting that information, that really helped me to kind of kick that habit and to look at my own lifestyle and stuff. [Participant 9]

Other women experienced stressful life situations at the time and had competing priorities, limiting the potential impacts of the program.



**Table 4.** Perceived impact (n=32).

	Participants who responded, n (%)	Participants whose response was yes, n (%)
Overall positive impact	31 (97)	22 (71)
Improvements to your smoking habits (if a smoker)	30 (94)	5 (17)
Family or friend smoking habits (if a smoker)	30 (94)	2 (7)
Child's exposure to second-hand smoke	29 (91)	8 (28)
Positive impact on family eating habits	29 (91)	11 (38)
Positive impact on physical activity	29 (91)	11 (38)
Improvements to knowledge of women's health	28 (88)	8 (29)
Improvements to knowledge of child health	26 (81)	13 (50)
Feeling more supported	29 (91)	21 (72)

#### Suggestions for Improvements

The most common suggestion for improving the program was to make changes to the application to overcome technical challenges. Of 32 women, at least 6 (19%) experienced technical problems. Difficulty in downloading and saving the web-based application, rather than accessing an Android or iOS (Apple Inc) app, was the main difficulty. Almost half of the women (14/32, 44%) suggested improvements to the application, including making the web-based application an Android or iOS app so that it "looks" like an app, removing the step of saving to the application to home screen, implementing single log in, making navigation simpler, making the application to specific communities, and making the application more interactive:

I had to log back in and it would take me to the web page. It kept wanting me to resave it to my home screen, but it was already saved to my home screen. I wasn't too sure what was going on there. [Participant 30]

The next most common suggestion is related to the SMS text messages. A total of 59% (19/32) of the women reported that there was just the right number of SMS text messages, but 38% (12/32) of the women reported that the SMS text messages were too frequent. The women indicated the preferred timing of SMS text messages to be earlier in the day and a preference to have SMS text messages from the same sender phone number for ease of reviewing.

Other suggestions to improve the program overall included suggestion to ensure better tailoring to the child's age as well as suggestions for alternate topics (eg, parenting, toilet training, separation, toddler development, mental development for boys, available services, preschool readiness, allergies, and resources and services specific to Aboriginal people), suggestion to provide less content about smoking, suggestion to provide more links to further information (eg, local mothers' groups), and suggestion to provide to make the program more interactive:

If it is targeting under five, some of the information could be more around toilet training, difficulties with separation, entry to preschool, advice on services and stuff, like Koori stuff around. [Participant 9] In total, 6% (2/32) of the women talked about web-based groups: 1 woman suggested a Facebook group (rather than a Facebook page) and another suggested a chat group within the application (to discuss specific topics). Moreover, 6% (2/32) of other women talked about the importance of the continuation of the program and the longevity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health programs in general, as Aboriginal health programs often have short funding cycles and the community is left with a gap:

I would have benefited more with the Facebook group if it was an actual group created, because normally you get notifications and stuff when you're in the group and it tells you who's posted what. I probably would have had more interaction with that if that was a constant notification coming up. [Participant 13]

Keep it going. We find sometimes that programs are really good and then they stop. When the funding runs out or it doesn't get approved or whatever it stops and then that's a gap. [Participant 27]

The professionals suggested several ways to improve the program, including continued involvement of women in the development of the program to ensure that the language and content remain relevant and appropriate, including for families living in regional and remote areas. Another professional suggested that the content should be current and tailored to the age of the child. Another suggested a "search" feature in the application so that families could easily search for the health issue or topic that they are interested in (otherwise, mothers will likely Google health information, which can make it difficult to determine reliable sources). Another suggested more specific steps about how to manage certain illnesses and to include more common childhood illnesses. Another suggested that the application needs to be more interactive, for example, tailored specifically to the child's age, with notifications for activities for that age group or milestones. One other professional suggested forums or private group chats so that discussions are not public, whereas another suggested providing grandparents and other family members access to the program.

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Overall, the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program was found to have high acceptability. The results indicate that women found the program to be useful, culturally appropriate, and easy to use, and most women reported positive impacts. None of the participants withdrew from the SMS text message portion of the program, which indicated the high acceptability of and engagement with this component. Engagement with the Facebook page was found to be higher than that with the application. Individual users preferred different modes (SMS text message, Facebook page, or application), indicating that a multimodal intervention increases reach. Importantly, this pilot study showed several ways to improve the program, including technical changes to the app.

Similar to other studies with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, the SMS text message component of this program appeared to have high acceptability and engagement [12-14]. This pilot study provided an additional opportunity to focus on mothers and examine the desired frequency of SMS text messages. The frequency of SMS text messages sent in mHealth trials is often 1 SMS text message per day, although it can vary from multiple SMS text messages per day to weekly SMS text messages [34]. In our study, women were sent 1 SMS text message per day for 5 days of the week over 4 weeks. Most women (19/32, 59%) reported that the frequency was just right, 38% (12/32) of the women reported that the SMS text messages were sent too often, and 3% (1/32) of the women reported that the SMS text messages sent were not enough. This finding is similar to that of another study that reported that 1 SMS text message per day was preferred by the majority (42%), whereas the remaining 58% preferred either more or less frequency [24]. Giving a choice of frequency of either 1 SMS text message per day or 3 SMS text messages per week may be more appealing to users.

The women reported that they liked having a choice of topics for SMS text messages, as this increased relevance. Some women commented on the core (requisite) topics, indicating (1) breathing well and (2) smoke-free families as being irrelevant to them and their families. SMS text messages on smoking cessation and child lung health were requisite based on the original focus of the intervention to promote child lung health, including smoking cessation. The focus on child lung health was based on the call for more culturally appropriate information on childhood coughs [35]. In addition, there is strong evidence that SMS text messages are effective for quitting smoking [36]; thus, we decided to keep the focus on child lung health, including smoking cessation, for the SMS text message portion of the pilot. Furthermore, many of the SMS text messages were targeting the first 2 years of life, as that was the age range in which we expected to recruit most children; however, many of the children were older, which meant that some of the information was not relevant, although most women commented that they could see how beneficial the information would have been when their children were young. Encouragingly, the number of women who reported the SMS text messages to be

irrelevant was low (3/30, 10%), similar to another study on SMS text messages for new mothers (6/22, 21%) [31]; however, giving users the choice of all topics may be a more acceptable and useful approach allowing for better tailoring to end users' health information needs and interests.

Many participants experienced technical challenges in accessing the app, with nearly one-fourth (10/41, 24%) having been unable to access it. The prototype application used in the pilot study was a web-based application. A web-based application is accessed through an internet browser, such as Google Chrome (Google LLC) or Firefox (Mozilla Foundation), and is essentially a website designed to look like an Android or iOS app. Android or iOS apps are downloaded from an app store and saved on the phone [37]. The benefits of web-based applications are that they are fast to build, they are cost-effective, and their content can be changed easily [37]. The benefits of Android or iOS apps are that they are faster than web-based applications; they can work without internet connection; and end users are generally more familiar with them, including with downloading and saving them [37]. Using a web-based application for this trial resulted in many women having difficulty logging in and saving the application on their home screen. The women also commented that it did not "look" like an application and that it was slow. Other application trials with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people have largely used Android or iOS apps [15,38-41]. Of these studies, 1 was unable to collect use data for 34% (21/61) of the participants reporting flat batteries, connectivity issues, and other problems [41]. A second study reported technical difficulties for participants with using the "challenge" function and signing in and out, although it was noted that technical challenges did not significantly impact the use for many participants [15]. In a third study, an app was used by clients with a practitioner present, and technical difficulties were reported with an Android emulator to enable compatibility with Windows [40]. The fourth study used the same app as the previous study [40] with a different population; thus, it was also used by clients with a practitioner present, but no technical difficulties were reported [39]. Although many studies evaluating mHealth apps have reported technical challenges, it seems that using a web-based application may have resulted in more users experiencing technical challenges and a more substantial challenge of not being able to log in or save the application. With a large proportion of women having had difficulty accessing the application, most of the feedback on the application was centered on the technical challenges, and there was limited feedback on the content. However, it was useful to discover during this early phase that a web-based application is not feasible. An Android or iOS app will need to be considered before further evaluation with a small group of end users to provide detailed feedback on content and navigation.

In addition to considering the technical barriers to accessing applications, careful consideration must be given to long-term engagement [16]. In a longitudinal study examining the reasons for continued use of mHealth apps, two connected factors were described: (1) users' assessment of the mHealth app (related to the technology and content) and (2) users' persistence of health goals (ie, those who have higher persistence toward reaching

XSL•FO

their goals appear to have longer engagement with health apps) [16]. The authors concluded that long-term engagement with health apps occurs when there is high user assessment and high persistence toward health goals [16]. With improvements to the technical aspects of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums application, we expect to see improvements in initial access and a small increase in long-term engagement, although it is evident that an application is not going to be engaging to all users. Health applications are suggested to be most engaging for users who are younger, are more educated, and have higher levels of eHealth literacy skills [42]. It is also suggested that the use of health applications can improve when support from a clinician or another medical professional is provided [43]. The findings from this pilot would also suggest that those experiencing distressing life situations may find it difficult to engage with a health application, similar to the findings that suggest mental health applications may be more suitable for those with less severe illness [43]. As health applications are likely to continue to improve as technology continually does, engagement with health applications will also improve. However, at this point in time, it seems apparent that mHealth tools should be provided in a range of delivery modes to increase reach, digital inclusivity, and equity.

One such delivery mode is social media. It has been established that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are avid users of social media, Facebook in particular [8-11], which is a key reason why a Facebook page was part of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program. The qualitative findings from our pilot suggest that the Facebook page had high acceptability. The women commonly reported that they valued the connection and seeing what other families were doing. It can be difficult to track engagement with Facebook using objective data because of privacy measures and the complexity of identifying whether users accessed the page as "observers," rather than more active users, which can be done only by examining page likes, comments, shares, etc [10]. A qualitative study examining social media and health information sharing among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people shed more light on how social media are used for health promotion by identifying six typologies: (1) observer, (2) post sharer, (3) positive supporter, (4) educator, (5) expert, and (6) influencer [10]. Although we do not have the data to compare all typologies with the previous study, our results indicate that mothers were more likely to be "observers," with many women reporting the value of connection and seeing what other families were doing but not often commenting, liking, or sharing posts during the study. Posts that were shared or commented on were more likely to have been posts uploaded by Aboriginal organizations, posts affirming Aboriginal culture, or posts about competitions where a prize could be won. The previous study used a methodology

different from the one used in this study, wherein they had participants monitor their social media accounts for health-related content and conducted weekly interviews to explore perspectives and actions on posts. Interestingly, the authors found that users moved between typologies depending on the health topic and how information was provided [10]. In future research on the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums Facebook page, it may be useful to use a similar methodology with a subset of participants to better understand what and how health information is shared among mothers with young children, as well as how this correlates with changes in health literacy offline; given the high acceptability of and engagement with Facebook among this group of end users, Facebook has great potential to improve health literacy.

#### Limitations

A limitation of this study was the need to conduct all recruitment and instruction of the program remotely using SMS text messages, links, and phone calls owing to COVID-19 restrictions. In the initial protocol, we proposed recruiting women, setting up the app, and providing instructions on how to use the application in person to reduce technical problems. Unfortunately, this was not possible, and women experienced a high number of technical problems. With a large proportion of women having had difficulty accessing the application, most of the feedback on the application was centered on the technical challenges, and there was limited feedback on the content; however, it was useful to discover during this early phase that a web-based application is not feasible. An initial in-person setup would be considered important for further use of the program.

Another limitation of this study is that generalization to other communities is limited. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities are made up of many diverse cultural and language groups [1]. Each community has a unique history, cultural practices, and health needs. The Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program would need to be adapted, including by making changes to language, images, and health advice, to ensure cultural safety and relevance to women from other communities.

#### Conclusions

This study demonstrates that the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program was perceived as useful and culturally appropriate by users and health professionals. The SMS text messages had the highest engagement, followed by the Facebook page and then the application. This study identified suggestions for improving the application. A trial is needed to assess the effectiveness of the Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums program at improving health outcomes.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge and pay their respects to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women who shared their views and knowledge in the study. They would also like to acknowledge the Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services that participated—Armajun Aboriginal Medical Service (AMS), Galambila AMS, Awabakal AMS, Kulai Aboriginal preschool, and Muloobinba Aboriginal Corporation—and the New South Wales health sites that participated—Aboriginal Maternal and Infant Health Services located in Inverell, Coffs Harbour, and Newcastle. Furthermore, the authors would like to acknowledge

the incredible graphic designs completed by Krystal Randall of Culture, Art and Digital Design. Finally, the authors thank the researchers from the National Institute for Health and Innovation, Auckland University, for sharing their expertise on mobile health.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Explore. Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies. URL: <u>https://aiatsis.gov.au/explore</u> [accessed 2023-04-19]
- 2. Stolen Generations. Healing Foundation. URL: <u>https://healingfoundation.org.au/stolen-generations/</u>[accessed 2023-04-19]
- National aboriginal and Torres strait islander health plan 2013–2023. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/</u> <u>national-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-health-plan-2013-2023</u> [accessed 2023-04-19]
- Improving health literacy. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/activities/improving-health-literacy</u>
- [accessed 2023-04-19]
  5. Nash S, Arora A. Interventions to improve health literacy among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2021 Jan 30:21:248. [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10278-x]
- 6. Lupton D. The Australian Women and Digital Health Project: Comprehensive Report of Findings. Canberra: News and Media Research Centre; 2019.
- Perkes SJ, Bonevski B, Hall K, Mattes J, Chamberlain C, Bennett J, et al. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women's access to and interest in mHealth: national web-based cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res 2023 Mar 6;25:e42660. [doi: 10.2196/42660]
- 8. Carlson B, Frazer R. Social Media Mob: Being Indigenous Online. Sydney, Australia: Macquarie University; 2018.
- 9. McPhail-Bell K, Appo N, Haymes A, Bond C, Brough M, Fredericks B. Deadly Choices empowering Indigenous Australians through social networking sites. Health Promot Int 2018;33(5):770-780. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapro/dax014</u>]
- 10. Hefler M, Kerrigan V, Henryks J, Freeman B, Thomas D. Social media and health information sharing among Australian Indigenous people. Health Promot Int 2019;34(4):706-715. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapro/day018</u>]
- 11. Rice ES, Haynes E, Royce P, Thompson SC. Social media and digital technology use among Indigenous young people in Australia: a literature review. Int J Equity Health 2016 May 25;15:81. [doi: 10.1186/s12939-016-0366-0]
- 12. Kirkham R, MacKay D, Barzi F, Whitbread C, Kirkwood M, Graham S, et al. Improving postpartum screening after diabetes in pregnancy: results of a pilot study in remote Australia. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2018 Oct 02;59(3):430-435. [doi: 10.1111/ajo.12894]
- Phillips JH, Wigger C, Beissbarth J, McCallum GB, Leach A, Morris PS. Can mobile phone multimedia messages and text messages improve clinic attendance for Aboriginal children with chronic otitis media? A randomised controlled trial. J Paediatr Child Health 2014 Feb 25;50(5):362-367. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.12496]
- 14. Media usage amongst Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. McNair Ingenuity Research. 2014. URL: <u>https://mcnair.com.au/wp-content/uploads/Media-Usage-amongst-Aboriginal-and-Torres-Strait-Islander-People-McNai....pdf</u> [accessed 2023-04-19]
- Peiris D, Wright L, News M, Rogers K, Redfern J, Chow C, et al. A smartphone app to assist smoking cessation among aboriginal Australians: findings from a pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 02;7(4):e12745. [doi: <u>10.2196/12745</u>]
- 16. Vaghefi I, Tulu B. The continued use of mobile health apps: insights from a longitudinal study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 29;7(8):e12983. [doi: 10.2196/12983]
- 17. National best practice unit tackling Indigenous smoking. Ninti One Limited. URL: <u>https://www.nintione.com.au/project/national-best-practice-unit-tackling-indigenous-smoking/</u> [accessed 2023-04-19]
- 18. Houston A, Laws R, Askew D, Saldanha T, Denney-Wilson E. Exploring the cultural appropriateness and usefulness of a mHealth promotion program for infant feeding in an Urban Aboriginal Health Service: a qualitative study. Aust Indig Health Bull 2017;17(3).
- Kennedy M, Kumar R, Ryan NM, Bennett J, La Hera Fuentes G, Gould GS. Codeveloping a multibehavioural mobile phone app to enhance social and emotional well-being and reduce health risks among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women during preconception and pregnancy: a three-phased mixed-methods study. BMJ Open 2021 Nov 24;11(11):e052545. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-052545]
- 20. ANMJ Staff. Mindfulness app improves mental health in Indigenous communities. Australian Nursing and Midwifery Journal. 2019 Sep 29. URL: <u>https://anmj.org.au/mindfulness-app-in-aboriginal-communities-helps-improve-mental-health/</u> [accessed 2023-05-01]
- 21. Deadly tots app. Deadly Tots. URL: <u>http://www.deadlytots.com.au/Page/deadlytotsapp</u> [accessed 2023-04-20]

- 22. Yarn and heal our way. Facebook. URL: <u>https://www.facebook.com/groups/1204070303416937/?ref=share</u> [accessed 2023-04-19]
- 23. Perkes SJ, Huntriss B, Skinner N, Leece B, Dobson R, Mattes J, et al. Development of a maternal and child mHealth intervention with aboriginal and torres strait islander mothers: co-design approach. JMIR Form Res 2022 Jul 8;6(7):e33541. [doi: 10.2196/33541]
- 24. Whittaker R, Merry S, Dorey E, Maddison R. A development and evaluation process for mHealth interventions: examples from New Zealand. J Health Commun 2012 May 02;17(sup1):11-21. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2011.649103</u>]
- 25. Michie S, Yardley L, West R, Patrick K, Greaves F. Developing and evaluating digital interventions to promote behavior change in health and health care: recommendations resulting from an international workshop. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 29;19(6):e232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7126]
- 26. AH and MRC Ethical Guidelines: Key Principles (2020) V2.0. Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council of New South Wales. URL: <u>https://www.ahmrc.org.au/publication/ahmrc-guidelines-for-research-into-aboriginal-health-2020/</u> [accessed 2023-04-19]
- 27. Parker C, Scott S, Geddes A. Snowball sampling. In: Research Design for Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks, California, United states: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2019.
- 28. Creswell J. Qualitative procedures. In: Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Thousand Oaks, California, United states: SAGE Publications; 2009.
- 29. Hall KK, Chang AB, Anderson J, Arnold D, Goyal V, Dunbar M, et al. The incidence and short-term outcomes of acute respiratory illness with cough in children from a socioeconomically disadvantaged urban community in Australia: a community-based prospective cohort study. Front Pediatr 2017 Oct 31;5. [doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00228]
- 30. Ng MM, Firth J, Minen M, Torous J. User engagement in mental health apps: a review of measurement, reporting, and validity. Psychiatr Serv 2019 Jul;70(7):538-544. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201800519]
- 31. Dobson R, Whittaker R, Bartley H, Connor A, Chen R, Ross M, et al. Development of a culturally tailored text message maternal health program: TextMATCH. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 20;5(4):e49. [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7205]
- 32. Creswell J. Quantitative methods. In: Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Thousand Oaks, California, United states: SAGE Publications; 2018.
- 33. Who are the stolen generations? Healing Foundation. URL: <u>https://healingfoundation.org.au/who-are-the-stolen-generations/</u> [accessed 2023-04-20]
- 34. Hall AK, Cole-Lewis H, Bernhardt JM. Mobile text messaging for health: a systematic review of reviews. Annu Rev Public Health 2015 Mar 18;36(1):393-415. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122855</u>]
- 35. D'Sylva P, Walker R, Lane M, Chang AB, Schultz A. Chronic wet cough in Aboriginal children: it's not just a cough. J Paediatr Child Health 2018 Nov 15;55(7):833-843. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.14305]
- 36. Whittaker R, McRobbie H, Bullen C, Borland R, Rodgers A, Gu Y. Mobile phone-based interventions for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Nov 14;11:CD006611. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006611.pub3</u>] [Medline: <u>23152238</u>]
- 37. Difference between native apps and web apps. Geeks for Geeks. URL: <u>https://www.geeksforgeeks.org/</u> <u>difference-between-native-apps-and-web-apps/</u> [accessed 2023-04-20]
- Tighe J, Shand F, Ridani R, Mackinnon A, De La Mata N, Christensen H. Ibobbly mobile health intervention for suicide prevention in Australian Indigenous youth: a pilot randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2017 Jan 27;7(1):e013518. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013518]
- Nagel T, Dingwall KM, Sweet M, Kavanagh D, Majoni SW, Sajiv C, et al. The stay strong app as a self-management tool for first nations people with chronic kidney disease: a qualitative study. BMC Nephrol 2022 Jul 09;23:244. [doi: 10.1186/s12882-022-02856-x]
- 40. Perdacher E, Kavanagh D, Sheffield J, Healy K, Dale P, Heffernan E. Using the stay strong app for the well-being of Indigenous Australian prisoners: feasibility study. JMIR Form Res 2022 Apr 8;6(4):e32157. [doi: 10.2196/32157]
- 41. Tighe J, Shand F, McKay K, Mcalister T, Mackinnon A, Christensen H. Usage and acceptability of the iBobbly app: pilot trial for suicide prevention in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Youth. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Dec 1;7(12):e14296. [doi: 10.2196/14296]
- 42. Bol N, Helberger N, Weert JC. Differences in mobile health app use: a source of new digital inequalities? Inform Society 2018 Apr 26;34(3):183-193. [doi: 10.1080/01972243.2018.1438550]
- 43. Povey J, Mills PP, Dingwall KM, Lowell A, Singer J, Rotumah D, et al. Acceptability of mental health apps for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: a qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2016 Mar 11;18(3):e65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5314]

#### Abbreviations

RenderX

AH&MRC: Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council mHealth: mobile health NSW: New South Wales REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43673

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 19.10.22; peer-reviewed by V Kerrigan, M Cozad; comments to author 20.01.23; revised version received 17.03.23; accepted 30.03.23; published 26.05.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Perkes SJ, Huntriss B, Skinner N, Leece B, Dobson R, Mattes J, Hall K, Bonevski B Evaluation of an mHealth Intervention (Growin' Up Healthy Jarjums) Designed With and for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mothers: Engagement and Acceptability Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43673 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43673 doi:10.2196/43673 PMID:37234043

©Sarah Jane Perkes, Belinda Huntriss, Noelene Skinner, Bernise Leece, Rosie Dobson, Joerg Mattes, Kerry Hall, Billie Bonevski. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 26.05.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Original Paper**

# Features, Design, and Adherence to Evidence-Based Behavioral Parenting Principles in Commercial mHealth Parenting Apps: Systematic Review

Kexin Li<sup>1</sup>, MSCP; Katherine I Magnuson<sup>1</sup>, PsyD; Grace Beuley<sup>1</sup>, MSCP; Logan Davis<sup>1</sup>, BS; Stacy R Ryan-Pettes<sup>1</sup>, PhD

Department of Psychology and Neuroscience, Baylor University, Waco, TX, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Stacy R Ryan-Pettes, PhD Department of Psychology and Neuroscience Baylor University One Bear Place 97334 Waco, TX, 76798-7334 United States Phone: 1 2547102544 Email: <u>Stacy\_Ryan-Pettes@baylor.edu</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** There is a need to disseminate evidence-based parenting interventions for adolescent externalizing concerns. Although family-based treatments have demonstrated efficacy for such concerns, they have limitations and challenges when disseminated in the community. Behavioral-based parenting techniques form an integral part of well-established, family-based interventions for adolescent behavioral problems and are ideal for dissemination through coupling with smartphone technology. Despite the vast number of "parent" apps currently available in commercial markets, there is a dearth of reviews focused on evaluating mobile health apps through the lens of behavioral parenting training (BPT).

**Objective:** This study aimed to conduct a systematic review of commercial mobile health apps for parents to increase effective parenting skills that include behavioral components.

**Methods:** A search of the Google Play and Apple App Stores identified 57 apps that were included in the review and coded for availability, popularity, and infrastructure. In total, 89% (51/57) of them were sufficiently functional to be assessed for app design quality (engagement, functionality, esthetics, and information), and 53% (30/57) proceeded to the final evaluation of level of adherence to BPT principles.

**Results:** In total, 57 apps met the initial inclusion criteria. Accessibility was high across these apps given that 44% (25/57) were available on both the Google Play and Apple App Stores and 68% (39/57) were free of charge. However, privacy concerns were addressed inconsistently among the apps. App design quality was average across the included apps, and apps with positive user star ratings or a high number of downloads received higher ratings on app design quality. In contrast, the identified apps largely fell short in providing BPT components adequately and with high interactivity, with low levels of adherence to BPT (mean 20.74%, SD 11%) across all commercial apps evaluated. Commercially popular apps did not show higher levels of adherence to BPT. Overall, a moderate relationship between app design quality and adherence to BPT was found. App features that have been found to increase user engagement, such as gamification and individualization, were only observed in a small minority of apps. Overall, there was a lack of focus on teenage development.

**Conclusions:** Future app developers hoping to increase the dissemination of BPT should aim for free and accessible apps that balance high-quality design features (eg, simple esthetics, interactivity, and individualization) with content consistent with BPT principles. They should also consider key issues that are inconsistently addressed in current apps, including privacy and teenage development. Future app developments will likely benefit from multisector (industry and academic) collaboration throughout the design process and involving end users (ie, parents) during different stages of app development.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43626) doi:10.2196/43626



#### **KEYWORDS**

mobile phone; parent; behavioral parent training; parent management training; mobile apps; mobile health; mHealth; child; adolescent

#### Introduction

#### Background

The need for effective parenting interventions for parents of adolescents with behavioral problems in community service settings is an important public health issue in the United States [1,2]. National surveys indicate a high prevalence of behavioral or conduct problems in children and adolescents, whereas only half have received any treatment [3]. Despite this high demand, there is a substantial lack of evidence-based parenting support programs specific to parents or as part of services for adolescents in the community [1]. Although family-based therapies are more commonly found in community mental health clinics and are efficacious in increasing the use of effective parenting strategies [4,5], barriers such as cost and provider expertise limit implementation dissemination and [1]. However, behavioral-based parenting techniques [6-8] are an integral part of these interventions [9,10] and can be effectively delivered through smartphone technology [11].

Mobile health (mHealth) has emerged as a promising option for using smartphone technology to increase the reach of behavioral-based parenting programs such as behavioral parenting training (BPT) for parents of adolescents with behavioral problems [12]. The commercial industry of mHealth has certainly proliferated, and there is parent demand. The number of health and wellness app downloads has reached an estimated 3.35 billion worldwide [13], and previous research suggests that parents turn to resources on the internet or smartphone apps to receive help with parenting to manage child behaviors [14,15]. Moreover, parents of teenagers with behavioral problems such as substance misuse have expressed interest in receiving support delivered through mHealth [16]. Although there has been a proliferation of commercial mHealth apps, research has not kept pace with evaluating parenting apps through the BPT framework [14,17,18], which limits our understanding of the usefulness of commercially available parenting apps for the management of child or adolescent behavioral problems.

The goal of this review was to identify commercial mHealth apps that include components of behavioral parenting techniques and evaluate the identified apps on app features, app design, and adherence to the theoretical framework behind BPT techniques and interventions. The intent of this review was to inform the selection of mHealth apps by providers and the development of new apps designed for parents of adolescents with behavioral problems [17].

Although there are several systematic reviews evaluating commercial mHealth apps related to physical activity (eg, exercise) and medical health conditions (eg, diabetes) [19], there are fewer reviews of commercial mHealth apps for mental health interventions other than for adult depression and substance misuse [20,21]. Regarding commercially available parent-targeted mHealth apps, the vast majority of previous

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43626

reviews have focused on evaluating apps that provide information or interventions for medical or health concerns such as pregnancy; prenatal, postnatal, and infant care [18,22-28]; nutrition, physical activity, weight management, and medication adherence [29-31]; or parent education and health literacy about particular topics [14,32]. In comparison, few reviews of commercial apps have focused on evaluating the content and quality of parenting apps devoted to providing skills to parents through a BPT lens [17] (Magnuson, PsyD, unpublished data, May 2023).

We found 2 systematic reviews of parent-targeted commercial mHealth apps that focused on parenting children who have behavioral or mental health concerns [33,34]. Păsărelu et al [34] reviewed mobile apps addressing parenting skills for the management of child attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and noted the presence or absence of evidence-based elements. However, the review did not comprehensively evaluate the recommended treatments covered in the apps. Trahan et al [33] focused on parenting apps designed for low-income fathers in the United States but included a special focus on evaluating the apps through the lens of paternal self-efficacy and evidence-based factors that contribute to low-income father engagement. Evaluation of the extent to which apps adhere to specific evidence-based intervention strategies or theoretical principles is needed in a review of commercial mHealth apps for parenting practices.

#### Objectives

Given the empirical basis of BPT for child behavioral problems, the potential advantages of leveraging mHealth apps to deliver BPT, and the dearth of reviews focused on evaluating mHealth apps for their BPT or BPT-informed components, the major objective of this study was to conduct a systematic review of commercial mHealth apps for parents to increase effective parenting skills that include behavioral components. More specifically, we aimed to answer four main research questions regarding the identified apps: (1) What are the general characteristics of parent-targeted apps with BPT components or BPT-informed components that are available in the most frequently used commercial app stores (ie, Apple App Store and Google Play Store)? (2) What is the app quality (using the Mobile App Rating Scale [MARS] framework [35]) of parent-targeted apps with BPT components or BPT-informed components? (3) Are commercial apps with BPT components or BPT-informed components adherent to the theoretical framework of behavioral parenting interventions? and (4) What is the association among app characteristics (eg, platform and popularity), design quality, and adherence to the theoretical framework of BPT?

The results are discussed within the context of optimizing the digital translation of BPT into mHealth apps for parents. This review provides a picture of what is on the menu for the general public and could inform future development of mHealth apps

XSL•FO RenderX

that aim to provide behavioral parenting interventions for parents of children with behavioral problems.

#### Methods

#### Search Strategy

A systematic review framework was used to search, screen, and assess commercial apps in English. An initial search of the US Google Play and Apple or iOS App Stores was completed by the first author (KL) in December 2021. A second, independent, parallel search of both stores was also conducted by the third author (LD) to ensure reproducibility and confirm the comprehensiveness of the initial app search. The searches focused on the US Google Play and Apple App Stores as they are the 2 leading mobile phone app markets [36,37]. Search terms were selected based on type of intervention (ie, parenting), target audience (ie, parents), and topic of concern (ie, child externalizing or behavioral concerns), consistent with the goals of this review. Colloquial paraphrases were added based on descriptions in app stores and terms used in previous reviews. Specific search terms included "parent," "parenting," "parenting tips," "parenting advice," "parenting teens," "child behavior," and "child discipline."

The preliminary determination of inclusion and exclusion was conducted based on descriptions and images published by app developers on the US Google Play and Apple App Stores, a process consistent with previous commercial app reviews [38]. Apps with questionable eligibility were downloaded for further analysis, and those that did not meet the eligibility criteria were not included in this review.

Apps that met the inclusion criteria were downloaded and installed on an iPhone XS or Samsung Galaxy S10 Plus (SM-G975U) device depending on the accessibility of each app in either system. Apps were then assessed based on four broad domains: (1) accessibility and popularity, (2) infrastructure, (3) app quality, and (4) adherence to behavioral parenting principles or strategies. Apps that were unusable or rated as having low interactivity under app quality (see the *Data Extraction* section) were excluded from further evaluation of BPT adherence.

#### **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

This study included commercially available apps whose primary function is to offer parenting skills or "tips" to address child or adolescent behaviors that are key targets for behavioral parenting techniques such as co-operation; compliance; or establishing expectations, rules, and limits (eg, completing chores).

This study excluded apps that (1) were not offered in English; (2) were intended for use by professionals or individuals other than parents or caregivers; (3) required access codes from a health professional or a research or medical program to be used; (4) targeted areas of parenting or parent education unrelated to managing child behaviors (eg, pregnancy or infant care, information on developmental milestones, and other medical or nutritional needs of children); (5) were aimed at infant or prechildhood care and milestone trackers; (6) were listed for "age 0 to 3" (apps listed for "age 0 to 5" were further evaluated for whether they contained BPT components); (7) were intended for coparenting because of this review's focus on improving

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43626

parenting in parent-child contexts; (8) functioned as communication platforms between parents and care professionals (eg, health care professionals, pediatricians, and childcare or daycare options) or schools; (9) focused on early learning, homeschooling, or games for cognitive development; (10) were designed for specialized developmental or neurodevelopmental conditions (eg, autism spectrum disorder, developmental delays, learning disorders, and special education or needs) as these concerns often require additional interventions and approaches [34,39] distinct from parenting techniques that may be part of the intervention [40]; (11) functioned as catalogs, electronic libraries, or electronic books or magazines for parenting; (12) functioned as forums or internet-based communities; or (13) functioned exclusively as technical aids to facilitate implementation of specific parenting activities (eg, token or reward trackers, house chore checklists, digital safety monitors, or geographic locators) without providing interventions or teaching underlying BPT principles such as reinforcement, house rules, and monitoring and supervision. In contrast, apps that included embedded technical aids (eg, token trackers) but also provided some verbal guides on practicing related parenting skills were included in this review.

#### **Data Extraction**

Retrieved apps were categorized and evaluated based on the criteria used to evaluate commercial apps across previous reviews [36,37], including accessibility and popularity, infrastructure, app quality, and level of adherence to BPT strategies and their underlying principles [41,42].

#### Accessibility and Popularity

Accessibility was coded based on whether the app could be found on one or both app stores and on cost. Given that the actual number of views or downloads of an app is rarely accurately reported on either the Google Play or Apple App Store [36], several indicators of popularity were coded as approximations. These indicators included any available information provided about the number of downloads, number of users that rated the app, and average user star ratings (based on a 5-star system). However, it should be noted that, typically, only apps with a substantial pool of user ratings will display their specific number of reviews and average star ratings.

#### Infrastructure

To evaluate app infrastructure, the evaluators coded whether the app had a privacy statement and, if so, where one could access it (ie, on the app store, on a separate website, or within the app). In addition, the evaluators explored whether there was a website associated with each app as an indicator of the app's supporting infrastructure.

#### App Quality

The MARS was used to evaluate app quality. The MARS is a 23-item scale designed to provide objective and reliable multidimensional measures of the quality of health-related apps [35]. It was developed by a multidisciplinary team of psychologists, scientists, and technology development experts. It encompasses several subscales, including engagement (eg, interactivity), functionality (eg, ease of use), esthetics (eg, graphics), and information quality and effectiveness (eg,

accuracy of app description on the app store) and has emerged as a promising measure of user experience and quality of health apps [35]. The rating of each MARS item is based on a 5-point Likert scale (1=inadequate, 2=poor, 3=acceptable, 4=good, and 5=excellent). Previous research has shown that the MARS has strong internal consistency (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.92) and interrater reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient [ICC]=0.85) [35]. For this study, the internal consistency of the primary evaluator (KL) was acceptable (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.79). To calculate reliability, a second independent rater (LD) randomly chose 20% of the included apps (10 apps) to rate app quality, and the interrater reliability between the 2 evaluators was moderate (ICC=0.52) [43].

# Adherence to Behavioral Parenting Strategies and Principles

Adherence to the strategies and principles of behavioral parenting interventions was evaluated by examining app content against 91 BPT strategies that are part of the most widely used protocols. The strategies were distilled from current protocols following a sequence of steps by the first (KL) and second (KM) authors, who are doctoral clinical psychology students with training in cognitive and behavioral theories and child interventions related to BPT. A codebook that listed the behavioral parenting strategies was developed to guide our codes. For this study, the core clinical strategies for BPT were summarized as a list of individual statements comprising the codebook by the first author (KL).

Specifically, first, the first (KL) and second (KM) authors and a team of trained undergraduate students searched the scholarly literature, treatment manuals, and nonacademic web-based sources promoting effective parenting strategies in managing child or adolescent behaviors. The first and second authors reviewed the comprehensive compilation and generated a list of parenting strategies grouped by domain. This process of search and consolidation was supervised by the senior author (SRP)—a licensed psychologist specializing in treating child and adolescent externalizing behavior. In addition, the first author independently consulted several evidence-based treatment manuals grounded in BPT and social learning theory as well as manuscripts on behavioral parenting mechanisms of change [44,45] to add to or revise the list of strategies and domains for the final list of BPT strategies. The manuals that were reviewed included the Oregon model of parent management [8,46-48], the behavior modification approach to parenting by Kazdin [6], Helping the Noncompliant Child [9], Parent-Child Interaction Therapy [41], Functional Family Therapy [42,44], and Multisystemic Family Therapy [10].

Second, a codebook that listed the behavioral parenting strategies was developed to guide data extraction while reviewing the commercial apps. For this study, the core clinical strategies for BPT were summarized as a list of individual statements by the first author (KL). A total of 91 unique core statements or BPT strategies were identified and grouped into twelve domains: (1) psychoeducation (2 statements), (2) setting behavioral targets and goals (6 statements), (3) tracking (9 statements), (4) supervision (5 statements), (5) positive

reinforcement (15 statements), (6) positive verbal support or praise (6 statements), (7) consequences (15 statements), (8) setting limits or clear rules (11 statements), (9) making effective requests (9 statements), (10) communication and family relationship (7 statements), (11) parent mental health and self-care (3 statements), and (12) maintenance and additional resources (3 statements). See Multimedia Appendix 1 for the complete list of 91 core statements grouped by domain.

Third, consistent with previous reviews evaluating adherence to evidence-based principles [36,45], the first author (KL) rated apps against each of the 91 core statements on a scale from 0 to 2 to evaluate adherence, where 0=there was no information about the statement, 1=there was some information related to the core statement (eg, information was incomplete or implicit), and 2=the app provided explicit and comprehensive verbal instruction that paraphrased the statement. After each core statement was rated, the mean adherence score of each domain was obtained by averaging the ratings of all statements within this domain. Finally, an overall adherence level was obtained by dividing the sum of the domain scores by the maximum possible total score of 24 (ie, 2 points for each of the 12 domains) and converting it to a percentage. A percentage was calculated instead of the mean score to reflect a more diverse range of possible adherence levels. Table 1 displays an illustration of the scoring system using the psychoeducation and setting behavioral targets and goals domains as examples. The remaining 10 domains were scored following the same procedure.

Only apps scoring  $\geq 3$  on the MARS interactivity evaluation were coded for adherence to behavioral parenting strategies and principles. The apps that were not evaluated for adherence were those with potentially limited impact on changing user behaviors. Previous research indicates that interactivity (defined in the MARS as whether the app "allows user input, provides feedback, contains prompts such as reminders, sharing options, notifications, etc" [35]) is a key consideration for effectively translating traditional face-to-face behavioral health interventions to digital platforms [49-51]. Interactivity considerably affects the user's attitude toward the digital intervention, intentions for behavior change, and the manner and extent to which intervention content is psychologically processed by the user [52-54]. Low interactivity likely substantially limits the effectiveness of behavior change interventions delivered digitally [54-56]. Consistent with this literature, those apps that scored either 1 or 2 on the item "interactivity" (indicating below-average or below-sufficient interactivity) based on the MARS evaluation were excluded from the evaluation of adherence because of the potentially limited effect in changing user behaviors.

In this study, the internal consistency of BPT adherence for the primary evaluator (KL) was acceptable (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.75). To calculate reliability, a second independent rater (LD) randomly chose 20% of the final apps (7 apps) to rate adherence to BPT principles. The interrater reliability between the 2 evaluators was moderate (ICC=0.63) [43].



XSL•FO

Li et al

**Table 1.** Scoring system for each app using 2 domains as an illustration.

Domain and statement	Domain and statement Rating for each statement		Domain mean adherence (range 0-2)	Overall adherence (range 0%-100%)	
	0	1	2		
Psychoeducation	•	·	·		
Normative child development for child's age	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in psychoe- ducation domain	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage
Problem or risk behaviors for child's age	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in psychoe- ducation domain	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage
Setting behavioral targets and goals					
Goals are achievable, realistic, develop- mentally appropriate, measurable, spe- cific, and time limited	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in the set- ting behavioral targets and goals do- main	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage
Selection of behaviors to target	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in the set- ting behavioral targets and goals do- main	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage
Defining problem behavior as well as replacement behavior	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in the set- ting behavioral targets and goals do- main	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage
Pinpointing	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in the set- ting behavioral targets and goals do- main	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage
Guidance on establishing behavior contract	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in the set- ting behavioral targets and goals do- main	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage
Guidance on establishing token econo- my	None	Some	Clear	Average rating of all items in the set- ting behavioral targets and goals do- main	Sum of all domain means divided by the total score of 24 (ie, 2 points $\times$ 12 domains), converted to a per- centage

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Data were collected by manually coding the extracted data, and all statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (version 28; IBM Corp [57]). The relevant characteristics of accessibility (eg, cost and platform), popularity, and infrastructure were determined in advance. Summary statistics, including means, SDs, and percentages, were used to describe app characteristics of interest. Descriptive statistics were used to describe the quality of the apps based on the MARS subscales and adherence to BPT strategies and principles across the 12 domains. Independent-sample 2-tailed *t* tests and 1-way ANOVAs were performed on MARS scores and BPT adherence scores between apps with different characteristics (eg, platform and popularity). The relationships between the MARS ratings and BPT adherence scores were computed using Pearson *r* correlations.

## Results

#### Search of mHealth Apps

The search of the commercial marketplace identified a total of 1012 apps (657/1012, 64.92% from the Google Play Store and n=355, 35.08% from the Apple App Store). After duplicates (88/1012, 8.7%) were removed, the search yielded 924 unique apps related to "parenting." After exclusion, 57 apps met the final criteria for inclusion in the review (Multimedia Appendix 2). Notably, a substantial number of apps (87/924, 9%) were excluded because they only served as digital aids or tools that assisted the implementation of specific behavioral parenting techniques (eg, token tracker and house chore checklist) but did not provide information on how to practice the skills.

After excluding 11% (6/57) of the apps, which were unusable owing to technological glitches within the app, a total of 51 apps had complete MARS ratings. An additional 21 of the 57 (37%) apps were excluded due to receiving low interactivity rating on MARS. These excluded apps primarily presented

parenting skills in a text-based way that could be similarly achieved by reading a book or through a web-based catalog search (eg, presenting chapters of books and listing web-based articles related to parenting). After exclusion of low-interactivity apps, 30 apps were analyzed for adherence to behavioral parenting principles (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Flow diagram illustrating the exclusion of apps at various stages of the study. BPT: behavioral parenting training; MARS: Mobile App Rating Scale.



#### **App Characteristics**

#### Accessibility

Of the 57 apps included in the review, 24 (42%) were only available on the Google Play Store, 8 (14%) were only available on the Apple App Store, and 25 (44%) had versions on both platforms. Consistent with previous research [36,37], there appeared to be more apps in general through the Google Play Store compared with the Apple App Store. Of the 57 apps included, 49 (86%) were free to download. Of the 8 paid apps, 1 (12%) cost US \$0.99, a total of 5 (62%) cost US \$2.99, a total of 1 (12%) cost US \$3.74, SD US \$2.49). Of the 49 apps that were free to download, 10 (20%) involved in-app purchases or subscriptions. In-app costs depended on whether the user selected a monthly or yearly subscription, ranging from US \$0.99 to US \$14.99 for the initial period of subscription (eg, 1 month).

#### **Popularity**

For each app, the Google Play Store reported a range of the number of downloads to date, whereas the Apple App Store did not. On the basis of the 49 apps listed on the Google Play Store, the median number of downloads was between 1000 and 5000. A total of 10% (5/49) of these apps were installed <100 times. Across both the Google Play and Apple App Stores, average

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43626
```

star ratings were only reported for apps with user downloads or sufficient user star ratings. Among the 41% (20/49) of apps that reported user ratings on the Google Play Store, the mean number of ratings was 610.55 (SD 2138.76; range 2-9892), and the mean star rating across the apps was 4.05 (SD 0.72; range 2.7-5) out of 5. In the Apple App Store, 48% (16/33) of apps reported user ratings. The mean number of ratings was 114.81 (SD 226.63; range 1-734), and the mean rating was 4.52 (SD 0.74; range 2-5) out of 5.

A total of 40% (23/57) of unique apps were considered highly rated by users based on an average user rating of >3 on either the Google Play or Apple App Store (Multimedia Appendix 2). The use of 3 as the cutoff was consistent with previous reviews of commercial apps [21].

Most user star ratings and numbers of downloads centered on the same 4 apps (The Happy Child, Weldon, Parent Lab, and Thumsters), all of which had versions on both platforms. On the basis of the available information on the Google Play Store, 75% (3/4) of these apps had >10,000 downloads, whereas Thumsters had between 1000 and 5000 downloads.

#### Infrastructure

Of the 57 apps included in this review, 18 (32%) did not have their own associated website. In terms of the location of the privacy policy, 2% (1/57) of the apps had their privacy policy located exclusively within the app. A total of 32% (18/57) of

the apps did not have any privacy policy (including 1/57, 2% of apps whose website was unreachable), 58% (33/57) provided privacy policies that were accessible within the web-based app store, and the remaining 9% (5/57) provided privacy policies on websites external to the app store.

#### **App Design Quality**

#### **Overall Quality**

A total of 89% (51/57) of the apps were evaluated for app quality using the MARS as 11% (6/57) were unable to function correctly and, thus, could not be evaluated further (Figure 1). See Multimedia Appendix 3 for the MARS ratings of each app. The overall objective quality of all 51 apps was rated as average (mean 3.86, SD 0.51). Regarding the subscales, the apps received the highest rating on functionality (mean 4.50, SD 0.40), followed by esthetics (mean 3.80, SD 0.78), information (mean 3.63, SD 0.64), and engagement (mean 3.49, SD 0.72).

**Table 2.** Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS) scores by platform (n=51).

#### App Quality Between Platforms

A 1-way ANOVA was conducted to examine whether the MARS score was related to being on one or both platforms (Table 2). Significant differences were found in the overall MARS score as well as in the engagement, esthetics, and information subscales at P<.01. The results consistently showed that apps available on both platforms received significantly higher overall score, higher engagement, and higher esthetics at P<.001 and higher information at P=.004, compared to apps exclusive to the Google Play Store. However, there was no statistically significant difference between apps exclusive to the Apple App Store and apps found on both platforms or apps exclusive to the Google Play Store. Notably, there was no significant difference found between platforms in the functionality subscale (P=.49), which suggests that apps had similar levels of functioning, performance, and usability across platforms.

MARS	Apple App Store (n=6), mean (SD)	Google Play Store (n=22), mean (SD)	Both (n=23), mean (SD)	F test (df)	<i>P</i> value (2-tailed)
Overall	3.91 (0.31)	3.54 <sup>a</sup> (0.47)	4.14 <sup>a</sup> (0.41)	11.27 (2,48) <sup>b</sup>	<.001
Engagement	3.57 (0.48)	3.05 <sup>a</sup> (0.67)	3.89 <sup>a</sup> (0.57)	10.91 (2,48) <sup>b</sup>	<.001
Functionality	4.67 (0.13)	4.5 (0.39)	4.45 (0.45)	0.73 (2,48)	.49
Esthetics	3.72 (0.61)	3.29 <sup>a</sup> (0.71)	$4.30^{a}(0.53)$	14.88 (2,48) <sup>b</sup>	<.001
Information	3.70 (0.52)	3.31 <sup>a</sup> (0.57)	3.92 <sup>a</sup> (0.61)	6.133 (2,48) <sup>b</sup>	.004

<sup>a</sup>Means differ from each other at P<.001 (Tukey honestly significant difference [HSD] test). <sup>b</sup>P<.01.

## App Quality Based on User Star Ratings

Independent-sample 2-tailed t tests were used to determine whether there was a difference in MARS scores between apps with user star ratings of >3 and apps with low or no user ratings (Table 3). There were significant differences in overall MARS, engagement, esthetics, and information scores. Compared with apps with low or no user ratings, apps with higher user ratings received significantly higher overall MARS (P=.008), engagement (P=.01), esthetics (P=.01), and information (P=.03) scores. There was no significant difference in the functionality subscale between the 2 groups (P=.67).

Table 3. Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS) scores of highly rated apps compared with others (n=51).

MARS	High rating (n=23), mean (SD)	Low or no rating (n=28), mean (SD)	t test ( $df$ )	P value (2-tailed)
Overall	4.06 (0.46)	3.69 (0.49)	2.75 (49)	.008
Engagement	3.76 (0.65)	3.26 (0.70)	2.58 (49)	.01
Functionality	4.52 (0.35)	4.47 (0.44)	0.43 (49)	.67
Esthetics	4.10 (0.73)	3.55 (0.74)	2.67 (49)	.01
Information	3.85 (0.50)	3.46 (0.71)	2.21 (49)	.03

#### App Quality of the 4 Most Downloaded Apps—The Happy Child, Weldon, Parent Lab, and Thumsters

Independent-sample 2-tailed t tests were used to determine whether there was a difference in MARS scores between the 4 most downloaded apps and the remaining apps (Table 4). Statistically significant differences were found across all comparisons (ie, overall, P=.002; engagement, P=.007; functionality, P=.05; esthetics, P=.01; and information, P=.04), with the 4 most downloaded apps consistently receiving higher average MARS scores than the remaining apps. The largest differences were observed in the overall MARS score and the engagement and esthetics subscales.

Table 4.	Mobile App	Rating Scale	(MARS)	) scores of the most	downloaded	apps compared	with others	(n=51	).
----------	------------	--------------	--------	----------------------	------------	---------------	-------------	-------	----

MARS	Most downloaded (n=4), mean (SD)	Others (n=47), mean (SD)	t test ( $df$ )	P value (2-tailed)
Overall	4.57 (0.19)	3.79 (0.48)	3.2 (49)1	.002
Engagement	4.4 (0.26)	3.41 (0.69)	2.84 (49)	.007
Functionality	4.88 (0.14)	4.46 (0.40)	2.05 (49)	.046
Esthetics	4.75 (0.33)	3.71 (0.75)	2.7 (49)	.01
Information	4.27 (0.39)	3.58 (0.63)	2.11 (49)	.04

#### **Adherence to Behavioral Parenting Principles**

#### **Overall and Domain-Specific Adherence**

Across all 30 apps (after removing apps with low interactivity), overall adherence to BPT principles was quite low (mean 20.74%, SD 11%). This is consistent with previous reviews of commercial apps that examined adherence between mental health apps and treatment principles (eg, mHealth apps for depression and cognitive behavioral therapy principles) [36,37]. The median level of adherence to BPT principles was 19.30% (range 5.56%-44.69%). See Multimedia Appendix 4 for the BPT adherence ratings for each app.

The relationship and communication domains had the highest average adherence and were addressed by most of the apps (27/30, 90%). In contrast, supervision had the lowest mean level of adherence and was addressed by only 13% (4/30) of the apps. In addition, none of these 13% (4/30) of apps that addressed supervision received an adherence rating of >1. Table 5 shows the number of apps that addressed each domain and the mean levels of adherence in each domain. Notably, 13% (4/30) of the apps (Parenting Plus, The Happy Child, Parenting Advice How to, and Parenting Solutions) only had information on communication or relationships or parental mental health but did not at all address tracking, supervision, positive reinforcement, consequences, clear rules, or effective requests.

Table 5. Domain-specific adherence (n=30).

Domains	Apps, n (%)	Level of adherence, mean (SD)
Relationship and communication	27 (90)	1.06 (0.49)
Praise	24 (80)	0.51 (0.42)
Parent mental health	23 (77)	1 (0.70)
Consequences	22 (73)	0.37 (0.30)
Psychoeducation	19 (63)	0.98 (0.73)
Behavioral targets or goals	19 (63)	0.41 (0.38)
Positive reinforcement	19 (63)	0.26 (0.27)
Clear rules	19 (63)	0.35 (0.35)
Maintenance or resources	19 (63)	0.42 (0.36)
Making requests	18 (60)	0.36 (0.30)
Tracking	10 (33)	0.16 (0.33)
Supervision	4 (13)	0.05 (0.15)

#### **Overall Adherence Between Platforms**

Across platforms, apps exclusive to the Apple App Store averaged 14.86% (SD 7%) on adherence level, apps exclusive to the Google Play Store averaged 22.76% (SD 7%), and those available on both stores averaged 21.37% (SD 12%).

#### **Overall Adherence Based on App Popularity**

Independent-sample 2-tailed *t* tests were used to determine whether there was a difference between apps with a user star rating of >3 and apps with low or no user ratings. There was no significant difference between the 57% (17/30) of highly rated apps evaluated for adherence (mean 20.32%, SD 12%) and the remaining 43% (13/30) of apps (mean 21.36%, SD 8%) in the level of adherence ( $t_{29}$ =-0.25; *P*=.80).

Independent-sample 2-tailed *t* tests were used to determine whether there was a difference between the 4 most downloaded apps and the remaining apps. There was no significant difference between the most downloaded apps (mean 25.95%, SD 18%) and the remaining 90% (27/30) of the apps (mean 19.93%, SD 10%) in the level of adherence ( $t_{29}$ =1.04; *P*=.31).

#### App Quality and Adherence

The Pearson correlation was calculated between the MARS overall score and overall adherence level. There was a significant positive correlation between the MARS score and adherence level ( $r_{28}$ =0.4; P=.03), suggesting that, as the adherence score increased, the MARS rating also increased.

#### **Other Notable Apps and Features**

#### Gamification

A notable app feature emerging from this review was gamification. A particularly notable example is an app named "Parent Hero," which involves engaging cartoon or graphic stories of everyday scenarios. The app user is tasked with choosing responses at multiple points in a story, and their choices determine the plot that follows. At the start of each scenario, the app introduces the parenting skill to be practiced. For example, in the scenario "when a child doesn't want to do something," the user is first guided through cartoons that set the scene ("it's almost time to take your child to kindergarten, but she still doesn't have her shoes tied, so you said, 'Katie, it's time to go"). Then, the user reaches a decisional point where they need to select a response from a list of possible options ("Boy, laces can really be difficult!"; "Come on, you're a big girl. You know how to tie your shoes yourself"; and "We're going to be late! Give me your foot!"). After selection of a response, the plot that follows the response is presented (eg, a quarrel gradually ensues following a selection of "We're going to be late! Give me your foot!"). At the end of the story, informational pages are presented that discuss the reasons for the success or ineffectiveness of the selected response. The app contains a total of 17 unique scenarios categorized under 4 types of parenting skills-handling emotions (eg, "when a child wants something he cannot have"), engaging co-operation (eg, "when a child won't clean up"), resolving conflicts (eg, "when children fight"), and praise and appreciation (eg, "when a child performs"). Thus, the parent can play with different responses in each story and learn responses that may be more effective in an entertaining way through the engaging stories. This app received consistently high MARS ratings across all subscales and overall scores (range 4-5; Multimedia Appendix 3). This indicates that the app is engaging while relatively well designed and functional.

Another approach to gamification is illustrated by the app "Parenting Challenge Quiz: 100+ Puzzles for Parents," in which parents can take quizzes on a range of topics, from psychoeducation on child development to parenting skills. An example question from this app is "Rewards are something...: A. that are bought and given; B. need not be purchased; C. something that has high value." Following selection of an answer, feedback is provided on whether the answer is correct or incorrect along with an expandable link to read further explanations. On the MARS, this app received acceptable overall and subscale ratings (from 3.4 on information to 4.75 on functionality; Multimedia Appendix 3). This app's quiz-based nature helped its engagement compared with other text-based apps while maintaining high functionality (eg, performance and simplicity of navigation). However, its engagement may be improved, such as by incorporating images or videos within its quizzes or adding gamification features such as setting "accomplishments" or "goals" with answering quizzes.

#### Individualization

XSL•FO

Although most apps (50/57, 88%) focused on general parenting skills with limited differentiation between child problem areas, some (7/57, 12%) targeted specific user populations and needs

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43626
```

(Multimedia Appendix 2). Specifically, 9% (5/57) of the apps aimed to provide parenting tips for fathers (one of which had a counterpart for mothers, which included slightly different content). In addition, 4% (2/57) of the apps targeted a specific geographic location. For instance, "SMC Parenting for Dads" is an app that targets fathers in San Mateo County in California. Owing to its specificity, this app was able to include information about local resources, ideas for activities with children (eg, local playgrounds, hiking trails, and events), and even employment opportunities for fathers. However, compared with other apps, apps with these specifications did not appear to yield better MARS scores because of "acceptable" ratings on other MARS items, nor did they receive higher adherence ratings (Multimedia Appendices 3 and 4).

Parenting strategies differ across development. To guide future research, we also evaluated the extent to which the target age was considered as part of the app descriptions. Of the 57 apps, only 19 (33%) explicitly indicated an age range that the app was intended for either in the app store descriptions or screenshots, with 16 (28%) apps covering age ranges of  $\leq 14$ years and 8 (14%) covering an age range of ≥13 years (Multimedia Appendix 2). Furthermore, 67% (38/57) of apps that did not explicitly indicate an age range typically used language (eg, "kids" and "early development") or examples (eg, tantrums) that suggested a focus on childhood concerns. The app quality and BPT adherence of age-specific apps did not appear to be significantly distinct from those of general apps, and the level of age-appropriate content was inconsistently (if not insufficiently) addressed across these apps. For example, the app "Raising Healthy Kids Age 6-17" provided content on developmental milestones, human papillomavirus vaccines, bullying, alcohol and drug use (vaping and kratom), sex, and resources for suicide. Although these topics are relevant for parents of teenagers, the content was broad and informational rather than specific and skill-based.

#### Discussion

#### Overview

This systematic review represents one of the first efforts to identify commercial parenting apps that include components of behavioral parenting techniques and to evaluate these apps on design quality (engagement, functionality, esthetics, and information) and adherence to strategies that are consistent with BPT interventions. The results of this review can be used to inform the development of behavioral parenting mHealth apps for parents of teenagers with behavioral problems given research that shows interest [16,17,58].

#### **App Characteristics**

This review of commercial apps on 2 of the most widely used platforms (ie, Google Play Store and Apple App Store) revealed that parent-targeted mHealth apps with behavioral parenting components comprise a small percentage of available apps for "parents." However, these apps were accessible. Most apps (49/57, 86%) were free to download, and only approximately one-fifth (10/49, 20%) of the free apps included in-app purchases.

The results also showed that 44% (25/57) of the apps were accessible on both app stores, 42% (24/57) were only accessible on the Google Play Store, and 14% (8/57) were exclusive to the Apple App Store. In addition, there were more downloads and user star ratings for the Google Play Store, suggesting higher engagement with apps on this platform. These results could be due to the larger number of people in the United States who own devices compatible with Google Play [59]. Nonetheless, these findings suggest that future app developers may prioritize releasing apps on the Google Play Store but should aim to release them on both platforms to maximize dissemination.

Consistent with previous literature on challenges and concerns regarding mHealth privacy [60,61], this study found that commercial apps dedicated an inconsistent and limited amount of attention to privacy. The locations of privacy policies varied across parenting apps, and some apps (17/57, 30%) did not include any information. Although it has been covered to a lesser degree in previous reviews of commercial apps, recent research suggests that privacy is an issue of particular concern for parents of adolescents with behavioral problems, and their teenage children have specific ideas about how privacy notices are to be displayed and made transparent (Ryan-Pettes, PhD, unpublished data, May 2023). Taken together, the results suggest that providers of parents should be aware of privacy concerns before recommending apps, and developers should be accountable for improving the accessibility (eg, privacy agreement in an easy-to-access location within the app) and transparency (eg, type of information shared and with whom the information may be shared) of privacy information [62-64].

#### App Design Quality

Consistent with user star ratings between the Google Play and Apple App Stores, the MARS functionality ratings were similar across platforms. The MARS ratings also showed that apps accessible on both platforms had generally higher app design quality ratings compared with apps accessible only on the Google Play Store. These findings suggest that access to functional apps that are easy to use and simple to navigate appears to be approximately the same regardless of the app store used.

The finding that app quality was higher among apps on both the Apple App and Google Play Stores compared with those exclusive to the Google Play Store is consistent with previous mHealth literature [36,37]. An explanation is that apps meeting the release standards for both platforms also had more resources during development and design. Apps designed exclusively for the Google Play Store may require fewer resources given that the Apple App Store has stricter app release guidelines [65]. Despite apparently similar user star ratings for apps between these 2 platforms, the MARS scores suggest that apps released on both platforms have a higher design quality, which is related to user experience and engagement with the app [35]. Future developers of behavioral parenting intervention apps for parents should consider leveraging resources to meet the release criteria for both platforms or focusing on buttressing design quality by enhancing esthetics and engagement (eg, interactivity) before an exclusive release on the Google Play Store.

Importantly, the findings indicate that there is much room for improvement in the design quality of parenting apps. Average ratings of overall app quality as well as esthetics, information, and engagement were all within an "acceptable" range (rating of 3 on the MARS), whereas functionality appeared to be "good" on average (rating of 4 on the MARS). "Acceptable" quality ratings represent meeting the most basic criteria for design rather than an optimal or highly attractive design. Importantly, a substantial number of apps (21/51, 41%) evidenced minimal or simplistic designs (ie, a rating of 2 or below on interactivity on MARS), such as by using simple text-based presentation of information rather than high-quality designs that are adaptive and responsive. Given the importance of interactivity [66], future parent-targeted mHealth apps should focus on balancing high functionality with straightforward designs without sacrificing the features most relevant for engagement and behavior change [67]. For example, a future parent-targeted app may use minimalist yet professional and visually appealing color palates and straightforward navigation planes to preserve functionality. It may include user-friendly engaging features such as daily challenges that prompt parents to engage in specific effective parenting techniques (eg, praise their teenage child for a job well done and pause and take a deep breath before reacting to an upsetting child behavior).

Furthermore, the findings indicate that evaluation of app quality is important for an app's commercial success. Consistent with the literature on user uptake and engagement, this study found that the most popular apps (higher user ratings and top downloads) received higher app quality scores on all domains of the MARS (ie, overall rating and all subscale ratings). In other words, the MARS ratings largely overlapped with user preference and popularity. Future development of parent-targeted mHealth apps for parenting may consider using established app quality rating scales such as the MARS to guide development.

# Adherence to Behavioral Parenting and Other Notable Features

In terms of adherence to different BPT domains, parental supervision (10/57, 18% of the apps) and tracking (4/57, 7% of the apps) were the 2 domains least addressed by the apps. These findings are unfortunate given the importance of these parenting skills for parents of adolescents with behavioral problems. However, encouragingly, the domain most addressed by the apps—family relationship and communication—also had the highest adherence scores.

An interpretation of these findings is that there may be more widespread interest in and higher demand for the relationship domain of parenting in mHealth apps. However, current apps do not cover communication strategies for issues that are common among parents of adolescents with behavioral problems (eg, delinquency, peer deviance, and substance use) [68]. Therefore, with this interpretation, the findings would suggest that parents of children with behavioral problems may still find current apps insufficient to meet all their needs and concerns. Indeed, previous research has shown that parents of children with substance use problems who are interested in using mHealth apps to support their parenting want additional



parenting strategies related to monitoring, the implementation of consequences, and the initiation of positive activities with their teenage children in addition to communication skills [16]. Taken together, formative research with parents of children with behavioral problems is needed to help determine which additional BPT strategies should be included in a parent-targeted app for this population. As most developers do not use user-centered designs during commercial app development and instead evaluate the finished product, the limited existing formative research on commercial apps will likely not fill this gap [69,70].

A second interpretation of these findings is that there is a heavy focus on family relationships and communication as most apps (33/57, 58%) were designed for parents of young children or preadolescents. Research shows that building strong parent-child relationships is a central focus in childhood, and this shifts to monitoring and supervision during the teenage years [47]. With this interpretation, the results highlight an urgent need for research and development of apps for parents of teenagers or older children with behavioral problems. Focusing on this target population may help address gaps in access to evidence-based parenting support that is in high demand [3].

Importantly, across all parenting domains, the mean level of adherence to BPT principles and strategies was low among the included apps (mean 20.74%, SD 11% adherence to the strategies listed in our codebook). This finding suggests that most of the current commercial parenting apps do not sufficiently teach or approximate behavioral parenting techniques. Combined with results on low interactiveness, our findings suggest that commercial apps that are currently available to consumers generally underutilized the affordances of app technology to promote user engagement with the behavioral parenting components. First, a considerable number of apps (n=87) were excluded from this review as they served merely as aids or tools for enforcing parenting skills (eg, checklist of daily chores and a tracker for tokens) but did not provide didactic information on how to practice the underlying skills (eg, establishing house rules, reviewing house rules with the child, and consistently enforcing agreed-upon contingencies). Among the apps included in this study (all of which provide some informational instructions on parenting skills), many (21/51, 41%) present information in an unengaging and poorly adaptive and responsive way (eg, simple aggregation of texts taken from book chapters). Previous research suggests that interactivity with knowledge (consistent with the principles of social learning) is key such that parents can behaviorally practice and refine the skills [10]. Thus, current apps in the commercial market generally represent a suboptimal way to deliver BPT interventions or components digitally.

To improve adherence and enhance the effective delivery of behavioral parenting strategies, mHealth apps should integrate both didactic instructions and adaptive and responsive features consistent with social learning principles such that the underlying BPT skills can be learned and shaped into practice. As an illustration, the behavioral principle of consistency when implementing house rules (eg, a curfew of 9 PM) can be supported by app features such as daily push notifications at 8:50 PM to check the house for the teenager, and if the parent

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43626

indicates "rule broken" on the app, it will be followed by automatic prompts for the parent to inform the teenager of this rule-breaking behavior and enforce the predetermined consequences right then (eg, decreased allowance). Insights from notable app features such as individualization and gamification can also be incorporated. For instance, parents may choose to personalize the time and frequency of prompts and receive individualized recommendations or examples of house rules based on the child's age and the target problem behavior. The app can also include a progress tracker of the parent's improvement over time and gamify the experience to boost engagement.

Despite low adherence, the apps included in this review showed a large number of downloads and average user ratings, suggesting good user satisfaction. Consistent with previous reviews [34], these findings suggest that parents' willingness to try an app and their ratings of the app are not related to the degree to which the app includes intervention components that are scientifically grounded or implements parenting skills in a way that is related to increasing effective parenting. This study found that only 12% (6/51) of the apps received a rating of 5 on the "accuracy of app description" item on the MARS information subscale, suggesting that app descriptions on commercial app stores often do not provide a comprehensive view of the identity and expertise of app developers. Taken together, the results of this study add support for those calling for more regulation of health promotion mHealth apps in the commercial market, such as by mandating a description of the type of developer (eg, for profit) and expertise of the development team. The results also extend this call and recommend that app descriptions specify the extent to which the app features and content converge with the scientific basis.

This study found a medium positive correlation between overall app quality and overall level of BPT adherence. Although this result appears promising, it should be interpreted with caution. A reason is that the MARS inherently includes some measures of empirical support [35]. Specifically, the information subscale includes items such as "quality of information" (to what extent the overall app content is scientifically accurate and relevant), "credibility" (based on who the app developers are), and "evidence base" (whether there is empirical literature investigating this specific app; this item is scored as "n/a" and not counted toward the total score if no empirical literature was found). These 3 items may have some overlap with the app's level of adherence to evidence-based parenting strategies, suggesting that the correlation found between app design quality (ie, MARS) and BPT adherence level may be overestimated in this study. However, these results are encouraging as they suggest the possibility of designing evidence-based behavioral parenting apps without sacrificing the features most relevant for engagement and behavior change. Examples include using simple (yet appealing) esthetics, easy-to-digest presentation, and personalization [67].

#### Limitations

First, this review only included apps available in English in the US app stores and only looked at the 2 most popular commercial platforms. This excludes apps developed in other countries and

XSL•FO RenderX

languages from the scope of this review. There may also be English-language apps that are not currently found on either store that were not included in this review. However, surveying these 2 most dominant commercial platforms is consistent with previous research practices and adequately encompasses the dominant options for mHealth currently [37,38]. This study also excluded apps that were rated as <3 on the interactivity item in the MARS when adherence to behavioral parenting strategies and principles was assessed. It is possible that some of the excluded apps included more strategies and had higher adherence than the apps that were reviewed. However, our review of those with an interactivity of  $\geq 3$  showed that the commercial app industry is in the infancy stage of using effective app design and smartphone features to leverage the underlying BPT principles. Thus, it is highly unlikely that the excluded apps performed better. In addition, as discussed previously, they likely had poor user engagement because of low interactivity, limiting effectiveness for behavior change [53,66].

Second, given the lack of transparency in commercial app stores regarding information such as the specific number of downloads, it was difficult to obtain further empirical data on patterns or correlations related to the popularity of apps. Similarly, the number of reviews for an app may affect whether information on average user ratings was presented in the app store. In addition, user ratings may be highly variable and inconsistent, potentially raising questions about reliability [33,71]. Although this appears to be a common obstacle in reviews of commercial mHealth apps [36,37], it should be considered when interpreting the findings of this study.

Third, this study showed moderate levels of interrater reliability, particularly with regard to ratings of adherence to behavioral parenting techniques. Although the first author (KL) was the primary coder in this review, the BPT codebook was developed based on previous concerted efforts in the laboratory that involved a team of undergraduate students, 2 advanced doctoral students, and a clinical psychology faculty. The moderate level of reliability may be due to the differences in training and expertise between the 2 raters (KL and LD). Although the second rater (LD) was trained for 4 weeks before independently

rating the apps, this rater was an undergraduate student in the laboratory who did not otherwise have coursework or experience in behavior theories or BPT.

Finally, this study aimed to inform the future design of mHealth apps for parents of adolescents. However, most of the apps identified (49/57, 86%) were either ambiguous regarding age range or focused on childhood (ages of <14 years). Although the review generated important insights for delivering behavioral parenting techniques via mHealth, the age range may be a key limitation when using currently available commercial apps to inform future apps for parents with adolescents.

#### Conclusions

This study reviewed existing commercial apps for parenting skills and provided recommendations for future research. The 51 functional parenting apps identified across the Google Play and Apple App Stores largely fell short of providing BPT components in an adaptable, responsive, and engaging way, suggesting that current commercial apps still inadequately address BPT strategies in a way that is consistent with the underlying principles needed to increase the use of effective parenting strategies in the target population. This study found a moderate relationship between app quality and BPT adherence level and revealed that popular parenting apps appeared to have better app quality but not necessarily a higher level of adherence to evidence-based BPT strategies and principles. Findings from this review suggest that future app developers should consider novel, adaptive, responsive, and engaging ways to adapt traditional in-person behavioral parenting techniques to the mHealth format, such as gamification, individualization, and tailored content that is easy to digest and relatable to parents. Future researchers hoping to increase the dissemination of BPT-informed mHealth apps for parents should aim for free-to-download apps that are accessible on both platforms and balance high-quality design features (eg, simple esthetics, interactivity, and individualization) with content consistent with BPT principles. This may be accomplished through multisector (industry and academic) collaboration throughout the design process and involving end users (ie, parents) during different stages of app development.

#### Acknowledgments

The outcomes reported in this publication were supported by the Frances Fowler Wallace Memorial Award and in part by funds from the Vice Provost for Research at Baylor University.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Behavioral parenting core domains and examples. [DOCX File , 29 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43626 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Accessibility, popularity, and infrastructure parameters for each app. [DOCX File, 27 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43626 app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Mobile App Rating Scale scores for each app. [DOCX File , 23 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43626 app3.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Behavioral parenting adherence ratings for each app. [DOCX File , 25 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43626 app4.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Weisenmuller C, Hilton D. Barriers to access, implementation, and utilization of parenting interventions: considerations for research and clinical applications. Am Psychol 2021 Jan;76(1):104-115. [doi: 10.1037/amp0000613] [Medline: 32134281]
- Sanders MR, Divan G, Singhal M, Turner KM, Velleman R, Michelson D, et al. Scaling up parenting interventions is critical for attaining the sustainable development goals. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev 2022 Oct;53(5):941-952 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10578-021-01171-0] [Medline: <u>33948778</u>]
- Ghandour RM, Sherman LJ, Vladutiu CJ, Ali MM, Lynch SE, Bitsko RH, et al. Prevalence and treatment of depression, anxiety, and conduct problems in US children. J Pediatr 2019 Mar;206:256-67.e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.09.021] [Medline: 30322701]
- 4. Winter L, Morawska A, Sanders MR. The effect of behavioral family intervention on knowledge of effective parenting strategies. J Child Fam Stud 2011 Nov 24;21(6):881-890 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-011-9548-y]
- 5. Allen JL, Hawes DJ, Essau CA. Family-Based Intervention for Child and Adolescent Mental Health: A Core Competencies Approach. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; Mar 2021.
- 6. Kazdin AE. Behavior Modification in Applied Settings. 7th edition. Long Grove, IL, USA: Waveland Press; 2013.
- Kazdin AE. Parent management training and problem-solving skills training for child and adolescent conduct problems. In: Weisz JR, Kazdin AE, editors. Evidence-Based Psychotherapies for Children and Adolescents. 3rd edition. New York, NY, USA: Guilford Press; 2017:142-158.
- 8. Patterson GR, Forgatch MS. Parents and Adolescents Living Together: The basics. Oxfordshire, UK: Castalia Publishing Company; 1987.
- 9. McMahon RJ, Forehand RL. Helping the Noncompliant Child: Family-Based Treatment for Oppositional Behavior. 2nd edition. New York, NY, USA: Guilford Press; 2003.
- 10. Henggeler SW, Schoenwald SK, Borduin CM, Rowland MD, Cunningham PB. Multisystemic Therapy for Antisocial Behavior in Children and Adolescents. 2nd edition. New York, NY, USA: Guilford Press; 2009.
- Jones DJ, Forehand R, Cuellar J, Kincaid C, Parent J, Fenton N, et al. Harnessing innovative technologies to advance children's mental health: behavioral parent training as an example. Clin Psychol Rev 2013 Mar;33(2):241-252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2012.11.003] [Medline: 23313761]
- 12. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth. World Health Organization. 2011. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44607</u> [accessed 2022-01-31]
- 13. The growing value of digital health: evidence and impact on human health and the healthcare system. IQVIA Institute for Human Data Science. 2017 Nov 07. URL: <u>https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports/the-growing-value-of-digital-health</u> [accessed 2021-11-16]
- 14. Davis DW, Logsdon MC, Vogt K, Rushton J, Myers J, Lauf A, et al. Parent education is changing: a review of smartphone apps. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2017 Sep;42(5):248-256. [doi: 10.1097/NMC.00000000000353] [Medline: 28639997]
- 15. Jang J, Dworkin J, Hessel H. Mothers' use of information and communication technologies for information seeking. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2015 Apr;18(4):221-227. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2014.0533</u>] [Medline: <u>25803204</u>]
- Ryan-Pettes SR, Lange LL, Magnuson KI. Mobile phone access and preference for technology-assisted aftercare among low-income caregivers of teens enrolled in outpatient substance use treatment: questionnaire study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Sep 26;7(9):e12407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12407] [Medline: 31573920]
- 17. Jones DJ, Forehand R, McKee LG, Cuellar J, Kincaid C. Behavioral parent training: is there an "app" for that? Behav Ther (N Y N Y) 2010 Apr;33(4):72-77 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22199418]
- Virani A, Duffett-Leger L, Letourneau N. Parenting apps review: in search of good quality apps. Mhealth 2019 Sep 30;5:44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2019.08.10] [Medline: 31620471]
- Grundy Q. A review of the quality and impact of mobile health apps. Annu Rev Public Health 2022 Apr 05;43:117-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-052020-103738] [Medline: 34910582]
- Carreiro S, Newcomb M, Leach R, Ostrowski S, Boudreaux ED, Amante D. Current reporting of usability and impact of mHealth interventions for substance use disorder: a systematic review. Drug Alcohol Depend 2020 Oct 01;215:108201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108201] [Medline: 32777691]
- 21. Tofighi B, Chemi C, Ruiz-Valcarcel J, Hein P, Hu L. Smartphone apps targeting alcohol and illicit substance use: systematic search in in commercial app stores and critical content analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 22;7(4):e11831 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11831] [Medline: 31008713]

- Brown HM, Bucher T, Collins CE, Rollo ME. A review of pregnancy iPhone apps assessing their quality, inclusion of behaviour change techniques, and nutrition information. Matern Child Nutr 2019 Jul;15(3):e12768 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/mcn.12768] [Medline: 30569549]
- 23. Feldman N, Back D, Boland R, Torous J. A systematic review of mHealth application interventions for peripartum mood disorders: trends and evidence in academia and industry. Arch Womens Ment Health 2021 Dec;24(6):881-892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00737-021-01138-z] [Medline: 33929636]
- 24. Hughson JP, Daly JO, Woodward-Kron R, Hajek J, Story D. The rise of pregnancy apps and the implications for culturally and linguistically diverse women: narrative review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 16;6(11):e189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9119] [Medline: 30446483]
- 25. Richardson B, Dol J, Rutledge K, Monaghan J, Orovec A, Howie K, et al. Evaluation of mobile apps targeted to parents of infants in the neonatal intensive care unit: systematic app review. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2019 Apr 15;7(4):e11620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11620] [Medline: 30985282]
- 26. Sardi L, Idri A, Redman LM, Alami H, Bezad R, Fernández-Alemán JL. Mobile health applications for postnatal care: review and analysis of functionalities and technical features. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2020 Feb;184:105114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2019.105114] [Medline: 31655305]
- Tucker L, Villagomez AC, Krishnamurti T. Comprehensively addressing postpartum maternal health: a content and image review of commercially available mobile health apps. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2021 Apr 20;21(1):311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-021-03785-7] [Medline: 33879089]
- 28. Virani A, Duffett-Leger L, Letourneau N. Parents' use of mobile applications in the first year of parenthood: a narrative review of the literature. Health Technol 2021 Nov 30;5:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/ht-20-28]
- 29. Nguyen E, Bugno L, Kandah C, Plevinsky J, Poulopoulos N, Wojtowicz A, et al. Is there a good app for that? Evaluating m-Health apps for strategies that promote pediatric medication adherence. Telemed J E Health 2016 Nov;22(11):929-937. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2015.0211] [Medline: 27070837]
- 30. Schoeppe S, Alley S, Rebar AL, Hayman M, Bray NA, Van Lippevelde W, et al. Apps to improve diet, physical activity and sedentary behaviour in children and adolescents: a review of quality, features and behaviour change techniques. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Jun 24;14(1):83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0538-3] [Medline: 28646889]
- 31. Zarnowiecki D, Mauch CE, Middleton G, Matwiejczyk L, Watson WL, Dibbs J, et al. A systematic evaluation of digital nutrition promotion websites and apps for supporting parents to influence children's nutrition. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2020 Mar 10;17(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-0915-1] [Medline: 32041640]
- 32. Pritha ST, Tasnim R, Kabir MA, Amin S, Das A. A systematic review of mobile apps for child sexual abuse education: limitations and design guidelines. arXiv. Preprint posted online on July 4, 2021 2023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1504/ijmlo.2023.10049097]
- Trahan MH, Schneider L, Hernandez D. Mobile applications for low-income U.S. fathers: a systematic review of content, comprehensiveness and user ratings. J Technol Hum Serv 2021;39(2):111-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15228835.2020.1828228]
- Păsărelu CR, Andersson G, Dobrean A. Attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder mobile apps: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2020 Jun;138:104133. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104133</u>] [Medline: <u>32283479</u>]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar 11;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 36. Huguet A, Rao S, McGrath PJ, Wozney L, Wheaton M, Conrod J, et al. A systematic review of cognitive behavioral therapy and behavioral activation apps for depression. PLoS One 2016 May 02;11(5):e0154248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154248] [Medline: 27135410]
- 37. Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Proudfoot J, Christensen H. Mobile apps for bipolar disorder: a systematic review of features and content quality. J Med Internet Res 2015 Aug 17;17(8):e198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4581] [Medline: 26283290]
- 38. Sander LB, Schorndanner J, Terhorst Y, Spanhel K, Pryss R, Baumeister H, et al. 'Help for trauma from the app stores?' A systematic review and standardised rating of apps for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Eur J Psychotraumatol 2020 Jan 09;11(1):1701788 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1701788] [Medline: 32002136]
- 39. Granich J, Dass A, Busacca M, Moore D, Anderson A, Venkatesh S, et al. Randomised controlled trial of an iPad based early intervention for autism: TOBY playpad study protocol. BMC Pediatr 2016 Oct 19;16(1):167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-016-0704-9] [Medline: 27760533]
- Hyman SL, Levy SE, Myers SM, Council on children with disabilities, section on developmental and behavioral pediatrics. Identification, evaluation, and management of children with autism spectrum disorder. Pediatrics 2020 Jan;145(1):e20193447. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2019-3447</u>] [Medline: <u>31843864</u>]
- 41. Funderburk BW, Eyberg S. Parent-child interaction therapy. In: Norcross JC, Freedheim DK, editors. History of Psychotherapy: Continuity and Change. 2nd edition. Washington, DC, USA: American Psychological Association; 2011:415-420.
- 42. Alexander JF, Waldron HB, Robbins MS, Neeb AA. Functional Family Therapy for Adolescent Behavior Problems. Washington, DC, USA: American Psychological Association; 2013.

- 43. Koo TK, Li MY. A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. J Chiropr Med 2016 Jun;15(2):155-163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012] [Medline: 27330520]
- 44. Sexton TL. Functional Family Therapy in Clinical Practice: An Evidence-Based Treatment Model for Working with Troubled Adolescents. Oxfordshire, UK: Routledge; 2011.
- 45. Wilks CR, Gurtovenko K, Rebmann K, Williamson J, Lovell J, Wasil AR. A systematic review of dialectical behavior therapy mobile apps for content and usability. Borderline Personal Disord Emot Dysregul 2021 Dec 03;8(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40479-021-00167-5] [Medline: 34857035]
- 46. Forgatch MS, Patterson GR. Parent management training-Oregon model: an intervention for antisocial behavior in children and adolescents. In: Weisz JR, Kazdin AE, editors. Evidence-Based Psychotherapies for Children and Adolescents. 2nd edition. New York, NY, USA: The Guilford Press; 2010:159-177.
- 47. Patterson GR. Families: Applications of Social Learning to Family Life. Champaign, IL, USA: Research Press; 1975.
- 48. Patterson GR. Living with Children: New Methods for Parents and Teachers. Champaign, IL, USA: Research Press; 1976.
- 49. Booth P. An Introduction to Human-Computer Interaction (Psychology Revivals). London, UK: Psychology Press; 2014.
- 50. Hollender N, Hofmann C, Deneke M, Schmitz B. Integrating cognitive load theory and concepts of human–computer interaction. Comput Hum Behav 2010 Nov;26(6):1278-1288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2010.05.031]
- 51. Waddell TF, Zhang B, Sundar SS. Human–computer interaction. In: Berger CR, Roloff ME, Wilson SR, Dillard JP, Caughlin J, Solomon D, editors. The International Encyclopedia of Interpersonal Communication. Hoboken, NJ, USA: Wiley-Blackwell; Jun 18, 2015.
- 52. Bellur S, DeVoss C. Apps and autonomy: perceived interactivity and autonomous regulation in mHealth applications. Commun Res Rep 2018;35(4):314-324 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08824096.2018.1501672]
- 53. Burgoon JK, Bonito JA, Bengtsson B, Cederberg C, Lundeberg M, Allspach L. Interactivity in human–computer interaction: a study of credibility, understanding, and influence. Comput Hum Behav 2000 Nov 01;16(6):553-574 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0747-5632(00)00029-7]
- 54. Sundar SS. Social psychology of interactivity in human-website interaction. In: Joinson AN, McKenna KY, Postmes T, Reips UD, editors. Oxford Handbook of Internet Psychology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2012:89-102.
- 55. Joinson A, McKenna KY, Postmes T, Reips UD. Oxford Handbook of Internet Psychology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; Feb 2009.
- 56. Tripathi KP. A study of interactivity in human computer interaction. Int J Comput Appl 2011 Feb 28;16(6):1-3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5120/2012-2717]
- 57. IBM SPSS statistics. IBM Corp. URL: https://www.ibm.com/products/spss-statistics [accessed 2021-01-10]
- 58. Virani A, Duffett-Leger L, Letourneau N. Parents' perspectives of parenting app use. J Inform Nurs 2020;5(1):8-18 [FREE Full text]
- 59. Demographics of mobile device ownership and adoption in the United States. Pew Research Center. 2021 Apr 7. URL: https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/ [accessed 2021-01-15]
- 60. Adhikari R, Richards D. Security and privacy issues related to the use of mobile health apps. In: Proceedings of the 25th Australasian Conference on Information Systems. 2014 Presented at: ACIS '14; December 8-10, 2014; Auckland, New Zealand URL: <a href="https://openrepository.aut.ac.nz/server/api/core/bitstreams/d1dcd354-d95f-4fca-b051-ce03fd443963/content">https://openrepository.aut.ac.nz/server/api/core/bitstreams/d1dcd354-d95f-4fca-b051-ce03fd443963/content</a>
- 61. Plachkinova M, Andrés S, Chatterjee S. A taxonomy of mHealth apps -- security and privacy concerns. In: Proceedings of the 48th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences. 2015 Presented at: HICSS '15; January 5-8, 2015; Washington, DC, USA p. 3187-3196 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1109/HICSS.2015.385</u> [doi: <u>10.1109/hicss.2015.385</u>]
- 62. Budney AJ, Marsch LA, Aklin WM, Borodovsky JT, Brunette MF, Campbell AT, et al. Workshop on the development and evaluation of digital therapeutics for health behavior change: science, methods, and projects. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Feb 26;7(2):e16751 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16751] [Medline: 32130155]
- 63. Kotz D, Gunter CA, Kumar S, Weiner JP. Privacy and security in mobile health: a research agenda. Computer (Long Beach Calif) 2016 Jun;49(6):22-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/MC.2016.185] [Medline: 28344359]
- 64. Marsch LA, Campbell A, Campbell C, Chen CH, Ertin E, Ghitza U, et al. The application of digital health to the assessment and treatment of substance use disorders: the past, current, and future role of the national drug abuse treatment clinical trials network. J Subst Abuse Treat 2020 Mar;112S:4-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2020.02.005] [Medline: 32220409]
- 65. App store review guidelines. Apple Developer. URL: <u>https://developer.apple.com/app-store/review/guidelines/</u> [accessed 2023-03-23]
- Sundar SS, Bellur S, Oh J, Jia H, Kim HS. Theoretical importance of contingency in human-computer interaction: effects of message interactivity on user engagement. Commun Res 2014 May 22;43(5):595-625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0093650214534962]
- 67. Wei Y, Zheng P, Deng H, Wang X, Li X, Fu H. Design features for improving mobile health intervention user engagement: systematic review and thematic analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 09;22(12):e21687 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21687] [Medline: 33295292]

- 68. Youth risk behavior surveillance United States, 2019. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2020 Aug 21. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/2019/su6901-H.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-14]
- 69. Schnall R, Rojas M, Bakken S, Brown W, Carballo-Dieguez A, Carry M, et al. A user-centered model for designing consumer mobile health (mHealth) applications (apps). J Biomed Inform 2016 Apr;60:243-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2016.02.002] [Medline: 26903153]
- 70. Hevner AR. A three cycle view of design science research. Scand J Inf Syst 2007 Jan 1;19(2):87-92 [FREE Full text]
- 71. Hu H, Wang S, Bezemer CP, Hassan AE. Studying the consistency of star ratings and reviews of popular free hybrid Android and iOS apps. Empir Softw Eng 2018 Apr 04;24(1):7-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10664-018-9617-6]

#### Abbreviations

**BPT:** behavioral parenting training **ICC:** intraclass correlation coefficient **MARS:** Mobile App Rating Scale **mHealth:** mobile health

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 26.10.22; peer-reviewed by D Bounds, A Serlachius, A Hogue; comments to author 16.11.22; revised version received 25.01.23; accepted 27.03.23; published 01.06.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

*Li K, Magnuson KI, Beuley G, Davis L, Ryan-Pettes SR Features, Design, and Adherence to Evidence-Based Behavioral Parenting Principles in Commercial mHealth Parenting Apps: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43626 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43626 doi:10.2196/43626 PMID:37261886* 

©Kexin Li, Katherine I Magnuson, Grace Beuley, Logan Davis, Stacy R Ryan-Pettes. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 01.06.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Commercially Available Mobile Apps With Family Behavioral Goal Setting and Tracking for Parents: Review and Quality Evaluation

Summer Joy Weber<sup>1</sup>, RD, PhD; Shelagh A Mulvaney<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Anthony Faiola<sup>4</sup>, MFA, PhD; Madeline Brown<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Tatsuki Koyama<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Lili Sun<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Susanna Lynn Goggans<sup>6</sup>, BS; Pamela Carmen Hull<sup>1,7</sup>, PhD

**Corresponding Author:** 

Pamela Carmen Hull, PhD Markey Cancer Center University of Kentucky 760 Press Avenue, Suite 460 Lexington, KY, 40536 United States Phone: 1 859 562 3233 Email: pam.hull@uky.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Goal setting and tracking are well established behavior change techniques. Little is known about the extent to which commercially available mobile apps are designed to guide parents in using these strategies, their evidence base, and their quality.

**Objective:** This study aims to review commercially available apps that target parents in relation to setting and tracking behavioral goals for their children. The objectives were to classify the apps' general characteristics, features, evidence base, and target behaviors and assess app quality overall and separately for apps that target health-related behaviors (HRBs) and apps without a health-related behavior (WHRB).

**Methods:** Apps were identified using keyword searches in the Apple App Store and Google Play in the United States. Apps were included if their primary purpose was to assist with setting goals, tracking goals, tracking behaviors, or giving feedback pertaining to goals for children by parents. App characteristics and common features were documented and summarized. Two reviewers assessed app quality using the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS). Descriptive statistics summarized the MARS total score, 4 quality subscales, and 6 app-specific items that reflect the perceived impact of the app on goal setting and tracking, overall and with subgroup analysis for HRB and WHRB apps.

**Results:** Of the 21 apps identified, 16 (76%) met the review criteria. Overall, 9 apps defined and targeted the following HRBs: nutrition and mealtime (6/16, 38%), physical activity and screen time (5/16, 31%), sleep (7/16, 44%), and personal hygiene (6/16, 38%). Three apps targeted specific age groups (2 apps were for children aged 6-13 years and 1 app was for children aged  $\geq 4$  years). None of the apps provided tailored assessments or guidance for goal setting. None of the apps indicated that they were intended for the involvement of a health professional or had been tested for efficacy. The MARS total score indicated moderate app quality overall (mean 3.42, SD 0.49) and ranged from 2.5 to 4.2 out of 5 points. The Habitz app ranked highest on the MARS total score among HRB apps (score=4.2), whereas Thumsters ranked highest (score=3.9) among the WHRB apps. Subgroup analysis revealed a pattern of higher quality ratings in the HRB group than the WHRB group, including the mean MARS total score (mean 3.67, SD 0.34 vs mean 3.09, SD 0.46; *P*=.02); the engagement and information subscales; and the app-specific items about perceived impact on knowledge, attitudes, and behavior change.

**Conclusions:** Several high-quality commercially available apps target parents to facilitate goal setting and tracking for child behavior change related to both health and nonhealth behaviors. However, the apps lack evidence of efficacy. Future research

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>School of Nursing, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Biomedical Informatics, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Health and Clinical Sciences, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Biostatistics, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>College of Medicine, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Department of Behavioral Science, College of Medicine, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

should address this gap, particularly targeting parents of young children, and consider individually tailored guided goal setting and involvement of health professionals.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e41779) doi:10.2196/41779

#### **KEYWORDS**

goal setting; goal tracking; nutrition; health behavior; nutrition; parents; children; mobile apps

#### Introduction

#### Background

Several taxonomies and reviews of health behavior change techniques (BCTs) indicate that goal setting is a foundational aspect of initiating and maintaining health behavior change [1-3]. Goal setting and tracking form the basis for conceptualizing, operationalizing, and documenting change and are intrinsic aspects of human behavior [4]. At the most basic level, the process of goal setting for individuals who have a desire to make behavioral changes includes the need to identify a goal, identify behaviors that need to be modified, generate specific strategies that will be used to implement the goal, a time frame for implementation of a plan, and a metric for how success will be defined [5,6]. Basic research in goal setting often integrates a framework from organizational behavioral theory for operationalizing key characteristics of the goal [5]. In health behavior research and practice, goal setting is often designed around development of SMART goals (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, time-bound). Use of these common sense characteristics is commonly found in goal-setting interventions. However, regardless of the use of the SMART goals process, setting goals in general may optimize adherence to a process and the probability of goal achievement [7].

Behavior change research is not always able to provide specific guidance on the translation of theory into real-world activities to achieve health behavior change. For example, although goal-setting and tracking interventions may be informed by the social cognitive theory through the assessment of self-efficacy and facilitators and barriers related to success [8], the interaction of the individual with feedback, the use of peers in goal attainment, and engaging individuals in the change process may be implemented in many ways. Conceptually, self-efficacy may be the most studied construct related to goal attainment and has been related to the nature of the goals selected, the strength of commitment, and outcomes expectancies [8]. Other conceptual factors and processes that have been shown to correlate with goal implementation and achievement include individual abilities, use of feedback, goal commitment, relevant resources, level of stressors, and rewards for progress toward goal attainment [9]. However, these are factors that are characteristics of individuals and not part of the intervention itself. As such, any review of intervention or mobile app characteristics surrounding goal setting and achievement cannot predict or determine who will be successful in using the app regardless of the features.

After setting a goal, it is important to monitor progress to identify whether an individual is on track with regard to the nature of change, quantity of change, or timeline of the goal progress. Monitoring, or tracking, may also be used to document

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41779
```

barriers to change or progress. The importance of this aspect of using goals in behavior change can be observed in the many health behavior tracking tools and apps available commercially. The importance of tracking behaviors is not only to raise awareness to the goal behavior on a regular basis through the act of tracking but also in the use of aggregated feedback over time. Patterns in goal achievement may be useful for identifying problems and refocusing attention or resetting a goal if it is not appropriate [10].

Goal setting and tracking are appealing for use by parents in relation to their children's behavior because they provide a concrete process upon which to map and operationalize change, create opportunity for integrating adaptive assessment and personalized action plans, and may be used in a time-limited or cyclical manner. For example, tracking may be used to focus parental attention toward a goal on a daily or habitual basis. Nutrition and physical activity interventions that incorporate goal setting as a behavioral strategy have been generally evaluated as effective [8,11], including the incorporation of goal setting in childhood obesity prevention intervention studies focused on families, children, and adolescents [1,12,13]. Given the role of parents in creating the home food environment and making shopping choices, particularly for young children, the need for holistic family-based approaches to improve pediatric diet, weight, screen time, and physical activity has long been recognized [14,15].

Several recent studies have reviewed mobile health (mHealth) apps related to nutrition, physical activity, and weight management in children and adolescents. A 2015 review by Burrows et al [16] of 27 mobile apps for adolescents aged  $\geq 13$ years focused on weight management found that goal setting was the most common BCT, used in more than half of the apps (56%). A 2017 review by Schoeppe et al [17] assessed 25 mobile apps for child and adolescent users aged 2 to 18 years that focused on diet, physical activity, or sedentary behavior and found that one-third of the apps included goal setting as one of the BCTs. Finally, a 2022 review by Brown et al [18] of 259 nutrition-themed apps intended for children aged ≤12 years found that 18% of the apps included goal setting and planning as BCTs. In the review by Brown et al [18], approximately two-thirds of the child-focused apps were considered food games, and 17 of the apps were classified as "habit trackers," which they defined as apps that enabled the children to log their food and drink intake. These reviews demonstrate interest in apps that support goal setting and tracking for child behavior, but they only included apps targeting children and adolescents as the app users, not apps that target parents as the primary users. In addition, although some of the reviewed apps included goal-setting features, this was not the focus of the reviews. Parents may wish to set goals to improve health-related

XSL•FO RenderX

behaviors (HRBs) and promote prosocial behaviors in their children, such as chores and homework.

Thousands of mHealth apps promote nutrition, physical activity, weight management, sleep, and other wellness behaviors for adults, but few are designed for parents to influence their children's behaviors [19,20]. Little is known about the extent to which mobile apps that are designed to guide parents in using goal setting and tracking as BCTs for their children are commercially available or the intended context for apps to be used. For example, apps could be designed for parents to them at their home. Alternatively, apps could be used in coordination with health professionals in various contexts (eg, medical care, nutrition education, behavioral therapy, or personal coaching), such as sharing their app data with the health professional or using an app as part of a larger intervention [21]. Furthermore, little is known about the evidence base and quality of such existing apps [22,23].

#### **Objectives**

Given the established evidence for goal setting and tracking as BCTs and the limited examination of mHealth apps in this domain in the context of families, we sought to address this gap. This study aims to review commercially available apps related to setting and tracking goals that target parents and children, both overall and specifically for apps that focus on HRBs. The specific objectives were to (1) classify the general characteristics, features, evidence base, and target behaviors of the apps and (2) assess the quality of the identified apps using an existing validated tool, overall and separately for the apps that target HRBs versus apps that do not include any HRBs. This review is a first step toward making recommendations for the use of mobile apps for goal setting and tracking with parents to influence child health behaviors.

### Methods

#### Search Criteria and App Identification

The Apple App Store (iOS operating system) and Google Play (Android operating system) in the United States were searched once weekly between June and August 2021, using the following keywords to identify a pool of apps related to goal tracking for parents of children: *child goals, kids health goals, toddler parenting app, child nutrition goal tracking*, and *kids' nutrition goals*. Relevant apps were also identified using a snowball approach through similar apps recommended by the app stores during searches.

Inclusion criteria included those apps with the primary purpose of assisting parents with goals related to their children's behaviors, including setting goals, tracking goals, tracking goal progress or behaviors (good or bad), or giving feedback pertaining to goals. Only apps that were available for download in the United States were included. Exclusion criteria included apps that functioned primarily as scheduling or daily planners, list making, time management, allowance tracking, or finance management.

#### **Classification of Apps**

App characteristics, features, and target behaviors were tracked and documented in an Excel (Microsoft Corp) sheet throughout the review process based on review of the app store description and app content. Certain app characteristics remained constant (eg, app name, developer, and Android or iOS availability), whereas others could change over time (ratings, downloads, reviews), so these were all documented on the same date (April 19, 2022). Features that were only available through paid upgrades were noted in the classification table. These paid upgrade features were reviewed based on descriptions and screenshots within the app and in the app store overview, and we did not directly test them.

All the app features were tabulated and described for each app. Then categories of features were created via the identification of commonly occurring themes. No app features were omitted from the assessment, and overlapping features were noted in the table. For each app, we documented the specific behaviors associated with possible goals that could be set and tracked. On the basis of the target behaviors, we assigned the apps to 1 of the 2 categories: apps with HRBs and the remaining apps without HRBs (WHRBs).

To characterize the evidence base, we reviewed the descriptions of the apps in the Apple App Store and Google Play, within the app, and on the developers' websites, when applicable. In addition, we searched for the app names and developer names in PubMed, PsycINFO, and Google Scholar databases to locate any published research on the apps.

#### **Quality Evaluation**

#### Use of the Mobile App Rating Scale

App quality was assessed using the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS), a tool used to measure the quality of mobile apps. The MARS is a validated scale that is considered both objective and reliable [24]. The MARS has been used in similar app reviews and systematic app reviews pertaining to a variety of topics such as nutrition and physical activity for families and children [17,18,20,25,26]. The MARS quality subscale is composed of 19 items grouped into four domains: (1) engagement (5 items), (2) functionality (4 items), (3) aesthetics (3 items), and (4) information (7 items). Items are measured on a 5-point Likert scale, with 5 representing the highest quality. A score for each domain subscale is computed as the mean of the items in that domain. The total MARS quality score is computed as an average across the 4 domains and has demonstrated high internal consistency (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.90) [24]. The MARS instrument also includes a set of 6 app-specific items that can be used to assess the perceived impact of the app on users for the target behavior in terms of awareness, knowledge, attitudes, intention to change, help seeking, and the likelihood of actual change in the target health behavior (behavior change).

Each app was assessed independently by 2 reviewers using the MARS tool. The first author reviewed all the apps as the primary reviewer, and 4 additional authors served as the second reviewer on 4 apps each. All reviewers hold advanced degrees in their respective fields of nutrition, public health, psychology,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41779
```

sociology, or health informatics. All reviewers were trained using the web-based MARS training video and group discussion of the scoring instructions [27]. Reviewers were encouraged to refer back to the video, if necessary, to confirm their understanding of the most accurate and appropriate evaluation of each MARS domain. Differences greater than one point between the 2 reviewers were resolved by discussion and, if needed, a final decision by a third reviewer was applied when needed. Following the process of previous reviews using MARS [17], differences of one point in the assessments were resolved by taking the average of the 2 items.

#### Data Analysis

For the first objective, the general characteristics (ratings, installs, target age, etc), features (user options, available settings, visual displays, etc), evidence base, and health-related target behaviors for each app were tabulated and described. For the second objective, internal consistency of the total MARS quality scale and its subscales was calculated using Cronbach  $\alpha$ . Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the mean and SD for the total MARS quality scale, 4 MARS quality subscales, and the 6 MARS app-specific items for each app individually, overall for all the apps combined, and separately for HRB apps and WHRB apps. As part of the subgroup analysis, we also tested for differences between the HRB apps and WHRB apps using a Kruskal-Wallis test, with a significance level of .05.

#### Results

#### **App Identification**

A total of 21 apps were downloaded during the keyword search and initial review of app descriptions in the app stores. Next, the downloaded apps were screened for the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Of these, 9% (2/21) of the apps did not meet the inclusion criteria for goal tracking (ie, KidBehave and Wello). Some apps used the word *habits*, not in line with the technical definition of habit from psychology but rather using the lay meaning that is equivalent to behaviors and goals [28], so these apps were retained. Furthermore, 9% (2/21) of the apps were excluded because they were allowance trackers (ie, Homey and Chores & Allowance Bot), and 1 app was excluded because it was not available for use in the United States (ie, Goalstar Rewards Notification). The remaining apps (n=16) were included in the review.

#### **Classification of Apps**

General app characteristics and features of the 16 apps are presented in Tables 1 and 2. All apps were available on the Apple App Store (iOS) and 9 apps were available on Google Play (Android). The apps defined goals, tasks, and behaviors in different ways. For example, in 11 apps (ie, Habitz, FamJam, Points, Happy Kids Timer, Reward Chart, Go Hero, Smiles & Frowns, iReward, S'moresUp, Our Home, and Child Reward), goals were operationalized as trackable, desirable (or undesirable) behaviors, where points, stars, or some type of positive or negative feedback were associated with the behaviors. In such cases, the points, stars, or other tracking item could later be redeemed for a reward determined by the app or the user. Many of these apps often contained a predefined selection of goals, tasks, or behaviors (often under different categories) and the option for the user to add their own goals, tasks, or behaviors.

A total of 9 apps contained predefined goals that allowed users to track the following HRBs: nutrition and mealtime (n=6, 66%), physical activity and screen time (n=5, 55%), sleep (n=7, 77%), and personal hygiene (n=6, 66%; Table 1). Specific trackable behaviors that appear in each health-related category are listed in Table 3. Examples of trackable non-health-related behaviors include child routines, chores or home care, homework or school performance, attitudes or moods, and treatment of others. Moreover, 5 of the apps included in the WHRB category (ie, Thumsters, Stellar, punti, Points Wallet, and Chore Pad) did not include any predefined behaviors for goals and required the user to manually define their own behavior goals.



#### Weber et al

**Table 1.** Characteristics of commercially available family goal setting and tracking mobile apps for parents that target health-related behaviors (as of April 19, 2022).

		Apps targeting health-related behaviors (n=9)								
		iRewardChart	Points	OurHome	Happy Kids Timer	S'moresUp	Go Hero	FamJam	Smiles & Frowns	Habitz
Ар	p characteristics							-	-	
	Apple App Store (iOS	5)								
	Average rating (out of 5)	3.6	4.1	4.3	4.3	4.3	a	4.6	4.2	4.4
	Number of rat- ings	227	34	1500	750	697	—	29	43	642
	Google Play (Android	l)								
	Average rating (out of 5)	2.5	4.1	3.2	4.3	3.8	—	3.9	—	_
	Number of rat- ings	669	217	>4000+	>19,000	783	_	90	_	_
	Number of down- loads	>10,000	>10,000	>500,000	>1,000,000	>100,000	>1,000	>10,000	_	_
	Target child age range specified	_	—	_	_	4-6 years, 7- 10 years, >11 years	_	_	_	6-13 years
	Tested in research studies or trials	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Fea	atures									
	Allows multiple chil- dren on family profile	P <sup>b</sup>	✓ <sup>c</sup>	1	_	1	1	✓	✓	✓
	Child user account available on same de- vice	_	—	✓	_	1	1	1	—	1
	Family network op- tion with children on separate devices	_	✓	_	_	1	1	_	1	1
	Option to choose car- toon icons for child	_	_	1	_	1	_	1	_	✓
	Option to choose pho- to for child	1	1	_	_	1	✓	✓	✓	_
	Provides individually tailored guidance on recommended goals	_	—	_	—	_	_	—	—	_
	Can set up multiple goals	$\checkmark$ , P <sup>d</sup>	✓	✓	1	1	✓	✓	✓	✓
	Allows parents to set rewards	1	1	✓	Р	1	1	1	1	$\checkmark$
	Can change reward values	—	✓	1	_	1	1	✓	✓	_
	Visual chart for track- ing over time	1	1	1	1	1	✓	1	1	✓
	Additional features via paid upgrade (not reviewed)	_	_	_	P <sup>e</sup>	_	_	_	_	_
Не	Health-related target behaviors									
	Nutrition and meal- time	1	_	$\checkmark$	1	1	_	—	$\checkmark$	✓

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41779

XSL•FO RenderX

	Apps targeting health-related behaviors (n=9)								
	iRewardChart	Points	OurHome	Happy Kids Timer	S'moresUp	Go Hero	FamJam	Smiles & Frowns	Habitz
Physical activity and screen time	✓	_	1	_	<b>v</b>	_	1		1
Sleep	1	$\checkmark$	1	1	1	✓	—	—	1
Personal hygiene	1	_	_	1	✓		1	1	1

<sup>a</sup>Data not available in app store or the feature not included in the app.

<sup>b</sup>P: the feature available via paid upgrade (not directly tested in the review).

 $^{c}\checkmark$ : the feature included in the app and tested.

<sup>d</sup>Paid upgrade for >4 goals.

<sup>e</sup>Additional paid upgrades: custom order and time length of goals, email, or print reward certificate.



#### Weber et al

**Table 2.** Characteristics of commercially available family goal setting and tracking mobile apps for parents that target other behaviors (as of April 19, 2022).

	Apps targeting other behaviors (n=7)						
	Child Reward	Stellar	Chore Pad	Punti	Reward Charts	Points Wallet	Thumsters
App characteristics	·	·					•
Apple App Store (iOS)							
Average rating (out of 5)	1.3	4.6	2.8	4.7	4.5	4.5	4.8
Number of ratings	4	276	24	6	13	53	717
Google Play (Android)							
Average rating (out of 5)	3.3	a	_	_	_	_	4.2
Number of ratings	405	_	—	_	_	—	203
Number of downloads	>50,000	_	_	_	_	_	>10,000
Target child age range specified	_	_	_	6-13 years	_	—	_
Tested in research studies or trials	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Features							
Allows multiple children on family profile	✓ <sup>b</sup>	✓	$\mathbf{P}^{\mathbf{c}}$	1	1	1	1
Child user account available on same device	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Family network option with children on separate devices	_	_	_	Р	_	_	—
Option to choose cartoon icons for child	1	_	_	_	_	_	_
Option to choose photo for child	1	1	1	_	1	1	1
Provides individually tailored guidance on recommended goals	—	—	—	_	—	—	—
Can set up multiple goals	1	Р	✓, P <sup>d</sup>	✓, P <sup>e</sup>	1	_	1
Allows parents to set rewards	1	_	_	_	1	1	_
Can change reward values	1	_	1	_	_	1	1
Visual chart for tracking over time	1	_	_	1	1	_	1
Additional features via paid upgrade (not reviewed)	_	_	_	$\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{f}}$	_	_	_

<sup>a</sup>Data not available in app store or the feature not included in the app.

 ${}^{b}\checkmark$ : the feature included in the app and tested.

<sup>c</sup>P: the feature available via paid upgrade (not directly tested in the review).

<sup>d</sup>Paid upgrade for >4 goals.

<sup>e</sup>Paid upgrade for >5 goals.

<sup>f</sup>Daily reminders to track goals.



Table 3. Apps containing features that allow users to track health-related goals.

Name of app		Description of features						
Ар	ps that track nutrition, food,	, or mealtime-related behaviors (n=6)						
	Habitz	Eat healthier foods (12 types of food choice goals may be selected); cut out unhealthy foods (5 types of food choice goals may be selected)						
	Happy Kids Timer Can select the activities linked to the goal of completing a morning or nighttime routine: eat you your lunch							
	iRewardChart	No junk food, sit through the meal, eat fruit						
	OurHome Kitchen, meals, shopping							
	S'moresUp Cook simple foods, set and clear table, no device at mealtime, cook simple meal with supervision, stay hydrated, eat breakfast, help make and pack lunch, learn to read labels on food, make breakfast own snacks, help make dinner, learn to read labels on food							
	Smiles & Frowns Using good table manners, refusing to eat properly (negative), behaving poorly at the table							
Apps that track physical activity and screen time behaviors (n=5)								
	FamJam	Exercise						
	Habitz	Physical activity, 2 hours screen time						
	iRewardChart	Exercise						
	OurHome	Exercise						
	S'moresUp	Device limitations (homework first, during family time, at school, etc), play outside for 45 min, practice sports for 45 min						
Ар	ps that track sleep, sleep rou	tine, or bedtime behaviors (n=7)						
	Go Hero	Evening ritual						
	Habitz	On time bedtime last night, Woke up on time						
	Happy Kids Timer	Can select and complete a series of activities linked to the goal of completing a nighttime routine and going to sleep (eg, toilet, pajamas, read a book, lights off, go to sleep)						
	iRewardChart	On time to bed						
	OurHome	Bedroom, bedtime routine						
	Points	Bedtime on time						
	S'moresUp	No screen within an hour of bedtime, sleep at least 10 hours per day, wake up on time, get ready for bed						
Apps that track personal hygiene-related behaviors (n=6)								
	FamJam Brush teeth, washing hands							
	Habitz	Brush your teeth						
	Happy Kids Timer	Can select the activities linked to the goal of completing a morning or nighttime routine: brush your teeth and wash your hands, take a shower or bath						
	iRewardChart	Brush teeth, take bath						
	Smiles & Frowns	Brushing teeth, washing up or bathing, not washing or brushing teeth (negative)						
	S'moresUp	Deodorant, brush teeth, take a shower or bath, wash hands						

Among the 9 HRB apps in the Apple App Store, OurHome had the highest number of user ratings (>1500 ratings), followed by Happy Kids Timer (750 ratings), S'moresUp (697 ratings), and Habitz (642 ratings; Table 1). The highest average user ratings were obtained for FamJam (4.6 rating) and Habitz (4.4 rating). The Apple App Store does not report the number of downloads. Among the 7 HRB apps on Google Play, Happy Kids Timer had the highest number of user ratings (>19,000 ratings), highest average rating (4.3 rating), and highest number of downloads (>1 million). OurHome had the second highest number of user ratings (>4000 ratings) and downloads (>500,000 downloads), but Points had the second highest average user rating (4.1 rating).

Among the 7 WHRB apps in the Apple App Store, the apps with the highest user ratings were Thumsters (717 ratings) and Stellar (276 ratings; Table 2). Thumsters also had the highest average user rating (4.8 rating), followed by punti (4.7 rating) and Stellar (4.6 rating). Among the 2 WHRB apps on Google Play, Child Reward had the largest number of downloads (>50,000 downloads) and user ratings (405 ratings), whereas Thumsters had the highest average user rating (4.2 rating).

XSL•FO RenderX
Overall, 3 apps explicitly stated that the apps were designed for children of specific age ranges. One HRB app (Habitz) and one WHRB app (Punti) were targeted for children aged 6 to 13 years. Another HRB app (S'moresUp) offered a feature to select the age range of children to tailor some of the visuals and features for 3 separate age groups (4-6 years, 7-10 years, and >11 years).

Furthermore, 5 apps offered optional features through paid upgrades, which were described in the apps and app stores. Of these 5 apps, 4 (80%) apps (iRewardChart, Stellar, Chore Pad, and punti) included the paid option to remove limits on 2 existing features—the number of child profiles and the number of goals. The paid upgrade options in the fifth app, Happy Kids Timer, allowed the parents to specify rewards, to customize the order and time length of goals, and to email or print reward certificates. In addition, punti offered paid upgrade options to sync multiple devices on a family network and to provide daily reminders about tracking goals.

In a review of the app store descriptions, information within the app, and developer websites, research was only mentioned on the websites for 2 apps, Habitz and S'moresUp, which stated that research was consulted to inform the development of these apps. The Habitz website described that the development team included experts in nutrition, psychology, and pediatric behavior, and it also mentioned that the team had conducted internal testing of the app, but no details were provided. Searches of scientific databases did not reveal any publications indicating that the apps had been tested in published clinical trials or other studies.

#### **Quality Evaluation**

The MARS quality rating tool demonstrated high internal consistency and reliability for rating the goal-setting and tracking apps, with a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .92 for the total score, and high scores for the 4 subscales: engagement ( $\alpha$ =.80), functionality ( $\alpha$ =.85), aesthetics ( $\alpha$ =.88), and information ( $\alpha$ =.82).

The MARS app quality ratings for each reviewed app and overall for the 16 apps are reported in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1. Overall, the apps had a mean total score of 3.4 (SD 0.5). Among the HRB apps, Habitz had the highest score of 4.2, followed by Smiles & Frowns (score 4.1) and FamJam and Go Hero tied for third (score 3.8). In addition, Habitz had the highest subscale scores for engagement, aesthetics, and information, whereas Smiles & Frowns had the highest score for the functionality subscale. For the top-ranked WHRB apps, Thumsters ranked first (score 3.2), followed by Reward Chart (score 3.2), Points Wallet (score 3.2) and punti (score 3.2) tied for the second. Thumsters had the highest subscale scores for engagement, functionality, and aesthetics, and it tied with Reward Chart and Points Wallet for the highest score on the information subscale score.

With regard to the lowest ranked HRB apps, iRewardsChart and Points ranked lowest in total score and ranked low in most

of the subscales, except for functionality. Comparably, among the WHRB apps, Child Reward and Stellar ranked the lowest overall, with Child Reward receiving a score of 1.9 in the area of information and Stellar receiving a score of 1.9 for the engagement subscale. With regard to the 6 goal-setting scores, we observed that Child Reward and Stellar had the lowest scores, with Stellar receiving the lowest scores of all ranked categories, with a consistent 1.5 score in 5 out of the 6 goal-setting categories.

Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 lists the scores for the 6 app-specific items that reflected reviewers' perceived impact of the apps on aspects of goal setting and goal tracking. Among the HRB apps, 4 apps (Habitz, Smiles & Frowns, FamJam, and Go Hero) received  $\geq 4.0$  in at least 4 of the 6 items. Smiles & Frowns had the most items scored at 4.5, followed by Habitz and Go Hero. At the same time, Habitz was ranked first in the important category of behavior change, and 4 other apps tied for the second highest score in behavior change (score 4.0).

Among the WHRB apps, Thumsters received the highest ratings on the app-specific items, with a score of 4.5 on 4 of the items. Reward Chart had the next highest ratings, with a score of  $\geq$ 3.5 on 4 items. Thumsters scored the highest on the behavior change item (score 4.0), followed by Chore Pad (score 3.5).

Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 illustrates the ranking of the total score for each app, with the HRB apps in black and the WHRB apps in gray. Notably, 8 of the top 9 ranked apps were HRB apps. The exception was Thumsters, which ranked third overall and received the highest total score among the WHRB apps.

This pattern was consistent in the mean comparison tests of the MARS quality scores for the HRB apps and the WHRB apps, as presented in Table 4. We observed a significantly higher total score for the HRB apps (mean 3.67, SD 0.34) compared with the WHRB apps (mean 3.09, SD 0.46; P=.02). Among the subscales, the engagement subscale was higher for the HRB apps (mean 3.60, SD 0.30) compared with the WHRB apps (mean 2.86, SD 0.60; P=.01), and the information subscale was higher for the HRB apps (mean 2.86, SD 0.60; P=.01), and the information subscale was higher for the HRB apps (mean 2.86, SD 0.37, SD 0.44) compared with the WHRB apps (mean 2.86, SD 0.37, P=.01). The functionality and aesthetics subscales did not differ significantly between the 2 groups.

Among the app-specific items on reviewers' perceived impact of the apps on goal setting and goal tracking, we observed that three of the six items were significantly higher for HRB apps versus WHRB apps: (1) knowledge (HRB apps: mean 3.83, SD 0.43; WHRB apps: mean 3.00, SD 0.91; P=.02), (2) attitudes (HRB apps: mean 3.83, SD 0.35; WHRB apps: mean 2.86, SD 0.9; P=.01), and (3) behavior change (HRB apps: mean 3.78, SD 0.44; WHRB apps: mean 3.07, SD 0.53; P=.02). The 2 groups of apps did not differ significantly in the perceived impact of the apps on awareness, intention to change, or help seeking.



Weber et al

Table 4. Comparison of Mobile App Rating Scale scores for apps targeting health-related behaviors versus other apps.

	Apps targeting health-related behaviors (n=9), mean (SD)	Apps targeting other behaviors (n=7), mean (SD)	<i>P</i> value	
App quality	-			
Total score	3.67 (0.34)	3.09 (0.46)	.02	
Subscales				
Engagement	3.60 (0.3)	2.86 (0.6)	.01	
Functionality	4.04 (0.61)	3.70 (0.61)	.18	
Esthetics	4.02 (0.69)	3.33 (0.54)	.08	
Information	3.03 (0.44)	2.48 (0.3)	.01	
App-specific items (perceived impact on goal setting or tracking)				
Awareness	3.83 (0.66)	3.21 (0.95)	.13	
Knowledge	3.83 (0.43)	3.00 (0.91)	.02	
Attitudes	3.83 (0.35)	2.86 (0.90)	.01	
Intention to change	3.83 (0.35)	2.93 (1.02)	.07	
Help seeking	3.28 (0.44)	2.93 (0.73)	.37	
Behavior change	3.78 (0.44)	3.07 (0.53)	.02	

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

In summary, more than half of the 16 goal-setting and tracking apps in this review targeted HRBs, which included behaviors related to nutrition and mealtime, physical activity and screentime, sleep, and personal hygiene. Only 3 apps were tailored for specific ages of children, including 2 apps for middle childhood to early adolescence, and 1 app for 3 age groups spanning from 4 years through adolescence. No evidence was found indicating that any of the apps had been tested in clinical trials, experimental studies, or other studies. Most of the apps offer features for personalizing the user experience of tracking multiple children, and some of the apps offer the option for both parents and children to directly use the apps together as a family. However, none of the apps provided individually tailored assessments or guidance to recommend specific goals for each child, and none suggested using the app in coordination with their children's health care provider.

The app quality assessment indicated an overall moderate app quality and substantial variation in quality ratings, with only a handful of apps consistently scoring high across subscales and app-specific items. Among the HRB apps, Habitz had the highest MARS quality rating and the third-highest user rating in the Apple App Store, and among the WHRB apps, Thumsters ranked the highest on both. Aside from these 2 apps, the rank order of apps in our MARS quality ratings and in the average user ratings from the app stores were fairly inconsistent. Ranking the apps and descriptive subgroup analysis revealed a pattern of higher quality ratings in the HRB group than the WHRB group, including the MARS total score, the engagement and information subscales, and the app-specific items about perceived impact on knowledge, attitudes, and behavior change.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

To our knowledge, this is the first review of commercially available mobile apps that specifically target parents and include goal-setting features. Three recent reviews of commercially available mobile apps targeting HRBs are relevant for comparison with our study because the authors reported that a substantial proportion of the reviewed apps included goal-setting BCTs, ranging from 18.1% (47/259, including 17 "habit trackers") [18] to 32% (8/25) [17] to 56% (15/27) [16]. The key difference is that these reviews focused on apps that targeted children and adolescents as the primary users rather than parents. Although 7 of the 9 HRB apps in our review provided the option for children to directly use the apps in addition to the parents, none of the apps included in those reviews overlapped with the apps reviewed in our study. Possible reasons for the lack of overlap are that the authors reviewed apps that were available on the app stores in their respective countries and in different years—ours in the United States in 2021 versus the others in Australia in 2013 [16] and in 2016 [17] and Canada in 2018 to 2019 [18].

Two of these reviews assessed app quality using the MARS tool [17,18]. Schoeppe et al [17] reported a mean MARS total score of 3.6 out of 5 possible points for the 25 nutrition and physical activity–focused apps (range 2.4-4.4), indicating moderate quality, but the subgroup of 8 apps with goal-related BCTs had a higher mean of 4.0 and less variation (range 3.6-4.4). Brown et al [18] indicated that the mean MARS total score for the 259 nutrition-related apps was also 3.6 (range 2.2-4.7), or moderate quality, and indicated a similar mean of 3.5 with less variation (range 3.2-4.2) for the subgroup of 17 apps in the "habit tracker" subgroup. In comparison, in this review, all apps included goal setting or tracking, with a mean MARS total score of 3.4 (range 2.5-4.2), and the subgroup of HRB apps, most of which included nutrition or physical activity, had a slightly higher mean of 3.7 (range 3.2-4.2). Thus, the



quality scores for the HRB subgroup in our study fell in between the relevant subgroups in the reviews by Brown et al [18] and Schoeppe et al [17].

The highest scoring MARS subscale was functionality for the review by Schoeppe et al [17] (4.10 overall; 4.3 goal subgroup), Brown et al [18] (4.0 overall; 4.0 habit tracker subgroup), and our review (3.9 overall; 4.0 HRB subgroup). However, the reviews differed in the lowest-scoring MARS subscale. Engagement was lowest for the review by Brown et al [18] (2.9 overall; 3.3 habit tracker subgroup), whereas information was lowest for the review by Schoeppe et al [17] (2.8 overall; 3.2 goal subgroup) and our study (2.8 overall; 3.0 HRB subgroup). These findings across reviews suggest that commercial apps for parents and children that focus on HRBs or use goal setting as a BCT tend to perform well on the functionality domain of MARS, which includes performance, ease of use, navigation, and gestural design, but they may be weaker on the information and engagement domains.

In the third review, Burrows et al [16] noted that none of the 27 apps related to child weight management that were commercially available in 2013 were tested through research studies, which was also found in our review. They also noted that most of the app developers did not report on the involvement of content area experts, which was the same for all but one of the apps in our review. Furthermore, most of the apps in the review by Burrows et al [16] contained content that they deemed was not consistent with relevant best practices, that is, national dietary guidelines. Although the review by Burrows et al [16] did not include a quantitative quality assessment using a tool, such as MARS, the findings are consistent with our finding related to the information domain of MARS. The items comprising this domain include clear and achievable goals, correct and comprehensive information, credibility of the app source or developer, and the scientific evidence base of the app [24]. In our review, credibility and evidence base were consistently the lowest-scoring items, which reduced information domain scores. This finding of a low information domain score driven by low ratings on the credibility and evidence base items is also consistent with reviews of commercially available apps for adults that focus on nutrition, physical activity, and other health promotion behaviors [20,29].

Although the HRB apps with goal-setting features reviewed here were not tested through research, the specific HRBs that the apps targeted through predefined goal options were largely consistent with the current scientific literature and best practices related to child and adolescent health. For example, 3 of the 6 apps that target nutrition and mealtime behaviors had predefined goal options on child consumption of specific healthy and unhealthy food options, such as increasing intake of vegetables, fruit, or water, and decreasing intake of junk food (eg, fast food and sugar-sweetened beverages). Promoting goals targeting these behaviors has the potential to positively influence child dietary patterns based on the existing scientific evidence related to these broad behaviors [23,30-35]. Similarly, 4 apps offered predefined goal options for increasing physical activity (eg, general exercise, outdoor play, and practicing sports) and 2 apps included goal options for limiting screen time, reducing total

XSL•FO

screen time, and contingent access to electronic devices. Both increased physical activity and decreased screen time have been consistently linked to health and other benefits for children [36-40]. Moreover, 7 of the apps included sleep and bedtime routine behaviors for goals. Both sleep duration and sleep quality have been associated with a number of health-related outcomes in children, such as physical development, cognitive development, emotional and behavioral problems, and excessive weight gain [41-44]. Furthermore, 6 of the apps included predefined goals related to personal hygiene in children, such as brushing teeth, washing hands, and bathing, which support current oral health guidelines [45,46], effective public health hand hygiene strategies [47-49], and other benefits for young children related to sleep and emotional connection with caregivers [50]. Therefore, although the parent-targeted apps we reviewed have not been individually tested for efficacy, our findings suggest that some of the apps focus on HRBs that have a general scientific evidence base and could potentially be leveraged for health promotion and chronic disease prevention.

Interestingly, our review identified a smaller number of commercially available parent-targeted apps than the number of child-targeted apps identified in previous reviews, even after restricting to apps that include goal-related features [18]. The large number of mobile apps targeting young children as the primary users is inconsistent with the vast scientific literature that has established the crucial role of parental influence and environmental changes in shaping children's behavior before adolescence [14,15,51]. This notion is supported by the concept of parental health-related empowerment by Gago et al [15], which they define as "the process by which parents realize control over their life situation and take action to promote a healthier lifestyle." Their work demonstrated that increasing parental empowerment can improve weight-related parenting practices, which in turn can influence children's behaviors and promote prevention of obesity and chronic diseases.

#### Limitations

Although this is one of the only objective reviews of parent-targeted goal-setting apps for child-focused behavior change, we acknowledge its limitations. Although a strength of the evaluation process was the use of a validated instrument that has been successfully used in many previous studies and provides valuable insights, the evaluation did not include using the apps with the target population of parents. It is possible that parents would have rated the quality domains differently, thus limiting the inferences we can make regarding the utility and engagement features. Although the inclusion of actual use-case testing was not feasible and outside of the scope of the review, this can be pursued in future research.

Second, because of the dynamic nature of the app stores that do not indicate the number of apps meeting search criteria, it is possible that eligible apps could have been missed. We mitigated this challenge by using multiple search terms and by using a snowball approach of reviewing similar apps recommended by the app store when viewing each app that appeared in the searches. Finally, we did not directly test features that were only available through paid upgrades to maintain consistency across the apps and because paid versions are likely not accessible for

all parents. It is possible that some of the MARS ratings, particularly the app-specific items, may have scored higher when including the paid upgrades.

#### **Implications for Research and Practice**

The overall average app quality was rated as moderate in this review of commercially available apps that target parents to facilitate goal setting and tracking for child behavior change. Of note, several of the apps were rated as high quality, particularly among the apps that target HRBs, and several were rated as having strong potential to generate changes in knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. However, even the apps with high-quality ratings lack documented evidence of efficacy. Although the field of mHealth continues to grow along with technological advances, potential mHealth adaptations of existing behavioral intervention strategies may or may not offer improvement over traditional delivery formats; for example, Is goal setting more effective for parents when they are prompted during a conversation with their child's physician or when they are prompted by a mobile app while they are at home [52]? Furthermore, the context in which parents interact with mobile apps related to goal setting and tracking will likely influence the effectiveness on behavior initiation and maintenance. For example, a parent could set a goal to initiate a new food purchasing behavior during a visit with a nutritionist at a public assistance program, then use a mobile app provided by the nutritionist when they go home to track goal progress, receive ongoing reinforcement, and share their progress with the nutritionist [53-55].

The provision of evidence supporting the impact of the apps is relevant for parents, clinicians, and other health professionals and could positively influence parent uptake if an app was supported scientifically. An evidence-based rating system could guide health professionals in identifying the most effective apps to recommend to parents of children in clinical settings and public health programs [56]. This is critical given that behavior change can be a challenging process and may require repeated attempts to be successful. Although the apps reviewed here may be efficacious, health professionals and parents currently have no basis for recommending or selecting an app for their families. In addition, apps that have not been proven effective could waste parents' time and energy on strategies that are not likely to improve the target behavior. This represents a missed opportunity to engage parents in evidence-based strategies, and in some cases, it could potentially pose an ethical dilemma if health care professionals recommend ineffective apps to parents. Future app development and research should focus on this opportunity.

More research is needed to assess whether using a mobile app for parents to set and track goals for child HRBs is effective using existing apps or newly developed apps. Furthermore, future research should examine which specific goals or combination of goals within each behavior domain are most important, how they interact with each other, and the mechanisms that lead to changes in health outcomes [57]. For example, while it has been established that certain aspects of children's eating routines such as family member presence, frequency of family meals, frequency of fast food consumption, positive mealtime atmosphere, parental modeling, and longer meal duration are associated with diet quality and health outcomes [58-61], it is difficult to establish the mechanisms that lead to weight-related outcomes of these routines and practices. Furthermore, the dietary and weight-related goals of motivated parents trying to establish positive mealtime routines and climates can be easily thwarted by factors such as strong child food preferences, preservation of the child's self-esteem, desire for conflict avoidance, and inflexible time and finances [62].

Although parents were the primary users of the apps in this review, most of the HRB apps also offered options for the children to engage with the app, either as another user on the parent's phone or on the child's own device, linked together as a family. These features offer the opportunity to include the whole family in change, which could potentially enhance the impact of the apps as family-based interventions. A small but growing body of research is beginning to explore the delivery of family-based interventions through mobile apps, which show promise, but much more research needs to be done [63-65]. This could also provide an opportunity for parents to connect with the children's health care provider to share the family's goal progress data for remote monitoring and feedback. An important dimension to explore is developmentally appropriate levels of involvement for children of different ages, potentially with more involvement as children age. A notable gap identified in this review was the lack of goal-setting apps for parents of young children, with only one targeting parents of children aged 4 to 6 years and none targeting parents of children aged <4 years. During the infant, toddler, and preschool years, parents obviously exert a great influence on their children and have great potential to initiate healthy behaviors even at those young ages.

Finally, another gap identified in this review was that none of the apps provided validated assessments to guide goal selection or other individually tailored guidance to help recommend goals for children based on their unique needs. Previous research has demonstrated the feasibility and effectiveness of guided goal setting in in-person intervention settings [66-68], and more research is needed to extend and evaluate this strategy using mHealth and mobile technology in general.

#### Conclusions

This review identified several high-quality commercially available apps that target parents with a focus on goal setting and tracking for child behavior change, both for HRBs and for non-health-related behaviors. However, these apps lack documentation of research-tested effectiveness. Future research should address this gap in the literature. In particular, more research is needed to assess the effectiveness of leveraging mobile apps to facilitate individually tailored guided goal setting for parents of young children. In addition, future research should explore options for integrating parent-focused apps as a complement to and reinforcement of health professionals' interactions with parents around goal setting and tracking.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the US Department of Agriculture (grant 2017-68001-34846) and the National Institutes of Health National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (grant UL1TR001998). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the US Department of Agriculture or the National Institutes of Health.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

SJW, PCH, SAM, and AF were involved in study conception and design; SJW, PCH, SAM, AF, and MB collected the data; SJW, PCH, SAM, AF, MB, TK, LS, and SLG performed analysis and interpretation of results; SJW, PCH, SAM, AF, MB, TK, LS, and SLG prepared the draft of the manuscript; and PCH was involved in funding acquisition. All authors have reviewed the results and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplemental Table 1. Mobile App Rating Scale scores for each reviewed app and overall (N=16). Supplemental Figure 1. MARS total quality score for reviewed apps.

[DOCX File, 35 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e41779\_app1.docx]

#### References

- 1. Perdew M, Liu S, Naylor PJ. Family-based nutrition interventions for obesity prevention among school-aged children: a systematic review. Transl Behav Med 2021 Apr 07;11(3):709-723. [doi: <u>10.1093/tbm/ibaa082</u>] [Medline: <u>32893869</u>]
- Carey RN, Connell LE, Johnston M, Rothman AJ, de Bruin M, Kelly MP, et al. Behavior change techniques and their mechanisms of action: a synthesis of links described in published intervention literature. Ann Behav Med 2019 Jul 17;53(8):693-707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kay078] [Medline: 30304386]
- 3. Michie S, Wood CE, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis JJ, Hardeman W. Behaviour change techniques: the development and evaluation of a taxonomic method for reporting and describing behaviour change interventions (a suite of five studies involving consensus methods, randomised controlled trials and analysis of qualitative data). Health Technol Assess 2015 Nov;19(99):1-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3310/hta19990] [Medline: 26616119]
- 4. Berkman ET. The neuroscience of goals and behavior change. Consult Psychol J 2018 Mar;70(1):28-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/cpb0000094] [Medline: 29551879]
- 5. Latham GP, Locke EA. Self-regulation through goal setting. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 1991 Dec;50(2):212-247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90021-K]
- Doran GT. There's a SMART way to write management's goals and objectives. Temple University. 1981. URL: <u>https:// /community.mis.temple.edu/mis0855002fall2015/files/2015/10/S.M.A.R.T-Way-Management-Review.pdf</u> [accessed 1999-11-30]
- Swann C, Jackman PC, Lawrence A, Hawkins RM, Goddard SG, Williamson O, et al. The (over)use of SMART goals for physical activity promotion: a narrative review and critique. Health Psychol Rev 2023 Jun;17(2):211-226. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2021.2023608] [Medline: 35094640]
- 8. Bandura A. Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory. Psychol Health 1998 Jul;13(4):623-649. [doi: 10.1080/08870449808407422]
- Connell LE, Carey RN, de Bruin M, Rothman AJ, Johnston M, Kelly MP, et al. Links between behavior change techniques and mechanisms of action: an expert consensus study. Ann Behav Med 2019 Jul 17;53(8):708-720 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kay082] [Medline: 30452535]
- 10. Mulvaney SA, Vaala SE, Carroll RB, Williams LK, Lybarger CK, Schmidt DC, et al. A mobile app identifies momentary psychosocial and contextual factors related to mealtime self-management in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Dec 01;26(12):1627-1631 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz147] [Medline: 31529065]
- Cullen KW, Baranowski T, Smith SP. Using goal setting as a strategy for dietary behavior change. J Am Diet Assoc 2001 May;101(5):562-566. [doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(01)00140-7] [Medline: 11374350]
- Ash T, Agaronov A, Young T, Aftosmes-Tobio A, Davison KK. Family-based childhood obesity prevention interventions: a systematic review and quantitative content analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Aug 24;14(1):113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0571-2] [Medline: 28836983]
- Gori D, Guaraldi F, Cinocca S, Moser G, Rucci P, Fantini MP. Effectiveness of educational and lifestyle interventions to prevent paediatric obesity: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized and non-randomized controlled trials. Obes Sci Pract 2017 Sep;3(3):235-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/osp4.111] [Medline: 29071100]

- 14. Kitzmann KM, Beech BM. Family-based interventions for pediatric obesity: methodological and conceptual challenges from family psychology. J Fam Psychol 2006 Jun;20(2):175-189. [doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.20.2.175] [Medline: 16756393]
- 15. Gago CM, Jurkowski J, Beckerman-Hsu JP, Aftosmes-Tobio A, Figueroa R, Oddleifson C, et al. Exploring a theory of change: are increases in parental empowerment associated with healthier weight-related parenting practices? Soc Sci Med 2022 Mar;296:114761 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.114761] [Medline: 35123371]
- 16. Burrows TL, Khambalia AZ, Perry R, Carty D, Hendrie GA, Allman-Farinelli MA, et al. Great 'app-eal' but not there yet: a review of iPhone nutrition applications relevant to child weight management. Nutr Diet 2015 Apr 16;72(4):363-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1747-0080.12184]
- Schoeppe S, Alley S, Rebar AL, Hayman M, Bray NA, Van Lippevelde W, et al. Apps to improve diet, physical activity and sedentary behaviour in children and adolescents: a review of quality, features and behaviour change techniques. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Jun 24;14(1):83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0538-3] [Medline: 28646889]
- Brown JM, Franco-Arellano B, Froome H, Siddiqi A, Mahmood A, Arcand J. The content, quality, and behavior change techniques in nutrition-themed mobile apps for children in Canada: app review and evaluation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022 Feb 16;10(2):e31537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31537] [Medline: 35171100]
- 19. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among US mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov 04;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- 20. Bardus M, van Beurden SB, Smith JR, Abraham C. A review and content analysis of engagement, functionality, aesthetics, information quality, and change techniques in the most popular commercial apps for weight management. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 Mar 10;13:35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0359-9] [Medline: 26964880]
- 21. Lee M, Bin Mahmood AB, Lee ES, Smith HE, Tudor Car L. Smartphone and mobile app use among physicians in clinical practice: scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2023 Mar 31;11:e44765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/44765] [Medline: 37000498]
- 22. Blakeslee SB, Vieler K, Horak I, Stritter W, Seifert G. Planting seeds for the future: scoping review of child health promotion apps for parents. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2023 Jul 20;11:e39929 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/39929] [Medline: 37471125]
- Drewnowski A, Rehm CD, Constant F. Water and beverage consumption among children age 4-13y in the United States: analyses of 2005-2010 NHANES data. Nutr J 2013 Jun 19;12(1):85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-12-85] [Medline: 23782914]
- 24. Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar 11;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 25. Zarnowiecki D, Mauch CE, Middleton G, Matwiejczyk L, Watson WL, Dibbs J, et al. A systematic evaluation of digital nutrition promotion websites and apps for supporting parents to influence children's nutrition. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2020 Feb 10;17(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-0915-1] [Medline: 32041640]
- Mauch CE, Wycherley TP, Laws RA, Johnson BJ, Bell LK, Golley RK. Mobile apps to support healthy family food provision: systematic assessment of popular, commercially available apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Dec 21;6(12):e11867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11867] [Medline: 30578213]
- 27. Stoyanov S. MARS training video. YouTube. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=25vBwJQIOcE</u> [accessed 2023-02-27]
- 28. De Houwer J. On how definitions of habits can complicate habit research. Front Psychol 2019 Nov 29;10:2642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02642] [Medline: 31849762]
- 29. McKay FH, Wright A, Shill J, Stephens H, Uccellini M. Using health and well-being apps for behavior change: a systematic search and rating of apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jul 04;7(7):e11926 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11926] [Medline: 31274112]
- Cashdan E. A sensitive period for learning about food. Hum Nat 1994 Sep;5(3):279-291. [doi: <u>10.1007/BF02692155</u>] [Medline: <u>24214627</u>]
- Carruth BR, Ziegler PJ, Gordon A, Barr SI. Prevalence of picky eaters among infants and toddlers and their caregivers' decisions about offering a new food. J Am Diet Assoc 2004 Jan;104(1 Suppl 1):s57-s64. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jada.2003.10.024</u>] [Medline: <u>14702019</u>]
- 32. Fisher JO, Mennella JA, Hughes SO, Liu Y, Mendoza PM, Patrick H. Offering "dip" promotes intake of a moderately-liked raw vegetable among preschoolers with genetic sensitivity to bitterness. J Acad Nutr Diet 2012 Feb;112(2):235-245. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2011.08.032] [Medline: 22741167]
- Jakobsen DD, Brader L, Bruun JM. Association between food, beverages and overweight/obesity in children and adolescents-a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutrients 2023 Feb 02;15(3):764 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu15030764] [Medline: 36771470]
- 34. Scientific report of the 2015 dietary guidelines advisory committee: advisory report to the secretary of health and human services and the secretary of agriculture. U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015. URL: <u>https://health.gov/sites/default/files/</u>2019-09/Scientific-Report-of-the-2015-Dietary-Guidelines-Advisory-Committee.pdf [accessed 2022-11-30]
- 35. Wright P. Development of food choice during infancy. Proc Nutr Soc 1991 Mar;50(1):107-113. [doi: <u>10.1079/pns19910016</u>] [Medline: <u>1881925</u>]

- 36. Martin A, Booth JN, Laird Y, Sproule J, Reilly JJ, Saunders DH. Physical activity, diet and other behavioural interventions for improving cognition and school achievement in children and adolescents with obesity or overweight. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Mar 02;3(3):CD009728 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009728.pub4] [Medline: 29499084]
- 37. Soares R, Brasil I, Monteiro W, Farinatti P. Effects of physical activity on body mass and composition of school-age children and adolescents with overweight or obesity: systematic review focusing on intervention characteristics. J Bodyw Mov Ther 2023 Jan;33:154-163. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2022.09.004] [Medline: 36775513]
- 38. Rhodes RE, Hollman H, Sui W. Family-based physical activity interventions and family functioning: a systematic review. Fam Process (Forthcoming) 2023 Feb 07. [doi: 10.1111/famp.12864] [Medline: 36748347]
- Alanko D. The health effects of video games in children and adolescents. Pediatr Rev 2023 Jan 01;44(1):23-32. [doi: 10.1542/pir.2022-005666] [Medline: 36587018]
- 40. Pardhan S, Parkin J, Trott M, Driscoll R. Risks of digital screen time and recommendations for mitigating adverse outcomes in children and adolescents. J Sch Health 2022 Aug;92(8):765-773. [doi: <u>10.1111/josh.13170</u>] [Medline: <u>35253225</u>]
- 41. Chaput JP, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Carson V, Gruber R, Birken CS, et al. Systematic review of the relationships between sleep duration and health indicators in the early years (0-4 years). BMC Public Health 2017 Nov 20;17(Suppl 5):855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4850-2] [Medline: 29219078]
- 42. Reynaud E, Vecchierini MF, Heude B, Charles MA, Plancoulaine S. Sleep and its relation to cognition and behaviour in preschool-aged children of the general population: a systematic review. J Sleep Res 2018 Jun;27(3):e12636. [doi: 10.1111/jsr.12636] [Medline: 29164715]
- Zheng M, Rangan A, Olsen NJ, Heitmann BL. Longitudinal association of nighttime sleep duration with emotional and behavioral problems in early childhood: results from the Danish Healthy Start Study. Sleep 2021 Jan 21;44(1):zsaa138. [doi: <u>10.1093/sleep/zsaa138</u>] [Medline: <u>32691048</u>]
- 44. Miller MA, Bates S, Ji C, Cappuccio FP. Systematic review and meta-analyses of the relationship between short sleep and incidence of obesity and effectiveness of sleep interventions on weight gain in preschool children. Obes Rev 2021 Feb;22(2):e13113. [doi: 10.1111/obr.13113] [Medline: 33237635]
- 45. Oral health in America: advances and challenges. National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nidcr.nih.gov/research/oralhealthinamerica</u> [accessed 2022-11-30]
- 46. Marinho V, Higgins J, Sheiham A, Logan S. Fluoride toothpastes for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003;2003(1) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd002278]
- Jefferson T, Dooley L, Ferroni E, Al-Ansary LA, van Driel ML, Bawazeer GA, et al. Physical interventions to interrupt or reduce the spread of respiratory viruses. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2023 Jan 30;1(1):CD006207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006207.pub6] [Medline: <u>36715243</u>]
- 48. Wolf J, Hunter PR, Freeman MC, Cumming O, Clasen T, Bartram J, et al. Impact of drinking water, sanitation and handwashing with soap on childhood diarrhoeal disease: updated meta-analysis and meta-regression. Trop Med Int Health 2018 May;23(5):508-525 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/tmi.13051] [Medline: 29537671]
- 49. Willmott M, Nicholson A, Busse H, MacArthur GJ, Brookes S, Campbell R. Effectiveness of hand hygiene interventions in reducing illness absence among children in educational settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Dis Child 2016 Jan;101(1):42-50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2015-308875] [Medline: 26471110]
- 50. Mindell JA, Williamson AA. Benefits of a bedtime routine in young children: Sleep, development, and beyond. Sleep Med Rev 2018 Aug;40:93-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.10.007] [Medline: 29195725]
- Hardin AP, Hackell JM, Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine. Age limit of pediatrics. Pediatrics 2017 Sep;140(3):e20172151. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2017-2151</u>] [Medline: <u>28827380</u>]
- 52. Pervanidou P, Chatzidaki E, Nicolaides NC, Voutetakis A, Polychronaki N, Chioti V, et al. The impact of the ENDORSE digital weight management program on the metabolic profile of children and adolescents with overweight and obesity and on food parenting practices. Nutrients 2023 Apr 05;15(7):1777 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu15071777] [Medline: 37049618]
- 53. Hull P, Emerson JS, Quirk ME, Canedo JR, Jones JL, Vylegzhanina V, et al. A smartphone app for families with preschool-aged children in a public nutrition program: prototype development and beta-testing. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 02;5(8):e102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7477] [Medline: 28768611]
- 54. Weber SJ, Dawson D, Greene H, Hull PC. Mobile phone apps for low-income participants in a public health nutrition program for women, infants, and children (WIC): review and analysis of features. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 19;6(11):e12261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12261] [Medline: 30455172]
- 55. Weber SJ, Shearer E, Mulvaney SA, Schmidt D, Thompson C, Jones J, et al. Prioritization of features for mobile apps for families in a federal nutrition program for low-income women, infants, and children: user-centered design approach. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jul 30;5(7):e30450 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30450] [Medline: 34328432]
- 56. Tarricone R, Petracca F, Cucciniello M, Ciani O. Recommendations for developing a lifecycle, multidimensional assessment framework for mobile medical apps. Health Econ 2022 Sep 06;31 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):73-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/hec.4505] [Medline: 35388585]
- 57. Wilhite K, Booker B, Huang B, Antczak D, Corbett L, Parker P, et al. Combinations of physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep duration and their associations with physical, psychological, and educational outcomes in children and adolescents:

a systematic review. Am J Epidemiol 2023 Apr 06;192(4):665-679 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwac212] [Medline: 36516992]

- Lee J, Friend S, Horning ML, Linde JA, Flattum C, Lindberg R, et al. Are patterns of family evening meal practices associated with child and parent diet quality and weight-related outcomes? Appetite 2022 Apr 01;171:105937 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2022.105937] [Medline: 35045323]
- 59. Knobl V, Dallacker M, Hertwig R, Mata J. Happy and healthy: how family mealtime routines relate to child nutritional health. Appetite 2022 Apr 01;171:105939. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2022.105939] [Medline: 35065143]
- 60. Ontai L, Ritchie L, Young T, Williams S, Townsend M. Guiding family-based obesity prevention efforts in low-income children in the US, Part 1: what determinants do we target? Int J Child Adolesc health 2009;2(1):19-30 [FREE Full text]
- 61. Townsend M, Ontai L, Young T, Ritchie L, Williams S, Young T. Guiding family-based obesity prevention efforts in low-income children in the US, Part 2: what behaviors do we measure? Int J Child Adolesc health 2009;2(1):31-47 [FREE Full text]
- 62. Schuster RC, Szpak M, Klein E, Sklar K, Dickin KL. "I try, I do": child feeding practices of motivated, low-income parents reflect trade-offs between psychosocial- and nutrition-oriented goals. Appetite 2019 May 01;136:114-123. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2019.01.005] [Medline: 30641158]
- 63. Chai LK, Farletti R, Fathi L, Littlewood R. A rapid review of the impact of family-based digital interventions for obesity prevention and treatment on obesity-related outcomes in primary school-aged children. Nutrients 2022 Nov 15;14(22):4837 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu14224837] [Medline: 36432522]
- 64. Rodríguez-González P, Hassan MA, Gao Z. Effects of family-based interventions using mobile apps on youth's physical activity: a systematic review. J Clin Med 2022 Aug 17;11(16):4798 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm11164798] [Medline: 36013037]
- Enright G, Allman-Farinelli M, Redfern J. Effectiveness of family-based behavior change interventions on obesity-related behavior change in children: a realist synthesis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Jun 08;17(11):4099 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17114099] [Medline: 32521815]
- 66. Shilts MK, Sitnic SL, Ontai L, Townsend MS. Guided goal setting: a feasible obesity prevention behavior change strategy for low-income parents with young children. J Hum Sci 2018 Oct 31;6(3) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.54718/skql2392]
- 67. Shilts MK, Horowitz M, Townsend MS. Guided goal setting: effectiveness in a dietary and physical activity intervention with low-income adolescents. Int J Adolesc Med Health 2009;21(1):111-122. [doi: 10.1515/ijamh.2009.21.1.111] [Medline: 19526701]
- 68. Fisher A, Hammersley ML, Jones RA, Morgan PJ, Collins CE, Okely A. Goal setting for weight-related behavior change in children: an exploratory study. Nutr Health 2018 Jun;24(2):67-74. [doi: 10.1177/0260106018758519] [Medline: 29466911]

#### Abbreviations

BCT: behavior change technique
HRB: health-related behavior
MARS: Mobile App Rating Scale
mHealth: mobile health
SMART: specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, time-bound
WHRB: without health-related behavior

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 01.03.23; peer-reviewed by K Nuss, B Chaudhry, D Albright; comments to author 04.05.23; revised version received 31.07.23; accepted 29.08.23; published 13.10.23.

Please cite as:

Weber SJ, Mulvaney SA, Faiola A, Brown M, Koyama T, Sun L, Goggans SL, Hull PC Commercially Available Mobile Apps With Family Behavioral Goal Setting and Tracking for Parents: Review and Quality Evaluation JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e41779 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41779</u> doi:<u>10.2196/41779</u> PMID:<u>37831486</u>

©Summer Joy Weber, Shelagh A Mulvaney, Anthony Faiola, Madeline Brown, Tatsuki Koyama, Lili Sun, Susanna Lynn Goggans, Pamela Carmen Hull. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.10.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic

information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Understanding the Tensions of "Good Motherhood" Through Women's Digital Technology Use: Descriptive Qualitative Study

Danica Facca<sup>1\*</sup>, MA; Jodi Hall<sup>2\*</sup>, PhD; Bradley Hiebert<sup>3\*</sup>, PhD; Lorie Donelle<sup>3,4\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Health Information Science, Faculty of Information and Media Studies, Western University, London, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup>School of Nursing, Fanshawe College, London, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Arthur Labatt Family School of Nursing, Western University, London, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup>College of Nursing, University of South Carolina, Colombia, SC, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Lorie Donelle, PhD College of Nursing University of South Carolina 1601 Greene Street Colombia, SC, 29208 United States Phone: 1 803 777 6528 Email: ldonelle@mailbox.sc.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Research suggests that expectant and new mothers consult and value information gathered from digital technologies, such as pregnancy-specific mobile apps and social media platforms, to support their transition to parenting. Notably, this transitional context can be rich with profound physiological, psychological, and emotional fluctuation for women as they cope with the demands of new parenting and navigate the cultural expectations of "good motherhood." Given the ways in which digital technologies can both support and hinder women's perceptions of their parenting abilities, understanding expectant and new mothers' experiences using digital technologies and the tensions that may arise from such use during the transition to parenting period warrants nuanced exploration.

**Objective:** This study aims to understand mothers' use of digital technologies during the transition to parenting period.

**Methods:** A descriptive qualitative study was conducted in a predominantly urban region of Southwestern Ontario, Canada. Purposive and snowball sampling strategies were implemented to recruit participants who had become a parent within the previous 24 months. Researchers conducted focus groups using a semistructured interview guide with 26 women. The interviews were audio recorded, transcribed, and thematically analyzed.

**Results:** Participants' experiences of using digital technologies in the transition to parenting period were captured within the overarching theme "balancing the tensions of digital technology use in the transition to parenting" and 4 subthemes: self-comparison on social media, second-guessing parenting practices, communities of support, and trusting intuition over technology. Although digital technologies purportedly offered "in-the-moment" access to community support and health information, this came at a cost to mothers, as they described feelings of guilt, shame, and self-doubt that provoked them to question and hold in contention whether they were a good mother and using technology in a morally upright manner.

**Conclusions:** These findings raise critical questions concerning the promotion and commercialization of digital technologies and the ways in which they can further push the boundaries of hegemonic parenting practices, provoke feelings of inadequacy, and compromise well-being among expectant and new mothers.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48934) doi:10.2196/48934

#### KEYWORDS

RenderX

motherhood; parenting; digital health; apps; social media; mother; parent; technology use; use; computer use; interview; interviews; perspective; perspectives; mothers; mobile phone

# Introduction

#### Background

Expectant parents, predominantly mothers, regularly use internet-based resources such as websites, internet-based forums, and blogs for informational needs, access to services, and social support during the transition to parenting [1-4]. The transition to parenting period consists of 4 stages-pre-conception, pregnancy, labor, and postpartum-which uniquely mark the time in a person's life when they become a parent for the first time or add another child to their family [1,4]. These stages will inevitably vary from person to person depending on their unique family dynamic and health circumstances [1,3,4]. Nonetheless, advances in digital technologies (eg, computers, web cameras, wearable technologies, smartphones, and internet-based applications), along with the introduction of social media in the mid-2000s, have expanded the technological landscape in which expectant and new parents gather information and connect with others to support their parenting practices throughout these nascent stages of parenthood [5]. During the transition to parenting, recent studies suggest that new and expectant mothers consult and value information gathered from digital technologies such as pregnancy-specific mobile apps and social media platforms such as YouTube to search for signs of normality and risks of illness and to find a maternal community [1,5]. Social media and pregnancy apps have been found to promote women's well-being by reducing feelings of isolation and improving their own and their new or developing infants' health outcomes by providing immediate access to medical information and how-to videos on infant care [1,6,7].

The proliferation of digital technologies, particularly within the health and medical sector, offers expecting parents endless opportunities and novel ways to use their personal digital devices to monitor, photograph, index, catalog, video record, and compare their maternal bodies to others in real time [8]. Within the transition to parenting period, comparing and evaluating one's pregnant body and the developing fetus or newborn against those of other pregnant and fetal bodies has become a normalized parenting practice and way to "do pregnancy" [9]. In fact, pregnancy-related apps are the most-used health apps [10] and the number of pregnancy app downloads that offer expectant parents an avenue to self-monitor their bodies and that of their growing fetus continues to increase yearly across major app platforms [9]. For example, as of May 2023, Pregnancy +, the most popular pregnancy tracking app available on the Apple App Store and Google Play, has an estimated 50 million users worldwide [11]. Within the highly competitive commercialized app world, pregnancy apps are marketed specifically to cisgender women to document and benchmark their prenatal and early parenting practices as a taken-for-granted aspect of parental care and marker of being a "good mother" [<mark>9</mark>].

The widespread datafication and dataveillance [12] aligned with the ideals of good motherhood within North American culture encourages mothers' development of self-knowledge and peace of mind through daily digital technology use; these practices simultaneously reinforce sociotechnical structures and systems that allow corporate entities such as app developers and technology conglomerates to track and mine data for enhanced business intelligence and performance [9]. Within this context, *datafication* refers to personal behaviors such as bodily movements, thoughts, and emotions that are monitored and quantified through digital interfaces to produce data that can be analyzed and explored to deepen our understanding of human behavior [12]. *Dataveillance*, on the other hand, is a concept that refers to the broader internet-based environment wherein datafication occurs and the ways in which users' personal behaviors are constantly being watched and guided by the technical infrastructure they are interacting with [12].

#### On Guilt in the Transition to Parenting

The transition to parenting is a period rich with profound physiological, psychological, and emotional fluctuations for individuals as they cope with the demands of new parenthood and navigate cultural expectations of successful parenting. Specifically, women are charged with the responsibility to take it upon themselves to enter the ranks of performing good motherhood [3,13]. As some research notes, North America's cultural ideology of good motherhood asks women to give their all-physically, emotionally, psychologically, and intellectually-at all times, which consequently presents women with a model of nearly unachievable expectations [14]. Within the transition to parenting period, good motherhood in North America is associated with women showing unrelenting consideration, care, and love for their expectant or new infants by willingly engaging in vigilant self-care and information-seeking practices to ensure a healthy pregnancy, delivery, and optimal infant development during the early postpartum years [15].

With such demanding sociocultural expectations placed on new mothers, it is foreseeable that mothers regularly report feeling guilty when they do not or cannot exude the narrowly defined social standards of good motherhood, which positions White, heterosexual, cisgender, and middle-class mothers as normative [14,16,17]. In fact, maternal guilt is so pervasive in North American culture that it is considered an expected, almost inherent aspect of mothering norms by some scholars [14,18]. In psychological terms, a person experiences guilt—a negative evaluation of their own behavior or attitude—when they become conscious that they have wronged someone else; guilt involves criticizing one's *actions specifically* [19].

In this way, North America's cultural expectations of good motherhood are inextricably linked to women's "moral selves," as they are expected to navigate a social system with purported "right" and "wrong" ways to mother [14,18,19]. For example, the "right" way to mother may involve having an unmedicated birth; breastfeeding; and feeling *only* joy, happiness, and gratitude for the privilege of becoming a mother during the postpartum period. Therefore, the "wrong" way to mother might consist of drug-involved labor (eg, the use of a narcotic for pain relief); formula feeding; and expressing feeling sad, angry, or otherwise disappointed following a new baby's arrival [13]. The idealized good mother is thereby "involved," always present and attentive to the needs of their infants or children, a constant model, guide, and teacher [20]. Through this lens, North

American mothers are set up to experience constant maternal guilt in a cultural landscape that positions any shortcoming of meeting "right ways" to mother as a personal, moral failing.

In relation to digital technologies, experiences of guilt are amplified through the perpetual supply of curated content by other mothers [17]. Despite the potential benefits that pregnancy-specific apps and social media platforms offer mothers as tools for health information seeking and finding social support, the use of these technologies has been found to perpetuate feelings of guilt, shame, inadequacy, and self-doubt that are bound up within cultural expectations of good motherhood [17-19]. For example, research that focused on mothers' use of digital technologies during the perinatal period found that they reported feelings of anxiety in relation to the developmental milestones of infants described in the apps [13]. Although these indicators of developmental milestones are meant to act as resources for parents, the very existence of such guidelines perpetuates normative standards by which parents inevitably compare their infants against a bell curve [13].

Consequently, social media can be seen to extend spaces of comparison among mothers with negative repercussions. For example, research has found that mothers who spent considerable time on social media after giving birth to connect with a broader maternal community and share information about their new infant expressed feelings such as failure, enhanced anxiety, and doubt in relation to their own parenting abilities [13]. Such feelings of insecurity were amplified among mothers exposed to the posts of other mothers, who by comparison appeared to effortlessly return to their prebaby body or better manage their overlapping roles as mothers, partners, and workers [13].

#### **Objectives**

In this paper, we present key findings from a larger qualitative descriptive study [21], where we explored expectant and new parents' use of digital technologies within the transition to parenting period [1]. This study generated many rich findings and provided novel insights into a relatively understudied area of inquiry as it focused on new parents' experiences using digital technologies across preconception to postpartum periods to support their early parenting practices [1]. This paper focuses on the findings that identify how new and expectant mothers negotiated tensions of resultant guilt with perceived gains through their use of digital technologies within the transition to parenting period. By using a sociotechnical perspective [22] to interpret the mothers' experiences, we show how new and expectant mothers' digital technology use is a complex process that encompasses a wide range of nuances and cannot be simply categorized as entirely "good" or "bad."

## Methods

#### **Theoretical Perspective**

The current ubiquity of digital technologies makes it difficult to differentiate between one's internet-based and offline self [15,22] and, by extension, internet-based and offline forms of parenting. Through a sociotechnical lens [22], digital technologies extend and redefine users' thoughts, emotions, movements, curiosities, interests, and physical bodies into sites of information represented as a digital code. Humans' navigation of their social world and place within it—their practices of selfhood are then understood as information sites [22].

Although digital technologies have been found to bring moments of relief and companionship to expectant and new mothers [1,4], research that explores the nuances of new and expectant parents' experiences with guilt alongside perceived gains as they relate to digital technology use throughout the transition to parenting remains scarce. When it comes to understanding mothers' experiences particularly with digital technologies, scholars note the importance of considering the layered contexts where the domestic and social demands of women's lives overlap in their roles as mothers, partners, friends, consumers, citizens, and employees [20,23].

#### **Recruitment and Participants**

This study was conducted from 2018 to 2019 in a predominantly urban region of Southwestern Ontario, Canada. Researchers used a purposive sampling strategy along with a snowball sampling technique [24] to recruit adults who had become parents within the past 2 years. Participants were recruited through flyers posted in community spaces with high volumes of new parents, such as day care centers, family health clinics, public health clinics, and children's play centers. Digital recruitment flyers were also distributed on internet-based buy-and-sell platforms such as Kijiji and social media sites such as Facebook and Twitter. To be eligible to participate in the study, participants had to (1) identify as a new or expectant parent who transitioned to parenting within the last 2 years, (2) identify as aged between 16 and 35 years, and (3) speak fluent English. The age bracket was set to an upper limit of 35 years as the health care needs and risks of women who are of advanced maternal age tend to be different, and they tend to have generationally different levels of education, financial stability, life experience, and emotional maturity. All eligible parents provided written informed consent and were given a US \$15 honorarium for their participation before data collection began.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics approval to conduct this research was granted by the nonmedical research ethics board of Western University (2020-114165-36905). All participants were provided with a letter of information and gave their consent to participate in the focus groups and follow-up interviews. Each participant was assigned a study ID number to protect their anonymity.

#### **Data Collection and Analysis**

Focus groups was chosen as the method of data collection as it honors the coconstruction of knowledge between group members and has been used to engage in meaningful dialogue with new parents [21]. In-person focus groups and follow-up interviews were conducted by members of the interdisciplinary research team. Researchers met participants in pre-agreed locations, including a children's center, public libraries, and a shelter. Before beginning each focus group, the researchers administered a demographic questionnaire to the parents to capture descriptive characteristics. The main area of inquiry that guided the focus group discussions was parents' use of and experiences with

XSL•FO RenderX

digital technologies—including pregnancy apps, infant care apps, social media, internet-based support groups, and internet-based health information resources—during their transition to parenting. Participants were asked to reflect on their experiences during the 4 phases of the transition to the parenting period, and probing questions were asked to elicit a deeper discussion of their experiences and interactions with digital technologies. Participants contributed insights based on hearing the responses from others and were prompted by focus group facilitators. All focus groups were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. Facilitators took field notes throughout the focus groups to capture additional data, specifically nonverbal communication, which could not be documented through digital audio recordings.

Data analysis followed an iterative thematic approach [21,25]. Iterative thematic analysis within the context of qualitative research is a systematic approach to data analysis that is used to identify, analyze, and report patterns or themes within a data set of textual, audio, or visual information [21,25]. This dynamic approach involves multiple rounds of data examination and theme refinement to gain a deeper understanding of the underlying meanings and patterns present within the data set and is particularly useful when examining complex, multifaceted issues [21]. In following this process, each member of the research team individually analyzed the focus group transcripts and field notes to generate an initial coding matrix. Thematic coding was tracked using a tabular matrix with supporting quotes from the transcripts as a semantic guide. Members of the research team iteratively compared their initial codes and emerging insights to coconstruct thematic findings through in-person meetings. Recruitment and data analysis occurred simultaneously and ended once data saturation was achieved when no new themes were generated within focus group discussions or among research team members through iterative analytic discussions [21].

Triangulation and reflexivity were used as mechanisms to ensure rigor and trustworthiness across thematic findings [21,26]. The goal of triangulation within the context of qualitative research is to strengthen the credibility of findings by cross-referencing information from multiple sources or perspectives (ie, researchers) to confirm and strengthen the interpretation of themes or patterns identified in the data. Triangulation is a process that reduces the potential for bias and enhances the reliability of interpretation across multiple data sources [26]. Members of the research team further practiced reflexivity to enhance the rigor and validity of the findings. Reflexivity is a vital component of rigorous qualitative research as it promotes researchers' self-awareness and active engagement within the research process through acknowledgment and examination of their own beliefs, biases, and assumptions that they bring to their work and how these factors shape their data analysis and interpretative processes. When examining the respective positionalities and lived experience of the researchers within the context of this research, it is important to note that all members of the research team who participated in the data analysis process came from academic backgrounds, including nursing, doula studies, public health, and health professional education, and that most also identified as parents. The research

team members' children ranged in age from 7 to 30 years at the time of data collection. Owing to their diverse experiences within the transition to parenting period at the time of their child or children's birth, research team members offered different perspectives regarding their personal engagement with digital technologies to support their parenting to bring to the data analysis process. As such, each team member relied on interrelational reflexive practice to guide their dialogues with each other and challenge their own tacit assumptions about using digital technologies within the transition to parenting as codes and eventual themes were identified.

# Results

#### Overview

In total, 26 individuals who identified as heterosexual women participated in the study across 10 in-person focus groups (2-4 mothers/focus group). Overall, the age of the participants ranged from 17 to 35 years: 31% (8/26) of the participants were aged  $\leq 20$  years, 15% (4/26) of the participants were aged between 21 and 29 years, and 38% (10/26) of the participants were aged between 30 and 35 years. Most participants (18/26, 69%) identified as White, and 12% (3/26) of the participants identified as racialized. In terms of marital status, half of the participants (13/26, 50%) identified as married; 27% (7/26) of the participants identified as single and never married; and 4% (1/26) of the participants identified as separated from their partner. Regarding employment status, one-third of the participants (9/26, 35%) identified as unemployed, 27% (7/26) of the participants identified as a full-time employee, and 12% (3/26) of the participants identified as a part-time employee. Educational background differed among participants at the time the study was conducted; of the 26 participants, 7 (27%) were in the process of completing their secondary school diploma, 1 (4%) held a high-school diploma, 1 (4%) held a community college certificate, 10 (38%) held a university undergraduate degree, and 2 (8%) held a university undergraduate degree as well as a graduate degree. Finally, the socioeconomic status across the participants varied as well; 15% (4/26) of the participants reported a yearly household income of <CAD \$20,000 (<US \$14,814); 12% (3/26) of the participants reported a yearly household income between CAD \$20,000 (US \$14,814) and CAD \$50,000 (US \$37,037); 15% (4/26) of the participants reported a yearly household income between CAD \$50,000 (US \$37,037) and CAD \$99,999 (US \$74,073); and 19% (5/26) of the participants reported a yearly household income of >CAD \$100,000 (>US \$74,074). It is notable that recruitment strategies were inclusive of all genders who become pregnant and a parent; however, all those who expressed interest in the study and enrolled as participants were assigned female at birth.

Overall, participants' experiences of using digital technologies within the transition to parenting period were analyzed and captured within the overarching theme "balancing the tensions of digital technology use in the transition to parenting" and four subthemes: (1) self-comparison on social media, (2) second guessing parenting practices, (3) communities of support, and (4) trusting intuition over technology.

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Balancing the Tensions of Digital Technology Use in the Transition to Parenting

Participants expressed concerns that their prior digital technology habits were encroaching upon their newfound parenting moments and responsibilities. Navigating smartphone and social media use during infant feeding, sleeping, and bonding time constantly put participants in a conflicted space between feelings of relief and normalcy with respect to their prebaby behaviors and guilt for using it once their baby arrived. For example, they described how they became hyperaware of how frequently they used their smartphone around their new baby:

I'm on it all the time. But not when he—I don't like to do it when he's around. So, if he's busy I'll do it, but I don't like to be on it while he's playing. Like I want to be interactive with him, but I'm still on it as much as I was before. [T1]

Participants also recognized how frequently they were on their phone and expressed feelings of guilt, recognizing that not all the time they spent on their device was in service of good motherhood (ie, looking up information or educational sources):

I do feel a little bit, like, I'm on my phone too much, like, I feel like it's always in my hand or, like, I'm always on it. And, like, not reading, like, you know, it's not like I'm reading something super informational or educational, right. [T6]

There were also times when participants used their smartphone to augment pragmatic and essential parenting responsibilities such as breastfeeding, which caused them to question their technology use habits. The following quote demonstrates how a participant balanced their necessity to stay awake to breastfeed using a smartphone as an aid:

...smartphone scrolling was almost just a way...to stay awake while nursing her.... I sometimes will use it just to like play candy crush or just to kind of stay awake or even if I'm Googling something that she's doing like it's probably not the best, but [my smartphone is] always near me. [T7]

Participants' technology use was mirrored back to them by their infants. One participant felt guilty about using her phone as an entertainment source for her toddler after noticing that they picked up on how to use its touchscreen interface and "swipe" notifications out of the way:

If my child is watching a show on my phone and a text message pops there, she's only 19 months, she can swipe it out of the way. Swipes it out so that it's off the screen. But I'm like is this my doing that I allow this. And then I feel guilty, but then I'm so exhausted. [T12]

These participants undoubtedly questioned the presence of their smartphone and their use of them in front of their infants as they reflected on feelings of guilt and perceived shortcomings in their transition to parenting.

#### Self-Comparison on Social Media

Participants described how social media could be both a beneficial tool for social support and a drawback at the same time because of the opportunities it opens for self-comparison:

I think especially in that fragile postpartum period, we're so vulnerable and we're so out there, like not feeling good really about where we are.... And, you know, when you feel lonely with your infants, like, I feel like.... You turn...to more social media because it...makes you feel, like, connected in a way but then it makes you more disconnected from where you are...it's a twisted sort of world. [T12]

In terms of self-comparison, the postpartum body was a particular point of comparison for participants, irrespective of their knowledge that social media photos are staged and curated. For example, they described how social media contributed to feelings of body shame:

I think sometimes [social media] is bad for people too like because you are comparing a lot...Like I think it's good, but it can be bad too because you compare.... I felt like big and ugly...because you're comparing. You see these like photos, picture perfect pictures that are like set up and the perfect angle and stuff. [T12]

Furthermore, participants acknowledged how digital technologies and social media created opportunities to compare themselves to other mothers by reflecting on whether they were meeting cultural expectations of good motherhood:

I have a seven-month-old at home and a three-year old and trying to do all this stuff and just like watching...other people do this and thinking, okay, well maybe I should do that or maybe, you know, I'm not doing enough or I'm not living up to like those expectations. So, I was putting on like unsolicited expectations on myself that weren't even coming from me, what I wanted and I started kind of like [spiraling]. [T12]

Participants described balancing the tension between their use of digital technologies as tools to gather parenting information while also recognizing how such technologies can entrap them into making developmental comparison with respect to their infant and other infants:

I feel like I rely on [digital technologies] a lot when it's like for questions, but I agree with what you [another participant] said about sometimes you're [likely to] compare to other people if you're on social media and you see stuff that their kid is doing, maybe not even milestones, but like anything, right. You're like, oh wow, that's a- should my kid be doing that or should, I don't know. [T11]

#### **Second-Guessing Parenting Practices**

Although participants remarked how convenient these technologies were in terms of providing them with instantaneous access to health and parenting information, the work of discerning information to inform their parenting practices and

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48934
```

infant development was burdensome to participants. Within the transition to parenting period, participants remarked how digital technologies, "definitely guides you…but worries you at the same time and you kind of question everything you're doing" (T2).

With respect to pregnancy, the participants identified the tension between experiencing relief and self-doubt in their personal application of digital technologies. For instance, a participant used their own home Doppler ultrasound device to listen to their fetus's heartbeat. Google and YouTube were used as tools to augment the use of the Doppler to search and discern different in utero sounds when they were not sure if what they were hearing was the fetal heartbeat:

...at first, I was like there's different sounds too right. Like there's the placenta and then there's the baby's heartbeat. So, for me, it was like okay, like YouTubing the sound of like the placenta blood flow versus like a baby's heartbeat. Like so, I mean I feel like [the doppler] did put me at ease for the most part, maybe when I was having difficulty finding it, then it was like more stressful. And I know like my husband had to like hide it from me from time to time because I was using it too much and then I was like googling like will it like, is it like sound wave safe. Like should I like not be using it. So, I don't know. [T11]

Google was also frequently turned to within the postpartum stage as participants tried to make sense of their babies' development and determine what was considered normal against the influx of updates and posts of friends' babies. Participants expressed how digital technologies generated feelings of self-doubt via comparison with others' posts and their own baby's developmental progress:

I find it's hard.... I'm constantly like comparing him to my other friends who have babies around like one of our good friends, [their] baby and him are two days apart and it's like, yeah, like he's like really good at holding his head up and but he's like still kinda wobbling. So, I'm like, is this normal and just googling when do they, when can they do this or when should they be doing this... [T11]

#### **Communities of Support**

Participants described how smartphones and social media platforms, such as Facebook, provided crucial opportunities to connect with other mothers to receive support in the form of parenting advice, product information, and tips, and to relieve moments of intense isolation. From Facebook "mommy groups" to texts with friends, informational and social support were notable gains associated with participants' digital technology use. For example, participants remarked on how comforting it was to "chat" with other parents in Facebook groups and read about their postpartum experiences:

So, there were some [Facebook] groups I joined just to hear other peoples' stories and things and then others—one I just joined recently and it just talks about anything from like a newborn to toddler.... Just to see other peoples' experiences and what worked for them, what didn't work.... And oftentimes, I still kind of make a decision for myself, but it's nice to know that, okay, someone went through this or someone else had these questions or did this. [T2]

Internet-based parenting groups also provided opportunities for the participants to experience social connectedness. For example, participants remarked on how comforting it was to be able to scroll their timelines and stay up to date with others' lives through their posts even when they were unable to join in such activities. For instance, one participant who was spending most of her time at home and experiencing postpartum depression and feelings of isolation: "looking on Facebook and stuff kinda helped me to just to like, to see what everyone else was doing and it kind of make me feel like I'm still like...connected" (T3). Beyond social media, digital technologies, such as smartphones, also played a crucial role in facilitating a sense of social connectedness and support through SMS text messaging. For example, participants remarked how using their smartphone to connect with others through text made them feel like they were never alone: "it's so easy to like send a text to someone at three in the morning being like, this is happening or [ask] is this happening to you?" (T11).

#### **Trusting Intuition Over Technology**

Finally, it is important to note that although participants reported the incessant use of digital technologies, they also questioned, challenged, and resisted the pervasive power of digital technologies in the transition to parenting. Participants demonstrated resistance in choosing to trust their own intuition. Rather than using digital technologies that amplified anxieties (instead of soothing them), participants noted specific occasions on which they resisted emerging parental surveillance trends. As one participant noted, they resisted the need to reply on digital technology to alleviate the fears of "unknowing" in parenting:

I'm not gonna put a monitor in there [infant's room] looking at my kid all the time because I'm just gonna be looking at my kid all the time and freaking out and thinking they have something.... I literally just, I need to trust that they're okay. [T10]

Participants were particularly aware of their capacity to obsess over information (in this case, a real-time video stream of their infant sleeping) and adopted ways they could challenge their own knowledge: "I need to trust that I did a good job. That I tucked them in [that] Some stuff didn't fly across the room and cover their face" (T10).

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Participants expressed conflicting feelings toward digital technologies and social media use. On the one hand, they expressed feelings of appreciation and relief, noting these technologies offered "in-the-moment" access to various sources of information and pragmatic support. In line with previous research on pregnancy and digital technology use [2,3,5,27], our findings shed light on the sense of community, timely access to information, reassurance, and validation that digital

technologies can provide new parents. However, on the other hand, participants expressed feelings of guilt for using such means as some felt they were not living up to the cultural expectation of good motherhood, which aligns with findings from studies emerging out of psychology [18,19].

The discourse of good motherhood permeated participants' responses as they described their experiences when encountering "perfect" images of motherhood posted on social media. Although such instances were acknowledged by the participants in this study as performative, the bombardment of these idealized images appeared to impact their self-perception and led to moments of self-critique accompanied by espoused feelings of guilt or anxiety. In addition, participants reported similar experiences of self-critique when consulting commercialized pregnancy and infant care apps as they compared their bodies or infant's progress against the norms and developmental milestones encoded within a particular app. The implications of these findings such as adverse health outcomes, for example, poor mental health, support recent research that notes the tension between the unrealistic demands of hegemonic motherhood within North America and the inadequate-often harmful-support systems and tools, inclusive of digital technologies such as apps, which actively detract from women's well-being while strengthening the very patriarchal structures that define these impossible parenting standards in the first place [27,28].

Within the transition to parenting period, expectant and new parents are promised peace of mind, flexibility, efficiency, and connectivity through marketing tactics focused on assurances of a "normal" and "healthy" pregnancy and postpartum experience [5,9]. These strategies are supported by (as they are of benefit to) neoliberal systems where responsibility for health care and specifically maternal and fetal health becomes "self-responsibilitized," that is, when the responsibility of care falls on the shoulders of individuals [5,9,23]. The pregnant body and the developing fetus become sites of quantifiable information that are entangled and inseparable from the social media platform or app's information system in which they are being explored and monitored. Under the guise of intimate surveillance, practices of selfhood and care become redefined as practices of information management and data production [9,22].

Although mothers' use of various social media platforms and apps, such as Facebook, can be seen as a means for them to care for their fetus or new infant by gathering information, advice, and resources, they also perform a form of digital labor by virtue of their user activity across the platform itself [29,30]. In sociotechnical terms [30], the information collected on users' behaviors, habits, and preferences as they traverse digital spaces-be it social media platforms, apps, or search engines-indirectly produces information capital for app developers and domain hosts to take advantage of, which is why most digital tools and apps are free or offered at a relatively low cost [29]. This unwaged labor mothers are performing across digital technologies, apps, and social media platforms through their day-to-day actions and health work as parents can become exploited by developers for profit [29,31]. For example, mothers' comments, likes, posts, and shares on Facebook and

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48934

XSL•FO

within the parenting support groups it hosts can be commoditized and sold to third parties for marketing purposes.

Not only are social media platforms and app developers profiting from the sale of users' (mothers') information but also the companies that purchase this information may further profit through targeted advertisements and sales of products to the very users (mothers) who accessed such support groups for health information in the first place [29,31]. For health care providers and organizations, this creates opportunities to consider and explore the impact of emerging internet-based health care settings and to question the accountability of predominant stakeholders (health care providers–clinicians, public health organizations, governments, and multinational companies such as Google, Facebook, and Amazon) within the digitally informed health care agenda [29-31].

For mothers in this study, the idealized good mother was illustrated and reinforced through their ubiquitous use of digital technologies to achieve ideal motherhood; yet the promises of good mothering subsumed in the ubiquitous use of digital technologies also contributed to their feelings of guilt and self-doubt, potentially compromising their well-being. Social media platforms and apps can be misleading. Mothers using these digital technologies are at once chasing an unattainable ideal of good motherhood yet perpetuate their use of these apps for surveillance of self and fetus lest they be considered a "bad mother." From a sociotechnical perspective, we must ask ourselves who benefits from the entanglement of mothers' and their unborn or newborns' bodies being digitized into information outside of the transition to parenting period [15,22]. The experiences reported by mothers in this study raise critical questions as to how mothers best use digital technologies to support their transition to parenting in ways that are health enhancing and personally constructive.

#### Limitations

Data were collected before the COVID-19 pandemic. As we continue to move beyond the COVID-19 pandemic on a global front, it is important to consider the pandemic's influence on patterns of digital technology use during pregnancy and parenting given the widespread and necessary reliance on digital technologies to access health information and services. We recognize that our study population was demographically limited in terms of gender identity, racial identity, and age among other equity-deserving groups. All mothers in this study spoke English as their first language and were predominantly White. Future research should seek out the experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex, asexual, allies, and other parents as well as disabled parents within this context as they are underserved and have unacknowledged demographics in many pregnancy-related and parenting-related apps. It would be important to explore whether these parents find community and information in particular places designed with their needs and experiences in mind. We want to acknowledge that parents in different geographic or cultural contexts may experience the importance of the role of these digital technologies in different ways that intersect with the health care and social supports they

are receiving or not receiving from other sources dependent on their location.

#### Conclusions

Mothers in this study turned to digital technologies for immediate access to health information to support their parenting practices as well as an outlet to connect with other mothers who were in similar stages of the transition to parenting. Performative images of "perfect" motherhood across social media and normative milestones embedded within pregnancy and parenting apps caused the mothers to constantly self-critique. Although digital technologies satisfied these mothers' informational and social needs, they simultaneously encouraged feelings of guilt and self-doubt that urged them to appropriate whether they were a good mother. By understanding how mothers use technology within the context of pediatric care and the inherent complexity that is bound up within this use, health care providers may work toward providing guidance on reliable health information sources to ensure that parents receive credible information to inform their parenting practices, engaging with internet-based parenting communities to share evidence-based advice and address concerns, and developing mental health and wellness resources that are attuned to the complex nature of technology engagement during this intensive and vulnerable time, all of which can contribute toward improving pediatric outcomes.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Fanshawe College Research Fund (#2019-08-FRF award).

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Donelle L, Hall J, Hiebert B, Jackson K, Stoyanovich E, LaChance J, et al. Investigation of digital technology use in the transition to parenting: qualitative study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Feb 17;4(1):e25388 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25388] [Medline: 33595440]
- Doty JL, Dworkin J. Online social support for parents: a critical review. Marriage Fam Rev 2014 Mar 03;50(2):174-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/01494929.2013.834027]
- 3. Lupton D. The use and value of digital media for information about pregnancy and early motherhood: a focus group study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Jul 19;16(1):171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0971-3] [Medline: 27435182]
- 4. Hiebert B, Hall J, Donelle L, Facca D, Jackson K, Stoyanovich E. "Let me know when I'm needed": exploring the gendered nature of digital technology use for health information seeking during the transition to parenting. Digit Health 2021 Oct 18;7:20552076211048638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20552076211048638] [Medline: 34691754]
- 5. Thomas GM, Lupton D. Threats and thrills: pregnancy apps, risk and consumption. Health Risk Soc 2015 Dec 24;17(7-8):495-509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13698575.2015.1127333]
- Ginja S, Coad J, Bailey E, Kendall S, Goodenough T, Nightingale S, et al. Associations between social support, mental wellbeing, self-efficacy and technology use in first-time antenatal women: data from the BaBBLeS cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2018 Nov 12;18(1):441 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-2049-x] [Medline: 30419842]
- 7. Cleaf K. Of woman born to mommy blogged: the journey from the personal as political to the personal as commodity. Women's Stud Q 2015;43(3-4):247-264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1353/wsq.2015.0064]
- 8. Kuntsman A, Miyake E, Martin S. Re-thinking digital health: data, appisation and the (im)possibility of 'Opting out'. Digit Health 2019 Oct 9;5:2055207619880671 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207619880671] [Medline: 31636917]
- 9. Mascheroni G. Datafied childhoods: contextualising datafication in everyday life. Curr Sociol 2018 Nov 08;68(6):798-813 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0011392118807534]
- Frid G, Bogaert K, Chen KT. Mobile health apps for pregnant women: systematic search, evaluation, and analysis of features. J Med Internet Res 2021 Oct 18;23(10):e25667 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25667] [Medline: 34524100]
- 11. Pregnancy +. Apple Store. URL: <u>https://apps.apple.com/us/app/pregnancy/id505864483</u> [accessed 2023-05-08]
- 12. Van Dijck J. Datafication, dataism and dataveillance: Big Data between scientific paradigm and ideology. Surveill Soc 2014 May 09;12(2):197-208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24908/ss.v12i2.4776]
- Harrison V, Moore D, Lazard L. Supporting perinatal anxiety in the digital age; a qualitative exploration of stressors and support strategies. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2020 Jun 17;20(1):363-320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-020-02990-0] [Medline: 32546131]
- 14. Sutherland JA. Mothering, guilt and shame. Sociol Compass 2010 May 05;4(5):310-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9020.2010.00283.x]
- 15. Lupton D. 'it just gives me a bit of peace of mind': Australian women's use of digital media for pregnancy and early motherhood. Societies 2017 Sep 15;7(3):25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/soc7030025]
- 16. McIntosh DM. Victims, protectors, and possibilities for change: white womanhood and the violence of heteronormativity. QED J GLBTQ Worldmaking 2017;4(2):162-169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14321/qed.4.2.0162]

- 17. Lehto M. Bad is the new good: negotiating bad motherhood in Finnish mommy blogs. Fem Media Stud 2019 Jul 31;20(5):657-671 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14680777.2019.1642224]
- 18. Meeussen L, Van Laar C. Feeling pressure to be a perfect mother relates to parental burnout and career ambitions. Front Psychol 2018;9:2113-2113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02113] [Medline: 30455656]
- Liss M, Schiffrin HH, Rizzo KM. Maternal guilt and shame: the role of self-discrepancy and fear of negative evaluation. J Child Fam Stud 2012 Oct 19;22(8):1112-1119. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10826-012-9673-2</u>]
- 20. Smythe S. The good mother: a critical discourse analysis of literacy advice to mothers in the 20th century [dissertation]. University of British Columbia. 2006. URL: <u>https://open.library.ubc.ca/soa/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/831/items/1.</u> 0105017 [accessed 2023-05-08]
- 21. Bradshaw C, Atkinson S, Doody O. Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. Glob Qual Nurs Res 2017 Nov 24;4:2333393617742282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/233393617742282] [Medline: 29204457]
- 22. van der Ploeg I. Biometrics and the body as information: normative issues of the socio-technical coding of the body. In: Surveillance as Social Sorting: Privacy, Risk and Automated Discrimination. Milton Park, UK: Routledge; 2002.
- 23. Frizzo-Barker J, Chow-White PA. "There's an app for that" mediating mobile moms and connected careerists through smartphones and networked individualism. Fem Media Stud 2012 Nov 27;12(4):580-589 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14680777.2012.741876]
- 24. Naderifar M, Goli H, Ghaljaie F. Snowball sampling: a purposeful method of sampling in qualitative research. Strides Dev Med Educ 2017 Sep 30;14(3):e67670 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5812/sdme.67670]
- 25. Polit DF, Beck CT. Nursing Research: Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2016.
- 26. Carter N, Bryant-Lukosius D, DiCenso A, Blythe J, Neville AJ. The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Oncol Nurs Forum 2014 Sep;41(5):545-547. [doi: 10.1188/14.ONF.545-547] [Medline: 25158659]
- Skelton KR, Evans R, LaChenaye J, Amsbary J, Wingate M, Talbott L. Exploring social media group use among breastfeeding mothers: qualitative analysis. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Nov 05;1(2):e11344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11344] [Medline: 31518305]
- 28. Newman H, Nelson KA. Mother needs a bigger "helper": a critique of "wine mom" discourse as conformity to hegemonic intensive motherhood. Social Compass 2021 Mar 08;15(4):e12868 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/soc4.12868]
- 29. Gidaris C. Surveillance capitalism, datafication, and unwaged labour: the rise of wearable fitness devices and interactive life insurance. Surveill Soc 2019;17(1/2):132-138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24908/ss.v17i1/2.12913]
- 30. Leonardi PM. Materiality, sociomateriality, and socio-technical systems: what do these terms mean? How are they different? Do we need them? In: Materiality and Organizing: Social Interaction in a Technological World. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; Nov 22, 2012.
- 31. White CL, Boatwright B. Social media ethics in the data economy: issues of social responsibility for using Facebook for public relations. Public Relat Rev 2020 Dec;46(5):101980 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pubrev.2020.101980]

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 17.05.23; peer-reviewed by B Eshrati, K Ayers; comments to author 10.09.23; revised version received 19.09.23; accepted 20.09.23; published 25.10.23.

Please cite as: Facca D, Hall J, Hiebert B, Donelle L Understanding the Tensions of "Good Motherhood" Through Women's Digital Technology Use: Descriptive Qualitative Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48934 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48934 doi:10.2196/48934 PMID:<u>37878372</u>

©Danica Facca, Jodi Hall, Bradley Hiebert, Lorie Donelle. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.10.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Detection and Characterization of Web-Based Pediatric COVID-19 Vaccine Discussions and Racial and Ethnic Minority Topics: Retrospective Analysis of Twitter Data

Tiana McMann<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MA; Christine Wenzel<sup>3</sup>, BS; Nicolette Le<sup>1,2</sup>, MA; Zhuoran Li<sup>2,3</sup>, MS; Qing Xu<sup>2,3</sup>, MAS; Raphael E Cuomo<sup>2,4</sup>, MPH, PhD; Tim Mackey<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MAS, PhD

1 2 3

3 4

**Corresponding Author:** Tim Mackey, MAS, PhD

# Abstract

**Background:** Despite pediatric populations representing a smaller proportion of COVID-19 cases and having a less severe prognosis, those belonging to racial and ethnic minority groups are at an increased risk of developing more severe COVID-19–related outcomes. Vaccine coverage is crucial to pandemic mitigation efforts, yet since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, vaccine hesitancy has increased and routine pediatric immunizations have decreased. Limited research exists on how vaccine hesitancy may contribute to low pediatric COVID-19 vaccine uptake among racial and ethnic minority populations.

**Objective:** This study aimed to characterize COVID-19 vaccine–related discussion and sentiment among Twitter users, particularly among racial and ethnic minority users.

**Methods:** We used the Twitter application programming interface to collect tweets and replies. Tweets were selected by filtering for keywords associated with COVID-19 vaccines and pediatric-related terms. From this corpus of tweets, we used the Biterm Topic Model to output topics and examined the top 200 retweeted tweets that were coded for pediatric COVID-19 vaccine relevance. Relevant tweets were analyzed using an inductive coding approach to characterize pediatric COVID-19 vaccine–related themes. Replies to relevant tweets were collected and coded. User metadata were assessed for self-reporting of race or ethnic group affiliation and verified account status.

**Results:** A total of 863,007 tweets were collected from October 2020 to October 2021. After outputting Biterm Topic Model topics and reviewing the 200 most retweeted tweets, 208,666 tweets and 3905 replies were identified as being pediatric COVID-19 vaccine related. The majority (150,262/208,666,72.01%) of tweets expressed vaccine-related concerns. Among tweets discussing vaccine confidence, user replies expressing agreement were significantly outweighed by those expressing disagreement (1016/3106, 32.71% vs 2090/3106, 67.29%; *P*<.001). The main themes identified in the Twitter interactions were conversations regarding vaccine-related concerns including adverse side effects, concerns that the vaccine is experimental or needs more testing and should not be tested on pediatric populations, the perception that the vaccine is unnecessary given the perceived low risk of pediatric infection, and conversations associated with vaccine-related confidence (ie, the vaccine is protective). Among signal tweets and replies, we identified 418 users who self-identified as a racial minority individual and 40 who self-identified as an ethnic minority individual. Among the subcodes identified in this study, the vaccine being protective was the most discussed topic by racial and ethnic minority groups (305/444, 68.7%).

**Conclusions:** Vaccine-related concerns can have negative consequences on vaccine uptake and participation in vaccine-related clinical trials. This can impact the uptake and development of safe and effective vaccines, especially among racial and ethnic minority populations.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48004) doi:10.2196/48004

## KEYWORDS

RenderX

COVID-19 vaccine; vaccine hesitancy; pediatric vaccine; pediatric COVID-19 vaccine; vaccine beliefs; vaccine-related concerns; vaccine-related confidence; vaccine barriers; vaccine facilitators; racial and ethnic minority

# Introduction

COVID-19 has caused significant morbidity and mortality globally, leading to over 6 million hospitalizations and claiming more than 1 million lives in the United States alone as of September 2023 [1,2]. Specific risk factors for clinical severity such as older age, underlying medical conditions, and racial and ethnic minority status have been previously identified [3]. Although all age groups can be infected by COVID-19, children represent a smaller proportion of all cases reported and generally present with milder symptomology and improved clinical outcomes when compared to adults [4,5]. Despite the overall lower risk, the American Academy of Pediatrics reported that there have been over 15.6 million COVID-19 cases in children reported in the United States as of May 2023, and since the start of the pandemic, incidence among pediatric populations plateaued at an average of approximately 24,000 cases per week and have more recently declined [6,7].

Furthermore, similar risk factors for severe COVID-19 infections identified in adults, such as racial and ethnic minority status, also place pediatric populations at increased risk, whereas other serious conditions, such as multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children, represent a unique health risk in this group [4,8]. Additionally, COVID-19 pediatric hospitalization rates, although lower than those of adults, mimic rates of prevaccine hospitalizations of now vaccine-preventable diseases [9]. However, pediatric COVID-19 hospitalization rates are not uniformly distributed, with multiple studies identifying higher rates and intensive care unit admissions among Hispanic or Latino and non-Hispanic or non-Latino Black children [10,11].

Crucially, parental uncertainty toward the pediatric COVID-19 vaccines has and continues to be a key concern and is a driving factor in the success or failure of vaccination programs and achieving high immunization rates. Globally, vaccine hesitancy rates vary by characteristics and predictors, with parents and youth in some countries expressing low vaccine hesitancy and high vaccine confidence, whereas others express negative vaccine sentiment and outright refusal [12-14]. Reflecting these conflicting attitudes and opinions, as measured in June 2022, more than 18 million children in the United States had yet to receive their first dose of a COVID-19 vaccine [15]. Furthermore, differential rates of vaccination in pediatric populations mimic those of adults, with racial and ethnic minority populations historically having lower COVID-19 vaccine uptake [16,17].

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, barriers to increased adolescent immunization rates included parental acceptance of vaccines, vaccine knowledge, and attitudes toward vaccination [18]. Prepandemic conditions included parents outright refusing and others choosing to delay or spread out routine vaccinations [19]. Since the start of the pandemic, vaccine hesitancy, especially concerning pediatric vaccinations, has increased, and overall pediatric vaccination rates have declined [20,21]. Similar to vaccine uptake, vaccine hesitancy is not uniformly distributed,

with greater hesitancy existing among African American and Hispanic populations [15,22,23]. Although pediatric mortality has declined by 96% to 100% in the United States due to recommended routine vaccinations, recent vaccine hesitancy has contributed to outbreaks of previously vaccine-preventable diseases such as measles and influenza, emphasizing the importance of countering misinformation and overall hesitancy sentiment [22].

Recent pediatric COVID-19 vaccine research has largely focused on the efficacy and safety of the vaccine, with few papers examining individuals' or communities' opinions on vaccine administration [24-26]. Furthermore, the limited but growing research on racial and ethnic minority COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy has focused primarily on adult populations, although some studies have reported varying parental intent to vaccinate children [14,27]. However, no study to our knowledge has focused on pediatric COVID-19 barriers and facilitators among racial and ethnic minority groups and the extent of web-based engagement generated by information sharing and measured the impact of certain concerns and beliefs within these populations. Hence, additional research is needed to better characterize knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors associated with pediatric COVID-19 vaccines among disproportionately impacted groups, namely racial and ethnic minority populations.

The first step to tailored outreach efforts is to increase understanding of the barriers and concerns held by disproportionately affected and historically underrepresented groups and determine whether these beliefs are representative within a particular community. Social media's emergence as a popular channel for information seeking and sharing and health behavior discussion has resulted in several studies characterizing COVID-19 and vaccine confidence and hesitancy [28,29]. Hence, the aim of this study was to add to this body of literature using approaches in natural language processing and content analysis to identify and characterize pediatric vaccine discussion topics, sentiment, and user interactions, including among users self-reporting racial and ethnic minority affiliation on Twitter (now rebranded as "X"), a common microblogging social media platform used by 1 in 5 US adults [30].

# Methods

#### Overview

This study was conducted in three distinct phases: (1) data collection of COVID-19 vaccine– and pediatric-related tweets using keyword querying and filtering; (2) using unsupervised machine learning with topic modeling to identify topics and themes relevant to vaccine confidence, hesitancy, and minority user topics specific to COVID-19 pediatric vaccination; and (3) conducting in-depth qualitative analysis of tweets and comments using an inductive coding approach. Additionally, user profile metadata from all publicly available tweets were collected to assess if users self-reported racial or ethnic minority affiliation and whether they had verified Twitter accounts. A visual summary of the study methodology is provided in Figure 1.



**Figure 1.** Methodology summary and flowchart. The general methodology of the study is broken down into (1) data collection using the Twitter API; (2) COVID-19 and pediatric keyword filtering; (3) Biterm Topic Model and tweet selection; (4) qualitative analysis; and (5) metadata analysis. API: application programming interface.



#### **Ethical Considerations**

As this study only analyzed secondary, publicly available data and does not report any individually identifiable information on users, it was deemed exempt by WCG IRB.

#### **Data Collection**

We first manually searched for tweets with COVID-19 vaccine–related keywords on Twitter, the social media platform selected for this study. After assessing the returned results, we generated a list of keywords and hashtags that are commonly used in COVID-19 vaccine Twitter discussions, such as "Moderna," "COVID19 vaccine," and "Pfizer" (see Table 1 for

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48004
```

RenderX

the full list of study keywords). Data collection was conducted from October 24, 2020, to October 1, 2021, using the Twitter public application programming interface (API) to prospectively collect tweets that contained study keywords. Two sets of streaming data were collected; 1 set contained only original tweets (non-retweeted posts), and the other set contained only retweets. With the same manual search process, we generated keywords for general pediatric topics, which are "pediatric" and "paediatric," and filtered our general COVID-19 data sets for tweets that contained these 2 keywords to generate a separate filtered non-retweeted and retweeted data set. From both non-retweeted and retweeted data sets, we collected all associated comments generated by users replying to these tweets

with the full-archive Twitter API using the "Conversation\_id" attribute to better sample both original tweets and their

interactions (ie, comments) with these keywords.

Table .	The keywords related to	o "COVID-19 vaccine" ar	d "pediatric COVID-19 vaccine"	that were selected in this study.

Торіс	Related keywords
COVID-19 vaccine	Sputnik V, Gam-COVID-Vac, Moderna vaccine, mRNA-1273, AXD1222, COVID19 vaccine, ChAdOx1, Pfizer, BioNTech, Johnson vaccine, As- traZeneca, J&J's vaccine, JNJ-78436735, Ad26.COV2.S, AZD1222, Ox- ford vaccine, and Comirnaty
Pediatric COVID-19 vaccine	Pediatric and paediatric

#### **Unsupervised Machine Learning**

Due to the large volume of data for the non-retweeted pediatric data set, we used natural language processing and unsupervised machine learning to extract topics of interest and the corresponding tweets relevant to our study objectives. We used the Biterm Topic Model (BTM), an unsupervised machine learning approach that cluster texts into different topics and outputs the word terms that are the most correlated to each topic. We chose the BTM as it is efficient in analyzing short texts (such as tweets that are limited to 280 characters) and due to its use in prior health and COVID-19 topic exploration studies, particularly when existing training data for supervised machine learning approaches are not available [31-33]. Because the non-retweeted pediatric data set volume was double the size of usual BTM training sets used in prior studies, we split the non-retweeted pediatric data set into 2 even data sets for BTM topic modeling output. For each BTM process, we used the parameter k=20, which generated 20 topics for each set of BTM modeling phases. For each topic, we outputted the top relevant terms for each topic and ranked all tweets within that topic and then outputted the 10 most retweeted tweets (based on retweet counts) that were the most correlated within the outputted topic for purposes of further human review and annotation.

#### **Content and Statistical Analysis**

This study's manual content analysis of tweets focused on characterizing specific COVID-19 pediatric vaccine-related discussion and sentiment, specifically among racial and ethnic minority groups. Following the use of BTM, the top 10 retweeted tweets from each topic cluster were outputted and coded using a binary coding scheme to identify tweets relevant to the topic of pediatric COVID-19 vaccines (ie, "signal"). Tweets were deemed as signal tweets if they (1) appeared to be user generated (ie, not posted by organizations or news or media outlets) and (2) discussed a topic relevant to the pediatric COVID-19 vaccine, including its indication, safety, efficacy, approval or authorization, beliefs, and associated barriers and facilitators. Topic clusters that had retweeted tweets that did not meet the study objective were excluded from further analysis (ie, "noise"). Tweets related solely to news or media coverage about the vaccine, advertisements, and tweets not related to the pediatric COVID-19 vaccine (eg, tweets associated with pediatric vaccines for other diseases) were considered noise. All tweets were first reviewed by the first (TM), second (CW), and third (NL) authors independently, and a general inductive approach was then used to develop a coding framework for tweets to assess thematic content.

RenderX

Following the initial binary coding scheme and review of all tweets, all detected themes were inductively classified into 2 parent codes: vaccine-related confidence and vaccine-related concerns. Subcodes were inductively added to the codebook under the 2 parent codes. These attributes were selected by the first 3 authors, with high interrater reliability (Cohen  $\kappa$ =0.95). Discrepancies were resolved through discussion among the first through third authors. Following the qualitative content analysis of the top retweeted tweets, all comments to signal tweets were retrieved, and the first 3 authors followed a binary coding scheme for the relevance of the comment to the original tweet. Comments were also manually annotated for agreement, disagreement, or neutral sentiment toward the original tweet. All comments were coded independently and achieved high intercoder reliability (Cohen  $\kappa$ =0.95).

A 2-by-2 table for user replies was constructed. The exposure condition was a parent tweet (ie, by parent tweet, we mean a tweet that was selected for this study and generated additional user interactions through comments) expressing confidence in the pediatric vaccine, with the counterfactual being a parent tweet expressing concern; the outcome condition was a user reply expressing either agreement or disagreement with the parent tweet. A  $\chi^2$  test was performed to determine if the proportion agreeing with confidence-expressing tweets was significantly different than the proportion disagreeing with confidence-expressing tweets. Statistical analysis was performed in RStudio (version 3.6.1; Posit). A *P* value of <.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### User Metadata Analysis

We wanted to further characterize specific topics, discussions, and sentiments associated with pediatric COVID-19 vaccines that were specific to racial and ethnic minority populations. We examined publicly available metadata of users associated with signal tweets and signal comments for self-identifiable minority status as well as Twitter verified user account status. In this study, we included 4 major racial groups (American Indian and Alaska Native, Asian, Black or African American, and Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander) and 1 ethnic group (Hispanic or Latino). The classification used only publicly available profile data from the users' profile on Twitter to assess whether there was sufficient information to identify at least 1 of the abovementioned minority groups. If a user included no self-identification information within their public profile bio, no racial or ethnic minority status was assumed. These data were collected for purposes of aggregation, and no results contained in this study include individually identifiable

information or make any representation to the accuracy of a claimed minority or ethnic classification of a user.

# Results

#### **Collected Data**

We collected a total of 863,007 tweets from Twitter over the approximately 1-year study period, which were filtered for COVID-19- and pediatric-related keywords. After applying the BTM, we reviewed the top 200 most retweeted tweets (representing 233,612 tweets and retweets) from each topic cluster output, from which 163 (81.5%) of the 200 most retweeted tweets were identified as signal tweets based on our binary coding approach. These signal tweets corresponded to a total of 208,666 tweets and retweets (208,666/863,007, 24.18% of the entire corpus) and specifically included user-generated topics related to the pediatric COVID-19 vaccine. From this set of tweets, a total of 15,524 user replies via comments were collected. Within these user replies, 6224 replies were posted in response to tweets from verified racial or ethnic minority users that were then selected for further racial and ethnic minority content-specific analysis. Of the 6224 comment replies selected for analysis, 3905 (62.74%) were relevant to the parent tweet's COVID-19 vaccine topic and were further analyzed for agreement, disagreement, or neutral sentiment.

#### **Content and Statistical Analysis**

Based on our qualitative analysis and inductive coding approach of tweets and retweets, we derived 8 topics within 2 major parent domains (refer to Table 2 for identified topic themes and anonymized and paraphrased examples from tweets). The detected topics were first classified into 2 major domains: vaccine-related concerns (150,262/208,666, 72.01%) and vaccine-related confidence (58,404/208,666, 27.99%). Of the 3905 comment replies to the parent tweets that were identified as signal retweets using our binary coding approach, 3385 (86.68%) were in response to vaccine-related confidence tweets and 520 (13.32%) were in response to vaccine-related concern tweets. Of 3385 vaccine-related confidence reply comments, we found that 1016 (30.01%) users agreed, 2090 (61.74%) disagreed, and 279 (8.24%) had neutral sentiment toward conversations regarding the vaccine being safe and protective. In response to vaccine-related concerns, 278 (53.5%) out of 520 users agreed, 219 (42.1%) disagreed, and 23 (4.4%) had neutral sentiment toward conversations regarding the vaccine having adverse side effects, it being too experimental, and other vaccine concern topics.

#### McMann et al

 Table . Code list and identified topic themes (including deidentified and paraphrased examples). Specific company names have been deidentified and replaced with generic labels (eg, "Company A").

Topic and code number	Code name	Example	Tweets and retweets (n=208,666), n (%)
A. Vaccine-related concerns	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
A-1	Adverse side effects	• Boston Children's Hosp series of 15 post Pfizer C19 vax my- ocarditis cases revealed 80% had "late gadolini- um enhancement," a prognostic marker as- soc with increased risk (~4.6 fold) for adverse cardiac events long term.	37,571 (18.01%)
A-2	Requires more testing (exper- imental, unethical, and questioning approval)	• Healthy children do not need this vaccine and it's been advised not to give them the jab. This won't keep a single school open or save children's lives. This is immoral, unethical and, what's worse, you KNOW it.	40,279 (19.3%)
A-3	Control tactic	<ul> <li>The Johnson regime is intent on ruining the country and destroying freedom. They have announced vaccine passports and experi- mental injections for children and now a #Lockdown.</li> <li>It is time for regime change.</li> </ul>	12,122 (5.81%)
A-4	Questioning authority	• Why is Biden telling children to get the vac- cine. He is not a medi- cal doctor. This girl should be allowed to sue Biden for practic- ing medicine without a license.	8420 (4.04%)
A-5	Vaccine is unnecessary (high risk to individual ben- efit)	• J&J announced plans to test the shot on new- borns, despite the risks and evidence that COVID poses nearly no risk to healthy chil- dren.	36,859 (17.66%)
A-6	Company history	• In 1996, one of Pfizer's drugs was still in clini- cal stage of develop- ment when it was test- ed on about 200 chil- dren without consent. Pfizer claimed it was "safe," but 181 kids were injured and 11 died.	15,011 (7.19%)



McMann et al

Topic and code number	Code name	Example	Tweets and retweets (n=208,666), n (%)
B. Vaccine-related confidence			•
B-1	Vaccine is protective	• What amazing news to wake up to! Pfizer vac- cine provided 100% protection in 12-15 y olds. The sample is small, but gives me so much hope for schools opening soon.	35,975 (17.24%)
В-2	Vaccine is safe	• JUST IN - Pfizer has started late-stage clini- cal trials of their #COVID19 vaccine in young children ages 5 to 11	22,429 (10.75%)

Within the vaccine-related concern parent topic (parent code A), we identified tweets that shared concerns (A-1) regarding possible adverse side effects of the pediatric COVID-19 vaccine; (A-2) that the vaccine required more testing; (A-3) that the vaccine was being used as a control tactic; (A-4) questioning authority figures associated with vaccination or government (eg, the perception that current President Joe Biden is wrongly encouraging vaccination and a statement expressing the idea that certain government authorities lack the requisite expertise to demand health initiatives); (A-5) that the vaccine was unnecessary; and (A-6) about the history or purported activities of pharmaceutical companies (eg, previous mismanagement and greed claims against pharmaceuticals). Within the vaccine-related confidence parent topic (parent code B), we identified tweets that shared that the pediatric COVID-19 vaccine is (B-1) protective and (B-2) safe (see Table 2). Among these topics, tweets expressing concerns regarding the vaccine requiring more testing and that it was still experimental or should not be approved had the highest volume (A-2; 40,279/208,666, 19.3%), followed by discussion surrounding the possible adverse side effects associated with the pediatric COVID-19 vaccine (A-1; 37,571/208,666, 18.01%).

Among those who responded to tweets via comments expressing confidence in pediatric vaccines, 30.01% (1016/3385) agreed, 8.24% (279/3385) were neutral, and 61.74% (2090/3385) disagreed. Among those who responded to tweets expressing concern about pediatric vaccines, 53.5% (278/520) agreed, 4.4% (23/520) were neutral, and 42.1% (219/520) disagreed. Agreement with tweets was determined by (1) explicit agreement statements (eg, "I agree," "true," "definitely," etc); (2) supportive statements that reiterate or add to the original parent tweet (eg, "this is great information"); (3) personal, supportive anecdotes (eg, "this has happened to me"); or (4) contextual information on a case-by-case basis such as the use of supportive emojis within a reply (eg, thumbs up). Disagreement with tweets was determined by (1) explicit disagreement statements (eg, "I disagree," "this is not true," etc); (2) counterarguments or sharing counterfactual news or informational links; (3) criticizing the tweet or the author of the tweet (eg, "how could you post this fake information," etc); or

RenderX

(4) contextual information on a case-by-case basis such as the use of opposing emojis within a reply (eg, thumbs down). Neutrality was determined by (1) requesting additional information or (2) the lack of strong agreement or disagreement language.

Excluding neutral-sentiment responses, the proportion of user replies expressing agreement with provaccine (ie, confidence) tweets was significantly lower than those expressing disagreement with provaccine tweets (1016/3106, 32.71% vs 2090/3106, 67.29%;  $\chi^2_1$ =98.6, *P*<.001). As tweets in this sample were either provaccine or antivaccine (ie, concern), statistical testing also indicated that the proportion expressing agreement with antivaccine tweets was significantly higher than those expressing disagreement with antivaccine tweets (278/497, 55.9% vs 219/497, 44.1%;  $\chi^2_1$ =98.6, *P*<.001).

#### User Metadata Analysis

In total, this study identified 418 users who self-identified as a racial minority individual and 40 users who self-identified as an ethnic minority individual among signal parent tweets and reply comments. From the top 200 retweeted tweets included for analysis in this study, 14 were identified as being posted by a verified racial or ethnic minority Twitter user, who generated 2.8% (24,140/863,007) of the tweets or retweets of the entire corpus. Specifically, from the sample of identified verified racial or ethnic minority Twitter users, 3905 replies to these tweets were identified as a signal tweet, of which 444 (11.37%) were identified as being posted by a user who also self-identified with a racial or ethnic minority group, whereas 673 (17.23%) were from White users and 2788 (71.4%) were unable to be identified. We identified that of the 3905 users who replied to verified Twitter accounts, 9 (0.23%) self-identified as American Indian or Alaskan Native, 310 (7.94%) as Asian, 84 (2.15%) as Black or African American, 39 (1%) as Hispanic or Latino, and 2 (0.05%) as Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander. Within the parent topic of vaccine-related confidence, 331 racial minority individuals and 37 ethnic minority individuals posted reply tweets; within the parent topic of vaccine-related concern,

74 racial minority individuals and 2 ethnic minority individuals posted reply tweets.

Among the 8 subcodes identified in this study, the vaccine being protective (B-1) was the most discussed topic by racial and ethnic minority groups (305/444, 68.7%). Additionally, 287 reply comments were posted by users who self-identified as a racial minority individual and 18 were by those who self-identified as an ethnic minority individual. Overall, 6 American Indian or Alaskan Native, 243 Asian, 37 Black or African American, 18 Hispanic or Latino, and 1 Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander users replied to tweets that discussed the vaccine as being protective. Importantly, a larger proportion of reply comments disagreed with provaccine parent tweets, with Asian populations specifically representing most

of the identified users with disagreement sentiment (170/261, 65.1%; refer to Tables 3 and 4 for a complete breakdown of racial and ethnic minority sentiment for topics related to vaccine-related concerns and confidence). Among self-identified Black or African American populations in this study, the vaccine being safe (B-2) and the adverse effects of the vaccine (A-1) were tied for the topics receiving the second most engagement among these groups, with 23 reply comments in each of these topics. Finally, the vaccine being unnecessary for pediatric populations (A-5) was the topic with the second most engagement among Asian populations. Furthermore, contradicting the initial finding of disagreement with vaccine-related confidence was the disagreement of vaccine-related concerns among 61% (30/49) of comment replies posted by Asian users.

Table . Vaccine-related concern sentiment by racial and ethnic minority status.

Race or ethnicity	Agree, n (%)	Disagree, n (%)	Neutral, n (%)
American Indian or Alaska Native (n=1)	0 (0)	1 (100)	0 (0)
Asian (n=49)	17 (35)	30 (61)	2 (4)
Black or African American (n=24)	11 (46)	12 (50)	1 (4)
Hispanic or Latino (n=2)	1 (50)	1 (50)	0 (0)
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander (n=0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)

Table . Vaccine-related confidence sentiment by racial and ethnic minority status.

Race or ethnicity	Agree, n (%)	Disagree, n (%)	Neutral, n (%)
American Indian or Alaska Native (n=8)	3 (37.5)	5 (62.5)	0 (0)
Asian (n=261)	75 (28.7)	170 (65.1)	16 (6.1)
Black or African American (n=60)	26 (43.3)	26 (43.3)	8 (13.3)
Hispanic or Latino (n=37)	15 (40.5)	20 (54.1)	2 (5.4)
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander (n=2)	0 (0)	1 (50)	1 (50)

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study found 208,666 signal tweets related to pediatric COVID-19 vaccine topics and 3905 signal comments in response to relevant parent tweets. The tweets included 2 parent categories of vaccine-related concern and vaccine-related confidence topics and 8 corresponding subcodes. In relation to conversations (tweets) and interactions (comment replies) from racial or ethnic minority users on Twitter, we found 458 tweets and replies posted by users who self-identified as a member of 1 of 4 racial minority groups or 1 ethnic minority group.

For all tweets reviewed, we found that close to three-quarters (150,262/208,666, 72.01%) of all discussions reviewed expressed vaccine-related concerns, with the subtopic of the pediatric COVID-19 vaccine requiring more testing (A-2) driving most of the conversations on Twitter (40,279/150,262, 26.81%). We also found that most user replies reviewed were

in response to vaccine-related confidence tweets (ie, that the vaccine was safe and protective; 3385/3905, 86.68%), although the majority (2090/3385, 61.74%) of these replies disagreed with this sentiment of supporting vaccination. Additionally, the proportion expressing agreement with provaccine tweets was significantly lower than those expressing disagreement with provaccine tweets (1016/3106, 32.71% vs 2090/3106, 67.29%; P<.001). These findings may indicate that when provaccine sentiment is shared on Twitter, a larger proportion of interactions ensuing may conversely generate antivaccine sentiment from users in the form of comment replies, which is a concerning finding particularly as over 800 users in this study self-identified as belonging to a racial or ethnic minority group and may have been exposed to predominantly negative vaccine sentiment content.

Among users self-reporting their race or ethnic status in response to a verified minority user Twitter account, Asian, Black or African American, and Hispanic or Latino groups were the top 3 reported affiliations, with other racial groups (American Indian

or Alaskan Native and Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander) having a lower number of users relative to their smaller proportion of the US population. Most racial or ethnic minority users' comment replies were in response to vaccine confidence, specifically, the vaccine being protective, with generally more of these minority users disagreeing with the vaccine-related confidence sentiment but conversely also more users disagreeing in replies to the vaccine-related concern sentiment. This may indicate that different and specific minority groups on Twitter are having separate conversations and interactions regarding vaccine confidence or hesitancy, with some pushing back against vaccine-related concerns (such as Asian users) and some disagreeing with vaccine confidence statements (again with Asian users, although stratification for different Asian ethic subgroups may yield more specific results). In contrast, Black or African American users were more evenly split on their sentiment toward vaccine-related confidence or concern in their replies to tweets.

Specific Twitter verified user accounts reporting racial or ethnic minority affiliation may have also influenced these conversation topic groupings, which included users who are political figures, epidemiologists, and prominent journalists who have high follower accounts (range 56,453-22,474,858). This high number of Twitter followers in turn generated a higher volume of interactions via user replies. Topics in the tweets of these verified users varied, including mistrust regarding federal regulatory agencies, general COVID-19 vaccine announcements, and tweets related to vaccine or COVID-19 fear-mongering language.

Overall, clinical trial results supporting vaccine authorization, as with other aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic, was met with mixed sentiments [34,35]. Public opinion about the need for a pediatric vaccine varied, with individuals, primarily those who are parents, questioning whether COVID-19 posed enough risk to children to necessitate the testing and development of a pediatric vaccine [36]. The results of our study reinforce these observations, similarly finding that public opinion on Twitter toward vaccine confidence- and concern-related tweets and interactions is mixed, including when specifically examining racial and ethnic minority user sentiment.

#### Limitations

This study has certain limitations. First, the primary aim of the study was to characterize pediatric COVID-19 vaccine discussion and attitudes among general users as well as racial and ethnic minority users on Twitter. By using a single social media platform, our scope is limited based on the demographic of Twitter users and may not be representative of general attitudes among various racial and ethnic minority groups. Additionally, we only collected data from Twitter and limited our study keywords to the English language. This likely biased study results to native English speakers, excluding minority individuals for whom English is a second language or those who do not speak English, thus further limiting generalizability. Additionally, our keywords related to COVID-19 vaccine topics were chosen based on our own manual searches on the platform but may not have been inclusive of all conversations related to the study aims. Finally, we identified users' race and ethnicity status based solely on users' publicly available metadata, and we did not cross-validate the veracity of users' race and ethnicity status with any other sources or follow-up. Future studies should explore combining multiple data layers from different sources to better validate users' race and ethnicity status as well as to better assess if users' reported attitudes, perceptions, and behavior are associated with validated vaccine confidence, hesitancy, or uptake using other data sources.

#### Conclusions

Although the results from this study are primarily exploratory, they nevertheless provide important and diverse insights on current beliefs, attitudes, opinions, and possible behavior queues toward intent, willingness, and hesitancy to vaccinate children to protect them from COVID-19. Hence, our study results have the potential to inform the design of future health education, vaccination campaigns, and other health promotion efforts that can be targeted toward specific minority users on the web while also identifying relevant themes and topics that can influence vaccine confidence and hesitancy sentiment. Incorporating social listening with traditional public health surveillance approaches is critical to ensuring equitable vaccine uptake, including in the context of new vaccine candidates and COVID-19 boosters among both parents and their children. Future studies may look to further stratify racial and ethnic subgroups to better understand how intraracial attitudes and behaviors may vary to more effectively target pediatric vaccine campaigns.

#### Acknowledgments

This manuscript has been seen by all authors, who have approved its content.

## **Authors' Contributions**

T McMann, QX, and T Mackey contributed to conceptualization. T McMann, ZL, and T Mackey contributed to methodology. ZL and REC contributed to software. T McMann, CW, NL, ZL, QX, and REC contributed to validation. T McMann, CW, NL, QX, and REC contributed to formal analysis. T McMann, QX, and T Mackey contributed to investigation. T Mackey contributed to resources. ZL contributed to data curation. T McMann, QX, REC, and T Mackey contributed to writing. T Mackey contributed to supervision. T McMann and QX contributed to project administration. T Mackey contributed to funding acquisition.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

QX, T McMann, CW, ZL, and T Mackey are employees of the minority-owned small business S-3 Research LLC. S-3 Research is a company previously and currently funded by the National Institutes of Health—National Institute on Drug Abuse through the Small Business Innovation and Research program and has contracts with other government agencies to provide public health and data science services. T Mackey is also the Editor-in-Chief of JMIR Infodemiology.

### References

- Zhang JJ, Dong X, Liu GH, Gao YD. Risk and protective factors for COVID-19 morbidity, severity, and mortality. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2023 Feb;64(1):90-107. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12016-022-08921-5</u>] [Medline: <u>35044620</u>]
- 2. COVID Data Tracker. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). URL: <u>covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker</u> [accessed 2023-09-20]
- Pennington AF, Kompaniyets L, Summers AD, et al. Risk of clinical severity by age and race/ethnicity among adults hospitalized for COVID-19-United States, March-September 2020. Open Forum Infect Dis 2020 Dec 28;8(2):ofaa638. [doi: <u>10.1093/ofid/ofaa638</u>] [Medline: <u>33553477</u>]
- 4. Kamidani S, Rostad CA, Anderson EJ. COVID-19 vaccine development: a pediatric perspective. Curr Opin Pediatr 2021 Feb 1;33(1):144-151. [doi: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000978] [Medline: 33278108]
- Badal S, Thapa Bajgain K, Badal S, Thapa R, Bajgain BB, Santana MJ. Prevalence, clinical characteristics, and outcomes of pediatric COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Virol 2021 Feb;135:104715. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104715] [Medline: <u>33348220</u>]
- She J, Liu L, Liu W. COVID-19 epidemic: disease characteristics in children. J Med Virol 2020 Jul;92(7):747-754. [doi: 10.1002/jmv.25807] [Medline: 32232980]
- 7. Children and COVID-19: state-level data report. American Academy of Pediatrics. URL: <u>www.aap.org/en/pages/</u>2019-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-infections/children-and-covid-19-state-level-data-report [accessed 2022-08-17]
- 8. Dennis-Heyward EA, Shah SN. Pediatric COVID-19 disparities and prioritizing equity-children are not spared. JAMA Pediatr 2021 Sep 1;175(9):898-900. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.1682] [Medline: 34152377]
- 9. Anderson EJ, Campbell JD, Creech CB, et al. Warp speed for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) vaccines: why are children stuck in neutral? Clin Infect Dis 2021 Jul 15;73(2):336-340. [doi: <u>10.1093/cid/ciaa1425</u>] [Medline: <u>32945335</u>]
- Kim L, Whitaker M, O'Halloran A, et al. Hospitalization rates and characteristics of children aged <18 years hospitalized with laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 - COVID-NET, 14 States, March 1-July 25, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Aug 14;69(32):1081-1088. [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6932e3] [Medline: 32790664]
- 11. Bandi S, Nevid MZ, Mahdavinia M. African American children are at higher risk of COVID-19 infection. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2020 Oct;31(7):861-864. [doi: 10.1111/pai.13298] [Medline: 32469426]
- Bagateli LE, Saeki EY, Fadda M, Agostoni C, Marchisio P, Milani GP. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among parents of children and adolescents living in Brazil. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Sep 30;9(10):1115. [doi: <u>10.3390/vaccines9101115</u>] [Medline: <u>34696223</u>]
- Musa S, Dergaa I, Abdulmalik MA, Ammar A, Chamari K, Saad HB. BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among parents of 4023 young adolescents (12-15 years) in Qatar. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Sep 2;9(9):981. [doi: <u>10.3390/vaccines9090981</u>] [Medline: <u>34579218</u>]
- 14. Willis DE, Presley J, Williams M, Zaller N, McElfish PA. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among youth. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2021 Dec 2;17(12):5013-5015. [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2021.1989923] [Medline: 34715003]
- 15. Children and COVID-19 vaccination trends. American Academy of Pediatrics. URL: <u>www.aap.org/en/pages/</u> 2019-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-infections/children-and-covid-19-vaccination-trends/ [accessed 2022-08-17]
- Gargano LM, Herbert NL, Painter JE, et al. Impact of a physician recommendation and parental immunization attitudes on receipt or intention to receive adolescent vaccines. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2013 Dec;9(12):2627-2633. [doi: 10.4161/hv.25823] [Medline: 23883781]
- 17. Fisher CB, Gray A, Sheck I. COVID-19 pediatric vaccine hesitancy among racially diverse parents in the United States. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Dec 27;10(1):31. [doi: 10.3390/vaccines10010031] [Medline: 35062692]
- Kennedy J. Vaccine hesitancy: a growing concern. Paediatr Drugs 2020 Apr;22(2):105-111. [doi: 10.1007/s40272-020-00385-4] [Medline: <u>32072472</u>]
- 19. McKee C, Bohannon K. Exploring the reasons behind parental refusal of vaccines. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther 2016;21(2):104-109. [doi: 10.5863/1551-6776-21.2.104] [Medline: 27199617]
- Wang Q, Xiu S, Yang L, et al. Changes in parental attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccination and routine childhood vaccination during the COVID-19 pandemic: repeated cross-sectional survey study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 May 13;8(5):e33235. [doi: 10.2196/33235] [Medline: 35486516]
- 21. Maltezou HC, Medic S, Cassimos DC, Effraimidou E, Poland GA. Decreasing routine vaccination rates in children in the COVID-19 era. Vaccine 2022 Apr 20;40(18):2525-2527. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.03.033</u>] [Medline: <u>35341648</u>]

- Weiner JL, Fisher AM, Nowak GJ, Basket MM, Gellin BG. Childhood immunizations: first-time expectant mothers knowledge, beliefs, intentions, and behaviors. Am J Prev Med 2015 Dec;49(6 Suppl 4):S426-S434. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2015.07.002</u>] [Medline: <u>26297448</u>]
- Khubchandani J, Sharma S, Price JH, Wiblishauser MJ, Sharma M, Webb FJ. COVID-19 vaccination hesitancy in the United States: a rapid national assessment. J Community Health 2021 Apr;46(2):270-277. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10900-020-00958-x</u>] [Medline: <u>33389421</u>]
- 24. Principi N, Esposito S. Why it is important to develop an effective and safe pediatric COVID-19 vaccine. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Feb 5;9(2):127. [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9020127] [Medline: 33562619]
- 25. Oliveira CR, Niccolai LM, Sheikha H, et al. Assessment of clinical effectiveness of BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine in US adolescents. JAMA Netw Open 2022 Mar 1;5(3):e220935. [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.0935] [Medline: 35238933]
- 26. Olson SM, Newhams MM, Halasa NB, et al. Effectiveness of Pfizer-BioNtech mRNA vaccination against COVID-19 hospitalization among persons aged 12-18 years United States, June-September 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 Oct 22;70(42):1483-1488. [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7042e1] [Medline: 34673751]
- 27. Schilling S, Orr CJ, Delamater AM, et al. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among low-income, racially and ethnically diverse US parents. Patient Educ Couns 2022 Aug;105(8):2771-2777. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2022.03.023</u>] [Medline: <u>35393230</u>]
- Teasdale CA, Ratzan S, Rauh L, Lathan HS, Kimball S, El-Mohandes A. COVID-19 vaccine coverage and hesitancy among New York City parents of children aged 5-11 years. Am J Public Health 2022 Jun;112(6):931-936. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2022.306784] [Medline: 35420899]
- 29. Valdez D, ten Thij M, Bathina K, Rutter LA, Bollen J. Social media insights into US mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: longitudinal analysis of Twitter data. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 14;22(12):e21418. [doi: 10.2196/21418] [Medline: 33284783]
- 30. Wojcik S, Hughes A. Sizing up Twitter users. Pew Research Center. 2019 Apr 24. URL: <u>www.pewresearch.org/internet/</u> 2019/04/24/sizing-up-twitter-users/ [accessed 2022-08-17]
- 31. Mackey T, Purushothaman V, Li J, et al. Machine learning to detect self-reporting of symptoms, testing access, and recovery associated with COVID-19 on Twitter: retrospective big data Infoveillance study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Jun 8;6(2):e19509. [doi: 10.2196/19509] [Medline: 32490846]
- 32. Xu Q, Nali MC, McMann T, et al. Unsupervised machine learning to detect and characterize barriers to pre-exposure prophylaxis therapy: a multiplatform social media study. JMIR Infodemiology 2022 Apr 28;2(1):e35446. [doi: 10.2196/35446] [Medline: 37113799]
- Mackey TK, Purushothaman V, Haupt M, Nali MC, Li J. Application of unsupervised machine learning to identify and characterise hydroxychloroquine misinformation on Twitter. Lancet Digit Health 2021 Feb;3(2):e72-e75. [doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30318-6] [Medline: <u>33509386</u>]
- 34. Haman M. The use of Twitter by state leaders and its impact on the public during the COVID-19 pandemic. Heliyon 2020 Nov;6(11):e05540. [doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05540] [Medline: 33294685]
- He K, Mack WJ, Neely M, Lewis L, Anand V. Parental perspectives on immunizations: impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on childhood vaccine hesitancy. J Community Health 2022 Feb;47(1):39-52. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10900-021-01017-9</u>] [Medline: <u>34297272</u>]
- 36. Karlsson LC, Soveri A, Lewandowsky S, et al. Fearing the disease or the vaccine: the case of COVID-19. Pers Individ Dif 2021 Apr;172:110590. [doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110590] [Medline: 33518869]

#### Abbreviations

**API:** application programming interface **BTM:** Biterm Topic Model

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 07.04.23; peer-reviewed by B Eshrati; revised version received 20.09.23; accepted 21.09.23; published 30.11.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> McMann T, Wenzel C, Le N, Li Z, Xu Q, Cuomo RE, Mackey T Detection and Characterization of Web-Based Pediatric COVID-19 Vaccine Discussions and Racial and Ethnic Minority Topics: Retrospective Analysis of Twitter Data JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48004 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48004 doi:10.2196/48004



© Tiana McMann, Christine Wenzel, Nicolette Le, Zhuoran Li, Qing Xu, Raphael E Cuomo, Tim Mackey. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 30.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Using Human-Centered Design and Cocreation to Create the Live 5-2-1-0 Mobile App to Promote Healthy Behaviors in Children: App Design and Development

Kiana W Yau<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc; Tricia S Tang<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Matthias Görges<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Susan Pinkney<sup>2,4</sup>, MA; Shazhan Amed<sup>2,4</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Research Institute, BC Children's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Anesthesiology, Pharmacology and Therapeutics, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Department of Pediatrics, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Shazhan Amed, MD Research Institute BC Children's Hospital A4-196 950 W 28th Ave Vancouver, BC, V5Z 4H4 Canada Phone: 1 6048753113 Email: <u>SAmed@cw.bc.ca</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The prevalence of obesity among Canadian children is rising, partly because of increasingly obesogenic environments that limit opportunities for physical activity and healthy nutrition. Live 5-2-1-0 is a community-based multisectoral childhood obesity prevention initiative that engages stakeholders to promote and support the message of consuming  $\geq$ 5 servings of vegetables and fruits, having <2 hours of recreational screen time, participating in  $\geq$ 1 hour of active play, and consuming 0 sugary drinks every day. A Live 5-2-1-0 Toolkit for health care providers (HCPs) was previously developed and piloted in 2 pediatric clinics at British Columbia Children's Hospital.

**Objective:** This study aimed to co-create, in partnership with children, parents, and HCPs, a Live 5-2-1-0 mobile app that supports healthy behavior change and could be used as part of the Live 5-2-1-0 Toolkit for HCPs.

**Methods:** Three focus groups (FGs) were conducted using human-centered design and participatory approaches. In FG 1, children (separately) and parents and HCPs (together) participated in sessions on app conceptualization and design. Researchers and app developers analyzed and interpreted qualitative data from FG 1 in an ideation session, and key themes were subsequently presented separately to parents, children, and HCPs in FG-2 (co-creation) sessions to identify desired app features. Parents and children tested a prototype in FG 3, provided feedback on usability and content, and completed questionnaires. Thematic analysis and descriptive statistics were used for the qualitative and quantitative data, respectively.

**Results:** In total, 14 children (mean age 10.2, SD 1.3 years; 5/14, 36% male; 5/14, 36% White), 12 parents (9/12, 75% aged 40-49 years; 2/12, 17% male; 7/12, 58% White), and 18 HCPs participated; most parents and children (20/26, 77%) participated in  $\geq$ 2 FGs. Parents wanted an app that empowered children to adopt healthy behaviors using internal motivation and accountability, whereas children described challenge-oriented goals and family-based activities as motivating. Parents and children identified gamification, goal setting, daily steps, family-based rewards, and daily notifications as desired features; HCPs wanted baseline behavior assessments and to track users' behavior change progress. Following prototype testing, parents and children reported ease in completing tasks, with a median score of 7 (IQR 6-7) on a 7-point Likert scale (1=very difficult; 7=very easy). Children liked most suggested rewards (28/37, 76%) and found 79% (76/96) of suggested daily challenges (healthy behavior activities that users complete to achieve their goal) realistic to achieve. Participant suggestions included strategies to maintain users' interest and content that further motivates healthy behavior change.

**Conclusions:** Co-creating a mobile health app with children, parents, and HCPs was feasible. Stakeholders desired an app that facilitated shared decision-making with children as active agents in behavior change. Future research will involve clinical implementation and assessment of the usability and effectiveness of the Live 5-2-1-0 app.

#### **KEYWORDS**

childhood obesity; mobile health; health behaviors; prevention; mobile health app; mHealth app; human-centered design; cocreation; participatory approach; mobile phone

## Introduction

#### Background

In Canada, the number of children with obesity has more than doubled over the past 40 years [1], with the prevalence in children aged 2 to 17 years increasing from 6% between 1978 to 1979 to 12% in 2015 [2]. In parallel, the rates of lifelong chronic disease caused by childhood obesity have also increased; for example, a recent Canadian surveillance study reported a 68% increase in the minimum incidence of childhood-onset type 2 diabetes over a 10-year period [3]. Obesity in childhood tends to persist into adulthood, along with its associated physical and psychosocial consequences [4]. An estimated 60% of children today are expected to be obese by the age of 35 years [5].

Childhood represents a desirable time for chronic disease prevention interventions focused on regular monitoring of height and weight and healthy behavior counseling [6]. In particular, the ages of 8 to 12 years serve as a critical period for the development of lifelong habits and behavior adoption as this is when children experience substantial physical and developmental changes, including the initiation of puberty, increased autonomy in decision-making, and identity formation [7]. To date, these interventions are mostly conducted in person, requiring children and parents to travel to a specified location to attend regularly scheduled sessions, resulting in low participation rates and high attrition, thus leading to minimal changes in key health outcomes such as BMI and healthy diet changes [8]. The use of digital technologies such as smartphones and tablets may address these challenges owing to their wide accessibility that transcends geographic location or socioeconomic status. According to the 2020 Canadian Internet Use Survey, the rate of smartphone ownership has been increasing among various socioeconomic groups, from 80.3% in 2018 to 84.4% in 2020 [9]. In fact, since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2019, to overcome social distancing and prevent disease transmission, many weight management and obesity prevention interventions have shifted from in-person to telephone-based or internet-based services, such as via telehealth, videoconferencing, and mobile health apps [10,11]. Although these telephone-based or internet-based health services fueled by the pandemic have reduced barriers to care, the evidence regarding their effectiveness in addressing childhood obesity is mixed [10].

Mobile health use has experienced exponential growth over the years. The penetration rate (percentage of active users over the total number of potential users in the target market) of the Canadian mobile health market was 46.5% in 2021 and is expected to reach >53.7% by 2026 [12]. Various interventions have demonstrated the potential role of mobile health apps in supporting children in adopting and sustaining healthy behavior changes [13,14]. However, their effectiveness and reliability

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44792
```

remain unclear as many mobile health apps are not evidence-based (informed in their design by behavior change theory, clinical guidelines, or clinical trials), do not involve end users (ie, clinicians or patients) in the development process [15], and suffer from low use and user retention [16]. Our previously published systematic literature review found that apps for health behavior promotion interventions have the potential to increase healthy behavior adoption among children, but their effectiveness in improving anthropometric measures remains unclear [17].

The use of participatory research methods, which involves direct collaboration between researchers and end users in a process of cocreation [18], has the potential to address these challenges. However, participatory research is not without its drawbacks. Potential challenges include skepticism and the lack of interest from stakeholders, time constraints of participants, conflicts between the expectations of funders and those participating in cocreation (ie, researchers and end users), and the incapability of participatory researchers to relinquish control for authentic cocreation to occur [19].

The Live 5-2-1-0 initiative works with community partners to create healthy environments for children via its message of consuming at least 5 servings of vegetables and fruits, engaging in <2 hours of recreational screen time, participating in at least 1 hour of active play, and drinking 0 sugary drinks per day [20]. A component of the Live 5-2-1-0 initiative is the Live 5-2-1-0 health care provider (HCP) Toolkit, which provides clinicians with the knowledge, skills, and resources to integrate the promotion of healthy behavior into their clinical practice. A pilot study in 2 pediatric subspecialty clinics at British Columbia Children's Hospital (BCCH; Vancouver, British Columbia [BC], Canada) demonstrated that the use of the HCP Toolkit resulted in increased frequency of lifestyle assessments and counseling performed by HCPs [21]. A mobile healthy living app based on the Live 5-2-1-0 principles may complement the Live 5-2-1-0 HCP Toolkit by engaging patients and families in healthy living between patient visits and allowing HCPs to monitor progress in behavior change.

#### Objectives

In this paper, we described our approach to co-designing, with children, parents, and HCPs, the Live 5-2-1-0 mobile app (hereinafter referred to as *the app*) using participatory research methods. The goal of the app was to support HCPs in delivering healthy behavior counseling in a clinical setting and motivate healthy behavior change in children in their daily lives.

XSL•FO

# Methods

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study was approved by the University of BC and Children's and Women's Health Centre of BC Research Ethics Board (H18-00700; SA; August 16, 2018).

#### **Study Design**

This study was conducted and reported using the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) guidelines [22]. Using a mixed methods embedded research design, 3 sets of focus groups (FGs) were conducted between October 2018 and January 2019 to obtain the perspectives of children, parents, and HCPs. Each FG was approximately 2 hours long and was held in person at BCCH (our study was performed before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic) by facilitators from an external technology consulting firm (Striven) or our app developer partner (Tactica). FG guides (Multimedia Appendix 1) consisted of open-ended questions that reflected the Fogg Behavior Model, which posits that motivation, ability, and triggers must all be present to influence an individual to perform a target behavior [23]; in the case of health interventions, this is to influence a patient to adopt healthy behavior change. Human-centered design (HCD) is a participatory method that engages stakeholders throughout the development process to generate solutions that reflect the needs of end users [24]. It consists of three phases: (1) inspiration (immersing the researcher in the lives of participants to understand their needs), (2) ideation (knowledge from inspiration is used to brainstorm ideas and create a prototype), and (3) implementation (the solution is brought to life and evaluated).

The child and parent participants received a CAD \$50 (US \$37.35) gift card for their time and to offset the costs of participating; HCPs received a CAD \$5 (US \$3.73) Starbucks gift card.

#### **Participants**

Children aged 8 to 12 years and their parents were recruited via posters at BCCH, advertisements in a patient newsletter (Sunny Hill Connect), and announcements posted on BCCH and Live 5-2-1-0 social media channels (Facebook and Twitter).

Recruitment material included the names of the principal investigators, eligibility criteria for participants, and a brief description of the goal of the research team to develop an app that supports healthy living habits. Interested participants contacted a research assistant via phone or email to receive additional study information and provide informed consent in writing. The eligibility criteria were (1) ability to read, speak, and understand English and (2) willingness to attend at least one FG session. A maximum of 1 child and 1 parent per family could participate. Participants with severe intellectual difficulties were excluded. BMI or other weight-related characteristics of children and parent participants were not part of the inclusion criteria as the aim of the study was to develop an app that could serve as a tool in primary prevention of childhood obesity and would apply to all children regardless of BMI. HCPs within the University of BC Department of Pediatrics at BCCH were invited to participate via an email containing study information and contact information for the research assistant. Given that the Live 5-2-1-0 initiative is multisectoral and cross-disciplinary, the representation of physicians and medical trainees, nursing staff, and allied health professionals was sought to capture a wide range of clinician perspectives in the app's design.

#### **Quantitative Data Collection**

Children and parents completed a sociodemographic questionnaire that included age, gender, and ethnic background of both the child and parent, as well as parents' marital status, educational level, and annual household income. Parents completed an adapted version of the Healthy Habits Questionnaire (Multimedia Appendix 2), a tool that has previously been shown to be useful and feasible in the primary care setting, to assess the Live 5-2-1-0 behaviors, sleep habits, and eating behaviors of their children [25]. Study data were collected and managed using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University), a secure web-based software platform designed to support data capture for research studies, hosted at the BCCH Research Institute [26,27]. Participants in the user-testing FG were asked to complete specific surveys on the usability and content of the prototype.

#### **Qualitative Data Collection**

A schematic outlining the sequence of research activities can be found in Figure 1.





#### FG1 (App Conceptualization)

The first FG (FG 1) aimed to inform the app's conceptualization and consisted of separate child and adult (parents and HCPs) sessions. In total, 8 parents and 3 HCPs (2 dieticians and 1 physician) participated in the adult session, and 9 children participated in the child session. In the adult session (FG 1A), participants discussed the challenges in ensuring the adoption of healthy habits by their children, followed by an app feature prioritization activity. The children's session (FG 1B) began with a discussion on their digital device and app use, followed by a drawing activity on how mobile devices played a role in their typical day. Facilitators then led a discussion where children reflected on what being healthy meant for them and their motivators for adopting healthy behaviors.

#### **Ideation Session**

In total, 8 members of the research team, 1 health technology consultant, and 3 members of the app development team participated in an ideation session to generate insights from the qualitative data obtained from FG 1 and identify design opportunities. Participants were guided through three HCD inspiration rounds for themes uncovered in FG 1: (1) family habit tracking and accountability; (2) behavior change techniques; and (3) family, child, and HCP collaboration. Each round began with "How Might We" questions, an HCD technique where challenges are framed as questions to prompt innovative solutions [24], followed by a brief brainstorming session and rating activity of proposed ideas.

#### FG 2 (Cocreation)

Key themes that emerged from FG 1 and the ideation session were presented in the second set of FGs (FG 2). Separate sessions were held for families and HCPs 1 week after the ideation session. In total, 7 parents and 6 children participated in the family cocreation session (FG 2A), of whom 71% (5/7) of the parents and 67% (4/6) of the children had previously participated in FG 1. Parents and children were presented with wireframes (design layouts of requested features) and asked to rank features and daily challenge completion reward ideas by applying stickers that represented different ratings on printed wireframes. The HCP session (FG 2B) was attended by 15 HCPs from BCCH and facilitated by the health technology consultant. It aimed to gather feedback on questions that would help HCPs understand the baseline health behaviors of their patients, the design of the HCP dashboard wireframe, and the structure of the in-app daily challenges.

#### Agile Development

Agile development refers to the process of developing software that addresses stakeholders' desires through short iterative cycles [28]. We used a subset of agile development known as "Scrum" that is characterized by high productivity and responsiveness to changing requests [28]. This process began by creating user stories, or short phrases that represented a desired functionality, and categorizing them under app features using Trello (Atlassian Corporation Plc), a Kanban-style web-based project management tool centered on list making. Next, the research team prioritized user stories based on available resources and complexity to provide guidance to the app developers on what features to

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44792
```

develop next. A key feature of the Scrum framework is the use of development cycles known as sprints [28]. A total of 3 sprints were performed. For each sprint, the app developers were given 1 week to develop app features based on the research team's prioritization. A demonstration of new or revised features developed during the week was sent to the research team approximately 48 hours before a 30-minute weekly sprint meeting, where the research team provided feedback. Shorter sprints that lasted 3 to 4 days were performed near the end of app development to address technical issues that arose during the previous iterations. The output of the agile development phase was an app prototype.

#### FG 3 (User Testing)

FG 3 was cofacilitated by the app development and research teams. A total of 11 parents and 14 children participated in FG 3. In total, 82% (9/11) of the parents and 77% (10/13) of the children had participated in at least one of the previous FGs. Each parent and child pair, or child only when a parent was not present, was given an iPad preloaded with the app prototype and asked to provide feedback on the prototype's usability and content by completing and rating the difficulty of 5 tasks on a scale of 1 (very difficult) to 7 (very easy). FG facilitators minimized the guidance they provided on how to use the app to allow participants to independently explore the prototype. Next, participants were asked to brainstorm reward ideas as part of the app's gamification feature and rate a list of predefined rewards generated by the research team. The FG ended with a brainstorming session of daily challenges and the categorization of these challenges into different levels of difficulty.

#### Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics (means and SDs for continuous variables, counts and percentages for categorical variables, and medians and IQRs for ordinal variables) were generated to describe the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants, ease in completing tasks using the prototype, and ratings of rewards and daily challenges. Quantitative data were analyzed using SPSS (version 25.0; IBM Corp).

FG sessions were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim by KWY and reviewed by SK to ensure transcription accuracy. Transcripts were not returned to participants for comments or corrections given that our sessions were group sessions and not individual interviews. KWY and SP independently conducted a thematic analysis of all transcripts using NVivo (QSR International). Following the immersion-crystallization framework [29], qualitative data generated from the FGs were organized into coding categories that were continuously revised throughout the transcript reviewing process, followed by a discussion between the 2 authors to review the preliminary coding categories and reduce the data further using thematic coding and content analysis. Any discrepancies were discussed between the 2 authors until a consensus was reached.

# Results

#### **Demographics**

Most children (n=14; mean age 10.2, SD 1.3 years; 5/14, 36% male; 5/14, 36% White participants) and parents (n=12; 9/12,

XSL•FO

75% aged 40-49 years; 2/12, 17% male; 7/12, 58% White) participated in at least 1 of 3 FGs. The Live 5-2-1-0 behaviors of the FG child participants are summarized in Table 1. Most of the parent participants (9/12, 75%) were aged between 40 and 49 years, and 92% (11/12) were married. Most parents (8/12, 67%) had at least a bachelor's degree, with the remainder having a trade certificate, diploma, or university certificate.

Moreover, 70% (7/10) had an annual household income of >CAD \$80,000 (US \$59,756.30). HCPs (n=18) participated in at least 1 of 3 FGs and included physicians (5/18, 28%), nurses (3/18, 17%), nurse practitioners (2/18, 11%), dieticians (5/18, 28%), pharmacists (2/18, 11%), and physiotherapists (1/18, 6%).

Table 1. Live 5-2-1-0 behaviors of focus group child participants (n=14).

Live 5-2-1-0 behaviors	Values, median (IQR)
Servings of fruits and vegetables per day <sup>a</sup>	3.5 (2-6)
Hours of screen time per day (excluding time for schoolwork)	1 (1-2)
Days per week physically active for at least 1 hour (n=13)	5 (3-6)
Cups of sugary drinks per day	0.5 (0-1)

<sup>a</sup>1 serving=half a cup.

#### FG 1—App Conceptualization

Coding categories and themes that emerged from FG 1 are illustrated in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Concept map outlining themes that emerged from focus group 1 (app conceptualization). HCP: health care provider.



# Empowerment and Intrinsic Rewards Lead to Development of Healthy Behaviors

Parents described their children's tendency to gravitate toward choices that were meaningful to them and that the empowerment of the child would lead to the establishment of long-term habits. Children's self-discovery of health knowledge was thought to result in better adherence rather than a top-down approach in which parents instructed their children on what to do:

When kids feel empowered that they are making the decision...instead of being directive as parents, we would be non-directive and...coach them. [Parent]

Both parents and HCPs agreed that an app that facilitates shared decision-making between children and parents would empower children to become actively involved in making healthy behavior changes. The importance of personal awareness was reflected in the child session, during which guilt was often discussed in association with knowledge of the optimal amount of screen time. Children expressed that guilt from excessive amounts of screen time discouraged them from playing with their electronic devices even when they had not exceeded their daily screen time limit. Education and awareness of the consequences of their actions played a role in their decision-making related to healthy behaviors:

I saw [a] fact on my agenda. It said if you play [on your device] four hours a day, it's good to get out sometimes, so limit your time [to] two hours. [Child]

# Social Connectivity as a Key Motivator for Children and Families

According to HCPs, and confirmed by children, children are more willing to engage with an app if it requires them to complete tasks cooperatively with or competing against their peers. Parents commented that children tended to gain awareness of healthy behaviors from their peers, which was far more effective than parental directives or encouragement. HCPs commented that, once children take ownership of their own health, they tend to develop a sense of responsibility for their family, and it may encourage them to adopt healthy behavior changes together. The sense of accountability and responsibility can also transform into a source of motivation:

Making it as a family activity that's like "you need the physical activity but your parents also need it," so going together and then doing some physical activity...making them (children) responsible for [their] parents' health. [HCP]

Parents believed that a blog or group chat for sharing healthy behavior tips would encourage children to mutually support each other as they make healthy behavior changes. However, both parents and HCPs agreed that any communication tool should be regulated by a moderator to ensure the accuracy and appropriateness of the information presented. Children identified connectivity with peers (ie, using digital messaging applications and social media platforms to communicate with their peers about play and engage in competition) and customizability (progressing through increasing levels of difficulty and selecting different modes of play) as key features they desired for the Live-5-2-1-0 app.

#### https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44792

# Behavior Tracking Changes Child Behavior and Supports HCPs

Parents and HCPs were supportive of the idea of the app tracking children's daily Live 5-2-1-0 behaviors as the data collected could be summarized in a visual interface for the user to view their progress, which in turn could be a source of motivation. It could also be used by HCPs during clinical encounters to become aware of their patients' progress since their last visit:

A graph when they come to see us...a snapshot picture...my physical activity is going up...going down. It...motivates them, they're on the right track. [HCP]

HCPs also explained how the availability of tracking data would serve as a conversation starter and enable them to further investigate the facilitators and barriers faced by the child. This would allow HCPs to build stronger relationships with children, who identified HCPs as individuals of authority and would be more likely to comply with their recommendations to improve their health behaviors.

#### **Ideation Session**

#### Visual Summary as a Tool for Collaborative Decision-making

A key discussion point during the ideation session was to identify ways for the app to facilitate collaborative decision-making, goal setting, and Live 5-2-1-0 behavior tracking among children, parents, and HCPs. A summary visual of the user's progress was proposed to motivate users and guide HCPs in behavioral counseling. However, it was noted that the user may view the visual summary as discouraging if it reflects minimal progress. To address this, the idea of allowing for progressive changes in goal setting was proposed. For goal setting and progress data to be meaningful and comprehensible, it was agreed that the visual interface and user experience design had to be tailored to each stakeholder (child, parent, and HCP) while ensuring that the metrics were identical between different stakeholders.

#### Need for Adaptive and Customizable Goals

Adaptive goals that were customizable based on the user's preference and reflected progress in the behavior change journey were identified as essential. A suggestion was to include a baseline health assessment that would allow children, parents, and HCPs to set goals collaboratively based on current behavior and readiness to change via the app. Even though users may not choose to act on these behaviors immediately, it is still valuable for them to become aware of what behaviors can be improved upon. However, users should be able to choose which behavior to focus on regardless of the recommendations that arise from the baseline assessment. Finally, the choice to select "small steps" (daily challenges) toward achieving the Live 5-2-1-0 goals was proposed, addressing children's desire for an app that allows for progression and choice of difficulty level.

#### **Design Elements for Gamification**

Children suggested a progress bar for visualizing their healthy behavior change journey and progression through increasing levels of difficulty for their small steps to be completed toward achieving a health behavior goal. To do this, the decision was


that users initially had to complete easier small steps before being allowed to attempt more difficult small steps toward their goal. In addition, given parents' belief that intrinsic rewards are more likely to lead to sustained healthy behavior change, the inclusion of a mix of intrinsic and extrinsic rewards within the app was discussed. Intrinsic rewards may include creating an avatar of the user and their home and earning badges that recognize progress. Ideas proposed for external rewards included those that further encourage healthy behaviors; could easily be provided by parents; and promote family engagement, such as going to the local swimming pool, visiting a new playground,

or going to a local park. To address parents' desire for customizable external rewards, the option to manually enter a reward of their choice was suggested.

#### **Pilot Journey Map and Screen Wireframes**

Information gathered in the app conceptualization FGs and the ideation session was used to create a pilot journey map (Figure 3) to reflect a user's experience with accompanying wireframes demonstrating initial designs of various screens (Multimedia Appendix 3). It is this journey map that was presented to the child, parent, and HCP participants in the cocreation FGs (FGs 2A and 2B).

Figure 3. Journey map presented to participants in focus group 2A (cocreation-family session). HCP: health care provider.

Live B200								
Pilot Journey Map			Repeats across tin	Repeats across tiny step and family activity cycle				
		Repeats across larger Live 5-2-1-0 goal and assessment cycle						
	Onboarding	Assessment	Share and Discuss	Reward Setup	Goal Setup	Prompt	Motivation	
	Parent and child visit HCP, learn about the tool during or prior to	Parent and child complete baseline assessment (or reassessment) at	Parent, child, and HCP (at clinic visit) discuss goal and progress	Parent customizes reward list and family activity challenge list	Child chooses goal,tiny step (daily challenge), family challenge	Child receives daily goal check-in prompt:	Task completed: Praise, progress, reward	
	clinic visit	clinic visit	h.e <sup>0</sup> .eee		and reward	Have you completed your	<u>Task unfinished:</u> Motivate	
						tiny step today?	Why incomplete?	
							Optional task and/or goal change	
CHILD					•			
PARENT								
HCP								

#### FG 2A—Cocreation (Parents and Children)

Coding categories and themes that emerged from FG 2 are illustrated in Figure 4.



Yau et al

Figure 4. Concept map outlining themes that emerged from focus group 2 (cocreation).



#### Parental Involvement via Family Challenges

Completing challenges as a family on a weekly basis appealed to children and parents, with children indicating parental involvement as a key motivator for app use. Participants were enthusiastic about the idea of keeping participating family members accountable by having everyone set their own goals via individual user accounts but being able to achieve the family challenge only if everyone completed their respective individual goals:

Let's say you all have the app...one of you would do five fruits, one does two hours of TV, one does one hour activity, and another does no sugary drinks...if one doesn't do it...they all do not get a reward...all eyes are on each other. [Child]

Parents suggested that family challenges could be designated as rewards for children upon goal completion, such as a family bicycle ride or going on a camping trip.

#### Novelty and Progression Promote User Retention

Parents and children both pointed to the importance of novelty in promoting user retention and were supportive of a notification system that would remind users to record their daily challenge progress in the app. Suggestions for triggers included varied durations for goal completion and surprise rewards rather than user-selected rewards. Finally, an app that is regularly updated with new content and features was a suggested strategy to decrease attrition rates. Parents suggested the option for users to begin with an easier level to identify which of the 4 healthy behaviors to address before launching the rest of the app. Children added that rewards should be unlocked progressively

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44792
```

RenderX

such that users who achieve more difficult challenges would be awarded greater rewards.

# Customization and In-App Rewards Enhance User Experience

Participants stated that the ability to personalize app content and customize settings within app features would enhance their experience. Parents stressed the importance of commitment to follow through with rewards and stressed that the option for parents to input their own reward ideas was essential:

#### Maybe going to a local lake...if there's a movie your family really wants to see...you can customize to what's happening to your life at that time. [Parent]

The ability to customize the time and frequency of notification reminders for completing daily challenges was identified as a desired feature. Participants believed that reminders that could be customized to be sent at an ideal time and frequency would increase the chance that users would complete daily challenges and log their progress in the app. Discussion regarding rewards included in-app features that could themselves serve as rewards. Suggestions included badges and celebratory animations that are shown in the app when users accomplish a goal:

It (the badge) could have a picture of what you did and then it could have like rainbows and sparks coming out of it. [Child]

#### FG 2B—Cocreation (HCPs)

# Supporting Patient-Centered Care and Shared Decision-making

HCPs were enthusiastic about the app's potential to support patient-centered care and shared decision-making with families. HCPs shared that, although collecting metrics and following the medical model of care are important, patient communication about their health priorities is also crucial to ensure patient- and family-centered care where HCPs are meeting the patient where they are at:

I've got my checklist of stuff that I want to get from my patient...the flipside of it is to help patients communicate what they want [us] to help them with, so that we can actually address their goals, not so much our goals. [Physician]

HCPs believed that a visual summary of the user's progress would allow them to easily pinpoint areas of opportunity and concern to address during clinical encounters. An app feature that provides users with the opportunity to input reasons for not completing a daily challenge was deemed to be useful for HCPs to identify barriers to successful goal completion. Given that users may not have the opportunity to visit an HCP frequently, participants agreed that the app should have educational content that parents can review with their children for extra support. The inclusion of a flagging system that would directly alert HCPs if users faced challenges with completing their goals was suggested.

### Readiness to Change Promotes Healthy Behavior Adoption

HCPs stressed the importance for the app to be able to capture the child's readiness to make changes in addition to their healthy behavior status. Specifically, HCPs called for capturing the child's emotional feelings toward each healthy behavior and believed that children would be more likely to make changes if they felt positive toward the behavior and were motivated internally. Suggestions for facilitating this included allowing users to indicate how they feel (using child-friendly graphics such as emojis) related to the progress of their chosen goal and choose their own avatars with the option to customize their facial expressions to reflect their feelings on their goal progress.

#### FG 3—User Testing

On the basis of the feedback collected in the FGs and after rounds of iterative development, a prototype of the Live 5-2-1-0 app was created, which included seven main features: (1) a Healthy Habits Questionnaire to support a baseline assessment at the time of onboarding, (2) goal setting, (3) tiny steps (daily challenges), (4) rewards, (5) gamification, (6) daily notifications, and (7) a progress dashboard. During the FG, parent-child dyads were asked to complete five assigned tasks using the prototype, which included (1) completing the baseline assessment; (2) selecting a behavior to work on, a reward, and a tiny step; (3) responding to a daily notification for their current tiny step and reporting progress; (4) completing a further tiny step and receiving a reward for completing their goal; and (5) reviewing goal progress and changing their behavior goal. Families reported ease in completing the 5 assigned tasks, with a median score of 7 (IQR 6-7; range 2-7) on a 7-point Likert scale, where a score of 1 represented "very difficult" and 7 represented "very easy" (Table 2).

Table 2. Median scores for prototype testing during focus group 3 (user testing) on a 7-point rating scale (1=very difficult; 7=very easy).

Task	Values, median (IQR)
Complete baseline assessment	7 (6-7)
Select a behavior to work on, a reward, and a tiny step	6 (6-7)
Respond to a daily notification for your current tiny step	6 (5-7)
Complete a tiny step and receive a reward for completing your goal	7 (6-7)
Review goal progress and change your behavior goal	6 (6-7)

Following prototype testing, families shared that they were pleased with the graphics and found the app easy to use overall. Most identified the rewards screen as their favorite but also found it the most challenging to navigate because of difficulty in scrolling through a long list of reward options. Parents also suggested a feature in which custom rewards entered by the user could be saved for future selection. Children desired more animation and sound effects as a reward for completing daily challenges and goals. A total of 64% (7/11) of the regular reward ideas and 81% (21/26) of the family challenge rewards proposed by the research team were "liked" by >50% (8/13, 62%) of the children who completed the scoring task.

#### **Final Product of the App Development Process**

After 8 months of app development, the Live 5-2-1-0 app was launched on both the Apple App Store and Google Play Store. The main app features, including the Healthy Habits Questionnaire, goal setting, reward selection, tiny step selection, goal wheel, goal completion, and assessment dashboard, are shown in Figure 5.



**Figure 5.** Screenshots of various app features. (A) Upon launching the app, users initially complete a Healthy Habits Questionnaire consisting of 8 questions about the user's current practices for the Live 5-2-1-0 behaviors and readiness to make changes for each. (B) On the basis of the user's response to the Healthy Habits Questionnaire, the app labels each behavior goal with either a green, yellow, or red tab representing meeting, almost meeting, and not meeting each behavior goal, respectively. The app also highlights a suggested goal for the user. (C) Users select a reward from a drop-down menu or input their own reward. (D) Users select a daily challenge (tiny step) related to their chosen behavior goal. Challenges are categorized into 3 levels of difficulty (easy, medium, and hard). (E) Visualization of the user's progress toward achieving a goal. Completion of a tiny step earns users points that are used to fill the goal wheel. (F) Users are notified that they have earned their reward after the goal wheel is filled. (G) A visual summary of the user's assessment response and goal completion progress.



# Discussion

### **Principal Findings**

#### Overview

Guided by cocreation and participatory design research principles, we developed a mobile app with features and content that are meaningful and relevant to the behaviors and lifestyles of children. Although other health behavior promotion apps for children have also used iterative design processes [30] and user-centered design approaches [31] and involved end users in the app development process [30], our app is unique as families (end users), researchers, and app developers were actively engaged as collaborators throughout the entire app development process.

Several key themes emerged from the qualitative data gathered across the 3 sets of FGs. Children, parents, and HCPs desired an app that facilitated shared decision-making and empowerment

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44792

RenderX

of children to become active agents in behavior change. Desired app features that emerged included gamification, goal setting, daily challenges, family-based challenges, and an interface that illustrates behavior change progress. Previous studies describing the development of healthy behavior apps for children have also reported similar features, such as gamification [30] and graphical visualization of behavior change progress [31], as being desired by stakeholders. After testing a prototype that was created based on the ideas proposed by stakeholders, families reported that the app prototype was easy to use, and children "liked" the rewards and daily challenges included.

#### Shared Decision-making Supports Healthy Behavior Changes in Children

A dominant theme that emerged from our research was the need for the app to support shared decision-making when making healthy behavior changes. By combining HCPs' medical expertise with the children's goals and preferences, shared decision-making facilitates patient-centered care [32] and

increases the children's chances of achieving their desired health outcomes [33]. In a controlled intervention for children with a family history of cardiovascular disease that was based on shared decision-making principles, intervention participants showed a significant reduction in fat (P<.001) and salt (P=.01) intake, as well as a significant increase in exercise, compared with controls [34]. Seventh-graders who took part in a school-based intervention comprising health coaching and health promotion sessions stated that taking part in shared decision-making with researchers in the context of choosing topics for the health promotion sessions encouraged them to take responsibility and be more motivated to engage in the sessions [35]. In our app, the assessment dashboard is intended to facilitate shared decision-making among children, parents, and HCPs by providing a visual summary of the child's progress in making healthy behavior changes and serving as a conversation starter during healthy behavior counseling.

# Family and HCP Connectivity Encourages the Adoption of Healthy Behaviors

Parents and children identified family connectedness as a key motivator, and children were enthusiastic about the idea of making healthy behavior changes through family challenges. However, results from studies that investigated the effectiveness of childhood obesity prevention and treatment interventions with parental involvement have been mixed [36]. A family-based obesity prevention and treatment intervention reported positive intervention effects on children's weight loss when both children and parents were educated in healthy behavior changes together [36]. However, a 3-month multidisciplinary program aimed at managing childhood obesity reported that parental involvement in weekly sessions did not result in significant reduction in weight among children who were overweight [37]. More research in this area is needed. Children identified peer connectivity (ie, peer-to-peer digital texting within the app) as a desirable feature but recognized potential challenges, such as the need for a moderator. A review of peer support-based mobile apps pointed to ethical and privacy considerations as substantial limitations (eg, bullying, spam, and limiting disclosure of personal information) and suggested that closed access to apps and monitoring of peer interactions are needed to address any misuse by users [38].

Child-HCP connectivity, where the assessment dashboard allows users to keep track of their progress and facilitates better communication with their HCPs at clinical visits, was also identified as important and achievable. In an intervention that addressed childhood overweight via the 5-2-1-0 goals and included the use of paper-based goal trackers for children to record their behaviors, youth and parents reported increased self-perceived quality of care and counseling from their HCP, whereas HCPs felt better supported in providing medical evaluations and counseling on healthy behaviors [39]. Connections between HCPs and patients outside of clinic visits have been shown to be effective in chronic disease management (eg, in an app aimed at supporting asthma self-management among adolescents and the inclusion of a pharmacist chat function increased medication adherence [40]). Our stakeholder engagement revealed that connection with HCPs via the app outside of clinic visits is a potential strategy to enhance the

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44792

adoption of healthy behaviors. Future app development should explore how HCPs can be engaged in children's progress in adopting healthy behaviors *between* clinical visits.

#### Intrinsic Goals as Motivators for Progressive Behavior Change

Adults and HCPs explained that children would be more likely to adopt healthy behavior changes if the app meaningfully educated them about healthy behaviors. This contradicts evidence from the existing literature claiming that solely providing health knowledge is unlikely to lead to behavior change [41]. Interestingly, children participating in our FGs reported feeling guilty about their behaviors when they were knowledgeable of recommendations (ie, <2 hours of recreational screen time). However, previous literature has pointed to the role of education in developing self-efficacy [42]. Increased self-efficacy is often linked to decreased stress levels, which can encourage children to become active agents in making healthy behavior changes. Whether an individual will initiate and sustain behavior change depends on their expectations of the outcomes and their perceived ability to do so [43]. This concept is reflected in the Fogg Behavior Model, which posits that individuals are more likely to perceive themselves as having a high *ability* to achieve a task that is simple [23]. When the app educates children about healthy behaviors, the knowledge gained may decrease the cognitive effort required to achieve healthy behavior changes.

To allow children to act as active agents of their own behavior change, the app was designed such that users could select goals and rewards based on their perceived ability. The flexibility that the app provides through progressive levels of difficulty in tiny steps makes the behavior change journey more accessible to all users regardless of their current healthy behavior practices and motivation level. By providing an opportunity for children to master easier challenges first before advancing to more difficult ones, the app has the potential to provoke a feeling of satisfaction, which can become a source of motivation. In a study examining exercise goal setting and its relationship with cognitive, affective, and behavioral outcomes, setting intrinsic goals was found to be positively associated with self-reported exercise behavior and psychological well-being and negatively associated with exercise anxiety [44]. A systematic review that aimed to assess the effectiveness of family-based interventions on obesity-related behavior change in children reported intrinsic motivation as a key facilitator in encouraging behavior change in children regardless of the behavior change strategies and techniques used [45].

#### **Clinical and Research Implications**

A unique element of our study was the inclusion of stakeholders (children, parents, and HCPs) as research partners throughout the entire app development process. Researchers were able to seek input directly from stakeholders, analyze the ideas through a methodological lens, and relay the information to app developers such that the abstract ideas of stakeholders could be transformed into app design requirements that were then integrated into tangible features in the app.

XSL•FO RenderX

This reflects the strengths of participatory research, including the focus on the everyday lives of stakeholders and the ability to address pressing issues via action and research [46]. App development that does not incorporate cocreation and participatory approaches often leaves researchers disappointed when app features that they believed would be appealing are not well received by users. For example, in a pilot study investigating the effectiveness of a mobile app on weight loss, a peer support buddy chat and in-app bulletin board were expected to encourage user engagement. However, these features were undesirable to users because of the discomfort they experienced in exchanging sensitive information such as body weight [47]. Had end users participated in the development process, their perspectives regarding peer support could have been captured earlier in the design process and resources could have been put toward app features that aligned with their needs and values.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

The Live 5-2-1-0 app is one of the few mobile health apps aimed at promoting healthy behavior changes among children that used HCD and engaged stakeholders as collaborators throughout its development. The engagement of HCPs was particularly important to provide insight into how the app could best be incorporated into their clinical workflow to enhance patient care. Our approach, which included FGs and agile app development methodologies, can potentially be applied by others interested in developing a mobile app to support health interventions.

Despite these strengths, our development process also had several limitations, among them the inability to include all features discussed during the FGs owing to limited resources, such as 2-way communication between users and HCPs and remote monitoring of progress by HCPs. To create an app that closely resembled the overall vision of the participants, the research team, with guidance from the app development team, prioritized features that emerged from the FGs before the agile development phase. Although the app's current version supports neither parental profiles nor multiple accounts, the app encourages parents to participate by including reward options and daily challenges that involve performing an activity with the family. Involving stakeholders in the feature prioritization activity and sprints during agile development would allow for their direct input on decisions regarding feature prioritization and resource allocation. Most participants in FG 3 (user testing; 19/24, 79%) also participated in at least 1 of the 2 previous FGs, which may have led to bias as the features tested were those that participants had suggested previously.

Selection bias from voluntary response sampling could have led to an overrepresentation of participants who were interested in mobile health and highly motivated to respond positively to the app, as well as those with higher socioeconomic status who had the ability to travel and the time to attend the FGs. To address this, we provided reimbursement for transportation and parking to families as well as scheduling FGs in the evenings to minimize conflict with work schedules. Finally, given that our study was conducted before the COVID-19 pandemic and the increasing use of telephone-based and internet-based care and digital health services since then, the perspectives we gathered may not truly reflect current stakeholder needs and desires.

A potential limitation of the app's feasibility is its low compliance with health behavior tracking. However, previous studies that have investigated the feasibility of mobile health apps for children that were based on self-monitoring have shown promise. For example, a study investigating the feasibility of a handheld computer program with self-monitoring of fruit and vegetable intake and reminder systems to track behaviors among children reported high completion rates for fruit and vegetable goal reminders [48]. With family involvement (eg, family challenges and daily challenges that involve parental support) being an integral part of our app, there is the potential for children to track their health behaviors together with their parents, especially those who do not have their own mobile device, which may promote increased adherence.

In a broader context, the success of childhood obesity prevention initiatives can also be influenced by socioecological factors surrounding those populations that an initiative aims to have an impact on [49,50]. The app on its own cannot address social determinants of health that may pose barriers to behavior change, such as economic inability to purchase healthy foods; however, the app is a component of the larger system-level Live 5-2-1-0 initiative that engages multiple sectors across communities to work at local policy and environmental levels to address systemic barriers.

#### **Future Directions**

We had initiated a pilot feasibility study in the General Pediatrics Clinic at BCCH intending to collect data to improve the app further, but it was later halted because of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite this, we still gathered data from our partners at Shapedown BC, a weight management program at BCCH, and based on these data, a second iteration of the app was created. This new iteration includes some of the outstanding features not included in the app's initial version, including the ability to build 1 weekly goal, input customized goals outside of the 5-2-1-0 habits (eg, mindfulness and sleep), and set the frequency of reminders. Using this new app iteration, another 1-group pretest-posttest quasi-experimental pilot feasibility study will be conducted in Shapedown BC to assess the app's effectiveness. The results will inform the feasibility of using the app as a tool in behavioral weight management programs and primary care clinics and provide a basis for designing full-scale studies in the future. Concurrently, the app will also remain available to other HCPs at BCCH as an element of the Live 5-2-1-0 HCP Toolkit, with ad hoc feedback also helping inform future iterations.

#### Conclusions

We described the design and development process of the Live 5-2-1-0 app aimed at promoting healthy behavior change among children. This study demonstrated the feasibility of cocreating a mobile health app prototype with children, parents, and HCPs through participatory action research. Although further work is needed to investigate the effectiveness of the app in promoting health behavior change, our findings may serve as a reference

XSL•FO RenderX

for those who are interested in developing mobile apps that address behavior change in collaboration with stakeholders.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was part of KWY's master's thesis [51], is part of the Live 5-2-1-0 eHealth App project, and was funded by a Personalized Health Catalyst Grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (PCG-155551; principal investigator: SA). MG holds a Michael Smith Health Research British Columbia scholar award. The authors wish to thank Shelley Keidar for her supporting role as a research coordinator for this study.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Focus group guiding questions. [DOCX File , 22 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44792\_app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Healthy Habits Questionnaire. [DOCX File, 436 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44792 app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Focus group 2 (cocreation) materials. [DOCX File, 310 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44792\_app3.docx]

#### References

- 1. Report on the health of Canadians. Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.heartandstroke.ca/-/</u> media/pdf-files/canada/2017-heart-month/heartandstroke-reportonhealth2017.ashx [accessed 2022-10-26]
- Table: 13-10-0797-01, Measured children and youth body mass index (BMI) (Cole classification), by age group and sex, Canada and provinces, Canadian Community Health Survey - Nutrition. Statistics Canada. 2017. URL: <u>https://www150.</u> <u>statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310079701</u> [accessed 2022-11-23]
- Patel J, Ayub A, Bone J, Hadjiyannakis S, Henderson M, Nour M, et al. Incidence of non-type 1 diabetes mellitus (NT1DM) measured ten years apart: a Canadian pediatric surveillance program (CPSP) study. In: Proceedings of the 47th Annual Conference of the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes Abstracts. 2021 Presented at: ISPAD '21; October 13-15, 2021; Virtual Event p. O41 URL: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/pedi.13268</u> [doi: 10.1111/pedi.13268]
- 4. Nader PR, O'Brien M, Houts R, Bradley R, Belsky J, Crosnoe R, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Early Child Care Research Network. Identifying risk for obesity in early childhood. Pediatrics 2006 Sep;118(3):e594-e601. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2801] [Medline: 16950951]
- Ward ZJ, Long MW, Resch SC, Giles CM, Cradock AL, Gortmaker SL. Simulation of growth trajectories of childhood obesity into adulthood. N Engl J Med 2017 Nov 30;377(22):2145-2153 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1703860</u>] [Medline: <u>29171811</u>]
- Pandita A, Sharma D, Pandita D, Pawar S, Tariq M, Kaul A. Diabetes, metabolic syndrome and obesity: targets and therapy childhood obesity: prevention is better than cure. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes 2016 Mar 15;9:83-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S90783] [Medline: 27042133]
- 7. Child and Parent Research Institute (CPRI) sexual behaviours team recommended resources: your child's development from 8 to 12 years of age. Ontario. URL: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/document/child-and-parent-research-institute-cpri-sexual-behaviours-team-recommended-resources/your-childs-development-8-12-years-age</u> [accessed 2022-11-23]
- 8. Lucas PJ, Curtis-Tyler K, Arai L, Stapley S, Fagg J, Roberts H. What works in practice: user and provider perspectives on the acceptability, affordability, implementation, and impact of a family-based intervention for child overweight and obesity delivered at scale. BMC Public Health 2014 Jun 17;14:614 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-614] [Medline: 24938729]
- 9. Telecommunications: connecting Canadians. Statistics Canada. URL: <u>https://www.statcan.gc.ca/en/subjects-start/</u> <u>digital\_economy\_and\_society/telecommunications</u> [accessed 2022-11-23]
- Whitley A, Yahia N. Efficacy of clinic-based telehealth vs. face-to-face interventions for obesity treatment in children and adolescents in the United States and Canada: a systematic review. Child Obes 2021 Jul;17(5):299-310. [doi: 10.1089/chi.2020.0347] [Medline: 33926238]

- Calcaterra V, Verduci E, Vandoni M, Rossi V, Di Profio E, Carnevale Pellino V, et al. Telehealth: a useful tool for the management of nutrition and exercise programs in pediatric obesity in the COVID-19 era. Nutrients 2021 Oct 20;13(11):3689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu13113689] [Medline: 34835945]
- 12. Stewart C. Digital health penetration rate in Canada from 2017 to 2026, by segment. Statista. 2022 Jun 23. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/forecasts/1315461/canada-digital-health-penetration-rat-by-segment</u> [accessed 2022-11-23]
- Edwards HM, McDonald S, Zhao T, Humphries L. Design requirements for persuasive technologies to motivate physical activity in adolescents: a field study. Behav Inf Technol 2013 Nov 27;33(9):968-986 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/0144929x.2013.841755]
- 14. Johnson D, Deterding S, Kuhn KA, Staneva A, Stoyanov S, Hides L. Gamification for health and wellbeing: a systematic review of the literature. Internet Interv 2016 Nov;6:89-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.10.002] [Medline: 30135818]
- 15. Buijink AW, Visser BJ, Marshall L. Medical apps for smartphones: lack of evidence undermines quality and safety. Evid Based Med 2013 Jun;18(3):90-92. [doi: 10.1136/eb-2012-100885] [Medline: 22923708]
- Tate EB, Spruijt-Metz D, O'Reilly G, Jordan-Marsh M, Gotsis M, Pentz MA, et al. mHealth approaches to child obesity prevention: successes, unique challenges, and next directions. Transl Behav Med 2013 Dec;3(4):406-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-013-0222-3] [Medline: 24294329]
- Yau KW, Tang TS, Görges M, Pinkney S, Kim AD, Kalia A, et al. Effectiveness of mobile apps in promoting healthy behavior changes and preventing obesity in children: systematic review. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 Mar 28;5(1):e34967 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34967] [Medline: 35343908]
- 18. Vaughn LM, Jacques F. Participatory research methods choice points in the research process. J Particip Res Methods 2020 Jul 21;1(1) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.35844/001c.13244]
- 19. Cornwall A, Jewkes R. What is participatory research? Soc Sci Med 1995 Dec;41(12):1667-1676. [doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(95)00127-s] [Medline: 8746866]
- 20. Barlow SE, Expert Committee. Expert committee recommendations regarding the prevention, assessment, and treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity: summary report. Pediatrics 2007 Dec;120 Suppl 4:S164-S192. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-2329C] [Medline: 18055651]
- 21. Nugent C, Suleman S, Fairbairn J, Maherali S, Blydt-Hansen T, Amed S. Evaluation of the live 5-2-1-0 healthcare provider toolkit in two pilot clinics at BC children's hospital. In: Special Issue: Abstracts From the 10th Congress of the International Pediatric Transplant Association. 2019 May Presented at: IPTA '19; May 4-7, 2019; Vancouver, Canada p. 30.
- 22. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042] [Medline: 17872937]
- Fogg B. A behaviour model for persuasive design. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Persuasive Technology. 2009 Presented at: Persuasive '09; April 26-29, 2009; Claremont, CA, USA p. 1-7 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/ doi/10.1145/1541948.1541999</u> [doi: <u>10.1145/1541948.1541999</u>]
- 24. Design kit: the human-centered design toolkit. IDEO. URL: https://www.ideo.com/post/design-kit [accessed 2022-09-22]
- 25. Keidar S, Shea S, Pinkney S, Bepple K, Edwards D, Hale I. The live 5-2-1-0 family physician toolkit for promoting healthy childhood behaviours in primary care. In: Proceedings of the 5th Canadian Obesity Summit. 2017 Presented at: COS '17; April 26-28, 2017; Banff, Alberta, Canada.
- 26. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 27. Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, REDCap Consortium. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- 28. What is agile? What is scrum? Cprime. URL: <u>https://www.cprime.com/resources/what-is-agile-what-is-scrum</u> [accessed 2022-04-21]
- 29. Crabtree BF, Miller WL. Doing Qualitative Research. 2nd edition. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 1999.
- 30. Brown JM, Savaglio R, Watson G, Kaplansky A, LeSage A, Hughes J, et al. Optimizing child nutrition education with the Foodbot factory mobile health app: formative evaluation and analysis. JMIR Form Res 2020 Apr 17;4(4):e15534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15534] [Medline: 32301743]
- 31. Gabrielli S, Dianti M, Maimone R, Betta M, Filippi L, Ghezzi M, et al. Design of a mobile app for nutrition education (TreC-LifeStyle) and formative evaluation with families of overweight children. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 13;5(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7080] [Medline: 28408361]
- 32. Charles C, Gafni A, Whelan T. Shared decision-making in the medical encounter: what does it mean? (or it takes at least two to tango). Soc Sci Med 1997 Mar;44(5):681-692. [doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(96)00221-3] [Medline: 9032835]
- O'Connor AM, Légaré F, Stacey D. Risk communication in practice: the contribution of decision aids. BMJ 2003 Sep 27;327(7417):736-740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7417.736] [Medline: 14512487]

- 34. Salminen M, Vahlberg T, Ojanlatva A, Kivelä SL. Effects of a controlled family-based health education/counseling intervention. Am J Health Behav 2005 Sep;29(5):395-406. [doi: <u>10.5555/ajhb.2005.29.5.395</u>] [Medline: <u>16201856</u>]
- 35. Jonsson L, Fröberg A, Korp P, Larsson C, Berg C, Lindgren EC. Possibilities and challenges in developing and implementing an empowerment-based school-intervention in a Swedish disadvantaged community. Health Promot Int 2020 Apr 01;35(2):232-243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapro/daz021] [Medline: 30848788]
- 36. Glenny AM, O'Meara S, Melville A, Sheldon TA, Wilson C. The treatment and prevention of obesity: a systematic review of the literature. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1997 Sep;21(9):715-737. [doi: <u>10.1038/sj.ijo.0800495</u>] [Medline: <u>9376884</u>]
- 37. Bathrellou E, Yannakoulia M, Papanikolaou K, Pehlivanidis A, Pervanidou P, Kanaka-Gantenbein C, et al. Parental involvement does not augment the effectiveness of an intense behavioral program for the treatment of childhood obesity. Hormones (Athens) 2010 Apr;9(2):171-175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14310/horm.2002.1267] [Medline: 20687401]
- 38. McColl LD, Rideout PE, Parmar TN, Abba-Aji A. Peer support intervention through mobile application: an integrative literature review and future directions. Can Psychol 2014;55(4):250-257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0038095]
- Polacsek M, Orr J, Letourneau L, Rogers V, Holmberg R, O'Rourke K, et al. Impact of a primary care intervention on physician practice and patient and family behavior: keep ME healthy---the Maine youth overweight collaborative. Pediatrics 2009 Jun;123 Suppl 5:S258-S266. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2008-2780C</u>] [Medline: <u>19470601</u>]
- 40. Kosse RC, Bouvy ML, Belitser SV, de Vries TW, van der Wal PS, Koster ES. Effective engagement of adolescent asthma patients with mobile health-supporting medication adherence. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Mar 27;7(3):e12411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12411] [Medline: 30916664]
- 41. Arlinghaus KR, Johnston CA. Advocating for behavior change with education. Am J Lifestyle Med 2018 Dec 09;12(2):113-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1559827617745479] [Medline: 30283247]
- 42. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev 1977 Mar;84(2):191-215. [doi: 10.1037//0033-295x.84.2.191] [Medline: 847061]
- 43. Strecher VJ, DeVellis BM, Becker MH, Rosenstock IM. The role of self-efficacy in achieving health behavior change. Health Educ Q 1986;13(1):73-92. [doi: 10.1177/109019818601300108] [Medline: 3957687]
- Sebire SJ, Standage M, Vansteenkiste M. Examining intrinsic versus extrinsic exercise goals: cognitive, affective, and behavioral outcomes. J Sport Exerc Psychol 2009 Apr;31(2):189-210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/jsep.31.2.189] [Medline: 19454771]
- 45. Enright G, Allman-Farinelli M, Redfern J. Effectiveness of family-based behavior change interventions on obesity-related behavior change in children: a realist synthesis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Jun 08;17(11):4099 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17114099] [Medline: 32521815]
- 46. Bradbury H, Reason P. Issues and Choice Points for Improving the Qualitly of Action Research. In: Minkler M, Wallerstein N, editors. Community-Based Participatory Research for Health: From Process to Outcomes. Hoboken, NJ, USA: Jossey-Bass; 2003.
- 47. Pretlow RA, Stock CM, Allison S, Roeger L. Treatment of child/adolescent obesity using the addiction model: a smartphone app pilot study. Child Obes 2015 Jun;11(3):248-259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2014.0124] [Medline: 25760813]
- 48. Nollen NL, Hutcheson T, Carlson S, Rapoff M, Goggin K, Mayfield C, et al. Development and functionality of a handheld computer program to improve fruit and vegetable intake among low-income youth. Health Educ Res 2013 Apr;28(2):249-264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cys099] [Medline: 22949499]
- 49. Willows ND, Hanley AJ, Delormier T. A socioecological framework to understand weight-related issues in aboriginal children in Canada. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2012 Feb;37(1):1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1139/h11-128] [Medline: 22269027]
- 50. Cockrell Skinner A, Foster EM. Systems science and childhood obesity: a systematic review and new directions. J Obes 2013;2013:129193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/129193] [Medline: 23710344]
- 51. Yau KWT. Developing the Live 5-2-1-0 mobile app using human-centered design and co-creation to promote healthy behaviours in children [master's thesis]. University of British Columbia 2020 Jul 23. [doi: 10.14288/1.0392508]

### Abbreviations

BC: British Columbia
BCCH: British Columbia Children's Hospital
COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research
FG: focus group
HCD: human-centered design
HCP: health care provider
REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 03.12.22; peer-reviewed by S Mulvaney, A Lee; comments to author 25.01.23; revised version received 12.03.23; accepted 24.03.23; published 17.05.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Yau KW, Tang TS, Görges M, Pinkney S, Amed S Using Human-Centered Design and Cocreation to Create the Live 5-2-1-0 Mobile App to Promote Healthy Behaviors in Children: App Design and Development JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44792 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44792 doi:10.2196/44792 PMID:37195754

©Kiana W Yau, Tricia S Tang, Matthias Görges, Susan Pinkney, Shazhan Amed. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 17.05.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Health Information From Web Search Engines and Virtual Assistants About Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV Prevention in Adolescents and Young Adults: Content Analysis

Kaja Darien<sup>1\*</sup>, BA; Susan Lee<sup>1,2\*</sup>, MPH; Kayla Knowles<sup>1\*</sup>, MPH; Sarah Wood<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, MSHP, MD; Miriam D Langer<sup>2\*</sup>, MD; Nellie Lazar<sup>3\*</sup>, MSN, MPH; Nadia Dowshen<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, MSHP, MD

<sup>1</sup>PolicyLab, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Roberts Center for Pediatric Research, Philadelphia, PA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Craig-Dalsimer Division of Adolescent Medicine, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Kaja Darien, BA PolicyLab Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Roberts Center for Pediatric Research 2716 South Street 10th Floor Philadelphia, PA, 19146 United States Phone: 1 267 426 9523 Email: <u>darienk@chop.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Adolescents and young adults are disproportionately affected by HIV, suggesting that HIV prevention methods such as pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) should focus on this group as a priority. As digital natives, youth likely turn to internet resources regarding health topics they may not feel comfortable discussing with their medical providers. To optimize informed decision-making by adolescents and young adults most impacted by HIV, the information from internet searches should be educational, accurate, and readable.

**Objective:** The aims of this study were to compare the accuracy of web-based PrEP information found using web search engines and virtual assistants, and to assess the readability of the resulting information.

**Methods:** Adolescent HIV prevention clinical experts developed a list of 23 prevention-related questions that were posed to search engines (Ask.com, Bing, Google, and Yahoo) and virtual assistants (Amazon Alexa, Microsoft Cortana, Google Assistant, and Apple Siri). The first three results from search engines and virtual assistant web references, as well as virtual assistant verbal responses, were recorded and coded using a six-tier scale to assess the quality of information produced. The results were also entered in a web-based tool determining readability using the Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level scale.

**Results:** Google web search engine and Google Assistant more frequently produced PrEP information of higher quality than the other search engines and virtual assistants with scores ranging from 3.4 to 3.7 and 2.8 to 3.3, respectively. Additionally, the resulting information generally was presented in language at a seventh and 10th grade reading level according to the Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level scale.

**Conclusions:** Adolescents and young adults are large consumers of technology and may experience discomfort discussing their sexual health with providers. It is important that efforts are made to ensure the information they receive about HIV prevention methods, and PrEP in particular, is comprehensive, comprehensible, and widely available.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e41806) doi:10.2196/41806

#### **KEYWORDS**

pre-exposure prophylaxis; PrEP; prophylaxis; internet use; search engine; adolescent; youth; pediatric; adolescence; young adult; readability; human immunodeficiency virus; HIV; virtual assistant; health information; information quality; accuracy; credibility; patient education; comprehension; comprehensible; web-based; online information; sexual health; reading level

# Introduction

The HIV epidemic is a major health concern, with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) reporting 37,698 new HIV diagnoses in the United States in 2018 [1,2]. While individuals aged 25-44 years had the highest incidence of HIV, youth aged 13-24 years comprised more than half of all new diagnoses [1].

Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) is an effective daily prevention method and should be considered for use by HIV-negative populations at higher risk of HIV [3]. When taken as prescribed, PrEP can offer almost complete protection against HIV; however, previous studies have shown that PrEP uptake is lower in higher risk populations [4,5]. Barriers to PrEP uptake include limited awareness and limited access as a result of PrEP marketing and additional socioeconomic challenges, respectively [5].

Moreover, adolescents and young adults are major consumers of technology and often rely on the internet for health information [1,6-8]. Since adolescents and young adults may be consulting the internet instead of health care providers for HIV prevention information, it is critical that health information on the web is accurate and readable. To the authors' knowledge, there is limited research assessing the quality of PrEP information available on the web. Therefore, the objectives of this study are to determine if accurate and readable PrEP information can be found using web search engines and virtual assistants. Additionally, this study aimed to assess how PrEP information found via both methods compared among and between search engines and virtual assistants.

# Methods

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The institutional review board at Children's Hospital of Philadelphia determined that approval was not necessary for this study as it did not contain human subjects.

#### Developing a Framework for Evaluating PrEP Internet Content

Common PrEP information themes were determined for future searches within the United States using English only: PrEP basics, PrEP access, and PrEP use (Textbox 1). A total of 50 questions were compiled through an iterative process with an expert panel of adolescent medicine researchers and physicians who work with adolescents and young adults at high risk of contracting HIV as well as youth living with HIV. Items were narrowed down to 23 questions designed to address concerns adolescents and young adults may have about general use, privacy, and confidentiality (Table 1).

Textbox 1. PrEP categories.

#### Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) basics

• The questions in this category aim to find general information about PrEP for HIV prevention to introduce and educate potential users about this intervention method.

#### **PrEP** access

• The questions in this category aim to find information about ways users can access PrEP in addition to information about privacy concerns.

#### **PrEP** use

• The questions in this category aim to find information regarding the proper use of PrEP so that potential users can receive the maximum benefits.



Table 1. PrEP internet search questions.

Question	Category
What is PrEP <sup>a</sup> ?	Basics
What kinds of PrEP are available?	Basics
What is Truvada?	Basics
What is Descovy?	Basics
What is the difference between Truvada and Descovy?	Basics
Does PrEP protect against other sexually transmitted infections/sexually transmitted diseases? <sup>b</sup>	Basics
Should I take PrEP?	Basics
What are the side effects of taking PrEP?	Basics, use
Will PrEP make me feel sick?	Basics
How does PrEP work?	Basics, use
What is the difference between PEP <sup>c</sup> and PrEP?	Basics
How effective is PrEP?	Basics, use
Where can I find PrEP?	Access
How can I get PrEP?	Access
Do I need insurance to get PrEP?	Access
Do I need my parents' permission to get PrEP?	Access
Will my parents know that I'm using PrEP if I'm on their insurance?	Access
How much does PrEP cost?	Access
How do I take PrEP?	Use
When can I stop taking PrEP?	Use
How long does it take for PrEP to start working?	Use
What happens if I miss a dose of PrEP?	Use, basics
How do I refill my PrEP prescription?	Use, access

<sup>a</sup>PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis.

<sup>b</sup>This question was asked using both "sexually transmitted infections" and "sexually transmitted diseases" due to the recent change in terminology. <sup>c</sup>PEP: postexposure prophylaxis.

# Data Collection: Web Search Engines and Virtual Assistants

Questions were entered into search engines—Ask.com, Bing, Google, and Yahoo—using a private Mozilla Firefox browser and verbally posed to virtual assistants—Amazon Alexa, Microsoft Cortana, Google Assistant, and Apple Siri—using new user accounts apart from Apple Siri where a pre-existing account with cleared browsing history was used. Questions were asked to search engines and virtual assistants on separate days in March 2021 with a maximum of 10 times for virtual assistants to generate a response. Excluding advertised content, information from the first three web search engine results and virtual assistant nonverbal results were transcribed as listed on the website and recorded in corresponding Excel (Microsoft Corporation) sheets for future analysis. Verbal responses from each virtual assistant were recorded, transcribed, and saved in Excel.

#### Data Analyses: Scale Development, Rating System for Information Accuracy, and Readability Assessment

A six-tier scale was created and reviewed by an adolescent medicine physician and a researcher to code example content (Table 2). The examples were used as content validation to ensure that results were coded using the same criteria. Results received two scores from two different coders who assigned final scores after reaching a consensus. Final scores were then used to calculate an average quality score for each web-based resource in each category. The data collected were also entered into a web-based literacy measurement tool [9] to assess readability using the Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level Scale [10].

Table 2. PrEP Information Quality Rating Scale.

Rating number	Meaning	Example content (question: what is PrEP <sup>a</sup> ?)
0	The resulting answer did not include any information about PrEP.	"HIV (human immunodeficiency virus) is a virus that attacks the body's immune system. There is currently no effective cure. Once people get HIV, they have it for life" [11]
1	The resulting answer included information about PrEP that was completely inaccurate.	"PrEP is a medication taken only right before sex in order to prevent HIV. While taking PrEP, individuals do not need to use condoms" [12]
2	The resulting information about PrEP was partially correct but contained some errors/misleading information. The source providing information was unreliable.	"PrEP is a pill taken before sex, so it is pre-exposure. Prophylaxis means to prevent infection. So you can use PrEP to greatly reduce the risk of becoming HIV positive" [13]
3	The resulting information was accurate but lacked many important details.	"Pre-exposure Prophylaxis, also known as PrEP, is when people take medicine to lower their risk of getting HIV" [14]
4	The resulting information was detailed, accurate, and from a reli- able source. However, the information included was outdated.	"PrEP is an experimental approach to HIV prevention and consists of antiretroviral drugs to be taken before potential HIV exposure in order to reduce the risk of HIV infection and continued during periods of risk" [15]
5	The resulting information was detailed, accurate, and from a reliable source. Additionally, the result included the latest information available.	"Pre-exposure prophylaxis (or PrEP) is a way for people who do not have HIV but who are at very high risk of getting HIV to prevent HIV infection by taking a pill every day. The pill (brand name Truvada) contains two medicines (tenofovir and emtric- itabine) that are used in combination with other medicines to treat HIV. When someone is exposed to HIV through sex or injection drug use, these medicines can work to keep the virus from estab- lishing a permanent infection. When taken daily, PrEP is highly effective for preventing HIV. Studies have shown that PrEP re- duces the risk of getting HIV from sex by about 99% when taken daily. Among people who inject drugs, PrEP reduces the risk of getting HIV by at least 74% when taken daily. PrEP is much less effective if it is not taken consistently. As PrEP only protects against HIV, condoms are important for the protection against other STDs. Condoms are also an important prevention strategy if PrEP is not taken consistently." [16]

<sup>a</sup>PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis.

# Results

#### Web-Based PrEP Information Quality

From all search engines and virtual assistants, 422 results were compiled and assigned a score from the PrEP Information Quality Scale (Table 2). The results show that Google search engine and Google Assistant more frequently provided higher quality information than resources from other companies, and

that search engines provided higher quality information than virtual assistants (Table 3). Google search engine provided more comprehensive results directing potential users to websites with information on the ideal candidates, proper use, and access. However, Ask.com often provided the lowest quality information directing users to websites containing no information about PrEP. Bing and Yahoo provided information quality between Google and Ask.com.



Table 3. Search engines' and virtual assistants' average PrEP information quality scores<sup>a</sup>.

Resource		PrEP <sup>b</sup> basics	PrEP access	PrEP use
Search engines				
	Ask.com	1.8	0.8	0.5
	Bing	3.7	2.7	3.1
	Google	3.4	3.7	3.5
	Yahoo	3.4	2.8	2.9
Virtual assistants				
	Amazon Alexa	1.1	0.9	1.4
	Apple Siri	2.4	1.8	3.3
	Google Assistant	3.2	3.3	2.8
	Microsoft Cortana	2.3	2.5	2.0

<sup>a</sup>PrEP information score meanings: 0=irrelevant, 1=inaccurate, 2=partially correct/misleading, 3=accurate but missing important details, 4=accurate but outdated, 5=accurate and current.

<sup>b</sup>PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis.

The following responses were given to the question "How much does PrEP cost?"

...A month's supply of Truvada is nearly \$2,000 without insurance. Most private health insurance companies, Medicare, and Medicaid will cover the cost... [WebMD via Google]

Launching a startup... [Ask.com]

Within virtual assistants, Google Assistant typically provided more informative results when compared to the other virtual assistants selecting relevant text from websites to respond to posed questions. Amazon Alexa generally provided the lowest quality information with irrelevant responses including "Sorry, I don't know that one." Microsoft Cortana and Apple Siri provided information quality between Google Assistant and Amazon Alexa.

The following responses were given to the question "What is the difference between Truvada and Descovy?"

There are now two medications approved by the U.S Food and Drug Administration (FDA): Truvada and Descovy...which medication might be right for you, take a look at the similarities and differences between the two medications below... [SFAF.org via Google Assistant]

Pharmaceutical product. Star Trek Discovery... [Amazon Alexa]

#### Web-Based PrEP Information Readability

The readability assessment using the Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level scale revealed that information from web search engines produced by questions in all three categories requires a literacy level that aligns with that of an eighth grade, ninth grade, or 10th grade student, while virtual assistant results require literacy levels ranging from a second grade to eighth grade student in the United States (Table 4). The required literacy level of information produced by search engines and virtual assistants appears to correlate with the quality of information produced by each, as the search engines more frequently provided information of higher quality than the virtual assistants.



Table 4. Search engines' and virtual assistants' average PrEP information readability scores<sup>a</sup>.

Resource		PrEP <sup>b</sup> basics	PrEP access	PrEP use
Search engines				
	Ask.com	8.3	9.2	8.3
	Bing	10.2	8.1	9.1
	Google	9.3	9.6	8.6
	Yahoo	9.7	8.1	9.2
Virtual assistants				
	Amazon Alexa	7.0	2.7	5.4
	Apple Siri	8.4	4.8	7.1
	Google Assistant	7.4	8.3	6.9
	Microsoft Cortana	7.0	6.4	7.7

<sup>a</sup>PrEP information readability score formula: grade level = 0.37 (words/sentence) + 5.84 (syllables/word) - 15.59.

<sup>b</sup>PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis.

## Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

Google search engine and Google Assistant produced higher quality PrEP information more frequently than the other web-based resources used. Authors found resulting answers to PrEP questions that conflicted with each other within a single search engine/virtual assistant, which may lead to incorrect use of PrEP and ultimately reduced effectiveness. Additionally, the resulting information generally was presented in language between a seventh and 10th grade reading level, therefore, often exceeding the average reading level of adolescents and young adults in the United States [17].

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

To the authors' knowledge, there are no other studies that have specifically evaluated the quality of PrEP information for HIV prevention produced by virtual assistants or the readability of health information found on the web. However, a New Zealand study titled "In Bed with Siri and Google Assistant: A Comparison of Sexual Health Advice" used Google search engine, Google Assistant, and Apple Siri to assess the quality of sexual health advice received from each source. The results of this study are consistent with researchers' findings that Google search engine had the best responses, followed by Google Assistant then Apple Siri, when asked questions about sex and sexual health [18].

#### Limitations

The study limitations include the variability of results produced by search engine and virtual assistant algorithms. To account for the possibility of different top results for the same questions, searches were performed on a single day for all search engines and on a separate day within the same week for all virtual assistants. Future studies may consider conducting a time-based analysis where searches are completed at set time intervals over 1 year or more to compare top results for the same questions over time. Another limitation is the condensed list of questions. Future studies should include youth perspectives on what questions adolescents and young adults would ask in addition to provider opinions. Additionally, the study was conducted in English, which may exclude individuals whose primary language is not English. Furthermore, at the time of this study, injectable PrEP had not yet been approved and are not included in the search results.

#### Conclusions

Adolescents and young adults may turn to technology due to discomfort discussing their sexual health with providers, yet we found that there is much room for improvement in the quality and readability of educational information on PrEP through web-based resources.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was directly supported by grants from the National Institute of Mental Health P30MH097488 (principal investigator: Dwight Evans) and K23MH119976-01A1 (principal investigator: SW) and the Leadership Education in Adolescent and Young Adult Health program.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

XS	Ŀ	F	С
Rer	۱d	er	·X

- 1. HIV surveillance report, 2018 (updated). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/library/reports/surveillance/cdc-hiv-surveillance-report-2018-updated-vol-31.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-06-27]
- 2. HIV surveillance report. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/library/</u> reports/surveillance/cdc-hiv-surveillance-report-2018-preliminary-vol-30-infographic.pdf [accessed 2023-06-27]
- 3. Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP). HIVinfo. 2020. URL: <u>https://hivinfo.nih.gov/understanding-hiv/fact-sheets/</u> pre-exposure-prophylaxis-prep [accessed 2021-01-14]
- 4. PrEP effectiveness. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/prep/prep-effectiveness.html</u> [accessed 2021-01-19]
- Wood SM, Lee S, Barg FK, Castillo M, Dowshen N. Young transgender women's attitudes toward HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis. J Adolesc Health 2017 May;60(5):549-555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.004] [Medline: 28132744]
- 6. Hargittai E, Hinnant A. Digital inequality: differences in young adults' use of the internet. Commun Res 2008 Aug 04;35(5):602-621. [doi: 10.1177/0093650208321782]
- Escoffery C, Miner KR, Adame DD, Butler S, McCormick L, Mendell E. Internet use for health information among college students. J Am Coll Health 2005 Aug 06;53(4):183-188. [doi: 10.3200/JACH.53.4.183-188] [Medline: 15663067]
- Anderson M, Jiang J. Teens, social media and technology 2018. Pew Research Center. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2018/05/PI\_2018.05.31\_TeensTech\_FINAL.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-02-11]
- 9. Kydala Publishing Inc. StoryToolz. URL: <u>https://storytoolz.com</u> [accessed 2021-03-17]
- Kincaid JP, Fishbourne Jr. RP, Rogers RL, Chissom BS. Derivation of new readability formulas (Automated Readability Index, Fog Count And Flesch Reading Ease Formula) for Navy enlisted personnel. Institute for Simulation and Training 1975 Jan 01;56:i-39. [doi: <u>10.21236/ada006655</u>]
- 11. About HIV. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/3c7nmxsr</u> [accessed 2021-02-01]
- 12. PrEP myths. Houston Health Department. 2019. URL: https://houstoniamlife.com/prep/prep-myths/ [accessed 2021-02-01]
- 13. What is PrEP? HIV i-Base. 2019. URL: https://i-base.info/guides/prep/what-is-prep [accessed 2021-02-01]
- 14. What is PrEP? National Women's Health Network. 2018. URL: <u>https://nwhn.org/what-is-prep/</u> [accessed 2021-02-01]
- 15. Naswa S, Marfatia YS. Pre-exposure prophylaxis of HIV. Indian J Sex Transm Dis AIDS 2011 Jan;32(1):1-8. [doi: 10.4103/0253-7184.81246] [Medline: 21799568]
- 16. The basics PrEP. Prepfacts. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/risk/prep/index.html#print</u> [accessed 2021-04-06]
- 17. Marchand L. What is readability and why should content editors care about it? Center for Plain Language. 2017. URL: https://tinyurl.com/3vykwjze [accessed 2021-04-02]
- 18. Wilson N, MacDonald EJ, Mansoor OD, Morgan J. In bed with Siri and Google Assistant: a comparison of sexual health advice. BMJ 2017 Dec 13;359:j5635-j5642. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.j5635] [Medline: 29237603]

#### Abbreviations

**CDC:** Centers for Disease Control and Prevention **PrEP:** pre-exposure prophylaxis

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 09.09.22; peer-reviewed by U Belkind; comments to author 04.03.23; revised version received 31.03.23; accepted 01.04.23; published 18.07.23.

Please cite as:

Darien K, Lee S, Knowles K, Wood S, Langer MD, Lazar N, Dowshen N Health Information From Web Search Engines and Virtual Assistants About Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV Prevention in Adolescents and Young Adults: Content Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e41806 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41806 doi:10.2196/41806 PMID:37463044

©Kaja Darien, Susan Lee, Kayla Knowles, Sarah Wood, Miriam D Langer, Nellie Lazar, Nadia Dowshen. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 18.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

## **Original Paper**

# Health Care Professionals' Experiences and Views of eHealth in Pediatric Care: Qualitative Interview Study Applying a Theoretical Framework for Implementation

Charlotte Castor<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD, RNCS; Rose-Marie Lindkvist<sup>1\*</sup>, MSc; Inger Kristensson Hallström<sup>1</sup>, Prof Dr, RNCS; Robert Holmberg<sup>2</sup>, PhD, PsyD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Health Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

\*these authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Charlotte Castor, PhD, RNCS Department of Health Sciences Lund University Box 117 Sölvegatan 19 Lund, 22100 Sweden Phone: 46 703668523 Email: charlotte.castor@med.lu.se

# Abstract

**Background:** The development and evaluation of eHealth interventions in clinical care should be accompanied by a thorough assessment of their implementation. The NASSS (Non-adoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies) framework was designed to facilitate the implementation and scale-up of health technology programs, providing an option for analyzing the progression of these initiatives as they are implemented in real-time. Considering health care provider perspectives within the framework for implementation offers valuable insights into the early identification of barriers and facilitators in the implementation of potentially effective eHealth innovations. Nevertheless, there is a dearth of studies on eHealth interventions that encompass longer time frames and delve into the complexities of scaling up and sustaining such interventions within real-world health care environments.

**Objective:** This study aims to investigate the perspectives and insights of health care professionals (HCPs) regarding the implementation of an eHealth intervention in pediatric health care while applying the NASSS framework to theorize and evaluate the conditions influencing the implementation of eHealth solutions.

**Methods:** Semistructured interviews were performed with health care providers, including both staff and management personnel, within a university pediatric hospital (N=10). The data collection process occurred concurrently with a clinical trial focused on developing and assessing an eHealth app for self-management in pediatric care following hospital discharge. Using an abductive approach, the interviews were initially analyzed qualitatively and subsequently mapped onto the 7 domains of the NASSS framework to identify factors influencing implementation, encompassing facilitators, barriers, and varying levels of complexity.

**Results:** In the realm of pediatric care, the family was identified as the primary unit of care, and patient heterogeneity was a prominent feature. The implementation of eHealth tools, while deemed usable and flexible, was also seen as a delicate balance between safety and adaptability, highlighting challenges related to health care integration. Child participation and secrecy, especially for adolescents, contributed to the complexity of using eHealth. HCPs had high eHealth literacy, and thus challenges concerning adoption were related to work adaptations and the risk of "app overload." The readiness for implementation was experienced as induced through the research study and the pandemic situation. However, to move from research to implementation in clinical practice, organizational challenges identified a need to update the concept of care and ensure activity measurements. In a wider context, HCPs raised concerns related to regulatory requirements for documentation, public procurement, and data safety. Implementation became more complex due to a lack of overview in a large organization.

**Conclusions:** Important perspectives for implementation were considerations of regulatory requirements, as well as the need for a shared vision of eHealth and the establishment of eHealth-related work as part of regular health care. Key contextual factors

that support reach and impact are communication channels between different levels at the hospital and a need for paths and procedures compatible with legal, technological, and security concerns. Further research should focus on how eHealth interventions are perceived by children, adolescents, their parents, and other stakeholders.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04150120; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04150120

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47663) doi:10.2196/47663

#### **KEYWORDS**

communication; digital; experiences; eHealth; health care professionals; implementation; NASSS; pediatric care

## Introduction

Technological development and increased access to the internet and mobile technology have led to a flurry of eHealth interventions to support families and children in pediatric care [1-3]. The general purpose of eHealth, defined as the use of information and communication technologies for health [4], is to facilitate high-quality and equal care and health for populations through, for example, increased access to care and improved health information exchange. Many countries have adopted national eHealth policies or strategies aiming to enhance person-centered care [5]. To ensure that the goals of eHealth are met, interventions that are developed and scientifically evaluated need to be studied from the perspective of a real-world context. Recent studies have raised the importance of attending to the complexity of the context of these interventions to support a move from innovation to implementation [6,7].

The NASSS (Non-adoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies) framework is a validated tool developed to support the implementation and scale-up of health technology programs, offering a structure for studying the unfolding of such initiatives in 7 domains (Textbox 1) [8].

Textbox 1. The 7 domains in the NASSS (Non-adoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies) framework.

- 1. The condition or illness
- 2. The technology
- 3. The value proposition
- 4. The adopter system
- 5. The organization
- 6. The wider context
- 7. Embedding and adaptation over time

The NASSS framework has been used in numerous studies, incorporating qualitative data such as interviews and focus group discussions. These studies have used a combination of inductive and deductive approaches to inform their analyses [9-12]. Thus, the framework can serve as a guiding tool for development and decision-making. It can assist in avoiding common high-probability issues and, in certain situations, prompt discussions about discontinuing high-risk projects rather than continuing to invest resources.

The insights provided by health care professionals (HCPs) in various roles within the health care system are crucial for the advancement and integration of innovative care delivery methods. The NASSS framework has proven valuable in structuring and contrasting HCPs' encounters with eHealth, thus revealing potential intricacies and obstacles in the adoption and dissemination of such technologies. Examining the broader landscape beyond individual projects can offer valuable perspectives for strategic planning and implementation, with a particular focus on understanding how contextual factors can introduce complexities that either facilitate or impede the adoption and expansion of innovative solutions [13].

Interventions incorporating eHealth technologies are inherently multifaceted, entailing complexities associated with technology development, support, maintenance, and financing. Much of the existing research on eHealth interventions has concentrated on individual technologies and the challenges and enablers tied to their implementation [8]. A systematic review of the literature highlighted substantial gaps and obstacles concerning the implementation of eHealth and called for a more comprehensive analysis of the experiences of various stakeholders [14]. Relatively few studies have delved into longer time frames that encompass the scaling up and long-term sustainability processes within the intricate landscape of real-world health care environments [8].

The objective of this study was to investigate the experiences and perspectives of HCPs regarding the implementation of an eHealth intervention in pediatric health care, using the NASSS framework as a theoretical lens to conceptualize and assess the factors influencing eHealth implementation



## Methods

#### Design

We used a qualitative research design with a descriptive abductive approach rooted in naturalistic inquiry [15]. Qualitative data gathered through focus groups and individual interviews with HCPs were initially analyzed using an inductive approach. Subsequently, these findings were applied deductively within the NASSS framework to elucidate the factors influencing the implementation of eHealth [8]. This study was conducted in parallel with a controlled experimental clinical trial [16], registered under ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT04150120. The trial design adhered to the Medical Research Council's framework for complex intervention trials [6,17].

#### **Study Setting**

The study was conducted from January to June 2021 in 4 pediatric departments located at a university hospital in southern Sweden. These departments provide care for children with severe illnesses at the local, regional, and national levels. The primary focus of the research revolved around an eHealth intervention developed as part of the eChildHealth research (eCH) program. The eCH program aimed to facilitate self-management for pediatric patients following their discharge from the hospital. It encompassed 4 specialties: pediatric surgery, neonatology, oncology, and cardiology [16]. The eCH program involved the development and evaluation of an app that was installed on tablets provided to families upon hospital discharge. Additionally, it included a web-based interface designed for HCPs to facilitate bilateral communication. The software offered a range of functionalities, such as daily reporting, video calls, and text messaging, among others.

#### **Participants**

The study included a total of 10 participants, who were HCPs divided into 2 subsamples: (1) staff members from various professions directly engaged in the further development [16] and evaluation [18] of the eCH intervention; and (2) management personnel within the relevant pediatric departments. In the autumn of 2020, invitation letters for participation in focus group interviews were distributed via email to all staff members who had previously been involved in the development and evaluation phases of the eCH intervention. Those who did not initially respond received a follow-up email between 4 and 8 weeks later. In total, 15 pediatric nurses and physicians were invited to participate; 10 of them responded affirmatively to the initial invitation, and 5 were available for participation. In a subsequent step, all managers at different hierarchical levels within the pediatric departments (n=25) were contacted by email and invited to join a focus group interview. A reminder email was sent to those who did not respond, resulting in the participation of 5 managers.

#### **Data Collection**

Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, data collection was planned and performed for digital interaction via Zoom (Zoom Video Communications), allowing for increased flexibility regarding scheduling and the number of participants. In total, the data collection involved 2 focus group interviews and 1

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47663
```

individual interview with 5 HCPs, as well as 5 individual interviews with managers. During the interviews, 2 out of 3 researchers responsible for data collection (CC, RH, and RML) were present, with each taking turns as the interviewer and notetaker. Structured interview guides were used, with separate versions for staff and managers. These guides included questions about participants' general experiences with eHealth and their specific involvement in an ongoing clinical trial [16]. The interviews with staff began with an oral introduction explaining the study's purpose, while the interviews with management included a brief presentation, supported by an MS PowerPoint slide show (Microsoft Corporation), introducing the concept of eHealth and the ongoing clinical trial [16]. The primary areas explored during the interviews were as follows: (1) What were the experiences and primary concerns of staff and management regarding the feasibility of implementing eHealth in routine care? (2) In which areas did their accounts of their involvement indicate a sense of knowledge and efficacy, and in which areas were they more uncertain or less prepared? Although the interviews initially focused on a specific clinical trial [16,18], they were conducted within a broader context of eHealth. The interviews had varying durations, ranging from 42 to 59 minutes.

#### Analysis

Audio-recorded and transcribed interviews were analyzed in 3 separate analytical steps: 2 data driven and 1 theory driven. First, an inductive analysis of data was performed. Three of the authors (CC, RML, and RH) read the text of each interview and divided it into meaningful units, which were condensed and coded by CC and RML, following the initial steps of qualitative content analysis [19]. Second, codes were applied deductively using the NASSS framework [8] as a theoretical lens of analysis by identifying and organizing codes into the 7 domains of the NASSS by the 3 authors. All codes were considered and the NASSS framework was used as a guide to identify relevant codes. Codes not fitting into any of the domains of the NASSS, comprising background information about the participants and reflections related to the term eHealth or the scope of the clinical trial, were deemed impertinent to the analysis and therefore excluded. Third, codes within each domain were grouped based on content, and then summarized and presented with representative quotes. Parallel to this step, the level of complexity within each domain was considered based on the codes grouped into each separate domain. Finally, the result was discussed and agreed upon by all authors. Data were managed using the software Open Code (Umeå University) [20].

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The study was approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (approval number 2019-0341). All participants were given written information about the study in advance and additional oral information with the possibility of asking questions at the time of the interview. Voluntary participation was stressed, and informed consent was obtained. All participants were well acquainted with the research and its underlying principles. The authors possess extensive expertise in qualitative methods, implementation research, and nursing. Additionally, they were actively engaged in the research project

XSL•FO RenderX

that designed and assessed eCH, although none of the authors were directly involved in the application of eCH.

# Results

#### Overview

The presentation of HCPs' perspectives on eHealth, structured based on the NASSS framework, encompassed both eHealth in

a broader sense and various specific eHealth interventions, including eCH. Feedback related to eCH predominantly emanated from staff representing various professions directly engaged in the research, while managers shared more generalized experiences. Figure 1 visually depicts the continuum of simplicity (green), through complexity (yellow), to high complexity (red) in terms of implementation within each domain.

Figure 1. Health care professionals' experiences and views on the eChildHealth intervention applied to NASSS conditions for implementation. communication; HC: health care; med: medical; NASSS: Non-adoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies.



#### **Domain 1: The Condition or Illness**

In their discussions about eHealth in general and specifically the eCH, HCPs highlighted a significant diversity of circumstances, encompassing care for neonates through to adolescents, with an emphasis on the family as the central unit of care. The presence of long-term and recurrent hospital admissions, in conjunction with outpatient care, added layers of complexity to the implementation of eHealth across the hospital setting. The HCPs recognized that children grappling with chronic conditions, such as cystic fibrosis, diabetes, cardiac diseases, anorectal malformation, or cancer, faced considerable challenges in their daily lives due to their illnesses. Consequently, there was a perceived necessity for eHealth initiatives that could facilitate communication and provide support to these children and their families in a home-based context.

What is so exciting about this project [eCH]...is that it's specifically oriented towards children. We do not have any systems directed at children. We have to tweak many systems a little to make them fit children's needs. This is developed for children. [Interview 3 staff] Furthermore, the HCPs noted that the diversity in family structures, language proficiency, health literacy, and socioeconomic status added to the intricacy of implementing eHealth interventions. They emphasized the importance of recognizing and addressing these variations when designing and delivering pediatric care.

#### **Domain 2: The Technology**

The HCPs described eCH as accessible and ready to use with functions that could be activated or deactivated according to one's needs. By contrast, one HCP described that too many functions could lead to confusion and the possibility of missing data.

When the system offers a great number of functions and the patient only uses some of them, then you might start to wonder. It's a problem with 'missing data' really. Does the patient not feel any pain or is this [the technology] something the patient doesn't need? [Interview 3 staff]

The HCPs found that technical skills among staff were most effectively developed through hands-on experience and with support from reliable supplier companies. They highlighted the importance of eCH being developed and adjusted through collaborative research involving HCPs, researchers, and the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47663
```

supplier company, rather than being presented as a finalized product. While the collaboration with supplier companies was deemed valuable and appreciated, it was also described as complex due to a lack of a common language and challenges in understanding each other's perspectives.

While apps that could be easily downloaded to patients' own private devices were seen as convenient, health care–provided encrypted devices such as those in the eCH approach were viewed as offering easily accessible communication without security concerns. The HCPs stressed the importance of user-friendly interventions to prevent the use of the family's private technology, such as FaceTime (Apple Inc./AT&T Inc.) on smartphones for video meetings or texting. Furthermore, a larger-sized tablet, such as the one used in eCH, was preferred for video calls over a smartphone. However, using a tablet for photography or having to carry an additional device was seen as less convenient for the patients.

The HCPs highlighted the necessity for ongoing technological development to seamlessly integrate eHealth tools such as eCH with existing electronic systems, particularly medical records. This integration would help reduce the burden of duplicated work or data transfer while ensuring compliance with data protection and patient data laws [21].

One feels that one might be less careful with security aspects if I am to start transferring photographs to my computer and then print them and then scan them to somewhere. [Interview 2 staff]

The HCPs believed that many of the challenges related to intersystem information and data transfer would be resolved with the implementation of a new regional system (ie, the Scania [a region in Sweden] digital health care system or SDV). This system would offer unified patient records and facilitate the connection of mobile devices, medical equipment, and imaging to support home care.

#### **Domain 3: The Value Proposition**

The HCPs highlighted that eCH provided various communication channels that could be tailored to individual preferences. This approach was seen as empowering families and allowing them to feel more engaged and in control of their care. eCH facilitated 2-way, asynchronous communication, enabling families and staff to interact without the risk of inconveniencing each other during potentially busy periods, as telephone calls might do. eCH was viewed as an efficient and convenient means of communication.

The HCPs also emphasized the importance of eHealth communication, with eCH being one example, in terms of promoting equitable and inclusive health care. They pointed out that while telephone calls might exclude or bypass children, text or video chats allowed for more direct communication with the child and a better understanding of their situation. Chat messages were seen as a way to facilitate small talk and build rapport. Additionally, follow-up care for children with chronic or long-term illnesses could be conducted through quick text messages, reducing the need for frequent hospital visits. The HCPs believed that this approach enabled children to communicate with health care providers confidentially, on their

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47663

own terms, and without parental involvement, potentially giving them more responsibility and a sense of ownership over their care.

We were a bit surprised/overwhelmed by the positive response we got from the children. It was like: This is my app. I want my own. You cannot write in my app. I'm the one who is writing there [not you]. [Interview 4 staff]

The HCPs also discussed how eHealth could empower children to become more involved in their prehospital care. For instance, they mentioned the possibility of children filling out electronic questionnaires at home or participating in virtual tours of health care facilities and procedures to help them feel more prepared for their hospital visits. This approach was seen as leading to better care outcomes, with children feeling more confident and less anxious. Over the long term, the HCPs believed that eHealth could be used to gradually provide children with chronic illnesses with more information and responsibility, better preparing them for the eventual transition to adult care.

The HCPs also highlighted how eHealth streamlined their work by offering a comprehensive view of patients and their care needs. They particularly valued electronic reports, which provided data on patients' weight, health status, and pain through eHealth. Additionally, the use of eHealth for communication was seen as a way to bridge the gap between research units and health care facilities across Sweden. HCPs at national health care centers could participate in digital 3-party meetings with families and other HCPs at local hospitals, fostering collaboration and knowledge-sharing.

When there was a patient who was going to meet the doctor at the local hospital we participated via the tablet. And I hope to be able to do that more in the future...They were going to support us with some of the child's care. So, we came along, and we could exchange experiences and we could support a bit. So that was nice. To be able to feel as one [unit] all over the country. [Interview 2 staff]

The HCPs emphasized that eHealth should not be viewed as a panacea for health care challenges but rather as a supplementary tool that offers flexible and effective communication. They discussed the complexity of maintaining patient privacy and the confidentiality of children in particular. Providing digital care for young children and infants was seen as less complex, but when dealing with adolescents, the same interventions could both challenge and strengthen the care relationship. Safeguarding the child's privacy was a concern, especially during video conversations through a tablet or computer at home, where the child might not want to share everything with their parents, and they should have the right to withhold information. The HCPs also expressed concerns about the reduced ability to identify cases of unhealthy domestic environments in digital interactions, as the nuances of verbal and nonverbal communication were lost.

#### **Domain 4: The Adopter System**

The HCPs noted that children and parents are generally proficient in adopting and using digital technologies, sometimes

even more so than health care staff. However, they emphasized the need to align the expectations of families regarding eHealth with individual circumstances. For example, reporting data through eCH required patients and family members to take on tasks typically performed by HCPs. The HCPs stressed the importance of eHealth aligning with valid and reasonable expectations from the child and their family while minimizing the effort required from families. They emphasized that family needs should determine the extent of eHealth use, with careful consideration of when and what to offer digitally versus in person. Establishing a relationship digitally was seen as challenging, and the HCPs recommended that the nursing relationship be initially established in person and then continued digitally when beneficial.

The HCPs discussed the necessity of adapting their work practices to incorporate eHealth into their regular schedules. This adaptation involved more frequent contact with each patient and an increase in working hours dedicated to digital communication. HCPs also mentioned that they had established scheduled daily time slots for eHealth communication to minimize interruptions and gain better control over their workday. They emphasized the need to strike a balance between additional tasks related to both physical and digital care to ensure manageable workloads and maintain the quality of care. Managing conversations with multiple families concurrently required a strategy for shifting attention and a logistical system that did not lead to stress.

It implies a different way [to work] that we might not have found to hundred percent yet,.... Because one would typically often start the morning by checking the eCH. And at that time, it is not a problem. But then one wants to check at least two more times, to be able to respond somewhat regularly and keep up the dialogue. I think I have had as many as nine tablets operating in parallel. And then, this were like, some days, as if I would have nine extra physically present which was a bit...It takes some juggling. [Interview 2 staff]

The HCPs explained that various eHealth devices served distinct purposes, either sequentially or concurrently. For instance, eCH was used for 2-way communication, while 1177 [22], a national health care hub in Sweden providing advice, information, and health services via phone and web, was primarily used for administrative functions such as appointment cancellations, transferring certificates for parental allowances, and prescribing medications. The HCPs emphasized the importance of being mindful of the potential for an overload of apps and the need to evaluate whether a new eHealth initiative was necessary or if existing digital communication systems could fulfill the same function.

It is a balancing act...and then the teenaged patient would have said something like I cannot take any more apps. I do not want another app. I'm tired of apps! That's also a view to take with you. Is there a limit? What apps should be prioritized and what should not be prioritized app-wise so to speak, and in digital form? [Interview staff 4]

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47663
```

#### **Domain 5: The Organization**

In general, the HCPs expressed optimism regarding the organization's preparedness and ability to transition toward enhanced digital care. They noted that the COVID-19 pandemic had accelerated this readiness. They also had confidence in the future funding of eHealth initiatives. Furthermore, being part of a research program supported the initial stages of implementation by providing additional time or necessary human resources. The HCPs identified high user value and a clearly defined purpose as the primary facilitators for implementing eHealth within the organization, particularly when extra effort or patience was needed.

The HCPs highlighted various factors influencing the organization's readiness to implement eHealth. These factors included individual attitudes, preconceived notions, and the age of the HCPs involved in the implementation. They emphasized that the shift toward increased eHealth usage required time and effort, as sticking to familiar routines might seem more comfortable and less costly in the short term. They mentioned that they often settled for using only a few features, such as utilizing the chat function in eCH, even though video conversations were recognized as valuable and readily available. The HCPs believed that a positive collective experience with eHealth, such as their involvement in the research project (eCH), encouraged readiness and reduced resistance to future innovations.

The HCPs also pointed out the absence of a unified strategy and alignment within the hospital concerning eHealth. They noted that various parts of the organization were at different stages of readiness for change. A fragmented organizational structure with separate management for nursing and medical staff was identified as an obstacle to establishing partnerships, leading to a slow-moving system that operated in isolation. Therefore, they emphasized the need to enhance coordination and collaboration to fully leverage existing eHealth initiatives and prevent redundant efforts.

They highlighted the necessity for a revised care model to facilitate the implementation of eHealth. They discussed the need to broaden the definition of health to encompass meaningful communication between parties, considering it as a service provided from 1 party to another in various ways and forms. They emphasized the necessity of redefining and renegotiating communication norms to integrate eHealth initiatives as a seamless component of regular professional health care services. They mentioned that if eHealth was perceived as an ancillary activity, it might be at risk of being deprioritized in comparison to physical tasks or regarded as an additional responsibility for nurses without a clear purpose. The health care providers described an ongoing challenge in achieving a point where digital meetings could be formally recorded as regular visits and recognized as a documented activity. They emphasized the importance of management not expecting to save time by implementing eHealth but rather to enhance the quality of care. They emphasized the importance of organizational-level reflection regarding how changes, such as reducing physical visits, would impact the necessity for other

XSL•FO RenderX

modifications in care delivery and how this might influence the need for facility adaptations.

There can be six people in that room at the same time as one is active with communicating on the tablet. [Interview 3 staff]

They were concerned that if eHealth were implemented without careful planning, it could result in increased workloads and heightened expectations from families for greater access to care, for which the organization was unprepared.

Research projects with stringent inclusion criteria focused on a minority of patients, such as children with specific diagnoses or ages, and those that only included certain aspects of care through eHealth, were seen as more challenging to integrate into routine care. The HCPs shared experiences of how implementation became easier when someone was willing to take the lead in the everyday clinical implementation, which others could then follow. Having enthusiastic individuals in place was described as a key factor for successful implementation and for providing technical support. By contrast, unclear responsibility or purpose of care could make the implementation of research in clinical care more complex. According to HCPs, a perceived lack of support functions for IT systems could make implementation difficult and reduce the capacity for change. Thus, the need for time to discuss challenges and errors was emphasized as important for facilitating implementation.

#### **Domain 6: The Wider Context**

The HCPs mentioned the strict regulatory requirements for health care documentation, emphasizing the need for careful consideration of how to handle information produced through the usage of new eHealth interventions. A significant part of the material produced through eCH, such as text chat messages, was unsuitable or not intended for patient records. However, they emphasized the importance of actively considering the regulatory framework when deciding how to handle produced material, such as text, photographs, and reported health care data. When the pandemic started in Sweden, eCH was described as extremely useful in departments where the project was already well integrated into care (pediatric surgery and neonatology). However, other departments were at earlier stages in the process, with ongoing development or just beginning patient inclusion (oncology and cardiology). For these departments, the pandemic became a hurdle, limiting time for project meetings and leading to changed prioritizations within the organizations, ultimately putting the research on hold.

Public procurement of eHealth services originating from a research project was described as a time-consuming and challenging process, involving significant effort in terms of preparation and communication. The HCPs expressed frustration with an unclear and slow procurement process, even though there was a high sense of urgency to ensure the continued delivery of eHealth services such as eCH, which had become vital for the organization. They were concerned about the risk of service interruption during the transition from research to clinical practice.

There are rules regarding public procurement. And then there is technology, and you have to turn to the *IT-department*. And then you get all sweaty. [Interview 1 management]

The ambition of Sweden to become a leader in eHealth was considered in light of the evolving nature of digital communication as the norm, especially among the younger population. However, this had to be balanced with the strict requirements for safety and confidentiality in health care. The HCPs highlighted the challenges related to data safety, particularly in collaborations with suppliers, where there were uncertainties about what was allowed and feasible. For instance, certain age restrictions on digital IDs for children were seen as a complicating factor in the use of eHealth.

#### **Domain 7: Embedding and Adaptation Over Time**

The HCPs explained that eHealth was in a constant state of development, offering numerous possibilities for changing and enhancing health care. They observed that different systems evolved into more complex and versatile tools, each having its unique challenges, errors, and strengths. Some eHealth systems seemed to seamlessly integrate into daily routines, while others disappeared discreetly. In some cases, the HCPs mentioned that they adopted these systems without a deep understanding of why or how it was done, although they emphasized the importance of management support and dedicated time as critical factors in this process.

It takes managers who believe in it and are willing to devote time and provide opportunity. To have the energy to think long-term. That's very important because there are always running-in problems and inexperience. And it is easy to give up in the beginning no matter what it is. But if there is an understanding to set aside time to learn. Then it will become an established way of working. [Interview 5 management]

They highlighted the importance of involving a critical mass of staff in the implementation of an eHealth intervention to reduce the risk of unforeseen errors. Additionally, they stressed that considerations regarding eHealth should be integrated into the early planning stages of future care to allow for necessary reflections, which could be crucial for successful adaptation.

The HCPs identified a lack of organizational oversight regarding available eHealth services and limited efforts to share experiences and build upon them as significant barriers to long-term adoption.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

We used the NASSS framework [8] to analyze conditions for the implementation of an eHealth intervention, eCH, in pediatric care. The starting point of our study was a local, bottom-up development project initiated by HCPs in collaboration with researchers. Our findings indicated a mix of simple, complicated, and complex conditions for the implementation of eHealth, which was generally perceived to have a high value within the context of pediatric hospital care. Barriers to implementation

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47663
```

tended to be on a rather detailed level, regarding what is safe and allowed, given the heavy regulatory requirements in health care. In addition, results indicated the need to establish a shared vision for eHealth-related work to become part of regular health care. This points toward the need for bottom-up eHealth initiatives to connect to a wider group of stakeholders within their institutional setting. These results also point toward a need for organizational eHealth strategies compatible with legal, technological, and security concerns. First, we discuss circumstances that contribute to relatively simple conditions favorable to adoption and scaling up according to the NASSS framework. Second, circumstances contributing to increased complexity are discussed.

#### **Facilitation of Adoption and Scaling Up**

Aspects such as ease of use, adaptability, small scalability, and specificity with a high perceived value regarding both the services and the patients contributed to the classification of eCH as simple with significant potential for adoption and scaling up. eHealth interventions such as eCH have a great potential to complement other forms of communication through increased flexibility, access to care, and a perceived sense of security for families caring for children at home. These notions are also recognized from previous research based on interviews with parents evaluating their use of eCH [16,18]. Hence, the perceived value of eHealth appears to be relatively coherent for patients and HCPs.

Front-line staff encountered the need for changes in routines and work organization early on, requiring support from management to address these challenges. A key factor in dealing with these processes is the active contribution of enthusiasts and project leaders who can identify obstacles and bring stakeholders together to facilitate the process. The extent to which organizational units have had the opportunity to participate in the development of digital tools dedicated to well-defined groups of patients and tailored to the demands of both patients and HCPs, such as eCH [16], appears crucial for continuation and adoption.

The pandemic appeared to have sped up the innovation and change in the services at hospital departments where eHealth was already up and running. Nevertheless, the implementation of eHealth during a pandemic presented a substantial challenge for departments that were not fully prepared before the outbreak, resulting in the need to temporarily halt project-related work. Previous research on the adoption of eHealth services across Europe during the coronavirus pandemic highlights various factors that could diminish the public value of eHealth [23]. Therefore, proceeding cautiously in the face of rapidly changing circumstances may be crucial to prevent compromising quality and the impact on public health.

#### Potential Barriers to Adoption and Scaling Up

HCPs expressed a preference for digital interventions that streamlined their workflow and could be seamlessly integrated with other systems such as medical records. However, they noted that this integration was a complex challenge that required careful navigation. The complex and sometimes conflicting demands of complying with health care regulations concerning

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47663
```

documentation, patient safety, and information security, combined with aging systems not aligned with ongoing development projects, can undermine the realization of eHealth initiatives. While many of the strengths and positive experiences of new digital tools and eHealth were related to participation in development and implementation, there was less confidence in the hospital and region's capability to provide a context for learning and adaptation over time. Indeed, there are very few examples of familiarity with strategies, guidelines, or interfaces between ongoing bottom-up activities (such as eCH) and the general architecture of eHealth at the hospital and in the region [24]. This observation is in line with previous research that showed that HCPs can be motivated to pursue development despite a lack of alignment in this regard [13].

The handling of patient-generated health care data collected in everyday environments from patients would require new standards as well as technical and organizational support to ensure that the data are well-managed and tailored toward clinical objectives to ensure success [25]. The relatively loose coupling and provisional supplier model in the research project provided flexibility and was advantageous for the project, but it introduced uncertainties in the long run. Challenges related to procurement and delays in large IT projects within the regional health care organization appeared to create an atmosphere of uncertainty and, in some cases, cynicism among health care providers. Effective public procurement of eHealth requires specialized skills regarding, for example, interoperability and life-cycle costing [26].

The HCPs described the pediatric health care population as heterogenous in age and maturity with a capacity for autonomy that changes over time, implying a need for the continuous adaptation of routines. Sociotechnical aspects related to potential changes in routines, work division, and workload were often postponed to a later phase of implementation. Over time, this somewhat fragmented approach may elevate the complexity of implementation and place excessive demands on both patients and health care providers. Besides, eCH may be based on strict inclusion criteria and may exclude patients in terms of sociocultural factors. To ensure equity and participation, the implementation of eHealth should address cultural hurdles [27]; for example, in the case of eCH, this can be achieved by incorporating adaptations such as interpreter services.

It is vital that the integration of eHealth includes considerations related to secure communication and privacy in traffic and data transmission [28]. It can be argued that this difference constitutes a sort of "app-gap" leading to increased risk for improvisation, cutting corners through using private technology rather than complying with the digital tools provided by the hospital. Such app-gaps may also contribute to frustration, negative attitudes, and diminishing legitimacy for IT governance and information security.

Our findings support previous research in that the organizational capability for adoption and scaling up is dependent on sophisticated collaboration and alignment between professions, clinics, and divisions within the hospital, which contributes to complexity and vulnerability [8,29]. This needs to proceed from a shared view and definition of health care that incorporates

XSL•FO

eHealth-related work as health care provision. Organizations that depend on resources provided by research and development projects to engage in new eHealth technologies risk adding extra workload to staff. In this perspective, it is important to be able to identify the true value of eHealth beyond economic terms [30].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This study incorporates both staff and managers' experiences and views of eHealth. Although the sample size was small, it comprised staff with deep familiarity and insight into both eCH and their respective specialties as well as different management levels in pediatric care. Experiences shared related to both the specific project and eHealth in general. This was deemed important and a strength of the project because development, evaluation, and implementation take place in an organizational context in which different eHealth interventions and innovations are ongoing, coexisting, and coevolving over time. The study was performed during the COVID-19 pandemic, which increased the study period and likely reduced the number of participants. Furthermore, the study was conducted in 1 of 21 regions in a small, high-income country with a nationally regulated and regionally provided health care system. While the country, in general, has a high level of digitalization, health care continues to struggle with the standardization and integration of eHealth. These perspectives may be considered in relation to the transferability of the results. The results fit well into the domains of the NASSS framework for implementation and contribute to a holistic and contextual

perspective, which may support the translation of eHealth research into policy and practice [31].

#### Conclusions

The study enhances our comprehension of how eHealth initiatives can harmonize with the organizational environment within their specific context, thereby enhancing the potential for adoption and scalability. It further adds to the body of research indicating that the NASSS framework has the potential to be of great use in the planning and coordination of eHealth development in health care settings [32,33]. While studies on implementation are mainly concerned with difficulties in reaching out, changing, and institutionalizing new behaviors, this study indicates the need for a much broader approach. Thus, there is a need to establish networks and communication channels between staff, managers, IT professionals, legal departments, researchers, and supplier companies [25]. This study should be complemented with research into how specific eHealth interventions are perceived by the market, regional information and communications department, procurement, and information security professionals at the hospital and in the region. The possible business case or value for suppliers or investors in eHealth was not addressed by participants in this study, although it had a significant impact on implementation according to NASSS [8]. Deepened knowledge about HCPs' understanding of, and collaboration with, a wider eHealth innovation system could thus further support sustainable implementation.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Costa A, Marchiò M, Bruni G, Bernabei SM, Cavalieri S, Bondi M, et al. Evaluation of E-health applications for paediatric patients with refractory epilepsy and maintained on ketogenic diet. Nutrients 2021 Apr 09;13(4):nu13041240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu13041240] [Medline: 33918854]
- Brigden A, Anderson E, Linney C, Morris R, Parslow R, Serafimova T, et al. Digital behavior change interventions for younger children with chronic health conditions: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 31;22(7):e16924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16924] [Medline: 32735227]
- 3. Cushing CC, Steele RG. A meta-analytic review of eHealth interventions for pediatric health promoting and maintaining behaviors. J Pediatr Psychol 2010 Oct;35(9):937-949. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsq023</u>] [Medline: <u>20392790</u>]
- 4. World Health Organization (WHO). Secondary Digital health 2020. World Health Organization (WHO). URL: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/Health-systems/digital-health</u> [accessed 2023-10-04]
- Regional Office for Europe. From innovation to implementation: eHealth in the WHO European Region. WHO. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2016 Jun 22. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/europe/publications/i/item/9789289051378</u> [accessed 2023-10-10]
- Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2021 Sep 30;374:n2061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2061] [Medline: 34593508]
- Fletcher A, Jamal F, Moore G, Evans RE, Murphy S, Bonell C. Realist complex intervention science: applying realist principles across all phases of the Medical Research Council framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions. Evaluation (Lond) 2016 Jul;22(3):286-303 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1356389016652743] [Medline: 27478401]
- Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, Lynch J, Hughes G, A'Court C, et al. Beyond adoption: a new framework for theorizing and evaluating Nonadoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies. J Med Internet Res 2017 Nov 01;19(11):e367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8775] [Medline: 29092808]

- Fox D, Coddington R, Scarf V, Bisits A, Lainchbury A, Woodworth R, et al. Harnessing technology to enable all women mobility in labour and birth: feasibility of implementing beltless non-invasive fetal ECG applying the NASSS framework. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2021 Dec 07;7(1):214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-021-00953-6] [Medline: 34876233]
- Yakovchenko V, McInnes DK, Petrakis BA, Gillespie C, Lipschitz JM, McCullough MB, et al. Implementing automated text messaging for patient self-management in the Veterans Health Administration: qualitative study applying the Nonadoption, Abandonment, Scale-up, Spread, and Sustainability Framework. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Nov 15;9(11):e31037 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31037] [Medline: 34779779]
- Papoutsi C, A'Court C, Wherton J, Shaw S, Greenhalgh T. Explaining the mixed findings of a randomised controlled trial of telehealth with centralised remote support for heart failure: multi-site qualitative study using the NASSS framework. Trials 2020 Oct 27;21(1):891 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04817-x] [Medline: 33109254]
- 12. Cartledge S, Rawstorn JC, Tran M, Ryan P, Howden EJ, Jackson A. Telehealth is here to stay but not without challenges: a consultation of cardiac rehabilitation clinicians during COVID-19 in Victoria, Australia. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2022 Aug 29;21(6):548-558 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurjcn/zvab118] [Medline: 34935940]
- Dyb K, Berntsen GR, Kvam L. Adopt, adapt, or abandon technology-supported person-centred care initiatives: healthcare providers' beliefs matter. BMC Health Serv Res 2021 Mar 17;21(1):240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06262-1] [Medline: <u>33731078</u>]
- 14. Marino A, Pariso P, Picariello M. A systematic literature review on e-health implementation and policies. JESI 2022 Dec 1;10(2):43-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9770/jesi.2022.10.2(3)]
- 15. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [doi: 10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g] [Medline: 10940958]
- 16. Morris ME, Aguilera A. Mobile, social, and wearable computing and the evolution of psychological practice. Prof Psychol Res Pr 2012 Dec;43(6):622-626 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0029041] [Medline: 25587207]
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Int J Nurs Stud 2013 May;50(5):587-592 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.09.010] [Medline: 23159157]
- Lindkvist R, Sjöström-Strand A, Landgren K, Johnsson BA, Stenström P, Hallström IK. "In a way we took the hospital home"—a descriptive mixed-methods study of parents' usage and experiences of ehealth for self-management after hospital discharge due to pediatric surgery or preterm birth. IJERPH 2021 Jun 15;18(12):6480 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/ijerph18126480</u>] [Medline: <u>34203985</u>]
- Graneheim UH, Lundman B. Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Educ Today 2004 Feb;24(2):105-112. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001</u>] [Medline: <u>14769454</u>]
- 20. Open Code (4.03 version). University of Umeå. 2015 Jul 01. URL: <u>https://www.umu.se/</u> institutionen-for-epidemiologi-och-global-halsa/forskning/open-code/ [accessed 2023-10-04]
- 21. SFS. Patientdatalag (2008:355) [SFS patient law]. Sveriges Riksdag. 2008. URL: <u>https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/</u> <u>dokument-och-lagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/patientdatalag-2008355\_sfs-2008-355/</u> [accessed 2023-10-04]
- 22. 1177. 1177. URL: https://www.1177.se/en/other-languages/1177-in-other-languages/ [accessed 2023-10-04]
- 23. Gerli P, Arakpogun EO, Elsahn Z, Olan F, Prime KS. Beyond contact-tracing: the public value of eHealth application in a pandemic. Gov Inf Q 2021 Jul;38(3):101581 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2021.101581] [Medline: 36568852]
- 24. Larisch L, Amer-Wåhlin I, Hidefjäll P. Understanding healthcare innovation systems: the Stockholm region case. J Health Organ Manag 2016 Nov 21;30(8):1221-1241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1108/JHOM-04-2016-0061] [Medline: 27834601]
- 25. Shaw RJ, Boazak M, Tiase V, Porter G, Wosik J, Bumatay S, et al. Integrating patient-generated digital health data into electronic health records (EHRs) in ambulatory care settings: EHR vendor survey and interviews. AMIA Jt Summits Transl Sci Proc 2022;2022:439-445 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>35854713</u>]
- 26. García-Altés A, McKee M, Siciliani L, Barros PP, Lehtonen L, Rogers H, et al. Understanding public procurement within the health sector: a priority in a post-COVID-19 world. Health Econ Policy Law 2023 Apr;18(2):172-185. [doi: 10.1017/S1744133122000184] [Medline: 35894208]
- 27. Heinsch M, Tickner C, Kay-Lambkin F. Placing equity at the heart of eHealth implementation: a qualitative pilot study. Int J Equity Health 2022 Mar 18;21(1):38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12939-022-01640-5] [Medline: 35303883]
- Tangari G, Ikram M, Ijaz K, Kaafar MA, Berkovsky S. Mobile health and privacy: cross sectional study. BMJ 2021 Jun 16;373:n1248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1248] [Medline: 34135009]
- 29. Uhl-Bien M, Arena M. Leadership for organizational adaptability: a theoretical synthesis and integrative framework. The Leadership Quarterly 2018 Feb;29(1):89-104. [doi: 10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.009]
- 30. Jurkeviciute M, van Velsen L, Eriksson H, Lifvergren S, Trimarchi PD, Andin U, et al. Identifying the value of an eHealth intervention aimed at cognitive impairments: observational study in different contexts and service models. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 08;22(10):e17720 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17720] [Medline: 33064089]
- 31. Glasgow RE, Phillips SM, Sanchez MA. Implementation science approaches for integrating eHealth research into practice and policy. Int J Med Inform 2014 Jul;83(7):e1-e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.07.002] [Medline: 23910896]

- Gremyr A, Andersson Gäre B, Greenhalgh T, Malm U, Thor J, Andersson A. Using complexity assessment to inform the development and deployment of a digital dashboard for schizophrenia care: case study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Apr 23;22(4):e15521 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15521] [Medline: 32324143]
- Kadesjö Banck J, Bernhardsson S. Experiences from implementation of internet-delivered cognitive behaviour therapy for insomnia in psychiatric health care: a qualitative study applying the NASSS framework. BMC Health Serv Res 2020 Aug 08;20(1):729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05596-6] [Medline: 32771024]

#### Abbreviations

eCH: eChildHealth HCP: health care professional NASSS: Non-adoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 28.03.23; peer-reviewed by M Loades, MA Islam; comments to author 02.06.23; revised version received 16.06.23; accepted 17.06.23; published 18.10.23.

Please cite as:

Castor C, Lindkvist RM, Hallström IK, Holmberg R Health Care Professionals' Experiences and Views of eHealth in Pediatric Care: Qualitative Interview Study Applying a Theoretical Framework for Implementation JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47663 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47663</u> doi:10.2196/47663 PMID:<u>37851500</u>

©Charlotte Castor, Rose-Marie Lindkvist, Inger Kristensson Hallström, Robert Holmberg. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 18.10.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### **Original Paper**

# Effects of a Smartphone App on Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among Saudi Adolescents: Randomized Controlled Trial

Israa M Shatwan<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Rabab S Alhefani<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Mawadah F Bukhari<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Danah A Hanbazazah<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Jumanah K Srour<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Shelini Surendran<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Najlaa M Aljefree<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Noha M Almoraie<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Food and Nutrition Department, Human Sciences and Design Faculty, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia <sup>2</sup>Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Surrey, Guildford, Surrey, United Kingdom

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Israa M Shatwan, PhD Food and Nutrition Department Human Sciences and Design Faculty King Abdulaziz University Abdulalah Suliman Street 3270 Jeddah, 6269 Saudi Arabia Phone: 966 535619144 Email: eshatwan@kau.edu.sa

# Abstract

Background: Dietary patterns and nutritional status during adolescence have a direct effect on future health outcomes.

**Objective:** This study aimed to promote fruit and vegetable intake among adolescents using a smartphone app called MyPlate.

**Methods:** This randomized intervention study was conducted in an urban area of Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. We included 104 adolescents aged 13 to 18 years, who were randomized into intervention (n=55) or control (n=49) arms. We examined the effects of MyPlate on fruit and vegetable intake over 6 weeks in the intervention group. Pre- and postintervention questionnaires were used in the intervention and control groups.

**Results:** The control group showed a significant increase in fruit consumption scores between baseline (1.15, SD 0.68) and postintervention (1.64, SD 0.98; P=.01), but no significant difference in vegetable consumption scores was observed before (1.44, SD 0.97) and after intervention (1.55, SD 0.90; P=.54). However, there was no significant difference between scores at baseline and after 6 weeks of using the smartphone app for fruit (1.48, SD 0.99 and 1.70, SD 1.11, respectively; P=.31) or vegetables (1.50, SD 0.97 and 1.43, SD 1.03, respectively; P=.30) in the intervention group. Our findings showed no significant impact of using a smartphone app on fruit and vegetable consumption.

**Conclusions:** These findings suggest that a smartphone app did not significantly improve fruit and vegetable intake among adolescents.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT05692765; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05692765

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43160) doi:10.2196/43160

#### **KEYWORDS**

smartphone app; fruit and vegetable consumption; Saudi Arabia; adolescents; nutrition; health outcome; digital health intervention; digital health app; pediatrics; youth

# Introduction

RenderX

Adolescence is a critical period in the growth and development of an individual. Thus, dietary habits during this timeframe are important in shaping future health outcomes [1]. A large proportion of adolescents worldwide do not receive optimal nutrition [2]. Typically, adolescent diets are characterized by

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43160

low fruit and vegetable (FV) intake and a high intake of energy-dense, nutrient-poor foods, including sugar-sweetened drinks and fast foods [3]. As a result, anemia and micronutrient deficiencies are common among adolescents, which have a significant effect on their quality of life [4]. The incidence of overweight and obesity among adolescents continues to increase worldwide and is associated with an increased risk for

noncommunicable diseases, including hypertension, atherosclerosis, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, and metabolic syndrome [5].

A diet rich in FVs is associated with numerous health benefits. FVs are a good source of vitamins A and C, minerals, electrolytes, phytochemicals, antioxidants, and dietary fiber [6]. The World Health Organization recommends FV intake amounting to  $\geq$ 400 grams per day to maintain optimal health; reduce the risk of noncommunicable diseases, including heart disease, cancer, type II diabetes mellitus, and obesity; and prevent micronutrient deficiencies [6]. However, FV consumption among adolescents does not meet these recommendations. For instance, the UK National Diet and Nutrition Survey found that consumption of fruits during adolescence declined compared with early childhood, even though vegetable consumption showed no change [7]. In Saudi Arabia, most adolescents report that they consume low amounts of FVs daily [8,9]. Education and knowledge about food and nutrition are among the factors that influence food choices [6]. School-based nutrition education intervention targeting increased consumption of FVs has been shown to be an effective solution for low intake of FVs among children and adolescents. A 2-year nutrition intervention study showed a significant increase in FV consumption among children and their parents [10]. Using technology is one strategy to increase consumption of FVs among adolescents [11].

Recently, smartphone apps have been used to promote health and wellness among individuals in various communities. As a result, several nutritional interventions have been attempted to determine the usefulness of these apps in promoting healthy dietary habits. One of the advantages of these apps is that they can serve as cost-effective and flexible platforms for implementing behavioral changes in nutrition [12]. Additionally, mobile phone use is common across all education and income levels, and smartphone apps can serve as an appropriate platform to deliver healthy diet interventions, such as FV-related information, to adolescents and young adults [12]. Moreover, FV intake in adults and adolescents has been promoted by smartphone apps and web-based interventions [13,14]. The MyPlate software was developed by the US Department of Agriculture as a simple and powerful educational tool to aid individuals of different age groups in the appropriate distribution of food groups and creation of balanced meals according to the American Dietary Guidelines [15,16]. Brown et al [17] reported a significant increase in fruit consumption among an intervention group in comparison with a control group; the study used frequent text messages to provide nutrition-related knowledge and encouraged healthy behaviors among study participants. Likewise, Schroeter et al [18] demonstrated a significant increase in the intake of whole grains and FVs in an intervention group compared with a control group; the intervention group participated in MyPlate nutrition education meetings for 4 weeks, which positively affected their health behaviors.

In this study, we aimed to examine the effects of the MyPlate smartphone app on FV intake over 6 weeks in adolescents from Jeddah, Saudi Arabia.

### Methods

#### **Participants and Recruitment**

This randomized intervention study was conducted between February and March 2021 among adolescents from Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. Since schools were closed because of the COVID-19 pandemic, adolescents were recruited through invitations sent via email and WhatsApp to their parents using snowballing recruitment. The invitation to the study was first sent to members and bachelor of science students at the Food and Nutrition Department of King Abdulaziz University to help the research team with recruitment. Then, the research team contacted the parents and adolescents, who voluntarily agreed to participate in the study. The study procedures were explained to the parents or guardians of all prospective participants. There were no imposed circulation restrictions or curfews in Jeddah during the study period. Participants were included if they were in good health (based on the self-reported absence of diseases, such as diabetes mellitus, that may influence food intake), aged 13 to 18 years, attending school, and had access to a smartphone, either their own or their parents'. The exclusion criteria were poor health or an age not within the age range of this study. In total, 146 adolescents were initially recruited, of whom 26 withdrew from the study because they did not complete the baseline questionnaire or voluntarily decided to withdraw. The remaining 120 adolescents were randomly divided into intervention and control groups. Microsoft Excel (version 22, Microsoft Corp) with the RAND function was used to randomize the sample. After generating a random number, the participants were divided into control and intervention groups. As 16 adolescents decided not to complete the study or did not fill in the final questionnaire, 104 adolescents (24 adolescent boys and 80 adolescent girls) completed the intervention phase of the study (Figure 1).

The sample size was determined based on the ability to detect an expected mean difference of 0.7 servings, a value that was chosen based on a previous parallel intervention study [18,19], with 80% power and a 5% significance level. The calculated required sample size was 33 adolescents in each group [20]. Thus, anticipating a nearly 50% drop-out rate, we recruited 60 participants for each group.



Shatwan et al

Figure 1. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram for the trial.



#### **Ethics Approval**

The study procedures were approved by the Unit of Biomedical Ethics Research Committee at King Abdulaziz University (101-21). All adolescents participated voluntarily and provided verbal consent for participation in the study; their parents or guardians provided written informed consent. This trial was registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT05692765).

#### **Study Design**

This was a randomized intervention study conducted with 104 adolescents: 49 in the control group and 55 in the intervention group. Adolescents in the intervention group were divided into 11 smaller groups, each containing 5 participants, to explain the app. One of the researchers conducted video conference calls with each of these small intervention groups. The researcher provided a brief presentation about the health benefits and appropriate serving sizes of FVs and explained how to use the smartphone app. An instructional brochure was provided in Arabic to all adolescents in the intervention group. The research team was available to assist participants at any time during the study period. The participants were required to choose 3 of 7 goals for fruits and 3 of 7 goals for vegetables. The fruit goals were as follows: (1) have fruit with dinner; (2) add fruit to your salad; (3) snack on fruit; (4) have fruit for a sweet treat; (5) have fruit with lunch; (6) add frozen, canned, or dried fruit to your meal; and (7) start your day with fruit. The vegetable goals were as follows: (1) have vegetables with dinner; (2) have a dark green vegetable; (3) start your day with vegetables; (4) have a red or orange vegetable; (5) have vegetables with lunch; (6) snack on vegetables; and (7) make a salad or side dish using beans, peas, or lentils. After choosing 6 goals (3 for fruit and 3 for vegetables), the participants were required to mark the goal that they chose daily and were requested to adhere to their chosen goals until the end of the study. They were encouraged to turn on notifications for the app to receive reminder messages. The research team also sent weekly WhatsApp text message reminders (in Arabic) to the adolescents. The intervention period was 6 weeks. Adolescents in the control group were not exposed to the smartphone app and did not receive any advice to promote their FV consumption, which may have affected their FV

consumption. Instead, they were only asked to complete the pre- and postintervention questionnaires.

This study used the free nutritional MyPlate smartphone app, which is readily available on both iOS and Android platforms, to promote FV intake among adolescents. The app uses a multicomponent communications plan that was developed by the US Department of Agriculture Food and Nutrition Service in 2011. The app aids in translating the American Dietary Guidelines to the public and can be used as a nutritional education resource for children and adults. The app icon is an easy, effective, visual platform that helps promote healthy food choices that include all food groups and create a balanced plate at mealtimes. The app allows one to set daily healthy eating goals for each food group and track individual progress [15,16]. Additionally, the Saudi dietary guidelines (including Healthy Saudi Plate) have been developed based on evidence from several dietary guidelines, including the American dietary guidelines [21]. Since no Arabic-language apps are available in smartphone stores with similar features, we used the MyPlate app in the current study.

#### **Data Collection**

All measures were collected via an online questionnaire on Google Forms. The questionnaire consisted of two parts. The first part included sociodemographic data, including information regarding age, sex, school type (private or public), weight and height of the adolescent and their parents, the parents' education level (high school or lower, bachelor's degree, or postgraduate degree), the parents' employment status (employed or unemployed), number of children in the family, and family income. This part of the questionnaire was completed by the participant with the assistance of one of their parents. The research team provided instructions to participants on the appropriate way to measure height and weight using a weight scale and measuring tape. BMI was calculated as the weight in kilograms divided by the height in meters squared (kg/m<sup>2</sup>). BMI was evaluated using the Saudi growth chart (BMI for age). A BMI between the 15th and 85th percentiles was considered normal; BMI between the 85th and 95th percentiles was considered overweight, and BMI above the 95th percentile indicated obesity [22].

#### **FV** Consumption Questionnaires

A validated food-frequency questionnaire (FFQ) was used to compare FV consumption in adolescents at baseline and after the intervention period in both groups. The FFQ was one that has previously been used with some adaptations to make it suitable for Saudi adolescents [13,18]. The response for each FV item was recorded as 1 of 7 frequency options (never, 1-3 times per month, 1 or 2 times per week, 3-4 times per week, 5-6 times per week, once per day, or 2 or more times per day). In total, 22 FFQ items were directly related to vegetable intake, whereas 18 FFQ items were directly related to fruit intake (Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the FVs listed in the FFQ). The response for each FV item had 7 frequency options; thus, it was scored based on a 7-level scale. The highest score was 7 for 2 or more per day, and the lowest score was zero (ie, never). The FV scores were calculated separately, and the sum of the scores for all fruit items for each participant was divided by the total number of fruit items in the FFQ (18); a similar process was used for vegetable scores.

#### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive and inferential statistics were calculated using SPSS for Windows (version 27.0; IBM Corp). Frequency analysis was conducted to evaluate the baseline sociodemographic characteristics of the sample. The differences in age and BMI for adolescents and parents at baseline between the two study groups were compared using a 2-tailed t test. Changes in FV scores between baseline and after the intervention period in the control and intervention groups were analyzed using univariate regression. The smartphone app's effectiveness was examined by comparing FV scores between the intervention and control groups at 6 weeks through univariate regression. Univariate linear models were adjusted for age, sex, parental education, family income, adolescent and parental BMI, and baseline values in the analysis to test the effects of the smartphone app. The data are reported as means (SD). A P value <.05 was considered statistically significant.

# Results

#### **Demographic Characteristics of the Study Sample**

In total, 104 adolescents completed the study, of whom 23.1% were boys (24/104). The mean age of the adolescents was 15.1 (SD 1.6) years, and 75% (78/104) attended public school. The mean body weight was 56.9 (SD 15.8) kg. Most of the adolescents were in the normal body weight range, whereas 10.6% (13/104) were overweight, and 4.8% (6/104) were obese (Table 1). The majority of parents held a bachelor's degree as their highest level of education. Most fathers were employed, whereas most mothers were unemployed. Most families had a middle to high income level, defined as a household income of 10,000 to 20,000 SR (US \$2666 to \$5333). The proportion of boys was lower in the intervention group. No other significant baseline differences were evident for either group. Fathers in the control group had a significantly higher BMI (28.30, SD 9.09 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) compared with fathers in the intervention group (26.54, SD 3.76 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; P=.02). Among mothers, the highest proportion were unemployed and held a bachelor's degree, although no significant differences in maternal demographic factors or BMI were observed between the control and intervention groups.

The main fruit goals chosen by the adolescents were starting the day with fruit or having fruit as a snack (29/55, 52%), having canned fruit or fruit as a sweet (25/55, 45%), and having fruit salad or fruit at dinner (16/55, 29%), whereas the least preferred goal was having fruit at lunch (8/55, 14%). Among the vegetable goals, the most frequently chosen goals were having vegetables at lunch (56%, 31/55), having bean salad (52%, 29/55), having dark green vegetables (47%, 26/55), having vegetables as a snack (36%, 20/55), starting the day with vegetables (34%,19/55), and having red or orange vegetables (32%,18/55), whereas the least chosen goal was having vegetables at dinner (30%,17/55).



#### Shatwan et al

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the study participants in the control and intervention groups. Differences between the control and intervention groups were analyzed using the chi-square test.

	Control group (n=49)	Intervention group (n=55)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)	15.57 (2)	14.74 (1)	.11
Sex, n (%)			<.001
Adolescent boys	20 (41)	4 (7)	
Adolescent girls	29 (59)	51 (93)	
Type of school, n (%)			.77
Government	36 (73)	42 (76)	
Private	13 (27)	13 (24)	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), n (%)			.84
Normal	40 (82)	45 (83)	
Overweight	7 (14)	6 (11)	
Obese	2 (4)	4 (6)	
Paternal education, n (%)			.31
High school or lower	18 (36)	17 (32)	
Bachelor	27 (55)	28 (51)	
Postgraduate	4 (8)	10 (19)	
Paternal occupation, n (%)			.08
Unemployed	1 (2)	3 (6)	
Employed	42 (86)	37 (67)	
Retired	6 (12)	15 (28)	
Paternal BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), mean (SD)	28.30 (9)	26.54 (4)	.02
Maternal occupation, n (%)			.46
Unemployed	28 (57)	35 (65)	
Employed	18 (37)	19 (34)	
Retired	2 (4)	1 (2)	
Student	1 (2)	0	
Maternal education, n (%)			.37
High school or lower	16 (33)	18 (33)	
Bachelor	22 (45)	31 (56)	
Postgraduate	11 (22)	6 (11)	
Maternal BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), mean (SD)	26.55 (6)	26.41 (4)	.90
Number of siblings, mean (SD)	4.93 (2)	4.61 (2)	.50
Family monthly income (SR <sup>a</sup> ), n (%)			.20
Less than 5000	4 (8)	5 (9)	
5000 to <10,000	4 (8)	13 (24)	
10,000 to <20,000	21 (43)	22 (41)	
>20,000	20 (41)	15 (28)	

<sup>a</sup>A conversion rate of 3.75 SR=US \$1 applied.

#### Effects of Using the Smartphone App on FV Scores

The baseline fruit consumption score in the intervention group  $(1.48, SD\, 0.99)$  was slightly higher than that in the control group

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43160

XSL•FO RenderX (1.15, SD 0.68; Table 2). In the intervention group, no significant differences were observed between the scores obtained before and after the intervention for the consumption of either fruit (1.48, SD 0.99 and 1.70, SD 1.11, respectively;

P=.31) or vegetables (1.50, SD 0.97 and 1.43, SD 1.03, respectively; P=.30). The control group showed a significant increase in fruit consumption scores between before (1.15, SD 0.68) and after the intervention (1.64, SD 0.98; P=.01), although it did not show a significant difference in vegetable consumption score (P=.54). However, no significant difference was observed between the intervention and control groups in fruit or vegetable consumption after the intervention.

The intake of individual fruit items increased in both groups (Multimedia Appendix 2). In the control group, there was a significant increase in the consumption of fruit juice (P<.001), fruit salad (P=.003), kiwi (P=.003), and pineapple (P=.01), whereas in the intervention group, there was a significant

increase in the consumption of fruit juice (P=.02), grapefruit (P=.03), and guava (P=.02). No significant changes were observed in vegetable intake in the control group. However, there was a significant decrease in the consumption of potatoes (P=.003), lettuce (P=.007), and Jew's mallow (P=.01) and an increase in the consumption of sweet potatoes (P=.02) in the intervention group. Moreover, a significant difference was found between the intervention and control groups after the intervention period (6 weeks) in some items, including grapefruit (P=.007), potatoes (P=.02), sweet potatoes (P=.04), carrots (P=.007), and cucumber (P=.007). Grapefruit and sweet potato intakes were higher in the intervention group after 6 weeks, whereas potato, carrot, and cucumber intakes were higher in the control group after 6 weeks.

**Table 2.** Fruit and vegetable scores in the control (n=49) and intervention (n=55) groups at baseline and after 6 weeks. The adjusted model was assessed using regression analysis. The estimates were adjusted for age, sex, the adolescents' BMI, the parents' education and BMI, and family income.

	Preintervention	Postintervention	Adjusted P value within group
Fruit score, mean (SD)			
Control	1.15 (0.68)	1.64 (0.98)	.01
Intervention	1.48 (0.99)	1.70 (1.11)	.31
Adjusted P value between groups	.11	.52 <sup>a</sup>	N/A <sup>b</sup>
Vegetable score, mean (SD)			
Control	1.44 (0.97)	1.55 (0.90)	.54
Intervention	1.50 (0.97)	1.43 (1.03)	.30
Adjusted P value between groups	.35	.35 <sup>a</sup>	N/A

<sup>a</sup>These estimates were also adjusted for preintervention values; these P values reflect the different effects of using the smartphone app between the control and intervention groups.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The use of mobile phone-based approaches to encourage healthier lifestyles is becoming more common. To our knowledge, this is the first study conducted in Saudi Arabia to investigate the effects of using a smartphone app on FV intake among adolescents. Although the fruit consumption score was higher in the intervention group at baseline, this group showed no significant increase in fruit intake after 6 weeks of using the app, whereas the control group showed significantly higher fruit consumption. Both control and intervention groups showed no significant changes in vegetable consumption scores before or after the intervention. The control and intervention groups showed a significant increase in consumption of some fruit items, such as fruit juice, compared with the preintervention period. The intake of some vegetable items (ie, potatoes, lettuce, and Jew's mallow) decreased in the intervention group after 6 weeks of using the app, whereas no significant changes in vegetable consumption were observed in the control group. Moreover, we found a significant difference in the consumption of some FV items between the control and intervention groups after 6 weeks of the intervention.

Consistent with our findings, several previous studies have demonstrated low FV consumption among school-aged children

from different regions in Saudi Arabia. According to a previous cross-sectional study, only 12.8% and 22.8% of adolescents (n=2908, age 14-19 years) reported daily consumption of fruits and vegetables, respectively [23]. Similarly, two studies, one conducted among 1335 boys and the other among 512 girls, confirmed low FV intake (less than one portion per day) among teens in Saudi Arabia [9,24]. Additionally, data from 725 Saudi children (age 7-12 years) showed that 69% and 71.4%, respectively, did not consume FV daily [25]. These results highlight the importance of identifying approaches to promote FV consumption among young children and adolescents in Saudi Arabia. Furthermore, the prevalence of overweight and obesity reported in this study was relatively higher than that among Dutch adolescent boys (12.8% and 1.8%, respectively) and girls (14.8% and 2.2%, respectively) [26]. However, our study's prevalence of overweight and obesity was similar to that reported among French adolescents (17.5% and 5.2%, respectively) [27]. Conversely, countries such as Greece have shown higher rates of overweight and obesity among children and adolescents, exceeding 35% [28].

In contrast to our findings, previous studies have confirmed the positive effects of technological interventions, including web-based platforms and smartphone apps, in promoting FV consumption. In one study, an innovative web-based platform (Team Nutriathlon) was used to promote FV intake among

XSL•FO RenderX

adolescents aged 13 to 14 years from the Quebec City region in Canada for 6 weeks. Team Nutriathlon is a 6-week school-based nutrition intervention. The website provided a 6-week calendar on which adolescents were asked to record their consumption of FVs from Monday to Friday. Team Nutriathlon increased FV consumption in the intervention group (n=193) by 3.4 servings, in comparison to an increase of 0.39 servings (n=89) in the control group [13]. Another study evaluated 154 university students (age 18-26 years) to assess the efficacy of web-based nutritional interventions and web interventions with daily text-messaging reminders to increase FV intake. The use of web interventions with daily text-messaging reminders for 4 weeks significantly increased vegetable intake, but not fruit intake [29]. A meta-analysis of the pooled results of 2 computer-based game interventions also showed increased FV consumption [30]. Even without the use of technology, interventions focused on promoting FV intake among children and adolescents showed a significant increase [31,32].

Indeed, it is crucial to note the role of parents in shaping eating behaviors and food preferences from an early stage. Parents are responsible for the availability of healthy food and encouraging children and adolescents to consume and accept different flavors, especially fruits and vegetables, as these foods are not very tasty [33]. Previous research indicates that children who are encouraged by their parents to consume and try fruits and vegetables in their early years have higher acceptance of these food items in their adolescence and adulthood [34]. Moreover, parental involvement in nutrition intervention targeting FV consumption among adolescents significantly improved adolescents' intake of FV [35]. Furthermore, parents may provide positive role modeling to their children in the intake of healthy food. Previous studies showed that college students who dine away from their families and home are highly obese, as they consume foods high in fat and calories and low amounts of fruits and vegetables compared with their counterparts who eat with their families [36]. Thus, our study's low consumption of FV among adolescents might be directly or indirectly related to their parents.

Several prior studies were conducted in schools with the involvement of teachers and peers, which had a positive effect on the adoption of healthy habits and increased FV consumption [37,38]. However, in the current study, the absence of support from teachers and peers due to the closure of schools as a result of the COVD-19 pandemic could be one of the reasons for the lack of a significant increase in FV consumption. The observed increase in fruit consumption in the control group in the current study could be explained by the Hawthorne effect [39], since the adolescents in this group were informed that there was a

questionnaire to complete after the intervention period, which may have encouraged them to increase their consumption, especially after completing the baseline questionnaire (prior to the intervention). Moreover, in our study, we observed an increase in fruit juice intake in both the control and intervention groups. According to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, fruit juice is the main contributor to fruit intake among US adolescents [40,41]. Nevertheless, during the study period, food shops were not closed, nor were there any restrictions placed on circulation that could have had an impact on family FV purchasing power. Moreover, given that the study was conducted between February and March (late winter and early spring), there were no seasonal differences affecting the availability of FV on the market.

#### Limitations

Our study has several limitations, including a limited duration, which should be extended in future research. Second, measuring FV consumption using a self-administered questionnaire may have led to some limitations, although previous studies conducted among individuals in the same age group have employed the same questionnaire, and previous studies showed that a self-administered FFQ is an easy and useful tool for assessing dietary intake among adolescents [42,43]. Third, self-reported weight and height data are considered a limitation of this research; however, the research team instructed all participants on the appropriate methods for measuring weight and height, and a previous study confirmed that self-reporting weight and height is a valid method [44]. Fourth, the lack of involvement of parents in this intervention was also a limitation. However, our study has important strengths. The app is free, straightforward, and easily understood by adolescents, and a brochure explaining the use of the app in Arabic was provided to all adolescents in the intervention group. Moreover, our sample size had sufficient statistical power, and to our knowledge, this was the first study in Saudi Arabia that examined the effects of using a smartphone app to enhance FV intake among adolescents.

#### Conclusions

The low FV intake among adolescents in Saudi Arabia highlights the importance of implementing an approach to promote FV intake in this population. However, the use of a smartphone app in the current study did not increase FV consumption among adolescents in the intervention group after 6 weeks. Future nutritional educational studies aiming to enhance the dietary patterns of adolescents should involve parents, as they have an important role in their children's dietary patterns. Moreover, increased involvement by peers and teachers in schools can promote FV intake among adolescents with beneficial effects.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the adolescents for their time and participation in the study.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

IMS conceptualized the research topic, designed the study, recruited participants, collected data, and produced the initial manuscript draft. RSA, MFB, DAH, and JKS recruited participants, conducted the interviews, collected data, conducted the analyses, and

assisted in writing the initial manuscript draft. NM Aljefree and NM Almoraie conceptualized the research topic, revised the data analysis, and revised the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed and approved the submitted manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Editorial Notice**

This randomized study was only retrospectively registered due to lack of awareness of registration requirements. The editor granted an exception from ICMJE rules mandating prospective registration of randomized trials. However, readers are advised to carefully assess the validity of any potential explicit or implicit claims related to primary outcomes or effectiveness, as retrospective registration does not prevent authors from changing their outcome measures retrospectively.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary Table 1. Fruit and vegetables listed in the food frequency questionnaire. [DOCX File, 30 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e43160\_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Supplementary Table 2. Comparison of fruit and vegetable item scores for the control (n=49) and intervention (n=55) groups at baseline and after 6 weeks.

[DOCX File , 42 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e43160\_app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.2). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 93 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43160 app3.pdf]

#### References

- Daly AN, O'Sullivan EJ, Kearney JM. Considerations for health and food choice in adolescents. Proc Nutr Soc 2022 Mar;81(1):75-86. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0029665121003827</u>] [Medline: <u>35039094</u>]
- Caleyachetty R, Thomas GN, Kengne AP, Echouffo-Tcheugui JB, Schilsky S, Khodabocus J, et al. The double burden of malnutrition among adolescents: analysis of data from the Global School-Based Student Health and Health Behavior in School-Aged Children surveys in 57 low- and middle-income countries. Am J Clin Nutr 2018 Aug 01;108(2):414-424. [doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy105] [Medline: 29947727]
- Keats EC, Rappaport AI, Shah S, Oh C, Jain R, Bhutta ZA. The dietary intake and practices of adolescent girls in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review. Nutrients 2018 Dec 14;10(12):1978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu10121978] [Medline: 30558128]
- 4. Beal T, Morris SS, Tumilowicz A. Global patterns of adolescent fruit, vegetable, carbonated soft drink, and fast-food consumption: a meta-analysis of global school-based student health surveys. Food Nutr Bull 2019 Dec;40(4):444-459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0379572119848287] [Medline: 31617415]
- 5. Ruiz LD, Zuelch ML, Dimitratos SM, Scherr RE. Adolescent obesity: diet quality, psychosocial health, and cardiometabolic risk factors. Nutrients 2019 Dec 23;12(1):43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu12010043] [Medline: 31877943]
- Wallace TC, Bailey RL, Blumberg JB, Burton-Freeman B, Chen CO, Crowe-White KM, et al. Fruits, vegetables, and health: A comprehensive narrative, umbrella review of the science and recommendations for enhanced public policy to improve intake. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2020;60(13):2174-2211. [doi: <u>10.1080/10408398.2019.1632258</u>] [Medline: <u>31267783</u>]
- Albani V, Butler LT, Traill WB, Kennedy OB. Fruit and vegetable intake: change with age across childhood and adolescence. Br J Nutr 2017 Mar;117(5):759-765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0007114517000599] [Medline: 28367762]
- 8. Alasqah I, Mahmud I, East L, Usher K. Patterns of physical activity and dietary habits among adolescents in Saudi Arabia: A systematic review. Int J Health Sci (Qassim) 2021;15(2):39-48 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>33708043</u>]
- Alzahrani SG, Watt RG, Sheiham A, Aresu M, Tsakos G. Patterns of clustering of six health-compromising behaviours in Saudi adolescents. BMC Public Health 2014 Nov 25;14:1215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1215] [Medline: 25420729]
- Marshall AN, Markham C, Ranjit N, Bounds G, Chow J, Sharma SV. Long-term impact of a school-based nutrition intervention on home nutrition environment and family fruit and vegetable intake: A two-year follow-up study. Prev Med Rep 2020 Dec;20:101247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101247] [Medline: 33304772]
- Godrich SL, Davies CR, Darby J, Devine A. Strategies to address the complex challenge of improving regional and remote children's fruit and vegetable consumption. Nutrients 2018 Nov 01;10(11):1603 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu10111603] [Medline: 30388750]
- 12. Ang SM, Chen J, Liew JH, Johal J, Dan YY, Allman-Farinelli M, et al. Efficacy of interventions that incorporate mobile apps in facilitating weight loss and health behavior change in the asian population: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2021 Nov 16;23(11):e28185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28185] [Medline: 34783674]
- Chamberland K, Sanchez M, Panahi S, Provencher V, Gagnon J, Drapeau V. The impact of an innovative web-based school nutrition intervention to increase fruits and vegetables and milk and alternatives in adolescents: a clustered randomized trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Oct 16;14(1):140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0595-7] [Medline: 29037203]
- Appleton KM, Passmore D, Burn I, Pidgeon H, Nation P, Boobyer C, et al. An Interactive Mobile Phone App (SMART 5-A-DAY) for Increasing Knowledge of and Adherence to Fruit and Vegetable Recommendations: Development and Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Nov 20;7(11):e14380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14380] [Medline: 31746766]
- 15. Chrisman M, Diaz Rios LK. Evaluating myplate after 8 years: a perspective. J Nutr Educ Behav 2019;51(7):899-903. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2019.02.006] [Medline: 30902427]
- Levine E, Abbatangelo-Gray J, Mobley AR, McLaughlin GR, Herzog J. Evaluating MyPlate: an expanded framework using traditional and nontraditional metrics for assessing health communication campaigns. J Nutr Educ Behav 2012;44(4):S2-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2012.05.011] [Medline: 22732709]
- Brown ON, O'Connor LE, Savaiano D. Mobile MyPlate: a pilot study using text messaging to provide nutrition education and promote better dietary choices in college students. J Am Coll Health 2014;62(5):320-327. [doi: 10.1080/07448481.2014.899233] [Medline: 24654921]
- Schroeter C, Corder T, Brookes B, Reller V. An incentive-based health program using MyPlate: a pilot study analyzing college students' dietary intake behavior. J Am Coll Health 2021 Apr;69(3):252-259. [doi: <u>10.1080/07448481.2019.1661845</u>] [Medline: <u>31566483</u>]
- Richards A, Kattelmann KK, Ren C. Motivating 18- to 24-year-olds to increase their fruit and vegetable consumption. J Am Diet Assoc 2006 Sep;106(9):1405-1411. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2006.06.005] [Medline: 16963345]
- 20. Schoenfeld D. Statistical considerations for clinical trials and scientific experiments. Massachusetts General Hospital. URL: http://hedwig.mgh.harvard.edu/sample\_size/size.html [accessed 2020-11-21]
- 21. The guidelines of Saudi healthy plate. Saudi Food and Drug Authorities. 2020. URL: <u>https://sfda.gov.sa/ar/regulations/69650</u> [accessed 2022-05-01]
- El Mouzan M, Salloum AA, Omer AA, Alqurashi M, Herbish AA. Growth reference for Saudi school-age children and adolescents: LMS parameters and percentiles. Ann Saudi Med 2016;36(4):265-268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5144/0256-4947.2016.265] [Medline: 27478912]
- Al-Hazzaa HM, Abahussain NA, Al-Sobayel HI, Qahwaji DM, Musaiger AO. Physical activity, sedentary behaviors and dietary habits among Saudi adolescents relative to age, gender and region. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011 Dec 21;8:140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-140] [Medline: 22188825]
- 24. Musaiger A, Zagzoog N. Dietary and lifestyle habits among adolescent girls in Saudi Arabia: a comparison between private and government schools. Nutr Food Sci 2013;43(6):a. [doi: 10.1108/nfs-12-2012-0130]
- 25. Alsubaie ASR. Intake of fruit, vegetables and milk products and correlates among school boys in Saudi Arabia. Int J Adolesc Med Health 2018 May 09;33(1):20180051. [doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2018-0051] [Medline: 29742063]
- 26. Schönbeck Y, Talma H, van Dommelen P, Bakker B, Buitendijk SE, Hirasing RA, et al. Increase in prevalence of overweight in Dutch children and adolescents: a comparison of nationwide growth studies in 1980, 1997 and 2009. PLoS One 2011;6(11):e27608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027608] [Medline: 22110687]
- 27. Klein-Platat C, Wagner A, Haan MC, Arveiler D, Schlienger JL, Simon C. Prevalence and sociodemographic determinants of overweight in young French adolescents. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2003;19(2):153-158. [doi: 10.1002/dmrr.368] [Medline: 12673784]
- Tragomalou A, Moschonis G, Kassari P, Papageorgiou I, Genitsaridi S, Karampatsou S, et al. A national e-health program for the prevention and management of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence in Greece. Nutrients 2020 Sep 18;12(9):2858 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu12092858] [Medline: 32961973]
- 29. O'Brien LM, Palfai TP. Efficacy of a brief web-based intervention with and without SMS to enhance healthy eating behaviors among university students. Eat Behav 2016 Dec;23:104-109. [doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2016.08.012] [Medline: 27619174]
- Delgado-Noguera M, Tort S, Martínez-Zapata MJ, Bonfill X. Primary school interventions to promote fruit and vegetable consumption: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med 2011;53(1-2):3-9. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2011.04.016</u>] [Medline: <u>21601591</u>]
- 31. Morrill BA, Madden GJ, Wengreen HJ, Fargo JD, Aguilar SS. A randomized controlled trial of the Food Dudes Program: tangible rewards are more effective than social rewards for increasing short- and long-term fruit and vegetable consumption. J Acad Nutr Diet 2016 Apr;116(4):618-629. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.07.001] [Medline: 26297598]
- Drapeau V, Savard M, Gallant A, Nadeau L, Gagnon J. The effectiveness of a school-based nutrition intervention on children's fruit, vegetables, and dairy product intake. J Sch Health 2016 May;86(5):353-362. [doi: <u>10.1111/josh.12385</u>] [Medline: <u>27040473</u>]

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43160

RenderX

- 33. Anzman SL, Rollins BY, Birch LL. Parental influence on children's early eating environments and obesity risk: implications for prevention. Int J Obes (Lond) 2010 Jul;34(7):1116-1124. [doi: 10.1038/ijo.2010.43] [Medline: 20195285]
- Mennella JA, Nicklaus S, Jagolino AL, Yourshaw LM. Variety is the spice of life: strategies for promoting fruit and vegetable acceptance during infancy. Physiol Behav 2008 Apr 22;94(1):29-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.11.014] [Medline: 18222499]
- 35. Jørgensen SE, Jørgensen TS, Aarestrup AK, Due P, Krølner R. Parental involvement and association with adolescents' fruit and vegetable intake at follow-up: Process evaluation results from the multi-component school-based Boost intervention. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 Oct 26;13(1):112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0435-1] [Medline: 27782838]
- Amin TT, Al-Sultan AI, Ali A. Overweight and obesity and their relation to dietary habits and socio-demographic characteristics among male primary school children in Al-Hassa, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Eur J Nutr 2008 Sep;47(6):310-318. [doi: 10.1007/s00394-008-0727-6] [Medline: 18677544]
- Chaudhary A, Sudzina F, Mikkelsen BE. Promoting healthy eating among young people-a review of the evidence of the impact of school-based interventions. Nutrients 2020 Sep 22;12(9):2894 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/nu12092894</u>] [Medline: <u>32971883</u>]
- Glasson C, Chapman K, Gander K, Wilson T, James E. The efficacy of a brief, peer-led nutrition education intervention in increasing fruit and vegetable consumption: a wait-list, community-based randomised controlled trial. Public Health Nutr 2012 Jul;15(7):1318-1326. [doi: 10.1017/S1368980012000043] [Medline: 22314053]
- Williams PA, Cates SC, Blitstein JL, Hersey J, Gabor V, Ball M, et al. Nutrition-education program improves preschoolers' at-home diet: a group randomized trial. J Acad Nutr Diet 2014 Jul;114(7):1001-1008. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jand.2014.01.015</u>] [Medline: <u>24667090</u>]
- 40. Kimmons J, Gillespie C, Seymour J, Serdula M, Blanck HM. Fruit and vegetable intake among adolescents and adults in the United States: percentage meeting individualized recommendations. Medscape J Med 2009;11(1):26. [Medline: <u>19295947</u>]
- Herrick KA, Rossen LM, Nielsen SJ, Branum AM, Ogden CL. Fruit consumption by youth in the United States. Pediatrics 2015 Oct;136(4):664-671 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-1709] [Medline: 26391940]
- 42. Barchitta M, Maugeri A, Agrifoglio O, Favara G, La Mastra C, La Rosa MC, et al. Comparison of self-administered web-based and interviewer printed food frequency questionnaires for dietary assessment in Italian adolescents. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Jun 01;16(11):194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16111949] [Medline: 31159389]
- 43. Notario-Barandiaran L, Freire C, García-de-la-Hera M, Compañ-Gabucio LM, Torres-Collado L, González-Palacios S, et al. Reproducibility and validity of a food frequency questionnaire for dietary assessment in adolescents in a self-reported way. Nutrients 2020 Jul 14;12(7):2081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu12072081] [Medline: 32674463]
- Davies A, Wellard-Cole L, Rangan A, Allman-Farinelli M. Validity of self-reported weight and height for BMI classification: A cross-sectional study among young adults. Nutrition 2020 Mar;71:110622. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nut.2019.110622</u>] [Medline: <u>31837644</u>]

# Abbreviations

**FFQ:** food frequency questionnaire **FV:** fruit and vegetable

Edited by S Badawy, G Eysenbach; submitted 01.10.22; peer-reviewed by E Johnson; comments to author 24.10.22; revised version received 21.11.22; accepted 25.12.22; published 09.02.23.

Please cite as:

Shatwan IM, Alhefani RS, Bukhari MF, Hanbazazah DA, Srour JK, Surendran S, Aljefree NM, Almoraie NM Effects of a Smartphone App on Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among Saudi Adolescents: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43160 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43160 doi:10.2196/43160 PMID:36757770

©Israa M Shatwan, Rabab S Alhefani, Mawadah F Bukhari, Danah A Hanbazazah, Jumanah K Srour, Shelini Surendran, Najlaa M Aljefree, Noha M Almoraie. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 09.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Evaluating the Effectiveness of Interventions to Improve the Follow-up Rate for Children With Visual Disabilities in an Eye Hospital in Nepal: Nonrandomized Study

Manisha Shrestha<sup>1</sup>, MS; Gopal Bhandari<sup>1</sup>, M Optom; Sureshkumar Kamalakannan<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Gudlavalleti Venkata Satyanarayana Murthy<sup>2</sup>, MD; Suresh Kumar Rathi<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Anirudh Gaurang Gudlavalleti<sup>2</sup>, MA; Varun Agiwal<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Hira Pant<sup>2</sup>, MA; Binod Pandey<sup>1</sup>, Dip (Ophthalmic Science); Ramesh Ghimire<sup>1</sup>, Dip (Community Eye Health); Daman Ale<sup>1</sup>, BOptom; Sajani Kayastha<sup>1</sup>, Dip (Ophthalmic Science); Rakshya Karki<sup>1</sup>, Dip (Ophthalmic Science); Daya Shankar Chaudhary<sup>1</sup>, MA; Raghunandan Byanju<sup>1</sup>, MS; Operational Research Capacity Building Study Group<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Bharatpur Eye Hospital, Bharatpur Metropolitan City, Chitwan, Nepal

<sup>2</sup>Indian Institute of Public Health, Hyderabad, India

<sup>3</sup>see Acknowledgments

# **Corresponding Author:**

Manisha Shrestha, MS Bharatpur Eye Hospital Bypass Rd-10 Bharatpur Metropolitan City, Chitwan, 42201 Nepal Phone: 977 9845023273 Email: maneeshasht9845@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Monitoring ocular morbidity among pediatric patients requires regular follow-up visits. We found that the follow-up rate was poor among children in our setting. Therefore, we intended to assess the effectiveness of 2 interventions—(1) counseling and (2) SMS text messaging and phone calls—to improve the follow-up rates.

**Objective:** This study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of 2 interventions, counseling and SMS and phone calls group, as well as a routine standard care for improving the follow-up rate of pediatric patients.

**Methods:** A Nonrandomized, quasiexperimental design was used. Children (aged 0-16 years) with ocular conditions requiring at least 3 follow-up visits during the study period were included. A total of 264 participants were equally allocated to the 3 intervention groups of (1) counseling, (2) SMS and phone calls, and (3) routine standard care group. A 20-minute counseling session by a trained counselor with the provision of disease-specific leaflets were given to those in the counseling group. For the second intervention group, parents of children received an SMS text 3 days before and a phone call 1 day before their scheduled follow-up visits. Participants allocated for the routine standard care group were provided with the existing services with no additional counseling and reminders. Participants attending 3 follow-ups within 2 days of the scheduled visit date were considered compliant. The difference in and among the proportion of participants completing all 3 follow-up visits in each group was assessed.

**Results:** The demographic characteristics of the participants were similar across the study groups. Only 3% (8/264) of participants completed all 3 follow-up visits, but overall compliance with the follow-up, as defined by the investigators, was found to be only 0.76% (2/264). There was no statistically significant difference in the proportion of follow-up between the intervention groups. However, the proportion of participants attending the first and second follow-ups, as well as the overall total number of follow-ups, was more in the SMS and phone-call group followed by the counseling group.

**Conclusions:** We did not find any evidence on the effectiveness of our interventions to improve the follow-up rate. The primary reason could be that this study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic. It could also be possible that the intensity of the interventions may have influenced the outcomes. A rigorously designed study during the absence of any lockdown restrictions is warranted to evaluate intervention effectiveness. The study also provides useful insights and highlights the importance of designing and systematically developing interventions for improving the follow-up rate and ensuring a continuum of care to children with visual disabilities in Nepal and similar contexts.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04837534; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04837534

RenderX

#### International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/31578

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43814) doi:10.2196/43814

#### **KEYWORDS**

counseling; follow-up; intervention study; Nepal; ophthalmology; pediatrics; public health

# Introduction

#### Background

Childhood visual impairment and blindness remain an important public health issue. An estimated 1.4 million children globally are blind [1]. The Nepal Pediatric Ocular Disease study in 2014 estimated a childhood blindness and severe visual impairment (visual acuity<6/60) prevalence of 70/100,000 [2]. Another study in the Narayani Zone of Nepal in 2017 estimated the prevalence of childhood blindness and severe visual impairment as 30/100,000 and moderate visual impairment as 25/100,000 [3]. Increasing the global knowledge base and planning for effective childhood eye care services is a top priority to enable children with visual impairment to realize their full visual potential [4]. Follow-up of pediatric patients is important for their regular ocular morbidity monitoring, especially for amblyopia management [4,5].

The pediatric eye care teams at Bharatpur Eye Hospital (BEH) observed that there was poor adherence to follow-up visits of children with visual impairment. An exploratory analysis of data during the first week (January 1, 2019, to January 7, 2019) revealed that follow-up compliance was very low among children aged 0 to 16 years in the pediatric department. Among the children advised for follow-up, only 22% were found to have come for at least one follow-up visit. A problem analysis showed that a lack of awareness in children and their parents regarding the importance of follow-up and patients forgetting the dates of the follow-up visit (usually when there is a long gap for follow-up) may be the major contributing factors to poor adherence to follow-up.

A study from India revealed distance and cost as major barriers, as was the inability of the eye care center to communicate the importance of follow-up [6]. Another study conducted in Nepal found poor follow-up rates for patients following pediatric cataract surgery, which, however, improved after the implementation of a high-quality pediatric counseling service, a follow-up program, a tracking system, and phone reminders [7]. Many studies have compared different methods of reminder options such as telephone calls, email, and SMS text messages to improve compliance with follow-up [8-12]. A study done to improve the neonatal follow-up showed that the monthly first-visit show rate increased from 60% to 76% during the intervention period, and 75% of families who received parent education presented for their initial visit, compared to 51% of families who did not receive parent education [13]. Although several interventions were experimented in previous studies, it is still not clear which kinds and components of the interventions were influencing treatment effectiveness. It is also documented that the interventions and the definition of follow-up differed in terms of intensity, duration, and time, respectively. Therefore, in order to improve the follow-up of children with visual

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43814

XSL•FO

impairment in BEH and Nepal in general, we intended to assess the effectiveness of different kinds of interventions to improve follow-up in these client groups.

#### **Primary Objective**

The aim of this paper is to assess the effectiveness of 2 different interventions, namely counseling and SMS and phone calls, against routine standard care to improve follow-up of children with visual impairment in BEH Nepal.

# Methods

#### Study Design

This is a nonrandomized, quasiexperimental study.

#### Setting

This study was conducted at the Hiralal Santudevi Pradhan Institute of Ophthalmic Sciences. BEH is a centrally located tertiary eye hospital in the Chitwan district of Nepal.

#### **Participants**

The participants of this study were selected considering the following criteria:

- Children with a visual impairment, aged 0-16 years
- Enrolled in the pediatric department of BEH
- Diagnosed with ocular conditions requiring at least 3 follow-up visits
- Supported by parents or guardians having a mobile phone who can use the mobile phone and read SMS texts

#### Intervention

#### **Counseling Group**

The parent or guardian and the child received a 20-minute counseling session from a trained counselor (SK) as per a structured counseling protocol at every follow-up visit where the disease-specific leaflet was used as a counseling tool, a copy of which was also handed over to them. The counseling protocol for common ocular conditions had been designed by the research team. Children, along with their parents or guardians, received counseling irrespective of participant age, parental education, ocular conditions, and other factors. If more than one guardian or both parents accompanied the child, both were included in the counseling session. The counselor delivered verbal counseling for all participants in all follow-up visits irrespective of the ocular conditions and other factors.

#### SMS Text Message and Phone Call Group

The parents of children received an SMS text 3 days before and a phone call 1 day before their scheduled follow-up visits. Text messages were sent until it was confirmed that the message had been received. In the case of message delivery failure, it was sent 3 more times to ensure successful delivery. A phone call

was deemed to be completed once it was received by the respondent; calls were repeated at least 3 times if the phone was not answered in the first or second instance. If the call was not answered even after 3 attempts, the participant was excluded from the study.

#### **Routine Standard Care Group or Control Group**

In this group, the children underwent visual acuity testing and refraction by an optometrist. The pediatric ophthalmologist performed a detailed ocular examination and advised necessary investigations to diagnose and formulate a treatment plan. Basic counseling was done by the consultant regarding the ocular condition, treatment, and need for follow-up. No additional counseling or reminders were offered to these patients.

#### **Compliance to Follow-up**

The participants' first visit to the hospital and the 3 scheduled follow-up visits needed to be completed for them to be considered compliant with the follow-up. Only those participants who completed the first follow-up were considered for the second follow-up, and only those who came for the second follow-up were considered for the third follow-up. This definition was adopted from a protocol used in an earlier study in Nepal [7].

The patients were considered compliant to follow-up only if they came within the window period of (+/–) 2 days close to their scheduled visit. The rescheduling of the next follow-up date was calculated from the attended date as per the follow-up schedule for each ocular condition. The purpose of observing compliance to follow-up was to determine the impact of counseling and reminders through SMS texts and phone calls on the increment of the proportion of children completing their 3 follow-up visits based on the developed proforma and to find out if the differences in the proportion in the follow-up rate between the 3 different groups were statistically significant.

#### **Data Analysis**

Data were processed and analyzed using Excel (Microsoft Corp) and STATA version 14.2. (Stata Corp) The results were

presented in terms of frequency counts with percentages for categorical variables. The significant association or difference between different intervention groups was measured by chi-square with degree of freedom for qualitative variables. A *P* value of less than .05 was considered significant.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics approval was obtained from the Ethical Review Board (ERB) of the Nepal Health Research Council (ERB protocol registration #761/2020 P and ClinicalTrials.gov No: NCT04837534). Written consent was taken from the children in an assent form (if aged 9 years or older) and from their parents or guardians in a consent form before enrolling them in the study. All the information collected was secured and stored safely by the chief investigators. The data were completely anonymized for the purpose of privacy and confidentiality. The participants were not compensated for participating in the study.

# Results

# **Demographic Characteristics**

A total of 264 participants were enrolled in this study. The participants were divided randomly (alternate sequence) and were equally allocated into 3 study groups. Routine standard care group, SMS text message and phone call group, and the counseling group. Demographic characteristics of the participants, such as gender, age groups, ethnicity, parental educational status, parents or guardian accompanying the child, and occupation of parents were equally distributed among the study groups, and the difference was not statistically significant. About 62% (n=164) of the participants were male, and 38% (100) were female. Factors such as the total distance from the hospital, the time taken, and the cost incurred for the travel by participants to reach the hospital in the 3 study groups were also not statistically significant. The baseline characteristics of the participants in each group were not very different. Table 1 provides the details of the participants' demographic characteristics.



Shrestha et al

Table 1. Sociodemographic profile of the participants based on different study groups (N=264).

Characteristics	Routine standard care, n (%)	Counseling, n (%)	SMS and phone call, n (%)	Total, n (%)	Chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	P value
Gender					0.2254 (2)	.89
Male	56 (63.64)	53 (60.23)	55 (62.50)	164 (62.12)		
Female	32 (36.36)	35 (39.77)	33 (37.50)	100 (37.88)		
Age group					4.36 (2)	.11
≤8 years	58 (65.91)	69 (78.41)	68 (72.27)	195 (73.86)		
>8 years	30 (34.09)	19 (21.59)	20 (22.73)	69 (26.14)		
Parents or guardian					1.9003 (4)	.75
Mother	58 (21.96)	58 (21.96)	67 (25.37)	183 (69.31)		
Father	17 (6.43)	19 (7.19)	14 (5.30)	50 (18.93)		
Others	13 (4.92)	10 (3.78)	7 (2.65)	30 (11.36)		
Ethnicity					0.7858 (2)	.68
Aryan	54 (61.36)	54 (61.36)	49 (55.68)	157 (59.47)		
Mongol and others	34 (38.64)	34 (38.64)	39 (44.34)	107 (40.53)		
Educational status of parent or guardian					8.87 (6)	.18
Illiterate	10 (11.36)	6 (6.82)	10 (11.36)	26 (9.85)		
Primary	5 (5.68)	11 (12.50)	7 (7.95)	23 (8.71)		
Secondary and higher secondary	62 (70.45)	54 (61.36)	49 (55.68)	165 (62.50)		
Bachelor and above	11 (12.50)	17 (19.32)	22 (25)	50 (18.94)		
Occupation					0.9126 (2)	.63
Non-income-generating occupation	53 (6023)	59 (67.05)	55 (62.50)	167 (63.26)		
Income-generating occupation	35 (39.77)	29 (32.95)	33 (37.50)	97 (36.74)		
Distance (km)					2.39 (4)	.66
0-50	76 (86.36)	76 (86.36)	71 (80.68)	223 (84.47)		
51-100	6 (6.82)	6 (6.82)	6 (6.82)	18 (6.82)		
>100	6 (6.82)	6 (6.82)	11 (12.86)	23 (8.71)		
Time taken (min)					5.2414 (4)	.26
0-30	59 (67.05)	60 (68.18)	56 (63.64)	175 (66.29)		
31-60	17 (19.32)	19 (21.59)	13 (14.77)	49 (18.56)		
>60	12 (13.64)	9 (10.23)	19 (21.59)	40 (15.15)		
Cost of 2-way travel (NR <sup>a</sup> )					4.002 (4)	.41
0-100	40 (45.45)	49 (55.68)	43 (48.86)	132 (50.00)		
101-500	40 (45.45)	30 (34.09)	32 (36.36)	102 (38.64)		
>500	8 (9.09)	9 (10.23)	13 (14.77)	30 (11.36)		

<sup>a</sup>NR: Nepalese Rupee (US \$1=NR 132).

#### Impact of the Intervention on Follow-up

This study did not find any statistically significant difference between the study groups during the follow-ups (first follow-up chi-square:  $\chi^2_2=3.19$ , *P*=.20; second follow-up chi-square:  $\chi^2_2=0.92$ , *P*=.62; and third follow-up chi-square:  $\chi^2_2=0.25$ , *P*=.86). However, the proportion of participants attending the first and second follow-ups as well as the overall total number

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43814

XSL•FO RenderX of follow-ups was more in the SMS and phone call group followed by the counseling group. In the routine standard care group, only 3 participants attended all 3 follow-up visits, and out of them, only 1 participant attended all the follow-ups on schedule. Similarly, 3 participants in the counseling group and 2 participants in the SMS and phone call attended all 3 follow-ups, respectively. Among them, none of the participants attended the follow-up on schedule in the counseling group, and only 1 participant was on schedule in the SMS and phone

call group. The overall compliance with the follow-up as defined by the investigators was found to be 0.76% (2/264). Table 2 provides more details related to the participants' follow-up. Except for the first follow-up, it was also observed that most participants who attended the second and third follow-ups attended it after the schedule.

The cost for 2-way travel between the groups was also not statistically significant (Table 3). A comprehensive cost-effectiveness analysis of the interventions is being carried out, and its results will be published as a separate paper.

Comparing the compliance to the follow-up with some specific demographic characteristics showed no statistically significant difference (Table 4). About 50%-55% of parents or guardians who had secondary or higher secondary education attended the first, second, and third follow-ups. Male children were brought to the follow-ups more in all 3 groups compared to female children. Among the participants who attended all 3 follow-ups, all were accompanied by their mothers. About 65% (127/195) of the participants who attended the follow-ups belonged to the non–income-generating group.

Table 2. Impact of the interventions on follow-up.

Variables	Routine standard care (n=88), n (%)	Counselling (n=88), n (%)	SMS and phone call (n=88), n (%)	Total (N=264)	Chi-square (df)	P value
F/u <sup>a</sup> category						
Advised for f/u	88 (100)	88 (100)	88 (100)	N/A <sup>b</sup>	N/A	
First f/u attended	24 (28.92)	25 (28.41)	34 (38.64)	83 (31.44)	3.19 (2)	.20
Second f/u attended	9 (10.23)	10 (11.36)	13 (14.77)	32 (12.12)	0.92 (2)	.62
Third f/u attended	3 (3.41)	3 (3.41)	2 (2.27)	8 (100)	0.25 (2)	.86
Total f/u visits	36 (29.27)	38 (30.89)	49 (39.84)	123 (100)	2.83 (2)	.24
Actual attended date at first f/u (	n=83)				5.57 (4)	.23
Prior to schedule	6 (25.00)	5 (20.00)	3 (8.82)	14 (16.87)		
On schedule	10 (41.67)	9 (36.00)	21 (61.76)	40 (48.19)		
After schedule	8 (33.33)	11 (44.00)	10 (29.41)	29 (34.94)		
Actual attended date at second f/	u (n=32)				3.25 (4)	.51
Prior to schedule	2 (22.22)	0	2 (15.38)	4 (12.50)		
On schedule	1 (11.11)	3 (30.00)	4 (30.77)	8 (25.00)		
After schedule	6 (66.67)	7 (70.00)	7 (53.85)	20 (62.50)		
Actual attended date at third f/u	( <b>n=8</b> )				4.00 (4)	.40
Prior to schedule	0	1 (33.33)	1 (50.00)	2 (25.00)		
On schedule	1 (33.33)	0	1 (50.00)	2 (25.00)		
After schedule	2 (66.67)	2 (67.67)	0	4 (50.00)		

<sup>a</sup>F/u: follow-up.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

Table 3. Travel cost with follow-up attendance (N=264).

Variables	Presenting, n (%)	First f/u <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	Chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	P value	Second f/u, n (%)	Chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	P value	Third f/u, n (%)	Chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	P value
Cost category (N	P <sup>b</sup> )		4.84 (2)	.09		5.73 (2)	.06		5.15 (2)	.08
Up to 100	132 (50.00)	36 (43.37)			13 (40.63)			1 (12.50)		
101-500	102 (38.64)	40 (48.19)			18 (56.25)			6 (75.00)		
>500	30 (11.36)	7 (8.43)			1 (3.13)			1 (3.03)		

 $^{a}F/u$ : follow-up.

RenderX

<sup>b</sup>NP: Nepalese Rupees; cost of 2-way travel per person (US \$1=NR 132).

Table 4. Comparison of compliance to follow-up rate with sociodemographic profile.

Characteristics	First f/u <sup>a</sup> attended (n=83), n (%)	P value	Second f/u attended (n=32), n (%)	P value	Third f/u attended (n=8), n (%)	P value
Gender	·	.34	•	.26		.45
Male	55 (66.27)		17 (53.13)		6 (75)	
Female	28 (33.73)		15 (46.88)		2 (25)	
Age group		.16		.79		.94
≤8 years	66 (79.52)		23 (71.88)		6 (75)	
>8 years	17 (20.48)		9 (28.13)		2 (25)	
Parents or guardian		.14		.90		.16
Mother or both parents	62 (79.49)		23 (79.31)		8 (100)	
Father	16 (20.51)		6 (20.69)		0	
Others	5 (1.89)		3 (1.13)		0	
Ethnicity		.15		.69		.58
Aryan	44 (53.01)		18 (56.25)		4 (50)	
Mongol and others	39 (46.99)		14 (43.75)		4 (50)	
Educational status of parent or	guardian	.31		.21		.90
Illiterate	10 (12.05)		3 (9.38)		1 (12.50)	
Primary	9 (10.85)		1 (3.13)		1 (12.50)	
Secondary and higher second	ary 45 (54.22)		18 (56.25)		4 (50)	
Bachelor and above	19 (22.89)		10 (31.25)		2 (25)	
Occupation		.68		.21		.48
Non-income-generating grou	p 51 (61.45)		17 (53.13)		6 (75)	
Income-generating group	32 (38.55		15 (46.88)		2 (25)	

<sup>a</sup>F/u: follow-up.

### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study aimed to assess the effect of counseling as one intervention and SMS and phone call together as another intervention compared to the routine standard care (control group) to increase the follow-up rate of children with visual impairment in 1 tertiary care hospital in Nepal, and it did not find any statistically significant difference between the study groups on the follow-up rate. The baseline data on follow-up in the pediatric department from January 2019 was 22%, which we assumed would be improved to 50% with our intervention; however, compliance to follow-up, as defined in our study, was very low (ie, 0.76%). Nevertheless, compared to the standard as well as counseling group, the proportion of participants in the first, second, and third follow-up combined was more in the SMS and phone call group. This was only applicable if the strict definition for compliance to follow-up was not applied.

There may be several reasons for poor compliance to follow-up in this study. One of the possible reasons could be the COVID-19 pandemic and the lockdown restriction imposed during the time when participant recruitment took place. Fear of potential risks of COVID-19 infection as well as the serious health and socioeconomic consequences of breaching the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43814
```

RenderX

pandemic restrictions might have influenced compliance to follow-up.

The other potential reason could be the intensity and the timing of the intervention. The content of the counseling intervention and the duration of 20 minutes might not have been effective enough to produce a sizeable effect on the outcomes of this study. This is very similar to the number of calls, the content of the conversation, and the acceptability of the text messages by the participants. Given that the intervention was developed based on previous experience rather than systematic development as recommended by the Medical Research Council guidelines, the factors that could influence treatment effectiveness may have been missed out. Lastly, the affordability of the participants for 3 continued follow-ups as recommended by the investigator team may also have been a factor to consider. This is of immense interest to the investigators, and a comprehensive study is in progress to understand the effect of costs on compliance with follow-up.

Different studies have shown varied results regarding the effect of these kinds of interventions on people with visual impairments. Follow-up rates have been found to improve with these types of interventions in some studies, while other studies show no significant improvement [7-21]. For example, a similar study conducted in Nepal to improve follow-up among pediatric

patients with cataract found that the rate of follow-up for first, second, and third follow-up visits increased from 87% to 96%, 60% to 81%, and 37% to 57% without and with the intervention, respectively [7]. However, there was a full-time pediatric counselor, a tracking system, and a cell phone reminder used as intervention packages, which are different from the interventions used in this study.

This study has several implications. Firstly, there is a need to systematically develop interventions to address the growing needs of people with visual impairments, particularly in the community. Given the economic situation of most participants in a country such as Nepal, continuum of care through sustainable interventions must be explored further. Given the complexity of the intervention, it is also essential to have a dedicated team trained exclusively to focus on follow-up and community-based care rather than using the task transfer or multitasking approach to address the needs of persons with visual disabilities. This study also highlights the need for an inclusive program during the pandemic that must be organized by the government for people with visual impairment in a country such as Nepal, considering the risks and consequences of the pandemic on this vulnerable group.

#### Limitations

Similar to other studies on this topic, there are certain limitations. The study was quasiexperimental in design, and a controlled clinical trial would be a rigorous design to evaluate the effects accurately. Recruitment during the pandemic, especially for an outcome related to follow-up, may not seem feasible. However, this study has provided the opportunity to understand the disadvantages of recruitment for a study related to follow-up during lockdown travel restrictions. This knowledge will help the investigators conduct a feasibility study before embarking on a sufficiently powered, large clinical trial. Lastly, a very strict definition of compliance to follow-up could have also been a reason for poor compliance.

Visual impairment is an important public health problem in Nepal. Given the geographical and attitudinal barriers to accessing specific evidence-based eye care services, it is important to sensitize people experiencing disability due to visual impairments about the importance of the continuum of care. Similarly, it is also very important to build the capacity of institution-based teams to develop pathways, protocols, and effective interventions to address the unmet needs of people with visual impairments in Nepal through inclusive and affordable strategies.

#### Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge the Seva Foundation and the Indian Institute of Public Health–Hyderabad for their valuable guidance and support of this work, as well as the management and staff of Bharatpur Eye Hospital (BEH) for their contributions to various aspects of this study.

# **Data Availability**

The data collected have been presented in the manuscript. Any request for additional data will be reviewed by the advisory committee and will be shared upon request.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

MS, GB, SKR, SKK, AGG, BP, RG, DSC, and RB conceptualized and designed the study. DA, RK, and SK were responsible for the consent form and information leaflets. SK provided counseling to the study participants. DA and RK conducted the data collection and data entry. MS, GB, BP, SKK, VA, and HBP did the data analysis. MS, GB, and SKK drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

The Operational Research Capacity Building Study Group consisted of the following members:

Indian Institute of Public Health, Hyderabad (Public Health Foundation of India): Prof Gudlavalleti Venkata Satyanarayana Murthy, Dr Suresh Kumar Rathi, Dr Sureshkumar Kamalakannan, Dr Rajan Shukla, Dr Samiksha Singh, Dr Shailaja Tetali, Dr Hemant Mahajan, Dr Tripura Batchu, Dr Anirudh G Gudlavalleti, Dr Melissa G Lewis, Dr Varun Agiwal and Mr Hira Pant. SEVA: Dr Suzanne Gilbert, Dr Ken Bassett, Ms Priya Adhisesha Reddy, Ms Parami Dhakhwa, Mr Ram Prasad Kandel, Mr Kuldeep Singh and Mr Prasanna Sharma.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

RenderX

- Solebo AL, Teoh L, Rahi J. Epidemiology of blindness in children. Arch Dis Child 2017 Sep 02;102(9):853-857 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-310532] [Medline: 28465303]
- 2. Adhikari S, Shrestha M, Adhikari K, Maharjan N, Shrestha U. Causes of visual impairment and blindness in children in three ecological regions of Nepal: Nepal Pediatric Ocular Diseases Study. OPTH 2015 Aug:1543. [doi: 10.2147/opth.s89431]

- Byanju RN, Kandel RP, Sharma P, Thapa HB, Shrestha M, Bassett K. Childhood blindness and visual impairment in the Narayani Zone of Nepal: a population-based survey. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2019 Aug;26(4):257-263. [doi: 10.1080/09286586.2019.1604976] [Medline: <u>31030589</u>]
- 4. Kishiki E, van Dijk K, Courtright P. Strategies to improve follow-up of children after surgery for cataract: findings from Child Eye Health Tertiary Facilities in sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. Eye (Lond) 2016 Sep 29;30(9):1234-1241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/eye.2016.169] [Medline: 27472213]
- 5. Chen AM, Cotter SA. The Amblyopia Treatment Studies: Implications for Clinical Practice. Adv Ophthalmol Optom 2016 Aug;1(1):287-305 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.yaoo.2016.03.007] [Medline: 28435934]
- Gogate P, Patil S, Kulkarni A, Mahadik A, Tamboli R, Mane R, et al. Barriers to follow-up for pediatric cataract surgery in Maharashtra, India: how regular follow-up is important for good outcome. The Miraj Pediatric Cataract Study II. Indian J Ophthalmol 2014 Mar;62(3):327-332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/0301-4738.116465] [Medline: 24008794]
- Rai SK, Thapa H, Kandel RP, Ishaq M, Bassett K. Clinical and cost impact of a pediatric cataract follow-up program in western Nepal and adjacent northern Indian States. J AAPOS 2014 Feb;18(1):67-70. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaapos.2013.09.008</u>] [Medline: <u>24568986</u>]
- Saeed S, Somani N, Sharif F, Kazi AM. Evaluating the Effectiveness of Text Messaging and Phone Call Reminders to Minimize No Show at Pediatric Outpatient Clinics in Pakistan: Protocol for a Mixed-Methods Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 Apr 10;7(4):e91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.9294] [Medline: 29636321]
- 9. Wegrzyniak LM, Hedderly D, Chaudry K, Bollu P. Measuring the effectiveness of patient-chosen reminder methods in a private orthodontic practice. Angle Orthod 2018 May;88(3):314-318 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2319/090517-597.1] [Medline: 29376734]
- 10. Callinan CE, Kenney B, Hark LA, Murchison AP, Dai Y, Leiby BE, et al. Improving Follow-Up Adherence in a Primary Eye Care Setting. Am J Med Qual 2017 Jul 10;32(1):73-79. [doi: 10.1177/1062860615616860] [Medline: 26656245]
- 11. Muñoz RF, Leykin Y, Barrera A, Brown C, Bunge E. The impact of phone calls on follow-up rates in an online depression prevention study. Internet Interv 2017 Jun;8:10-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.02.001] [Medline: 30135824]
- 12. Lin H, Wu X. Intervention strategies for improving patient adherence to follow-up in the era of mobile information technology: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014 Aug 6;9(8):e104266 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104266] [Medline: 25100267]
- Brachio SS, Farkouh-Karoleski C, Abreu A, Zygmunt A, Purugganan O, Garey D. Improving Neonatal Follow-up: A Quality Improvement Study Analyzing In-hospital Interventions and Long-term Show Rates. Pediatr Qual Saf 2020;5(6):e363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/pq9.0000000000363] [Medline: <u>33575523</u>]
- 14. Cantor B, Rapuano CJ, Cioffi G. Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus 2014-2015. American Academy of Ophthalmology. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.aao.org/assets/5e0f04a7-77a1-457b-81af-2f650333faae/636312517616000000/bcsc1718-s06-pdf</u> [accessed 2023-02-03]
- Thompson AC, Thompson MO, Young DL, Lin RC, Sanislo SR, Moshfeghi DM, et al. Barriers to Follow-Up and Strategies to Improve Adherence to Appointments for Care of Chronic Eye Diseases. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2015 Jul;56(8):4324-4331. [doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-16444] [Medline: 26176869]
- 16. McPhail GL, Ednick MD, Fenchel MC, VanDyke R, Chima A, Amin RS, et al. Improving follow-up in hospitalised children. Qual Saf Health Care 2010 Oct 27;19(5):e35. [doi: <u>10.1136/qshc.2009.034538</u>] [Medline: <u>20511243</u>]
- Do AT, Pillai MR, Balakrishnan V, Chang RT, Robin AL, Singh K, et al. Effectiveness of Glaucoma Counseling on Rates of Follow-up and Glaucoma Knowledge in a South Indian Population. Am J Ophthalmol 2016 Mar;163:180-189.e4. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2015.12.009] [Medline: 26705095]
- Vagge A, Gunton KB, Schnall B. A pilot study using electronic reminders for amblyopia treatment. Strabismus 2018 Dec;26(4):184-190. [doi: <u>10.1080/09273972.2018.1526959</u>] [Medline: <u>30325237</u>]
- Abdulrahman SA, Rampal L, Ibrahim F, Radhakrishnan AP, Kadir Shahar H, Othman N. Mobile phone reminders and peer counseling improve adherence and treatment outcomes of patients on ART in Malaysia: A randomized clinical trial. PLoS One 2017 May 16;12(5):e0177698 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0177698] [Medline: 28520768]
- 20. Sahai H, Khurshid A. Formulae and tables for the determination of sample size and power in clinical trials for testing differences in proportions for the two sample design: a review. Statist. Med 1996 Jan 15;15(1):1-21. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0258(19960115)15:1<1::aid-sim134>3.0.co;2-e]
- Koshy E, Car J, Majeed A. Effectiveness of mobile-phone short message service (SMS) reminders for ophthalmology outpatient appointments: observational study. BMC Ophthalmol 2008 May 31;8(1):9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2415-8-9] [Medline: 18513438]

# Abbreviations

**BEH:** Bharatpur Eye Hospital



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 25.10.22; peer-reviewed by P Venkatesan, Y Jeem; comments to author 09.01.23; revised version received 23.01.23; accepted 31.01.23; published 23.02.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Shrestha M, Bhandari G, Kamalakannan S, Murthy GVS, Rathi SK, Gudlavalleti AG, Agiwal V, Pant H, Pandey B, Ghimire R, Ale D, Kayastha S, Karki R, Chaudhary DS, Byanju R, Operational Research Capacity Building Study Group Evaluating the Effectiveness of Interventions to Improve the Follow-up Rate for Children With Visual Disabilities in an Eye Hospital in Nepal: Nonrandomized Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43814 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43814 doi:10.2196/43814 PMID:36821366

©Manisha Shrestha, Gopal Bhandari, Sureshkumar Kamalakannan, Gudlavalleti Venkata Satyanarayana Murthy, Suresh Kumar Rathi, Anirudh Gaurang Gudlavalleti, Varun Agiwal, Hira Pant, Binod Pandey, Ramesh Ghimire, Daman Ale, Sajani Kayastha, Rakshya Karki, Daya Shankar Chaudhary, Raghunandan Byanju, Operational Research Capacity Building Study Group. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 23.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Demographic and Support Interest Differences Among Nonbirthing Parents Using a Digital Health Platform With Parenthood-Related Anxiety: Cross-Sectional Study

Adam K Lewkowitz<sup>1</sup>, MD, MPHS; Lily Rubin-Miller<sup>2</sup>, MPH; Hannah R Jahnke<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Melissa A Clark<sup>1,3</sup>, PhD; Caron Zlotnick<sup>1,4</sup>, PhD; Emily S Miller<sup>1</sup>, MD, MPH; Natalie Henrich<sup>2</sup>, MPH, PhD

1 2

3

4

**Corresponding Author:** Adam K Lewkowitz, MD, MPHS

# Abstract

**Background:** The transition to parenthood is a period of major stressors and increased risk of anxiety for all parents. Though rates of perinatal anxiety are similar among women (4%-25%) and men (3%-25%), perinatal anxiety research on nonbirthing partners remains limited.

**Objective:** We aimed to examine whether demographic characteristics or digital perinatal support preferences differed among nonbirthing partners with compared to without self-reported high parenthood-related anxiety.

**Methods:** In this large cross-sectional study of nonbirthing partners using a digital perinatal health platform during their partner's pregnancy, users reported their parenthood-related anxiety through a 5-item Likert scale in response to the prompt "On a scale of 1=None to 5=Extremely, how anxious are you feeling about parenthood?" High parenthood-related anxiety was defined as reporting being very or extremely anxious about parenthood. During the onboarding survey, in response to the question "Which areas are you most interested in receiving support in?" users selected as many support interests as they desired from a list of options. Chi-square and Fisher exact tests were used to compare demographic characteristics and support interests of nonbirthing partners with low versus high parenthood anxiety. Logistic regression models estimated the odds ratios (ORs), with 95% CIs, of high parenthood-related anxiety with each user characteristic or digital support interest.

**Results:** Among 2756 nonbirthing partners enrolled in the digital platform during their partner's pregnancy, 2483 (90.1%) were men, 1668 (71.9%) were first-time parents, 1159 (42.1%) were non-Hispanic White, and 1652 (50.9%) endorsed an annual household income of >US \$100,000. Overall, 2505 (91.9%) reported some amount of parenthood-related anxiety, and 437 (15.9%) had high parenthood-related anxiety. High parenthood-related anxiety was more common among non-White nonbirthing partners: compared to those who identified as non-Hispanic White, those who identified as Asian, Black, or Hispanic had 2.39 (95% CI 1.85-3.08), 2.01 (95% CI 1.20-3.23), and 1.68 (95% CI 1.15-2.41) times the odds of high parenthood-related anxiety, respectively. Lower household income was associated with increased odds of reporting high parenthood anxiety, with the greatest effect among those with annual incomes of <US \$50,000 compared to >US \$100,000 (OR 2.13, 95% CI 1.32-3.34). In general, nonbirthing partners were interested in receiving digital support during their partner's pregnancy, but those with high parenthood-related anxiety. Those with high parenthood-related anxiety had more than 2 times higher odds of requesting digital education about their emotional health compared to those without high parenthood-related anxiety (OR 2.06, 95% CI 1.67-2.55).

**Conclusions:** These findings demonstrate the need for perinatal anxiety-related support for all nonbirthing partners and identify nonbirthing partners' demographic characteristics that increase the odds of endorsing high parenthood-related anxiety. Additionally, these findings suggest that most nonbirthing partners using a digital health platform with high parenthood-related anxiety desire to receive perinatal mental health support.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46152) doi:10.2196/46152

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

nonbirthing parent; paternal mental health; perinatal anxiety; parenting anxiety; digital health; anxiety; perinatal; mental health support; digital platform; pregnancy; parents; spouse; partners; support; support groups; online support

# Introduction

The transition to parenthood is a period of major stressors and increased risk of mental health issues, regardless of whether or not the parent gives birth [1-4]. Indeed, when stratified by gender (which frequently corresponds to birthing and nonbirthing roles), rates of perinatal anxiety are similar among women (4%-25%) [1,2] and men (3%-25%) [3,4]. Despite the similar burden of perinatal anxiety between parents and the known interplay between maternal and paternal perinatal mood disorders [5-7], perinatal anxiety research on nonbirthing partners remains limited, and little is known about the desire of nonbirthing partners to receive mental health support during the perinatal period [8]. Thus, we aimed to examine whether demographic characteristics or desired mental health supports differed among nonbirthing partners with compared to without high parenthood-related anxiety.

# Methods

# **Eligibility Criteria/Recruitment**

This study examined a cohort of users enrolled in the partner pathway in Maven, a digital health platform for pregnant people and their partners, from March 16, 2021, through October 20, 2022. Access to Maven is a sponsored benefit through an employer or health plan of the user or their partner. Users consented to the use of their deidentified data for scientific research upon creating an account on the digital platform. As previously described [9], users self-reported demographic information, desired support interests, and parenthood-related anxiety on a health survey at onboarding. For race and ethnicity, users selected a single option from a list of choices. In response to the question "Which areas are you most interested in receiving support in?" users selected as many support interests as they desired from the following list: "choosing a healthcare provider/team," "labor and delivery options," "preparing to be a working parent," "infant care," "learning about childcare options," "my own emotional health," "understanding my partner's physical experience during pregnancy," and "understanding my partner's emotional experience during pregnancy." Users reported their parenthood-related anxiety on a 5-item Likert scale in response to the prompt "On a scale of 1=None to 5=Extremely, how anxious are you feeling about parenthood?" To be included, users had to be enrolled in Maven's partner track and have completed the Maven Clinic's onboarding survey while their partner was pregnant. Thus, data for these analyses included platform utilization and user-reported data from the onboarding questionnaire.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Due to small sample sizes, participants who reported their race/ethnicity as American Indian or Alaskan Native, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, or multiple races were categorized in the "other" category. Income was assessed categorically. High parenthood-related anxiety was defined as responding to the question on parenthood-related anxiety with a 4 ("very") or 5 ("extremely"). Some parenthood-related anxiety was defined as responding to the question on parenthood-related anxiety with any response other than a 1 ("none") on the Likert scale. Descriptive analyses assessed user demographics and support interests stratified by presence of high parenthood-related anxiety. In bivariate analyses, the chi-square or Fisher exact tests were used to assess categorical variables. Logistic regression models estimated the odds ratio (ORs) and 95% CI of reporting high parenthood anxiety with each user characteristic or educational support preference. All analyses were conducted in R (version 3.6.3; R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

# **Ethical Considerations**

The study was designated as exempt by the WCG Institutional Review Board, an independent ethical review board.

# Results

Of the 4188 users enrolled in Maven's partner pathway during the study period, 3705 (88.5%) completed the onboarding survey. Of these, 2756 (74.4%) completed their survey while their partner was pregnant and were included for analysis. Overall, most (n=2483, 90.1%) nonbirthing partners self-identified as male, 2034 (73.8%) identified as first-time parents, and 2505 (91.9%) nonbirthing partners endorsed feeling at least some parenthood-related anxiety.

In this study population, 437 (15.9%) of nonbirthing partners were categorized as having high parenthood-related anxiety. Some demographic characteristics increased the odds of endorsing high parenthood-related anxiety (Table 1). Specifically, compared to non-Hispanic White nonbirthing the odds of participants reporting partners, high parenthood-related anxiety were more than 2-fold higher among Asian (OR 2.39, 95% CI 1.85-3.08) or Black (OR 2.01, 95% CI 1.20-3.23) nonbirthing partners and more than 60% higher among Hispanic nonbirthing partners (OR 1.68, 95% CI 1.15-2.41). Similarly, compared to non-first-time parents, first-time nonbirthing partners had twice the odds of reporting high parenthood-related anxiety (OR 2.01, 95% CI 1.55-2.65), and those with annual incomes of <US \$50,000 or between US \$50,000 and US \$100,000 had more than 2-fold or 48% increased odds, respectively, of endorsing high parenthood-related anxiety compared to those with annual incomes of ≥US \$100,000 (<US \$50,000: OR 2.13, 95% CI 1.32-3.34; US \$50,000-US \$100,000: OR 1.48, 95% CI 1.07-2.01). The odds of endorsing high parenthood-related anxiety were similar between male and female nonbirthing parents (OR 1.20, 95% CI 0.69-1.98).



Lewkowitz et al

Table . Nonbirthing partner characteristics and support interests by parenthood-related anxiety level.

Nonbirthing partner characteristics		Overall (n=2756), n (%)	Low parenthood- related anxiety (n=2319, 84.1%), n (%)	High parenthood- related anxiety (n=437, 15.9%), n (%)	Odds ratio (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value
Race/ethnicity		•		•		·
	Non-Hispanic White	1159 (42.1)	1033 (44.5)	126 (28.8)	Reference	N/A <sup>a</sup>
	Asian	714 (25.9)	553 (23.8)	161 (36.8)	2.39 (1.85-3.08)	<.001
	Hispanic	265 (9.6)	220 (9.5)	45 (10.3)	1.68 (1.15-2.41)	.006
	Black	117 (4.2)	94 (4.1)	23 (5.3)	2.01 (1.20-3.23)	.006
	Other	501 (18.2)	419 (18.1)	82 (18.8)	1.60 (1.19-2.16)	.002
First child						
	No	722 (26.2)	651 (28.1)	71 (16.2)	Reference	N/A
	Yes	2034 (73.8)	1668 (71.9)	366 (83.8)	2.01 (1.55-2.65)	<.001
<b>Biological sex</b>						.84
	Female	98 (3.6)	80 (3.4)	18 (4.1)	1.20 (0.69-1.98)	.50
	Male	2483 (90.1)	2091 (90.2)	392 (89.7)	Reference	N/A
	Missing	175 (6.3)	148 (6.4)	27 (6.2)	N/A	N/A
Household income	(US \$)					.002
	Less than \$50,000	103 (3.7)	76 (3.3)	27 (6.2)	2.13 (1.32-3.34)	.001
	\$50,000-\$100,000	299 (10.8)	240 (10.3)	59 (13.5)	1.48 (1.07-2.01)	.02
	More than \$100,000	1652 (59.9)	1416 (61.1)	236 (54)	Reference	N/A
	Did not disclose	702 (25.5)	587 (25.3)	115 (26.3)	N/A	N/A
Support interests						
	Leaning about child care options	1403 (50.9)	1159 (50)	244 (55.8)	1.28 (1.04-1.59)	.02
	Choosing a health care provider/team	789 (28.6)	632 (27.3)	157 (35.9)	1.51 (1.21-1.88)	<.001
	My own emotional health	1032 (37.4)	806 (34.8)	226 (51.7)	2.06 (1.67-2.55)	<.001
	Infant care	2016 (73.1)	1674 (72.2)	342 (78.3)	1.47 (1.13-1.92)	.005
	Labor and delivery options	1200 (43.5)	969 (41.8)	231 (52.9)	1.60 (1.29-1.97)	<.001
	Understanding my partner's emotional experience during pregnancy	1981 (71.9)	1635 (70.5)	346 (79.2)	1.72 (1.32-2.26)	<.001
	Understanding my partner's physical experience during pregnancy	1825 (66.2)	1495 (64.5)	330 (75.5)	1.82 (1.42-2.34)	<.001
	Preparing to be a working parent	1779 (64.6)	1469 (63.3)	310 (70.9)	1.47 (1.16-1.86)	.001

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

In general, nonbirthing partners were interested in receiving digital support during their partner's pregnancy: the most requested support interests overall were infant care and understanding their partner's emotional experience during pregnancy (Table 1). However, those with high parenthood anxiety were more likely to desire digital support from all support interests compared to those without high parenthood anxiety. In particular, the odds of nonbirthing partners desiring

to learn more about their own emotional health or their partner's physical or emotional experience during pregnancy were markedly higher compared to those without high parenthood-related anxiety (own emotional health: OR 2.06, 95% CI 1.67-2.55; partner's physical experience in pregnancy: OR 1.82, 95% CI 1.42-2.34; partner's emotional experience in pregnancy: OR 1.72, 95% CI 1.32-2.26).

# Discussion

# **Principal Results**

In this large sample, nearly all nonbirthing partners reported feeling at least some parenthood-related anxiety, and a substantial proportion of nonbirthing partners desired education about their own or their partner's emotional health during the perinatal period. These findings demonstrate the need for perinatal mental health support for all parents, not just those who give birth, and suggest that digital health platforms may serve as logical entry points for nonbirthing partners to receive perinatal mental health support, as has been proposed [10]. Furthermore, demographic factors such as identifying as non-White or having an annual income of less than US \$50,000 were associated with increased odds of high parenthood-related anxiety. This suggests that some nonbirthing partners may face a disproportionate burden of parenthood-related anxiety, and perinatal support interventions targeting these subpopulations may improve equity for nonbirthing partners.

#### **Comparisons With Prior Work**

The rate of high parenthood-related anxiety in our study is consistent with levels of paternal anxiety in the literature (3%-25%) [3,4]. Furthermore, the high prevalence of any self-reported anxiety in our study population supports prior findings suggesting that the most common mental health diagnosis for nonbirthing partners in the perinatal period is adjustment disorder with anxiety symptoms [11].

# **Clinical and Research Implications**

In the United States, most current perinatal care delivery models do not provide much perinatal education and mental health support to nonbirthing partners [12]. Furthermore, nonbirthing partners are known to have lower rates of engagement with health care than birthing partners [12,13]. In this study, nonbirthing partners who were participating in a digital perinatal health platform not only actively selected the perinatal educational support topics about which they wanted to learn but voluntarily endorsed the presence and extent of their parenthood-related anxiety. These findings suggest that digitally screening nonbirthing partners during their partner's pregnancy for their perinatal mental health and pregnancy-related health education needs could fill an important gap in nonbirthing partners' perinatal experience. Mental health support and educational content could be delivered digitally or via in-person education provided from prenatal care providers when nonbirthing partners present to prenatal care visits, as has been proposed [10,14]. However, prior to widespread transformation of prenatal care delivery models, more research is needed to determine the optimal way to screen nonbirthing partners for mental health needs or perinatal educational preferences and to provide requested education and support based on the results of this screening.

#### Limitations

Despite the large study population, our study has limitations. Parenthood-related anxiety was self-reported, rather than identified via a validated anxiety measure. There is also a risk of selection bias since all participants in this study were already actively engaged in a digital health platform. Additionally, the cross-sectional design of this study limits causal interpretation of our results. Furthermore, because outcomes were not adjusted for confounders, some bias may remain in our unadjusted analyses. Lastly, though our study population was large, generalizability of our findings may be reduced as many participants reported annual incomes of >US \$100,000 and people of some races/ethnicities were overly represented in the sample.

#### Conclusions

Among nonbirthing partners who used a digital health platform, most had some parenthood-related anxiety, and the odds of endorsing high parenthood-related anxiety were increased among non-White birthing partners, as well as those with annual incomes of less than US \$100,000 and, in particular, less than US \$50,000. Furthermore, though nonbirthing partners desired education on their own or their partner's emotional health during the perinatal period, the odds of desiring perinatal mental health support were higher among nonbirthing partners who endorsed high parenthood-related anxiety. These findings demonstrate not only the need for perinatal anxiety-related support for all nonbirthing partners, but that most nonbirthing partners with high parenthood-related anxiety using a digital perinatal platform desire to receive digital perinatal mental health support.

# Acknowledgments

AKL and ESM are supported by the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (K23HD103961-01A1 and R01HD105499, respectively).

# **Conflicts of Interest**

AKL is a paid member of medical advisory boards at Shield Therapeutics and Pharmacosmos Therapeutics. In addition, AKL has an ongoing research grant from Pharmacosmos Therapeutics that is paid directly to his institution to support an ongoing R-01 clinical trial funded by the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. LR-M, HRJ, and NH are employed by Maven Clinic. NH and HRJ also own equity in Maven Clinic.



# References

- Dennis CL, Falah-Hassani K, Shiri R. Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2017 May;210(5):315-323. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.187179] [Medline: 28302701]
- Loughnan SA, Wallace M, Joubert AE, Haskelberg H, Andrews G, Newby JM. A systematic review of psychological treatments for clinical anxiety during the perinatal period. Arch Womens Ment Health 2018 Oct;21(5):481-490. [doi: 10.1007/s00737-018-0812-7] [Medline: 29368048]
- 3. Philpott LF, Savage E, FitzGerald S, Leahy-Warren P. Anxiety in fathers in the perinatal period: a systematic review. Midwifery 2019 Sep;76:54-101. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2019.05.013] [Medline: 31176080]
- 4. Fisher ML, Sutcliffe P, Southern C, Grove AL, Tan BK. The effectiveness of interventions for the prevention or treatment of paternal perinatal anxiety: a systematic review. J Clin Med 2022 Nov 8;11(22):6617. [doi: <u>10.3390/jcm11226617</u>] [Medline: <u>36431094</u>]
- 5. Paulson JF, Bazemore SD. Prenatal and postpartum depression in fathers and its association with maternal depression: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2010 May 19;303(19):1961-1969. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.605] [Medline: 20483973]
- 6. Goodman JH. Paternal postpartum depression, its relationship to maternal postpartum depression, and implications for family health. J Adv Nurs 2004 Jan;45(1):26-35. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02857.x</u>] [Medline: <u>14675298</u>]
- Luoma I, Puura K, Mäntymaa M, Latva R, Salmelin R, Tamminen T. Fathers' postnatal depressive and anxiety symptoms: an exploration of links with paternal, maternal, infant and family factors. Nord J Psychiatry 2013 Dec;67(6):407-413. [doi: 10.3109/08039488.2012.752034] [Medline: 23286693]
- Fisher SD, Cobo J, Figueiredo B, et al. Expanding the international conversation with fathers' mental health: toward an era of inclusion in perinatal research and practice. Arch Womens Ment Health 2021 Oct;24(5):841-848. [doi: 10.1007/s00737-021-01171-y] [Medline: 34431009]
- Lewkowitz AK, Guille C, Rubin-Miller L, et al. Association between nonbirthing parent's perinatal education and mental health support desires and perinatal anxiety among either parent. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2023 Oct 6;5(11):101177. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajogmf.2023.101177] [Medline: <u>37806649</u>]
- Lewkowitz AK, Griffin LB, Miller ES, Howard ED. A missed opportunity? How prenatal care, birth hospitalization, and digital health could increase nonbirthing partners' access to recommended medical and mental healthcare. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs 2022;36(4):330-334. [doi: <u>10.1097/JPN.000000000000688</u>] [Medline: <u>36288436</u>]
- Wynter K, Rowe H, Fisher J. Common mental disorders in women and men in the first six months after the birth of their first infant: a community study in Victoria, Australia. J Affect Disord 2013 Dec;151(3):980-985. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.08.021] [Medline: 24119921]
- 12. Kilpatrick S, Papile LA, Macones GA, editors. Guidelines for Perinatal Care, 8th edition: American College of Obstetricans and Gynecologists & American Academy of Pediatrics; 2017. [doi: 10.1542/9781610020886]
- 13. Hing E, Albert M. State variation in preventive care visits, by patient characteristics, 2012. NCHS Data Brief 2016 Jan(234):1-8. [Medline: <u>26828577</u>]
- 14. Peahl AF, Smith RD, Moniz MH. Prenatal care redesign: creating flexible maternity care models through virtual care. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 Sep;223(3):389. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.05.029] [Medline: 32425200]

# Abbreviations

OR: odds ratio

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 31.01.23; peer-reviewed by A Premkumar, JVD Heuvel, R McAdams; revised version received 11.10.23; accepted 16.10.23; published 20.11.23.

#### Please cite as:

Lewkowitz AK, Rubin-Miller L, Jahnke HR, Clark MA, Zlotnick C, Miller ES, Henrich N Demographic and Support Interest Differences Among Nonbirthing Parents Using a Digital Health Platform With Parenthood-Related Anxiety: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46152 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46152 doi:10.2196/46152

© Adam K Lewkowitz, Lily Rubin-Miller, Hannah R Jahnke, Melissa A Clark, Caron Zlotnick, Emily S Miller, Natalie Henrich. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 20.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR

Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Original Paper**

# Improving Knowledge About Pregnancy for Deaf South African Women of Reproductive Age Through a Text Messaging–Based Information Campaign: Mixed Methods Study

Hanne Jensen Haricharan<sup>1</sup>, MA, MSc, PhD; Damian Hacking<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Yan Kwan Lau<sup>1</sup>, MPH, PhD; Marion Heap<sup>1†</sup>, MA, PhD

School of Public Health, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa <sup>†</sup>deceased

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Hanne Jensen Haricharan, MA, MSc, PhD School of Public Health University of Cape Town Anzio Road Observatory Cape Town, 7925 South Africa Phone: 27 829656103 Email: hanne.haricharan@uct.ac.za

# Abstract

**Background:** Signing Deaf South Africans have limited access to health information and, consequently, limited knowledge about health. Maternal and neonatal mortality rates are high. Cell phone use is high, making it a potentially effective way of communicating about maternal and child health.

**Objective:** The primary aim of this study was to assess whether an SMS text messaging–based health information campaign could improve knowledge about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy for signing Deaf South African women of reproductive age. The secondary aim was to evaluate the acceptability of such an intervention.

**Methods:** This study was designed as a pretest-posttest study. A baseline questionnaire assessed participants' knowledge about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy before an SMS text messaging–based information campaign was conducted. After the campaign, an exit questionnaire was administered containing the same questions as the baseline questionnaire with additional questions on general acceptability and communication preferences. The results were compared between baseline and exit using the McNemar and Wilcoxon signed rank tests. A focus group aimed to obtain further information on the impact and acceptability of SMS text messages. The focus group was analyzed inductively.

**Results:** The study showed a statistically significant improvement in overall health knowledge among participants. Despite this, some participants found the medical terminology challenging to understand. Several ways of improving SMS text messaging campaigns for the Deaf were identified, including using Multimedia Messaging Services with a person signing messages and linking information campaigns to a communication service that would enable Deaf people to pose questions. The focus group also suggested that SMS text messages might play a role in motivating healthy behaviors during pregnancy.

**Conclusions:** The SMS text messaging campaign effectively improved Deaf women's knowledge about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy and has the potential to affect health behavior. This contrasts with a similar study on hearing pregnant women. This suggests that SMS text messages may be particularly effective in improving Deaf people's health knowledge. However, attention should be paid to Deaf participants' specific needs and communication preferences to optimize impact. The potential of using SMS text messaging campaigns to affect behavior should be studied.

Trial Registration: Pan-African Clinical Trials Registry (PACTR) PACTR201512001352180; https://tinyurl.com/3rxvsrbe

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40561) doi:10.2196/40561

#### **KEYWORDS**

SMS text messages; cell phones; mobile health; mHealth; health information; health literacy; healthy behavior; maternal health; antenatal care; Deaf; South Africa

# Introduction

#### Background

This study aimed to assess whether an SMS text messaging-based health information campaign can improve knowledge about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy for signing Deaf South African women of reproductive age. In addition, this study aimed to assess the acceptability of such an intervention. We use Deaf (capitalized) to refer to permanently, sensorily disabled people with congenital or early onset deafness whose first language is sign language (in this context, South African Sign Language [SASL]).

Both maternal and child health are considerable challenges in South Africa, as in many low-and middle-income countries. Since 1994, South Africa has provided free antenatal care for all pregnant women [1]. Maternal deaths have decreased since 2011 but remain high. South Africa's aim to reduce maternal deaths to 38 per 100,000 births as part of the Millennium Development Goals did not materialize. The latest figure on maternal deaths from 2014 showed 141 deaths per 100,000 births [2].

South Africa also has high rates of perinatal deaths (both stillbirths and early neonatal deaths), with 11 deaths per 1000 live births [3]. The rate increased between 1997 and 2009, after which there was a slight decrease. Since 2010, it has fluctuated relatively highly with no consistent patterns [3]. The leading cause of death has been determined to be maternal factors and pregnancy complications, labor, and delivery, accounting for 21% of deaths [3]. Estimates suggest that 32% and 54% of all maternal and neonatal deaths, respectively, are preventable [4]. Proper health care is critical for preventing these deaths [4].

Regular antenatal care is important for the health of both mother and child as it can identify pregnancy complications [5]. For instance, there is a known association between few antenatal care visits and subsequent preterm birth [5]. According to a report from 2011, a total of 23.4% of assessable maternal deaths among South African women are associated with insufficient antenatal care [2]. Many South African pregnant women access antenatal care late, have low attendance, and experience barriers to receiving quality care [6-9]. This results in challenges in addressing complications during pregnancy. Known reasons for barriers to using antenatal care include the affordability, availability, and acceptability of health care [7-10]. Studies suggest that low use of antenatal care is linked to how pregnant women understand and perceive the benefits of antenatal care to mother and child health [9,10]. In addition, South Africa is reported to have the highest worldwide incidence of fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) and partial fetal alcohol spectrum disorder [11] because of high levels of alcohol consumption during pregnancy.

Deaf women face challenges in accessing quality health care, and as a result, health outcomes are often worse than for hearing women. There is some evidence suggesting that this is also the case for antenatal care. A study from the United States showed that women with hearing loss have more preterm deliveries and more frequently give birth to babies with low birth weight [12]. Similarly, a study with women with hearing and visual impairments in the United Kingdom demonstrated that disabled women were more likely to have preterm babies [13]. Another US study found no difference in pregnancy outcomes between hearing and Deaf women [14]. A study conducted in Cape Town, South Africa, showed that most Deaf women (96%) accessed antenatal care, though only approximately half initiated care in the first trimester as recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO) [15]. This pattern is consistent with South African hearing women's antenatal care patterns [9,16-20]. However, 18% of the women taking part in the study with Deaf South African women only accessed antenatal care in the third trimester, citing, among other things, a lack of awareness of the need for antenatal care as a reason for their late booking [15]. Furthermore, the study found that 31% of Deaf women had experienced a miscarriage, compared with 16% of hearing women. We did not find any information on neonatal deaths or FAS prevalence in Deaf South Africans, the target population for this study. However, there is no reason to believe that it should be lower than that of the general population.

Mobile health (mHealth) is the application of mobile technology to address health care issues. The WHO defines telemedicine as healing from a distance using information and communications technology to overcome geographical boundaries and increase health outcomes. mHealth is a subset of telemedicine [16]. In 2011, the WHO defined mHealth as "medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices, such as mobile phones, patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants (PDAs), and other wireless devices" [17].

In recent years, mHealth has become widespread in high-income and low- and middle-income countries [21-30]. A particular form of mHealth is SMS text messaging.

mHealth has been used to address several health issues. These include distributing health information, affecting behavior change, promoting healthy living, promoting adherence, and reminding patients of appointments [21-30]. However, there is limited evidence on the effectiveness of mHealth and a paucity of knowledge of what it is effective for. In a systematic review, Vodopivec-Jamsek et al [29] concluded that there was limited evidence that health promotion via mobile phone messages effectively supported preventative health care and improved healthy behavior. In contrast, the authors of another systematic review concluded that mobile phones were a promising tool for disease control interventions in low- and middle-income countries [30]. The 2016 review paper by Zhao et al [31], which concerns health apps rather than just SMS text messages, suggests that information conveyed via mobile technology can

RenderX

affect health behavior. Notably, the study only comprised papers from high-income countries and may not necessarily apply to low- and middle-income countries. Nevertheless, the study by Zhao et al [31] is important in noting some of the features that made some health apps effective: they were less time-consuming and perceived to have a user-friendly design.

mHealth has also been used in studies related to maternal and child health [5,32-35]. A systematic review including 15 articles on mHealth initiatives for maternal, newborn, and child health in low- and middle-income countries found that many studies were of poor quality [34]. Of the 15 articles in the review, only 1 study demonstrated improvement in morbidity and mortality [34]. Similar results were found in a systematic review [32]. However, although this review did not observe improvements in maternal and neonatal health outcomes, it noted that some studies improved antenatal and postnatal care attendance. There was also an increase in the number of women who gave birth at a health facility or with a skilled birth attendant. The review also assessed how mHealth interventions affected health knowledge, but the findings on this were inconclusive. Finally, the study stressed some contextual features of campaigns linked to their success. These included using lay terms, communicating in local languages, and considering how to communicate with illiterate populations. The article stressed the latter's importance as mHealth studies risk increasing health inequities because access to mHealth interventions may be biased toward people of higher socioeconomic status and those residing in urban areas. Another systematic review [33] concluded, contrary to the other papers [32,34], that mHealth for prenatal and newborn health services demonstrated positive outcomes. However, in most cases, the interventions consisted of providing people in rural areas with mobile phones and data to enable them to contact health services. Only 1 study in this review focused on the use of mHealth for health promotion. A review article from 2019 concluded that maternal health was one of the areas in which mHealth was most frequently and successfully used [35].

An important paper to mention is that by Lund et al [5], which reports on a cluster randomized controlled trial in Zanzibar focusing on an SMS text messaging campaign with the primary outcome measure being the number of women who attended 4 antenatal visits as recommended by the WHO. The study found that more women in the intervention arm attended the recommended antenatal visits. Most participants also stated that the educational SMS text messages were helpful during their pregnancies. Furthermore, the authors concluded that the study showed that mobile phones could improve the quality of care by creating awareness about services on the demand side. Similarly, Maslowsky et al [36] found positive evidence for using a mobile phone-based education program in Ecuador. The study noted improvements in breastfeeding, contraceptive use, and infant health but not in postpartum maternal health. A study with second-language English speakers in Cape Town (2012-2013) evaluated an SMS text messaging-based health information campaign on pregnancy and antenatal care [27]. The results showed no statistically significant improvements in health knowledge at exit. However, participants reported that their behavior changed because of the SMS text messaging campaign.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40561
```

XSL•FO

Between 500,000 and 1.5 million South Africans are estimated to be Deaf and use SASL [37]. Communication is a serious barrier to Deaf people's access to health care and health information with poorer health status [38-43]. Communication problems between Deaf people and health care providers result in delays in diagnosis, missed appointments, repeat visits, misdiagnoses, and misunderstandings [38-42].

Furthermore, Deaf people are often excluded from health research and have limited access to health education programs. Consequently, according to American and Australian studies, their health literacy is poorer than that of the general population [43-45]. Illustrative of this is an American study, which concluded that the Deaf individuals were almost 7 times more likely to have inadequate knowledge about health than hearing participants [45].

There is a paucity of research on health literacy among the Deaf population in low- and middle-income countries. We did not find any studies focusing on health literacy in low- and middle-income countries, including South Africa. However, Deaf South Africans generally have low educational levels, with the average reading level for those attending schools for the Deaf population being lower than the fourth grade [46]. This indicates that their health literacy levels would be equally low.

Health information in South Africa is provided in several ways, including television programs; written material such as pamphlets and posters, which are often displayed at public health clinics; and talks at public health clinics. None of these are easily accessible to Deaf people. The text-heavy written information is inaccessible because of their low literacy and the language level used [46]. Television programs are inaccessible because of the Deaf individuals' disability, as are talks at the clinics as they are conducted without sign language interpreters. Health communication in sign language has its own challenges. Sign language is a unique language of so-called limited diffusion [47]. This means that it has a limited vocabulary in areas such as health. In other words, certain health concepts may not have an equivalent sign.

Cell phones can be considered an alternative way of communicating health information with signing Deaf people. Most South Africans (75%) have access to a cell phone [48]. Figures are not known for the Deaf population, but we know from our long-term association with Deaf South Africans that SMS text messages have become an important method of communication. For instance, we have previously used SMS text messages to advertise an interpreter service in health care for Deaf people [39].

Limited studies have focused on evaluating SMS text messaging campaigns for the Deaf population. The authors of this paper were involved in a similar study focusing on hypertension knowledge [49], which demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in health knowledge after the SMS text messaging intervention and, thus, indicated that SMS text messages can improve signing Deaf people's health knowledge. Apart from this study, we did not find any study that evaluated SMS text messaging campaigns with Deaf people. Other health information campaigns focusing on the Deaf population that were identified used videos to convey information on various

forms of cancer [50-53]. These studies were conducted in the United States and concluded that videos successfully improved short-term health knowledge.

#### **Research Justification**

This study is based on our knowledge that Deaf people have limited health literacy, but we know from our day-to-day experiences with the Deaf population that they are familiar with using SMS text messages for health care. On the basis of this, we hypothesized that providing Deaf women of reproductive age with easily understandable information about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy via SMS text messages could improve their knowledge. We assumed, drawing on the Health Belief Model [53] and the Theory of Planned Behavior [54], that adequate knowledge is a prerequisite to health-seeking behavior. Furthermore, General Comment 14 on the Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights [55], an expert interpretation of the right to health, considers informational access an important component of the right to health. South Africa ratified the covenant in 2015. In line with a human rights framework and behavior theories, we viewed informational access as both a human right and a prerequisite for improving access.

# Methods

We aimed to explore whether an SMS text messaging-based health information campaign for Deaf women of reproductive age could improve their knowledge of pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy (Multimedia Appendix 1). The secondary aim was to assess the acceptability of an SMS text messaging campaign among the target population.

#### **Study Population**

The study population was adult Deaf women of reproductive age (18-45 years) whose first language was SASL. Deaf South Africans are a hard-to-reach population. There is no database of this population, and they are geographically dispersed. They also do not use the same health services, meaning that sampling is challenging. Consequently, we used convenience sampling, relying on our contacts with Deaf people and Deaf organizations. Although a larger sample size would have been preferable, preliminary work suggested that we would not be able to include >50 participants in the study.

#### **Study Design**

The study was a mixed methods study consisting of a quantitative component in the form of questionnaires before and after the SMS text messaging intervention. The quantitative part was conducted between June 2013 and November 2013. Although a controlled trial would have resulted in more robust evidence, we believed that such a study design was unreliable as Deaf people in Cape Town form a very close community. This increased the risk of participants sharing information, rendering a controlled trial study design invalid. The second research component was qualitative, a focus group, which explored the results of the quantitative data. The focus group was conducted in May 2014.

The SMS text messaging campaign drew on a campaign with hearing pregnant women, where topics for the campaign had been identified in collaboration with a midwife obstetric unit in a resource-poor setting. A health promotion specialist and an obstetrician also commented on the SMS text messaging campaign. The campaign was amended to address women who were not necessarily pregnant during the campaign and to take Deaf people's limited literacy and health knowledge into account by simplifying the language. Deaf research assistants vetted the baseline and exit questionnaires (Multimedia Appendices 2 and 3). The campaign was also piloted with Deaf research assistants. The campaign contained 66 SMS text messages distributed over 22 weeks.

#### **Recruitment and Consent**

Recruiting was challenging as the group was geographically dispersed and not registered in a database. We relied on our association with Deaf people and their organizations, primarily the Deaf Community of Cape Town (DCCT), to invite potential participants to information meetings. These meetings were conducted in SASL via an interpreter. In addition, we showed a DVD that explained the research and the consent process in SASL. Potential participants were invited to enroll in the research project on a separate occasion, where Deaf research assistants and translators proficient in SASL answered questions and ensured that participants were informed and consented voluntarily.

Written project information sheets, consent forms, the SMS text messages, and the baseline and exit questionnaires were translated from English into Afrikaans and isiXhosa, the 2 languages used in addition to English in Cape Town. Back translations, in which the Afrikaans and isiXhosa translations were translated into English, ensured consistent information and meaning across the 3 languages.

#### **Data Collection**

After obtaining consent, research assistants administered the baseline questionnaire in SASL. The baseline questionnaire contained 9 questions measuring participants' knowledge about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy. In total, 4 questions had simple binary answers, such as "Is it important for a pregnant woman to attend pregnancy clinic?" A total of 5 questions had multiple answers, such as "How can a pregnant woman stay healthy during pregnancy?" These questions were presented as multiple-choice questions. In addition to the questions on health knowledge, the exit questionnaire contained questions about communication preferences, acceptability of the SMS text messages.

A focus group with participants who had received most of the SMS text messages took place 6 months after the exit questionnaire and after analyzing the quantitative data. On the basis of the quantitative results, an interview guide was developed to explore the impact, acceptability, and experience of the SMS text messages. The main author conducted the focus group with the assistance of sign language interpreters and Deaf research assistants. The focus group (the interpreter's voice-over) was recorded and transcribed.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40561
```

For the focus group, we invited only participants who had received >80% of our SMS text messages. The research team monitored the delivery of SMS text messages and was aware that not all the SMS text messages were delivered. First, some participants opted out of the campaign or lost their phones. Second, some SMS text messages were not delivered as the phone numbers changed or the phones were left uncharged or switched off for some time. In addition, we found out that it is quite common to share phones among friends and family or change numbers frequently. The loss of cell phones, frequent number changes, uncharged or switched-off phones, and the sharing of phones present confounding factors. As we only became aware of these factors after the quantitative data had been collected, we were not able to control for them.

#### **Data Analysis**

To determine whether there was a change in knowledge, each question and an individual's total score were analyzed. Each question generated either categorical or continuous data. To determine if the intervention resulted in significant knowledge change, the categorical data were coded into binary outcomes, with "1" signifying correct answers and "0" signifying incorrect answers. The proportion of correct answers was then compared between baseline and exit using the McNemar test for continuous data, and the score for each question was tallied. Correct answers were worth "1," and incorrect answers were worth "-1." "Don't know" was worth "0." Owing to the relatively small sample size, a Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for all continuous data. The overall score was calculated by tallying the scores of each question at both baseline and exit. The main author analyzed the qualitative data using inductive thematic analysis and discussed it with the other authors.

#### **Ethics Approval and Informed Consent**

This study adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the University of Cape Town Health Science Faculty Human Research Ethics Committee (044/2011). Participants provided written informed consent.

# Results

# **Quantitative Results**

The study recruited 50 participants at baseline, of whom 8 (16%) were lost to follow-up, leaving 42 (84%) to complete the exit questionnaire. Furthermore, 19% (8/42) of the participants were excluded before the analysis of the survey data as they stated that they did not receive or were uncertain about receiving the SMS text messages. Therefore, the exit survey involved 34 participants.

The mean age of the participants was 34.88 (SD 18) years. Their marital status varied, with 26% (9/34) being married, 18% (6/34) living with a partner, 24% (8/34) living with family, and the rest being single or living with others (11/34, 32%). Most (31/34,

91%) had not finished their high school education. A total of 65% (22/34) were employed but earning a relatively low salary. Most (32/34, 94%) stated that they had been pregnant at least once.

A summary of the demographic profile of the participants is provided in Table 1.

The survey results showed a statistically significant improvement in overall knowledge between baseline and exit (P=.002). Tables 2 and 3 show the knowledge improvements for questions with 1 correct answer and multiple correct answers, respectively.

When analyzed individually, 33% (3/9) of the continuous questions showed a statistically significant increase. These were (1) How can a pregnant woman stay healthy during pregnancy? (2) How do drugs and alcohol affect the baby growing in the womb? (3) Should a pregnant woman seek medical help outside her appointments at a pregnancy clinic?

Table 4 shows the improvements for the questions that showed a statistically significant improvement as well as the overall results when all questions were tallied.

The exit questionnaire also explored the acceptability of the SMS text messaging campaign and aimed to assess its usefulness. On a question to determine its usefulness, 94% (32/34) said that the campaign was useful. In line with the survey results, most participants (31/34, 91%) indicated that the SMS text messages had improved their knowledge. A total of 82% (28/34) were unsure, whereas 3% (1/34) of the participants said that it did not improve their knowledge. In total, 65% (22/34) reported that they found the SMS text messages easy to understand, whereas 8% (3/34) did not. Approximately 27% (9/34) were uncertain of how accessible the information was.

One question assessed what participants liked about the SMS text messages. The main quality was that they provided information (31/34, 92%), whereas 76% (26/34) indicated that they considered them trustworthy. A similar number stated that the SMS text messages made them feel cared for. However, 14% (5/34) indicated that the information was irrelevant.

Notably, 59% (20/34) of the participants indicated that they preferred health communication from Deaf organizations, mainly the DCCT. This was followed by information from friends, family, and colleagues, which 19% (6/34) preferred. Written material was preferred by 14% (5/34) of the participants. Interestingly, only 14% (5/34 of respondents indicated that they preferred SMS text messages. Similarly, friends, family, and colleagues were the most common source of information (15/34, 43%). Written material was used by 35% (12/34) of participants, and SMS text messages were used by 32% (11/34). For an overview of communication preferences and acceptability, see Table 5.



 Table 1. Demographics for participants in the exit survey (N=34).

	Values
Age (years), mean (SD)	35 (18)
Marital status, n (%)	
Divorced	0 (0)
Married	9 (26)
Single, living alone	5 (15)
Single, living with family	8 (24)
Single, living with a partner	6 (18)
Single, living with nonfamily	5 (15)
Widow	1 (3)
Educational level, n (%)	
Below grade 7	15 (44)
Between grade 7 and grade 12	16 (47)
Passed high school	2 (6)
Post-high school education	1 (3)
Employment status, n (%)	
Employed	22 (65)
Pensioner	1 (3)
Unemployed	7 (21)
Not looking for employment	1 (3)
Never worked	3 (9)
Monthly income, n (%)	
None	7 (21)
Pension or social grant	8 (24)
<zar \$222.59)<="" (us="" 4000="" td=""><td>14 (41)</td></zar>	14 (41)
Between ZAR 4000 and ZAR 10,000 (US \$222.59-\$556.48)	2 (6)
>ZAR 10,000 (US \$556.48)	0 (0)
No answer	3 (9)
Preferred language for reading and writing, n (%)	
English	26 (76)
Afrikaans	5 (15)
isiXhosa	3 (9)
Gravidity, n (%)	
0 pregnancies	2 (6)
1 pregnancy	8 (24)
2 pregnancies	11 (32)
3 pregnancies	9 (26)
4 pregnancies	2 (6)
5 pregnancies	2 (6)



#### Haricharan et al

Table 2. Knowledge scores for questions with binary answers presented as the number of people with adequate knowledge at baseline and exit (N=34).

Question	Baseline, n (%)	Exit, n (%)	P value
Is it important for pregnant women to attend pregnancy clinics?	30 (88)	33 (97)	.25
Should a pregnant woman ask for the results of her pap smear (a test that checks for cancer of the mouth of the womb)?	21 (62)	23 (68)	.80
Why do the nurses test the urine and blood pressure when pregnant women attend a clinic for pregnancy?	13 (38)	14 (41)	>.99
Why should a pregnant woman take folic acid tablets (which she gets at the clinic) during pregnancy?	5 (15)	12 (35)	.12

Table 3.	Knowledge scores	for questions	with multiple	e correct answers	(N=34)
					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Question (number of correct answers/number of options) and number of correct answers selected	Baseline, n (%)	Exit, n (%)	P value
Why do the nurses test the blood of pregnant women? (3/7)		·	.96
0	19 (56)	22 (65)	
1	13 (38)	6 (18)	
2	2 (6)	6 (18)	
3	0 (0)	0 (0)	
How can a pregnant woman stay healthy during pregnancy? (4/9)			.03
0	8 (24)	5 (15)	
1	6 (18)	3 (9)	
2	9 (26)	3 (9)	
3	6 (18)	11 (32)	
4	5 (15)	12 (35)	
How do drugs and alcohol affect the baby growing in the womb? (2/3)			.048
0	22 (65)	10 (29)	
1	9 (26)	24 (71)	
2	3 (9)	0 (0)	
Should a pregnant woman seek medical help outside her appointments at the pregnancy clinic	? (2/4)		.001
0	22 (65)	8 (24)	
1	10 (29)	15 (44)	
2	2 (6)	11 (32)	
What are the signs of labor? (3/6)			.16
0	16 (47)	14 (41)	
1	12 (35)	9 (26)	
2	5 (15)	7 (21)	
3	1 (3)	4 (12)	

#### Table 4. Knowledge scores for questions with a statistically significant improvement.

Question	<i>P</i> value
How can a woman stay healthy during pregnancy?	.03
How do drugs and alcohol affect the baby growing in the womb?	.048
Should a pregnant woman seek medical help outside her appointments at a pregnancy clinic?	.001
Overall score	.002

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 5. Acceptability of SMS text messages (N=34).

Haricharan et al

Question	Participants, n (%)
Read all or most of the SMS text messages	34 (100)
Felt that the SMS text messages improved their pregnancy knowledge	28 (82)
Thought that the SMS text messages were easy to understand	31 (91)
Found the SMS text messages useful	31 (91)
Found the SMS text messages trustworthy	28 (82)
Felt that somebody cared about them	25 (74)
Found the SMS text messages entertaining	20 (59)
Found the information in the SMS text messages not helpful	3 (9)
Found the SMS text messages to be irritating	1 (3)
Did not like the SMS text messages	1 (3)
Felt that the SMS text messages were the best way of giving information to Deaf people	5 (15)

# **Qualitative Results**

A total of 11 women took part in the focus group. This is equivalent to 30% (11/34) of participants in the exit survey. In total, 36% (4/11) of those participating in the focus group indicated that they had been pregnant during the SMS text messaging campaign. The demographic data of the focus group participants were largely similar to those of the participants in the survey.

The focus group confirmed that Deaf people have a health knowledge gap that SMS text messaging campaigns can potentially address. Participants explained that they faced challenges in accessing health information. Consequently, the focus group was used to seek more information and clarity on issues raised during the SMS text messaging campaign.

The focus group also confirmed the survey results by indicating that the SMS text messaging campaign gave participants important new information and raised their awareness. A participant summarized it as follows:

# I found all the messages interesting, and I learnt things I never knew. [Participant 1]

Another participant compared the SMS text messages with other information sources such as pamphlets handed out at the clinics:

At the clinic, they always have people who come and teach health information, but we never have an interpreter for us. They give us pamphlets with complex language...So, it is very hard for us to understand. So, it was easy for us to learn with the UCT's (University of Cape Town) SMSs. [Participant 2]

In general, participants argued that their understanding was facilitated by the SMS text messages using simple language and being brief, as illustrated by the following quote:

For me, it's easy to understand UCT's SMSs because they have simplified the terminology. (It is easier) than having to read a pamphlet from the clinic that is made for hearing people and that is made for academic people. That terminology I really don't

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40561
```

understand as much as I understand the SMSs. [Participant 3]

However, some participants argued that they found the SMS text messages challenging to understand, mirroring the survey, where 27% were uncertain of how accessible the information was. Medical terminology was particularly challenging. Words such as *abdominal* and *fetal alcohol syndrome* were noted as being particularly difficult. A participant explained that there was no sign for the word *abdominal*. Referring to an SMS text message about the possible harmful effects of alcohol in increasing the risk of FAS, another woman explained the following:

So, that word, I don't understand. (The baby) might be born with what? So I think I still need to clarify and learn more about that because I understood from the SMSs that when a woman is pregnant, she must not drink because "this" (foetal alcohol syndrome) could happen to the baby. But I don't know what could happen to the baby. [Participant 4]

Another participant had a different experience with the SMS text message referring to FAS. She explained that she had seen posters at the clinic saying that pregnant women should not drink but had not understood the reason. According to her, it was different with the information in the SMS text messages:

During pregnancy, we go to the hospital, and you will see posters around with a picture of a pregnant woman and then a bottle of alcohol saying, "you must not drink alcohol," but you won't know how serious it is. How can it affect the baby? Then you'll find yourself continuing drinking while you are pregnant, but with UCT's SMSs it was more clear. We understand that we must not take alcohol because it can affect the baby. [Participant 5]

Participants who found the SMS text messages difficult to understand talked about their poor educational background resulting in their difficulties with written information. Several participants suggested that the SMS text messages could be made more accessible by using simpler language. Others argued that the SMS text messages could use "sign language structure,"

a form of informal writing that uses the unique structure of sign language, which has its own word order and grammar:

So, if you can just make it like easier for us Deaf people, you can put it in sign language structure. That will actually be helpful for us. [Participant 6]

However, there was disagreement on this point, with some participants arguing that the SMS text messages should be in plain English but at the same time introduce medical terminology, which should be explained. They reasoned that it was important to retain medical terminology in the SMS text messages as this could improve their knowledge of it. Knowing medical terms, they argued, would make it easier for them in a health care setting, as illustrated in the following quote:

The SMSs that we received, they helped us a lot because before UCT sent the SMSs, we didn't know anything. Even when we go to the doctor, we don't know; we don't notice when something is about to happen. But then, when we received the SMSs, we could see that this had happened to me before, but I didn't know. I couldn't go to the clinic because I didn't know what was happening. The SMSs helped us a lot to understand and to see what we missed on...so the SMSs were really helpful. [Participant 7]

The use of pictures in the SMS text messages was also advocated for by participants, who explained that Deaf people are more familiar with visual communication, which can help them understand written language:

If UCT's SMSs could be accompanied by pictures. It's easy when they speak about feet or about the nose; then there will be a picture of the nose. [Participant 8]

Another theme raised in the focus group was that the SMS text messages were insufficiently detailed, and participants requested more information. This is not surprising when considering that the SMS text messages were limited to 160 characters. Participants suggested that the SMS text messaging campaign be combined with a communication service where they could write back and ask to have a word explained further or obtain more information.

An important suggestion for improvement was using signed video messages (Multimedia Messaging Services [MMSs]). Participants suggested that this was a better mode of communication for Deaf people than written SMS text messages:

I did not like the fact that it was written. I would have preferred videos of a sign language interpreter. We should have been able to obtain it (the information) via sign language. [Participant 9]

A theme that also indicated Deaf people's preference for visual communication was a preference for the health dramas organized by the DCCT. Participants said that they preferred these dramas as they found them both informative and entertaining. Furthermore, many participants argued that using different communication modes would strengthen the campaign's effectiveness:

I would say DCCT is good, but it's more good [sic] when you mix DCCT with the SMSs that you receive from UCT because you will see them having a drama at DCCT and then it will match what you will receive from the SMSs. So, it's like a learning curve that is big. So together, they make a lot of sense. [Participant 10]

Notably, the quotes highlight that the combination of different communication modes can be useful as it bridges the gap between a form of communication familiar to Deaf people—signs and visual communication—with the medical world dominated by words and medical terminology. There was consensus among focus group participants that effectiveness would likely improve by using different methods to convey the same health information. This was related not only to the dramas and SMS text messages but also to the pamphlets they received at the clinics.

Similarly, the repetition of information, built into the SMS text messaging campaign, improved effectiveness. Most participants felt that repetition was beneficial for retaining the knowledge conveyed:

It is good because it is like you receive a reminder. Maybe you will get an SMS first, and then with time, because you receive a different SMS...and then when that SMS comes again, it's like a constant reminder that you must not do this. So that's why it is good. [Participant 11]

Similarly, many participants said that they kept the SMS text messages on their phones for easy retrieval, and some wrote down the SMS text messages in a notebook. This enabled them to use the messages to gain further information or seek clarity on the meanings that they did not understand. Being able to reread information also seemed to be beneficial, as the following quote indicates:

Some of them were a bit hard for me to understand, but now because they are on my phone, I can always go back and refer. So now the words I didn't understand a bit, now I can understand because it being there, I can always refer back. [Participant 12]

Our primary aim was to improve knowledge among participants, and our study population comprised women of reproductive age. However, 36% (4/11) of the focus group participants had been pregnant during the SMS text messaging campaign. All women who had been pregnant (4/4, 100%) commented that the campaign had affected their health-seeking behavior. This suggests that SMS text messages may also be an effective way of influencing healthy behavior. In particular, their eating habits were altered. A woman said that nurses had complained about her "behaviour" during her first 2 pregnancies but explained that she changed after receiving the SMS text messages:

So UCT helped me to understand that during my pregnancy, I need to eat healthy food. I need to cut the drinks aside, fats aside. So, it helped me a lot, and I was able to have a normal pregnancy until I delivered. [Participant 13]

In a similar way, the following woman explained how the SMS text messaging campaign assisted her in having a healthy pregnancy:

Ok, on my first pregnancy, I was going to the hospital alone, and then I didn't understand what to eat, and then all the time, nurses and midwives would shout at me, "why is your blood pressure so high?," "Why are you not taking care of yourself?" And then I fell pregnant again. And still, I didn't understand because UCT was not there, and there were no sign language interpreters. But then, when I went for the third time, luckily, I had the SMSs, and I had interpreters with me. And then I understood what is important to eat and all that. So, I'm grateful to UCT because I managed to change my lifestyle. [Participant 14]

None of the women commented that the campaign influenced their clinic attendance. Furthermore, it is important to note that a healthy pregnancy and delivery for the aforementioned woman were also linked to the availability of a sign language interpreter during clinic appointments and delivery.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The results showed that participants' knowledge improved at exit, suggesting that SMS text messages can improve Deaf women's knowledge about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living. A similar SMS text messaging-based health promotion campaign with hearing pregnant women attending an obstetric unit in a similar resource-poor setting showed no statistically significant improvement in knowledge after the SMS text messaging campaign [27]. Notwithstanding the fact that the women in the hearing study were pregnant, whereas the participants in the Deaf study were women of reproductive age, the difference between the 2 studies could suggest that SMS text messaging campaigns are particularly effective for Deaf populations. A possible explanation for the difference could be that Deaf participants' baseline knowledge was lower than that of participants in the hearing campaign. Therefore, the potential for impact was greater. Accessing health information is challenging for Deaf people, and methods that address these challenges, such as SMS text messages, may be particularly well suited for this group. This argument is supported by a similar study on hypertension among Deaf South Africans, which also showed an overall statistical improvement between baseline and exit [48]. In contrast, a linked study with hearing patients with hypertension did not show statistically significant improvements. Thus, although 2 SMS text messaging campaigns among hearing women in the same geographical locality did not result in improvements, 2 campaigns among Deaf populations did. We have not identified any other SMS text messaging studies with the Deaf population.

In addition to noting the overall statistically significant improvement, it is worth noting that knowledge improved for all 9 questions, although the gains were statistically significant for only 3. The first individual question that showed a statistically significant improvement was about healthy living during pregnancy, focusing on healthy eating, exercise, smoking,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40561
```

and alcohol consumption. The second individual question that showed statistically significant knowledge improvement related to how drugs and alcohol affect the unborn baby. This is particularly important to take cognizance of given that the Western Cape province, where this study took place, has the world's highest rate of FAS [11]. The woman who argued that new knowledge let her "to put the drinks aside" exemplifies how knowledge about the effects of alcohol was linked to self-reported behavior change.

Finally, a question assessing knowledge of when pregnant women should seek medical assistance outside clinic appointments registered a statistically significant improvement. The information conveyed in the SMS text messages and assessed in the questionnaire focused on symptoms such as bleeding, persistent frontal headache, sudden swelling, and lack of fetal movements. Given South Africa's many avoidable maternal deaths [4], it is important to explore ways of addressing these issues, including for Deaf women.

It is also important to note the research that found that 18% of Deaf pregnant women only seek antenatal care in the third trimester [15], partly because they lack knowledge of the importance of antenatal care. Furthermore, they have twice as many miscarriages as hearing South African women, which could be linked to not seeking antenatal care in emergencies. The literature has suggested that SMS text messages successfully got hearing women to attend 4 antenatal visits as recommended by the WHO [5,32], showing that SMS text messages can affect attendance patterns. Other studies have found that low antenatal attendance is linked to how women perceive benefits to mothers and children [2,10]. The fact that women in this study indicated that they understood the importance of accessing emergency care is a testimony to the impact that SMS text messaging campaigns could have on antenatal care attendance patterns. This should be studied further.

Despite the main finding of this study, it is important to note that 27% of participants were unsure of how accessible the information in the SMS text messages was. This is not surprising considering their low health and general literacy and the fact that sign language often lacks health terms [47]. Medical terminology was complicated for some participants, as illustrated by the quote on FAS. This affected the overall success of the campaign. This points to the importance of taking cognizance of Deaf people's needs and preferences for visual communication, such as pictures and posters, when designing health information campaigns. In particular, the proposal to use signed MMSs to disseminate health information at regular intervals seems promising.

An important advantage of signed MMSs is that medical terms can be better explained and more detailed information can be conveyed. However, signed MMSs may also have disadvantages compared with written SMS text messages. Some participants argued that it was essential for them that the written SMS text messages introduced them to written medical terminology, which they found helpful in clinical settings where they often rely on written notes to communicate with their health care provider. Although sign language interpreters can improve patient-provider communication [38], the reality for most Deaf

XSL•FO RenderX

South African patients is that medical encounters occur without a sign language interpreter, resulting in difficulties in provider-patient communication [39]. In light of this, it is easy to understand why participants in the focus group stressed the importance of improving their understanding of written medical terminology.

Here, it is important to consider that sign language is a language of limited diffusion. It is worth considering initiatives such as the Australian Medical Signbank [47], which addresses this by developing signs related to health and medicine. Similar initiatives for SASL could strengthen health communication between providers and Deaf patients and be useful in signed MMS-based campaigns. However, in the absence of medical signs and sign language interpreters in medical consultations, Deaf South Africans' reliance on written notes for communicating with their health care providers means that knowing written medical terminology is an advantage. Whether signed MMSs and written SMS text messages are preferable should not be treated as an either-or question. Signed MMSs may be superior in imparting health information, whereas SMS text messages can introduce the Deaf individuals to written medical terminology essential in patient-provider communication. A possible solution could be to combine signed and written messages. Interestingly, a South African health app for the Deaf population is being developed and is considering combining text and signs [56]. However, data price should be considered when using MMSs as data costs are a barrier for Deaf South Africans [56].

Our project has shown that SMS text messaging campaigns are a valuable method to communicate health information to the Deaf population that currently seems underused. Other methods used with this target group include internet training workshops, peer education programs, and videos. The latter has successfully raised cancer awareness [50-53]. Compared with written SMS text messages, videos communicate in sign language and, thus, have similar advantages to MMSs. However, it is important to consider the context in which these video screenings took place. Although video screenings may work in the United States, where the studies were conducted, video screenings with Deaf South Africans could be challenged by limited geographical reach.

Furthermore, video screenings are one-off events, and retaining the information may be difficult. The studies on videos assessed knowledge 2 months after the screenings, and it is impossible to determine long-term knowledge retention, as it was in our study. Interestingly, participants in our studies mentioned that they kept the SMS text messages on their phones or wrote down the content in a notebook to be able to retrieve the information. They also noted that they appreciated that information was repeated as it aided their understanding. In some of the video studies, the video was uploaded to the internet, making it accessible for more than one viewing. However, it may present a barrier in the South African context, where most Deaf people have limited internet access, limited computer literacy skills, or cannot afford to access the internet [56]. In this context, MMSs may be a preferable option.

The secondary aim of this study was to assess the acceptability of the SMS text messaging campaign. The focus group

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40561
```

suggested that SMS text messages were an effective and acceptable way of addressing participants' health knowledge gap. Participants appreciated the informative value of the SMS text messages, their briefness, and the accessible language. This is in line with the study by Zhao et al [31], which argued that design issues are important for successful mHealth campaigns. The features included not being time-consuming and being user-friendly and easily accessible. However, it is also important to acknowledge that 27% of our participants were unsure of how accessible the information was. This points to pilot campaigns' importance in assessing and addressing language and design issues.

A total of 12% (4/34) of the participants, who were pregnant during the study, reported behavior change. No clinical data were available to confirm this, and it is difficult to know whether the changes were real or reflected social desirability. However, self-reported behavior change should be seen at least as a desire or intent to change behavior. Furthermore, participants linked their new knowledge to behavior change, indicating that SMS text messages could be the first step in health-seeking behavior. Theoretically, this aligns with the Health Belief Model and the Theory of Staged Behavior [53,54,57].

Moreover, these tentative findings are similar to those of a study conducted by the same authors, which evaluated an SMS text messaging campaign on hypertension for the Deaf individuals [49]. This study showed self-reported behavior change among participants with hypertension. Although the results of both studies should be interpreted with caution because of the small sample sizes, they point to behavior change as an important area for future studies.

#### **Areas for Further Research**

Campaigns that combine different communication methods such as dramas, posters, pamphlets, and signed MMSs or written SMS text messages should be explored as encountering information in different ways seemed to aid understanding and knowledge retention. Signed MMSs, either on their own or in combination with written SMS text messages, seem to be a promising avenue for further research. In addition, combining information campaigns with an interactive communication service that enables Deaf participants to raise questions that can provide more detailed information should be considered. Such campaigns could benefit from the development of new signs for health and medical terms.

This study suggests that SMS text messaging campaigns may affect behavior change, but more rigorous studies are needed to investigate this area. In the field of antenatal care, several potential research areas were identified, including health care attendance in emergencies. Campaigns with Deaf women could assess the impact of SMS text messaging and mixed information campaigns on health-seeking behavior. A particular area is using mHealth to create awareness of the harmful effects of alcohol, which could potentially affect FAS incidents.

Longitudinal studies with a larger sample size and, if possible, randomized controlled designs would be useful to determine the potential of SMS text messaging campaigns among Deaf populations, improving knowledge and health behavior.

XSL•FO RenderX

Evidence of their potential effects on behavior would be strengthened by including clinical measures.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

The main strength of this study is that it demonstrates that SMS text messages can improve health knowledge about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living during pregnancy for Deaf South African women of reproductive age. Along with a similar paper on hypertension knowledge among Deaf South Africans, it strengthens the argument that SMS text messages can address Deaf people's health knowledge gap. We have not been able to identify other studies that show this. Hence, this study contributes to understanding ways of improving Deaf people's health knowledge. This study also contributes to understanding how information campaigns for the Deaf population can be improved by paying attention to design aspects.

Loss to follow-up presents a limitation. The relatively small sample size may also limit the generalizability of our findings. Possible selection bias should be noted. Possibly, those who decided to participate had a particular interest in the topic. Similarly, it is conceivable that loss to follow-up resulted from participants finding the SMS text messages challenging to understand or uninteresting. It should also be noted that the study was conducted in a metropolitan area, which may affect the generalizability of our findings. A further limitation is that there may be volunteer bias among those attending the focus group. The possibility exists that only those who appreciated the SMS text messaging campaign decided to accept the invitation to attend the focus group. Behavior change was self-reported, was not supported by clinical data, and could reflect social desirability. The exit questionnaire for this SMS text messaging campaign was completed 3 weeks after the campaign ended, making it difficult to assess how much knowledge would be retained in the long term. Confounding factors such as loss of phones, uncharged phones, and sharing of phones should be controlled for in future studies.

#### Conclusions

Deaf people have limited access to health information. This study documents that SMS text messages were an effective and acceptable way of imparting information about pregnancy, antenatal care, and healthy living to Deaf women of reproductive age. SMS text messages for Deaf people need to pay attention to language and medical terminology. SMS text messaging campaigns for the Deaf population can be improved by paying close attention to Deaf people's communication preferences, for instance, using pictures or signed MMSs. Ideally, SMS text messaging campaigns for the Deaf population should be combined with an interactive form of communication that would enable Deaf participants to seek further information and ask questions. Furthermore, campaigns should explore the combination of different communication forms using signs and written language. Future research should examine whether SMS text messages can motivate behavior change.

#### Acknowledgments

The National Research Foundation, South Africa, and the University of Cape Town funded this study. The funding agencies played no role in the study design or in collecting, analyzing, and interpreting the data. Neither did they play a role in writing this paper. Their financial support is acknowledged with appreciation. The authors thank the Deaf people of Cape Town for participating in the project. They also thank their Deaf research assistants, sign language interpreters, and colleagues. The authors thank Kristen Daskilewicz, who analyzed the quantitative data. They also thank the South African National Research Foundation and the University of Cape Town for their funding.

All authors declared that they had insufficient funding to support open access publication of this manuscript. JMIR Publications provided APF support for the publication of this article.

# **Data Availability**

The data set used during this study is available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 SMS text messaging campaign. [DOCX File , 20 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40561 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Baseline questionnaire. [DOCX File, 21 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40561 app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Exit questionnaire. [DOCX File , 23 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40561 app3.docx ]

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40561

RenderX

# References

- 1. Department of health. 2007 guidelines for maternity care in South Africa: a manual for clinics, community health centres and district hospitals. Department of Health, Republic of South Africa. 2007. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/mrx2zkjx</u> [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 2014 Saving Mothers. Annual report and detailed analysis of maternal deaths due to non-pregnancy related infections Pretoria, South Africa. Department of Health, Republic of South Africa. 2012. URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.za/index.php/shortcodes/2015-03-29-10-42-47/2015-04-30-08-24-26-7?download=1825:saving-mothers-report-2014-fxd</u> [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 3. Perinatal deaths in South Africa. Statistics South Africa. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P03094/</u> P030942015.pdf [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 4. Mabaso MH, Ndaba T, Mkhize-Kwitshana ZL. Overview of maternal, neonatal and child deaths in South Africa: challenges, opportunities, progress and future prospects. Int J MCH AIDS 2014;2(2):182-189 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27621971]
- Lund S, Nielsen BB, Hemed M, Boas IM, Said A, Said K, et al. Mobile phones improve antenatal care attendance in Zanzibar: a cluster randomized controlled trial. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2014 Jan 17;14:29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-29] [Medline: 24438517]
- 6. Sibeko S, Moodley J. Healthcare attendance patterns by pregnant women in Durban, South Africa. S Afr Fam Pract 2006;48(10):17-1e [FREE Full text]
- Silal SP, Penn-Kekana L, Harris B, Birch S, McIntyre D. Exploring inequalities in access to and use of maternal health services in South Africa. BMC Health Serv Res 2012 May 21;12:120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-12-120] [Medline: 22613037]
- 8. Hoque M, Hoque E, Kader SB. Audit of antenatal care in a rural district of KZN, South Africa. S Afr Fam Pract 2008;50(3):66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/20786204.2008.10873721]
- Myer L, Harrison A. Why do women seek antenatal care late? Perspectives from rural South Africa. J Midwifery Womens Health 2003 Jul;48(4):268-272. [doi: <u>10.1016/s1526-9523(02)00421-x</u>] [Medline: <u>12867911</u>]
- Abrahams N, Jewkes R, Mvo Z. Health care-seeking practices of pregnant women and the role of the midwife in Cape Town, South Africa. J Midwifery Womens Health 2001 Jul;46(4):240-247. [doi: <u>10.1016/s1526-9523(01)00138-6</u>] [Medline: <u>11603639</u>]
- Credé S, Sinanovic E, Adnams C, London L. The utilization of health care services by children with foetal alcohol syndrome in the Western Cape, South Africa. Drug Alcohol Depend 2011 Jun 01;115(3):175-182. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.10.019</u>] [Medline: <u>21131141</u>]
- 12. Mitra M, Long-Bellil LM, Iezzoni LI, Smeltzer SC, Smith LD. Pregnancy among women with physical disabilities: unmet needs and recommendations on navigating pregnancy. Disabil Health J 2016 Jul;9(3):457-463 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2015.12.007] [Medline: 26847669]
- Redshaw M, Malouf R, Gao H, Gray R. Women with disability: the experience of maternity care during pregnancy, labour and birth and the postnatal period. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2013 Sep 13;13:174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-13-174] [Medline: 24034425]
- O'Hearn A. Deaf women's experiences and satisfaction with prenatal care: a comparative study. Fam Med 2006 Nov;38(10):712-716 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17075744</u>]
- Gichane MW, Heap M, Fontes M, London L. "They must understand we are people": pregnancy and maternity service use among signing deaf women in Cape Town. Disabil Health J 2017 Jul;10(3):434-439 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.dhjo.2017.03.016</u>] [Medline: <u>28416204</u>]
- 16. Telemedicine: opportunities and developments in member states: report on the second global survey on eHealth. World Health Organization. 2010. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44497</u> [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 17. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth. World Health Organization. 2010. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44607</u> [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 18. Padarath A, King J, Mackie E, Casciola J. South African health review 2016. Health Systems Trust. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.hst.org.za/publications/Pages/South-African-Health-Review-2016.aspx</u> [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 19. Solarin I, Black V. "They told me to come back": women's antenatal care booking experience in inner-city Johannesburg. Matern Child Health J 2013 Feb;17(2):359-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-012-1019-6] [Medline: 22527767]
- Muhwava LS, Morojele N, London L. Psychosocial factors associated with early initiation and frequency of antenatal care (ANC) visits in a rural and urban setting in South Africa: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Jan 25;16:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0807-1] [Medline: 26810320]
- Chen ZW, Fang LZ, Chen LY, Dai HL. Comparison of an SMS text messaging and phone reminder to improve attendance at a health promotion center: a randomized controlled trial. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 2008 Jan;9(1):34-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1631/jzus.B071464] [Medline: 18196610]
- 22. Patrick K, Griswold WG, Raab F, Intille SS. Health and the mobile phone. Am J Prev Med 2008 Aug;35(2):177-181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2008.05.001] [Medline: 18550322]
- 23. Lim MS, Hocking JS, Hellard ME, Aitken CK. SMS STI: a review of the uses of mobile phone text messaging in sexual health. Int J STD AIDS 2008 May;19(5):287-290. [doi: 10.1258/ijsa.2007.007264] [Medline: 18482956]

- 24. Alverson DC, Holtz B, D'Iorio J, DeVany M, Simmons S, Poropatich RK. One size doesn't fit all: bringing telehealth services to special populations. Telemed J E Health 2008 Nov;14(9):957-963. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2008.0115</u>] [Medline: <u>19035807</u>]
- 25. Leon N, Surender R, Bobrow K, Muller J, Farmer A. Improving treatment adherence for blood pressure lowering via mobile phone SMS-messages in South Africa: a qualitative evaluation of the SMS-text Adherence SuppoRt (StAR) trial. BMC Fam Pract 2015 Jul 03;16:80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12875-015-0289-7] [Medline: 26137844]
- 26. Chan CV, Kaufman DR. A technology selection framework for supporting delivery of patient-oriented health interventions in developing countries. J Biomed Inform 2010 Apr;43(2):300-306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2009.09.006] [Medline: 19796709]
- 27. Lau YK, Cassidy T, Hacking D, Brittain K, Haricharan HJ, Heap M. Antenatal health promotion via short message service at a midwife obstetrics unit in South Africa: a mixed methods study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2014 Aug 21;14:284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-284] [Medline: 25145970]
- 28. Hacking D, Haricharan HJ, Brittain K, Lau YK, Cassidy T, Heap M. Hypertension health promotion via text messaging at a community health center in South Africa: a mixed methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Mar 10;4(1):e22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4569] [Medline: 26964505]
- 29. Vodopivec-Jamsek V, de Jongh T, Gurol-Urganci I, Atun R, Car J. Mobile phone messaging for preventive health care. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Dec 12;12(12):CD007457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007457.pub2] [Medline: 23235643]
- 30. Déglise C, Suggs LS, Odermatt P. SMS for disease control in developing countries: a systematic review of mobile health applications. J Telemed Telecare 2012 Jul;18(5):273-281. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2012.110810] [Medline: 22826375]
- Zhao J, Freeman B, Li M. Can mobile phone apps influence people's health behavior change? An evidence review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 31;18(11):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5692] [Medline: 27806926]
- Sondaal SF, Browne JL, Amoakoh-Coleman M, Borgstein A, Miltenburg AS, Verwijs M, et al. Assessing the effect of mHealth interventions in improving maternal and neonatal care in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. PLoS One 2016 May 04;11(5):e0154664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154664] [Medline: 27144393]
- 33. Tamrat T, Kachnowski S. Special delivery: an analysis of mHealth in maternal and newborn health programs and their outcomes around the world. Matern Child Health J 2012 Jul;16(5):1092-1101. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-011-0836-3] [Medline: 21688111]
- 34. Lee SH, Nurmatov UB, Nwaru BI, Mukherjee M, Grant L, Pagliari C. Effectiveness of mHealth interventions for maternal, newborn and child health in low- and middle-income countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health 2016 Jun;6(1):010401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7189/jogh.06.010401] [Medline: 26649177]
- 35. Kruse C, Betancourt J, Ortiz S, Valdes Luna SM, Bamrah IK, Segovia N. Barriers to the use of mobile health in improving health outcomes in developing countries: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 09;21(10):e13263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13263] [Medline: 31593543]
- Maslowsky J, Frost S, Hendrick CE, Trujillo Cruz FO, Merajver SD. Effects of postpartum mobile phone-based education on maternal and infant health in Ecuador. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2016 Jul;134(1):93-98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.12.008] [Medline: 27126905]
- 37. Heap M, Morgans M. Language policy and SASL: interpreters in the public service. In: Watermeyer B, Swartz L, Lorenzo T, Schneider M, Priestley M, editors. Disability and Social Change: A South African agenda. Cape Town, South Africa: HSRC Press; 2011:134-147.
- Iezzoni LI, O'Day BL, Killeen M, Harker H. Communicating about health care: observations from persons who are deaf or hard of hearing. Ann Intern Med 2004 Mar 02;140(5):356-362. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-140-5-200403020-00011</u>] [Medline: <u>14996677</u>]
- 39. Haricharan HJ, Heap M, Coomans F, London L. Can we talk about the right to healthcare without language? A critique of key international human rights law, drawing on the experiences of a deaf woman in Cape Town, South Africa. Disabil Soc 2013;28(1):54-66 [FREE Full text]
- 40. Emond A, Ridd M, Sutherland H, Allsop L, Alexander A, Kyle J. Access to primary care affects the health of deaf people. Br J Gen Pract 2015 Feb;65(631):95-96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp15X683629] [Medline: 25624302]
- 41. Barnett S, McKee M, Smith SR, Pearson TA. Deaf sign language users, health inequities, and public health: opportunity for social justice. Prev Chronic Dis 2011 Mar;8(2):A45 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21324259]
- 42. Kritzinger J, Schneider M, Swartz L, Braathen SH. "I just answer 'yes' to everything they say": access to health care for deaf people in Worcester, South Africa and the politics of exclusion. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Mar;94(3):379-383. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.12.006] [Medline: 24388666]
- 43. Napier J, Kidd MR. English literacy as a barrier to health care information for deaf people who use Auslan. Aust Fam Physician 2013 Dec;42(12):896-899 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24324995]
- 44. Terry DR, Lê Q, Nguyen HB. Moving forward with dignity: exploring health awareness in an isolated deaf community of Australia. Disabil Health J 2016 Apr;9(2):281-288. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.dhjo.2015.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>26905971</u>]

RenderX

- 45. McKee MM, Paasche-Orlow MK, Winters PC, Fiscella K, Zazove P, Sen A, et al. Assessing health literacy in deaf American sign language users. J Health Commun 2015;20 Suppl 2(0 2):92-100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1066468] [Medline: 26513036]
- 46. Glaser M, Lorenzo T. Developing literacy with deaf adults. In: Watermeyer B, Swartz L, Lorenzo T, Schneider M, Priestley M, editors. Disability and Social Change: A South African agenda. Pretoria, South Africa: Human Sciences Research Council; 2006.
- 47. Johnston TA, Napier JM. Medical signbank: bringing deaf people and linguists together in the process of language development. Sign Lang Stud 2010;10(2):258-275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1353/sls.0.0042]
- 48. Mobile usage at the base of the pyramid in South Africa. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.: infoDev; 2012 Dec. URL: <u>https://en.unesco.org/icted/sites/default/files/2019-04/final\_south\_africa\_bop\_study\_web.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 49. Haricharan HJ, Heap M, Hacking D, Lau YK. Health promotion via SMS improves hypertension knowledge for deaf South Africans. BMC Public Health 2017 Aug 18;17(1):663 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s12889-017-4619-7</u>] [Medline: <u>28821288</u>]
- 50. Kaskowitz 3rd SR, Nakaji MC, Clark KL, Gunsauls DC, Sadler GR. Bringing prostate cancer education to deaf men. Cancer Detect Prev 2006;30(5):439-448. [doi: 10.1016/j.cdp.2006.09.001] [Medline: 17098377]
- Sacks L, Nakaji M, Harry KM, Oen M, Malcarne VL, Sadler GR. Testicular cancer knowledge among deaf and hearing men. J Cancer Educ 2013 Sep;28(3):503-508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-013-0493-x] [Medline: 23813488]
- 52. Harry KM, Malcarne VL, Branz P, Fager M, Garcia BD, Sadler GR. Evaluating a skin cancer education program for the deaf community. J Cancer Educ 2012 Jun;27(3):501-506 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-012-0367-7] [Medline: 22544511]
- Choe S, Lim RS, Clark K, Wang R, Branz P, Sadler GR. The impact of cervical cancer education for deaf women using a video educational tool employing American sign language, open captioning, and graphics. J Cancer Educ 2009;24(1):10-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08858190802665245] [Medline: 19259859]
- 54. Ajzen I. Perceived behavioural control, self-efficacy, locus of control and the theory of planned behaviour. J Appl Soc Psychol 2002 Apr;32(4):665-683 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb00236x]
- 55. UN Economic and Social Council. General Comment No. 14: The Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health (Art. 12 of the Covenant). UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR). 2000 Aug 11. URL: <u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/4538838d0.html</u> [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 56. Chininthorn P, Glaser M, Tucker WD, Diehl JC. Exploration of deaf people's health information sources and techniques for information delivery in Cape Town: a qualitative study for the design and development of a mobile health app. JMIR Hum Factors 2016 Nov 11;3(2):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.6653] [Medline: 27836819]
- 57. Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC. In search of how people change. Applications to addictive behaviors. Am Psychol 1992 Sep;47(9):1102-1114. [doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.47.9.1102] [Medline: 1329589]

# Abbreviations

DCCT: Deaf Community of Cape Town FAS: fetal alcohol syndrome mHealth: mobile health MMS: Multimedia Messaging Service SASL: South African Sign Language WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 27.06.22; peer-reviewed by C Kruse, Y Xiang; comments to author 24.10.22; revised version received 15.12.22; accepted 25.12.22; published 22.05.23.

Please cite as:

Haricharan HJ, Hacking D, Lau YK, Heap M Improving Knowledge About Pregnancy for Deaf South African Women of Reproductive Age Through a Text Messaging–Based Information Campaign: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40561 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40561</u> doi:<u>10.2196/40561</u> PMID:<u>37213174</u>



©Hanne Jensen Haricharan, Damian Hacking, Yan Kwan Lau, Marion Heap. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.05.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Comparing the Effectiveness of a Web-Based Application With a Digital Live Seminar to Improve Safe Communication for Pregnant Women: 3-Group Partially Randomized Controlled Trial

Lukas Kötting<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Christina Derksen<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Franziska Maria Keller<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Sonia Lippke<sup>1</sup>, Prof Dr

Psychology & Methods, Constructor University, Bremen, Germany

**Corresponding Author:** Lukas Kötting, MSc Psychology & Methods Constructor University Campus Ring 1 Bremen, 28759 Germany Phone: 49 421 200 4721 Email: <u>l.koetting@jacobs-university.de</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Medical internet interventions such as asynchronous apps and synchronous digital live seminars can be effective behavior change interventions. The research question of this study was whether digital interventions based on the Health Action Process Approach can improve pregnant women's safe communication and patient safety in obstetric care.

**Objective:** This study aims to compare a digital live seminar with a web-based application intervention and a passive control group and to identify which social cognitive variables determine safe communication behavior and patient safety.

**Methods:** In total, 657 pregnant women were recruited, and hereof, 367 expectant mothers from 2 German university hospitals participated in the pre-post study (live seminar: n=142; web-based app: n=81; passive control group: n=144). All interventions targeted intention, planning, self-efficacy, and communication of personal preferences. The 2.5-hour midwife-assisted live seminar included exercises on empathy and clear communication. The fully automated web-based application consisted of 9 consecutive training lessons with the same content as that of the live seminar.

**Results:** Controlled for sociodemographic characteristics, repeated measures analyses of covariance revealed that pregnant women significantly improved their self-reported communication behavior in all groups. The improvement was more pronounced after the digital live seminar than after the web-based application (P<.001;  $\eta_p^2$ =0.043). Perceived patient safety improved more for pregnant women participating in the live seminar than for those participating in the web-based application group (P=.03  $\eta_p^2$ =0.015). A regression analysis revealed that social cognitive variables predicted safe communication behavior.

**Conclusions:** Overall, the web-based application intervention appeared to be less effective than the digital live training in terms of communication behavior. Application interventions addressing communication behaviors might require more face-to-face elements. Improving intention, coping planning, and coping self-efficacy appeared to be key drivers in developing safe communication behavior in pregnant women. Future research should include social learning aspects and focus on the practical application of medical internet interventions when aiming to improve pregnant women's communication and patient safety in obstetrics.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03855735; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03855735

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44701) doi:10.2196/44701

# KEYWORDS

RenderX

Health Action Process Approach; HAPA; intention; safe communication behavior; patient safety; obstetric patients; digital intervention; web-based app

#### Kötting et al

# Introduction

#### Background

Medical internet interventions, such as asynchronous applications and synchronous digital live seminars, can be effective behavior change interventions [1]. In health care, several digital approaches have been used to improve patient safety [2-4]. Especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, digital interventions gained significance in reducing the risk of infection through personal contact [5]. Owing to lower costs, a potentially broader reach, and reduced logistic hurdles, research has focused on asynchronous training apps. Nevertheless, implementing an intervention can only be successful if the circumstances and stakeholder interests are considered [6].

One of the fields in which digital interventions could be especially useful is antenatal education and care [7]. Respectful maternity care, including safe and respectful communication, is an important aspect of obstetric practice and research [8]. Health care workers (HCWs) are encouraged to offer evidence-based care while also focusing on the personal needs and preferences of pregnant women and their families [8,9]. For a positive labor and birth experience, safe communication between the HCW and pregnant women and their families in a trusting, respectful, and empathetic environment is necessary [10]. In such an environment, pregnant women can openly share their feelings and needs [11-13].

Safe communication can be described as a multilateral process that involves sharing emotions, cognitions, and actions on a verbal and nonverbal level [14]. Although previous literature has mainly focused on communication competencies among HCWs, the literature is lacking in understanding safe communication behavior from the perspective of pregnant women and their families [15,16]. Previous research [9] showed that more than one-third of pregnant women reported that they felt unsure to ask questions or raise concerns while giving birth [17]. The reasons were perceived time constraints of HCWs, perceived power differences, and the worry of being perceived as a burden [17,18]. Despite these barriers, pregnant women's communication competencies are rarely considered during antenatal digital interventions. As a result, the literature on digital safe communication trainings for pregnant women is currently scarce and lacks evidence.

This is particularly important because poor and ineffective communication in health care settings is a contributing and leading factor for adverse events that are a threat to patient safety, according to the report of the Joint Commission [19]. Patient safety is the absence of harmful events that could have been prevented under the given circumstances; for example, by safe communication [20]. Both preventable and nonpreventable adverse events may lead to detrimental outcomes for patients [21-23]. In obstetric care, not only the mother but also the unborn child might be affected by adverse treatment processes, such as inadequate patient-provider communication, which have the potential to result in preventable adverse events [24,25].

It is evident that effective communication is a prerequisite for safe care in obstetrics. Communication behavior can thus be seen as a crucial preventive health behavior [15]. There is extensive literature on health behavior change, indicating that multiple psychological and social factors have to be addressed. A variety of theories and models have been developed and applied to explain and predict behavior change [26]. However, many theories and models struggle to predict not only intention but also the translation of a behavioral intention ("I will always voice my concerns") into behavior. There can be situational barriers, for example, pain and exhaustion during birth, as well as a lack of volitional factors such as coping planning [27]. A model that focuses on bridging this so-called intention-behavior gap to achieve behavior change is the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA) that examines social cognitive determinants of behavior [28].

The HAPA model assumes 2 distinct phases: first, in the motivational phase, an intention to act (in this case, to safely communicate with the HCW) is developed based on the individual's outcome expectancies and risk perceptions. In the second phase, the volitional phase, this intention is brought into action through planning. During all the stages of behavior change, situational barriers and facilitators intercorrelate with this process [28]. Self-efficacy beliefs are crucial for planning, adopting, and maintaining a new behavior [29].

To actually improve safe communication behavior instead of the intention to communicate safely and thus reduce potential preventable adverse events, digital interventions must be tailored to the social cognitive barriers and facilitators for pregnant women. Previous literature has demonstrated that interventions based on motivational and volitional theories, such as the HAPA, are effective in improving health-related behaviors such as safe communication [16,30,31]. The HAPA model has rarely been applied to predict and improve safe communication behaviors in health care [16,31]. Most interventions are solely offered to the HCW.

#### **Current Research**

Taken together, pregnant women's safe communication behavior in the context of obstetrics requires further examination, especially regarding digital antenatal communication interventions during the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, this study will evaluate 2 digital interventions that are hypothesized to improve perceived communication behavior and perceived patient safety within the sample of pregnant women and investigate behavior change determinants. The aim of this study was to compare the effectiveness of a web-based application intervention with a digital live seminar and a passive control group (CG).

Thus, the hypotheses are as follows:

- Hypothesis 1: pregnant women who use the web-based application before giving birth will show greater improvement in the primary outcome of safe communication behavior and the secondary outcome of perceived patient safety than women from a passive CG. Their improvement was comparable with an intervention group that received a web intervention (web live seminar).
- Hypothesis 2: the HAPA model can explain the safe communication behavior of pregnant women after

XSL•FO

web-based application interventions; coping planning, coping self-efficacy, and intention are associated with safe communication behavior after digital interventions.

• Hypothesis 3: perceived patient safety is associated with safe communication behavior after web-based application use.

# Methods

# **TeamBaby Project**

Data collection took place within the TeamBaby Project, which aimed to investigate and improve the psychological mechanisms underlying safe communication behavior in obstetrics, specifically before and during birth. The TeamBaby Project is funded by the German Innovation Fund (project number 01VSF18023) of the Gemeinsamer Bundesausschuss (G-BA) and registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03855735).

#### **Recruitment and Procedures**

# **Participants**

All participants were pregnant women intending to give birth at 1 of 2 project-affiliated university hospitals providing the highest level of care in affiliated neonatal intensive care units. Within the 2 university hospitals, expecting mothers were approached by a project-affiliated study nurse and a research associate. Recruitment was facilitated by distributing flyers, posters, and registration forms at key locations (antenatal clinics, waiting rooms, wards, corridors, and lifts) as well as through social media posts. In addition, gynecologists in private practice, midwives, counseling centers, and pharmacies were approached with additional material to distribute to their clients. Participants registered via email by filling in a registration form. During the registration process, participants were provided with an informed consent form offering a detailed description, including the outcomes of the study. Furthermore, as part of the informed consent, participants were informed of whether they were randomly allocated to the intervention or passive CG. In addition, participants were informed that no harm or unintended effects were expected as part of their participation. To ensure the privacy and confidentiality of the obtained data, each pregnant woman was asked to generate a unique pseudonymization code and subsequently received a baseline questionnaire (provided that informed consent was given) afterward. Further inclusion criteria were sufficient knowledge of German and age of maturity (>18 years). Expectant mothers

created their own participant codes, using the following scheme: (1) the first 2 letters of the father's surname, (2) the first 2 letters of the mother's surname, and (3) the birthday of the expectant mother. In accordance with the data security approval obtained, the process of pseudonymizing the data allowed for no conclusions regarding personal data.

Between June 2020 and August 2021, participants were randomized to either an intervention group that received a digital live seminar training (live seminar group [IG1]) or a passive CG. Women in the passive CG were fully informed about the study, including the possible intervention, before the randomization. They did not receive any additional intervention or educational material. The randomization for the live seminar was prepared and performed by project-affiliated team members (study nurses and research assistants) at the 2 hospitals. For this purpose, closed envelopes were prepared in a ratio of 3:2 for 77.6% (222/367) of pregnant women.

Although a complete randomization was planned, 52 (36.1%) of 144 women had to be allocated to the CG owing to their expected due date. To ensure that the live seminar worked in a group setting, 12 (8.3%) of 144 women who provided postpartum survey data for the intervention group were not randomized but were assigned when the live intervention started between August 2021 and June 2022, and a third group of expectant mothers were recruited for the web-based application intervention (web-based application group [IG2]). Participants were informed of the study in writing and asked to provide informed consent before participation. As with the digital live trainings, participants were asked to create a unique pseudonymization code to ensure that all privacy and confidentiality regulations were met as part of the data collection and evaluation.

Different recruitment periods were planned from the beginning to avoid overlapping recruitment efforts at the 2 hospitals. Nevertheless, the recruitment of pregnant women for the digital live seminar took place during COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, including access restrictions for both support persons and the study personnel. Participants answered the survey questions twice (before and after birth), with the abovementioned interventions conducted before giving birth. The participants did not receive any form of compensation for their participation in the study.

A detailed description of the recruitment process and dropout from the interventions is shown in Figure 1.


#### Kötting et al

Figure 1. Flowchart of study participation. \*Study flow for the web-based application intervention group. \*\*Previous live seminar intervention and the passive control group.



#### Interventions

For the digital live seminar, content for communication training was developed by 2 organizations that consulted on patient safety and communication in collaboration with the research team. The content was delivered through a 2.5-hour web session facilitated by 2 communication trainers, including a physician and midwife. Details of the training provided to the pregnant women and their partners have been described elsewhere [32]. The HAPA and Behaviour Change Taxonomy were used to guide intervention development [33]. To prepare for the live seminar, pregnant women completed a self-reflection questionnaire regarding their birth preferences. The live seminar consisted of an introduction round to uncover individual needs and potential communication approaches. Subsequently, an exercise on perspective taking ("empathy maps") was included to invite participants to take the point of view of the HCW. Then, the pregnant women practiced communication competencies while considering typical situations in obstetrics. "Speaking up" to voice own concerns and "closed-loop communication" to facilitate mutual understanding were introduced. Finally, participants were invited to develop a behavioral plan regarding the communication of their individual needs.

The training used in the web sessions was adapted for the fully automated web-based application intervention. The web-based application was also based on the HAPA and behavior change techniques (BCTs) [33], aiming to (1) raise awareness of the

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44701

RenderX

importance of communication behavior, (2) create an intention to apply communication strategies, and (3) raise belief in one's ability to use and implement strategies. In line with the live seminar targeting pregnant women's safe communication behavior, the psychological interventions implemented in the web-based application focused on BCTs that could be linked to the HAPA. These included goal setting (outcome; BCT 1.3), commitment (BCT 1.9), monitoring of emotional consequences (BCT 5.4), instruction on how to perform the behavior (BCT 4.1), discrepancy between current behavior and goal (BCT 1.6), information about health consequences (BCT 5.1), and feedback and monitoring (BCT 2).

Content and adaptations for the German web-based application were developed with physicians from 2 university hospitals (n=4), psychologists (n=4), and the German Alliance for Patient Safety. The content from the web training was further iterated by project researchers (psychologists), obstetricians at clinics, and web application developers. The development process included a beta version of the web-based application tested by an affiliated health insurance company. The web-based application was accessible through all web browsers. It consisted of 10 consecutive lessons, from basic communication competencies to action plans. The details of the modules in the web-based application are provided in Tables S1 and S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

## Measures

#### Overview

The primary outcome of the study was pregnant women's communication behavior, and the secondary outcome was perceived patient safety. As behavioral determinants, action planning and coping planning were assessed using self-reported questionnaires. Items stemmed from previously validated scales [34-36], which were revised by the project team (obstetricians and health psychologists). The questions were administered in German.

#### **Communication Behavior**

Communication behavior was assessed via 7 items from a self-constructed scale based on the communication competencies by Rider and Keefer [35], "During pregnancy, I have communicated my needs clearly." The answer categories ranged from 1 (does not apply at all) to 6 (applies fully and completely), with a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .63 at the first time point (T1) and .81 at the second time point (T2).

#### **Perceived Patient Safety**

Perceived patient safety was measured as perceived patient safety risks with 9 items that were adapted to the pregnant women's perspective from a self-constructed and previously validated scale [37], "Before, during and after birth, I observed at least once that not enough healthcare workers were present." The answer categories ranged from 1 (does not apply at all) to 6 (applies fully and completely) at baseline and 1 to 4 in the questionnaire after birth, with a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .82 at T1 and .85 at T2. Baseline values were recorded using the formula "Y =  $(B - A)^*(x - a)/(b-a) + A$ ," with the old minimum (a), new minimum (A), old maximum (b), and new maximum (B) [38]. Higher levels indicate more perceived risks and thus a lower perceived safety.

#### **Coping Planning**

Coping planning was measured with a single item based on previously validated items in other behavioral domains [34]: "I was able to practically apply my plans for communicating during birth, even when encountering difficulties." The answer categories ranged from 1 (*much lower compared with other patients*) to 5 (*much higher compared with other patients*).

#### **Coping Self-Efficacy**

Coping self-efficacy was assessed via a self-constructed single item on the basis of previously validated items in other behavioral domains [34]: "I was sure I could communicate well even when I was tired or exhausted." The answer categories ranged from 1 (does not apply at all) to 6 (applies fully and completely).

#### Intention

Intention was assessed via 2 self-constructed items on the basis of previously validated items in other behavioral domains [34], "I intend to always pay attention that I communicate safely with the doctors and midwives." The answer categories ranged from 1 (does not apply at all) to 6 (applies fully and completely), with a Spearman  $\rho$  of 0.71 at T1.

#### Sociodemographic Data

Age, marital status, highest level of education, and nationality were assessed in categorical data. Age (1: "younger than 20 years of age"; 2: "20-29 years"; 3:"30-39 years"; 4: "40-49 years"), education (1: "middle school degree or lower"; 2: "high school diploma"; 3: "vocational training"; 4: "university degree"), and marital status (1: "single"; 2: "in a relationship"; 3: "married"; 4: "divorced/separated") were measured in 4 categories. Nationality (1: "German" or 2: "Other") was measured dichotomously.

#### Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted using SPSS software (version 29.0; IBM Corp). The authors were not blinded to the analysis. Regarding hypothesis 1, 2 repeated measures analyses of covariance were used to examine and compare changes in safe communication behavior and patient safety across the 3 groups (IG1, IG2, and CG) in a pre-post design. For the repeated measures analyses of covariance, age, nationality, relationship status, and education were recoded into binary variables, so they could be added as covariates. For age, 2 binary variables were used to compare younger patients with patients in the age range of 30 to 39 years and older patients with patients in the age range of 30 to 39 years. Nationality was recoded to compare German participants with pregnant women of a different nationality. Relationship status was recoded to compare pregnant women currently in a relationship with those currently single for different reasons (including separated or divorced). The educational level was recoded as "university degree" versus "other." Finally, the group factor was added as 2 binary variables to compare IG2 with IG1 and the CG. To test the drivers of safe communication behavior (hypothesis 2) and the association of patient safety with communication behavior (hypothesis 3), regression paths based on the HAPA model were analyzed for all 3 groups (IG1, IG2, and CG). Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the partial intercorrelations between variables. In the partial correlations of the studied variables, age, marital status, education level, and nationality were included as control variables. Missing values occurred in ≤5% of all cases. Thus, missing data were handled via listwise deletion.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The Declaration of Helsinki was adequately addressed, and this study was approved by the Ethics Committee for Human Research of the University Hospital Ulm (number 114/19) and the Ethics Committee for Medical Research of the University Hospital Frankfurt (number 19-292). Approval for this study was obtained without any exemption.

# Results

# **Participants**

In total, 367 (IG1: n=142; CG: n=144; IG2: n=81) expectant women participated in the 2 survey waves, while providing matchable codes, and were thus included for data analysis. Figure 1 depicts the details of the participation process and dropouts, including all expectant mothers who had originally intended to participate in the study (IG1: n=225; CG: n=199;

```
(SL•FO
```

IG2: n=233). Dropout between the 2 survey waves (IG1: n=83; CG: n=55; IG2: n=152) occurred in the following cases: delivery at another clinic, no completion of the second survey wave, preterm delivery before the web intervention or web-based application, and delivery-related health complications. As highlighted in Figure 1, there were cases in which participants could not be randomized and were thus allocated to either the

control or intervention group because of upcoming delivery dates.

Table 1 provides an overview of the sociodemographic data. Most participants were aged between 30 and 39 years, predominantly well educated (a university degree), married or in a stable partnership, and of German nationality.

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics and intervention group affiliations of expectant mothers.

Items	IG1 <sup>a</sup> (n=142), n (%)	CG <sup>b</sup> (n=144), n (%)	IG2 <sup>c</sup> (n=81), n (%)	Missin	g values	<sup>1</sup> , n
				IG <sup>e</sup>	CG	App
Age group (years)		-	-			
>20	N/A <sup>f</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
20-29	14 (9.9)	19 (13.2)	9 (11.1)	0	4	5
30-39	119 (83.8)	107 (74.3)	57 (70.4)	N/A	N/A	N/A
40-49	9 (6.3)	14 (9.7)	10 (12.3)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Marital status				0	4	5
Single	2 (1.4)	3 (2.1)	3 (3.7)			
In a committed relationship	34 (23.9)	27 (18.8)	13 (16)			
Married or registered partnership	106 (74.6)	109 (75.7)	60 (74.1)			
Divorced or separated	N/A	1 (0.7)	N/A			
Highest educational level				0	4	5
No school-leaving qualification	1 (0.7)	N/A	N/A			
Secondary or elementary school leaving	N/A	N/A	1 (1.2)			
Secondary school diploma	2 (1.4)	3 (2.1)	2 (2.5)			
A levels	7 (4.9)	6 (4.2)	4 (4.9)			
Completed vocational training	19 (13.4)	27 (18.8)	11 (13.6)			
University degree <sup>g</sup>	27 (19)	26 (18.1)	17 (21)			
University degree	86 (60.6)	78 (54.2)	41 (50.6)			
Nationality				0	4	5
German	122 (85.9)	122 (84.7)	72 (88.9)			
Other	20 (14.1)	18 (12.5)	4 (4.9)			

<sup>a</sup>IG1: live seminar group.

<sup>b</sup>CG: control group.

<sup>c</sup>IG2: web-based application group.

<sup>d</sup>Missing values for each group.

<sup>e</sup>IG: intervention group.

<sup>f</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>g</sup>Special German university degree (Hochschule).

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

Descriptive statistics on age, relationship, and education level, as well as the nationality of expectant mothers included in the study, are shown in Table 1. All descriptive descriptions of expectant mothers are subdivided with regard to the form of intervention and missing values, whereby the respective frequency and percentage are provided in Table 1.

In addition to Table 1, groups of participants were compared using chi-square tests for categorical sociodemographic data.

The results indicated no differences between the groups in age  $(\chi^2_4=4.2; P=.38, \text{education level } (\chi^2_{12}=8.3; P=.76), \text{marital status } (\chi^2_6=4.5; P=.61), \text{ or nationality } (\chi^2_4=5.5; P=.24).$  More detailed results are presented in Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1. Finally, participants who dropped out were compared with participants who provided T2 data in their respective study group using chi-square tests for categorical sociodemographic characteristics to test differences in the mentioned study groups and their sociodemographic characteristics (Table 1). Pregnant women who discontinued the web-based application differences

XSL•FO RenderX

from those who completed it and provided T2 data regarding their sociodemographic characteristics in terms of age with  $\chi^2_3=49.7$ ; *P*≤.001 and nationality with  $\chi^2_1=5.9$ ; *P*=.02. No significant differences were found in marital status ( $\chi^2_2=2.3$ ; *P*=.32) and education level ( $\chi^2_5=3.2$ ; *P*=.66). The same picture emerged for IG1 for age ( $\chi^2_3=2.9$ ; *P*=.39), nationality ( $\chi^2_1=0.2$ ; *P*=.67), marital status ( $\chi^2_2=1.4$ ; *P*=.49), and education level ( $\chi^2_6=5.4$ ; *P*=.50). Finally, no significant differences were found in the CG for age ( $\chi^2_2=3.5$ ; *P*=.17), nationality ( $\chi^2_2=2.2$ ; *P*=.34),

marital status ( $\chi^2_3$ =1.5; *P*=.68), and education level ( $\chi^2_5$ =7.9; *P*=.16). The results of all the mentioned groups are depicted in Table S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

#### **Communication Behavior**

Regarding hypothesis 1, the main effect of time on communication behavior scores was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,336}$ =3.322; P=.07;  $\eta_p^2$ =0.010). This suggests that across groups, the mean level of communication behavior scores did not exhibit a significant trend over the measurement points (Figure 2).

Figure 2. Estimated marginal means of safe communication behavior over 2 time points. CG: control group; IG1: live seminar group; IG2: web-based application group.



There was a significant time × group interaction effect, meaning that the change in communication behavior across time differed between IG1 and IG2 ( $F_{1,336}$ =15.046; P<.001;  $\eta_p^2$ =0.043). Between the CG and IG2, no significant time × group interaction effect emerged ( $F_{1,336}$ =2.732; P=.10;  $\eta_p^2$ =0.008).

#### **Perceived Patient Safety**

The main effect of time on perceived patient safety scores was not statistically significant ( $F_{1,304}$ =0.013; P=.91). This suggests that, across groups, the mean level of patient safety scores did not exhibit a significant trend across the measurement occasions (Figure 3).

There was a significant time × group interaction effect, meaning that the change in perceived patient safety across time did significantly differ between IG1 and IG2 ( $F_{1,304}$ =4.709; P=.03;  $\eta_p^2$ =0.015). There was no significant time × group interaction effect between CG and IG2 ( $F_{1,304}$ =0.108; P=.74;  $\eta_p^2$ ≤0.001).

To investigate hypothesis 2 and assess whether social cognitive HAPA variables were associated with safe communication behavior after web-based application use, a multiple regression analysis was performed (Figure 4; Table 2).



Figure 3. Estimated marginal means over 2 time points of perceived patient safety. CG: control group; IG1: live seminar group; IG2: web-based application group.



**Figure 4.** Regression model of social cognitive Health Action Process Approach variables and safe communication behavior across all groups. CG: control group; IG1: live seminar group; IG2: web-based application group.  $*\beta$  is significant at the *P*=.05 level.  $***\beta$  is significant at the *P*=.001 level.





Table 2. Results from the social cognitive regression model in the Health Action Process Approach framework across all 3 groups.

	B <sup>a</sup> (95% CI; SE)	$\beta^{\mathrm{b}}$	P value	Tolerance	VIF <sup>c</sup>	
Parameters (web-based application group) <sup>d</sup>						
Intention T1 <sup>e</sup>	0.300 (0.124 to 0.476; 0.088)	.351	.001 <sup>f</sup>	0.794	1.260	
$\Delta$ Coping self-efficacy	0.143 (0.015 to 0.272; 0.064)	.259	.03 <sup>g</sup>	0.627	1.594	
$\Delta$ Coping planning	0.135 (0.015 to 0.262; 0.064)	.270	.04 <sup>g</sup>	0.522	1.915	
Communication at T1	0.369 (0.007 to 0.598; 0.115)	.350	.002 <sup>h</sup>	0.714	1.401	
Perceived patient safety	-0.111 (0.140 to 0.025; 0.068)	153	.11	0.965	1.036	
Parameters (live seminar group) <sup>i</sup>						
Intention at T1	0.018 (0.070 to 0.440; 0.088)	.018	.84	0.924	1.082	
$\Delta$ Coping self-efficacy	0.150 (0.004 to 0.207; 0.044)	.290	$.001^{\mathrm{f}}$	0.672	1.488	
$\Delta$ Coping planning	0.062 (-0.013 to 0.157; 0.038)	.142	.16	0.687	1.457	
Communication at T1	0.385 (0.236 to 0.715; 0.088)	.369	.001 <sup>f</sup>	0.916	1.092	
Perceived patient safety	<0.001 (-0.250 to -0.002; 0.063)	<.001	>.99	0.881	1.135	
Parameters (control group) <sup>j</sup>						
Intention at T1	0.255 (0.070 to 0.440; 0.093)	.221	.007 <sup>h</sup>	0.924	1.082	
$\Delta$ Coping self-efficacy	0.106 (0.004 to 0.207; 0.051)	.196	.04 <sup>g</sup>	0.672	1.488	
$\Delta$ Coping planning	0.072 (-0.013 to 0.157; 0.043)	.157	.10	0.687	1.457	
Communication at T1	0.426 (0.236 to 0.615; 0.096)	.362	.001 <sup>f</sup>	0.916	1.092	
Perceived patient safety	-0.126 (-0.250 to 0.002; 0.063)	166	.047 <sup>g</sup>	0.881	1.135	

<sup>a</sup>Unstandardized coefficient.

<sup>b</sup>Standardized coefficient.

<sup>c</sup>VIF: variance inflation factor.

<sup>d</sup>n=77.

<sup>e</sup>T1: first time point.

<sup>f</sup>B is significant at the P=.001 level.

 $^{g}B$  is significant at the *P*=.05 level.

<sup>h</sup>B is significant at the P=.01 level.

<sup>J</sup>n=119.

As summarized in Table 2, safe communication behavior after web-based application use was significantly predicted by the reported intention to communicate safely at baseline. Safe communication behavior at baseline significantly predicted safe communication behavior after participation in the web-based application. Safe communication behavior was also significantly determined by a change in coping planning and a change in coping self-efficacy between time points.

Nevertheless, safe communication behavior after participating in IG1 was not significantly predicted by the reported intention to communicate safely at baseline (Table 2). Safe communication behavior at baseline significantly predicted safe communication behavior after participating in the live seminar. Behavior was also significantly determined by a change in coping self-efficacy but not in coping planning between time points.

Expectant mothers' safe communication behavior in the CG was significantly predicted by their reported intention to communicate safely at baseline. Safe communication behavior at baseline significantly predicted safe communication behavior after giving birth. Finally, safe communication behavior was significantly determined by a change in coping self-efficacy but not by a change in coping planning between time points. All results across the abovementioned groups are presented in Table 2.

Regarding hypothesis 3, it could not be empirically supported that patient safety also played a role in communication behavior after using the web-based application; no significant association with perceived patient safety at the end of the observation period emerged with safe communication behavior. Similar results were observed for IG1. In the CG, an association emerged between perceived patient safety after birth and safe communication behavior. Notably, on a bivariate level, there

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44701
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup>n=125.

were significant correlations between perceived patient safety and communication at T2 only in the CG (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study aimed to compare and identify the effectiveness of different digital intervention modes for pregnant women regarding the primary outcome of safe communication behavior and the secondary outcome of perceived patient safety in obstetric care. It was hypothesized that participation in a digital web-based application would prove to be equally effective as a live seminar and more effective than a passive CG. However, this could not be empirically supported: compared with the intervention group, the pregnant women who used the web-based training application improved their safe communication behavior significantly less and not more than a passive CG that did not receive any intervention.

There are very few studies [39-41] on the effectiveness of (digital) interventions in the context of pregnant women's safe communication behavior in obstetrics. Thus, hypotheses could only be drawn based on other literature concerning the HAPA framework [42-44]. Thus, it is even more important to gain evidence in this area of research, especially regarding behavior change interventions [42,45,46]. It seems that theoretical foundations regarding BCTs in communication research are lacking and that tangible BCTs are missing or insufficient, as the literature demonstrates [47].

There are several theoretical explanations for the lower effectiveness of the web-based application intervention. Expectant mothers using the web-based application might have started with a different general understanding of their own ability to communicate safely and also of what safe communication behavior entails. As Figure 2 shows, their baseline score is, on average, higher than that of the other 2 groups. In addition, the web-based application was a more rigid knowledge-based approach to teaching safe communication behavior as compared with the web seminar with its practical and interactive elements. However, the interactive element, even if only "on-screen," might be crucial so that participants understand their own limits regarding safe communication and how to translate theoretical knowledge concerning communication behavior into action to bridge the intention-behavior gap. This is consistent with the finding of the dropout analyses that pregnant women with a different nationality than German were more likely to not complete the web-based application, probably because it was too text based. In contrast, there were no differences in the sociodemographic characteristics of women who completed the study and those who dropped out in IG1 and CG. The web-based application encompasses a knowledge-based learning experience [48] but no practical rehearsal in a natural environment, thus hindering potential learning and transfer effects. Although knowledge-based interventions can be effective in enhancing health literacy [49], health behavior change might only be possible if interventions are enriched with elements that target behavioral planning and enhancing self-efficacy [50].

In this context, professional and personal support can be perceived as trustworthy and knowledgeable [48,51]. In our digital live seminar, the trainers were experts in the field, thus providing guidance beyond the scope of the web-based application intervention. Furthermore, BCTs were not as effective in their implementation in the application intervention as found previously [32]. The implementation of BCTs in the application may not have worked as well as in the training, as BCT in the web-based application focused on the motivational phase of HAPA. However, more proximal factors, such as volitional factors, have been found to have a more direct and thus larger effect on behavior [52]. Compared with the live seminar, the web-based application offered fewer opportunities for individual action planning. Future research should evaluate which BCT is best for implementing volitional factors in digital interventions.

In previous literature, legitimacy has been identified as a crucial factor [51]. Digital and especially asynchronous tools are limited with regard to such effects, and notably, such elements were absent in the currently applied web-based applications. Digital interventions based on BCTs are already widely used for health maintenance, including the prevention and management of health problems [53]. Nevertheless, they might need to be revised under these considerations to provide the opportunity for contact with a trainer [48].

Contact with a trainer could also positively impact the user experience of pregnant women and their partners [54]. User barriers include the perception of irrelevant or unsuitable content, lack of time, and not having the option to save the digital tool on a mobile phone [54]. Consistent with the literature [55], there are 2 key characteristics of successful digital interventions on which the web-based application is improvable: inclusion of the target group in the development of the web-based intervention and the application of clear guiding principles. Guiding principles should be identified that answer key context-specific behavioral issues in the respective research field [55], such as a lack of respectful maternity care and patient involvement. Applied to the context at hand, context-specific stakeholders, including expectant mothers, their support persons, and HCW should be trained, and their communication strategies should be aligned. It should be noted that such elements have been included in developing the current version of the web-based application (eg, through tasks on perspective taking), although potentially more iterations could have been needed to adapt the web-based application even further to context-specific behavioral needs and preferences. Improving the web-based application on these points could lead to higher overall effectiveness, more closely resembling the effectiveness of a face-to-face intervention.

Consequently, it is necessary to identify effective mechanisms of (digital) interventions in addition to simply demonstrating their overall effectiveness [56]. We investigated the potential mechanisms in hypothesis 2 to understand what drives individual differences among participants regarding their improvements in safe communication behavior over time. For pregnant women who participated in the web-based application, coping planning and self-efficacy determined safe communication behavior. Various intervention studies have shown that both self-efficacy

and coping planning can be trained in interventions targeting knowledge and self-regulation [42,57-59]. This indicates that a theoretical understanding and appraisal of safe communication behavior are important determinants of improvement among participants using the web-based application.

Notably, a different picture emerged in the live seminar and in the CG, where coping self-efficacy was the main determinant of pregnant women's safe communication behavior. Thus, the web-based application stands out in the sense that multiple HAPA constructs predicted safe communication behavior at T2. Not only does the belief that one can communicate safely in difficult situations (coping self-efficacy) seem to play a role but also does the transfer of knowledge regarding concrete plans for these situations (coping planning). This further illustrates the need to incorporate elements regarding the social aspect of learning as well as further chances to translate theoretical knowledge into practice within a natural setting [60]. Ultimately, personalized or interactive elements seem to be an essential aspect in a variety of (digital) intervention studies [61]. One possibility would be to enrich the web-based application with a face-to-face format or a chatbot [62] to increase effectiveness and maintain practical advantages of digital training compared with a more extensive stand-alone, face-to-face intervention.

Another topic of concern was to investigate whether and how participation in the web-based application related to perceived patient safety. We expected that recipients of the web-based application would improve more than a passive CG and to a similar degree as recipients of a live seminar intervention. This was not empirically supported. In addition, an association between perceived patient safety and safe communication behavior emerged only in the CG. It is possible that participants in the CG had worse birth experiences and thus perceived higher patient safety risks. As safe communication behavior is central to good birth experiences, their perceptions of birth might have acted as a confounding factor in both perceived risks and communication. IG2 and IG1 focused on safe communication behavior, which is, although important, only one aspect of perceived patient safety and might be overshadowed by more obvious medical aspects and behavioral variables in this specific context, such as the birth experience. In this case, the web-based application in its current form was not able to improve perceived patient safety.

# Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

This study was the first approach to design and apply a digital training tool in the form of a web-based application to improve expectant mothers' safe communication. This study has several limitations. First, the lack of available previously published evidence negatively affected the ability to design and tailor such a web-based application to expectant mothers' needs and the accuracy of the hypothesized effectiveness. Future research in this area will benefit from the insights generated in this study. Consecutive research designs should permit more rigorous testing and a thorough development phase for the design and content according to the needs of participants before using a medical internet intervention. Similarly, optimizing the intervention effect and user experience could be achieved by

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44701
```

XSL•FO

incorporating face-to-face elements or the possibility of social exchange into the digital intervention design [48].

From a methodological perspective, the group of web-based application users was smaller than the other 2 groups. Absolute sample size and potential distortions (eg, due to dropout issues and social desirability) might explain the difference between hypothesized and empirically observed group differences [63,64]. The use of the web-based application by expectant mothers took place without further observation or consultation with the research staff, which is why interference effects (eg, frequent interruption of an exercise, multitasking, or an environment) could not be controlled. The assessments were self-reported measures and thus potentially biased by subjective beliefs and social desirability. In addition, we used only subjective reports and single-item scales for reasons of feasibility, but they might have had low reliability. Therefore, future research might benefit from developing and further validating multi-item scales to assess safe communication behavior or using observation assessments for a more objective assessment. This could offer additional insights regarding potential subjectivity within self-reported measures.

In this study, mostly well-educated women participated, which probably had an effect on the results, and thus limited generalizability. The web-based application should also be tested and verified with other sociodemographic groups with lower levels of education and migration backgrounds [40,65]. Consequently, future studies should aim for a more diverse participant pool [40,66]. Collaboration with cultural associations or municipal services could aid in this strategy and the sustainability of the intervention [55].

In addition, it should be mentioned that the data collection in the live seminar between June 2020 and August 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic was associated with restrictions at the hospitals. For example, expectant fathers were partially not allowed to be present during the birth, and interpersonal contacts were limited to a minimum to prevent the spread of the pandemic. All these points may have had an impact on the communication within the hospitals, for example, due to higher vigilance of patients in the current situation or a lack of resources.

Another limitation concerns the randomized group assignment, in which only a partly randomized allocation could be achieved. In addition, there was a comparably high dropout rate in IG2 that was potentially selective, which is typical for asynchronous web-based interventions [65,67,68]. It is possible that mothers with high self-efficacy and communication competency dropped out because they felt that they could not learn anything new. On the other hand, women with communication difficulties might have dropped out because they felt overwhelmed. Thus, the dropout might have caused an overestimation or underestimation of the effects [69]. In future studies, adequate measures should be taken to avoid dropouts. To summarize, both of the abovementioned limitations impaired the comparability of the 3 study groups. This should be considered when interpreting results and designing future studies.

#### Conclusions

The evaluated digital interventions had different effects on communication behavior and patient safety. The intervention that was developed and delivered as a web-based training application appeared to be not sufficient in changing communication behavior in pregnant women and perceived patient safety risks when compared with a passive CG. Hence, it seems reasonable to combine the web-based application with other face-to-face interventions to achieve better effectiveness. Changes and adaptations to the existing web-based applications should be examined more closely in the future. In addition, more precise analyses of communication behavior and the interrelation of social cognitive determinants are warranted. Future research should control for more potential confounding variables, such as socioeducational status and prior knowledge of pregnancy and profession. Qualitative methods can be applied to gain more precise insights into the existing web-based applications to adjust. Future web application developers and researchers should also consider the mode of delivery and create a "native app" to make the intervention more accessible.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Katharina Schiffer, Kim Sousa, and Maya Ahlden for proofreading the manuscript with regard to referencing style and language. They are thankful and appreciative of the help by Dr Marina Schmiedhofer, Prof Dr Frank Louwen, Prof Dr Frank Reister, Johanna Dietl, Freya Häußler, and Sandra Riedmüller in the data collection.

This study is funded by the German Innovation Fund (project number 01VSF18023) of the Federal Joint Committee (Gemeinsamer Bundesausschuss [G-BA]) as part of a third-party project funding.

# **Data Availability**

The data that support the findings of this study are available on request from the corresponding author, SL. The data were not allowed to be made publicly available because of privacy and data security reasons of the research participants.

# **Authors' Contributions**

LK, CD, FMK, and SL were involved in data collection and monitoring as well as in the conceptual aspects of this study. LK analyzed and described the data statistically and wrote all parts of the manuscript. CD advised on the methodology and structure. SL, CD, and FMK provided advice on the rationale and structure of this paper. All coauthors approved this version of the manuscript and contributed to its preparation.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

The web-based application is owned by Constructor University Bremen gGmbH, represented by SL. LK (the first author) was the main project manager in all aspects of the web-based application.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Comparison of the effectiveness of a web-based application with a digital live seminar to improve safe communication for pregnant women: 3-group partially randomized controlled trial. [DOCX File , 38 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44701 app1.docx ]

### Multimedia Appendix 2 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 351 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44701\_app2.pdf ]

#### References

- Ritterband LM, Andersson G, Christensen HM, Carlbring P, Cuijpers P. Directions for the International Society for Research on Internet Interventions (ISRII). J Med Internet Res 2006 Sep 29;8(3):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.3.e23] [Medline: 17032639]
- De Meester K, Verspuy M, Monsieurs KG, Van Bogaert P. SBAR improves nurse-physician communication and reduces unexpected death: a pre and post intervention study. Resuscitation 2013 Sep;84(9):1192-1196. [doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.03.016] [Medline: 23537699]
- 3. Curtis LM, Mullen RJ, Russell A, Fata A, Bailey SC, Makoul G, et al. An efficacy trial of an electronic health record-based strategy to inform patients on safe medication use: the role of written and spoken communication. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Sep;99(9):1489-1495 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.004] [Medline: 27444235]
- 4. Raynor DK, Blenkinsopp A, Knapp P, Grime J, Nicolson DJ, Pollock K, et al. A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative research on the role and effectiveness of written information available to patients about individual medicines. Health Technol Assess 2007 Feb;11(5):iii, 1-iii160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3310/hta11050] [Medline: 17280623]

- 5. Wu H, Sun W, Huang X, Yu S, Wang H, Bi X, et al. Online antenatal care during the COVID-19 pandemic: opportunities and challenges. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 22;22(7):e19916 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19916] [Medline: 32658860]
- Swindle T, Poosala AB, Zeng N, Børsheim E, Andres A, Bellows LL. Digital intervention strategies for increasing physical activity among preschoolers: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jan 11;24(1):e28230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28230] [Medline: 35014962]
- Calvert A, Vandrevala T, Parsons R, Barber V, Book A, Book G, et al. Changing knowledge, attitudes and behaviours towards cytomegalovirus in pregnancy through film-based antenatal education: a feasibility randomised controlled trial of a digital educational intervention. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2021 Aug 18;21(1):565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-021-03979-z] [Medline: 34407771]
- 8. van der Pijl MS, Kasperink M, Hollander MH, Verhoeven C, Kingma E, de Jonge A. Client-care provider interaction during labour and birth as experienced by women: respect, communication, confidentiality and autonomy. PLoS One 2021 Feb 12;16(2):e0246697 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0246697] [Medline: 33577594]
- Jolivet RR, Gausman J, Kapoor N, Langer A, Sharma J, Semrau KE. Operationalizing respectful maternity care at the healthcare provider level: a systematic scoping review. Reprod Health 2021 Oct 01;18(1):194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12978-021-01241-5] [Medline: 34598705]
- 10. Attanasio LB, McPherson ME, Kozhimannil KB. Positive childbirth experiences in U.S. hospitals: a mixed methods analysis. Matern Child Health J 2014 Jul;18(5):1280-1290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-013-1363-1] [Medline: 24072597]
- 11. Delaney AL, Singleton G. Information and relationship functions of communication between pregnant women and their health care providers. Commun Stud 2020;71(5):800-822 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10510974.2020.1807376]
- 12. Kim SC, Boren D, Solem SL. The Kim Alliance Scale: development and preliminary testing. Clin Nurs Res 2001 Aug;10(3):314-331. [doi: 10.1177/c10n3r7] [Medline: 11881945]
- Nicoloro-SantaBarbara J, Rosenthal L, Auerbach MV, Kocis C, Busso C, Lobel M. Patient-provider communication, maternal anxiety, and self-care in pregnancy. Soc Sci Med 2017 Oct;190:133-140. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.08.011</u>] [Medline: <u>28863336</u>]
- 14. Rundell S. A study of nurse-patient interaction in a high dependency unit. Intensive Care Nurs 1991 Sep;7(3):171-178. [doi: 10.1016/0266-612x(91)90006-d] [Medline: 1918904]
- Lippke S, Derksen C, Keller FM, Kötting L, Schmiedhofer M, Welp A. Effectiveness of communication interventions in obstetrics-a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Mar 05;18(5):2616 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18052616] [Medline: 33807819]
- Derksen C, Kötting L, Keller FM, Schmiedhofer M, Lippke S. Psychological intervention to improve communication and patient safety in obstetrics: examination of the health action process approach. Front Psychol 2022 Feb 18;13:771626 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.771626] [Medline: 35250715]
- Cheng ER, Carroll AE, Iverson RE, Declercq ER. Communications between pregnant women and maternity care clinicians. JAMA Netw Open 2020 May 01;3(5):e206636 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.6636</u>] [Medline: <u>32459352</u>]
- Petersen Z, Nilsson M, Everett K, Emmelin M. Possibilities for transparency and trust in the communication between midwives and pregnant women: the case of smoking. Midwifery 2009 Aug;25(4):382-391. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.midw.2007.07.012</u>] [Medline: <u>17988769</u>]
- 19. Global patient safety action plan 2021-2030. World Health Organization. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/</u> <u>publications-detail-redirect/9789240032705</u> [accessed 2022-10-13]
- 20. Runciman W, Hibbert P, Thomson R, Van Der Schaaf T, Sherman H, Lewalle P. Towards an international classification for patient safety: key concepts and terms. Int J Qual Health Care 2009 Feb;21(1):18-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzn057] [Medline: 19147597]
- 21. Eulmesekian PG, Alvarez JP, Ceriani Cernadas JM, Pérez A, Berberis S, Kondratiuk Y. The occurrence of adverse events is associated with increased morbidity and mortality in children admitted to a single pediatric intensive care unit. Eur J Pediatr 2020 Mar;179(3):473-482. [doi: 10.1007/s00431-019-03528-z] [Medline: 31814049]
- 22. Matthias S. APS-Weißbuch Patientensicherheit Sicherheit in der Gesundheitsversorgung: neu denken, gezielt verbessern. Berlin, Germany: Medizinisch Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft; 2018.
- 23. Shojania KG, Marang-van de Mheen PJ. Identifying adverse events: reflections on an imperfect gold standard after 20 years of patient safety research. BMJ Qual Saf 2020 Apr;29(4):265-270. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjqs-2019-009731</u>] [Medline: <u>32066571</u>]
- 24. Antony J, Zarin W, Pham B, Nincic V, Cardoso R, Ivory JD, et al. Patient safety initiatives in obstetrics: a rapid review. BMJ Open 2018 Jul 06;8(7):e020170 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020170] [Medline: 29982200]
- 25. Gittell JH. Relationships between service providers and their impact on customers. J Serv Res 2016 Jun 29;4(4):299-311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1094670502004004007]
- 26. Davis R, Campbell R, Hildon Z, Hobbs L, Michie S. Theories of behaviour and behaviour change across the social and behavioural sciences: a scoping review. Health Psychol Rev 2015;9(3):323-344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2014.941722] [Medline: 25104107]

- 27. Every newborn: an action plan to end preventable deaths. World Health Organization. 2014. URL: <u>https://reliefweb.int/</u> report/world/every-newborn-action-plan-end-preventable-deaths-enfres?gclid=Cj0KCQjwqNqkBhDlARIsAFaxvwx CASsH1qJXYubWZtjJvnMsidFEp8qMnLV9AV8QcaKFU4S3KCKzTSMaAvloEALw\_wcB [accessed 2022-10-14]
- 28. Schwarzer R. Modeling health behavior change: how to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. Appl Psychol 2008 Jan;57(1):1-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x]
- 29. Schwarzer R, Luszczynska A. Self-efficacy. Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences. 2020. URL: <u>https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/brp/research/constructs/self-efficacy</u> [accessed 2022-11-01]
- 30. Kripalani S, LeFevre F, Phillips CO, Williams MV, Basaviah P, Baker DW. Deficits in communication and information transfer between hospital-based and primary care physicians: implications for patient safety and continuity of care. JAMA 2007 Feb 28;297(8):831-841. [doi: 10.1001/jama.297.8.831] [Medline: 17327525]
- Lippke S, Wienert J, Keller FM, Derksen C, Welp A, Kötting L, et al. Communication and patient safety in gynecology and obstetrics - study protocol of an intervention study. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Nov 28;19(1):908 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4579-y] [Medline: 31779620]
- 32. Derksen C, Dietl JE, Haeussler FE, Steinherr Zazo M, Schmiedhofer M, Lippke S. Behavior change training for pregnant women's communication during birth: a randomized controlled trial. Appl Psychol Health Well Being (Forthcoming) 2022 Nov 15. [doi: 10.1111/aphw.12413] [Medline: 36380576]
- 33. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med 2013 Aug;46(1):81-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6] [Medline: 23512568]
- 34. Gholami M, Schwarzer R, Reyes-Fernandez B, Rica C. Brief scales for the multilingual assessment of HAPA variables. ResearchGate. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265794396\_Brief\_Scales\_for\_the\_Multilingual\_</u> <u>Assessment\_of\_HAPA\_Variables</u> [accessed 2022-10-13]
- 35. Rider EA, Keefer CH. Communication skills competencies: definitions and a teaching toolbox. Med Educ 2006 Jul;40(7):624-629. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02500.x] [Medline: 16836534]
- 36. Schwarzer R, Schuz B, Ziegelmann JP, Lippke S, Luszczynska A, Scholz U. Adoption and maintenance of four health behaviors: theory-guided longitudinal studies on dental flossing, seat belt use, dietary behavior, and physical activity. Ann Behav Med 2007 Apr;33(2):156-166. [doi: 10.1007/BF02879897] [Medline: 17447868]
- Keller FM, Derksen C, Kötting L, Schmiedhofer M, Lippke S. Development of the perceptions of preventable adverse events assessment tool (PPAEAT): measurement properties and patients' mental health status. Int J Qual Health Care 2021 Apr 16;33(2):mzab063. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzab063</u>] [Medline: <u>33822086</u>]
- 38. Transforming different Likert scales to a common scale. IBM Corp. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/support/pages/</u> <u>transforming-different-likert-scales-common-scale</u> [accessed 2022-11-29]
- 39. Gibson DG, Tamrat T, Mehl G. The state of digital interventions for demand generation in low- and middle-income countries: considerations, emerging approaches, and research gaps. Glob Health Sci Pract 2018 Oct 10;6(Suppl 1):S49-S60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-18-00165] [Medline: 30305339]
- 40. Walter B, Indreboe H, Lukasse M, Henriksen L, Garnweidner-Holme L. Pregnant women's attitudes toward and experiences with a tablet intervention to promote safety behaviors in a randomized controlled trial: qualitative study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jul 20;5(7):e28680 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28680] [Medline: 34283023]
- 41. Bogale B, Mørkrid K, Abbas E, Abu Ward I, Anaya F, Ghanem B, et al. The effect of a digital targeted client communication intervention on pregnant women's worries and satisfaction with antenatal care in Palestine-a cluster randomized controlled trial. PLoS One 2021 Apr 23;16(4):e0249713 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249713] [Medline: 33891597]
- 42. Zhang CQ, Zhang R, Schwarzer R, Hagger MS. A meta-analysis of the health action process approach. Health Psychol 2019 Jul;38(7):623-637. [doi: 10.1037/hea0000728] [Medline: 30973747]
- Gourlan M, Bernard P, Bortolon C, Romain AJ, Lareyre O, Carayol M, et al. Efficacy of theory-based interventions to promote physical activity. A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Health Psychol Rev 2016;10(1):50-66. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2014.981777] [Medline: 25402606]
- 44. Schwarzer R. Health Action Process Approach (HAPA) as a theoretical framework to understand behavior change. Actual Psicol 2016 Dec 05;30(121):119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15517/ap.v30i121.23458]
- 45. Tang MY, Smith DM, Mc Sharry J, Hann M, French DP. Behavior change techniques associated with changes in postintervention and maintained changes in self-efficacy for physical activity: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Ann Behav Med 2019 Aug 16;53(9):801-815. [doi: 10.1093/abm/kay090] [Medline: 30534971]
- 46. Lin H, Xu D, Yang M, Ma X, Yan N, Chen H, et al. Behaviour change techniques that constitute effective planning interventions to improve physical activity and diet behaviour for people with chronic conditions: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2022 Aug 22;12(8):e058229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-058229] [Medline: 35995541]
- 47. Hedin B, Katzeff C, Eriksson E, Pargman D. A systematic review of digital behaviour change interventions for more sustainable food consumption. Sustain 2019 May 08;11(9):2638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/su11092638]
- 48. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Domhardt M, Cuijpers P, Cristea I, et al. Digital interventions for the treatment of depression: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull 2021 Aug;147(8):749-786. [doi: 10.1037/bul0000334] [Medline: 34898233]

- Karamolahi PF, Bostani Khalesi Z, Niknami M. Efficacy of mobile app-based training on health literacy among pregnant women: a randomized controlled trial study. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol X 2021 Aug 27;12:100133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eurox.2021.100133] [Medline: 34585137]
- Band R, Bradbury K, Morton K, May C, Michie S, Mair FS, et al. Intervention planning for a digital intervention for self-management of hypertension: a theory-, evidence- and person-based approach. Implement Sci 2017 Feb 23;12(1):25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0553-4] [Medline: 28231840]
- 51. Mohr DC, Cuijpers P, Lehman K. Supportive accountability: a model for providing human support to enhance adherence to eHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Mar 10;13(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1602] [Medline: 21393123]
- 52. Sutton S. How does the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA) bridge the intention-behavior gap? An examination of the model's causal structure. Applied Psychology 2008 Jan;57(1):66-74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00326.x]
- 53. Yardley L, Choudhury T, Patrick K, Michie S. Current issues and future directions for research into digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):814-815. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2016.07.019</u>] [Medline: <u>27745680</u>]
- 54. Muuraiskangas S, Mattila E, Kyttälä P, Koreasalo M, Lappalainen R. User experiences of a mobile mental well-being intervention among pregnant women. In: Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Paradigms for Mental Health. 2015 Presented at: PCPMH '15; September 24-25, 2015; Milan, Italy p. 140-149 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-32270-4\_14</u> [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-319-32270-4\_14</u>]
- Yardley L, Morrison L, Bradbury K, Muller I. The person-based approach to intervention development: application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 30;17(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4055] [Medline: 25639757]
- 56. Kohl LF, Crutzen R, de Vries NK. Online prevention aimed at lifestyle behaviors: a systematic review of reviews. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jul 16;15(7):e146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2665] [Medline: 23859884]
- 57. Chen Y, Tan D, Xu Y, Wang B, Li X, Cai X, et al. Effects of a HAPA-based multicomponent intervention to improve self-management precursors of older adults with tuberculosis: a community-based randomised controlled trial. Patient Educ Couns 2020 Feb;103(2):328-335. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2019.09.007] [Medline: 31543353]
- 58. Rollo S, Prapavessis H. A combined health action process approach and mHealth intervention to increase non-sedentary behaviours in office-working adults-a randomised controlled trial. Appl Psychol Health Well Being 2020 Nov;12(3):660-686. [doi: 10.1111/aphw.12201] [Medline: 32342662]
- 59. King D, Miller C. P053 using the health action process approach theoretical framework to predict and explain dietary behaviors in a worksite diabetes prevention intervention. J Nutr Educ Behav 2022 Jul;54(7):S43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2022.04.093]
- 60. Laranjo L, Dunn AG, Tong HL, Kocaballi AB, Chen J, Bashir R, et al. Conversational agents in healthcare: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Sep 01;25(9):1248-1258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy072] [Medline: 30010941]
- 61. Montenegro JL, da Costa CA, da Rosa Righi R. Survey of conversational agents in health. Expert Syst Appl 2019 Sep;129:56-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2019.03.054]
- 62. Hauser-Ulrich S, Künzli H, Meier-Peterhans D, Kowatsch T. A smartphone-based health care chatbot to promote self-management of chronic pain (SELMA): pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Apr 03;8(4):e15806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15806] [Medline: 32242820]
- 63. Duplaga M, Tubek A. mHealth areas of application and the effectiveness of interventions. Zdr Publiczne Zarz 2018;16(3):155-166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4467/20842627oz.18.018.10431]
- 64. Grady A, Yoong S, Sutherland R, Lee H, Nathan N, Wolfenden L. Improving the public health impact of eHealth and mHealth interventions. Aust N Z J Public Health 2018 Apr;42(2):118-119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12771] [Medline: 29384248]
- 65. Wu MS, Chen SY, Wickham RE, Leykin Y, Varra A, Chen C, et al. Predicting non-initiation of care and dropout in a blended care CBT intervention: impact of early digital engagement, sociodemographic, and clinical factors. Digit Health 2022 Oct 26;8:20552076221133760 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20552076221133760] [Medline: 36312847]
- 66. Carroll JK, Moorhead A, Bond R, LeBlanc WG, Petrella RJ, Fiscella K. Who uses mobile phone health apps and does use matter? A secondary data analytics approach. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 19;19(4):e125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5604] [Medline: 28428170]
- 67. Torous J, Lipschitz J, Ng M, Firth J. Dropout rates in clinical trials of smartphone apps for depressive symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2020 Feb 15;263:413-419. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2019.11.167</u>] [Medline: <u>31969272</u>]
- Bremer V, Chow PI, Funk B, Thorndike FP, Ritterband LM. Developing a process for the analysis of user journeys and the prediction of dropout in digital health interventions: machine learning approach. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 28;22(10):e17738 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17738] [Medline: 33112241]
- 69. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar 31;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]

# Abbreviations

BCT: behavior change technique
CG: control group
G-BA: Gemeinsamer Bundesausschuss
HAPA: Health Action Process Approach
HCW: health care worker
IG1: live seminar group
IG2: web-based application group
T1: first time point
T2: second time point

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 29.11.22; peer-reviewed by V Perez Jover, M Rahimi; comments to author 05.05.23; revised version received 22.05.23; accepted 05.06.23; published 24.07.23.

Please cite as:

Kötting L, Derksen C, Keller FM, Lippke S Comparing the Effectiveness of a Web-Based Application With a Digital Live Seminar to Improve Safe Communication for Pregnant Women: 3-Group Partially Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44701 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44701 doi:10.2196/44701 PMID:37486755

©Lukas Kötting, Christina Derksen, Franziska Maria Keller, Sonia Lippke. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 24.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Parental Information Needs and Intervention Preferences for Preventing Multiple Lifestyle Risk Behaviors Among Adolescents: Cross-sectional Survey Among Parents

Katrina E Champion<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Emily Hunter<sup>1</sup>, BPubHlth; Lauren A Gardner<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Louise K Thornton<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Cath Chapman<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Karrah McCann<sup>1</sup>, MCrim; Bonnie Spring<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Tim Slade<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Maree Teesson<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Nicola C Newton<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>The Matilda Centre for Research in Mental Health and Substance Use, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia <sup>2</sup>Department of Preventive Medicine, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Katrina E Champion, PhD The Matilda Centre for Research in Mental Health and Substance Use The University of Sydney Level 6, Jane Foss Russell Building Sydney, 2006 Australia Phone: 61 8627 9006 Email: katrina.champion@sydney.edu.au

# Abstract

**Background:** Parents play an influential role in the health behaviors of their children, such as physical activity, dietary intake, sleep, screen time, and substance use. However, further research is needed to inform the development of more effective and engaging parent-based interventions targeting adolescent risk behaviors.

**Objective:** This study aimed to assess parents' knowledge about adolescent risk behaviors, barriers and facilitators to engaging in healthy behaviors, and preferences for a parent-based prevention intervention.

**Methods:** An anonymous web-based survey was conducted from June 2022 to August 2022. Eligible participants were parents of children aged 11 to 18 years and were residing in Australia at the time of this study. The survey assessed the parents' perceived and actual knowledge about Australian health guidelines for youth, parent and adolescent engagement in health behaviors, parenting style and attitudes, barriers and facilitators to engaging in healthy behaviors, and delivery and component preferences for a parent-based preventive intervention. Descriptive statistics and logistic regressions were conducted to analyze the data.

**Results:** A total of 179 eligible participants completed the survey. The mean age of the parents was 42.22 (SD 7.03) years, and 63.1% (101/160) were female. Parent-reported sleep duration was high for both parents (mean 8.31, SD 1.00 hours) and adolescents (mean 9.18, SD 0.94 hours). However, the proportion of parents who reported that their child met the national recommendations for physical activity (5/149, 3.4%), vegetable intake (7/126, 5.6%), and weekend recreational screen time (7/130, 5.4%) was very low. Overall, parents' perceived knowledge of health guidelines was moderate, ranging from 50.6% (80/158) for screen time to 72.8% (115/158) for sleep guidelines (for children aged 5-13 years). Actual knowledge was lowest for vegetable intake and physical activity, with only 44.2% (46/104) and 42% (31/74) of parents reporting correct guidelines for these behaviors, respectively. The key issues of concern reported by parents were excessive use of technology, mental health, e-cigarette use, and negative peer relationships. The top-rated delivery method for a parent-based intervention was via a website (53/129, 41.1%). The highest rated intervention component was opportunities for goal-setting (89/126, 70.7% rated very or extremely important), and other important program features were ease of use (89/122, 72.9%), paced learning (79/126, 62.7%), and appropriate program length (74/126, 58.8%).

**Conclusions:** The findings suggest that such interventions should be brief and web based and should aim to increase parental knowledge of health guidelines; provide opportunities for skill-building, such as goal-setting; and include effective behavior change techniques, such as motivational interviewing and social support. This study will inform the development of future parent-based preventive interventions to prevent multiple lifestyle risk behaviors among adolescents.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42272) doi:10.2196/42272

# KEYWORDS

parents; adolescents; prevention; risk behaviors; intervention; mobile phone

# Introduction

#### Background

Lifestyle risk behaviors, such as physical inactivity, poor sleep, sedentary behaviors (ie, sitting time and recreational screen time), poor diet, alcohol use, and tobacco smoking (the "Big 6"), are highly prevalent among adolescents worldwide. For example, an estimated 81% of adolescents globally report insufficient physical activity [1] and a recent meta-analysis of global adolescent dietary patterns found that 42.8% drank carbonated soft drinks at least once per day and 46.1% consumed fast food at least once per week [2]. The Big 6 are associated with a range of short- and long-term negative health outcomes, including obesity [3], mental illness [4,5], and chronic disease [6,7], which places considerable economic burden on already strained health care systems [8].

It is well established that adolescence is a critical period of behavior development, with lifestyle habits formed during this period typically persisting over time [9,10]. Thus, adolescence represents a valuable opportunity for the delivery of preventive interventions. In addition to being highly prevalent, lifestyle risk behaviors also tend to cooccur [11], with >80% of adolescents worldwide engaging in ≥2 risk behaviors concurrently and more than one-third engaging in  $\geq$ 3 behaviors [12]. Engaging in multiple risk behaviors compounds the overall risk for chronic disease [13,14] and is associated with poor mental health outcomes [15]. Multiple health behavior change interventions seek to address this harmful trend, based on the notion that improving one behavior can increase self-efficacy to improve others without additional effort [16]. Although school-based multiple health behavior change interventions that are delivered via eHealth technology have proven effective in improving adolescent risk behaviors, such as physical inactivity and screen time, the effects are modest and short-lived [15]. Identifying intervention strategies that can augment the effects of school-based interventions are needed. Given the considerable influence of parents on adolescent health behaviors, involving parents in the preventive efforts represents an important opportunity to improve adolescent outcomes.

Parent-based interventions (ie, programs delivered through parents) provide the opportunity to continue intervention efforts within the home environment, the primary location of adolescent development [17]. Indeed, several modifiable parenting factors are associated with adolescent risk behaviors. For example, parental modeling is associated with increased diet quality [18], sleep quality [19], and physical activity [18] and decreased tobacco use [20], whereas rule-setting is associated with longer, better quality sleep [19] and decreased screen time [18,21]. Different parenting styles have also been linked to adolescent behaviors. For example, controlling parenting is associated with increased excessive screen time [21], and permissive parent behavior has been shown to increase sugar-sweetened beverage intake [22]. Despite this, surprisingly few interventions to prevent adolescent risk behaviors are parent based and family centered [23], and such interventions are typically characterized by high attrition [24] and low engagement [25], leading to decreased intervention success [26]. A recent meta-analysis of 36 randomized controlled trials [27] found that parent-based interventions for multiple lifestyle risk factors were associated with small improvements in adolescent physical activity and reduced screen time and junk food intake. However, parent-based interventions were not effective for alcohol and tobacco use, and no studies have addressed adolescent sleep. Further research is required to develop more effective parent-based interventions for preventing multiple adolescent risk behaviors. A critical part of this is working with parents to better understand their information needs, attitudes toward parenting and adolescent risk behaviors, and preferences for healthy lifestyle interventions.

# Objective

To inform the development of a new, parent-based intervention targeting the Big 6 lifestyle risk behaviors (physical inactivity, poor diet, recreational screen time, poor sleep, smoking, and alcohol use) among adolescents, this study aimed to assess parents' knowledge about Australian health guidelines for the Big 6 for youth; explore attitudes and parenting practices in relation to the Big 6; and identify barriers, facilitators, and preferences for a parent-based preventive intervention.

# Methods

#### **Participants and Procedure**

An anonymous cross-sectional survey was administered on the web through the Qualtrics (Qualtrics International Inc) survey platform from June 2022 to August 2022. Parents of children aged 11 to 18 years, who were residing in Australia at the time of this study, having access to a device connected to the internet to complete the survey were eligible. Participants were recruited through paid and unpaid advertising on social media (eg, Facebook and Twitter), as well as emails to professional and personal networks. Paid advertising was also conducted via state-based parents and carers associations, and hard copy flyers were distributed to households across Greater Sydney (Multimedia Appendix 1). These advertisements contained hyperlinks and QR codes to access the survey. All participants were required to provide informed consent before participation. Participants had the option upon completing the survey to enter a prize draw to win 1 of 5 gift vouchers valued at Aus \$100 (US \$68) each.

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney (ethics approval: 2022/359).

XSL•F() RenderX

#### Measures

Demographic data included postcode, number and age of children, household income, education, employment, main language spoken at home, and marital status. Participants were also asked to self-report their age, sex, height, and weight (used to calculate BMI).

# Parents' Self-reported Health Behaviors

#### **Physical Activity**

To reflect the Australian physical activity guidelines for adults [28], the following two items were used to assess parents' moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA): "About how many days per week do you do moderate intensity physical activity for at least 30 minutes?" and "About how many days per week do you do vigorous intensity physical activity for at least 20 minutes?" The response options ranged from 0 to 7 days per week.

# Sedentary Time and Screen Time

Parents were asked the following two items: "In a typical day, how many hours do you spend sitting?" and "In a typical day, how many hours do you spend on your mobile phone, iPad, computer or another device for recreational (non-work) purposes?" (hours/day). The validity and reliability of single-item measures of daily sedentary time have been shown to be equivalent to those of other longer questionnaires [29].

#### Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Average daily serves of fruits and vegetables were assessed using validated items [30,31].

#### **Sleep Duration**

Parents reported the time they usually went to bed at night and woke up each morning. Sleep duration (in hours) was calculated as the difference between wake time and bedtime [32]. Self-reported estimates of bedtime, wake time, and sleep duration have been shown to be reliable and valid [32].

#### Substance Use

Using items modified from the National Drug Strategy Household Survey [33], parents were asked to report how frequently they had consumed a standard drink of alcohol in the past 6 months (ranging from daily or almost daily to never); their smoking status (current smoker, former smoker, tried a couple of times, and never smoked); and their e-cigarette use (ever used and frequency of use). Self-reported substance use has been shown to be valid and reliable, particularly when participants are assured of confidentiality as they were in this study [34-36].

# Parent-Reported Adolescent Health Behaviors

Parents were asked to select 1 adolescent (aged 11-18 years) child and answer the following questions in relation to that child.

#### Adolescent MVPA

RenderX

A validated instrument [37] was used to assess adolescent MVPA. Parents were asked to report the number of days (0-7 days) their children were physically active for a total of at least 60 minutes per day over a typical week.

#### **Recreational Screen Time**

A modified version of the Adolescent Sedentary Activity Questionnaire [38] was used to assess recreational screen time (hours or minutes per typical school day and weekday). Sitting time was not assessed because of the lack of Australian guidelines for this risk behavior.

#### Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Parents were asked to indicate how many serves of fruits and vegetables their adolescent children consume per day [30,31].

#### Sleep Duration

Parents were asked to estimate their children's usual bedtime and wake time. Usual sleep duration per night (in hours) was calculated as the difference between wake time and bedtime. Similar items have been used in previous studies [32]; however, in this study, we did not differentiate between school days and weekend days.

#### Substance Use

A total of 3 items modified from the National Drug Strategy Household Survey [33] were used to assess adolescent use of alcohol, tobacco, and e-cigarettes (yes, no, sometimes, and unsure).

# Knowledge About Adolescent Health Guidelines

A total of 7 items were used to assess parents' perceived and actual knowledge about national health guidelines for adolescents in relation to physical activity, sleep duration (for children aged 5-13 years and 14-17 years), screen time, fruit and vegetable consumption, and alcohol use. National health guidelines provide a meaningful way to assess current health behaviors and are commonly used in adolescent health research, particularly in an intervention context [39-42]. Parents were first asked whether they knew the relevant guideline (yes, no, or unsure). For example, "Do you know the recommended amount of physical activity Australian teenagers should be getting?" Participants who responded "yes" were then asked to specify the recommended number of minutes or hours or serves for the relevant guideline.

# Parenting Styles and Attitudes Toward Health Behaviors

The following two items, adapted from a study of parental support of child physical activity [43], were used to assess supportive parental attitudes: "I believe it is important that my child develops healthy lifestyle behaviours (physical activity, healthy diet, and healthy sleep)" and "Supporting my child's participation (through driving, participating, or paying for their activities, etc.) in physical activity is important to me."

A total of 3 items were adapted from Theory of Planned Behavior questionnaires, which evaluate perceived norms, perceived behavioral controls, and intentions [44], including "I consistently uphold expectations for healthy behaviour and openly communicate these expectations with my child in a positive and supportive manner."

One item, "I am able to do the things that will improve my child's behaviour" was taken from the Brief Parent Self-Efficacy Scale [45], a validated measure to assess parent beliefs of

self-efficacy and capability. Responses were coded from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

#### Parental Control and Rule-Setting

A total of 6 items adapted from the Parenting Strategies for Eating and Activity Scale [46] were used to assess parental control and rule-setting in relation to each of the Big 6, including "I monitor and set rules for my adolescent child in relation to how much screen time they can have per day." Responses were coded as 0 (never and rarely) or 1 (sometimes, often, and always).

#### Perceived Importance of Health Behaviors

An open-ended question was used to ask parents what they perceived to be the biggest issues and concerns for young people today. Participants were also asked to rank which of the Big 6 items they would most like to support their adolescent child to improve, change, or resist (1=most important to 6=least important). Parents were also asked a similar question regarding their own behaviors.

#### **Barriers and Facilitators**

Parents were asked about the barriers and facilitators they faced and those that their child faced in engaging in healthy behaviors. For example, "What are the main things that stop YOU from engaging in healthy behaviours" and "What would you consider to be the biggest factor or factors that allow YOUR ADOLESCENT CHILD to engage in health behaviours?" Items were adapted from a systematic review of barriers to and facilitators for the uptake and maintenance of healthy behaviors [47].

#### **Intervention Preferences**

Parents who indicated that they would be interested in accessing a healthy lifestyle program about adolescent health were asked about their intervention preferences (eg, frequency, format, length, content, and components). A combination of open-ended questions, such as "Is there anything that would encourage you to participate in a parent-based healthy lifestyles program"; multiple choice questions, such as "How much time would you be willing to spend per week completing the program"; and Likert scales, including one for "How important is an easy-to-use parenting program to you," were used. Items were adapted from a previous study of parents to inform the development of an eHealth alcohol prevention program [48].

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were conducted using SPSS (version 26; IBM Corp) to describe the demographic data (frequency, percentage, mean, SD, and range). Scores on validated measures were calculated using established scoring procedures, and the mean responses and percentages were reported. Bivariate correlations were conducted to examine the associations between parents' engagement in the 6 risk behaviors and parent-reported youth engagement in the risk behaviors. Chi-square tests were conducted to explore differences in parental rule-setting by adolescent age (children aged 11-14 years vs those aged 15-18 years) for each risk behavior. Binary logistic regression was conducted to examine the associations between parental knowledge of national guidelines for each risk behavior and their child's adherence to the guidelines. Separate logistic regression models were conducted to examine whether parental rule-setting about the Big 6 was associated with adolescent engagement in each risk behavior (ie, meeting guidelines, ves or no). Owing to the small sample size and multiple tests conducted, a conservative P value was used (P < .01). Thematic analysis was used to examine the open-ended responses. Using an inductive approach [49], 1 author (EH) coded the responses, examined the data for frequent or significant responses, and grouped them according to key themes. A second author (KEC) confirmed the coding and grouping, with any discrepancies resolved via discussion.

# Results

# Sample Characteristics

A total of 353 participants completed the survey. Of them, 49.3% (174/353) were excluded per eligibility criteria (19 individuals had no children; 93 parents did not have children aged between 11 and 18 years; 4 parents were aged <24 years; and 58 individuals were not living in Australia), resulting in 50.7% (179/353) eligible participants. The mean age of the parents was 42.22 (SD 7.03) years, and 63.1% (101/160) were female. The mean age of the selected index child was 14.62 (SD 1.81; range 11-18) years. Table 1 presents the characteristics of the entire sample.



 Table 1. Sample characteristics (N=179).<sup>a</sup>

	Values, n (%)
Parent sex (n=160)	
Female	101 (63.1)
Male	57 (35.6)
Prefer not to answer	2 (1.2)
Household income Aus $^{b}(n-161)$	
<18 200	3 (1 9)
18 201-45 000	19 (11.8)
45 001 120 000	52 (32 3)
120,001-120,000	18 (29.8)
>180.001	33 (20.5)
Prefer not to say	6 (37)
Education $(n-161)$	0(5.7)
Destanduete degree	40 (20.4)
Posigraduate degree	49(30.4)
Bachalor's dagree	20 (12.4) 57 (25.4)
A dues and dislams on dislams	57 (55.4) 17 (10.6)
	17 (10.0)
Uich school	12(1.4)
Findermant (n=160)	0 (5.7)
Employment (n=100)	115 (71.0)
Employed fun-time	21 (10.2)
Employed part-time of casual	2(12)
	2 (1.2)
Home duries	8 (5)
Other	3 (1.9)
Main language spoken (n=179)	
English	146 (96.7)
Other	5 (2.8)
Postcode (n=121)	
Living in NSW <sup>c</sup>	/1 (58.7)
Marital status (n=160)	
Married	125 (78.1)
Divorced	12 (7.5)
De facto	12 (7.5)
Other	11 (6.9)
Age of adolescent (index child), years (n=132)	
11	5 (3.8)
12	12 (9.1)
13	23 (17.4)
14	22 (16.7)
15	26 (19.7)



XSL•FO RenderX

	Values, n (%)
16	21 (16)
17	16 (12.1)
18	7 (5.3)

<sup>a</sup>Discrepancies in participant N values are due to missing data.

<sup>b</sup>Aus \$1=US \$0.68 (at time of prize draw).

<sup>c</sup>NSW: New South Wales.

# Parent and Adolescent Health

Most parents rated their own health as "good" (67/157, 42.7%); however, 46.4% (83/179) reported having been diagnosed with a chronic condition, most commonly arthritis (24/179, 13.4%) and high blood pressure (21/179, 11.7%). On average, parents were overweight (BMI: mean 25.75, SD 9.12). Table 2 reports the parent-reported engagement in each Big 6 risk behavior for parents and adolescents. The parents reported consuming an average of 1.6 serves of fruit per day, but only 2.4 serves of

vegetables, well below the national recommendation of 5 daily serves (Multimedia Appendix 1 lists the Australian guidelines for each behavior). However, on average, sleep duration was adequate among the sample, with parents sleeping for an average of 8.3 (SD 1.38) hours per night (range 5-12.5 hours). Although only 19.7% (31/157) were current tobacco smokers, nearly one-quarter of the parents (37/156, 23.7%) reported having used e-cigarettes, of whom 51% (19/37) reported vaping at least weekly.



**Table 2.** Parent and adolescent engagement in Big 6 risk behaviors.

	Parent's health behaviors	Adolescent health behaviors
Fruit intake (serves/day), mean (SD)	1.66 (0.98)	1.84 (1.09)
Vegetable intake (serves/day), mean (SD)	2.37 (1.33)	2.14 (1.18)
Physical activity (days per week), mean (SD)		
30 minutes moderate	4.13 (1.84)	N/A <sup>a</sup>
20 minutes vigorous	3.07 (1.92)	N/A
60 minutes MVPA <sup>b</sup>	N/A	3.93 (1.6)
Sleep duration (hours/day), mean (SD)	8.31 (1.00)	9.18 (0.94)
Sitting time (hours/day), mean (SD)	7.15 (3.33)	N/A
Recreational screen time (hours/day), mean (SD)	2.77 (1.51)	N/A
Weekday	N/A	2.42 (1.55)
Weekend	N/A	4.48 (2.47)
Alcohol use, n (%)		
Ever used <sup>c</sup>		
Yes	N/A	9 (5.8)
No	N/A	99 (63.5)
Sip or 2	N/A	40 (25.6)
Unsure	N/A	8 (5.1)
Frequency <sup>d</sup>		
Daily or almost daily	21 (13)	N/A
Weekly	40 (24.7)	1 (11.1)
2-3 times monthly	27 (16.7)	7 (77.8)
Once a month	21 (13)	1 (11.1)
Less than a month	32 (19.8)	N/A
Never	21 (13)	N/A
Tobacco use <sup>e</sup> , n (%)		
Never smoked	67 (42.7)	N/A
Tried smoking	26 (16.6)	N/A
Former smoker	33 (21)	N/A
Current smoker	31 (19.7)	N/A
Ever used <sup>f</sup>		
Yes	N/A	12 (7.8)
No	N/A	125 (81.7)
Unsure	N/A	16 (10.5)
Frequency <sup>g</sup>		
<monthly< td=""><td>N/A</td><td>6 (50)</td></monthly<>	N/A	6 (50)
Once a month	N/A	1 (8.3)
2-3 times a month	N/A	1 (8.3)
Weekly	N/A	3 (25)
Daily or almost daily	N/A	1 (8.3)
e-Cigarette use, n (%)		



Champion et al

		Parent's health behaviors	Adolescent health behaviors
Eve	er used <sup>h</sup>	37 (23.7)	N/A
	Yes	N/A	24 (15)
	No	N/A	117 (73.1)
	Unsure	N/A	19 (11.9)
Fre	quency <sup>i</sup>		
	<monthly< td=""><td>9 (24.3)</td><td>4 (17.4)</td></monthly<>	9 (24.3)	4 (17.4)
	Once a month	4 (10.8)	3 (13)
	2-3 times monthly	5 (13.5)	11 (47.8)
	Weekly	9 (24.3)	1 (4.3)
	Daily or almost daily	10 (27)	4 (17.4)

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>b</sup>MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity.

<sup>c</sup>Adolescents: n=156.

<sup>d</sup>Parents: n=162; adolescents: n=9.

<sup>e</sup>Parents: n=157.

<sup>f</sup>Adolescents: n=153.

<sup>g</sup>Adolescents: n=12.

<sup>h</sup>Parents: n=156; adolescents: n=160.

<sup>i</sup>Parents: n=37; adolescents: n=23.

Approximately half of the parents (71/131, 54.2%) reported that their child consumed the recommended minimum of 2 serves of fruit per day; however, only 5.6% (7/126) indicated that their child ate the recommended 5 serves of vegetables. Similarly, only 3.4% (5/149) of parents reported that their adolescent child achieved the recommended guideline of 60 minutes of MVPA per day. In contrast, adolescent sleep duration was perceived to be high, with parents reporting a mean of 9.18 (SD 1.58) hours per night and the vast majority perceiving their child to meet recommended sleep guidelines (33/37, 89% for children aged <14 years; 68/81, 84% for children aged >14 years). A total of 39.2% (51/130) of parents indicated that their adolescent child met the national guidelines of <2 hours of daily screen time on school days; however, only 5.4% (7/130) of parents reported that their child met the guidelines on weekend

days. In terms of substance use, 5.8% (9/156) of parents reported that their child had ever used alcohol; 7.8% (12/153) of parents reported that their children had smoked tobacco, and 15% (24/160) of the parents reported that their children had ever used e-cigarettes. Parent vegetable intake was moderately and positively correlated with parent-reported adolescent vegetable intake (r=0.618; P<.001), however, the correlations for all other risk behaviors were weak (Multimedia Appendix 1).

# **Knowledge About Adolescent Health Guidelines**

Figure 1 depicts parents' perceived (% aware) and actual knowledge (% correct) of national health guidelines for each risk behavior. Overall, perceived knowledge was moderate, ranging from 50.6% (80/158) for screen time to 72.8% (115/158) for sleep guidelines (for children aged 5-13 years).



Figure 1. Parent knowledge of national youth guidelines for the Big 6 (perceived knowledge not assessed for alcohol use). MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity.



Parents tended to overestimate their knowledge regarding fruit and vegetable intake and MVPA. For example, although nearly two-thirds of the parents (111/157, 70.7%) thought that they knew how many serves of fruit their child should be consuming, only half of them (56/104, 53.8%) reported the correct guideline. Of the parents who answered incorrectly, most overestimated the recommended daily serves (45/104, 43.2%, thought the guideline was  $\geq$ 3 serves). Actual knowledge was lowest for vegetable intake and MVPA, with only 44.2% (46/104) and 42% (31/74) of parents reporting the correct guidelines for these behaviors, respectively. Just over half of the sample (92/158, 58.2%) knew that it is recommended that adolescents must not consume alcohol, and 60% (45/73) of the parents correctly identified that the recommended daily limit for screen time was 2 hours.

In contrast, actual knowledge of sleep guidelines was very high. A total of 85.6% (90/105) of the parents correctly reported that 9 to 11 hours per night is the recommended guideline for younger children. Similarly, although 70.1% (110/157) of parents reported an awareness of the guidelines for children aged 14 to 17 years, nearly all the parents (100/103, 97.1%) correctly identified the recommended 8 to 10 hours per day. Results from the logistic regression analyses indicated that except for screen time on school days, parental knowledge of national health guidelines was not significantly associated with adolescents' adherence to the guidelines (Multimedia Appendix 1).

#### Parenting Styles, Attitudes, and Rule-Setting

Most parents reported supportive and positive attitudes toward parenting and their child's health. Many parents (120/149, 80.6%) agreed that supporting their children's participation in

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42272
```

RenderX

healthy behaviors was important to them, and most of them (126/147, 85.7%) reported that they enjoy helping their children engage in physical activity, for example, by driving their child to a sports practice or watching their child participate in activities. In terms of role-modeling, most parents (123/149, 82.5%) agreed that they model healthy lifestyle behaviors for their adolescent children, and nearly all (137/150, 91.3%) reported that they upheld expectations for their child and positively communicated them. Finally, most participants reported a strong sense of parenting self-efficacy, with 71.2% (104/146) agreeing that they could do the things that would improve their child's behavior.

Parental control and rule-setting were moderate to high across the 6 risk behaviors. Nearly three-quarters of the parents (104/145, 71.7%) reported that they monitored and set rules about their child's bedtime and wake time. Approximately half of the parents indicated that they monitored what their child could and could not eat or drink (83/148, 56.1%), how much time they could spend on screens per day (81/146, 55.4%), and how much physical activity they engaged in (75/147, 51%). In terms of rules about substance use, 67.9% (99/146) and 67.3% (99/147) of the participants reported monitoring and setting rules about alcohol use and tobacco use, respectively. Nearly all parents (57/62, 92%) reported setting rules about alcohol use for younger adolescents (aged 11-14 years), compared with three-quarters of parents (47/63, 75%) of older adolescents (15-18 years; P=.01). Similarly, parental rule-setting regarding tobacco use was higher for younger adolescents (55/62, 86%) compared with older adolescents (45/63, 71%); however, this difference was not statistically significant (P=.02). Except for rules about dietary intake, the proportion of parents setting rules for physical activity, screen time, and sleep was higher for

younger than older adolescents; however, these differences were not significant (Multimedia Appendix 1). Results from the logistic regression analyses indicated that across all the Big 6, parental rule-setting was not significantly associated with adolescents' engagement in the risk behaviors (Multimedia Appendix 1).

#### **Perceived Importance of Health Behaviors**

When asked about the biggest issue facing young people today, parents commonly reported concerns about adolescents' use of technology, including addiction to smartphone devices and social media. Other concerns included mental health, substance use, and negative peer relationships. The key themes extracted from the open-ended responses of 62 participants are presented in Table 3. A total of 36% (54/150) of parents ranked diet as the behavior they would most like to support their adolescent child to change or improve, whereas 17.3% (26/150) of parents ranked screen time as the most important, and 15.3% (123/150) of parents selected sleep. Similarly, when thinking about their own behaviors, 41.5% (61/147) of parents ranked diet as the most important behavior to change, followed by physical activity (26/147, 17.7%), and sleep (19/147, 12.9%).

Table 3. Summary of key themes in relation to parents' biggest concern for adolescents today.

Theme	Example
Technology	
Excessive screen time	"Addicted to electronic devices" (Female parent of a child aged 17 years)
Social media	"The content (not quantity) that they are exposed to online" (Female parent of a child aged 12 years)
Video games	"Staying up late playing games" (Female parent of a child aged 16 years)
Mental health	
Mental health	"Vaping" (Female parent of a child aged 13 years)
Stress	"Stress from school" (Female parent of a child aged 17 years)
Substance use	"Social isolation and mental health" (Female parent of a child aged 12 years)
Peer relationships	
Peer pressure	"Social pressures to conform" (Female parent of a child aged 16 years)
Peer acceptance	"Being accepted by their peers" (Female parent of a child aged 14 years)
Physical health	
Insufficiently active	"Low activity levels" (Male parent of a child aged 15 years)

# Barriers and Facilitators to Engaging in Health Behaviors

Table 4 presents the top 3 barriers, motivators, and enablers related to parents' own health behaviors and their adolescent children's behaviors. The most common barrier for both parents and adolescents was lack of motivation, endorsed by 42.5% (76/179) and 50.8% (91/179) of the parents, respectively. In

terms of motivating factors, the most endorsed option for parents was setting a good example for their children (108/179, 60.3%) and enjoying a healthy lifestyle for adolescents (87/179, 48.6%). The top 3 factors that enabled a healthy lifestyle were the same for parents and their adolescent children, namely, integration of healthy behaviors into their lifestyle and routine, access to healthy options, and social support and encouragement (Table 4).



Table 4. Barriers, motivators, and enablers associated with healthy behaviors (N=179).

	Parents, n (%)	Adolescents, n (%)
Barriers		
Lack of motivation	76 (42.4)	91 (50.8)
Limited facilities or resources	43 (24)	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Financial constraints	41 (23)	N/A
Lack of access to healthy options in the home	N/A	39 (21.8)
Lack of time	N/A	34 (19)
Enablers		
Integration of healthy behaviors into lifestyle	111 (62)	93 (52)
Access to healthy options	82 (45.8)	81 (45.2)
Social support and encouragement	59 (33)	95 (53.1)
Motivators		
Setting a good example	108 (60.3)	N/A
Desire to be healthy	103 (57.5)	69 (38.5)
Mental health benefits	100 (55.9)	71 (49.7)
Enjoyment of a healthy lifestyle	N/A	87 (48.6)

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **Intervention Preferences**

A minority of participants (21/156, 13.5%) indicated that they were not interested in accessing a parent-based healthy lifestyles intervention to improve adolescent health owing to following reasons: they already had adequate knowledge, had already implemented health-promoting strategies at home, and reported a lack of time. Of the nearly three-quarters of parents (115/156, 73.7%) who indicated that they would be interested, 41.1% (53/129) of the parents said their preferred delivery method was through a website. The second most preferred delivery method was face-to-face sessions (29/129, 22.5%), followed by mobile apps (25/129, 19.4%). Most parents (80/134, 67.1%) indicated that they would be willing to spend 10 to 40 minutes per week on a parent-based program, with approximately one-quarter of the parents (32/134, 23.9%) reporting that they would spend 30 to 40 minutes. Regarding intervention components and content, most parents (89/126, 70.7%) rated opportunities for goal-setting as "very" or "extremely" important for developing a parent-based adolescent health intervention, followed by parent-child joint sessions (88/125, 70.4%) and case studies (81/123, 65.9%). Other important program features identified by the parents were ease of use (89/122, 72.9%), appropriate program length (74/126, 58.8%), and paced learning (79/126, 62.7%).

# Discussion

RenderX

# **Principal Findings**

This study aimed to explore parents' knowledge about the Australian guidelines for the Big 6 risk factors (physical inactivity, poor diet, recreational screen time, poor sleep, smoking, and alcohol use); attitudes and parenting practices in relation to the Big 6; barriers and facilitators; and preferences

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42272
```

for a parent-based preventive intervention. Although most parents perceived themselves and their adolescent children to be achieving adequate sleep, engagement in the other lifestyle risk behaviors was high. Parents reported low vegetable consumption by themselves and their adolescent child, which aligns with the latest national prevalence data on youth [50]. Although closer to the recommended serves, the average fruit consumption was still below the national guideline for both parents and adolescents. Perhaps unsurprisingly, when asked which of the Big 6 behaviors they would most like to change, parents reported dietary habits as the most common response for both themselves and adolescents. In terms of adolescents, the most concerning behaviors were the low proportion of youth meeting the national recommendations for MVPA and screen time on weekends. This is consistent with the high rates of these risk behaviors observed in other large samples of adolescents in Australia [9] and worldwide [1,51] and highlights the urgent need for preventive measures to improve these behaviors among youth.

Overall, parental self-efficacy was high, and most parents reported a supportive parenting style and positive attitudes toward their child's health behaviors. However, parental knowledge of the national youth guidelines for the Big 6 was moderate. Except for sleep, there were clear knowledge gaps regarding the guidelines for fruit and vegetable intake, MVPA, alcohol use, and screen time, as well as mismatches between perceived and actual knowledge of the guidelines. Concerningly, a large proportion of parents (66/158, 41.8%) were unaware that abstaining from alcohol was the safest option for adolescents, as stipulated in the national guidelines, highlighting a clear priority for further parental education. Parental control and rule-setting were moderate to high across the 6 risk behaviors, with parents more likely to set rules about alcohol and tobacco use for younger adolescents (aged 11-14 years)

than for older adolescents (aged 15-18 years); however, these were not statistically significant differences. This aligns with research suggesting that parental rule-setting should be appropriate to an adolescent's developmental stage to effectively protect against risk behaviors [52]. Although higher parental behavioral control, or rule-setting, may be suitable for younger adolescents, there is an increased need for autonomy and independent decision-making regarding health behaviors alongside rules as adolescents grow [52,53]. However, given the strong evidence for rule-setting as a protective factor against adolescent alcohol and tobacco use and related harms [54,55], parents should set rules in line with the Australian National Guidelines for alcohol and tobacco use, supporting abstinence for those aged <18 years. Although parental rule-setting was not significantly associated with adolescents' engagement in any of the Big 6 risk behaviors, prior research has found rule-setting to be important for adolescent behaviors, particularly in relation to alcohol use [54,55], sleep [19], and screen time [56]. This suggests that rule-setting should be considered when designing new parent-based interventions to improve adolescent health, and further research exploring associations between the Big 6 risk behaviors and parental control and rule-setting among larger samples of parents and youth may be warranted.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

There is some evidence to suggest that adolescent knowledge of guidelines is associated with better adherence to guidelines [57]; however, the relationships between parental knowledge of guidelines and adolescent health behaviors have not been well studied. Prior research has found that the related concept of parental health literacy, that is, competency in accessing, understanding, appraising, and applying health-related information [58], is associated with adolescent health behaviors, particularly in relation to healthy dietary intake [59]. For example, in a German study of >4000 parents, children (>11 years) of parents with better health literacy reported eating more vegetables and salad and consuming fewer sweetened beverages [59]. In another study of parent-adolescent dyads in the United States, the odds of obesity among youth decreased with higher levels of parental health literacy [60]. Although we did not find evidence of an association between parental knowledge of national health guidelines and adolescents' adherence to guidelines in this study, our analyses were limited by our small sample size, low cell counts for some variables, and parent-reported, rather than adolescent-reported, risk behaviors. Nonetheless, in the context of prior work, the findings suggest that health promotion campaigns and preventive interventions are needed to improve parents' health literacy and knowledge about national guidelines for the Big 6 risk behaviors, particularly in relation to diet, MVPA, alcohol use, and screen time. However, increasing knowledge alone is unlikely to be sufficient to promote behavior change among adolescents [61], and including opportunities for skill-building for parents and adolescents is also critical.

#### **Implications for Prevention**

This study has several important implications for parent-based interventions to prevent multiple lifestyle risk behaviors among adolescents. First, the most highly rated intervention component by parents was goal-setting, a commonly used and effective behavior change technique (BCT) in interventions targeting the Big 6 risk factors [62]. This suggests that future interventions should include opportunities for parents to set and track goals to improve their families' health. In addition, our finding that the most common barrier to engaging in healthy behaviors was a lack of motivation suggests that future parent-based interventions should include motivational interviewing or other effective BCTs such as "feedback on behaviour," which has been shown to increase engagement and provide motivation [63]. Other common barriers reported by parents were limited facilities or resources and financial constraints, indicating that interventions should seek to educate and empower parents about adopting healthy behaviors, such as eating healthily on a budget and doing physical activity beyond organized sports and paid activities, which are within budget and practical limitations. Similar research has found that practical constraints such as cost and access to resources play an important role in parents' engagement in adolescent healthy lifestyle programs [64]. In terms of enabling factors, the top 3 factors were integration of healthy behaviors into lifestyle, access to healthy options, and social support and encouragement. Indeed, social support is increasingly recognized as an important BCT for health interventions targeting multiple behaviors [65,66] and was identified as the most effective BCT in a recent systematic review of parent-based interventions [27]. Therefore, future prevention efforts for parents should aim to support families in embedding new skills into their lifestyle and routines and provide opportunities for social support, both emotional and practical.

The findings from this study also support the use of eHealth approaches, particularly web-based interventions. eHealth programs can be completed remotely and flexibly and reduce financial, travel, and work-related costs, making them a viable option for many parents [67]. This includes families from disadvantaged backgrounds who typically have higher rates of chronic disease risk factors [68] and poorer health outcomes [69,70]. In addition, other findings suggest that future parent-based interventions targeting the Big 6 should be brief (10-40 minutes per week), easy to use, and offer paced learning. Finally, qualitative data indicated that parents were primarily concerned about adolescents' use of technology, including the excessive use of smartphones, social media, and gaming, as well as mental health, substance use, and negative peer relationships. This coincides with recent data indicating the growing prevalence of screen time [9], vaping [33], and poor mental health [71] among Australian adolescents, particularly in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic [72,73]. Previous research has similarly advocated the inclusion of parents within adolescent interventions, particularly those targeting mental health [64,74], as a means of maximizing outcomes. Taken together, this suggests that parents are likely to be receptive to a brief eHealth program designed to address contemporary issues, such as vaping and mental health, alongside programs that target chronic disease risk factors and those that aim to circumvent the practical (eg, transport [74], cost [64,74], scheduling [74]) and social (eg, stigma [74] and fear of judgment about parenting) barriers that have traditionally hindered engagement.

XSL•FO RenderX

# Limitations

This study has several limitations that should be considered. First, although 353 parents responded to the survey, nearly half of them (n=174, 49.3%) were deemed ineligible, resulting in a small sample of 179 parents. In addition, although we recruited participants nationwide via social media, most participants in the sample were well educated, employed, and English speaking, which limits the generalizability of our results. Given the well-known health inequalities among parents and adolescents from low socioeconomic backgrounds and culturally and linguistically diverse populations, further work among more diverse populations is needed. In contrast, nearly 40% of our sample were male participants, which is a strength, as fathers typically find it difficult to engage in this type of prevention-related research [48]. In addition, this study was cross-sectional in nature, and further longitudinal research is needed. Another limitation is that parents were asked to self-report their engagement in risk behaviors, increasing the probability of bias and random error. Self-reporting is subject to several biases, including social desirability and recall bias, which may have led to the overestimation of healthy behaviors across the sample [75]. Furthermore, data on adolescent's engagement in the risk behaviors were parent reported, which limits their reliability and validity, especially in relation to

substance use and sleep. Indeed, research shows that parents typically overestimate their adolescents' sleep duration, highlighting the importance of using adolescent-derived estimates of sleep patterns in this age group [32]. Although it was not feasible to recruit parent-child dyads in this study, future research should seek to do so to supplement parent-reported data. This would provide a more comprehensive picture of health behaviors and related factors within the family unit and enable more robust explorations of whether parenting factors, such as role-modeling, rule-setting, and knowledge of guidelines, are associated with improved adolescent risk behaviors. The inclusion of peers, who become particularly influential among the older adolescents, may also be of benefit in such research.

# Conclusions

This cross-sectional survey of Australian parents revealed important findings regarding information needs and intervention preferences for preventing multiple lifestyle risk behaviors among adolescents. The results suggest that to promote healthy behaviors among adolescents, future parent-based interventions should be delivered via eHealth methods, and they must aim to increase parental knowledge of health guidelines; provide opportunities for skill-building, such as goal-setting; and include effective BCTs such as motivational interviewing and social support.

# Acknowledgments

This review was funded by the Prevention and Early Intervention in Mental Illness and Substance Use National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Centre of Research Excellence; the Paul Ramsay Foundation; and an NHMRC Early Career Fellowship to KEC (APP1120641), NHMRC Career Development Fellowship to NCN (APP1166377), and NHMRC Investigator Grant to MT (APP1195284).

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Additional analyses, recruitment flyer, and national health guidelines for adolescents. [DOCX File , 819 KB - pediatrics v6i1e42272 app1.docx ]

# References

- Guthold R, Stevens GA, Riley LM, Bull FC. Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: a pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 Jan;4(1):23-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30323-2] [Medline: 31761562]
- Beal T, Morris SS, Tumilowicz A. Global patterns of adolescent fruit, vegetable, carbonated soft drink, and fast-food consumption: a meta-analysis of global school-based student health surveys. Food Nutr Bull 2019 Dec;40(4):444-459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0379572119848287] [Medline: 31617415]
- 3. Cappuccio FP, Taggart FM, Kandala NB, Currie A, Peile E, Stranges S, et al. Meta-analysis of short sleep duration and obesity in children and adults. Sleep 2008 May;31(5):619-626. [doi: 10.1093/sleep/31.5.619] [Medline: 18517032]
- 4. Boers E, Afzali MH, Newton N, Conrod P. Association of screen time and depression in adolescence. JAMA Pediatr 2019 Jul 15;173(9):853-859. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.1759</u>] [Medline: <u>31305878</u>]
- 5. Loewen OK, Maximova K, Ekwaru JP, Faught EL, Asbridge M, Ohinmaa A, et al. Lifestyle behavior and mental health in early adolescence. Pediatrics 2019 May;143(5):e20183307. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2018-3307</u>] [Medline: <u>31004047</u>]
- Ding D, Rogers K, van der Ploeg H, Stamatakis E, Bauman AE. Traditional and emerging lifestyle risk behaviors and all-cause mortality in middle-aged and older adults: evidence from a large population-based Australian cohort. PLoS Med 2015 Dec;12(12):e1001917. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001917] [Medline: 26645683]
- 7. Juonala M, Viikari JS, Raitakari OT. Main findings from the prospective cardiovascular risk in young finns study. Curr Opin Lipidol 2013 Feb;24(1):57-64. [doi: <u>10.1097/MOL.0b013e32835a7ed4</u>] [Medline: <u>23069987</u>]

- Crosland P, Ananthapavan J, Davison J, Lambert M, Carter R. The economic cost of preventable disease in Australia: a systematic review of estimates and methods. Aust N Z J Public Health 2019 Oct;43(5):484-495 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12925] [Medline: 31390112]
- Champion KE, Chapman C, Gardner LA, Sunderland M, Newton NC, Smout S, Heath4Life team. Lifestyle risks for chronic disease among Australian adolescents: a cross-sectional survey. Med J Aust 2022 Feb 21;216(3):156-157. [doi: 10.5694/mja2.51333] [Medline: 34747039]
- Telama R, Yang X, Leskinen E, Kankaanpää A, Hirvensalo M, Tammelin T, et al. Tracking of physical activity from early childhood through youth into adulthood. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014;46(5):955-962. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.000000000000181</u>] [Medline: <u>24121247</u>]
- 11. Spring B, Moller AC, Coons MJ. Multiple health behaviours: overview and implications. J Public Health (Oxf) 2012 Mar;34(Suppl 1):i3-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdr111] [Medline: 22363028]
- Uddin R, Lee EY, Khan SR, Tremblay MS, Khan A. Clustering of lifestyle risk factors for non-communicable diseases in 304,779 adolescents from 89 countries: a global perspective. Prev Med 2020 Feb;131:105955. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105955] [Medline: <u>31862205</u>]
- 13. Barbaresko J, Rienks J, Nöthlings U. Lifestyle indices and cardiovascular disease risk: a meta-analysis. Am J Prev Med 2018 Oct;55(4):555-564. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.04.046] [Medline: 30241617]
- Li Y, Pan A, Wang DD, Liu X, Dhana K, Franco OH, et al. Impact of healthy lifestyle factors on life expectancies in the US population. Circulation 2018 Jul 24;138(4):345-355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.032047] [Medline: 29712712]
- Champion KE, Parmenter B, McGowan C, Spring B, Wafford QE, Gardner LA, Health4Life team. Effectiveness of school-based eHealth interventions to prevent multiple lifestyle risk behaviours among adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Digit Health 2019 Sep;1(5):e206-e221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(19)30088-3] [Medline: <u>33323269</u>]
- Prochaska JJ, Spring B, Nigg CR. Multiple health behavior change research: an introduction and overview. Prev Med 2008 Mar;46(3):181-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.02.001] [Medline: 18319098]
- 17. Aufseeser D, Jekielek S, Brown B. The family environment and adolescent well-being: exposure to positive and negative family influences. Child Trends and National Adolescent Health Information Centre. 2006 Jun. URL: <u>https://nahic.ucsf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2011/02/2006-FamEnvironBrief.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-15]
- Verloigne M, Van Lippevelde W, Maes L, Brug J, De Bourdeaudhuij I. Family- and school-based correlates of energy balance-related behaviours in 10-12-year-old children: a systematic review within the ENERGY (European Energy balance Research to prevent excessive weight Gain among Youth) project. Public Health Nutr 2012 Aug;15(8):1380-1395. [doi: 10.1017/S1368980011003168] [Medline: 22269173]
- 19. Khor SP, McClure A, Aldridge G, Bei B, Yap MB. Modifiable parental factors in adolescent sleep: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev 2021 Apr;56:101408. [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2020.101408] [Medline: 33326915]
- 20. Leonardi-Bee J, Jere ML, Britton J. Exposure to parental and sibling smoking and the risk of smoking uptake in childhood and adolescence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax 2011 Oct;66(10):847-855. [doi: 10.1136/thx.2010.153379] [Medline: 21325144]
- Bjelland M, Soenens B, Bere E, Kovács É, Lien N, Maes L, et al. Associations between parental rules, style of communication and children's screen time. BMC Public Health 2015 Oct 01;15:1002 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2337-6] [Medline: 26428894]
- Verloigne M, Bere E, Van Lippevelde W, Maes L, Lien N, Vik FN, et al. The effect of the UP4FUN pilot intervention on objectively measured sedentary time and physical activity in 10-12 year old children in Belgium: the ENERGY-project. BMC Public Health 2012 Sep 18;12:805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-805] [Medline: 22989231]
- 23. Davison KK, Lawson HA, Coatsworth JD. The family-centered action model of intervention layout and implementation (FAMILI): the example of childhood obesity. Health Promot Pract 2012 Jul;13(4):454-461. [doi: 10.1177/1524839910377966] [Medline: 21632465]
- 24. Skelton JA, Beech BM. Attrition in paediatric weight management: a review of the literature and new directions. Obes Rev 2011 May;12(5):e273-e281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00803.x] [Medline: 20880126]
- 25. Ingoldsby EM. Review of interventions to improve family engagement and retention in parent and child mental health programs. J Child Fam Stud 2010 Oct 01;19(5):629-645 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-009-9350-2] [Medline: 20823946]
- Davison KK, Jurkowski JM, Li K, Kranz S, Lawson HA. A childhood obesity intervention developed by families for families: results from a pilot study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013 Jan 05;10:3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-3] [Medline: 23289970]
- Champion KE, Gardner LA, McCann K, Hunter E, Parmenter B, Aitken T, et al. Parent-based interventions to improve multiple lifestyle risk behaviors among adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med 2022 Nov;164:107247. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107247</u>] [Medline: <u>36075490</u>]

- 28. Physical activity and exercise guidelines for adults (18 to 64 years). Department of Health and Aged Care, Government of Australia. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/topics/physical-activity-and-exercise/physical-activity-and-exercise-guidelines-for-all-australians/for-adults-18-to-64-years</u> [accessed 2022-04-20]
- Larsson K, Kallings LV, Ekblom Ö, Blom V, Andersson E, Ekblom MM. Criterion validity and test-retest reliability of SED-GIH, a single item question for assessment of daily sitting time. BMC Public Health 2019 Dec;19(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6329-1] [Medline: 30611226]
- Nguyen B, Ding D, Mihrshahi S. Fruit and vegetable consumption and psychological distress: cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses based on a large Australian sample. BMJ Open 2017 Mar 15;7(3):e014201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014201] [Medline: 28298322]
- 31. Rutishauser IH, Webb K, Abraham B, Allsopp R. Evaluation of short dietary questions from the 1995 National Nutrition Survey. Australian Food and Nutrition Monitoring Unit. Canberra, Australia: Australian Food and Nutrition Monitoring Unit & Department of Health and Aged Care; 1995. URL: <u>https://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view/UQ:83935</u> [accessed 2022-06-10]
- Short MA, Gradisar M, Lack LC, Wright HR, Chatburn A. Estimating adolescent sleep patterns: parent reports versus adolescent self-report surveys, sleep diaries, and actigraphy. Nat Sci Sleep 2013 Feb;5:23-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/NSS.S38369] [Medline: 23620690]
- 33. National drug strategy household survey 2019. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Canberra, Australia: AIHW, Government of Australia; 2019. URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/about-our-data/our-data-collections/</u> national-drug-strategy-household-survey/2019-ndshs [accessed 2022-04-20]
- 34. Patrick DL, Cheadle A, Thompson DC, Diehr P, Koepsell T, Kinne S. The validity of self-reported smoking: a review and meta-analysis. Am J Public Health 1994 Jul;84(7):1086-1093. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.84.7.1086</u>] [Medline: <u>8017530</u>]
- 35. Del Boca FK, Darkes J. The validity of self-reports of alcohol consumption: state of the science and challenges for research. Addiction 2003 Dec;98(Suppl 2):1-12. [doi: 10.1046/j.1359-6357.2003.00586.x] [Medline: 14984237]
- 36. Harrison LD, Martin SS, Enev T, Harrington D. Comparing drug testing and self-report of drug use among youths and young adults in the general population. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Rockville, MD, USA: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Office of Applied Studies; 2007. URL: <u>http://www.buckleysrenewalcenter.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/drugtest.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-12]
- 37. Ridgers ND, Salmon J, Parrish AM, Stanley RM, Okely AD. Physical activity during school recess: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2012 Sep;43(3):320-328. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2012.05.019</u>] [Medline: <u>22898126</u>]
- 38. Hardy LL, Booth ML, Okely AD. The reliability of the Adolescent Sedentary Activity Questionnaire (ASAQ). Prev Med 2007 Jul;45(1):71-74. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.03.014] [Medline: 17532371]
- Buru K, Emeto TI, Malau-Aduli AE, Malau-Aduli BS. The efficacy of school-based interventions in preventing adolescent obesity in Australia. Healthcare (Basel) 2020 Nov 25;8(4):514 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare8040514] [Medline: 33255635]
- 40. Nguyen P, Le LK, Nguyen D, Gao L, Dunstan DW, Moodie M. The effectiveness of sedentary behaviour interventions on sitting time and screen time in children and adults: an umbrella review of systematic reviews. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2020 Sep 21;17(1):117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-01009-3] [Medline: 32958052]
- 41. Lubans DR, Smith JJ, Plotnikoff RC, Dally KA, Okely AD, Salmon J, et al. Assessing the sustained impact of a school-based obesity prevention program for adolescent boys: the ATLAS cluster randomized controlled trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 Aug 20;13:92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0420-8] [Medline: 27542825]
- 42. Smith JJ, Morgan PJ, Lonsdale C, Dally K, Plotnikoff RC, Lubans DR. Mediators of change in screen-time in a school-based intervention for adolescent boys: findings from the ATLAS cluster randomized controlled trial. J Behav Med 2017 Jun;40(3):423-433. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-016-9810-2] [Medline: 27844278]
- 43. Rhodes RE, Berry T, Craig CL, Faulkner G, Latimer-Cheung A, Spence JC, et al. Understanding parental support of child physical activity behavior. Am J Health Behav 2013 Jul;37(4):469-477. [doi: <u>10.5993/AJHB.37.4.5</u>] [Medline: <u>23985228</u>]
- 44. Ajzen I. Behavioral Interventions Based on the Theory of Planned Behavior. University of Massachusetts Amherst. 2006. URL: <u>https://people.umass.edu/aizen/pdf/tpb.intervention.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-10]
- 45. Woolgar M, Beckett C, Falconer S, Humayun S, Marsden A, Scott S, et al. A new, brief measure of parental efficacy for parenting practitioners. Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, National Academy of Parenting Research. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.kcl.ac.uk/research/national-academy-for-parenting-research</u> [accessed 2022-06-10]
- 46. Larios SE, Ayala GX, Arredondo EM, Baquero B, Elder JP. Development and validation of a scale to measure Latino parenting strategies related to children's obesigenic behaviors. The parenting strategies for eating and activity scale (PEAS). Appetite 2009 Feb;52(1):166-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2008.09.011] [Medline: 18845197]
- Kelly S, Martin S, Kuhn I, Cowan A, Brayne C, Lafortune L. Barriers and facilitators to the uptake and maintenance of healthy behaviours by people at mid-life: a rapid systematic review. PLoS One 2016 Jan 27;11(1):e0145074 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0145074] [Medline: 26815199]

- 48. Thornton LK, Chapman C, Leidl D, Conroy C, Teesson M, Slade T, et al. Climate schools plus: an online, combined student and parent, universal drug prevention program. Internet Interv 2018 Jun;12:36-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.03.007] [Medline: 30135767]
- 49. Thomas DR. A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Am J Eval 2006 Jun;27(2):237-246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1098214005283748]
- 50. National health survey: first results methodology. 2020-21 financial year. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2022. URL: https://www.abs.gov.au/methodologies/national-health-survey-first-results-methodology/2020-21 [accessed 2022-04-20]
- 51. Nagata JM, Cortez CA, Cattle CJ, Ganson KT, Iyer P, Bibbins-Domingo K, et al. Screen time use among US adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic: findings from the adolescent brain cognitive development (ABCD) study. JAMA Pediatr 2022 Jan 01;176(1):94-96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.4334] [Medline: 34724543]
- 52. Gittins CB, Hunt C. Parental behavioural control in adolescence: how does it affect self-esteem and self-criticism? J Adolesc 2019 Jun;73:26-35. [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.03.004] [Medline: 30953842]
- 53. Bacikova-Sleskova M, Benka J, Orosova O. Parental behavioural control and knowledge in early adolescence. A person-oriented approach. Curr Psychol 2021;40(6):2735-2744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12144-019-00214-z]
- 54. McKay MT. Parental rules, parent and peer attachment, and adolescent drinking behaviors. Subst Use Misuse 2015 Jan;50(2):184-188. [doi: 10.3109/10826084.2014.962053] [Medline: 25295597]
- 55. Van der Vorst H, Engels RC, Meeus W, Deković M. The impact of alcohol-specific rules, parental norms about early drinking and parental alcohol use on adolescents' drinking behavior. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2006 Dec;47(12):1299-1306. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01680.x] [Medline: 17176385]
- 56. Barnett TA, Kelly AS, Young DR, Perry CK, Pratt CA, Edwards NM, American Heart Association Obesity Committee of the Council on Lifestyle and Cardiometabolic Health; Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; and Stroke Council. Sedentary behaviors in today's youth: approaches to the prevention and management of childhood obesity: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2018 Sep 11;138(11):e142-e159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000591] [Medline: 30354382]
- 57. Gardner LA, Champion KE, Parmenter B, Grummitt L, Chapman C, Sunderland M, The Health Life Team, et al. Clustering of six key risk behaviors for chronic disease among adolescent females. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Oct 02;17(19):7211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17197211] [Medline: 33023089]
- 58. Sørensen K, Van den Broucke S, Fullam J, Doyle G, Pelikan J, Slonska Z, (HLS-EU) Consortium Health Literacy Project European. Health literacy and public health: a systematic review and integration of definitions and models. BMC Public Health 2012 Jan 25;12:80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-80] [Medline: 22276600]
- 59. de Buhr E, Tannen A. Parental health literacy and health knowledge, behaviours and outcomes in children: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Public Health 2020 Jul 13;20(1):1096 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-08881-5] [Medline: 32660459]
- 60. Chari R, Warsh J, Ketterer T, Hossain J, Sharif I. Association between health literacy and child and adolescent obesity. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Jan;94(1):61-66. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.09.006] [Medline: 24120396]
- 61. Arlinghaus KR, Johnston CA. Advocating for behavior change with education. Am J Lifestyle Med 2017 Dec 9;12(2):113-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1559827617745479] [Medline: 30283247]
- 62. Armitage CJ, Conner M, Prestwich A, de Bruin M, Johnston M, Sniehotta F, et al. Investigating which behaviour change techniques work for whom in which contexts delivered by what means: proposal for an international collaboratory of Centres for Understanding Behaviour Change (CUBiC). Br J Health Psychol 2021 Feb;26(1):1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12479] [Medline: 33080120]
- 63. DiClemente CC, Marinilli AS, Singh M, Bellino LE. The role of feedback in the process of health behavior change. Am J Health Behav 2001;25(3):217-227. [doi: 10.5993/ajhb.25.3.8] [Medline: 11322620]
- 64. Broomfield G, Brown SD, Yap MB. Socioeconomic factors and parents' preferences for internet- and mobile-based parenting interventions to prevent youth mental health problems: a discrete choice experiment. Internet Interv 2022 Apr;28:100522 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2022.100522] [Medline: 35309756]
- Greaney ML, Puleo E, Sprunck-Harrild K, Haines J, Houghton SC, Emmons KM. Social support for changing multiple behaviors: factors associated with seeking support and the impact of offered support. Health Educ Behav 2018 Apr;45(2):198-206. [doi: 10.1177/1090198117712333] [Medline: 28683577]
- 66. Spring B, Pfammatter AF, Marchese SH, Stump T, Pellegrini C, McFadden HG, et al. A factorial experiment to optimize remotely delivered behavioral treatment for obesity: results of the Opt-IN study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2020 Sep;28(9):1652-1662 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/oby.22915] [Medline: 32656994]
- 67. Broomfield G, Wade C, Yap MB. Engaging parents of lower-socioeconomic positions in internet- and mobile-based interventions for youth mental health: a qualitative investigation. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Aug 28;18(17):9087 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18179087] [Medline: 34501675]
- 68. Australia's children. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Canberra, Australia: AIHW; 2020. URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/children-youth/australias-children/contents/health/the-health-of-australias-children [accessed 2022-04-20]</u>
- 69. Cancer in Australia 2021. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Canberra, Australia: AIHW; 2021. URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/cancer/in-australia-2021/summary</u> [accessed 2022-04-20]

- 70. Health across socioeconomic groups. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Canberra, Australia: AIHW; 2022. URL: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/health-across-socioeconomic-groups [accessed 2022-04-20]
- 71. National study of mental health and wellbeing: 2020-21. Australian Bureau of Staistics. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/</u> statistics/health/mental-health/national-study-mental-health-and-wellbeing/latest-release [accessed 2022-04-20]
- 72. COVID-19 and Australia's mental health: an overview of academic literature, policy documents, lived experience accounts and community reports. Australia's Mental Health Think Tank. 2021 Oct 7. URL: <u>https://apo.org.au/node/314410</u> [accessed 2022-08-15]
- 73. Gardner LA, Debenham J, Newton NC, Chapman C, Wylie FE, Osman B, et al. Lifestyle risk behaviours among adolescents: a two-year longitudinal study of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Open 2022 Jun 01;12(6):e060309 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-060309] [Medline: 35649588]
- 74. Finan SJ, Warren N, Priest N, Mak JS, Yap MB. Parent non-engagement in preventive parenting programs for adolescent mental health: stakeholder views. J Child Fam Stud 2020 Mar;29(3):711-724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-019-01627-x]
- 75. Althubaiti A. Information bias in health research: definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. J Multidiscip Healthc 2016 May 4;9:211-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S104807] [Medline: 27217764]

# Abbreviations

**BCT:** behavior change technique **MVPA:** moderate to vigorous physical activity

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 06.10.22; peer-reviewed by S Khor, T Baranowski; comments to author 25.12.22; revised version received 15.02.23; accepted 16.02.23; published 04.04.23.

Please cite as:

Champion KE, Hunter E, Gardner LA, Thornton LK, Chapman C, McCann K, Spring B, Slade T, Teesson M, Newton NC Parental Information Needs and Intervention Preferences for Preventing Multiple Lifestyle Risk Behaviors Among Adolescents: Cross-sectional Survey Among Parents JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42272 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42272 doi:10.2196/42272 PMID:37014696

©Katrina E Champion, Emily Hunter, Lauren A Gardner, Louise K Thornton, Cath Chapman, Karrah McCann, Bonnie Spring, Tim Slade, Maree Teesson, Nicola C Newton. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 04.04.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Parental Attitudes on Social Media Monitoring for Youth: Cross-Sectional Survey Study

Alyssa Cohen<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MD, MSc; Anne Bendelow<sup>4</sup>, MPH; Tracie Smith<sup>4</sup>, MPH; Colleen Cicchetti<sup>5,6</sup>, PhD; Matthew M Davis<sup>1,2,3,7</sup>, MD, MAPP; Marie Heffernan<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD

2 3 4 5 6 7

**Corresponding Author:** 

Alyssa Cohen, MD, MSc

# Abstract

**Background:** Online environments dominate the daily lives of American youth and pose evolving challenges to their health and well-being. Recent national poll data indicate that social media overuse, internet safety, and online bullying are among parents' top child health concerns, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. While parents are uniquely positioned to help youth navigate social media, their attitudes on monitoring media use may be impacted by a myriad of personal and family factors.

**Objective:** This study aimed to examine factors associated with parental attitudes about monitoring social media use among youth.

**Methods:** Data were analyzed from the Voices of Child Health in Chicago Parent Panel Survey, administered to parents over the web and by telephone. Parents with at least 1 child aged  $\geq 11$  years responded to questions about bullying and social media monitoring from May to July 2020. The primary outcome was their response to the following question: "Do you think parents should monitor their children's use of social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram?" Bivariate analyses and multivariable logistic regression were used to examine parental agreement with frequent social media monitoring and concerns about bullying, adjusted for sociodemographic characteristics. Analyses were weighted to represent the parent population of Chicago.

**Results:** Among 1613 survey respondents, the analyzed sample included 808 parents with at least 1 child aged  $\geq 11$  years. Overall, 62.9% (n=566) of parents agreed with frequent parental monitoring of their children's social media use. Compared with parents aged  $\leq 35$  years, parents who were >35 years old were significantly less likely to agree with frequent social media monitoring (adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 0.45, 95% CI 0.25-0.81). Parents expressing a high level of concern regarding the effects of bullying were more likely to agree with frequent monitoring of youth social media (aOR 2.15, 95% CI 1.24-3.73).

**Conclusions:** Parents' personal characteristics and concerns about bullying may influence their attitudes toward monitoring social media use among youth. Given the potential impact of these attitudes on parental monitoring behaviors and the subsequent health impact on youth, pediatricians should consider these factors when counseling about bullying and social media. Child health professionals can support families in developing a safe media use plan that fits family circumstances.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46365) doi:10.2196/46365

# **KEYWORDS**

social media; bullying; cyberbullying; parenting; pediatrics; well-being; wellbeing; online; monitoring; youth; internet safety; parent; survey; internet; online; mental health; cross-sectional survey

# Introduction

Online environments dominate the lives of American youth and pose evolving challenges to their health and well-being. The overwhelming majority of adolescents have smartphone access and almost half report being online "almost constantly" [1].

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46365

Social media represents an important proportion of youth's internet use, providing novel and rapidly shifting platforms for communication and content-sharing [2,3]. While social media may positively impact youth by facilitating social connection [4] and providing resources for seeking support [5], there are numerous potential health risks associated with online platforms,

XSL•FO RenderX

including sleep disruption [6], problematic internet use [7], and cyberbullying [8-10]. Cyberbullying, defined as the use of electronic communication technologies to bully others [11,12], is widespread among youth, with 59% of US teens reporting that they have experienced online victimization [13].

The impact of online media is also felt by parents. In a recent national poll [14], parents rated overuse of social media, cyberbullying, and internet safety among their top child health concerns. Parents are uniquely positioned to help youth navigate online environments. The extant literature demonstrates that parental monitoring and involvement in media use can mitigate associated risky health behaviors and reduce cyberbullying [15-17]. However, much remains unknown about factors that impact parental monitoring behaviors. For pediatricians and child advocates, who may support families in navigating online media use, it is important to take these factors into consideration.

Drawing on the theory of planned behavior, which maintains attitudes as core determinants of human social behavior [18], we posit that an improved understanding of parental attitudes around social media and cyberbullying may be key to impacting their approach to monitoring youth's online activities. Using parent survey data, this study sought to characterize parental attitudes on social media monitoring for youth. We hypothesized that parental agreement with frequent social media monitoring is related to parents' personal characteristics and their concerns about bullying.

# Methods

# **Ethical Considerations**

The institutional review board at Ann & Robert H Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago determined this study to be exempt (IRB 2019-3063) and that all methods were in accordance with ethical standards. The institutional review board at NORC (National Opinion Research Center) also approved all study activities.

# **Study Design**

Participants were first recruited from the probability-based Voices of Child Health in Chicago (VOCHIC) panel and NORC's AmeriSpeak panel with a 66.2% response rate (1035 responses from 1564 eligible invitees). To ensure a sufficient sample size, the probability sample was augmented by calibration-weighted, non-probability-based responses through opt-in, web-based panels (n=578). The survey was administered by NORC via the web and telephone from May to July 2020 (n=1613) (see additional details in Multimedia Appendix 1 [19-21]). Eligibility criteria included age  $\geq$ 18 years, being the parent of at least 1 household child, and Chicago residence [19-21]. The present study focused on a subgroup of parents

with at least 1 child aged  $\geq 11$  years (n=808) to capture parents of children most likely to be active users of social media. Respondents were compensated US \$10 for survey completion.

#### Measures

All measures included in this analysis were part of a broader survey of social emotional learning among children and adolescents, obtained during the VOCHIC summer 2020 administration.

# **Dependent Variables**

The primary outcome measure was the response to the question, "Do you think parents should monitor their children's use of social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram?" Based on sample response distribution, and to facilitate analyses with a focus on frequent social media monitoring as best aligned with existing recommendations for parental monitoring [22], response options of "yes, frequently," "yes, some of the time," and "no" were collapsed to create a dichotomous variable of "yes, frequently" and "some of the time or no."

# Independent Variables

We explored demographic variables and parents' concerns about bullying as potential predictors. Household income was combined into 3 groups based on the US federal poverty level (FPL; <100% FPL, 100%-399% FPL, ≥400% FPL) [23]. Parent education (high school education or below, some college, college degree or higher) and parent age (18-35 years,  $\geq$ 36 years with midpoint based on subsample distribution) were also assessed. Parents' self-reported race and ethnicity were combined into 4 groups (Black, White, Latinx, and Asian/Other race). Race and ethnicity were included in the analyses to investigate previously reported differences in parental concerns regarding cyberbullying and internet safety [12], as well as differences in youth internet use [1], among minoritized racial and ethnic groups. We examined the age of the oldest child in the household using a dichotomized variable (11-13 or 14-17 years old). The cutoff at 13-14 years was selected to differentiate younger adolescents and preadolescents from their high school-aged counterparts, who may demonstrate different social media use patterns. Parent gender was assessed as male, female, or nonbinary. Due to the small subsample size of nonbinary parents (n=3), this group was omitted from gender analyses. Child school type was coded as "public," "private/charter," or "other."

We assessed parents' level of concern about bullying with the item, "How concerned are you about the following?" followed by 4 bullying concerns compiled as a composite variable, as outlined in Textbox 1.



Textbox 1. Survey items and composite variable related to parental concerns about bullying.

#### Parental concerns

- 1. Long-term effects of bullying, such as effects that last into adulthood
- 2. Short-term effects of bullying, such as kids feeling left out
- 3. Physical harm or injury due to bullying
- 4. Mental health or psychological effects of bullying

#### **Response options**

- 1. Not at all concerned
- 2. Not very concerned
- 3. Somewhat concerned
- 4. Very concerned
- 5. Extremely concerned

#### Composite variable

- 1. Low bullying concern
- 0: "very" or "extremely" concerned responses
- 2. Medium bullying concern
- 1-3: "very" or "extremely" concerned responses
- 3. High bullying concern
- 4: "very" or "extremely" concerned responses

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Bivariate analyses compared survey responses across sociodemographic characteristics and bullying concern categories.  $\chi^2$  tests determined the association between predictors and parental agreement with frequent social media monitoring. A multivariable logistic regression model included statistically significant (*P*<.05) predictors from bivariate analyses. All statistical analyses were population weighted (see Multimedia Appendix 1), used a significance level of *P*<.05, and were performed using SAS software (version 9.4; SAS Institute).

# Results

Of the 808 parent respondents with at least 1 child aged  $\geq 11$  years, 566 (62.9%) agreed that parents should frequently monitor their children's social media. Only 30 (5.2%) parents responded "no" to the primary outcome question, with the remainder responding "yes, some of the time" (n=212, 31.9%). For all other analyses, responses to the primary outcome were dichotomized as described in the *Methods* section. Bivariate analyses demonstrated significant differences (*P*s<.05) in response to frequent social media monitoring across parent race/ethnicity, parent and oldest child age, parental education, child school type, and bullying concern level, but not household income or parent gender (Table 1).



Cohen et al

Table. Sociodemographic characteristics of the survey sample, by parental agreement with frequent social media monitoring for youth.

		Responses <sup>a</sup>		<i>P</i> value <sup>b</sup>
		"Yes, frequently," n (%) <sup>C</sup>	"Some of the time" or "no," n (%)	
Survey sample		566 (62.9)	242 (37.1)	d
Parent race/ethnicity (n=808)				<.001
	White, non-Hispanic/Latinx	208 (63.3)	79 (36.7)	
	Black, non-Hispanic/Latinx	147 (77.2)	45 (22.8)	
	Hispanic/Latinx	188 (61.5)	92 (38.5)	
	Asian/Other <sup>e</sup> , non-Hispan- ic/Latinx	23 (32.5)	26 (67.5)	
Parent age (n=808)				.009
	≤35 years	137 (74.1)	53 (25.9)	
	>35 years	429 (60.1)	189 (39.9)	
Household income (n=790)				.77
	<100% FPL <sup>f</sup>	99 (59.2)	38 (40.8)	
	100%-399% FPL	227 (63.5)	103 (36.5)	
	≥400% FPL	227 (63.5)	96 (36.5)	
Parental education (n=802)	)			.03
	High school or less	122 (58.4)	71 (41.6)	
	Some college or technical school	149 (74.2)	46 (25.8)	
	College degree or higher	291 (62.2)	123 (37.8)	
Parent gender (n=803)				.08
	Male	170 (58.0)	91 (42.0)	
	Female	394 (67.1)	148 (32.9)	
Oldest child age (n=808)				.01
	11-13 years	251 (71.8)	62 (28.2)	
	14-17 years	315 (58.4)	180 (41.6)	
Child school type (n=762) <sup>g</sup>				.04
	Private/charter	188 (71.5)	65 (28.5)	
	Public	353 (60.6)	156 (39.4)	
Bullying concern level (n=7	(97)			.005
	Low	123 (53.5)	74 (46.5)	
	Medium	189 (61.0)	85 (39.0)	
	High	247 (72.8)	79 (27.2)	

<sup>a</sup>Responses to the survey item "Do you think parents should monitor their children's use of social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram?"

<sup>b</sup>A significance level of P<.05 was used as the threshold for variable inclusion in the multivariable analysis.

<sup>c</sup>Survey-weighted frequencies are displayed as percentages in rows; number (n) of participants are displayed as unweighted counts.

<sup>d</sup>Not applicable.

XSL•FO

<sup>e</sup>The Asian/Other race group included non-Hispanic/Latinx groups self-identifying as Chinese, Filipino, Japanese, Korean, Vietnamese, Asian Indian, Samoan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, Other Pacific Islander, American Indian or Alaska Native, and "Some other race."

<sup>f</sup>FPL: federal poverty level.

<sup>g</sup>Child school type was coded as "public" if all children aged 11-17 years attended public school, "private/charter" if all children aged 11-17 years attended private or charter school, and "other" if children attended another type of school or if children in the household attended different types of schools. The "other" group was omitted from analyses due to heterogeneity and small sample size.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46365

In multivariable logistic regression, parents over age 35 had significantly lower odds of agreeing with frequent social media

monitoring for youth (adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 0.45, 95% CI 0.25-0.81), compared with younger parents (Table 2).

**Table**. Adjusted odds ratio (aOR) of parental agreement with frequent social media monitoring for youth, by sociodemographic characteristics and bullying concerns.<sup>a</sup>

		aOR	95% CI	P value		
Parent race/ethnicity (ref <sup>b</sup> : White, non-Hispanic/Latinx)						
	Black, non-Hispanic/Latinx	1.85	0.92-3.73	.08		
	Hispanic/Latinx	0.97	0.51-1.83	.92		
	Asian/Other, non-Hispan- ic/Latinx	0.34	0.14-0.82	.02		
Parent age (ref: ≤35 years)						
	>35 years	0.45	0.25-0.81	.007		
Parental education (ref: hig	h school or less)					
	Some college or technical school	1.88	1.03-3.43	.04		
	College degree or higher	1.11	0.61-2.00	.74		
Parent gender (ref: male)						
	Female	1.12	0.68-1.84	.65		
Oldest child age (ref: 14-17	years)					
	11-13 years	1.57	0.94-2.62	.08		
Child school type (ref: all c	Child school type (ref: all children in public)					
	All children in private/char- ter	1.47	0.86-2.49	.16		
Bullying concern level (ref: low)						
	Medium	1.72	0.98-3.02	.06		
	High	2.15	1.24-3.73	.007		

<sup>a</sup>Multivariable regression model adjusted for all variables listed in the table. <sup>b</sup>Ref: reference.

Respondents who identified as Asian/Other race also had lower odds of agreement with frequent social media monitoring (aOR 0.34, 95% CI 0.14-0.82) than White parents. Parents had higher odds of agreement with frequent monitoring if they had some college or technical school education (aOR 1.88, 95% CI 1.03-3.43), compared with high school or less. Having a high level of concern about bullying was associated with 2.15 times increased odds of agreement with frequent social media monitoring among parents (95% CI 1.24-3.73), compared with a low level of bullying concern. In adjusted analyses, parent gender, child age, and child school type were no longer associated with agreement with social media monitoring.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

In a representative sample of parents in a large, socioeconomically diverse, urban population, we found that most parents agreed with frequent monitoring of social media use among youth. Parents were more likely to have positive attitudes about frequent social media monitoring if they were younger and more concerned about the negative effects of bullying. As attitudes are a key determinant of behavior, these findings add important context to the literature surrounding the monitoring of media use in youth, amid mounting parental concerns regarding online environments and child health [14].

In addition to personal attitudes, recent studies have suggested that elements such as knowledge, perceived control, and risk assessment may be key to understanding parents' involvement in youth social media and cyberbullying prevention [24,25]. Indeed, our results indicated that younger parents, who might have more personal familiarity with social media than older parents, were more likely to agree with frequent monitoring of youth. In discussing the monitoring of youth media use, it is important for pediatricians to consider how parents' own experiences and familiarity with various platforms may impact their attitudes and, therefore, behavior.

Our findings also highlight that concerns about the risks of bullying may be an important driver of parents' attitudes on social media monitoring. For pediatricians who routinely provide guidance around bullying, these conversations may afford an ideal opportunity to also explore families' media use practices and address concerns about online environments. Child health

professionals are well positioned to provide education and make recommendations, including on the development of a family media plan and active supervision of youths' online activities [11].

# Limitations

It is important to acknowledge this study's limitations. While results are weighted to represent households in Chicago, they may not generalize to other populations. However, Chicago is a diverse city with similar demographics to the United States more broadly, so we expect that results likely generalize to other large US cities [26]. Importantly, respondents were voluntary members of a panel and may respond differently than parents in the general population. Responses to the primary outcome variable were collapsed from 3 into 2 options based on subsample sizes and alignment with recommendations for parental monitoring practices, and may not fully capture nuanced differences among participants' attitudes. Similarly, some demographic data, such as parent age, were measured categorically, limiting analysis options. The subsample of participants identifying as Asian/Other race/ethnicity was small and heterogeneous, limiting the interpretability of results for this group. Finally, the effect of nonresponse bias should be considered given the study's survey-based design.

#### Conclusions

Amid mounting parental concerns regarding online media, this large study of a diverse group of urban parents indicates that attitudes regarding monitoring of youth social media use vary. Personal characteristics such as parent age and concern for the health impact of bullying were associated with parents' agreement with frequent social media monitoring for youth. These factors may provide helpful context for pediatricians as they support families in navigating safe media use. Improved understanding of parents' attitudes about social media will continue to be an essential focus as future research examines targets for intervention to promote healthy social media use among youth.

#### Acknowledgments

The Voices of Child Health in Chicago survey is supported by an anonymous family foundation dedicated to supporting research that advances community health in low-resource neighborhoods and the Patrick M Magoon Institute for Healthy Communities at Ann & Robert H Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplemental information on methods. [DOCX File, 15 KB - pediatrics v6i1e46365 app1.docx]

#### References

- Anderson M, Jiang J. Teens, social media & technology 2018. Pew Research Center. 2018 May 31. URL: www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/ [accessed 2023-10-25]
- Moreno MA, Standiford M, Cody P. Social media and adolescent health. Curr Pediatr Rep 2018 Jun;6(2):132-138. [doi: 10.1007/s40124-018-0165-8]
- Reid Chassiakos YL, Radesky J, Christakis D, et al. Children and adolescents and Digital media. Pediatrics 2016 Nov;138(5):e20162593. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2593] [Medline: 27940795]
- 4. Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Marsch LA, Bartels SJ. The future of mental health care: peer-to-peer support and social media. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2016 Apr;25(2):113-122. [doi: <u>10.1017/S2045796015001067</u>] [Medline: <u>26744309</u>]
- Roystonn K, Vaingankar JA, Chua BY, et al. The public health impact and policy implications of online support group use for mental health in Singapore: cross-sectional survey. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Aug 4;7(8):e18114. [doi: <u>10.2196/18114</u>] [Medline: <u>32749231</u>]
- 6. Levenson JC, Shensa A, Sidani JE, Colditz JB, Primack BA. The association between social media use and sleep disturbance among young adults. Prev Med 2016 Apr;85:36-41. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.01.001</u>] [Medline: <u>26791323</u>]
- 7. Moreno MA, Jelenchick L, Cox E, Young H, Christakis DA. Problematic internet use among US youth: a systematic review. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2011 Sep;165(9):797-805. [doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.58] [Medline: 21536950]
- Waasdorp TE, Bradshaw CP. The overlap between cyberbullying and traditional bullying. J Adolesc Health 2015 May;56(5):483-488. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.12.002</u>] [Medline: <u>25631040</u>]
- 9. Vaillancourt T, Faris R, Mishna F. Cyberbullying in children and youth: implications for health and clinical practice. Can J Psychiatry 2017 Jun;62(6):368-373. [doi: 10.1177/0706743716684791] [Medline: 28562091]
- Gámez-Guadix M, Borrajo E, Almendros C. Risky online behaviors among adolescents: longitudinal relations among problematic Internet use, cyberbullying perpetration, and meeting strangers online. J Behav Addict 2016 Mar;5(1):100-107. [doi: <u>10.1556/2006.5.2016.013</u>] [Medline: <u>28092196</u>]
- 11. Englander E, Donnerstein E, Kowalski R, Lin CA, Parti K. Defining cyberbullying. Pediatrics 2017 Nov;140(Suppl 2):S148-S151. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1758U] [Medline: 29093051]
- Kowalski RM, Giumetti GW, Schroeder AN, Lattanner MR. Bullying in the digital age: a critical review and meta-analysis of cyberbullying research among youth. Psychol Bull 2014 Jul;140(4):1073-1137. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0035618</u>] [Medline: <u>24512111</u>]
- 13. Anderson M. A majority of teens have experienced some form of cyberbullying. Pew Research Center. 2018 Sep 27. URL: www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/09/27/a-majority-of-teens-have-experienced-some-form-of-cyberbullying/ [accessed 2023-10-25]
- 14. Freed G, Singer D, Gebremariam A, Schultz S, Clark S. Top health concerns for kids in 2020 during the pandemic. National Poll on Children's Health. 2020 Dec 21. URL: <u>mottpoll.org/sites/default/files/documents/122120\_Top10.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-10-25]
- Collier KM, Coyne SM, Rasmussen EE, et al. Does parental mediation of media influence child outcomes? A meta-analysis on media time, aggression, substance use, and sexual behavior. Dev Psychol 2016 May;52(5):798-812. [doi: 10.1037/dev0000108] [Medline: 26914217]
- 16. Coyne SM, Radesky J, Collier KM, et al. Parenting and digital media. Pediatrics 2017 Nov;140(Suppl 2):S112-S116. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1758N] [Medline: 29093044]
- Hutson E, Kelly S, Militello LK. Systematic review of cyberbullying interventions for youth and parents with implications for evidence-based practice. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2018 Feb;15(1):72-79. [doi: 10.1111/wvn.12257] [Medline: 28859246]
- Kuhl J, Beckmann J. Action control. In: From Intentions to Actions: A Theory of Planned Behavior: Springer; 1985:11-39. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-69746-3]
- 19. Lavakras PJ, Benson G, Blumberg S, et al. Report from the AAPOR task force on: the future of U.S. general population telephone survey research. American Association of Public Opinion Research. 2017. URL: <u>www.aapor.org/</u> Education-Resources/Reports/The-Future-Of-U-S-General-Population-Telephone-Sur.aspx [accessed 2022-07-04]
- 20. Elliott MN, Haviland AM. Use of a web-based convenience sample to supplement a probability sample. Surv Methodol 2007;33(2):211-215.
- 22. Council on Communications and Media, Strasburger VC, Hogan MJ, et al. Children, adolescents, and the media. Pediatrics 2013 Nov 1;132(5):958-961. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-2656]
- 23. 2020 poverty guidelines. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. 2020. URL: <u>aspe.hhs.gov/topics/</u> poverty-economic-mobility/poverty-guidelines/prior-hhs-poverty-guidelines-federal-register-references/ 2020-poverty-guidelines [accessed 2021-09-01]
- 24. Martín-Criado JM, Casas JA, Ortega-Ruiz R. Parental supervision: predictive variables of positive involvement in cyberbullying prevention. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Feb 7;18(4):1562. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18041562] [Medline: 33562183]
- Douglas KD, Smith KK, Stewart MW, Walker J, Mena L, Zhang L. Exploring parents' intentions to monitor and mediate adolescent social media use and implications for school nurses. J Sch Nurs 2023 Jun;39(3):248-261. [doi: 10.1177/1059840520983286] [Medline: 33375901]
- 26. Kolko J. Normal America is not a small town of White people. FiveThirtyEight. 2016 Apr 28. URL: <u>fivethirtyeight.com/</u> <u>features/normal-america-is-not-a-small-town-of-white-people/</u> [accessed 2021-08-26]

#### Abbreviations

aOR: adjusted odds ratioFPL: federal poverty levelNORC: National Opinion Research CenterVOCHIC: Voices of Child Health in Chicago



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 22.03.23; peer-reviewed by C Pehora, K Roystonn, L VonHoltz; revised version received 13.09.23; accepted 27.09.23; published 16.11.23. Please cite as:

Cohen A, Bendelow A, Smith T, Cicchetti C, Davis MM, Heffernan M Parental Attitudes on Social Media Monitoring for Youth: Cross-Sectional Survey Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46365 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46365 doi:10.2196/46365

© Alyssa Cohen, Anne Bendelow, Tracie Smith, Colleen Cicchetti, Matthew M Davis, Marie Heffernan. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 16.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Problematic Social Media Use and Lifestyle Behaviors in Adolescents: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study

Frank Hendrik Ardesch, MSc; Denise Dorothy van der Vegt, MSc; Jessica Christina Kiefte-de Jong, RD, PhD

#### Department of Public Health and Primary Care, Health Campus The Hague, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Frank Hendrik Ardesch, MSc

## Abstract

**Background:** The use of social media by adolescents has increased considerably in the past decade. With this increase in social media use in our daily lives, there has been a rapidly expanding awareness of the potential unhealthy lifestyle-related health effects arising from excessive, maladaptive, or addictive social media use.

Objective: This study aims to assess the association between adolescents' social media use and health-related behaviors.

**Methods:** We used a cross-sectional research approach and analyzed data from 96,919 adolescents at high schools throughout the Netherlands. A structured 43-item questionnaire was used to gather data on sociodemographics, dietary and lifestyle factors, and the degree of social media use based on the Compulsive Internet Use Scale. Logistic regression analyses were performed to assess the association between problematic social media use (PSMU) and lifestyle behaviors while adjusting for sociodemographic factors.

**Results:** Of the 96,919 included adolescents, 7.4% (n=7022) were identified as at risk for PSMU. Furthermore, logistic regression results showed that adolescents who are at risk for PSMU were more likely to report alcohol consumption and smoking while simultaneously having significantly lower levels of health-promoting behavior such as healthy eating habits (eating fruits, vegetables, and breakfast regularly) and physical activity.

**Conclusions:** This study confirms that adolescents at risk of PSMU were more likely to exhibit an unhealthy lifestyle. Being at risk for PSMU was a determinant of soft drug use, alcohol consumption, smoking, poor eating habits, and lower physical activity independent of the additional adjusted covariates including demographic variables and remaining lifestyle variables. Future research is needed to confirm this observation in an experimental setting.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46966) doi:10.2196/46966

#### **KEYWORDS**

problematic social media use; lifestyle factors; adolescents; lifestyle behaviors; social media; addictive social media use; high school; users; risk factor; sociodemographic factors; addiction; internet; internet use; social media use

## Introduction

Nowadays, social media is an important part of the daily life of adolescents. In today's society, social media has been widely adopted, and adolescents have the highest rates of social media use of any age group [1]. As the time spent by adolescents online has almost doubled in the past decade, the widespread interest in how this might be affecting them led to the development of scientific evidence mapping potential associations between social media use and health outcomes [2,3].

Adolescence is a developmental stage in which parental influence decreases and the opinions of peers become more important in determining behavior [4,5]. Therefore, adolescence has been proposed to be an important time for the development of lasting health behaviors [6]. Following the behavior learning theory, individuals learn from one another via observation, imitation, and modeling [7]. Previous scientific evidence has shown that exposure to online behavior is a significant source

of influence on adolescents' health attitudes, intentions, and behaviors in which adolescents are motivated to fit into group identities and adopt the normative behaviors of their peers [4,8,9].

Social media provides clear benefits, of which social interaction is the most important [10]. The interactive nature can provide opportunities to engage with peers on issues and access support networks [4]. Other reasons for social media use are the gathering of information and entertainment purposes such as watching movies and listening to music [1,11,12]. Despite these benefits, the negative impacts of social media use have become increasingly apparent, in particular, excessive, maladaptive, or addictive use of social media, which is a condition also known by terms such as problematic social media use (PSMU) [13]. In general, PSMU can be defined as "Use of social media that creates physiological, social, school, and/or work difficulties in a person's life" [14]. There are notable unhealthy lifestyle behaviors associated with PSMU among adolescents, such as

physical inactivity, substance use, and poor dieting habits, and related to each other by confounding. Likewise, social media use is positively associated with sedentary behavior [11,15]. For adults, there is strong evidence linking sedentary behavior to a higher risk of overweight and obesity, cardiovascular disease, metabolic dysregulation, insufficient sleep, osteoporosis, and a reduction of psychosocial functioning [15,16]. Additionally, these negative health consequences are more likely to develop in adults who spent greater amounts of time sedentary in their youth [15,17]. These consequences highlight the importance of restricting sedentary time among young people and adolescents [15].

International concern for the well-being and health of adolescents has been growing after reports of increases in unhealthy lifestyle behaviors [18]. The literature showed both positive and negative associations between health behavior and social media whereby the overall conclusion states that the time spent on social media replaces time spent otherwise on health-related behaviors, such as physical activity or sleeping [1,3,5,11,12]. These findings are consistent with the displacement hypothesis, which declares that interactions through online relationships would displace the time allocated for offline activities, resulting in a disruption to one's supposedly more valuable offline relationships [6,19]. However, most of the research on this topic has been conducted in Asian countries, and therefore, European results are of great interest as an addition to the current literature [14]. Furthermore, most studies did not account for other lifestyle factors that can confound the observed associations. Therefore, this study aimed to explore the health impacts related to a lifestyle of social media use among adolescents living in the Netherlands.

## Methods

#### **Data Source**

The data used for the study were collected from the Public Health Monitor Youth 2015, which is a nationally representative observational cross-sectional survey of eighth and 10th grade adolescents in the Netherlands [20]. The Public Health Monitor Youth collected data through anonymous digital questionnaires in 596 high schools throughout the Netherlands. To obtain a nationally representative sample of schools and pupils, the survey used a random sampling design in a total of 25 municipal health care service regions. The size of samples varied per region. Schools were invited by letter to participate. Both parental consent and adolescents' consent were obtained in advance of the questionnaire. Participation in this study was voluntary. Adolescents completed the questionnaire anonymously via the internet during class.

#### **Participants**

A total of 596 schools were asked to participate. The school response rate to the survey was 63.1% (n=376), and nonresponse was mostly due to an overload of other surveys and fundamental objections. We derived the study sample from Public Health Monitor Youth surveys conducted in 2015 [20]. The data consisted of a pooled sample of 96,919 adolescents between the ages of 12 and 19 years who answered the questions on social media use and health behaviors.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46966
```

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Data collection procedures were approved (W19\_148 # 19.183) by the ethical committee of The National Institute for Public Health and the Environment. Further details on the study design and methods are described elsewhere [20]. Following Dutch law (Wet medisch wetenschappelijk onderzoek met mensen), ethical review and approval were not required for the Public Health Monitor Youth as participants were not subjected to any intervention or treatment. Additionally, parents and children were informed by letters that by filling out the questionnaire, they consented to the anonymous use of data for research.

#### Questionnaire

A questionnaire with 43 multiple-choice questions was used to elicit information regarding each adolescent's social media use and lifestyle behavior (Multimedia Appendix 1). The questionnaire was divided into five parts. In the first part, adolescents were requested to respond to general and demographic questions (eg, sex, age, type of education, and origin). The second part covered the perceived physical, social, and mental health of the adolescents. The third part provided questions about their lifestyle behaviors. Questions on lifestyle behaviors included substance use (eg, "What types of substances have you ever used?"), alcohol consumption (eg, alcohol use per 4 wk and in a lifetime), smoking (eg, "Have you ever smoked?" and "How often do you smoke"), eating habits (breakfast habits and the number of days eating fruits or vegetables), and physical activity (number of days per week of physical activity for at least 1 h). In the fourth part, the adolescents were asked about their school life experiences (eg, functioning at school or bullying). The last part addressed questions related to adolescents' social media use, gaming resilience, and sexuality. Questions related to social media referred to the use of messaging via smartphone, tablet, or PC (eg, WhatsApp or Snapchat); social network sites (eg, Facebook or Twitter); and forum sites. The frequency of social media use ("How often are you active on social media?") was measured by a Likert-like scale with 6 response possibilities: never, <1day per week, 1 day per week, 2-3 days per week, 4-5 days per week, or (almost) every day.

#### **Problematic Social Media Use**

To measure the consequences of PSMU, the abbreviated version of the Compulsive Internet Use Scale from the Dutch research institute IVO was used [21]. The outcome variable, at risk for PSMU, was based on the following 7 items of the Compulsive Internet Use Scale: "How often do you find it difficult to quit social media?" "How often say others that you should spend less time on social media?" "How often would you rather use social media than spend time with others in real life?" "How often do you feel restless, stressed or annoyed when you can't use social media?" "How often do you neglect your homework to use social media?" "How often are you using social media because you feel bad?" and "How often do you lack sleep through social media?" A Likert-like scale was used with 5 possible responses: never (0), seldom (1), sometimes (2), often (3), and very often (4). The mean values of the sum of the Likert scale responses were calculated, and a mean score of 0 to 2 was labeled as no or low risk of PSMU, and a total of 2 to 4 was

XSL•FO RenderX

labeled as at risk of PSMU. These cutoffs were based on the approach of Van Rooij et al [22] who found groups demarcating potential addiction and high-risk use for high engagement based on latent class analysis in the general population.

#### **Covariate Assessment**

Covariates of interest were derived from the existing literature. All covariates were measured by the original questionnaire. The following covariates were considered important because of their relationship with PSMU: sex (male/female); age (continuous); family composition (two parents, stepfamily, co-parenting, single-parent household, or living with others or on its own); educational level (prevocational secondary education, senior general secondary education, or preuniversity education); soft drugs (never, ever, or recently used marijuana or hash); hard drugs (never, ever used, or recently using ecstasy, cocaine, psychedelic mushrooms, amphetamine, lysergic acid diethylamide, gamma hydroxybutyrate, heroin, or laughing gas); alcohol consumption (never, ever, or recently used alcohol); smoking (never smoked, ever smoked, or daily smoker); physical activity (weekly physical activity at a club or gym: yes/no); and eating breakfast (5 or more times a week: yes/no), fruits (5 or more times a week: yes/no), or vegetables (5 or more times a week: yes/no). For soft drugs, hard drugs, and alcohol, the "recently used" category indicates that someone used drugs or alcohol in the last 4 weeks.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The *P* value for trend was calculated by using a linear regression model. Results of the multiple logistic regression models to analyze the association between PSMU and individual lifestyle factors were presented in an unadjusted model (model 1); a model adjusted for sex, age, and educational level (model 2); and a model between the risk of PSMU and lifestyle behaviors,

corrected for sex, age, educational level, family composition, mutual adjustment for substance use (soft and hard drugs), alcohol consumption, smoking, physical activity, and eating habits (fruit, vegetable, and breakfast intake; model 3). The associations were reported as odds ratios (ORs) with 95% CIs. P values <.05 were considered to be statistically significant. Missing values were imputed by using the Markov chain Monte Carlo method. After the imputation procedure, the effect estimates were pooled. The pooled estimates were used to perform the analyses in this study. All analyses were performed by using the statistical software SPSS version 26 (IBM Corp).

## Results

#### **Study Population Characteristics**

Table 1 presents the characteristics of the study sample over two groups based on the risk for PSMU. The study sample consisted of adolescents who answered questions on social media use and health behaviors (N=96,919) in which 89,710 (92.6%) of the adolescents were not at risk or were at low risk for PSMU, while 7209 (7.4%) were at risk for PSMU. The at-risk PSMU group consisted of a higher number of female adolescents 4749 (65.9%). Both groups had approximately equal mean ages (14.29, SD 1.25 years vs 14.48, SD 1.22 years), ranging from 12 to 19 years. Preuniversity education was more common among low-risk users (n=19,151, 21.4%) than in the at-risk PSMU group (n=856, 11.9%), and the majority of both groups attended prevocational school or senior general secondary education. Lifestyle behaviors such as substance use, alcohol consumption, and smoking were more commonly observed among the at-risk PSMU group. No-risk or low-risk users skipped breakfast, fruit, and vegetable intake less often compared to the at-risk PSMU group.



Ardesch et al

 Table . Baseline characteristics of included adolescents (N=96,919).

			No or low-risk problem- atic social media use	At-risk problematic so- cial media use	<i>P</i> value
Total, n (%)			89,710 (92.6)	7209 (7.4)	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Sex (female), n (%)			43,292 (48.3)	4749 (65.9)	<.001
Age (years), mean (SD)	•		14.29 (1.25)	14.48 (1.22)	<.001
Family composition, n	(%)				<.001
	Two parents		68,537 (76.4)	4877 (67.7)	
	Stepfamily		5801 (6.5)	647 (9.0)	
	Co-parents		5838 (6.5)	518 (7.2)	
	Single parent		8573 (9.6)	956 (13.3)	
	With others or on its ow	'n	961 (1.0)	211 (2.9)	
Educational level, n (%	6)				<.001
	Prevocational secondar	y education	45,760 (51)	4622 (64.1)	
	Senior general secondar	ry education	24,799 (27.6)	1731 (24.0)	
	Preuniversity education		19,151 (21.4)	856 (11.9)	
Substance use, n (%)					
	Soft drugs				<.001
		Never used	81,190 (90.5)	5601 (77.7)	
		Recently used	4248 (4.7)	917 (12.7)	
		Ever used	4272 (4.8)	693 (9.6)	
	Hard drugs				<.001
		Never used	88,193 (98.3)	6819 (94.6)	
		Recently used	546 (0.6)	149 (2.1)	
		Ever used	972 (1.1)	241 (3.3)	
Alcohol use, n (%)					<.001
	Never used		59,433 (66.3)	3096 (42.9)	
	Recently used		23,510 (26.2)	3398 (47.1)	
	Ever used		6767 (7.5)	715 (10.0)	
Smoking, n (%)					<.001
	Never smoked		77,081 (85.9)	4778 (66.3)	
	Ever smoked		8749 (9.8)	1563 (21.7)	
	Daily smoker		3881 (4.3)	868 (12.0)	
Physical activity, n (%	)				<.001
	Weekly, yes		69,794 (78.1)	4968 (68.9)	
Eating habits, n (%)					
	Breakfast ≥5 d/wk, yes		76,194 (84.9)	4625 (64.2)	<.001
	Fruit ≥5 d/wk, yes		45,160 (50.3)	2661 (36.9)	<.001
	Vegetables ≥5 d/wk, ye	S	72,187 (80.5)	4937 (68.5)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

#### **PSMU and Lifestyle Behaviors**

The association between being at risk for PSMU and various lifestyle variables is shown in Table 2. Model 1 demonstrates that, without any adjustments, being at risk for PSMU was

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46966

positively associated with soft drugs (recently used: OR 3.12, 95% CI 2.90-2.35; ever used: OR 3.12, 95% CI 2.90-2.35) and hard drugs (recently used: OR 3.53, 95% CI 2.88-4.33; ever used: OR 3.20, 95% CI 2.67-3.84), alcohol consumption (recently used: OR 2.77, 95% CI 2.71-2.83; ever used: OR 2.03,

95% CI 1.96-2.10), and smoking (recently used: OR 2.88, 95% CI 2.71-3.07; ever used: OR 3.61, 95% CI 3.50-3.73), and negatively associated with physical activity (OR 0.63, 95% CI 0.62-0.65) and fruit (OR 0.58, 95% CI 0.57-0.59), vegetable (OR 0.53, 95% CI 0.52-0.54), and breakfast intake (OR 0.32, 95% CI 0.31-0.33). After adjusting for sex, age, and educational level (model 2), the model showed similar significant results.

Furthermore, model 3 revealed that after adjusting for sex, age, educational level, household composition, and the remaining lifestyle behaviors, only the association with hard drugs became nonsignificant (recently used: OR 1.12, 95% CI 0.90-1.39; ever used: OR 1.09, 95% CI 0.87-1.37) when compared to the other models.

Table . Logistic regression results showing the association between the risk of problematic social media use and lifestyle behaviors among the adole	lescents.
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------

Outcome variable		Model 1 <sup>a</sup> , OR <sup>b</sup> (95% CI)	Model 2 <sup>c</sup> , OR (95% CI)	Model 3 <sup>d</sup> , OR (95% CI)
Soft drugs		-	-	-
	Never used	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	Recently used	3.12 (2.90-3.37) <sup>e</sup>	3.32 (3.06-3.60) <sup>e</sup>	1.43 (1.29-1.59) <sup>e</sup>
	Ever used	2.35 (2.16-2.56) <sup>e</sup>	2.32 (2.12-2.54) <sup>e</sup>	1.19 (1.07-1.32) <sup>e</sup>
Hard drugs				
	Never used	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	Recently used	3.53 (2.88-4.33) <sup>e</sup>	3.30 (2.66-4.09) <sup>e</sup>	1.12 (0.90-1.39)
	Ever used	3.20 (2.67-3.84) <sup>e</sup>	2.72 (2.24-3.29) <sup>e</sup>	1.09 (0.87-1.37)
Alcohol use				
	Never used	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	Recently used	2.77 (2.71-2.83) <sup>e</sup>	3.11 (3.03-3.18) <sup>e</sup>	2.26 (2.10-2.43) <sup>e</sup>
	Ever used	2.03 (1.96-2.10) <sup>e</sup>	2.20 (2.12-2.28) <sup>e</sup>	1.80 (1.64-1.98) <sup>e</sup>
Smoking				
	Never used	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	Ever used	2.88 (2.71-3.07) <sup>e</sup>	2.73 (2.66-2.80) <sup>e</sup>	1.51 (1.47-1.56) <sup>e</sup>
	Daily use	3.61 (3.50-3.73) <sup>e</sup>	3.37 (2.25-3.49) <sup>e</sup>	1.32 (1.26-1.38) <sup>e</sup>
Weekly physical activity				
	No	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	Yes	0.63 (0.62-0.65) <sup>e</sup>	0.74 (0.72-0.75) <sup>e</sup>	0.84 (0.82-0.86) <sup>e</sup>
Fruit intake				
	<5 d/wk	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	≥5 d/wk	0.58 (0.57-0.59) <sup>e</sup>	0.59 (0.58-0.60) <sup>e</sup>	0.73 (0.72-0.75) <sup>e</sup>
Vegetable intake				
	<5 d/wk	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	≥5 d/wk	0.53 (0.52-0.54) <sup>e</sup>	0.55 (0.54-0.56) <sup>e</sup>	0.67 (0.65-0.69) <sup>e</sup>
Eating breakfast				
	<5 d/wk	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
	≥5 d/wk	0.32 (0.31-0.33) <sup>e</sup>	0.38 (0.37-0.39) <sup>e</sup>	0.52 (0.50-0.53) <sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Model 1: unadjusted.

<sup>b</sup>OR: odds ratio.

<sup>c</sup>Model 2: adjusted for sex, age, and educational level.

<sup>d</sup>Model 3: adjusted for sex; age; educational level; household composition; soft drugs; hard drugs; alcohol; smoking; physical activity; and fruit, vegetable, and breakfast intake.

<sup>e</sup>P<.001

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Ardesch et al

#### Discussion

This study showed that adolescents who are at risk of PSMU were more likely to exhibit an unhealthy lifestyle. Being at risk for PSMU was positively associated with substance use, alcohol consumption, and smoking, and negatively associated with physical activity and eating breakfast, vegetables, and fruits regularly, independent of the additional adjusted covariates including demographic variables and remaining lifestyle variables.

In this survey, the prevalence of PSMU was 7.4%, which is mostly in line with previously conducted studies [23-25]. The international variations of PSMU prevalence rates are reported on in a recent study by Cheng et al [26]. In Europe and the United States, prevalence rates ranged from 7.9% to 25.2% among adolescents, and prevalence rates in the Middle East and Africa ranged from 17.3% to 23.6% [23]. Moreover, the highest variation in prevalence among adolescents was observed in Asian studies, with a reported prevalence between 8.1% and 50.9% [23]. Nevertheless, the direct comparison of these studies is complicated due to the different diagnostic criteria and methodologies used (eg, the lack of a consensual definition of PSMU) [23,27]. This study found an independent association of social media with alcohol consumption and less physical activity, which is comparable with the previous Dutch study by Busch et al [28]. They investigated the relationship between screen time (including excessive internet, TV, and video gaming) and several health-related behaviors (eg, soft drugs, alcohol use, smoking, unsafe sex, skipping school, bullying, poor nutritional behavior, and physical activity) in adolescents. The results demonstrated that screen time was independently associated with alcohol consumption, bullying, and less physical activity. However, this study did not account for the mutual relation between health behaviors and only adjusted the analyses for demographic characteristics.

Screen-based sedentary behaviors have been recognized as a significant contributor to negative health indicators in various aspects of adolescents [16,29]. Physical consequences consisted of being overweight and having risk factors for cardiovascular diseases (eg, obesity, hypertension, and high-density lipoprotein dysfunction) due to a lack of physical activity and passive food consumption [16,30,31]. Adolescent screen time and skipping breakfast regularly are associated with a higher calorie intake [32]. Eating in front of a screen and not having a regular breakfast routine can lead to excessive snacking and poor food choices [33]. This results in a higher calorie intake, which can contribute to weight gain and other health problems. Furthermore, sleep quality is affected by exposure to bright and blue lights emitted by digital devices that may suppress melatonin production and cause circadian disruption [16,34]. Another mechanism that affects sleep is chronic sympathetic arousal. Psychophysiological arousal may increase due to playing video games, which leads to sympathetic dysregulation [16,34]. As a result, pre-bedtime relaxation may be impeded, which leads to delayed and shortened sleep [16,35]. At the same time, chronic sympathetic arousal is also associated with metabolic dysregulation, including lower levels of cortisol and insulin resistance [16]. Lastly, a study by French et al [36]

observed that outdoor activity stimulates the release of dopamine from the retina. This release of dopamine suppresses the development of myopia. Hence, adolescents who spend more time inside are more likely to become myopic.

Neurophysiological issues can accompany PSMU. One of these issues is a low level of support, resulting in decreased social coping, for example, less social support and attachment with family and peers [16,37,38]. This decrease in social coping comes at the expense of face-to-face contact, which in turn is strongly associated with positive well-being and life satisfaction [16,38]. All of these components together increase the risk for depression, isolation, and loneliness, and may further maintain addictive behavior [16,37]. Likewise, neuroanatomical changes may occur, including decreased impulse control and dysfunctional decision-making and emotional processing, and can involve craving behavior and maintain addictive behavior [16]. Furthermore, it is known from recent studies that several health-related behaviors have a clustered profile. These behaviors influence each other instead of acting independently on one's health [39]. This clustered profile is accompanied by a synergetic effect, which means that certain behaviors increase the likelihood of being involved in other risk behaviors [40]. Consequently, due to this covariance, the risk of disease is higher with clustered behaviors compared to nonclustered behaviors. This increase can be explained by the "Gateway" hypothesis that, on top of the health risks that come with certain risk behaviors, someone's mindset and decision-making abilities are affected by partaking in other risk-taking behaviors [39,41,42]. Empirical support for this theory has been found. For example, alcohol users are more likely to take part in smoking than nonalcohol drinkers [39,41]. Another explanatory hypothesis for the co-occurrence of risk behaviors during adolescence is the "Problem Behavior Theory," which suggests that partaking in "problem behavior" in early adolescence is enacted as a means of demonstrating maturity and independence and repudiating conventionality [42]. This theory has been empirically supported by a few studies that analyzed both common risk and protective factors for risk behaviors [42,43].

This study was strengthened by the fact that this study was conducted with nearly 100,000 adolescents in the Netherlands, using one of the largest surveys ever conducted in terms of the number of samples of epidemiological research into PSMU among adolescents [44]. Besides the large sample size, the participating schools were randomly selected nationwide. This random selection supports the assumption that this sample is representative of the entire Dutch population. Analyses were also strengthened by not only adjusting for potential confounding factors (sex, age, and socioeconomic status) but also mutually adjusting for other lifestyle factors as unhealthy behaviors cluster together [45]. A limitation of this study was that the data was collected as a cross-sectional study. For this reason, it is not possible to determine whether significant associations between PSMU and the presumed outcomes such as an unhealthy lifestyle are causal or whether adolescents with an unhealthy lifestyle are more likely to engage in PSMU; additional longitudinal data assessments with multiple measures of social media addiction are needed. Additionally, social desirability may have influenced the results, as the data was

XSL•FO RenderX

collected using a self-reported questionnaire. However, since the questionnaire was anonymous and not linked to adolescents' health records, bias due to social desirability was more likely to be diminished. Another shortcoming is the missing data about mental health. The psychiatric profile of the adolescents was not assessed in this study and could be an important factor according to recent research [46]. Therefore, it is possible that mental health problems such as depression have gone unnoticed and may have biased the outcome results, assuming that adolescents with mental issues are less likely to make healthy lifestyle choices. Furthermore, the questionnaire has not been validated. Therefore, differential misclassification could influence the results. Lastly, it can be asserted that, over the past 8 years, social media has undergone transformations that make contextual alignment between 2015 and 2023 somewhat challenging. Nevertheless, we intentionally opted to use pre-COVID-19 pandemic data due to its reduced bias. Subsequent research endeavors should aim to replicate our findings using the same methodology to validate our outcomes.

Concerns about PSMU have increased since the prevalence increased due to the COVID-19 pandemic [47-49]. Given its impact on health, it is important to develop interventions to reduce PSMU. Both pharmacotherapeutic and psychological interventions have been studied to reduce PSMU [50]. Pharmacotherapeutic interventions have mainly paid attention to dopamine regulators and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors since these medications have proven effective for other psychological conditions such as attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, substance use disorder, and obsessive-compulsive disorder [51,52]. A recent meta-analysis by Kim and Noh [53] showed that cognitive behavioral therapy, family-based interventions, and counseling programs can reduce the severity of PSMU [53]. However,

evidence on which intervention is most effective in reducing the severity of PSMU and its subsequent impact on health and health behavior is limited. Given the nearly universal accessibility of social media, public health authorities have the opportunity to disseminate messages to adolescents in an innovative way using social media to promote healthy decision-making and thereby a healthy lifestyle. Nowadays, there is considerable interest in digital interventions for behavior change that seem cost-effective [54]. Despite the wide use of some health apps or devices, only a few health apps contain evidence-based behavioral change strategies or theoretical frameworks, or are based on clinical guidelines, and most of them ignore the totality of health behaviors including PSMU [55,56]. Therefore, the validation of the effectiveness of these digital interventions requires future research to address both the challenge of PSMU as well as other health behaviors.

Social media use is currently one of the most popular activities in today's world, which has further increased after the COVID-19 pandemic, with adolescents being more likely to develop PSMU. While social media use is not inherently negative, offering several benefits such as social connection and interaction, excessive and uncontrolled social media use can be accompanied by negative health-related behaviors. This study confirmed that adolescents who are at risk of PSMU were more likely to exhibit an unhealthy lifestyle. Being at risk for PSMU was an independent risk factor for substance use, alcohol consumption, smoking, poor eating habits, and physical activity independent of the additional adjusted covariates including demographic variables and remaining lifestyle variables. To develop effective social media interventions, public health must prioritize studying the clustering of multiple health-related behaviors.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the Municipal Health Service–Medical Emergency Services Organization in the Region for providing the data used in this research.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Basisvragenlijst Gezondheidsmonitor Jeugd 2015. [DOCX File, 59 KB - pediatrics v6i1e46966 app1.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Goodyear VA, Armour KM, Wood H. Young people and their engagement with health-related social media: new perspectives. Sport Educ Soc 2018 Jan 25;24(7):673-688. [doi: 10.1080/13573322.2017.1423464] [Medline: 31814804]
- Orben A, Przybylski AK. The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. Nat Hum Behav 2019 Feb;3(2):173-182. [doi: 10.1038/s41562-018-0506-1] [Medline: 30944443]
- Orben A. Screens and social media: a narrative review of reviews and key studies. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2020 Apr;55(4):407-414. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00127-019-01825-4</u>] [Medline: <u>31925481</u>]
- 4. Montgomery SC, Donnelly M, Bhatnagar P, Carlin A, Kee F, Hunter RF. Peer social network processes and adolescent health behaviors: a systematic review. Prev Med 2020 Jan;130:105900. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105900</u>] [Medline: <u>31733224</u>]

- 5. Vannucci A, Simpson EG, Gagnon S, Ohannessian CM. Social media use and risky behaviors in adolescents: a meta-analysis. J Adolesc 2020 Feb;79:258-274. [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2020.01.014] [Medline: 32018149]
- 6. Vaterlaus JM, Patten EV, Roche C, Young JA. Gettinghealthy: the perceived influence of social media on young adult health behaviors. Comput Hum Behav 2015 Apr;45:151-157. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2014.12.013</u>]
- Telzer EH, van Hoorn J, Rogers CR, Do KT. Social influence on positive youth development: a developmental neuroscience perspective. Adv Child Dev Behav 2018;54:215-258. [doi: <u>10.1016/bs.acdb.2017.10.003</u>] [Medline: <u>29455864</u>]
- 8. O'Reilly M. Social media and adolescent mental health: the good, the bad and the ugly. J Ment Health 2020 Apr;29(2):200-206. [doi: 10.1080/09638237.2020.1714007] [Medline: 31989847]
- Stok FM, de Vet E, de Ridder DTD, de Wit JBF. The potential of peer social norms to shape food intake in adolescents and young adults: a systematic review of effects and moderators. Health Psychol Rev 2016 Sep;10(3):326-340. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2016.1155161] [Medline: 26878931]
- 10. Gonzales AL, Hancock JT. Mirror, mirror on my Facebook wall: effects of exposure to Facebook on self-esteem. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw Jan-Feb 2011;14(1-2):79-83. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2009.0411</u>] [Medline: <u>21329447</u>]
- 11. Sampasa-Kanyinga H, Chaput JP, Hamilton HA. Social media use, school connectedness, and academic performance among adolescents. J Prim Prev 2019 Apr;40(2):189-211. [doi: 10.1007/s10935-019-00543-6] [Medline: 30796583]
- 12. Shimoga SV, Erlyana E, Rebello V. Associations of social media use with physical activity and sleep adequacy among adolescents: cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jun 18;21(6):e14290. [doi: 10.2196/14290] [Medline: 31215512]
- 13. Kamal NN, Mosallem FH. Determinants of problematic internet use among El-Minia high school students, Egypt. Int J Prev Med 2013 Dec;4(12):1429-1437. [Medline: 24498499]
- 14. Wang H, Zhou X, Lu C, Wu J, Deng X, Hong L. Problematic internet use in high school students in Guangdong Province, China. PLoS ONE 2011 May 6;6(5):e19660. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0019660</u>] [Medline: <u>21573073</u>]
- 15. Hardy LL, Denney-Wilson E, Thrift AP, Okely AD, Baur LA. Screen time and metabolic risk factors among adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2010 Jul;164(7):643-649. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpediatrics.2010.88</u>] [Medline: <u>20603465</u>]
- 16. Lissak G. Adverse physiological and psychological effects of screen time on children and adolescents: literature review and case study. Environ Res 2018 Jul;164:149-157. [doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018.01.015] [Medline: 29499467]
- 17. Hancox RJ, Milne BJ, Poulton R. Association between child and adolescent television viewing and adult health: a longitudinal birth cohort study. Lancet 2004 Jul;364(9430):257-262. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16675-0] [Medline: 15262103]
- Goodyear VA, Armour KM, Wood H. The Impact of Social Media on Young People's Health and Wellbeing: Evidence, Guidelines and Actions: University of Birmingham; 2018:1-20. [doi: <u>10.4324/9781351026987</u>]
- 19. Nie NH, Hillygus DS. The impact of Internet use on sociability: time-diary findings. IT Soc 2002;1(1):1-20.
- 20. Gezondheidsmonitor Jeugd 2015. De Gezondheidsmonitors. URL: <u>www.monitorgezondheid.nl/gezondheidsmonitor-jeugd/</u> 2015 [accessed 2022-05-08]
- 21. Meerkerk GJ, Van Den Eijnden R, Vermulst AA, Garretsen HFL. The Compulsive Internet Use Scale (CIUS): some psychometric properties. Cyberpsychol Behav 2009 Feb;12(1):1-6. [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2008.0181] [Medline: 19072079]
- Van Rooij AJ, Schoenmakers TM, Vermulst AA, Van den Eijnden R, Van de Mheen D. Online video game addiction: identification of addicted adolescent gamers. Addiction 2011 Jan;106(1):205-212. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03104.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20840209</u>]
- 23. Hassan T, Alam MM, Wahab A, Hawlader MD. Prevalence and associated factors of internet addiction among young adults in Bangladesh. J Egypt Public Health Assoc 2020 Jan 29;95(1):3. [doi: <u>10.1186/s42506-019-0032-7</u>] [Medline: <u>32813097</u>]
- Vigna-Taglianti F, Brambilla R, Priotto B, Angelino R, Cuomo G, Diecidue R. Problematic internet use among high school students: prevalence, associated factors and gender differences. Psychiatry Res 2017 Nov;257:163-171. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.07.039] [Medline: 28759791]
- 25. Mihara S, Osaki Y, Nakayama H, et al. Internet use and problematic internet use among adolescents in Japan: a nationwide representative survey. Addict Behav Rep 2016 Oct 15;4:58-64. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.abrep.2016.10.001</u>] [Medline: <u>29511725</u>]
- Cheng C, Lau YC, Chan L, Luk JW. Prevalence of social media addiction across 32 nations: meta-analysis with subgroup analysis of classification schemes and cultural values. Addict Behav 2021 Jun;117:106845. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2021.106845] [Medline: <u>33550200</u>]
- Liu TC, Desai RA, Krishnan-Sarin S, Cavallo DA, Potenza MN. Problematic internet use and health in adolescents: data from a high school survey in Connecticut. J Clin Psychiatry 2011 Jun;72(6):836-845. [doi: <u>10.4088/JCP.10m06057</u>] [Medline: <u>21536002</u>]
- 28. Busch V, Manders LA, de Leeuw JRJ. Screen time associated with health behaviors and outcomes in adolescents. Am J Health Behav 2013 Nov;37(6):819-830. [doi: 10.5993/AJHB.37.6.11] [Medline: 24001631]
- 29. Musa S, Elyamani R, Dergaa I. COVID-19 and screen-based sedentary behaviour: systematic review of digital screen time and metabolic syndrome in adolescents. PLoS One 2022 Mar 21;17(3):e0265560. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0265560</u>] [Medline: <u>35312701</u>]
- Merghani A, Malhotra A, Sharma S. The U-shaped relationship between exercise and cardiac morbidity. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2016 Apr;26(3):232-240. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.tcm.2015.06.005</u>] [Medline: <u>26187713</u>]



- Mihrshahi S, Drayton BA, Bauman AE, Hardy LL. Associations between childhood overweight, obesity, abdominal obesity and obesogenic behaviors and practices in Australian homes. BMC Public Health 2017 Jul 21;18(1):44. [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4595-y] [Medline: 28732475]
- Rocha LL, Gratão LHA, Carmo AS, et al. School type, eating habits, and screen time are associated with ultra-processed food consumption among Brazilian adolescents. J Acad Nutr Diet 2021 Jun;121(6):1136-1142. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2020.12.010] [Medline: <u>33516640</u>]
- 33. Tambalis KD, Panagiotakos DB, Psarra G, Sidossis LS. Screen time and its effect on dietary habits and lifestyle among schoolchildren. Cent Eur J Public Health 2020 Dec;28(4):260-266. [doi: <u>10.21101/cejph.a6097</u>] [Medline: <u>33338361</u>]
- 34. Cheung CHM, Bedford R, Saez De Urabain IR, Karmiloff-Smith A, Smith TJ. Daily touchscreen use in infants and toddlers is associated with reduced sleep and delayed sleep onset. Sci Rep 2017 Apr 13;7:46104. [doi: 10.1038/srep46104] [Medline: 28406474]
- 35. Magee CA, Lee JK, Vella SA. Bidirectional relationships between sleep duration and screen time in early childhood. JAMA Pediatr 2014 May;168(5):465-470. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.4183] [Medline: 24589672]
- 36. French AN, Ashby RS, Morgan IG, Rose KA. Time outdoors and the prevention of myopia. Exp Eye Res 2013 Sep;114:58-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2013.04.018] [Medline: 23644222]
- Schou Andreassen C, Billieux J, Griffiths MD, et al. The relationship between addictive use of social media and video games and symptoms of psychiatric disorders: a large-scale cross-sectional study. Psychol Addict Behav 2016 Mar;30(2):252-262. [doi: 10.1037/adb0000160] [Medline: 26999354]
- 38. Pea R, Nass C, Meheula L, et al. Media use, face-to-face communication, media multitasking, and social well-being among 8- to 12-year-old girls. Dev Psychol 2012 Mar;48(2):327-336. [doi: 10.1037/a0027030] [Medline: 22268607]
- Busch V, Van Stel HF, Schrijvers AJP, de Leeuw JRJ. Clustering of health-related behaviors, health outcomes and demographics in Dutch adolescents: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2013 Dec 4;13:1118. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1118] [Medline: 24305509]
- 40. Pronk NP, Anderson LH, Crain AL, et al. Meeting recommendations for multiple healthy lifestyle factors. prevalence, clustering, and predictors among adolescent, adult, and senior health plan members. Am J Prev Med 2004 Aug;27(2 Suppl):25-33. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2004.04.022] [Medline: 15275671]
- 41. Huang DYC, Lanza HI, Murphy DA, Hser YI. Parallel development of risk behaviors in adolescence: potential pathways to co-occurrence. Int J Behav Dev 2012 Jul 1;36(4):247-257. [doi: 10.1177/0165025412442870] [Medline: 24482550]
- 42. Hale DR, Viner RM. The correlates and course of multiple health risk behaviour in adolescence. BMC Public Health 2016 May 31;16:458. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12889-016-3120-z</u>] [Medline: <u>27246600</u>]
- 43. Jackson C, Sweeting H, Haw S. Clustering of substance use and sexual risk behaviour in adolescence: analysis of two cohort studies. BMJ Open 2012 Feb 8;2(1):e000661. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000661] [Medline: 22318665]
- 44. Kuss DJ, Griffiths MD, Karila L, Billieux J. Internet addiction: a systematic review of epidemiological research for the last decade. Curr Pharm Des 2014;20(25):4026-4052. [doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990617] [Medline: 24001297]
- 45. Geraets AFJ, Heinz A. The associations of dietary habits with health, well-being, and behavior in adolescents: a cluster analysis. Child Care Health Dev 2023 May;49(3):497-507. [doi: 10.1111/cch.13064] [Medline: 36207786]
- 46. Orben A, Przybylski AK, Blakemore SJ, Kievit RA. Windows of developmental sensitivity to social media. Nat Commun 2022 Mar 28;13(1):1649. [doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-29296-3] [Medline: 35347142]
- 47. Oka T, Hamamura T, Miyake Y, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of internet gaming disorder and problematic internet use before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a large online survey of Japanese adults. J Psychiatr Res 2021 Oct;142:218-225. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.07.054] [Medline: 34385071]
- 48. Islam MS, Sujan MSH, Tasnim R, et al. Problematic internet use among young and adult population in Bangladesh: correlates with lifestyle and online activities during the COVID-19 pandemic. Addict Behav Rep 2020 Nov 5;12:100311. [doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2020.100311] [Medline: 33364319]
- Nilsson A, Rosendahl I, Jayaram-Lindström N. Gaming and social media use among adolescents in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. Nordisk Alkohol Nark 2022 Aug;39(4):347-361. [doi: <u>10.1177/14550725221074997</u>] [Medline: <u>35999947</u>]
- 50. Kuss DJ, Lopez-Fernandez O. Internet addiction and problematic internet use: a systematic review of clinical research. World J Psychiatry 2016 Mar 22;6(1):143-176. [doi: <u>10.5498/wjp.v6.i1.143</u>] [Medline: <u>27014605</u>]
- Zajac K, Ginley MK, Chang R, Petry NM. Treatments for internet gaming disorder and internet addiction: a systematic review. Psychol Addict Behav 2017 Dec;31(8):979-994. [doi: <u>10.1037/adb0000315</u>] [Medline: <u>28921996</u>]
- 52. Saquib J. Internet addiction among Saudi Arabian youth. Int J Health Sci (Qassim) Mar-Apr 2020;14(2):1-2. [Medline: 32206053]
- 53. Kim S, Noh D. The current status of psychological intervention research for internet addiction and internet gaming disorder. Issues Ment Health Nurs 2019 Apr;40(4):335-341. [doi: <u>10.1080/01612840.2018.1534910</u>] [Medline: <u>30742546</u>]
- Rose T, Barker M, Maria Jacob C, et al. A systematic review of digital interventions for improving the diet and physical activity behaviors of adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2017 Dec;61(6):669-677. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.05.024</u>] [Medline: <u>28822682</u>]

- 55. Arigo D, Jake-Schoffman DE, Wolin K, Beckjord E, Hekler EB, Pagoto SL. The history and future of digital health in the field of behavioral medicine. J Behav Med 2019 Feb;42(1):67-83. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-018-9966-z] [Medline: 30825090]
- 56. Nikolaou CK, Lean MEJ. Mobile applications for obesity and weight management: current market characteristics. Int J Obes (Lond) 2017 Jan;41(1):200-202. [doi: <u>10.1038/ijo.2016.186</u>] [Medline: <u>27780974</u>]

#### Abbreviations

**OR:** odds ratio **PSMU:** problematic social media use

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 03.03.23; peer-reviewed by D Lambert, N Esfandiari; revised version received 27.10.23; accepted 01.11.23; published 28.12.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ardesch FH, van der Vegt DD, Kiefte-de Jong JC Problematic Social Media Use and Lifestyle Behaviors in Adolescents: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46966 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46966</u> doi:<u>10.2196/46966</u>

© Frank Hendrik Ardesch, Denise Dorothy van der Vegt, Jessica Christina Kiefte-de Jong. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Parents' Use of Social Media for Health Information Before and After a Consultation With Health Care Professionals: Australian Cross-Sectional Study

Erika Frey<sup>1</sup>, BMedSci, MPharm; Catriona Bonfiglioli<sup>2</sup>, BA, PhD; Jane Frawley<sup>1</sup>, BHSc, MClinSc, PhD

**Corresponding Author:** Erika Frey, BMedSci, MPharm

## Abstract

2

**Background:** Social media is a crucial source of health information for many parents due to its integration into modern life, raising critical concerns for public health. Parents use various social media platforms to find health information for their children, with most information created and shared by parents with no medical or health training. The extent to which parents seek health information from social media before and after a consultation and their motivations for doing so remain underresearched.

**Objective:** This study aimed to investigate Australian parents' use of social media for health information for their children, aged between 6 months and 5 years, before and after consulting with health care professionals.

**Methods:** A representative cross-sectional survey of 1000 Australian parents with children aged 6 months to 5 years was conducted between November and December 2021. Data were cleaned and analyzed using IBM SPSS software. The primary outcomes were (1) parental motivation and prevalence of social media use for health information and (2) parental motivation for using social media before and after a consultation with their child's health care professional.

**Results:** Of the 1000 parents surveyed, 82.2% (n=822) reported using social media for health information for their child. Parents were more likely to consult social media before and after a health consultation if they were aged 30-39 or  $\geq$ 50 years and born in Australia. Parents with higher levels of education were less likely to consult social media. Parents were motivated to seek health information before a consultation for a variety of reasons, including exchanging opinions and experiences (639/767, 83.3%), having information that is available 24/7 (622/767, 81.1%), receiving emotional support (599/767, 78.1%), having previous positive experiences (597/767, 77.8%), and having friends and family that use social media for health information (577/767, 75.2%). Parents sought information after a consultation to connect with parents with similar experiences (546/794, 68.8%), seek a second opinion (505/794, 63.6%), fact-check information provided by their health care professional (483/794, 60.8%), and look for other treatment options (353/794, 44.5%).

**Conclusion:** Using social media for child health information is part of the modern parenting experience. It can be challenging to discern the quality of health information on social media, leaving parents open to incorrect information and misinformation. Although access to immediate social support is a welcomed feature of social media, receiving incorrect health information can have unwanted consequences for the child, family, health provider, and wider community. The upskilling of parental health literacy to navigate the unique health literacy challenges that social media brings, alongside the creation and delivery of accessible, evidence-based information in varying formats, is urgently required. The provision of this information is the responsibility of every level of the health system, not just the treating health care professional.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48012) doi:10.2196/48012

#### KEYWORDS

social media; information seeking behavior; parenting; child; infant; health literacy; patient education; digital platform; information; health information; public health

## Introduction

Social media platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Pinterest, and YouTube are key resources for parents seeking health information for their children [1-4]. The convenience and opportunity to meet like-minded parents has made social media central to modern parenting. In contrast to traditional

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48012

health information accessed via books, internet web pages, or health care professionals, social media gives access to immediate health information from like-minded people, which is more likely to be ideologically aligned than evidence based. This democratization of health information risks downstream impacts including abstinence from formal health care [4], delay in seeking necessary health care [5], and the choice of

non-evidence-based treatments [6], all of which impact health outcomes for children.

More broadly, the use of social media by parents has implications for health care professionals and public health. Although traditionally, health care professionals were one of the limited sources for health information that parents could find, health information can now be sourced almost instantaneously. This has direct impacts on how health care professionals provide care to their pediatric patients, with parents being able to actively seek out alternative information that may contradict or challenge the evidence-based information and treatment options that are being offered to them and their child during consultations [7,8]. Poor quality information from non-evidence-based sources has impacts on the community more broadly, with misinformation spread in the community setting by way of stories based on lived experience or rumor being exchanged between parents. Research has shown that misinformation can impact parents' health decisions [9], for example, decisions about infectious disease and childhood immunization. Finally, when delayed evidence-based health care is eventually sought by parents, it is the health system that needs to provide it. This may result in more intense and resource-heavy care for the child [10].

Parents need to have a more diverse and honed set of health literacy skills when using social media for health information than previously required. This is due to the available health information being authored, compiled, or shared by parents that have little to no health expertise, making it almost certain to have a subjective bias to some degree. However, it is also because of this very fact that parents are seeking health information on social media-to gain insights from the lived experience of other parents further ahead on the same health journey that they have found themselves on. The skills needed to navigate social media health information sources include being able to discern quality evidence-based information from that of opinion [1] and politically or emotionally driven information [6]; tracing information to its source to determine context and relevance [11]; having the numeracy skills to be able to discern relative and absolute risk [9]; as well as being able to manage the sheer amount of information that is available [12], all of which is vying for the parent's attention. In addition, parents need to have sophisticated social skills to be able to access some forms of health information, especially that of lived experience from other parents, where potentially complex interpersonal and group dynamics [13] can complicate access.

A variety of intrinsic and extrinsic factors have been found to motivate parents' use of social media for health information. Intrinsic motivations include an increased sense of empowerment [6,14], self-efficacy, and self-determination and feeling more educated about the condition of concern [15,16]. Extrinsic motivators include being able to socialize [17] with like-minded people [18] to exchange support and advice [14,17,19], being offered reassurance and validation for health decisions [20], normalizing the challenges experienced [21], and having a sense of safety and privacy [18].

Three studies to date have provided evidence that parents use social media for health information before and after a diagnosis

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48012
```

because they are medically underserved [14], want to use alternative health care [6], lack information that aligns with their health goals for their child [18], or lack appropriate information from health care professionals [18]. These studies focus on niche groups (those who are vaccine hesitant, infants with severe combined immunodeficiency, and mothers who exclusively express and bottle-feed) [4,14,18]. Social media's utility has been demonstrated within these niche groups. However, considering social media's ubiquity and fast pace of adoption and integration into people's lives on a population level, we sought to understand how prevalent parents' use of social media for health information before and after a health consultation is, alongside the reasons that parents use social media for health information. This representative study investigated the use of social media for health information among Australian parents, before and after consulting with health care professionals.

#### Methods

#### Study Design

A national quantitative cross-sectional survey was conducted between November and December 2021 among Australian parents of children aged 6 months to 5 years. For this study, "parent" was defined as anyone that was a biological parent, adoptive parent, or court-appointed guardian or caregiver of a child aged between 6 months and 5 years.

#### Variables

A 47-item survey developed from previously validated tools combined multiple-choice questions with optional open-text fields and Likert scales [22,23]. The first section explored parents' use of social media, the information sought, and motivations for using social media for child health information. The next section asked parents about their motivations for using social media before consulting with a health care professional. The final section asked parents their motivations for using social media for health information after consulting with a health care professional. Demographic data were collected.

A web-based research company (Quality Online Research [QOR]) was engaged to recruit parents from their web-based panel of preregistered participants and to administer the survey. Parents were recruited by way of a single-use email link, preventing multiple responses from a single participant. Eligibility criteria included being an Australian citizen or permanent resident who is caring for a child aged 6 months to 5 years. The company identified the participants by the demographic information that the participants provided when they joined the panel in preparation for survey opportunities. For our study, this was guided by our inclusion criteria. Exclusion criteria were limited command of the English language and not having an active social media account.

Due to the large and unknown population of parents of children aged 6 months to 5 years, a sample size of 1000 was chosen to give a CI of 3.1. Stratification parameters of the Australian 2016 census [24] ensured that the sample was representative of Australian states and territories and gender demographics. Parents were offered a small incentive (about Aus \$2.80 [US

XSL•FO RenderX

\$1.80]) to participate. The survey was refined with 2 rounds of corrections during the prepilot phase to ensure skip steps and question formatting were done correctly. The survey was pilot-tested among 122 parents, with responses checked by researchers for quality before being formally launched in the field. Fieldwork took 16 days (November to December 2021) to gather a total of 1000 eligible completed surveys (including the pilot test) from parents. The survey was kept at arm's length from the researchers and was administered by QOR, with the data being cleaned and anonymized by QOR before being transferred to the researchers for analysis. The cleaned data were checked for quality control by researchers before commencing statistical analysis.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Participants were presented with a participant information sheet (PIS) as the first screen after opening the email link from QOR. This PIS informed participants about the project, why they have been invited (inclusion criteria), what their participation will involve, and the risks and inconvenience they can expect. They were also made aware that their participation was entirely voluntary and that there would be no penalty for their withdrawal at any point during the survey. Participants indicated their consent by commencing the survey after reading the PIS. As the data were being collected by a third-party research company, the researchers were not, at any point, exposed to any identifying information. Participants were given direct contact information for both the Ethics Secretariat and the lead investigator, if they required further information or follow-up. There was a consent form that outlined the main points highlighted in the PIS, which participants were able to click out of if they wished to discontinue or click forward to continue with the survey. Discontinuing their participation in the survey (returning an incomplete survey) was counted as a withdrawal, with the data being excluded from the final analysis. Ethics approval was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee at the University of Technology Sydney (UTS HREC ETH21-6598). This report is guided by the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) statement [25] for cross-sectional studies with

supplementary guidance from the Consensus-Based Checklist for Reporting of Survey Studies [26].

#### Analysis

Data were imported to IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac (version 28; IBM Corp) [27] for analysis. Descriptive statistics were calculated for sociodemographic data and parental use of social media.  $X^2$  tests of association were conducted to determine which aspects of parent motivation were statistically significant. Logistic regression was used to determine the significant predictors of social media use for health information before or after a consultation with a health care professional. Covariates with P < .25 were entered into the model, as well as Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (The Index of Relative Socio-economic Advantage and Disadvantage) [28] codes corresponding to postcodes. Statistical significance was set at P < .05 to produce the most parsimonious model. There were some missing data (26/1026, 2.5%), possibly either due to participant error when entering their postcode or circumventing the requirement to answer before proceeding to the next question.

### Results

Of the 1563 parents who opened the survey link in QOR's email invitation, 1026 (65.6%) completed the survey. In all, 26 surveys were deemed ineligible for analysis upon further data cleaning, leaving 1000 surveys for analysis, indicating a 64% (1000/1563) completion rate. Of the 1000 Australian parents surveyed, 57.5% (n=575) identified as female, 41.3% (n=413) identified as male, 0.8% (n=8) identified as nonbinary, and 0.4% (n=4) preferred not to say. Only 9.4% (n=94) of parents were not born in Australia (Table 1). Australian-born participants were found to be statistically more likely to use social media for their children's health than non-Australian-born participants (P=.009). Variations by gender (P=.59); marriage status (P=.64); location by state (P=.71); language spoken at home (P=.69); and metro, rural, or remote location (P=.50) were not statistically significant. Covariates with P<.25 were imported into a logistic regression for further analysis.



Table . Participant characteristics.

Characteristics		Total (n=1000), n (%)	Use social media (n=822), n (%) <sup>a</sup>	Do not use social me- dia (n=178), n (%) <sup>a</sup>	<i>P</i> value
Gender		•	•		.59
	Male	413 (41.3)	340 (82.3)	73 (17.7)	
	Female	575 (57.5)	471 (81.9)	104 (18.1)	
	Nonbinary	8 (0.8)	8 (100)	0 (0)	
	Prefer not to say	4 (0.4)	3 (75)	1 (25)	
Age group (years)					.12
	18-29	308 (30.8)	255 (82.8)	53 (17.2)	
	30-39	412 (41.2)	343 (83.3)	69 (16.7)	
	40-49	235 (23.5)	193 (82.1)	42 (17.9)	
	≥50	45 (4.5)	31 (68.9)	14 (31.1)	
Location (by state or t	territory)				.71
	New South Wales	322 (32.2)	268 (83.2)	54 (16.8)	
	Australian Capital Ter- ritory	13 (1.3)	10 (76.9)	3 (23.1)	
	Queensland	205 (20.5)	174 (84.9)	31 (15.1)	
	Victoria	269 (26.9)	214 (79.6)	55 (20.4)	
	South Australia	75 (7.5)	59 (78.7)	16 (21.3)	
	Tasmania	29 (2.9)	25 (86.2)	4 (13.8)	
	Northern Territory	4 (0.4)	4 (100)	0 (0)	
	Western Australia	83 (8.3)	68 (81.9)	15 (18.1)	
Education					.05
	High school	273 (27.3)	219 (80.2)	54 (19.8)	
	Trade qualification <sup>b</sup>	193 (19.3)	150 (77.7)	43 (22.3)	
	University qualifica- tion	534 (53.4)	453 (84.8)	81 (15.2)	
Marital status					.64
	Never married	207 (20.7)	169 (81.6)	38 (18.4)	
	Married or de facto marriage	754 (75.4)	623 (82.6)	131 (17.4)	
	Separated, divorced, or widowed	39 (3.9)	30 (76.9)	9 (23.1)	
Country of birth					.009
	Australia	906 (90.6)	754 (83.2)	152 (16.8)	
	Outside of Australia	94 (9.4)	68 (72.3)	26 (27.7)	
Language spoken at h	ome				.69
	English	955 (95.5)	786 (82.3)	169 (17.7)	
	Other	45 (4.5)	36 (80)	9 (20)	
SEIFA <sup>c</sup> (n=974 valid r	responses)				.18
	Q1 (highest)	213 (21.3)	179 (84)	34 (16)	
	Q2	218 (21.8)	178 (81.7)	40 (18.3)	
	Q3	217 (21.7)	168 (77.4)	49 (22.6)	
	Q4 (lowest)	326 (32.6)	275 (84.4)	51 (15.6)	



XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e48012 | p.232 (page number not for citation purposes)

Characteristics	Total (n=1000), n (%)	Use social media (n=822), n (%) <sup>a</sup>	Do not use social me- dia (n=178), n (%) <sup>a</sup>	<i>P</i> value
First child	769 (76.9)	623 (81)	146 (19)	.07
Metro	601 (60.1)	498 (82.9)	103 (17.1)	.50

<sup>a</sup>Percentages reflect the proportion of each subgroup (ie, the denominator is the n value in the Total column).

<sup>b</sup>Apprenticeship or other training to become a tradesperson.

<sup>c</sup>SEIFA: Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (The Index of Relative Socio-economic Advantage and Disadvantage) [28].

A majority (822/1000, 82.2%) of parents used social media for information about their child's general health and well-being. Parents were asked about their general motivations for using social media for health information (Table 2), before and after consulting a health care professional. Health care consultations were not defined beyond "visited the health care professional of your choice" to include any clinic or hospital visit. Parents' use of social media for health information before a consultation was motivated by the ability to exchange opinions and experiences with other parents (639/767, 83.3%; P=.002), the information being available 24/7 (622/767, 81.1%; P<.001), receiving emotional support from other parents (599/767, 78.1%; P=.002), positive previous experiences using social media for health information (597/767, 77.8%; P<.001), having friends and family use social media for health information (577/767, 75.2%; P<.001), and the information being up to date (518/767, 67.5%; P<.001). Parents' motivations for using social media after a consultation were similar, with the addition of anonymity while seeking health information (543/749, 72.5%; P=.009).

Table . Australian parents' sentiments about using social media for health information.

Sentiment		Total (n=822), n (%) <sup>a</sup>	Use social med HCP <sup>b</sup> visit, n ( <sup>6</sup>	lia before an %) <sup>a</sup>	P value	Use social med visit, n (%) <sup>a</sup>	lia after an HCP	P value
			Yes (n=767)	No (n=55)		Yes (n=749)	No (n=73)	
The information	on is available 2	4/7			<.001			.008
	Agree	652 (79.3)	622 (81.1)	30 (54.5)		598 (79.8)	54 (74)	
	Neutral	113 (13.7)	96 (12.5)	17 (30.9)		98 (13.1)	15 (20.5)	
	Disagree	57 (6.9)	49 (6.4)	8 (14.5)		53 (7.1)	4 (5.5)	
The information	on is up to date				<.001			<.001
	Agree	540 (65.7)	518 (67.5)	22 (40)		512 (68.4)	28 (38.4)	
	Neutral	213 (25.9)	189 (24.6)	24 (43.6)		174 (23.2)	39 (53.4)	
	Disagree	69 (8.4)	60 (7.8)	9 (16.4)		63 (8.4)	6 (8.2)	
I can retain m	y anonymity (pe	ople don't know	v who I am)		.10			.009
	Agree	583 (70.9)	551 (71.8)	32 (58.2)		543 (72.5)	40 (54.8)	
	Neutral	168 (20.4)	150 (19.6)	18 (32.7)		142 (19)	26 (35.6)	
	Disagree	71 (8.6)	66 (8.6)	5 (9.1)		64 (8.5)	7 (9.6)	
I have had goo	od experiences w	vith it			<.001			<.001
	Agree	624 (75.9)	597 (77.8)	27 (49.1)		583 (77.8)	41 (56.2)	
	Neutral	168 (20.4)	142 (18.5)	26 (47.3)		136 (18.2)	32 (43.8)	
	Disagree	30 (3.6)	28 (3.7)	2 (3.6)		30 (4)	0 (0)	
My friends an	d family use the	m as well			<.001			<.001
	Agree	603 (73.4)	577 (75.2)	26 (47.3)		565 (75.4)	38 (52.1)	
	Neutral	160 (19.5)	136 (17.7)	24 (43.6)		135 (18)	25 (34.2)	
	Disagree	59 (7.2)	54 (7)	5 (9.1)		49 (6.5)	10 (13.7)	
It's a place wh	ere I can exchan	ge opinions and	experiences wit	h other parents	.002			<.001
	Agree	678 (82.5)	639 (83.3)	39 (70.9)		624 (83.3)	54 (74)	
	Neutral	119 (14.5)	106 (13.8)	13 (23.6)		105 (14)	14 (19.2)	
	Disagree	25 (3)	22 (2.9)	3 (5.5)		20 (2.7)	5 (6.8)	
To receive emo	otional support	from other pare	nts		.002			.007
	Agree	633 (77)	599 (78.1)	34 (61.8)		584 (78)	49 (67.1)	
	Neutral	142 (17.3)	122 (15.9)	20 (36.4)		122 (16.3)	20 (27.4)	
	Disagree	47 (5.7)	46 (6)	1 (1.8)		43 (5.7)	4 (5.5)	

<sup>a</sup>Some percentages may not sum to 100% due to rounding.

<sup>b</sup>HCP: health care professional.

When asked which statements were true of their use of social media for health information, parents' responses varied (Table 3). A total of 60% (503/838) of parents sought general information about a condition of concern for their child on social media. Parents used social media to determine if medical attention was required (363/838, 43.3%) and seek information

about alternative treatments such as natural remedies (350/838, 41.8%) and other medical treatments (293/838, 35%) for the condition of concern. When seeking general health information, parents were the least likely to use social media for information about self-management strategies (292/838, 34.8%).

Table . Parental motivations for using social media for children's health information.

Motivations for using social media		Yes <sup>a</sup> , n (%)
Children's health information in general (n=83	38)	
	To seek general information about the health problem or illness	503 (60)
	To determine if medical attention was required	363 (43.3)
	To seek information about alternative treatments for the health problem or illness	350 (41.8)
	To seek information about possible medical treatments for the health problem or illness	293 (35)
	To seek information about self-management strategies	292 (34.8)
Health information before a health care profes	sional visit (n=823)	
	To seek general information about the health problem or illness	510 (62)
	To determine if medical attention was required	425 (51.6)
	To seek information about alternative treatments for the health problem or illness	351 (42.6)
	To seek information about possible medical treatments for the health problem or illness	326 (39.6)
	To seek information about medications	325 (39.5)
Health information after a health care professi	ional visit (n=794)	
	To find examples of lived experience	546 (68.8)
	I wanted a second opinion	505 (63.6)
	To check the information I received at the doctor's office	483 (60.8)
	To seek further information about the health problem or illness	453 (57.1)
	To determine if further medical attention was required	373 (47)
	I did not receive enough information at the doctor's office or clinic	364 (45.8)
	The information from the doctor's office was unclear	357 (45)
	To seek information about alternative treatments for the health problem or illness	353 (44.5)
	To seek information about possible medical treatments for the health problem or illness	314 (39.5)
	To seek information about medications	291 (36.6)

<sup>a</sup>Parents were asked to check all that applied.

When parents were asked about seeking information on social media before a consultation, most (510/823, 62%) looked for information about the health condition. About half (425/823, 51.6%) sought to determine if medical attention was required. Alternative treatments (351/823, 42.6%) were sought also, with 39.5% (326/823) of parents seeking information about (other) possible medical treatments.

When parents were asked about their motivations for using social media for health information after visiting a health care professional, 68.8% (546/794) stated they did so because they wanted to find examples of lived experience. Parents also

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48012

RenderX

wanted a second opinion (505/794, 63.6%), to check the information provided during the consultation (483/794, 60.8%), or to seek further information about the health condition (453/794, 57.1%). Just under half of all parents who used social media after a consultation did so to determine if further medical attention was required (373/794, 47%), having felt that they did not receive enough information from their health care professional (364/794, 45.8%), or that the information they were given was unclear (357/794, 45%). Other reasons included wanting to seek alternative treatments (353/794, 44.5%), information about possible medical treatments for the condition

(314/794, 39.5%), or information about medications (291/794, 36.6%).

The results of the logistic regression conducted (Table 4) show that Australian-born parents were more likely to use social media for health information for their children both before (odds ratio [OR] 2.545, 95% CI 1.521-4.259) and after a health consultation (OR 2.045, 95% CI 1.228-3.407) than those born outside of Australia. Parents aged 30-39 years were the most likely to use social media before (OR 3.212, 95% CI 1.475-6.996) and after a consultation (OR 3.799, 95% CI 1.821-7.926) when compared to the reference group of parents aged 18-29 years. Parents aged  $\geq$ 50 years were also more likely

to use social media before (OR 2.324, 95% CI 1.066-5.068) and after a consultation (OR 3.428, 95% CI 1.625-7.233) than parents aged 18-29 years.

Education was a significant predictor for social media use among parents before and after a consultation. Parents with university (OR 0.513, 95% CI 0.332-0.794) or trade qualifications (OR 0.535, 95% CI 0.352-0.814) were less likely to consult social media before a consultation than parents with high school qualifications. Parents with a university (OR 0.515, 95% CI 0.319-0.719) or trade qualification (OR 0.631, 95% CI 0.395-0.882) were also less likely to use social media for health information after a health consultation.

Table .	Predictors f	for parental use of	f social media	before and	after a consultation	on with a healt	h care	professional.
---------	--------------	---------------------	----------------	------------	----------------------	-----------------	--------	---------------

Predictor		Use social media before consultation		Use social media after consultation	
		OR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value
SEIFA <sup>b</sup> , c					
	Q1 (highest)	Reference		Reference	
	Q2	1.666 (1.027-2.700)	.04	1.270 (0.796-2.027)	.32
	Q3	0.795 (0.519-1.335)	.45	0.685 (0.429-1.093)	.11
	Q4 (lowest)	1.252 (0.776-2.086)	.34	0.885 (0.551-1.423)	.62
Age group (years	5)				
	18-29	Reference		Reference	
	30-39	3.212 (1.475-6.996)	.003	3.799 (1.821-7.926)	<.001
	40-49	1.918 (0.917-4.010)	.08	1.818 (0.912-3.626)	.09
	≥50	2.324 (1.066-5.068)	.03	3.428 (1.625-7.233)	<.001
Country of birth					
	Outside of Aus- tralia	Reference		Reference	
	Australia	2.545 (1.521-4.259)	<.001	2.045 (1.228-3.407)	.006
Education					
	High school	Reference		Reference	
	Trade qualifica- tion	0.535 (0.352-0.814)	.003	0.631 (0.395-0.882)	.01
	University quali- fication	0.513 (0.332-0.794)	.003	0.515 (0.319-0.719)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>OR: odds ratio.

<sup>b</sup>SEIFA: Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (The Index of Relative Socio-economic Advantage and Disadvantage) [28].

<sup>c</sup>974 responses included.

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The Australian parents most likely to use social media for health information before and after a consultation were aged 30-39 years (Generation Y or millennials) and born in Australia. Reasons for this could include that because Generation Y or millennials, as digital natives, have their parenting experience colored by their everyday use of social media, digital health information and traditional health information are seamlessly intertwined [29]. Parents with university education were found to be the least likely to use social media for health information before or after a health consultation, which is consistent with other studies [2]. This may reflect literacy or health literacy confidence. Parents who have higher levels of education may be more confident to seek health information, resulting in being able to ask pertinent questions and better understand the health information received during a health consultation. This allows the parent to leave the health consultation feeling satisfied with the information they have received [30].

Previous studies have sought to understand why parents use social media for general health information. Reasons have

included social media's information immediacy [20]; timely access despite geographical [21] or logistical [15] barriers; detailed, customized, and relevant information [20]; and perceived trustworthiness [31]. Parents view social media as being unbiased [20], aligning with their personal perspectives [21] and values [32], and providing insights to lived experience not available elsewhere [19,21].

Although parents' use of social media before a health consultation is often to seek information about a health issue or to determine if treatment is needed, some of the reasons why parents may use social media for health information after a consultation raise questions about communication and health literacy. Almost half of all Australian adults read at a low level [33] and 60% have low levels of health literacy [34], with both of these factors potentially creating barriers to parents' understanding of traditional health information. Social media health information is multimodal, combining personal stories, conversational text, videos, infographics [35], subtitles, and other design features that make it more inclusive for those with varying literacy levels [36]. The interactive and conversational nature of social media makes information more accessible, making it a preferable source for some parents [32]. Our nationally representative study shows that this is not only the experience of parents who are part of specific niche groups, as shown in the extant literature [14,16,18,19], but is true of the wider parenting experience.

Health information goes beyond the evidence-based information provided by health care professionals in consultations [2]. Parents seek emotional support [2] on social media and insights into how the health journey will impact their child, themselves, and their wider orbit. This information (which is often practical [32]) from other parents with lived experience is highly valued and sought after, allowing parents to feel more empowered and socially supported [37], thus increasing self-efficacy [16,38]. The democratized sharing of stories of lived experience is a unique feature of social media, which is also a strong motivator for parents who use social media for health information. Stories of lived experience allow parents to see what might lie ahead for their health journey, providing reassurance while also allowing them to allay uncertainties. It also allows parents to get health information beyond the clinical data, with practical tips and help to navigate the health system. Although these are only a few examples of information sought by parents based on lived experience, the power of stories for health communication has been long established. A scoping review by Dudley et al [39] found that narratives are appealing to audiences, stimulate emotions, make it easier to understand health and science information, improve the memory of information, and capture attention through suspense. Stories also "enable people to make sense of themselves, others, relationships, responsibilities, life changing circumstances, uncertainties, their social world, and possible futures" [40], all of which are heightened at emotionally vulnerable times such as when a child is unwell. Stories also make the parent more open to the messaging held within a story, whether that be evidence based or not, which is where social media starts to reveal its complexity as a health information source. Although stories on social media make health information easier for parents to understand, the use of social

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48012

XSL•FO

media for health information brings with it health literacy challenges unique to social media. For example, when using social media to seek health information, parents need to be able distinguish evidence-based health information from to low-quality information, a lot of which is delivered by stories, within conversations, or as part of a social information exchange. This requires a parent to be able to navigate the dynamic social context they are currently in; use high-level health literacy skills; and if required, research context and the original source of information, all simultaneously in real time. Rarely, if at all, has this combination of skills been required previously of parents when seeking health information, let alone at the level of sophistication that is often required by social media. As a result, the lack of the unique health literacy skills as required by social media often results in parents being ill-equipped to navigate the health information available on social media.

For health care professionals, it may be of value to consider how to integrate better provision of accessible evidence-based health information to parents [41] into their practice. By accepting the use of social media for health information as the "new normal," clinicians can also facilitate frank conversations with parents [42] about reliable web-based information sources and offer high-quality information in more accessible forms, such as referring patients to videos formatted for viewing on mobile phones and social media content known to be evidence based or facilitating live question and answer sessions on Instagram or TikTok.

Finally, the impacts of using social media for health information will inevitably seep into other aspects of the health system, including public health. This can perhaps be seen most clearly with preventable childhood infectious diseases. With parents independently accessing non–evidence-based, emotively laden, and politically motivated health information [41], primary prevention gains may be lost (whether it be lowered rates of disease or the elimination of disease) with an increase in outbreaks of diseases, as seen overseas [43] such as the Disneyland measles outbreak in 2014 [8]. This led to public health units needing to invest in health promotion resources to highlight the importance of vaccination and fund programs to boost vaccination coverage to sustain herd immunity.

The scarcity of accessible evidence-based health information that meets parents' information needs leaves parents vulnerable to finding low-quality health information when they turn to social media. Inclusive, accessible, and evidence-based health information urgently needs to be more readily available at all levels, from public health units down to in-consultation resources for health care professionals to guide conversations, as well as postconsultation resources for parents to take home. This will allow parents to consider evidence-based information in their own time, improve patient education, and reduce the reliance on non–evidence-based health information found on social media [44].

#### Limitations

Inherent with any cross-sectional study design, responder bias is a confounding factor. Although measures were taken to limit the impact of responder bias, including having very broad inclusion criteria not related to the survey questions, as well as

the stratification of data to the Australian Bureau of Statistics 2016 census data, the fact that the participants were from the research company's preselected panel is a limitation.

Second, this survey required proficiency in English. Although the participants were stratified to be representative of the broader Australian population, not providing the survey in multiple languages limits representativeness in a multicultural society.

Third, the inclusion criteria stipulated that only parents with a social media account were to be included in this study. To access this survey, parents had to be able to access an internet connection; as such, we did not ask about their access to the internet as infrastructure was outside the scope of this study. This, however, did limit the study to only include those that have access to both the internet and social media.

Lastly, although cross-sectional studies cannot demonstrate causation, this study establishes a baseline for further research in this emerging area, which has substantial implications for clinical practice.

#### Conclusion

With many Australian adults having low levels of health literacy, and almost half of all parents who used social media after a consultation reporting that the information from their health care professional was unclear, how evidence-based health information is delivered needs to be reconsidered to meet parents at their health literacy level. This could include resources that take a similar form to those found on social media that parents are already engaging with, such as those that are simplified, graphic, or video based. Public health units and, more broadly, the health system can support clinicians with their education of parents by providing inclusive health promotion communications and resources that are reliable and evidence based and meet parents at their health literacy level. Parents of patients could then be directed to quality resources, leading to health decisions that are informed and supported by evidence-based health information.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the Gadigal people of the Eora Nation upon whose ancestral lands our university now stands. We would also like to pay respect to the Elders both past and present, acknowledging them as the traditional custodians of knowledge for these lands. We would also like to thank Professor Andrew Hayen for his guidance and assistance with the statistics for this manuscript. This study was able to be conducted with the following financial support: financial support from the University of Technology Sydney and National Health and Medical Research Council funding.

#### **Data Availability**

The data sets generated and/or analyzed during this study are not publicly available, as there are further reports to be published by the authors. The data will be available from the corresponding author after all reports from the data set have been completed and published.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Bryan MA, Evans Y, Morishita C, Midamba N, Moreno M. Parental perceptions of the internet and social media as a source of pediatric health information. Acad Pediatr 2020;20(1):31-38. [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2019.09.009] [Medline: 31648059]
- 2. Frey E, Bonfiglioli C, Brunner M, Frawley J. Parents' use of social media as a health information source for their children: a scoping review. Acad Pediatr 2022;22(4):526-539. [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2021.12.006] [Medline: 34906742]
- Adekunle AA, James O, Adeyemo WL. Health information seeking through social media and search engines by parents of children with orofacial cleft in Nigeria. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2020 Apr;57(4):444-447. [doi: 10.1177/1055665619884447] [Medline: <u>31665894</u>]
- 4. Thorpe M, Taylor J, Cole R. Parents' use of information accessed through social media to make immunisation decisions for their young children. Health Promot J Austr 2021 Apr;32(2):189-196. [doi: 10.1002/hpja.336] [Medline: 32187407]
- 5. Lee HS. A comparative study on the health information needs, seeking and source preferences among mothers of young healthy children: American mothers compared to recent immigrant Korean mothers. Information Research 2018 Dec;23(4) [FREE Full text]
- Bradshaw AS, Shelton SS, Wollney E, Treise D, Auguste K. Pro-vaxxers get out: anti-vaccination advocates influence undecided first-time, pregnant, and new mothers on Facebook. Health Commun 2021 May;36(6):693-702. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2020.1712037] [Medline: <u>31920115</u>]
- 7. Breivold J, Rø KI, Hjörleifsson S. Conditions for gatekeeping when GPs consider patient requests unreasonable: a focus group study. Fam Pract 2022 Jan 19;39(1):125-129. [doi: <u>10.1093/fampra/cmab072</u>] [Medline: <u>34173654</u>]
- Hussain A, Ali S, Ahmed M, Hussain S. The anti-vaccination movement: a regression in modern medicine. Cureus 2018 Jul 3;10(7):e2919. [doi: 10.7759/cureus.2919] [Medline: 30186724]

- 9. Betsch C, Brewer NT, Brocard P, Davies P, Gaissmaier W, Haase N, et al. Opportunities and challenges of Web 2.0 for vaccination decisions. Vaccine 2012 May 28;30(25):3727-3733. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.02.025</u>] [Medline: <u>22365840</u>]
- Kraft AD, Quimbo SA, Solon O, Shimkhada R, Florentino J, Peabody JW. The health and cost impact of care delay and the experimental impact of insurance on reducing delays. J Pediatr 2009 Aug;155(2):281-285. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.02.035</u>] [Medline: <u>19394034</u>]
- Moon RY, Mathews A, Oden R, Carlin R. Mothers' perceptions of the internet and social media as sources of parenting and health information: qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jul 9;21(7):e14289. [doi: <u>10.2196/14289</u>] [Medline: <u>31290403</u>]
- 12. Price SL, Aston M, Monaghan J, Sim M, Murphy GT, Etowa J, et al. Maternal knowing and social networks: understanding first-time mothers' search for information and support through online and offline social networks. Qual Health Res 2018 Aug;28(10):1552-1563. [doi: 10.1177/1049732317748314] [Medline: 29281945]
- 13. Jenkins MC, Moreno MA. Vaccination discussion among parents on social media: a content analysis of comments on parenting blogs. J Health Commun 2020 Mar 3;25(3):232-242. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2020.1737761] [Medline: 32154770]
- Raspa M, Lynch M, Squiers L, Gwaltney A, Porter K, Peay H, et al. Information and emotional support needs of families whose infant was diagnosed with SCID through newborn screening. Front Immunol 2020 May 6;11:885. [doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00885] [Medline: 32435251]
- 15. Garcia AL, Looby S, McLean-Guthrie K, Parrett A. An exploration of complementary feeding practices, information needs and sources. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Nov 6;16(22):4311. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16224311] [Medline: 31698714]
- Naftel RP, Safiano NA, Falola MI, Shannon CN, Wellons JCIII, Johnston JMJ. Technology preferences among caregivers of children with hydrocephalus. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2013 Jan;11(1):26-36. [doi: <u>10.3171/2012.9.PEDS12208</u>] [Medline: <u>23092227</u>]
- 17. Kim HN, Wyatt TH, Li X, Gaylord M. Use of social media by fathers of premature infants. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs 2016;30(4):359-366. [doi: 10.1097/JPN.00000000000214] [Medline: 27776035]
- Clapton-Caputo E, Sweet L, Muller A. A qualitative study of expectations and experiences of women using a social media support group when exclusively expressing breastmilk to feed their infant. Women Birth 2021 Jul;34(4):370-380. [doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2020.06.010] [Medline: 32674991]
- 19. Külhaş Çelik İ, Büyüktiryaki B, Civelek E, Kocabaş CN. Internet use habits of parents with children suffering from food allergy. Asthma Allergy Immunol 2019 Dec 31;17(3):134-139. [doi: 10.21911/aai.485]
- 20. Lupton D. The use and value of digital media for information about pregnancy and early motherhood: a focus group study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Jul 19;16(1):171. [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0971-3] [Medline: 27435182]
- 21. Lebron CN, St George SM, Eckembrecher DG, Alvarez LM. "Am I doing this wrong?" breastfeeding mothers' use of an online forum. Matern Child Nutr 2020 Jan;16(1):e12890. [doi: 10.1111/mcn.12890] [Medline: 31568669]
- 22. Baumann I, Jaks R, Robin D, Juvalta S, Dratva J. Parents' health information seeking behaviour does the child's health status play a role? BMC Fam Pract 2020 Dec 10;21(1):266. [doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01342-3] [Medline: 33302881]
- 23. Frawley JE, McManus K, McIntyre E, Seale H, Sullivan E. Uptake of funded influenza vaccines in young Australian children in 2018; parental characteristics, information seeking and attitudes. Vaccine 2020 Jan 10;38(2):180-186. [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.10.033] [Medline: 31668365]
- 24. 2071.0 Census of population and housing: reflecting Australia stories from the census, 2016. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2018 Mar 27. URL: <a href="http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/2071.0">www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/2071.0</a> [accessed 2022-10-20]
- 25. STROBE checklists. STROBE. 2022. URL: <u>www.strobe-statement.org/checklists/</u> [accessed 2022-06-11]
- Sharma A, Minh Duc NT, Luu Lam Thang T, Nam NH, Ng SJ, Abbas KS, et al. A consensus-based checklist for reporting of survey studies (CROSS). J Gen Intern Med 2021 Oct;36(10):3179-3187. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11606-021-06737-1</u>] [Medline: <u>33886027</u>]
- 27. IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 280: IBM Corp; 2021.
- 28. 2033.0.55.001 Census of population and housing: Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA), Australia, 2016. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2018 Mar 27. URL: <u>www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/2033.0.55.001</u> [accessed 2022-06-11]
- 29. Bittman M, Rutherford L, Brown J, Unsworth L. Digital natives? new and old media and children's outcome. Aust J Educ 2011 Jan;55(2):161-175. [doi: 10.1177/000494411105500206]
- Berkman ND, Sheridan SL, Donahue KE, Halpern DJ, Crotty K. Low health literacy and health outcomes: an updated systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2011 Jul 19;155(2):97-107. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-155-2-201107190-00005</u>] [Medline: <u>21768583</u>]
- Sharpe K, Di Pietro N, Jacob KJ, Illes J. A dichotomy of information-seeking and information-trusting: stem cell interventions and children with neurodevelopmental disorders. Stem Cell Rev Rep 2016 Aug;12(4):438-447. [doi: 10.1007/s12015-016-9667-3] [Medline: 27286955]
- 32. Gage-Bouchard EA, LaValley S, Devonish JA. Deciphering the signal from the noise: caregivers' information appraisal and credibility assessment of cancer-related information exchanged on social networking sites. Cancer Control 2019;26(1):1073274819841609. [doi: 10.1177/1073274819841609] [Medline: 31010296]

- 4228.0 Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies, Australia, 2011-2012. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2013 Feb 15. URL: <u>www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/4228.0main+features992011-2012</u> [accessed 2022-06-11]
- 34. Health literacy: taking action to improve safety and quality. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2014 Aug. URL: <a href="http://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/sites/default/files/migrated/">www.safetyandquality.gov.au/sites/default/files/migrated/</a>
- <u>Health-Literacy-Taking-action-to-improve-safety-and-quality.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-09-22]
   Houts PS, Doak CC, Doak LG, Loscalzo MJ. The role of pictures in improving health communication: a review of research on attention, comprehension, recall, and adherence. Patient Educ Couns 2006 May;61(2):173-190. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2005.05.004] [Medline: 16122896]
- 36. Wong L. Social media accessibility: inclusive design tips for 2023. Hootsuite. 2023 Apr 24. URL: <u>blog.hootsuite.com/</u> inclusive-design-social-media/ [accessed 2023-07-17]
- 37. Holtz B, Smock A, Reyes-Gastelum D. Connected motherhood: social support for moms and moms-to-be on Facebook. Telemed J E Health 2015 May;21(5):415-421. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0118] [Medline: 25665177]
- 38. Kim SC, Hawkins KH. The psychology of social media communication in influencing prevention intentions during the 2019 U.S. measles outbreak. Comput Hum Behav 2020 Oct;111:106428. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106428]
- Dudley MZ, Squires GK, Petroske TM, Dawson S, Brewer J. The use of narrative in science and health communication: a scoping review. Patient Educ Couns 2023 Jul;112:107752. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2023.107752</u>] [Medline: <u>37068426</u>]
- Pangborn SM, Boatwright BC, Miller CL, Velting MN. "I don't feel like a hero": frontline healthcare providers' social media storytelling during COVID-19. Health Commun 2023 Jul;38(8):1508-1518. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2021.2017108</u>] [Medline: <u>34969329</u>]
- 41. Biasio LR. Vaccine hesitancy and health literacy. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2017 Mar 4;13(3):701-702. [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2016.1243633] [Medline: 27808587]
- 42. Karras J, Dubé E, Danchin M, Kaufman J, Seale H. A scoping review examining the availability of dialogue-based resources to support healthcare providers engagement with vaccine hesitant individuals. Vaccine 2019 Oct 16;37(44). [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.09.039] [Medline: 31540811]
- 43. A brief history of vaccination. World Health Organization. 2023. URL: <u>www.who.int/news-room/spotlight/</u> <u>history-of-vaccination/a-brief-history-of-vaccination</u> [accessed 2023-07-17]
- 44. Health promotion action means. World Health Organization. 2023. URL: <u>www.who.int/teams/health-promotion/</u> <u>enhanced-wellbeing/first-global-conference/actions</u> [accessed 2023-07-17]

#### Abbreviations

OR: odds ratio PIS: participant information sheet QOR: Quality Online Research STROBE: Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 08.04.23; peer-reviewed by J Taylor, J Galvez; revised version received 25.07.23; accepted 18.08.23; published 20.10.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Frey E, Bonfiglioli C, Frawley J Parents' Use of Social Media for Health Information Before and After a Consultation With Health Care Professionals: Australian Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48012 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48012</u> doi:<u>10.2196/48012</u>

© Erika Frey, Catriona Bonfiglioli, Jane Frawley. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 20.10.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Web-Based Conversations Regarding Fathers Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Content Analysis

Lindsay Bouchacourt<sup>1</sup>, MA; Mike Henson-Garci<sup>^</sup>a<sup>2</sup>, MPH; Kristen Leah Sussman<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Dorothy Mandell<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Gary Wilcox<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Michael Mackert<sup>1,5</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Stan Richards School of Advertising and Public Relations, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

<sup>3</sup>School of Journalism and Mass Communication, Texas State University, San Marcos, TX, United States

<sup>4</sup>School of Community and Rural Health, University of Texas Health Science Center at Tyler, Tyler, TX, United States

<sup>5</sup>Center for Health Communication, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Lindsay Bouchacourt, MA Stan Richards School of Advertising and Public Relations The University of Texas at Austin 300 W Dean Keeton St Austin, TX, 78712 United States Phone: 1 512 471 5775 Email: <u>lbouchacourt@utexas.edu</u>

## Abstract

Background: Studies of new and expecting parents largely focus on the mother, leaving a gap in knowledge about fathers.

**Objective:** This study aimed to understand web-based conversations regarding new and expecting fathers on social media and to explore whether the COVID-19 pandemic has changed the web-based conversation.

**Methods:** A social media analysis was conducted. Brandwatch (Cision) captured social posts related to new and expecting fathers between February 1, 2019, and February 12, 2021. Overall, 2 periods were studied: 1 year before and 1 year during the pandemic. SAS Text Miner analyzed the data and produced 47% (9/19) of the topics in the first period and 53% (10/19) of the topics in the second period. The 19 topics were organized into 6 broad themes.

**Results:** Overall, 26% (5/19) of the topics obtained during each period were the same, showing consistency in conversation. In total, 6 broad themes were created: fatherhood thoughts, fatherhood celebrations, advice seeking, fatherhood announcements, external parties targeting fathers, and miscellaneous.

**Conclusions:** Fathers use social media to make announcements, celebrate fatherhood, seek advice, and interact with other fathers. Others used social media to advertise baby products and promote baby-related resources for fathers. Overall, the arrival of the COVID-19 pandemic appeared to have little impact on the excitement and resiliency of new fathers as they transition to parenthood. Altogether, these findings provide insight and guidance on the ways in which public health professionals can rapidly gather information about special populations—such as new and expecting fathers via the web—to monitor their beliefs, attitudes, emotional reactions, and unique lived experiences in context (ie, throughout a global pandemic).

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40371) doi:10.2196/40371

#### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

social media; expecting fathers; new fathers; Twitter; Reddit; content analysis; topic model; topic analysis; parent; father

## Introduction

When studying expecting parents, studies have predominantly focused on the mother, leaving a large gap in knowledge about expecting fathers. However, studies have shown that men want to be involved in their partner's pregnancy, but they struggle

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40371

with knowing how to be involved [1]. Others criticize that the prenatal health care system is not set up to support the father's involvement [2]. Thus, more studies are needed to understand how to effectively reach out to and connect with new and expecting fathers. A medium to reach this audience is social media. Social media is an effective tool to communicate with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>School of Public Health, The University of Texas Health Science Center - Dallas Regional Campus, Dallas, TX, United States

an audience, and by studying web-based conversations, researchers can understand what individuals care about and want to share with the world. Social media is a useful tool to understand people's experiences, and in a health context, the insights obtained from social media analyses can be used to guide public health messages and efforts [3-5].

Studies analyzing fathers and their use of social media and web-based platforms have explored how different types of fathers use different sites including Black fathers using Facebook [6], Swedish first-time fathers writing blogs [7], and fathers using Reddit for peer support [8]. This study took a broad approach by capturing publicly available social media posts (Twitter and Reddit) that are related to being or becoming a new or expecting father, thus capturing posts that originate not only from fathers but also from other close ties. By casting a broad net, we contribute to a more heterogeneous understanding of the web-based content surrounding new and expecting fathers and enrich the research on expecting fathers. This study is also unique in that it compares 2 periods to see if there has been a change in web-based conversation owing to the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic. The social media posts that were collected for the analysis were shared by either a new or expecting father or an account discussing content related to being a new or expecting father. The findings provide insight into the web-based behavior of new and expecting fathers, along with the accounts interacting with this group. Therefore, the following research question (RQ) was proposed:

*RQ1*: What topics emerge from the web-based conversations surrounding new and expecting fathers?

Social media data were collected over a 2-year period—between February 1, 2019, and February 12, 2021. In the middle of this period, the COVID-19 pandemic was declared as a global health emergency, affecting all aspects of life, including parenting. During the pandemic, parents faced unique challenges, including childcare and education [9]. Owing to the many changes, challenges, and heightened stress that parents faced and continue to face during the pandemic [10], we decided to split the data and compare the periods of 1 year before the pandemic and the first year of the pandemic. Thus, our second RQ was the following:

*RQ2*: Do the web-based conversations from before the pandemic differ from those during the pandemic?

The findings from the study can guide public health communication strategies regarding how to reach new and expecting fathers via the web. By understanding what fathers and other relevant accounts post on the web, communication professionals—either public health or marketing and advertising professionals—will be able to better connect and communicate with fathers.

#### Methods

#### **Data Acquisition**

The data set for this study was obtained using Brandwatch, a social media listening software that is designed to collect publicly shared posts, comments, and web-based conversations

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40371
```

[11]. Twitter and Reddit data were included as sources for data collection using Brandwatch. Although Twitter and Facebook have gained more attention in the literature, Reddit attracts >330 million active users and serves as a source for sufficient data collection [12]. Next, using Brandwatch's query editor, the authors wrote queries by combining simple terms to form a Boolean expression [13] based on social media mentions and language relating to experiences of new fatherhood (eg. "becoming a father"). The variations were selected based on common English adverbs and adjectives that could be associated with a person using first-person reference to becoming a father. Filters were applied to collect English-language posts that excluded profanities, pornographic content, promotions, and giveaways. Then, using a manual process of trial and error, the language in the returned posts was reviewed for accuracy and to mitigate noise in the data set. Irrelevant conversations were identified and then removed using negation operators (eg, NOT "I miss him greatly" NOT "Almighty" NOT "begotten" NOT "cops") until the results appeared to be consistent in quality and relevance. The query operators and examples used in the study are shown in Table 1, and the entire Boolean code is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

The full data set returned 122,663 English-language conversations that occurred between February 1, 2019, and February 12, 2021. Then, the data set was cleaned using R, removing all duplicate posts (ie, retweets) and retaining variables of interest, before being divided into 2 separate data sets of conversations that occurred either *before* or *after* the pandemic was announced as a global health emergency by the World Health Organization on January 31, 2020 [14]. After removing duplicates, the corpus included 44,335 relevant posts. Next, after removing organizational posts (eg, posts from an organization), the final clean data set included 42,298 observations, with 18,303 (43.27%) occurring before and 23,995 (56.73%) occurring after the announced pandemic. The final data set included a sample of 37.12% (8907/23,995) Reddit observations and 62.88% (15,088/23,995) Twitter observations collected after the pandemic had been announced, a 31% increase in mention volume from the first data set collected before the pandemic, which contained 25.96% (4752/18,303) Reddit observations and 74.04% (13,551/18,303) Twitter observations. The 18,303 posts that occurred before the pandemic comprised 14,622 unique users, with an average of 1.246 (SD 2.161) posts per individual. The second data set resulted in a similar ratio, with 18,710 unique users making up 23,995 posts, with an average of 1.276 (SD 2.519) posts per individual.

As was provided by the web-based location metadata of the users in this sample, before the pandemic, of the 19,272 posts, approximately 11,988 (62.2%) posts originated in North America, 3439 (17.84%) originated in Europe, 1780 (9.24%) originated in Africa, 1422 (7.38%) originated in Asia, 514 (2.67%) originated in Australia and Oceania, and 129 (0.67%) originated in South America. Regarding the during-pandemic users, the sample containing 23,995 posts was summarized in the same ordinal fashion, with similar geographical distribution of approximately 13,582 (56.6%) posts originating in North America, 5003 (20.85%) originating in Europe, 2843 (11.85%)

XSL•FO RenderX

originating in Africa, 1965 (8.19%) originating in Asia, 336 (1.4%) originating in Australia and Oceania, and 265 (1.1%)

originating in South America. The geolocation information has also been summarized and provided in Table 2.

Table 1.	Query	operators <sup>a</sup> .
----------	-------	--------------------------

Description	Operator	Example	Result
Basic	The QUOTES operator	"becoming a father"	Finds mentions of the exact phrase, "becoming a father"
Basic	The OR operator	#newdad OR #expectantfather	Finds mentions of #newdad or mentions of #expectantfather
Complex	The <i>NEAR/n</i> operator	("I am" OR "I will") <i>NEAR/10</i> ("be a fa- ther" OR "becoming a dad")	Finds mentions of "I am" within 10 words of "becoming a dad" or "be a father" and mentions of "I will" within 10 words of "becoming a dad" or "be a father"
Complex	The wildcard operator	"expect* dad"	Finds mentions with the root word, <i>expect</i> ; eg, expecting dad and expectant dad

<sup>a</sup>The full query is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Table 2.	Summary	of user	posts	according	to location.
----------	---------	---------	-------	-----------	--------------

Source location	Posts before the pandemic (n=18,303), n (%)	Posts during the pandemic (n=23,995), n (%)
North America	11,385 (62.2)	13,583 (56.61)
Europe	3266 (17.84)	5003 (20.85)
Africa	1691 (9.24)	2843 (11.85)
Asia	1350 (7.38)	1965 (8.19)
Australia and Oceania	488 (2.67)	336 (1.4)
South America	122 (0.67)	265 (1.1)

#### **Text Analysis**

During the next step in the text analytic process, the 2 samples were analyzed using SAS Text Miner (version 15.1; SAS Institute) [15] through natural language processing and machine learning techniques to identify otherwise hidden themes in the conversations. SAS Text Miner provides the ability to parse and extract information from text, filter and store the information, and assemble tweets into related topics for introspection and to obtain insights from the unstructured data [16]. First, the text topic node was used to combine terms into topic groups. Then, a text filter node was used to exclude words that appeared in <4 messages, as a conservative measure to reduce noise. The parsing process handled by the software involves sorting all the words into separate terms and assigning a numerical identifier to them. Words that are not essential ("of," "and," and "but") are removed. After the software completes this process, the filter feature allows the researcher to review the output and remove unrecognizable characters and strings of letters. A single reviewer followed a systematic process to maintain objectivity. The same process has been used in multiple studies examining RQs related to public reactions, health, and other issues across social media.

SAS Text Miner sorted the posts into topics, and the authors agreed on a 9-topic solution for period 1 (before the pandemic) and a 10-topic solution for period 2 (during the pandemic). To interpret and make sense of each topic, a random sample of approximately 30 posts per topic was manually assessed. An author performed the initial assessment, and then, the interpretations were discussed among all authors until consensus was reached. Next, the final 19 topics were manually sorted

RenderX

into 6 broad themes based on similar characteristics and patterns of the posts within each topic and the overall subject matter of the topic.

Finally, a sentiment analysis of the posts was performed. Analysis of emotion words in textual data was performed using the R package, *Syuzhet*, and the *get\_nrc\_sentiment* function. The packages implement the National Research Council Emotion Lexicon by Saif Mohammad, which comprises 8 basic words of emotion expressions for anger, fear, anticipation, trust, surprise, sadness, joy, and disgust [17].

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics approval was not needed for this study, as public social media posts are considered as part of the public domain. Analysis of these public posts is not considered to be human participants research.

## Results

#### Overview

The data revealed that 47% (9/19) of the topics appeared between February 1, 2019, and January 30, 2020 (before the pandemic), and 53% (10/19) of the topics appeared between January 31, 2020, and February 12, 2021 (during the pandemic). The number of mentions, the topics, a brief description, and an example social media mention are shown in Table 3 for the *prepandemic* period and in Table 4 for the *during-pandemic* period. Additional topic analysis results are also presented visually using the R package, *wordcloud2*, in Multimedia Appendices 2 and 3.

The first 5 topics across both periods were the same (father readiness, interpersonal troubles, Father's Day, best dad proclamations, and pregnancy announcements). The remaining topics were unique across the 2 periods. The 19 topics were divided into 6 broad themes: fatherhood thoughts, fatherhood celebrations, advice seeking, fatherhood announcements, external parties targeting fathers, and miscellaneous. The themes

and their corresponding topics are described in the following sections.

Differences between the 2 groups were further examined using sentiment analysis. The analysis measured anger, fear, anticipation, trust, surprise, sadness, joy, and disgust. The results are shown in Multimedia Appendix 4.

Table 3. Prepandemic topics, descriptions, and examples.

ID	Торіс	Description	Example	Number of posts (n=15,408), n (%)
Pre1	Fatherhood readiness	Users share whether they are ready to be a father	"People ask me if I'm ready to be a father, and I say I'm as ready as I will be."	2475 (16.06)
Pre2	Interpersonal troubles	Users share interpersonal troubles between them and their expectant partner or parent of their child, hoping for advice	"I have been dating [removed for privacy] for around 2 years. Marriage and kids was always discussed, but I never felt like it was the right time for either6 months ago she announced she was pregnant." <sup>a</sup>	2329 (15.12)
Pre3	Father's day	Users celebrate Father's Day on the web	"I am proud to be a father today, and every day. Happy #FathersDay!"	2232 (14.49)
Pre4	Best dad proclamations	Users claim that they will be the best father	"And I promise for my child I will be the best fa- ther a kid could ask for."	1235 (8.02)
Pre5	Pregnancy announcements	Users share their pregnancy news on the web	"I'm gonna be a dad!!!"	1654 (10.73)
Pre6	New father celebration	Users celebrate becoming a father	"I'm gonna be a father. This is not a drill. I'm gonna be a father."	1261 (8.18)
Pre7	Expecting parent content	Content originating from or target- ing expecting parents	"Pregnancy Definitions: Here are 122 of the top pregnancy terms pregnant parents need to know!"	1543 (10.01)
Pre8	Becoming a father again	Fathers announce that they are going to be a father again	"I'm going to be a father in a few months. Am I ready? YES!"	664 (4.31)
Pre9	Newborn-related articles	Links to external articles about vari- ous topics about newborns	"About newborn sleep [link removed for priva- cy]."	2015 (13.08)

<sup>a</sup>For brevity, this example includes only the first 3 sentences of the post.



Table 4. During-pandemic topics, descriptions, and examples.

ID	Торіс	Description	Example	Number of posts (n=18,745), n (%)
Dur1	Fatherhood readiness	Users state whether they are ready to be a father	"I am ready to be a husband but not ready to be a father."	2253 (12.02)
Dur2	Interpersonal troubles	Users share interpersonal troubles between them and their expectant partner or parent of their child or issues regarding pregnancy, hoping for advice	"Firstly, I know professional help is needed, I just want to get some feedback here, please. 38 y/o male. Wife {34 y/o} and I have been married for about 7 yearsWe never really discussed having kids vs. not having kids until after we were mar- ried, but the understanding was kind of always that we wouldor at least I thought that's what it was." <sup>a</sup>	2903 (15.49)
Dur3	Father's day	Users celebrate a happy Father's Day	"I am blessed to be a father. Happy Father's Day to all the father figures out there."	2846 (15.18)
Dur4	Best dad proclamations	Users state that they will be the best father	"I will be the best dad I can be."	1612 (8.59)
Dur5	Pregnancy announcements	Users share that they are going to be a father	"Hey everybody! I'm gonna be a dad!"	1934 (10.32)
Dur6	Pregnancy congratulations	Users congratulate other users for their pregnancy announcements	"Awwwwww congratulations."	953 (5.08)
Dur7	New dad life	Posts from new fathers experiencing life with their new baby	"Is it the weekend yet? Oh wait, I have kids!"	2794 (14.91)
Dur8	Account replies	An account called Family Core is replying to users' posts	"If YOU are EXPECTINGWe are here to HELP Join The Family Core today."	436 (2.33)
Dur9	Comedic replies	Comedic replies to other users' posts	"I am available to be your new dad, if you would like."	2493 (13.29)
Dur10	Financial help requests	Replies to other posts, asking for fi- nancial help for a small-scale busi- ness loan	"Good day! Please I need your help financially, any amount so I can start up a small scale business for myself and be able to help my family. I'm going to be a father in few months and I don't have a job. Please I really need help financially please."	521 (2.78)

<sup>a</sup>For brevity, this example includes only the first 3 sentences of the post.

#### **Fatherhood Thoughts**

This theme consisted of the largest number of topics. Fathers used social media as a place to share their thoughts on fatherhood and fatherhood-related topics. Pre1 and Dur1 focused on fatherhood readiness. Pre1 consisted of social media mentions (often replies to other people's posts) that state "I am ready to be a father" or "I am not ready to be a father." Dur1 included users sharing their readiness (or lack thereof) for being a father. The posts were about users who are exclaiming that they are ready to be a father. Pre4 and Dur4 focused on fathers proclaiming that they will be the "best dad." Pre4 included users exclaiming that they will be the best father they can be for their child. Some users did not have children yet, but said that when they do have kids, they will strive to be the best father they can be. In Dur4, the posts showed users stating that they will be "the best dad" or "the best dad in the world." Some posts tagged another user, so that the tagged user will see the post, thus making it more conversational and interactive. Dur7 included posts from new fathers experiencing life with their new baby and sharing these experiences on the web.

#### **Fatherhood Celebrations**

Many fathers and other users used social media to celebrate different aspects of fatherhood, including celebrating Father's Day and becoming a father. Pre3 and Dur3 focused on celebrating Father's Day on the web. Both topics captured straightforward posts of users celebrating Father's Day. Families were thanking the fathers and father figures in their lives, and fathers were thanking their families for wishing them a happy Father's Day. Fathers also posted about being lucky to be a father to their children. Pre6 included users celebrating becoming a father. Users shared their excitement on finding out that they are going to be a father. Some users also shared their excitement about public figures and celebrities becoming fathers. Dur6 showed users congratulating other users for their pregnancy announcements, using the word "congratulations."

#### **Advice Seeking**

Some fathers wanted to use the web space to seek advice about pregnancy and parent-related situations. Pre2 and Dur2 focused on interpersonal troubles of users who are expecting or have children. These topics were unique in that the social media mentions originate from Reddit, which allows for long posts. Pre2 and Dur2 included social media mentions from Reddit of

users sharing personal stories about a situation in their life regarding being pregnant, having a pregnant partner, or having children. Users made these posts seeking advice for their situation. Advice seekers wrote about a conflict that had been occurring between the 2 expecting parents. Some of the posts from Pre2 included posts about a man whose fiancée had a miscarriage, a woman with 4 children whose partner left after her last pregnancy, and a man whose partner is pregnant but the 2 of them have been struggling to stay together. Some of the posts from Dur2 included posts about a woman who is pregnant and will be a single mother and a man who is in a long-term relationship and does not want children, whereas his partner does.

#### **Fatherhood Announcements**

Overall, 16% (3/19) of the topics consisted of fathers using social media to share father-related news. Pre5 and Dur5 captured pregnancy announcements on the web. Both topics included straightforward posts of users exclaiming "I'm gonna be a dad!" Pre8 captured posts with fathers announcing that they are going to be a father again. The posts were either from users announcing that they will be a father again or focused on announcements of a celebrity being a father again.

#### **External Parties Targeting Fathers**

In this theme, the topics consisted of social media mentions that included content related to pregnancy and newborns. Pre7 captured content originating from or targeting expecting parents. Some social media posts included content that originated from companies that are selling newborn-related products, such as milestone blankets and pregnancy books. Some posts included parent cheat sheets, which included links to external articles that provide baby-related and parenting advice. Other posts showed users announcing that they are expecting a baby and that they are a "mom to be" or a "dad to be." Pre9 included links to external articles about various topics regarding newborns. The articles included information about newborn sleep, preventing colic, baby's stress, reading with newborns, and newborn brain development. Dur8 included replies from an account called Family Core. Family Core was replying to other users' posts and promoting their account by stating that "they can help if you are expecting."

#### Miscellaneous

Overall, 11% (2/19) of the topics (Dur9 and Dur10) that were captured included social media mentions that do not directly fit with the other fatherhood-related topics. This theme only consisted of topics that were present during the pandemic. Dur9 captured comedic replies to other users' posts. The replies included the word "dad" (eg, "I am your new dad."). This was typically a comedic reply in response to a post in which another user would have benefited from having the replier as "their dad." Dur10 captured replies from an account that is replying to other users' posts (often the posts of Senators or Congress people), asking for financial help through a small business loan. This user was asking for financial help because they are going to be a father in a few months.

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study examined web-based conversation originating from or related to new and expecting fathers. The study examined social media mentions over a 2-year period—1 year before the COVID-19 pandemic and 1 year during the pandemic. During the 2 periods, much of the conversation was similar, as approximately half of the topics (10/19, 53%) overlapped with each other. Overall, the findings show that new and expecting fathers used social media to share good news, celebrate fatherhood, seek advice, and interact with other fathers. Other relevant accounts used social media to advertise baby products to fathers and promote baby-related articles to fathers.

The similarity in half of the topics (10/19, 53%) showed the consistency in the web-based conversations of new and expecting fathers. This 53% (10/19) of the topics (father readiness, interpersonal troubles, Father's Day, best dad proclamations, and pregnancy announcements) related to content originating from a new or expecting father, as opposed to content being targeted to fathers from companies or websites. This 53% (10/19) of overlapping topics showed what fathers are sharing on the web both before and during the pandemic and that they tend to maintain similar interests.

The topic covering interpersonal troubles provided the deepest insight into struggles that expecting fathers face, especially regarding their pregnant partner. These posts were obtained from Reddit. Compared with Twitter, Reddit is perceived by users as a more private space on the web, and the subreddit where the posts came from focused on advice seeking. Users shared their personal stories, with the hope that other users may reply and provide advice and guidance. Studies show that sharing information on the web can be therapeutic and cathartic, especially during a crisis [18]. Ammari and Schoenebeck [19] interviewed fathers to understand their relationship with social media and found that men have concerns regarding privacy and judgment when it comes to posting about their children on the web. Reddit may act as a safe space for fathers to remain anonymous and share their struggles without fear of judgment. The difference in use between Twitter and Reddit can be explained through the theory of uses and gratifications [20], which is used to understand why people use certain types of media by examining the needs people have when using a media type and the gratifications people get from using the media. New and expecting fathers seem to use Twitter to share announcements and celebrate fatherhood, whereas Reddit can be used when fathers are seeking advice for a problem—particularly when they may prefer anonymity. Future studies should consider other media channels that fathers rely on and what needs those channels satisfy.

Strong emotions related to the transition to fatherhood—such as trust, joy, and anticipation—were often expressed by new and expecting fathers in both prepandemic and during-pandemic phases of the analysis. Interestingly, compared with posts in the period before the pandemic, posts during the pandemic had decreased levels of joy and increased levels of fear and sadness, which can represent the difficult nature of this period.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40371
```

Fatherhood comes with challenges, and the pandemic produced unique stressors for parents, which would certainly result in experiencing negative emotions. Emotional analysis provides insight into potential attitudes and cognitions of fathers, as emotions affect attitudes and behavior. Moreover, in both study periods, fathers used the web to share advice, seek social support, and connect with others dealing with similar situations and interpersonal troubles. The need for social support is important for new and expecting fathers [2]. It would be worthwhile for future studies to examine the utility of leveraging these emotional appeals in health communication efforts regarding childbirth, child rearing, and parenthood, along with incorporating the importance of social support. In addition, future studies should examine whether there are substantial differences in emotions expressed on the web according to the platform (ie, Twitter vs Reddit vs Facebook).

Overall, the findings outlined in this paper tend to diverge from previous scholarship examining fatherhood-related conversations that occur within social media environments. For instance, by using a latent topic modeling approach to data stemming from the Daddit subreddit, Ammari et al [19] uncovered 3 topics from the data including (1) conversations related to experiences in the neonatal intensive care unit, (2) Halloween and Halloween costumes, and (3) legal challenges experienced by users. However, none of these topics explicitly materialized in our analysis. Sepahpour-Fard et al [21] also applied topic modeling techniques to characterize the parenting conversations on parenting subreddits-including the Daddit subreddit-and out of the 12 latent topics that were reported in the paper, only 1 topic re-emerged in this study. Specifically, there is an interesting similarity in sentiment between the thank you and appreciation theme determined by Sepahpour-Fard et al [21] and the *pregnancy congratulations* theme that we found in our analysis. The overlap in these findings point to and underscore the positive emotions that are experienced in the transition to fatherhood, despite considerable societal change. This finding is further bolstered by the results from our sentiment analysis, which determined that trust and joy were the top 2 emotions expressed in web-based conversations surrounding fatherhood, throughout the transition from a prepandemic society to a postpandemic society. It is important to note that unlike our analysis, which used data from both Reddit and Twitter platforms, the studies by Ammari et al [19] and Sepahpour-Fard et al [21] solely analyzed Reddit data, which may partially explain why the study findings diverged so drastically. Furthermore, relative to previous studies, themes of interpersonal troubles are highly represented in our analysis, which may serve as a digital signature indicative of increased pandemic-related stressors experienced by new fathers and their growing families.

Other scholars have used social media analyses to examine changes in emotion and sentiment as societies across the globe grappled with and responded to the COVID-19 pandemic. For instance, using data retrieved from Twitter, several textual and sentiment analyses have been conducted to explore health care providers' emotional reactions during the global disaster, with studies finding that, in general, levels of positive emotions (eg, joy) have decreased over time, whereas levels of negative emotions (eg, sadness and disgust) have increased [22,23]. However, specific to the emotional experiences of expecting and new fathers, a few qualitative studies have reported that fathers experienced high levels of stress related to both the transition to parenthood and the transition to a postpandemic society [2,24]. The findings of this study are consistent with these results overall. Specifically, the themes of *interpersonal troubles* and *financial help requests* that emerged are well aligned with previous studies, suggesting that stress was an affective state experienced widely by new and expecting fathers during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The results of this study also include a miscellaneous theme. Social media analyses are typically exploratory in nature; therefore, the researchers cannot predict what type of conversations will be uncovered. Although most captured posts will be directly related to the topic of interest, there is still potential to obtain random posts that are unrelated to the main topic. In this study, the miscellaneous theme included topics that were not directly related to new and expecting fathers. For example, Dur9 captured humorous responses; however, they were not necessarily related to fatherhood. This topic occurred only in the during-pandemic period, which could show an increase in humorous responses on the web. This use of humor in web spaces may be evidence of coping with the pandemic, as the world becomes more stressful to navigate and increasingly digital. It is well known that humor can function as a means of emotional regulation and act as a coping strategy for negative and stressful life situations [25-28]. More studies should be conducted to determine the effectiveness of humor as a potential health communication message appeal for efforts targeting expecting fathers.

#### Implications

The findings from the study provide insight and guidance on strategies for both communication and public health professionals to better connect with new and expecting fathers on the web. Social listening analyses, such as the one conducted in this study, can be used to better understand the changing dynamics, behaviors, and needs of certain populations during rapidly changing events-such as pandemics and natural disasters-which can inform public health efforts in almost real time. For instance, the results of this analysis imply that fathers may use social media to cope with pandemic-related stress and seek advice related to fatherhood; therefore, public health officials should consider using the web to conduct campaigns and for interventions containing information related to parenting and stress management. In addition, these results suggest that online support groups and peer support interventions may be appealing to and safe for new and expecting fathers who are seeking enhanced social support as the world continues to battle the deadly COVID-19 pandemic.

Another useful finding for public health practitioners is understanding how external accounts are communicating with new and expecting fathers to promote baby-related information. Social media analyses are useful to see not only what a specific group is saying but also who is speaking to that group. For example, the *external parties targeting fathers* theme shows that social media accounts are targeting new and expecting fathers to promote a variety of baby products and articles with

XSL•FO

baby-related information. Further study of these posts and their levels of engagement can be useful for improving public health efforts that use social media to reach new and expecting fathers. Moreover, in almost real time, public health officials can use these types of social listening analyses to obtain a rapid assessment of the material and information needs that people who are pregnant, and their partners, may require during other health-related situations that call for immediate response such as abortion restriction, outbreaks of Zika virus, or natural disasters.

#### **Limitations and Future Studies**

This study examined posts from both Reddit and Twitter; however, analyzing these 2 platforms together can present issues. These platforms provide different purposes and outlets for users, and the users and audience may have different characteristics. Although we searched for the same keywords in both platforms, users may divulge different information depending on the platform they are using. Relatedly, it is important to note that a portion of the social media posts that were captured cannot be definitively identified as coming from a new or expecting father.

There are also limitations to the data. First, the social media posts were limited to English-speaking users, resulting in the inability for generalizing the findings. Future studies should consider examining posts in other languages, such as Chinese and Spanish, as they are the second and third most commonly used languages, respectively, on the internet after English [29]. Future studies may also include alternative social networks, such as Weibo, to understand other samples. Second, the data set could not include every post related to new and expecting fathers, which ultimately limits the number of posts collected. Therefore, the results cannot reflect the entire population of interest. However, this study is exploratory in nature, and it is among the first to analyze Twitter posts for this specific audience. Future studies can apply this study's insights toward quantitative research that is generalizable. The findings of this study can work toward future research that explores social media use among new and expecting fathers.

Another route of future studies includes a focus on emotions and sentiment analysis within social media analyses. Social media posts can correlate with the emotional well-being of an audience, and taking a deep dive into the sentiment of social media posts related to new and expecting fathers can provide a snapshot of this population's well-being.

#### Conclusions

With the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, new and expectant parents faced unprecedented challenges amid a global pandemic. In addition, the current stream of literature that examines this group tends to give priority to the mothers, suggesting that fathers are overlooked or simply feel unprepared. Thus, this study sought to enrich research by focusing on new and expecting fathers, namely, by examining social media discourse related to this group both before and after the COVID-19 global pandemic was announced. Overall, the arrival of the COVID-19 pandemic appeared to have little impact on the excitement and resilience of new fathers as they transition to parenthood, in spite of considerable stress. These results speak to the immense resilience displayed by expecting fathers during the pandemic and imply that a major source of this resilience may stem from positive emotions that accompany becoming a parent. When communicating with new and expecting fathers, campaigns and interventions may consider appealing to the positive emotions and resilience that are commonly displayed during the transition to parenthood, as a means to promote prosocial coping behaviors among this unique population.

Altogether, these findings provide insight and guidance on the ways in which public health professionals can rapidly gather information about special populations—such as new and expecting fathers on the web—to monitor their beliefs, attitudes, emotional reactions, and unique lived experiences in context (ie, throughout a global pandemic). Insights gathered from studies such as these are enormously helpful for health communicators, as they think through the most efficient and effective ways to tailor messages for various audiences that, when taken together, comprise a specific population. Ultimately, we argue that public health officials engaged in health promotion should consider complementing traditional surveillance activities with social listening analyses, given the immense amount of heterogeneity that exists within communities and populations.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was partially funded through the Texas Safe Babies project (HHS000820100001) from the Texas Department of Family and Protective Services. The findings and conclusions reported in this paper are those of the authors and do not represent the official position of the Texas Department of Family and Protective Services.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Boolean code used to collect social media posts. [DOCX File , 12 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40371 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Word cloud of topics from before the pandemic. [PNG File , 818 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40371 app2.png ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Word cloud of topics from during the pandemic. [PNG File, 833 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e40371\_app3.png]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Emotion in fatherhood posts according to volume. [PNG File, 60 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40371 app4.png]

#### References

- Mackert M, Guadagno M, Lazard A, Donovan E, Rochlen A, Garcia A, et al. Engaging men in prenatal health via eHealth: findings from a national survey. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Aug 09;1(2):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/pediatrics.9513] [Medline: 31518311]
- 2. Poulos NS, García MH, Bouchacourt L, Mackert M, Mandell DJ. Fatherhood during COVID-19: fathers' perspectives on pregnancy and prenatal care. J Mens Health 2022;18(2):40. [doi: <u>10.31083/jomh.2021.119</u>]
- 3. Sinnenberg L, Buttenheim AM, Padrez K, Mancheno C, Ungar L, Merchant RM. Twitter as a tool for health research: a systematic review. Am J Public Health 2017 Jan;107(1):e1-e8. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303512] [Medline: 27854532]
- Pretorius KA, Mackert M, Wilcox GB. Sudden infant death syndrome and safe sleep on Twitter: analysis of influences and themes to guide health promotion efforts. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Sep 07;1(2):e10435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10435] [Medline: <u>31518314</u>]
- Mackert M, Bouchacourt L, Lazard A, Wilcox GB, Kemp D, Kahlor LA, et al. Social media conversations about community water fluoridation: formative research to guide health communication. J Public Health Dent 2021 Jun;81(2):162-166. [doi: 10.1111/jphd.12404] [Medline: <u>33058200</u>]
- 6. McLeod BA. "Hello group, I need advice": a textual analysis of black fathers' help-seeking posts on Facebook. Fam Relat 2020 Dec;69(5):944-955 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/fare.12500]
- 7. Asenhed L, Kilstam J, Alehagen S, Baggens C. Becoming a father is an emotional roller coaster an analysis of first-time fathers' blogs. J Clin Nurs 2014 May;23(9-10):1309-1317. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.12355] [Medline: 23815546]
- 8. Teague SJ, Shatte AB. Peer support of fathers on Reddit: quantifying the stressors, behaviors, and drivers. Psychol Men Masc 2021 Oct;22(4):757-766 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/men0000353]
- Igielnik R. A rising share of working parents in the U.S. say it's been difficult to handle child care during the pandemic. Pew Research Center. 2021 Jan 26. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/01/26/</u> <u>a-rising-share-of-working-parents-in-the-u-s-say-its-been-difficult-to-handle-child-care-during-the-pandemic/</u> [accessed 2022-06-21]
- 10. Adams EL, Smith D, Caccavale LJ, Bean MK. Parents are stressed! Patterns of parent stress across COVID-19. Front Psychiatry 2021 Apr 8;12:626456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.626456] [Medline: 33897489]
- 11. Brandwatch: A new kind of intelligence. Brandwatch. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.brandwatch.com/</u> [accessed 2022-06-20]
- 12. Amaya A, Bach R, Keusch F, Kreuter F. New data sources in social science research: things to know before working with Reddit data. Soc Sci Comput Rev 2021 Oct;39(5):943-960. [doi: 10.1177/0894439319893305]
- 13. Windels J. Smooth Operators: the ultimate guide to query-building operators. Brandwatch. 2012 Jul 23. URL: <u>https://www.brandwatch.com/blog/ultimate-guide-to-query-building-operators/</u> [accessed 2022-09-19]
- 14. AJMC Staff. A timeline of COVID-19 developments in 2020. American Journal of Managed Care. 2021 Jan 2. URL: <u>https://www.ajmc.com/view/a-timeline-of-covid19-developments-in-2020</u> [accessed 2021-04-10]
- 15. SAS Text Miner Text Mining Software. SAS Institute. URL: <u>https://www.sas.com/en\_us/software/text-miner.html</u> [accessed 2021-01-05]
- 16. Chakraborty G, Pagolu M, Garla S. Text mining and analysis: practical methods, examples, and case studies using SAS®. SAS Institute. 2013. URL: <u>http://support.sas.com/publishing/pubcat/chaps/65646.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-04-20]
- Mohammad SM, Turney PD. Crowdsourcing a word-emotion association lexicon. Comput Intell 2013 Aug;29(3):436-465. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-8640.2012.00460.x</u>]
- 18. Veer E, Ozanne LK, Hall CM. Sharing cathartic stories online: the internet as a means of expression following a crisis event. J Consumer Behav 2016;15(4):314-324 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cb.1569]
- Ammari T, Schoenebeck S. Understanding and supporting fathers and fatherhood on social media sites. In: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2015 Apr Presented at: CHI '15; April 18-23, 2015; Seoul, South Korea p. 1905-1914 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/2702123.2702205</u> [doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702205]
- 20. Blumler JG, Katz E. The Uses of Mass Communications: Current Perspectives on Gratifications Research. Volume 3 of Sage Annual Reviews of Communication Research. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 1974.

XSL•FO RenderX

- 21. Sepahpour-Fard M, Quayle M. How do mothers and fathers talk about parenting to different audiences? Stereotypes and audience effects: an analysis of r/Daddit, r/Mommit, and r/Parenting using topic modelling. In: Proceedings of the 2022 ACM Web Conference. 2022 Apr Presented at: WWW '22; April 25-29, 2022; Lyon, France p. 2696-2706 URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3485447.3512138</u> [doi: 10.1145/3485447.3512138]
- Elyashar A, Plochotnikov I, Cohen IC, Puzis R, Cohen O. The state of mind of health care professionals in light of the COVID-19 pandemic: text analysis study of Twitter discourses. J Med Internet Res 2021 Oct 22;23(10):e30217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30217] [Medline: 34550899]
- Slobodin O, Plochotnikov I, Cohen I, Elyashar A, Cohen O, Puzis R. Global and local trends affecting the experience of US and UK healthcare professionals during COVID-19: Twitter text analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 Jun 04;19(11):6895 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19116895] [Medline: 35682477]
- 24. Menzel A. The coronavirus pandemic: exploring expectant fathers' experiences. J Cult Res 2022;26(1):83-101. [doi: 10.1080/14797585.2021.2002668]
- 25. Martin RA, Lefcourt HM. Sense of humor as a moderator of the relation between stressors and moods. J Pers Soc Psychol 1983 Dec;45(6):1313-1324. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.45.6.1313]
- 26. Strick M, Holland RW, van Baaren RB, van Knippenberg A. Finding comfort in a joke: consolatory effects of humor through cognitive distraction. Emotion 2009 Aug;9(4):574-578. [doi: 10.1037/a0015951] [Medline: 19653782]
- 27. Sliter M, Kale A, Yuan Z. Is humor the best medicine? The buffering effect of coping humor on traumatic stressors in firefighters. J Organiz Behav 2014 Feb;35(2):257-272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/job.1868]
- Tagalidou N, Loderer V, Distlberger E, Laireiter AR. Feasibility of a humor training to promote humor and decrease stress in a subclinical sample: a single-arm pilot study. Front Psychol 2018 Apr 24;9:577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00577] [Medline: 29740368]
- 29. Petrosyan A. Most common languages used on the internet as of January 2020, by share of internet users. Statista. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/262946/share-of-the-most-common-languages-on-the-internet/[accessed 2021-04-28]</u>

#### Abbreviations

**RQ:** research question

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 17.06.22; peer-reviewed by T Ammari, A Elyashar; comments to author 30.07.22; revised version received 22.10.22; accepted 25.12.22; published 15.02.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Bouchacourt L, Henson-Garci´a M, Sussman KL, Mandell D, Wilcox G, Mackert M Web-Based Conversations Regarding Fathers Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Content Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40371 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40371 doi:10.2196/40371 PMID: 36790850

©Lindsay Bouchacourt, Mike Henson-Garci´a, Kristen Leah Sussman, Dorothy Mandell, Gary Wilcox, Michael Mackert. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 15.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Original Paper**

# Using Digital Communication Technology to Improve Neonatal Care: Two-Part Explorative Needs Assessment

Kim Tenfelde<sup>1</sup>, MA; Marjolijn Antheunis<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Emiel Krahmer<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Jan Erik Bunt<sup>2</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Communication and Cognition, Tilburg University, Tilburg, Netherlands <sup>2</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Elisabeth-Tweesteden Ziekenhuis, Tilburg, Netherlands

**Corresponding Author:** Kim Tenfelde, MA Department of Communication and Cognition Tilburg University Warandelaan 2 Tilburg, 5037AB Netherlands Email: <u>k.tenfelde@tilburguniversity.edu</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** The birth of a premature infant and subsequent hospitalization are stressful events for parents. Therefore, accurate and easy-to-understand communication between parents and health care professionals is crucial during this period. Mobile health (mHealth) technologies have the potential to improve communication with parents at any time and place and possibly reduce their stress.

**Objective:** We aimed to conduct a 2-part explorative needs assessment in which the interaction between the pediatrician and parents was examined along with their digital communication technology needs and interest in an mHealth app with the aim of improving interpersonal communication and information exchange.

**Methods:** Overall, 19 consultations between parents of preterm infants and pediatricians were observed to determine which themes are discussed the most and the number of questions asked. Afterward, the parents and the pediatrician were interviewed to evaluate the process of communication and gauge their ideas about a neonatal communication mHealth app.

**Results:** The observations revealed the following most prevalent themes: breastfeeding, criteria for discharge, medication, and parents' personal life. Interview data showed that the parents were satisfied with the communication with their pediatrician. Furthermore, both parents and pediatricians expected that a neonatal mHealth app could further improve the communication process and the hospital stay. Parents valued app features such as asking questions, growth graphs, a diary function, hospital-specific information, and medical rounds reports.

**Conclusions:** Both parents of hospitalized preterm infants and pediatricians expect that the hypothetical mHealth app has the potential to cater to the most prevalent themes and improve communication and information exchange. Recommendations for developing such an app and its possible features are also discussed. On the basis of these promising results, it is suggested to further develop and study the effects of the mHealth app together with all stakeholders.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e38435) doi:10.2196/38435

#### **KEYWORDS**

mobile health; mHealth; physician-patient communication; questions asking; needs assessment; explorative; mobile phone

## Introduction

#### Background

RenderX

The birth of a preterm infant has an incredible impact on the family. Parents suddenly have to adjust to unfamiliar surroundings, cope with the infant's uncertain survival and outcome, adjust to the hospital setting, learn new medical vocabulary, and eventually care for a vulnerable infant at home

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38435

[1,2]. These factors are a source of stress, uncertainty, and fear [3]. For parents, adequate communication and information is one of the most important needs for coping with these factors and successfully navigating through the emotional hospital stay [1,4-6].

Most preterm infants are hospitalized for weeks to months in neonatal wards. During this period, parents typically receive daily medical updates from nurses and pediatric residents. In

addition, patients have a weekly update consultation with their principal pediatrician. The principal pediatrician has responsibility over medical decisions during hospital stay and maintains long-term contact with the parents and patient. Although the information exchange between parents and pediatricians has improved considerably over the last few years [7,8], recent research has also revealed that the information exchange is not yet in its most optimal form. Parents still yearn for more information and do not always feel comfortable asking questions [9]. To gain a sense of control, parents often seek information from external sources, such as educational materials, the internet, and mobile health (mHealth) apps [4,8-11].

It has been suggested that mHealth technologies have the potential to further improve communication and interpersonal relationships in neonatal units [12-14]. The use of mHealth apps is gaining popularity owing to their ubiquitous availability and accessible use. In addition, practically all young parents now own a smartphone and have considerable skills in using the device [14-16].

The number of mHealth apps developed to improve communication and medical conditions is increasing, demonstrating the demand for such apps in society. A literature review by Richardson et al [12] found 18 different neonatal mHealth apps in both the Apple App and Google Play store. In general, these apps provide information on premature births, advice or tips, and monitoring of infants' data. However, only 1 of these 18 mHealth apps (MyPreemie) was supported by scientific research [17]. There is hardly any scientific knowledge regarding the development and evaluation of neonatal mHealth apps [18,19].

To successfully build mHealth apps and have a fair possibility of successfully implementing a potential mHealth solution, it is important to involve all stakeholders during the development process [20]. Involving mHealth users from the beginning of the process, from conceptualization of the ideas to development to evaluations, enhances app adoption [19,20]. Unfortunately, potential users have rarely been involved.

Furthermore, efforts to develop technological interventions for neonatal care and guiding interpersonal communication in the neonatal ward are hampered by a distinct lack of scientific data on how parent-provider interactions organically unfold [18]. Little is known about the actual course, the contents, the themes parents find important to discuss, and the effectiveness of the interaction and information exchange between parents and medical caregivers during hospitalization [18]. Therefore, it is important to also understand communication in the neonatal ward when developing an mHealth solution [18].

#### Study Aims

In this study, a 2-part exploratory needs assessment was conducted. The first part of this study (research question [RQ] 1, 2, and 3) consisted of observing, examining, and evaluating the weekly update consultation held between the principal pediatrician and the parents. The themes that were discussed and questions from parents and pediatricians were explored. This information provided a solid base for the second part of

this study (RQ 3, 4, and 5). In part 2, we begin by outlining and examining interest in the idea of an mHealth app. We propose an mHealth app that can be used by parents to store themes, concerns, and questions for discussion with the pediatrician for the subsequent consultation, given that patients or parents of patients frequently forget questions they would like to ask during a consultation owing to emotional overload [4,9]. In addition, professionals are often confronted with questions that they cannot immediately answer during the consultation. Using the same app, the pediatrician could read these themes, concerns, and questions beforehand and prepare for the consultation. We speculate that using such an app could increase patient and professional satisfaction and improve communication and information exchange [21]. To investigate our aims, we propose the following RQs:

- RQ1: Which themes are discussed between the parents and pediatrician during the weekly consultation and who initiates these themes?
- RQ2: How many questions do parents and pediatricians ask during consultations?
- RQ3: How do the parents evaluate the consultation?
- RQ4: What are the parents' opinions regarding an mHealth app?
- RQ5: Which features would the parents value in a neonatal mHealth app?
- RQ6: What are the pediatricians' opinions regarding an mHealth app?

## Methods

#### Sample

In total, 20 consultations of parents with the pediatrician were observed. Each parent-couple (PC) was observed once, and 7 individual pediatricians were enrolled. One observation was excluded from the eventual data set owing to a missing survey, resulting in a final data set of 19 consultations. Research has shown that qualitative interview studies with at least 13 samples are robust [22]. In addition, we noted that data saturation was reached after 13 consultations. Therefore, this sample size was sufficient. The consultations lasted between 10 and 45 minutes. In total, 10 consultations were first-time consultations for the parents and 9 were second or third consultations. Mothers (mean age 32.1, SD 4.9 years) were always present (n=19) and fathers (mean age 32.7, SD 4.6 years) were present in 15 consultations.

The 19 mothers had a total of 22 preterm infants (3 twins). The postnatal age of the preterm infants ranged from 5 to 59 (mean 17.7, SD 15) days. For 11 parents, their premature newborn was their first child; for 6 parents, the newborn was their second child; and for 2 parents the newborn was their fourth child. In 3 cases, the parents had premature twins. All infants were admitted to a level II neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) during the study. Level II NICUs provide special high or medium care for moderately ill infants [23]. Twelve of the 22 infants had previously been admitted to a level III and IV NICU where they had been critically ill at that time. Ten infants had been admitted to the level II NICU only. Table 1 presents the characteristics of the sample.


Table 1. Demographic and obstetric characteristics of the sample.

Characteristics	Values				
Parent details (n=35)	Parent details (n=35)				
Nationality , n (%)					
Dutch	33 (94.2)				
Moroccan	1 (2.9)				
Turkish	1 (2.9)				
Education level , n (%)					
High school	9 (25.7)				
Intermediate vocational education	14 (40)				
Higher vocational education	12 (34.3)				
University	0 (0)				
Birth details (n=22)					
Gestational age (weeks), n (%)					
27-28	4 (18.2)				
29-30	3 (9.1)				
31-32	7 (31.8)				
33-34	6 (27.3)				
35	2 (9.1)				
NICU <sup>a</sup> admission (age in days)					
Level III or IV NICU transfers					
Value, n (%)	12 (54.5)				
Value, mean (SD)	23.8 (18.3)				
Level II NICU					
Value, n (%)	10 (45.5)				
Value, mean (SD)	11 (6)				

<sup>a</sup>NICU: neonatal intensive care unit.

#### **Materials and Procedure**

This study was conducted from March to July 2019. In total, 17 consultations were conducted at the Elisabeth TweeSteden Hospital, Tilburg, the Netherlands. Two consultations were conducted at the Jeroen Bosch Hospital, Den Bosch, the Netherlands. These 2 level II NICUs were 20 km apart, worked closely together, and followed the same medical and conversational policy. Parents and pediatricians received oral and written information regarding the study. All participants who were approached were willing to participate in the study and provided written informed consent. The observations were audio recorded with participants' permission for any subsequent analysis.

The weekly update consultations were planned (date and time) by the parents and principal pediatrician. The consultations between the parents and the pediatrician were conducted in a single-family room. In these private rooms, parents could stay over and sleep next to their infant's bed. The researcher observed the consultation while simultaneously typing along a basic synopsis of the conversation, noting the questions asked by either the parents or the pediatricians, and the themes that were discussed. A theme checklist was created during the observations: once a theme was brought up, it was written down. If this theme appeared again in another consultation, it was marked in the checklist. The person (mother, father, or pediatrician) who raised a question or theme was also marked for each theme.

After the consultation, parents were asked to complete a questionnaire assessing basic demographic characteristics and their smartphone use. The researcher would leave to give the parents some time to complete the questionnaire. After approximately 15 minutes, the researcher returned to the single-family room to interview the parents. The interviews were audio recorded, and the researcher simultaneously typed the answers. The length of the interviews ranged from 10 to 40 minutes, depending on how elaborate the parents' answers were. None of the parents declared feeling hindered by the researcher during the consultation. The pediatricians were interviewed either between the consultation and the parents' interview or after the interview with the parents, depending on whether the pediatrician was busy.

#### Analysis

#### **Observations**

Immediately after the observation, the audio recording and basic synopsis of the consultation were checked alongside the theme checklist for possible missed themes. The questions that were written down in the synopsis were highlighted and classified as asked by the mother, father, or pediatrician. All observational data (demographics, questionnaire information, themes, and questions asked) were interpreted using Microsoft Excel.

#### Interviews

The qualitative interview data were analyzed according to Halcomb and Davidson [24]. First, a basic interview overview was created by writing along a basic synopsis throughout the interview, while the interviews were also being audio recorded. Then, immediately after the interview, the researcher reflected on the data collected in the interview. Third, the interview overviews were evaluated together with the audio recordings to create an accurate interview summary. Relevant information was transcribed precisely into the interview summary accordingly. After completing this process, all the final interview summaries were printed. Using a color-coding system, relevant interview answers of the parents were highlighted and categorized. Conclusions were accordingly drawn from these files.

## **Ethical Considerations**

On the basis of the nature of the study being an explorative with noninvasive questionnaires the Scientific Board Elisabeth Tweesteden Ziekenhuis declared that the study did not require ethics approval. The study followed all good clinical practice guidelines.

# Results

#### Part 1: The Consultation

#### Themes and Questions

In the 19 consultations that were observed, 32 different themes arose (see Table 2 for an overview and explanation of the content). The most frequent topics included feeding and breastfeeding (n=17), introductions of oneself (n=14), parents' personal life (n=14), criteria for discharge (n=13), and follow-up

after discharge (n=13). Except for feeding or breastfeeding and parents' personal life, most themes were brought up by the pediatrician. The themes most frequently initiated by the parents, included the road to labor (n=7), infant feeding problems (n=7), infant vomiting (n=7), and growth in terms of height (n=7).

With regard to the number of questions asked during the consultations by the parents and pediatricians (RQ2), questions asked by the pediatrician ranged from 0 to 11 care-related questions per consultation, with a mean of 3.7 (SD 2.9) questions per consultation. In sum, the pediatricians had 71 questions for the parents. Mothers (n=19) asked 80 questions (0-15 questions per consultation, with a mean of 4.2, SD 4.3). Fathers (n=15) asked 37 questions with a mean of 2.5 (SD 1.9) questions per consultation. Pediatricians explicitly invited parents to ask their questions by asking if they had "any further questions?" in all but 1 (PC03) consultation.

Additional demographic information (Table 1) of the parents was analyzed to determine whether the number of questions from either parents or pediatricians was influenced by aspects such as parents' age, educational level, how many children they had in total, the health of their infant, the gestational age of their infant, the amount of time spent in the hospital, or the duration of the consultation. However, no noticeable trends were discovered concerning any of these aspects.

The interview data showed that all (PCs; n=19) thought that they had sufficient opportunities to ask questions and were satisfied with the pediatrician's answers. Six PCs mentioned that they had sometimes forgotten to ask certain questions during the consultation. However, in their explanations, they attributed the reason for this happening to personal reasons (eg, PC 21: "Dad is often not present so he comes up with questions later"). Six PCs stated that if they had forgotten to ask something during the consultation, they would just go and ask the nurses:

Mother: Sometimes we are like 'we should've asked that' but then we just ask those questions to the nurses, in many cases they know the answers. [PC13]

Father: The nursing staff is our go-to resource. The nursing staff often has the answers to the questions we typically ask the pediatrician. Sometimes they have to consult with the pediatrician but we get answers soon after their consultation. [PC13]



Table 2. Content of the themes and the total number of times a theme was brought up by the pediatrician or the parents for all 19 consultations.

Theme	Content	Values (n=19), n (%)	Introduced by pediatrician <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	Introduced by parents <sup>a</sup> , n (%)
Feeding and breastfeed- ing	Progression of breastfeeding, milk expression, positive effects	17 (90)	9 (53)	8 (47)
Introduction	Pediatrician introduces oneself; their tasks; the department; daily program	14 (74)	14 (100)	0 (0)
Personal	Personal information about the parents and their lives like work status and psychosocial situation	14 (74)	7 (50)	7 (50)
Criteria	Criteria for discharge	13 (68)	11 (85)	2 (15)
Postdischarge follow-up	Explanation how postnatal follow-up will be scheduled	13 (68)	9 (69)	4 (31)
Respiratory support and caffeine	Supplemental oxygen and pressure, and how these are decreased; medication like caffeine	12 (63)	10 (83)	2 (17)
Not care related	Small talk	11 (59)	4 (36)	7 (64)
Monitor or alarms	Why and for how long the infant will be connect- ed to the monitor; alarms that went because of low oxygen saturation or low heart rate	10 (53)	6 (60)	4 (40)
Department	Opinion and experiences of parents regarding the department; the employees; the nurses; the care; other parents	10 (53)	4 (40)	6 (60)
Talking about the future	The preterm's future; how will they grow up, which problems may they face, school	8 (42)	6 (75)	2 (25)
Weight	The weight or growth of the preterm infant.	8 (42)	5 (62)	3 (38)
Tube feeding	Whether the preterm is or will be given tube feeding; how much; how long	8 (42)	5 (62)	3 (38)
Temperature of the child	Can the preterm keep themselves warm; external source for heating; incubator; phototherapy for icterus	8 (42)	6 (75)	2 (25)
Ultrasound or MRI <sup>b</sup> of the brain	Ultrasound or MRI of the brain; and results of them	8 (42)	6 (75)	2 (25)
Vaccinations	Parent's consent for vaccinations and scheduling	8 (42)	6 (75)	2 (25)
Birth	The process, experience, and possible complica- tions of labor	7 (37)	1 (14)	6 (86)
Vomiting	If and why the preterm is vomiting (explana- tions)	7 (37)	1 (14)	6 (86)
Height and growth	The length, weight, and growth charts	7 (37)	1 (14)	6 (86)
Laboratory values	blood draw; blood transfusions	7 (37)	7 (100)	0 (0)
How to care at home	After discharge; what should be paid attention to; differences and similarities from raising a term baby and extra concerns	7 (37)	2 (29)	5 (71)
Recap	A recap is given of everything that has happened at the $\text{NICU}^{c}$ so far	6 (32)	6 (100)	0 (0)
Emotional	The emotional state of the parents regarding the situation; their preterm; the hospital	6 (32)	5 (83)	1 (17)
Bowel movements	Bowel movements of the preterm; use of enemas	6 (32)	3 (50)	3 (50)
Vitamins	The needed vitamins; iron supplementation	6 (32)	4 (67)	2 (33)
Child specific	Issues specific for the preterm	6 (32)	4 (67)	2 (33)
Data or counting	How the birth date and age of the preterm should be corrected for regarding growth, and schedul- ing of vaccinations	5 (26)	3 (60)	2 (40)

XSL•FO RenderX

Tenfelde et al

Theme	Content	Values (n=19), n (%)	Introduced by pediatrician <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	Introduced by parents <sup>a</sup> , n (%)
Infections	Recent infections; chance of infections; antibi- otics	5 (26)	5 (100)	0 (0)
Eyes (retinopathy)	Explaining why the eyes are checked; ophthal- mologist appointments	4 (21)	1 (25)	3 (75)
NICU level III experi- ence	How parents experienced their stay at the level III NICU; what happened there before transfer	4 (21)	1 (25)	3 (75)
After the NICU	Aftercare by the NICU department; what, when, and how	3 (16)	1 (33)	2 (67)
(Possible) operations	Possible operations of the heart, lungs, brain, body are discussed and explained	2 (11)	1 (50)	1 (50)
Lungs	Explaining pulmonary edema; lung capacity	2 (11)	1 (50)	1 (50)

<sup>a</sup>Total (n)=252. Introduced by pediatrician=155; introduced by parents=97.

<sup>b</sup>MRI: magnetic resonance imaging.

<sup>c</sup>NICU: neonatal intensive care unit.

#### **Consultation Evaluation**

How parents value the weekly consultation with their principal pediatrician was also studied given that the parents see many different medical professionals daily (RQ3). Overall, the data showed that most PCs needed consultation with their principal pediatricians (n=15). There were 3 overarching reasons parents valued those consultations: finally getting a clear overview of everything (n=6), nice to be kept up to date (n=6), and finally having an interaction with the principal pediatrician (n=3). An example of the latter category is presented in the following quote:

Yes, we had a great need actually. We actually had some of our questions answered during rounds, but that moment is fairly short. That was also explained to us. For certain questions, they make sure we get moments like this [the weekly meeting with the main pediatrician]. This was a great moment. We had many questions about what will happen when we leave. These came forth from changes that have been happening. Those things all come together now and we just want to know what will happen next week. [PC14]

Four PCs had a lesser need for weekly consultations. These parents stated that the consultation did not provide extra information because they had already received information from nurses or other professionals during their daily rounds. However, 1 PC (as noted in the aforementioned quote) did have a need for the weekly meeting with the pediatrician despite having received information during daily rounds. Thus, valuing the consultation seems to depend on the parents' perspectives and experiences.

Almost all parents were pleased with how the different professionals of the neonatal unit communicated. Repeatedly, parents gave short answers if they were satisfied with the level of communication (eg, PC06: "Yes, very satisfied with the communication"). The parents unanimously declared to have felt included and stated that no decisions were made without consulting the parents first. PCs that were slightly less positive (n=4) shared the same overarching reason for their opinion: the medical staff members' team is large, and there are many different professionals who have their own way of communicating and caring. This opinion is best summarized in the following statements:

In general, the communication is very good. Yes, I know that for sure. However, you do notice that everyone has his own method of caring for our baby. And ehm...that is a disadvantage because it is a large team. You get acquainted with someone who is taking care of us, you just get to know someone and their ways and then the next person arrives. You keep switching between how people do everything. [PC10]

I do however notice that when another nurse takes over something, that I can just pick up where I left off with everything that I was saying. I don't have the idea that I have to fill in certain blanks. [PC20]

# Part 2: Parents' and Pediatricians' Interest in an mHealth App

#### Parents' Need for an mHealth App

Next, we examined whether the parents would appreciate a communication and question-asking mHealth app that could be used during the hospitalization period (RQ 4, 5, and 6). This hypothetical app could give parents the opportunity to disclose questions, themes, and concerns to the pediatrician days before the consultation.

In total, 17 of the 19 PCs' valued the idea of this type of app, 10 of whom indicated that they would definitely use it; 8 of these couples mentioned that they believe it is practical to be able to write down their questions as soon as they think of one:

Sometimes you think of questions when you are not in the room [and do not have anything with you to take notes] and you of course, always have your phone with you [...]. Just easier when you have an app, especially now that we live in a mobile era. [PC19]

Yes, I think it has value [the app]. You can, the moment you think of a question, write it down. That might bring you peace. [PC05]

Seven couples liked the idea of the app but did not believe they would use it themselves. In explaining their point of view, 2 PCs (PC09 and PC14) mentioned that they could, however, understand the benefits of the app for medical professionals:

Well, not that much [need for such an app for us] actually. I can imagine there are people who would have a need for such an app but I don't think we would use it that often [...] I do think it is a good initiative. There is a low threshold to present certain problems to the doctor and the doctor can then focus on the needs of the parents and prepare themselves better [...]. And, as a doctor you get to say "I have to come back to that later" less often, in terms of efficiency it is very useful. Yes, I am positive about an app, not necessarily for us, but I do believe that parents can benefit from this. Especially new parents. [C14]

Overall, 14 of the 19 PCs stated that using such an app could probably change the way they ask questions. Parents provided various reasons for this. For example, most (n=10) PCs mentioned that they would probably ask more questions because they were less likely to forget them. Four parents stated that given the potential features of the mHealth app, they would probably have more questions because they had access to more information:

If there would be, for instance, a questions suggestions list, then I would probably ask more questions. Or certain information about preterm

#### infants in general, which I haven't personally thought about yet, then I would think like "hey I would want to know something about that." [PC11]

Four PCs stated that they would probably ask fewer questions if the app contained basic medical information about preterm infants. One PC (C10) mentioned that they would probably ask more in-depth questions during the consultation because their questions have already been made clear to the caregiver beforehand. This could make consultations elapse more efficiently and satisfactorily.

The motivations of the 2 PCs (PC06 and PC12) who did not need the app were similar. They preferred real-life contact over all else and were not, in their words, the "app kind of people."

An overview of parents' ideas for the mHealth app is presented in Table 3 (RQ4). The most mentioned feature by the parents was a graph feature, which included their infants' growth. Most parents valued this function because of entertaining grounds (eg, C14: "something like a weight tracker is fun"), whereas others valued this feature because of their need to keep track of their infant's progress (eg, PC05: "keeping track of their progress would be nice [by using trackers], I keep track of everything myself now but in an app would be nice, clear").

Parents who valued a diary or achievements feature had similar reasons for why they would like such a feature: either because of entertaining properties or because they wanted to keep track of their infants' progress. One of the PCs proposed the option of having a list to mark off specific milestones (eg, weight >2000 g) in a playful way as part of the diary function. They believed that this would help keep the parents motivated in working toward discharge from the hospital.

Table 3. Features, the content of features, and frequency of interviews the feature was mentioned in.

Features	Content	Frequency of interviews in which the feature was mentioned (n=19), n (%)
Graphs	Graphs including their infants' growth or weight and what is normal for infants to grow or weigh (comparisons)	8 (42)
Diary or achievements	Diary in which parents could write their own experiences and condi- tion of their infant	6 (32)
Information	Practical basic information, glossary of terms, what to expect with a preterm infant	6 (32)
Medical rounds reports	Report of what is discussed during medical rounds provided by all medical caregivers, including the current values	5 (26)
Baby cam	Camera feature that shows their infant in their bed at the hospital	5 (26)
Agenda	Schedule including planning or appointments	4 (21)
Frequently asked questions	Frequently asked questions with answers	3 (16)
Question suggestions	Suggestions on what the parents could ask their caregivers	2 (11)
Pictures	Saving and sending pictures	2 (11)
Information medical exams	Explanation of different medical exams	1 (5)
Results medical exams	Results of the exams (eg, blood testing, MRI <sup>a</sup> )	1 (5)
Parental presence	Giving parents the option to state when they are at the hospital and when they are gone	1 (5)

<sup>a</sup>MRI: magnetic resonance imaging.

The medical rounds report feature is the final feature worth mentioning. During medical rounds in the morning, general care-related information about the infant is discussed, as well as information such as what happened during the night [9]. Several parents indicated that they saw medical caregivers typing along the discussed information during medical rounds and would also like to have that information:

During rounds you see the doctor typing little reports, you remember it [the information discussed] as a parent but it is still nice to check it later on. Sometimes I forget the easy things like their weight. Just some broad outlines I would definitely like to have. Also, maybe if later on something happens that you are able to see that back. [PC20]

The main reason some PCs wanted these reports was that they simply wanted to be able to reread the information.

#### Pediatricians' Need for an mHealth App

The pediatricians (n=7) were also asked how they would feel about using the hypothetical mHealth app (RQ6). All pediatricians were positive about the idea of a communication app. Four of 7 pediatricians believed the app could personally help them in being better prepared for the consultation because of the potential app's function to read parents' concerns and questions beforehand. Three of the 7 pediatricians thought that the app may be particularly helpful for the more anxious parents by having them store questions and concerns at any moment at any place, thereby relieving some stress:

Yes [I would value such an app] because you can see what the parents are occupied with beforehand so you can already prepare yourself for the questions they are having instead of having to get back to it during medical rounds. [D06]

It would be nice if I was able to check the old-fashioned lists parents normally bring to the consult. Imagine that they would ask something I wouldn't know the answer to, for instance "when is the appointment with the eye doctor?", then I could look this up beforehand and would be able to have a more efficient interaction. For that matter, there are also questions that you of course expect [...] however, unexpected questions do happen and having that [such an app] would be nice to have. [D03]

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The interaction between the pediatrician and parents, as well as their digital communication technology needs, were evaluated in a 2-part exploratory needs assessment, with the goal of improving interpersonal communication and information exchange. The results from the first part of the study showed that pediatricians introduced most themes, of which feeding and breastfeeding, personal introductions, the consultation office, medication (caffeine), and parents' personal lives were the most frequent ones.

#### Tenfelde et al

Themes initiated by the medical caregivers such as introducing themselves or asking the parents about their personal lives are not medical themes but topics that reflect a caring environment in the neonatal department [23]. The pediatricians seem to be engaged in ensuring that parents understand the hospital situation and all staff members. This is also demonstrated by the pediatricians' concern for the parents' questions and satisfaction with the communication. However, there was 1 aspect that received some criticism from multiple parents, namely, the constantly shifting nursing staff. This is not a novel result and is difficult to change [5]. However, most of the parents stated that although the nursing staff is always changing, all the nurses are up to date on how the parents and the infant are doing, and transitioning between nurses is relatively easy.

Regarding question asking, observational results showed that mothers asked more questions than fathers, and the majority of the PCs stated that they did not forget to ask certain questions during the consultation. This answer could potentially be explained by having the interview conducted shortly after the consultation. Given that the parents were still processing the information from their appointment with the pediatrician [10], it could be that parents did not realize that they had forgotten to ask a question. Fortunately, the interview results show that parents experience a hospital environment in which they are able to ask questions to various medical caregivers 24/7. Several parents explained that if they forgot to ask something or came up with a question randomly, they just asked the nurses. Finally, although parents are going through difficult and stressful times while they are in the hospital [6], they were all quite optimistic during the interview and talked highly of the neonatal unit and its staff.

Then, the second part of our study used the mHealth app. Nearly all parents seemed to value the idea of the mHealth app and recognize the possible benefits it would have for them. Providing information has been the main purpose of most existing neonatal mHealth apps, and this study has shown that the same remains an important feature of an mHealth intervention [12]. In essence, almost all features frequently mentioned by the parents are linked to retrieving information. Some parents expressed this by simply desiring a standard information feature, some by wanting the reports from the medical rounds, whereas others valued the most frequently asked questions, and so on. This resembles what is depicted in the literature regarding the needs of parents of preterm infants: parents have extensive information needs and crave to satisfy these needs by seeking information from various sources [11,12,15].

Previous studies have repeatedly shown that patients and physicians value different aspects of supporting interventions, and this study supports that notion [20]. For example, during the observations, the parents often initiated the theme "increase in length," whereas the pediatricians were not concerned about the length because, from a medical standpoint, weight gain is much more important than increase in length. The length was also the most frequently mentioned app feature that parents would find valuable. This illustrates that there seems to be a discrepancy between what parents want to know and what is important for professionals [20]. Furthermore, it supports the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38435
```

XSL•FO RenderX

idea that it is important to include all the different stakeholders in developing an mHealth app [19].

According to parents, the actual use of the hypothetical app will depend on a variety of personal factors, such as their general opinion of electronic interventions or how difficult or easy the hospital stay is. These are personal experiences and points of view that are likely to be expressed in connection with other possible electronic interventions and are not necessarily related to a particular mHealth app's content.

In summary, even though parents are positive about the consultations, most parents still value using an mHealth app because they have a strong need for information and a desire to feel deeply involved in the entire process [6]. The proposed mHealth app mostly received good feedback from both parents and pediatricians.

#### **Theoretical and Societal Implications**

This study has several theoretical and practical implications. First, to our knowledge, this study is one of the few studies to observe how consultations organically unfold at a level II neonatal unit [18]. The findings from the observations have provided a comprehensive list of themes that are discussed during consultations in addition to who initiates these themes, allowing for insights into the topics that both pediatricians and parents deem crucial to discuss. This could help medical caregivers guide their consultations. In addition, by supplementing observational data with interview data, a comprehensive understanding of the current interactions and how parents felt about the consultations was obtained.

Furthermore, this study is one of the few to our knowledge to use scientific research to gather insights for the creation of a neonatal mHealth app and to examine parental perceptions before app development, which will hopefully boost the possibility of creating an appropriate intervention [22]. Although the major purpose of the mHealth app was to give parents the option of asking their caregivers questions ahead of time, our interview data revealed that parents wanted several other functionalities. In addition, for other neonatal mHealth developers, we recommend that at least the following features are present in such an app: (1) graphs about the child's growth with the option of comparing and checking milestones, (2) information including frequently asked questions that resemble the information a hospital provides because parents value hospital-specific information instead of general preterm information, and (3) a summary of the daily medical rounds.

Furthermore, based on our findings, we were able to make some concrete recommendations that mHealth app developers, in general, may consider when designing an mHealth app. Of course, different mHealth apps require various recommendations. However, the recommendations in Textbox 1 are what we advise for comparable apps.

Textbox 1. Recommendations for mHealth developers.

- Future users should be involved early in the app's development process.
- The app should have an attractive nonmedical look and feel.
- The app should be a useful tool, it should not replace aspects such as general information provision, sharing specific medical data, or planning.
- The app should not be intrusive for medical caregivers. It should not disturb daily work nor add to the workload of the caregivers.

#### Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

Our findings must also be viewed in light of these limitations. First, these premature infants were not critically ill, which rendered positive and hopeful consultations that could have positively influenced their parents. Nevertheless, there is not necessarily a reason to believe that pediatricians will behave differently in consultations when the infant is in a more critical health condition. To be able to evaluate the impact of the preterm infant's health on the caregiver-parent dialogue, future research on this topic should therefore include a more diverse patient population.

The next limitation is that the sample was taken from 2 Dutch hospitals. It could therefore be argued that our results lack generalization because every country has its own culture and also its way of communicating. Our data reflect Dutch neonatal structures and ways of communication. Future research should examine and compare the communication at more neonatal units internationally to obtain a clearer picture of the current communication structures.

Finally, although parents were satisfied with the consultation, we did not examine whether the physicians' information was

fully understood by the parents. Research has shown that parents tend to have difficulty understanding what is being said [4,25]. As correct parental understanding is also highly important for navigating the emotional hospital period and time thereafter [4], we propose future research on this topic.

#### Conclusions

On the basis of the results from both the observations and interviews, it is possible to conclude that, according to parents, communication at the neonatal unit is effective, informative, and satisfying. The second part of the study showed great interest in the potential mHealth app by both the parents and the pediatricians and yielded interesting insights for the development of mHealth apps.

This explorative study is a foundation for things to come. This study has paved the way for the next step in creating the communicative mHealth intervention in which there will still be plenty to be discovered regarding the app and its potential. We believe that an mHealth intervention has potential benefits for both parents and medical professionals. Hence, continuing research and development of mHealth apps is encouraged.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank P Jira, MD, PhD, a pediatrician at the Jeroen Bosch Hospital.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Bakewell-Sachs S, Gennaro S. Parenting the post-NICU premature infant. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2004;29(6):398-403. [doi: 10.1097/00005721-200411000-00011] [Medline: 15618867]
- 2. Jackson K, Ternestedt BM, Schollin J. From alienation to familiarity: experiences of mothers and fathers of preterm infants. J Adv Nurs 2003 Jul;43(2):120-129. [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02686.x] [Medline: 12834369]
- 3. Mäkelä H, Axelin A, Feeley N, Niela-Vilén H. Clinging to closeness: the parental view on developing a close bond with their infants in a NICU. Midwifery 2018 Jul;62:183-188. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.midw.2018.04.003</u>] [Medline: <u>29684798</u>]
- Wigert H, Dellenmark Blom M, Bry K. Parents' experiences of communication with neonatal intensive-care unit staff: an interview study. BMC Pediatr 2014 Dec 10;14:304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-014-0304-5] [Medline: 25492549]
   Lente B. Information to parental unit. L.Nacastal Num. 2017 Aug. 22(4):180–184. [doi:
- 5. Lantz B. Information to parents in the neonatal unit. J Neonatal Nurs 2017 Aug;23(4):180-184. [doi: 10.1016/j.jnn.2017.02.007]
- 6. Kowalski WJ, Leef KH, Mackley A, Spear ML, Paul DA. Communicating with parents of premature infants: who is the informant? J Perinatol 2006 Jan 01;26(1):44-48. [doi: <u>10.1038/sj.jp.7211409</u>] [Medline: <u>16292336</u>]
- Griffin T. Family-centered care in the NICU. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs 2006;20(1):98-102. [doi: 10.1097/00005237-200601000-00029] [Medline: 16508475]
- Hagen IH, Iversen VC, Nesset E, Orner R, Svindseth MF. Parental satisfaction with neonatal intensive care units: a quantitative cross-sectional study. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Jan 15;19(1):37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3854-7] [Medline: 30646901]
- Hill C, Knafl KA, Santacroce SJ. Family-centered care from the perspective of parents of children cared for in a pediatric intensive care unit: an integrative review. J Pediatr Nurs 2018;41:22-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2017.11.007] [Medline: 29153934]
- 10. Aronson PL, Yau J, Helfaer MA, Morrison W. Impact of family presence during pediatric intensive care unit rounds on the family and medical team. Pediatrics 2009 Oct;124(4):1119-1125. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-0369] [Medline: 19736262]
- 11. Spargo P, de Vries NK. 'Babble': a smartphone app for parents who have a baby in the neonatal unit. J Paediatr Child Health 2018 Feb;54(2):121-123. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.13817] [Medline: 29417669]
- Richardson B, Dol J, Rutledge K, Monaghan J, Orovec A, Howie K, et al. Evaluation of mobile apps targeted to parents of infants in the neonatal intensive care unit: systematic app review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 15;7(4):e11620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11620] [Medline: 30985282]
- 13. Van Dijk MR, Koster MP, Rosman AN, Steegers-Theunissen RP. Opportunities of mHealth in preconception care: preferences and experiences of patients and health care providers and other involved professionals. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 17;5(8):e123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7834] [Medline: 28818820]
- Garfield CF, Lee YS, Kim HN, Rutsohn J, Kahn JY, Mustanski B, et al. Supporting parents of premature infants transitioning from the NICU to home: a pilot randomized control trial of a smartphone application. Internet Interv 2016 May;4(Pt 2):131-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.05.004] [Medline: 27990350]
- Shorey S, Ng YP, Danbjørg DB, Dennis CL, Morelius E. Effectiveness of the 'Home-but not Alone' mobile health application educational programme on parental outcomes: a randomized controlled trial, study protocol. J Adv Nurs 2017 Jan;73(1):253-264. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13151] [Medline: 27650320]
- Dol J, Delahunty-Pike A, Anwar Siani S, Campbell-Yeo M. eHealth interventions for parents in neonatal intensive care units: a systematic review. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep 2017 Dec;15(12):2981-3005. [doi: 10.11124/JBISRIR-2017-003439] [Medline: 29219875]
- 17. Doron MW, Trenti-Paroli E, Linden DW. Supporting parents in the NICU: a new app from the US, 'MyPreemie': a tool to provide parents of premature babies with support, empowerment, education and participation in their infant's care. J Neonatal Nurs 2013 Dec;19(6):303-307. [doi: 10.1016/j.jnn.2013.08.005]
- Boss RD, Donohue PK, Larson SM, Arnold RM, Roter DL. Family conferences in the neonatal ICU: observation of communication dynamics and contributions. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2016 Mar;17(3):223-230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000617] [Medline: 26684988]
- Nievas-Soriano BJ, García-Duarte S, Fernández-Alonso AM, Bonillo-Perales A, Parrón-Carreño T. Users evaluation of a Spanish eHealth pediatric website. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2021 Nov;212:106462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2021.106462] [Medline: <u>34715515</u>]

- 20. Garne K, Brødsgaard A, Zachariassen G, Clemensen J. Telemedicine in neonatal home care: identifying parental needs through participatory design. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Jul 08;5(3):e100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5467] [Medline: 27392576]
- 21. Miller N, Rogers SN. A review of question prompt lists used in the oncology setting with comparison to the Patient Concerns Inventory. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2018 Jan;27(1):e12489. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12489] [Medline: 26989045]
- Francis JJ, Johnston M, Robertson C, Glidewell L, Entwistle V, Eccles MP, et al. What is an adequate sample size? Operationalising data saturation for theory-based interview studies. Psychol Health 2010 Dec;25(10):1229-1245. [doi: 10.1080/08870440903194015] [Medline: 20204937]
- 23. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Fetus And Newborn. Levels of neonatal care. Pediatrics 2012 Sep;130(3):587-597. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1999] [Medline: 22926177]
- 24. Halcomb EJ, Davidson PM. Is verbatim transcription of interview data always necessary? Appl Nurs Res 2006 Feb;19(1):38-42. [doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2005.06.001] [Medline: 16455440]
- Payot A, Gendron S, Lefebvre F, Doucet H. Deciding to resuscitate extremely premature babies: how do parents and neonatologists engage in the decision? Soc Sci Med 2007 Apr;64(7):1487-1500. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.11.016</u>] [Medline: <u>17196312</u>]

#### Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile healthNICU: neonatal intensive care unitPC: parent-coupleRQ: research question

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 10.06.22; peer-reviewed by B Nievas Soriano, W Langewitz; comments to author 30.07.22; revised version received 23.09.22; accepted 17.10.22; published 07.02.23.

Please cite as:

Tenfelde K, Antheunis M, Krahmer E, Bunt JE Using Digital Communication Technology to Improve Neonatal Care: Two-Part Explorative Needs Assessment JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e38435 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38435 doi:10.2196/38435 PMID:36749606

©Kim Tenfelde, Marjolijn Antheunis, Emiel Krahmer, Jan Erik Bunt. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 07.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Designing a Collaborative Patient-Centered Digital Health Platform for Pediatric Diabetes Care in British Columbia: Formative Needs Assessment by Caregivers of Children and Youths Living With Type 1 Diabetes and Health Care Providers

Fatema S Abdulhussein<sup>1,2</sup>, MD; Susan Pinkney<sup>2</sup>, MA; Matthias Görges<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Tibor van Rooij<sup>2,4</sup>, PhD; Shazhan Amed<sup>1,2</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>2</sup>BC Children's Hospital Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Anesthesiology Pharmacology & Therapeutics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Department of Computer Science, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

**Corresponding Author:** 

Shazhan Amed, MD Department of Pediatrics University of British Columbia BC Children's Hospital 4480 Oak Street K4-212 Vancouver, BC, V6H3N1 Canada Phone: 1 604 875 2345 ext 2624 Fax: 1 604 875 3231 Email: samed@cw.bc.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Digital health apps are becoming increasingly available for people living with diabetes, yet data silos continue to exist. This requires health care providers (HCPs) and patients to use multiple digital platforms to access health data.

**Objective:** In this study, we gathered the perspectives of caregivers of children and youths living with type 1 diabetes (T1D) and pediatric diabetes HCPs in the user-centered design of TrustSphere, a secure, single-point-of-access, integrative digital health platform.

**Methods:** We distributed web-based surveys to caregivers of children and youths living with T1D and pediatric diabetes HCPs in British Columbia, Canada. Surveys were designed using ordinal scales and had free-text questions. Survey items assessed key challenges, perceptions about digital trust and security, and potential desirable features for a digital diabetes platform.

**Results:** Similar challenges were identified between caregivers of children and youths living with T1D (n=99) and HCPs (n=49), including access to mental health support, integration of diabetes technology and device data, and the ability to collaborate on care plans with their diabetes team. Caregivers and HCPs identified potential features that directly addressed their challenges, such as more accessible diabetes data and diabetes care plans. Caregivers had more trust in sharing their child's data digitally than HCPs. Most caregivers and HCPs stated that an integrative platform for T1D would support collaborative patient care.

**Conclusions:** Caregiver and HCP perspectives gathered in this study will inform the early prototype of an integrative digital health platform. This prototype will be presented and iterated upon through a series of usability testing sessions with caregivers and HCPs to ensure the platform meets end users' needs.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46432) doi:10.2196/46432

#### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

application design; challenge; child; design; development; diabetes; diabetic; digital health; digital solution; engagement; feature; needs assessment; patient engagement; patient need; pediatric; perception; privacy; secure; security; trust; Type 1 diabetes; Type 1; usage; user centered; user need; youth

# Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has shown the promise of digital health to transform health care delivery and improve patient experience and clinical care outcomes through virtual care visits, mobile health, telemedicine, and remote patient monitoring [1]. An estimated 300,000 digital health apps are available, and more than 200 new apps are added daily [2]. Specifically, many stand-alone diabetes digital apps do not integrate regulated medical devices, such as insulin pumps or continuous glucose monitors (CGMs) [3,4]. However, the uptake of digital health apps has lagged as they are not user-friendly and difficult to navigate [5]. There are also concerns around digital health literacy, data privacy and security, and barriers to accessing technology for populations in varying socioeconomic and geographic backgrounds [1].

Most diabetes digital apps are designed for self-management, targeting patients living with type 2 diabetes [4,6]. In a systematic review that evaluated 656 diabetes health apps for iOS and Android in patients 50 years and older, it was found that 54% of the apps were limited to providing 1 function, which was a documentation feature [3]. This entailed manual recording of blood glucose values, monitoring of food, physical activity, and medication frequency, often linked with a reminder function [3]. However, only 18% of the diabetes apps allowed analysis of the recorded data and graphical results display [3]. A total of 96% of these apps were designed specifically for patients, but only 3.7% addressed the needs of both patients and health care providers (HCPs) [3].

User-centered design of digital health apps is an approach that incorporates stakeholder input at any point during the development process, from as early as when the idea is first conceived, as part of usability testing of initial prototypes that undergo iterative development, to the eventual pilot implementation of a minimal viable product [7,8]. User-centered design is considered necessary to ensure feasibility, usability, and eventual uptake of digital health solutions by end users, such as HCPs and patients [7]. User engagement in evaluating diabetes digital apps is low, and most apps have involved patients only after the apps have been created [6]. Some apps have studied the needs and key features desired by patients with diabetes in the design of digital health platforms [9-11]. Adults living with diabetes prioritize access to their diabetes data and communication with the health care team as key functions in diabetes apps [9,11]. A diabetes app that motivates adolescents with type 1 diabetes (T1D) to self-manage their diabetes by recording their glucometer data identified social interaction in a group, customization, and tangible rewards as motivating factors to use the app [10]. However, the perceptions of HCPs in the design of these apps were not evaluated [9,10].

Children with T1D have the most significant uptake of diabetes technology from CGM use to automated insulin delivery systems [12], which store a vast amount of patient-generated health data. Data from these devices are uploaded onto various proprietary digital platforms, and HCPs, patients, and their families must access these platforms using multiple usernames and passwords [13]. Tidepool, a cloud-based open-source digital platform that

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46432

XSL•F() RenderX can integrate data from any diabetes device, was created to break down the siloed data [13]. Digital apps that provide education on diabetes self-management or in response to blood glucose data are limited but desired by patients [14]. Apps that allow people living with diabetes to interact with their health care team are limited and are mostly designed for adults living with type 2 diabetes [15,16].

To our knowledge, a digital platform that enables diabetes data integration from various devices while also providing easy access to diabetes care plans, educational resources, and a seamless digital connection to a diabetes health care team does not yet exist. As diabetes devices become increasingly interoperable, there is an unprecedented opportunity for automated streaming and integration of patient-generated health data into 1 trusted digital space viewable by both patients and their caregivers and HCPs, where they can also access information that will support the optimization and personalization of care experiences and diabetes self-management such as insulin dose adjustment.

Our transdisciplinary research team partnered with industry partners to assemble the TrustSphere consortium. This consortium aims to cocreate a digital health platform to support a collaborative and continuous care experience for patients, their caregivers, and their HCPs. TrustSphere provides a secure, single digital access point to view diabetes data and care plans. This study describes TrustSphere's user-centered design approach at the conceptual phase of developing our digital health platform. The objective of this study was to gather perspectives of caregivers of children and youths living with T1D and pediatric diabetes HCPs on their current challenges, barriers, and facilitators of digital technology trust and usage for clinical care, and desired features early in the conceptual stage of designing this single-point-of-access secure integrative digital health platform.

# Methods

#### **Description of TrustSphere**

At this early, formative stage of our project, the TrustSphere platform existed as a high-level concept and was described to caregivers of children and youths living with T1D as follows:

A secure online platform that will be customized for child and youth patients and their families, and will integrate a patient's health information such as diagnoses, medications and treatments, appointments, lab test results, wearable data (eg, FitBit), etc. This platform would use secure and trusted digital identification and follow the highest health care industry and public standards of privacy protection. The platform would help make it easier for children and families to access their health information and care plans and to communicate directly with health care providers. It would also allow users to share their health information and care plans, if desired, with others involved in their child's care, as well as donate their data confidentially for research.

TrustSphere was described to HCPs as follows:

... a patient-centered integrated digital platform customized for patients and families of children and youth with T1D, and for the health care providers who serve them. This integrated patient platform will use secure and trusted digital identification and will be in compliance with the highest health care industry and public standards of privacy protection. It will provide a single-point-of-access dashboard for care providers and patients that will integrate patient data from a range of sources including clinical data from EMRs and labs, glucose sensors and insulin pumps, and wearables (eg, FitBit), and will enable the creation of personalized patient care plans. This integrated platform will allow for direct communication between patients/families and members of their care team, and the ability for patients to share their medical data and diabetes care plans, if desired, with other individuals within their circle of care (ie, primary care, nursing support services, etc).

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study was approved by the University of British Columbia Children's and Women's Research Ethics Boards (H20-03105).

#### **Data Collection**

For caregivers of children and youths living with T1D in British Columbia (BC), a 35-item web-based survey was developed (Multimedia Appendix 1), which gathered perceptions of digital trust and security, challenges related to caring for their child with T1D, perspectives toward the proposed digital platform, importance of various potential features, and likelihood of future platform use based on the description above.

A 25-item web-based survey was developed for pediatric diabetes HCPs using REDCap (REDCap Consortium) (Multimedia Appendix 2) [17]. Survey items assessed critical current challenges in HCPs' practice when providing care to children and youths with T1D, essential features in digital tools that support patient care, levels of concern around digital security and data privacy, and the likelihood of use of the digital platform based on the description above.

The surveys had a list of potential features that were compiled through a review of features in existing T1D platforms and apps and consultation with clinical stakeholders on the study team. Free text "other" answer categories were also offered to ensure respondents could describe features that may not be listed if needed.

#### **Participants**

Using the BC Children's Hospital (BCCH) Diabetes Clinic database, email invitations with study information and a survey link were distributed to caregivers of patients living with T1D who were younger than 18 years, who were accessing pediatric diabetes care at BCCH (n=760). A total of 99 caregivers of children and youths living with T1D in BC completed the survey with a response rate of 13%.

The HCP survey was distributed to pediatric diabetes HCPs (pediatricians, pediatric endocrinologists, diabetes educators, and dietitians) across the Canadian province of BC using the Annual BC Pediatric Diabetes Day email listserv (maintained by the University of British Columbia's Continuing Professional Development administrative staff). This conference is attended by pediatric diabetes clinicians, such as physicians, diabetes nurse educators, dietitians, and pharmacists (n=232). The email contained information about the study and a link to the survey. A total of 49 HCPs completed the survey with a response rate of 21%.

#### Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze quantitative survey data results. Qualitative data obtained through open-ended survey questions underwent conventional content analysis by a single coder trained in qualitative analysis to generate preliminary coding categories; 2 researchers then reviewed results independently, after which both researchers worked together to deliberate and finalize the coding guide, resolve inconsistencies, and identify themes.

# Results

#### Participant Demographics and Technology Use

Table 1 shows the demographics of total caregiver respondents of children and youths living with T1D (n=99), though important to note that not all caregivers completed each section. The breakdown of HCP respondents (n=49), the Health Authority in which they practice within the province of BC, and the number of children and youths younger than 18 years with T1D followed by their practice are shown in Table 2.

Caregivers reported that 66% (65/99) of their children used CGM, and 54% (53/99) used an insulin pump. A total of 27% (27/99) reported that their children used health and well-being monitoring apps on their smartphones, while 34% (33/99) of caregivers used similar apps. Many caregivers (76/99, 77%) also stated that if their child was older than 7 years, they shared the decision-making responsibility when managing their diabetes.



#### Abdulhussein et al

Table 1. Participant characteristics of caregivers of children and youths who are <18 years old with type 1 diabetes (total caregiver respondents, N=99).

Characteristic	Participants
Gender (n=94), n (%)	
Female	71 (76)
Male	23 (24)
Area of residence (n=94), n (%)	
Urban	42 (44)
Suburban	40 (43)
Rural	12 (13)
Household income (CAD \$ <sup>a</sup> ; n=85), n (%)	
Less than 45,000	6 (7)
45,000 to less than 75,000	9 (11)
75,000 to less than 100,000	7 (8)
100,000 to 150,000	33 (39)
150,000 to 300,000	21 (24)
Greater than 300,000	9 (11)
Education (n=91), n (%)	
High school graduation or less	5 (6)
Graduated from trade school	3 (3)
Some college or university degree	24 (26)
College or university undergraduate degree	33 (36)
College or university graduate degree	26 (29)

<sup>a</sup>CAD \$1=US \$0.76.



 Table 2. Participant characteristics of health care providers (HCPs).

	Participants (n=49), n (%)
HCPs	
Diabetes nurse educators	18 (37)
Nursing support services <sup>a</sup>	12 (25)
Pediatricians	9 (18)
Dieticians	6 (12)
Pediatric endocrinologists	4 (8)
HCP health authority of practice	
Vancouver Island Health Authority	11 (22)
Provincial Health Services Authority	8 (16)
Northern Health Authority	8 (16)
Fraser Health Authority	8 (16)
Interior Health Authority	8 (16)
Vancouver Coastal Health Authority	6 (12)
Children and youths <18 years old with T1D <sup>b</sup> in their practice	
Less than 25	20 (42)
25-49	7 (14)
50-99	6 (12)
100-149	5 (10)
150-200	3 (6)
More than 200	8 (16)

<sup>a</sup>These health care providers support care of children living with type 1 diabetes in schools. <sup>b</sup>T1D: type 1 diabetes.

#### **Reported Challenges**

#### Caregivers of Children and Youths Living With T1D

Caregivers identified access to diabetes management technologies, diabetes support in schools, and mental health as the top challenges in caring for a child with T1D (Table 3). Qualitatively, they also identified barriers such as insufficient

knowledge about diabetes technologies, access to financial coverage for diabetes technologies, and diabetes self-management skills (eg, insulin dose adjustments). Caregivers also reported that keeping track of all their child's health information (55/99, 56%) and sharing this information among different HCPs (40/99, 40%) was challenging, with 65% (64/99) of caregivers using a combination of paper and digital sources.

**Table 3.** Challenges reported by caregivers of children and youths living with type 1 diabetes. ("What are the biggest challenges that you currently face related to caring for your child with T1D? Select your top 3.")

Challenge	Participants (n=84), n (%)
Access to diabetes management technologies (ie. insulin pumps and glucose sensors)	45 (54)
Support for your child's diabetes care in school	45 (54)
Access to mental health support (social worker or psychologist)	41 (49)
Accessing your child's medical information (ie, glucose sensor data, pump data, and lab test results)	33 (39)
Connecting with your diabetes team between visits	32 (38)
Access to a pediatric diabetes doctor	17 (20)
Access to a registered dietician with experience in pediatric diabetes	9 (11)
Access to a diabetes nurse educator	5 (6)
Other	25 (30)

#### **Diabetes HCPs**

Table 4 outlines HCPs' perspectives on the key challenges faced by patients and their families living with T1D, with the most common being related to access to mental health support (ie, a social worker or psychologist), diabetes management technologies (ie, insulin pumps and CGM), and their child's clinical information. Qualitative data identified other challenges, including patients' inability to implement HCPs' recommendations into their day-to-day lives, financial barriers, and the different approaches to diabetes management at home versus at school.

for a clinic visit (ie, uploading pump, and glucometer and CGM data; 37/41, 90%) leading to unavailability of insulin pump (35/41, 85%) and glucose data (35/42, 83%) during a clinical encounter, were identified as "frequent and major" or "sometimes" a challenge (Figure 1). Other challenges that were reported by HCPs qualitatively included a lack of web-based patient support resources (eg. guidance on filling out disability tax credit forms and paperwork for insurance companies), staying up to date on the latest diabetes technologies, having enough time to provide diabetes education during clinic visits, empowering patients to self-manage their diabetes between clinic visits, and lack of peer support programs.

(42/42, 100%), patients' inability to use technology to prepare

HCPs reported similar challenges in their clinical care of children living with T1D. Insufficient mental health services

Table 4. From the perspective of health care providers: current key challenges faced by patients with type 1 diabetes and their families. ("What are the current key challenges that your T1D patients and their families report facing? Select top 3.")

Challenge	Participants (n=49), n (%)
Access to a pediatric diabetes doctor	6 (12)
Access to a diabetes nurse educator	5 (10)
Access to a registered dietitian with experience in pediatric diabetes	6 (12)
Access to mental health support (social worker or psychologist)	41 (84)
Access to diabetes management technologies (ie, insulin pumps and glucose sensors)	26 (53)
Support for their child's diabetes care in school	17 (35)
Accessing their child's clinical information (ie, glucose sensor data, pump data, and lab investigations)	19 (39)
Connecting with their diabetes team between visits	17 (35)
Other	5 (10)

Figure 1. Current degree of challenges faced by health care provider in their practice. ("When providing care to children and youths <18 years of age with T1D in your clinic, to what degree do you find each of the following to be a current challenge in your practice? Select one answer per row.").

	0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100%
Accessing mental health support for patients and families	-	22%					78%				
Having sufficient human resources in my diabetes clinic	8	%		44%				4	9%		
Helping patients navigate technology (uploading pumps and sensors)	89	6			60%				339	%	
Accessing insulin pump uploads for a clinic visit	:	13%			58%			30%			
Sharing or updating care plans with others in patient's health care team Accessing blood glucose meter data (ie, logbooks) for a clinic visit		25%				48%			2	8%	
		15%			6	3%				22%	
Accessing glucose sensor uploads for a clinic visit		18% 62%			21%						
Being able to create optimal care plans for patients		17% 66%		66%			17%				
Seeing patients in diabetes clinic as frequently as I would like		23% <mark>63%</mark>				15%	0				
Communicating with patients and families between clinic visits		3	84%				54%			12	%
Knowing when to screen for complications and comorbidities				60%				3	33%		8%
Motivating my patients to get their screening bloodwork done		23%					70%				8%
Accessing laboratory results for a clinic visit				679	%				31%		39

Not a challenge Sometimes a challenge A frequent or major challenge

RenderX

#### **Preferences for Features of a Digital Health Platform for T1D**

#### Caregivers of Children and Youths Living With T1D

Caregivers were asked to rank the most useful features that could be offered by this platform. From the comprehensive list of potential features, 43% (40/93) ranked accessing CGM data in the top 3 priorities (20% [19/93] ranked highest, 9% [8/93]

ranked second, and 14% [13/93] ranked third). This was followed by insulin pump data (39% [36/93] ranked in the top 3), communication with the diabetes team between visits (37% [34/93] ranked in the top 3), and laboratory test results (37% [34/93] ranked in the top 3) as useful features. Other features frequently ranked as highly useful included accessing diabetes care plans developed with the diabetes team and the ability to share diabetes care plans with other HCPs (Figure 2).

**Figure 2.** Priority ranking of information that caregivers of children and youths living with type 1 diabetes want to include in this digital platform (n=93). ("If this platform was customized for children and youths with type 1 diabetes and their parents/caregivers, what integrated data or features would be most useful for you? *Rank in priority.*").



#### **Diabetes HCPs**

HCPs reported that in a digital single-point-of-access platform, it would be extremely important to include information about patient demographics (43/46, 94%), other medical diagnoses (41/46, 90%), non-diabetes-related medications (33/46, 72%), duration of diabetes (31/46, 68%), and age at diabetes diagnosis (29/46, 63%). HCPs also outlined the importance of including information on a patient's insulin regimen, insulin doses, and glucometer and CGM data (Figure 3).

Further, HCPs stated it would be extremely important to include information on the results of diabetes complications screening laboratory tests (38/43, 88%), automated notifications for HCPs to complete complications screening based on Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice guidelines (33/44, 75%) [18], and patient anthropometric measurements such as blood pressure, height, and weight (31/43, 72%). Another essential feature for HCPs was integrating this digital platform with electronic medical records (EMRs).

When asked about securely communicating with patients and families through the platform, HCPs stated it would be very important to have a direct messaging feature (30/45, 67%), a platform email address (38/45, 84%), a link for videoconferencing (38/45, 84%), as well as the capability to manage clinic appointments (26/45, 58%).



#### Abdulhussein et al

Figure 3. Importance of information that health care providers want to include in this digital platform. ("How important is it to include/integrate the following features/data in an integrated patient platform for T1D? Select one answer per row.").



# Perceptions About the Digital Platform and Likelihood of Use

#### Caregivers of Children and Youths Living With T1D

Caregivers reported that they would be likely to use the platform (65/98, 66%) and stated that the platform would be helpful for their child (83/98, 85%), themselves (97/99, 98%), as well as their HCPs (99/99, 100%) and researchers (99/99, 100%). Caregivers were very willing to share their child's data with their diabetes health care team (97/97, 100%) and other HCPs (96/97, 99%). Still, they would be willing to only share some of their data with members outside the diabetes team, such as other family members (52/97, 54%), school health nurses (66/97, 68%), teachers (65/97, 67%) and after-school program staff (57/97, 59%).

## Diabetes HCPs

HCPs stated that the integrated patient platform would be very helpful (38/44, 86%) and greatly simplify their care for children and youths living with T1D (21/45, 47%). A total of 75% (34/45) of HCPs were likely to use this platform. However, some (10/45, 22%) were undecided due to concerns such as integration with their current EMR, the need for additional documentation and duplication in charting, and that patient participation and engagement were necessary. HCPs also raised concerns related to inequitable access based on socioeconomic status and education, as well as challenges for non–English-speaking families or those who experience barriers in accessing technology or the internet.

# Discussion

#### Overview

In this study, we found that caregivers of children and youths living with T1D and pediatric diabetes HCPs reported similar challenges in managing T1D as well as desirable features for a digital platform to address these challenges, such as access to data from diabetes devices, laboratory results, mental health support, and resources and tools to support diabetes self-management (including school support). For caregivers, the ability to communicate more easily and frequently with their diabetes care team, particularly between clinic visits, and share their diabetes care plans with others in their circle of care were also emphasized as critical features. Most HCPs and caregivers stated they were likely to use the described platform and that an integrative platform would be helpful for collaborative patient care. The results of our study confirm that a digital platform for collaborative use by both caregivers and HCPs (with some user-specific features) has the potential to address key pain points and ultimately improve the care experience.

Most diabetes health apps only seem to be designed for patients [3] and integrating preferences in the design of the diabetes digital apps from both patients and HCPs is limited [3,9-11,14,19]. To successfully implement digital solutions in health care, it is essential to involve end users in the design and development as early as possible. Our study is novel in addressing the needs of caregivers of children and youths living with T1D and pediatric HCPs, which includes physicians, dieticians, and diabetes nurses, at the conceptual stage in the user-centered design of the *TrustSphere Consortium's* digital platform, which will increase its likelihood of meeting end users' needs. Unique to our study, we found that caregivers would also want to share their child's diabetes care plan not

just with HCPs, but also with others caring for their children. Further, HCPs stated that they would also like to see diabetes complications screening laboratory tests as a feature on this digital platform, which has not been reported before.

Adult patients also desire mental health apps geared toward social support and well-being to be a part of diabetes digital apps [9,19]. In this study, insufficient access to mental health support was identified as one of the key challenges by caregivers and patients cared for by HCPs. Caregivers stated it'd be helpful to have links to peer group and social support networks as a feature on the digital platform (data not shown); however, this was not identified as one of the top 3 key features desired. While addressing unmet mental health needs is clearly a priority in this population, this remains a challenging service to provide safely and effectively through a mobile app. Attempting to meet this widespread need through a virtual provision of support would be outside the scope of the platform being designed as part of this study; however, the data on the current unmet need for mental health support will inform future strategic planning around partner services, resources, information, and peer support apps and links that may be integrated into the platform in future iterations.

Patients' demographic characteristics play a role in the uptake of diabetes digital health apps. A recent systematic review revealed that younger, female adult patients, those with a higher level of education and higher monthly incomes are more likely to adopt digital health apps [14,19]. Similarly in our study, 76% (71/94) of the caregivers were female, 65% (59/91) had a college or university degree, and 74% (63/85) had an annual income bracket greater than CAD \$100,000 (US \$76,645.50; Table 1).

Apps that offer multiple features, including documentation, reminders, educational resources, consolidation of diabetes data from different diabetes devices, and nutritional support are more likely to foster long term patient engagement and use [14]. Our study results have uncovered key features as noted in Figures 2 and 3 that will guide the design of the integration of various diabetes data devices within our digital platform. Further, our team has adopted an existing digital health platform, Careteam Technologies, a TrustSphere Consortium industry partner, that will support health care coordination and collaboration among patients, their families, and HCPs. This will be done through a dashboard that will contain diabetes care plans (eg, recommendations of insulin doses), real-time data from connected devices, educational resources, and assigned tasks (eg, completion of blood work) to enhance personalization of pediatric diabetes care. Future developments of our app can look into integration with Learn Diabetes [20], a web-based educational platform developed at BCCH for children living with T1D. It has been shown that the successful implementation of innovative medical technologies depends on acceptance by all health care team members; therefore, it is essential to identify and address barriers to adopting a new digital platform in the clinical workflow as early as possible [21]. A study investigating barriers to uptake digital health technology in cardiovascular care identified poor internet connection and difficult-to-use technology as reported by patients and increased workload and perceived app usefulness as reported by HCPs [22]. Facilitators to improve the uptake of digital health technology included

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46432

improved communication with clinicians, personalized components among patients and improved efficiency and organizational support among HCPs [22]. HCPs in our study identified key barriers that have been considered in the design and development of TrustSphere's digital platform. For example, the platform must be synergistic with, not duplicative of, EMRs. Further, the onboarding process and workflow must support engagement from all HCPs, as well as caregivers, for the platform to succeed.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

Our study involved pediatric HCPs and caregivers of children and youths living with T1D as early as possible in the design and development of a digital integrative platform to optimize its potential to address key pain points, ensure ongoing usability, acceptance and adoption by HCPs and patients, and ultimately improve patient experience and outcomes.

User-centered design and digital app use are prone to selection bias since participants are often Caucasian, female, more educated, tech-savvy, and identify English as their primary language [19,23]. In addition, currently many diabetes management apps are unavailable in languages other than English [4]. This study is limited because caregivers of children and youths living with T1D were only recruited from a tertiary-level pediatric diabetes clinic at BCCH, which provides care to about 40%-50% of children and families living with diabetes in the province of BC. Also, the participants were mostly female and had a higher education and household annual income. We did not collect participant data on race or ethnicity, hence, making it difficult to generalize our findings to more diverse populations. A total of 25% of American adults with household incomes less than CAD \$30,000 (US \$22,791.85) do not own a smartphone. Of those who do, 27% are smartphone-only internet users, indicating they rely solely on their phone's cellular data services [24]. The surveys were sent electronically to HCPs and caregivers in this study, so only those with access to a smartphone or the internet could easily participate. It is important to consider critical issues of equity and access so that new technology closes, rather than widens, the current divide in diabetes technology use across socioeconomic and educational levels [25].

The surveys in this study were distributed at 1 point in time to both caregivers and HCPs, to gather their perspectives on the current challenges and key features desired for this digital platform. As part of the user-centered design approach, following the quantitative data gathered through these needs assessment surveys, focus groups and web-based bulletin boards were conducted to collect qualitative data. This will inform the first stage of cocreating a digital platform for children living with T1D. The resulting prototype will be iteratively presented to caregivers of children and youths living with T1D and pediatric diabetes HCPs across BC in multiple rounds of usability testing (data forthcoming) with the integration of feedback and findings into a minimal viable product that will subsequently be tested in a clinical pilot study.

Future strategies to minimize the divide in the uptake of digital technology include automating and standardizing the collection of race, ethnicity, and primary language data, and obtaining

XSL•FO RenderX

input from ethnic minorities and those with limited English proficiency or poor digital literacy early in the usability testing process. Also, improving literacy can involve distributing educational materials in languages other than English, so patients and their families can better understand and interpret the information provided by digital apps [26]. It is challenging to develop policies that allow for equitable access to all forms of technology, such as smartphones or improving cellular data coverage or home internet access in rural areas; however, this can be argued if it relates to digital health technology. The UK National Health Service has extended the coverage of real-time CGM to all children living with T1D, including those from lower socioeconomic groups or ethnic minorities [27]. Similarly, BC PharmaCare, which covers medical devices and prescriptions, has expanded the approval of Dexcom G6 real-time CGM to all patients on intensive insulin therapy who are older than 2 years [28]. Policies such as these will be critical

in minimizing and eliminating the digital divide and the associated disparities in health outcomes, and potentially expand the use and usefulness of an integrative T1D digital platform such as the one described here to more diverse populations.

#### Conclusions

This study demonstrates the importance of implementing user-centered design as early as possible in developing new digital solutions to ensure optimal use, acceptance, and adoption by HCPs and patients alike. It is novel in identifying the needs of both caregivers of children and youths living with T1D and pediatric HCPs to inform the design of an integrative T1D platform. This study will also inform future digital innovation in the T1D space with an ongoing opportunity to use participatory, user-centered design to achieve higher-quality integrated digital health apps.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

FSA led the manuscript preparation. SP designed data collection methods, performed data analysis, and assisted with manuscript preparation. TvR conceived of the platform concept. MG contributed to the data collection methods and assisted in manuscript preparation. SA conceived of the platform concept, designed the study and data collection methods, and assisted with manuscript preparation. Research reported in this publication was supported by the Canadian Digital Technology Supercluster [29], the University of British Columbia's Office of the Vice-President, Research and Innovation, and Mitacs.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survey Items used for Caregivers of Children & Youths Living with T1D. [DOCX File, 16 KB - pediatrics v6i1e46432 app1.docx]

#### Multimedia Appendix 2

Survey Items used for Pediatric Diabetes Healthcare Professionals. [DOCX File , 24 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e46432\_app2.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Superina S, Malik A, Moayedi Y, McGillion M, Ross HJ. Digital health: the promise and peril. Can J Cardiol 2022;38(2):145-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2021.09.033] [Medline: 34627946]
- 2. IQVIA Institute for Human Data Science Study: Impact of Digital Health Grows as Innovation, Evidence and Adoption of Mobile Health Apps Accelerate. IQVIA. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.iqvia.com/newsroom/2017/11/impact-of-digital-health-grows-as-innovation-evidence-and-adoption-of-mobile-health-apps-accelerate</u> [accessed 2023-01-16]
- Arnhold M, Quade M, Kirch W. Mobile applications for diabetics: a systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2968] [Medline: 24718852]
- 4. Fleming GA, Petrie JR, Bergenstal RM, Holl RW, Peters AL, Heinemann L. Diabetes digital app technology: benefits, challenges, and recommendations. A consensus report by the European association for the study of diabetes (EASD) and the American diabetes association (ADA) diabetes technology working group. Diabetes Care 2020;43(1):250-260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dci19-0062] [Medline: 31806649]
- Jeffrey B, Bagala M, Creighton A, Leavey T, Nicholls S, Wood C, et al. Mobile phone applications and their use in the self-management of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a qualitative study among app users and non-app users. Diabetol Metab Syndr 2019;11:84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13098-019-0480-4] [Medline: 31636719]
- Larbi D, Randine P, Årsand E, Antypas K, Bradway M, Gabarron E. Methods and evaluation criteria for apps and digital interventions for diabetes self-management: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(7):e18480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18480] [Medline: 32628125]
- 7. Graham AK, Wildes JE, Reddy M, Munson SA, Taylor CB, Mohr DC. User-centered design for technology-enabled services for eating disorders. Int J Eat Disord 2019;52(10):1095-1107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/eat.23130] [Medline: 31313370]

- Kruzan KP, Meyerhoff J, Biernesser C, Goldstein T, Reddy M, Mohr DC. Centering lived experience in developing digital interventions for suicide and self-injurious behaviors: user-centered design approach. JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(12):e31367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31367] [Medline: 34951602]
- 9. Fu HNC, Wyman JF, Peden-McAlpine CJ, Draucker CB, Schleyer T, Adam TJ. App design features important for diabetes self-management as determined by the self-determination theory on motivation: content analysis of survey responses from adults requiring insulin therapy. JMIR Diabetes 2023;8:e38592 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/38592] [Medline: 36826987]
- Holtz BE, Murray KM, Hershey DD, Dunneback JK, Cotten SR, Holmstrom AJ, et al. Developing a patient-centered mHealth app: a tool for adolescents with type 1 diabetes and their parents. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017;5(4):e53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6654] [Medline: 28428167]
- 11. Zhang Y, Li X, Luo S, Liu C, Xie Y, Guo J, et al. Use, perspectives, and attitudes regarding diabetes management mobile apps among diabetes patients and diabetologists in China: national web-based survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(2):e12658 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12658] [Medline: 30735147]
- Desrochers HR, Schultz AT, Laffel LM. Use of diabetes technology in children: role of structured education for young people with diabetes and families. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2020;49(1):19-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2019.11.001] [Medline: 31980118]
- Neinstein A, Wong J, Look H, Arbiter B, Quirk K, McCanne S, et al. A case study in open source innovation: developing the tidepool platform for interoperability in type 1 diabetes management. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016;23(2):324-332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv104] [Medline: 26338218]
- 14. Adu MD, Malabu UH, Malau-Aduli AEO, Malau-Aduli BS. Users' preferences and design recommendations to promote engagements with mobile apps for diabetes self-management: multi-national perspectives. PLoS One 2018;13(12):e0208942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208942] [Medline: 30532235]
- 15. Gong E, Baptista S, Russell A, Scuffham P, Riddell M, Speight J, et al. My diabetes coach, a mobile app-based interactive conversational agent to support type 2 diabetes self-management: randomized effectiveness-implementation trial. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(11):e20322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20322] [Medline: 33151154]
- 16. Grady M, Katz LB, Cameron H, Levy BL. Diabetes app-related text messages from health care professionals in conjunction with a new wireless glucose meter with a color range indicator improves glycemic control in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes: randomized controlled trial. JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.7454] [Medline: 30291092]
- 17. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee, Wherrett DK, Ho J, Huot C, Legault L, Nakhla M, et al. Type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents. Can J Diabetes 2018;42(Suppl 1):S234-S246. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.036</u>] [Medline: <u>29650103</u>]
- Alaslawi H, Berrou I, Al Hamid A, Alhuwail D, Aslanpour Z. Diabetes self-management apps: systematic review of adoption determinants and future research agenda. JMIR Diabetes 2022;7(3):e28153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28153] [Medline: 35900826]
- 20. Learn Diabetes. BC Children's Hospital. 2023. URL: https://learndiabetes.ca/ [accessed 2023-06-14]
- 21. Safi S, Thiessen T, Schmailzl KJ. Acceptance and resistance of new digital technologies in medicine: qualitative study. JMIR Res Protoc 2018;7(12):e11072 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11072] [Medline: 30514693]
- 22. Whitelaw S, Pellegrini DM, Mamas MA, Cowie M, Van Spall HGC. Barriers and facilitators of the uptake of digital health technology in cardiovascular care: a systematic scoping review. Eur Heart J Digit Health 2021;2(1):62-74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ehjdh/ztab005] [Medline: 34048508]
- van Velsen L, Ludden G, Grünloh C. The limitations of user-and human-centered design in an eHealth context and how to move beyond them. J Med Internet Res 2022;24(10):e37341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/37341] [Medline: 36197718]
- 24. Digital Divide Persists Even as Americans with Lower Incomes Make Gains in Tech Adoption. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/06/22/digital-divide-persists-even-as-americans-with-lower-incomes-make-gains-in-tech-adoption/</u> [accessed 2023-05-05]
- 25. Addala A, Auzanneau M, Miller K, Maier W, Foster N, Kapellen T, et al. A decade of disparities in diabetes technology use and HbA in pediatric type 1 diabetes: a transatlantic comparison. Diabetes Care 2021;44(1):133-140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc20-0257] [Medline: 32938745]
- 26. Saeed SA, Masters RM. Disparities in health care and the digital divide. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2021;23(9):61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11920-021-01274-4] [Medline: 34297202]
- 27. Diabetes (Type 1 and Type 2) in Children and Young People: Diagnosis and Management. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidelines. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng18/chapter/</u> <u>Recommendations#type-1-diabetes</u> [accessed 2023-05-05]
- 28. Expanded Medical Device Coverage for People with Diabetes. BC Gov News. 2021. URL: <u>https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/</u>2021HLTH0113-001142 [accessed 2023-05-05]
- 29. Digital Supercluster. URL: https://www.digitalsupercluster.ca/ [accessed 2023-06-10]

#### Abbreviations

BC: British Columbia BCCH: BC Children's Hospital CGM: continuous glucose monitor EMR: electronic medical record HCP: health care provider T1D: type 1 diabetes

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 16.02.23; peer-reviewed by AHY Lee, F Wang; comments to author 13.04.23; revised version received 18.05.23; accepted 12.06.23; published 13.07.23.

Please cite as:

Abdulhussein FS, Pinkney S, Görges M, van Rooij T, Amed S Designing a Collaborative Patient-Centered Digital Health Platform for Pediatric Diabetes Care in British Columbia: Formative Needs Assessment by Caregivers of Children and Youths Living With Type 1 Diabetes and Health Care Providers JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46432 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46432 doi:10.2196/46432 PMID:37440296

©Fatema S Abdulhussein, Susan Pinkney, Matthias Görges, Tibor van Rooij, Shazhan Amed. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Review**

# Physical Activity Surveillance in Children and Adolescents Using Smartphone Technology: Systematic Review

Nur Izzatun Nasriah Nasruddin<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MSc; Joey Murphy<sup>1</sup>, BSc, PhD; Miranda Elaine Glynis Armstrong<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MPhil, PhD

Centre for Exercise, Nutrition and Health Sciences, School for Policy Studies, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Nur Izzatun Nasriah Nasruddin, BSc, MSc Centre for Exercise, Nutrition and Health Sciences School for Policy Studies University of Bristol 8 Priory Road Bristol, BS8 1TZ United Kingdom Phone: 44 117 455 2103 Email: <u>izzah.nasruddin@bristol.ac.uk</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Self-reported physical activity (PA) questionnaires have traditionally been used for PA surveillance in children and adolescents, especially in free-living conditions. Objective measures are more accurate at measuring PA, but high cost often creates a barrier for their use in low- and middle-income settings. The advent of smartphone technology has greatly influenced mobile health and has offered new opportunities in health research, including PA surveillance.

**Objective:** This review aimed to systematically explore the use of smartphone technology for PA surveillance in children and adolescents, specifically focusing on the use of smartphone apps.

**Methods:** A literature search was conducted using 5 databases (PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, MEDLINE, and Web of Science) and Google Scholar to identify articles relevant to the topic that were published from 2008 to 2023. Articles were included if they included children and adolescents within the age range of 5 to 18 years; used smartphone technology as PA surveillance; had PA behavioral outcomes such as energy expenditure, step count, and PA levels; were written in English; and were published between 2008 and 2023.

**Results:** We identified and analyzed 8 studies (5 cross-sectional studies and 3 cohort studies). All participants were aged 12-18 years, and all studies were conducted in high-income countries only. Participants were recruited from schools, primary care facilities, and voluntarily. Five studies used mobile apps specifically and purposely developed for the study, whereas 3 studies used mobile apps downloadable from the Apple App Store and Android Play Store. PA surveillance using these apps was conducted from 24 hours to 4 weeks.

**Conclusions:** Evidence of PA surveillance using smartphone technology in children and adolescents was insufficient, which demonstrated the knowledge gap. Additional research is needed to further study the feasibility and validity of smartphone apps for PA surveillance among children and adolescents, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42461) doi:10.2196/42461

#### **KEYWORDS**

physical activity; surveillance; children; adolescents; smartphone technology; smartphone apps; smartphone; technology; application; database; mobile phone

# Introduction

#### Background

Research suggests that the period of childhood and adolescence are critical in a person's development and growth [1].

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42461
```

Engagement in adequate physical activity (PA) results in various health benefits for children, such as lowering the risk of childhood obesity and improving cognitive functioning [2]. Evidence has shown that children who meet PA recommendations have a healthier cardiovascular profile and are likely to become active adults as part of the behavioral

carryover effects [3]. According to the World Health Organization, children and adolescents (aged 5-17 years) are recommended to do on average at least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA) per day to achieve the associated health benefits [4]. However, the latest World Health Organization report in 2019 found that approximately 80% of school-going adolescents (85% of girls and 78% of boys) aged between 11 and 17 years did not meet this recommendation [5].

Engagement in regular MVPA is associated with numerous health benefits [6,7], including positive cognitive development in children and adolescents [8,9]. Research has also shown that greater benefit may come from vigorous activity intensities, in which aerobic-based activities have the greatest health benefit in school-aged children and youth [6]. Given this, it is of paramount importance that PA in children is accurately measured and assessed to identify current PA levels, monitor compliance with PA recommendations, and assess the effectiveness of intervention programs designed to promote PA in children and adolescents [10,11]. Traditionally, PA in this age group is measured using self-report methods such as questionnaires, diaries, and activity logs as well as objective measurements such as heart rate monitoring, direct observation, doubly labeled water, pedometers, and accelerometers [10,11].

However, in recent years, there has been an increasing demand in the use of digital communication technologies in daily life [12-14]. The modernization of health services, delivery, and systems has encouraged the development of digital health, which is now considered a cornerstone in participatory or personalized health [15]. The advent of smartphones and wearable devices has greatly influenced mobile health (mHealth), offering new opportunities in health research, including PA research. These technologies offer real-time and continuous biological, behavioral, and environmental data that enable researchers to understand the etiology of health and disease as well as provide new approaches for the measurement of PA in children and adolescents [16-18]. With the evolution of technology, smartphone apps and wearable activity trackers are currently among the range of mHealth technologies used to measure PA in children and adolescents.

To date, several existing reviews have addressed the use of mHealth in PA research in adult and adolescent populations [19-26]. There are 3 reviews involving adolescents and postsecondary students to date: a study by Lee et al [21], which discussed the efficacy and efficiency of mHealth apps in PA promotion with adolescents; a study by Böhm et al [26], which focused on evaluating the effects of mHealth to increase PA outcomes among children and adolescents; and a study by Ly [23], which aimed to examine the relationships between mobile phones and PA behaviors in postsecondary or university students, with a focus on text messaging interventions. Mönninghoff et al [19] and Laranjo et al [25] aimed to understand the effects of mHealth apps such as smartphone apps and activity trackers interventions to increase PA in adults. Meanwhile, other reviews addressed the use of mHealth technology, specifically smartphone apps, to promote PA and reduce weight in adults [20] and understand the trajectory of smartphone-based interventions for PA promotion in adults and adolescents for the past 10 years [24]. Although informative

and useful for addressing the promotion of PA using mHealth technologies, these reviews did not explore the use of smartphone apps for the surveillance of PA in children and adolescents.

Studies have also shown that objective measurements such as smartphone technologies have the potential to improve PA measurement [27] and potentially reduce the costs of PA surveillance when compared with traditional methods [28,29]. Face-to-face measurements are standard practice; however, in certain conditions, these methods may not be ideal. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic has affected the whole world and changed the way research has been conducted. Smartphone technology offers a different approach for PA measurements, where it allows individual users to install, configure, and run the apps of their choice [30]. These smartphone apps with built-in sensors that can monitor the duration, frequency, and intensity of PA are ideal alternatives for PA measurements and surveillance research [31]. Given this, it would be beneficial to assess whether the advancements in smartphone apps are usable and practical for PA surveillance in children and adolescents.

#### Objectives

This systematic review aimed to explore the use of smartphone technology for PA surveillance among children and adolescents. This review focuses on smartphone apps for PA surveillance and whether they are built into smartphones, downloadable from app stores, or study-specific developed apps.

#### Methods

This systematic review was conducted following the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement [32]. The quality of each study included in this review was assessed using the Strengthening of the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) checklist.

#### **Identifying the Research Question**

On the basis of the current research gap, three research questions were identified to guide this systematic review:

- 1. How has smartphone technology been used in the PA surveillance of children and adolescents?
- 2. How accurate are smartphone technology surveillance methods when compared with objective measures of PA?
- 3. What are potential research gaps within the existing literature requiring further research?

#### **Identifying Relevant Studies**

A systematic literature search was performed on all articles published between January 7, 2008, and December 22, 2022. This date restriction was applied because the Apple App Store was introduced in July 2008 by Apple Inc and Google Play Store was launched into the market in 2012, after the rebranding of the Android Market [33]. Five databases were accessed (PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, MEDLINE, and Web of Science) to find peer-reviewed publications, and Google Scholar was used to find gray literature and additional studies related to the topic. These databases were selected after consultation with a university librarian, who also provided advice on developing

XSL•FO RenderX

the search terms (Multimedia Appendix 1). The search terms used were "smartphone\*" OR "smartphone app\*" OR "mobile phone" OR "mobile app\*" OR "smartphone technolog\*" OR "mobile technolog\*" AND "physical activity" OR "physical activity level" OR "step count\*" OR "energy expenditure\*" OR exercise AND child\* OR adoles\* AND measurement\* OR assessment\* OR surveillance. All the search terms were derived after consultation with the university librarian and discussion among authors. The search terms were applied to both abstracts and full texts during the searching process.

#### **Study Selection**

To be included in this systematic review, all articles must (1) include children and adolescents within the age range of 5 to 18 years; (2) use smartphone technology as PA surveillance; (3) have specific PA behavioral outcomes including energy expenditure, steps count, and PA levels; (4) be written in English; and (5) be published between 2008 and 2023. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) participants out of age range; (2) not written in English; and (3) producing behavioral outcomes other than energy expenditure, steps, and PA levels (eg, sedentary behavior and sleep behavior).

#### **Data Extraction**

All studies identified from the search were imported into the Endnote 20 referencing software. Endnote library was used for its invaluable reputation in managing records and keeping track of articles [34]. All records imported into Endnote included the following: title, authors, publication year, journal name, publisher, abstract, keywords, and the date on which it was searched. At this stage, all duplicates were removed using the software. All remaining records were then reviewed for applicability to scope based on the title and abstract and by referring to both the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Then, a full text of each remaining article was obtained and read to examine if it fully met the inclusion criteria and was therefore deemed fit for the data extraction process. In agreement with all authors, data extracted from the studies included study design, country, population, sample size, study duration, app name, app purpose, primary outcome, benefits of using the app, and limitations of using the app.

#### **Critical Appraisal of Evidence**

In this systematic review, each study was assessed using the STROBE checklist for observational studies, which include cohort, case-control, and cross-sectional studies. This checklist was introduced to help produce a clear presentation of what was planned and performed in these types of studies. It consists of a checklist of 22 items, including the title, abstract, introduction, methods, results, and discussion section of the assessed study. In reference to Jain and Yuan's review [35], the 22-items in the

STROBE checklist were broken down into 47 distinct indicators for each marked study. A grading system was used based on the percentage of STROBE checklist criteria reported by each study: <55% was categorized as –, 55% to 65% was categorized as +, and  $\geq$ 65% was categorized as ++. NINN reviewed the quality of all studies, with MEGA and JM reviewing 50% each. All authors met to discuss any discrepancies, and agreement was reached regarding the critical appraisal of each study.

## Results

#### **Study Selection**

The selection process of all articles is shown in Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2, documented in a Preferred Reporting Item for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses study flow diagram. The database search yielded 584 unique and potentially relevant articles, including 15 articles from searching on Google Scholar, resulting in a total of 599 articles. After removing duplicates, 540 articles remained for title and abstract screening using the inclusion and exclusion criteria. At this stage, 482 articles were excluded for not meeting the inclusion criteria (268/482, 55.6%), not using smartphone technology for PA measurements (89/482, 18.5%), and not having relevant outcomes (125/482, 25.9%). This resulted in 10.7% (58/540) of articles that remained for full-text screening. Eight articles were included in this systematic review after the full-text screening (Multimedia Appendix 2). Initially, titles and abstracts were screened by the first author (NINN), with the other 2 authors (MEGA and JM) independently reviewing 50% each. Cohen k was completed between NINN, MEGA, and JM, which showed an 89.3% agreement level (Cohen  $\kappa$ =0.89). The final selection of studies was performed after checking against the inclusion and exclusion criteria. This process involved thorough discussion among the authors until an agreement was reached.

#### **Study Characteristics**

The included studies had a large sample size (6-492 participants), with a total sample of 881 children and adolescents, aged 9 to 18 years, as shown in Table 1. Of these, 5 studies involved healthy children and adolescents and the other 3 focused more on those who were overweight, obese, or had been diagnosed with type 1 diabetes mellitus. The studies were conducted in Germany (N=3) [36-38], Spain (N=1) [39], Australia (N=1) [40], the United States (N=1) [41], Sweden (N=1) [42], and Singapore (N=1) [43]. Most studies used a cross-sectional design (N=5) [40-43] or cohort design (N=3) [36-38]. The most common recruitment sites were primary care facilities [36-38] and schools [39-42], followed by 1 study involving volunteered children and adolescents [43]. As for the duration of the studies, there was a large range in the period of PA measurement, from 24 hours to 4 weeks.



Table 1. Characteristics of the studies (N=8).

Nasruddin et al

Stu	dy	Country	Population	Sample size, n	Study duration	Quality of study <sup>a</sup>
Cr	oss-sectional					
	Viciana et al [39], 2022	Spain	Children and adolescents (aged 12-18 years)	56	5 days	++
	Dahlgren et al [42], 2021	Sweden	Children and adolescents (age: mean 12.1, SD 1.5 years)	121	7 days	++
	Seah and Koh [43], 2020	Singapore	Adolescent girls (aged 15 years)	36	4 weeks	++
	Hartwig et al [40], 2019	Australia	Eighth-grade students (age: mean 13.5, SD 0.5 years)	492	35-50 minutes	++
	Dunton et al [41], 2014	United States	High school students (aged 15-18 years)	6	24 hours	+
Co	hort					
	Schiel et al [36], 2012	Germany	Overweight and obese adolescents (age: mean 13.5, SD 2.8 years)	124	1-4 days	++
	Schiel et al [37], 2011	Germany	Children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus (age: mean 14.5, SD 2.2 years)	16	1-3 days	++
	Schiel et al [38], 2010	Germany	Overweight and obese adolescents (mean age 14.3 years)	30	1-4 days	++

<sup>a</sup>Percentage of Strengthening of the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology checklist criteria reported: +: 55%-65% and ++: >65%.

#### **Quality of Included Studies**

In this systematic review, 5 studies were cross-sectional studies and 3 were cohort studies. All 8 studies were retrospective and critically appraised using the STROBE checklist. The percentage of indicators met by each study is shown in Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 3), and the overall quality is presented in Table 1. The STROBE checklist used in the critical appraisal process revealed that most of the included studies were of good quality. Items that were well reported across all studies included the following: title and abstract, background or rationale, quantitative variables, key results, limitations, and interpretation. However, there was less consistency across the studies in reporting aspects related to bias (3/8, 38%), study size (2/8, 25%), sensitivity analyses (2/8, 25%), reasons for nonparticipation at each stage (1/8, 13%), use of a flow diagram (1/8, 12%), number of participants with missing data (3/8, 38%), boundaries when continuous variables are categorized (1/8, 13%), other analyses done (eg, subgroups and sensitivity) (3/8, 38%), and generalizability (3/8, 38%).

#### **Smartphone Technology for PA Measurements**

As stated previously, studies that were included used the app in smartphones or mobile phones as a surveillance tool for PA in children and adolescents. They either used a built-in and downloadable smartphone app from the Android Play Store and Apple App Store or used a study-specific developed smartphone app. In addition to using smartphone technology, several studies have added self-report questionnaires for PA recall [36,38,41,43] and accelerometers or pedometers [40,41,43], which in turn allowed comparisons between the methods.

Table 1 shows that the shortest period of PA measurement was24 hours, which was conducted as a cross-sectional study [41].Meanwhile, all 3 studies by Schiel et al [36-38] took 1-4 days

for PA measurement in overweight and obese adolescents. The cross-sectional study by Viciana et al [39] was conducted for 1-5 days in adolescents aged 12-18 years. Another cross-sectional study conducted by Dahlgren et al [42] took approximately 7 days to measure PA in children and adolescents. Seah and Koh [43] measured the PA of high school adolescent girls for 4 weeks. The other 2 studies, instead of stating the overall time, focused more on the time spent for each measurement session. There were 3 groups involved in the study by Hartwig et al [40]: training sample, validation sample, and convergent validity. Each group had different periods of measurement: 68.7 (SD 22.2) minutes for the training sample, 67.6 (SD 21.6) minutes for the validation sample, and 47.0 (SD 0.7) minutes for the convergent validity group.

#### **Study-Specific Developed Apps**

Five studies used a self-developed smartphone app designed specifically for the study [36-38,40,41], as shown in Table 2. Schiel et al [36-38] in all 3 studies used a self-developed technology comprising a mobile motion sensor (MoSeBo), which is a PA sensor, integrated into a mobile phone with a digital camera (DiaTrace), both developed by Fraunhofer Institut für Graphische Datenverarbeitung, Rostock, Germany. This app could analyze the type, intensity, and duration of PA. Each of the studies involved different participants but still focused on overweight and obese adolescents. Meanwhile, Dunton et al [41] used the Mobile Teen app, a self-developed smartphone technology that combines both objective and self-reported PA assessment through sensor-informed context-sensitive ecological momentary assessment and sensor-assisted end-of-day recall. Another study that used a specifically developed app was from Hartwig et al [40], in which the SmartLAB move+ app was used to measure feedback on the PA level achieved during physical education lessons.

Nasruddin et al

Table 2. Summary of findings (study-specific developed apps).

Study	App name	App purpose	Primary outcome	Pros and cons
Hartwig et al [40], 2019	Custom-designed mobile app, wirelessly connected to a pedometer (SmartLAB move+)	Measure feedback on PA <sup>a</sup> levels achieved during PE <sup>b</sup> lessons	PA levels	• Pros: feedback available immediately and increased PA during PE lesson Cons: translation of step counts to per- cent MVPA <sup>c</sup> . Available only for the particular study and not readily available for download from app stores
Dunton et al [41], 2014	Mobile Teen (installed on LG Nexus 4 smartphone)	The Mobile Teen app has 2 major components: sensor-informed CS-EMA <sup>d</sup> and end-of-day sensor-assisted recall	EMA <sup>e</sup> question sequence de- signed to measure major activ- ity types, smartphone place- ment on the body, reasons for smartphone nonwear, and other psychological and con- textual factors related to be- havior	<ul> <li>Pros: records phone location and useful in providing bouts of a specific type of behavior</li> <li>Cons: compatible with Android phones only and EMA prompts &gt;1 in an hour. Available only for the particular study and can only be used in Android phones</li> </ul>
Schiel et al [36], 2012	MoSeBo and DiaTrace system (motion sensor board with a digital cam- era)	Analyze type, intensity, and duration of PA	Type, intensity, and duration of PA	<ul> <li>Pros: accurate measurement of PA (time, intensity, and duration) compared with a self-report questionnaire</li> <li>Cons: available only for the particular study and not readily available for download from app stores</li> </ul>
Schiel et al [37], 2011	MoSeBo and Diatrace sys- tem (motion sensor board with a digital camera)	Analyze type, intensity, and duration of PA	Type, intensity, and duration of PA	<ul> <li>Pros: visualization of PA and real-time display</li> <li>Cons: available only for the particular study and not readily available for download from app stores</li> </ul>
Schiel et al [38], 2010	MoSeBo and Diatrace sys- tem (motion sensor board with a digital camera)	Analyze type, intensity, and duration of PA	Type, intensity, and duration of PA	<ul> <li>Pros: more accurate measurement compared with questionnaire and improves both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation</li> <li>Cons: unable to measure water-based activities. Available only for the particular study and not readily available for download from app stores</li> </ul>

<sup>a</sup>PA: physical activity.

<sup>b</sup>PE: physical education.

<sup>c</sup>MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity.

<sup>d</sup>CS-EMA: context-sensitive ecological momentary assessment.

<sup>e</sup>EMA: ecological momentary assessment.

#### **Readily Downloadable Apps**

Three studies used readily downloadable apps from Apple App Store and Android Play Store. In the study by Viciana et al [39], 4 apps were used including Pedometer and Pacer Step Counter, which can be downloaded from the app store, whereas Google Fit and Apple Health were 2 built-in apps in the Android and iOs systems. Meanwhile, the SCRIIN app was used in the study by Dahlgren et al [42] to measure PA in children and adolescents, alongside the SCRIIN activity tracker. In the study by Seah and Koh [43], several apps were used, including MapMyFitness, Health (Apple), Samsung Health, Pacer Step Counter, Pedometer, and Weight Loss Coach. All these apps were used to track PA behaviors and step counts.

#### The Primary Outcome of Each App

All smartphone and mobile phone apps from the studies included in this review had the same primary outcome, that is, measuring PA. As shown in Tables 2 and 3, although all apps are used to measure PA, each app has a different focus and function. The apps that were built purposely for the study have specific functions to answer questions specific to the study. In the study by Hartwig et al [40], the primary outcome of the SmartLAB move+ app was the PA level. The MoSeBo and Diatrace system in the studies by Schiel et al [36-38] also produced results on PA intensity, in addition to PA type and duration. In contrast to other studies, the study by Dunton et al [41] used a sensor-informed context-sensitive ecological momentary assessment-measured type of PA only, but this app also produced results regarding smartphone placement on the body, reasons for smartphone nonwear, and other psychological and contextual factors related to behavior.

Nasruddin et al

Table 3. Summary of findings (readily downloadable apps).

Study	App name	App purpose	Primary outcome	Pros and cons
Dahlgren et al [42], 2021	SCRIIN activity tracker	Measure PA <sup>a</sup>	Active minutes and steps count	<ul> <li>Pros: SCRIIN activity tracker can be purchased; SCRIIN app can be downloaded via Apple App Store and Google Play Store</li> <li>Cons: missing and incompleteness of data from SCRIIN app owing to children's and adolescents' need to have access to a smartphone</li> </ul>
Viciana et al [39], 2022	Pedometer, Pacer Step Counter, Google Fit, Apple Health	Measure PA aspects and step count	Step counts and PA in free-living conditions	<ul> <li>Pros: all apps are built-in and can be downloaded from App Store. Some of the apps have been used in previous studies</li> <li>Cons: apps are all not empirically validated</li> </ul>
Seah and Koh [43], 2020	MapMyFitness (for PA), Apple Health, Samsung Health, Pacer Step Counter, Pedometer, Weight Loss Coach (for step count)	Track PA aspects and step count	Duration, distance, pace, speed, elevation, calories burned, and route traveled	<ul> <li>Pros: quick feedback and easy for self-monitoring</li> <li>Cons: apps are all not empirically validated</li> </ul>

<sup>a</sup>PA: physical activity.

Most existing and downloadable apps have specific functions that produce specific PA outputs such as energy expenditure, step counts, and PA level. The SCRIIN app used in the study by Dahlgren et al [42] can produce results on active minutes and step count. In the study by Seah and Koh [43], several apps were used to measure PA (MapMyFitness) and step count (Health, Samsung Health, Pacer Step Counter, Pedometer, and Weight Loss Coach) differently, but the outcomes from all the apps were PA duration, distance, pace, speed, elevation, calories burned, and route traveled. Apps used in the study by Seah and Koh [43] were similar to those used in the study by Viciana et al [39], in which Pedometer and Pacer Step Counter were used to measure step counts and Google Fit and Apple Health were used to track both energy expenditure and step counts.

#### **Pros and Cons of Each App**

When considering the usefulness of different methods to measure PA in children and adolescents, it is important to highlight the common pros and cons reported across the included studies. The first advantage of smartphone apps is the additional features available when measuring PA. For example, the SmartLAB move+ app [40] and all apps used in the studies by Seah and Koh [43] and Viciana et al [39] provided immediate feedback to participants during PA measurement. This allowed research participants to have personal health monitoring, in which they could easily access their PA data at any time. In comparison with research-grade accelerometers, raw data produced by accelerometers will have to be translated before being transformed into PA summaries (eg, calories and step counts) [44]. Furthermore, the Mobile Teen app offers a feature that records mobile phone location, which is useful for determining where PA took place [41].

A second advantage is the accessibility of the apps used in studies, where using the apps is a low-cost option and the apps are easily downloadable from Apple App Store and Google Play Store. For example, the SCRIIN app that was used in the study by Dahlgren et al [42] and all apps used in the study by Seah and Koh [43] are readily available and can be downloaded

XSL∙F() RenderX via Apple App Store and Android Play Store. In addition, these 2 studies revealed that users are more interested in fun, easy-to-use, and functional apps that offer visual appeal, as highlighted in a previous study by Schoeppe et al [45]. Considering that the target participants are children and adolescents, fun and user-friendly apps will assist in the PA monitoring of this specific age group [46].

The third advantage is the usability of all apps, which means that the apps used are easily downloadable into users' smartphones, easy to use, and enable young users such as children and adolescents to self-monitor their PA measurements. However, it is worth mentioning that the advantages of all apps discussed are heavily dependent on the studies included in this review. In terms of usability of the apps among research participants, the study by Seah and Koh [43] revealed that participants preferred to have more control over the PA data while using the apps, including setting their own goals and social connectivity. A similar response was reported in the study by Viciana et al [39], in which the usability of the apps allowed participants to monitor and control the apps on their own and enabled them to view previous activities. For researchers, data generated through apps that can be easily obtained instantly was noted as a strength [47].

In all the studies by Schiel et al [36-38], the MoSeBo and Diatrace system demonstrated a better visualization of PA and real-time display, and the system has been shown to provide more accurate measurements (time, intensity, and duration) than the self-report questionnaire. Meanwhile, the Mobile Teen app is useful in providing bouts of PA performed by the participants [41], a feature similar to accelerometers, providing greater detail regarding the times spent in different PA intensities. Furthermore, the SCRIIN app used in the study by Dahlgren et al [42] showed a high correlation (r=0.72; P<.001) between the SCRIIN activity tracker and app with the ActiGraph accelerometer in the validation they conducted. This showed that the app is a valid measure for PA monitoring in children and adolescents, when compared with accelerometery.

Nevertheless, all apps also have disadvantages, especially in the accessibility of apps, validity, and practicality in measuring PA. Regarding the apps' accessibility, some apps were specifically developed for the studies and were not downloadable via Apple App Store and Google Play Store [36-38,40,41]. In addition, some apps have not been properly validated for measuring PA in children and adolescents. In the studies by Seah and Koh [43] and Viciana et al [39], although all the apps used were free and convenient for measuring PA in participants, they were not empirically validated. It was also mentioned in Seah and Koh's study [43] that caution should be taken when reading and interpreting the results.

In addition, the SmartLAB move+ app used in the study by Hartwig et al [40] requires researchers to translate step counts to percent MVPA using an equation that is unlikely to be generalizable to populations other than those tested in this study. This factor affects the usability of this app to researchers, where researchers will have to do the *extra work* rather than obtaining the readily available PA data directly from the app. Meanwhile, the MoSeBo and Diatrace system used in all the studies by Schiel et al [36-38] is unable to measure water-based activities. In terms of the practicality of the apps, a con of the Mobile Teen app is its compatibility with Android phones only, which will limit its use [41].

Finally, it was mentioned that real-time feedback is a strength of these apps but could also create a potential Hawthorne effect (leading to unexpected changes in behavior) because participants know their behavior is being measured [48]. In this case, being able to see PA levels may cause a person to be more active because they know that PA is being assessed [49]. This leads to a recommendation to assess the validity of these apps against known criterion measures of PA, for instance, smartphone apps versus research-grade accelerometry.

#### Discussion

#### **Smartphone Technology in PA Surveillance**

This systematic review identified and examined 8 articles on the use of smartphone technology in PA surveillance of children and adolescents globally. This review specifically focuses on smartphone or mobile phone apps that can be used for PA surveillance among children and adolescents. The low number of studies included in this review indicates limited research on using smartphone apps for PA surveillance in children and adolescents. Nonetheless, there are existing studies on adults who have used smartphone apps for PA surveillance [50-54]. As smartphones are considered a must-have item nowadays and are often carried throughout the day, this allows them to be a method to measure and monitor PA in real time [55]. Currently, new apps are being developed that allow users to track and monitor their PA using their smartphones, increasing the possibility of obtaining richer objective PA profiles, which will complement the traditional or subjective methods of PA measurement [56]. Some included studies used specifically designed apps for measuring PA among children and adolescents, which may be because of the limited number of commercially available smartphone apps for PA surveillance at the time.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42461
```

XSL•FO

As mentioned earlier, smartphone and mobile phone apps were first introduced between 2008 and 2012. However, as subjective assessments are more widely used [49,57,58], the number of studies using apps for PA surveillance in children and adolescents remains limited [41,56,59]. As seen from the results of this review, most of the current studies (after 2019) used readily downloadable smartphone apps to measure PA in children and adolescents. The advancement of smartphone technology over the years has influenced the development of PA monitoring apps in smartphones, thus allowing researchers to use these apps in their validation studies of PA measurement in children and adolescents [56,60,61].

Another important finding is that all studies in this review were conducted in high-income countries, including Australia, the United States, Greece, Sweden, and Singapore [62]. This highlights the progressive development of the mobile phone and smartphone industry in high-income countries, which allows the use of smartphone technology for PA surveillance among children and adolescents [63]. The recent evolution of smartphones has resulted in the emergence of numerous apps with novel ways to promote healthier lifestyles, including measuring and monitoring PA [52]. However, this point also crucially shows the lack of PA research using smartphone technology in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

In 2017, a group of researchers from Stanford University conducted a study using smartphone data to track PA among adults globally, specifically using the free Azumio Argus smartphone app [64]. This study revealed that from the 46 countries involved with at least 1000 users, 90% of the users were from 32 high-income countries and only 10% of the users were from 14 middle-income countries [64]. However, there were none from low-income countries. This showed that people in high-income countries are more exposed to smartphone apps that can be used to track their PA. Another important finding from this study is that countries with high PA inequality (ie, the gap between highly active people and less active people) also have high obesity rates. The PA levels used to determine PA inequality were calculated from the PA data collected using the smartphone app [64].

In their systematic review, Bort-Roig et al [56] also revealed that all studies that used smartphone technology to track PA in adults were conducted in highly economically advantaged countries, where most of the studies were conducted in the United States, Germany, and Finland. Measurements of PA in this review included smartphone apps with built-in accelerometers and pedometers, and some studies used wearable activity trackers to pair with the apps. This finding strengthens the point that PA research using smartphone technology to track PA in children and adolescents is widely conducted in high-income countries; however, it is still lacking in LMICs, particularly.

# Smartphone Technology Versus Other PA Objective Measures

As stated in a review by Tudor-Locke and Myers [65], there are various methods of PA measurement that are often categorized into subjective and objective measures. For children and adolescents, objective measures of PA include direct

observation, direct and indirect calorimetry, doubly labeled water, heart rate monitoring, and the use of motion sensors such as pedometers and accelerometers. Pedometers and research-grade accelerometers have been widely used to measure step counts and PA in children and adolescents [16,66-68]. Some researchers have used pedometers for PA surveillance in children and adolescents, as they are low cost, more feasible, and have been shown to be reliable and valid in school children and adolescents [69-71].

However, pedometers may underestimate vigorous-intensity activities, which in contrast can be more accurately measured by accelerometers [72,73]. Objectivity and low subject reactivity are pros of accelerometers, characteristics that overcome some of the challenges with subjective measures [73]. Moreover, accelerometers have been shown to provide valid measures of PA in school children [73]. Nevertheless, it is important to note that research-grade accelerometers are expensive and may not be affordable for everyone.

In this particular review, smartphone apps used to measure PA and step counts have the same principle of objective measurement as pedometers and research-grade accelerometers; however, they are downloadable onto smartphones. This important feature allows users to have a personal health monitoring device, which provides better compliance data and continuous evaluation of free-living activities [55]. It is also important to note that smartphones have multiple built-in sensors and capabilities that include large memory storage, fast processors, and microelectromechanical systems, facilitating a better opportunity for PA measurement [55].

In addition, for research that uses smartphone apps and technology, potential participants will already own this *research device* and are more likely to carry it wherever they go and keep it charged, which will be a different situation to devices handed out in research studies [55]. The advantages of smartphone apps and technology include their availability (free or low cost, provided the research participant owns a smartphone), accessibility (downloadable), quick feedback, low cost, and ease of monitoring, which influenced the 3 studies included in this review to use them for PA measurement of children and adolescents [40-43].

#### **Potential Research Gap**

This systematic review has highlighted 2 important points for future studies. First, it was demonstrated throughout this review that smartphone apps and technology are a potential alternative for the objective measurement of PA among children and adolescents. As mentioned in the *Discussion* section, objective measures would benefit younger people and allow a more feasible assessment that can include numerous dimensions and domains of PA. Second, this review identified conflicting evidence on the validity and reliability of smartphone apps in measuring PA in children and adolescents. This shows a lack of evidence owing to the dearth of individual primary studies that assess the psychometric properties of smartphone apps.

Apart from having more validation studies involving smartphone apps and technology in PA surveillance in this age group, it is equally important to include subjective measures. This is because the use of combined measures may offer a better comparison between the 2 and provide a better understanding of the characteristics of PA in children. On the basis of a review by Troiano et al [74], it was revealed that accelerometer-based devices (where smartphone apps may fall in this category) are more accurate in measuring self-reported PA variables such as frequency and duration in comparison with using a series of questions in questionnaires. However, it is unfitting to conclude that PA measures using accelerometer-based devices are better than using questionnaires. Each approach has complementary strengths, but it is important to note that behavioral reports and device-based measures are not interchangeable [74].

Apart from these points, no studies have assessed the usability of smartphone apps for PA surveillance among children and adolescents in LMICs. All studies included in this review were conducted in high-income countries, raising the question of whether socioeconomic status influences the use of smartphone apps and technology in PA measurement. Understanding the use of smartphones among children and adolescents in LMICs could further highlight the potential of using smartphone apps as PA surveillance tools in this setting.

Despite its numerous advantages, it is undeniable that smartphone apps and technology also has some limitations. One of the notable limitations of smartphone apps and technology is the proprietary algorithms used in the apps, commonly known as nonfree or closed-source algorithms, which restrict users' freedom to obtain data collected through the apps [75]. This type of algorithm may require researchers to have proper permission or licensing from app developers and manufacturers to obtain collected data [75,76].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

A systematic approach was used to identify articles on PA surveillance using smartphone technology for children and adolescents. It was conducted using several databases that were relevant to the research topic, which further strengthened this review. Another advantage of this review was the use of independent screening conducted by 3 researchers. However, the searching process only included articles written in English, which may limit the potential of exploring established studies on PA surveillance in children and adolescents that were not published in English. This factor may also have affected the lack of studies from LMICs included in this review owing to the use of languages other than English. In addition, the focused research questions resulted in a small number of articles being included in this review. Another important limitation to note is the fact that smartphone apps are continuously evolving and being created, meaning findings from this review, although useful, might not apply to the most recent apps.

#### Conclusions

The overall results from this review demonstrate conflicting and insufficient evidence regarding the validity and reliability of smartphone technology PA surveillance in children and adolescents. This review also suggests that additional research is needed to further assess the usability and usefulness of smartphone technology for PA surveillance in children and adolescents. This is especially important for LMICs.

XSL•FO

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Majlis Amanah Rakyat Malaysia for providing a PhD scholarship for conducting this study.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

MEGA and NINN conceived and designed the study. NINN, MEGA, and JM conducted the study, including articles' screening, extraction, charting, and analysis. NINN drafted the manuscript, with help from MEGA and JM. MEGA and JM reviewed the manuscript and provided critical feedback. All authors reviewed, read, and approved the final manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Detailed search strategy applied to all databases. [DOCX File, 21 KB - pediatrics v6i1e42461 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Summary of the selection of the articles presented in the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram.

[DOCX File, 81 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e42461\_app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Critical appraisal of the included studies. [DOCX File, 216 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e42461\_app3.docx]

#### References

- 1. van den Berg GJ, Lundborg P, Nystedt P, Rooth DO. Critical periods during childhood and adolescence. J Eur Econ Assoc 2014 Dec;12(6):1521-1557 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jeea.12112]
- Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Br J Sports Med 2020 Dec;54(24):1451-1462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955] [Medline: 33239350]
- 3. Boreham C, Riddoch C. The physical activity, fitness and health of children. J Sports Sci 2001 Dec;19(12):915-929. [doi: 10.1080/026404101317108426] [Medline: 11820686]
- 4. Physical activity. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity</u> [accessed 2021-11-09]
- 5. New WHO-led study says majority of adolescents worldwide are not sufficiently physically active, putting their current and future health at risk. World Health Organization. 2019 Nov 22. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/</u>22-11-2019-new-who-led-study-says-majority-of-adolescents-worldwide-are-not-sufficiently-physically-active-putting-their-current-and-future-health-at-risk [accessed 2021-11-09]
- Janssen I, Leblanc AG. Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2010 May 11;7:40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-40] [Medline: 20459784]
- Sallis JF, McKenzie TL. Physical education's role in public health. Res Q Exerc Sport 1991 Jun;62(2):124-137. [doi: 10.1080/02701367.1991.10608701] [Medline: 1925034]
- 8. Barenberg J, Berse T, Dutke S. Executive functions in learning processes: do they benefit from physical activity? Educ Res Rev 2011 Jan;6(3):208-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2011.04.002]
- 9. Sibley BA, Etnier JL. The relationship between physical activity and cognition in children: a meta-analysis. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2003 Aug 01;15(3):243-256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/pes.15.3.243]
- Welk GJ, Corbin CB, Dale D. Measurement issues in the assessment of physical activity in children. Res Q Exerc Sport 2000 Jun;71(2 Suppl):S59-S73. [Medline: <u>10925827</u>]
- Sirard JR, Pate RR. Physical activity assessment in children and adolescents. Sports Med 2001;31(6):439-454. [doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131060-00004] [Medline: 11394563]
- 12. Balandin S, Balandina E, Koucheryavy Y, Kramar V, Medvedev O. Main trends in mHealth use scenarios. J Sel Top Nano Electron Comput 2013 Dec;1(1):64-74 [FREE Full text]
- 13. Jusoh S. A survey on trend, opportunities and challenges of mHealth apps. Int J Interact Mob Technol 2017 Nov 27;11(6):73-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3991/ijim.v11i6.7265]

- 14. Ali EE, Chew L, Yap KY. Evolution and current status of mHealth research: a systematic review. BMJ Innov 2016 Jan 05;2(1):33-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjinnov-2015-000096]
- 15. Uddin M, Syed-Abdul S. Introduction to digital health approach and mHealth applications for participatory health. In: Syed-Abdul S, Zhu X, Fernandez-Luque L, editors. Digital Health: Mobile and Wearable Devices for Participatory Health Applications. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier; 2020:1-6.
- 16. Hamari L, Kullberg T, Ruohonen J, Heinonen OJ, Díaz-Rodríguez N, Lilius J, et al. Physical activity among children: objective measurements using Fitbit One® and ActiGraph. BMC Res Notes 2017 Apr 20;10(1):161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13104-017-2476-1] [Medline: 28427441]
- Riddoch CJ, Mattocks C, Deere K, Saunders J, Kirkby J, Tilling K, et al. Objective measurement of levels and patterns of physical activity. Arch Dis Child 2007 Nov;92(11):963-969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.2006.112136] [Medline: 17855437]
- Vandelanotte C, Müller AM, Short CE, Hingle M, Nathan N, Williams SL, et al. Past, present, and future of eHealth and mHealth research to improve physical activity and dietary behaviors. J Nutr Educ Behav 2016 Mar;48(3):219-28.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2015.12.006] [Medline: 26965100]
- 19. Mönninghoff A, Kramer JN, Hess AJ, Ismailova K, Teepe GW, Tudor Car L, et al. Long-term effectiveness of mHealth physical activity interventions: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 30;23(4):e26699 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26699] [Medline: 33811021]
- 20. Stephens J, Allen J. Mobile phone interventions to increase physical activity and reduce weight: a systematic review. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2013;28(4):320-329 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JCN.0b013e318250a3e7] [Medline: 22635061]
- 21. Lee AM, Chavez S, Bian J, Thompson LA, Gurka MJ, Williamson VG, et al. Efficacy and effectiveness of mobile health technologies for facilitating physical activity in adolescents: scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Feb 12;7(2):e11847 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11847] [Medline: 30747716]
- 22. Aromatario O, Van Hoye A, Vuillemin A, Foucaut AM, Crozet C, Pommier J, et al. How do mobile health applications support behaviour changes? A scoping review of mobile health applications relating to physical activity and eating behaviours. Public Health 2019 Oct;175:8-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2019.06.011] [Medline: 31374453]
- 23. Ly H. The impact of utilizing mobile phones to promote physical activity among post-secondary students: a scoping review. Mhealth 2016 Dec 23;2:47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2016.12.03] [Medline: 28293617]
- 24. Domin A, Spruijt-Metz D, Theisen D, Ouzzahra Y, Vögele C. Smartphone-based interventions for physical activity promotion: scoping review of the evidence over the last 10 years. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jul 21;9(7):e24308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24308] [Medline: 34287209]
- Laranjo L, Ding D, Heleno B, Kocaballi B, Quiroz JC, Tong HL, et al. Do smartphone applications and activity trackers increase physical activity in adults? Systematic review, meta-analysis and metaregression. Br J Sports Med 2021 Apr;55(8):422-432. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102892] [Medline: 33355160]
- 26. Böhm B, Karwiese SD, Böhm H, Oberhoffer R. Effects of mobile health including wearable activity trackers to increase physical activity outcomes among healthy children and adolescents: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 30;7(4):e8298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8298] [Medline: 31038460]
- O'Reilly GA, Spruijt-Metz D. Current mHealth technologies for physical activity assessment and promotion. Am J Prev Med 2013 Oct;45(4):501-507 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.05.012] [Medline: 24050427]
- 28. Chung LM, Law QP, Fong SS, Chung JW, Yuen PP. A cost-effectiveness analysis of teledietetics in short-, intermediate-, and long-term weight reduction. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Jul;21(5):268-275. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15572200] [Medline: 25761467]
- 29. Müller AM, Alley S, Schoeppe S, Vandelanotte C. The effectiveness of e-and mHealth interventions to promote physical activity and healthy diets in developing countries: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 Oct 10;13(1):109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0434-2] [Medline: 27724911]
- Allen JK, Stephens J, Dennison Himmelfarb CR, Stewart KJ, Hauck S. Randomized controlled pilot study testing use of smartphone technology for obesity treatment. J Obes 2013;2013:151597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/151597] [Medline: 24392223]
- Zapata-Lamana R, Lalanza JF, Losilla JM, Parrado E, Capdevila L. mHealth technology for ecological momentary assessment in physical activity research: a systematic review. PeerJ 2020 Mar;8:e8848 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.7717/peerj.8848</u>] [Medline: <u>32257648</u>]
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 33. Liu S, Law R, Rong J, Li G, Hall J. Analyzing changes in hotel customers' expectations by trip mode. Int J Hosp Manag 2013 Sep;34:359-371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2012.11.011]
- 34. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]

- Jain V, Yuan JM. Predictive symptoms and comorbidities for severe COVID-19 and intensive care unit admission: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Public Health 2020 Jun;65(5):533-546 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00038-020-01390-7] [Medline: 32451563]
- Schiel R, Kaps A, Bieber G. Electronic health technology for the assessment of physical activity and eating habits in children and adolescents with overweight and obesity IDA. Appetite 2012 Apr;58(2):432-437. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2011.11.021] [Medline: 22155072]
- Schiel R, Thomas A, Kaps A, Bieber G. An innovative telemedical support system to measure physical activity in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2011 Oct;119(9):565-568. [doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1273747] [Medline: 21472657]
- Schiel R, Kaps A, Bieber G, Kramer G, Seebach H, Hoffmeyer A. Identification of determinants for weight reduction in overweight and obese children and adolescents. J Telemed Telecare 2010;16(7):368-373. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2010.091005</u>] [Medline: <u>20679405</u>]
- Viciana J, Casado-Robles C, Guijarro-Romero S, Mayorga-Vega D. Are wrist-worn activity trackers and mobile applications valid for assessing physical activity in high school students? Wearfit study. J Sports Sci Med 2022 Sep 1;21(3):356-375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.52082/jssm.2022.356] [Medline: 36157395]
- Hartwig TB, Del Pozo-Cruz B, White RL, Sanders T, Kirwan M, Parker PD, et al. A monitoring system to provide feedback on student physical activity during physical education lessons. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2019 Sep;29(9):1305-1312. [doi: 10.1111/sms.13438] [Medline: 31033042]
- 41. Dunton GF, Dzubur E, Kawabata K, Yanez B, Bo B, Intille S. Development of a smartphone application to measure physical activity using sensor-assisted self-report. Front Public Health 2014 Feb 28;2:12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00012] [Medline: 24616888]
- 42. Dahlgren A, Sjöblom L, Eke H, Bonn SE, Trolle Lagerros Y. Screen time and physical activity in children and adolescents aged 10-15 years. PLoS One 2021 Jul 9;16(7):e0254255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0254255] [Medline: 34242329]
- 43. Seah ML, Koh KT. The efficacy of using mobile applications in changing adolescent girls' physical activity behaviour during weekends. Eur Phys Educ Rev 2020 Jun 17;27(1):113-131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1356336x20930741]
- 44. Karas M, Bai J, Strączkiewicz M, Harezlak J, Glynn NW, Harris T, et al. Accelerometry data in health research: challenges and opportunities. Stat Biosci 2019 Jul;11(2):210-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12561-018-9227-2] [Medline: 31762829]
- 45. Schoeppe S, Alley S, Rebar AL, Hayman M, Bray NA, Van Lippevelde W, et al. Apps to improve diet, physical activity and sedentary behaviour in children and adolescents: a review of quality, features and behaviour change techniques. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Jun 24;14(1):83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0538-3] [Medline: 28646889]
- 46. Domin A, Ouzzahra Y, Vögele C. Features and components preferred by adolescents in smartphone apps for the promotion of physical activity: focus group study. JMIR Hum Factors 2022 Jun 09;9(2):e33972 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33972] [Medline: 35679113]
- 47. Monroe CM, Thompson DL, Bassett Jr DR, Fitzhugh EC, Raynor HA. Usability of mobile phones in physical activity–related research: a systematic review. Am J Health Educ 2015 Jul 06;46(4):196-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/19325037.2015.1044141]
- 48. van Sluijs EM, van Poppel MN, Twisk JW, van Mechelen W. Physical activity measurements affected participants' behavior in a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Epidemiol 2006 Apr;59(4):404-411. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005.08.016</u>] [Medline: <u>16549263</u>]
- 49. Sylvia LG, Bernstein EE, Hubbard JL, Keating L, Anderson EJ. Practical guide to measuring physical activity. J Acad Nutr Diet 2014 Feb;114(2):199-208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.09.018] [Medline: 24290836]
- 50. Kirwan M, Duncan MJ, Vandelanotte C, Mummery WK. Design, development, and formative evaluation of a smartphone application for recording and monitoring physical activity levels: the 10,000 Steps "iStepLog". Health Educ Behav 2013 Apr;40(2):140-151. [doi: 10.1177/1090198112449460] [Medline: 22984196]
- de Jesus MO, Ostolin TL, Proença NL, da Silva RP, Dourado VZ. Self-administered six-minute walk test using a free smartphone app in asymptomatic adults: reliability and reproducibility. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 Jan 20;19(3):1118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19031118] [Medline: 35162141]
- Murphy J, Uttamlal T, Schmidtke KA, Vlaev I, Taylor D, Ahmad M, et al. Tracking physical activity using smart phone apps: assessing the ability of a current app and systematically collecting patient recommendations for future development. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020 Feb 03;20(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-1025-3] [Medline: 32013996]
- Caputo EL, Feter N, Alberton CL, Leite JS, Rodrigues AN, de C Dumith S, et al. Reliability of a smartphone application to measure physical activity. Res Sports Med 2022;30(3):264-271. [doi: <u>10.1080/15438627.2021.1899919</u>] [Medline: <u>33719802</u>]
- 54. Toledo MJ, Hekler E, Hollingshead K, Epstein D, Buman M. Validation of a smartphone app for the assessment of sedentary and active behaviors. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 09;5(8):e119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6974] [Medline: 28793982]

- 55. Intille SS, Lester J, Sallis JF, Duncan G. New horizons in sensor development. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012 Jan;44(1 Suppl 1):S24-S31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182399c7d] [Medline: 22157771]
- Bort-Roig J, Gilson ND, Puig-Ribera A, Contreras RS, Trost SG. Measuring and influencing physical activity with smartphone technology: a systematic review. Sports Med 2014 May;44(5):671-686. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-014-0142-5</u>] [Medline: <u>24497157</u>]
- 57. Reilly JJ, Penpraze V, Hislop J, Davies G, Grant S, Paton JY. Objective measurement of physical activity and sedentary behaviour: review with new data. Arch Dis Child 2008 Jul;93(7):614-619. [doi: <u>10.1136/adc.2007.133272</u>] [Medline: <u>18305072</u>]
- 58. Bauman A, Chau J, van der Ploeg H, Hardy L. Physical activity measures for children and adolescents recommendations on population surveillance: a rapid review. Sax Institute. 2010 Feb. URL: <u>https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Physical-activity-measures-for-children-and-adolescents.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-30]
- 59. Emberson MA, Lalande A, Wang D, McDonough DJ, Liu W, Gao Z. Effectiveness of smartphone-based physical activity interventions on individuals' health outcomes: a systematic review. Biomed Res Int 2021 Aug 6;2021:6296896 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2021/6296896] [Medline: 34409104]
- 60. Gao Z, Lee JE. Emerging technology in promoting physical activity and health: challenges and opportunities. J Clin Med 2019 Nov 01;8(11):1830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm8111830] [Medline: 31683951]
- 61. Direito A, Jiang Y, Whittaker R, Maddison R. Smartphone apps to improve fitness and increase physical activity among young people: protocol of the Apps for IMproving FITness (AIMFIT) randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health 2015 Jul 11;15:635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1968-y] [Medline: 26159834]
- 62. World Bank Open Data. The World Bank. 2022. URL: https://data.worldbank.org/ [accessed 2022-04-14]
- 63. Bastawrous A, Armstrong MJ. Mobile health use in low- and high-income countries: an overview of the peer-reviewed literature. J R Soc Med 2013 Apr;106(4):130-142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0141076812472620] [Medline: 23564897]
- 64. Althoff T, Sosič R, Hicks JL, King AC, Delp SL, Leskovec J. Large-scale physical activity data reveal worldwide activity inequality. Nature 2017 Jul 20;547(7663):336-339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nature23018] [Medline: 28693034]
- 65. Tudor-Locke CE, Myers AM. Challenges and opportunities for measuring physical activity in sedentary adults. Sports Med 2001 Feb;31(2):91-100. [doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131020-00002] [Medline: 11227981]
- Corder K, Brage S, Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Wareham N, Ekelund U. Comparison of two Actigraph models for assessing free-living physical activity in Indian adolescents. J Sports Sci 2007 Dec;25(14):1607-1611. [doi: 10.1080/02640410701283841] [Medline: 17852668]
- 67. Hänggi JM, Phillips LR, Rowlands AV. Validation of the GT3X ActiGraph in children and comparison with the GT1M ActiGraph. J Sci Med Sport 2013 Jan;16(1):40-44. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsams.2012.05.012</u>] [Medline: <u>22749938</u>]
- Mooses K, Oja M, Reisberg S, Vilo J, Kull M. Validating Fitbit Zip for monitoring physical activity of children in school: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2018 Jul 11;18(1):858 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5752-7] [Medline: 29996797]
- 69. Eisenmann JC, Wickel EE. Moving on land: an explanation of pedometer counts in children. Eur J Appl Physiol 2005 Jan;93(4):440-446. [doi: 10.1007/s00421-004-1227-x] [Medline: 15503123]
- 70. Kilanowski CK, Consalvi AR, Epstein LH. Validation of an electronic pedometer for measurement of physical activity in children. Pediatr Exerc Sci 1999 Feb;11(1):63-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/pes.11.1.63]
- 71. Rowe DA, Mahar MT, Raedeke TD, Lore J. Measuring physical activity in children with pedometers: reliability, reactivity, and replacing missing data. Phys Act Health 2004 Nov 01;16(4):343-354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1123/pes.16.4.343]
- 72. Rowlands AV, Eston RG. Comparison of accelerometer and pedometer measures of physical activity in boys and girls, ages 8-10 years. Res Q Exerc Sport 2005 Sep;76(3):251-257. [doi: 10.1080/02701367.2005.10599296] [Medline: 16270702]
- 73. Pate RR, Almeida MJ, McIver KL, Pfeiffer KA, Dowda M. Validation and calibration of an accelerometer in preschool children. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2006 Nov;14(11):2000-2006 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1038/oby.2006.234</u>] [Medline: <u>17135617</u>]
- 74. Troiano RP, McClain JJ, Brychta RJ, Chen KY. Evolution of accelerometer methods for physical activity research. Br J Sports Med 2014 Jul;48(13):1019-1023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2014-093546] [Medline: 24782483]
- 75. Boulanger A. Open-source versus proprietary software: is one more reliable and secure than the other? IBM Syst J 2005 Jan;44(2):239-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1147/sj.442.0239]
- 76. Karas M. Smartphone devices data in health research: opportunities and challenges. Wearable and Implantable Technology (WIT) group meeting. 2022 Mar 04. URL: <u>https://martakarass.github.io/docs/slides/2022-03-04-wit.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-07-21]

#### Abbreviations

RenderX

LMIC: low- and middle-income country
mHealth: mobile health
MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity
PA: physical activity
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

#### STROBE: Strengthening of the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 05.09.22; peer-reviewed by F Fraysse, W Barletta, A A Cecchetti, J Granhagen Jungner, Y Jeem, W Perveen; comments to author 25.12.22; revised version received 30.01.23; accepted 23.02.23; published 29.03.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Nasruddin NIN, Murphy J, Armstrong MEG Physical Activity Surveillance in Children and Adolescents Using Smartphone Technology: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42461 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42461 doi:10.2196/42461 PMID:36989033

©Nur Izzatun Nasriah Nasruddin, Joey Murphy, Miranda Elaine Glynis Armstrong. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 29.03.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# The Usefulness of Web-Based Communication Data for Social Network Health Interventions: Agent-Based Modeling Study

David J Blok<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Bojan Simoski<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Thabo J van Woudenberg<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Moniek Buijzen<sup>1,3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Erasmus School of Social and Behavioural Sciences, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands

<sup>2</sup>Centre for Language Studies, Radboud University, Nijmegen, Netherlands

<sup>3</sup>Behavioural Science Institute, Radboud University, Nijmegen, Netherlands

# Corresponding Author:

David J Blok, PhD Erasmus School of Social and Behavioural Sciences Erasmus University Rotterdam Burgemeester Oudlaan 50 Rotterdam, 3062 PA Netherlands Phone: 31 107546208 Email: <u>d.j.blok@essb.eur.nl</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Social network interventions are an effective approach to promote physical activity. These interventions are traditionally designed using self-reported peer nomination network data to represent social connections. However, there is unexplored potential in communication data exchanged through web-based messaging apps or social platforms, given the availability of these data, the developments in artificial intelligence to analyze these data, and the shift of personal communication to the web sphere. The implications of using web-based versus offline social networks on the effectiveness of social network interventions remain largely unexplored.

**Objective:** This study aims to investigate the differences in the impact of social network interventions on physical activity levels (PALs) between networks derived from web-based communication and peer nomination data.

**Methods:** We used the data on sociometric questionnaires, messages from a web-based communication app, and PAL (number of steps per day) of 408 participants in 21 school classes. We applied social network analysis to identify influential peers and agent-based modeling to simulate the diffusion of PAL and explore the impact of social network interventions on PAL among adolescents in school classes. Influential peers (n=63) were selected based on centrality measures (ie, in-degree, closeness, and betweenness) to spread the intervention. They received health education, which increased their PAL by 17%. In sensitivity analyses, we tested the impact of a 5%, 10%, and 20% increase in PAL among influential peers.

**Results:** There was a 24%-27% overlap in selected influential peers between the 2 network representations. In general, the simulations showed that interventions could increase PAL by 5.0%-5.8% within 2 months. However, the predicted median impact on PAL was slightly higher in networks based on web-based communication data than peer nomination data for in-degree (5.7%, IQR 5.5%-6.1% vs 5.5%, IQR 5.2%-5.8%; *P*=.002), betweenness (5.6%, IQR 5.4%-5.9% vs 5.0%, IQR 4.7%-5.3%; *P*<.001), and closeness centrality (5.8%, IQR 5.6%-6.1% vs 5.3%, IQR 5.0%-5.6%; *P*<.001). A large variation in impact was observed between school classes (range 1.5%-17.5%). Lowering the effectiveness of health education from 17% to 5% would reduce the overall impact of the social network intervention by 3-fold in both networks.

**Conclusions:** Our findings showed that network interventions based on web-based communication data could increase PAL. Web-based communication data may therefore be a valuable addition to peer nomination data for future social network intervention design. Artificial intelligence methods, including agent-based modeling, can help to design these network interventions and provide insights into the role of network characteristics in their effectiveness.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44849) doi:10.2196/44849

#### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

agent-based modeling; peer nomination network data; physical activity; social network analysis; social network interventions; web-based communication network data

# Introduction

Social networks can influence health behaviors significantly, as people and their health behaviors are known to be connected [1-3]. Youth are particularly susceptible to influences from role models in their social networks (eg, family and peers), who can encourage or discourage health behaviors. For example, studies have shown that peers and peer groups shape consumption behavior and physical activity among youth [4-7]. Developments in social network theory have provided opportunities to exploit social networks as a tool to promote positive behaviors, such as physical activity [8]. Network interventions are rooted in the diffusion of innovation theory [9], which presumes that ideas and behaviors spread through a social network. A common approach in designing social network interventions is to identify influential peers (ie, role models) based on network properties, such as centrality measures [8]. The selected individuals can then be educated and trained to promote healthy behaviors among their peers [9].

The selection of influential peers is traditionally based on social network representations derived from self-reported peer nomination data [10]. Participants are asked to name and rank peers based on questions such as "who are your close friends?" [4]. Although such networks can provide a relatively realistic representation of real-life relationships, they have some known limitations. First, self-reporting of peers could result in underreporting of relationships with undesired peers (social desirability bias) or overestimating relationships with whom they interacted recently (recall bias) [11,12]. Second, survey questions may be interpreted differently and therefore result in an incomplete or nonrepresentative network. Third, nonresponse is a serious concern, as questions to derive a nominated network can be considered tedious [13]. Nonresponse can result in gaps in the network that may affect the understanding of the network, and, as a result, the intervention design (eg, misinterpreting centrality measures). Finally, as nominated networks only focus on the most important relationships, weak ties may be overlooked. Weak ties can play an important role in diffusing information or behaviors in a network [14,15].

Communication data from web-based social platforms or other forms of web-based media communication could provide a useful addition for measuring social relationships [16-18]. Connections and interactions on web-based social platforms can be used to create a representation of web-based social networks. A connection on web-based social platforms is only meaningful when interactions between peers have taken place [18]. The number of interactions between peers can more accurately measure the quality of a relationship and opportunities to exchange information and can therefore be a good proxy for assigning the strength of ties (ie, weighted ties) in a social network. Artificial intelligence (AI) methods, such as natural language processing (NLP) techniques, could be used to filter meaningful conversations and calculate weights. Web-based social networks have also become an attractive target for promoting healthy behaviors [19,20]. Web-based relationships can provide supportive interactions to encourage healthy behaviors and can increase an individual's physical activity through social comparison [19,21,22].

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44849
```

XSL•FO

Studies have shown that web-based and offline social networks capture (to a large extent) different connections between adolescents [23,24]. This may suggest that web-based and peer nominated social networks measure different types of relationships, which would likely affect the design of social network interventions (ie, selection of influential peers). As a result, the effectiveness of these interventions in promoting healthy behaviors may be different as well. There is little knowledge about the consequences of social network interventions design and effectiveness when based on web-based communication data as compared to peer nomination data.

Therefore, this study aims to investigate the differences in impact of social network interventions between networks derived from web-based communication and peer nomination data. We examined the effectiveness of social network interventions to promote physical activity, where interventions are designed based on web-based communication data, and compared it to peer nomination data. We apply social network analysis (SNA) to a longitudinal data set collected among school classes in the Netherlands [25]. This data set contains information about participants' physical activity levels (PALs), the socioeconomic status of their family, peer-nominated social contacts, and web-based text messages exchanged between classmates. To assess the effectiveness of social network interventions, we apply agent-based modeling, a powerful tool combined with AI to address complex problems, as an alternative to real-world trials. An agent-based model (ABM) can conduct experiments in simulated environments to assess the causal effect of interventions on health behaviors [26]. ABMs are increasingly being used to compare the impact of various social network intervention strategies (ie, selection of influential peers) [27-30], and to investigate the potential (long-term) impact of network interventions on health behaviors, such as physical activity behavior [31,32]. In this study, we present an ABM to simulate the diffusion of physical activity among youth in social networks and use it to compare the effect of social network interventions on PALs in networks derived from web-based communication and peer nomination data.

## Methods

#### **Participants**

We used the data from the MyMovez research project investigating youth's social networks and health behaviors [25]. The participants were children and adolescents, between 8 and 15 years of age, from 21 Dutch primary and secondary schools. They received a smartphone with a research app to fill out questionnaires, including sociometric questionnaires about the relationships with and impressions of other classmates. The app also included a web-based social platform for communication between peers. Furthermore, participants received a wrist-worn accelerometer to measure PALs.

The data were collected during a 3-year period in 7 data waves: February 2016 (W1), April 2016 (W2), June 2016 (W3), February 2017 (W4), February 2018 (W5), April 2018 (W6), and June 2018 (W7). Each data wave lasted for 7 days. The web-based social platform was introduced in W4 of the project, but this wave had a high attrition rate and participants leaving
schools. In W5, new classrooms were added, and the web-based social platform was used by 617 out of 736 (84%) participants. Therefore, we used W5 to infer social networks from both web-based communication and peer nomination data and to measure PAL and family affluence scores. W1 was only used to assign the initial PAL of the participants in the model.

We included participants who both filled out the sociometric questionnaires and used the web-based social platform in W5 (614 participants in 44 classes). Only participants from classes with more than 60% participation and at least 15 participants were included to ensure a representative sample within each class [33]. In total, our sample included 408 adolescents in 21 school classes (19 primary and 2 secondary). The mean age was 10.6 (SD 1.0) years, and 220 (54%) participants were female (Multimedia Appendix 1).

#### Measures

#### Social Networks

# Web-Based Communication Data

Web-based social networks in school classes were created using communication data from the web-based social platform in the research app in W5. Participants could post messages on the message board of the classroom or send private messages to classmates on the web-based social platform. To create a network of personal relationships, we only used private (one-to-one) messages between participants within a class (*c*). Every message *m* sent by a participant  $i_c$  (ego) to a classmate who received the message  $j_c$  (alter) was considered a connection, resulting in a directed network. The weight of a connection between 2 peers was based on the total number of messages agent  $i_c$  (ego) receives from peer  $j_c$  (alter) and on the maximum number of peer-to-peer messages in a class max ( $m_c$ ). The total weight of a connection in the communication network between an agent  $i_c$  (ego) and  $j_c$  (alter) in class *c* is given by:



# **Peer Nomination Data**

Social networks in school classes were created based on peer nomination data derived from sociometric questions. In W5, 4 general sociometric questions were asked, including (1) who they hang out or have contact with [5]; (2) who they go to for advice; (3) who they consider as leaders; and (4) who they want to be like [34]. Participants received these 4 questions N(q)through the research smartphone at a random time during the day. For each question (q), participants were required to nominate at least one peer, with no maximum on the nominated peers, and self-nominations were not possible. We only considered nominations from within a class (c). Question 1 was used to generate a directed network with edges from the participant  $i_c$  (ego) to a nominated peer  $j_c$  (alter), because it mostly resembles web-based exchanged messages between peers. The weight of a connection, which reflects the amount of influence that an ego has on an alter, was based on all 4 nomination questions. The weight of a connection in the

nominated network between agents  $i_c$  (ego) and  $j_c$  (alter) is derived as follows:

×

# PAL Measure

PALs were measured using the accelerometer (Fitbit Flex), which participants wore for 7 consecutive days in each wave. We excluded days 1 and 7 because the data on these days were not full days of measurement by default. Also, days with less than 24 hours of data collection and days with less than 1000 steps were excluded because these were incomplete data (eg, nonwear time). The PAL was calculated as the mean of steps per day for at least three days of valid data in a wave. For participants with less than 3 days of valid data, the number of steps per day was imputed using single multilevel (predictive mean matching) imputation. Missing data were imputed based on other physical activity data of the same participant, day of the week, measurement period, sex, and age [35]. The number of steps per day of an individual was divided by 10,000. The mean PAL was 0.92 (minimum 0.12 and maximum 1.87) in W5 (Multimedia Appendix 1).

## Family Affluence Scale

The Family Affluence Scale (FAS) is a self-reported measure of the socioeconomic status of participants' families [36,37]. This measure was included in our ABM to account for the impact of socioeconomic circumstances on PALs. Participants were asked the following four questions: (1) does your family own a car, van, or truck? (2) Do you have your own bedroom for yourself? (3) During the past 12 months, how many times did you go on a holiday with your family? (4) how many computers does your family own? The scores of all possible answers were summed, with higher scores representing a better socioeconomic position (range 0-12). The mean score was 9.1 (minimum 2 and maximum 12; Multimedia Appendix 1).

# Procedure

## **SNA** Procedure

SNA was performed on both social networks to investigate network structures and select influential peers based on centrality measures. SNA was conducted using the package *NetworkX* 2.8 in Python 3 (Python Software Foundation).

Both social networks were compared based on number of connections, average connection weight, network density, and a similarity score. Network density indicates the level of cohesion in a network and is measured as the ratio between the number of connections in a network and the number of all possible connections. To measure the similarity between social networks derived from web-based communication and peer nomination data, we used the Jaccard similarity index. It divides the number of connections in a class shared between both social networks by the total number of connections (shared and unshared). The Jaccard similarity index will be 0 if none of the affiliating node pairs co-occurs in both social networks and 1 if both networks are identical in connections.

# Selection of Influential Peers

Social network interventions engage influential peers to disseminate behavior change. Influential peers are typically selected based on centrality measures (ie, network position), because it is assumed that being central in a network makes an individual more influential [8]. There are various ways to measure centrality. In this study, social network interventions were based on 3 common centrality measures for selecting influential individuals: in-degree, betweenness, and closeness centrality [38].

In-degree centrality refers to the number of connections directed toward an individual. This measure is related to the number of peer nominations or web-based messages an individual receives. Individuals with higher in-degree centrality can be seen as important holders of information and are perceived as the most popular in school settings [38].

Betweenness centrality is a measure of centrality based on how often an individual is part of the shortest paths between all nodes in a network. It is often used to find individuals that link different subgroups together, so-called "bridge" individuals. This means that an individual with high betweenness centrality controls the flow of information between other peers in the network. If the betweenness central agents are not selected as influential peers, entire subgroups might be restrained from the intervention [38].

Closeness centrality provides a measure of how close an individual is to all other peers in a network. Individuals with the highest closeness centrality values have, on average, the shortest path to all other peers in a network. This means that the intervention will reach the entire network in the lowest number of steps.

In this study, the top 15% (63/408) of individuals with the highest centrality score were selected as influential peers in each class. The number of influential peers selected per class ranged between 2 and 4 (depending on the class size) in both network representations. In case multiple individuals had a similar centrality score, these individuals were ranked on highest PAL. If there was still a tie, the influential peer was randomly selected.

# Agent-Based Modeling

#### **Model Description**

An ABM was developed to describe the diffusion dynamics of physical activity through a social network. Our model was built upon previously published ABMs by van Woudenberg et al [30] and de Mello Araujo et al [39], which were based on the model framework by Beheshti et al [29] and Giabbanelli et al [40]. The model was programmed in Python. Model source code and scripts are available on GitHub [41].

In the model, each agent is characterized by a PAL and socioeconomic environment score (ie, the FAS score). An agent's PAL may change over time as a result of two key factors: (1) the influence through the social network and (2) influence of socioeconomic environment. At each time step (ie, day), an agent determines whether to change his or her PAL. To change PAL, the impact of social influence and the

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44849

socioeconomic environment should exceed a threshold  $(T_{PAL})$ , which is the minimum amount of influence an agent needs to receive to change behavior. If the condition is true, the agent increases or decreases his or her PAL by a factor  $I_{PAL}$  (Multimedia Appendix 2 for full description).

#### **Model Calibration**

A grid search was used to calibrate two model parameters ( $T_{PAL}$ and  $I_{PAL}$ ). The model was calibrated using the modeled social network based on web-based communication and peer nomination data separately. Both models were run until predictions had reached a steady state. Initial PALs of each agent were randomly sampled from the distribution of PALs by sex in W1 (Multimedia Appendix 3). The simulated PALs in the steady state were compared to the empirical data per class in year 1 (W2-W3), year 2 (W4), and year 3 (W5-W7). The goodness-of-fit was measured by the sum of squared errors. The objective function was to minimize the sum of squared errors. We selected 100 best-fitting model parameter combinations for both social network representations separately. In this study, all simulations were run using these parameter combinations (ie, 100 runs) to account for uncertainty in the parameter estimates. Multimedia Appendix 2 provides a full description of the calibration procedure.

#### Simulation of Social Network Interventions

The calibrated model was used to simulate the impact of hypothetical social network interventions on PAL in social networks based on web-based communication and peer nomination data separately. The social network intervention featured health education among the top 15% (63/408) most influential peers, which would motivate them to increase their PAL (eg, through intensive personal counseling). In the model, we assumed that the health education intervention would increase the PAL of influential peers by 17%. This artificial increase was based on previous modeling studies [29,30]. In addition, we assessed the impact of an increase of 5%, 10%, and 20%. We tested three strategies to select influential peers for the social network intervention: (1) in-degree, (2) betweenness, and (3) closeness centrality measure (see Selection of Influential Peers section).

We simulated the social network intervention strategies for an additional 200 days from the calibrated model outcomes. Each social network intervention strategy was simulated 100 times (ie, for each calibrated parameter combination). For each run, we calculated the average PAL over all agents in the model. We presented the median from the 100 simulation runs. The variation in impact between runs (ie, uncertainty interval) was presented in a box plot. The primary outcome measure is the relative impact of each network intervention on the mean PAL per class per day. The relative impact represents the difference in PAL at the start (day 0) and the end (day 200) and was expressed as a percentage of change.

# **Ethical Considerations**

Informed consent was obtained from 1 of the parents of the participants in the MyMovez project. Study procedures were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Radboud University (ECSW2014–100614-222).

XSL•FO RenderX

# Results

# **SNA Procedure**

Table 1 and Multimedia Appendix 3 present the overall characteristics of web-based communication and peer nomination network data per school class. In the web-based communication network data, a total of 25,739 messages were exchanged among all participants. The number of messages

exchanged ranged from 143 to 5301 between classes. Multimedia Appendix 4 provides information about the distribution of the exchanged messages. The number of connections per individual varied significantly among classes (mean 8, SD 6). In the peer nomination network data, there were a total of 3063 peer nominations among the 21 classes (mean 146, SD 59). There were on average 8 (SD 5; in and outgoing) connections per individual, with a variation among the classes ranging from 4 to 12 connections per individual on average.

 Table 1. Characteristics of web-based communication and peer nomination data.

Characteristic	Value
Participants, n	408
Web-based communication data	
Web-based messages, n	25,739 <sup>a</sup>
Number of connections per participant, mean (SD)	8 (6)
Average connection weight, mean (SD)	0.10 (0.12)
Network density, mean (SD)	0.38 (0.18) <sup>b</sup>
Peer nomination data	
Peer nominations, n	3063 <sup>c</sup>
Number of connections per participant, mean (SD)	8 (5)
Average connection weight, mean (SD)	0.43 (0.14)
Network density, mean (SD)	0.40 (0.09) <sup>b</sup>
Network similarity, mean (SD)	0.69 (0.09)

<sup>a</sup>The mean number of web-based messages per school class is 1225 (SD 1309).

<sup>b</sup>No significant difference between web-based and peer nominated social networks (P=.47; Mann-Whitney U test).

<sup>c</sup>The mean number of peer nominations per school class is 146 (SD 59).

The overall average network density was similar in web-based social networks (0.38) and peer nominated social networks (0.40). The average connection weight was 0.10 (SD 0.12) in web-based social networks compared to 0.43 (SD 0.14) in peer nominated social networks. The overall similarity between networks based on web-based communication compared to peer nomination data was 0.69 (ie, 5253/7700 connections appeared in both networks). Overall, networks based on peer nomination data had significantly higher closeness (0.56 vs 0.54) centrality than networks based on web-based communication data (Multimedia Appendix 5). The overall in-degree (0.40 vs 0.39) and betweenness (0.03 vs 0.04) centrality was similar in both network representations. Participant-level SNA is available in Multimedia Appendix 6, providing comparative insights from an ego-level perspective.

# **Selection of Influential Peers**

The majority of the selected influential peers were different in networks based on web-based communication and peer nomination data. On average, 17/63 (27%; in-degree), 16/63 (25%; betweenness), and 15/63 (24%; closeness) of the selected influential peers were the same in both networks. In more than 6 classes, the selected influential peers were completely different (Figure 1). In web-based social networks, in-degree and closeness centrality had an 86% (54/63), in-degree and betweenness had 63% (40/63), and betweenness and closeness had 67% (42/63; Multimedia Appendix 7) overlap in influential peers. In peer nominated social networks, this was 81% (51/63; in-degree vs closeness), 44% (28/63; in-degree vs betweenness), and 43% (27/63; betweenness vs closeness).







# **Agent-Based Modeling**

Figure 2 shows the predicted PAL from the model (100 simulation runs and its mean) using web-based and peer nominated social networks with the observed data from all waves. The mean predictions of PAL (blue line) were within the CIs of the empirical data for all data points, indicating a good fit. The 100 simulation runs (light gray lines) indicate the variation due to parameter uncertainty, which were in the same order for both network types.

Figure 3 illustrates the predicted effect of network intervention strategies on the mean change in PAL among all participants in both social networks. All 3 strategies for network interventions increased the average PAL in both data network types. The median impact on PAL was higher in networks based on web-based communication than peer nomination data for in-degree (5.7%, IQR 5.5%-6.1% vs 5.5%, IQR 5.2%-5.8%;

P=.002; Mann-Whitney U test), betweenness (5.6%, IQR 5.4%-5.9% vs 5.0%, IQR 4.7%-5.3%; P<.001), and closeness centrality (5.8%, IQR 5.6%-6.1% vs 5.3%, IQR 5.0%-5.6%; P<.001). In social networks based on web-based communication data, the increase in PALs corresponds with an average increase of 581, 569, and 594 steps per day when influential peers were selected based on in-degree, betweenness, and closeness centrality, respectively. In peer nominated social networks, the increase in PALs corresponds with an average increase of 561, 512, and 537 steps per day for in-degree, betweenness, and closeness centrality, respectively. The increase in PALs varied by selection strategy, with closeness showing the largest impact, followed by in-degree and betweenness using web-based social networks (Figures 3A and 3C). For peer nominated social networks, in-degree centrality showed the largest impact, followed by closeness and betweenness (Figures 3B and 3D). Multimedia Appendix 8 provides more information about the variation in impact between school classes.







XSL•FO RenderX





Varying the effectiveness of health education to increase PAL among influential peers (selected based on centrality measures) changed the overall impact of the social network intervention (Figure 4 and Multimedia Appendix 9). Assuming an effectiveness of 5% or 10% would yield an average

population-level impact that is approximately 67% or 34% lower, respectively, than the reference (17%). Increasing the effectiveness to 20% would increase the PAL by 12%-16% compared to the reference.



Figure 4. The impact of social network interventions on physical activity levels with varying effectiveness of health education to influential peers. PAL: physical activity level.





# Discussion

#### Overview

This study investigated the differences in impact between using web-based communication data and peer nomination data for designing social network interventions. In both network representations, interventions could increase PALs substantially (5%-5.8%) within 2 months. Generally, the predicted impact of the interventions was slightly higher in networks based on web-based communication than peer nomination data. The selection strategy for influential peers only slightly affected the impact of the social network interventions in both types of networks. However, varying the increase in PAL among influential peers (ie, the effectiveness of health education) significantly changed the impact, with lower effectiveness resulting in a lower impact.

The differences in impact using web-based communication and peer nomination network data could be explained by the differences in the constructed network. Social networks derived from web-based communication and peer nomination data showed 69% similarity, suggesting that almost one-third of the connections are different. Also, web-based social networks had significantly lower connection weights but similar density compared to the peer nominated networks. Nevertheless, the impact was slightly higher in web-based social networks. This is primarily due to substantial differences in the selection of influential peers between the 2 data representations (approximately 25% overlap). Influential peers that were selected in web-based social networks had a significantly higher number of connections than in peer nominated social networks. In 2 school classes, influential peers in web-based social networks were connected to all classmates and in 8 classes connected to more than 80% (range 19/23-20/20) of all

RenderX

classmates, while in peer nominated social networks, the latter occurred in only 1 school class. This suggests that being fully or very connected may compensate for the lack of strength of connection in the effectiveness of social network interventions.

As selection strategies for influential peers are usually based on network positions, choosing web-based or offline data for representing social networks is crucial. It is known that web-based and offline connections differ substantially, as peers on the internet are not necessarily the same as the closest peers offline [23,24]. This study also found substantial differences in connections in both networks, although we attempted to align both networks by selecting the nomination question ("who they hang out or have contact with") that mostly resembles web-based exchanged messages between peers. This suggests that the frequency of web-based communication does not necessarily equal the number of peers one physically hangs out with. This should be considered when selecting web-based versus offline connections to design network interventions aimed at increasing physical activity.

Our findings showed that the choice of a particular selection strategy for influential peers (ie, in-degree, betweenness, or closeness) only slightly affected the impact on PAL in both networks. The differences were at most 0.2% in web-based social networks or 0.5% in peer nominated social networks. The relatively small variation in impact was the result of the large overlap in selected influential peers between selection strategies (ie, in-degree, betweenness, and closeness) in both networks. A plausible explanation for this large overlap could be the small social network sizes (on average, 8 connections per class in both networks). This may suggest that for relatively small network sizes, any selection strategy (ie, in-degree, betweenness, or closeness) could be used to achieve a similar positive impact.

The impact of social network interventions was very sensitive to the assumed effectiveness of health education (ie, increase in PAL among influential peers). Assuming lower effectiveness would reduce the overall impact of the social network intervention by 3-fold in both networks. This underlines the importance of developing effective methods to train and educate influential peers for social network interventions to be impactful.

In this study, networks based on web-based communication data had significantly lower weights than peer nomination data. This is inherent to the method of calculating weights and the limitations of the data sets. In peer nomination networks, the weight was based on 4 nomination questions, resulting in a weight of either 0, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, or 1. In web-based social networks, the number of messages exchanged between individuals was used as a weight, resulting in more granular weights (approximating a continuous scale from 0 to 1). This resulted in a larger variation in the weight of the connection (right-skewed distribution). A continuous scale might provide a more realistic reflection of the importance of connection. However, although weights in peer nomination data were restricted, these weights might better reflect influential potential as the peer nomination questions were influence-oriented.

This is the first agent-based modeling study to directly compare the effect of social network interventions on PAL using web-based communication versus peer nomination data. A strength of this work is that our ABM was based on an existing model of social network diffusion of PAL that has been previously (and independently) tested [29,30,39]. Also, we calibrated the model using actual data. These data were unique as they included information on participants' peer-nominated friendships, web-based interactions, and PALs, allowing a direct comparison between the implications of using web-based communication versus peer nomination data. Moreover, this study used a published framework for agent-based modeling studies (in the field of public health) to assess the quality of the model [42]. Our ABM complies with the principles related to data, parameters, sensitivity analysis, validation, and documentation. All parameter values used were reported, including those derived from data and distributions based on data. Calibration values for the model were also provided, ensuring transparency and accuracy in representing the underlying dynamics of the system. Sensitivity analyses were applied to the effectiveness of health education (ie, increase of PAL among influential peers) and network density. Model validation is conducted by comparing the simulation run outcomes with reference data sets, that is, the empirical data. Finally, we have fully documented the experiment for reproducibility through open data access, open-source code, and code documentation.

Nevertheless, the presented ABM could be further refined by including, for example, individual personality traits (eg, age effects), seasonality, and other relevant environmental factors (eg, neighborhood characteristics). Moreover, the temporality of the networks should be included in the design since social connections change over time, while the current model assumes static social networks. This could provide better-informed suggestions for designing interventions.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44849
```

The data in this study were derived from a web-based social platform of a research app that participants could freely use, but they were not instructed or forced to use the app's web-based platform. Therefore, while our web-based communication data may not reflect all web-based communication, it is likely that participants may also have been communicating through other social media apps with classmates during the study. As a result, connection weights might be underestimated since they were derived based on the number of limited web-based interactions. Future studies could ask the target audience to donate their social media data [43].

Another limitation is that we considered every text message exchanged between participants in the web-based communication data to be equally meaningful. However, it is conceivable that in youth's web-based communication, this is not always the case. For example, it is very unlikely that exchanging greetings (eg, "hi") or ending a conversation (eg, "bye") can be used to persuade or influence someone to change his or her behavior. Similarly, more messages sent within 1 conversation cannot be directly interpreted as a more persuasive conversation. Therefore, future work should look more closely at the content of web-based interactions. For example, one straightforward improvement would be weighting the messages based on a word count instead of a message count. Another option would be to weigh connections based on how meaningful the interactions are. NLP techniques could be used to filter meaningful conversations related to a certain topic or behavior. For example, NLP techniques can analyze text messages and assign weights to network edges based on the level of interaction expressed. Lower weights could be assigned to surface-level interactions, such as simple greetings, while higher weights can represent more complex interactions, such as detailed discussions where peers react to each other's ideas.

Clearly, web-based communication data are complex by nature and therefore allow numerous ways for more sophisticated network modeling. The data offer many opportunities for future work on representing real-life social networks and designing network interventions. On the contrary, peer nomination data describe a snapshot of close relationships, which can be considered a limitation in terms of representing real-life social dynamics. One potentially promising approach is to combine data coming from web-based communication and peer nomination sources to design more realistic multimodal network representations.

Another way to enrich the proposed network representations is by using sampling techniques to correct the social network data or applying mixed approaches. For example, snowball sampling procedures, a type of respondent-driven sampling (RDS), can be applied to sample hidden (or hard-to-reach) populations [44]. One can consider influencers as a type of hidden population within a network. RDS exploits the social network structure to reach the target population through the participants' own peers [45]. However, instead of a static peer nomination network, with snowball sampling, the network grows as participants refer other peers. Moreover, mixed methods can also be applied. For instance, a web-based social network strategy combined with RDS peer referral has been shown to recruit a more representative sample for recruitment of a very specific group

XSL•FO RenderX

of young transwomen compared to using only RDS [46]. We imagine that in the case of the identification of influential peers, a similar mixed methods strategy combining web-based social media sources with well-established sampling techniques can lead to some promising outcomes.

# Conclusions

Altogether, the findings of this study indicate that network interventions designed based on web-based communication network data can be promising. This analysis showed that there are noticeable structural differences between the web-based communication and peer nomination network data, which affect the selection of influential peers and the outcomes of the network interventions. Generally, interventions could increase PAL substantially within 2 months in both network representations. Web-based communication data may therefore be a valuable addition and alterative to peer nomination data for future social network intervention design to overcome the disadvantages of peer-nomination-only procedures. With advances in technology, people are shifting much of their real-life communication to web-based social media. This offers an unprecedented opportunity for new ways of interpreting social connections and peer influence. AI methods, including agent-based modeling, can help to better understand these social phenomena and serve as a useful tool for designing network health interventions.

# Acknowledgments

This publication is part of the project "SocialMovez: effective and responsible health campaigns for adolescents using online social networks" (project VI.C.181.045) of the research program Vici, which is partly financed by the Dutch Research Council.

# **Data Availability**

The data used in this study are stored at the Data Archiving and Networked Services [47]. Model source code and scripts are available on GitHub [41].

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Demographic characteristics of the participants in wave 5 by school class. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 85 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44849 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Model description and calibration. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 704 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44849 app2.pdf ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Characteristics of web-based communication and peer nomination data by school class. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 164 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44849\_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Frequency distribution of messages in web-based communication data. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 116 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44849 app4.pdf ]

# Multimedia Appendix 5

Centrality measures of generated social networks using web-based communication and peer nomination data by school class. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 127 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44849 app5.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Distribution of participants with same connections in web-based and peer nominated social networks. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 246 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44849 app6.pdf ]

Multimedia Appendix 7

Number of similar influential peers between in-degree, betweenness and closeness. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 206 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44849 app7.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 8

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44849



Variation of the impact of social network interventions on physical activity levels between school classes. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 194 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44849\_app8.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 9

The impact of social network interventions on physical activity levels with varying effectiveness of health education to influential peers.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 255 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44849\_app9.pdf ]

# References

- 1. Smith KP, Christakis NA. Social networks and health. Annu Rev Social 2008;34(1):405-429. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.34.040507.134601]
- Latkin CA, Knowlton AR. Social network assessments and interventions for health behavior change: a critical review. Behav Med 2015;41(3):90-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08964289.2015.1034645] [Medline: 26332926]
- 3. Badham J, Kee F, Hunter RF. Network structure influence on simulated network interventions for behaviour change. Soc Networks 2021;64:55-62. [doi: 10.1016/j.socnet.2020.08.003]
- 4. de la Haye K, Robins G, Mohr P, Wilson C. How physical activity shapes, and is shaped by, adolescent friendships. Soc Sci Med 2011;73(5):719-728. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.06.023] [Medline: 21802807]
- Salvy S, de la Haye K, Bowker JC, Hermans RCJ. Influence of peers and friends on children's and adolescents' eating and activity behaviors. Physiol Behav 2012;106(3):369-378 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.03.022] [Medline: 22480733]
- 6. de la Haye K, Robins G, Mohr P, Wilson C. Obesity-related behaviors in adolescent friendship networks. Soc Networks 2010;32(3):161-167. [doi: 10.1016/j.socnet.2009.09.001]
- Chung A, Vieira D, Donley T, Tan N, Jean-Louis G, Gouley KK, et al. Adolescent peer influence on eating behaviors via social media: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(6):e19697 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19697] [Medline: 34081018]
- 8. Valente TW. Network interventions. Science 2012;337(6090):49-53. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.1217330</u>] [Medline: <u>22767921</u>]
- 9. Rogers EM. Diffusion of Innovations, 5th Edition. New York: Free Press; 2003.
- 10. Wasserman S, Galaskiewicz J. Advances in Social Network Analysis: Research in the Social and Behavioral Sciences. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications; 1994.
- 11. van de Mortel TF. Faking it: social desirability response bias in self-report research. Aus J Adv Nurs 2008;25(4):40-48.
- 12. Wen CKF, Junghaenel DU, Newman DB, Schneider S, Mendez M, Goldstein SE, et al. The effect of training on participant adherence with a reporting time frame for momentary subjective experiences in ecological momentary assessment: cognitive interview study. JMIR Form Res 2021;5(5):e28007 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28007] [Medline: 34037524]
- 13. De Lange D, Agneessens F, Waege H. Asking social network questions. Adv Meth Stat 2004;1(2):351-378 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.51936/zzsy8178]
- 14. Granovetter MS. The strength of weak ties. Am J Soc 1973;78(6):1360-1380. [doi: 10.1086/225469]
- 15. Eng N, Sun Y, Myrick JG. Who is your fitspiration? An exploration of strong and weak ties with emotions, body satisfaction, and the theory of planned behavior. Health Commun 2023;38(7):1477-1489. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2021.2012978</u>] [Medline: <u>35001776</u>]
- 16. Del Vicario M, Zollo F, Caldarelli G, Scala A, Quattrociocchi W. Mapping social dynamics on Facebook: the Brexit debate. Soc Networks 2017;50:6-16. [doi: 10.1016/j.socnet.2017.02.002]
- 17. González-Bailón S, Wang N, Rivero A, Borge-Holthoefer J, Moreno Y. Assessing the bias in samples of large online networks. Soc Networks 2014;38:16-27. [doi: 10.1016/j.socnet.2014.01.004]
- Wilson C, Sala A, Puttaswamy KPN, Zhao BY. Beyond social graphs. ACM Trans Web 2012;6(4):1-31. [doi: 10.1145/2382616.2382620]
- 19. Centola D. Social media and the science of health behavior. Circulation 2013;127(21):2135-2144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.101816] [Medline: 23716382]
- 20. Maher CA, Lewis LK, Ferrar K, Marshall S, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Vandelanotte C. Are health behavior change interventions that use online social networks effective? A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(2):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2952] [Medline: 24550083]
- Centola D. The spread of behavior in an online social network experiment. Science 2010;329(5996):1194-1197. [doi: 10.1126/science.1185231] [Medline: 20813952]
- Zhang J, Brackbill D, Yang S, Becker J, Herbert N, Centola D. Support or competition? How online social networks increase physical activity: a randomized controlled trial. Prev Med Rep 2016;4:453-458 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2016.08.008] [Medline: 27617191]
- 23. van Woudenberg TJ, Bevelander KE, Burk WJ, Smit CR, Buijs L, Buijzen M. Comparing the measurement of different social networks: peer nominations, online communication, and proximity data. Net Sci 2020;8(1):62-78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/nws.2019.65]

- 24. Subrahmanyam K, Reich SM, Waechter N, Espinoza G. Online and offline social networks: use of social networking sites by emerging adults. J Appl Dev Psychol 2008;29(6):420-433. [doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2008.07.003]
- Bevelander KE, Smit CR, van Woudenberg TJ, Buijs L, Burk WJ, Buijzen M. Youth's social network structures and peer influences: study protocol MyMovez project—phase I. BMC Public Health 2018;18(1):504 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5353-5] [Medline: 29661223]
- 26. Marshall BDL, Galea S. Formalizing the role of agent-based modeling in causal inference and epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol 2015;181(2):92-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu274] [Medline: 25480821]
- 27. El-Sayed AM, Seemann L, Scarborough P, Galea S. Are network-based interventions a useful antiobesity strategy? An application of simulation models for causal inference in epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol 2013;178(2):287-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kws455] [Medline: 23696107]
- Zhang J, Shoham DA, Tesdahl E, Gesell SB. Network interventions on physical activity in an afterschool program: an agent-based social network study. Am J Public Health 2015;105(Suppl 2):S236-S243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.302277] [Medline: 25689202]
- Beheshti R, Jalalpour M, Glass TA. Comparing methods of targeting obesity interventions in populations: an agent-based simulation. SSM Popul Health 2017;3:211-218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2017.01.006] [Medline: 29349218]
- 30. van Woudenberg TJ, Simoski B, de Mello Araújo EF, Bevelander KE, Burk WJ, Smit CR, et al. Identifying influence agents that promote physical activity through the simulation of social network interventions: agent-based modeling study. J Med Internet Res 2019;21(8):e12914 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12914] [Medline: 31381504]
- 31. Yang Y, Diez-Roux AV. Using an agent-based model to simulate children's active travel to school. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013;10:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-67] [Medline: 23705953]
- Blok DJ, van Lenthe FJ, de Vlas SJ. The impact of individual and environmental interventions on income inequalities in sports participation: explorations with an agent-based model. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2018;15(1):107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0740-y] [Medline: 30382862]
- 33. Marks PEL, Babcock B, Cillessen AHN, Crick NR. The effects of participation rate on the internal reliability of peer nomination measures. Soc Dev 2012;22(3):609-622. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-9507.2012.00661.x</u>]
- 34. Campbell R, Starkey F, Holliday J, Audrey S, Bloor M, Parry-Langdon N, et al. An informal school-based peer-led intervention for smoking prevention in adolescence (ASSIST): a cluster randomised trial. Lancet 2008;371(9624):1595-1602 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60692-3] [Medline: 18468543]
- 35. Van Woudenberg TJ, Bevelander KE, Burk WJ, Smit CR, Buijs L, Buijzen M. Testing a social network intervention using vlogs to promote physical activity among adolescents: a randomized controlled trial. Front Psychol 2019;10:2913 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02913] [Medline: 31998181]
- Torsheim T, Cavallo F, Levin KA, Schnohr C, Mazur J, Niclasen B, et al. Psychometric validation of the revised family affluence scale: a latent variable approach. Child Indic Res 2016;9:771-784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12187-015-9339-x] [Medline: 27489572]
- 37. Boyce W, Torsheim T, Currie C, Zambon A. The family affluence scale as a measure of national wealth: validation of an adolescent self-report measure. Soc Indic Res 2006;78(3):473-487. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11205-005-1607-6</u>]
- 38. Freeman LC. Centrality in social networks conceptual clarification. Soc Networks 1978;1(3):215-239. [doi: 10.1016/0378-8733(78)90021-7]
- 39. de Mello Araujo EF, Simoski B, van Woudenberg T, Bevelander K, Smit C, Buijs L, et al. Using simulations for exploring interventions in social networks: modeling physical activity behaviour in Dutch school classes. 2018 Presented at: SIMULTECH 2018: Proceedings of 8th International Conference on Simulation and Modeling Methodologies, Technologies and Applications; July 29-31, 2018; Porto Portugal p. 414-425. [doi: 10.5220/0006857704140425]
- 40. Giabbanelli PJ, Alimadad A, Dabbaghian V, Finegood DT. Modeling the influence of social networks and environment on energy balance and obesity. J Comput Sci 2012;3(1-2):17-27. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jocs.2012.01.004</u>]
- 41. MovezNetwork/ABM-PA. URL: <u>https://github.com/MovezNetwork/ABM-PA</u> [accessed 2023-10-12]
- 42. Giabbanelli PJ, Tison B, Keith J. The application of modeling and simulation to public health: assessing the quality of agent-based models for obesity. Simul Model Pract Theory 2021;108(12):102268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.simpat.2020.102268]
- 43. van Driel II, Giachanou A, Pouwels JL, Boeschoten L, Beyens I, Valkenburg PM. Promises and pitfalls of social media data donations. Commun Methods Meas 2022;16(4):266-282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/19312458.2022.2109608]
- 44. Rocha LEC, Thorson AE, Lambiotte R, Liljeros F. Respondent-driven sampling bias induced by community structure and response rates in social networks. J R Stat Soc Ser A Stat Soc 2017;180(1):99-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/rssa.12180]
- 45. Heckathorn DD. Respondent-driven sampling: a new approach to the study of hidden populations. Soc Probl 1997;44(2):174-199. [doi: 10.1525/sp.1997.44.2.03x0221m]
- 46. Arayasirikul S, Chen YH, Jin H, Wilson E. A web 2.0 and epidemiology mash-up: using respondent-driven sampling in combination with social network site recruitment to reach young transwomen. AIDS Behav 2016;20(6):1265-1274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-015-1234-4] [Medline: 26499337]
- 47. Data Archiving and Networked Services. URL: <u>https://easy.dans.knaw.nl/ui/datasets/id/easy-dataset:155345</u> [accessed 2023-10-12]

# Abbreviations

ABM: agent-based model AI: artificial intelligence FAS: Family Affluence Scale NLP: natural language processing PAL: physical activity level RDS: respondent-driven sampling SNA: social network analysis

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 06.12.22; peer-reviewed by P Giabbanelli, R Xu, Y Zhou; comments to author 05.04.23; revised version received 01.07.23; accepted 04.10.23; published 22.11.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Blok DJ, Simoski B, van Woudenberg TJ, Buijzen M The Usefulness of Web-Based Communication Data for Social Network Health Interventions: Agent-Based Modeling Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44849 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44849</u> doi:10.2196/44849 PMID:<u>37991813</u>

©David J Blok, Bojan Simoski, Thabo J van Woudenberg, Moniek Buijzen. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Using Digital Measurement–Based Care for the Treatment of Anxiety and Depression in Children and Adolescents: Observational Retrospective Analysis of Bend Health Data

Landry Goodgame Huffman<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD; Darian Lawrence-Sidebottom<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD; Jennifer Huberty<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Monika Roots<sup>1</sup>, MD; Kurt Roots<sup>1</sup>, MBA; Amit Parikh<sup>1</sup>, MD; Rachael Guerra<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Jaclyn Weiser<sup>1</sup>, MSc

<sup>1</sup>Bend Health Inc, Beaverton, OR, United States

<sup>2</sup>FitMinded Inc LLC, Phoenix, AZ, United States

\*these authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Landry Goodgame Huffman, PhD Bend Health Inc 9450 SW Gemini Drive Beaverton, OR, 97008 United States Phone: 1 800 516 0975 Email: landry.huffman@bendhealth.com

# Abstract

**Background:** A growing body of evidence supports the efficacy of measurement-based care (MBC) for children and adolescents experiencing mental health concerns, particularly anxiety and depression. In recent years, MBC has increasingly transitioned to web-based spaces in the form of digital mental health interventions (DMHIs), which render high-quality mental health care more accessible nationwide. Although extant research is promising, the emergence of MBC DMHIs means that much is unknown regarding their effectiveness as a treatment for anxiety and depression, particularly among children and adolescents.

**Objective:** This study uses preliminary data from children and adolescents participating in an MBC DMHI administered by Bend Health Inc, a mental health care provider that uses a collaborative care model to assess changes in anxiety and depressive symptoms during participation in the MBC DMHI.

**Methods:** Caregivers of children and adolescents participating in Bend Health Inc for anxiety or depressive symptoms reported measures of their children's symptoms every 30 days throughout the duration of participation in Bend Health Inc. Data from 114 children (age 6-12 years) and adolescents (age 13-17 years) were used for the analyses (anxiety symptom group: n=98, depressive symptom group: n=61).

**Results:** Among children and adolescents participating in care with Bend Health Inc, 73% (72/98) exhibited improvements in anxiety symptoms and 73% (44/61) exhibited improvement in depressive symptoms, as indicated by either a decrease in symptom severity or screening out of completing the complete assessment. Among those with complete assessment data, group-level anxiety symptom T-scores exhibited a moderate decrease of 4.69 points (P=.002) from the first to the last assessment. However, members' depressive symptom T-scores remained largely stable throughout their involvement.

**Conclusions:** As increasing numbers of young people and families seek DMHIs over traditional mental health treatments due to their accessibility and affordability, this study offers promising early evidence that youth anxiety symptoms decrease during involvement in an MBC DMHI such as Bend Health Inc. However, further analyses with enhanced longitudinal symptom measures are necessary to determine whether depressive symptoms show similar improvements among those involved in Bend Health Inc.

# (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46154) doi:10.2196/46154

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

digital mental health intervention; anxiety; depression; child; adolescent; collaborative care; mental health; caregiver; pediatric; youth; demographic; health outcome; retrospective; treatment; e-mental health; symptoms

# Introduction

In 2021, 5.6 million children and adolescents aged 3-17 years were diagnosed with anxiety and 2.4 million were diagnosed with depression. Although rates of anxiety and depression have increased steadily since 2016, 1 in 5 young people still do not receive adequate mental health care services [1]. As such, the demand for high quality and accessible mental health care for youth is more pressing than ever. In recent years, this demand has been addressed in part by the increased availability of mental health care via digital and telehealth platforms [2,3]. Several studies and meta-analyses have shown that digital mental health interventions (DMHIs) are as efficacious as in-person psychotherapy for the treatment of anxiety and depression [4-7], particularly among young people. Children and adolescents are accessing the internet at increasing rates and at increasingly younger ages [8]. Indeed, there is promising evidence that young people may glean more therapeutic benefits from DMHIs than their older counterparts due to their familiarity and comfort with web-based spaces as digital natives [9,10]. For example, in a systematic overview of 18 meta-analyses, Lehtimaki et al [4] found that computerized cognitive behavioral therapy interventions significantly improved mental and behavioral health problems in youth compared to those in nontreatment controls, with the most pronounced therapeutic effects among patients exhibiting anxiety and depressive symptoms.

Despite the promising evidence offered by burgeoning literature, the efficacy of DMHIs is still limited in several ways. These limitations largely fall within 2 categories: (1) lack of ability to meet clients' and patients' needs and (2) limited high quality evidence demonstrating the effectiveness of DMHIs. First, many DMHIs are administered using a standardized approach (eg, a single user interface or a treatment plan that does not adapt based on user responses), thus showing restricted ability to tailor their services to patients' individual needs and circumstances [5,11]. This lack of adaptability restricts many DMHIs in their ability to address acute crises and issues of comorbidity [11]. Moreover, DMHIs are limited by their lack of human interaction. Hollis et al [12] and Grist et al [13] found that the involvement of a therapist or caregiver in the patient's treatment plan significantly increases the therapeutic effects. Similarly, DMHIs that include supervision, such as those delivered in the context of a hospital, school, or therapy group, are far more likely to achieve clinically significant results [14]. The majority of DMHIs do not include human interaction, and thus, low patient engagement, high rates of dropout, and negligible improvements in symptoms remain the pressing issues [15,16]. Second, the evidence for DMHI's effectiveness remains unclear and inconclusive largely due to the widespread lack of evidence-based practice utilized by DMHIs [13,17,18]. Although a number of DMHIs have been shown to effectively reduce youth anxiety and depression [4], methodological limitations such as sample size and quality of measures undermine the robustness of these findings [19]. This dearth of research also means that many questions remain regarding the basic factors associated with treatment effectiveness, such as the length of treatment and demographic and socioeconomic status [17]. This lack of methodological rigor paired with the issues of

XSL•FO

personalization and supervision mentioned above highlights the need for DMHIs to be both personalized and measurement based. These issues may be ameliorated by administering DMHIs within the context of collaborative care.

In recent years, collaborative care models have emerged as an effective framework for mental health care, particularly for the treatment of anxiety and depression [20-22]. The simplest collaborative care models are defined by a clear partnership between primary care providers (PCPs) and care teams, which comprise external behavioral health professionals (eg, case managers, therapists, coaches, psychiatrists) in order to facilitate comprehensive mental health treatment for an individual [23]. The additional support of the care team allows the PCP to delegate tasks to other team members while still tracking patient progress and optimizing treatment in real time. This optimization occurs via measurement-based care (MBC), which is another core component of the collaborative care model. MBC involves the frequent evaluation of patient symptoms and mental health status to allow for the continual tracking of patient progress. Additionally, MBC facilitates the prompt identification of treatment issues so that the DMHI can be adapted to address the patient's existing needs.

Among adults, MBC consistently confers greater treatment effects than the traditional non-MBC across multiple types of diagnoses [24-26]. Although studies of MBC among children and adolescents remain scarce, they too offer promising results. In a 2017 meta-analysis of 12 studies [27], youth who were engaged in measurement-based mental health care tended to show greater improvements in symptoms than those treated using more traditional methods. Despite its clear utility as an effective tool for mental health treatment, both collaborative care models and MBC have been infrequently used within DMHIs. As such, little is known regarding the effectiveness of DMHIs in treating anxiety and depression among young people, particularly within the context of collaborative care and MBC.

The purpose of our study was to utilize member (eg, children, adolescents) data from a novel digital mental health company (Bend Health Inc) that administers MBC via collaborative care to determine the effects of an MBC DMHI on anxiety and depressive symptoms in children and adolescents. We hypothesized that both anxiety and depressive symptoms would decrease significantly over time of involvement with Bend Health Inc.

# Methods

# **Study Design and Participants**

Children (age 6-12 years) and adolescents (age 13-17 years) receiving treatment from Bend Health Inc, an MBC DMHI, between May 2022 and December 2022 were eligible for inclusion in this study. Scores on the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) validated anxiety and depression measures were used to determine whether a member should be included in the retrospective analysis. Specifically, members with baseline PROMIS scores indicating at least mildly severe symptoms of anxiety were included in the "elevated anxiety symptom severity" group, and members with

baseline PROMIS scores indicating at least mildly severe symptoms of depression were included in the "elevated depressive symptom severity" group. Scoring and cutoff scores were determined by previously validated PROMIS scoring norms [28,29]. Many members included in our analyses exhibited additional comorbidities, including attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, mania, and posttraumatic stress disorder. The rates of comorbidities are reported in Multimedia Appendix 1.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

All Bend Health, Inc. members above the age of 12 (adolescent members and participating caregivers) complete informed consent prior to enrolling in services. Caregivers consent on behalf of their children ages 12 and under. The informed consent process includes essential information about Bend Health, Inc.'s telemedicine services and privacy policies. Given the current study was a retrospective analysis, it was classified as exempt from consent requirements under human subjects review and approved by BRANY IRB (Study ID 23-12-034-1374, 16 January 2023). Study data were de-identified and stored on a HIPAA–compliant online drive using industry standard encryption. Participants received no additional compensation for participation.

# Treatment

Bend Health Inc is an MBC DMHI for children and adolescents (age 2-17 years) based on a measurement-based collaborative care model. Most current Bend Health Inc members enroll through a pediatric PCP referral. PCPs remain closely involved in members' care throughout their time at Bend Health Inc, helping to determine and execute the member's care and receiving updates on the member's progress up to 2 times per month (once after a monthly psychiatric provider session, if applicable, and once at the end of each month). Outside of PCP referrals, there are several other pathways to enrollment at Bend Health Inc: enrolling in employer benefits, enrolling in insurance benefits, and paying a monthly fee (direct to consumer).

Bend Health Inc uses a team-based treatment approach, leveraging regular involvement from PCPs, mental health professionals, and caregivers to holistically treat mental and behavioral health problems among youth members. After a member is enrolled and assessed, a behavioral care coordinator coordinates with their PCP as well as other relevant care team members (eg, psychiatrist, therapist, coach) to determine the member's care program (eg, the plan of care developed based on a member's presenting symptoms and age). The behavioral care coordinator then oversees the execution of the member's care program under the direction of the PCP. Each member's care program includes synchronous video-based (virtual) care sessions between the member and a coach or therapist, asynchronous instant messaging with their coach or therapist, and access to informational resources via the web-based platform. In general, care programs last between 4 and 6 months, as determined by the member's care team. However, members can transition to a new care program if their ongoing symptoms indicate that they would be more benefitted by another program; as such, a member may begin with a depression-oriented care program and transition to an attention-deficit/hyperactivity

disorder-oriented care program depending on their symptom presentation.

Care programs are adapted to be developmentally appropriate for those receiving care from Bend Health Inc, with modifications in the care program based on member age. For example, programs for children (members aged 12 years or younger) require an adult caregiver to be present in synchronous sessions, during which the caregiver actively engages with and assists their child throughout the program. Programs for adolescents (members aged 13-17 years) do not require caregivers to attend sessions with their child. However, adolescent programs still include aspects that involve and support the caregiver during and between sessions, and caregivers are still required to be readily accessible throughout sessions (eg, in the same general area). Program components such as scripts and tasks are also adapted to match cognitive and emotional abilities across a range of ages, such that a child-oriented program includes simpler language and tasks (eg, drawing vs writing) and an adolescent-oriented program includes more complex language and tasks.

All members may participate in up to 5 sessions per month with any of the following health care providers (depending on treatment plan and insurance coverage): behavioral care coordinator, coach, therapist, or psychiatrist. Coaching sessions are 30 minutes in duration, and members may attend a total of up to 2-3 coaching or therapy sessions per month as part of their 5 sessions allowed per month. Caregivers of Bend Health Inc members have access to web-based one-on-one asynchronous messaging with the behavioral care coordinator, coach, therapist, or psychiatrist. Every 30 days, caregivers are asked to complete web-based assessments of mental health outcomes, including symptoms of depression and anxiety. Due to variations in caregivers' responsivity and availability to complete assessments, the rates of interassessment duration vary.

Bend Health Inc coaching sessions are intended to provide the members and their families with appropriate evidence-based behavior change tools, help members with self-reflection, strengthen self-efficacy and autonomy, and, when appropriate, serve as a gateway to additional mental health support via sessions with a licensed therapist. Therapy sessions are intended to provide diagnostic clarity to inform a clinical framework, uncover potential sources of unwanted and targeted behaviors, address trauma or other complicated clinical and psychopathology. Coaching and therapy sessions are based upon cognitive behavioral therapy, behavioral activation, parent management training, mindfulness-based cognitive therapy, motivational interviewing, and mindfulness-based stress reduction. All Bend Health Inc coaches and therapists are trained in these modalities.

#### **Study Measures**

Upon enrollment, caregivers are asked to complete screening questions for depression, anxiety, and other mental and behavioral health symptoms. Anxiety and depression screener questions were drawn from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition, text revision Cross-Cutting Symptom Measure for children aged 6-17 years [30]. These screeners are intended to flag members with

XSL•FO RenderX

depressive or anxiety symptoms while minimizing the workload for caregivers of members less likely to have these symptoms. For anxiety symptoms, the screening question items are as follows: [my child has] (1) said they felt nervous, anxious, or scared, (2) not been able to stop worrying, and (3) said they could not do things they wanted to or should have done because it made them feel nervous. For depressive symptoms, the screening question items are as follows: [my child has] (1) had less fun doing things than they used to and (2) seemed sad or depressed for several hours. If the response to any of the screening questions is "almost never" or more (eg, a raw value of 2 or greater), caregivers are required to complete the entire depression or anxiety PROMIS measure. The depression and anxiety PROMIS measures were developed for caregivers of children aged 6-17 years [28,29]. The PROMIS depression measure has 11 questions, and the anxiety measure has 10 questions. After being prompted with, "during the past 2 weeks, how much (or how often) has your child," caregivers select the best-fit response to each item using a 5-item Likert scale (ranging from "not at all" to "nearly every day"). Assessment scores are reported to the caregiver and care team members on a web-based member portal and used to guide the patient's care plan. To increase the accuracy of symptom reports, caregivers are explicitly instructed to complete screening questions and assessments with their child alongside them ("Be sure you have your child or teen with you. You'll be answering a series of questions that will be used to create your personalized care plan."). Additionally, at enrollment, caregivers were asked to report their child or adolescent's demographic information, including age, sex at birth (male or female), and race/ethnicity (American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, Black or African American, Hispanic or Latino, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, White, or Other).

# **Statistical Analysis**

The total raw scores for the depression and anxiety PROMIS assessments were calculated by adding the individual scores of all items. Raw scores were converted to standardized T-scores based on established criteria [28,29]. For both questionnaires, T-scores less than 55 indicated a nonclinically significant level of depression or anxiety (no to slight symptom severity), T-scores between 55 and 59.9 indicated mild symptom severity, T-scores between 60 and 69.9 indicated moderate symptom severity, and T-scores exceeding 70 indicated severe symptoms. In all descriptions of the symptom severity classifications, scores of those who were screened out of completing the full assessment(s) (due to no longer reporting anxiety or depressive symptoms per screener questions) were classified as screened out. Because of this limitation, 2-tailed t tests were used to determine whether those who screened out at later assessments showed lower symptom severity at baseline.

Each member's  $\delta$  (change) score was calculated as the final T-score (last assessment) – baseline T-score (first assessment) to quantify the change in the T-score from baseline to the end of treatment. Negative change scores indicated an improvement (decrease) in symptom severity. One-tailed Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were conducted on complete assessment data to determine whether change scores for depression and anxiety were significantly less than 0. For other descriptive statistics of

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46154
```

change in symptom severity, members were considered to show improvement if they either (1) exhibited a decrease in anxiety or depressive scores or (2) were screened out of completing an entire assessment based on reports of low symptom severity in the screener questions.

Changes in depression and anxiety T-scores over time were further assessed by linear mixed-effects models with a fixed effect of time of assessment (eg, days from baseline) and a random effect of member (identification number) on the intercept. The number of days from baseline was used as the time variable because there was variability in the interassessment duration (eg, some members' second assessments took place 25 days after baseline while others' assessments took place 40 days after baseline). The average number of treatment sessions per month (calculated as time between the first and last assessments divided by the number of sessions with a coach, therapist, or psychiatrist) was added to this basic model as an additional predictor, and the alternative model was compared to the basic model by a likelihood ratio test. If the likelihood ratio test indicated that the predictor improved model fit (eg, P < .05), it was retained in the final model. Finally, analysis of variance was performed on the model effects to determine whether each effect was significant. The primary linear mixed-effects models for depressive and anxiety symptoms were first performed on only complete assessment data for all members. Then, follow-up linear mixed-effects models were conducted on those with complete data for the first 3 assessments (eg, completed assessments at baseline, assessment 2, assessment 3). These follow-up sensitivity analyses were performed to test the robustness of findings to dropout effects and are reported in Multimedia Appendix 1.

For all analyses, group trends were reported with standard descriptive statistics, including percent of sample (%), mean (SD), and median (IQR). Due to low response rates in the anxiety measure for assessments 5-7 for the elevated anxiety group, descriptive statistics for anxiety T-scores are not reported past assessment 4. Similarly, due to the low response rates in the depression measure for assessments 4-5 for the elevated depressive symptom group, descriptive statistics for depression T-scores are not reported past assessment 3.

# Results

# **Baseline Characteristics of the Participants**

A total of 114 members (age 6-17 years) met the inclusion criteria for elevated symptoms of anxiety or depression, with 85.9% (98/114) included in the anxiety analyses and 53.5% (61/114) included in the depression analyses. Approximately 42.1% (48/114) of all the members in this study met the inclusion criteria for both analyses. Due to variations in the rates of completion of screeners versus assessments as well as the total duration of participation with the DMHI, the rates of PROMIS measure completion decreased over assessments for both symptom groups. All included members completed the first assessment (baseline), and few members completed the subsequent assessments (see Table 1).

The members in the group with elevated anxiety symptoms were 11.9 (SD 3.3) years old, with adolescents comprising approximately half of the group (51/98, 52%). Approximately two-thirds of the anxiety group were females (66/98, 67%). Most members in the anxiety group identified as White (57/98, 58%) or other (31/98, 32%). The members in the group with elevated depressive symptoms were 13.2 (SD 2.7) years old,

with a larger proportion of adolescents than children (45/61, 74%). The depression group consisted of predominantly females (43/61, 71%). Most members in the depression group identified their race/ethnicity as White (33/61, 54%) or other (22/61, 36%). Table 2 shows the comprehensive demographic information of the anxiety and depressive symptom groups at baseline.

Table 1. Rates of Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System measure completion for depression and anxiety groups.

Assessment number	Elevated depressive symptom group (n=61), n (%)		Elevated anxiety symptom group (n=98), n (%)		
	Complete assessment	Screener or complete assessment	Complete assessment	Screener or complete assessment	
1 (baseline)	61 (100)	61 (100)	98 (100)	98 (100)	
2	12 (20)	25 (41)	34 (35)	44 (45)	
3	3 (5)	13 (21)	21 (21)	22 (22)	
4	1 (2)	5 (8)	7 (7)	9 (9)	
5	1 (2)	3 (5)	2 (2)	3 (3)	
6	0 (0)	2 (3)	0 (0)	1 (1)	

Table 2. Demographic information of the members in the depression and anxiety groups at baseline.

Demographics	Elevated depressive symptom group (n=61)	Elevated anxiety symptom group (n=98)
Age (years), mean (SD)	13.2 (2.7)	11.9 (3.3)
Child (6-12 years), n (%)	16 (26)	47 (48)
Adolescent (13+ years), n (%)	45 (74)	51 (52)
Sex, n (%)		
Female	43 (71)	66 (67)
Male	18 (30)	31 (32)
Race/ethnicity, n (%)		
White	33 (54)	57 (58)
Other	22 (36)	31 (32)
Asian	5 (8)	8 (8)
Hispanic/Latino	0 (0)	1 (1)
Black/African American	1 (2)	1 (1)
American Indian or Alaska Native	0 (0)	0 (0)

# **Elevated Anxiety Symptom Severity Group**

While receiving care from Bend Health Inc, members in the elevated anxiety symptom group attended 0-19 (median 0 [IQR 2]) sessions with a coach, therapist, or psychiatrist. Those in the elevated anxiety symptom group who completed at least 2 assessments (eg, screeners or complete measures; n=45) attended a median of 2 (IQR 3) sessions with a coach, therapist, or psychiatrist and an average of 1.50 (SD 0.73; range 0-3.6) sessions per month. Members completed their first and last assessments between 0 and 221 days apart (median 0 [IQR 1.5] sessions). The duration between the assessments ranged from 8 to 90 days, with the central tendency approximately equal to a month (median 34 [IQR 15] days).

Members with elevated anxiety symptoms had a mean PROMIS anxiety T-score of 64.97 (SD 6.71) at baseline, which is classified as moderate anxiety symptom severity. For members

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46154
```

RenderX

who completed at least 2 screeners or complete assessments, 73% (72/98) had improvements in anxiety symptom severity from baseline to their last assessment, as indicated by either a decrease in symptom severity scores or screening out of completing the entire assessment. Indeed, rates of moderate to severe anxiety symptom severity decreased across assessments, and rates of screening out of the complete assessment increased across assessments (Figure 1 and Table 3). Specifically, 23% (10/44) of the members with elevated anxiety symptoms at baseline screened out of the complete second anxiety PROMIS assessment, and 5% (1/22) screened out of completing the third anxiety PROMIS assessment. PROMIS anxiety T-scores at baseline for participants who screened out of the second PROMIS assessment (mean 61.78 [SD 7.14]) were slightly lower than those of participants who took the complete assessment (mean 65.89 [SD 5.82]), with the t test trending toward statistical significance ( $t_{44}$ =1.88; P=.07). For those with

at least one complete follow-up assessment (n=38), anxiety symptoms decreased from the first (mean 65.97 [SD 6.27]) to the last assessment (mean 61.28 [SD 9.92];  $t_{37}$ =-3.12; *P*=.002).

In the linear mixed-effects model of those with complete PROMIS anxiety assessment data (eg, excluding those at each assessment who had completed the screener only), the addition of number of sessions per month (with a coach, therapist, or psychiatrist) as a predictor did not improve model fit ( $\chi^2_1$ =1.6; *P*=.20). Thus, the final model included the main time variable

(days from baseline) as a fixed effect and member as a random effect on the intercept (Figure 2, Table 4). The model explained 10.4% of the total variance, and the main effect of days from the baseline was statistically significant ( $F_{1,64}$ =14.25; *P*<.001; Figure 2). Specifically, the model estimated a decrease in anxiety T-score of 0.06 points per day (1.8 points per month). When the linear mixed-effects analysis was repeated on assessments 1 through 3 for those with at least 3 complete assessments (n=17), the results did not differ substantively from the primary model results (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Figure 1. Distribution of anxiety symptom severity categories across assessments (including those who screened out of the assessment, indicated in purple).



Table 3. Rates of Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System anxiety symptom severity categories across assessments.

Anxiety symptom severity	Assessment 1 (n=98), n (%)	Assessment 2 (n=44), n (%)	Assessment 3 (n=22), n (%)
Screened out (no complete assessment)	0 (0)	10 (23)	1 (5)
None	0 (0)	7 (16)	7 (32)
Mild	26 (27)	3 (7)	4 (18)
Moderate	55 (56)	18 (41)	9 (41)
Severe	17 (17)	6 (14)	1 (5)

Figure 2. Linear mixed-effects model results demonstrating the main effect of days from first assessment on anxiety T-scores.



Table 4.	Results of the	linear mixed-e	effects model	for the a	anxiety sy	ymptom	group. <sup>a</sup>	L
----------	----------------	----------------	---------------	-----------	------------	--------	---------------------	---

Predictors	Anxiety T-score estimates	P value	
(Intercept) (95% CI)	64.74 (63.24 to 66.25)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	
Days from baseline, estimate (95% CI)	-0.06 (-0.09 to -0.03)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>	
Random effects			
$\sigma^2$	37.64	N/A <sup>c</sup>	
$ au_{00}{}^{d}$	22.49	N/A	

<sup>a</sup>Total sample size at baseline=98; 163 observations; marginal  $R^2$ =0.104.

<sup>b</sup>Statistically significant effects (*P*<.05).

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>d</sup>Random intercept variance (also known as between-individual variance).

# **Elevated Depressive Symptom Severity Group**

While receiving care from Bend Health Inc, members in the elevated depressive symptom group attended 0-10 (median 0 [IQR 2]) sessions with a coach, therapist, or psychiatrist. Those in the elevated depression symptom group who completed at least 2 screeners or full assessments (n=26) attended a median of 3 (IQR 2.75) sessions with a coach, therapist, or psychiatrist with an average of 1.45 (SD 0.68; range 0-2.6) sessions per month. Members completed their first and last screeners or complete assessments between 0 and 168 days apart (median 0 [IQR 62] days). The duration between screeners only or complete assessments ranged between 20 and 90 days, with the central tendency approximately equal to a month (median 32 [IQR 17] days).

Members with elevated depressive symptoms had a mean PROMIS depression T-score of 68.20 (SD 7.48) at baseline, which is classified as moderate depressive symptom severity. For members who completed at least 2 screeners or complete assessments, 73% (44/61) had improvements in depressive

symptom severity from baseline to their last assessment, as indicated by either a decrease in symptom severity scores or screening out of completing the complete assessment. Indeed, the rates of more severe depressive symptoms decreased across assessments and the rates of screening out of the complete assessment increased across assessments (see Figure 3 and Table 5). Specifically, 52% (13/25) of the members with elevated depressive symptoms at baseline screened out of the complete second depression PROMIS assessment, and 77% (10/13) screened out of completing the third depression PROMIS assessment. Although PROMIS depression T-scores were slightly lower for those who screened out of the second PROMIS assessment (mean 66.08 [SD 4.42]) versus those who took the complete assessment (mean 68.00 [SD 8.27]), this difference was not significant ( $t_{24}$ =0.97; P=.34). For those with at least one complete follow-up assessment (n=13), depressive symptoms remained stable at moderately severe from the first (mean 68.20 [SD 8.33]) to the last assessment (mean 68.02 [SD 9.35];  $t_{12}$ =-0.08; P=.47).

Figure 3. Distribution of depressive symptom severity categories across assessments (including those who screened out of the assessment, indicated in purple).



Table 5.	Rates of Patient-Re	ported Outcomes	Measurement	Information	System de	pressive sy	mptom	severity of	categories	across as	sessments
								~	<i>u</i>		

Depressive symptom severity	Assessment 1 (n=61), n (%)	Assessment 2 (n=25), n (%)	Assessment 3 (n=13), n (%)
Screened out (no complete assessment)	0 (0)	13 (52)	10 (77)
None	0 (0)	1 (4)	0 (0)
Mild	6 (10)	2 (8)	0 (0)
Moderate	36 (59)	5 (20)	2 (15)
Severe	19 (31)	4 (16)	1 (8)

In the linear mixed-effects model of complete PROMIS depression assessment data (excluding those at each assessment who had completed the screener only), the addition of the number of sessions per month (with a coach, therapist, or psychiatrist) as a predictor did not improve model fit ( $\chi^2_1$ =2.6; *P*=.11). Thus, the final model included the main time variable (days from baseline) as a fixed effect and member as a random

effect on the intercept (Figure 4, Table 6). The model explained none of the total variance (0%), and the main effect of days from the baseline was not significant ( $F_{1,16}$ =1.02, P>.99; Figure 2). When the linear mixed-effects analysis was repeated on assessments 1 through 3 for those with at least 3 complete assessments, the results did not differ substantively from the primary model results (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Figure 4. Linear mixed-effects model results demonstrating the main effect of days from first assessment on depression T-scores.



Table 6. Results of the linear mixed-effects model for the depressive symptom group.<sup>a</sup>

Predictors	Depression T-score estimates	P value
(Intercept) (95% CI)	68.10 (66.15 to 70.06)	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
Days from baseline, estimate (95% CI)	0.00 (-0.06 to 0.06)	.99
Random effects		
$\sigma^2$	32.59	N/A <sup>c</sup>
$\tau_{00}{}^d$	26.92	N/A

<sup>a</sup>Total sample size at baseline=61; 78 observations; marginal  $R^2$ =0.000.

<sup>b</sup>Statistically significant effects (*P*<.05).

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>d</sup>Random intercept variance (also known as between-individual variance).

# Discussion

RenderX

# **Principal Results**

The purpose of this study was to utilize member data from Bend Health Inc to determine the effects of an MBC DMHI on

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46154

depressive and anxiety symptoms among children and adolescents. To our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating the effects of a DMHI that uses a measurement-based collaborative care model to reduce symptoms of depression and anxiety in children and adolescents over time. We found that

youth receiving care from Bend Health Inc exhibited improvements in both anxiety and depressive symptoms over time. Notably, depressive symptoms remained largely stable over time when assessing only those who did not screen out (eg, those with higher depressive symptoms at later assessments). As such, more comprehensive measures are necessary to fully elucidate the effects of Bend Health Inc on those with more severe depressive symptoms. Given that depressive symptoms and episodes often increase in early adolescence [31-33], it is notable that depression severity remained stable even among Bend Health Inc members with persistent symptoms.

Depressive and anxiety symptom frequency and severity decreased between baseline and subsequent assessments in child and adolescent members who were receiving care with Bend Health Inc. However, the method in which members' symptoms were assessed introduced significant nuances into our study design and interpretation of results. Members exhibited improvements at subsequent assessments via one of the 2 pathways: by showing decreases in symptom scores or by screening out of symptom measures entirely. When considering the full cohort together, including those who completed the full measures and those who screened out, we observed, across both anxiety and depressive symptom groups, (1) decreased frequency of moderate and severe symptoms and (2) increased frequency of those whose symptoms were low enough to screen out of the full measures. Specifically, 73% (72/98) of the anxiety symptom cohort and 73% (44/61) of the depressive symptom cohort either showed a decrease in symptom severity or screened out between their first and final assessments. However, when confining our analyses to those with only completed assessments, only anxiety symptoms showed significant decreases over time. Given that completion of the full symptom assessments was dependent upon elevated severity of symptoms (as proxied by the screener questions), analyzing only those with completed assessments may have naturally highlighted those with the most persistent and severe symptoms. Moreover, the depressive symptom group was particularly limited by low power to detect changes over time, as over half of those who exhibited elevated depressive symptoms at baseline screened out by the second assessment. More comprehensive symptom measures are necessary to untangle the nuances of our findings.

Despite these limitations, our results are still promising. As an increasing number of young people and families seek DMHIs over traditional mental health treatments due to their accessibility and affordability, this study offers preliminary evidence that MBC DMHIs such as Bend Health Inc have the potential to mitigate anxiety and depressive symptoms in those younger than 18 years. Previous meta-analyses of DMHIs have found that interventions involving supervision, such as asynchronous video calls or follow-ups by telephone or instant messaging, are associated with greater improvements in depressive and anxiety symptoms when compared to unsupervised self-guided interventions [14,18]. Therefore, future research of MBC DMHIs ought to compare various care methodologies such as those involving both supervised and unsupervised care.

We found that the length of involvement in Bend Health Inc care was the foremost predictor of anxiety symptom severity over time, such that members' anxiety symptoms decreased as their duration of participation increased. Several studies have investigated the complex associations between DMHI length and symptom improvement among youth, with some suggesting that longer involvement in therapy (eg, number of months or hours involved in intervention) is associated with larger reductions in symptoms [34,35]. Conversely, some studies have found that the positive effects of various care programs on symptom severity are the greatest among interventions of 1-2 months in duration [36] or are not related to treatment duration at all [12]. Our study supports the former finding that length of treatment is indeed closely linked to changes in symptom severity among Bend Health Inc members. Because the length of involvement in our sample was relatively brief, with the average duration of treatment equaling just longer than a month for those with anxiety or depressive symptoms, further studies on Bend Health Inc patients who have engaged in treatment for longer periods of time (eg, 4-6 months) are necessary to determine the full scope of the association between duration of time in treatment and symptom improvement.

#### **Limitations and Future Directions**

Our study is limited by several factors. Primarily, our findings are limited by a lack of specificity in symptom measurement. To reduce member and caregiver burden, those who did not report significant anxiety or depression symptoms using preliminary screener questions were not given the opportunity to complete the full anxiety and depression questionnaires. As such, we did not have complete assessment data for most members who exhibited low anxiety and depressive symptoms after their first assessment. This lack of data among those arguably exhibiting the largest improvements likely skewed our longitudinal analyses to primarily reflect those with more persistent and severe symptoms. However, it should be noted that depressive symptoms often exhibit marked increases in early adolescence [31-33]. Conversely, Bend Health Inc members who continued to report elevated depressive symptoms exhibited stability in their symptoms over time. When compared to commonly observed increases among untreated adolescents, this stability offers promising evidence that Bend Health Inc programs are beneficial even for youth with persistent depressive symptoms. Moreover, our study is limited by its use of caregiver-reported assessments of child and adolescent symptoms. Although there is a precedent for using observer (eg, caregiver, clinician) ratings to track symptom progression in MBC [37-39], evidence also suggests that caregiver reports may not capture potential internalizing problems as effectively as youth self-report [40]. Follow-up studies that include both adolescent-reported and caregiver-reported metrics are necessary to determine whether our results are robust to reporters.

Many studies evaluating DMHI effectiveness have compared patients receiving treatment to nonactive controls (eg, those participating in no intervention). Subsequent studies of Bend Health Inc could be improved by the inclusion of various levels of treatment in order to test whether care with Bend Health Inc confers greater effects than alternatives (eg, no treatment, traditional face-to-face treatment, nonmeasurement-based

DMHIs). Furthermore, the duration of care in our study was relatively moderate and highly variable, with average participation lasting approximately a month but ranging from 0 to 168 days. Although our follow-up analyses of members with 3 or more assessments suggest that decreases in symptoms are robust to dropout effects, the rigor of future studies can be improved by increasing the number of participants with longer involvement and more assessment points.

Importantly, our study did not have adequate power to investigate differences in symptom change across demographic groups such as age, gender, race, and ethnicity. A number of studies have demonstrated that the risk for anxiety and depression increases in adolescence [41]. Moreover, females often report higher rates of anxiety and depression than males, despite depression and suicide being one of the leading causes of death among men [42-44]. Mental health disparities between racial and ethnic groups have also been reported, although findings are inconsistent about which group is the most at risk [43,45]. Further studies are necessary to determine whether those involved in an MBC DMHI like Bend Health Inc exhibit similar demographic differences. Information generated by these future studies will be crucial to informing care programs at Bend Health Inc and other DMHIs.

The principal finding of this study indicates that children and adolescents involved in Bend Health Inc show a significant reduction of anxiety and depressive symptoms over time. As such, our study offers preliminary evidence suggesting that MBC DMHIs such as Bend Health Inc may aid in reducing anxiety and depressive symptoms in youth. Future studies bolstered by improved measurement of symptoms and a larger and more diverse cohort of youth are paramount in order to establish the effectiveness of Bend Health Inc as an evidence-based provider of DMHIs in the United States.

# **Authors' Contributions**

LGH and DLS contributed to conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, writing the original draft, manuscript reviewing and editing, and visualization of this study. JH contributed to conceptualization, writing the original draft, manuscript reviewing and editing, and supervision of this study. MR and KR reviewed and edited the paper and acquired funds. AP and RG reviewed and edited the paper. JW curated the data and reviewed and edited the paper.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

All authors are employed by Bend Health Inc, which delivered the treatment used in this retrospective study. However, authors' employment status and salary are not dependent upon the results of their research.

# Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplementary data. [DOCX File, 98 KB - pediatrics v6i1e46154 app1.docx ]

# References

- Lebrun-Harris LA, Ghandour RM, Kogan MD, Warren MD. Five-Year Trends in US Children's Health and Well-being, 2016-2020. JAMA Pediatr 2022 Jul 01;176(7):e220056 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.0056] [Medline: 35285883]
- Orsolini L, Pompili S, Salvi V, Volpe U. A Systematic Review on TeleMental Health in Youth Mental Health: Focus on Anxiety, Depression and Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Medicina (Kaunas) 2021 Jul 31;57(8):793 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/medicina57080793] [Medline: 34440999]
- Michie S, Yardley L, West R, Patrick K, Greaves F. Developing and Evaluating Digital Interventions to Promote Behavior Change in Health and Health Care: Recommendations Resulting From an International Workshop. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 29;19(6):e232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7126] [Medline: 28663162]
- 4. Lehtimaki S, Martic J, Wahl B, Foster KT, Schwalbe N. Evidence on Digital Mental Health Interventions for Adolescents and Young People: Systematic Overview. JMIR Ment Health 2021 Apr 29;8(4):e25847 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25847] [Medline: 33913817]
- Liverpool S, Mota CP, Sales CMD, Čuš A, Carletto S, Hancheva C, et al. Engaging Children and Young People in Digital Mental Health Interventions: Systematic Review of Modes of Delivery, Facilitators, and Barriers. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 23;22(6):e16317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16317] [Medline: 32442160]
- Christensen HM, Hickie I. eHealth integrated interventions for MH. Int J Integr Care 2014 Dec 08;14:9. [doi: 10.5334/ijic.1881]
- Sethi S. Treating Youth Depression and Anxiety: A Randomised Controlled Trial Examining the Efficacy of Computerised versus Face to face Cognitive Behaviour Therapy. Australian Psychologist 2020 Nov 12;48(4):249-257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ap.12006]
- 8. Winther D, Livingstone S, Saeed M. Growing up in a connected world. UNICEF Office of Research. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/1060-growing-up-in-a-connected-world.html</u> [accessed 2023-04-11]

- Psihogios AM, Lane-Fall MB, Graham AK. Adolescents Are Still Waiting on a Digital Health Revolution: Accelerating Research-to-Practice Translation Through Design for Implementation. JAMA Pediatr 2022 Jun 01;176(6):545-546. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.0500] [Medline: 35404381]
- Giovanelli A, Ozer E, Dahl R. Leveraging Technology to Improve Health in Adolescence: A Developmental Science Perspective. J Adolesc Health 2020 Aug;67(2S):S7-S13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.02.020] [Medline: 32718517]
- 11. Andersson G, Titov N. Advantages and limitations of Internet-based interventions for common mental disorders. World Psychiatry 2014 Feb;13(1):4-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20083] [Medline: 24497236]
- 12. Hollis C, Falconer CJ, Martin JL, Whittington C, Stockton S, Glazebrook C, et al. Annual Research Review: Digital health interventions for children and young people with mental health problems a systematic and meta-review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2017 Apr;58(4):474-503. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12663] [Medline: 27943285]
- Grist R, Croker A, Denne M, Stallard P. Technology Delivered Interventions for Depression and Anxiety in Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 2019 Jun;22(2):147-171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10567-018-0271-8] [Medline: 30229343]
- Garrido S, Millington C, Cheers D, Boydell K, Schubert E, Meade T, et al. What Works and What Doesn't Work? A Systematic Review of Digital Mental Health Interventions for Depression and Anxiety in Young People. Front Psychiatry 2019;10:759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00759] [Medline: <u>31798468</u>]
- 15. Musiat P, Tarrier N. Collateral outcomes in e-mental health: a systematic review of the evidence for added benefits of computerized cognitive behavior therapy interventions for mental health. Psychol Med 2014 Nov;44(15):3137-3150. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291714000245] [Medline: 25065947]
- Baumel A, Muench F, Edan S, Kane JM. Objective User Engagement With Mental Health Apps: Systematic Search and Panel-Based Usage Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Sep 25;21(9):e14567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14567] [Medline: 31573916]
- 17. Bergin A, Vallejos E, Davies E, Daley D, Ford T, Harold G, et al. Preventive digital mental health interventions for children and young people: a review of the design and reporting of research. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-00339-7] [Medline: 33083568]
- Välimäki M, Anttila K, Anttila M, Lahti M. Web-Based Interventions Supporting Adolescents and Young People With Depressive Symptoms: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 08;5(12):e180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8624] [Medline: 29222079]
- 19. Ryan A, Gee B, Fenton S, Makeham M. The impact on safety and quality of care of the specialist digital health workforce. In: The Health Information Workforce: Current and Future Developments. Switzerland: Springer Cham; 2021.
- 20. Overbeck G, Davidsen A, Kousgaard M. Enablers and barriers to implementing collaborative care for anxiety and depression: a systematic qualitative review. Implement Sci 2016 Dec 28;11(1):165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0519-y] [Medline: 28031028]
- Richardson L, McCarty C, Radovic A, Suleiman A. Research in the Integration of Behavioral Health for Adolescents and Young Adults in Primary Care Settings: A Systematic Review. J Adolesc Health 2017 Mar;60(3):261-269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.11.013] [Medline: 28087267]
- Asarnow JR, Rozenman M, Wiblin J, Zeltzer L. Integrated Medical-Behavioral Care Compared With Usual Primary Care for Child and Adolescent Behavioral Health: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2015 Oct;169(10):929-937. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.1141] [Medline: 26259143]
- 23. Little V, White C. Collaborative Care as an Effective Intervention for Primary Care Patients at Risk for Suicide. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2022;33(3):x-xii. [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2022.0098] [Medline: 36245149]
- Lewis CC, Boyd M, Puspitasari A, Navarro E, Howard J, Kassab H, et al. Implementing Measurement-Based Care in Behavioral Health: A Review. JAMA Psychiatry 2019 Mar 01;76(3):324-335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3329] [Medline: 30566197]
- Parikh A, Fristad MA, Axelson D, Krishna R. Evidence Base for Measurement-Based Care in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2020 Oct;29(4):587-599. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chc.2020.06.001</u>] [Medline: <u>32891364</u>]
- 26. Jensen-Doss A, Douglas S, Phillips DA, Gencdur O, Zalman A, Gomez NE. Measurement-based care as a practice improvement tool: Clinical and organizational applications in youth mental health. Evid Based Pract Child Adolesc Ment Health 2020;5(3):233-250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/23794925.2020.1784062] [Medline: 33732875]
- 27. Tam H, Ronan K. The application of a feedback-informed approach in psychological service with youth: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2017 Jul;55:41-55. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2017.04.005</u>] [Medline: <u>28501021</u>]
- 28. Irwin D, Gross H, Stucky B, Thissen D, DeWitt E, Lai J, et al. Development of six PROMIS pediatrics proxy-report item banks. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2012 Feb 22;10:22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-10-22] [Medline: 22357192]
- 29. Sherlock P, Blackwell C, Kallen M, Lai J, Cella D, Krogh-Jespersen S, et al. Measuring PROMIS® Emotional Distress in Early Childhood. J Pediatr Psychol 2022 May 13;47(5):547-558. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsac029</u>] [Medline: <u>35552432</u>]
- 30. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed). In: American Psychiatric Association. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing Inc; 2013.

- 31. Thapar A, Collishaw S, Pine D, Thapar A. Depression in adolescence. Lancet 2012 Mar 17;379(9820):1056-1067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60871-4] [Medline: 22305766]
- 32. Hankin B. Depression from childhood through adolescence: Risk mechanisms across multiple systems and levels of analysis. Curr Opin Psychol 2015 Aug;4:13-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.01.003] [Medline: 25692174]
- Avenevoli S, Swendsen J, He J, Burstein M, Merikangas K. Major depression in the national comorbidity survey-adolescent supplement: prevalence, correlates, and treatment. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2015 Jan;54(1):37-44.e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2014.10.010] [Medline: 25524788]
- Riedinger V, Pinquart M, Teubert D. Effects of Systemic Therapy on Mental Health of Children and Adolescents: A Meta-Analysis. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2017;46(6):880-894. [doi: <u>10.1080/15374416.2015.1063427</u>] [Medline: <u>26467300</u>]
- 35. Klainin-Yobas P, Cho MAA, Creedy D. Efficacy of mindfulness-based interventions on depressive symptoms among people with mental disorders: a meta-analysis. Int J Nurs Stud 2012 Jan;49(1):109-121. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.08.014</u>] [Medline: <u>21963234</u>]
- 36. Harrer M, Adam SH, Baumeister H, Cuijpers P, Karyotaki E, Auerbach RP, et al. Internet interventions for mental health in university students: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2019 Jun;28(2):e1759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mpr.1759] [Medline: 30585363]
- Elmquist J, Melton T, Croarkin P, McClintock S. A systematic overview of measurement-based care in the treatment of childhood and adolescent depression. J Psychiatr Pract 2010 Jul;16(4):217-234. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.pra.0000386908.07160.91</u>] [Medline: <u>20644357</u>]
- 38. Pavuluri M, Birmaher B. A practical guide to using ratings of depression and anxiety in child psychiatric practice. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2004 Apr;6(2):108-116. [doi: 10.1007/s11920-004-0050-8] [Medline: 15038913]
- 39. Myers K, Winters N. Ten-year review of rating scales. II: Scales for internalizing disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2002 Jun;41(6):634-659. [doi: 10.1097/00004583-200206000-00004] [Medline: 12049439]
- Barendse ME, Flannery J, Cavanagh C, Aristizabal M, Becker SP, Berger E, et al. Longitudinal Change in Adolescent Depression and Anxiety Symptoms from before to during the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Res Adolesc 2023 Mar;33(1):74-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jora.12781] [Medline: 35799311]
- 41. McLaughlin KA, King K. Developmental trajectories of anxiety and depression in early adolescence. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2015 Feb;43(2):311-323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10802-014-9898-1] [Medline: 24996791]
- 42. Campbell OLK, Bann D, Patalay P. The gender gap in adolescent mental health: A cross-national investigation of 566,829 adolescents across 73 countries. SSM Popul Health 2021 Mar;13:100742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100742] [Medline: 33748389]
- 43. Lu W. Adolescent Depression: National Trends, Risk Factors, and Healthcare Disparities. am j health behav 2019 Jan 01;43(1):181-194. [doi: 10.5993/ajhb.43.1.15]
- 44. Infographic: mental health for men. Mental Health America. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.mhanational.org/</u> infographic-mental-health-men [accessed 2023-03-30]
- 45. Merikangas KR, He J, Burstein M, Swanson SA, Avenevoli S, Cui L, et al. Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication--Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2010 Oct;49(10):980-989 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.05.017] [Medline: 20855043]

# Abbreviations

DMHI: digital mental health interventionMBC: measurement-based carePCP: primary care providerPROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 31.01.23; peer-reviewed by A Radovic, S Lüttke; comments to author 23.02.23; revised version received 08.03.23; accepted 30.03.23; published 20.04.23.

Please cite as:

Huffman LG, Lawrence-Sidebottom D, Huberty J, Roots M, Roots K, Parikh A, Guerra R, Weiser J Using Digital Measurement–Based Care for the Treatment of Anxiety and Depression in Children and Adolescents: Observational Retrospective Analysis of Bend Health Data JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46154 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46154 doi:10.2196/46154

PMID:37079366



©Landry Goodgame Huffman, Darian Lawrence-Sidebottom, Jennifer Huberty, Monika Roots, Kurt Roots, Amit Parikh, Rachael Guerra, Jaclyn Weiser. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 20.04.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Implementing a Digital Depression Prevention Program in Australian Secondary Schools: Cross-Sectional Qualitative Study

Joanne R Beames<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Aliza Werner-Seidler<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Michael Hodgins<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Lyndsay Brown<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Hiroko Fujimoto<sup>1</sup>, BHSc; Alexandra Bartholomew<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Kate Maston<sup>1</sup>, MPsych; Kit Huckvale<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Isabel Zbukvic<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Michelle Torok<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Helen Christensen<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Philip J Batterham<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Alison L Calear<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Raghu Lingam<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Katherine M Boydell<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Black Dog Institute, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Discipline of Psychiatry and Mental Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

**Corresponding Author:** 

Joanne R Beames, PhD Black Dog Institute University of New South Wales Hospital Road Sydney, NSW, 2031 Australia Phone: 61 02 9382 ext 4530 Email: z3330693@zmail.unsw.edu.au

# Abstract

**Background:** Depression is common during adolescence and is associated with adverse educational, employment, and health outcomes in later life. Digital programs are increasingly being implemented in schools to improve and protect adolescent mental health. Although digital depression prevention programs can be effective, there is limited knowledge about how contextual factors influence real-world delivery at scale in schools.

**Objective:** The purpose of this study was to examine the contextual factors that influence the implementation of the Future Proofing Program (FPP) from the perspectives of school staff. The FPP is a 2-arm hybrid type 1 effectiveness-implementation trial evaluating whether depression can be prevented at scale in schools, using an evidence-based smartphone app delivered universally to year 8 students (13-14 years of age).

**Methods:** Qualitative interviews were conducted with 23 staff from 20 schools in New South Wales, Australia, who assisted with the implementation of the FPP. The interviews were guided by our theory-driven logic model. Reflexive thematic analysis, using both deductive and inductive coding, was used to analyze responses.

**Results:** Staff perceived the FPP as a novel ("innovative approach") and appropriate way to address an unmet need within schools ("right place at the right time"). Active leadership and counselor involvement were critical for planning and engaging; teamwork, communication, and staff capacity were critical for execution ("ways of working within schools"). Low student engagement and staffing availability were identified as barriers for future adoption and implementation by schools ("reflecting on past experiences").

**Conclusions:** Four superordinate themes pertaining to the program, implementation processes, and implementation barriers were identified from qualitative responses by school staff. On the basis of our findings, we proposed a select set of recommendations for future implementation of digital prevention programs delivered at scale in schools. These recommendations were designed to facilitate an organizational change and help staff to implement digital mental health programs within their schools.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042133

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42349) doi:10.2196/42349



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Population Child Health Clinical Research Group, School of Women's and Children's Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia <sup>3</sup>Centre for Digital Transformation of Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Orygen, The National Centre of Excellence in Youth Mental Health, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Centre for Mental Health Research, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia

#### **KEYWORDS**

implementation; youth; digital; depression; secondary school; qualitative; consolidated framework for implementation research; teacher; educator; perspective; mental health; student; child; adolescent; adolescence; school; social work

# Introduction

# Background

Meta-analytic findings estimate the pooled lifetime prevalence for major depressive disorders in adolescence to be 19% [1]. This lifetime prevalence estimate is concerning because adolescent depression is associated with serious social, educational, and health impairments across development [2,3]. The onset of depression is typically around mid- to late adolescence [4], yet many young people remain undiagnosed and untreated [5,6]. Of the young people who do receive evidence-based treatments for depression, relapse rates remain high and approximately 50% do not respond [7,8]. One reason for limited effectiveness is that treatment alone is not sufficient [9]. Prevention is also important, with estimates showing that psychological programs can reduce the incidence of depressive disorders in adolescents by up to 29% (compared with care-as-usual or control groups) [10]. Evidence-based depression prevention programs delivered at scale are crucial to address the depression burden and reduce the pressure on the mental health system. Scalability can be achieved by delivering evidence-based prevention programs in schools using digital approaches.

Schools are a critical touch point for the early identification of mental ill-health and the delivery of prevention programs for adolescents. Mental health support can be provided universally to all students in schools, which facilitates normalization of common emotional and behavioral experiences and overcomes barriers to help-seeking [11,12]. Among young people who do receive mental health care services, more than half first receive mental health care through their school [13]. School teachers and counselors perceive that supporting the mental health of their students is part of their role, and they are motivated to provide evidence-based programs during school time [14,15]. Given that depression in adolescence is associated with poorer academic performance [2,16] and school absence [17], prevention also aligns with the more traditional goals of educators and school administrators. Overall, partnering in the delivery of prevention programs is a natural fit for schools.

School-based depression prevention programs are effective. Meta-analyses have found that school-based prevention programs have a small preventive effect on depressive symptoms [18,19]. This preventive effect held regardless of whether the programs were delivered universally to all young people or were delivered to a targeted subsample with symptoms or risk factors [18]. An updated meta-analysis replicated these results and showed that 8 (7%) of the evaluated programs were digital (eg, delivered via a web platform through computers or laptops, or via smartphone apps) [20]. Digital programs were either supported by school staff (eg, classroom teachers) or by external facilitators in the classroom (eg, research assistants or trained psychologists). There was preliminary evidence that digital programs might be just as efficacious as face-to-face programs

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42349

[20], which aligns with the pattern of results outside of the school setting [21]. These results demonstrate that staff-supported universal digital depression prevention programs may be an effective and feasible option for schools.

There are many practical benefits for delivering depression prevention programs digitally in schools. Digital delivery, including that via smartphones, is typically perceived by young people as an appropriate and accessible way to access mental health information and support [22,23]. Young people can progress through content at their own pace or potentially select modules that address their primary needs [24]. Teachers and counselors similarly perceive that using technology in schools to deliver mental health programs to students is appropriate and can integrate with existing ways of working [25]. Further, digital delivery is typically more cost-effective than face-to-face therapies [21] because it requires fewer resources to implement. Given that therapeutic content in digital programs is already developed, there is little (or indeed no) need for trained mental health facilitators. Despite the potential for maximizing reach, there is limited understanding about how to optimally deliver digital prevention programs at scale in schools.

Schools are complex environments for delivering digital mental health programs, and many factors will affect their implementation by staff and uptake by students. There has been a paucity of research to date that has evaluated the barriers and facilitators to implementing school-based digital mental health programs for students. One cross-sectional survey study from our research group addressed this gap by focusing on school staff perspectives. We evaluated staff perceptions about barriers and facilitators that would affect their implementation of a hypothetical digital depression prevention program in Australian schools [25]. Barriers included a lack of time and resources (ie, staff and rooms), concern about privacy issues in digital delivery, and a lack of clarity around staff roles and responsibilities [25]. Facilitators included upskilling staff through training; embedding the program into the curriculum; and other program factors including universal delivery, screening of students' mental health, and clear referral pathways [25]. The extent to which these factors are important for real-world, scaled delivery of digital depression prevention programs in schools remains unclear.

In the context of clinical effectiveness trials, implementation evaluations aim to identify the contextual factors that influence how programs are put into practice "in the wild" (ie, hybrid type 1 designs) [26]. Such information is pivotal to understanding why programs work in some contexts and not in others because it can pinpoint sources of variation across different sites and individuals [27]. Implementation research in schools has primarily focused on evaluating the implementation of multicomponent physical activity interventions [28-32], mental health and well-being programs [33], or suicide prevention programs [34] delivered in person. Converging results show that there is variation in implementation processes

XSL•FO RenderX

across different schools, including the level of staff and institutional support, delineation of staff roles, and recruitment of other school-level resources [31,34]. Contextual factors, including cultural norms, location (eg, rurality), school-level buy-in, and program complexity, can also influence implementation [31,34]. The implication of these findings is that adaptation of implementation strategies by supporting staff may be essential for feasible delivery of school-based programs [31]. Different individual and contextual factors likely influence how school staff implement digital depression prevention programs.

# **The Current Implementation Evaluation**

The current implementation evaluation provides a qualitative analysis of the contextual factors that influence implementation of the Future Proofing Program (FPP) from the perspectives of school staff. The FPP is a 2-arm hybrid type 1 effectiveness-implementation trial evaluating whether depression can be prevented using an evidence-based smartphone app (SPARX [Smart, Positive, Active, Realistic, X-factor thoughts]) [35] delivered universally to year 8 students (13-14 years of age; see the trial protocol) [36]. Hybrid type 1 trials test the effects of an intervention on relevant outcomes while observing and gathering information about implementation [26]. Recruitment for the FPP trial occurred between August 2019 and March 2022. A total of 6388 students from 144 Australian schools in urban, regional, and rural areas enrolled and will participate in the trial until 2026. A total of 67 schools were allocated to the intervention condition, comprising 3266 students. The primary outcome of the FPP trial is the change in symptom severity of depression. Secondary outcomes include anxiety, psychological distress, and insomnia. Student-level outcomes are assessed at 6 weeks, 12 months, 24 months, 36 months, 48 months, and 5 years. Only the methods relevant to the current implementation evaluation will be described hereafter.

# Aim

The aim of this paper is to evaluate staff perceptions about (1) their involvement in supporting the FPP in their schools and (2) the extent to which contextual factors (eg, school organizational characteristics and staff characteristics) influenced their ability to implement the FPP. Findings will help to develop a practical guide outlining how to best deliver digital mental health programs to young people in schools.

# Methods

# **Study Design**

The evaluation was only conducted on the intervention arm of the study and is guided by the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) [37]. The CFIR was used to identify barriers and facilitators to intervention implementation and effectiveness. The research team also developed a logic model that combines these frameworks to identify contextual factors hypothesized to impact the implementation processes and outcomes. For more details, see Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 and the implementation evaluation protocol [38].

# The Intervention

Students in the intervention arm of the trial received an evidence-based cognitive-behavioral therapy program for depression called SPARX [35,39]. The trial used a prevention version of the program (SPARX-R) that was delivered via a smartphone app. Skills learnt through SPARX-R include emotion identification, emotion regulation, behavioral activation (being active), recognizing and challenging unhelpful thoughts, and practical problem-solving. SPARX-R consists of seven 20-minute modules that are completed sequentially. The program is fully automated, and the therapeutic components are standardized. Students had access to SPARX-R for 6 weeks.

# The Implementation Strategy

An implementation strategy targeting school staff was developed to assist during the 6-week active intervention phase. The strategy involved (1) establishment of study implementation teams in schools (typically incorporating a classroom teacher and school counselor), (2) allocation of a minimum of four 20-minute school class sessions for SPARX-R completion, (3) provision of information about SPARX-R to schools by the research team, (4) weekly reminders by the school implementation team for students to use SPARX-R, (5) dissemination of information about the trial and mental health tips to schools by the research team, and (6) weekly liaison between the school implementation team and the research team to troubleshoot problems. The strategy, and alignment with recommended implementation strategies adapted for school contexts [40,41], is outlined in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1. These outcomes were tracked by the research team although not formally recorded by schools because of feasibility constraints.

## **School Visits**

Participating schools allocated to the intervention arm of the trial completed a baseline school visit, 6-week intervention period, and a postintervention school visit (see Figure 1 for a simplified timeline). The baseline visit served to orient enrolled students and supporting staff to the trial and encourage buy-in by providing information about what they were being asked to do and why. This visit also involved a web-based self-report mental health questionnaire for students. In the remaining time, students were encouraged to complete the first SPARX-R app module. Students were then given 6 weeks to complete SPARX-R. One to two modules were intended to be completed each week; however, students had autonomy to complete the modules in their own way (eg, all at once). As part of the implementation strategy, schools were encouraged to schedule sessions during school hours for students to complete the modules; this was not always feasible, meaning that some students only completed modules in their own time. Schools then hosted a postintervention visit whereby students completed a follow-up web-based mental health questionnaire.



Figure 1. Study time line and flow of implementation evaluation data collection from school staff in the intervention arm of the trial. SPARX: Smart, Positive, Active, Realistic, X-factor thoughts.



# **Data Collection and Sampling**

This paper focuses on qualitative short-answer and interview data provided by school staff. These data were collected in 2 cohorts occurring between October-December 2020 and April-May 2021 from intervention schools only after the postintervention school visit (see Figure 1 for timings). Data from quantitative self-report surveys (eg, demographic and employment characteristics such as age, gender, and role) and the publicly available Myschool database are used to characterize the staff sample. Myschool contains data on every school in Australia; of relevance to this study were location, sector, Index of Community Socioeconomic Advantage, number of teaching staff, and number of enrolled students.

On the basis of the CFIR and FPP logic model, we developed a semistructured individual interview guide for school staff. The guide assessed the influence of contextual factors on implementation, including individual characteristics and school leadership, as well as implementation outcomes, including appropriateness and acceptability of the intervention (see "School Staff Interview Guides" in Multimedia Appendix 1). The interviews lasted between 20 and 60 minutes and were audio recorded. The recording failed for 3 interviews; in these instances, the interviewer took written notes during and after the interviews.

# Procedure

RenderX

All school staff in the school implementation teams were invited via email to complete web-based surveys. After the provision

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42349
```

of informed consent, web-based surveys were completed via Qualtrics [42]. Staff who completed the surveys were then invited to take part in optional interviews via phone or Zoom. As such, data were collected sequentially. Sequential methods enabled the research team to flexibly schedule interviews based on respondent availability, facilitating integration into their existing workflow and minimizing burden.

#### **Ethics Approval**

Ethics approval was provided by the University of New South Wales Human Research Ethics Committee (HC180836) and New South Wales Government State Education Research Applications Process (2019201). For the implementation evaluation, staff from participating schools were asked to provide active informed consent to participate. Collected data were deidentified. For compensation of their time, staff received Aus \$20 for completing the interview and Aus \$10 for completing the survey.

#### **Data Preparation and Analysis**

Descriptive summary statistics were calculated for quantitative data in SPSS (version 25; IBM Corp). Qualitative data were transcribed by 5 project personnel verbatim into Word (Microsoft Corp). Transcription was checked for accuracy by a second researcher who conducted all interviews. Four team members independently coded subsets of the data in pairs; all data were double coded. A benefit of having multiple coders is the capacity to deepen reflexive engagement with the data [43]. Coding discrepancies were discussed as part of the final thematic analysis.

Qualitative data were analyzed with NVivo 12 [44] using a modified form of Clarke and Braun's [45,46] 6-stage reflexive thematic analysis guidelines. Reflexive thematic analysis enables the identification, interpretation, and reporting of meaningful patterns within data [47] and is advantageous due to its flexibility and rigor [48,49]. The coding team independently immersed themselves in the transcripts during the familiarization phase (phase 1), and then generated codes and themes using an inductive and deductive approach (phases 2 and 3). The team debated which codes and subcodes from the CFIR best represented the discourse from staff and what constituted appropriate and useful definitions for these codes. Coding pairs then independently coded their assigned transcripts (11-12 each), routinely meeting to discuss codes and meanings. The team reviewed the codes (phase 4) by examining examples and discussing whether the codes provided sufficient, adequate, and accurate representations of staff discourse. Phase 5 involved defining and naming themes. The first author integrated and creatively rationalized the codes, forming a narrative of themes and subthemes that was presented to the coding team and larger academic advisory group for review. Phase 6 involved producing the report.

# **Rigor in Thematic Analysis**

Rigor in thematic analysis was addressed by attending to established trustworthiness criteria [50,51]. Credibility was addressed by prolonged engagement with the subject matter,

acknowledgment of the school context, and researcher triangulation. Transferability was addressed by providing thick descriptions (ie, situating experiences within a context) and documenting research steps. Dependability was addressed by describing and documenting each stage of the coding and theme development process. Reflexivity was addressed by engaging in regular team discussions, recursive engagement with the data, and acknowledgment of the teams' role in knowledge production and interpretation.

# Results

# **Recruitment and Completion Rates**

A total of 184 staff from 44 intervention schools were sent targeted emails inviting them to take part in the implementation evaluation. Of the 184 staff, 70 (38%) replied to the expression of interest. Of the 70 who expressed interest, 68 (97%) consented to take part in the web-based survey, and of the 68 who provided consent, 60 (88%) completed the survey. Completion was defined as finishing  $\geq$ 80% of the survey questions. These staff were employed at 36 different schools, representing a total coverage rate of 82% (36/44). Some schools had multiple respondents. Of the 60 staff who completed the web-based surveys, 36 (60%) consented to take part in follow-up interviews, and of the 36 who consented, 23 (64%) completed the interview. These staff were employed at 20 different schools, representing a total coverage rate of 45% (20/44; Figure 2).

Figure 2. Absolute recruitment, consent, and completion rates for staff surveys and interviews.



XSL•F( Render)

# **Staff Characteristics**

Of the staff who completed the interviews, 39% (9/23) of them identified as a key leader who helped to drive and deliver the FPP in their school and 61% (14/23) identified as assisting with the delivery of the FPP in their school. The sample was primarily female (16/22, 73%) with a mean age of 40.9 (SD 11.82, range 24-60) years. The primary employment role of respondents was related to psychology or counseling (ie, psychologist, counselor, guidance or well-being officer; 14/22, 64%), and most respondents were employed full time (16/22, 73%).

Approximately 60% (14/23) of the interviewed staff were from schools from the 2020 cohort, whereas approximately 40% (9/23) were from the 2021 cohort. Cohorts were conceptually similar in terms of key individual (ie, gender, age, number of years worked, and current role) and school characteristics (ie, sector, location, Index of Community Socioeconomic Advantage; P>.07). The schools that provided data for the implementation evaluation were representative of the schools taking part in the broader randomized controlled trial. See Table 1 for additional sample details.

Table 1. Characteristics of the staff sample that completed the interview (N=23).<sup>a</sup>

Sample characteristics	Statistics
Age (years), mean (SD)	40.09 (11.82)
Gender, n (%)	
Female	16 (73)
Male	6 (27)
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander, n (%)	
Yes	1 (5)
No	21 (96)
Born in Australia, n (%)	
Yes	19 (86)
No	3 (14)
Highest level of education, n (%)	
Undergraduate degree	10 (46)
Postgraduate degree	12 (55)
Role in future proofing, n (%)	
Key leader who helped to drive and deliver the FPP <sup>b</sup>	9 (39)
Assisted with delivery	14 (61)
Employment role, n (%)	
Teacher or year adviser, head teacher	7 (31.8)
Psychologist, counselor, well-being officer, or guidance counselor	14 (64)
Principal or deputy	1 (5)
If counselor, only counselor in school, n (%)	
Yes	2 (18)
No	9 (82)
Total number of schools worked in, mean (SD)	8.36 (10)
Number of schools currently working in, mean (SD)	2.23 (3)
Number of years worked at current school, mean (SD)	6.64 (7)
Number of years worked in current role, mean (SD)	3.80 (3)
Employment status, n (%)	
Full-time	16 (73)
Part-time	6 (27)

<sup>a</sup>Cumulative percent reported. Characteristics from one respondent are missing due to user error.

<sup>b</sup>FPP: Future Proofing Program.

# **Qualitative Themes**

Four superordinate themes captured important factors about barriers and facilitators to implementing a digital mental health program in schools: (1) right place at the right time, (2) innovative approach, (3) ways of working within schools, and (4) reflecting on past experiences to improve future implementation. See Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1 for mapping of themes onto CFIR domains and example quotes.

# Right Place at the Right Time

# Overview

This theme reflects that schools were perceived by staff as critical touch points that can identify and respond to the needs of students at a time when they need it most. Staff confirmed that supporting the mental health of students was part of their role and described that schools were an appropriate place to deliver digital mental health programs. The main benefit of using schools was increased access and reach to all students. However, a consistent message from staff was the need to balance implementation of new programs with feasibility. Some staff reported that mental health was not an actionable priority in schools because of a lack of time or resources. Others noted that individual capacity, which fluctuates across the school year, can limit availability to support non-curriculum-based programs. Overall, staff reported that many programs are constantly being implemented in schools and are vying for space in an already congested curriculum. Two subthemes expand on the complexities of digital mental health programs in schools, which are discussed below.

# A Blessing and a Curse

Staff reported that the COVID-19 pandemic emphasized the need for targeted mental health support for young people but that it also complicated program implementation for some schools. Delivery of the FPP was often delayed because of social distancing restrictions, school closures, and staff time constraints. In total, 56 schools withdrew their participation after March 2020 when the COVID-19 pandemic arrived in Australia. To accommodate government guidelines and school preferences, the school visits were redeveloped to allow remote and face-to-face sessions. Remote delivery of school visits worked well when staff were organized and proactively engaged students; face-to-face visits worked well in larger classrooms with students who had varying levels of support needs. Flexibility was a relative advantage of the FPP.

# Addressing a Gap in the Community

Staff from rural or regional areas reported that the availability of youth mental health services in the community was low and that the FPP addressed an unmet need. Staff consistently described that the FPP provided an age-appropriate screening service (for suicide risk) and an evidence-based psychological program that would otherwise not be available. However, there were tensions about how screening would affect counselors' capacity to support students and fulfill duty of care. Counselors worried that screening would identify at-risk students yet leave them with insufficient support options beyond the school.

# Innovative Approach

# Overview

Staff consistently intimated that the current reactive and piecemeal approach to student mental health in schools was not sufficient for a meaningful change. The FPP offered a new way of proactively identifying and addressing mental health needs in students, with no other programs like it offered in schools. Two subthemes exploring innovative features of the FPP were identified.

# Screening

There was consensus that a universal preventative program with a screening component was appropriate for the needs of students and was compatible with the school context. Attitudes toward screening were generally positive, and clear advantages were noted for both staff and students. Counselors perceived that the confidential screening and risk alert system directly enhanced their ability to support students. The system enabled the identification of suicidal students who would have otherwise flown under the radar, enabling timely follow-up in a safe and secure setting.

# Technology

Staff reported many benefits of using technology. The gamified app was perceived by staff as being more engaging for students than other school-based face-to-face programs. Leveraging students' own devices was described as a positive because it was personalized, facilitated disclosure, and potentially motivated students to participate. Perceived appropriateness varied. Staff voiced strong opinions that a gamified app and standardized web-based survey might not be a good fit for all students. Staff identified that young people who have higher mental health risk, attention or behavioral difficulties, and low literacy levels might be less able to engage than their peers. Language and cultural diversity were also identified as challenges. Further, there were tensions about increased reliance on technology for educational purposes in schools in general. Staff commented on how technology changed teaching methods as well as the nature of student-student and teacher-student interactions. Some staff expressed concern about increasing screen time in schools and misalignment with existing school "no-phone" policies. Others reported that, with leadership support, using phones for a specific and time-limited purpose was acceptable.

# Ways of Working Within Schools

# Overview

Staff described what worked well and what did not work well in their schools, providing insights into how digital programs could be integrated into existing systems. Three subthemes were identified that explored issues relating to planning, engaging, and executing.

# School Buy-in and Staff Ownership

The school executive was consistently described as being the primary decision maker in whether a school took part in the trial; yet they provided little practical support to FPP implementation. Staff reflected that greater input from leadership would have facilitated greater school-wide buy-in and



ownership. Examples of input included formal recognition for staff involvement or allocation of time for planning and preparation. In addition to executive support, trust and reputation in the FPP provider was critical for buy-in among staff.

#### **Bringing All the Right Players Onboard**

There was staff consensus that involving the right people-those with the capacity, expertise, and interest or motivation to support student mental health-at the right time was essential for effective implementation. Internal (eg, values, interest, and altruism) and external motivations (eg, mandated role) to be involved in the trial were both prevalent, but the former was linked to higher engagement, commitment, and support in the long term. Individual capacity influenced who was best placed to be involved. Staff availability and competing demands often determined the amount of time they could dedicate to plan, engage, and execute the FPP. This was particularly the case for staff who described having to do extra work to engage parents and students. A consistent message from counselors was that, given their expertise and knowledge about other programs available in schools, they should have been critical decision makers for FPP adoption and central in planning and engagement. In practice, because of significant capacity issues in some schools, counselors were often not involved to this degree and had limited knowledge about the FPP and SPARX-R.

## **Communication and Support**

The level of communication and practical support between staff varied across schools. Some staff reported a high level of quality communication and in-school support (eg, from the executive, head teachers, administrators, and counselors), describing a clear allocation of responsibilities and sharing of tasks. In these cases, communication and planning were generally organic and incorporated into routine meetings. Some staff reported having sole responsibility for supporting the FPP with minimal in-school support. Lack of communication and support was challenging in the context of already high workloads and pressing demands. For example, in some schools, counselors were not aware that a school visit had been planned until it began and they had to cancel standing appointments with students. Staff provided hypotheses for communication breakdowns including broader issues within school workplace culture and high staff turnover with a lack of handover.

#### School Visits and SPARX-R Sessions

School visits were generally described as being executed effectively. The level of support and quality of resources (eg, Wi-Fi and devices) provided by the research team were described as appropriate. Some staff described themselves as having an active and hands-on role in the school visits (eg, encouraging students to complete the survey and app modules, and managing behavior). The main difficulty for staff organizing the sessions was ensuring that the right students were in the room. Despite being encouraged in the trial protocol, few staff indicated that they scheduled separate school sessions dedicated to SPARX-R completion. The major barrier was extra resources

needed for organization, planning, and execution (eg, time out of own schedule or curriculum).

# Screening and Risk Alert System

Identifying high-risk students through screening increased demand on counselors when plans had not been established to manage caseloads. Counselors from some schools reported difficulty with following up students within a short time frame when more were identified than expected, no other counselors were available, or scheduling of FPP sessions did not align with their availability. In such cases, follow-up was described as reactive and often required counselors to cancel existing appointments to keep up with demand.

# **Reflecting on Past Experiences to Improve Future** Implementation

# **Future Adoption**

Reasons for future adoption focused on the benefits of the risk and referral process. Key benefits were related to the relative advantage of the FPP over other available programs for young people (eg, tech-based approach, tracking of mental health over time, facilitation of referrals, and normalization of the counseling service) and the tension for a change within schools to address mental health differently (eg, reactively vs proactively). However, there were barriers to future adoption. These barriers were related to individual capacity (eg, high workloads and limited availability), process factors (eg, poor communication or planning among staff members and disruptions to normal lessons), and innovation characteristics (eg, out of date gamification and graphics; note that SPARX was originally developed in 2012). The general sentiment among staff was that high student engagement is necessary to make the personal effort worthwhile. Maximum student sign on to the FPP (reach), and level of completion of the SPARX-R app (uptake) across the whole year was described as essential for school adoption. Many staff reported that student reach and SPARX-R engagement were lower than expected. The primary barriers for reach that staff identified were parent consent into the FPP and accessibility of technology and infrastructure in certain communities (eg, lower socioeconomic and rural or regional areas). Multiple hypotheses were raised for low parent consent, from poor communication of information to parents, parents being time-poor and having other higher priorities, mental health stigma, and low mental health literacy. Staff recognized that the limitations of consent are not a problem outside of research trials.

#### **Ideal Implementation**

Throughout their general reflections about how the FPP worked within schools, staff identified their "wish list" for ideal implementation. Integration into the school curriculum was consistently identified as necessary for buy-in and engagement because it has the potential to overcome barriers relating to resources, capacity, and coverage of students. Key facilitators for the implementation process identified by staff are presented in Table 2.

Beames et al

Table 2. Ideal facilitators for the implementation process of the Future Proofing Program (FPP).

Facilitators	FPP status <sup>a</sup>
Planning and engaging	
Reputable implementing institution and provision of high-quality resources	Provided
Active leadership support (including recognition of staff input) and school ownership	Encouraged
Counselors involved in decisions about FPP adoption and planning	Encouraged
In-school champion that engages staff and students	Encouraged
Engagement strategy for students and parents to encourage buy-in	Provided
Supportive school implementation team with clear responsibilities to share load	Encouraged
Dedicated staff time for planning and reviewing	Encouraged
Established community support for referrals of high-risk students that are outside	Ideal
the remit or resources of schools	
Executing	
Flexible delivery of FPP	Provided
Integration into school curriculum as an adjunct program	Ideal
Technology support from implementing institution	Provided
Adequate school-level resources (eg, rooms, Wi-Fi, and laptops)	Encouraged
Standardized risk follow-up and referral processes for counselors	Encouraged
Availability of counselors and provision of adequate time to respond to risk follow-ups	Encouraged
In-school reminders about SPARX <sup>b</sup> completion for students	Encouraged

 $^{a}$ FPP status indicates whether the named facilitators were provided by the future proofing team, were encouraged by the future proofing team (and therefore adaptable based on school resourcing and preferences), or were outside of scope because of feasibility (and therefore ideal for future implementation).

<sup>b</sup>SPARX: Smart, Positive, Active, Realistic, X-factor thoughts.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This paper reports on the first implementation evaluation embedded into a school-based randomized controlled trial of a smartphone app depression prevention intervention. Four key superordinate themes were identified from qualitative responses provided by school staff involved in implementation delivery. Overall, the FPP added significant value to school approaches to mental health, offering vital resources that schools either did not have or were wanting to strengthen (right place at the right time). Staff agreed that an innovative approach was needed to support student mental health in schools and that a digital approach was generally appropriate within schools (innovative approach). Ease of execution reflected the amount and quality of planning staff engaged in, which was typically dependent on teamwork, communication, and individual capacity and motivation (ways of working within schools). Low student engagement and staffing availability were identified as critical barriers for future adoption and implementation (reflecting on past experiences). The identified themes highlight the importance of school organizational characteristics and staff characteristics in the implementation of digital mental health programs.

A critical point of disagreement in our results was capacity to respond to screening outcomes. Although there was tension for

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42349
```

RenderX

change in schools for new methods of identifying at-risk students and providing support in a timely manner, human resourcing was often a major barrier. Counselors from some schools also noted concerns about high identification rates in the absence of available community supports for referral. School counselors in Australia typically provide short-term reactive care rather than intensive tailored treatment programs for individual students [14,52]. Lack of available and appropriate referral options reflects a failure of the Australian youth mental health system [53] and leaves schools unsupported without the internal capacity to provide care. Our findings show that the implementation of mental health programs in schools, even when delivered digitally, requires careful planning and consideration of how schools intersect with the external health system.

# **Organizational Change in Schools**

An implication of our findings is that school-based implementation of digital mental health programs requires some level of organizational change. Organizational change in schools is any alteration, improvement, or restructuring in the processes or contents of education [54]. There are many organizational change theories, with different assumptions about why, how, and when a change occurs [55]. One perspective suggests the value of a continuous change, that is, ongoing, small-scale change that is embedded in daily practice [56]. Interpersonal relationships, leadership, and continual refinement are essential

for this type of change in organizations [55]. The following sections will discuss these aspects of continuous change in schools in relation to the FPP.

# Organizational Change in Schools: Interpersonal Relationships

Change at the school level requires change at the staff level. Prior research has shown that interpersonal process variables such as trust, social interaction, networking, communication, and knowledge sharing directly contribute to continuous change behavior in school teachers [55,56]. These findings align with this study. Working together, adequate communication about roles or tasks and sharing knowledge about the FPP were important for staff in the planning, engaging, and executing phases of implementation. These factors were particularly important for counselors. Some counselors were not ready or prepared to accommodate the new program, leading to significant disruptions to existing responsibilities and caseloads. Overall, working together to create new ways of doing things within the established school system was important to support implementation of the FPP.

# Organizational Change in Schools: Leadership

The continuous change approach shifts leadership away from a top-level group (eg, the school executive) to every organizational member (eg, staff members involved in FPP implementation) [56]. This is not to say that the executive has no role; they are still integral in establishing a culture of change [55] and buy-in to the value system of an intervention. Our results showed that staff from most schools acknowledged that the executive and well-being units had cultivated, or were cultivating, a positive mental health culture and that the FPP aligned with this culture.

Distributing leadership practice across schools is needed to facilitate small-scale changes and make these changes a routine part of everyday work. Consistent with this conceptualization of leadership, our results showed the practical value of positioning counselors as critical decision makers in adoption, planning, and execution. Although these processes were encouraged in the FPP, interviews with school staff indicated that they were not put into practice in some schools despite willingness to do so (ie, nonadherence to the implementation strategy). Differences in school-level resourcing of counseling staff might in part explain the difficulties observed with engaging with the counseling unit. For example, counselors often work across multiple schools within a district and have limited availability in any one school. Involvement at critical decision points (eg, school-level adoption, when school visits will be held) may be necessary to ensure feasible involvement of counselors in future implementation efforts of digital mental health programs.

# **Organizational Change: Continual Refinement**

A recent review of organizational change interventions in schools noted that many interventions fail to accomplish their purpose and result in a loss of valued resources [55]. Continuous change is dynamic, and even if change processes are operational, they often need to be refined and adapted to maintain their relevance within a system [55]. One implication, which was

evident from staff perspectives about FPP, is that some level of flexibility in the implementation strategy may be necessary to help overcome challenges experienced during rollout of digital programs in schools. This was demonstrated by how schools complied with the strategy of scheduling in-school SPARX sessions to facilitate module completion. Although some staff were unable to do so because of limited staffing capacity and conflicts with other curriculum-based activities, other staff integrated SPARX completion into homeroom periods or scheduled specific SPARX sessions during class time. A flexible implementation strategy may be more feasible than a prescriptive strategy that does not allow adaptation. The need for local variation or tailoring of implementation processes is consistent with evaluations of other nondigital school-based physical activity and suicide prevention programs [31,34].

# Practical Recommendations: Implementing Digital Programs in Schools

Available implementation strategies tailored to school contexts have primarily been developed for programs delivered in person and are not specific to digital mental health or scaled prevention programs [40,41]. Drawing from the themes identified in our evaluation and related work [25], we outline recommendations for implementing digital mental health programs at scale in schools. The function of these recommendations is to facilitate organizational change and to help schools to achieve their intended purpose of implementation.

The top evidence-informed recommendation is alignment with and integration into the national school curriculum (eg, health or physical education). Integration would consolidate support from leadership and other staff, therefore facilitating appropriate allocation of resources and coverage of students. Not only does integration into the curriculum overcome time and resourcing barriers but it also aligns with the idea that mental health is a core part of the education and socioemotional development that is fostered by schools. This approach is a core tenet of the Health Promoting Schools framework, a whole-school approach to promoting health that recognizes the link between health and education [57,58].

In the absence of curriculum integration, additional school-level resources are necessary to facilitate buy-in and engagement from all sectors of the school community. We have developed eight evidence-informed recommendations about strategies that school staff can use to support the implementation of adjunct digital programs in schools:

- 1. Establishment of a multidisciplinary internal implementation team with counselors as critical decision makers in program adoption and planning. It is important to consider both the persons (eg, motivations) and their position (eg, formal responsibilities and capacity) to bring the right players on board.
- 2. A structured, multipronged approach to communicating information about the program, with a specific component for counselors, to encourage buy-in and engagement. Focusing on core business outcomes (ie, learning) as well as the links between mental health and academic achievement can clearly showcase benefits for schools, staff, students, and their families. School implementation

XSL•FO

teams may be best placed to communicate such information within schools.

- 3. Active internal leadership support for the program including allocation of resources (eg, in school time for planning, engaging, and executing), administration support (eg, to distribute reminders), and recognition of staff input and effort. In-school time for completing the program is essential; however, how this time is provided can be school dependent (eg, during roll call or homeroom and well-being days).
- 4. In-school champion or implementation lead that engages staff and students in the digital mental health program.
- 5. Formal meeting times held regularly between the implementing school staff to facilitate communication and review of implementation processes (using checklists to facilitate progress and accountability).
- 6. Prioritization of evidence-based programs that are engaging for students, with up-to-date graphics and gamification to ensure relative advantage over other programs in the marketplace.
- 7. Flexible program delivery to allow for adaptation to local contexts including area or region (metropolitan vs rural or regional, high vs low socioeconomic), school type (eg, public, independent, or catholic), or state or territory (eg, different policies and roles or availabilities of counselors). Flexibility is essential for scaled implementation across different types of schools.
- 8. Students use their own phone or laptop (or school-supplied devices if necessary) to complete the program.

# Limitations

Hybrid type 1 implementation effectiveness trials evaluating digital programs in schools have a unique set of challenges. One challenge is differentiating between implementation factors relating to the trial and to the digital program. For example, trial consent processes and other components of data collection related to secondary trial aims likely affected engagement and uptake of the FPP with students. Future hybrid trials should

document which factors are research-related and program-related to guide hypothesis testing. In a deviation from the implementation evaluation protocol, we did not formally collect data from intervention schools about adherence to the implementation strategy due to feasibility constraints. The FPP team gained ad hoc information via emails from implementing staff about planning and execution. The data may not have been of sufficient quality to ensure reliability. As a result, objective data from all intervention schools about adherence to the implementation strategy are lacking, and we cannot conclude which strategies were crucial to mobilize staff support and student uptake of SPARX-R. Qualitative inquiry found that implementation teams in some schools did not do what was specified or encouraged. This provides some indication that the strategies were not feasible for all schools, reinforcing the complexity of implementation in schools. Finally, the CFIR covers multiple perspectives. The current evaluation explored reports from a small sample of school staff. Different insights into implementation barriers and facilitators may have been raised by students, parents, education departments, or even community services linked in with schools.

# Conclusions

Results from this study showed that interpersonal factors, leadership factors, and flexibility were important for implementing the FPP in schools (according to staff). We also found that implementing digital programs in schools requires significant planning and consideration of specific school environments. In line with our findings, we proposed a select set of recommendations for future implementation of digital prevention programs delivered at scale in schools. These recommendations might facilitate an organizational change and help schools to achieve their intended purpose of implementing digital mental health programs (eg, improved student support and mental health). These recommendations can also be applied beyond the mental health domain to support the scaled implementation of other digital programs in schools.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the school communities who participated in this study. This project was funded by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Project Grant awarded to HC (GNT1138405), a Ramsay Health Philanthropic Grant awarded to HC and AWS, an NHMRC Emerging Leader Fellowship awarded to AWS (GNT1197074), an NHMRC Emerging Leader II Fellowship awarded to ALC (GNT 1173146), an SPRF NHMRC Fellowship to HC (GNT 1155614), NHMRC Fellowship 1158707 to PJB, and an NHMRC Emerging Leader II Fellowship awarded to MT (GNT 2007731). RL was funded through the Financial Markets Foundation for Children. The funders had no role in any aspect of the study.

# **Data Availability**

Data generated or analyzed during this study are not available because data are sensitive and sharing does not comply with ethical approvals.

# **Authors' Contributions**

JRB and AWS conceptualized the study, with ongoing support from KMB, RL, ALC, PJB, MT, HC, IZ, and KM. JRB, LB, HF, AB, and MH conducted qualitative coding. JRB organized qualitative themes, interpreted results, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and AWS, RL, and KMB provided critical revisions. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.
#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 School Staff Interview Guides. [DOCX File, 205 KB - pediatrics v6i1e42349 app1.docx ]

#### References

- Shorey S, Ng ED, Wong CHJ. Global prevalence of depression and elevated depressive symptoms among adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Clin Psychol 2022 Jun;61(2):287-305. [doi: <u>10.1111/bjc.12333</u>] [Medline: <u>34569066</u>]
- Wickersham A, Sugg HVR, Epstein S, Stewart R, Ford T, Downs J. Systematic review and meta-analysis: the association between child and adolescent depression and later educational attainment. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2021 Jan;60(1):105-118. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.10.008] [Medline: 33130250]
- Copeland WE, Alaie I, Jonsson U, Shanahan L. Associations of childhood and adolescent depression with adult psychiatric and functional outcomes. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2021;60(5):604-611 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.07.895] [Medline: 32758528]
- Solmi M, Radua J, Olivola M, Croce E, Soardo L, de Pablo GS, et al. Age at onset of mental disorders worldwide: large-scale meta-analysis of 192 epidemiological studies. Mol Psychiatry 2022;27(1):281-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01161-7] [Medline: 34079068]
- 5. Fox DJ, Hanes D. Prevalence and correlates of unmet mental health services need in adolescents with major depressive episode in 2019: an analysis of national survey on drug use and health data. J Adolesc Health 2023;72(2):182-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2022.10.001] [Medline: 36424335]
- Goodwin RD, Dierker LC, Wu M, Galea S, Hoven CW, Weinberger AH. Trends in U.S. depression prevalence from 2015 to 2020: the widening treatment gap. Am J Prev Med 2022;63(5):726-733 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2022.05.014] [Medline: 36272761]
- Méndez J, Sánchez-Hernández Ó, Garber J, Espada JP, Orgilés M. Psychological treatments for depression in adolescents: more than three decades later. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18(9):4600 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18094600] [Medline: 33926111]
- 8. Ormel J, Hollon SD, Kessler RC, Cuijpers P, Monroe SM. More treatment but no less depression: the treatment-prevalence paradox. Clin Psychol Rev 2022;91:102111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102111] [Medline: 34959153]
- Fusar Poli P, Correll CU, Arango C, Berk M, Patel V, Ioannidis JPA. Preventive psychiatry: a blueprint for improving the mental health of young people. World Psychiatry 2021;20(2):200-221 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/wps.20869</u>] [Medline: <u>34002494</u>]
- 10. Cuijpers P, Pineda BS, Quero S, Karyotaki E, Struijs SY, Figueroa CA, et al. Psychological interventions to prevent the onset of depressive disorders: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Clin Psychol Rev 2021;83:101955 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101955] [Medline: 33333441]
- 11. Gulliver A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry 2010;10:113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-10-113] [Medline: 21192795]
- Rickwood DJ, Deane FP, Wilson CJ. When and how do young people seek professional help for mental health problems? Med J Aust 2007;187(S7):S35-S39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01334.x] [Medline: 17908023]
- 13. Farmer EMZ, Burns BJ, Phillips SD, Angold A, Costello EJ. Pathways into and through mental health services for children and adolescents. Psychiatr Serv 2003;54(1):60-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.54.1.60] [Medline: 12509668]
- 14. Beames JR, Johnston L, O'Dea B, Torok M, Boydell K, Christensen H, et al. Addressing the mental health of school students: perspectives of secondary school teachers and counselors. Int J Educ Psychol 2020;10(1):128-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21683603.2020.1838367]
- 15. Dimitropoulos G, Cullen E, Cullen O, Pawluk C, McLuckie A, Patten S, et al. "Teachers often see the red flags first": perceptions of school staff regarding their roles in supporting students with mental health concerns. School ment health 2021;14(2):402-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12310-021-09475-1]
- Pagerols M, Prat R, Rivas C, Español-Martín G, Puigbó J, Pagespetit È, et al. The impact of psychopathology on academic performance in school-age children and adolescents. Sci Rep 2022;12(1):4291 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-08242-9] [Medline: 35277563]
- Askeland KG, Bøe T, Lundervold AJ, Stormark KM, Hysing M. The association between symptoms of depression and school absence in a population-based study of late adolescents. Front Psychol 2020;11:1268 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01268</u>] [Medline: <u>32655449</u>]
- Werner-Seidler A, Perry Y, Calear AL, Newby JM, Christensen H. School-based depression and anxiety prevention programs for young people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2017;51:30-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2016.10.005</u>] [Medline: <u>27821267</u>]

- Feiss R, Dolinger SB, Merritt M, Reiche E, Martin K, Yanes JA, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of school-based stress, anxiety, and depression prevention programs for adolescents. J Youth Adolesc 2019;48(9):1668-1685 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10964-019-01085-0] [Medline: 31346924]
- 20. Werner-Seidler A, Spanos S, Calear AL, Perry Y, Torok M, O'Dea B, et al. School-based depression and anxiety prevention programs: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2021;89:102079 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102079] [Medline: 34571372]
- 21. Lattie EG, Stiles-Shields C, Graham AK. An overview of and recommendations for more accessible digital mental health services. Nat Rev Psychol 2022;1(2):87-100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s44159-021-00003-1]
- 22. Bell IH, Thompson A, Valentine L, Adams S, Alvarez-Jimenez M, Nicholas J. Ownership, use of, and interest in digital mental health technologies among clinicians and young people across a spectrum of clinical care needs: cross-sectional survey. JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(5):e30716 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30716] [Medline: 35544295]
- 23. Wies B, Landers C, Ienca M. Digital mental health for young people: a scoping review of ethical promises and challenges. Front Digit Health 2021;3:697072 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2021.697072] [Medline: 34713173]
- 24. Firth J, Torous J, Nicholas J, Carney R, Pratap A, Rosenbaum S, et al. The efficacy of smartphone-based mental health interventions for depressive symptoms: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. World Psychiatry 2017;16(3):287-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20472] [Medline: 28941113]
- Beames JR, Johnston L, O'Dea B, Torok M, Christensen H, Boydell KM, et al. Factors that help and hinder the implementation of digital depression prevention programs: school-based cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(8):e26223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26223] [Medline: 34448701]
- Curran GM, Bauer M, Mittman B, Pyne JM, Stetler C. Effectiveness-implementation hybrid designs: combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to enhance public health impact. Med Care 2012;50(3):217-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182408812] [Medline: 22310560]
- 27. Durlak JA, DuPre EP. Implementation matters: a review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. Am J Community Psychol 2008;41(3-4):327-350 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10464-008-9165-0] [Medline: 18322790]
- 28. Bartelink NHM, van Assema P, Jansen MWJ, Savelberg HHCM, Moore GF, Hawkins J, et al. Process evaluation of the healthy primary school of the future: the key learning points. BMC Public Health 2019;19(1):698 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6947-2] [Medline: 31170941]
- 29. Chalkley AE, Routen AC, Harris JP, Cale LA, Gorely T, Sherar LB. A retrospective qualitative evaluation of barriers and facilitators to the implementation of a school-based running programme. BMC Public Health 2018;18(1):1189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6078-1] [Medline: 30342500]
- Gorely T, Harrington DM, Bodicoat DH, Davies MJ, Khunti K, Sherar LB, et al. Process evaluation of the school-based girls active programme. BMC Public Health 2019;19(1):1187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7493-7] [Medline: 31464592]
- 31. Jong ST, Croxson CHD, Foubister C, Brown HE, Guell C, Lawlor ER, et al. Reach, recruitment, dose, and intervention fidelity of the goactive school-based physical activity intervention in the UK: a mixed-methods process evaluation. Children (Basel) 2020;7(11):231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/children7110231] [Medline: 33212854]
- 32. Åvitsland A, Ohna SE, Dyrstad SM, Tjomsland HE, Lerum Ø, Leibinger E. The process evaluation of a school-based physical activity intervention: influencing factors and potential consequences of implementation. Health Educ 2020;120(2):121-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1108/he-01-2020-0004]
- Moore A, Stapley E, Hayes D, Town R, Deighton J. Barriers and facilitators to sustaining school-based mental health and wellbeing interventions: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022;19(6):3587 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19063587] [Medline: 35329276]
- 34. Yoder J, Williford A, Ortega L, Espelage DL, LoMurray S, Ruiz D, et al. Qualitative process evaluation of rural schools: uptake of change processes and contextual factors influencing implementation within a primary prevention program for youth. Prev Sci 2020;21(8):1093-1103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11121-020-01163-x] [Medline: 32865660]
- Merry SN, Stasiak K, Shepherd M, Frampton C, Fleming T, Lucassen MFG. The effectiveness of sparx, a computerised self help intervention for adolescents seeking help for depression: randomised controlled non-inferiority trial. BMJ 2012;344:e2598 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.e2598] [Medline: 22517917]
- 36. Werner-Seidler A, Huckvale K, Larsen ME, Calear AL, Maston K, Johnston L, et al. A trial protocol for the effectiveness of digital interventions for preventing depression in adolescents: the future proofing study. Trials 2020;21(1):2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-019-3901-7] [Medline: 31898512]
- Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2009;4:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50] [Medline: 19664226]
- 38. Beames JR, Lingam R, Boydell K, Calear AL, Torok M, Maston K, et al. Protocol for the process evaluation of a complex intervention delivered in schools to prevent adolescent depression: the future proofing study. BMJ Open 2021;11(1):e042133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042133] [Medline: 33436468]

RenderX

- Perry Y, Werner-Seidler A, Calear A, Mackinnon A, King C, Scott J, et al. Preventing depression in final year secondary students: school-based randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(11):e369 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8241] [Medline: 29097357]
- Cook CR, Lyon AR, Locke J, Waltz T, Powell BJ. Adapting a compilation of implementation strategies to advance school-based implementation research and practice. Prev Sci 2019;20(6):914-935 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11121-019-01017-1] [Medline: 31152328]
- 41. Lyon AR, Cook CR, Locke J, Davis C, Powell BJ, Waltz TJ. Importance and feasibility of an adapted set of implementation strategies in schools. J Sch Psychol 2019;76:66-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2019.07.014] [Medline: 31759470]
- 42. Qualtrics. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.qualtrics.com/au/?rid=ip&prevsite=en&newsite=au&geo=IN&geomatch=au</u> [accessed 2023-04-05]
- 43. Byrne D. A worked example of Braun and Clarke's approach to reflexive thematic analysis. Qual Quant 2021;56(3):1391-1412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11135-021-01182-y]
- 44. QSR international pty Ltd. Nvivo. 2020. URL: <u>https://support.qsrinternational.com/nvivo/s/article/</u> <u>How-do-I-cite-QSR-software-in-my-work</u> [accessed 2023-05-05]
- 45. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 46. Braun V, Clarke V. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qual Res Sport Exerc Health 2019;11(4):589-597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/2159676x.2019.1628806]
- 47. Tuckett AG. Applying thematic analysis theory to practice: a researcher's experience. Contemp Nurse 2005;19(1-2):75-87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5172/conu.19.1-2.75] [Medline: 16167437]
- 48. Aronson J. A pragmatic view of thematic analysis. Qual Rep 1995;2(1):1-3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/1995.2069]
- 49. Fereday J, Muir-Cochrane E. Demonstrating rigor using thematic analysis: a hybrid approach of inductive and deductive coding and theme development. Int J Qual Methods 2006;5(1):80-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/160940690600500107]
- 50. Korstjens I, Moser A. Series: practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: trustworthiness and publishing. Eur J Gen Pract 2018;24(1):120-124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092] [Medline: 29202616]
- Nowell LS, Norris JM, White DE, Moules NJ. Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. Int J Qual Methods 2017;16(1):1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1609406917733847]
- O'Dea B, King C, Subotic-Kerry M, O'Moore K, Christensen H. School counselors' perspectives of a web-based stepped care mental health service for schools: cross-sectional online survey. JMIR Ment Health 2017;4(4):e55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.8369] [Medline: 29158207]
- Ellis LA, Churruca K, Braithwaite J. Mental health services conceptualised as complex adaptive systems: what can be learned? Int J Ment Health Syst 2017;11(1):43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13033-017-0150-6] [Medline: 28670339]
- 54. Dimmock C. Dilemmas for school leaders and administrators in restructuring. In: Leithwood K, Chapman J, Corson D, Hallinger P, Hart A, editors. International Handbook of Educational Leadership and Administration: Part 1-2. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 1996:135-170.
- 55. Beycioglu K, Kondakci Y. Organizational change in schools. ECNU Rev Educ 2020;4(4):788-807 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2096531120932177]
- 56. Tsoukas H, Chia R. On organizational becoming: rethinking organizational change. Organ Sci 2002;13(5):567-582 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1287/orsc.13.5.567.7810]
- Langford R, Bonell C, Komro K, Murphy S, Magnus D, Waters E, et al. The health promoting schools framework: known unknowns and an agenda for future research. Health Educ Behav 2017;44(3):463-475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1090198116673800] [Medline: 28504062]
- Lee A, Lo A, Li Q, Keung V, Kwong A. Health promoting schools: an update. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2020;18(5):605-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40258-020-00575-8] [Medline: 32291699]

#### Abbreviations

**CFIR:** Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research **FPP:** Future Proofing Program **SPARX:** Smart, Positive, Active, Realistic, X-factor thoughts



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 01.09.22; peer-reviewed by L Martinengo, M van der Burgt; comments to author 15.02.23; revised version received 23.03.23; accepted 18.04.23; published 12.06.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Beames JR, Werner-Seidler A, Hodgins M, Brown L, Fujimoto H, Bartholomew A, Maston K, Huckvale K, Zbukvic I, Torok M, Christensen H, Batterham PJ, Calear AL, Lingam R, Boydell KM Implementing a Digital Depression Prevention Program in Australian Secondary Schools: Cross-Sectional Qualitative Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42349 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42349 doi:10.2196/42349 PMID:37307051

©Joanne R Beames, Aliza Werner-Seidler, Michael Hodgins, Lyndsay Brown, Hiroko Fujimoto, Alexandra Bartholomew, Kate Maston, Kit Huckvale, Isabel Zbukvic, Michelle Torok, Helen Christensen, Philip J Batterham, Alison L Calear, Raghu Lingam, Katherine M Boydell. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 12.06.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Exploring the Usability and Acceptability of a Well-Being App for Adolescents Living With Type 1 Diabetes: Qualitative Study

Katie Garner<sup>1</sup>, MHealthPsych, PGDipHSc; Hiran Thabrew<sup>1</sup>, BM, PhD; David Lim<sup>1</sup>, MHealthPsych, PGDipHSc; Paul Hofman<sup>2</sup>, MBChB, Dip Obs; Craig Jefferies<sup>2,3</sup>, MBChB; Anna Serlachius<sup>1</sup>, MSc, PhD

2 3

**Corresponding Author:** Anna Serlachius, MSc, PhD

#### Abstract

**Background:** Adolescents living with either type 1 diabetes (T1D) or type 2 diabetes (T2D) have an increased risk of psychological disorders due to the demands of managing a chronic illness and the challenges of adolescence. Psychological disorders during adolescence increase the risk of suboptimal glycemic outcomes and may lead to serious diabetes-related complications. Research shows that digital health interventions may increase access to psychological support for adolescents and improve physical and mental health outcomes for youth with diabetes. To our knowledge, there are no evidence-based, publicly available mental health apps with a focus on improving the psychological well-being of adolescents with diabetes.

**Objective:** This study aimed to explore the acceptability and usability of our evidence-based well-being app for New Zealand adolescents, *Whitu: 7 Ways in 7 Days (Whitu)*, to allow us to further tailor it for youth with diabetes. We interviewed adolescents with T1D and T2D, their parents, and health care professionals to explore their views on the *Whitu* app and suggestions for tailoring the app for adolescent with diabetes. We also explored the cultural acceptability of the *Whitu* app for Māori and Pacific adolescents.

**Methods:** A total of 34 participants, comprising 13 adolescents aged 12-16 years (11 with T1D and 2 with T2D), 10 parents, and 11 health care professionals, were recruited from a specialist diabetes outpatient clinic and Facebook diabetes groups. Each participant attended one 1-hour focus group on Zoom, in person, or via phone. Researchers gathered general feedback on what makes an effective and engaging app for adolescents with diabetes, as well as specific feedback about *Whitu*. Transcribed audio recordings of the focus groups were analyzed using directed content analysis.

**Results:** Adolescents with T1D, their parents, and health care professionals found *Whitu* to be acceptable and usable. Adolescents with T1D and their parents signaled a preference for more diabetes-specific content. Health care professionals expressed less awareness and trust of digital health interventions and, as such, recommended that they be used with external support. Due to challenges in recruitment and retention, we were unable to include the views of adolescents with T2D in this qualitative study.

**Conclusions:** There appears to be sufficient openness to the use of an app such as *Whitu* for supporting the well-being of adolescents with T1D, albeit with modifications to make its content more diabetes specific. Based on this qualitative study, we have recently developed a diabetes-specific version of *Whitu* (called *LIFT: Thriving with Diabetes*). We are also planning a qualitative study to explore the views of youth with T2D and their perspectives on the new *LIFT* app, where we are using alternative research approaches to recruit and engage adolescents with T2D and their families.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e52364) doi:10.2196/52364

#### **KEYWORDS**

well-being; digital health interventions; type 1 diabetes; diabetes; diabetic; adolescent; youth; adolescents; young people; parents; parent; mHealth; mobile health; app; apps; application; applications; acceptability; usability; interview; interviews; opinion; opinions; perception; perceptions; perspective; perspectives; acceptance

#### Introduction

Adolescents living with type 1 diabetes (T1D) and type 2 diabetes (T2D) are at higher risk of psychological disorders, including anxiety, depression and eating disorders, compared to their peers without diabetes [1,2]. Such psychological

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e52364
```

disorders can increase the risk of suboptimal glycemic outcomes [3] as well as diabetes-related complications and hospitalization [4]. Although not every adolescent living with diabetes experiencing psychological distress will be diagnosed with a psychological disorder, diabetes-related psychological distress

can still significantly impact their self-management and quality of life [4].

Due to factors such as time constraints and limited access to mental health services, routine psychological support is often not undertaken as part of diabetes care. Digital interventions may offer a solution for addressing this clinical gap. Research shows that digital interventions are acceptable to adolescents, cost-effective, and scalable and that they can reach populations that typically have low engagement with traditional services [5,6]. Some have even been found to be as effective as face-to-face psychological therapies [7]. However, a recent systematic review conducted by our team found limited evidence that digital interventions are effective for improving the psychological well-being of adolescents living with diabetes, highlighting the low quality of available evidence and small number of theoretically underpinned interventions [8].

Whitu: 7 Ways in 7 Days (Whitu) is a well-being app that contains seven modules to help young people (1) recognize and rate emotions, (2) learn relaxation and mindfulness, (3) practice self-compassion and (4) gratitude, (5) connect with others, (6) care for their physical health, and (7) engage in goal setting. The coping skills included in the app have all previously demonstrated efficacy for improving the well-being of young people (see our protocol paper for further information) [9]. It can be completed within a week or as desired. The app was co-designed and developed by our team together with Māori and Pacific researchers and a group of New Zealand adolescents and young adults. Previous studies with adolescents and young adults living without diabetes found that its use was associated well-being, improved emotional and mental with self-compassion, stress, sleep, depression, and anxiety at 4 weeks, with effects sustained at 3 months [10,11]. Given that Whitu might offer a viable solution for improving the well-being of adolescents with diabetes, this study aimed to explore the acceptability and usability of the current version of the app and to explore how it might need to be tailored for use with adolescents with T1D and T2D.

#### Methods

#### **Study Design**

A qualitative study was used. Study results are presented according to the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist [12] (see Checklist 1).

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics approval for this study was granted by the Auckland Health Research Ethics Committee (AH21899) on February 23, 2021. All participant data were deidentified after the interviews and focus groups.

#### **Study Participants and Recruitment**

This study aimed to recruit 10 participants from each of the following groups: adolescents with T1D, adolescents with T2D, parents, and health care professionals. A total of 15 adolescents with T1D and 4 adolescents with T2D aged 12-16 years were recruited from 2 specialist pediatric diabetes clinics in Auckland, New Zealand, between April and August 2021. In addition, 3

adolescents with T1D were recruited via a Facebook advertisement. A total of 12 parents of adolescents with diabetes were recruited in clinic and 3 were recruited via a Facebook advertisement. A total of 12 health care professionals from 2 Auckland-based specialist diabetes teams were recruited via emails sent out by the first author.

Inclusion criteria for adolescents were being aged 12-16 and having been diagnosed with T1D or T2D more than 6 months ago. Exclusion criteria for adolescents included not being an English speaker or having a serious developmental or psychiatric disorder (eg, psychosis). Parents were eligible for inclusion if they were a parent of an adolescent diagnosed with T1D or T2D more than 6 months ago. Health care professionals were included if they provided care for adolescents with diabetes. During recruitment, 41 adolescents and their parents were approached to take part in the study. Of those, 38 agreed to take part in the study (24 adolescents and 15 parents) and 3 (parents) declined. Of the 20 health care professionals invited to participate via email, 11 agreed to take part in the study and 9 declined due to the lack of interest or time. Overall, 11 of the original 38 adolescents and parents were lost to follow-up, and 4 dropped out after signing informed consent. A total of 34 individuals participated in the focus groups (13 adolescents, 10 parents, and 11 health care professionals). Informed consent or assent (for adolescents aged <16 y) was obtained at recruitment, and participants were asked to fill out a baseline questionnaire regarding basic demographic information, as well as the length of diagnosis and insulin regimen for adolescents. Parents and adolescents completed consent or assent and baseline questionnaires in person at recruitment or on the web if recruited over Facebook. Health care professionals were sent a digital copy of the informed consent and baseline questionnaire.

#### **Focus Groups and Interviews**

A total of 9 focus groups, each with 2-4 participants and lasting 30-90 minutes, were conducted over the web using Zoom (Zoom Video Communications) videoconferencing or in person using a semistructured interview schedule. Interviews over Zoom or over the phone were conducted if participants were not able to take part in the focus groups due to scheduling constraints. Adolescents with diabetes, their parents, and health care professionals participated in separate focus groups. Adolescents and their parents did not participate together. One week before the focus groups or interviews, participants received a link to download the Whitu app with instructions to familiarize themselves with the app before attending the focus groups or interviews. In the focus groups, the facilitators showed screenshots of each of the modules to remind the participants of the module content. Each focus group was facilitated by 2 of the following researchers: KG (female European health psychology student), Anna Boggiss (female European health psychology PhD candidate), DL (male Asian health psychology student), and Kalolaine Finaulahi (female Tongan psychology student). Six individual interviews were conducted by KG. There was no established relationship with the participants prior to study commencement. During the focus groups and interviews, participants were also asked about previous use of digital interventions. Whitu modules were shown to participants, and feedback on the current content, look, and feel of the app

```
XSL•FO
```

and possible diabetes-related improvements to the app was obtained. Upon completion, participants were thanked for their time and provided a gift voucher worth NZ \$40 (~US \$25). Audiotaped recordings were then transcribed by the first author.

#### **Qualitative Analysis**

Transcripts were analyzed by 2 members of the research team (KG and HT) in NVivo (Lumivero) using directed content analysis, an approach where data exploration is guided by an existing framework or theory [13]. The qualitative analysis was informed by user engagement frameworks, including the Engagement, Functionality, Aesthetics, and Information domains

 Table . Demographic characteristics of the adolescents (n=13)

from the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale [14], and used a largely deductive approach. The researchers began by independently coding the data, then forming categories, and lastly identifying descriptive themes. Any coding discrepancies were resolved by discussion with a third member of the research team (AS).

#### Results

#### **Participant Demographics**

Characteristics of the study participants can be seen in Tables 1-3 below.

Characteristics		Type 1 diabetes (n=11, 85%)	Type 2 diabetes (n=2, 15%)	All adolescents (n=13)
Age (y), mean (SD)		13.6 (1.2)	12.5 (0.5)	13.4 (1.9)
Sex, n (%)				
	Female	8 (72)	1 (50)	9 (69)
	Male	3 (27)	1 (50)	4 (31)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)				
	New Zealand European	10 (91)	0 (0)	10 (77)
	Māori	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)
	Pacific	2 (18)	2 (100)	4 (31)
	Chinese	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)
	Other	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)
Length of diabetes (y), mean	(SD)	5.9 (3.52)	1 (0.5)	5.1 (3.68)
Insulin regimen				
	Insulin pump, n (%)	5 (46)	0 (0)	5 (38)
	Insulin injections, n (%)	5 (46)	0 (0)	5 (38)
	Medications	NovoRapid and Lantus	Lantus, NovoRapid, and Metformin	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Comorbidities, n (%)		4 (37)	1 (50)	5 (38)
	Asthma	2 (18)	0 (0)	2 (15)
	Celiac disease	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)
	Graves disease	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (8)
	High blood pressure	0 (0)	1 (50)	1 (8)

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.



Table . Demographic characteristics of the parents.

Characteristics		Parents (n=10)
Age (y) mean (SD)		47.4 (5.6)
Sex, n (%)		
	Female	8 (80)
	Male	2 (20)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)		
	New Zealand European	8 (80)
	Māori	1 (10)
	Pacific	1 (10)
	Chinese	1 (10)
Child's type of diabetes, n (%)		
	Type 1	9 (90)
	Type 2	1 (10)
Reported length of child's diabetes (y), mean (SD)		4.8 (2.71)
Reported insulin regimen		
	Insulin pump (children with type 1 diabetes; n=9), n (%)	4 (44)
	Insulin injections (children with type 1 diabetes; n=9), n (%)	5 (56)
	Medications	NovoRapid and Lantus
Reported comorbidities experienced by their children, n (%)		4 (40)

Table . Demographic characteristics of health care professionals.

Characteristics		Health care professionals (n=11)
Age (y), mean (SD)		43.9 (12.5)
Sex, n (%)		
	Female	10 (91)
	Male	1 (9)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)		
	New Zealand European	4 (36)
	Māori	2 (18)
	Pacific	3 (27)
	Chinese	1 (9)
	Indian	1 (9)
	Other	2 (18)
Occupation, n (%)		
	Diabetes nurse specialist	5 (46)
	Health psychologist	2 (18)
	Intern psychologist	1 (9)
	Community coordinator	1 (9)
	Dietitian	1 (9)
	Dietitian's assistant	1 (9)
Years of experience, mean (SD)		12.9 (11.3)

XSL•FO RenderX

#### **Qualitative Findings**

#### Adolescents

Three main descriptive themes were identified from adolescents: (1) limited use of well-being-related digital interventions, (2) general acceptability of *Whitu*, and (3) a desire for more diabetes-related content to be included in the app.

## Theme 1: Limited Use of Well-Being–Related Digital Interventions

Young people reported limited use of digital mental health interventions and reported mostly using digital tools (eg, apps) to improve their physical health and manage their diabetes (6/13, 46%). The most commonly used apps were the Freestyle Libre and xDrip+ apps to manage blood glucose levels. A smaller number (3/13, 23%) used Fitbit and other exercise apps for fitness. Only a few (2/13, 15%) adolescents said they had ever used well-being apps such as Calm and Headspace to help with relaxation and sleep. Those who reported using digital interventions to manage their physical health (6/13, 46%) noted that they were useful for managing their diabetes, fitness, or general health. Most adolescents (11/13, 85%) were open to recommending well-being apps to their friends.

I would. To keep me on track of like, just my mental health, to keep on top of it. And like, see where I need to improve myself. [Female adolescent, aged 15 years with T1D]

However, a few adolescents (3/13, 23%) admitted that they would feel apprehensive about how peers might perceive them. When asked if they would consider using a diabetes-related well-being app, most adolescents (11/13, 85%) agreed that they would be open to using one to improve their diabetes, better manage diabetes-related stressors, and improve their mental health.

#### Theme 2: General Acceptability of Whitu

Most adolescents (11/13, 85%) liked the look and feel of *Whitu*. Many (10/13, 77%) enjoyed the colors and graphics used in the app, and some (5/13, 38%) noted that they thought the interface was easy to use and relaxing.

Yes. I like how it's quite easy to follow and it's got nice neutral colours, nice like relaxing colours. [Male adolescent, aged 15 years with T1D]

One participant commented on the animated characters being too childish. Participants also provided feedback on ways to change the look and feel by adding more gamification or adding flowers to the *puriri* tree (the tree in the *Whitu* app that grows with each completed module). In terms of usability, most (11/13, 85%) found it easy to navigate and got used to the app quickly. One participant preferred having subtitles in the videos rather than having to play them out loud. Two adolescents said they did not like some of the videos as they were too long and became bored after watching them. Overall, adolescents liked the content of *Whitu* and found the modules and exercises useful and interesting. Some modules were more popular, with module 1 (Feel) being the most liked module and module 7 (Goal Setting) being the least liked. Regarding cultural acceptability, adolescents liked how it was linked to New Zealand and included *te reo*  $M\bar{a}ori$  (the Indigenous language of New Zealand). The *karanga* (traditional M $\bar{a}$ ori call of welcome) at the start of the app was a highlight, and 1 participant highlighted that this made the app stand out to her.

Yeah, I think it makes it unique and stand out from other apps, I enjoyed that part. [Female adolescent, aged 13 years with T1D]

#### Theme 3: Desire for More Diabetes-Related Content

When asked how *Whitu* could be adapted to diabetes, most (11/13, 85%) adolescents wanted to combine diabetes management tools with well-being tools. Suggestions for possible additional content included a blood glucose tracker, dietary education focusing on carb counting, and reminders to take insulin. Many participants (9/13, 69%) also supported using the app to form connections with peers with T1D who might understand their situation and challenges.

I think, like being able to chat to people would be quite good because then like, you can kind of relate to things and because like the camps and things those are only like an annual thing, and you don't get to see those people quite often. [Female adolescent, aged 12 years with T1D]

Some participants (6/13, 46%) found aspects of *Whitu* such as the badges a bit childish and suggested that it would be better to have age-specific content. Others (5/13, 38%) suggested including videos of teenagers sharing well-being or diabetes stories. A few participants (2/13, 15%) suggested that *Whitu* could include more specific information on mental health problems, such as information about self-harm.

#### Parents

The four main descriptive themes identified from parents were (1) support for the use of a well-being app, (2) general acceptability of *Whitu*, (3) similar desire for more diabetes-related content, and (4) recommendations for parental involvement and support.

#### Theme 1: Support for the Use of a Well-Being App

Overall, most parents (8/10, 80%) were in favor of using a well-being app to help their children. Some parents (6/10, 60%) said they would find an app that combined diabetes management and well-being improvement highly useful. Parents reported that their kids were not using many well-being apps, if at all. However, parents expressed being willing to recommend apps to their children if they believed the apps could help their child.

Yeah, anything like that's going to help them. Yeah, I would definitely encourage for sure. [Male parent of an adolescent with T1D]

#### Theme 2: General Acceptability of Whitu

*Whitu* was found to be acceptable by most parents (8/10, 80%). The app was thought to be relevant and include beneficial coping skills. One parent even described how the app had helped them and their child work through an incident at school by using the traffic light system to rate their feelings.



We found that a really good timing and that something had happened at school that day so, especially that feelings one was a really good way of getting him to talk about what had happened. [Female parent of an adolescent with T1D]

Other parents (4/10, 40%) said that the Relax module would be helpful to ease their child's stress or anxiety. Parents also liked the look and feel of the app and praised the designs and colors used (6/10, 60%). Parents found the lack of subtitles on the videos inconvenient, whereas another parent commented that the app felt too stiff. Parents also reported that module 7 (Goal Setting) was repetitive and not sufficiently engaging.

## Theme 3: Similar Desire for More Diabetes-Related Content

Similar to the adolescents, parents reported wanting more diabetes-related examples and information in the *Whitu* modules (8/10, 80%). Some parents (3/10, 30%) suggested adding information about diabetes management, including carb counting and ways to manage or track blood glucose levels. Parents also wanted to see diabetes-related examples of well-being integrated into the modules. One parent suggested that this could be done in the Be Kind to Yourself module, where self-compassion could be tied back to the challenges of diabetes management and not always having "perfect numbers" (ie, optimal hemoglobin  $A_{1c}$ ).

Just making kids realise that they're not failing if they don't quite get it right. It's quite important and she used to get a bit nervous going in to see the doctor because she thought, oh, what if my numbers are high and she's a bit of a perfectionist. [Female parent of an adolescent with T1D]

Alongside this suggestion, parents recommended the addition of encouraging phrases throughout the app and suggested there should be some way to connect teens with T1D together via the app for peer support. Suggestions to achieve the latter included web-based forums, chat functions, and diabetes groups.

#### Theme 4: Recommendations for Parental Involvement and Support

Parents noted that there was room for parental involvement in *Whitu*. Some were skeptical that their child would use the app on their own without encouragement.

I actually think some of it might still be good with parental involvement, I don't know how much my child would use it on their own without parents sort of instigating it. [Female parent of an adolescent with T1D]

Others wanted the option to oversee their child's activities on the app to facilitate conversation about areas with which they may be struggling.

#### **Health Care Professionals**

Three main themes were identified from health care professionals: (1) limited awareness of well-being–related digital interventions, (2) variable responses to *Whitu*, and (3) some desire for clinician involvement or control.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e52364
```

## Theme 1: Limited Awareness of Well-Being–Related Digital Interventions

Overall, health care professionals expressed more interest in improving their patients' diabetes management (blood glucose tracking and diet) than their well-being via the use of digital interventions.

Yeah, I think the more generic, the better and then the benefits will flow out into their diabetes management. [Female diabetes nurse specialist]

Most (7/11, 64%) were unfamiliar with well-being–related and other mental health apps, expressing significant concerns about whether they would be adequate for supporting adolescents with active mental health problems. Their primary interest in well-being apps was to support the identification of "high risk" patients and timely referral for face-to-face support via the in-team psychologist and external mental health services.

#### Theme 2: Variable Responses to Whitu

Most health care professionals (8/11, 73%) spoke positively about the design and layout of *Whitu*, and many (7/11, 73%) were positive about its content. They noted that *Whitu* could increase young people's exposure to well-being concepts, and some acknowledged the value of guided modules for learning skills such as deep breathing to aid relaxation.

It introduces young people who might never be exposed to the possibility of doing these things, to an option where they might try it when they're on their own in their own bedroom. [Female diabetes nurse specialist]

Some health care professionals (5/11, 45%) were more critical about Whitu, especially regarding the content of the Look After Your Body module, which they thought might contradict some of the dietary advice provided to adolescents with diabetes. The Goal Setting module was also questioned as potentially being too complicated for patients to manage. Most health care professionals (8/11, 73%) misunderstood the short-term educative nature of Whitu (ie, to learn a suite of new skills within a week, then continue practicing preferred skills as needed) and expressed concerns about whether it would hold users' attention on a long-term basis and be able to longitudinally track users' progress. Finally, health care professionals (5/11, 45%) also raised concerns about discussing coping strategies without acknowledging the barriers brought on by social determinants of health and health inequities for many families living with diabetes.

We make a lot of assumption that we all know this, so we're all going to talk about this, but they don't have pots and pans to cook a healthy meal. [Female diabetes nurse specialist]

#### *Theme 3: Some Desire for Clinician Involvement or Control*

Health care professionals expressed some desire for involvement or control in the app. One participant suggested providing face-to-face therapy alongside some *Whitu* modules. In particular, they explained that the Look After Your Body and Goal Setting modules might be more effective if tailored to

XSL•FO RenderX

patients' diabetes-related needs and expectations by their diabetes team.

In terms of what I would use with my patients I would use the first five and it could work really well, alongside delivering therapy. So, you could do the same with this, but I am really worried about the look after your body and the goal setting. [Female health psychologist]

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Qualitative data from adolescents, parents, and health care professionals revealed important insights into perceptions of *Whitu*, and overlapping themes were identified between the 3 groups. Overall, there was sufficient acceptability of an app such as *Whitu* for supporting the well-being of adolescents with T1D. However, some modifications to the current version are required to ensure it is fit for purpose for this audience. Despite efforts to recruit and interview adolescents with T2D, insufficient data were obtained from adolescents with T2D to understand their perspectives. Further work needs to be done to improve the recruitment of this cohort.

Our finding that adolescents in this study had limited prior use of well-being apps is in line with previous research, which found that despite a quarter of adolescents being open to the idea of using mobile health (mHealth) apps, only 7.3% had ever actually used one [15]. It is likely that non-health-related technologies such as games and music are more commonly used to manage mood and stress [16]. However, this does not detract from the appeal of digital technology for digital natives, and therefore, it is encouraging that most participants were supportive of *Whitu* being adapted to be more useful for adolescents with diabetes.

The acceptability of Whitu by adolescents with T1D and their parents is in line with its acceptability by participants in previous studies of *Whitu* among young people without T1D [9,10]. It also aligns with previous research findings that clean, symmetrical, and creative apps are associated with better perceptions of app quality [17]. Adolescents and parents also enjoyed the content of Whitu and found the modules and exercises helpful and relevant. These findings echo previous qualitative studies where adolescents expressed their desire for mHealth apps to include resources relevant to their needs [16]. Although general well-being information was appreciated by adolescents, more diabetes-related content was also requested by all of them. This combination of views is consistent with previous findings that adolescents with diabetes prefer face-to-face and digital psychosocial interventions to include tailored, diabetes-specific content [18-20] and that adolescents without diabetes want well-being apps to be relevant and based on their specific needs [16]. It was reassuring to see that Whitu was perceived as culturally acceptable by adolescents in this study. They expressed their enjoyment of the karanga and the fact that the app was congruent with Māori culture and Māori models of mental health and well-being. These results highlight the importance of co-design to build tools that align with the culture and values of the app users.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e52364

Adolescents and parents expressed a preference for *Whitu* to help connect adolescents with peers who also live with diabetes. Several qualitative studies have found similar findings, where adolescents have reported that connecting with their peers was an integral part of psychosocial interventions for youth with diabetes [18,19]. This is supported by other studies in digital health where adolescents with diabetes prefer to have some form of social connection in mHealth apps [21]. Although the current version of *Whitu* has not been designed to be externally supported by parents or clinicians, it is interesting to note the findings of recent studies that peer and professional support may increase user engagement with health and well-being apps [22]. It may be that this is of greater relevance for adolescents with T1D who are more used to receiving health support than those without diabetes.

Health care professionals displayed limited familiarity with digital mental health interventions and a greater focus on the identification and management of mental health problems than the preservation or improvement of patient well-being. Given that technology including diabetes pumps and glucose-tracking apps are commonly used these days [23], this may be more a reflection of their limited familiarity with contemporary well-being interventions [24] and anxiety regarding the management of mental health problems during busy medical clinics, rather than their status as "digital immigrants" or the lack of interest in holistic patient care. Given the importance of health care professionals in the implementation of digital interventions and that digital mental health tools in diabetes should support and augment existing psychosocial support, it is essential that further iterations of Whitu are closely developed with this group to ensure their acceptability and feasibility within clinical settings. Formal implementation research may also need to be undertaken to maximize the impact of a diabetes-specific version of Whitu.

The main strength of this study was the inclusion of multiple perspectives from adolescents living with T1D, parents, and health care professionals, enabling us to gain a rich understanding of how *Whitu* might be adapted to meet the needs of this patient population.

In contrast, a limitation of this study was that we were unable to recruit any endocrinologists to explore their views of the Whitu app. This is somewhat mitigated by the fact that the research team includes 2 pediatric endocrinologists; however, endocrinologists represent an important stakeholder group, and their input and support of any future apps is integral to the success and implementation of well-being apps as part of diabetes care. Another limitation was our difficulty in recruiting adolescents with T2D (n=2) and their parents (n=1), which is also an issue faced by previous researchers [25]. As a result, current findings cannot be generalized to those with T2D. Given the high rate of T2D among Māori and Pacific adolescents and the lack of interventions developed for this group [8], this is an urgent gap to address in the literature. Future research in New Zealand should aim to use Kaupapa Māori research approaches (Māori research paradigm) that are led or coled by Māori researchers, which have shown to be highly effective for building relationships, engaging and retaining participants, and prioritizing Māori worldviews [26,27]. Other strategies to

XSL•FO RenderX

increase participant recruitment include using more culturally appropriate recruitment strategies, for example, recruiting through schools with a high percentage of Māori and Pacific students or via Māori and Pacific community groups. Cultural and language support for focus groups and greater use of face-to-face interviews may also yield more useful results. Lastly, future research should also offer adolescents with diabetes the opportunity to have individual interviews, as they may prefer to discuss potentially sensitive topics privately, without their peers present.

Based on the findings from this qualitative study, we have recently adapted *Whitu* to be a diabetes-specific well-being app called *LIFT: Thriving with Diabetes*. We are currently conducting a feasibility study of *LIFT* among youth with T1D and their parents. The adapted version contains the original 7 modules; however, they have all been tailored to be specific to diabetes. We have also added additional content to allow parents to better support adolescents and to improve parental well-being. Importantly, we are also planning a subsequent qualitative study to explore whether the newly adapted *LIFT* well-being app is engaging and useful for youth with T2D. This would allow us to explore whether *LIFT* needs to be further tailored for T2D.

#### Conclusion

With diabetes-specific modifications, *LIFT* (the newly adapted version of *Whitu*) may be an acceptable digital intervention for improving the well-being of adolescents with T1D. Continued collaborative development of the app with adolescents with T2D, parents, and clinicians will be important to ensure its utility, uptake, and use in clinical care.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the study participants for their valuable feedback. This qualitative study was a master's project and was not externally funded. The original Whitu well-being app was funded by the Auckland Medical Research Foundation (grant 1720008), New Zealand. The feasibility study of the newly adapted LIFT well-being app is being funded by the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation (grant 3-SRA-2023-1279-M-B). CJ is the recipient of a New Zealand Health Research Council (HRC) clinical practitioner research fellowship (20/026). The intellectual property of the app is owned by the University of Auckland and is not for profit. We thank the adolescents, their families, and the health care professionals who participated in the study. We also thank Anna Boggiss and Kalolaine Finaulahi for helping to facilitate the focus groups.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

The study was conceptualized by AS and HT. Participant recruitment was undertaken by KG with assistance from PH and CJ. Data collection was undertaken by KG. Data analysis was undertaken by KG, AS, and HT. The paper was written by KG; edited by DL, AS, and HT; and reviewed by all authors.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

AS and HT are codevelopers of the Whitu app.

#### Checklist 1

COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist. [PDF File, 120 KB - pediatrics v6i1e52364 app1.pdf]

#### References

- Buchberger B, Huppertz H, Krabbe L, Lux B, Mattivi JT, Siafarikas A. Symptoms of depression and anxiety in youth with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2016 Aug;70:70-84. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.04.019</u>] [Medline: <u>27179232</u>]
- 2. Walders-Abramson N. Depression and quality of life in youth-onset type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Diab Rep 2014 Jan;14(1):449. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-013-0449-x] [Medline: 24277675]
- 3. Hagger V, Hendrieckx C, Sturt J, Skinner TC, Speight J. Diabetes distress among adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review. Curr Diab Rep 2016 Jan;16(1):9. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0694-2] [Medline: 26748793]
- 4. Stewart SM, Rao U, Emslie GJ, Klein D, White PC. Depressive symptoms predict hospitalization for adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Pediatrics 2005 May;115(5):1315-1319. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-1717] [Medline: 15867041]
- 5. Cuijpers P, van Straten A, Andersson G. Internet-administered cognitive behavior therapy for health problems: a systematic review. J Behav Med 2008 Apr;31(2):169-177. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-007-9144-1] [Medline: 18165893]
- Ebert DD, Zarski AC, Christensen H, et al. Internet and computer-based cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression in youth: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled outcome trials. PLoS One 2015 Mar 18;10(3):e0119895. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119895] [Medline: 25786025]
- Luo C, Sanger N, Singhal N, et al. A comparison of electronically-delivered and face to face cognitive behavioural therapies in depressive disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. EClinicalMedicine 2020 Jun 27;24:100442. [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100442] [Medline: 32775969]

RenderX

- Garner K, Boggiss A, Jefferies C, Serlachius A. Digital health interventions for improving mental health outcomes and wellbeing for youth with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review. Pediatr Diabetes 2022 Mar;23(2):258-269. [doi: 10.1111/pedi.13304] [Medline: 34913548]
- Serlachius A, Schache K, Boggiss A, et al. Coping skills mobile app to support the emotional well-being of young people during the COVID-19 pandemic: protocol for a mixed methods study. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 Oct 8;9(10):e23716. [doi: 10.2196/23716] [Medline: 32991303]
- 10. Serlachius A, Boggiss A, Lim D, et al. Pilot study of a well-being app to support New Zealand young people during the COVID-19 pandemic. Internet Interv 2021 Dec;26:100464. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.invent.2021.100464</u>] [Medline: <u>34631433</u>]
- 11. Thabrew H, Boggiss AL, Lim D, et al. Well-being app to support young people during the COVID-19 pandemic: randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2022 May 19;12(5):e058144. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-058144] [Medline: 35589362]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Wilson H. Development and validation of the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 10;4(2):e72. [doi: <u>10.2196/mhealth.5849</u>] [Medline: <u>27287964</u>]
- 15. Kern A, Hong V, Song J, Lipson SK, Eisenberg D. Mental health apps in a college setting: openness, usage, and attitudes. Mhealth 2018 Jun 30;4:20. [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.06.01] [Medline: 30050916]
- Babbage C, Jackson GM, Nixon E. Desired features of a digital technology tool for self-management of well-being in a nonclinical sample of young people: qualitative study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Dec 18;5(4):e10067. [doi: <u>10.2196/10067</u>] [Medline: <u>30563820</u>]
- 17. Bhandari U, Chang K, Neben T. Understanding the impact of perceived visual aesthetics on user evaluations: an emotional perspective. Information & Management 2019 Jan;56(1):85-93. [doi: 10.1016/j.im.2018.07.003]
- Boggiss AL, Consedine NS, Schache KR, et al. A brief self compassion intervention for adolescents with type 1 diabetes and disordered eating: a feasibility study. Diabet Med 2020 Nov;37(11):1854-1860. [doi: <u>10.1111/dme.14352</u>] [Medline: <u>32614482</u>]
- 19. Serlachius A, Northam E, Frydenberg E, Cameron F. Adapting a generic coping skills programme for adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a qualitative study. J Health Psychol 2012 Apr;17(3):313-323. [doi: <u>10.1177/1359105311415559</u>] [Medline: <u>21799080</u>]
- Wysocki T, Harris MA, Buckloh LM, et al. Effects of behavioral family systems therapy for diabetes on adolescents' family relationships, treatment adherence, and metabolic control. J Pediatr Psychol 2006 Oct;31(9):928-938. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsj098] [Medline: 16401678]
- 21. Clarke J, Proudfoot J, Vatiliotis V, et al. Attitudes towards mental health, mental health research and digital interventions by young adults with type 1 diabetes: a qualitative analysis. Health Expect 2018 Jun;21(3):668-677. [doi: 10.1111/hex.12662] [Medline: 29319923]
- 22. Szinay D, Perski O, Jones A, Chadborn T, Brown J, Naughton F. Perceptions of factors influencing engagement with health and well-being apps in the United Kingdom: qualitative interview study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Dec 16;9(12):e29098. [doi: 10.2196/29098] [Medline: 34927597]
- 23. Gonder-Frederick LA, Shepard JA, Grabman JH, Ritterband LM. Psychology, technology, and diabetes management. Am Psychol 2016 Oct;71(7):577-589. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0040383</u>] [Medline: <u>27690486</u>]
- 24. Lui CW, Coll JR, Donald M, Dower J, Boyle FM. Health and social correlates of internet use for diabetes information: findings from Australia's Living With Diabetes Study. Aust J Prim Health 2015;21(3):327-333. [doi: 10.1071/PY14021] [Medline: 25007788]
- 25. Nguyen TT, Jayadeva V, Cizza G, et al. Challenging recruitment of youth with type 2 diabetes into clinical trials. J Adolesc Health 2014 Mar;54(3):247-254. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.08.017] [Medline: 24161585]
- Jones B, Ingham TR, Cram F, Dean S, Davies C. An Indigenous approach to explore health-related experiences among Māori parents: the Pukapuka Hauora asthma study. BMC Public Health 2013 Mar 15;13:228. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-228] [Medline: 23497423]
- 27. Walker S, Eketone A, Gibbs A. An exploration of Kaupapa Maori research, its principles, processes and applications. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2006 Nov 21;9(4):331-344. [doi: 10.1080/13645570600916049]

#### Abbreviations

RenderX

COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research mHealth: mobile health T1D: type 1 diabetes T2D: type 2 diabetes Whitu: Whitu: 7 Ways in 7 Days

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e52364

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 31.08.23; peer-reviewed by K Crosby, L Jesus, W Hansen; revised version received 01.11.23; accepted 03.11.23; published 22.12.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Garner K, Thabrew H, Lim D, Hofman P, Jefferies C, Serlachius A Exploring the Usability and Acceptability of a Well-Being App for Adolescents Living With Type 1 Diabetes: Qualitative Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e52364 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e52364</u>

doi:<u>10.2196/52364</u>

© Katie Garner, Hiran Thabrew, David Lim, Paul Hofman, Craig Jefferies, Anna Serlachius. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Evaluation of Study Engagement With an mHealth Intervention (THR1VE) to Treat Diabetes Distress in Teens With Type 1 Diabetes: Randomized Clinical Trial

Lauren LeStourgeon<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Erin Bergner<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Karishma Datye<sup>1</sup>, MD; Randi Streisand<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Sarah Jaser<sup>1</sup>, PhD

1 2 3

**Corresponding Author:** Sarah Jaser, PhD

#### Abstract

**Background:** Positive psychology interventions demonstrate improvements in diabetes self-management and quality of life among adults with chronic health conditions, but few interventions for adolescents use this approach.

**Objective:** This study describes engagement with a positive psychology intervention delivered via automated SMS text messages aimed at treating diabetes distress and improving diabetes outcomes. In addition, demographic and clinical predictors of intervention engagement were examined.

**Methods:** Adolescents with type 1 diabetes (ages 13-17 years) who reported at least moderate diabetes distress were randomized to receive either the education or positive affect + education intervention, comprising 8 weeks of automated SMS text messages. Engagement was assessed as the response to the SMS text messages. Adolescents completed satisfaction surveys 3 months post intervention, and a subset of participants from both intervention groups completed exit interviews.

**Results:** Adolescents in both groups reported high levels of satisfaction with the study, with 95% (163/172) reporting that they would participate again. Engagement with the SMS text messages was high; on average, adolescents in the positive affect + education group responded to 92.5% of intervention messages, and their caregivers responded to 88.5% of messages. There were no significant differences in rates of engagement related to adolescents' sex, age, device use, or race/ethnicity.

**Conclusions:** A positive psychology intervention for adolescents delivered via automated SMS text messages was feasible and acceptable across genders, ages, and racial/ethnic groups, suggesting potential for wider dissemination.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03845465; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03845465

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47089) doi:10.2196/47089

#### **KEYWORDS**

type 1 diabetes mellitus; positive psychology; adolescents; parental positive messaging; mHealth; engagement; diabetes; distress; teens; chronic health conditions; sex; age; device; race; ethnicity; text; mobile health

#### Introduction

Many adolescents with type 1 diabetes (T1D) experience high rates of diabetes distress, or the emotional burden of living with diabetes [1], and struggle with diabetes management; in a national sample, only 17% of youth ages 13-17 years were meeting glycemic targets [2]. Interventions targeting family processes and adolescents' coping skills have demonstrated modest effects [3-5]. Recently, behavioral interventions have focused on promoting resilience in youth with T1D [6], reinforcing adolescents' diabetes-related strengths [7], and promoting positive parent-child communication around diabetes management behaviors [6,8] to improve psychosocial and glycemic outcomes. A positive psychology approach, focused

RenderX

on inducing positive affect, is an innovative way to improve outcomes among this high-risk population.

While positive psychology interventions have successfully improved adherence and self-efficacy among adults with chronic health conditions [9], few studies have evaluated this approach in adolescents, and the studies with adults used phone calls to deliver the intervention. The THR1VE intervention used evidence-based components [10] to induce positive affect among adolescents, including self-affirmation, gratitude, and positive parent messages, based on the broaden-and-build hypothesis that increasing positive affect improves people's capacity to cope with stress in adaptive ways [11]. Given established associations between coping and psychosocial outcomes [12], the THR1VE intervention is based on the premise that increasing positive affect will reduce adolescents' diabetes distress and

improve glycemic outcomes. In addition, THR1VE included a caregiver component (providing positive messages) because adolescents' perceptions that parents blame them for glucose levels and worry too much about complications contribute to their diabetes distress [13]. Because this positive psychology approach is relatively novel for adolescents, it is important to evaluate engagement and satisfaction in this age group, and to determine whether SMS text messaging is a feasible method of inducing positive affect.

This study builds on pilot work demonstrating the feasibility and acceptability of a brief positive psychology intervention for adolescents with T1D [14] by expanding the study to two sites and delivering the intervention remotely via Zoom sessions and automated SMS text messages. The intervention is aimed at reducing diabetes distress and improving glycemic outcomes among adolescents with T1D. In the current analyses, we describe the feasibility of intervention delivery, participant satisfaction and experience with the study, and the rates of engagement with the SMS text messaging intervention (response rate to automated SMS text messages), and examine demographic (age, gender, and site) and clinical predictors (baseline hemoglobin A1c and use of diabetes devices) of engagement. In addition, we explore adolescents' and caregivers' experiences participating in the study and their feedback about the intervention. These findings have implications for adapting similar interventions for other pediatric populations.

#### Methods

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study was approved by the Vanderbilt Institutional Review Board (IRB# 191245).

#### Procedures

This study was a randomized clinical trial (NCT03845465), and details of the protocol are described elsewhere [15,16]. Adolescents were eligible if they were aged 13-17 years, diagnosed with T1D for at least 12 months, had a cellular phone, and reported at least moderate diabetes distress, with a score of  $\geq$ 34 on the Problem Areas in Diabetes–Teen Version (PAID-T). A score of  $\geq$ 34 was chosen to screen for adolescents with an indication of moderate diabetes distress while allowing for a higher positive rate to meet recruitment and enrollment goals. Data collection occurred at baseline, 3 months, 6 months, and 12 months corresponding with diabetes clinic visits. After completing baseline measures, adolescents were randomized to receive either the education or positive affect + education (PA + EDU) intervention. Adolescents in the PA + EDU group received SMS text messages 5 days per week for 8 weeks after enrollment. These messages included self-affirmation messages, gratitude messages, and "mood booster" messages, and every 14 days they received a small gift (US \$5 Amazon e-gift card code). Mood booster messages were selected based on ratings by 40 adolescents with T1D of inspirational quotes and jokes, and we created separate pools of mood booster messages for younger (ages 13-14 years) or older (ages 15-17 years) adolescents. Caregivers of adolescents in the PA + EDU group

received messages once per week, reminding them to praise their child and asking them to reply yes or no if they gave their child a positive message that week. The SMS text messages were tailored to be sent at each adolescent's and caregiver's preferred time, and the start of each exchange asked the participant to "reply to this message with any text." Each week, a research assistant reviewed participants' responses to messages sent the previous week to identify and address system or user problems. If a participant did not respond to any messages within their first week of the intervention, a research assistant reached out to the participant to confirm they had received messages the past week and troubleshoot as needed (eg, participant thought the message was spam or the incorrect phone number was entered into REDCap).

As a measure of intervention acceptability, we examined engagement with the SMS text messaging intervention. We defined engagement as any response to the first message in the exchange. We also explored differences in engagement related to participant demographics.

#### **Measures and Data Collection**

As part of the survey administered at the 3-month data collection time point, adolescents completed a brief evaluation survey asking how helpful they found the program (1=not helpful, 2=a little helpful, 3=somewhat helpful, 4=pretty helpful, 5=very helpful). They were also asked if they would recommend THR1VE to their friends, if they would participate again, and if the time spent on the study was worth their time. We considered the intervention acceptable if at least 50% of adolescents provided positive ratings of their perceptions of the intervention. A positive rating was indicated by answering that they found the program at least "somewhat helpful" and responding "yes" to questions about if they would recommend the program, if it was worth their time, and if they would participate again. Finally, they were asked which educational topics were most and least helpful to them.

In addition, we conducted brief qualitative interviews via Zoom (Zoom Video Communications) using purposive sampling (with respect to age, gender, race and ethnicity, site, and diabetes device use). Interviews were optional, and participants who completed them received an additional US \$10 gift card. Interviews were recorded and transcribed. Qualitative data were analyzed using a content analysis method [17]. Two trained research staff individually structurally coded transcripts using NVivo software (version 12; QSR International), assigning codes to each caregiver/adolescent statement to capture its meaning. The research staff double-coded 17% of transcripts to review any discrepancies between assigned codes. Once consensus was achieved, the interrater reliability was established using NVivo.

#### Results

#### Participants

Participants in the study included 198 adolescents (n=115, 58.1% female; mean age 15.3, SD 1.4 years; n=114, 58% non-Hispanic White) with T1D (mean T1D duration 76.4, SD 44.5 months; mean hemoglobin  $A_{1c}$  9.1%, SD 2.1%) and their

XSL•FO

caregivers (n=169, 85.4% female). A subsample of 66 adolescents and 63 caregivers completed a brief qualitative

interview assessing study experience and perceptions (Table 1).

Table . Descriptive statistics of study participants and a subsample of participants who completed a brief qualitative interview.

Site, n (%)       VUMC <sup>b</sup> 108 (54.5)       29 (43.9)         CNMC <sup>c</sup> 90 (45.5)       37 (56.1)         Intervention group, n (%)       Education       99 (50.0)       37 (56.1)         Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)       Fositive affect + education       98 (49.5)       29 (43.9)         Adolescent gender, n (%)       15.3 (1.4)       15.3 (1.3)         Adolescent gender, n (%)       Wale       83 (41.9)       30 (45.5)         Female       115 (58.1)       36 (54.5)
VUMCb         108 (54.5)         29 (43.9)           CNMCc         90 (45.5)         37 (56.1)           Intervention group, n (%)         500         37 (56.1)           Education         99 (50.0)         37 (56.1)           Positive affect + education         98 (49.5)         29 (43.9)           Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)         15.3 (1.4)         29 (43.9)           Adolescent gender, n (%)         15.3 (1.4)         15.3 (1.3)           Adolescent gender, n (%)         50 (45.5)         30 (45.5)           Adolescent race, n (%)         50.1         30 (45.5)
CNMC <sup>c</sup> 90 (45.5)         37 (56.1)           Intervention group, n (%)         Education         99 (50.0)         37 (56.1)           Education         99 (50.0)         37 (56.1)         99 (43.9)           Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)         For affect + education         98 (49.5)         29 (43.9)           Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)         Is 3 (1.4)         15.3 (1.3)           Adolescent gender, n (%)         Female         115 (58.1)         30 (45.5)           Adolescent race, n (%)         Female         Female         Female
Intervention group, n (%)       Education       99 (50.0)       37 (56.1)         Positive affect + education       98 (49.5)       29 (43.9)         Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)       15.3 (1.4)       15.3 (1.3)         Adolescent gender, n (%)       Male       83 (41.9)       30 (45.5)         Female       115 (58.1)       36 (54.5)
Education       99 (50.0)       37 (56.1)         Positive affect + education       98 (49.5)       29 (43.9)         Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)       15.3 (1.4)       15.3 (1.3)         Adolescent gender, n (%)       Wale       83 (41.9)       30 (45.5)         Female       115 (58.1)       36 (54.5)
Positive affect + education       98 (49.5)       29 (43.9)         Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)       15.3 (1.4)       15.3 (1.3)         Adolescent gender, n (%)       Male       83 (41.9)       30 (45.5)         Female       115 (58.1)       36 (54.5)         Adolescent race, n (%)       Mate and a second s
Adolescent age (years), mean (SD)       15.3 (1.4)       15.3 (1.3)         Adolescent gender, n (%)       Male       83 (41.9)       30 (45.5)         Female       115 (58.1)       36 (54.5)         Adolescent race, n (%)       Mate and a field of the second se
Adolescent gender, n (%)       Male       83 (41.9)       30 (45.5)         Female       115 (58.1)       36 (54.5)         Adolescent race, n (%)       State of the formation
Male       83 (41.9)       30 (45.5)         Female       115 (58.1)       36 (54.5)         Adolescent race, n (%)       V       V
Female     115 (58.1)     36 (54.5)       Adolescent race, n (%)
Adolescent race, n (%)
African American/Black         47 (23.7)         13 (19.7)
American Indian or Alaska Native2 (1.0)1 (1.5)
Asian 8 (4.0) 4 (6.1)
Biracial 16 (8.1) 8 (12.1)
White         123 (62.1)         40 (60.6)
Other $2(1.0)$ $0(0.0)$
Adolescent ethnicity, n (%)
Non-Hispanic or Latinx 189 (95.5) 65 (98.5)
Hispanic or Latinx $9(4.5)$ $1(1.5)$
Treatment type, n (%)
Insulin pump 116 (58.6) 38 (57.6)
Injections 82 (41.4) 28 (42.4)
Uses a CGM <sup>d</sup> , n (%) $161 (81.3) 54 (81.8)$
Diabetes duration (months), mean (SD)         76.1 (44.4)         74.6 (44.2)
Baseline hemoglobin $A_{1c}$ (%), mean (SD) 9.1 (2.1) 8.9 (1.8)
Caregiver gender, n (%)
Male 28 (14.1) 8 (12.7)
Female 169 (85.4) 55 (87.3)
Caregiver education, n (%)
High school or less         29 (14.6)         5 (7.9)
Some college 48 (24.2) 15 (23.8)
College graduate 120 (60.6) 43 (68.3)
Annual household income (US \$), n (%) $50,000$ $51,05,0$ $10,(10,5)$
<50,000 51 (25.8) 13 (19.7)
50,000-89,999     47 (25.7)     9 (15.6)       00.000-140.000     42 (21.2)     21 (21.8)
90,000-149,999     42 (21.2)     21 (31.8)       > 150,000     55 (28.2)     22 (22.2)
>130,000 30 (26.3) 22 (33.3) Caragivar marital status n (%)
Caregiver marial status, II (70) Married/partnered 150 (75.8) 48 (76.2)
$\frac{150(75.6)}{150(75.6)} \qquad 40(70.2)$

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47089

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e47089 | p.342 (page number not for citation purposes)

<sup>a</sup>The interview was completed by 63 caregiver-adolescent dyads and 3 adolescents (without their caregivers). One adolescent's audio recording failed, and the data were unusable.

<sup>b</sup>VUMC: Vanderbilt University Medical Center.

<sup>c</sup>CNMC: Children's National Medical Center.

<sup>d</sup>CGM: continuous glucose monitor.

#### Feasibility

#### Intervention Delivery

Over the active study period (33 months), during which participants received their 8 weeks of study SMS text messages, we identified some instances where messages were not sent or received as expected. For example, if participants did not add the study phone number to their contacts list, some phone carriers blocked the messages as spam. Additionally, there were occasional system-wide glitches that interfered with sent SMS text messages. Overall, approximately 145 messages (n=35 adolescents and n=36 parents) were affected by system errors (out of >4400 scheduled text messages), representing only 3% of messages sent over the duration of the study.

#### **Participant Perceptions**

In general, both adolescents and their caregivers described favorable experiences participating in the study. Caregivers frequently noted that participating in the study was easy and was not burdensome:

It was easy. It actually wasn't time-consuming. I think the biggest thing was that it didn't put a lot of pressure on me to have to take out a lot of time [mother of teen girl]

Caregivers found that the study survey questions were thought-provoking and allowed them to reflect on their experiences:

The questions I could definitely relate to. It's good for, kind of like, introspection...it kind of makes you think about your situation a lot more and how you can change it or do better you know, how I can do better in helping my daughter be more independent managing her diabetes and maybe get less irritable with her, angry with her about it [mother of teen girl]

Similarly, adolescents also reported that their study experience was easy and nonintrusive:

I liked that it wasn't like too probey. It didn't feel like I was just like a test subject, like the surveys weren't really long or super deep, they weren't bothersome or troublesome [17-year-old girl]

In addition, teens also appreciated the gift card compensation. Although less common, some caregivers and teens noted that surveys were sometimes long and time-consuming, and a few participants reported that questions were repetitive or unclear.

Barriers to participation were not commonly reported by either caregivers or teens. However, several caregivers acknowledged forgetting to respond to the SMS text messages at times and minor issues with their mobile phones or receiving SMS text messages. Several teens and caregivers also noted that life circumstances occasionally interfered with participation, such as work and school schedules. For example, when asked if anything made it difficult or got in the way of their participation in the study, a mother of a teen girl explained:

Just life in general. Just being busy. I would get some of the messages and stuff and I would be in the midst of working or cooking dinner or whatever I was doing...I'm like I didn't get back to that, I forgot about it.

#### Acceptability

#### **Study Interest**

Both parents and adolescents were generally interested in the study. When asked about their initial interest, one mother said:

I felt that anything that I could do to help [my child], I'm on board for. And if it's going to help another teenager as well, so really for my child and other children.

A 15-year-old girl stated, "I was interested because I think people need to know more about the emotional effects that type 1 diabetes has on kids." The most common reasons for study interest reported by teens and caregivers included wanting to learn about diabetes and its management, gift card compensation, and wanting to help other people with diabetes.

#### **Engagement With Text Messages**

The response rate to SMS text messages was high and remained fairly consistent across the 8-week intervention (Figure 1). Adolescents in the PA + EDU group responded to an average of 92.5% (SD 26.3%) of messages, and caregivers of adolescents responded to an average of 88.5% (SD 32%) of messages. We observed a small but significant decrease in the response rate over 8 weeks, with a high of 96.1% in week 1 and a low of 88.6% in week 8 among the adolescents ( $F_{1,95}$ =4.27; P<.001); however, there was not a significant change in parents' response over the 8 weeks ( $F_{1,86}$ =0.99; P=.44).



Figure 1. Average adolescent and parent response rate to automated texts by week.



When we examined the predictors of response rate, we found that the study site was the only significant factor; adolescents from the Vanderbilt University Medical Center site had significantly higher response rates at week 8 as compared to those from the Children's National Medical Center site (no difference in the overall rate of response). Adolescent age, gender, and race/ethnicity were not significantly associated with response rate.

In qualitative interviews, teens in the EDU + PA group reported using the gratitude exercises or noticing things that made them happy, including thinking about family and friends, recent vacations, and activities they enjoy such as art and basketball. Teens reported the exercises were helpful and improved their mood. A 15-year-old girl said:

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47089

RenderX

I ride the bus home...I'd be in a grumpy mood and then I'd get a text and it would be asking about [what makes me happy] and so I'd say stuff about my dog. It just makes me happy to think about him sometimes.

Similarly, a 17-year-old girl said:

It was just a good perspective exercise where it just made me think about things more in a good way, not like in a sad way. I like that.

The majority of teens reported continued use of positive affect exercises at the time of the interview. Caregivers also liked how the study SMS text messages engaged their children and that the study provided an outside source of encouragement and support for them. A mother of a teen girl said:

What I liked was her getting text reminders with the positive feedback and kind of reminders and information...[My child] can also feel isolated, and this was like someone looking out for her besides just her family.

Caregivers and teens in the PA + EDU group also reported positive experiences with using and receiving parental affirmations. Parents valued the teaching exercise and text reminders to give affirmations. A mother of a teen girl stated, "[The teaching exercise] made me really think about what I needed to—what to actually praise her for." She went on to say how the exercise helped "separating diabetes from her and seeing her just as with diabetes...it's been nice." Another parent, a mother of a teen girl, appreciated the weekly reminders:

I think it was just the right amount. You expected it every week, you know...it's a good way to reflect on the week and actually wonder, "did I do something good?"

Participants reported that parental affirmations were often oriented around academic achievements or family responsibilities.

We had end-of- testing scores. I did really well on it so my mom was really proud of it [14-year-old boy]

Although parents received instructions to use affirmations unrelated to diabetes, several teens reported that their parents used diabetes-related affirmations with them, such as praise for checking their blood glucose levels.

Caregivers noted that they provided affirmations to teens face-to-face and through SMS text messages. More than half of caregivers in the EDU + PA group reported that they gave affirmations more frequently than once per week. Most parents described continued use of this strategy even after the weekly study reminders ended.

#### **Study Satisfaction**

Adolescents were generally satisfied with the THR1VE program based on survey data completed by 86.9% (172/198) of adolescents, with 83.1% (n=143) reporting that the program was helpful in some way (somewhat helpful: n=65, 37.8%; pretty helpful: n=60, 34.9%; very helpful: n=17, 9.9%; average 3.34, SD 0.98), exceeding our benchmark of 50%. When asked if they would recommend the program to their friends, 87.2% (n=150) said yes, 94.8% (n=163) said that they would participate in it again, and 94.2% (n=162) said it was worth their time.

#### Discussion

Feedback from participants indicated that a positive psychology intervention to induce positive affect delivered via tailored SMS text messages is feasible and acceptable for an adolescent population. The high rates of response to automated SMS text messages and lack of significant demographic predictors of engagement support that this approach was highly acceptable to adolescents with T1D. The response rate over the intervention period (8 weeks) demonstrates continued engagement, and adolescents and their parents reported continued use of positive affect exercises after the intervention ended.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47089
```

Evaluating engagement in SMS text messaging interventions is necessary to understand whether this method is a viable option for health behavior change in adolescents. Given the relatively low rates of engagement with app-based interventions to improve diabetes management in youth, other approaches may be needed. For example, a randomized trial evaluating a diabetes management app for adolescents found that only 9% of participants had high engagement (using the app 3-7 days/week) [18], and a study evaluating a parent-developed app for diabetes management excluded 24% of participants from the analysis due to insufficient app use [19]. More recently, an app designed to facilitate positive parent-adolescent communication around diabetes management [8,20] found somewhat higher use; in a randomized pilot, the average app use was 58 out of 84 days for adolescents, but only 23 days for parents [8]. It is also unknown whether these apps would be acceptable for youth from minoritized racial and ethnic groups, as they were tested in predominantly non-Hispanic White youth or did not report on race or ethnicity. SMS text messaging may be a better way to reach adolescent populations, since even adolescents living in rural areas that have spotty Wi-Fi are likely to have access to cell phones [21], and teens report that SMS text messaging is their main source of communication across racial and ethnic groups [22].

The ideal "dose" of SMS text messaging is unclear, but adolescents in our study maintained high levels of response to messages 5 days per week. In interviews, the majority of teens in the EDU + PA group said that the amount of SMS text messaging was "just right," a few teens said it was too many texts, and a few teens said it was too few texts. Most of the parents interviewed who received a weekly reminder, said it was a good amount, but several said they would like more frequent SMS text message reminders, such as a midweek text. By asking teens to report on their own sources of gratitude and personal attributes, we were able to personalize the messages without a lot of extra programming.

The inclusion of feedback from adolescents with T1D prior to starting the trial likely enhanced engagement; the problem we were addressing was meaningful for this population (diabetes distress), the mood booster SMS text messages (selected based on adolescents' ratings) were appealing, and adolescents liked the amount/type of compensation (gift cards). Parents appreciated the reminders to give positive reinforcement/praise messages and that the intervention went beyond the tasks of diabetes management and addressed adolescents' mood. Input from adolescents with T1D was essential in translating the positive psychology protocol developed for adults [9] to a younger population.

This study was limited by the involvement of adolescents with T1D who reported diabetes distress, so it may not be generalizable to other adolescent populations. While we had a relatively representative sample, it is possible that adolescents from different cultures may respond differently to positive psychology approaches, and future studies are needed to determine the amount of cultural tailoring needed to achieve high levels of engagement. Finally, it is challenging to evaluate acceptability versus user engagement for digital health

```
XSL•FO
```

interventions [23], and future work is needed to establish recognized benchmarks for acceptability.

Findings from this study support that a positive psychology intervention to induce positive affect delivered via automated SMS text messages is highly feasible and acceptable for adolescents and their caregivers. While the integration of feedback from the patient population is critical for a successful protocol, this approach may be translated to improve health outcomes in other pediatric populations.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (R01DK121316). The manuscript has been seen and reviewed by all authors, and all authors have contributed to it in a meaningful way.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Checklist 1 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File, 1084 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e47089\_app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Hagger V, Hendrieckx C, Sturt J, Skinner TC, Speight J. Diabetes distress among adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review. Curr Diab Rep 2016 Jan;16(1):9. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0694-2] [Medline: 26748793]
- Miller KM, Foster NC, Beck RW, Bergenstal RM, DuBose SN, DiMeglio LA, et al. Current state of type 1 diabetes treatment in the U.S.: updated data from the T1D exchange clinic registry. Diabetes Care 2015 Jun;38(6):971-978. [doi: 10.2337/dc15-0078] [Medline: 25998289]
- Grey M, Whittemore R, Jeon S, Murphy K, Faulkner MS, Delamater A, et al. Internet psycho-education programs improve outcomes in youth with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2013 Sep;36(9):2475-2482. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc12-2199</u>] [Medline: <u>23579179</u>]
- Wysocki T, Harris MA, Buckloh LM, Mertlich D, Lochrie AS, Mauras N, et al. Randomized trial of behavioral family systems therapy for diabetes: maintenance of effects on diabetes outcomes in adolescents. Diabetes Care 2007 Mar;30(3):555-560. [doi: 10.2337/dc06-1613] [Medline: 17327320]
- Holmes CS, Chen R, Mackey E, Grey M, Streisand R. Randomized clinical trial of clinic-integrated, low-intensity treatment to prevent deterioration of disease care in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2014 Jun;37(6):1535-1543. [doi: 10.2337/dc13-1053] [Medline: 24623027]
- Hilliard ME, Cao VT, Eshtehardi SS, Minard CG, Saber R, Thompson D, et al. Type 1 doing well: pilot feasibility and acceptability study of a strengths-based mHealth app for parents of adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther 2020 Nov;22(11):835-845. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2020.0048] [Medline: 32379496]
- Hilliard ME, Eshtehardi SS, Minard CG, Wheat S, Gunn S, Sanders C, et al. Featured article: strengths-based, clinic-integrated nonrandomized pilot intervention to promote type 1 diabetes adherence and well-being. J Pediatr Psychol 2019 Jan 1;44(1):5-15. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsy051</u>] [Medline: <u>29982765</u>]
- Holtz BE, Mitchell KM, Holmstrom AJ, Hershey DS, Cotten SR, Dunneback JK, et al. The effect of an mHealth intervention for adolescents with type 1 diabetes and their parents. J Telemed Telecare 2022 Sep 29:1357633X221125835. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X221125835] [Medline: 36177538]
- Charlson ME, Boutin-Foster C, Mancuso CA, Peterson JC, Ogedegbe G, Briggs WM, et al. Randomized controlled trials of positive affect and self-affirmation to facilitate healthy behaviors in patients with cardiopulmonary diseases: rationale, trial design, and methods. Contemp Clin Trials 2007 Nov;28(6):748-762. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cct.2007.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>17459784</u>]
- Seligman MEP, Steen TA, Park N, Peterson C. Positive psychology progress: empirical validation of interventions. Am Psychol 2005;60(5):410-421. [doi: <u>10.1037/0003-066X.60.5.410</u>] [Medline: <u>16045394</u>]
- Fredrickson BL, Joiner T. Positive emotions trigger upward spirals toward emotional well-being. Psychol Sci 2002 Mar;13(2):172-175. [doi: <u>10.1111/1467-9280.00431</u>] [Medline: <u>11934003</u>]
- 12. Jaser SS, Patel N, Xu M, Tamborlane WV, Grey M. Stress and coping predicts adjustment and glycemic control in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Ann Behav Med 2017 Feb;51(1):30-38. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9825-5] [Medline: 27496164]
- Shapiro JB, Vesco AT, Weil LEG, Evans MA, Hood KK, Weissberg-Benchell J. Psychometric properties of the problem areas in diabetes: teen and parent of teen versions. J Pediatr Psychol 2018 Jun 1;43(5):561-571. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsx146</u>] [Medline: <u>29267939</u>]
- Jaser SS, Whittemore R, Patel N, Choi L, Russell WE. Check it! positive psychology intervention improves quality of life and adherence. Pediatr Diabetes 2016 Oct 25;17(S24):86. [doi: <u>10.1111/pedi.12451</u>] [Medline: <u>25545117</u>]

- 15. Jaser SS, Datye K, Morrow T, Sinisterra M, LeStourgeon L, Abadula F, et al. THR1VE! positive psychology intervention to treat diabetes distress in teens with type 1 diabetes: rationale and trial design. Contemp Clin Trials 2020 Sep;96:106086. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2020.106086] [Medline: 32682996]
- 16. Inverso H, Abadula F, Morrow T, LeStourgeon L, Parmar A, Streisand R, et al. Pivoting during a pandemic: lessons learned from transitioning a multisite randomized controlled trial to a remote protocol in response to COVID-19. Transl Behav Med 2021 Dec 14;11(12):2187-2193. [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibab103] [Medline: 34427687]
- 17. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]
- Goyal S, Nunn CA, Rotondi M, Couperthwaite AB, Reiser S, Simone A, et al. A mobile app for the self-management of type 1 diabetes among adolescents: a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Jun 19;5(6):e82. [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7336] [Medline: 28630037]
- 19. Klee P, Bussien C, Castellsague M, Combescure C, Dirlewanger M, Girardin C, et al. An intervention by a patient-designed do-it-yourself mobile device app reduces Hba1C in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a randomized double-crossover study. Diabetes Technol Ther 2018 Dec;20(12):797-805. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2018.0255] [Medline: 30403495]
- 20. Holtz B, Mitchell KM, Holmstrom AJ, Cotten SR, Dunneback JK, Jimenez-Vega J, et al. An mHealth-based intervention for adolescents with type 1 diabetes and their parents: pilot feasibility and efficacy single-arm study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Sep 14;9(9):e23916. [doi: 10.2196/23916] [Medline: 34519670]
- 21. Mobile fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2021 Apr 7. URL: <u>www.pewinternet.org/data-trend/mobile/</u> <u>cell-phone-and-smartphone-ownership-demographics/</u> [accessed 2023-03-2]
- 22. Teens and mobile phones. Pew Research Center. 2010 Apr 20. URL: <u>www.pewresearch.org/internet/2010/04/20/</u> teens-and-mobile-phones/ [accessed 2023-03-2]
- 23. Perski O, Short CE. Acceptability of digital health interventions: embracing the complexity. Transl Behav Med 2021 Jul 29;11(7):1473-1480. [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibab048] [Medline: 33963864]

#### Abbreviations

**PA + EDU:** positive affect + education **PAID-T:** Problem Areas in Diabetes–Teen Version **T1D:** type 1 diabetes

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 07.03.23; peer-reviewed by A Monzon, K Mitchell; revised version received 06.06.23; accepted 13.07.23; published 05.10.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> LeStourgeon L, Bergner E, Datye K, Streisand R, Jaser S Evaluation of Study Engagement With an mHealth Intervention (THR1VE) to Treat Diabetes Distress in Teens With Type 1 Diabetes: Randomized Clinical Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47089 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47089</u> doi:<u>10.2196/47089</u>

© Lauren LeStourgeon, Erin Bergner, Karishma Datye, Randi Streisand, Sarah Jaser. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 5.10.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Quality of Web-Based Sickle Cell Disease Resources for Health Care Transition: Website Content Analysis

Thomas Annesi<sup>1</sup>, BS; Caren Steinway<sup>1,2</sup>, LMSW, MPH; Toyosi Oluwole<sup>2</sup>, BA; Steffi Shilly<sup>3</sup>, MS; Dava Szalda<sup>4</sup>, MSHP, MD; Regina Myers<sup>4</sup>, MD; Jack Chen<sup>2</sup>, MBS; Sophia Jan<sup>1,2</sup>, MSHP, MD

1 2

3

4

**Corresponding Author:** Caren Steinway, LMSW, MPH

#### Abstract

**Background:** Adolescents and young adults with sickle cell disease (SCD) transitioning from pediatric to adult health care face a high-risk period associated with increased use of acute health care services and mortality. Although 59% of American citizens report using the internet for health care information, the quality of web-based, patient-facing resources regarding transition in SCD care has not been evaluated.

**Objective:** This study aimed to evaluate the quality and readability of web-based health information on SCD, especially as it pertains to the transition to adulthood for inidividuals with SCD. The study also compared the readability and content scores of websites identified in 2018 to those from 2021 to assess any change in quality over time.

**Methods:** Keywords representing phrases adolescents may use while searching for information on the internet regarding transition in SCD care, including "hydroxyurea" and "SCD transition," were identified. A web-based search using the keywords was conducted in July 2021 using Google, Yahoo, and Bing. The top 20 links from each search were collected. Duplicate websites, academic journals, and websites not related to SCD health care transition were excluded. Websites were categorized based on the source: health department, hospital or private clinician, professional society, and other websites. Websites were assessed using Health On the Net Foundation code of conduct (HONcode), Flesch Reading Ease (FRE), Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level (FGL), Ensuring Quality Information for Patients (EQIP), and a novel SCD content checklist (SCDCC). EQIP and SCDCC scores range from 0- to 100. Each website was reviewed by 2 research assistants and assessed for interrater reliability. Descriptive statistics were calculated.

**Results:** Of the 900 websites collected, 67 (7.4%) met the inclusion criteria: 13 health department, 7 hospital or private clinician, 33 professional society, and 14 other websites. A total of 15 (22%) out of 67 websites had HONcode certification. Websites with HONcode certification had higher FRE and EQIP scores and lower FGL scores than those without HONcode certification, reflecting greater readability. Websites without HONcode certification had higher SCDCC scores, reflecting greater clinical content. Only 7 (10%) websites met the National Institutes of Health recommendation of a seventh-grade or lower reading level. Based on EQIP scores, 6 (9%) websites were of high quality. The mean SCDCC score was 20.60 (SD 22.14) out of 100. The interrater reliability for EQIP and SCDCC ratings was good (intraclass correlation: 0.718 and 0.897, respectively). No source of website scored significantly higher mean EQIP, FRE, FGL, or SCDCC scores than the others (all *P*<.05).

**Conclusions:** Although seeking health care information on the web is very common, the overall quality of information about transition in SCD care on the internet is poor. Changes to current web-based health care information regarding SCD care transitions would benefit transitioning youth by providing expectations, knowledge, skills, and tools to increase self-efficacy.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48924) doi:10.2196/48924

#### KEYWORDS

RenderX

sickle cell; health care transition; readability; Flesch Reading Ease; health care information; adulthood; sickle cell disease; online resource; quality; adolescent; transition; health care service; website quality; online information; Ensuring Quality Information for Patients; EQIP; FRE

#### Introduction

Sickle cell disease (SCD) is a life-threatening and chronic condition characterized by vaso-occlusion, anemia, and hemolysis [1]. The transition from pediatric to adult health care for young adults with SCD is an especially high-risk period [2-4]. One study found a 2-fold increase in the risk of mortality for patients with SCD aged 19-21 years compared to teenagers aged 16-18 years and a nearly 3-fold higher risk of mortality for young adults aged 22-24 years [3]. Another study that reviewed surveys taken by patients with SCD in pediatric clinics found that a barrier to health care for patients in this population was access to a knowledgeable provider [5]. The first 2 years following transition to adult care in the population with SCD are associated with increased health care use and death [4], theorized to be partly due to poor patient knowledge and skills [6]. Thus, providing youth with SCD with adequate skills and knowledge to manage their own health care is important.

Acquiring the knowledge and skills needed for successfully transitioning from pediatric to adult care has historically fallen to patients and families. Today, 72% of internet users have accessed the internet at least once for health information on the web. Additionally, 92% of American youth access the internet daily [7,8]. As of 2017, an estimated 80% of adolescents and young adults (age 16-24 y) have access to the internet via a computer or smartphone [9]. Additionally, a person living with a chronic disease is more likely to access the internet for health information than the general population of e-patients [10]—patients who use the internet for information related to their condition [11]. Accessibility to web-based health information is important, as perceived website information quality is associated with increased trust for users to choose web-based resources as their main source of health information [12].

Despite patients' perception that websites are useful for providing health information, the quality of web-based health information that young adults and adolescents with SCD have access to learn about their chronic condition and transition is unknown. There is a vast amount of freely available health information on the internet regarding chronic conditions such as SCD and general transition from pediatric to adult health care, and there are an increasing number of youth accessing it. However, there has not been a content analysis of web-based health information regarding transition to adulthood for patients with SCD. We defined adolescents and young adults as those aged 16-24 years per prior studies investigating the transition period [6,13]. The aims of this study were (1) to evaluate the readability, quality, and content of patient-facing information on the transition to adulthood for patients with SCD available on the internet; (2) to investigate the impact of website source and internet quality certifications on readability, quality measures, and content; and (3) to assess whether readability, quality, and content have improved over the course of 3 years. We hypothesized that the readability, quality, and content of patient-facing information on the transition to adulthood for patients with SCD available on the internet is above the recommended reading level of health information and is of poor

quality. Additionally, we did not expect a change in the readability or quality of SCD websites between 2018 and 2021.

#### Methods

#### Website Search and Inclusion

To collect website data, search terms were established by a team of patients with SCD, pediatricians, internists, social workers, and research staff. Initial search terms were compiled by a group of physicians with expertise in caring for patients transitioning from pediatric to adult health systems. Search terms were distributed to SCD clinical teams across 2 distinct health systems for review and feedback. Final searched terms were as follows: "sickle cell," "sickle cell disease," "sickle cell anemia," "sickle cell transition," "sickle cell healthcare transition," "transitional care sickle cell," "sickle cell transition readiness," "sickle cell disease medical transition," "sickle cell anemia resources," "hydroxyurea," "hydroxyurea for sickle cell disease," "sickle cell pediatric to adult care transition," "sickle cell disease medical resources," "sickle cell disease symptoms," and "sickle cell disease treatment." The Keywords Everywhere extension (Axeman Tech Pvt Ltd) [14] was used to validate that these search terms have been used by other Google users. Keywords Everywhere is a program that provides data on the number of times a search term has been searched per month over the past 15 years within the United States. The program is only available on Google Chrome and Firefox web browsers. Because 65% or more of internet searches take place on Google [15], we assumed that web searches validated on Google will be valid on another platform. Websites were collected in July 2021 using the 3 most used search engines in the United States: Google, Yahoo, and Bing. These search engines make up over 95% of internet searches in the United States [15].

Web searches were performed in an incognito tab to prevent cookies from previous searches from influencing the results. An ad blocker was used to prevent ads from appearing in searches. The first 20 websites per search term were collected. Previous studies have shown that internet users tend to not view search results after the second page of a search [16]. The first 2 pages on all 3 search engines, without ads, include 20 websites. Websites were excluded from the study if they were repeated URLs from a prior search, if their focus was not SCD, if the website contained only videos or links to other pages, or if the website is not accessible to the general public such as an academic publication. Additionally, websites were categorized based on their source: hospital or private clinician, professional society, health department, and other websites. The "other" category included databases such as Wikipedia and WebMD. Lastly, each website was assessed for readability, quality, and transition in SCD care-related content.

To investigate the change in the scores regarding the quality of SCD-related websites over the course of 3 years, unpublished data (S Shilly et al) collected in 2018 were included in this study for comparison. The search terms and inclusion and exclusion criteria were the same in 2018 and 2021. In 2018, SCD health care transition websites were collected from the 5 most used search engines at the time (Google, Yahoo, Bing, DuckDuckGo,

and Ask.com), and the data were collected between December 2017 and January 2018.

#### Website Readability

Website readability was measured using the Flesch Reading Ease (FRE) and Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level (FGL) formulas. The FRE formula uses word length, the number of syllables, sentence length, and other variables to score an article. Higher scores are associated with greater ease of reading [16]. The FRE formula is scored on a scale from 0-100: scores from 0-29 are considered "very confusing," 30-49 as "difficult," 50-59 as "fairly difficult," 60-69 as "standard" (eighth- and ninth-grade level), 70-79 as "fairly easy," 80-89 as "easy," and 90-100 as "very easy" (fifth-grade level) readability [17]. The FGL formula assigns a score that correlates with the US education level a person must achieve to be able to read an article. The National Institutes of Health recommends that medical information should be written at no higher than a sixth-grade reading level, which corresponds to an FGL score below 7 [18,19].

Websites were graded using Microsoft Word, with photographs, figures, and links being removed before being analyzed [20].

The FRE and FGL formulas were chosen as these scores have been used in previous literature to assess health care document readability [21-23]. The scores correspond with a grade level that can be compared to National Institutes of Health recommendations.

#### Website Quality

Website quality was measured using the Ensuring Quality Information for Patients (EQIP) tool and Health On the Net Foundation code of conduct (HONcode) certification. The EQIP tool is a 20-item validated instrument that has been used in numerous studies to assess health information quality on the web [24]. It can be used to evaluate the content, identification, and structure of each website. The EQIP tool includes a rating scale of 4 options: yes, partly yes, no, and not applicable. EQIP scores range from 0% to 100%, with higher grades indicating better quality [24]. The EQIP tool was applied to the primary website and the links presented to other sources within it. If a link redirected to an external website, it was not assessed to calculate the EQIP score.

EQIP scores are calculated by dividing a website's total score across the 20 items by 20 and multiplying this number by 100%. Website quality was scored by 2 research assistants (TA and TO). Intraclass correlations (ICCs) were calculated to measure the agreement between EQIP scores. No consensual agreement has been made regarding cutoff values of EQIP scores to determine website quality. Based on previous studies, a high-quality website was defined as having an EQIP score of  $\geq$ 75% in this study [25,26]. The EQIP tool was chosen to assess website quality as it is a comprehensive assessment of written medical information. It has been used previously in peer-reviewed literature to assess the quality of information presented on the web [25-27].

HONcode certification identifies whether websites provide quality, objective, and transparent medical information [28]. The Health On the Net Foundation is a not-for-profit nongovernmental organization affiliated with the World Health Organization (WHO). HONcode certification is obtained through a voluntary application that the owner of the website must apply for [29]. Each website is examined by a review committee for the 8 HONcode ethical principles, which are authority (provide qualifications for authors), complementarity (provide information to support, not replace), confidentiality (respect the privacy of site users), attribution (cite the sources and dates of medical information), justifiability (provide justification of claims or balanced and objective claims), transparency (ensure accessibility and provide valid contact details), financial disclosure (provide details of funding), and advertising (clearly distinguish advertising from editorial content). If a website complies with all 8 principles, the site will be given a HONcode seal to place on their page. In our study, each website was assessed for the presence or absence of the HONcode certification.

The presence of HONcode certification was determined using the HONcode search engine [30,31].

The FRE, FGL, EQIP, and SCD content checklist (SCDCC) scores were compared between websites with HONcode certification and those without certification.

HONcode certification was chosen as a method of assessment as the 8 ethical principles the certification is based on align with the 3 pillars of medical ethics: beneficence, nonmaleficence, and justice. HONcode certification has been used in previous literature as a quality assurance method [32,33].

#### SCD- and Transition-Related Content

SCD- and transition-related content was assessed using a novel 12-item transition in SCD care-specific content tool (SCDCC), which was produced since no validated tool has been published yet (Textbox 1). The tool was generated using the 6 modifiable factors of transition from the Social-Ecological Model of Adolescent and Young Adult Readiness to Transition [34]. Additionally, items were selected based on the conceptual framework of the chronic care model and the *National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute SCD Treatment Guidelines* [30,35]. The tool was reviewed by a team of hematologists, psychologists, and other professionals who are experienced and knowledgeable in the transition to adulthood for patients with SCD.

Textbox 1. The 12 categories graded on the sickle cell disease (SCD) content checklist and the description of the criteria used in their assessment.

- 1. Development: evidence of developmental maturity necessary for success in the adult system
- 2. Knowledge: knowledge related to disease history, health or status, and needs and benefits of transition
- 3. Skills/Efficacy: skills and self-efficacy needed to manage personal health and transition
- 4. Beliefs/Expectations: beliefs and expectations related to the transition process
- 5. Goals: provides achievable goals related to the transition process
- 6. Relationships: describes relationships among patients, parents, pediatric providers, and adult providers
- 7. Psychosocial functioning: describes psychological conditions, family functioning, acute crises, stress, and emotions related to the transition process
- 8. Mood/Pain: describes symptoms of pain crises and emotions related to pain crises
- 9. Navigating health systems: provides advice on navigating a health system and establishing care during the transition period
- 10. Self-management: describes increased accountability of obtaining SCD treatment, finding a provider, and managing one's own health
- 11. Self-advocacy: describes the need for patient to be involved in their health and aware of their needs
- 12. Vocational planning: prepares a person with SCD for the workplace

SCDCC scores are calculated by dividing a website's total score across the 12 items by 12 and multiplying this number by 100%. A total score could range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating content more consistent with the above validated frameworks. Each item is scored with either a 0 for item not present, 1 for item clearly present, or 0.5 for item not clearly present but alluded to. Website content was scored by 2 research assistants (TA and TO).

The purpose of adding the SCDCC as an analytic tool was to supplement the EQIP score as a method to better assess written SCD material.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The FRE, FGL, EQIP, and SCDCC scores were compared between websites with HONcode certification and those without certification.

Websites were categorized based on their source. Websites ending in ".gov" were designated as health department websites. Websites associated with a hospital or system were designated hospital or private clinician websites. Websites were categorized as professional society websites if they were produced by a medically oriented professional association. Websites designated as "other" did not fit into the aforementioned categories. FRE and FGL scores were calculated by copying and pasting the text on each website into a word-processing program. An extension in the word-processing program that calculates readability was used. EQIP scores were measured using a 20-point scale established by Moult et al [24]. The score out of 20 items was then divided by 20 and multiplied by 100% to get a percentage of EQIP items that the website possessed. Similarly, SCDCC scores were calculated on a 12-point scale, divided by 12 and multiplied by 100%. Google sheets with the *XLMiner ToolPak* (Frontline Systems Inc) was used to assess ANOVA and 2-tailed *t* tests. ANOVA was used to measure statistically significant differences in mean FRE, FGL, EQIP, and SCDCC scores between each website source. *t* tests were used to measure statistically significant differences between the mean scores of websites with and without HONcode certification. *t* tests were also used to measure statistically significant differences in mean FRE, EQIP, and SCDCC scores for websites in 2018 and 2021.

#### Results

#### Website Search

In 2021, a total of 900 websites were collected, with 67 (7.4%) meeting the inclusion criteria: 13 health department, 7 hospital or private clinician, 33 professional society, and 14 other websites.

#### **FRE and FGL Evaluation**

The mean FRE score among all websites was 54.64 (SD 10.48; range 24.4-78.6), indicating that the websites were difficult to read (the recommended range is >70). There were no significant differences in FRE scores between website sources ( $F_3$ =0.262; P=.85; Table 1). The reading difficulty of each website was stratified based on their FRE score. Of the 67 websites, only 7 (10%) were "fairly easy to read" (FRE score 70-79). Of those 7 websites, 1 was a hospital or private clinician website, 2 were health department websites, 2 were professional society websites, and 2 were other websites.



Table . Readability scores.

Table . Readability scores.						
Score	Website source					
	All sources	Hospital or private clinician	Health department	Professional society	Other	
FRE <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	54.64 (10.48)	54.56 (10.65)	55.55 (9.54)	55.67 (9.47)	56.03 (18.67)	
FGL <sup>b</sup> , mean (SD)	9.72 (1.96)	9.84 (2.83)	9.54 (1.94)	9.57 (2.17)	8.99 (3.87)	

<sup>a</sup>FRE: Flesch Reading Ease.

<sup>b</sup>FGL: Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level.

The mean FGL score among all websites was 9.72 (SD 1.96; range 1.94-19.2), also indicating that the websites were above the recommended seventh-grade reading level. There were no significant differences in FGL scores between website sources ( $F_3$ =0.341; P=.69; Table 1). Of the 67 websites, only 8 (12%) had an FGL score in the recommended range of <7. Of those 8 websites, 4 were hospital or private clinician websites, 1 was a health department website, 1 was a professional society website, and 2 were other websites.

#### **EQIP** Evaluation

The mean EQIP score was 47.18 (SD 13.00) for all websites. The mean EQIP scores for each website source were as follows: hospital or private clinician, 49.30 (SD 12.32); health department, 52.88 (SD 13.89); professional society, 51.95 (SD 12.45); and other, 59.82 (SD 8.82). There were no significant differences in EQIP scores between website sources ( $F_3$ =1.96; P=.12; Table 2). Of the 67 websites, only 1 (1%) achieved an EQIP score over 75. The interrater reliability of EQIP scores calculated using ICC was 0.718, which is considered acceptable for interrater reliability.

Table . Quality scores.

Score	Website source				
	All sources	Hospital or private clinician	Health department	Professional society	Other
EQIP <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	47.18 (13.00)	49.30 (12.32)	52.88 (13.89)	51.95 (12.45)	59.82 (8.82)
SCDCC <sup>b</sup> , mean (SD)	20.60 (22.14)	37.32 (28.48)	26.12 (19.88)	22.79 (17.60)	19.05 (6.74)

<sup>a</sup>EQIP: Ensuring Quality Information for Patients.

<sup>b</sup>SCDCC: sickle cell disease content checklist.

The EQIP items most frequently graded as "yes" or "partly yes" were "Is the tone respectful" and "Is the information presented in logical order." The EQIP items least frequently graded as "yes" or "partly yes" were "Does the document have a named space for the reader to make notes" and "Does the document say whether patients and/or family members were involved or consulted in its production."

#### **SCDCC Evaluation**

The mean website content score for SCD websites was 20.60 (SD 22.14). The mean SCDCC scores for each website source were as follows: hospital or private clinician, 37.32 (SD 28.48); health department, 26.12 (SD 19.88); professional society, 22.79 (SD 17.60); and other, 19.05 (SD 6.74). The interrater reliability of SCDCC scores calculated using ICC was 0.897. There were no significant differences in SCDCC scores between website sources ( $F_3$ =2.32; P=.08; Table 2).

The SCDCC items most frequently graded as "yes" or "partly yes" were "Knowledge" and "Mood/Pain." The SCDCC items most frequently graded as "no" were "Vocational Planning" and "Goals." Less than 25% of websites contained information related to "Skills/Efficacy" (16/67, 24%), "Self-Advocacy" (15/67, 22%), "Relationships" (12/67, 18%), "Vocational Planning" (6/67, 9%), "Development" (15/67, 22%), and "Goals" (7/67, 10%).

#### **HONcode Certification**

Of the 67 websites reviewed, 15 (22%) had a HONcode certification. Of the 15 websites who had the certification, 3 (20%) were developed by a health department, 2 (13%) were developed by a hospital or private clinician, 4 (27%) were developed by a professional society, and 6 (40%) were developed by other sources.

Websites that were HONcode certified had significantly higher FRE (P=.02) and lower FGL (P=.001) scores (greater readability) and higher EQIP (P=.004) scores (higher quality).

There were no significant differences between the SCDCC scores (range of contents) of websites with HONcode certification versus those without HONcode certification (P=.30; Table 3).



Score Websites with HONcode certifica-Websites without HONcode certifi- P value tion, mean (SD) cation, mean (SD) FRE 60.37 (11.81) 53.51 (9.90) .02 FGL 8.12 (1.98) 10.08 (2.40) .001 EQIP 58.08 (11.59) 48.31 (12.44) .004 SCDCC 20.56 (10.38) 28.21 (25.50) .30

**Table**. Comparison of the mean FRE<sup>a</sup>, FGL<sup>b</sup>, EQIP<sup>c</sup>, and SCDCC<sup>d</sup> scores for websites with HONcode<sup>e</sup> certification and websites without HONcode certification.

<sup>a</sup>FRE: Flesch Reading Ease.

<sup>b</sup>FGL: Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level.

<sup>c</sup>EQIP: Ensuring Quality Information for Patients.

<sup>d</sup>SCDCC: sickle cell disease content checklist.

<sup>e</sup>HONcode: Health On the Net Foundation code of conduct.

#### Comparison Between 2018 and 2021 Data

In 2018, a total of 1924 websites were collected, with 92 (4.8%) meeting inclusion criteria: 11 health department, 38 hospital or private clinician, 21 professional society, and 22 other websites. In all, 31 websites identified in 2018 were also identified in 2021. When the quality of data was compared between 2018 and 2021, websites still scored poorly for FRE, EQIP, and SCDCC (Table 4). Overall, the quality of websites did not

improve between the 2 data collection periods. Compared to 2018, websites in reviewed 2021 had statistically lower EQIP scores (P=.006), indicating a slight degradation of website quality over time. In both 2018 and 2021, websites were fairly difficult to read on average as assessed by the FRE formula. There was also a lack of HONcode-certified websites in both 2018 and 2021. Compared to 2021, more websites had HONcode certification in 2018 (2021: 15/67, 22% vs 2018: 26/92, 28%).

Table . Comparison of the mean FRE<sup>a</sup>, EQIP<sup>b</sup>, and SCDCC<sup>c</sup> scores for websites from 2018 to 2021.

Score	Year, mean (SD)		<i>P</i> value
	2018	2021	
FRE	51.8 (13.6)	55.1 (11.1)	.10
EQIP	56.8 (11.0)	51.6 (12.5)	.006
SCDCC	20.8 (18.1)	30.1 (24.1)	.008

<sup>a</sup>FRE: Flesch Reading Ease.

<sup>b</sup>EQIP: Ensuring Quality Information for Patients.

<sup>c</sup>SCDCC: sickle cell disease content checklist.

Similar to the results from 2021, websites with HONcode certification in 2018 were associated with significantly higher FRE scores (P=.02). The mean FRE score for websites with HONcode certification was 56.57 (SD 11.12) and the mean FRE score for websites without HONcode certification was 50.01 (SD 14.21). There were no significant differences between EQIP and SCDCC scores (P=.18 and P=.44, respectively).

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This is one of the first studies to conduct a content analysis of web-based health information regarding the transition to adult care for patients with SCD. Previous studies have shown that the quality of health information available on the internet is variable and unregulated [31]. Our study is consistent with this finding. Our study indicated that the overall quality of information on SCD transition to adult care on the internet does not meet the recommended seventh-grade or lower reading level, which is consistent with other studies on SCD websites [36]. On average, websites containing information on the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48924
```

RenderX

transition in SCD care were fairly difficult to read. These websites also failed to score highly on the EQIP and SCDCC assessments. Website analysis revealed few HONcode certifications, which is consistent with other studies on health information [32,33]; few websites that met the recommended reading level; and few websites of high quality based on EQIP and SCDCC scores. Websites hosted by academic centers, hospitals, or governmental sources were not comparatively better in readability, quality, or content. For the small proportion of websites that obtained HONcode certification, certification is associated with improved readability and quality, without sacrifices in content, although the content based on the SCDCC score was relatively poor overall. HONcode certification may be a helpful check for website readability and quality, given the association of HONcode certification on the measures in our study, and HONcode certification can be obtained for any website by requesting for review over the web.

Furthermore, website quality did not significantly improve between 2018 and 2021. The poor scores for websites in both 2018 and 2021 point to the need for the improvement of web-based health resources for adolescents and young adults

with SCD. We acknowledge that EQIP and SCDCC scores increased between 2018 and 2021; however, the mean scores were of poor quality in both years. Academic centers, governmental agencies, and other organizations should ensure their websites are up to date and comprehensive to increase the readability and quality of content for patients with SCD. The web-based sources that were analyzed in this study lack a well-rounded view of a patient's experience with the SCD health care transition process. Although these websites provide factual information, they are not written to the level of an average reader nor do they provide clear expectations and a holistic view of a patient with SCD. The consequences of poorly designed websites can include decreased patients' perception of usefulness trust in web-based information and and withered patient-physician relationships [12,30,35]. According to previous studies, the quality of health websites remains poor and inconsistent, and web-based information is being used more among patients as it can improve the patient-physician relationship [12,36-39]. It is important for there to be improvements in the quality of the websites that would allow youth with SCD to learn to manage their own health.

The readability of websites can be improved by using shorter sentences and avoiding medical jargon. When medical terms need to be used, they should be explained in terms that can be understood by the average person. The quality of websites can be improved by writers using the EQIP tool as a guideline. Additionally, we believe the SCDCC can act as a guideline for writers to provide well-rounded information regarding the process of transitioning their SCD care. Involving people with SCD in the writing process of these websites can also help to improve the quality of websites [40], as their feedback would be invaluable.

Health information for transitioning patients with SCD needs to be tailored to adolescent and young adult patients by aligning with their cognitive skills and providing well-rounded information [41]. Gaps in adolescent and young adult patients' knowledge pose a threat to their health during the vulnerable transition time period. It has been established that this is a time of increased morbidity and mortality [2-4] and that knowledge about SCD is a barrier to care [5]. We identified that web-based, patient-facing information on the transition of SCD care is, on average, fairly difficult to read and generally of poor quality. Physicians should be knowledgeable that their patients with SCD will likely use the internet to obtain medical information and that there are gaps in web-based information. Reliable, quality websites should be given to patients for reference, and a discussion should be initiated between patients with SCD and their providers to identify the knowledge the patient has and bridge any gaps in their knowledge.

#### Limitations

Our study only included websites that presented information in English. Future studies should be conducted to evaluate websites in other languages that appear in search results. Additionally, using incognito mode to search for websites does not prevent the location from affecting search results. The websites that were collected may have been influenced by our location in New York state. Websites from other countries and states may have been excluded. A virtual private network can be used in future studies to access websites from other areas of the world. Our study is time sensitive to a single point in time. Websites are updated or changed every 27 months on average, and HONcode certification and FRE, FGL, EQIP, and SCDCC scores are subject to change [42]. HONcode certification is a voluntary process by the site owner, meaning that websites may meet the HONcode criteria but have not been certified due to not applying for certification [29]. Additionally, there is no resource available that lists sites that have applied for HONcode certification but did not meet the criteria. Due to the subjective nature of EQIP and SCDCC scoring, the scores are subject to variation, although no significant variations were seen between the 2018 and 2021 websites. The SCDCC has not been validated as a measure of the quality of SCD-specific information. We believe that the scale offers a valuable insight into SCD-specific, web-based information that the EQIP tool cannot offer. This study investigated the quality of SCD websites and did not investigate other mediums of health information available on the internet such as social media. Future studies investigating the quality of information presented on platforms other than websites would provide valuable information given the popularity of social media. Despite the inherent limitations present in this study, we believe that the observations of the study are significant and show that the quality of web-based information regarding preparation for the transition of SCD care is not satisfactory.

#### Conclusions

Many websites available for patients with SCD transitioning from pediatric to adult care lack a well-rounded view of the experiences and health care needs of these patients. Additionally, these websites can be fairly difficult to read. Websites can be improved by using shorter sentences, limiting the length of sentences, and providing a more comprehensive view of the SCD transition of care process. With these changes, improvements in self-management of adolescents and young adults with SCD transitioning from pediatric to adult care may be seen.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Jane Lindahl for her assistance with the website review. We would also like to thank members of the general pediatrics research team at Cohen Children's Medical Center: Telmo Santos, MD, MPH; Abigail Seide, MPH; Arianna Mastrogiannis; Andrea Zuzarte; Michelle Katzow, MD, MS, FAAP; and Shing Ho Cheng.



#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Gardner RV. Sickle cell disease: advances in treatment. Ochsner J 2018;18(4):377-389. [doi: <u>10.31486/toj.18.0076</u>] [Medline: <u>30559624</u>]
- 2. Sobota AE, Umeh E, Mack JW. Young adult perspectives on a successful transition from pediatric to adult care in sickle cell disease. J Hematol Res 2015 Dec;2(1):17-24. [doi: 10.12974/2312-5411.2015.02.01.3] [Medline: 27175364]
- 3. Fasipe T, Dongarwar D, Lopez E, et al. Hospital use and mortality in transition-aged patients with sickle cell disease. Hosp Pediatr 2021 Dec 1;12(11):1303-1310. [doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2021-005806] [Medline: 34808666]
- 4. Jordan L, Swerdlow P, Coates TD. Systematic review of transition from adolescent to adult care in patients with sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2013 Apr;35(3):165-169. [doi: 10.1097/MPH.0b013e3182847483] [Medline: 23511487]
- 5. Sobota A, Neufeld EJ, Sprinz P, Heeney MM. Transition from pediatric to adult care for sickle cell disease: results of a survey of pediatric providers. Am J Hematol 2011 Jun;86(6):512-515. [doi: <u>10.1002/ajh.22016</u>] [Medline: <u>21594889</u>]
- Reich J, Cantrell MA, Smeltzer SC. An integrative review: the evolution of provider knowledge, attitudes, perceptions and perceived barriers to caring for patients with sickle cell disease 1970-now. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol Nurs 2023;40(1):43-64. [doi: 10.1177/27527530221090179] [Medline: 35854420]
- Coiera E. The internet's challenge to health care provision. BMJ 1996 Jan 6;312(7022):3-4. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.312.7022.3</u>] [Medline: <u>8555856</u>]
- Fox S, Duggan M. Health Online 2013. Pew Research Center. 2013 Jan 15. URL: <u>www.pewresearch.org/internet/2013/01/</u> 15/health-online-2013/ [accessed 2022-10-27]
- Crosby LE, Ware RE, Goldstein A, et al. Development and evaluation of iManage: a self-management app co-designed by adolescents with sickle cell disease. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017 Jan;64(1):139-145. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.26177</u>] [Medline: <u>27574031</u>]
- 10. Fox S, Purcell K. Social media and health. Pew Research Center. 2010 Mar 24. URL: <u>www.pewresearch.org/internet/2010/</u> 03/24/social-media-and-health/ [accessed 2022-08-02]
- 11. Riggare S. e-Patients hold key to the future of healthcare. BMJ 2018 Feb 26;360:k846. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.k846] [Medline: 29483151]
- 12. Boon-itt S. Quality of health websites and their influence on perceived usefulness, trust and intention to use: an analysis from Thailand. J Innov Entrep 2019 Jan 15;8:4. [doi: 10.1186/s13731-018-0100-9]
- Hamideh D, Alvarez O. Sickle cell disease related mortality in the United States (1999-2009). Pediatr Blood Cancer 2013 Sep;60(9):1482-1486. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.24557] [Medline: 23637037]
- 14. Keywords Everywhere. URL: <u>https://keywordseverywhere.com/</u> [accessed 2023-11-21]
- 15. Baker L, Wagner TH, Singer S, Bundorf MK. Use of the internet and e-mail for health care information: results from a national survey. JAMA 2003 May 14;289(18):2400-2406. [doi: 10.1001/jama.289.18.2400] [Medline: 12746364]
- 16. Salehi S, Du JT, Ashman H. Use of web search engines and personalisation in information searching for educational purposes. Information Research 2018 Jun;23(2):788 [FREE Full text]
- 17. Risvik KM, Michelsen R. Search engines and web dynamics. Comput Netw 2002 Jun;39(3):289-302. [doi: 10.1016/S1389-1286(02)00213-X]
- Paasche-Orlow MK, Taylor HA, Brancati FL. Readability standards for informed-consent forms as compared with actual readability. N Engl J Med 2003 Feb 20;348(8):721-726. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMsa021212</u>] [Medline: <u>12594317</u>]
- 19. Hillyer GC, Beauchemin M, Garcia P, et al. Readability of cancer clinical trials websites. Cancer Control 2020;27(1):1073274819901125. [doi: 10.1177/1073274819901125] [Medline: 31973569]
- 20. Scott B. Learn about the Flesch Reading Ease readability formula. Readability Formulas. 2023 Oct 23. URL: <u>https://readabilityformulas.com/flesch-reading-ease-readability-formula.php</u> [accessed 2023-11-21]
- 21. Hutchinson N, Baird GL, Garg M. Examining the reading level of internet medical information for common internal medicine diagnoses. Am J Med 2016 Jun;129(6):637-639. [doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.01.008] [Medline: 26829438]
- Guan Y, Maloney KA, Roter DL, Pollin TI. Evaluation of the informational content, readability and comprehensibility of online health information on monogenic diabetes. J Genet Couns 2018 Jun;27(3):608-615. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10897-017-0155-y</u>] [Medline: <u>28951986</u>]
- 23. Sabharwal S, Badarudeen S, Unes Kunju S. Readability of online patient education materials from the AAOS web site. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2008 May;466(5):1245-1250. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11999-008-0193-8</u>] [Medline: <u>18324452</u>]
- 24. Moult B, Franck LS, Brady H. Ensuring quality information for patients: development and preliminary validation of a new instrument to improve the quality of written health care information. Health Expect 2004 Jun;7(2):165-175. [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2004.00273.x] [Medline: 15117391]
- Ghani S, Fan KS, Fan KH, Lenti L, Raptis D. Using the ensuring quality information for patients tool to assess patient information on appendicitis websites: systematic search and evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 26;23(3):e22618. [doi: 10.2196/22618] [Medline: 33729160]

RenderX

- 26. Vetter D, Ruhwinkel H, Raptis DA, Bueter M. Quality assessment of information on bariatric surgery websites. Obes Surg 2018 May;28(5):1240-1247. [doi: 10.1007/s11695-017-2983-0] [Medline: 29110245]
- Carlsson T, Axelsson O. Patient information websites about medically induced second-trimester abortions: a descriptive study of quality, suitability, and issues. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 10;19(1):e8. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6380</u>] [Medline: <u>28073735</u>]
- 28. Laversin S, Baujard V, Gaudinat A, Simonet MA, Boyer C. Improving the transparency of health information found on the internet through the HONcode: a comparative study. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;169:654-658. [Medline: 21893829]
- 29. Boyer C, Baujard V, Geissbuhler A. Evolution of health web certification through the HONcode experience. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;169:53-57. [Medline: 21893713]
- 30. Evidence-based management of sickle cell disease: expert panel report, 2014. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. 2014 Sep. URL: <u>www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/evidence-based-management-sickle-cell-disease</u> [accessed 2022-08-02]
- Kaicker J, Borg Debono V, Dang W, Buckley N, Thabane L. Assessment of the quality and variability of health information on chronic pain websites using the DISCERN instrument. BMC Med 2010 Oct 12;8:59. [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-8-59] [Medline: 20939875]
- 32. Ni Riordain R, McCreary C. Head and neck cancer information on the internet: type, accuracy and content. Oral Oncol 2009 Aug;45(8):675-677. [doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2008.10.006] [Medline: 19095486]
- Riordain RN, Hodgson T. Content and quality of website information on the treatment of oral ulcers. Br Dent J 2014 Oct;217(7):E15. [doi: <u>10.1038/sj.bdj.2014.886</u>] [Medline: <u>25303608</u>]
- 34. Schwartz LA, Daniel LC, Brumley LD, Barakat LP, Wesley KM, Tuchman LK. Measures of readiness to transition to adult health care for youth with chronic physical health conditions: a systematic review and recommendations for measurement testing and development. J Pediatr Psychol 2014 Jul;39(6):588-601. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsu028] [Medline: 24891440]
- 35. Bodenheimer T, Wagner EH, Grumbach K. Improving primary care for patients with chronic illness: the chronic care model, part 2. JAMA 2002 Oct 16;288(15):1909-1914. [doi: 10.1001/jama.288.15.1909] [Medline: 12377092]
- Breakey VR, Harris L, Davis O, et al. The quality of information about sickle cell disease on the internet for youth. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017 Apr;64(4). [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.26309</u>] [Medline: <u>27786409</u>]
- 37. Luo A, Qin L, Yuan Y, et al. The effect of online health information seeking on physician-patient relationships: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2022 Feb 10;24(2):e23354. [doi: <u>10.2196/23354</u>] [Medline: <u>35142620</u>]
- 38. Tan SL, Goonawardene N. Internet health information seeking and the patient-physician relationship: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 19;19(1):e9. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.5729</u>] [Medline: <u>28104579</u>]
- Bruce-Brand RA, Baker JF, Byrne DP, Hogan NA, McCarthy T. Assessment of the quality and content of information on anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction on the internet. Arthroscopy 2013 Jun;29(6):1095-1100. [doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2013.02.007] [Medline: 23582738]
- 40. Eysenbach G, Köhler C. How do consumers search for and appraise health information on the world wide web? qualitative study using focus groups, usability tests, and in-depth interviews. BMJ 2002 Mar 9;324(7337):573-577. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7337.573] [Medline: 11884321]
- 41. Reen GK, Muirhead L, Langdon DW. Usability of health information websites designed for adolescents: systematic review, neurodevelopmental model, and design brief. J Med Internet Res 2019 Apr 23;21(4):e11584. [doi: 10.2196/11584] [Medline: 31012856]
- 42. Dellavalle RP, Hester EJ, Heilig LF, et al. Information science. going, going, gone: lost internet references. Science 2003 Oct 31;302(5646):787-788. [doi: 10.1126/science.1088234] [Medline: 14593153]

#### Abbreviations

EQIP: Ensuring Quality Information for Patients FGL: Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level FRE: Flesch Reading Ease HONcode: Health On the Net Foundation code of conduct ICC: intraclass correlation SCD: sickle cell disease SCDCC: sickle cell disease content checklist WHO: World Health Organization



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 15.05.23; peer-reviewed by L Crosby, S Creary; revised version received 27.09.23; accepted 30.09.23; published 13.12.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Annesi T, Steinway C, Oluwole T, Shilly S, Szalda D, Myers R, Chen J, Jan S Ouality of Web-Based Sickle Cell Disease Resources for Health Care Transition: Website Content Analysis

Quality of Web-Based Sickle Cell Disease Resources for Health Care Transition: Website Content Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48924 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48924</u> doi:<u>10.2196/48924</u>

© Thomas Annesi, Caren Steinway, Toyosi Oluwole, Steffi Shilly, Dava Szalda, Regina Myers, Jack Chen, Sophia Jan. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Original Paper**

### Gamification to Support Adherence to a Therapeutic Ambylopia Treatment for Children: Retrospective Study Using a Focal Ambient Visual Acuity Stimulation Game

Catheline Bocqué<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Jingyun Wang<sup>2\*</sup>, PhD; Annekatrin Rickmann<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Henrike Julich-Haertel<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Uwe Kaempf<sup>3\*</sup>, PhD; Kai Januschowski<sup>4,5\*</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Klaus Heimann Eye Research Institute, Sulzbach, Germany

<sup>2</sup>State University of New York College of Optometry, New York, NY, United States

<sup>3</sup>Caterna Vision GmbH, Potsdam, Germany

<sup>4</sup>Centre for Ophthalmology, University Eye Hospital, Eberhard-Karls-University, Tuebingen, Germany

<sup>5</sup>Mt St Peter Eyeclinic, Trier, Germany

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Catheline Bocqué, MD Klaus Heimann Eye Research Institute An der Klinik 10 Sulzbach, 66280 Germany Phone: 49 6897 574 1119 Fax: 49 6897 574 2139 Email: <u>cathelinebocque@gmail.com</u>

#### Abstract

**Background:** The gold standard treatment for amblyopia is patching the better eye. Improvement of visual acuity in the amblyopic eye is significantly impacted by the adherence to the patching therapy. It is known that the overall adherence is rather low.

**Objective:** This retrospective study evaluated whether an updated version of attention-binding digital therapeutic games based on the principle of focal ambient visual acuity stimulation (FAVAS) would result in improved patient adherence in 4- to 16-year-old patients with amblyopia associated with anisometropia or strabismus.

**Methods:** We analyzed electronically pseudonymized recorded data from patients treated with occlusion therapy and FAVAS therapeutic games. One group used an older version (2015) and the other group used a newer version (2020) that provided more attractive therapeutic games with tablet computer functionality. Objective adherence was calculated by comparing the number of minutes using the therapeutic games as monitored in the automatized logbook versus the prescribed number of minutes for using the games.

**Results:** Children in group 2015 (n=138) spent on average 2009.3 (SD 1372.1; range 36-5556) minutes using FAVAS; children in group 2020 (n=129) spent on average 2651.2 (SD 1557.1; range 38-5672) minutes using the newer version. Group 2020 spent on average 641.9 more minutes on FAVAS than group 2015 ( $t_{255.49}$ =3.56, P<.001, d=0.45; 95% CI 0.69-0.20). Although patient adherence was very variable, compared to the 55.0% (SD 29.4%) in group 2015, it significantly improved up to 68.5% (SD 33.7%) in group 2020 ( $t_{254.38}$ =3.48, P=.001, d=0.44; 95% CI 0.68-0.19).

**Conclusions:** FAVAS 2020, with improved gamification aspect as well as tablet computer functionality, increased adherence significantly compared to the earlier version of FAVAS 2015, indicating that FAVAS 2020 could be an effective approach to support adherence to amblyopia treatment.

Trial Registration: German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS) DRKS00017633; https://drks.de/search/de/trial/DRKS00017633

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e32282) doi:10.2196/32282

#### KEYWORDS

RenderX

amblyopia; children; compliance; adherence; occlusion; patching; therapeutic game; FAVAS

#### Introduction

Unilateral amblyopia is a developmental disorder resulting in degraded visual acuity in 1 eye. During the developmental phase of vision, degraded stimulation by the weaker eye leads to the underdevelopment of the corresponding cortical visual areas [1]. Amblyopia is associated with poor binocular visual experience in children and has a lasting effect on the individuals' quality of life, while children with amblyopia are impacted in their daily activities and future job selection [2]. It also increases the risk of severe trauma for the fellow sound eye [3]. Occlusion therapy with patching, after optical adaptation with binocular eyeglass correction, has been the gold standard therapeutic approach for forcing the visual development of the amblyopic weaker eye by an input deprivation of the other sound eye since Sattler [4]. However, by patching, a high rate of patients (approximately 25% to 30%) do not show a full recovery of visual function, and some of those patients even show further worsening in visual function [5-8]. Visual acuity improvement in the amblyopic eye is significantly impacted by adherence to patching therapy [9]. For a long time, a system of monocular and binocular visual exercises and stimulation methods (pleoptics and orthoptics) in support of the standard occlusion treatment has been developed, but only with limited success [10-12]. Some perceptual learning treatments of the last few years have been monocular training with grating contrast detection tasks or viewing action movies and video games. Some binocular treatments work by presenting dichoptic, high-contrast stimuli to the amblyopic eye and low-contrast stimuli to the other eye during video games. Other binocular treatments do not involve contrast balancing but instead present dichoptic videos or video games with the background presented to both eyes and foreground elements presented only to the amblyopic eye [13,14].

This study explores the a priori hypothesis that the updated version of monocular focal ambient visual acuity stimulation (FAVAS) therapeutic games has improved patient adherence. To improve adherence to patching therapy, gamification of therapy could encourage the patient to actively use the amblyopic eye. FAVAS therapeutic games are an innovative digital therapeutic designed as a supplementary treatment to patching. A customized moving ambient sinusoidal wave pattern (moving gratings) is presented in the background of focal attention-binding digital therapeutic games, stimulating cortical areas to activate the central perceptive activity of the amblyopic eye again and thus improving visual acuity [15].

At the same time, ambient stimulation is provided in the game's background by a drifting sinusoidal contrast-modulated grating pattern of constant spatial and temporal frequency. Due to its periodicity, the drifting grating stimulus is assumed to induce resonance within and between filter systems of band-pass selective neuronal transmission channels [15-17]. The stimulus is a drifting sinusoidal grating with a spatial frequency of 0.3 and a temporal frequency of 1 cycle per second, reciprocally coordinated with each other to produce a drift of 0.33 degrees per second. The customized pattern takes the axis of astigmatism into account, there are 3 groups of best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA; <0.2, 0.2-0.5, >0.5), and with strabismus there is a circular stimulation. The software-implemented exercises for our visual training are based on a specially developed FAVAS. In the foreground of the screen, a focal computer game demands sensory-motor coordination, visual fixation performance, and adherence from the children. Thus, the gaming activity serves mainly for attention binding, which has been previously proven to be a decisive factor for the success of visual-training exercises. Previously, Kämpf et al [16] showed that FAVAS had a promising effect on the visual acuity of amblyopic eyes in a specific way.

Recently, a new modified version of FAVAS (2020) focused on user-friendliness of touch screen tablet computers, gamification, and attention-binding aspects, which could potentially improve patient adherence. Besides technical updates, later versions of commercially available treatment games could specifically improve engagement. We know from the literature that adherence with prescribed occlusion therapy is 62% (Table 1, Figure 1). However, in our study, we measured adherence to prescribed FAVAS therapy. The goal of this study is to evaluate whether an improved gamification aspect as well as tablet computer functionality of FAVAS therapeutic games would result in higher patient adherence compared to the earlier version. Therefore, we analyzed the electronically recorded data from a commercially available FAVAS system (Caterna Vision GmbH) in 4- to 16-year-old patients, and compared adherence to the earlier version of FAVAS 2015 with adherence to an updated version of FAVAS 2020.



#### Bocqué et al

Table 1. Literature overview of 8 papers measuring occlusion compliances in 24 groups with standard regimens to interventions like education, cartoons, and stickers to boost motivation in children and parents [18-26].

Studies and groups in paper	Objective compliance (%) <sup>a</sup>	Age group (years)	
Stewart et al [20]	48	3-8	
Awan et al [22]			
3-h regimen	57.5	3-8	
6-h regimen	41.2		
Loudon et al [21]			
Education intervention group	78	<4	
4-6	77		
>6	74		
Control group	57	<4	
4-6	52		
>6	55		
Stewart et al [23]			
6-h regimen	66	<4	
4-6	72		
>6	69		
12-h regimen	50	<4	
4-6	47		
>6	58		
Tjiam et al [24]			
Preimplementation cartoon	52	3-6	
Postimplementation	62.3		
Tjiam et al [18]			
Educational cartoon group	89	3-6	
Reward sticker group	67		
Parent leaflet group	73		
Control group	55		
Wallace et al [25]	44	3-8	
Pradeep et al [26]			
Educational/motivational intervention group	81	3.5-8.9	
Control group	45		

<sup>a</sup>Mean 62.33% compliance (SD 13.31%).


Figure 1. Box plot of average occlusion compliance of the meta-analysis of 24 groups from Wang et al 2015 [18-26].



# Methods

# **Ethics Approval**

This retrospective study adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki, was conducted at a single center, and was approved by the local ethics committee, Ethikkommission der Ärztekammer des Saarlandes (118/19, trial registration DRKS00017633). Due to the retrospective nature of this study and the pseudonymization at the source, no additional informed consent was required.

# Recruitment

We compared pseudonymized electronic user protocols showing the therapeutic game activity time of patients aged between 4 and 16 years; all patients were diagnosed with amblyopia by their ophthalmologist and treated with a combination of occlusion and a commercially available FAVAS therapy (Caterna Vision GmbH). The amblyopia was associated with anisometropia or strabismus. Patients had their current refractive correction worn for at least 16 weeks or until 2 consecutive visual acuity measurements, at least 8 weeks apart, did not improve by more than 1 logMAR line. The amblyopic eye had a BCVA from 20/40 to 20/200; the other eye had a BCVA of 20/32 or better, and the difference between the eyes was  $\geq$ 3 logMAR lines. Children with proven learning disabilities, known epilepsy, other pre-existing ophthalmic conditions, or deprivation amblyopia (weak vision due to an organic cause) were excluded. All individuals had previous treatment with standard patching that was not successful.

# Treatments

All patients had full binocular correction with glasses, prescribed by their local eye doctors. For occlusion therapy, patients used standard eye patches. Every individual got a personalized occlusion rhythm of how many hours per day they had to wear the patch, depending on the visual acuity, fixation site at the fundus, age, and other findings. Each participant was provided with access to a home-based FAVAS, offered by Caterna Vision GmbH. The prescribed FAVAS game therapy was played every day for 30-45 minutes during occlusion time for 90 days. The treatment was reimbursed by the insurance companies. The patching regimen was individual and according to the guidelines provided by the German Ophthalmological Society. Lege artis-FAVAS regimen is standardized for 37.5 minutes per day and is applied in addition to the standard patching. The data about the effectivity in the literature all suggest that this time under FAVAS therapy has the best results. Therefore, this time interval was chosen and was also tested 2 times 20 minutes per day, but adherence with 1 time per day was higher [15,16]. Group 2015 contains a data set of patients who used FAVAS version 1.0 in 2015. They had to read the instructions for the games. For playing therapeutic games, only a keyboard and mouse with a fixed screen size of 15 inches were available. The FAVAS 2015 had a 1024 px max resolution; this has been an Adobe Flash limitation (Table 2). Group 2020 contains a data set of patients receiving therapy in 2020. They were able to play directly with high-resolution graphics and high usability. For playing games, not only a keyboard and mouse but also touchscreens with screens between 10 and 27 inches were available.

Bocqué et al

#### Table 2. FAVAS software differences.

FAVAS-version	2015	2020
Client	Web-based software solution supported by Plugin: Adobe Flash version 10	Web-based software solution
Browser	Usable, for example, with Microsoft Edge, Microsoft Internet Explorer 7, Mozilla Firefox ab 3.5, Google Chrome 3	Usable, for example, with Microsoft Edge, Mozilla Firefox und Google Chrome
Operating system	Windows from XP, or OS X from v10.4 or higher required	Plays a minor role
Stimulus	The stimulus is based on an Adobe Flash implementation	The stimulus is based on an HTML-5 implementation

## **Modification of Attention-Binding Web-Based Games**

The FAVAS 1.0 therapy was modified in a few ways: in terms of technical refinement, a larger selection with a variety of engaging games to attract children's attention and participation was included, resulting in 9 edutainment HTML5 games for children between 4 and 16 years. Rotating gratings were personalized and selected according to the type of amblyopia (mild, moderate, or severe) with or without astigmatism and

with or without strabismus. Figure 2 shows a few examples of personalized, selected FAVAS therapy. There was backward compatibility for browser, screen size, and hardware combined with better onboarding (patient manual, frequently asked questions, simplified usability). The majority of children between 4 and 16 years have access to a tablet computer, which makes access to the therapy independent of time and place. Therefore, we focused on making the therapy effective on tablet computers.

**Figure 2.** Examples of FAVAS 2020 in the customization of vertical rotating gratings according to the type of amblyopia. (A) Vertical moving gratings for anisometropic amblyopia, BCVA=0.2; (B) vertical moving gratings for anisometropic amblyopia, BCVA=0.5; (C) circular moving gratings for strabismic amblyopia, BCVA=0.2; (D) oblique moving gratings for meridional amblyopia, BCVA=0.5. BCVA: best-corrected visual acuity; FAVAS: focal ambient visual acuity stimulation.

# Caterna's web-based Focal Ambient Visual Acuity Stimulation (FAVAS) allows a customized therapy for each patient



# **Main Outcome Measures**

The primary outcome measure was therapy adherence. Objective adherence was defined by comparing the number of minutes spent playing the computer game as monitored in the automatized, electronically recorded logbook versus the prescribed number of minutes.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Sample size estimates were based on data from literature reviews and participants in group 2015 pilot trials who would meet the eligibility criteria for this protocol [2,3,5,6,12]. A 2-tailed independent *t* test was used to compare continuous variables such as age and adherence between the two groups. Pearson chi-square test was used for analyzing categorical variables. *P* values smaller than .05 were considered statistically significant. Adherence over 100% (the patients played more time than prescribed) was cut down to 100% for statistical analysis. Patients in group 2015 as well as in group 2020 are patients

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e32282

RenderX

who meet the reimbursement criteria of their health insurance. The inclusion and exclusion criteria were the same as for FAVAS 2015, so these cohorts can be carefully considered comparable. This study is a retrospective study using already collected data from patients. Due to these circumstances, a power analysis is not useful because it estimates the necessary sample size before data collection. In our case, data collection already happened, and we cannot collect more or fewer data depending on the power analysis. Following Perugini [27], we provide a sensitivity analysis instead to obtain the smallest effect which can be found using the current sample. Using a conventional power of 80%, the smallest effect which can be found is d=0.34 for a 2-sample t test. The effect size for comparison between the 2015 and 2020 group for adherence (in percent) is d=0.44. Thus, the empirical effect size is far beyond the minimal effect size which can be detected using the current sample and the current sample size is deemed to be

sufficient. Adherence is expressed as a percentage (exercise minutes/maximum minutes).

# Results

#### Overview

As shown in Figure 3, in group 2015, a total of 138 patients were analyzed; in group 2020, a total of 129 patients were

analyzed. Basic characteristics of the 2 groups, such as age, sex, BCVA, and types of amblyopia, are shown in Table 3. The mean age was slightly younger in group 2020 than in group 2015, by approximately 0.6 years. Both groups had similar gender ratios and amblyopia type distributions. Patients who trained for less than 200 minutes were excluded. These were due to technical difficulties (ie, slow internet and computer problems). The patients with very little training were called by technicians and reported these problems.

Figure 3. Patient flowchart, with group 2015 having 6 dropouts and group 2020 having 4 dropouts due to technical challenges. FAVAS: focal ambient visual acuity stimulation.



Table 3.	Baseline	characteristics	of the	two	groups
----------	----------	-----------------	--------	-----	--------

	Group 2015 (n=138)	Group 2020 (n=129)	Chi-square or t test (df)	P value
Sex			0.005 (1) <sup>a</sup>	.93
Female, n (%)	70 (50.7)	67 (51.9)		
Male, n (%)	68 (49.3)	62 (48.1)		
Age (years), mean (SD; range)	7.8 (2.1; 4.2-15.6)	7.2 (2.3; 4.3-14.7)	2.22 (265) <sup>b</sup>	.03
Amblyopia types			0.00092 <sup>a</sup>	.10
Strabismic, n (%)	65 (47.1)	61 (47.3)		
Anisometropic, n (%)	73 (52.9)	68 (52.7)		
BCVA <sup>c</sup>			N/A <sup>d</sup>	N/A
<0.39	38	29		
0.4-0.69	69	68		
>0.7	31	32		

<sup>a</sup>Chi-square test.

<sup>b</sup>t test.

RenderX

<sup>c</sup>BCVA: best-corrected visual acuity

<sup>d</sup>N/A: not applicable.

## Adherence

Children in group 2015 spent on average 2009.3 (SD 1372.1; range 36-5556) minutes on FAVAS games; children in group 2020 spent on average 2651.2 (SD 1557.1; range 38-5672) minutes on playing, meaning that group 2020 spent on average 641.9 minutes more time on FAVAS games than group 2015

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e32282

( $t_{255.49}$ =3.56, P<.001, d=0.45; 95% CI 0.69-0.20). In both groups, some patients played longer than 1.5 times of the prescribed time, which indicates that some individuals enjoyed FAVAS treatment (Figure 4). In group 2015, the mean adherence was 55.0% (SD 29.4%) of the prescribed exercise time. Adherence in group 2020 significantly improved up to

68.5% (SD 33.7%) compared to group 2015 ( $t_{254.38}$ =3.48, P=.001, d=0.44; 95% CI 0.68-0.19).

Figure 4. Box plot of adherence with FAVAS treatment games in group 2015 and group 2020. FAVAS: focal ambient visual acuity stimulation.



# Discussion

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

It was shown in earlier studies that adherence to patching is rather low, at only 60% (Table 1 and Figure 1) [2,3,5]. An overview of therapy adherence studies is shown in Table 1 and an average of occlusion compliance is shown in Figure 1. However, Loudon et al [21] and Stewart et al [20] included children younger than 4 years old, which is different from our participants. Manh et al [28] found a poor adherence of participants aged 13 to <17 years old to binocular video game treatment using an iPad at home: only 13% completed more than 75% of the prescribed 1 hour per day treatment. In this study, we showed that improving the gaming aspect and usability of FAVAS therapy can enhance patient adherence, which could possibly improve the overall therapeutic effect. Our data suggest that the new version of FAVAS with a larger selection of games attracts active participation. Backward compatibility for browsers, screen size, and hardware combined with better onboarding (patient manual, FAQ, simplified usability) seems to be a good strategy to improve patient adherence. Previous studies showed that interventions such as education cartoons for children, education flyers for parents, and sticker games have been effective in improving compliance with patching [18]. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study on the new version of FAVAS web-based treatment games for improving adherence to patching amblyopia treatment. The modifications in this FAVAS therapy could possibly be the reason for better adherence. The reported FAVAS therapy adherence in this study was better (80%) compared to the FAVAS 2015 group, indicating that this might

RenderX

be beneficial for overall treatment adherence, especially for patients with low motivation for patching. However, our data do not give precise information about the rest of the prescribed occlusion time; therefore, this conclusion should be regarded with caution.

The Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group concluded that performing common near activities in children from 3 to 7 years old did not improve visual acuity outcomes when treating anisometropic, strabismic, or combined amblyopia with 2 hours of daily patching. The study included near activity tasks that required hand-eye coordination, such as crafts, reading, writing, and computer or video games [13]. These near tasks cannot be compared to the FAVAS game. FAVAS differs in several ways from the known moving grating stimulation Cambridge Stimulator (CAM) treatment. CAM used high-contrast square-wave gratings, which were rotated in front of the amblyopic eye while playing on a transparent cover in front of the stimulator. It was initially reported to improve outcomes when combined with patching but failed to succeed in subsequent prospective randomized controlled studies [29,30]. Beyond CAM treatment, FAVAS relies not only on the spatial frequency selectivity of the ambient background stimulus but also on the interaction of its coordinated temporal frequency parameters with the focal sensory-motoric gaming activity (Kämpf et al) [15-17]. While CAM treatment is a passive treatment, FAVAS is an active treatment because patients have to interact with games. Interactions with FAVAS games require eye-hand coordination. The treatment duration differs. CAM treatment was applied for only 7 minutes, while FAVAS was applied for 30 to 45 minutes for 90 days in this study. During interactive binocular treatment, the participant wears shutter

glasses, and the images are presented to both eyes, but parts of the image are presented only to the amblyopic eye. A fine and movable stimulus is presented to the amblyopic eye, and fixed targets or backgrounds are presented to the dominant eye. Additionally, half of 1 image for each eye is shown simultaneously, and identical images are demonstrated for both eyes with a small retinal disparity [31].

It has been proven before that monocular training improves visual acuity, but contrast sensitivity improves more when grating patterns are used [14,32]. Previous studies had positive results on stereoacuity after monocular training [33]. On the other hand, not all studies show evidence of improved visual acuity after dichoptic treatment [28-34]. It should be evaluated further regarding functional outcomes such as visual acuity, stereopsis, or contrast sensitivity improvement during FAVAS therapy. A recent study showed that near visual acuity was better than distance visual acuity in amblyopic patients, so that near visual acuity tests can be used to increase the sensitivity and specificity of the distance visual acuity tests for screening and diagnosis of amblyopia. However, other studies do not find this difference and think it is likely due to test-retest variability [35,36]. This is also an aspect we have to take into account.

# Limitations

Our study has a few limitations. One is that the retrospective character and the fact that data about patching duration were only measured using electronic logbooks during the therapeutic game activity should be regarded critically. During ongoing therapeutic interventions, the adherence to patching is, on average, continuously decreasing the longer the treatment lasts [19]. Thus, our future tasks will not only be increasing average adherence but also changing the current dynamic of adherence by slowing down, maintaining, or reversing the decreasing computer-assisted adherence trend with therapeutic interventions. The results of this study show an attractive option: improving gamification and adding tablet computer functionality increased adherence, which might stop a negative dynamic during a long therapy. However, further studies with automatic occlusion dose monitoring should be added to verify our findings [37]. The long-term compliance of the FAVAS therapy has to be investigated since the binocular treatment of amblyopia using videogames study says that compliance is high early in therapy but begins to fall after 6 weeks if the game is not changed [13]. The strengths of this study are the fact that the data were generated not in an artificial setting of a trial but reflect clinical reality; also, participation was monitored objectively through electronic log files and did not include patient questionnaires regarding adherence.

# Conclusions

FAVAS therapeutic game 2020 with an improved gamification aspect as well as tablet computer functionality increased adherence significantly compared to the earlier version of FAVAS 2015, indicating that FAVAS 2020 could be an effective approach to support adherence to amblyopia treatment.

# Acknowledgments

All authors contributed to the study's conception and design. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. No funds, grants, or other support were received.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

UK is consulting Caterna Vision GmbH.

# References

- 1. Hubel D, Wiesel T. The period of susceptibility to the physiological effects of unilateral eye closure in kittens. J Physiol 1970 Feb;206(2):419-436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009022] [Medline: 5498493]
- Elflein H, Fresenius S, Lamparter J, Pitz S, Pfeiffer N, Binder H, et al. The prevalence of amblyopia in Germany: data from the prospective, population-based Gutenberg Health Study. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2015 May 08;112(19):338-344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2015.0338] [Medline: 26043421]
- Maurer D, McKEE SP. Classification and diversity of amblyopia. Vis Neurosci 2018 Jan;35:E012. [doi: 10.1017/S0952523817000190] [Medline: 29905124]
- 4. Loudon SE, Simonsz HJ. The history of the treatment of amblyopia. Strabismus 2005 Jun;13(2):93-106. [doi: 10.1080/09273970590949818] [Medline: 16020365]
- Repka MX, Beck RW, Holmes JM, Birch EE, Chandler DL, Cotter SA, Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group. A randomized trial of patching regimens for treatment of moderate amblyopia in children. Arch Ophthalmol 2003 May;121(5):603-611. [doi: 10.1001/archopht.121.5.603] [Medline: 12742836]
- Repka MX, Cotter SA, Beck RW, Kraker RT, Birch EE, Everett DF, Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group. A randomized trial of atropine regimens for treatment of moderate amblyopia in children. Ophthalmology 2004 Nov;111(11):2076-2085. [doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2004.04.032] [Medline: 15522375]
- Repka MX, Wallace DK, Beck RW, Kraker RT, Birch EE, Cotter SA, Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group. Two-year follow-up of a 6-month randomized trial of atropine vs patching for treatment of moderate amblyopia in children. Arch Ophthalmol 2005 Feb;123(2):149-157. [doi: <u>10.1001/archopht.123.2.149</u>] [Medline: <u>15710809</u>]

- 8. Wallace DK, Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group, Edwards AR, Cotter SA, Beck RW, Arnold RW, et al. A randomized trial to evaluate 2 hours of daily patching for strabismic and anisometropic amblyopia in children. Ophthalmology 2006 Jun;113(6):904-912 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2006.01.069] [Medline: 16751033]
- 9. Al-Zuhaibi S, Al-Harthi I, Cooymans P, Al-Busaidi A, Al-Farsi Y, Ganesh A. Compliance of amblyopic patients with occlusion therapy: a pilot study. Oman J Ophthalmol 2009 May;2(2):67-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/0974-620X.53035] [Medline: 20671832]
- 10. Otto J, Rabetge G. [Pleoptic training and the appearance of the "version phenomenon"]. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 1963 Nov;143:524-529. [Medline: <u>14097581</u>]
- 11. Otto J, Stangler E. [Effect of optomotor stimulation on the kind of fixation and correction of amblyopic eyes with excentric fixation]. Ophthalmologica 1969;157(2):135-141. [doi: 10.1159/000305637] [Medline: 5790897]
- 12. Bangerter A. [Amblyopia therapy]. Bibl Ophthalmol 1953;112(37):1-96. [Medline: 13018091]
- Guo CX, Babu RJ, Black JM, Bobier WR, Lam CSY, Dai S, BRAVO study team. Binocular treatment of amblyopia using videogames (BRAVO): study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2016 Oct 18;17(1):504 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-016-1635-3] [Medline: 27756405]
- 14. Rodán A, Candela Marroquín E, Jara García LC. An updated review about perceptual learning as a treatment for amblyopia. J Optom 2022;15(1):3-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.optom.2020.08.002] [Medline: 33243673]
- Kämpf U, Shamshinova A, Kaschtschenko T, Mascolus W, Pillunat L, Haase W. Long-term application of computer-based pleoptics in home therapy: selected results of a prospective multicenter study. Strabismus 2008;16(4):149-158. [doi: 10.1080/09273970802451125] [Medline: 19089760]
- Kämpf U, Muchamedjarow F, Seiler T. [Supportive amblyopia treatment by means of computer games with background stimulation; a placebo controlled pilot study of 10 days]. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 2001 Apr;218(4):243-250. [doi: 10.1055/s-2001-14921] [Medline: 11392270]
- 17. Kaempf U, Rychkova S, Muchamedjarow F, Heim E. Comparing the results of the application of moving and stationary sinusoidal gratings in the functionally assisted treatment of meridional amblyopia. 2017 Aug 30 Presented at: Poster session presented at the European Conference on Visual Perception; 2017; Berlin, Germany URL: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/</u>pb-assets/cmscontent/PEC/ECVP2017\_abstracts\_1.2.pdf [doi: 10.1101/2021.03.29.21251808]
- Tjiam A, Holtslag G, Van Minderhout HM, Simonsz-Tóth B, Vermeulen-Jong MHL, Borsboom GJJM, et al. Randomised comparison of three tools for improving compliance with occlusion therapy: an educational cartoon story, a reward calendar, and an information leaflet for parents. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2013 Jan;251(1):321-329. [doi: 10.1007/s00417-012-2107-4] [Medline: 22820813]
- 19. Wang J. Compliance and patching and atropine amblyopia treatments. Vision Res 2015 Sep;114:31-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.visres.2015.02.012] [Medline: 25743080]
- Stewart C, Moseley M, Stephens D, Fielder A. Treatment dose-response in amblyopia therapy: the Monitored Occlusion Treatment of Amblyopia Study (MOTAS). Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004 Sep;45(9):3048-3054. [doi: <u>10.1167/iovs.04-0250</u>] [Medline: <u>15326120</u>]
- 21. Loudon SE, Fronius M, Looman CWN, Awan M, Simonsz B, van der Maas PJ, et al. Predictors and a remedy for noncompliance with amblyopia therapy in children measured with the occlusion dose monitor. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006 Oct;47(10):4393-4400. [doi: 10.1167/iovs.05-1428] [Medline: 17003431]
- Awan M, Proudlock F, Gottlob I. A randomized controlled trial of unilateral strabismic and mixed amblyopia using occlusion dose monitors to record compliance. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005 Apr;46(4):1435-1439. [doi: <u>10.1167/iovs.04-0971</u>] [Medline: <u>15790912</u>]
- Stewart CE, Stephens DA, Fielder AR, Moseley MJ, ROTAS Cooperative. Objectively monitored patching regimens for treatment of amblyopia: randomised trial. BMJ 2007 Oct 06;335(7622):707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39301.460150.55] [Medline: 17855283]
- 24. Tjiam AM, Holtslag G, Vukovic E, Asjes-Tydeman WL, Loudon SE, Borsboom GJ, et al. An educational cartoon accelerates amblyopia therapy and improves compliance, especially among children of immigrants. Ophthalmology 2012 Nov;119(11):2393-2401. [doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2012.05.035] [Medline: 22920669]
- Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group, Wallace DK, Lazar EL, Holmes JM, Repka MX, Cotter SA, et al. A randomized trial of increasing patching for amblyopia. Ophthalmology 2013 Nov;120(11):2270-2277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2013.04.008] [Medline: 23755872]
- 26. Pradeep A, Proudlock FA, Awan M, Bush G, Collier J, Gottlob I. An educational intervention to improve adherence to high-dosage patching regimen for amblyopia: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Ophthalmol 2014 Jul;98(7):865-870. [doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2013-304187] [Medline: 24615684]
- 27. Perugini M, Gallucci M, Costantini G. A practical primer to power analysis for simple experimental designs. Int Rev Soc Psychol 2018 Jul;31(1):20. [doi: 10.5334/irsp.181]
- 28. Manh VM, Holmes JM, Lazar EL, Kraker RT, Wallace DK, Kulp MT, Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group. A randomized trial of a binocular iPad game versus part-time patching in children aged 13 to 16 years with amblyopia. Am J Ophthalmol 2018 Feb;186:104-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2017.11.017] [Medline: 29196184]

- 29. Campbell FW, Hess RF, Watson PG, Banks R. Preliminary results of a physiologically based treatment of amblyopia. Br J Ophthalmol 1978 Nov;62(11):748-755 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjo.62.11.748] [Medline: 718813]
- Lennerstrand G, Samuelsson B. Amblyopia in 4-year-old children treated with grating stimulation and full-time occlusion; a comparative study. Br J Ophthalmol 1983 Mar;67(3):181-190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjo.67.3.181] [Medline: 6337624]
- 31. Boniquet-Sanchez S, Sabater-Cruz N. Current management of amblyopia with new technologies for binocular treatment. Vision (Basel) 2021 Jun 10;5(2):31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vision5020031] [Medline: 34200969]
- Singh A, Sharma P, Saxena R. Evaluation of the role of monocular video game play as an adjuvant to occlusion therapy in the management of anisometropic amblyopia. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2017 Jul 01;54(4):244-249. [doi: 10.3928/01913913-20170320-04] [Medline: <u>28510773</u>]
- Dadeya S, Dangda S. Television video games in the treatment of amblyopia in children aged 4-7 years. Strabismus 2016 Dec;24(4):146-152. [doi: <u>10.1080/09273972.2016.1242637</u>] [Medline: <u>27929727</u>]
- 34. Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group, Holmes JM, Manny RE, Lazar EL, Birch EE, Kelly KR, et al. A randomized trial of binocular dig rush game treatment for amblyopia in children aged 7 to 12 years. Ophthalmology 2019 Mar;126(3):456-466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2018.10.032] [Medline: 30352226]
- 35. Ahadi M, Ebrahimi A, Ramin S. Distance visual acuity versus near visual acuity in amblyopia. Research Square. Preprint posted online on June 03, 2021 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-371532/v1]
- 36. Christoff A, Repka MX, Kaminski BM, Holmes JM, Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group. Distance versus near visual acuity in amblyopia. J AAPOS 2011 Aug;15(4):342-344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaapos.2011.05.004] [Medline: 21907115]
- Januschowski K, Bechtold T, Schott T, Huelber-Januschowski MS, Blumenstock G, Bartz-Schmidt K, et al. Measuring wearing times of glasses and ocular patches using a thermosensor device from orthodontics. Acta Ophthalmol 2013 Dec;91(8):e635-e640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/aos.12171] [Medline: 23759025]

# Abbreviations

**BCVA:** best-corrected visual acuity **CAM:** Cambridge Stimulator **FAVAS:** focal ambient visual acuity stimulation

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 28.07.21; peer-reviewed by M Piano, S Badawy; comments to author 16.01.22; revised version received 14.06.22; accepted 23.07.22; published 01.02.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Bocqué C, Wang J, Rickmann A, Julich-Haertel H, Kaempf U, Januschowski K Gamification to Support Adherence to a Therapeutic Ambylopia Treatment for Children: Retrospective Study Using a Focal Ambient Visual Acuity Stimulation Game JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e32282 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e32282</u> doi:10.2196/32282 PMID:<u>36724007</u>

©Catheline Bocqué, Jingyun Wang, Annekatrin Rickmann, Henrike Julich-Haertel, Uwe Kaempf, Kai Januschowski. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 01.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Mediating Role of Treatment Perceptions in the Relationship Between Individual Characteristics and Engagement With a Digital Psychological Intervention for Pediatric Chronic Pain: Secondary **Data Analysis**

Rocio de la Vega<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Tonya M Palermo<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Psychology, University of Malaga, Málaga, Spain

<sup>2</sup>Instituto Biomedico de Málaga - IBIMA, Málaga, Spain

<sup>3</sup>Center for Child Health, Behavior and Development, Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States <sup>4</sup>Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Tonya M Palermo, PhD Center for Child Health, Behavior and Development Seattle Children's Research Institute M/S CURE-3 PO Box 5371 Seattle, WA, 98145-5005 United States Phone: 1 206 884 4208 Email: tonya.palermo@seattlechildrens.org

# Abstract

Background: Engagement predicts benefits from self-managed treatments. However, engagement is an important concern in digital interventions, with over 50% of patients being nonadherent to interventions in chronic conditions such as chronic pain. Little is known about the individual characteristics that contribute to engagement with a digital self-management treatment.

**Objective:** This study tested the mediating role of treatment perceptions (difficulty and helpfulness) in the association between individual baseline characteristics (treatment expectancies and readiness to change) and treatment engagement (online and offline) with a digital psychological intervention for adolescents with chronic pain.

Methods: A secondary data analysis of a single-arm trial of Web-based Management of Adolescent Pain, a self-guided internet intervention developed for the management of chronic pain in adolescents, was conducted. Survey data were collected at baseline (T1), midtreatment (ie, 4 weeks after the treatment started; T2), and post treatment (T3). Online engagement was assessed using back-end information on the number of days adolescents accessed the treatment website, while the offline engagement was assessed with the reported frequency of use of skills (ie, pain management strategies) learned at the end of the treatment. Four parallel multiple mediator linear regression models, using ordinary least square regression incorporating the variables were tested.

Results: In total, 85 adolescents with chronic pain (12-17 years old, 77% female) participated. Several mediation models were significant in predicting online engagement. A significant indirect effect was found for the path expectancies-helpfulness-online engagement (effect 0.125; SE 0.098; 95% CI 0.013-0.389) and for the path precontemplation-helpfulness-online engagement (effect -1.027; SE 0.650; 95% CI -2.518 to -0.054). Fourteen percent of the variance of online engagement was explained by the model including expectancies as a predictor ( $F_3=3.521$ ; P<.05), whereas 15% was explained by the model where readiness to change was the predictor ( $F_3$ =3.934; P<.05). Offline engagement was partially explained in the model including readiness to

change as the predictor but with marginal significance ( $F_3=2.719$ ;  $R^2=0.111$ ; P=.05).

Conclusions: Treatment perception, specifically, perceived helpfulness, was a mediator of the pathway between both treatment expectancies and readiness to change and online engagement with a digital psychological intervention for chronic pain. Assessing these variables at baseline and midtreatment may help to determine the risk of nonadherence. Further work is needed to confirm these mediation pathways in larger samples.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04043962; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04043962

## (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42399) doi:10.2196/42399

## **KEYWORDS**

treatment adherence; treatment perceptions; mediators; pediatric pain; psychological intervention; digital health; treatment; intervention; engagement; self-management; psychological

# Introduction

Chronic pain is a burden for patients and their families; it has been declared a global health priority [1]. Multidisciplinary treatments have shown success in improving patient function and quality of life; however, evidence-based interventions are not widely available. The difficulty accessing pain clinics and the long waitlist times [2] call for finding new and complementary approaches to address this problem. The National Pain Strategy [3] recommends promoting and enabling self-management of pain through technology. With the development of technology and digital platforms, self-managed digital interventions are a rising therapeutic approach that can help bring evidence-based interventions to the user [4,5]. By translating validated in-person therapeutic approaches into digital interventions, the number of people with chronic pain that can receive such interventions can be dramatically increased by eliminating important barriers of access such as limited economic resources, distance from the clinics, waitlists, or limited mobility. This may allow for a significant improvement of access to specialized care and help reduce disparities. A meta-analysis on technology-delivered psychological interventions has shown some efficacy across chronic pain conditions including significantly reducing headache intensity and producing satisfaction with treatment for mixed pain conditions [5]. However, there is considerable variability in treatment engagement and treatment response. A call has been made to understand the moderators and mediators involved in predicting benefits from psychological treatments [6], in particular, to determine factors that could be targeted in different or alternative interventions that could be offered to those at risk of low treatment response [7].

Digital health approaches offer several advantages when testing for potential treatment mechanisms, such as exposing all participants to the same intervention, ensuring treatment fidelity, and collecting data prospectively at different points during the intervention in real-time, allowing for better testing of treatment mediators and processes.

On the other hand, patients following self-managed interventions are not closely monitored by their therapists, and engagement with treatment is self-motivated. Consequently, a strong candidate for mediating treatment efficacy is patient engagement, as it has been shown to be associated with treatment outcomes [8]. This is an important concern in digital interventions, with over 50% of patients being nonadherent to interventions in chronic conditions such as chronic pain [9]. Expert consensus on priority topics for future research in engagement with behavior change interventions suggests focusing on "effective engagement" instead of just "more engagement," that is, sufficient engagement with the intervention in a way that the intended outcomes are achieved [10]. It is also recommended to distinguish between engagement with the

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42399

digital intervention (online engagement) and engagement with the behavior changes taught by the intervention (offline engagement). For example, a higher use of the digital intervention (eg, more interaction and more hours spent using it) has been traditionally considered a good measure of engagement; however, it is possible that users disengage with the intervention on the web because they have already learnt the skills to change behaviors and continue to engage with those changes offline. Alternatively, users may keep engaging with the intervention digitally because they are struggling to learn the new behavior and are not able to engage with it offline.

One of the factors impacting treatment engagement is motivation. According to the Motivational Model for Pain Self-Management [11], motivation for treatment engagement is often low in people with chronic pain. It varies as a function of the perceived importance of engaging with treatment (eg, expectancies about the treatment benefits). In this study, we consider motivation to engage with the treatment in 2 ways. On the one hand, as expectancies about the treatment benefits and on the other as pretreatment readiness to change (proposed by the Transtheoretical Model of Change [12]), a concept that has been extensively studied in smoking cessation, diabetes treatment adherence, and other fields since the 1980s. In adults, high pretreatment readiness to change is associated with improvements in pain and psychological functioning after behavioral treatment [13-16]. In children, Simons et al [17] found that the strongest predictor of nonresponse after an intensive pain rehabilitation program was low readiness to change. Fortunately, readiness to change is not a trait, but a state, and it has been shown to increase after multidisciplinary pain treatment (for both children and their parents) [18].

Finally, to integrate the effects of those baseline characteristics with treatment processes, we took as a referent the Behavior Change Model for Internet Interventions [19]. This model aims to integrate treatment processes for remotely delivered interventions; one focus of this model is the perceptions patients have of the treatment, as an element that can influence engagement with the intervention. These perceptions can include, for instance, how difficult the treatment is to follow and how helpful the treatment is for coping with symptoms.

In summary, despite engagement being a clearly important variable to consider and understand, little is known about the individual characteristics that contribute to engagement with a digital self-management treatment, especially in adolescents. It is important to better understand how some baseline characteristics are associated with motivation to follow the treatment and with perceptions about it, and whether or not this influences the level of engagement with the intervention. Consequently, the main aim of this study is to examine baseline characteristics (ie, readiness to change and expectancies) as predictors of treatment perceptions (ie, helpfulness of the

treatment and difficulty following the treatment) and adherence to the treatment (both online and offline).

We hypothesized that both online (ie, number of days accessing the treatment website) and offline (ie, reported frequency of use of skills learned at the end of the treatment) engagement will be significantly and independently predicted by (1) low readiness to change, as evidenced by precontemplation scores (negative association) and (2) treatment expectancies (positive association), and they will be mediated by treatment perceptions: helpfulness (positive association) and difficulty following the treatment (negative association). In addition, we expect that individual characteristics will be significantly associated with treatment perceptions, specifically, higher expectancies will be positively associated with higher perceived helpfulness and lower difficulty following treatment recommendations, whereas precontemplation scores will have a negative association.

# Methods

# Procedures

In order to address our aims, we examined treatment process variables during the participation in a single-arm trial of Web-based Management of Adolescent Pain (WebMAP), a self-guided internet intervention developed for the management of chronic pain in adolescents [20]. A single-arm clinical trial design was chosen to study treatment processes because the efficacy of the intervention has already been proven for several outcome variables [20-24]. Another article has been published about baseline sleep as a predictor of treatment response using data from the same trial [25]; however, the variables studied in the present report and the aims are different.

## **Ethics Approval**

The trial is registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT04043962). The primary study and subsequent modifications were approved by the institutional review board at Seattle Children's Research Institute.

During the study period, participating adolescents had access to Web-based Management of Adolescent Pain (WebMAP), an interactive web-based intervention covering different aspects related to pain self-management and well-being, specifically education, stress and negative emotions, deep breathing and relaxation, coping skills at school, cognitive skills, sleep and lifestyle, staying active, and relapse prevention. There are 8 treatment modules assigned at a pace of completing 1 module per week. Data collection took place using the Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap, Vanderbilt University [26]) secure system, and in this report, we use data from baseline (T1), midtreatment (ie, 4 weeks after the treatment started; T2), and post treatment (T3). Full details can be found in the main outcomes study description [25].

## **Participants**

Inclusion criteria were (1) being 12-17 years old, (2) diagnosed with a primary pain disorder by a specialty physician in one of the participating clinics, (3) experiencing pain for at least 3 months, and (4) having access to the internet. In total, 85 adolescents with chronic pain participated in the study (12-17

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42399
```

years old). They were recruited from 2 multidisciplinary pain clinics (one specialized in headache and the other in complex chronic pain) at Seattle Children's Hospital from November 2018 to February 2020. The exclusion criteria were (1) presenting another serious health condition (eg, cancer), (2) not speaking English, (3) having active psychosis or suicidal ideation, and (4) having a diagnosis of sleep apnea or narcolepsy (due to the aims of the main study).

#### Measures

#### Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Adolescent's age, sex, race and ethnicity, annual household income, and parents' education were reported by the parents. Pain characteristics (bodily location, intensity, and frequency over the past 3 months) were reported by the adolescents. A 0 to 10 numerical rating scale [27] was used to assess average pain intensity.

# **Baseline Characteristics (T1, Pretreatment)**

#### **Treatment Expectancies**

Treatment expectancies were measured with the Treatment Expectancies Questionnaire, which assesses how participants think a treatment that may help adolescents with chronic pain. The 10-item measure assesses how likely it is that a chronic pain internet program may be useful for adolescents with chronic pain and for the management of chronic pain in different ways (eg, having less pain and making better lifestyle choices). Items are rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1="not at all likely" to 5="extremely likely"). Total scores have a possible range of 10-50, with higher scores indicating higher expectancies. This measure has been used in a previous study with pediatric chronic pain populations [28]. Cronbach  $\alpha$  was .92 in this study.

#### Readiness to Adopt a Self-management Approach to Pain

Readiness to change was measured with the 30-item Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire - Adolescent version (PSOCQ-A [29]), which assesses how ready an individual is to practice self-management of pain. The items of the PSOCQ-A assess to what extent someone is ready to act (eg, "I have been thinking that the way I cope with my pain could get better" and "I am developing new ways to cope with my pain."). Items are rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1="strongly disagree" to 5="strongly agree"). The PSOCQ-A consists of 4 factors: precontemplation (in which the individual has little interest in changing their behaviors), contemplation (in which the individual is thinking about the behavioral change but is not likely to change soon), action (in which the individual is considering behavioral change and is likely to engage in change within a month), and maintenance (in which the individual is trying to maintain their behavioral changes). Each factor has a possible range of 1-5, with higher scores indicating a greater likelihood of being in that stage of behavior change. We used the precontemplation scale for this study, as it indicates a low readiness to change, which we identified as important in predicting treatment response. Cronbach  $\alpha$  for this scale was .75.

XSL•FO

#### Treatment Perceptions (T2, Midtreatment)

#### **Treatment Helpfulness**

Participants were asked to rate on a 4-point Likert scale "How positively is the treatment affecting you?" (0="did not affect me at all" to 3= "completely").

#### **Treatment Difficulty**

Participants were asked to rate on an 11-point Likert scale "How difficult are the treatment strategies for you to use?" (0="extremely easy" to 10="impossible to do").

#### Treatment Engagement (T3, Immediate Post-treatment)

#### **Online Engagement**

Online engagement with the treatment was assessed using back-end information from the treatment website. Specifically, the number of modules completed and the number of days adolescents accessed the treatment website were recorded.

## **Offline Engagement**

Offline engagement was assessed with the reported frequency of use of skills learned at the end of the treatment. Participants were first presented with a list of all the skills taught in the treatment and asked to rate, on a 5-point Likert scale "How often are you currently using them?" (0="never" to 4="every day").

# **Statistical Analysis**

#### **Power**

As a secondary data analysis study, the sample size was determined by the number of participants (N=85) in the primary trial. That sample size is estimated to be enough to test all the paths of the mediation models proposed for this study, following the recommendations of Hayes and Rookwood [30] of including at least 10 participants per each path to be tested.

# Data Analysis Plan

In order to test all the hypotheses, we first computed Pearson correlations between all the relevant variables: precontemplation scores, treatment expectancies, perceptions about the treatment, online engagement, and offline engagement.

We then planned to integrate all the significant associations into 4 parallel multiple mediator linear regression models, using ordinary least-squares regression (model #4 in PROCESS [30]) to test for significant paths. Four models were used instead of 1 large comprehensive model due to the limited sample size that was available to conduct alternative analyses. We used treatment expectancies as the predictor (X) in models 1 and 2, precontemplation scores as the predictor in models 3 and 4, and engagement as the dependent variable (Y): online engagement in models 1 and 3 and offline engagement in models 2 and 4. The mediators (M) for all models were treatment perceptions: helpfulness and difficulty. All data analyses were conducted using SPSS (version 26; IBM Corp) for Mac [31] and the PROCESS 3.5 macro (Hayes et al) [30].

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

Participants were mostly female (n=65, 77%) and 13 (15%) were Hispanic, with a mean age of 15 (SD 1.5) years. Parents were well educated and with a medium to high income. Regarding the clinical characteristics, average pain intensity in the sample was 5.7 (SD 1.7) out of 10, average number of pain locations was 4 (SD 2.3), and the frequency of pain was daily for over half of the sample (n=57, 67%). See Table 1 for details.

Adolescents completed an average of 7 (SD 2.5) of the 8 modules of the treatment, with 51 (60%) of them completing at least 7 modules. Given the low variability, we decided to use the number of days they logged into the treatment program to compute the amount of online engagement. The two variables (ie, modules completed and days logging in) are moderately correlated (r=0.54; P<.001).



Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the sample (N=85).

Characteristics	Values
Demographic characteristics	
Age (years), mean (SD)	15.5 (1.5)
Sex (female), n (%)	65 (77)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
Hispanic or Latino	13 (15)
Race, n (%)	
American Indian/Alaska Native	5 (6)
Asian	7 (8)
Black	4 (4.6)
Latin American	7 (8)
White	77 (91)
More than one race	16 (18)
Annual household income (US \$), n (%)	
<49,999	24 (28)
50,000-99,999	25 (29)
>100,000	35 (41)
Not reported	1 (1)
Parents' education, n (%)	
High school or less	4 (5)
College or vocational school	60 (70)
Graduate or professional school	20 (24)
Not reported	1 (1)
Clinical characteristics	
Usual pain severity (0-10 NRS <sup>a</sup> ), mean (SD)	5.7 (1.7)
Pain frequency (past 3 months), mean (SD)	
Daily	57 (67)
Weekly	22 (26)
Monthly	4 (5)
Not reported	2 (2)
Pain locations (0-9), mean (SD)	4 (2.3)

<sup>a</sup>NRS: numerical rating scale.

# **Bivariate Associations Among Treatment Expectancies, Readiness to Change, Treatment Perceptions, and Engagement With the Intervention**

Participants' expectancies were moderately high on average (30.4 out of 50, SD 7.1). Their precontemplation scores were 3.2 (SD 0.9) over 5, indicating a low readiness to change. Treatment perceptions were mixed, as evidenced by a moderate perceived helpfulness score (1.8 on a 0-3 scale; SD 0.9) but also a moderate perceived difficulty score (6.9 out of 10; SD 2.3). Online engagement was adequate, with an average of 12.9 days (over 8 weeks) logging into the treatment, although there was

high variability (SD 12.2). Offline engagement was high, with a mean score of 3.1 on a 0-4 scale (SD 0.9).

As shown in Table 2, higher expectancies (T1) were significantly associated with lower precontemplation scores (ie, higher readiness to change; T1), higher perceived helpfulness of the treatment (T2), and higher offline engagement (T3). Offline engagement was also positively associated with the perceived helpfulness of the treatment (T2). Perceived helpfulness was, on the other hand, negatively associated with baseline precontemplation. Finally, online engagement (T3) was only associated with perceived difficulty of the treatment (T2), that is, higher perceived difficulty was associated with more online engagement.

Table 2. Descriptive statistics and correlations between treatment variables.

Variables	Mean (SD)	Expectancies	Precontempla- tion	Difficulty of treatment	Helpfulness of treatment	Online en- gagement	Offline engage- ment
Expectancies	30.4 (7.1)	a					
Precontemplation	3.2 (0.9)	-0.30 <sup>b</sup>	_				
Difficulty of treatment	6.9 (2.3)	0.02	0.02	_			
Helpfulness of treatment	1.8 (0.9)	0.32 <sup>b</sup>	-0.28 <sup>c</sup>	-0.02	_		
Online engagement	12.9 (12.2)	0.02	0.08	0.26 <sup>c</sup>	0.22	_	
Offline engagement	3.1 (0.9)	0.24 <sup>c</sup>	-0.11	0.19	0.27 <sup>c</sup>	0.08	_

<sup>a</sup>Not available.

<sup>b</sup>Pearson correlations significant at *P*<.01.

<sup>c</sup>Pearson correlations significant at *P*<.05.

## **Mediation Models**

# Model 1: Mediation Model With Expectancies Predicting Online Engagement

The first model proposes that expectancies would impact online engagement directly and treatment mediators which would, in turn, impact online engagement (see Figure 1).

The full regression model explained 14% of the variance of online engagement ( $F_3$ =3.521;  $R^2$ =0.14; P<.05); however, only some paths of the model were significant. Specifically, as hypothesized, higher treatment expectancies predicted higher perceived helpfulness (path *a*2: B=0.039; SE 0.014; P<.05; 95% CI 0.011-0.06), but they did not significantly predict perceived

difficulty. Direct effects (Table 3) of treatment perceptions were also significant: higher perceived helpfulness led to more online engagement (path *b*2: B=3.948; SE 1.718; *P*<.05; 95% CI 0.516-7.380), as predicted, and, contrary to the hypotheses, higher perceived difficulty also predicted more online engagement (path *b*1: B=1.468; SE 0.615; *P*<.05; 95% CI 0.240-2.696). The direct effect from expectancies to online engagement was not significant. Finally, regarding the indirect effects (Table 4), the path expectancies–difficulty–online engagement was nonsignificant, as the 95% bootstrap CIs contained zero. On the other hand, the path expectancies–helpfulness–online engagement is statistically significant as the CI did not contain zero (effect=0.125, SE 0.098; 95% CI 0.013-0.389).

Figure 1. Model 1: mediation model with expectancies predicting online engagement.





 Table 3. Summary of model 1<sup>a</sup>: direct effects.

Direct effects	Path	В	SE	P value	95% CI
Expectancies to difficulty	<i>a</i> 1	0.004	0.038	.923	-0.073 to 0.080
Expectancies to helpfulness	<i>a</i> 2	0.039	0.014	.007	0.011 to 0.066
Difficulty to online engagement	<i>b</i> 1	1.468	0.615	.019	0.240 to 2.696
Helpfulness to online engagement	<i>b</i> 2	3.948	1.718	.025	0.516 to 7.380
Expectancies to online engagement	с'	-0.059	0.205	.773	-0.468 to 0.349

 ${}^{a}R=0.374; R^{2}=0.140; F_{3,65}=3.521; P=.02.$ 

Table 4. Summary of model 1: indirect effects.

Indirect effects	Boot <sup>a</sup> effect	Boot SE	Boot LLCI <sup>b</sup>	Boot ULCI <sup>c</sup>
Expectancies to difficulty to online engagement	0.006	0.069	-0.134	0.147
Expectancies to helpfulness to online engagement	0.152	0.098	0.013	0.389

<sup>a</sup>Boot: statistics for the indirect effects are the result of the bootstrapping method.

<sup>b</sup>LLCI: lower limit 5% CI.

<sup>c</sup>ULCI: upper limit 95% CI.

# Model 2: Mediation Model With Expectancies Predicting Offline Engagement

The second model proposes that expectancies would impact offline engagement directly and treatment mediators which would, in turn, impact offline engagement (see Figure 2). That is, the variables are similar to model 1, with the exception of the outcome (offline engagement). The full regression model was not significant (P=.39). However, some of the paths were significant. Similar to model 1, as hypothesized, higher treatment expectancies predicted higher perceived helpfulness (path a2: B=0.032; SE 0.014; P<.05; 95% CI 0.004-0.060), but they did not significantly predict perceived difficulty. Direct effects (Table 5) of expectancies or treatment perceptions on offline engagement were not significant in this model. Finally, indirect effects (Table 6) were not significant.

Figure 2. Model 2: mediation model with expectancies predicting offline engagement.



**Table 5.** Summary of model 2<sup>a</sup>: direct effects.

Direct effects	Path	В	SE	P value	95% CI
Expectancies to difficulty	<i>a</i> 1	0.013	0.039	.743	-0.066 to 0.092
Expectancies to helpfulness	<i>a</i> 2	0.032	0.014	.025	0.004 to 0.060
Difficulty to offline engagement	<i>b</i> 1	0.002	0.052	.976	-0.103 to 0.106
Helpfulness to offline engagement	<i>b</i> 2	0.212	0.147	.153	-0.081 to 0.505
Expectancies to offline engagement	<i>c</i> '	0.016	0.164	.325	-0.017 to 0.049

<sup>a</sup>R=0.219;  $R_2$ =0.048;  $F_{3,61}$ =1.025; P=.39.

Table 6.	Summary	of	model	2:	indirect	effects
----------	---------	----	-------	----	----------	---------

Indirect effects	Boot <sup>a</sup> effect	Boot SE	Boot LLCI <sup>b</sup>	Boot ULCI <sup>c</sup>
Expectancies to difficulty to offline engagement	0.000	0.003	-0.011	0.004
Expectancies to helpfulness to offline engagement	0.007	0.007	-0.003	0.026

<sup>a</sup>Boot: statistics for the indirect effects are the result of the bootstrapping method.

<sup>b</sup>LLCI: lower limit 5% CI.

<sup>c</sup>ULCI: upper limit 95% CI.

# Model 3: Mediation Model With Precontemplation Predicting Online Engagement

The third model proposes that readiness to change, precontemplation scores, specifically, would impact online engagement directly and treatment mediators which would, in turn, impact online engagement (see Figure 3). That is, the variables are similar to model 1, with the exception of the predictor.

The full regression model explained 15% of the variance of online engagement ( $F_3$ =3.934;  $R^2$ =0.154; P<.05); however, only some paths of the model were significant. Specifically, as hypothesized, higher precontemplation scores predicted lower perceived helpfulness (path *a*2: B=-0.254; SE 0.108; P<.05;

95% CI -0.468 to -0.039), but they did not significantly predict perceived difficulty. Direct effects of treatment perceptions were also significant: higher perceived helpfulness led to more online engagement (path b2: B=4.047; SE 1.678; P<.05; 95% CI 0.696-7.397), as predicted, and, contrary to the hypotheses, higher perceived difficulty also predicted more online engagement (path b1: B=1.457; SE 0.610; P<.05; 95% CI 0.240-2.675). The direct effect (Table 7) from precontemplation to online engagement was not significant. Finally, regarding the indirect effects (Table **8**), the path precontemplation-difficulty-online engagement was nonsignificant, as the 95% bootstrap CIs contained zero. On the other hand, the path precontemplation-helpfulness-online engagement is statistically significant as the CI did not contain zero (effect=-1.027; SE 0.650; 95% CI -2.518 to -0.054).



Figure 3. Model 3: mediation model with precontemplation predicting online engagement.



**Table 7.** Summary of model 3<sup>a</sup>: direct effects.

Direct effects	Path	В	SE	P value	95% CI
Precontemplation to difficulty	<i>a</i> 1	0.012	0.296	.968	-0.579 to 0.603
Precontemplation to helpfulness	<i>a</i> 2	-0.254	0.108	.021	-0.468 to -0.039
Difficulty to online engagement	<i>b</i> 1	1.457	0.610	.020	0.240 to 2.675
Helpfulness to online engagement	<i>b</i> 2	4.047	1.678	.019	0.696 to 7.397
Precontemplation to online engagement	с'	1.276	1.572	.420	-1.862 to 4.415

<sup>a</sup>R=0.392;  $R^2$ =0.154;  $F_{3,65}$ =3.934; P=.01.

#### Table 8. Summary of model 3: indirect effects.

Indirect effects	Boot <sup>a</sup> Effect	Boot SE	Boot LLCI <sup>b</sup>	Boot ULCI <sup>c</sup>
Precontemplation to difficulty to online engagement	0.017	0.437	-0.793	0.964
Precontemplation to helpfulness to online engagement	-1.027	0.650	-2.518	-0.054

<sup>a</sup>Boot: statistics for the indirect effects are the result of the bootstrapping method.

<sup>b</sup>LLCI: lower limit 5% CI.

<sup>c</sup>ULCI: upper limit 95% CI.

# Model 4: Mediation Model With Precontemplation Predicting Offline Engagement

The fourth and final model proposes that readiness to change would impact offline engagement directly and treatment mediators which would, in turn, impact offline engagement (see Figure 4). That is, the variables are similar to model 2 with the exception of the predictor (readiness to change).

The full regression model was marginally significant (P=.05), explaining 11% of the variance of offline engagement

( $F_3$ =2.719;  $R^2$ =0.111). Additionally, some of the paths were significant. Similar to model 3, as hypothesized, lower readiness to change (ie, higher precontemplation scores) predicted higher perceived helpfulness (path *a*2: B=-0.239; SE 0.106; *P*<.05; 95% CI -0.449 to 0.028), but it did not significantly predict perceived difficulty. Direct effects (Table 9) on offline engagement were only significant for perceived helpfulness in this model (path *b*2: B=0.213; SE 0.104; *P*<.05; 95% CI 0.006-0.420). Finally, indirect effects (Table 10) were not significant.

Figure 4. Model 4: mediation model with precontemplation predicting offline engagement.



 Table 9. Summary of model 4<sup>a</sup>: direct effects.

Direct effects	Path	В	SE	P value	95% CI
Precontemplation to difficulty	<i>a</i> 1	-0.073	.277	.793	-0.625 to 0.479
Precontemplation to helpfulness	<i>a</i> 2	-0.239	.106	.027	-0.449 to -0.028
Difficulty to offline engagement	<i>b</i> 1	0.063	.040	.118	-0.016 to 0.142
Helpfulness to offline engagement	<i>b</i> 2	0.213	.104	.044	0.006 to 0.420
Precontemplation to offline engagement	с'	-0.100	.093	.287	-0.285 to 0.086

 ${}^{a}R=0.333; R^{2}=0.111; F_{3.65}=2.710; P=.05.$ 

Table 10.         Summary of model 4: indirect effective	ects.
----------------------------------------------------------	-------

Indirect effects	Boot <sup>a</sup> Effect	Boot SE	Boot LLCI <sup>b</sup>	Boot ULCI <sup>c</sup>
Precontemplation to difficulty to offline engagement	-0.005	0.024	-0.066	0.035
Precontemplation to helpfulness to offline engagement	-0.051	0.035	-0.131	0.002

<sup>a</sup>Boot: statistics for the indirect effects are the result of the bootstrapping method.

<sup>b</sup>LLCI: lower limit 5% CI.

<sup>c</sup>ULCI: upper limit 95% CI.

# Discussion

# **Principal Results**

This secondary data analysis of a single-arm trial of digital psychological intervention for adolescents with chronic pain evaluated individual baseline and psychological variables that predict engagement with the intervention program. For the first time, the concepts of online versus offline engagement were examined separately.

In order to better understand how those variables are related to each other, we built 4 mediation models to test for their interactions, all of them using individual characteristics (T1) as

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42399
```

RenderX

predictors, treatment perceptions (T2) as mediators, and engagement (T3) as outcomes. Two models were built with online engagement as the outcome. Both models predicted a small but significant amount of variance (perceived helpfulness was a mediator of the pathway between the predictors and online engagement). Two models, on the other hand, had offline engagement as the outcome, and these models were not significant.

Specifically, a significant indirect effect was found for the path expectancies-helpfulness-online engagement and for the path precontemplation-helpfulness-online engagement with similar variance of online engagement explained by the model when expectancies was a predictor as when readiness to change was

the predictor. Offline engagement was partially explained in the model including readiness to change as the predictor, but with marginal significance.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

As proposed by the Motivational Model for Pain Self-Management [11], our results show that readiness to adopt a self-management approach for pain management is key in engagement with a digital psychological intervention for adolescent chronic pain. Prior studies have also shown that individuals with high precontemplation scores tend to believe that pain management is the responsibility of the health care professionals (or of their parents, in the case of adolescents) [29].

Specifically, we found that readiness to change influences treatment perceptions (ie, lower readiness is related with poorer perceptions) and that this, in turn, had an impact on engagement. Similar results were observed in relation to the association between expectancies and engagement. The Motivational Model for Pain Self-Management [11] suggests that pretreatment interventions could be administered before starting treatment, as a "pre-habilitation" intervention, in order to ensure the patient is ready to adopt the treatment recommendations. Hence, assessing the stage of readiness to change and determining whether patients with low versus high levels approach (and perceive) the treatment differently is a relevant aspect to consider when deciding when patients should receive a self-administered treatment. Pretreatment sessions (eg. motivational interviews and psychoeducation) could be implemented to increase readiness to change. For instance, conducting motivational interviewing can help the patient feel heard and validated and to overcome ambivalence about starting the treatment by focusing on their specific goals. Additionally, therapists can provide education on the bio-psycho-social dimensions of pain and how the way patients behave, think, and experience emotions has an impact on subsequent pain and associated symptoms. This may help the patients to better understand how having an active role following an intervention of this kind may be helpful for their pain and increase their expectancies and their willingness or readiness to engage with it.

Focusing on the selected mediators, we found that treatment perceptions, specifically perceived helpfulness of the treatment, predicted engagement. Assessing such perceptions midtreatment, which could be done on the web, using the website or app used to deliver the digital treatment, could be used to trigger warnings for the therapist in charge (in the case of supervised interventions) or to trigger booster modules (in the case of stand-alone interventions). This may also be a criterion for stepping up care to involve human support, especially when the treatment is perceived as difficult to follow, as coaching guidance has been shown to increase adherence to digital treatments in a recent meta-analysis [32]. This could help integrate stand-alone treatments into a stepped model of care, that is, if midtreatment assessment shows high perceived difficulty, the patient may need to move to a supervised intervention with a coach that can review the exercises, discuss difficulties found, and suggest different strategies to overcome

such difficulties based on the specific characteristics (eg, skill level and personal preferences) of the patient.

It is noteworthy that participants perceiving the treatment as more difficult logged in significantly more, hence, contrary to the classic concept of engagement, greater online interaction does not necessarily mean participants like the treatment or it is useful for them, but instead, that they may be struggling to understand it or to implement the strategies. This defies the traditional concept of adherence in digital interventions, usually determined by the number of logins or intervention modules completed [33]. This emphasizes the importance of assessing online and offline engagement separately, as it seems that youth in our study who were struggling to understand how to follow the treatment needed to engage with the website more, perhaps to review the instructions provided.

From the 4 models proposed, only 1 predicted offline engagement, and with marginal significance. This may be due to other variables not considered in this study (eg, self-efficacy, pain intensity). However, we indeed observed a direct effect on one path of the model: perceiving the treatment as helpful was directly associated with the frequency of use of the skills. Literature is scarce in this area; nevertheless, some studies have shown that the use of the skills taught in digital interventions is a significant mediator in symptom reduction [34], making it a good candidate to be included in future studies on the efficacy of digital psychological interventions.

Future lines of research could use the models presented here to test engagement with digital interventions addressing mental health problems (eg, depression or anxiety) and other health conditions, such as diabetes or asthma.

#### Limitations

The findings of this work should be interpreted in light of the following limitations. First, the sample size, although usual for this type of trial, did not allow for subgroup testing or to integrate all the variables of interest in a single, more comprehensive, model. This would have allowed, for example, to test for moderated mediation and to discern the relationship between predictors and mediators. Second, most of the variables were self-reported, which might have led to a reporting bias effect. Finally, the participants lacked racial and ethnic diversity, and most were from a medium-to-high socioeconomic class, limiting generalizability to more diverse groups. Additionally, participants were mostly female, and whereas this is representative of the population with chronic pain, it might limit the generalizability to males.

In spite of the limitations, this study presents some strengths. First, the consideration of online and offline engagement separately is novel and of interest for future research on digital health. Second, the use of a digital intervention whose effectiveness has been well established, and linked to the level of engagement of the participants [21] allows us to develop firmer conclusions on the role of the different variables. Finally, the longitudinal nature of the design provided the opportunity to observe the temporal effects of the predictors on the mediators, the mediators on the outcomes, and the predictors on the outcomes.

## Conclusions

In conclusion, both of the studied baseline characteristics (treatment expectancies and readiness to change) and treatment perceptions (helpfulness and difficulty) had different degrees of direct and indirect effects on both online and offline engagement with a digital psychological intervention. Assessing these variables at baseline and midtreatment may help to determine the risk of nonadherence. Future research should include larger samples to allow for the testing of all the variables in a single model.

# Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the National Institutes of Health (R21 NR017312, PI: TP) and the Hearst Foundation (PI: RdIV). RdIV's work on this project was supported by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation with a Ramon y Cajal contract (RYC2018-024722-I). The sponsors had no involvement in the study design, collection, analysis, or interpretation of the data, writing the manuscript, or the decision to submit the paper for publication. The authors would like to thank the participating families.

# **Authors' Contributions**

Conceptualization, funding acquisition, formal analysis, writing, review, and editing of the manuscript were performed by RdlV; conceptualization, funding acquisition, project administration, supervision, writing, review, and editing of the manuscript were performed by TP.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Goldberg DS, McGee SJ. Pain as a global public health priority. BMC Public Health 2011;11:770 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-770] [Medline: 21978149]
- Palermo TM, Slack M, Zhou C, Aaron R, Fisher E, Rodriguez S. Waiting for a pediatric chronic pain clinic evaluation: a prospective study characterizing waiting times and symptom trajectories. J Pain 2019;20(3):339-347 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2018.09.009] [Medline: 30291904]
- 3. National pain strategy overview. NIH Interagency Pain Research Coordinating Committee. 2018. URL: <u>https://iprcc.nih.gov/</u> <u>National-Pain-Strategy/Overview</u> [accessed 2018-02-03]
- 4. Grist R, Porter J, Stallard P. Mental health mobile apps for preadolescents and adolescents: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(5):e176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7332] [Medline: 28546138]
- Fisher E, Law E, Palermo TM, Eccleston C. Psychological therapies (remotely delivered) for the management of chronic and recurrent pain in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;3(3):CD011118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011118.pub2] [Medline: 25803793]
- 6. Burns JW. Mechanisms, mechanisms: it really does all boil down to mechanisms. Pain 2016;157(11):2393-2394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.0000000000696] [Medline: 27548048]
- Day MA, Ehde DM, Jensen MP. Psychosocial pain management moderation: the limit, activate, and enhance model. J Pain 2015;16(10):947-960. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2015.07.003] [Medline: 26351009]
- 8. Murray CB, de la Vega R, Loren DM, Palermo TM. Moderators of internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral therapy for adolescents with chronic pain: who benefits from treatment at long-term follow-up? J Pain 2020;21(5-6):603-615 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2019.10.001] [Medline: 31606398]
- 9. Reis BF, Brown LG. Reducing psychotherapy dropouts: maximizing perspective convergence in the psychotherapy dyad. Psychother: Theory Res Pract 1999;36(2):123-136. [doi: 10.1037/h0087822]
- Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and promoting effective engagement with digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016;51(5):833-842. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015</u>] [Medline: <u>27745683</u>]
- 11. Jensen MP, Nielson WR, Kerns RD. Toward the development of a motivational model of pain self-management. J Pain 2003;4(9):477-492. [doi: 10.1016/s1526-5900(03)00779-x] [Medline: 14636816]
- 12. Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am J Health Promot 1997;12(1):38-48. [doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-12.1.38] [Medline: 10170434]
- Thanawat T, Nualnetr N. Effects of an intervention based on the transtheoretical model on back muscle endurance, physical function and pain in rice farmers with chronic low back pain. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil 2017;30(4):847-856. [doi: 10.3233/BMR-160548] [Medline: 28211797]
- Jensen MP, Nielson WR, Turner JA, Romano JM, Hill ML. Changes in readiness to self-manage pain are associated with improvement in multidisciplinary pain treatment and pain coping. Pain 2004;111(1-2):84-95. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pain.2004.06.003</u>] [Medline: <u>15327812</u>]

- Strand EB, Kerns RD, Christie A, Haavik-Nilsen K, Klokkerud M, Finset A. Higher levels of pain readiness to change and more positive affect reduce pain reports—a weekly assessment study on arthritis patients. Pain 2007;127(3):204-213. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2006.08.015] [Medline: 16997472]
- Gersh E, Arnold C, Gibson SJ. The relationship between the readiness for change and clinical outcomes in response to multidisciplinary pain management. Pain Med 2011;12(1):165-172. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1526-4637.2010.01030.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21223494</u>]
- 17. Simons LE, Sieberg CB, Conroy C, Randall ET, Shulman J, Borsook D, et al. Children with chronic pain: response trajectories after intensive pain rehabilitation treatment. J Pain 2018;19(2):207-218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2017.10.005] [Medline: 29102693]
- Logan DE, Conroy C, Sieberg CB, Simons LE. Changes in willingness to self-manage pain among children and adolescents and their parents enrolled in an intensive interdisciplinary pediatric pain treatment program. Pain 2012;153(9):1863-1870 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2012.05.027] [Medline: 22749194]
- 19. Ritterband LM, Thorndike FP, Cox DJ, Kovatchev BP, Gonder-Frederick LA. A behavior change model for internet interventions. Ann Behav Med 2009;38(1):18-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9133-4] [Medline: 19802647]
- 20. Palermo TM, Law EF, Fales J, Bromberg MH, Jessen-Fiddick T, Tai G. Internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral treatment for adolescents with chronic pain and their parents: a randomized controlled multicenter trial. Pain 2016;157(1):174-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.0000000000348] [Medline: 26335910]
- Palermo TM, de la Vega R, Murray C, Law E, Zhou C. A digital health psychological intervention (WebMAP Mobile) for children and adolescents with chronic pain: results of a hybrid effectiveness-implementation stepped-wedge cluster randomized trial. Pain 2020;161(12):2763-2774 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001994] [Medline: 32658147]
- 22. Palermo TM, Wilson AC, Peters M, Lewandowski A, Somhegyi H. Randomized controlled trial of an internet-delivered family cognitive-behavioral therapy intervention for children and adolescents with chronic pain. Pain 2009;146(1-2):205-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2009.07.034] [Medline: 19695776]
- 23. Palermo TM, Law EF, Zhou C, Holley AL, Logan D, Tai G. Trajectories of change during a randomized controlled trial of internet-delivered psychological treatment for adolescent chronic pain: how does change in pain and function relate? Pain 2015;156(4):626-634 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.j.pain.0000460355.17246.6c] [Medline: 25775441]
- 24. Law EF, Fisher E, Howard WJ, Levy R, Ritterband L, Palermo TM. Longitudinal change in parent and child functioning after internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral therapy for chronic pain. Pain 2017;158(10):1992-2000 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.0000000000999] [Medline: 28777771]
- Palermo TM, Law EF, Kim A, de la Vega R, Zhou C. Baseline sleep disturbances modify outcome trajectories in adolescents with chronic pain receiving internet-delivered psychological treatment. J Pain 2022;23(7):1245-1255. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2022.03.003] [Medline: 35283268]
- 26. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Castarlenas E, Sánchez-Rodríguez E, Vega Rde L, Roset R, Miró J. Agreement between verbal and electronic versions of the numerical rating scale (NRS-11) when used to assess pain intensity in adolescents. Clin J Pain 2015;31(3):229-234. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000104] [Medline: 24699160]
- Law EF, Wan Tham S, Aaron RV, Dudeney J, Palermo TM. Hybrid cognitive-behavioral therapy intervention for adolescents with co-occurring migraine and insomnia: a single-arm pilot trial. Headache 2018;58(7):1060-1073 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/head.13355] [Medline: 30152164]
- 29. Guite JW, Logan DE, Simons LE, Blood EA, Kerns RD. Readiness to change in pediatric chronic pain: initial validation of adolescent and parent versions of the pain stages of change questionnaire. Pain 2011;152(10):2301-2311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.06.019] [Medline: 21802852]
- Hayes AF, Rockwood NJ. Conditional process analysis: concepts, computation, and advances in the modeling of the contingencies of mechanisms. Am Behav Sci 2020;64(1):19-54. [doi: <u>10.1177/0002764219859633</u>]
- 31. IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp; 2011.
- Musiat P, Johnson C, Atkinson M, Wilksch S, Wade T. Impact of guidance on intervention adherence in computerised interventions for mental health problems: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2022;52(2):229-240. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291721004621] [Medline: 34802474]
- Donkin L, Christensen H, Naismith SL, Neal B, Hickie IB, Glozier N. A systematic review of the impact of adherence on the effectiveness of e-therapies. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(3):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1772] [Medline: 21821503]
- 34. Terides MD, Dear BF, Fogliati VJ, Gandy M, Karin E, Jones MP, et al. Increased skills usage statistically mediates symptom reduction in self-guided internet-delivered cognitive-behavioural therapy for depression and anxiety: a randomised controlled trial. Cogn Behav Ther 2018;47(1):43-61. [doi: 10.1080/16506073.2017.1347195] [Medline: 28724338]

## Abbreviations

**PSOCQ-A:** Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire-Adolescent version **REDCap:** Research Electronic Data Capture **ULCI:** upper limit 95% confidence interval **WebMAP:** Web-based Management of Adolescent Pain

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 02.09.22; peer-reviewed by H Shen, S Althammer ; comments to author 25.12.22; revised version received 16.01.23; accepted 17.01.23; published 06.03.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> de la Vega R, Palermo TM Mediating Role of Treatment Perceptions in the Relationship Between Individual Characteristics and Engagement With a Digital Psychological Intervention for Pediatric Chronic Pain: Secondary Data Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42399 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42399</u> doi:<u>10.2196/42399</u> PMID:<u>36877543</u>

©Rocio de la Vega, Tonya M Palermo. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 06.03.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Long-term Memory Testing in Children With Typical Development and Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Remote Web-based Image Task Feasibility Study

Truong An Bui<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Cory Scott Rosenfelt<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Kerri Hope Whitlock<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Mickael Leclercq<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Savannah Weber<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Arnaud Droit<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Sandra A Wiebe<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD; Jacqueline Pei<sup>5</sup>, RPsych, PhD; Francois V Bolduc<sup>1,4,6</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

<sup>5</sup>Department of Educational Psychology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Women and Children Health Research Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

**Corresponding Author:** 

Francois V Bolduc, MD, PhD Department of Pediatrics University of Alberta 3020 Katz Group Centre 11315 87 Ave Edmonton, AB, T6G 2E1 Canada Phone: 1 780 492 9616 Email: fbolduc@ualberta.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) cause individuals to have difficulty in learning facts, procedures, or social skills. NDD has been linked to several genes, and several animal models have been used to identify potential therapeutic candidates based on specific learning paradigms for long-term and associative memory. In individuals with NDD, however, such testing has not been used so far, resulting in a gap in translating preclinical results to clinical practice.

**Objective:** We aim to assess if individuals with NDD could be tested for paired association learning and long-term memory deficit, as shown in previous animal models.

**Methods:** We developed an image-based paired association task, which can be performed at different time points using remote web-based testing, and evaluated its feasibility in children with typical development (TD), as well as NDD. We included 2 tasks: object recognition as a simpler task and paired association. Learning was tested immediately after training and also the next day for long-term memory.

**Results:** We found that children aged 5-14 years with TD (n=128) and with NDD of different types (n=57) could complete testing using the Memory Game. Children with NDD showed deficits in both recognition and paired association tasks on the first day of learning, in both 5-9–year old (P<.001 and P=.01, respectively) and 10-14–year old groups (P=.001 and P<.001, respectively). The reaction times to stimuli showed no significant difference between individuals with TD or NDD. Children with NDD exhibited a faster 24-hour memory decay for the recognition task than those with TD in the 5-9–year old group. This trend is reversed for the paired association task. Interestingly, we found that children with NDD had their retention for recognition improved and matched with typically developing individuals by 10-14 years of age. The NDD group also showed improved retention deficits in the paired association task at 10-14 years of age compared to the TD group.

**Conclusions:** We showed that web-based learning testing using simple picture association is feasible for children with TD, as well as with NDD. We showed how web-based testing allows us to train children to learn the association between pictures, as shown in immediate test results and those completed 1 day after. This is important as many models for learning deficits in NDD target both short- and long-term memory for therapeutic intervention. We also demonstrated that despite potential confounding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Computational Biology Laboratory, Centre de Recherche du CHU de Québec, Université Laval Research Centre, Québec City, QC, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Neuroscience and Mental Health Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

factors, such as self-reported diagnosis bias, technical issues, and varied participation, the Memory Game shows significant differences between typically developing children and those with NDD. Future experiments will leverage this potential of web-based testing for larger cohorts and cross-validation with other clinical or preclinical cognitive tasks.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e39720) doi:10.2196/39720

#### **KEYWORDS**

memory; neurodevelopmental disorder; autism spectrum disorder; intellectual disability; developmental delay; hippocampus; recognition; paired association learning; remote testing; autism; disorder; genetics; developmental; developmental disorder; game; remote; testing; diagnose; diagnosis

# Introduction

# Neurodevelopmental Disorders Are Common

Learning new information by forming associations is at the core of development and daily functioning. Yet, our understanding of how such associations may differ between typically developing individuals and those with neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) remains insufficient in some important aspects. NDD includes a group of diagnoses, in which the development of typical brain functions, such as attention, cognition, or social functioning, is altered [1]. Examples of common NDDs include attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), autism spectrum disorder (ASD), and intellectual disability [2]. In the United States alone, approximately 1 in 6 (17%) children between the ages of 3 and 17 years had an NDD, as reported by the parents [3]. This mirrors the rate identified in population studies worldwide [4-10]. Not only individuals with NDD but also their families will experience significant financial and psychological burdens [11-13], necessitating more effort in developing targeted interventions, as most NDD will have lifelong effects [14].

# **Current Discrepancies in the Memory Type Tested Between Preclinical and Clinical NDD Models**

In the last decade, there has been a vast increase in studies identifying genes associated with each neurodevelopmental condition and the development of multiple animal models to study the disorders [15-17]. Nevertheless, there is a disparity between the cognitive testing used in humans and the cognitive measures used in animal models, which may hamper the translation of candidate treatments [18,19].

As many of the genes discovered in NDD belong to signaling pathways that were already investigated in animal models of learning and memory [20,21], many well-established "memory assays" previously used in NDD animal models do not necessarily align with NDD clinical testing. Animal testing has been focusing on studying nonassociative (sensitization and habituation) versus associative memory (fear conditioning, spatial navigation, and olfactory conditioning) [22,23], and short-term memory (STM; training and recall within minutes) versus long-term memory (LTM; 24 hours) [24]. Mutants for NDD gene orthologues and candidate pharmacological interventions have been characterized for their effects on those behaviors [25-27]. The tools to detect memory problems of NDD individuals in clinical settings, however, remain inadequate or rely heavily on self-reports [28,29]. While some of the pioneering work on memory and recall in typical individuals, such as one by Ebinhaus, investigated STM and LTM [30], most of the clinical memory testing has been focusing on STM types, such as working memory [31]. The majority of individuals with NDD, including those with common genetically defined conditions such as Fragile X syndrome [32-35], Down syndrome [36,37], Williams syndrome [38], as well as clinically defined disorders, such as specific language impairment [39,40], ADHD [41-43], ASD [44], and intellectual disability [45-48], have been found to have STM defects. LTM, however, has not been reported, except in 1 study done in the 1990s, showing LTM defects in Down syndrome [49]. We hypothesize that this is partly due to technical and financial limitations that limit the feasibility of developing novel and highly accurate memory testing, and repeated testing in a lab setting. This suggests that web-based or remote testing might be the solution.

Similarly, limitations in the current test design have limited consistent use of memory testing in NDD. Paired association is often employed clinically with the use of picture and name or word-word association [50]. This type of test relies on hippocampal functioning [51-54]. Typically, an individual will learn an association between a person's picture and their name. At testing time, they will be presented with the photo and 3 names (1 correct and 2 other names of different individuals seen in the training session). Those with NDD can have challenges in reading and have, therefore, not been exposed to paired association testing extensively [55,56]. Nevertheless, picture-based association tasks have been used for children with dyslexia [22,57] and NDD [58] to circumvent issues with language delay [59,60].

A potential issue in remote testing would be to infer the degree of attention of the participants. Control tasks [61], such as recognition of a pair, a less difficult, hippocampal-independent task, have been used to test the ability of an individual to participate and their attention to a task [54,62,63]. In this situation, using flanker images, which have never been seen before, makes recalling the association easier.

# **Emergence of Web-based and Remote Testing as a Method for Cognitive Assessment in NDD**

Touch screen-based testing has emerged as an accurate and engaging tool for testing children and individuals with NDD. Evidently, subtasks of the NIH Toolbox for the Assessment of Neurological and Behavioral Function, such as episodic memory [64] and working memory [65], have been used recently in a clinical trial for Fragile X syndrome [66]. However, those tasks



do not assess associative or LTM skills. Additionally, the NIH toolbox currently needs to be administered locally on tablets, with guidance from trained researchers in a laboratory. Another test that is used for individuals with NDD is the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery, which evaluates working memory, episodic memory, attention, and decision-making [67]. This test is licensed and has been administered in individuals with ADHD using researchers' tablets [68,69]. While being well constructed, these tests currently do not allow for the testing of associative memory at different time points. They are also limited to in situ testing in the laboratory or on researchers' devices, making it expensive and inaccessible to a large number of participants. Testing in traditional laboratory environments can also be challenging for children, especially those with NDD, considering the high prevalence of anxiety [70-76].

Thus, we aim to develop a remote web-based and accessible cognitive test, which could better mirror the type of memory

(associative) and the different time points (STM and LTM) used in preclinical models, in hope that this will make preclinical therapies more easily translated into clinical trials. Here, we assessed the feasibility of such testing administered web-based in individuals with typical development (TD) and NDD.

# Methods

# **Ethics Approval**

The project was approved by the ethics committee at the University of Alberta (Pro00033138).

# **Informed Consent**

Informed consent to participate in the study was sought from the participant's parent or guardian (Multimedia Appendix 1). Next, participants, or parents and caregivers, were asked to provide information about the participant's age, neurological and medical conditions, sex, and current medications (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Registration. Participants or caregivers enter their email addresses (to receive the participant code) and then provide demographic information as well as the diagnosis they have (if applicable).



# **Participants**

In total, 128 individuals with no known neurological conditions and 57 individuals with NDD, including developmental delay, ASD, and intellectual disability participated in the study. Eligible participants' caregivers self-reported their diagnoses or the absence thereof. Table 1 includes the demographic information for the participants. The participants were contacted by their School Board via the Healthy Infants and Children Clinical Research Program (HICCUP) or via family support groups. The access was free of charge to participants. The participants received the URL for the Memory Game.



XSL•FO RenderX

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of participants.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of p	articipants.			
Condition and age group	Day 1, n	Day 2, n		
Typical development				
5-9 years	97 (female: 4, male: 4, not available: 89)	56 (female: 4, male: 2, not available: 50)		
10-14 years	31 (female: 3, male: 3, not available: 25)	17 (female: 0, male: 2, not available: 15)		
Neurodevelopmental disorders				
5-9 years	30 (female: 7, male: 6, not available: 17)	16 (female: 5, male: 4, not available: 7)		
10-14 years	27 (female: 3, male: 6, not available: 18)	19 (female: 3, male: 6, not available: 10)		

#### The Memory Game Interface

All participation in the Memory Game was done web-based using a touch screen tablet device (eg, iPad). The procedure has five main components: (1) consent, (2) registration, (3) tutorial video, (4) training phase, and (5) testing phase.

Having completed the consent and registration, participants received a code via email, which allows them to move on to the training and testing components. These occur over 2 days. On day 1, the participants participate in 3 phases of the game: a tutorial phase, a practice phase, and a testing phase. The phases had to be completed to proceed through the test. The tutorial phase consisted of verbal and visual explanations of completing the test by properly matching the pairs. This is in the form of an instructional video to explain how the game works. A cartoon frog demonstrates with examples, while a voiceover explains what to do (Figure 2). The video is followed by the practice phase, in which participants are first shown 6 sets of pairs, followed by 6 questions. In this section, they were given feedback as to whether their response was correct or incorrect. Finally, participants went through the testing phase where they were shown 20 sets of pairs followed by 20 questions, this time without any feedback on their responses. On day 2, the participants were directed to the testing phase (as on day 1) and were not given feedback on their responses.



**Figure 2.** Tutorial video demonstration. In order to explain the task as easily as possible (without direct supervision from the researchers), a tutorial video explaining the procedure to the participants was developed. This includes a voiceover reinforcing the information provided visually about the pictures that go together.



# **Task Description**

The Memory Game includes questions testing both paired association and recognition memory, depending on the distractor photos present (Figure 3). In a recognition question, the 2 distractor photos are not part of any pairs seen in training and

have not been previously viewed. In a paired association question, 1 of the distractors will be the matching photo for a prompt not currently being displayed and so will have been previously viewed. The images used have been selected based on their shape and appearance from the Bank of Standardized stimuli (BOSS) database created by Dr Mathieu Brodeur.



#### Bui et al

**Figure 3.** Example of stimuli and paradigms used in the Memory Game. (A-D) Representative examples of pairs of images used in the training phase. The testing phase consists of 2 different types of tasks: paired association (PA) and recognition (R). (E) In the PA task, the participant must distinguish the correct association (the bee goes with the dice as seen in training 3C) but with flanker images present that were part of other associations presented in the training phase (hat from training 3D), making the task more difficult. (F) For the R task, the target image from the pair (the camera which goes with the bear) is flanked by 2 pictures, which were not seen in the training phase.



# **Task Development**

We initially developed the Memory Game for testing using E-Prime (Psychology Software Tools) and administered it to children with NDD in our developmental neurology clinic, using a touch screen laptop under the supervision of trained undergraduate neuroscience students. This allowed us to optimize the instruction video and the choice of images, and refine the task. For instance, we found that having a voiceover

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e39720

XSL•FO

during the instruction video made it easier for the participants and caregivers to follow. The choice of the pictures used for the paired association and recognition testing, which were standardized in the BOSS database, was reviewed for general understandability and quality assurance with caregivers and for formatting (orientation, color, and shapes) with 2 psychologists from our team (SAW and JP). Similarly, we changed the position of the "correct response" from left, middle, and right to prevent a "false success" if, for instance, an individual always

chose a given position. We also sought feedback from caregivers present in the room during the testing about the flow used and challenges in understandability. In addition to general comments, we ensured that the participants understood the instruction video and the training and testing phases of the Memory Game. Once established in E-Prime software, a widely used program for stimulus presentation [77], the final version of the task was discussed with the programmers (Jeffrey Van Alstine, Arthur Schuiltz, Department of Education from University of Alberta) and developed for web-based testing on tablets. The Memory Game underwent several revisions to optimize responsiveness. While diagnosis and age were included in all versions, sex was added in the second version only.

# **Coding Approach**

The Memory Game consists of 3 parts: the front-end game interface, the researcher interface, and the application programming interface (API) that both communicate with. The front-end game interface is static HTML running a custom web application built with jQuery 1.11 (OpenJS Foundation) and reliant on the YouTube iFrame API. The researcher interface is a small custom PHP 7 application with no dependencies. The API itself is constructed on the PHP Slim framework v3.4, uses PHPMailer v5.3 to send confirmation or reminder emails through a local university SMTP server, and in turn saves the data in a MySQL (Oracle Corporation) database with any identifying information (email addresses) encrypted such that it can only be decoded and read by researchers with the correct key. The Memory Game is web based and can be accessed in [78].

#### **Data Analysis**

From the game component, the percentage of correct responses was recorded, as well as the time required to answer each question as reaction time (RT).

The performance of participants with NDD was compared against the corresponding age group of the TD participants. The groups were broken down into 2 age groups: 5-9 years and 10-14 years. The percent correct score is given as a percentage of questions answered correctly. The performance on day 1 and day 2 was plotted. A line joining those 2 was drawn and the slope was used to estimate memory decay. RT is the average time participants took to answer the questions and is given in

ms. Unpaired *t* tests with assumed Gaussian distribution (using parametric test), no assumption about consistent SDs (the Welch *t* test), and no correction for multiple comparisons were performed (*P* value \* <.05, \*\* <.01, \*\*\* <.001; Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.05). Effect sizes between groups were reported as Cohen *d* values. All statistical analyses were run using Prism software (GraphPad).

#### **Outlier Analysis**

For RT, any outliers for a participant were detected using a modified Z-score [79], adapted for small data sets, and then removed. This was done on a participant-by-participant basis, with any absolute value greater than 3.5 labeled as an outlier.

# Results

# Paired Association and Recognition Performance on Day 1

We recruited individuals with TD and individuals with different types of NDD. These were self-reported by the users' parents and included developmental delay, intellectual disability, and ASD (Table 2).

We started by assessing learning performance (day 1) for individuals with NDD compared to individuals with TD. We evaluated both performance and RT for each type of paradigm (paired association and recognition) in the function of age group (5-9 years old and 10-14 years old).

The typical session length ranged from 3 to 6 minutes. Not all participants completed the test on day 1 after initiating it. For day 1, 69 TD and 32 NDD individuals started but did not finish the practice portion, while 32 TD and 14 NDD individuals finished the practice but not the testing portion. For day 2, among participants that completed day 1, 5 TD and 12 NDD started but did not finish the testing.

NDD performance was significantly lower for recognition memory in both age groups (ages 5-9 years, P<.001, d=0.89; ages 10-14 years, P=.001, d=0.90) (Figure 4A). We found that RT was not significantly different between TD and NDD individuals (ages 5-9 years, P=.90; ages 10-14 years, P=.09) (Figure 4B). We observed a trend toward decreased RT from 5-9 to 10-14 years in TD, but we did not observe such a reduction in NDD individuals.

Table 2. Distribution of diagnosis by age and day of memory test performance.

Condition	Day 1		Day 2		
	Ages 5-9 years (n=30), n	Ages 10-14 years (n=27), n	Ages 5-9 years (n=16), n	Ages 10-14 years (n=19), n	
Autism	7	3	4	2	
Developmental delay	15	12	9	9	
Intellectual disability	0	1	0	1	
Multiple conditions	8	11	3	7	



**Figure 4.** Performance in recognition (R) and paired association (PA) tasks. (A) Performance of individuals with typical development (TD) and neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) in the recognition task by age group. (B) Reaction time (RT) in the R task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. (C) Performance for the PA task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. (D) RT for the PA task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. TD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=97; TD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=31; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=30; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=27. *t* tests were performed to assess differences. \**P*<.05, \*\**P*<.01, \*\*\**P*<.001.



For paired association memory, we found significant deficits in 5-9 years old children (P=.01, d=0.53) and 10-14 years old (P<.001, d=0.94) with NDD compared to TD (Figure 4C). RT did not show significant differences (ages 5-9 years, P=.91; ages 10-14 years, P=.23) but showed a trend for decreased RT in TD (Figure 4D) between the 2 age groups. RT in NDD trended toward increasing when comparing 5-9 years old to 10-14 years old individuals, suggesting that NDD performance potentially requires more cognitive processing, and thus the increased reaction time.

We also found that recognition scores were higher than the paired association. This difference was observed for both groups; however, it was only significant for the TD groups (ages 5-9 years, P<.001, d=0.60; ages 10-14 years, P=.03, d=0.57) and not the NDD groups (ages 5-9 years, P=.53; ages 10-14 years, P=.12).

## Memory Decay From Day 1 to Day 2

We found that for the recognition task, 5-9 years old individuals with NDD presented with a faster decay in performance on day 2 (24-hour decay) compared to individuals with TD, as shown by the difference in slope (Y=5.637 in TD vs Y=9.333 in NDD) (Figure 5A). Nevertheless, this was not observed in individuals aged 10-14 years (Figure 5B). Strikingly, the opposite trend was observed for the paired association. Individuals with NDD showed similar decay in the 5-9 years old group (Figure 5C) but had higher decay in 10-14 years old (Figure 5D). No differences were observed in any of the reaction time comparisons (Multimedia Appendix 2). There was similar attrition in participation from day 1 to day 2 at all ages for both TD and NDD groups (41 out of 97 participants [42%] for individuals with TD vs 14 out of 30 [47%] for those with NDD in the 5-9 years old group, and 14 out of 31 participants [45%] in TD vs 12 out of 27 (44%) in individuals with NDD in the 10-14 years old group).



**Figure 5.** Comparative performance right after training (day 1) compared to performance the day after (day 2). (A) Performance of individuals with typical development (TD) and neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) in the recognition task by age group. (B) Performance in the recognition (R) task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. (C) Performance for the paired association (PA) task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. (D) Performance for the PA task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. TD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=97; TD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=56; TD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=31; TD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=17; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=30; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=16; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=27; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=19.



# Performance Distribution Homogeneity Between Groups

We compared individuals from TD and NDD by plotting their performance and RT in both paired association and recognition to demonstrate homogeneity. Several individuals with NDD had mixed diagnoses; hence, we could not plot them by diagnosis individually. We found that those with NDD appeared to have a different group distribution in performance, especially in the younger age group (5-9 years old), with a bimodal distribution for recognition and paired association (Figure 6). On the other hand, RT had a more uniform distribution (Multimedia Appendix 3).



**Figure 6.** Distribution of performance on day 1 and day 2 for individuals with typical development (TD) and neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD). (A) Memory performance for recognition (R) in individuals with TD of the 5-9 years old group. (B) Memory performance for R in individuals with NDD of the 5-9 years old group. (C) Memory performance for R for individuals with TD of the 10-14 years old group. (D) Memory performance for R for those with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. (E) Memory performance for paired association (PA) for individuals with TD of the 5-9 years old group. (F) Memory performance for PA for individuals with NDD of the 5-9 years old group. (G) Memory performance for PA for individuals with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. (H) Memory performance for PA for individuals with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. TD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=97; TD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=56; TD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=31, TD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=17; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=30; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=16; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=7; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=19.





# Discussion

# Feasibility of Remote Web-based Cognitive Testing

Our work shows that remote web-based memory testing is feasible for children with TD (n=128 individuals) and NDD (n=57 individuals), as early as 5 years old. Indeed, using picture matching allowed for the testing of children with NDD. The results are also consistent with a previous report of a progressive increase in performance for recognition tasks in children with TD [80]. Our task also allowed us to measure paired association memory and find significant differences between participants with TD versus NDD.

It also found that children with TD or NDD were able to perform LTM (day 2) testing in the same proportion, supporting further the feasibility of the Memory Game as a tool to probe both STM and LTM. In addition, a significantly decreased performance in individuals with NDD compared to TD was found.

# **Benefits of Web-based Testing**

We believe that the tablet approach makes cognitive testing more engaging for children. Evidently, we observed during our initial pilot testing (done in person) that most children enjoyed the game. In addition, by using pictures, we could help test individuals with limited literacy and language development, who could not perform traditional word-matching tasks. The task could be extended also to individuals using other languages; however, this will require updating the instruction video. Considering the prevalence of anxiety in individuals with NDD [67,81], we propose that remote testing with the Memory Game, being complete in the individual's familiar environment, may better capture the full potential of individuals with NDD.

Web-based testing on participants' devices is important as remote testing has been increasingly considered by researchers to resolve problems with participant compensation for travel, geographical issues in rare disorders, and recruiting large numbers of participants.

While this work focuses on clinical diagnosis (NDD), having access to a larger number of participants will be key in future work focused on specific genes or syndromes. In addition, the closer proximity of the cognitive measures tested by the Memory Game (LTM and paired association) could facilitate the translation of findings from animal models.

# **Current Limitations**

One of the trade-offs of remote web-based testing is in ascertaining the behavior of the participant as one would do with in-person testing. For instance, an individual may be distracted and perform suboptimally. The participant and caregiver may also not understand the instruction video, and thus may not be able to complete the task optimally. While we aimed to develop the instruction video with the feedback of caregivers during the early pilot testing in the clinic, it is possible that some users may not have understood it well. It is also challenging to assess how much and what type of guidance was provided by caregivers. Another important technical improvement to consider would be the flow of the test so that the next step is dependent and determined by the performance of the participant in the practice trial. At the moment, even though the participant receives feedback, they can still proceed to the testing phase regardless of their previous performance. It may be important to redemonstrate to the participant the tutorial or to train them further before they could proceed to the testing phase.

Some aspects of NDD such as repetitive behavior, or motor delay, may also impact the performance and thus, not reflect their memory capacity accurately. In addition, visual impairment could also influence the ability of participants to recognize the pictures and should be included in the future version as an item that would be reported by caregivers. Web-based testing also relies on self-reported diagnosis by caregivers, which might be incorrect. Therefore, future testing will include a correlation with in-person psychometric testing. While testing in larger cohorts may allow limiting the proportion of such outliers, smaller cohorts may be more impacted by such types of limitations. We also proposed an outlier analysis to identify individuals who may have experienced technical difficulties or stopped the test due to lack of attention or compliance, so as not to bias the results. Future research will be needed to develop adjustments for technical aspects, such as internet speed, device types, and browsers, which could also affect the results. Finally, one could also record the individual while performing the task. This has been implemented widely, for instance, during COVID-19 for web-based test administration in universities, but this presents many privacy issues and therefore was not used in the Memory Game.

In addition, despite the Memory Game allowing extensive testing by removing potential physical or geographical barriers, it remains challenging to achieve diversity of age, sex, gender, and diagnosis. Moreover, despite being potentially easier by being image-based rather than text-based paired association tasks, we recognize that many individuals with NDD may still not be able to perform the testing. In order to be of extensive use, the tutorial video will need to be translated, as well as some of the buttons, but the pictures used will be readily reusable.

This study also measured performance across different age groups but does not provide longitudinal data about memory performance in function of previous performance. Therefore, longitudinal follow-up will be important. We also recognize the importance of including individuals with diverse NDD etiology or a larger sample size of individuals, with a given specific NDD diagnosis to further assess diversity in the future and correlate the Memory Game findings with other cognitive tests such as for attention, working memory, intelligence quotient, or simpler form of plasticity (sensitization and habituation).

Future research will be needed to correlate the Memory Game performance with specific diagnoses and identify if the genes involved more specifically in LTM in animal models would affect LTM more than STM. In addition, repeated training has been shown to be important for LTM in typically developing individuals, for instance, when learning a language [82,83]. It will be interesting to evaluate if individuals with NDD would perform similarly on such tasks; however, we did not include those paradigms at this time based on the feedback of families

XSL•FO RenderX

in our initial development phase mentioning the importance of keeping the task short.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Dr Achim and Beaulieu for their help with the BOSS database of pictures. We would also like to thank Drs Tim Tully and Mary Pyc for providing constructive feedback for the design of the Memory Game.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# Multimedia Appendix 1

Online consent. The participants (or caregivers) first see the landing page with the Memory Game logo and are then directed to a consent form (approved by the University of Alberta). The participant (or caregiver) can then decide whether to give consent or not.

[PNG File , 186 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e39720\_app1.png ]

# Multimedia Appendix 2

Comparative reaction time right after training (day 1) compared to performance the day after (day 2). (A) Reaction time (RT) of individuals with typical development (TD) and neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) in the recognition (R) task by age group. (B) RT in the R task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. (C) RT for the paired association (PA) task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. (D) RT for the PA task in individuals with TD and NDD by age group. TD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=97; TD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=56; TD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=31; TD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=17; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=30; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=16; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=27; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=19. [PNG File , 125 KB - pediatrics v6i1e39720 app2.png ]

# Multimedia Appendix 3

Distribution of reaction time on day 1 and day 2 for individuals with typical development (TD) and neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD). (A) Reaction time (RT) for recognition (R) of individuals with TD of the 5-9 years old group. (B) RT for recognition of individuals with NDD of the 5-9 years old group. (C) RT for R for individuals with typical development of the 10-14 years old group. (D) RT for R for individuals with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. (E) RT for paired association (PA) for individuals with TD of the 5-9 years old group. (F) RT for PA for individuals with NDD of the 5-9 years old group. (G) RT for PA for individuals with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. (F) RT for PA for individuals with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. (G) RT for PA for individuals with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. (F) RT for PA for individuals with NDD of the 10-14 years old group. TD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=97; TD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=56; TD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=31; TD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=17; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 1: n=30; NDD ages 5-9 years, day 2: n=16; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 1: n=27; NDD ages 10-14 years, day 2: n=19.

[PNG File, 165 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e39720\_app3.png]

# References

- Thapar A, Cooper M, Rutter M. Neurodevelopmental disorders. Lancet Psychiatry 2017;4(4):339-346. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30376-5] [Medline: 27979720]
- Jeste SS. Neurodevelopmental behavioral and cognitive disorders. Continuum (Minneap Minn) 2015;21(3):690-714. [doi: 10.1212/01.CON.0000466661.89908.3c] [Medline: 26039849]
- Zablotsky B, Black LI, Maenner MJ, Schieve LA, Danielson ML, Bitsko RH, et al. Prevalence and trends of developmental disabilities among children in the United States: 2009-2017. Pediatrics 2019;144(4):e20190811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-0811] [Medline: <u>31558576</u>]
- 4. Arora NK, Nair MKC, Gulati S, Deshmukh V, Mohapatra A, Mishra D, et al. Neurodevelopmental disorders in children aged 2-9 years: population-based burden estimates across five regions in India. PLoS Med 2018;15(7):e1002615 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002615] [Medline: 30040859]
- 5. Emerson E. Deprivation, ethnicity and the prevalence of intellectual and developmental disabilities. J Epidemiol Community Health 2012;66(3):218-224. [doi: 10.1136/jech.2010.111773] [Medline: 20889590]
- 6. Taylor E. Developing ADHD. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2009;50(1-2):126-132. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.01999.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19076263</u>]
- Johnson S, Fawke J, Hennessy E, Rowell V, Thomas S, Wolke D, et al. Neurodevelopmental disability through 11 years of age in children born before 26 weeks of gestation. Pediatrics 2009;124(2):e249-e257. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-3743] [Medline: 19651566]
- 8. Zauche LH, Darcy Mahoney AE, Higgins MK. Predictors of co-occurring neurodevelopmental disabilities in children with autism spectrum disorders. J Pediatr Nurs 2017;35:113-119. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2017.04.002] [Medline: 28728761]

- 9. Hansen BH, Oerbeck B, Skirbekk B, Petrovski B, Kristensen H. Neurodevelopmental disorders: prevalence and comorbidity in children referred to mental health services. Nord J Psychiatry 2018;72(4):285-291. [doi: 10.1080/08039488.2018.1444087] [Medline: 29488416]
- Tatishvili N, Gabunia M, Laliani N, Tatishvili S. Epidemiology of neurodevelopmental disorders in 2 years old Georgian children. Pilot study - population based prospective study in a randomly chosen sample. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2010;14(3):247-252. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejpn.2009.07.004</u>] [Medline: <u>19683948</u>]
- Knüppel A, Telléus GK, Jakobsen H, Lauritsen MB. Quality of life in adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorder: results from a nationwide Danish survey using self-reports and parental proxy-reports. Res Dev Disabil 2018;83:247-259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2018.09.004] [Medline: 30312897]
- 12. Alves NS, Gavina VP, Cortellazzi KL, Antunes LAA, Silveira FM, Assaf AV. Analysis of clinical, demographic, socioeconomic, and psychosocial determinants of quality of life of persons with intellectual disability: a cross-sectional study. Spec Care Dentist 2016;36(6):307-314. [doi: 10.1111/scd.12196] [Medline: 27545115]
- Bastiaansen D, Koot HM, Ferdinand RF, Verhulst FC. Quality of life in children with psychiatric disorders: self-, parent, and clinician report. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2004;43(2):221-230. [doi: <u>10.1097/00004583-200402000-00019</u>] [Medline: <u>14726730</u>]
- 14. Kripke C. Adults with developmental disabilities: a comprehensive approach to medical care. Am Fam Physician 2018;97(10):649-656 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29763271]
- Tello JA, Williams HE, Eppler RM, Steinhilb ML, Khanna M. Animal models of neurodegenerative disease: recent advances in fly highlight innovative approaches to drug discovery. Front Mol Neurosci 2022;15:883358 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2022.883358] [Medline: 35514431]
- Molenhuis RT, Bruining H, Brandt MJV, van Soldt PE, Abu-Toamih Atamni HJ, Burbach JPH, et al. Modeling the quantitative nature of neurodevelopmental disorders using collaborative cross mice. Mol Autism 2018;9:63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13229-018-0252-2] [Medline: 30559955]
- 17. Doi M, Li M, Usui N, Shimada S. Genomic strategies for understanding the pathophysiology of autism spectrum disorder. Front Mol Neurosci 2022;15:930941 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2022.930941] [Medline: 35813066]
- Stephan M, Volkmann P, Rossner MJ. Assessing behavior and cognition in rodents, nonhuman primates, and humans: where are the limits of translation? Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2019;21(3):249-259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2019.21.3/mrossner] [Medline: 31749649]
- 19. Zhao X, Bhattacharyya A. Human models are needed for studying human neurodevelopmental disorders. Am J Hum Genet 2018;103(6):829-857 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2018.10.009] [Medline: 30526865]
- 20. Parenti I, Rabaneda LG, Schoen H, Novarino G. Neurodevelopmental disorders: from genetics to functional pathways. Trends Neurosci 2020;43(8):608-621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2020.05.004] [Medline: 32507511]
- 21. Kumar S, Reynolds K, Ji Y, Gu R, Rai S, Zhou CJ. Impaired neurodevelopmental pathways in autism spectrum disorder: a review of signaling mechanisms and crosstalk. J Neurodev Disord 2019;11(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s11689-019-9268-y] [Medline: 31202261]
- 22. Messbauer VCS, de Jong PF. Word, nonword, and visual paired associate learning in Dutch dyslexic children. J Exp Child Psychol 2003;84(2):77-96. [doi: 10.1016/s0022-0965(02)00179-0] [Medline: 12609494]
- 23. Liu C, Chung KKH. The relationships between paired associate learning and Chinese word writing in kindergarten children. Read Writ 2021;34:2127-2148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11145-021-10138-5]
- 24. Atkinson RC, Shiffrin RM. Human memory: a proposed system and its control processes. Psychol Learn Motiv 1968;2:89-195. [doi: 10.1016/s0079-7421(08)60422-3]
- 25. Androschuk A, Al-Jabri B, Bolduc FV. From learning to memory: what flies can tell us about intellectual disability treatment. Front Psychiatry 2015;6:85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2015.00085] [Medline: 26089803]
- 26. Bolduc FV, Tully T. Fruit flies and intellectual disability. Fly 2009;3(1):91-104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4161/fly.3.1.7812] [Medline: 19182539]
- 27. Androschuk A, Bolduc FV. Modeling intellectual disability in drosophila. In: Yager J, editor. Animal Models of Neurodevelopmental Disorders. New York: Humana Press; 2015:215-237.
- Seifan A, Shih C, Hackett K, Pensack MJ, Schelke MW, Lin M, et al. Detection of neurodevelopmental diversity in memory clinics-validation of a self-report measure. Res Dev Disabil 2018;77:60-67. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ridd.2018.03.009</u>] [Medline: <u>29660590</u>]
- Gathercole SE, Alloway TP. Practitioner review: short-term and working memory impairments in neurodevelopmental disorders: diagnosis and remedial support. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2006;47(1):4-15. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2005.01446.x] [Medline: 16405635]
- 30. Ebbinghaus H. Memory: A Contribution to Experimental Psychology. New York: Teachers College Press; 1913.
- 31. Cowan N. What are the differences between long-term, short-term, and working memory? Prog Brain Res 2008;169:323-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(07)00020-9] [Medline: 18394484]
- 32. Munir F, Cornish KM, Wilding J. Nature of the working memory deficit in fragile-X syndrome. Brain Cogn 2000;44(3):387-401. [doi: 10.1006/brcg.1999.1200] [Medline: 11104532]

- 33. Munir F, Cornish KM, Wilding J. A neuropsychological profile of attention deficits in young males with fragile X syndrome. Neuropsychologia 2000;38(9):1261-1270. [doi: 10.1016/s0028-3932(00)00036-1] [Medline: 10865102]
- 34. Baker S, Hooper S, Skinner M, Hatton D, Schaaf J, Ornstein P, et al. Working memory subsystems and task complexity in young boys with fragile X syndrome. J Intellect Disabil Res 2011;55(1):19-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01343.x] [Medline: 21121991]
- 35. Menon V, Leroux J, White CD, Reiss AL. Frontostriatal deficits in fragile X syndrome: relation to FMR1 gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101(10):3615-3620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.0304544101] [Medline: 14993603]
- 36. Buckley S, Broadley I, MacDonald J. Working memory in children with Down Syndrome. Down Syndr Res Pract 1995;3(1):3-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3104/reports.44]
- 37. Lukowski AF, Milojevich HM, Eales L. Cognitive functioning in children with Down Syndrome: current knowledge and future directions. Adv Child Dev Behav 2019;56:257-289. [doi: 10.1016/bs.acdb.2019.01.002] [Medline: 30846049]
- 38. Farran EK, Jarrold C, Gathercole SE. Block design performance in the Williams syndrome phenotype: a problem with mental imagery? J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2001;42(6):719-728. [doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00768] [Medline: 11583244]
- Ellis Weismer S, Evans J, Hesketh LJ. An examination of verbal working memory capacity in children with specific language impairment. J Speech Lang Hear Res 1999;42(5):1249-1260. [doi: <u>10.1044/jslhr.4205.1249</u>] [Medline: <u>10515519</u>]
- Ellis Weismer S, Tomblin JB, Zhang X, Buckwalter P, Chynoweth JG, Jones M. Nonword repetition performance in school-age children with and without language impairment. J Speech Lang Hear Res 2000;43(4):865-878. [doi: 10.1044/jslhr.4304.865] [Medline: 11386474]
- Geurts HM, Verté S, Oosterlaan J, Roeyers H, Sergeant JA. How specific are executive functioning deficits in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autism? J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2004;45(4):836-854. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00276.x] [Medline: 15056314]
- 42. Fahie CM, Symons DK. Executive functioning and theory of mind in children clinically referred for attention and behavior problems. J Appl Dev Psychol 2003;24(1):51-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0193-3973(03)00024-8]
- 43. Kerns KA, McInerney RJ, Wilde NJ. Time reproduction, working memory, and behavioral inhibition in children with ADHD. Child Neuropsychol 2001;7(1):21-31. [doi: <u>10.1076/chin.7.1.21.3149</u>] [Medline: <u>11815878</u>]
- Rabiee A, Vasaghi-Gharamaleki B, Samadi SA, Amiri-Shavaki Y, Alaghband-Rad J. Working memory deficits and its relationship to autism spectrum disorders. Iran J Med Sci 2020;45(2):100-109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30476/IJMS.2019.45315] [Medline: <u>32210486</u>]
- 45. Van der Molen MJ, Van Luit JE, Van der Molen MW, Jongmans MJ. Everyday memory and working memory in adolescents with mild intellectual disability. Am J Intellect Dev Disabil 2010;115(3):207-217. [doi: 10.1352/1944-7558-115.3.207] [Medline: 20441391]
- 46. Palomino E, López-Frutos JM, Botella J, Sotillo M. Impairment of cognitive memory inhibition in individuals with intellectual disability: a meta-analysis. Psicothema 2019;31(4):384-392. [doi: <u>10.7334/psicothema2019.107</u>] [Medline: <u>31634082</u>]
- 47. Carretti B, Belacchi C, Cornoldi C. Difficulties in working memory updating in individuals with intellectual disability. J Intellect Disabil Res 2010;54(4):337-345. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01267.x] [Medline: 20433571]
- 48. Schuchardt K, Gebhardt M, Mäehler C. Working memory functions in children with different degrees of intellectual disability. J Intellect Disabil Res 2010;54(4):346-353. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01265.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20433572</u>]
- 49. Carlesimo GA, Marotta L, Vicari S. Long-term memory in mental retardation: evidence for a specific impairment in subjects with Down's syndrome. Neuropsychologia 1997;35(1):71-79. [doi: 10.1016/s0028-3932(96)00055-3] [Medline: 8981379]
- 50. Byrne JH, editor. Learning and Memory: A Comprehensive Reference. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Academic Press; 2008.
- 51. Manns JR, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. Semantic memory and the human hippocampus. Neuron 2003;38(1):127-133.
- 52. Squire LR, Zola SM. Episodic memory, semantic memory, and amnesia. Hippocampus 1998;8(3):205-211. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1098-1063(1998)8:3<205::aid-hipo3>3.0.co;2-i]
- 53. Lee I, Solivan F. The roles of the medial prefrontal cortex and hippocampus in a spatial paired-association task. Learn Mem 2008;15(5):357-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/lm.902708] [Medline: 18463175]
- 54. Yoon J, Seo Y, Kim J, Lee I. Hippocampus is required for paired associate memory with neither delay nor trial uniqueness. Learn Mem 2011;19(1):1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/lm.024554.111] [Medline: 22174309]
- 55. Brimo K, Dinkler L, Gillberg C, Lichtenstein P, Lundström S, Åsberg Johnels J. The co-occurrence of neurodevelopmental problems in dyslexia. Dyslexia 2021;27(3):277-293. [doi: <u>10.1002/dys.1681</u>] [Medline: <u>33759268</u>]
- 56. Rodríguez C, Areces D, García T, Cueli M, Gonzalez-Castro P. Neurodevelopmental disorders: an innovative perspective the response to intervention model. World J Psychiatry 2021;11(11):1017-1026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5498/wjp.v11.i11.1017] [Medline: 34888170]
- Romani C, Di Betta AM, Tsouknida E, Olson A. Lexical and nonlexical processing in developmental dyslexia: a case for different resources and different impairments. Cogn Neuropsychol 2008;25(6):798-830. [doi: <u>10.1080/02643290802347183</u>] [Medline: <u>18781498</u>]
- 58. Eden GF, Olulade OA, Evans TM, Krafnick AJ, Alkire DR. Developmental dyslexia. In: Neurobiology of Language. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Academic Press; 2016:815-826.

XSL•FO RenderX
- Millward LJ, Bryan K, Everatt J, Collins R. Clinicians and dyslexia--a computer-based assessment of one of the key cognitive skills involved in drug administration. Int J Nurs Stud 2005;42(3):341-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2004.07.001] [Medline: 15708021]
- 60. FragaGonzález G, Karipidis II, Tijms J. Dyslexia as a neurodevelopmental disorder and what makes it different from a chess disorder. Brain Sci 2018;8(10):189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/brainsci8100189] [Medline: 30347764]
- 61. Eriksen BA, Eriksen CW. Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. Percept psychophys 1974;16:143-149. [doi: 10.3758/bf03203267]
- 62. Yoon T, Graham LK, Kim JJ. Hippocampal lesion effects on occasion setting by contextual and discrete stimuli. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2011;95(2):176-184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2010.07.001] [Medline: 20643219]
- 63. Düzel E, Vargha-Khadem F, Heinze HJ, Mishkin M. Brain activity evidence for recognition without recollection after early hippocampal damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98(14):8101-8106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.131205798] [Medline: 11438748]
- 64. Weintraub S, Dikmen SS, Heaton RK, Tulsky DS, Zelazo PD, Bauer PJ, et al. Cognition assessment using the NIH toolbox. Neurology 2013;80(11 suppl 3):S54-S64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182872ded] [Medline: 23479546]
- Tulsky DS, Carlozzi N, Chiaravalloti ND, Beaumont JL, Kisala PA, Mungas D, et al. NIH toolbox cognition battery (NIHTB-CB): list sorting test to measure working memory. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2014;20(6):599-610 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S135561771400040X] [Medline: 24959983]
- 66. Berry-Kravis EM, Harnett MD, Reines SA, Reese MA, Ethridge LE, Outterson AH, et al. Inhibition of phosphodiesterase-4D in adults with fragile X syndrome: a randomized, placebo-controlled, phase 2 clinical trial. Nat Med 2021;27(5):862-870. [doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01321-w] [Medline: 33927413]
- 67. Goldberg MC. CANTAB. In: Volkmar FR, editor. Encyclopedia of Autism Spectrum Disorders. New York: Springer; 2013:519-522.
- Gau SS, Shang CY. Executive functions as endophenotypes in ADHD: evidence from the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Battery (CANTAB). J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2010;51(7):838-849. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02215.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20085608</u>]
- Fried R, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Petty C, Batchelder H, Biederman J. How informative is the CANTAB to assess executive functioning in children with ADHD? A controlled study. J Atten Disord 2015;19(6):468-475. [doi: 10.1177/1087054712457038] [Medline: 22923781]
- 70. Lerwick JL. The Impact of Child-Centered Play Therapy on Anxiety Levels in Pre-Neurosurgical Pediatric Patients. Ann Arbor, Michigan: ProQuest LLC; 2012.
- 71. Smith ML. Interventions to minimize distress during pediatric primary care visits: a systematic literature review. BYU: Brigham Young University. 2014. URL: <u>https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/studentpub/4/</u> [accessed 2022-11-28]
- 72. Erikson EH. Childhood and Society. 2nd ed. New York: Norton; 1963.
- 73. Brown GW. Measurement and the epidemiology of childhood trauma. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 2002;7(2):66-79. [doi: 10.1053/scnp.2002.31775] [Medline: 11953930]
- 74. Pine DS, Cohen JA. Trauma in children and adolescents: risk and treatment of psychiatric sequelae. Biol Psychiatry 2002;51(7):519-531. [doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(01)01352-x] [Medline: 11950454]
- Rodriguez CM, Clough V, Gowda AS, Tucker MC. Multimethod assessment of children's distress during noninvasive outpatient medical procedures: child and parent attitudes and factors. J Pediatr Psychol 2012;37(5):557-566. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jss005] [Medline: 22427698]
- 76. Morse BA. Handbook of Play Therapy. Edited by Charles E. Schaefer and Kevin J. O'Connor. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1983. 489 pp. \$34.95. Child Sch 1985;7(4):266-267. [doi: 10.1093/cs/7.4.266]
- 77. E-Prime®. Psychology Software Tools: Solutions for Research, Assessment, and Education. 2017. URL: <u>https://pstnet.</u> <u>com/products/e-prime/</u> [accessed 2023-01-11]
- 78. The Memory Game. Dart NeuroScience, LLC. URL: https://memory-game.med.ualberta.ca [accessed 2023-02-27]
- 79. Iglewicz B, Hoaglin DC. How to Detect and Handle Outliers. Milwaukee, Wisconsin: ASQC Quality Press; 1993.
- 80. Riggins T, Rollins L. Developmental differences in memory during early childhood: insights from event-related potentials. Child Dev 2015;86(3):889-902 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/cdev.12351] [Medline: 25677124]
- 81. Kerns CM, Renno P, Storch EA, Kendall PC, Wood JJ, editors. Anxiety in Children and Adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder: Evidence-Based Assessment and Treatment. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Academic Press; 2017.
- 82. Kelley P, Whatson T. Making long-term memories in minutes: a spaced learning pattern from memory research in education. Front Hum Neurosci 2013;7:589 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00589] [Medline: 24093012]
- Smith CD, Scarf D. Spacing repetitions over long timescales: a review and a reconsolidation explanation. Front Psychol 2017;8:962 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00962] [Medline: 28676769]

### Abbreviations

RenderX

**ADHD:** attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder **API:** application programming interface

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e39720

ASD: autism spectrum disorder BOSS: Bank of Standardized stimuli LTM: long-term memory NDD: neurodevelopmental disorders RT: reaction time STM: short-term memory TD: typical development

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 20.05.22; peer-reviewed by K Shamlian, J Louw; comments to author 24.06.22; revised version received 13.12.22; accepted 20.01.23; published 08.05.23.

Please cite as:

Bui TA, Rosenfelt CS, Whitlock KH, Leclercq M, Weber S, Droit A, Wiebe SA, Pei J, Bolduc FV Long-term Memory Testing in Children With Typical Development and Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Remote Web-based Image Task Feasibility Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e39720 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e39720 doi:10.2196/39720 PMID:37155237

©Truong An Bui, Cory Scott Rosenfelt, Kerri Hope Whitlock, Mickael Leclercq, Savannah Weber, Arnaud Droit, Sandra A Wiebe, Jacqueline Pei, Francois V Bolduc. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 08.05.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Comprehension by Caregivers and Adolescents of Clinical Trial Information Delivered via Multimedia Video Versus Conventional Practice: Nonrandomized Controlled Trial

Kathryn V Blake<sup>1</sup>, PharmD; Holly Antal<sup>2</sup>, PhD; H Timothy Bunnell<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Jiaxian He<sup>4</sup>, MS; Robert Henderson<sup>4</sup>, MS; Janet T Holbrook<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Suzanne M McCahan<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Chris Pennington<sup>3</sup>, MS; Linda Rogers<sup>5</sup>, MD; David Shade<sup>4</sup>, JD; Elizabeth A Sugar<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Alexandra Taylor<sup>6</sup>, MA; Robert A Wise<sup>7</sup>, MD; Tim Wysocki<sup>6</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Center for Pharmacogenomics and Translational Research, Nemours Children's Health, Jacksonville, FL, United States

- <sup>4</sup>Center for Clinical Trials and Evidence Synthesis, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States
- <sup>5</sup>Mount Sinai-National Jewish Health Respiratory Institute, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States

<sup>7</sup>Johns Hopkins Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

**Corresponding Author:** 

Kathryn V Blake, PharmD Center for Pharmacogenomics and Translational Research Nemours Children's Health 807 Children's Way Jacksonville, FL, 32207 United States Phone: 1 9046865047 Email: kathryn.blake@nemours.org

# Abstract

**Background:** Research participants often misunderstand the required elements of informed consent information, whether provided in written or oral format. Informed consent instruments with embedded evidence-based learning theory principles administered in multimedia electronic formats may improve comprehension and retention.

**Objective:** This study aims to determine whether study information comprehension and retention using an interactive multimedia video consent process was noninferior to comprehension and retention after an in-person face-to-face interaction with a conventional written consent document for caregivers and adolescents enrolled in a clinical trial.

**Methods:** Participants were caregivers and children aged 12 to 17 years who were enrolled in a clinical trial of asthma treatment. Consent information was presented as a multimedia web-based video consent interaction or as a conventional written consent document with in-person interaction between the prospective participants and the study staff. The trial used a parallel nonrandomized noninferiority design that compared the 2 consent methods. Caregivers and adolescents completed a 17-item open-ended comprehension questionnaire (score range 17-51) at enrollment and at the end of the study 20 weeks later. Comprehension and retention were compared between the consent formats. Noninferiority was established if the 95% CI upper bound of the difference in scores (conventional format minus web-based) was less than the noninferiority margin of 2.4; superiority was established if the upper bound of the CI was <0.

**Results:** In total, 54 caregiver and adolescent dyads completed the interactive multimedia web-based video consent, and 25 dyads completed the conventional consent. Overall, 33% (26/79) of all adolescents were Black, 57% (45/79) were male, and 61% (48/79) had a household income of  $\langle US \rangle$  \$60,000 per year. For caregivers, the interactive multimedia web-based format was noninferior to the conventional format at enrollment (difference between the conventional and web-based formats: mean -0.30, 95% CI -2.52 to 1.92) and was superior at the end of the study 20 weeks later (mean -2.20, 95% CI -3.9 to -0.5). There was a loss of comprehension over 20 weeks (mean -1.65, 95% CI -3.1 to -0.19) with the conventional format but not with the multimedia web-based format (mean 0.14, 95% CI -0.84 to 1.12). For adolescents, the noninferiority of the multimedia web-based format was not established.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Division of Psychology and Neuropsychology, Nemours Children's Health, Jacksonville, FL, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Bioinformatics Research Informatics Center, Nemours Children's Health, Wilmington, DE, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Center for Healthcare Delivery Science, Nemours Children's Health, Jacksonville, FL, United States

**Conclusions:** Caregivers who are considering enrolling their adolescent in an asthma clinical trial have similar comprehension of study information when delivered through an interactive multimedia web-based platform, which incorporates evidence-based learning theory principles, compared with having a conventional in-person, face-to-face discussion. The retention of study information over time was better with the multimedia format for caregivers.

**Trial Registration:** ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02061280; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02061280 and NCT01437995; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01437995

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44252) doi:10.2196/44252

#### **KEYWORDS**

adolescent; clinical trial; comprehension; informed consent; internet; multimedia

### Introduction

#### Background

Obtaining informed consent is one of the main protections of human subject participation in research and must be obtained before any research procedure, unless a waiver is approved by an institutional review board (IRB) [1]. The consent process is characterized by three features: (1) disclosing sufficient information for the participant to make an informed decision, (2) facilitating the understanding of that information, and (3) underscoring the voluntariness of participation in research [1]. Enrolling dependent youth or child participants in research studies adds complexity because of the need to obtain permission from the parent or legal guardian as well as assent from the child (as young as 7 years) who is capable based on age, maturity, and psychological state [2-4]. Federal regulations and guidance documents are silent on the information to be provided during the assent process; however, the assent would be expected to increase in complexity as a child ages. The provision of assent by a child expresses their willingness to participate, although there is no regulatory requirement to ensure that the required elements of consent have been effectively communicated [1,4]. Federal regulations allow informed consent information to be presented in a written or verbal format.

There is ample evidence that research participants have a poor understanding of the federally required elements in informed consent documents, regardless of format [5-15]. The problem is exacerbated by the complexity and length of typical written consent documents that now, because of intensified institutional oversight, have more regulatory requirements that require the inclusion of difficult-to-understand legal language [13,16]. Strategies to promote the understanding of research study information such as modified layouts, lower reading levels, and multimedia presentations have shown mixed results [16]. However, many of these strategies did not incorporate evidence-based learning principles [13,17,18]. Furthermore, studies that measured understanding often used closed-ended questions that primarily test recall versus open-ended questions, which can assess the comprehension of learned information. Few studies have assessed the comprehension of study

information in children or adolescents who were actually enrolled in a clinical trial [12-14,19].

#### Objectives

To address these issues, we designed an interactive multimedia video and associated website for caregivers and adolescents considering participation in an asthma clinical trial to compare study comprehension with the conventional in-person face-to-face consent process. The interactive multimedia video and website applied evidence-based learning theory principles designed to enhance learning while reducing cognitive load in participants with varying levels of health literacy [18,20-22]. We hypothesized that study comprehension following multimedia video consent and website interaction would be noninferior to the conventional consent process.

# Methods

#### **Overall Trial Design**

The study comprehension evaluation by consent format was designed as a substudy nested within 2 asthma clinical trials: one trial using conventional procedures for consent, enrollment, and follow-up (Long-Acting Beta-Agonist Step-Down Study [LASST]) and the other trial using web-based and video procedures for study conduct (Use of Mobile Devices and the Internet to Streamline an Asthma Clinical Trial [MICT]; Figure 1). The LASST clinical trial was a multicenter, double blinded to treatment (Advair 250/50 [GlaxoSmithKline], Advair 100/50 [GlaxoSmithKline], and Flovent 250 [GlaxoSmithKline]) study designed to evaluate de-escalation strategies in participants aged  $\geq 12$  years with moderate persistent asthma that was well controlled with a fixed-dose combination of inhaled corticosteroid plus a long-acting  $\beta_2$ -agonist (LASST; NCT01437995) [23]. LASST included an 8-week run-in period before treatment randomization and involved 12 visits over 56 weeks. LASST was conducted from February 2012 to July 2015 at 18 network sites of the American Lung Association Airways Clinical Research Centers (ACRC) network [23]. The ACRC study sites are pulmonology and allergy subspecialty clinics within academic medical centers that have large racially and socioeconomically diverse patient populations.



Figure 1. Study schema for conventional (Long-Acting Beta-Agonist Step-Down Study [LASST]) and web-based (Use of Mobile Devices and the Internet to Streamline an Asthma Clinical Trial [MICT]) trials. Consent comprehension was conducted at enrollment and 20 weeks later.



The web-based trial with video procedures was designed to evaluate methods to reduce the burden of research participation (MICT; NCT02061280), was modeled after LASST with identical treatment groups but with only 2 on-site study visits (to obtain and return study equipment) and 4 web-based visits (using an iPad [Apple Inc] with FaceTime [Apple Inc]) over 12 weeks, and was conducted in adolescents aged 12 to 17 years [20,21]. The MICT trial was conducted in adolescents because the lead site was a pediatric institution. MICT was conducted at 6 of the 18 ACRC network sites that had study coordinators experienced in pediatric clinical trial research from November 2013 to February 2017.

A substudy to evaluate the comprehension of the conventional in-person, face-to-face consent format (in LASST participants) versus the multimedia web-based delivery process (in MICT participants) was conducted among adolescents and their caregivers at the 6 ACRC network pediatric sites by coordinators enrolling participants for both the LASST and MICT trials. Coordinators were trained and knowledgeable in the trial procedures, including obtaining informed consent from parents or guardians (hereafter referred to as caregivers) and adolescents. At the start of enrollment for the substudy, participants were randomized by trial type (LASST or MICT), and caregivers and adolescents were unaware of both trials when randomization was performed. After enrollment was completed in the LASST trial, all eligible participants were then enrolled in the MICT trial.

The details of the LASST and MICT trials and a description of the learning principles used in the development of the interactive multimedia video consent and website for the MICT trial have been previously described [20,21,23]. This paper presents a comparison of the consent procedures with respect to study *comprehension* between the LASST and MICT trials.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The LASST and MICT trials were approved by the IRB at Nemours Children's Health as research involving greater than

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44252
```

minimal risk but presenting the prospect of direct benefit to the individuals per Code of Federal Regulations 45CFR46.405 and 21CFR50.52. Parental permission and assent were obtained from the legal caregivers and adolescents aged 12 to 17 years, respectively, and informed consent was obtained from adults aged  $\geq$ 18 years. IRB approval numbers were #288148 (LASST) and #332965 (MICT).

#### **Enrollment and Payment for Participation**

Participants enrolled in the LASST and MICT trials had well-controlled asthma (Asthma Control Test score of  $\geq$ 20) [24], were on a medium dose of fluticasone-salmeterol combination inhaler (Advair, GlaxoSmithKline) for at least 4 weeks, and had less than a 10 pack-year smoking history with no smoking in the previous year [20,23].

On enrollment in the LASST or MICT trial, the participant was assigned a unique alphanumeric code and a name code that used the first and middle initials and the first 3 letters of the last name. The links to the codes were stored in password-protected computer files at the study site institution, with access limited to the research study team at the study sites. Data without personal identifiers were analyzed by the Center for Clinical Trials and Evidence Synthesis at Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health.

Participants in the LASST trial were paid up to US \$825 prorated over the course of 56 weeks for completing 11 study site visits. Participants in the MICT trial were paid up to US \$430 prorated over the course of 20 weeks for completing 6 study visits (remote and on site) and each morning (US \$1) and evening (US \$1) diary card. Participants in the LASST trial were paid US \$50 for the enrollment visit at which informed consent was obtained and study procedures were performed; participants in the MICT trial were paid US \$25 for completing the multimedia video consent process (and an additional US \$25 at the first on-site visit at which study procedures were conducted). Thus, the payment amount was equivalent between trials for the consent substudy. Payment was issued by a check

from the study site in the LASST trial and by a reloadable debit card in the MICT trial.

#### Objective

The objective of the consent substudy was to compare the comprehension and retention of informed consent elements using an interactive multimedia web-based delivery of consent information (multimedia method) developed for MICT versus paper consent and assent documents and in-person face-to-face discussions with a study coordinator (conventional method) in LASST. We made comparisons between formats in the caregiver and adolescent participants. We hypothesized that consent comprehension and retention with the multimedia web-based delivery would be noninferior to the conventional in-person, face-to-face consent process.

#### Interventions

#### **Conventional Informed Consent Document for LASST**

Parental permission and adolescent assent documents were developed according to the requirements of the IRB of the study site. Parental permission and assent were 13-page and 2-page single-spaced typed documents, respectively. The Flesch Kincaid Grade Level for the parental permission and assent were 9.8 and 6, respectively.

#### **Conventional Informed Consent Process for LASST**

Participants were contacted via the usual processes at the study site (telephone, provider referral, clinic intercepts, and response to flyers). Parental permission and adolescent assent were obtained through a conventional in-person interaction between the caregiver and the study coordinator and between the adolescent and the study coordinator, respectively. During the substudy training, the coordinators were instructed to maintain their usual consenting process for the LASST trial participants to avoid influencing study outcomes. The caregivers and adolescents were provided the consent documents upon arrival at the enrollment visit (or emailed or mailed to the family at their request ahead of the visit) and allowed as much time as needed, generally approximately 20 to 30 minutes, to review the document.

The study coordinator then began audio recording (Audacity) the consent process interaction for later analysis by trained coders [25]. The coordinator reviewed each section of the document with the caregiver and adolescent and answered questions. Once complete, the coordinator conducted the consent comprehension assessment and then administered the Newest Vital Sign (NVS), a health literacy tool, separately with the caregiver privately. The adolescent was then brought into the room for comprehension assessment and NVS administration [20,26-31]. As the caregiver was still in the room with the adolescent, the coordinator instructed the caregiver not to cue the adolescent with answers to the assessment questions. The coordinator reviewed responses that suggested an incomplete understanding of the study information and answered questions before obtaining caregiver and adolescent signatures on the parental permission form and assent documents, respectively.

#### Interactive Multimedia Informed Consent Video for MICT

The interactive multimedia video and website provided study information, including all the required and supplemental elements of informed consent [8]. The video storyboard and audio script were developed from the content in the 13-page parental permission form used for LASST [23]. The video had 5 sections, each 3 to 4 minutes in length, and was designed using theory and principles to facilitate electronic learning [21,22,32]. Professional video directors and professional actors were used to create the video. A segment of the video was previously published [20,21].

The video was housed within a framework in which a content-related sidebar provided additional study information by the participant selecting a tab that changed color when the video reached a relevant section on the sidebar. Each section had 2 to 3 multiple-choice questions that had to be answered before the next video section became available. The correct response was always provided to reinforce learning. The sections were programmed to be viewed sequentially to ensure that the entire video was watched.

#### Consent Process for Interactive Multimedia Informed Consent Video for MICT

Participants were contacted via telephone to participate in the MICT trial, and if interested, a private link to the interactive multimedia web-based informed consent video was sent via email to the caregiver and adolescent 4 days before a scheduled consent comprehension assessment; the 4-day period was to allow sufficient time for both the caregiver and adolescent to view the video 1 or more times. The consent comprehension assessment was conducted during a one-on-one audio-recorded call (WebEx, Cisco Systems) with the study coordinator. The audio recordings were saved for later analysis by the trained coders. The caregiver and adolescent comprehension were evaluated separately. Following the assessment, the coordinator reviewed the understanding of the study and answered any remaining questions. The NVS was then administered separately to the caregivers and adolescents. Parental permission and assent signature forms were sent via a secure patient portal from Nemours Children's Health for electronic signatures and stored in the adolescents' electronic health records.

#### Measurements

Participants' comprehension of the elements of informed consent was measured at enrollment upon study entry and again at study end after 20 weeks of study participation. The NVS was administered to caregivers and adolescents at enrollment only.

#### Newest Vital Sign

The NVS is validated by a 6-item survey, which measures general health literacy in children and adults and requires 3 to 4 minutes for administration [27]. The survey uses an ice cream nutrition label and incorporates reading, comprehension, and numeracy skills. The instrument was selected over other literacy assessment tools because it is a valid and reliable screening tool for caregivers and adolescents, has no ceiling effect, and can

be administered in person and remotely [20,27,33,34]. The NVS was included as a covariate in the comprehension analysis.

# Consent Comprehension Assessment Tool for LASST and MICT

The comprehension assessment tool was developed by the study psychologists and principal investigator as a 17-item open-ended questionnaire designed to assess the knowledge and comprehension of the consent material (Textbox 1). The tool was derived from questionnaires previously developed by coinvestigators in preliminary studies (NCI R03CA133442 and NCI R03CA133419; T Wysocki, PhD, unpublished data, 2010). The tool used in this study was slightly modified from the original tool by replacing 1 question that was considered redundant and adding a question on payment for participation. The psychology staff trained the study coordinators on each interview question and to use nonleading prompts to elicit further knowledge when appropriate. Each consent assessment question was scored by 2 coders as incorrect, partially correct, or correct (scored as 1, 2, and 3, respectively). The possible scores ranged from 17 to 51, with higher scores indicating better comprehension. Scores between coders were reviewed frequently early in the trial, and discrepancies between the coders were resolved by mutual agreement, with input from the principal investigator as needed, to ensure overall consistency in scoring.

Textbox 1. Seventeen-item questionnaire for consent comprehension assessment used for both consent formats.

- 1. Please tell me the researchers' reasons for doing this study.
- 2. Please tell me how much of your child's (your) time is required while you are in this study.
- 3. Please tell me the main things that your child (you) will need to do at each study visit.
- 4. Please tell me about the study treatments that are being tested.
- 5. Please tell me what the chances are that your child (you) will get one kind of treatment or another.
- 6. Please tell me how many other people will be in this study.
- 7. Please tell me what bad things or risks there could be from being in this study.
- 8. Please tell me what the good things or benefits there are from being in this study.
- 9. Please tell me what other choices your child has (you have), aside from being in this study.
- 10. Please tell me how the researchers will protect your child's (your) privacy while being in this study.
- 11. Please tell me who's responsible for your child's (your) medical costs if your child gets (you get) hurt or sick while your child is (you are) in the study.
- 12. Please tell me who you (your parent) should call if your child has (you have) questions about the study.
- 13. Please tell me what your child (you) should do if your child wants (you want) to stop being in the study.
- 14. Please tell me if and why the researchers could take your child (you) out of the study without your permission.
- 15. Please tell me why researchers would give your child (you) new information about this study while your child is (you are) in it.
- 16. Please tell me what type of payment or rewards your child (you) will get for being in the study.
- 17. Please tell me why your child is (you are) being asked to be in the study.

#### **Statistical Plan**

#### Sample Size and Power

The hypothesis was that study comprehension following the novel multimedia web-based video consent process would be no worse than that following the conventional process; therefore, a noninferiority design was used. There was no expectation that comprehension would be better with the multimedia web-based consent, even with the incorporated learning principals. For ethical reasons, a noninferiority design was selected to test that the multimedia web-based consent was no worse than, or not inferior to, the conventional in-person consent process and thus is consistent with regulations governing human subjects research [1]. In addition, using a noninferiority was established. The sample size determination, using the caregiver comprehension assessment scores from preliminary data obtained in 2 R03 grants (NCI R03CA133442 and NCI R03CA133419; T

Wysocki, PhD, unpublished data, 2010), assumed the normalcy of the data and defined the noninferiority margin as 2.4, which corresponds to 0.5 SD units. One-half SD was considered a clinically reasonable margin to consider the interactive multimedia web-based video noninferior to the conventional consent format and is consistent with empirical results on participant-reported outcomes [35]. On the basis of these calculations, the randomization of 120 caregivers and adolescents (60 dyads each for the multimedia web-based video consent and conventional consent process) would provide 85% power to reject the hypothesis that the multimedia web-based video consent process yields statistically significant ( $P \le .05$ ) lower (worse) scores than the conventional process at a threshold of 2.4 units on the caregiver consent comprehension assessment scale, after allowing for approximately 10% loss to follow-up. Preliminary data indicated a greater noninferiority margin of 3.2 for adolescents. We chose the caregiver margin for sample size determination because, for a typical clinical study, caregivers largely determine whether a child will participate,

and they engage in explaining the study to their child, who is then asked to provide assent.

#### Data Analysis

Data included in the analysis were from participants randomized to treatment assignments in the LASST or MICT trials. Adolescent characteristics at enrollment were compared using chi-square and Kruskal-Wallis tests for categorical and continuous outcomes, respectively. Unadjusted mean and 95% CI scores were calculated and compared between the consent processes at enrollment using generalized estimating equations. The same methods were used to compare scores at enrollment and at 20 weeks between and within each group to assess the retention of study information. The noninferiority margin was 2.4, that is, the interactive multimedia web-based video consent process was noninferior to the conventional consent process if the upper bound of the 95% CI for the difference (conventional minus multimedia website) was <2.4. The a priori margin of noninferiority was determined from the data using the caregiver consent comprehension assessment tool in the preliminary studies. The same noninferiority margin was used to evaluate adolescent scores. If noninferiority was met, the superiority of the interactive multimedia web-based video consent was evaluated using a conventional cutoff, and the 95% CI for the difference did not include 0. Exploratory univariate regression was conducted to identify the characteristics predictive of the primary outcome, followed by sensitivity analysis to determine the effect on comprehension scores. There was no controlling for multiple comparisons. The data were analyzed using SAS (version 9; SAS Institute) and R (version 4.1.2; The R Project for Statistical Computing).

# Results

#### Overview

The consent substudy in the MICT and LASST trials was conducted from November 2013 to February 2017 at the 6 sites conducting both studies. These trials were conducted concurrently, and randomization across trial types was initially planned; however, rapid enrollment completion in the LASST trial across the 18 ACRC network sites resulted in 37 participants being enrolled in the LASST consent substudy rather than the 60 participants planned. In total, 71 participants were enrolled in the MICT consent substudy.

#### **Characteristics of Adolescent Participants**

In the trials, 108 adolescents were enrolled, of whom 79 (73.1%) were allocated to treatment and were included in the analysis (Figure 2). There were no statistically significant differences in baseline characteristics between the groups except for prebronchodilator forced expiratory volume in 1 second: the median values were 90% (IQR 80-97) predicted in the conventional group and 95% (IQR 85-107) predicted in the web-based group (P=.04; Table 1).

Figure 2. Flow of participants by trial type. FU: follow-up; PI: principal investigator.





Table 1. Characteristics of caregivers and adolescents at enrollment by consent format.

Characteristic	Total (n=79)	Conventional consent process (n=25)	Interactive multimedia consent video and website (n=54)
Adolescent sex, male (vs female), n (%)	45 (57)	13 (52)	32 (59)
Caregiver sex, male (vs female), n (%)	9 (11)	4 (16)	5 (9)
Adolescent age, median (IQR)	14 (13-15)	15 (13-16)	14 (13-15)
Adolescent race, Black (vs non-Black), n (%)	26 (33)	10 (40)	16 (30)
Income (US \$), n (%)			
≤\$60,000	48 (73)	14 (70)	34 (74)
>\$60,000	18 (27)	6 (30)	12 (26)
Income missing	13 (16)	5 (20)	8 (15)
Asthma characteristics			
Unscheduled health care visit for asthma in prior year (vs none), n (%)	32 (41)	9 (36)	23 (43)
Age of asthma onset, median (IQR)	2 (1-6)	4 (1-7)	2 (1-5)
Secondary smoke exposure, n (%)	15 (19)	6 (24)	9 (17)
Questionnaires, median (IQR)			
Newest Vital Sign			
Adolescent score (range 0-6) <sup>a</sup>	5 (4-6)	5 (3-6)	5 (4-6)
Caregiver score (range 0-6)	5 (3-6)	4 (3-6)	5 (3-6)
Asthma Control Test (range 5-25) <sup>b</sup>	22 (21-24)	22 (21-23)	22 (22-24)
Spirometry, median (IQR)			
Pre-BD <sup>c</sup> percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second	94 (85-102)	90 (80-97)	95 (85-107)
Pre-BD percent predicted forced vital capacity	102 (94-108)	102 (96-106)	102 (93-109)
Peak flow (L)	390 (323-451)	350 (290-425)	398 (343-455)

<sup>a</sup>Newest Vital Sign score: 0 to 1, high likelihood of limited literacy; 2 to 3, possibility of limited literacy; and 4 to 6, almost always adequate literacy. <sup>b</sup>Asthma Control Test: high scores indicate better health.

<sup>c</sup>Pre-BD: prebronchodilator.

### Primary Outcome: Caregiver Comprehension Assessment Score

The unadjusted mean (95% CI) caregiver comprehension score at enrollment was slightly higher with interactive multimedia web-based video consent (better comprehension) than with the conventional consent (Table 2) and met the criteria for noninferiority but not superiority (Figure 3). At the final study visit (20 weeks after enrollment), caregiver scores declined in the conventional group and remained stable in the multimedia web-based video consent group, such that comprehension in the multimedia web-based video consent was superior to conventional consent (Figure 3 and Table 2).

Table 2. Consent comprehension scores for caregivers and adolescents at enrollment and the end of the study (week 20).

		• • •
	Conventional, mean (95% CI)	Web-based, mean (95% CI)
Caregiver score		
Enrollment	42.90 (41.06 to 44.74)	43.20 (41.96 to 44.45)
End of the study (week 20)	41.08 (39.67 to 42.49)	43.28 (42.33 to 44.23)
Change from enrollment	-1.65 (-3.10 to -0.19)	0.14 (-0.84 to 1.12)
Adolescent score		
Enrollment	42.26 (39.90 to 44.62)	41.08 (39.48 to 42.69)
End of the study (week 20)	41.27 (39.29 to 43.25)	41.22 (39.88 to 42.55)
Change from enrollment	-0.75 (-2.27 to 0.77)	0.16 (-0.86 to 1.18)



#### Blake et al

#### JMIR PEDIATRICS AND PARENTING

**Figure 3.** Consent comprehension score of caregivers and adolescents at enrollment and at the end of the study (20 weeks after enrollment) for the web-based and conventional consent delivery format. Noninferiority was established if the upper bound of the 95% CI for the difference was below the noninferiority margin of 2.4. Superiority of the format was determined if the noninferiority margin was met and the 95% CI for the difference did not include 0. \*Analysis of scores following adjustment for baseline characteristics was not prespecified in the protocol.



**Adolescent Comprehension Scores** 

Among adolescents, the unadjusted mean (95% CI) scores at enrollment were higher in the conventional group. The noninferiority of the interactive multimedia web-based video consent was not established because the upper bound of the CI for the difference in comprehension scores was 4.03, which exceeds the noninferiority margin of 2.4 (Figure 3 and Table 2). At 20 weeks, neither group had a reduction in comprehension, and the difference between the 2 groups of adolescents was less; however, the upper bound of the CI (2.44) exceeded the noninferiority margin.

#### **Exploratory Analysis**

In the exploratory analysis, adolescents' race (P=.009), having an unscheduled health care visit in the prior years (P=.02), and NVS scores for caregivers (P<.001) and adolescents (P=.03) were significantly associated with the caregiver's score (all caregivers in both trials) at enrollment (Table 3). Adolescents' sex (P=.008), age (P<.001), and race (P<.001) and both adolescents' (P=.004) and caregivers' (P<.001) NVS scores were significantly associated with adolescents' scores (all adolescents in both trials) at enrollment (Table 3). These same variables were significantly associated with scores for all caregivers and adolescents at week 20, except for having an unscheduled health care visit in the prior year, which was no longer associated with scores for caregivers (data not shown). Our sample was too small to meaningfully assess whether the multimedia video consent had a greater effect on comprehension scores in those with limited health literacy (10 participants from both trials) compared with the conventional consent.

After adjustment for variables identified in the exploratory analysis (participant race, unscheduled health care visit, and caregiver NVS score), comprehension with the multimedia web-based video consent was no longer noninferior at baseline in caregivers but remained noninferior and superior to the conventional consent at 20 weeks after enrollment (Figure 3). There were no significant interactions between the predictors.



Table 3. Univariate association of baseline characteristic with comprehension score in caregivers and adolescents at enrollment (conventional and web-based combined).

Participant characteristics	Outcome: score at enrollment			
	Caregivers		Adolescents	
	Estimate (95% CI)	P value	Estimate (95% CI)	P value
Sex, male (vs female)	-1.10 (-3.17 to 0.97)	.30	-3.51 (-6.09 to -0.94)	.008
Age (years), anchored at 14 years	0.51 (-0.09 to 1.11)	.09	1.29 (0.56 to 2.03)	<.001
Race, Black (vs non-Black)	-2.83 (-4.93 to -0.72)	.009	-5.87 (-8.39 to -3.35)	<.001
Unscheduled health care visits for asthma in the previous 12 months before enrollment (vs none)	-2.41 (-4.45 to -0.38)	.02	-1.50 (-4.19 to 1.19)	.27
Secondary smoke exposure	-2.52 (-5.09 to 0.05)	.06	-1.26 (-4.65 to 2.12)	.47
Age of asthma onset (years)	-0.01 (-0.27 to 0.26)	.97	0.28 (-0.05 to 0.62)	.09
Per point of caregiver NVS <sup>a</sup> from 0	1.06 (0.49 to 1.64)	<.001	1.14 (0.37 to 1.90)	.004
Per point of participant NVS from 0	0.70 (0.09 to 1.30)	.03	1.74 (1.03 to 2.45)	<.001
Per point in Asthma Control Test from 0	0.01 (-0.69 to 0.72)	.97	0.20 (-0.71 to 1.10)	.67
Pre-BD <sup>b</sup> percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second (per 10% unit difference)	0.01 (-0.74 to 0.76)	.99	0.13 (-0.84 to 1.10)	.80
Pre-BD percent predicted forced vital capacity (per 10% unit difference)	-0.71 (-1.57 to 0.14)	.10	-0.16 (-1.29 to 0.96)	.77
Peak flow (per 100 L)	0.49 (-0.55 to 1.53)	.36	0.91 (-0.42 to 2.24)	.18

<sup>a</sup>NVS: Newest Vital Sign. <sup>b</sup>Pre-BD: prebronchodilator.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

In caregivers, we found that comprehension with the web-based delivery format was noninferior to the conventional format at enrollment and, importantly, that study information was retained better with the web-based delivery when assessed 20 weeks later. With both consent formats in caregivers and adolescents, assessment scores indicated acceptable comprehension at enrollment (approximately 83%) out of the total possible score of 51, and there may have been little room for improvement to demonstrate the superiority of web-based delivery. We intentionally designed the interactive multimedia web-based consent using established principles for web-based learning, which may have facilitated retention. The retention of consent information over the study period with web-based delivery is noteworthy because it is essential that information about the study is understood throughout participation.

In adolescents, the score for the interactive multimedia web-based process did not meet the noninferiority margin at baseline or 20 weeks later. The caregiver score from the preliminary data was used to estimate the sample size and for the primary outcome because caregivers consider their parental permission before the child is presented with the option to assent or dissent from participation. Thus, it is essential for caregivers to have a thorough understanding of the research study to help their children have a meaningful comprehension of the presented information during the assent process. A wider margin of 3.2 from the preliminary data in adolescents may have been more appropriate because adolescent cognitive capacity and attention

RenderX

span are less than what is expected in adults [36]. If a margin of 3.2 was used for adolescents, noninferiority at enrollment would not have been established, although it would have been at the 20-week assessment. This finding suggests that perhaps the experiential component of trial participation aided in retention of study information at the end of the study for adolescents.

Our exploratory analysis suggests that there may be variables associated with adolescents that influence caregiver as well as adolescent consent comprehension. Unsurprisingly, health literacy scores were positively associated with comprehension scores in both caregivers and adolescents. However, larger clinical trials are required to verify the relevance of these findings.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

Only 2 studies on caregivers and children have incorporated some of the features used in this project, and neither study was enrolling children in an actual clinical trial [13,14,37]. O'Lonergan and Forster-Harwood [38] evaluated study comprehension of hypothetical medical procedures (dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry and ultrasound) delivered by a multimedia PowerPoint (Microsoft Corporation) presentation with video hyperlinks designed with a "learning objective approach" versus a standard IRB templated paper document in caregivers and young adolescents. Both caregivers and adolescents had better comprehension of the medical procedures with the PowerPoint presentation assessed by semistructured interviews. Unlike our study, the caregivers and adolescents read the paper document of the medical procedures without contemporaneous review of content with a study staff member before assessment, which

may have biased comprehension in favor of the PowerPoint presentation.

Tait et al [39] developed a presentation of pictorials and touch-and-drag features to explain research concepts (eg, randomization and blinding) with voice-over on an iPad and compared comprehension with paper-based explanations; the material was not for a clinical trial. Parents demonstrated no difference in comprehension between formats when assessed by semistructured interviews, whereas children had greater comprehension after viewing the iPad pictorials. As with the study by O'Lonergan and Forster-Harwood [38], there was no review of the paper-based material with the parent or child before the interview, which may have influenced the better comprehension scores for the iPad presentation.

In a review of strategies designed to improve consent comprehension through various methods, including multimedia processes, Abdel-Rahman [13] found that recall and comprehension are enhanced by formats that include both audio and video components, even without an interactive component [40]. An evaluation of digital tools for informed consent found that multimedia formats (images, audio, videos, and graphics) had a greater impact on understanding, satisfaction, anxiety, and participation compared with videos (audiovisual) only, perhaps because videos do not enhance information already communicated through in-person interaction [37]. Improvements with multimedia formats have tended to be modest, which may be a function of the characteristics of the format as well as the method for assessing comprehension [13].

In this study, we assessed comprehension using open-ended questions that were graded by a team of trained scorers. A systematic review found that the understanding of study material assessed by closed-ended questions was better than that assessed by open-ended questions [14]. Open-ended questions, as in semistructured interviews, require the comprehension of previously stored information that is more difficult than responding to closed-ended questions, such as multiple choice, which rely on the recall of a correct response out of presented possibilities. The semistructured interviews used in this study elicited a more complete assessment of the learned material.

This is the first study to test consent information comprehension in caregivers and adolescents who experienced an interactive multimedia web-based video consent format versus a conventional written consent document with in-person face-to-face interaction in an actual asthma clinical trial that enrolled adolescents. Our intent was to determine whether interactive multimedia web-based video consent provided clinical trial information and promoted understanding of that information in a manner that was similar or noninferior to a conventional in-person, face-to-face consenting process that included a review of the consent of a study staff member. Our study has important findings that can guide the development of interactive multimedia web-based consent formats for future clinical trials. The platform was intentionally developed using 5 specific theoretically grounded principles of multimedia learning, with an intentional focus on appeal to people with low health literacy [21]. In addition, the quizzes embedded in the consent video reinforced the key study information. We used a

semistructured interactive interview to assess and score comprehension at enrollment and again 20 weeks later to assess the retention of study information rather than multiple-choice or true-false questions. This is one of the few studies to address modifying the assent process to improve comprehension in minors [19].

#### Limitations

Our study has several limitations. First, enrollment by trial type was not randomized as initially intended because of the rapid pace of participant accrual into the conventional trial conducted across the entire network of study sites. As a result, the enrollment goals were not met. However, with the available sample, we were able to demonstrate noninferiority for the interactive multimedia web-based video consent format at enrollment and superiority at study end compared with the conventional consent process in caregivers. Second, we did not have an established noninferiority margin specified for adolescents, and we did not establish noninferiority using the specified margin. However, in pediatric trials, the caregiver is largely the decision maker, with assent or dissent provided by the child participants; thus, the comprehension assessment by the caregiver was considered of principal importance for sample size estimation and outcome analysis. Third, it is possible that the study coordinator's knowledge of the comprehension score being measured may have altered their typical consenting style (known as the Hawthorne effect) to be more thorough or engaging, thus resulting in higher scores for the caregiver and adolescent with the conventional consent format [41]. The coordinators were instructed at the study outset to maintain the consent process used in other clinical trials. In contrast, there was no coordinator interaction with participants who received the web-based format to facilitate comprehension before comprehension assessment. It is possible that the focus on the consent process may have preferentially favored the conventional consent format, thus reducing the score differences. Fourth, this was a pilot study comparing consenting formats in a population with a chronic disease and may not be applicable to patients with cancer or acute illnesses; however, our results need to be replicated in other intervention trials that include children and adolescents with chronic conditions (eg, Crohn disease, allergies, and epilepsy).

It is important to acknowledge that the development of the video and website required resources (videographers, actor talent, website designers, and psychologists) that may not be readily available at an institution planning a small clinical trial. Clinical trials are expensive to perform, with costs for study procedures as well as for less apparent costs of time and effort associated with patient recruitment and retention [42]. Pediatric clinical trials are particularly labor intensive and expensive to perform, and joining a trial is often perceived as inconvenient and time-consuming by families [43-47]. Parents often have to bring siblings to appointments and manage competing after-school priorities to travel to a study site. The interactive multimedia video consent and website were developed for the MICT trial to evaluate the consenting process via the internet to reduce the burden of having an on-site study site visit for the purpose of learning about the study before considering enrollment. Failure to recruit participants can extend trial completion and thus costs

XSL•FO RenderX

or result in premature trial discontinuation and wasted resources [42]. Therefore, how to effectively spend the limited resources that are needed for recruitment materials, stipends, and retention incentives requires careful consideration that may be study specific or site specific. The development of a video consent with the resources used in this trial may be best suited for large multisite trials; those conducted by the pharmaceutical industry; grants in which funding can be included in a budget proposal; or trials governed by a single IRB process, which is becoming more common. We found that the trial information was effectively conveyed and understood with the multimedia web-based consent designed for this trial.

Looking forward, advancements in artificial intelligence to create or manipulate multimedia content for film production in the absence of videographers and live actors may overcome some of these barriers [48]. Currently, there are software programs geared toward nonprofessionals to create simplified animated videos (Doodly, CreateStudio, and Cinema 4D) that may be suitable for creating consent documents or supplemental consent information [49]. The development of this multimedia platform would not have been possible without considerable dialogue with the IRB of the lead institution.

#### Conclusions

The new findings resulting from these data are that the comprehension of trial information can be effectively communicated with an asynchronous interactive multimedia web-based consent developed with established principles of learning for caregivers of adolescents with asthma. Embedding these learning principles may aid in the retention of study information over the duration of the study, as we found in this trial. We do not suggest that a participant's trial participation decision should occur in the absence of a discussion with the study staff. However, avoiding a long on-site study appointment to simply learn about the study before deciding to participate may relieve some of the burden of study participation for caregivers and their children and the study staff. Thus, modernizing the consent process to convey necessary clinical trial information in a manner that promotes improved comprehension across ages and sociodemographic groups is essential. Finally, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a substantial impact on the conduct of on-site study visits with participants and institutions alike, redirecting in-person, face-to-face study visits to telehealth. Thus, greater attention to strategies to conduct research in study site-independent venues will likely be a critical consideration in the design of future clinical trials to facilitate trial enrollment.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the National Institutes of Health grant 101HL114899 (to KVB) and the American Lung Association Airways Clinical Research Centers network. Publication was made possible in part by support from the Nemours Grants for Open Access from Library Services. Study data were collected and managed using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) tools hosted at Nemours Children's Health. The authors gratefully acknowledge the efforts of Yang Li, Kate Norton, and Ferdie Martinez on the web page design. In addition, the critical evaluation of study logistics provided by Stacey Gray and Nancy Archer, RN, were invaluable during study start-up. The site principal investigators and study coordinators (David Schaeffer, MD; Dale Schrum, MD; Jason Lang, MD; Okan Elidemir, MD; Gary Emmett, MD; Mario Castro, MD; Jenny Batalla; Angela Price, RN; Holly Turner, RN; Dana Geiser; Stephanie Kahn; Sandra Budd; and Jaime Tarsi, MPH) were instrumental in learning and teaching the study technology. Most importantly, these data would not have been possible without the enthusiastic participation of the caregivers and adolescents who participated in this trial.

#### **Data Availability**

The data sets generated and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

KVB contributed to conceptualization, methodology, investigation, writing the original draft, visualization, supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. HA and AT contributed to methodology and investigation. HTB contributed to methodology, software, and resources. JH contributed to formal analysis. RH contributed to formal analysis and data curation. JTH and EAS contributed to formal analysis and writing the original draft. SMM contributed to software, resources, and data curation. CP contributed to software and resources. LR contributed to investigation. DS contributed to methodology. RAW contributed to conceptualization, methodology, resources, and funding acquisition. TW contributed to conceptualization and methodology.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Informed consent FAQs. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. URL: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/</u> regulations-and-policy/guidance/faq/informed-consent/index.html [accessed 2021-05-30]
- 2. Ethical Conduct of Clinical Research Involving Children. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2004.

- 3. Ethical considerations for clinical investigations of medical products involving children. Food and Drug Administration. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/09/26/2022-20720/ethical-considerations-for-clinical-investigations-of-medical-products-involving-children-draft</u> [accessed 2022-11-04]
- 4. Cayouette F, O'Hearn K, Gertsman S, Menon K. Operationalization of assent for research participation in pre-adolescent children: a scoping review. BMC Med Ethics 2022 Nov 03;23(1):106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12910-022-00844-2] [Medline: 36329421]
- Sanchini V, Reni M, Calori G, Riva E, Reichlin M. Informed consent as an ethical requirement in clinical trials: an old, but still unresolved issue. An observational study to evaluate patient's informed consent comprehension. J Med Ethics 2014 Apr;40(4):269-275. [doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-101115] [Medline: 23728419]
- 6. Kripalani S, Bengtzen R, Henderson LE, Jacobson TA. Clinical research in low-literacy populations: using teach-back to assess comprehension of informed consent and privacy information. IRB 2008;30(2):13-19. [Medline: <u>18512655</u>]
- Tait AR, Voepel-Lewis T, Zikmund-Fisher BJ, Fagerlin A. Presenting research risks and benefits to parents: does format matter? Anesth Analg 2010 Sep;111(3):718-723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e3181e8570a] [Medline: 20686011]
- 8. § 50.25 Elements of informed consent. Code of Federal Regulations. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-21/</u> <u>chapter-I/subchapter-A/part-50/subpart-B/section-50.25</u> [accessed 2021-03-10]
- 9. Flory J, Emanuel E. Interventions to improve research participants' understanding in informed consent for research: a systematic review. JAMA 2004 Oct 06;292(13):1593-1601. [doi: 10.1001/jama.292.13.1593] [Medline: 15467062]
- Kodish ED, Pentz RD, Noll RB, Ruccione K, Buckley J, Lange BJ. Informed consent in the childrens cancer group: results of preliminary research. Cancer 1998 Jun 15;82(12):2467-2481. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19980615)82:12<2467::aid-cncr22>3.0.co;2-m] [Medline: 9635541]
- Sachs GA, Hougham GW, Sugarman J, Agre P, Broome ME, Geller G, et al. Conducting empirical research on informed consent: challenges and questions. IRB 2003;Suppl 25(5):S4-10. [Medline: <u>14870730</u>]
- 12. Leibson T, Koren G. Informed consent in pediatric research. Paediatr Drugs 2015 Feb;17(1):5-11. [doi: 10.1007/s40272-014-0108-y] [Medline: 25420675]
- 13. Abdel-Rahman SM. Facilitating informed permission/assent/consent in pediatric clinical trials. Paediatr Drugs 2019 Aug;21(4):205-214. [doi: 10.1007/s40272-019-00347-5] [Medline: 31313103]
- Tam NT, Huy NT, Thoa LT, Long NP, Trang NT, Hirayama K, et al. Participants' understanding of informed consent in clinical trials over three decades: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bull World Health Organ 2015 Mar 01;93(3):186-98H [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.14.141390] [Medline: 25883410]
- Tamariz L, Palacio A, Robert M, Marcus EN. Improving the informed consent process for research subjects with low literacy: a systematic review. J Gen Intern Med 2013 Jan;28(1):121-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-012-2133-2] [Medline: 22782275]
- Dankar FK, Gergely M, Dankar SK. Informed consent in biomedical research. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2019;17:463-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2019.03.010] [Medline: 31007872]
- 17. Palmer BW, Lanouette NM, Jeste DV. Effectiveness of multimedia aids to enhance comprehension of research consent information: a systematic review. IRB 2012;34(6):1-15 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23342734]
- 18. Clark R, Mayer R. e Learning and the Science of Instruction: Proven Guidelines for Consumers and Designers of Multimedia Learning. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley; 2011.
- Soll D, Guraiib MM, Rollins NC, Reis AA. Improving assent in health research: a rapid systematic review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2020 May 13;20(1):114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-020-01000-3] [Medline: 32404063]
- Blake K, Holbrook JT, Antal H, Shade D, Bunnell HT, McCahan SM, et al. Use of mobile devices and the internet for multimedia informed consent delivery and data entry in a pediatric asthma trial: study design and rationale. Contemp Clin Trials 2015 May;42:105-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2015.03.012] [Medline: 25847579]
- 21. Antal H, Bunnell HT, McCahan SM, Pennington C, Wysocki T, Blake KV. A cognitive approach for design of a multimedia informed consent video and website in pediatric research. J Biomed Inform 2017 Feb;66:248-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2017.01.011] [Medline: 28109951]
- 22. Mayer R. Multimedia Learning. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; 2020.
- Rogers L, Sugar EA, Blake K, Castro M, Dimango E, Hanania NA, American Lung Association Airways Clinical Research Centers. Step-down therapy for asthma well controlled on inhaled corticosteroid and long-acting beta-agonist: a randomized clinical trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2018;6(2):633-43.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2017.07.030] [Medline: 28974349]
- 24. Schatz M, Sorkness CA, Li JT, Marcus P, Murray JJ, Nathan RA, et al. Asthma Control Test: reliability, validity, and responsiveness in patients not previously followed by asthma specialists. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006 Mar;117(3):549-556. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.01.011] [Medline: 16522452]
- 25. Audacity homepage. Audacity. URL: <u>http://www.audacity.com/</u> [accessed 2012-03-15]
- 26. The newest vital sign a health literacy assessment tool for patient care and research. Pfizer Inc. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/</u> <u>3rkzv2jv</u> [accessed 2011-09-28]
- 27. Weiss BD, Mays MZ, Martz W, Castro KM, DeWalt DA, Pignone MP, et al. Quick assessment of literacy in primary care: the newest vital sign. Ann Fam Med 2005;3(6):514-522 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.405] [Medline: 16338915]

- 28. Shah LC, West P, Bremmeyr K, Savoy-Moore RT. Health literacy instrument in family medicine: the "newest vital sign" ease of use and correlates. J Am Board Fam Med 2010;23(2):195-203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2010.02.070278] [Medline: 20207930]
- 29. Driessnack M, Chung S, Perkhounkova E, Hein M. Using the "Newest Vital Sign" to assess health literacy in children. J Pediatr Health Care 2014;28(2):165-171. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2013.05.005] [Medline: 23910945]
- 30. Warsh J, Chari R, Badaczewski A, Hossain J, Sharif I. Can the Newest Vital Sign be used to assess health literacy in children and adolescents? Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014 Feb;53(2):141-144. [doi: 10.1177/0009922813504025] [Medline: 24065737]
- Morrison AK, Schapira MM, Hoffmann RG, Brousseau DC. Measuring health literacy in caregivers of children: a comparison of the newest vital sign and S-TOFHLA. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014 Nov;53(13):1264-1270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0009922814541674] [Medline: 25006116]
- 32. Baddeley A. Working Memory, Thought, and Action (Oxford Psychology Series). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- Huang Y, Shiyanbola OO, Smith PD, Chan H. Quick screen of patients' numeracy and document literacy skills: the factor structure of the Newest Vital Sign. Patient Prefer Adherence 2018;12:853-859 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S165994] [Medline: 29844661]
- Russell AM, Patel DA, Curtis LM, Kim KA, Wolf MS, Rowland ME, et al. Test-retest reliability of the Newest Vital Sign health literacy instrument: in-person and remote administration. Patient Educ Couns 2019 Apr;102(4):749-752. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2018.11.016] [Medline: 30503639]
- 35. Norman GR, Sloan JA, Wyrwich KW. Interpretation of changes in health-related quality of life: the remarkable universality of half a standard deviation. Med Care 2003 May;41(5):582-592. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.MLR.0000062554.74615.4C</u>] [Medline: <u>12719681</u>]
- 36. Icenogle G, Steinberg L, Duell N, Chein J, Chang L, Chaudhary N, et al. Adolescents' cognitive capacity reaches adult levels prior to their psychosocial maturity: evidence for a "maturity gap" in a multinational, cross-sectional sample. Law Hum Behav 2019 Feb;43(1):69-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/lbb0000315] [Medline: 30762417]
- Gesualdo F, Daverio M, Palazzani L, Dimitriou D, Diez-Domingo J, Fons-Martinez J, et al. Digital tools in the informed consent process: a systematic review. BMC Med Ethics 2021 Feb 27;22(1):18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12910-021-00585-8] [Medline: 33639926]
- O'Lonergan TA, Forster-Harwood JE. Novel approach to parental permission and child assent for research: improving comprehension. Pediatrics 2011 May;127(5):917-924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-3283] [Medline: 21518711]
- Tait AR, Voepel-Lewis T, Levine R. Using digital multimedia to improve parents' and children's understanding of clinical trials. Arch Dis Child 2015 Jun;100(6):589-593 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-308021] [Medline: 25829422]
- 40. Kraft SA, Constantine M, Magnus D, Porter KM, Lee SS, Green M, et al. A randomized study of multimedia informational aids for research on medical practices: implications for informed consent. Clin Trials 2017 Feb;14(1):94-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1740774516669352] [Medline: 27625314]
- 41. McCambridge J, Witton J, Elbourne DR. Systematic review of the Hawthorne effect: new concepts are needed to study research participation effects. J Clin Epidemiol 2014 Mar;67(3):267-277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.08.015] [Medline: 24275499]
- 42. Sertkaya A, Birkenbach A, Berlind A, Eyraund J. Examination of clinical trial costs and barriers for drug development. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2014 Jul 14. URL: <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/examination-clinical-trial-costs-barriers-drug-development-0</u> [accessed 2023-05-29]
- Zook PM, Jordan C, Adams B, Visness CM, Walter M, Pollenz K, et al. Retention strategies and predictors of attrition in an urban pediatric asthma study. Clin Trials 2010 Aug;7(4):400-410 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1177/1740774510373798</u>] [Medline: <u>20571137</u>]
- Sen Biswas M, Newby LK, Bastian LA, Peterson ED, Sugarman J. Who refuses enrollment in cardiac clinical trials? Clin Trials 2007;4(3):258-263. [doi: <u>10.1177/1740774507079434</u>] [Medline: <u>17715252</u>]
- 45. Ellis PM, Butow PN, Tattersall MH, Dunn SM, Houssami N. Randomized clinical trials in oncology: understanding and attitudes predict willingness to participate. J Clin Oncol 2001 Aug 01;19(15):3554-3561. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2001.19.15.3554] [Medline: 11481363]
- 46. Grunfeld E, Zitzelsberger L, Coristine M, Aspelund F. Barriers and facilitators to enrollment in cancer clinical trials: qualitative study of the perspectives of clinical research associates. Cancer 2002 Oct 01;95(7):1577-1583 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.10862] [Medline: 12237928]
- 47. Natale P, Saglimbene V, Ruospo M, Gonzalez AM, Strippoli GF, Scholes-Robertson N, et al. Transparency, trust and minimizing burden to increase recruitment and retention in trials: a systematic review. J Clin Epidemiol 2021 Jun;134:35-51. [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2021.01.014] [Medline: 33515656]
- 48. Verdoliva L. Media forensics and DeepFakes: an overview. IEEE J Sel Top Signal Process 2020 Aug;14(5):910-932. [doi: 10.1109/jstsp.2020.3002101]
- 49. McMillan G. The parent's dilemma: pediatric assent in research. Pediatrics 2022 Sep 01;150(3):e2021055426. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2021-055426] [Medline: 35975578]

#### Abbreviations

ACRC: Airways Clinical Research Centers IRB: institutional review board LASST: Long-Acting Beta-Agonist Step-Down Study MICT: Use of Mobile Devices and the Internet to Streamline an Asthma Clinical Trial NVS: Newest Vital Sign

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 11.11.22; peer-reviewed by H Wang, A Russell, H Veldandi; comments to author 11.01.23; revised version received 27.01.23; accepted 17.02.23; published 22.06.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Blake KV, Antal H, Bunnell HT, He J, Henderson R, Holbrook JT, McCahan SM, Pennington C, Rogers L, Shade D, Sugar EA, Taylor A, Wise RA, Wysocki T Comprehension by Caregivers and Adolescents of Clinical Trial Information Delivered via Multimedia Video Versus Conventional Practice: Nonrandomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44252 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44252</u> doi:10.2196/44252 PMID:37347518

©Kathryn V Blake, Holly Antal, H Timothy Bunnell, Jiaxian He, Robert Henderson, Janet T Holbrook, Suzanne M McCahan, Chris Pennington, Linda Rogers, David Shade, Elizabeth A Sugar, Alexandra Taylor, Robert A Wise, Tim Wysocki. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.06.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Caregivers' Experiences With a Web- and Mobile-Based Platform for Children With Medical Complexity and the Role of a Live Platform Coach: Thematic Analysis

Ainslie Claire Shouldice<sup>1</sup>, BMedSci; Madison Beatty<sup>1,2</sup>, BSc, BScN, MSc; Sherri Adams<sup>1,2,3</sup>, BScN, MSN, PNP; Blossom Dharmaraj<sup>1</sup>, HBSc, MEd; Clara Moore<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MSc; Jennifer Nan Stinson<sup>1,3</sup>, MN, PNP, PhD; Arti Desai<sup>4</sup>, MSPH, MD; Leah Bartlett<sup>5</sup>, MD; Erin Culbert<sup>6</sup>, MD; Eyal Cohen<sup>1,2,7,8</sup>, MSc, MD; Julia Orkin<sup>1,2,7</sup>, MSc, MD

<sup>1</sup>Child Health Evaluative Sciences, SickKids Research Institute, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Division of Pediatric Medicine, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Lawrence S Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>5</sup>Royal Victoria Regional Health Center, Barrie, ON, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Paediatric Services, Credit Valley Hospital, Mississauga, ON, Canada

<sup>7</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>8</sup>Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Ainslie Claire Shouldice, BMedSci Child Health Evaluative Sciences SickKids Research Institute The Hospital for Sick Children 555 University Ave Toronto, ON, M5G 1X8 Canada Phone: 1 4168137654 Email: <u>ainslie.shouldice@gmail.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Children with medical complexity (CMC) are individuals with complex chronic conditions who have substantial health care needs, functional limitations, and significant use of health care. By nature of their health status, they have many care providers across multiple settings, making information sharing critical to their health and safety. Connecting2gether (C2), a weband mobile-based patient-facing platform, was codeveloped with families to support and empower parental caregivers, improve information sharing, and facilitate care delivery. C2 also provided a live platform coach to conduct parental feedback and coaching sessions, which included answering questions, providing advice on usage, and addressing technological issues.

**Objective:** This study was conducted to understand the experience of parental caregivers using the C2 platform and the role of the live platform coach. This study is a subset of a larger study assessing the feasibility of C2 in the care of CMC.

**Methods:** Parental caregivers (n=33) participated in biweekly sessions to provide feedback and receive real-time platform use support from a trained research team member acting as a live platform coach. Parental caregivers were asked about the utility and usability of C2's features. Questions, platform issues, and feedback were recorded on a standardized electronic data collection tool. A thematic analysis was performed to analyze parental comments, and codes were categorized into key themes. The number of comments corresponding with each code was quantified.

**Results:** A total of 166 parental feedback and coaching sessions were conducted, with an average of 5 sessions per parental caregiver (range 1-7). There were 33 (85%) parental caregivers that participated in at least one coaching session. Technical issues and difficulties navigating C2 were addressed in real time during the sessions to encourage platform engagement. Four key themes were identified: (1) live platform coach, (2) barriers to platform usage and technical challenges, (3) platform requests and modifications, and (4) parent partnership and empowerment.

**Conclusions:** Parental caregivers describe C2 as a valuable tool, acting as a facilitator for enhanced care coordination and communication. Parental caregiver feedback showed that the live platform coach was a critical tool in educating on platform use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

and addressing technological concerns. Further study of the use of the C2 platform and its role in the care of CMC is needed to understand the possible benefits and cost-effectiveness of this technology.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43214) doi:10.2196/43214

#### **KEYWORDS**

care coordination; care; children with medical complexity; children; chronic condition; electronic data; engagement; health information exchange; medical; patient care planning; pediatrics; usage; utilization

# Introduction

Children with medical complexity (CMC) are individuals with complex chronic conditions who have substantial health care needs, functional limitations, and significant use of health care [1]. CMC often require multiple care providers across various settings, including home, hospital, and school [2], and the unique challenges of navigating multiple levels of care often results in fragmented care [3]. Timely access to up-to-date medical information is critical in the care of CMC. However, this information is often challenging to obtain due to electronic medical record (EMR) access limitations and other communication barriers [3,4]. A significant burden is often placed upon parental caregivers to integrate information from various care providers and systems to address their child's needs [5]. Streamlined communication, familial support, and health care team engagement are required to ensure that medical information is available to all members of a child's care team [5].

The use of a shared web- and mobile-based patient-facing platform for CMC [4] may facilitate information sharing, communication, and coordination among parental caregivers and their child's care team [6,7]. Previous research has explored the use of pediatric patient-facing platforms in order to improve patient information access, health outcomes, and communication with care providers [4]. Mobile health apps are positioned to deliver information outside of a clinical encounter [6]. Thus, mobile health apps can positively impact care outside of a health care setting. Studies of mobile health apps efficacy in pediatrics suggest that mobile health apps that involve usage by caregivers may have a more significant impact on health outcomes [8]. However, the use of mobile health apps in the care of CMC has been limited [6,8-11]. The complexity of this pediatric population, alongside previously identified caregiver burden [5], may benefit from a mobile health app with elevated levels of user support to enhance the caregiver experience and obtain maximal benefit from the app itself. Thus, the use of a live platform coach may be necessary to provide parental caregivers with the support required for platform use and accurate assessment of the use of these apps.

The overarching research question is to understand the parental caregiver experience of using Connecting2gether (C2), a weband mobile-based patient-facing platform for parental caregivers of CMC. The objectives were to (1) identify barriers and challenges to platform uptake, (2) understand facilitators of parental use, and (3) evaluate the role of a live platform coach. This analysis is a substudy of a larger evaluation assessing the feasibility of the C2 platform in caring for CMC.

# Methods

#### **Connecting2gether Platform**

C2 was developed to facilitate communication, care coordination, and information sharing between parental caregivers of CMC and their child's care team using secure messaging, health tracking, educational resources, a web- and mobile-based schedule, care map [12], and shared care plans [13]. Parental caregivers could invite their child's care team (ie, family members, health care providers, care coordinators, and teachers) to use C2 with them, hereinafter referred to as their "circle of care." Invitations for care team members to join C2 were sent through the platform by parental caregivers upon providing a circle of care member email address. Upon receiving the invitation email, circle of care members were able to set up their profile in C2. Parental caregivers were able to control the ability of each circle of care member to view and edit their child's profile. The live platform coach was able to assist parental caregivers in inviting care team members to the platform if they experienced difficulty with the invitation process. C2 was developed in partnership with a health technology solution company, NexJ Health, which provides evidence-based health solutions to those experiencing chronic conditions [14]. C2 was co-developed in partnership with parental caregivers and circle of care members of CMC. C2 was accessible through desktop, tablet, and mobile (iOS and Android) devices.

C2 also contained an automated points system where points were acquired when features were used (ie, inviting a care team member and sending a message) to enhance engagement.

#### Live Platform Coach

The team clinical research coordinator (MB) was trained by NexJ Health for the role of live platform coach and was knowledgeable about the care of CMC. The live platform coach engaged in continued, weekly touchpoints with NexJ Health. The term "coaching" henceforth refers to the act of counseling and encouraging parental caregivers on platform use. The purpose of the live platform coach was to empower, support, and educate, building parental self-sufficiency in platform use. Unlike commonly used programmed chatbots or artificially intelligent and programmed helpers, entitled "virtual human assistants" [9], the live platform coach provided a more personalized approach to addressing parental concerns and needs related to the use of the C2 platform. The live platform coach facilitated feedback and coaching sessions with parental caregivers, acting in a role of mentorship and support, as well as gathering feedback comments. Feedback and coaching sessions were designed to collect information about parental



caregivers' perspectives and behaviors related to platform use and utility. The platform coach addressed user concerns, aided with platform navigation, provided suggestions on the use of platform features, and sent a weekly message to all parental caregivers through the secure messaging system. The messages were formulated based on parental caregiver feedback and included a welcome message, helpful platform tips, educational resources, and updates on platform features. Weekly messages were intended to increase parental caregiver engagement, address common usage issues, and bring attention to lesser-used platform features. The platform coach communicated regularly with parental caregivers using the secure messaging system and did not provide medical advice.

Parental caregivers who identified concerns in the web- and mobile-based form were contacted by the live platform coach. Issues were addressed in real time by the live platform coach and tracked throughout the study and were further addressed through regular platform updates by NexJ Health.

#### **Study Design and Population**

Parental caregivers of CMC were recruited from the Complex Care Program (CCP) at The Hospital for Sick Children, Credit Valley Hospital, and Royal Victoria Regional Health Center in Ontario, Canada. To be eligible for the CCP, children must meet at least one criterion from each of the following conditions: technology dependence, users of high-intensity care, fragility, chronicity, and complexity [15].

Purposive sampling was used to ensure diversity in participant age, ethnicity, and geographical location. Nurse practitioners within the CCP were asked to draw upon their knowledge of parental caregiver experiences to recommend families for study participation. Primary caregivers of CMC who had been in the CCP for at least three months and had an active care plan were eligible for inclusion in the study. Parental caregivers were excluded if participation in the research study would be an added burden due to challenges including end of life, acute deterioration, hospitalization, parental physical or mental health concerns, or if caregivers did not speak English. English language proficiency was necessary for platform navigation and the use of the educational materials.

Study information was sent by post to eligible parental caregivers. Recruitment was conducted by phone and informed consent was obtained. Parental caregivers were recruited between July and November 2019 and used the C2 platform for 6 months.

#### **Data Collection**

Parental caregivers completed a demographics questionnaire at the beginning of the study in person or through REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture), a web- and mobile-based electronic survey tool [16]. Chart review was conducted by a research team member for participating CMC to obtain additional demographic information regarding the clinical characteristic of the patient sample.

Parental caregivers were asked to participate in biweekly feedback and coaching sessions for the first month and in monthly sessions thereafter. Parental caregivers were given a

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43214
```

choice at the study onset of completing the sessions through the phone, in person, or through REDCap, which contained standardized questions with open-ended responses (Multimedia Appendix 1). Parental caregivers were asked about their experience using C2, its usefulness, and each main platform feature such as "If not using any trackers, is there a reason you have not been using the trackers? Is there anything I can help you with?" The web- and mobile-based form was sent at predetermined time points and automatic reminders were sent if the form was not completed within a week. Feedback was collected verbatim for parental caregivers who completed the web- and mobile-based sessions. Telephone and in-person sessions were summarized by the live platform coach through the use of typed notes. All feedback and coaching session data were collected and managed using REDCap.

Participants received a CAD \$20 and CAD \$40 gift card (a currency exchange rate of CAD \$1=US \$0.74 is applicable) after completing baseline questionnaires and at the end of the study, respectively. Parental caregivers also received a CAD \$5 gift card when they reached point milestones on C2 (1000, 2500, 5000, and 10,000 points).

#### **Data Analysis**

Demographic and chart review data were analyzed using descriptive statistics to contextualize the parental caregivers and CMC in the study. Responses from the feedback and coaching sessions were collected and organized based on the interview questions targeted to platform features.

Data from the sessions were analyzed using thematic analysis methods proposed by Braun and Clarke [17] by 3 members of the research team (JO, ACS, and MB). Thematic analysis is flexible, allowing for the production of a robust, nuanced, and detailed account of complex data. Thematic analysis has been successfully used in the analysis of open-ended interview question responses [18-20]. In this study, thematic analysis was chosen as this methodology is able to encompass the breadth of parental caregiver experiences in a complex and diverse population.

In this study, thematic analysis was conducted in alignment with the 6 stages for thematic analysis proposed by Braun and Clarke [17]. In stage 1 of the framework, data were first reviewed to promote familiarization (ACS). In stage 2, codes and subcodes were systematically developed across the entire dataset to categorize feedback based on platform features and parental caregiver experience (ACS). Codes were reviewed by other research team members (JO and MB) to reduce bias. Codes and subcodes were merged and refined to better reflect parental caregiver feedback, and a code tree was synthesized (ACS, JO, and MB). In stage 3, codes were collated into themes. Themes were developed inductively to describe the parental caregiver experience with C2 (ACS). In stage 4, themes were reviewed and amended by all 3 coding members of the research team to reflect the comments provided (ACS, JO, and MB). In accordance with stage 5, ongoing analysis of data was used to develop specific definitions and names for each theme. In stage 6, specific representative examples from the data were chosen to aid in communication of each theme.

XSL•FO

The data were analyzed quantitatively to determine the frequency of parental caregiver comments based on each subcode and the number of parental caregivers who provided feedback under each code. The number of sessions completed by each parental caregiver were quantitatively determined.

#### **Ethics Approval**

Institutional research ethics approval was obtained at Credit Valley Hospital (REB #973), The Hospital for Sick Children (SickKids, REB1000060804), and Royal Victoria Regional Health Centre (REB #R18-013) in Ontario, Canada. Informed consent was obtained from all participants. Research was conducted in accordance with all applicable guidelines and regulations. Study data were deidentified prior to data analysis. A username and password were required to access C2. C2 is a secure, cloud-based platform. All C2 data were stored on IBM Softlayer servers, which are HIPAA, FedRAMP, PCI, and FISMA certified and fully compliant with ISO 27001, 27017, 27018. All stored data were encrypted and transferred within the system using only secure HTTPS connections.

# Results

# **Platform Usage**

A total of 39 parental caregivers consented to participate in the research study, and 37 parental caregivers completed the baseline data questionnaires (Figure 1). Out of these, 36 parental caregivers registered on the platform and 33 parental caregivers participated in at least 1 coaching session, with an average of 5 sessions per parental caregiver (n=33, range 1-7). Of the 3 parental caregivers who did not complete any feedback and coaching sessions, 2 withdrew from the study before completing a session, and 1 could not be contacted. Out of 252 possible parental feedback and coaching sessions, 166 were completed, demonstrating high parental engagement. A total of 42 (25%) feedback and coaching sessions occurred over the phone (range 5-15 minutes in length) and 122 (73%) feedback sessions were completed on the web. A total of 2 (0.01%) feedback sessions occurred in person. CMC and parental caregiver characteristics are included in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

Figure 1. Flow diagram of parental caregiver recruitment. \*These participants were not approached because recruitment had closed.





Table 1. Demographic characteristics of children with medical complexity (CMC) (n=37).

Characteristic	Children with medical complexity
Sex, n (%)	
Female	14 (38)
Male	23 (62)
Length of time in complex care program, n (%)	
<1 year	3 (8)
1-3 years	9 (24)
>3 years	25 (68)
Number of diagnoses, n (%)	
1-5	2 (5)
6-10	19 (51)
11-15	15 (40)
>15	1 (3)
Number of medications, n (%)	
1-10	15 (41)
11-20	19 (51)
21-30	3 (8)
Number of technologies, n (%)	
<5	11 (30)
5-10	19 (51)
11-15	7 (19)
Technology devices <sup>a</sup> , n	
Feeding technology <sup>b</sup>	45
Respiratory technology <sup>c</sup>	67
Vascular access device <sup>d</sup>	4
Mobility device <sup>e</sup>	111
Communication device <sup>f</sup>	4
Other invasive technology <sup>g</sup>	1
Number of subspecialists <sup>h</sup> , n (%)	
<5	1 (3)
5-10	18 (49)
11-15	18 (49)

<sup>a</sup>Each CMC used multiple technologies.

<sup>b</sup>Feeding technology: devices to obtain nutrition (ie, G-J tube, feeding pump).

<sup>c</sup>Respiratory technology: devices to assist with and monitor respiratory function (ie, tracheostomy, nebulizer, oxygen, heated high flow, bilevel positive airway pressure cough assist, oximeter).

<sup>d</sup>Vascular access device: devices for venous access (ie, central venous line and peripherally inserted central catheter).

<sup>e</sup>Mobility device: devices to improve personal mobility and movement (ie, special stroller, specialized wheelchair, walker, stander, portable Hoyer lift, bath chair, tomato chair, shoe lift, and ankle and foot orthotics).

<sup>f</sup>Communication device: devices used for communication purposes (ie, communication systems, cochlear implants, GO Talk board, iPad, and writing aids).

<sup>g</sup>Other invasive technology includes vagal nerve stimulator.

<sup>h</sup>Most used specialist included: neurology, respirology, cardiology, genetics, and hematology.

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 2. Demographic characteristics of parental caregivers (n=37).

Characteristics	Parental caregivers, n (%)	
Role		
Mother	30 (81)	
Father	7 (19)	
Age (years)		
20-40	19 (51)	
>40	16 (43)	
Did not answer	2 (6)	
Primary language		
English	34 (92)	
Other	3 (8)	
Ethnic background		
Caribbean	3 (8)	
East and South Asian	3 (8)	
European ancestry	25 (67)	
Latin, Central and South American	1 (3)	
Other	2 (6)	
Prefer not to answer	3 (8)	
Marital status		
Single or divorced	4 (12)	
Married or common law	30 (80)	
Prefer not to answer	3 (8)	
Education		
High school	2 (5)	
Postsecondary school	21 (57)	
Professional or graduate degree	13 (35)	
Prefer not to answer	1 (3)	
Employment status		
Employed full-time or part-time	19 (51)	
Primary caregiver	12 (32)	
Unemployed	3 (8)	
Other	2 (5)	
Prefer not to answer	1 (3)	
Annual household income (CAD \$ <sup>a</sup> )		
0-59,999	9 (24)	
60,000-89,999	6 (16)	
>90,000	18 (49)	
Prefer not to answer	4 (11)	

<sup>a</sup>A currency exchange rate of CAD \$1=US \$0.74 is applicable.

#### **Quantitative Analysis of Functionality and Features**

Functionality describes the overall ease of use and visual presentation of the platform. Nonparticipation refers to a lack

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43214

of platform use and participation by members of the circle of care, including healthcare providers, educators, and parents. Parental caregivers' comments most commonly referred to C2's features (ie, educational resources and secure messaging),

accounting for 65.3% (335/513) of the total comments (Table 3). Of these features, the shared care plans and secure messaging were most frequently discussed (103/513, 20.1% and 82/513,

16%, respectively; Table 3). Parental caregivers provided the fewest comments on platform functionality (2/513, 0.4%) and the schedule feature (8/513, 1.6%; Table 3).

Table 3. Number of items of feedback f	from parental	caregivers by	code.
----------------------------------------	---------------	---------------	-------

Code	Items of feedback (n=513), n (%) <sup>a</sup>	Parental caregivers who commented (n=33), n $(\%)^{b}$
Care plan	103 (20.1)	31 (93.9)
Secure messaging	82 (16)	32 (97)
Health trackers	67 (13)	31 (93.9)
Nonparticipation	63 (12.3)	31 (93.9)
Health library and workbooks	41(8)	26 (78.8)
Other feedback <sup>c</sup>	38 (7.4)	21 (63.6)
Care map	34 (6.6)	25 (75.8)
Live platform coach	32 (6.2)	32 (97)
Platform invitations	24 (4.7)	24 (72.7)
Technical issues	12 (2.3)	12 (36.4)
Schedule	8 (1.6)	8 (24.2)
Questions about research study	7 (1.4)	7 (21.2)
Functionality	2 (0.4)	2 (6.1)

<sup>a</sup>A piece of feedback is defined as a comment from a parental caregiver related to a specific aspect of the platform.

<sup>b</sup>Parental caregivers who provided comments falling under multiple subcodes were counted for each subcode.

<sup>c</sup>Other feedback includes feedback related to concerns about security, learning curve, integration, and positive comments about platform interface and usability

#### Thematic Summary of Parental Caregiver Feedback

To address the 3 study objectives, parental caregiver feedback was analyzed to identify key themes describing the parental caregiver experience using C2. From the analysis, four key themes emerged: (1) live platform coach, (2) barriers to platform usage and technical challenges, (3) platform requests and modifications, and (4) parental caregiver partnership and empowerment (Table 4 and Figure 2).

Table 4. Demonstration of platform usage and parental feedback relating to each identified theme.

Theme	Parental feedback
Live platform coach	<ul> <li>"I messaged [platform coach] on platform to get help editing a wellness tracker entry." (P16)</li> <li>"[Platform coach] changed [the weight tracker to kilogram] for [me] and told [me] how to locate units under settings." (P22)</li> </ul>
Barriers to platform usage and technical challenges	<ul> <li>"I asked [my] child's school nurses to join in the care circle. They were reluctant to as for their agent's policy." (P14)</li> <li>"There were parts of the program I wanted to use such as care maps. They just didn't work." (P1)</li> <li>"This past week has been rough with child, [I] haven't had as much time to go through the platform." (P4)</li> </ul>
Platform requests and modifica- tions	<ul> <li>"[I had] trouble adding signs and symptoms tracker-[I] wanted to create own rather than adding from the list." (P16)</li> <li>"It would be useful to have home care nurses charting on the platform to be able to share with health care providers and nurse practitioners." (P14)</li> </ul>
Parental caregiver partnership and empowerment	<ul> <li>"[I] had a meeting with school-printed off the care map and care plan. [I] felt more confident sitting in the meeting with the documents." (P41)</li> <li>"[Connecting2gether] opened [my] eyes to the possibility to negotiate dialogue with health care team. [I felt] empowered to participate in child's care." (P8)</li> </ul>



Shouldice et al

Figure 2. Themes describing the parental caregiver experience of using Connecting2gether.



#### **Thematic Analysis**

#### Live Platform Coach

Parental caregivers described the emerging role of the live platform coach as a key facilitator of platform use. The role of the live platform coach evolved into assisting with platform navigation, providing suggestions on the use of platform features, addressing technical errors, and gathering parental feedback comments. The live platform coach was able to work with parental caregivers to aid in password retrieval, unit conversions, and technical issue mitigation, potentially enhancing parental engagement. For example, the platform coach helped navigate between metric and imperial conversions for the health trackers, saving parental caregivers time and maintaining a positive experience. Parental caregivers also often asked about how to use specific platform features (ie, care map and care plans). The platform coach was able to provide suggestions as to how the platform could support their individual needs. For example, the platform coach provided suggestions on the use of the care map, such as the type of information that may be useful to add to a care map and who to share it with. The platform coach was also available to field parental caregiver questions and support platform use. A total of 97% (32/33) of parental caregivers commented on their use of the live platform coach, highlighting the importance of this role and parental caregiver support. The majority of these comments described the use of the platform coach in navigating platform use, mitigating technical issues, and suggesting avenues of platform use.

#### Barriers to Platform Usage and Technical Challenges

Parental caregiver feedback on barriers to platform usage included challenges such as the time commitment to use the platform, circle of care nonparticipation, lack of familiarity with

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43214

the platform, and a lack of platform usefulness during periods of health stability (Table 3). Of parental caregivers, 24.2% (8/33) reported that platform set-up was a time-consuming process as some of the child's health information had to be manually entered, leading to decreased participation. Lack of engagement of circle of care members was a common barrier reported by parental caregivers and was usually due to organizational policies or lack of familiarity with the platform (Table 3).

Parental caregivers described technical challenges as a significant barrier to platform use. Common technical challenges included the mobile app crashing and a lengthy website loading time. Though only 36.4% (12/33) of parental caregivers discussed technical challenges (Table 3), the parental caregivers who experienced these challenges reported that this had a significant impact on their use of C2. Technical issues were mitigated through contact with the platform developer by the platform coach and the use of periodic software updates. The platform coach advised parental caregivers on simple technical solutions such as updating the app or device software to mitigate some of the technical issues.

#### Platform Requests and Modifications

Many parental caregivers requested increased customizability on certain aspects of the platform features, such as the secure messaging or shared care plans, and suggested new platform functions, particularly related to the health trackers and the schedule feature. For example, several parental caregivers suggested adding a feature allowing for gaps in sleep to be tracked to reflect the total hours of sleep more accurately. Parental caregivers also requested the ability to sync the weband mobile-based C2 schedule with their own personal calendars. Parental caregivers also felt that integration of C2 with the hospital's patient-facing EMR would enhance usability and indicated that the lack of integration negatively impacted

XSL•FO RenderX

their use of C2 as it required multiple platforms to be used for a comprehensive understanding of their child's health care needs.

#### Parental Caregiver Partnership and Empowerment

A key facilitator of parental caregiver platform use was the feeling of renewed parental caregiver-provider partnership and empowerment. Though feedback and coaching session questions focused on discerning methods of platform use and mitigating issues, roughly one-third of parental caregivers reported feelings of partnership with the medical team and empowerment through an improvement in attitude and investment in their child's care after using C2. Parental caregivers felt more involved in their child's care and as though they were acknowledged by their child's care providers. For example, one caregiver reported that they had felt that the health care team provided information and they received information prior to the study start. They stated that the platform helped to change and equalize that dynamic. Many parental caregivers appreciated the ease of communication with other members of their child's care team. Some parental caregivers indicated interest in C2 being available for a longer duration and to other families of CMC.

### Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

To our knowledge, this is one of the first studies to assess the feasibility of a web- and mobile-based, patient-facing platform for parental caregivers of CMC. Upon examination of parental feedback data, the parental caregiver perspective on the use of CMC was characterized and organized into four key themes: (1) barriers to platform usage and technical challenges, (2) platform requests and modifications, (3) parental caregiver partnership and empowerment, and (4) live platform coach.

#### **Parental Caregiver Partnership and Empowerment**

Some parental caregivers reported renewed feelings of partnership with their child's care team members and a greater ability to participate in their child's care. Parental caregivers of CMC face challenges associated with fragmented care that impacts their partnership with health care providers [4]. This finding replicates previous study findings, where parental caregivers reported that they felt their expertise in their child's care was not acknowledged or valued by members of the medical team [4]. Previous studies have identified a need for family-centered care (FCC), where health care decisions are made based on a partnership between health care providers and families [4,21]. A primary challenge in the implementation of FCC is a lack of communication and collaboration. The outcome of improved parental caregiver empowerment following the use of C2 demonstrates that the use of a web- and mobile-based platform with a live platform coach can be considered as a facilitator of enhanced FCC.

#### Live Platform Coach

Parental caregivers reported that technical challenges also impacted their use of C2. Previous research on mobile health apps indicates technical challenges, including learnability, system design, and interoperability, affect platform usage [22].

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43214

These issues were mitigated in part by using the live platform coach, who provided suggestions to circumvent technical issues. The instrumental nature of the live platform coach to platform use was an unanticipated outcome of this study, thus feedback session questions did not directly target its use. The volume of parental caregiver comments describing the use of the live platform coach indicates the critical nature of this role.

The parental caregiver experience suggests that C2 was a useful tool for parental caregivers in the care of CMC. Though barriers existed, they were partially mitigated by the role of the live platform coach. CMC are a diverse population with a wide variety of needs, thus a human in the role of a platform coach is required to provide a flexible and tailored response to weband mobile-based patient-facing platforms supporting the needs of parental caregivers of this population. Though the use of virtual human assistants has been described in many web- and mobile-based health platforms in adult populations, the role of a live platform coach has not been studied in pediatric populations. Support implemented in previous web-based health care platforms typically takes the form of an artificially intelligent virtual human assistant, as opposed to a person engaged in the role of platform support and partnership [9]. Unlike the platform coach role used in C2, the role of a virtual human assistant describes programmable features, like chatbots, that have been implemented in some mobile health apps for adult populations [9]. In analyses of the use of a virtual human assistant, more "human-like" characteristics of the avatar used and the programmed response including empathy and self-disclosure result in more positive parental caregiver experiences. A live platform coach may be beneficial over a virtual human assistant, as the live platform coach can provide a greater degree of personalization and specialization necessary for this population where feasible. The results of this study suggest that the live platform coach is a critical component of C2, and that widespread implementation of the platform would require an individual to function in a similar role for improved platform uptake.

#### Parental Caregiver Use and Platform Integration

Parental caregiver feedback suggests that C2 is a useful tool to have, when necessary, but its daily use is not always feasible or helpful. Caring for CMC is a significant time commitment [5], and a lack of time was reported by parental caregivers to be one of the most significant barriers to platform use (Table 3). Previous studies of adults using mobile health-related interventions identified that health issues often prevented patients from participating due to limitations imposed by the time required to manage their condition or pain, for example [23]. Similarly, several parental caregivers in the study reported decreased platform use due to a lack of time secondary to intensive care provision for their medically complex child. Thus, this study found that lack of time often perturbed the use of C2 from fitting parental caregivers' daily schedules. Parental caregivers found that the platform was most helpful when it could be used as a tool to track health patterns over time as needed instead of being used daily, particularly in establishing timelines during consultation with physicians and other health care professionals.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Previous studies on mobile health platforms showed that a lack of integration with EMR was a barrier as the use of other platforms or EMR themselves was prioritized due to convenience [24]. As reported by parental caregivers in the study, parental caregivers found that C2 was a valuable tool, but that further integration with existing EMR was necessary to improve usefulness. The C2 platform was not embedded within the hospital's EMR; thus, providers and parental caregivers had to manually input changes and log into a separate system. Parental caregivers stated that the integration of MyChart's schedule or results reporting tools would have improved platform usefulness. Due to the nature of the feasibility study, EMR integration was not addressed. Platform efficacy must be determined prior to EMR integration being considered, and a large-scale assessment of feasibility must be performed. Partnership with parental caregivers and a user-centered design approach is crucial to ensure that the future iteration of a web- and mobile-based patient-facing platform for CMC is tailored to parental needs, including increased customizability.

#### **Comparison With Previous Work**

Previous studies have identified multiple challenges in care coordination for CMC [4]. The unique complexity of this population requires the investigation of unique solutions. In partnership with NexJ Health, the existing NexJ Connected Wellness (NCW) was adapted to create C2 [14]. Previous studies evaluating the use of NCW have been conducted on adult populations [25]. To adapt to the unique CMC pediatric population, features from NCW including workbooks and health trackers were tailored to the CMC population, providing increased platform adaptability, layout, and functionality. Previous studies on care coordination challenges in CMC identified that the implementation of shared systems that can be accessed by all members of a child's care team in real time may help mitigate these challenges [4]. This study expands upon previous work to evaluate parental caregiver perspectives on a novel technological solution to improve care coordination and information-sharing.

#### Limitations

Given parental caregiver preference to complete sessions remotely or by phone, data recording methodology for feedback and coaching sessions varied. Summarization and verbatim transcription were both used. The use of summarization is a limitation of this study as it may have resulted in interviewer bias. Further study limitations involve study exclusion criteria. The study population excluded individuals that did not speak English, and future research is needed to understand the feasibility of C2 for families who prefer languages other than English. Further, families involved in the study were approached based on a nurse practitioner's evaluation that they would be able to use the technology and provide constructive feedback, and that it would be appropriate for families to participate, which may have also introduced bias. Additionally, the majority of parental caregivers were of European ancestry and had completed a postsecondary degree, with close to half of participants having an annual household income of more than CAD \$90,000. As a result, the breadth of needs of parental caregivers belonging to lower socioeconomic status groups or those from historically marginalized groups may not have been encompassed by the study.

#### Conclusions

It is well understood that caring for CMC involves communicating with multiple health care providers across a variety of settings and a significant amount of care coordination by parental caregivers, amounting to a large time commitment for families. The C2 platform was described as a useful tool by parental caregivers to enhance communication and information access in the care of CMC. Improved access to information and educational resources, alleviation of caregiver burden, and tracking of health trends may lead to improved health outcomes for this population. The live platform coach facilitated platform use, mitigated technical issues, and enhanced the experience of parental caregivers with C2. Future patient-facing platforms for CMC should consider the use of a live platform coach to provide personalized platform support and improve platform utility.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all parental caregivers who graciously donated their time to participate in this study. We would also like to thank the Government of Ontario for funding this study through the Ontario Center of Innovation, a member of the Ontario Network of Entrepreneurs. Lastly, we would like to thank NexJ Health for their partnership over the course of this study.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Parental caregiver online feedback and coaching session questionnaire. [DOC File, 101 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43214 app1.doc]

#### References

RenderX

Cohen E, Kuo DZ, Agrawal R, Berry JG, Bhagat SK, Simon TD, et al. Children with medical complexity: an emerging population for clinical and research initiatives. Pediatrics 2011;127(3):529-538 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-0910] [Medline: 21339266]

- Kuo DZ, Melguizo-Castro M, Goudie A, Nick TG, Robbins JM, Casey PH. Variation in child health care utilization by medical complexity. Matern Child Health J 2015;19(1):40-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-014-1493-0] [Medline: 24740726]
- 3. Mosquera RA, Avritscher EBC, Pedroza C, Bell CS, Samuels CL, Harris TS, et al. Hospital consultation from outpatient clinicians for medically complex children: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Pediatr 2021;175(1):e205026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.5026] [Medline: 33252671]
- Adams S, Beatty M, Moore C, Desai A, Bartlett L, Culbert E, et al. Perspectives on team communication challenges in caring for children with medical complexity. BMC Health Serv Res 2021;21(1):300 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06304-8] [Medline: 33794885]
- Kuo DZ, McAllister JW, Rossignol L, Turchi RM, Stille CJ. Care coordination for children with medical complexity: whose care is it, anyway? Pediatrics 2018;141(Suppl 3):S224-S232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-1284G] [Medline: 29496973]
- Wang G, Wignall J, Kinard D, Singh V, Foster C, Adams S, et al. An implementation model for managing cloud-based longitudinal care plans for children with medical complexity. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2021;28(1):23-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa207] [Medline: 33150404]
- Desai AD, Wang G, Wignall J, Kinard D, Singh V, Adams S, et al. User-centered design of a longitudinal care plan for children with medical complexity. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020;27(12):1860-1870 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa193] [Medline: 33043368]
- Fedele DA, Cushing CC, Fritz A, Amaro CM, Ortega A. Mobile health interventions for improving health outcomes in youth: a meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2017;171(5):461-469 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0042] [Medline: 28319239]
- Zhang L, Babu SV, Jindal M, Williams JE, Gimbel RW. A patient-centered mobile phone app (iHeartU) with a virtual human assistant for self-management of heart failure: protocol for a usability assessment study. JMIR Res Protoc 2019;8(5):e13502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13502] [Medline: 31124472]
- Genes N, Violante S, Cetrangol C, Rogers L, Schadt EE, Chan YY. From smartphone to EHR: a case report on integrating patient-generated health data. NPJ Digit Med 2018;1(1):23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0030-8] [Medline: 31304305]
- 11. Mirkovic J, Kaufman DR, Ruland CM. Supporting cancer patients in illness management: usability evaluation of a mobile app. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(3):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3359] [Medline: 25119490]
- 12. Adams S, Nicholas D, Mahant S, Weiser N, Kanani R, Boydell K, et al. Care maps for children with medical complexity. Dev Med Child Neurol 2017;59(12):1299-1306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13576] [Medline: 28984353]
- 13. Adams S, Cohen E, Mahant S, Friedman JN, Macculloch R, Nicholas DB. Exploring the usefulness of comprehensive care plans for children with medical complexity (CMC): a qualitative study. BMC Pediatr 2013;13(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-13-10] [Medline: 23331710]
- 14. NexJ Health-Advanced Virtual Care. URL: <u>https://www.nexjhealth.com/</u> [accessed 2021-09-21]
- 15. Complex Care for Kids in Ontario. Provincial Council for Maternal and Child Health. 2023 Mar. URL: <u>https://www.pcmch.on.ca/complex-care-for-kids-ontario/</u> [accessed 2022-02-17]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, Redcap Consortium. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- 17. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 18. Stewart D, Burrow H, Duckworth A, Dhillon J, Fife S, Kelly S, et al. Thematic analysis of psychiatric patients' perceptions of nursing staff. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2015;24(1):82-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/inm.12107] [Medline: 25382159]
- Beng TS, Guan NC, Seang LK, Pathmawathi S, Ming MF, Jane LE, et al. The experiences of suffering of palliative care patients in Malaysia: a thematic analysis. Am J Hosp Palliat Care 2014;31(1):45-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049909112458721] [Medline: 22956340]
- Molin KR, Egerod I, Valentiner LS, Lange P, Langberg H. General practitioners' perceptions of COPD treatment: thematic analysis of qualitative interviews. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2016;11:1929-1937 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/COPD.S108611] [Medline: 27574417]
- Kuo DZ, Houtrow AJ, Arango P, Kuhlthau KA, Simmons JM, Neff JM. Family-centered care: current applications and future directions in pediatric health care. Matern Child Health J 2012;16(2):297-305 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-011-0751-7] [Medline: 21318293]
- 22. Gurupur VP, Wan TTH. Challenges in implementing mHealth interventions: a technical perspective. Mhealth 2017;3:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.07.05] [Medline: 28894742]
- 23. Nielsen AS, Kidholm K, Kayser L. Patients' reasons for non-use of digital patient-reported outcome concepts: a scoping review. Health Informatics J 2020;26(4):2811-2833 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458220942649] [Medline: 32731773]
- 24. Logan AG. Transforming hypertension management using mobile health technology for telemonitoring and self-care support. Can J Cardiol 2013;29(5):579-585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2013.02.024] [Medline: 23618506]

Wayne N, Perez DF, Kaplan DM, Ritvo P. Health coaching reduces HbA1c in type 2 diabetic patients from a lower-socioeconomic status community: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(10):e224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4871] [Medline: 26441467]

#### Abbreviations

C2: Connecting2gether CCP: Complex Care Program CMC: children with medical complexity EMR: electronic medical record FCC: family-centered care NCW: NexJ Connected Wellness

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 16.10.22; peer-reviewed by V Gurupur, H Holmen; comments to author 27.01.23; revised version received 18.03.23; accepted 03.04.23; published 05.07.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Shouldice AC, Beatty M, Adams S, Dharmaraj B, Moore C, Stinson JN, Desai A, Bartlett L, Culbert E, Cohen E, Orkin J Caregivers' Experiences With a Web- and Mobile-Based Platform for Children With Medical Complexity and the Role of a Live Platform Coach: Thematic Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43214 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43214</u> doi:10.2196/43214 PMID:37405834

©Ainslie Claire Shouldice, Madison Beatty, Sherri Adams, Blossom Dharmaraj, Clara Moore, Jennifer Nan Stinson, Arti Desai, Leah Bartlett, Erin Culbert, Eyal Cohen, Julia Orkin. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 05.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### **Original Paper**

# An After-Hours Virtual Care Service for Children With Medical Complexity and New Medical Technology: Mixed Methods Feasibility Study

Katherine Babayan<sup>1\*</sup>, BNSc, MHI; Krista Keilty<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>, NP-Paeds, PhD; Jessica Esufali<sup>2\*</sup>, BSCN, MSc; Francisco J Grajales III<sup>1\*</sup>, MS, CD, CPHIMS-CA; Connected Care Live for Family Caregivers Advisory Group<sup>5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Connected Care Program, Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Child Health Evaluative Studies, SickKids Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Lawrence S. Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>5</sup>see Acknowledgments

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Katherine Babayan, BNSc, MHI Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation University of Toronto 155 College Street Toronto, ON, M5T 3M6 Canada Phone: 1 (416) 978 4326 Email: katherine.babayan@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Family caregivers (FCs) of children with medical complexity require specialized support to promote the safe management of new medical technologies (eg, gastrostomy tubes) during hospital-to-home transitions. With limited after-hours services available to families in home and community care, medical device complications that arise often lead to increased FC stress and unplanned emergency department (ED) visits. To improve FC experiences, enable safer patient discharge, and reduce after-hours ED visits, this study explores the feasibility of piloting a 24/7 virtual care service (Connected Care Live) with families to provide real-time support by clinicians expert in the use of pediatric home care technologies.

**Objective:** This study aims to establish the economic, operational, and technical feasibility of piloting the expansion of an existing nurse-led after-hours virtual care service offered to home and community care providers to FCs of children with newly inserted medical devices after hospital discharge at Toronto's Hospital for Sick Children (SickKids).

**Methods:** This exploratory study, conducted from October 2020 to August 2021, used mixed data sources to inform service expansion feasibility. Semistructured interviews were conducted with FCs, nurses, and hospital leadership to assess the risks, benefits, and technical and operational requirements for sustainable and cost-effective future service operations. Time and travel savings were estimated using ED visit data in SickKids' electronic medical records (Epic) with a chief complaint of "medical device problems," after-hours medical device inquiries from clinician emails and voicemails, and existing service operational data.

**Results:** A total of 30 stakeholders were interviewed and voiced the need for the proposed service. Safer and more timely management of medical device complications, improved caregiver and provider experiences, and strengthened partnerships were identified as expected benefits, while service demand, nursing practice, and privacy and security were identified as potential risks. A total of 47 inquiries were recorded over 2 weeks from March 26, 2021, to April 8, 2021, with 51% (24/47) assessed as manageable via service expansion. This study forecasted annual time and travel savings of 558 hours for SickKids and 904 hours and 22,740 km for families. Minimal technical and operational requirements were needed to support service expansion by leveraging an existing platform and clinical staff. Of the 212 ED visits related to "medical device problems" over 6 months from September 1, 2020, to February 28, 2021, enteral feeding tubes accounted for nearly two-thirds (n=137, 64.6%), with 41.6% (57/137) assessed as virtually manageable.

**Conclusions:** Our findings indicate that it is feasible to pilot the expansion of Connected Care Live to FCs of children with newly inserted enteral feeding tubes. This nurse-led virtual caregiver service is a promising tool to promote safe hospital-to-home transitions, improve FC experiences, and reduce after-hours ED visits.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e41393) doi:10.2196/41393

#### **KEYWORDS**

children with medical complexity; technology dependence; medical devices; family caregivers; virtual care; home and community care; emergency department visits; enteral feeding tubes; hospital-to-home transition; feasibility; mixed methods

# Introduction

#### Background

Children with medical complexity (CMC) are known to have multiple and severe chronic health problems, functional limitations, and a dependence on medical technologies (eg, central lines and tracheostomies) with increased caregiver needs [1-4]. CMC may be discharged to home and community care settings on 1 or more medical devices that they depend on to support vital functions, such as eating and breathing. Among the varied medical devices used in home and community care, enteral feeding tubes are one of the most common technologies and have high rates of unplanned hospital visits [5-8]. An enteral feeding tube is a medical device placed in the nose, mouth, or a stoma that is used to deliver liquid nutrition, medications, or fluids directly into the gastrointestinal tract, such as a gastrostomy, gastrojejunostomy, nasogastric, nasojejunostomy, or jejunostomy tube (G tube, GJ tube, NG tube, NJ tube, or J tube, respectively) [9,10]. The typical feeding tube complications that these patients present with to the emergency department (ED) are displacement, blockage, leakage, bleeding, and infection [4,5]. Increased stress associated with managing feeding complications and frequent trips to seek medical care are common challenges family caregivers (FCs) face while caring for children with newly inserted enteral tubes [11].

Although CMC make up less than 1% of children in Canada, they account for nearly 60% of total pediatric hospital care costs [1]. When complications related to medical devices arise, the associated costs tend to be even higher for CMC and those who depend on technology devices (ie, CMC with technology dependence [CMC-TD]), due to their increased utilization of health services and visits to the ED [1,3,4]. To enable safe medical device management during hospital-to-home transitions, CMC-TD often require highly skilled, around-the-clock care from FCs and home and community care providers [12]. In preparing for discharge, it is important that FCs receive specialized education to enable their confidence and competency in pediatric complex care to prevent and troubleshoot medical device complications, while reducing unplanned ED visits [12]. One of the FCs noted as follows:

My daughter was diagnosed with a rare genetic illness and spent the first year of her life at the hospital. Six years ago, when she was first discharged from the hospital, we had limited support managing her G tube and oxygen therapy. A home care nurse was sent to visit her, but they did not arrive until three days after discharge, so my only option was to call the in-patient unit to ask for their support. Again, more recently, I

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41393

had an incident in 2020, where my daughter's G tube had fallen out. I had inserted her emergency catheter but was not able to pull back gastric fluid to get a pH reading. I tried calling the hospital but realized the clinic team was only available during office hours. Then, I called the physician on-call at the hospital, who told me they could not see the G tube, so it was best I came into the hospital. I ended up taking my daughter to the emergency department for a complication that could have been avoided entirely and virtually managed at home with video calling support.

#### About the Program and Service

At the Hospital for Sick Children (SickKids), Canada's largest pediatric hospital, over 3000 CMC-TD are discharged each year to home who have an ongoing need for specialized home and community care [13,14]. SickKids partners with home and community care providers to support the unique needs of this population, drive system integration, and promote seamless hospital-to-home transitions through their Connected Care program [14]. Connected Care provides specialized medical device training through an annual program comprising over 2000 in-hospital and virtual family education sessions before discharge, along with more than 1000 education modules tailored for home and community care providers, such as nurses from home care agencies, across Ontario [14]. Home and community care providers can access 24/7 real-time virtual care support through the Connected Care Live service. This support is available via text, phone call, or video call and is provided by an interprofessional team of SickKids clinicians, primarily registered nurses, who are experts in the use of home care technologies (Figure 1) [14]. This web-based service, accessible via smartphones/tablets and PC/laptop, is device agnostic and supports over 1000 providers across the Greater Toronto Area [15]. Connected Care Live consultations are typically used to help users troubleshoot medical device complications; reinforce specialized education and skills; and clarify patient medical orders, care plans, or medications [15]. Currently, this service is exclusively available to regulated care providers in home and community care settings who care for CMC-TD.

After discharge, FCs at SickKids cannot access the Connected Care Live service but are offered specialized support through scheduled virtual visits arranged by Connected Care staff within a week of discharge, self-directed online AboutKidsHealth resources, email and telephone office-hours contact with specialized medical device teams (eg, G-Tube Resource Team), and home and community care provider services [14]. However, virtual visits cannot be initiated by FCs and are not accessible

XSL•FO RenderX

in real time. Besides, many specialized medical device teams are not available after-hours, further limiting support available to FCs during this time. In addition, not all CMC-TD are eligible for home and community care provider services and significant reductions have been seen across home and community care services because of major health human resource shortages, fears of COVID-19 transmission, and greater desire among FCs to increase self-efficacy [16]. With limited access to specialized medical device support during after-hours, a more sustainable strategy is required to support FCs of CMC-TD beyond discharge.

#### Figure 1. The Connected Care Live virtual care service on mobile and desktop.



#### **Study Goal**

This study aims to establish the economic, operational, and technical feasibility of piloting the expansion of Connected Care Live to FCs of CMC-TD with newly inserted enteral feeding tubes (ie, G, NG, and GJ tubes) after discharge from SickKids, to ensure the sustainability of a nurse-led after-hours virtual care service for this high-needs population.

# Methods

#### **Study Design**

An exploratory study was conducted from October 2020 to August 2021 using mixed data sources to evaluate the service expansion. A total of 30 semistructured interviews were conducted with key informants including FCs of CMC-TD, nurses, and hospital leadership to assess the risks, benefits, and technical and operational requirements of the service expansion. Economic feasibility was assessed by considering anticipated risks and benefits, which were determined through interviews. We estimated time and travel savings for families, clinicians, and the hospital by comparing the existing state of after-hour services with the anticipated future state following the implementation of Connected Care Live. Similarly, previous studies have used time invested in implementing new technologies as a measure of economic value to establish feasibility [17]. Operational feasibility was assessed by identifying the resources and workflow changes required for service expansion. Technical feasibility was assessed by identifying the technical requirements for delivering the service.

#### **Semistructured Interviews**

A mix of virtual and in-person semistructured interviews was conducted with FCs, nurses, and hospital leadership. Interview participants were self-selected in response to an email and were purposively recruited to ensure the breadth of perspectives was

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41393
```

reflected across individuals that had relevant experience with the identified challenges, type of project, or proposed service. The sample size was determined by considering the segmentation of leader viewpoints, diversification of the participants, and saturation achieved through iterative data analysis. A semistructured interview guide informed by principles of child and family-centered care was developed iteratively by the study team [18]. Interview guides were sent out 24 hours in advance of each meeting to promote readiness and respect for participant's time. At the start of each interview, participants were informed about the purpose and that observational notes would be taken to support the feasibility assessment.

A qualitative content analysis of all interviews was conducted using a conventional approach. This analysis included 3 steps: (1) familiarization with the data through manual reading of text from observational notes taken in response to open-ended questions; (2) identification of key categories related to risks, benefits, and operational and technical requirements described by participants; and (3) selection of quotes and examples [19]. The preliminary analysis of interview content was completed sequentially after data collection by the primary author (KB), which was followed by a secondary analysis performed by 2 coauthors (KK and JE). The identification of categories was driven by quantity and relative importance as expressed by the most common and greatest challenges (eg, gap in after-hours support) identified across interview participants.

#### **Economic Feasibility**

ED visits and after-hours medical device inquiries data were used to estimate the cost of inaction for the time and travel savings analysis. Before data extraction, hospital approval was obtained to extract relevant data from the SickKids' Epic electronic medical record team. Over a 6-month period from September 1, 2020, to February 28, 2021, data on all ED visits with a chief complaint of "medical device problems" were

extracted from the Epic electronic medical record. Variables that were analyzed from these data included type of medical device, reason for visit, and number of hours in ED. The study team also examined and classified each ED visit to identify those that were likely "avoidable" had there been access to a virtual care solution for these FCs. The criteria for visits that could not be managed virtually were developed in consultation with subject matter experts from the Connected Care and G-Tube Resource Team (Textbox 1).

To estimate the time spent managing after-hours emails and voicemails, over a 2-week period from March 26 to April 8, 2021, data on medical device inquiries by FCs to the G-Tube Resource Team were collected. The analyzed variables were mode of contact, date of contact, reason for contact, and disposition. The study team also examined and classified each inquiry, identifying those that could be managed by the Connected Care Resource Nurses. The criteria for Connected Care manageable inquiries were also developed in consultation with subject matter experts from the Connected Care and G-Tube Resource Team (Textbox 2).

Textbox 1. Exclusion criteria for virtually manageable emergency department visits.

- Obtained imaging (eg, x-rays, ultrasound for tube placement) and tests (eg, nasopharyngeal swabs).
- Required intravenous access or medications not part of the home care plan.
- Obtained blood work (not including blood sugar levels checked for missed feeds).
- Dispositioned to hospital admission.

Textbox 2. Exclusion criteria for medical device inquiries manageable by Connected Care Resources Nurses.

- Appointment-related questions
- Serious and life-threatening conditions that require immediate medical attention
- Gastrojejunostomy tube dislodgement-specific questions

#### **Operational Feasibility**

ED visits and after-hours inquiries data were used to forecast the volume and timing of Connected Care Live consultation service demands. We measured the service's operational requirements in hours, using service demand data to estimate the annual nursing full-time equivalents needed for pilot service expansion. This also included the hours required for specialized G tube training for Connected Care Resource Nurses, quality assurance, and administrative tasks before and during the initial pilot. Estimated service demands were compared with existing scheduling and human resource capacity to determine the impact on workflows.

#### **Technical Feasibility**

We assessed technical feasibility by identifying the technical requirements for delivering the service in consultation with internal subject matter experts, including those from Connected Care, privacy, legal, risk, and information security functional departments, during semistructured interviews.

#### **Ethics Consideration**

Ethics approval was not sought for this study, given the minimal risk posed to participants. In its entirety, it is compliant with the Tri-Council Policy Statement (TCPS2 2022 [20]) on research ethics. Participation in data collection was completely voluntary. Before observational notes were taken during interviews, all research participants provided informed consent and were briefed on their right to opt out of the data collection process at any time.

# Results

#### **Overview of Study Participants**

A total of 30 participants were interviewed in this feasibility study. The participants represented a variety of roles that directly and indirectly provide support to CMC-TDs, including FCs, nurses, and hospital leadership (Table 1). All FCs interviewed had experience caring for their children with newly inserted enteral tubes, nurses had anywhere from 5 to 16 years of clinical experience managing medical device complications, and hospital leadership had previous experience supporting the implementation of virtual care services.



Table 1. Participants interviewed from SickKids (N=30).

Participant group	Participants, n
Family caregivers	
Parents of children with medical complexity from the SickKids' Patient and Family Advisory Network	2
Nurses	
Emergency department	2
Connected Care Program	4
Gastrostomy Tube Resource Team	3
Hospital leadership	
Connected Care Program leadership and administrative staff	4
Clinical directors and managers	5
Functional department leads for privacy, information security, legal, and risk, information management, and technology	6
Quality and education leads	2
Project managers	2

#### **Economic Feasibility**

### *Results of the Risk-Benefit Analysis From Interviews With Families, Nurses, and Hospital Leadership*

The risks of service expansion identified by interview participants are shown in Table 2. These included service

demand, legal, privacy, technical, nursing practice, and purpose of service. The benefits of service expansion identified by interview participants are shown in Figure 2. These included safer and more timely management of medical device complications, improved caregiver and provider experiences, strengthened partnerships, and significant annual time and travel savings for FCs, SickKids' ED, and G-Tube Resource Nurses.

Table 2. Risks of service expansion to families identified among interview participants.

Risk category	Participants impacted	Risk description
Service demand	<ul><li>Connected Care Resource Nurses</li><li>Connected Care Leadership</li></ul>	<ul><li>Risk of high-volume and long-duration consults</li><li>Risk of inadequate staffing and health human resources</li></ul>
Legal	Connected Care Resource Nurses	• Risk of providing recommendations that result in poten- tial or actual harm to patients
Privacy	• Patients, family caregivers, and Connected Care Resource Nurses	• Risk of difficulty verifying end users (authorized family caregivers) to protect personal health information; risk of lost or stolen devices
Technical	Family caregivers and Connected Care Resource     Nurses	• Risk of having technical issues or service interruptions during consults
Nursing practice	Connected Care Resource Nurses	• Risk of errors; concern for gaps in knowledge when supporting family consults
Purpose of service	<ul><li>Patients</li><li>Connected Care Resource Nurse</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Risk of harm for delayed emergency department visits if the family caregiver misunderstands the purpose of the service</li> <li>Risk of increased time and resources spent redirecting family caregivers</li> </ul>



#### Babayan et al

Figure 2. Value emerging from Connected Care Live service expansion to families. CC: Connected Care; CCRN: Connected Care Resource Nurse; ED: emergency department; FC: family caregiver; GTRN: Gastrostomy Tube Resource Nurse.



#### **Emerging Themes**

#### Addresses Patient Safety and Gap in the After-Hours Support to Family Caregivers

Many interview participants emphasized the limited follow-up and lack of real-time support available to FCs beyond discharge to enable safe after-hours management of their child's medical device. Participants highlighted the value that the Connected Care Live service would bring to support families after-hours on weekends, weekday evenings, and statutory holidays.

A home care nurse may be worried about making a mistake that upsets a parent, but a parent is worried about making a mistake that impacts the safety of their child. We want to know how to solve problems to avoid going to the emergency department, but also how can we stay away from calling [the hospital] again or prevent future ED visits. How can we become more independent. [FC, Patient and Family Advisory Network]

Parents would have ongoing support after discharge. Right now, our follow up is limited. [Experienced registered nurse]

Having this service would be a huge help to our families overnight and over the weekend. [Experienced registered nurse]

Participants also highlighted the need for a service like Connected Care Live to prevent after-hours ED visits and how valuable it is to be able to access video-calling features in addition to text or calling to feel more confident about caring for their child at home.

If I had this service, I'm 99.9% sure, it would have prevented an ED visit. [FC, Patient and Family Advisory Network]

Especially for new families, this service would be invaluable. Even just over the phone it can be difficult to walk you through what needs to be done but having

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41393

the option of the video makes a huge difference to see what you are referring to. To have equipment and supplies available through Connected Care Live and physically see what needs to be done. [FC, Patient and Family Advisory Network]

#### Supports Caregiver After-Hours Stress and Strengthens Partnerships

Participants further voiced that having a gap in after-hours services available to FCs has contributed to increased caregiver stress when caring for their child's medical device at home. By expanding Connected Care Live to families, they described how it would not only help alleviate stress but also enhance existing partnerships with SickKids' providers.

A lot of the concern I have as a parent to deal with at home is the anxiety of not knowing if you're doing the right thing or not. [FC, Patient and Family Advisory Network]

With each consult encounter, it would strengthen the partnerships we have with our families. [Experienced registered nurse]

# Improves Provider Satisfaction and Reduces Workflow Interruptions

Nurses are often responding to FC inquiries to ensure that they receive the high-quality specialized support that they need to manage their child's medical devices at home. However, in the absence of formal channels to support families after-hours, nurses voiced the increased workflow interruptions they were experiencing, highlighting the need for a service like Connected Care Live. Particularly, the G-Tube Resource Nurses mentioned that they frequently deal with a large volume of after-hours emails upon returning from the weekend. Because of limited capacity, they are then required to schedule fewer patients and specialized wait-listed procedures on Mondays

Right now, we see many backdoor consults through emails. The increasing number of emails are difficult

XSL•FO RenderX

to organize and manage, but families show a lot of appreciation of this support. This service will provide a more formal structure and secure pathway for us to provide recommendations. [Experienced registered nurse]

We often book less patients on Mondays because we are so busy responding to after-hours emails. [Experienced registered nurse]

#### ED Visit Data Results

Figure 3 presents a flowchart depicting the findings from the extraction of Epic ED visit data. Of the 212 ED visits categorized as "medical device problems," enteral feeding tubes accounted for nearly two-thirds (n=137, 64.6%). Across these

visits, patients and FCs spent an average of 4.2 hours in the ED. Dislodgment (92/137, 67.2%), blockage (19/137, 13.9%), and stoma issues (8/137, 5.8%) were the top 3 reasons for visits. Among the 137 enteral feeding tube visits, 37.9% (52/137) were related to GJ tubes (with 4%, 2/52, assessed as virtually manageable), 36.5% (50/137) were related to G tubes (with 68%, 34/50, assessed as virtually manageable), 21.9% (30/137) were related to NG tubes (with 70%, 21/30, assessed as virtually manageable), 1.5% (2/137) were related to jejunostomy tubes (with 0%, 0/2, assessed as virtually manageable), and 2.2% (3/137) were related to nasojejunal tubes (with 0%, 0/3, assessed as virtually manageable). Across all the ED visits related to enteral feeding tubes, 41.6% (57/137) were assessed as virtually manageable (see Textbox 1 for exclusion criteria).

Figure 3. Flow diagram showing EPIC emergency department (ED) visits from September 2020 to February 2021. G tube: gastrostomy tube; GJ tube: gastrojejunostomy tube; NG tube: nasogastric tube; NJ tube: nasojejunal tube; J tube: jejuonostomy tube.



### After-Hours Medical Device Inquiries to G-Tube Resource Team Data Results

Out of 192 enteral tube insertions (ie, G and G-J) performed each year by SickKids' image-guided therapy (n=170) and general surgery (n=22) teams, 47 after-hours emails and voicemails inquiring about 35 different patients to the G-Tube Resource Team were documented over a 2-week period. The results are presented in Table 3. Approximately three-quarters (33/47, 70%) of inquiries were initiated by FCs, nearly all via email (45/47, 96%), and over two-thirds occurred during the first day of the week (33/47, 70%). Note this "first day" includes 1 Tuesday after a statutory holiday with the highest volume of inquiries addressed after a long weekend (13/47, 28%); 35/47 (75%) inquiries were for G tubes and the rest were for either a GJ tube (9/47, 19%) or not stated (3/47, 6%). The top 3 reasons for contacting the team were appointment related (13/47, 28%), stoma or granulation tissue (11/47, 23%), or dislodgement (3/47, 6%). Over one-half of the issues were considered manageable by the Connected Care team (24/47, 51%; see Textbox 2 for exclusion criteria).



Table 3. After-hours medical device inquiries to G-Tube Resource Team results from March 26, 2021, to April 8, 2021, out of 192 new insertions each vear

Variable	Inquiries (N=47), n (%)
Mode of contact	
Email	45 (96)
Voicemail	2 (4)
Individual/group initiating contact	
Family caregiver	33 (70)
Point-of-care team	9 (19)
Other (group home, image-guided therapy team)	5 (11)
Type of medical device	
Gastrostomy tube	35 (75)
Gastrojejunostomy	9 (19)
Not stated	3 (6)
Reason for contact	
Appointment related	13 (28)
Stoma/granulation tissue	11 (23)
Dislodgement	3 (6)
Other (stoma output, tube size/fit, primary insertion, adaptors and catheters, balloon volume, leakage, old blood from tube, blood work follow-up, re-siting tube, routine follow-up)	20 (43)

#### Time and Travel Savings Analysis Results

Our study forecasted an annual savings of 478.3 hours for SickKids' ED, 74.4 hours for G-Tube Resource Nurses, and 890.7 hours and 22,740 km (travel) for families. The estimated

total annual time and travel savings are presented in Table 4. To calculate travel savings for families, we estimated the average round-trip distance per hospital visit, the average number of visits per year, and the total number of patients based on the ED visit data.

Table 4. The estimated total annual time savings for SickKids Emergency Department, family caregivers, and the Gastrostomy Tube Resource Nurses.

Estimation	SickKids Emergency De- partment	Family caregivers	Gastrostomy Tube Resource Nurses
The calculation to determine the total number of hours per year (eg, number of visits in a year × hours/visit)	<ul> <li>137 enteral medical device EDa visits in 6 months × 2</li> <li>4.2 hours on average/ED visit</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>2 hours of estimated total travel time/ED visit</li> <li>4.2 hours on average/ED visit</li> <li>3 ED visits/year on average</li> <li>94 families in 6 months × 2</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>5 minutes/email</li> <li>47 emails on average every 2 weeks × 2 × 12 months</li> <li>1 hour blocked off Monday mornings (or Tuesdays if holi- days) from clinic visits to re- spond to after-hours inquiries × 52 weeks</li> </ul>
Total number of hours per year	• 1150	• 3497	• 146
Percentage of virtually manageable visits	• ×41.6% (57/137) vir- tually manageable visits including all enteral feeding tube types (see Figure 3)	<ul> <li>× 41.6% (57/137) virtually manageable visits including all enteral feeding tube types (see Figure 3)</li> <li>564 hours for estimated Connected Care Live consults (3 consults per year/1 hour per consult/94 families in 6 months × 2)</li> </ul>	• × 51% (24/47) Connected Care Resource Nurse manageable visits
Estimated total annual time savings (hours)	478.3	890.7	74.4

<sup>a</sup>ED: emergency department.
## **Operational Feasibility**

The estimated program service operational requirements are shown in Table 5. These include approximately 0.1 nursing full-time equivalents for supporting the pilot service expansion and 60 hours for initial-year activities such as professional development training workshops, project management, auditing, quality assurance, and administrative tasks before pilot implementation. Service demand was estimated based on ED visits and after-hours inquiries data. Almost 95.6% (131/137) of consults resulting from enteral feeding tube ED visits and after-hours inquiries occurred within the established Connected Care service hours, which are from Mondays to Thursdays, 7 AM to 11 PM, and Fridays to Sundays, 7 AM to 7 PM.

Table 5. Connected Care operational requirements for gastrostomy/gastrojejunostomy tube pilot expansion.

Initial annual operational requirements <sup>a</sup>	Ongoing operational requirements <sup>a</sup>	Annual required FTE <sup>b,c</sup>					
<ul> <li>274 (137×2) enteral ED<sup>d</sup> visits/year</li> <li>41.6% (57/137) virtually manageable (includes all enteral feeding tube types shown in Figure 3)</li> <li>1 hour on average/consult</li> <li>53 hours of emails</li> <li>60 hours (project management, payroll, benefits, professional development training, administrative costs, auditing, and quality assurance)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>274 (137× 2) enteral ED visits/year</li> <li>41.6% (57/137) virtually manageable</li> <li>1 hour on average/consult</li> <li>53 hours of emails</li> <li>40 hours (payroll, benefits, ongoing professional development training, administrative costs, auditing, and quality assurance)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>FTE = 37.5 hours/week</li> <li>1950 hours/year</li> <li>(274×41.6% [57/137] = 114 × 1 hour consult + 53 hours of emails) = 167 Connected Care Resource Nurse hours/year</li> <li>167/1950=0.085</li> </ul>					

<sup>a</sup>The total time requirement for initial annual operational and ongoing operational requirements was 228 and 208 hours, respectively.

<sup>b</sup>Approximately 0.1 nursing FTEs are required to support the pilot service expansion.

<sup>c</sup>FTE: full-time equivalent.

<sup>d</sup>ED: emergency department.

## **Technical Feasibility**

We identified minimal technical requirements in consultation with the Connected Care leadership team by leveraging existing platforms and job aids (eg, practice toolkits and quality assurance procedures). Discussion with privacy, legal, information security, and risk functional department leads identified the following requirements before piloting the service expansion to families: best practices for end user verification methods, password updates, revised terms of use, user agreements, and legal disclaimers before piloting the service.

## **Overall Feasibility**

Results across the economic, operational, and technical assessments all suggest the pilot service expansion of Connected Care Live to FCs of the enteral feeding tube (ie, G, GJ, NG tubes) population to be a feasible virtual care solution to improve FC experiences, support safer hospital-to-home transitions, and reduce after-hours ED visits. All 3 data sources, ED visits, after-hours inquiries, and semistructured interviews, highlighted the gap in after-hours services available to FCs of CMC-TD after discharge to support medical device prevention and management of complications. However, to successfully launch this pilot with the enteral feeding tube population, we acknowledge the need to ensure that robust practice development and privacy, security, and legal best practices are implemented in advance. Service volumes and timing must also be measured throughout to ensure the current on-call operational model is sustainable and cost-effective for future program operations.

## Discussion

RenderX

## **Principal Findings**

This study suggests that Connected Care Live is feasible to pilot with FCs of children with newly inserted enteral feeding tubes (ie, G, GJ, and NG tubes), given the significant time and travel

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41393
```

savings forecasted, widespread benefits identified during interviews, and minor operational and technical program changes required to support this population. Although limited in scale, this study addresses an important gap in the delivery of nurse-led virtual care services that are specifically offered after-hours and to FCs of the enteral feeding tube pediatric population. Other studies have highlighted the value of nurse-led virtual care services and increasing after-hours access to adult patients to reduce low-acuity ED visits, but only a few studies have investigated after-hours support available to FCs of the pediatric complex care population, a group known for being the highest users of pediatric health care resources [21,22].

During our semistructured interviews, FCs described the increased stress they experienced after-hours beyond discharge, the guilt they felt for interrupting hospital operations when calling in-patient clinical staff, and their dependence on visiting the ED to ensure the safety of their children. Similar findings have been noted in other studies exploring the health and well-being of caregivers for CMC-TD, demonstrating a high level of mental health burden among this population, particularly in the first few weeks following medical device insertions [23,24]. Our interview results also suggest that having 24/7 real-time virtual access to trusted providers to support troubleshooting medical device complications would be valuable for improving hospital-to-home transition experiences, reducing FC after-hours stress, and preventing ED visits. This finding was consistent with other studies, where having 24/7 real-time virtual support and access to trusted providers led to reduced ED utilization rates and high levels of caregiver satisfaction [2,25]. FCs expressed that one of the appealing aspects of real-time virtual support through Connected Care Live was its video-calling feature, which provided visual cues for medical device management. This was seen as an advantage over existing email and phone services. Similarly, an Ontarian telehome care study indicated that parents of CMC-TD had a strong preference

for and satisfaction with videoconferencing provider visits to support hospital-to-home transitions [26].

Interview results further highlighted the significant workflow interruptions nurses experienced for nonurgent cases, by either responding to FC after-hours inquiries or ED visits. During an interview with clinicians in the G-Tube Resource Team, they mentioned that they routinely set aside the first hour of every Monday morning, dedicating it to addressing medical device inquiries from families instead of seeing patients in the clinic. This finding suggests that introducing Connected Care Live offers the potential to offset workload and increase capacity to support additional clinic visits during this time. Our interviews with ED nurses demonstrated how frequently parents would arrive at the ED with their children for minor and non-life-threatening enteral feeding tube complications. These visits often required consultation from Connected Care and the G-Tube Resource Team or minimal intervention, which in both cases constrained resources and delayed care of other higher-acuity cases in the ED. This finding was consistent with other studies in which increased waiting times, overcrowding, and reduced quality of care were seen across EDs with a high census of low-acuity patients [27].

In our ED visits analysis, high economic feasibility was established among the enteral feeding tube population, as they accounted for the largest proportion of patients presenting with medical device complications (137/212, 64.6%), with 41.6% (57/137) of these visits assessed as virtually manageable or considered "avoidable." Of the 137 enteral feeding tube visits, the largest proportion of visits was found among patients with G tubes (50/137, 36.5%) and GJ tubes (52/137, 37.9%), whereas the highest percentages of visits assessed as virtually manageable were found with G tubes (34/50, 68%) and NG tubes (21/30, 70%). These findings are consistent with G tube insertions being one of the most common pediatric surgeries [28] and enteral feeding as one of the most commonly performed procedures by FCs of CMC-TD at home [7]. Given this large volume of potentially virtually manageable visits, we anticipate that more than half of enteral feeding tube complications would not require ED provider intervention and could be successfully troubleshooted at home with video-enabled access to expert support that builds confidence and competence for FCs [4]. This finding was comparable with other studies, which highlight that pediatric patients with newly inserted G tubes typically present to the ED with low-acuity complications that do not require admission and can often be supported in home and community care settings by specialized family education and reassurance [4,5,29].

In this study, the question of which types of ED visits were potentially avoidable and otherwise virtually manageable was explored to prepare an iterative plan for safe and impactful service expansion. G tube complications were identified as highly preventable and virtually manageable at home based on well-established practice standards amenable to virtual care. GJ tubes had a low percentage of visits assessed as suitable for virtual management; however, they accounted for the highest proportion of ED visits related to enteral feeding tube complications. Previous studies have demonstrated similar findings in which GJ tubes accounted for some of the highest

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41393
```

proportions of device-related ED encounters requiring hospitalization, with reductions in complications over time with additional supports (eg, complex care program enrollment) [4,30]. NG tubes were identified as highly preventable; however, existing literature demonstrates an increased risk for complications and a lack of confidence in best practices associated with managing complications in home and community care settings compared with G tubes [31]. This finding suggests the need for after-hours support to reduce preventable visits. In addition, with recent professional practice guidelines limiting the requirement for imaging of NG tubes, suitability for virtual care services is anticipated [32].

The operational requirements identified by study participants indicated that minimal program changes would be required to support the service expansion. Based on the consultation volume and timing estimates, the Connected Care program could support the pilot study with existing clinical staff, who would already be familiar with navigating this online platform. However, future specialty training for Connected Care Resource nurses would be required to reinforce education on the management of enteral feeding tubes, while mitigating risks to nursing practice with gaps in knowledge as identified during interviews. Having ongoing professional development training opportunities for nurses is widely recognized to improve the quality of care and patient safety needed to promote best practices among FCs [33]. As highlighted above, across the different enteral feeding tube types, there is the highest feasibility to pilot the service initially with G and GJ tube patients, given the existing support available from the G-Tube Resource Team and the quality of evidence-based resources. This team plays a critical role in the success of this pilot through their support for building content for training workshops in collaboration with Connected Care Resource Nurses, and for providing expertise as needed throughout the pilot Go-Live period.

While many CMC-TD receive home and community care services from regulated care providers to support medical device management, these services are often not delivered around the clock. To ensure the continuing safety and quality of care provided at home, unregulated care providers including FCs play an important role in filling this service gap and building competencies in caring for their child's home care technologies [34]. In acknowledging these legal implications, during our technical feasibility assessment and semistructured interviews discussing the risks of the proposed service, we identified the need to update language around accountability for care in the Connected Care Live Terms of Use to better reflect both regulated (home and community care providers) and unregulated care providers (FCs). For example, when outlining the purpose of the service intended to aid and support users, both health care providers and FCs were separately addressed to highlight that information shared through the service is not a substitute for neither professional judgment nor services delivered by health professionals within a patient's circle of care [35].

Overall, the study findings demonstrated a significant gap in after-hours resources available to FCs of CMC-TD beyond discharge. This real-time nurse-led virtual care service offers a valuable approach to improving FC after-hours experiences and reducing avoidable health care encounters. In the future, upon

XSL•FO RenderX

successful pilot study and evaluation of Connected Care Live with the G and GJ tube population followed by that with the NG tube population, this service holds the potential to be scaled to a much larger group of medical devices and families spanning beyond the Greater Toronto Area.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

The greatest strength of this study was the widespread commitment and interest on behalf of FCs, nurses, and hospital leadership to establish the feasibility of piloting the Connected Care Live service expansion. Although a small sample of FCs and nurses were interviewed, the results signaled the need for additional after-hours support. Some of the study limitations were that time and travel savings data may have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and seasonality with variable ED visit volumes; however, other factors were considered, such as pandemic-related decreases in home care visits further straining FC support at home. In addition, manual data extraction and collection of ED visits and after-hours inquiries data were required to ensure timely access to data. For the after-hours medical devices inquiries, we would also like to acknowledge that the G-Tube Resource Team primarily supports the G and GJ tube population, thus excluding the NG tube population from this portion of this analysis.

In addition, semistructured interviews were focused internally across SickKids stakeholders, and future studies would largely benefit from including external perspectives, such as home and community care providers. While the primary focus for service expansion in this study was FCs, future studies would also benefit from interviewing patients with new medical technologies themselves to better understand the direct impact this type of service has on their hospital-to-home transition and after-hours experiences. Some of the unaccounted time savings for the economic feasibility analysis included the amount of time spent by Connected Care leadership on the feasibility study, pilot project planning and evaluation, and redundant resourcing for safety and practice development during the initial pilot Go-Live period. Other considerations for the time savings calculations are identifying the number of nurses required in the G-Tube Resource Clinic during their first hour of work and the number of patients that can be seen in an hour.

#### Conclusions

The findings from this study were successful in demonstrating the economic, operational, and technical feasibility before launching the pilot expansion of Connected Care Live initially to FCs of children with newly inserted G and GJ tubes, followed by NG tubes. This nurse-led virtual care consultation service for families serves as a promising tool to promote safe and positive hospital-to-home transition experiences, while reducing after-hours ED visits. In future studies, further investigation will be needed to establish the feasibility of scaling such a service to other medical devices (eg, central lines, tracheostomies) and geographic areas across Ontario.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank the participants of this study (families, nurses, and hospital leadership) including the Connected Care Live for Family Caregivers Advisory Group members. Without added compensation, they were all willing to invest their time in this study to improve the after-hours care experiences and health outcomes for FCs and CMC-TD. The authors also thank Helen Edwards, the former Chief Nursing Informatics Officer at SickKids, and faculty members of the Executive Master of Health Informatics at the University of Toronto for their esteemed mentorship and support throughout this graduate student health informatics study. The Connected Care Live for Family Caregivers Advisory Group members are as follows: Sophia Lawson, SickKids Patient and Family Advisory Network; Francine Buchanan, SickKids Patient and Family Advisory Network; Wayne Lee, SickKids Director of Diagnostic Imaging; Holly Norgrove, SickKids G-Tube Resource Nurse; Silvana Oppedisano, SickKids G-Tube Resource Nurse; Melissa Carr, Connected Care Resource Nurse; Danielle Loveland, Connected Care Resource Nurse; Janice Tang, Connected Care Resource Nurse; Adal Bahlibi, Connected Care Program Coordinator; Delaney Ward, SickKids Emergency Department Nurse; and Anjelica Guytingco, SickKids Emergency Department Nurse.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- 1. Children and Youth With Medical Complexity in Canada. Canadian Institute for Health Information. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/children-youth-with-medical-complexity-report-en.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-05-13]
- Pulcini CD, Coller RJ, Houtrow AJ, Belardo Z, Zorc JJ. Preventing emergency department visits for children with medical complexity through ambulatory care: a systematic review. Acad Pediatr 2021 May;21(4):605-616. [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2021.01.006] [Medline: 33486099]
- 3. Connected Care Learning Hub. AboutKidsHealth. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aboutkidshealth.ca/connectedcare</u> [accessed 2022-05-13]
- Barreda CB, Ehlenbach ML, Nackers A, Kelly MM, Shadman KA, Sklansky DJ, et al. Complex care program enrollment and change in ED and hospital visits from medical device complications. Pediatr Qual Saf 2021 Sep;6(5):e450-e450 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/pq9.0000000000450] [Medline: 34476304]

- Ruffolo LI, McGuire A, Calderon T, Wolcott K, Levatino E, Martin H, et al. Emergency department utilization following pediatric gastrostomy tube placement is driven by a small cohort of patients. J Pediatr Surg 2021 May;56(5):961-965. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2020.07.016] [Medline: 32900509]
- Cameron DB, Serres SK, Glass CC, Milliren CE, Graham DA, Anandalwar S, et al. Leveraging the incidence, burden, and fiscal implications of unplanned hospital revisits for the prioritization of prevention efforts in pediatric surgery. Ann Surg 2020 Jan;271(1):191-199. [doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002885] [Medline: 29927779]
- Page B, Nawaz R, Haden S, Vincent C, Lee ACH. Paediatric enteral feeding at home: an analysis of patient safety incidents. Arch Dis Child 2019 Dec 14;104(12):1174-1180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-317090] [Medline: 31201158]
- Breneol S, Goldberg L, Watson J. Caring for children who are technology-dependent and their families: the application of Watson's caring science to guide nursing practice. ANS Adv Nurs Sci 2019;42(2):E13-E23. [doi: 10.1097/ANS.00000000000238] [Medline: 30531350]
- 9. G tubes: balloon G tubes. AboutKidsHealth. URL: <u>https://www.aboutkidshealth.ca/</u> <u>balloong#:~:text=Gastrostomy%20tubes%20(G%20tubes)%20are,(abdomen)%20called%20a%20stoma</u> [accessed 2022-05-13]
- 10. Volpe A, Malakounides G. Feeding tubes in children. Curr Opin Pediatr 2018 Oct;30(5):665-670. [doi: 10.1097/MOP.000000000666] [Medline: 30004947]
- Mahant S, Cohen E, Nelson KE, Rosenbaum P. Decision-making around gastrostomy tube feeding in children with neurologic impairment: engaging effectively with families. Paediatr Child Health 2018 May;23(3):209-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pch/pxx193] [Medline: 29769808]
- 12. McCarthy S, Currier D, Copp K, Donovan K. Partnering with families of medically complex children transitioning from the hospital to home. Pediatrics 2021 Jul;148(1):e2020031617-e2020031617. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2020-031617</u>] [Medline: <u>34074700</u>]
- 13. About SickKids. The Hospital for Sick Children. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.sickkids.ca/en/about/about-sickkids/</u> [accessed 2022-05-13]
- 14. Program Report 2017-2020. Connected Care. URL: <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5be0663b620b8515f3a9f2b6/t/613a65a933da34017493d7b1/1631217068201/Connected+Care+Program+Report+-Final+Jan+6+2020.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-05-13]
- 15. Connected Care Live for Home and Community Providers. SickKids. URL: <u>https://www.connectedcare.sickkids.ca/</u> <u>connected-care-live</u> [accessed 2022-06-21]
- Lefebre N, Sharkey S, Virani T, Fu K, Brown M, Ackerman ML. Lessons on COVID-19 from home and community: perspectives of nursing leaders at all levels. Nurs Leadersh (Tor Ont) 2020 Dec 30;33(4):51-61. [doi: <u>10.12927/cjnl.2021.26420</u>] [Medline: <u>33616526</u>]
- Kelly PJ, Beck AK, Baker AL, Deane FP, Hides L, Manning V, et al. Feasibility of a mobile health app for routine outcome monitoring and feedback in mutual support groups coordinated by SMART Recovery Australia: protocol for a pilot study. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 Jul 09;9(7):e15113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15113] [Medline: 32673272]
- 18. The Hospital for Sick Children. Our Care Philosophy. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.sickkids.ca/en/patients-visitors/</u> <u>care-philosophy/</u> [accessed 2022-05-22]
- 19. Hsieh H, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 20. Tri-Council Policy Statement: ethical conduct for research involving humans TCPS 2 (2022). Government of Canada. 2022. URL: <u>https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/policy-politique\_tcps2-eptc2\_2022.html</u> [accessed 2023-10-25]
- Ly O, Price D, Saskin R, Howard M. Low-acuity emergency department use among patients in different primary care models in Hamilton and Ontario. Healthc Manage Forum 2021 Jul;34(4):234-239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/08404704211012027] [Medline: <u>33969739</u>]
- 22. Almeida S, Montayre J. An integrative review of nurse-led virtual clinics . Nurs Prax NZ 2019 Mar;35(1):18-28. [doi: 10.36951/ngpxnz.2019.003]
- 23. Chan YH, Lim CZ, Bautista D, Malhotra R, Østbye T. The health and well-being of caregivers of technologically dependent children. Global Pediatric Health 2019 Jan 23;6:2333794X1882300. [doi: 10.1177/2333794x18823000]
- 24. Page B, Butler S, Smith C, Lee AC, Vincent CA. Training and support for caring for a child's gastrostomy: a survey with family carers. BMJ Paediatr Open 2021 Jul 27;5(1):e001068 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjpo-2021-001068] [Medline: 34395927]
- Moltu C, Stefansen J, Svisdahl M, Veseth M. Negotiating the coresearcher mandate service users' experiences of doing collaborative research on mental health. Disabil Rehabil 2012;34(19):1608-1616. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638288.2012.656792</u>] [Medline: <u>22489612</u>]
- 26. Dick PT, Bennie J, Barden W, Daniels C, Young NL. Preference for pediatric telehome care support following hospitalization: a report on preference and satisfaction. Telemedicine Journal and e-Health 2004 Nov;10(supplement 2):S-45-S-53. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2004.10.s-45]

- 27. Kubicek K, Liu D, Beaudin C, Supan J, Weiss G, Lu Y, et al. A profile of nonurgent emergency department use in an urban pediatric hospital. Pediatric Emergency Care 2012;28(10):977-984. [doi: <u>10.1097/pec.0b013e31826c9aab</u>]
- Berman L, Hronek C, Raval MV, Browne ML, Snyder CL, Heiss KF, et al. Pediatric gastrostomy tube placement: lessons learned from high-performing institutions through structured interviews. Pediatr Qual Saf 2017 Mar;2(2):e016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/pq9.00000000000016] [Medline: 30229155]
- 29. Barrett D, Li V, Merrick S, Murugananthan A, Steed H. The hidden burden of community enteral feeding on the emergency department. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2021 Aug 05;45(6):1347-1351. [doi: <u>10.1002/jpen.2021</u>] [Medline: <u>32949025</u>]
- Nackers A, Ehlenbach M, Kelly MM, Werner N, Warner G, Coller RJ. Encounters from device complications among children with medical complexity. Hosp Pediatr 2019 Jan;9(1):6-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2018-0103] [Medline: 30530805]
- Khalil ST, Uhing MR, Duesing L, Visotcky A, Tarima S, Nghiem-Rao TH. Outcomes of infants with home tube feeding: comparing nasogastric vs gastrostomy tubes. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2017 Nov 19;41(8):1380-1385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0148607116670621] [Medline: 27647478]
- 32. Northington L, Lyman B, Moore C, Guenter P. Pediatric nasogastric tubes in the home: recommendations for practice. Home Healthc Now 2018;36(3):148-153. [doi: 10.1097/NHH.00000000000650] [Medline: 29722704]
- 33. Vázquez-Calatayud M, Errasti-Ibarrondo B, Choperena A. Nurses' continuing professional development: a systematic literature review. Nurse Educ Pract 2021 Jan;50:102963. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nepr.2020.102963</u>] [Medline: <u>33422973</u>]
- 34. Keilty K, Cohen E. Caring for the family caregiver: lessons learned in child health. Healthc Pap 2015 Apr 30;15(1):40-46. [doi: 10.12927/hcpap.2015.24397] [Medline: 26626116]
- 35. Connected Care Terms and Conditions of Use. The Hospital for Sick Children. URL: <u>https://www.connectedcare.sickkids.ca/</u> terms-of-use [accessed 2022-06-23]

## Abbreviations

CMC-TD: children with medical complexity and technology dependence ED: emergency department FC: family caregiver FTE: full-time equivalent GJ tube: gastrojejunostomy tube G tube: gastrostomy tube NG tube: nasogastric tube NJ tube: nasojejunal tube J tube: jejuonostomy tube

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 24.07.22; peer-reviewed by J Quet, M Bird; comments to author 29.12.22; revised version received 11.01.23; accepted 04.03.23; published 08.11.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Babayan K, Keilty K, Esufali J, Grajales III FJ, Connected Care Live for Family Caregivers Advisory Group An After-Hours Virtual Care Service for Children With Medical Complexity and New Medical Technology: Mixed Methods Feasibility Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e41393 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41393</u> doi:<u>10.2196/41393</u> PMID:<u>37938869</u>

©Katherine Babayan, Krista Keilty, Jessica Esufali, Francisco J Grajales III, Connected Care Live for Family Caregivers Advisory Group. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 08.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

Evaluation of a Mobile-Based Immunization Decision Support System for Scheduling Age-Appropriate Vaccine Schedules for Children Younger Than 2 Years in Pakistan and Bangladesh: Lessons From a Multisite, Mixed Methods Study

Danya Arif Siddiqi<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MSc; Rozina Feroz Ali<sup>2</sup>, MBBS, MSc; Mubarak Taighoon Shah<sup>1</sup>, PharmD, MPhil; Vijay Kumar Dharma<sup>2</sup>, MBBS, MPhil; Anokhi Ali Khan<sup>2</sup>, MPH, MD, PhD; Tapash Roy<sup>1,3</sup>, MBBS, MPH, PhD; Subhash Chandir<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>IRD Global, Singapore, Singapore <sup>2</sup>IRD Pakistan, Karachi, Pakistan <sup>3</sup>IRD Bangladesh, Dhaka, Bangladesh

**Corresponding Author:** Subhash Chandir, MPH, MD, PhD IRD Global The Great Room, Level 10, One George Street Singapore, 049145 Singapore Phone: 1 4109295557 Email: <u>subhash.chandir@ird.global</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Missed opportunities for vaccination (MOVs), that is, when children interact with the health system but fail to receive age-eligible vaccines, pose a crucial challenge for equitable and universal immunization coverage. Inaccurate interpretations of complex catch-up schedules by health workers contribute to MOVs.

**Objective:** We assessed the feasibility of a mobile-based immunization decision support system (iDSS) to automatically construct age-appropriate vaccination schedules for children and to prevent MOVs.

**Methods:** A sequential exploratory mixed methods study was conducted at 6 immunization centers in Pakistan and Bangladesh. An android-based iDSS that is packaged in the form of an application programming interface constructed age-appropriate immunization schedules for eligible children. The diagnostic accuracy of the iDSS was measured by comparing the schedules constructed by the iDSS with the gold standard of evaluation (World Health Organization–recommended Expanded Programme on Immunization schedule constructed by a vaccines expert). Preliminary estimates were collected on the number of MOVs among visiting children (caused by inaccurate vaccination scheduling by vaccinators) that could be reduced through iDSS by comparing the manual schedules constructed by vaccinators with the gold standard. Finally, the vaccinators' understanding, perceived usability, and acceptability of the iDSS were determined through interviews with key informants.

**Results:** From July 5, 2019, to April 11, 2020, a total of 6241 immunization visits were recorded from 4613 eligible children. Data were collected for 17,961 immunization doses for all antigens. The iDSS correctly scheduled 99.8% (17,932/17,961) of all age-appropriate immunization doses compared with the gold standard. In comparison, vaccinators correctly scheduled 96.8% (17,378/17,961) of all immunization doses. A total of 3.2% (583/17,961) of all due doses (across antigens) were missed in age-eligible children by the vaccinators across both countries. Vaccinators reported positively on the usefulness of iDSS, as well as the understanding and benefits of the technology.

**Conclusions:** This study demonstrated the feasibility of a mobile-based iDSS to accurately construct age-appropriate vaccination schedules for children aged 0 to 23 months across multicountry and low- and middle-income country settings, and underscores its potential to increase immunization coverage and timeliness by eliminating MOVs.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40269) doi:10.2196/40269



#### **KEYWORDS**

missed opportunities for vaccination; mobile-based immunization decision support system; catch-up immunizations

## Introduction

#### Background

Routine childhood immunization is the cornerstone of an efficient public health system and childhood disease prevention. Despite progress in improving routine immunization coverage, in 2022, 17% and 7% of children aged 0 to 23 months in Pakistan and Bangladesh, respectively, did not receive the third dose of the diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine [1]. The problem is further exacerbated for children who do visit health facilities in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), but the immunization system fails to provide all age-appropriate vaccines to one in every 3 of these children [2]. This creates missed opportunities for vaccination (MOVs), where despite being eligible for vaccination, a child is not administered one or more of the vaccine doses [3]. MOVs remain a rampant problem in many LMICs [4,5], leading to underimmunization and delayed vaccination of children.

A systematic review of MOVs across LMICs showed a pooled MOV prevalence of 32.2% (95% CI 26.8%-37.7%) among children and 46.9% (95% CI 29.7%-64.0%) among women of childbearing age [2]. MOV prevalence estimates are even higher for some countries, ranging from 42% to 89% [6,7]. A study from Pakistan reported that despite being eligible for the pentavalent vaccine (Penta) at the measles vaccine visit, 34% of children did not receive the required dose of Penta even though they visited the immunization clinic and were vaccinated for measles [8]. Lack of awareness among parents and providers is one of the primary causes of MOVs, with vaccinator confusion about contraindications and the immunization schedule being the main factors [2,9]. In the absence of frequent refresher training, improper health care worker practices lead to repeated MOVs in LMICs and high-income countries [10,11]. However, regardless of the amount of training, scheduling age-appropriate vaccinations, especially catch-up schedules (when the child has missed or delayed one or more vaccines), is a complex task [12,13]. A study from Illinois showed that 33% of all health workers constructed incorrect hypothetical catch-up schedules in a survey designed to determine health workers' knowledge of catch-up immunizations [10]. In LMICs, where vaccinators are more likely to be overburdened and pressed for time [14], the likelihood of making errors in scheduling is even higher.

Decision support systems have proven to be powerful tools for improving clinical care and patient outcomes across various domains [15,16]. They have contributed to improving evidence-based medical practices, reducing medical errors, and improving adherence to standard care practices [17,18]. At the basic level, an immunization decision support system (iDSS) provides patient-specific vaccination recommendations at each immunization visit, considering the child's date of birth and vaccination history and ensuring the appropriate scheduling of feasible doses.

Currently, examples of iDSS deployment are limited and almost exclusively constitute complex systems from high-income

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40269
```

XSL•FC RenderX country settings. For example, in the United States, clinical decision support systems based on national standard guidelines for immunization are embedded in regional immunization information systems [19] or web-based immunization forecasting services accessible by various electronic health records [20]. There is a dearth of literature on contextually appropriate, efficient, and practical mobile-based iDSS that is easily implementable within LMICs.

#### Objective

We aimed to analyze the diagnostic accuracy of an innovative mobile-based iDSS in an LMIC setting to construct age-appropriate vaccination schedules for children aged 0 to 23 months and compared with the gold standard of evaluation (World Health Organization [WHO]–recommended Expanded Programme on Immunization [EPI] schedule constructed by a vaccines expert). We also aimed to generate preliminary evidence for MOVs among visiting children (caused by inaccurate vaccination scheduling by vaccinators) that could be reduced through iDSS by comparing the manual schedules constructed by vaccinators with the gold standard. Finally, we reported the findings on the vaccinators' understanding, perceived usability, and acceptability of the iDSS.

## Methods

## **Study Design**

We implemented a sequential exploratory mixed methods study design with a quantitative component preceding the qualitative interviews. In the quantitative component, the children's demographic details and immunization history were recorded by trained study staff using iDSS. The iDSS used this information to formulate an age-appropriate immunization schedule for the children, and it was recorded on the back end and was not visible to the study staff (or vaccinators). Simultaneously, the study staff also captured the manually constructed immunization schedules determined by the vaccinators as indicated on the child's government-issued immunization cards. Through this process, we were able to capture both the iDSS and vaccinator schedules simultaneously for the same child (antigen doses). We used this information to assess the diagnostic accuracy of the iDSS algorithm by comparing the age-appropriate immunization schedules constructed by the iDSS for children aged 0 to 23 months with the gold standard of evaluation (WHO-recommended EPI schedule constructed by a vaccine expert). We also independently compared the vaccine schedules constructed manually by the vaccinators for the same children with the gold standard. This allowed us to generate preliminary evidence of MOVs resulting from inaccurate vaccination schedules constructed by vaccinators. This phase was followed by a qualitative phase in which the vaccinators were provided with iDSS-enabled study phones. After vaccinators had a chance to use the iDSS, we conducted in-depth interviews with vaccinators at the participating immunization centers regarding their

experience of using the iDSS, its perceived utility, and acceptability.

## **Study Sites**

We conducted a multicountry study at 6 immunization centers, 3 each in Pakistan and Bangladesh. Both countries vary in terms of full immunization coverage rate (Pakistan 66%; Bangladesh 84%) and infant mortality rates (81/1000 live births in Pakistan; 43/1000 live births in Bangladesh) [21,22]. Immunization centers were selected based on the influx of children, availability of vaccines and vaccinators, and absence of any kind of decision support system at these sites. The selected study sites had high penetration of mobile phones (>90%) and the presence of cellular networks (data connectivity) among the population [23,24].

Two of the selected immunization centers in Pakistan were located in Gilgit district in Gilgit Baltistan territory, which had a full immunization coverage rate of 57% among children aged 12 to 23 months in 2018 [21]. The third selected immunization center in Pakistan was a private center located in the Rahim Yar Khan district in Punjab province, with a full immunization coverage rate of 65% in 2019 [23].

In Bangladesh, all 3 immunization centers were located in Dhaka city in Dhaka district. The district had a full immunization coverage rate of 85% among children aged 12 to 23 months as of 2019 [25].

## **Study Population**

The inclusion criteria for the study were as follows: children must be aged <2 years, visiting any of the 6 selected immunization centers for routine vaccination, and presenting with an immunization card. Exclusion criteria were as follows: children visiting for immunization campaigns and those who did not receive vaccination during their visit. We obtained verbal consent from the caregivers of the eligible children before enrollment.

For the qualitative component, our study population included all vaccinators from the participating immunization centers who used iDSS app during the study. We obtained written consent from the study participants before the interviews.

## **Ethics Approval**

Ethics approval for the study was obtained from the Institutional Review Boards of the Interactive Research and Development (Pakistan; IRD\_IRB\_2019\_01\_010) and Building Resources Across Communities James P. Grant School of Public Health (Bangladesh).

## **Vaccination Schedule**

Pakistan's routine EPI schedule in 2019 included BCG (bacille Calmette-Guérin) vaccine and oral polio vaccine (OPV) at birth; 3 doses of Penta (containing diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis, hepatitis B, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b vaccine), pneumococcal vaccine (PCV10), and OPV at 6, 10, and 14 weeks; 2 doses of rotavirus vaccine (Rota) at 6 and 10 weeks; a single dose of inactivated polio vaccine (IPV) at 14 weeks; and 2 doses of measles vaccine at 9 and 15 months.

For Bangladesh, the EPI schedule included BCG vaccine at birth; Penta, PCV, and OPV at 6, 10, and 14 weeks; IPV at 6 and 14 weeks; and measles-rubella (MR) vaccine at 9 and 15 months.

## **Development of the iDSS**

We developed an android-based iDSS designed for mobile-based deployment, packaged in the form of an application programming interface (API) to function both as a stand-alone module and interoperable with other digital applications or platforms, such as web-based or mobile-based electronic immunization registries (EIRs).

The iDSS was formulated as a 2-step process comprising a data entry form and display interface showing the proposed vaccination schedule. In the first step, the details of the child, including the date of birth and immunization history, are entered in the data entry form of the iDSS. The algorithm uses this information to construct an age-appropriate immunization schedule (including the vaccines due at the current visit and those to be scheduled) tailored to the child and the respective country's EPI schedule.

iDSS automatically reformulates the child's immunization schedule after every visit, adjusting for missed appointments and delayed vaccinations and considering the birth date, previous vaccines, standard interval based on live or inactivated vaccines and interdosing schedule, without the need for any manual calculation by the vaccinators. Changes in the EPI schedule and new vaccines are also incorporated into the iDSS algorithm. The results (current and scheduled vaccines) are instantly displayed on the iDSS interface through a color-coded system that allows for straightforward interpretation, especially by low literacy and overburdened vaccinators (Figure 1). The iDSS proposes the dates for scheduled vaccines (accounting for public holidays and vaccine-specific days at centers) and prompts the vaccinator through warning messages if vaccines are being administered out of schedule to ensure that interdose gap guidelines are followed.

In addition, the iDSS algorithm can be customized to the needs of the country, according to the respective EPI schedule. The iDSS is also multilingual and is developed as open-source software for easy integration and interoperability across a variety of settings and systems. As part of the iDSS development, the module was pretested in-house for quality assurance and with randomly selected vaccinators (outside the study site) for limited field deployment. A detailed overview of the iDSS is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.



Figure 1. A screenshot showcasing features of the immunization decision support system app. BCG: bacille Calmette-Guérin; HepB: Hepatitis B; OPV: oral polio vaccine; PCV; pneumococcal vaccine; Penta: pentavalent vaccine; Rota: rotavirus vaccine.



## **Study Procedures and Data Collection**

We enrolled eligible children whose accompanying caregivers provided verbal consent for participation. At enrollment, a unique study identifier was allocated to each child, and each follow-up visit by the child to the participating immunization center was recorded as a unique visit. Trained study staff used the iDSS installed on study mobile phones to record the demographics and immunization history of the enrolled children to enable iDSS to schedule their current and future vaccination visits. This information was recorded at the back end of the iDSS, and both the study staff and vaccinators were blinded to it. Simultaneously, the study staff also recorded the vaccination schedules determined by the vaccinators as per routine, which were obtained from the child's immunization cards. Vaccinators did not use the iDSS during the quantitative phase of the study. The iDSS app was linked to a web-based dashboard that allowed the real-time downloading of data for further analysis.

For the qualitative component of the study, we interviewed 16 vaccinators (11 from Pakistan and 5 from Bangladesh) after obtaining written consent. These vaccinators were provided with mobile phones with iDSS that they could use to schedule current and future vaccinations. Before using the iDSS, vaccinators were given a 2-day training by the study staff on using the iDSS module as part of their daily immunization activities. At the end of the period when the vaccinators had used the iDSS for at least 4 weeks, the study team interviewed the vaccinators. In-person interviews were conducted by Project Managers at both sites, who were qualified public health researchers with a medical background. The interviews were facilitated by Research Associates, who helped to take notes. We used a 16-item semistructured interview guide covering user experience, acceptability, and feasibility of the iDSS feature, and suggestions for improvement. Demographic indicators, including age, education, gender, and years of experience, were also collected from the participants. Each interview lasted between 25 and 40 minutes and was audio-recorded and transcribed for further analysis.

## **Study Outcomes**

Our primary study outcome was the diagnostic accuracy of the iDSS in constructing age-appropriate vaccination schedules as per the WHO-recommended EPI guidelines. In addition, we examined the vaccinators' perceived usability and acceptability of the iDSS. A secondary outcome included preliminary estimates of the number of MOVs among children aged 0 to 23 months visiting study immunization centers for routine immunization visits.

## **Data Security**

The phones used for data collection by the field staff and vaccinators had password locks with an additional level of protection through software sign-in passwords. Data collected through iDSS were uploaded to a secure database server. All the data sent from the phones to the server and back were encrypted in transit using the PBKDF2 algorithm (an industry standard). Access to data on the server was through a password-protected web dashboard interface, and only those involved with the project had access to the data for research purposes.

## **Statistical Analysis**

## Quantitative Analysis

For descriptive analysis, we used frequencies and percentages for categorical data and means and SDs for continuous data. We compared the age-appropriate immunization doses scheduled by the iDSS and vaccinator with the gold standard. The latter helped determine the evidence for MOVs caused by inaccurate vaccination schedules constructed by vaccinators. To determine the gold standard vaccination schedule, an expert epidemiologist and practicing pediatrician reviewed the immunization history and date of birth or age of the child to determine the age-appropriate immunization doses due at each visit as per the WHO-recommended EPI schedule for the respective country. Summary statistics for the diagnostic tests were calculated using the *diagt* command package. Forest plots for sensitivity and specificity were generated using the metan command. The accuracy of the iDSS was determined along with the area under the receiver operating characteristic curves and their range. Analyses were performed using STATA software (version 17.0; StataCorp LLC).

## Qualitative Analysis

The recordings of the qualitative data collected through the in-depth interviews were first transcribed and then translated into English. Transcriptions were coded by 2 researchers separately, who were public health practitioners, trained and experienced in performing qualitative analysis. The researchers extensively discussed and scrutinized the results to ensure the trustworthiness and comprehensiveness of the analysis. The final coding was shared with a third researcher to resolve any inconsistencies in the codes. Using a thematic analysis approach, the codes were sorted into categories to converge toward key overarching themes. Data were analyzed using NVivo qualitative data analysis software (version 12, 2018; QSR International).

## Results

## **Quantitative Analysis**

From July 5, 2019, to April 11, 2020, a total of 6241 immunization visits were recorded from 4613 eligible children. A total of 73% (4557/6241) of visits were recorded from 3 immunization centers in Pakistan, and 27% (1684/6241) of visits were recorded from 3 immunization centers in Bangladesh (Figure 2).

The proportion of male children (2435/4613, 52.8%) enrolled in the study was slightly higher than that of female children (2178/4613, 47.2%) across both the sites (Pakistan: 1720/3197, 53.8%) and Bangladesh (715/1416, 50.5%; Table 1). Most (3348/4613, 72.6%) children enrolled in the study were aged  $\leq 6$  months at the time of enrollment, both in Pakistan (2423/3197, 75.8%) and Bangladesh (925/1416, 65.3%).

Table 2 shows the age-appropriate immunization doses scheduled by both the iDSS and vaccinators compared with the gold standard. In Pakistan, we collected data on 13,039 immunization doses for all antigens. The iDSS correctly scheduled 99.8% (13,015/13,039) of all age-appropriate immunization doses that should have been administered at the current visit compared with the gold standard, ranging from 99.2% to 100% for BCG vaccine, OPV-0 to 3, Penta-1 to 3, PCV-1 to 3, Rota-1 to 2, measles vaccine 1, and IPV vaccine doses. Of all the antigens, the proportion of correctly scheduled doses by iDSS was the lowest at 96.7% (202/209) for the measles-2 vaccine. In comparison, the vaccinator correctly scheduled 96.2% (12,545/13,039) of all the immunization doses that should have been administered on the current visit compared with the gold standard, ranging from 97% to 100% for BCG vaccine, OPV-0 to 3, Penta-1 to 3, PCV-1 to 3, Rota-1 to 2, and measles-2. However, the proportion of correctly scheduled doses by vaccinators due on the current visit decreased to 94.5% (362/383) and 66.3% (653/985) for measles-1 and IPV vaccine doses, respectively. Owing to errors in the vaccination schedules constructed by vaccinators, 3.8% (494/13,039) of all due immunization doses were missed by the vaccinators. Among the age-eligible children, the highest proportion of MOVs was for the polio and measles vaccines, where 33.7% (332/985) and 5.5% (21/383) of all due immunization doses, respectively, were missed by vaccinators.

In Bangladesh, we recorded data on 4922 immunization doses. The iDSS correctly scheduled 99.9% (4917/4922) of the age-appropriate immunization doses that should have been administered on the current visit compared with the gold standard, with the lowest proportion of correctly scheduled doses for the measles-2 vaccine (196/201, 97.5%). In comparison, the vaccinator correctly scheduled 98.2% (4833/4922) of all immunization doses that should have been administered on the current visit, ranging from 97.5% to 100% for BCG vaccine, OPV-1 to 3, Penta-1 to 3, PCV-1 to 3, IPV-1, and measles-rubella-2, but dropped to 95.1% (137/144) for measles-rubella-1 and 87.4% (355/406) for IPV-2 vaccine doses. Owing to errors in the vaccination schedules constructed by vaccinators, 1.8% (89/4922) of all due immunization doses were missed by the vaccinators. Similar to the findings in Pakistan,



the highest proportion of MOVs was for polio and measles-1 vaccines, where 12.6% (51/406) and 4.9% (7/144) of all due immunization doses, respectively, were missed by vaccinators.

Compared with the gold standard, in Pakistan, the accuracy of the iDSS varied between 94.5% and 100% across vaccines versus 88.5% to 99.4% for the immunization doses scheduled by the vaccinator. The iDSS demonstrated a sensitivity of 97.1% to 100%, whereas the sensitivity of the vaccinator's scheduling was between 66.3% and 100%. The estimated specificity for iDSS compared with the gold standard was 92.6% to 100%, whereas the specificity for vaccinator scheduling was 84.1% to 100%. The results were similar for the Bangladesh site, with iDSS demonstrating a higher accuracy (97.9%-100%) and a higher sensitivity of 100% compared with the gold standard, whereas estimates of accuracy and sensitivity for vaccinator scheduling were 89.4% to 99.8% and 87.4% to 100%,

respectively. The iDSS had a specificity of 97.6% to 100% compared with the gold standard, whereas the specificity for the vaccinator's scheduling was 83.2% to 100% (Figures 3 and 4).

Across both the sites, receiver operating curve analysis showed that the iDSS had high overall accuracy of scheduling age-appropriate immunization doses (area under the curve ranging from 99%-100% across antigens), whereas for vaccinator schedules, estimates for area under the curve ranged between 88% and 100%.

On the basis of the findings of the diagnostic accuracy of the iDSS in which the sensitivity and specificity were <100% for selected antigens, we updated the iDSS algorithm by fixing the errors related to the vaccine intervals and recommended age for administering the vaccines based on the WHO guidelines.

Figure 2. Study participant flow for all enrolled children and subsequent immunization visits from July 5, 2019, to April 11, 2020, in Pakistan and Bangladesh.





Table 1. Characteristics of study participants enrolled in Pakistan and Bangladesh sites<sup>a</sup>.

Characteristics	Participants in Pakistan (n=3197)	Participants in Bangladesh (n=1416)	Total (N=4613)		
Female, n (%)	1477 (46.2)	701 (49.5)	2178 (47.2)		
Enrollment age (months), n (%)					
≤6	2423 (75.8)	925 (65.3)	3348 (72.6)		
6 to ≤12	462 (14.5)	235 (16.6)	697 (15.1)		
12 to ≤18	284 (8.9)	242 (17.1)	526 (11.4)		
18 to ≤24	28 (0.9)	14 (1)	42 (0.9)		
Father's age (years), mean (SD)	32.7 (6.6)	33.3 (5.6)	32.9 (6.3)		
Father's education (years), n (%)					
0	571 (17.9)	19 (1.3)	590 (12.8)		
1-5	180 (5.6)	169 (11.9)	349 (7.6)		
6-10	1018 (31.8)	289 (20.4)	1307 (28.3)		
11-12	486 (15.2)	249 (17.6)	735 (15.9)		
>13	942 (29.5)	690 (48.7)	1632 (35.4)		
Father's occupation, n (%)					
Government employee	1048 (32.8)	162 (11.4)	1210 (26.2)		
Self-employed	821 (25.7)	518 (36.6)	1339 (29)		
Daily wage earner	678 (21.2)	40 (2.8)	718 (15.6)		
Private employee	337 (10.5)	689 (48.7)	1026 (22.2)		
Others	313 (9.8)	7 (0.5)	320 (6.9)		
Mother's age (years), mean (SD)	26.3 (5.0)	26.4 (4.8)	26.3 (4.9)		
Mother's education (years), n (%)					
0	820 (25.6)	5 (0.4)	825 (17.9)		
1-5	177 (5.5)	176 (12.4)	353 (7.7)		
6-10	1024 (32)	373 (26.3)	1397 (30.3)		
11-12	473 (14.8)	395 (27.9)	868 (18.8)		
>13	703 (22)	467 (33)	1170 (25.4)		
Mother's occupation, n (%)					
Home maker	2806 (87.8)	1151 (81.3)	3957 (85.8)		
Private employee	118 (3.7)	128 (9)	246 (5.3)		
Government employee	115 (3.6)	97 (6.9)	212 (4.6)		
Other	158 (4.9)	40 (2.8)	198 (4.3)		
Ethnicity, n (%)					
Gilgiti	2700 (84.5)	N/A <sup>b</sup>	2.700 (58.5)		
Saraiki	173 (5.4)	N/A	173 (3.8)		
Balochi	94 (2.9)	N/A	94 (2)		
Bangal	N/A	1413 (99.8)	1413 (30.6)		
Other	230 (7.2)	3 (0.2)	233 (5.1)		
Household income (US \$ per month), mean (SD)	267.3 (620.3)	442.8 (453.9)	321.1 (580)		
Enrollment vaccine, n (%)					
BCG <sup>c</sup>	1125 (35.2)	367 (25.9)	1492 (32.3)		
OPV-0 <sup>d,e</sup>	4 (0.1)	N/A	4 (0.1)		

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40269

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e40269 | p.444 (page number not for citation purposes)

Cha	racteristics	Participants in Pakistan (n=3197)	Participants in Bangladesh (n=1416)	Total (N=4613)		
	Penta-1 <sup>f,g</sup>	484 (15.1)	107 (7.6)	591 (12.8)		
	Penta-2 <sup>h</sup>	480 (15)	228 (16.1)	708 (15.3)		
	Penta-3 <sup>i</sup>	381 (11.9)	247 (17.4)	628 (13.6)		
	IPV <sup>j</sup>	1 (0)	N/A	1 (0)		
	Measles-1	428 (13.4)	226 (16)	654 (14.2)		
	Measles-2	294 (9.2)	241 (17)	535 (11.6)		
Age	at enrollment vaccine (weeks), mean (SD)					
	BCG	2.1 (3.2)	6.7 (2.9)	3.2 (3.7)		
	OPV-0	0.2 (0.2)	N/A	0.2 (0.2)		
	Penta-1 <sup>g</sup>	9.0 (4.4)	8.2 (7.6)	8.8 (5.2)		
	Penta-2 <sup>h</sup>	15.2 (5.8)	12.6 (4.1)	14.4 (5.5)		
	Penta-3 <sup>i</sup>	21.3 (7.0)	18.8 (8.5)	20.4 (7.7)		
	IPV	35.1 (0.0)	N/A	35.1 (0.0)		
	Measles-1	42.0 (7.4)	41.2 (5.6)	41.7 (6.8)		
	Measles-2	68.1 (6.6)	67.6 (5.2)	67.9 (6.0)		

<sup>a</sup>Number of children enrolled in the study. A total of 4557 immunization visits were recorded from the Pakistan site and 1684 visits were recorded from the Bangladesh site.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>BCG: bacille Calmette-Guérin.

<sup>d</sup>OPV: oral polio vaccine.

<sup>e</sup>Schedule for polio vaccine is different at both sites. Pakistan: OPV0-3 doses at birth, 6, 10, and 14 weeks and single IPV dose at 14 weeks; Bangladesh: OPV1-3 doses at 6, 10, and 14 weeks and 2 IPV doses at 6 and 14 weeks.

<sup>f</sup>Penta: pentavalent vaccine.

<sup>g</sup>Administered with PCV-1 and OPV-1 and Rota-1 and IPV-1 vaccines.

<sup>h</sup>Administered with PCV-2 and OPV-2 and Rota-2 vaccine.

<sup>i</sup>Administered with PCV-3 and OPV-3 and IPV-2 vaccine.

<sup>j</sup>IPV: inactivated polio vaccine.



#### Siddiqi et al

**Table 2.** Antigen-wise doses scheduled by the gold standard (World Health Organization [WHO]–recommended Expanded Programme on Immunization [EPI] schedule)<sup>a</sup>, immunization decision support system (iDSS), and vaccinator for Pakistan and Bangladesh sites.

Vac- cines	Pakistan (1	n=13,036	i)			Banglades	h (n=492	20)			Total (n=17,956) <sup>b</sup>						
	Due as per gold standard, n	Due as iDSS, r	per n (%)	Vaccina vaccina (%)	ated by ttor, n	Due as per gold standard, n	Due as iDSS, 1	per 1 (%)	Vaccina vaccina (%)	ated by ator, n	Due as per gold standard, n	Due as iDSS, r	per n (%)	Vaccina vaccina (%)	ated by ator, n		
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No		
BCG <sup>c</sup>	1505	1505 (100)	N/A <sup>d</sup>	1477 (98.1)	28 (1.9)	372	372 (100)	N/A	369 (99.2)	3 (0.8)	1877	1877 (100)	N/A	1846 (98.3)	31 (1.7)		
OPV-0 <sup>e</sup>	1212	1212 (100)	N/A	1210 (99.8)	2 (0.2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1212	1212 (100)	N/A	1210 (99.8)	2 (0.2)		
Penta-1 <sup>f</sup>	924	923 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	898 (97.2)	26 (2.8)	425	425 (100)	N/A	419 (98.6)	6 (1.4)	1349	1348 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	1317 (97.6)	32 (2.4)		
OPV-1	924	923 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	896 (97)	28 (3)	424	424 (100)	N/A	420 (99.1)	4 (0.9)	1348	1347 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	1316 (97.6)	32 (2.4)		
PCV-1 <sup>g</sup>	924	923 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	898 (97.2)	26 (2.8)	423	423 (100)	N/A	419 (99.1)	4 (0.9)	1347	1346 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	1317 (97.8)	30 (2.2)		
Rota-1 <sup>h</sup>	924	923 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	898 (97.2)	26 (2.8)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	924	923 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	898 (97.2)	26 (2.8)		
IPV-1 <sup>i</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	425	425 (100)	N/A	420 (98.8)	5 (1.2)	425	425 (100)	N/A	420 (98.8)	5 (1.2)		
Penta-2	786	785 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	786 (100)	N/A	347	347 (100)	N/A	347 (100)	N/A	1133	1132 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	1133 (100)	N/A		
OPV-2	785	784 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	785 (100)	N/A	347	347 (100)	N/A	347 (100)	N/A	1132	1131 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	1132 (100)	N/A		
PCV-2	785	784 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	785 (100)	N/A	346	346 (100)	N/A	346 (100)	N/A	1131	1130 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	1131 (100)	N/A		
Rota-2	784	783 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	784 (100)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	784	783 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	784 (100)	N/A		
Penta-3	635	634 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	635 (100)	N/A	354	354 (100)	N/A	352 (99.4)	2 (0.6)	989	988 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	987 (99.8)	2 (0.2)		
OPV-3	637	636 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	635 (99.7)	2 (0.3)	354	354 (100)	N/A	353 (99.7)	1 (0.3)	991	990 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	988 (99.7)	3 (0.3)		
PCV-3	637	636 (99.8)	1 (0.2)	635 (99.7)	2 (0.3)	354	354 (100)	N/A	353 (99.7)	1 (0.3)	991	990 (99.9)	1 (0.1)	988 (99.7)	3 (0.3)		
IPV-2	985	982 (99.7)	3 (0.3)	653 (66.3)	332 (33.7)	406	406 (100)	N/A	355 (87.4)	51 (12.6)	1391	1388 (99.8)	3 (0.2)	1008 (72.5)	383 (27.5)		
M-1 <sup>j,k</sup>	383	380 (99.2)	3 (0.8)	362 (94.5)	21 (5.5)	144	144 (100)	N/A	137 (95.1)	7 (4.9)	527	524 (99.4)	3 (0.6)	499 (94.7)	28 (5.3)		
M-2 <sup>k</sup>	209	202 (96.7)	7 (3.3)	208 (99.5)	1 (0.5)	201	196 (97.5)	5 (2.4)	196 (97.5)	5 (2.5)	410	398 (97.1)	12 (2.9)	404 (98.5)	6 (1.5)		
Total	13039	13015 (99.8)	24 (0.2)	12545 (96.2)	494 (3.8)	4922	4917 (99.9)	5 (0.1)	4833 (98.2)	89 (1.8)	17961	17932 (99.8)	29 (0.2)	17378 (96.8)	583 (3.2)		

<sup>a</sup>WHO-recommended EPI schedule constructed by a vaccine expert, using the following criteria: BCG at  $\leq 1$ -year age; OPV-0 at  $\leq 28$  days; Penta-1, OPV-1, PCV-1, Rota-1, and IPV-1 at  $\geq 6$  weeks; Penta-2, OPV-2, PCV-2, and Rota-2 at  $\geq 10$  weeks and >28 days after vaccination with Penta-1, PCV-1, OPV-1, and Rota-1; Penta-3, OPV-3 at  $\geq 4$  weeks age and >28 days after vaccination with Penta-2, PCV-2, and OPV-2; IPV-2 at  $\geq 14$  weeks age (for Bangladesh, >28 days after IPV-1); measles-1 at 9 months; measles-2 at 15 months and >28 days after measles-1 vaccine (source: WHO-2020, Expanded Program on Immunization, Pakistan; WHO-2019, Fact sheet Bangladesh).

<sup>b</sup>n is the number of doses due for each antigen for the 6241 immunization visits recorded for 4613 children from both Pakistan and Bangladesh sites.

<sup>c</sup>BCG: bacille Calmette-Guérin.

<sup>d</sup>N/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO

<sup>e</sup>OPV: oral polio vaccine.

<sup>f</sup>Penta: pentavalent vaccine. <sup>g</sup>PCV: pneumococcal vaccine. <sup>h</sup>Rota: rotavirus vaccine. <sup>i</sup>IPV: inactivated polio vaccine.

<sup>j</sup>M: measles vaccine.

<sup>k</sup>In Bangladesh, measles-rubella combined vaccine is administered.

Figure 3. Diagnostic accuracy of vaccine schedules constructed by the immunization decision support system compared with the gold standard presented as a forest plot. BCG: bacille Calmette-Guérin; CI: Confidence Interval; FN: false negative; FP: false positive; LCL: lower confidence level; OPV: oral polio vaccine; PCV: pneumococcal vaccine; Penta: pentavalent vaccine; ROC: receiver operating curve; Rota: rotavirus vaccine; TP: true positive; TN: true negative; UCL: upper confidence level.

## Pakistan (n=4557)

Vaccines	TP	FN	FP	TN	ROC (%)	LCL (%)	UCL (%)	Accuracy (%)	Effect (95% CI)	Effect (95% CI)
BCG	1515	0	6	3036	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.80, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.80 (99.60, 99.90)
OPV-0	1211	0	249	3097	96	96	97	94.5	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>	92.60 (91.60, 93.40)
Penta-1	928	4	0	3625	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99,60 (98.90, 99.90)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
OPV-1	928	4	0	3625	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.60 (98.90, 99.90)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
PCV-1	928	4	0	3625	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.60 (98.90, 99.90)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
Rota-1	928	4	0	3625	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.60 (98.90, 99.90)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
Penta-2	786	7	1	3763	100	99	100	99.8	<ul> <li>◆ 99.10 (98.20, 99.60)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
OPV-2	785	7	1	3764	100	99	100	99.8	<ul> <li>◆ 99.10 (98.20, 99.60)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
PCV-2	785	7	2	3763	100	99	100	99.8	<ul> <li>99.10 (98.20, 99.60)</li> </ul>	99.90 (99.80, 100.00)
Rota-2	786	7	1	3763	100	99	100	99.8	<ul> <li>99.10 (98.20, 99.60)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
Penta-3	636	1	6	3914	100	100	100	99.8	<ul> <li>99.80 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.80 (99.70, 99.90)
OPV-3	636	1	1	3919	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>99.80 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
PCV-3	636	1	1	3919	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>99.80 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
IPV-1	1053	3	0	3501	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.20, 99.90)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
Measles-1	370	з	10	4174	99	99	100	99.7	→ 99.20 (97.70, 99.80)	99.80 (99.60, 99.90)
Measles-2	202	6	9	4340	98	97	100	99.7		99.80 (99.60, 99.90)
									75 80 85 90 95 100 70 75 80 85 90 95 100	
									Sensitivity Specificity	

#### Bangladesh (n=1684)

Vaccines	TP	FN	FP	TN	ROC (%)	LCL (%)	UCL (%)	Accuracy (%)	Effect (95% CI)	Effect (95% CI)
BCG	374	0	0	1310	100	100	100	100		<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Penta-1	425	0	0	1259	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
OPV-1	425	0	0	1259	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
PCV-1	424	0	0	1260	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
IPV-1	426	0	0	1258	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Penta-2	347	0	0	1337	100	100	100	100		<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
OPV-2	347	0	0	1337	100	100	100	100		<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
PCV-2	346	0	0	1338	100	100	100	100		<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Penta-3	357	0	0	1327	100	100	100	100		<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
OPV-3	357	0	0	1327	100	100	100	100		<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
PCV-3	357	0	0	1327	100	100	100	100		<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
IPV-2	410	0	0	1274	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.10, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Measles-1	134	0	15	1535	100	98.4	99.5	99	→ 100.00 (97.30, 100.00)	<ul> <li>99.00 (98.40, 99.50)</li> </ul>
Measles-2	196	0	35	1453	99	98	99	97.9	→ 100.00 (98.10, 100.00)	<ul> <li>97.60 (96.70, 98.40)</li> </ul>

70 75 80 85 90 95 100 70 75 80 85 90 95 100 Sensitivity Specificity

#### Cumulative (N=6241)

Vaccines	TP	FN	FP	FN	ROC (%)	LCL (%)	UCL (%)	Accuracy (%)	Effect (95% Cl)	Effect (95% CI)
BCG	1889	0	6	4346	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.80, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.80, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Penta-1	1353	4	0	4884	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.20, 99.90)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.20, 99.90)</li> </ul>
OPV-1	1353	4	0	4884	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.20, 99.90)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.20, 99.90)</li> </ul>
PCV-1	1352	4	0	4885	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.20, 99.90)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.20, 99.90)</li> </ul>
Penta-2	1133	7	1	5100	100	99	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.70, 99.80)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.70, 99.80)</li> </ul>
OPV-2	1132	7	1	5101	100	99	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.70, 99.80)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.70, 99.80)</li> </ul>
PCV-2	1131	7	2	5101	100	99	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.70, 99.80)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.70, 99.80)</li> </ul>
Penta-3	993	1	6	5241	100	100	100	100	<ul> <li>99.90 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.90 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>
OPV-3	993	1	1	5246	100	100	100	99.7	<ul> <li>99.90 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.90 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>
PCV-3	993	1	1	5246	100	100	100	99.9	<ul> <li>99.90 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.90 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>
IPV-1	1479	3	0	4759	100	100	100	99.6	<ul> <li>99.80 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.80 (99.40, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Measles-1	504	3	25	5709	99	99	100	100		<ul> <li>99.40 (98.30, 99.90)</li> </ul>
Measles-2	398	6	44	5793	99	98	99	99.2	→ 98.50 (96.80, 99.50)	<ul> <li>98.50 (96.80, 99.50)</li> </ul>



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 4. Diagnostic accuracy of manual vaccine schedules constructed by vaccinators compared with the gold standard presented as a forest plot. BCG: bacille Calmette-Guérin; CI: Confidence Interval; FN: false negative; FP: false positive; LCL: lower confidence level; OPV: oral polio vaccine; PCV: pneumococcal vaccine; Penta: pentavalent vaccine; ROC: receiver operating curve; Rota: rotavirus vaccine; TP: true positive; TN: true negative; UCL: upper confidence level.

#### Pakistan (n=4557)

Vaccines	TP	FN	FP	TN	ROC (%)	LCL (%)	UCL (%)	Accuracy (%)	Effect (95% CI)	Effect (95% CI)
BCG	1478	27	0	3037	99	99	99	99.4	<ul> <li>◆ 98.20 (97.40, 98.80)</li> </ul>	100.00 (99.90, 100.00)
OPV-0	1210	1	153	3177	98	97	98	96.6	<ul> <li>99.90 (99.50, 100.00)</li> </ul>	95.40 (94.60, 96.10)
Penta-1	901	26	40	3582	98	97	99	98.6	➡ 97.20 (95.90, 98.20)	98.90 (98.50, 99.20)
OPV-1	901	26	40	3582	98	97	99	98.6	➡ 97.20 (95.90, 98.20)	98.90 (98.50, 99.20)
PCV-1	901	26	40	3582	98	97	99	98.6	➡ 97.20 (95.90, 98.20)	98.90 (98.50, 99.20)
Rota-1	901	26	40	3582	98	97	99	98.6	➡ 97.20 (95.90, 98.20)	98.90 (98.50, 99.20)
Penta-2	793	0	19	2350	100	99	100	99.4	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.50, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.20 (98.80, 99.50)
OPV-2	792	0	20	2350	100	99	100	99.4	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.50, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.20 (98.70, 99.50)
PCV-2	792	0	20	2350	100	99	100	99.4	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.50, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.20 (98.70, 99.50)
Rota-2	793	0	19	2350	100	99	100	99.4	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.50, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.20 (98.80, 99.50)
Penta-3	635	2	16	1557	99	99	100	99.2	<ul> <li>99.70 (98.90, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.00 (98.40, 99.40)
OPV-3	635	2	16	1557	99	99	100	99.2	<ul> <li>99.70 (98.90, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.00 (98.40, 99.40)
PCV-3	635	2	16	1557	99	99	100	99.2	<ul> <li>99.70 (98.90, 100.00)</li> </ul>	99.00 (98.40, 99.40)
IPV-1	653	332	5	1227	83	81	84	99.2	→ 66.30 (63.20, 69.20)	99.60 (99.10, 99.90)
Measles-1	352	13	109	931	93	92	94	91.3	96.40 (94.00, 98.10)	89.50 (87.50, 91.30)
Measles-2	208	0	87	461	92	91	94	88.5	→ 100.00 (98.20, 100.00) →	84.10 (80.80, 87.10)
									I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I         I	)

Sensitivity Specificity

#### Bangladesh (n=1684)

Vaccines	TP	FN	FP	FN	ROC (%)	LCL (%)	UCL (%)	Accuracy (%)	Effect (95% CI)	Effect (95% CI)
BCG	369	3	0	1310	100	99	100	99.8	→ 99.20 (97.70, 99.80)	<ul> <li>100.00 (99.70, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Penta-1	419	6	7	1252	99	98	100	99.2	→ 98.60 (97.00, 99.50)	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.90, 99.80)</li> </ul>
OPV-1	420	4	9	1245	99	99	100	99.2	→ 99.10 (97.60, 99.70)	<ul> <li>99.30 (98.60, 99.70)</li> </ul>
PCV-1	419	4	7	1248	99	99	100	99.3	→ 99.10 (97.60, 99.70)	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.90, 99.80)</li> </ul>
IPV-1	420	5	7	1246	99	99	100	99.3	→ 98.80 (97.30, 99.60)	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.90, 99.80)</li> </ul>
Penta-2	347	0	5	1251	100	100	100	99.7	◆ 100.00 (98.90, 100.00)	<ul> <li>99.60 (99.10, 99.90)</li> </ul>
OPV-2	347	0	5	1250	100	100	100	99.7	<ul> <li>100.00 (98.90, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.60 (99.10, 99.90)</li> </ul>
PCV-2	346	0	6	1249	100	100	100	99.6	<ul> <li>100.00 (98.90, 100.00)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>99.50 (99.00, 99.80)</li> </ul>
Penta-3	352	2	5	804	99	99	100	99.4	→ 99.40 (98.00, 99.90)	<ul> <li>99.40 (98.60, 99.80)</li> </ul>
OPV-3	353	1	4	809	100	99	100	99.6		<ul> <li>99.50 (98.70, 99.90)</li> </ul>
PCV-3	353	1	4	809	100	99	100	99.6		<ul> <li>99.50 (98.70, 99.90)</li> </ul>
IPV-2	355	51	2	751	94	92	95	95.4	<b>87.40 (83.80, 90.50)</b>	<ul> <li>99.70 (99.00, 100.00)</li> </ul>
Measles-1	122	7	105	821	92	89	94	89.4	94.60 (89.10, 97.80)	88.70 (86.40, 90.60)
Measles-2	196	0	46	227	92	89	94	90.2	→ 100.00 (98.10, 100.00)	83.20 (78.20, 87.40)
									70 75 80 85 90 95 100 70 75 80 85 90 9	5 100

Sensitivity

70 75 80 85 90 95 1 Specificity

#### Cumulative (N=6241)

| TP   | FN                                                                                                    | FP                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | TN                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            | ROC<br>(%)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | LCL<br>(%)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                | UCL<br>(%)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                | Accuracy<br>(%)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | y                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           | Effect (95% CI)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | Effect (95% CI)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |
|------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 1847 | 30                                                                                                    | 0                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | 4347                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 99.5                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 98.40 (97.70, 98.90)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 100.00 (99.90, 100.00                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
| 1320 | 32                                                                                                    | 47                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 4834                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 98                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 98                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 98.7                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 97.60 (96.70, 98.40)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.00 (98.70, 99.30)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 1321 | 30                                                                                                    | 49                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 4827                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 98                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 98                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 98.7                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 97.80 (96.80, 98.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.00 (98.70, 99.30)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 1320 | 30                                                                                                    | 47                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 4830                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 98                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 98                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 98.8                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | •                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 97.80 (96.80, 98.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.00 (98.70, 99.30)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 1140 | 0                                                                                                     | 24                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 3601                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99.5                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 100.00 (99.70, 100.00)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.30 (99.00, 99.60)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 1139 | 0                                                                                                     | 25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 3600                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99.5                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | •                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 100.00 (99.70, 100.00)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.30 (99.00, 99.60)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 1138 | 0                                                                                                     | 26                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 3599                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99.4                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 100.00 (99.70, 100.00)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.30 (99.00, 99.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 987  | 4                                                                                                     | 21                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 2361                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99.3                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 99.60 (99.00, 99.90)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.10 (98.70, 99.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 988  | 3                                                                                                     | 20                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 2366                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99.3                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 99.70 (99.10, 99.90)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.20 (98.70, 99.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 988  | 3                                                                                                     | 20                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 2366                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 99.3                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 99.70 (99.10, 99.90)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.20 (98.70, 99.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 1073 | 337                                                                                                   | 12                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 2473                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 88                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 87                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 89                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 91.0                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           | 76.10 (73.80, 78.30)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | |
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | ٠                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 99.50 (99.20, 99.80)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 474  | 20                                                                                                    | 214                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | 1752                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 93                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 91                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 94                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 94.5                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 96.00 (93.80, 97.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | +                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | 89.10 (87.70, 90.50)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| 404  | 0                                                                                                     | 133                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | 688                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           | 92                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 91                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 93                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 89.1                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | •                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 100.00 (99.10, 100.00)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | •                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | 83.80 (81.10, 86.30)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
|      |                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | -                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |
|      |                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | 65 70                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | 75                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | 80                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           | 85                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 90                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 95                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 0                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 65                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | 70                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 75                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            | 80                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 85                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 90                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | 95                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                | 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |
|      | TP<br>1847<br>1320<br>1321<br>1320<br>1140<br>1139<br>1138<br>987<br>988<br>988<br>1073<br>474<br>404 | TP         FN           1847         30           1320         32           1321         30           1320         30           1140         0           1138         0           987         4           988         3           1073         307           474         20           404         0 | FN         FP           1847         30         0           1320         32         47           1321         30         49           1320         30         47           1140         0         24           1138         0         26           987         4         21           988         3         20           9073         337         12           474         20         214           404         0         133 | FN         FP         TN           1847         30         0         4347           1320         32         47         4843           1321         30         49         4827           1320         30         47         4830           1321         30         47         4830           1140         0         24         3601           1138         0         25         3600           986         3         20         2366           986         3         20         2366           1073         337         12         2473           474         20         214         1752           404         0         133         688 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99           1320         32         47         4834         98           1321         30         49         427         98           1321         30         47         4830         98           1321         30         47         4830         98           1320         30         47         800         100           1140         0         24         3601         100           1133         0         25         3600         100           1134         0         25         3601         90           98         3         20         256         90           988         3         20         266         91           988         3         20         2463         91           988         3         20         2463         91           9103         37         12         2473         88           404         0         133         688         92 | TP         FN         FN         ROC<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         93           1320         32         47         4834         98         98           1321         30         47         4830         98         98           1320         30         47         4830         98         98           1320         30         47         4830         98         98           1320         30         47         4830         98         98           140         0         24         3601         100         101           1138         0         25         3600         100         101           98         3         20         2366         99         99           98         3         20         246         99         98           337         12         2473         88         87           404         0         133         688         92         91 | TP         FN         ROC         LCL         OCL           1847         30         0         4347         99         99           1320         32         47         4844         98         98           1321         30         49         4827         98         98           1321         30         47         480         98         98           1322         30         47         480         98         98           1324         30         47         480         98         98           1324         30         47         480         98         98           1324         30         47         480         98         98           1324         30         47         480         98         98           1324         30         47         480         98         98           1133         0         24         360         100         100           1138         0         25         360         100         100         100           98         3         20         216         236         99         90         100 | TP         FN         FP         TN         ROC<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         QCL<br>(%)         Accurac<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         98         99         98.7           1340         0         24         3601         100         100         100         99.7           1138         0         25         3600         100         100         100         99.3           198         3         20         2366         99         90         100         99.3           198         32         202         2463         88         78         91.0         91.0 | TP         FN         FP         TN         Roc (%)         LCL (%)         MCL (%)         Accuracy (%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         98         99         98.8           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         1138           0         25         3600         100         100         100         99.5           11138         0         26         3599         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         100         99.3           1073 </td <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         QCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         2463         88         87         89         91.0           474         20         113         688         92</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br/>(%)         UCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         246         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         246         98         91.0         99.3</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         V/CL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         2463         88         87         89.3         91.0           474         20         214         1752         93<!--</td--><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         Roc (%)         UCL (%)         Accuracy (%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7     
     1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         236         99         99         100         99.3           1073         337         12         2473         88         87         89         91.0           404         0         133         688</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         VCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90         90,5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         100         99.3           988         3         20         2463         87         89         91.0         -           474         20         214         1752         93         91         94         94.5           404         0</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         ROC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         VCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5         •           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7         •           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         •           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         •         •           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8         •         •           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         •         •           11138         0         26         3599         100         100         99.3         •         •           988         3         20         2366         99         90         00         99.3         •         •           474         20         214         1752         93         91         94         94.5         •</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         Roc (%)         LCL (%)         MCL (%)         Accuracy (%)         Effect (85% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5         97.60 (8.0, 98.40)           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (8.0, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (86.0, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           13120         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)           1138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.90         99.3         99.90 (90.90         99.3         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         V/CL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.5         100.00 (99.70 100.00)           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70 100.00)           11138         0         26         3599         100         100         99.3         99.7 (90.10</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br/>(%)         LC1<br/>(%)         V/C1<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,88.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 90.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         10000 (99.70, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.7         98.70 (96.10, 99.00)           1083         33         20         236         99</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br/>(%)         UCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         5           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         5           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1314         0         42         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.0         99.</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         V/CL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         5           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         5           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         5         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         5         50.00 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br/>(%)         UCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,98.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1313         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)           1113         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.09.00 (90.00 (90.70, 100.00)           1138         0         26         379         99         90         99.3         98.70 (96.1</td><td>TP         FN  
      FP         TN         RCG<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         VCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,68.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (90.70, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.7           1438         21         236         99         90         100         99.3         98.70 (90.</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         ROC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         V(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1320         32         47         483         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         98.40 (97.70, 100.00)           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         98.40 (97.00, 100.00)           11140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         98.40 (97.00, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.60 (90.90, 90.90, 90.00)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)</td><td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br/>(%)         LC1<br/>(%)         VC1<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C1)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 88.90)         •           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         •         97.60 (66.70, 88.40)         •           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         •         97.80 (66.80, 88.50)         •           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         •         97.80 (66.80, 88.50)         •           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         •         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         •           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.5         •         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         •           988         3         20         236         99         90         90.3         •         98.70 (96.10, 99.90)         •           1073         337         12         2473         88</td></td> | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         QCL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         2463         88         87         89         91.0           474         20         113         688         92 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br>(%)         UCL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         246         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         246         98         91.0         99.3 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         V/CL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         90.3           988         3         20         2463         88         87         89.3         91.0           474         20         214         1752         93 </td <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         Roc (%)         UCL (%)         Accuracy (%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         236         99         99         100         99.3           1073         337         12         2473         88         87         89         91.0           404         0         133         688</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         VCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90         90,5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         100         99.3           988         3         20         2463         87         89         91.0         -           474         20         214         1752         93         91         94         94.5           404         0</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         ROC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         VCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5         •           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7         •           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         •           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         •         •           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8         •         •           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         •         •           11138         0         26         3599         100         100         99.3         •         •           988         3         20         2366         99         90         00         99.3         •         •           474         20         214         1752         93         91         94         94.5         •</td>
<td>TP         FN         FP         TN         Roc (%)         LCL (%)         MCL (%)         Accuracy (%)         Effect (85% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5         97.60 (8.0, 98.40)           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (8.0, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (86.0, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           13120         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)           1138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.90         99.3         99.90 (90.90         99.3         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         V/CL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.5         100.00 (99.70 100.00)           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70 100.00)           11138         0         26         3599         100         100         99.3         99.7 (90.10</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br/>(%)         LC1<br/>(%)         V/C1<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,88.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 90.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         10000 (99.70, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.7         98.70 (96.10, 99.00)           1083         33         20         236         99</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br/>(%)         UCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         5           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         5           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1314         0         42         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.0         99.</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         V/CL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         5           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         5           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         5         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         5         50.00 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br/>(%)         UCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,98.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1313         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)           1113         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.09.00 (90.00 (90.70, 100.00)           1138         0         26         379         99         90         99.3         98.70 (96.1</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         VCL<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,68.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (90.70, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.7           1438         21         236         99         90         100         99.3         98.70 (90.</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         ROC<br/>(%)         LCL<br/>(%)         V(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1320         32         47         483         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         98.40 (97.70, 100.00)           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         98.40 (97.00, 100.00)           11140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         98.40 (97.00, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.60 (90.90, 90.90, 90.00)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)</td> <td>TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br/>(%)         LC1<br/>(%)         VC1<br/>(%)         Accuracy<br/>(%)         Effect (95% C1)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 88.90)         •           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         •         97.60 (66.70, 88.40)         •           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         •         97.80 (66.80, 88.50)    
    •           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         •         97.80 (66.80, 88.50)         •           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         •         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         •           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.5         •         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         •           988         3         20         236         99         90         90.3         •         98.70 (96.10, 99.90)         •           1073         337         12         2473         88</td> | TP         FN         FP         TN         Roc (%)         UCL (%)         Accuracy (%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         236         99         99         100         99.3           1073         337         12         2473         88         87         89         91.0           404         0         133         688 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         VCL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90         90,5           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3           988         3         20         2366         99         90         100         99.3           988         3         20         2463         87         89         91.0         -           474         20         214         1752         93         91         94         94.5           404         0 | TP         FN         FP         TN         ROC<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         VCL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5         •           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7         •           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         •           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         •         •           1320         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8         •         •           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         •         •           11138         0         26         3599         100         100         99.3         •         •           988         3         20         2366         99         90         00         99.3         •         •           474         20         214         1752         93         91         94         94.5         • | TP         FN         FP         TN         Roc (%)         LCL (%)         MCL (%)         Accuracy (%)         Effect (85% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99         99.5         97.60 (8.0, 98.40)           1320         32         47         4834         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (8.0, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (86.0, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           13120         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)           1138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.90         99.3         99.90 (90.90         99.3         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 (99.10, 99.0)         99.70 ( | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCC<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         V/CL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.5         100.00 (99.70 100.00)           11139         0         25         3600         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70 100.00)           11138         0         26         3599         100         100         99.3         99.7 (90.10 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br>(%)         LC1<br>(%)         V/C1<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,88.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 98.40)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.00, 90.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         10000 (99.70, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.7         98.70 (96.10, 99.00)           1083         33         20         236         99 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br>(%)         UCL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         5           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         5           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.09, 98.50)         5           1314         0         42         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         5           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.0         99.3         99.0         99.0         99. | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         V/CL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         5           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         5           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         5         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         5         50.00 (96.80, 98.50)         5         5           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br>(%)         UCL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,98.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)
          1321         30         49         4827         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1313         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)           1113         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.09.00 (90.00 (90.70, 100.00)           1138         0         26         379         99         90         99.3         98.70 (96.1 | TP         FN         FP         TN         RCG<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         VCL<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         90         90         90         90,5         98.40 (97.70,68.90)           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1321         30         49         4827         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.80, 98.50)           1322         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1314         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (90.70, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         98.7           1438         21         236         99         90         100         99.3         98.70 (90. | TP         FN         FP         TN         ROC<br>(%)         LCL<br>(%)         V(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 98.90)         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)           1320         32         47         483         98         99         98.7         97.60 (96.70, 98.40)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         98.40 (97.70, 100.00)           1312         30         47         4830         98         99         98.8         97.80 (96.80, 98.50)         98.40 (97.00, 100.00)           11140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         98.40 (97.00, 100.00)           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.3         99.60 (90.90, 90.90, 90.00)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90)         99.70 (90.10, 90.90) | TP         FN         FP         TN         RC6<br>(%)         LC1<br>(%)         VC1<br>(%)         Accuracy<br>(%)         Effect (95% C1)           1847         30         0         4347         99         99         99.5         98.40 (97.70, 88.90)         •           1320         32         47         4834         98         99         98.7         •         97.60 (66.70, 88.40)         •           1321         30         49         4827         98         98         99         98.7         •         97.80 (66.80, 88.50)         •           1321         30         47         4830         98         99         98.7         •         97.80 (66.80, 88.50)         •           1140         0         24         3601         100         100         99.5         •         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         •           11138         0         25         3600         100         100         99.5         •         100.00 (99.70, 100.00)         •           988         3         20         236         99         90         90.3         •         98.70 (96.10, 99.90)         •           1073         337         12         2473         88 |

#### **Qualitative Analysis**

#### **Participant Characteristics**

A total of 16 vaccinators participated in the key informant interviews (Table 3). In Pakistan, 1 (9%) vaccinator out of 11 was female, whereas in Bangladesh, the proportion of female vaccinators was 80% (4/5). On average, the participants had

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40269

XSL•F() RenderX been working as vaccinators for 7.6 (SD 8.4) years, and the mean age was 32 (SD 9.3) years. In Pakistan, nearly half (6/11, 54%) of all the vaccinators interviewed had >12 years of education, whereas in Bangladesh, this proportion was 100% (5/5).

We extracted 3 major themes through thematic analysis of in-depth interviews conducted with the vaccinators.

Table 3. Characteristics of vaccinators interviewed in Pakistan and Bangladesh.

Characteristics	Participants							
	Pakistan (n=11)	Bangladesh (n=5)	Total (N=16)					
Female, n (%)	1 (9.1)	4 (80)	5 (31.3)					
Years of education, n (%)								
≤12	5 (45.5)	N/A <sup>a</sup>	5 (31.3)					
>12	6 (54.5)	5 (100)	11 (68.8)					
Age (years), mean (SD)	32.0 (9.0)	32.2 (11.1)	32.0 (9.3)					
Years of experience, mean (SD)	8.1 (9.8)	6.6 (4.7)	7.6 (8.4)					

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

## Theme 1: Understanding of iDSS

All (16/16, 100%) vaccinators appreciated the iDSS module for calculating the age-appropriate vaccine schedules for each visit. They relayed good knowledge of iDSS functionality and 69% (11/16) believed that they could effortlessly explain the app features to their fellow colleagues. Furthermore, most (13/16, 81%) vaccinators were aware of the color scheme and were able to interpret it correctly:

The color codes give us indications; vaccines that are supposed to be administered on current visit have different color codes, and already vaccinated have a different color code. [Vaccinator 3]

On assessing the knowledge about key variables on which the iDSS algorithm functions, very few vaccinators (6/16, 37%) were aware that the iDSS predicted future dates using the variables of date of birth, age, and immunization history.

## Theme 2: Functionality of iDSS

# Automatic Construction of Age-Appropriate Vaccine Schedules

All the vaccinators (16/16, 100%) appreciated the instantaneous calculation of age-appropriate schedules using the iDSS. They noted and were able to explain the significance of dates that appeared against each vaccine that was due on the current visit, given previously, or needed to be scheduled for an upcoming visit:

When we enroll a child, it automatically tells which vaccine has to be administered and the dates are same as the dates we used to calculate manually. [Vaccinator 10]

iDSS is an easy app to use. Precisely I can say, I don't need to think about dates or about weekend. It automatically generates dates, and we can update our record book and EPI card easily without error. [Vaccinator 13]

## Accuracy in Generating Age-Appropriate Vaccine Schedules

The vaccinators conveyed mixed responses regarding the perceived accuracy of the iDSS algorithm across both the sites. Less than half (7/16, 44%) of the vaccinators stated that they found no discrepancies in the schedules constructed by the iDSS,

whereas others stated discrepancies that contradicted their routine practices.

Despite endorsing the accuracy, 62% (10/16) participants across both sites were confused about the age-appropriate administration of IPV and measles vaccines. For instance, 54% (6/11) vaccinators in Pakistan were unsure about administering the IPV vaccine due at the age of 14 weeks according to the national immunization schedule. Some vaccinators believed that IPV should be administered with the third dose of Penta, irrespective of the age of the child, and hence considered iDSS to have scheduled the IPV dose inaccurately:

It happens that if a child's age is let's say 3 months or 3.5 months and he comes in for BCG, application shows IPV to be given as well at 3.5 months, but we don't do so and schedule IPV for future. [Vaccinator 1]

One of the participants from Pakistan (1/11, 9%) also questioned the interval between the 2 doses of measles, particularly for children who were behind their routine schedules:

We have some confusions, for example if a child's age is 12 months, then it (iDSS) gives date randomly and does not keep a gap of 3 months between two doses. [Vaccinator 8]

Vaccinators in Bangladesh (3/5, 60%) were unsure about the scheduling of upcoming vaccines that are not dependent on previous doses (for instance, the first dose of measles vaccine is not dependent on pentavalent-3 dose and should be administered when a child turns 9 months). Vaccinators believed that the measles vaccine should be "locked" on the iDSS (ie, not allowed to be given) until the child receives the pentavalent-3 dose. The same logic was applied for the IPV-2 dose due at the age of 14 weeks in Bangladesh:

Why do I have to schedule Measles and Rubella during Penta-2 vaccination? Isn't it supposed to be given only after Penta-3–IPV 2 schedule? [Vaccinator 14]

## Theme 3: Usability of iDSS

## Utility of the iDSS for Vaccinators

More than half (9/16, 56%) of the vaccinators stated that the iDSS is easy to use and 69% (11/16) emphasized its need as it accurately constructs age-appropriate vaccine schedules quickly,



saving time. Vaccinators highlighted that the iDSS facilitates decisions regarding whether the child should receive vaccination or not, eventually reducing MOVs:

Best thing are the dates/schedules that are automatically generated. It is less time consuming and the vaccines that are needed to be administered are ticked. [Vaccinator 1]

Initially, we were tallying dates that we predicted with the dates shown in iDSS. We found some mismatch in the dates, but it was our mistake mostly, because we did not do [the calculations] properly. Some days were missed by us. [Vaccinator 9]

Almost one-fifth (3/16, 19%) of the vaccinators thought that iDSS would be more useful for outreach activities in which they often encounter children who have missed their routine vaccination doses:

Though our country has a wide range of EPI centers, during our outreach activities we try to reach defaulter children and ensure to give them all required vaccines displayed as due vaccines on this app [iDSS]. [Vaccinator 13]

Vaccinators (6/16, 37%) also suggested that iDSS should serve as a channel to digitalize immunization information systems and replace the conventionally used manual calculation methods for constructing vaccine schedules:

Our country is going to digitalize the vaccination system and we are still dependent on the old hardcopy methods. It was needed in the past since we have started EPI activity. It will assist in data centralization. [Vaccinator 13]

#### **Overall Feedback on iDSS**

Overall, the vaccinators were satisfied with the app functionality and provided positive feedback about the app:

In my experience iDSS is far better than our current system. Moreover, auto generation of vaccine schedules helps us to enter data within no time. [Vaccinator 14]

Vaccinators (7/16, 44%) suggested that the color scheme should be reconsidered:

There are no issues with color scheme and its well understood; however, if red could be replaced by any other color it makes us feel better. You know red is used to indicate danger. [Vaccinator 4]

All vaccinators admired the current iDSS interface in terms of color scheme, text font and size, and design. Vaccinators mentioned that there was room for improvement, but they did not provide specific details of the features that needed to be changed:

No this is okay, we don't have any issues in that, the design is okay and so is the text. [Vaccinator 8]

## Theme 4: Challenges With the Manual Calculation of Catch-up Schedules

As part of their routine work, vaccinators were mainly dependent on vaccination cards or parental recall to infer the date of birth of children and their vaccination history to manually calculate immunization schedules:

If someone has lost the EPI card then we try to figure out through a recall method and ask the parent to tell us when the child gets the first vaccine. Then we ask for the date of birth, which they usually don't know, and tell us the age of the child. In this way, based on verbal discussion and age of child, for example, they say 2 or 3.5 months, we take the risk and vaccinate the child for 2nd or 3rd dose accordingly. [Vaccinator 11]

For follow-up visits, vaccinators mentioned that the usual practice was to provide a calendar date with a 1-month gap for the next dose instead of following the standard 28-day interval between scheduling future doses as per the WHO-recommended EPI schedule guidelines. Vaccinators mentioned that to schedule doses with a 28-day interval, they had to refer to calendar and count the days to find the exact dates. A few times, they did not account for weekends when scheduling the subsequent visits. Vaccinators found iDSS useful in providing schedules automatically for subsequent visits that were in line with the WHO EPI guidelines:

Previously, we had to see the dates one by one and calculate it, now the benefit is we just enter data and get dates automatically. It also shows the schedule for my next visit. [Vaccinator 5]

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

Our study has demonstrated the diagnostic accuracy and feasibility of iDSS to accurately schedule age-appropriate vaccination doses across a multicountry LMIC setting. We also demonstrated the potential of iDSS to reduce MOVs caused by poor vaccinator adherence to standard immunization schedules and the interpretation of complex immunization schedules. Our study reports positive feedback received from a diverse set of vaccinators with varying levels of education and experience on the usability and acceptability of the iDSS.

Overall, the iDSS had higher accuracy in constructing age-appropriate immunization schedules as per the WHO-recommended EPI guidelines compared with vaccinators. Our study highlights the issue of missed vaccine doses despite children making contact with vaccinators. Reducing MOVs caused by complexity and changes in EPI schedules can improve immunization coverage, timeliness, and equity [14]. One study from the United States estimated that the potentially achievable vaccination coverage for 4+Diphtheria, tetanus, and acellular pertussis vaccine, 4+PCV, and full series of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b for children aged 19 to 35 months would have been 90% if missed opportunities in the administration of these vaccines were eliminated [26]. From an equity perspective, iDSS can enable children from disadvantaged backgrounds,

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40269

who are already delayed on their vaccination, to catch-up with the rest through accurate administration of all due vaccine doses when they encounter a vaccinator.

Our findings show that the highest MOVs across Pakistan and Bangladesh sites were for polio and measles vaccines, as 27.5% (383/1391) and 5.3% (28/527) of all due immunization doses, respectively, were missed by vaccinators. A systematic review of MOVs across LMICs also reported the prevalence rate of MOVs with regard to polio vaccines to range from 13.4% to 46.7% [2]. According to the WHO-recommended EPI schedule, Pakistan and Bangladesh administer the IPV vaccine to all children at 14 weeks. However, feedback from vaccinators across both sites revealed that vaccinators considered it to be given alongside vaccines administered with Penta-3 (irrespective of age). This practice delayed the IPV vaccination, as the Penta, OPV, and PCV vaccines depend on previous doses and are often administered beyond 14 weeks of age [27]. These MOVs, especially for polio vaccines, are alarming, as they impede global efforts to eradicate polio. Pakistan remains one of the last 2 polio-endemic countries with a substantial surge in the number of polio cases since 2017 (147 cases in 2019 vs 8 in 2017) [28], putting the country on a failing trajectory and the broader Global Polio Eradication Initiative at risk. Similarly, the measles incidence in the country increased from 24.6 cases per million to 80.4 per million between 2000 and 2018 [29].

Although previous studies have reported examples of EIR in LMIC settings [30,31], not all of them have an in-built immunization scheduling or decision support system [32-34]. Our study adds to this important area by providing evidence of the diagnostic accuracy of a stand-alone mobile-based iDSS implemented across a multicountry LMIC setting. Our results are in line with findings reported from high-income countries where iDSS has improved the scheduling of vaccinations. A hospital-based study in the United States that implemented a computer-based clinical decision support algorithm demonstrated an increase in the tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis vaccination in postpartum women [35]. Our results corroborate this finding, making a strong case for high diagnostic accuracy of iDSS technology in LMIC settings. In addition, the end-user feedback from a diverse set of vaccinators, who varied in terms of gender, education, age, and experience, also confirms the utility and functionality of iDSS, its acceptance, and user satisfaction; however, interviews with vaccinators in our study did reveal that only about half (9/16, 56%) of them found the iDSS easy to use, presumably because of maintaining paper-based and electronic records simultaneously in the study. Switching to electronic records completely is likely to address this concern [14].

In contrast to most web-based iDSS developed and used in high-income countries, the iDSS in this study is packaged in the form of an API that is interoperable with health information systems and allows flexibility of deployment. As EIRs continue to be adapted, incorporating iDSS through APIs should be considered, in line with established standards such as the Pan American Health Organization EIR guidelines [36]. API-based iDSS such as the one used in this study also allows flexibility to adjust to multicountry EPI schedules that change frequently and can also adapt to cosmetic user interface changes such as varying languages and displays.

Integration of an iDSS module in LMIC Immunization Programs can, therefore, yield enormous benefits, not only in terms of reducing MOVs but also in designing accurate catch-up regimens to ensure universal immunization. This is particularly relevant in the context of the huge numbers of children who have missed their vaccine doses during the COVID-19 pandemic and associated lockdowns [18]. Equipping vaccinators with iDSS technology can help ensure that these children are effectively immunized for all due vaccines at subsequent visits, thereby maintaining optimal immunity levels and reducing the likelihood of secondary vaccine-preventable disease outbreaks.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

A major strength of our study was the demonstration of the feasibility of the iDSS across 2 different LMIC settings, with varying EPI schedules, infrastructure, coverage levels, vaccinator education, experience, demographics, and immunization-related challenges. One limitation of our study was that the evidence of MOVs generated in this study only accounted for MOVs because of inaccurate vaccination schedules constructed by vaccinators and hence would be an underestimation of the overall MOV prevalence in our study sites.

## Conclusions

The iDSS has high diagnostic accuracy for scheduling age-appropriate vaccinations and reducing MOVs; and high acceptability among vaccinators regardless of gender, education, and experience. The iDSS boasts a variety of features for easy adaptability and replicability across LMIC settings. The evidence generated from this study demonstrates the prevalence of MOVs, especially for measles and polio vaccines. iDSS can increase immunization coverage, timeliness, and equity by eliminating these MOVs and help design accurate catch-up regimens to ensure universal immunization, especially in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings from this study provide the impetus for rigorously evaluating the impact of iDSS through a randomized controlled trial and paving the way for a scaled implementation of this tool across LMICs.

## Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Zahid Hossain, Jobaer Faruque, and Farzana Hossain for their support in implementing this study at the Bangladesh site. The authors extend their gratitude to the Expanded Programme for Immunization—Gilgit Baltistan, Pakistan and Expanded Programme for Immunization—Bangladesh for their support throughout the study and thank the front-line health workers for their cooperation during implementation. This study was funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (ID:

OPP1199224). The funding source had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or manuscript writing. The corresponding author has full access to all the study data and the final responsibility to submit for publication.

## **Data Availability**

Deidentified participant data and data dictionary are available to any researcher upon reasonable request.

## **Authors' Contributions**

SC conceptualized the study. SC and DAS designed the study and acquired the funding. SC, RFA, and DAS developed the study protocol and methodology. SC, DAS, RFA, MTS, and VKD supervised the development of the immunization decision support system software. RFA, MTS, and VKD implemented the project and curated the data under the supervision of SC, DAS, and TR. RFA and AAK conducted statistical analyses with input from SC and DAS. DAS and RFA interpreted the data and wrote the original draft, which was revised through technical input provided by SC. All authors contributed to and reviewed the final submitted manuscript. All authors had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Immunization decision support system supplementary information. [DOCX File , 511 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40269 app1.docx ]

## References

- 1. Diphtheria tetanus toxoid and pertussis (DTP) vaccination coverage. United Nations Children's Fund, World Health Organization. 2022. URL: <u>https://immunizationdata.who.int/pages/coverage/dtp.html</u> [accessed 2022-10-09]
- Sridhar S, Maleq N, Guillermet E, Colombini A, Gessner BD. A systematic literature review of missed opportunities for immunization in low- and middle-income countries. Vaccine 2014 Dec 05;32(51):6870-6879. [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.10.063] [Medline: 25444813]
- 3. Reducing Missed Opportunities for Vaccination (MOV). World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/teams/</u> <u>immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/essential-programme-on-immunization/implementation/</u> <u>reducing-missed-opportunities-for-vaccination-(mov)</u> [accessed 2021-11-08]
- 4. Adamu AA, Sarki AM, Uthman OA, Wiyeh AB, Gadanya MA, Wiysonge CS. Prevalence and dynamics of missed opportunities for vaccination among children in Africa: applying systems thinking in a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Expert Rev Vaccines 2019 May;18(5):547-558. [doi: 10.1080/14760584.2019.1588728] [Medline: 30822248]
- Restrepo-Méndez MC, Barros AJ, Wong KL, Johnson HL, Pariyo G, Wehrmeister FC, et al. Missed opportunities in full immunization coverage: findings from low- and lower-middle-income countries. Glob Health Action 2016 May 3;9:30963 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/gha.v9.30963] [Medline: 27146444]
- Li AJ, Tabu C, Shendale S, Okoth PO, Sergon K, Maree E, et al. Qualitative insights into reasons for missed opportunities for vaccination in Kenyan health facilities. PLoS One 2020 Mar 30;15(3):e0230783 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0230783] [Medline: <u>32226039</u>]
- Sambala EZ, Uthman OA, Adamu AA, Ndwandwe D, Wiyeh AB, Olukade T, et al. Mind the Gap: what explains the education-related inequality in missed opportunities for vaccination in sub-Saharan Africa? Compositional and structural characteristics. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2018;14(10):2365-2372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1460985] [Medline: 29630441]
- Manandhar P, Wannemuehler K, Danovaro-Holliday MC, Nic Lochlainn L, Shendale S, Sodha SV. Use of catch-up vaccinations in the second year of life (2YL) platform to close immunity gaps: a secondary DHS analysis in Pakistan, Philippines, and South Africa. Vaccine 2023 Jan 04;41(1):61-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.10.040] [Medline: 36396512]
- Kahane SM, Watt JP, Newell K, Kellam S, Wight S, Smith NJ, et al. Immunization levels and risk factors for low immunization coverage among private practices. Pediatrics 2000 Jun;105(6):E73. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.105.6.e73</u>] [Medline: <u>10835086</u>]
- 10. Cohen NJ, Lauderdale DS, Shete PB, Seal JB, Daum RS. Physician knowledge of catch-up regimens and contraindications for childhood immunizations. Pediatrics 2003 May;111(5 Pt 1):925-932. [doi: 10.1542/peds.111.5.925] [Medline: 12728067]
- 11. Ogbuanu IU, Li AJ, Anya BP, Tamadji M, Chirwa G, Chiwaya KW, et al. Can vaccination coverage be improved by reducing missed opportunities for vaccination? Findings from assessments in Chad and Malawi using the new WHO

methodology. PLoS One 2019 Jan 24;14(1):e0210648 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210648] [Medline: 30677072]

- 12. Smalley HK, Keskinocak P, Engineer FG, Pickering LK. Universal tool for vaccine scheduling: applications for children and adults. Interfaces 2011 Oct;41(5):436-454. [doi: 10.1287/inte.1110.0583]
- Engineer FG, Keskinocak P, Pickering LK. OR practice—catch-up scheduling for childhood vaccination. Oper Res 2009 Dec;57(6):1307-1319. [doi: <u>10.1287/opre.1090.0756</u>]
- Zaidi S, Shaikh SA, Sayani S, Kazi AM, Khoja A, Hussain SS, et al. Operability, acceptability, and usefulness of a mobile app to track routine immunization performance in rural Pakistan: interview study among vaccinators and key informants. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Feb 13;8(2):e16081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16081] [Medline: 32053115]
- Li L, Ackermann K, Baker J, Westbrook J. Use and evaluation of computerized clinical decision support systems for early detection of sepsis in hospitals: protocol for a scoping review. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 Nov 20;9(11):e24899 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24899] [Medline: 33215998]
- Kihlgren A, Svensson F, Lövbrand C, Gifford M, Adolfsson A. A Decision support system (DSS) for municipal nurses encountering health deterioration among older people. BMC Nurs 2016 Nov 8;15:63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-016-0184-0] [Medline: 27833455]
- Sim I, Gorman P, Greenes RA, Haynes RB, Kaplan B, Lehmann H, et al. Clinical decision support systems for the practice of evidence-based medicine. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2001;8(6):527-534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2001.0080527] [Medline: 11687560]
- Ye J. The role of health technology and informatics in a global public health emergency: practices and implications from the COVID-19 pandemic. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Jul 14;8(7):e19866 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19866] [Medline: 32568725]
- Murthy N, Rodgers L, Pabst L, Fiebelkorn AP, Ng T. Progress in childhood vaccination data in immunization information systems - United States, 2013-2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017 Nov 03;66(43):1178-1181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6643a4] [Medline: 29095809]
- 20. Zhu VJ, Grannis SJ, Rosenman MB, Downs SM. Implementing broad scale childhood immunization decision support as a web service. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2009 Nov 14;2009:745-749 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20351952]
- 21. Pakistan demographic and health survey 2017-18. NIPS, ICF. Islamabad, Pakistan: National Institute of Population Studies; 2019 Jan. URL: <u>https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR354/FR354.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-09-08]
- 22. Success factors for women's and children's health: Bangladesh. World Health Organization. 2015. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/178623</u> [accessed 2020-09-08]
- 23. Pakistan Social and Living Standard Measurement Survey (PSLM). Statistics Division, Government of Pakistan. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.pbs.gov.pk/content/pakistan-social-and-living-standards-measurement</u> [accessed 2022-05-12]
- 24. Sajid E. Teledensity nearing 100% in Bangladesh. The Business Standard. 2020 Dec 17. URL: <u>https://www.tbsnews.net/bangladesh/telecom/teledensity-nearing-100-bangladesh-173080</u> [accessed 2022-05-12]
- Sarker AR, Akram R, Ali N, Sultana M. Coverage and factors associated with full immunisation among children aged 12-59 months in Bangladesh: insights from the nationwide cross-sectional demographic and health survey. BMJ Open 2019 Jul 09;9(7):e028020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028020] [Medline: 31289076]
- Zhao Z, Smith PJ, Hill HA. Evaluation of potentially achievable vaccination coverage with simultaneous administration of vaccines among children in the United States. Vaccine 2016 Jun 08;34(27):3030-3036 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.04.097] [Medline: 27160040]
- 27. Akmatov MK, Mikolajczyk RT. Timeliness of childhood vaccinations in 31 low and middle-income countries. J Epidemiol Community Health 2012 Jul;66(7):e14. [doi: 10.1136/jech.2010.124651] [Medline: 21551179]
- 28. Polio Cases in Provinces. Pakistan Polio Eradication Programme. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.endpolio.com.pk/polioin-pakistan/polio-cases-in-provinces</u> [accessed 2021-11-01]
- Mere MO, Goodson JL, Chandio AK, Rana MS, Hasan Q, Teleb N, et al. Progress toward measles elimination Pakistan, 2000-2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2019 Jun 07;68(22):505-510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6822a4] [Medline: 31170125]
- Secor AM, Mtenga H, Richard J, Bulula N, Ferriss E, Rathod M, et al. Added value of electronic immunization registries in low- and middle-income countries: observational case study in Tanzania. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 Jan 21;8(1):e32455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32455] [Medline: 35060919]
- 31. Seymour D, Werner L, Mwansa FD, Bulula N, Mwanyika H, Dube M, et al. Electronic immunization registries in Tanzania and Zambia: shaping a minimum viable product for scaled solutions. Front Public Health 2019 Aug 7;7:218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00218] [Medline: 31440494]
- 32. Pancholi J, Birdie R, Guerette J, Chritz S, Sampath V, Crawford J. Landscape analysis of electronic immunization registries; lessons learned from a landscape analysis of EIR implementations in low and middle income countries. VillageReach. Seattle, WA, USA: VillageReach; 2020. URL: <u>https://www.villagereach.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/</u> 2020-EIR-Landscape-Analysis.pdf [accessed 2022-11-08]

- Kombian H. Electronic immunization registry and tracking system in Sierra Leone. eHealth Africa. 2017 Jul 14. URL: <u>https://www.ehealthafrica.org/blog/2017/07/14/2017712electronic-immunization-registry-and-tracking-system-in-sierra-leone</u> [accessed 2022-10-15]
- Oliver-Williams C, Brown E, Devereux S, Fairhead C, Holeman I. Using mobile phones to improve vaccination uptake in 21 low- and middle-income countries: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Oct 04;5(10):e148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7792] [Medline: 28978495]
- Trick WE, Linn ES, Jones Z, Caquelin C, Kee R, Morita JY. Using computer decision support to increase maternal postpartum tetanus, diphtheria, and acellular pertussis vaccination. Obstet Gynecol 2010 Jul;116(1):51-57. [doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181e40a9f] [Medline: 20567167]
- 36. Electronic immunization registry: practical considerations for planning, development, implementation and evaluation. Pan American Health Organization. Washington, DC, USA: PAHO; 2017. URL: <u>https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/34865</u> [accessed 2020-09-08]

## Abbreviations

API: application programming interface
BCG: bacille Calmette-Guérin
EIR: electronic immunization registry
EPI: Expanded Programme on Immunization
iDSS: immunization decision support system
IPV: inactivated polio vaccine
LMIC: low- and middle-income country
MOV: missed opportunity for vaccination
MR: measles-rubella
OPV: oral polio vaccine
PCV: pneumococcal vaccine
Penta: pentavalent vaccine
Rota: rotavirus vaccine
WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 29.06.22; peer-reviewed by M Das, M Yakum; comments to author 29.09.22; revised version received 22.11.22; accepted 25.12.22; published 17.02.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Siddiqi DA, Ali RF, Shah MT, Dharma VK, Khan AA, Roy T, Chandir S Evaluation of a Mobile-Based Immunization Decision Support System for Scheduling Age-Appropriate Vaccine Schedules for Children Younger Than 2 Years in Pakistan and Bangladesh: Lessons From a Multisite, Mixed Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40269 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40269</u> doi:10.2196/40269 PMID:<u>36800221</u>

©Danya Arif Siddiqi, Rozina Feroz Ali, Mubarak Taighoon Shah, Vijay Kumar Dharma, Anokhi Ali Khan, Tapash Roy, Subhash Chandir. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 17.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Review**

# The Effectiveness of mHealth Interventions Targeting Parents and Youth in Human Papillomavirus Vaccination: Systematic Review

Lihong Ou<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD; Angela Chia-Chen Chen<sup>2\*</sup>, PhD; Ashish Amresh<sup>3\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Edson College of Nursing and Health Innovation, Arizona State University, Phoenix, AZ, United States

<sup>2</sup>College of Nursing, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States

<sup>3</sup>College of Engineering, Informatics, and Applied Sciences, Northern Arizona University, Flagstaff, AZ, United States \*all authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Lihong Ou, PhD Edson College of Nursing and Health Innovation Arizona State University 550 N 3rd St Phoenix, AZ, 85004 United States Phone: 1 480 253 9098 Email: <u>lihongou@asu.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The prevalence of human papillomavirus (HPV) and its related cancers is a major global concern. In the United States, routine HPV vaccination is recommended for youth aged 11 or 12 years. Despite HPV being the most common sexually transmitted infection and the vaccine's proven efficacy, the vaccination rate among US youth remains below the recommended 80% completion rate. Mobile health (mHealth) interventions have demonstrated promise in improving health. Examining and synthesizing the current evidence about the impact of mHealth interventions on vaccination coverage in youth and intervention characteristics could guide future mHealth interventions aimed at mitigating the vaccination gap and disease burden.

**Objective:** This study aims to conduct a systematic review to assess the effectiveness of mHealth interventions on parental intent to vaccinate youth against HPV and youth's vaccine uptake.

**Methods:** We searched empirical papers through databases including Google Scholar, PubMed, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Cochrane Library. The inclusion criteria were the following: (1) published between January 2011 and December 2022; (2) using mHealth aimed to improve HPV vaccination rate; (3) targeted unvaccinated youth or their parents; and (4) measured HPV-related knowledge, vaccination intention, or vaccine uptake. Overall, 3 researchers screened and appraised the quality of the eligible papers using the Melnyk Levels of Evidence and the Cochrane Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation methodology. Disagreements in search results and result interpretation were resolved through consensus.

**Results:** Overall, 17 studies that met the inclusion criteria were included in the final review. Most studies were conducted in the United States (14/17, 82%), used a randomized controlled trial design (12/17, 71%), and adopted behavior change theories or a culture-centric approach (10/17, 59%). mHealth interventions included SMS text message reminders, motivational SMS text messages, computer-tailored or tablet-tailored interventions, smartphone apps, web-based tailored interventions, social media (Facebook) campaigns, digital videos, and digital storytelling interventions. Approximately 88% (15/17) of the mHealth interventions demonstrated positive effects on knowledge, intention, or behaviors related to HPV vaccination. Overall, 12% (2/17) reported limited or no intervention impact on vaccine uptake or vaccine series completion. Effective vaccine uptake was commonly seen in interventions based on behavior change theories and those that provided culturally relevant information.

**Conclusions:** This systematic review identified the impact of mHealth interventions among unvaccinated youth and their parents, which showed improvement in HPV-related knowledge, vaccination intention, or vaccine initiation. The interventions that incorporated theories and culture-centric approaches revealed the most promising results. Although these outcomes are encouraging, future studies are needed to investigate factors associated with the success of interventions using SMS text messaging or social media. More studies are also needed for a better understanding of the intervention elements that boost the responses of age-specific and ethnicity-specific populations.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47334) doi:10.2196/47334

## **KEYWORDS**

human papillomavirus; mobile health; mHealth; parents; systematic review; vaccination; youth; mobile phone

## Introduction

#### Background

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted infection in the United States and globally. In the United States, the overall prevalence of HPV infection was estimated at approximately 40%, with the incidence of disease-associated HPV infection of 6.9 million and 6.1 million among men and women, respectively [1]. Each year, approximately 13 million individuals including adolescents were found infected with the virus [2]. Individuals who are infected with the virus could be asymptomatic, which makes the diagnosis of the disease difficult [3]. With the potential to cause genital warts and cancers in the cervix, penis, anus, and oropharynx, the considerable disease burden attributable to HPV infections remains as a global concern.

The HPV vaccine could reduce the risk of developing HPV-related infections and cancers, making it a critical tool for protecting individuals from these potentially life-threatening diseases. The prevention and control of the disease could be more difficult to manage owing to the low vaccination rate [4-6]. Since the introduction of the first HPV vaccine in 2006, the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices has recommended starting the vaccination at age 9, with routine vaccination by age 11 or 12, to ensure protection before potential virus exposure. However, despite these guidelines, the current vaccination rate among US youth stands at only 58.6%—lagging behind the 80% target set by the Healthy People 2030 initiative, which aims to promote health and well-being of well-being of individuals, organizations, and communities across the United States [7,8].

## **Role of Mobile Health**

Mobile health (mHealth), as part of digital health interventions, uses mobile, wireless technologies to deliver information [9]. Previous studies have found this approach to be promising for closing gaps in health systems by facilitating the successful delivery of various health services or interventions and improving the quality of care. For example, mHealth apps facilitated point-of-care diagnostics, tracked crucial events, and contributed to data collection and decision-making among health care providers [9]. Using mHealth was also found to be beneficial in supporting patients with cancer throughout their disease journey, improving their quality of life, and promoting overall patient well-being [10]. Nevertheless, previous studies have shown the inconsistent effectiveness of mHealth in promoting youth vaccination. For instance, a review paper examining the effectiveness of mHealth solutions in facilitating vaccination campaigns for unvaccinated children living in low-income and middle-income countries has suggested a promising impact on vaccine uptake [11]. However, an mHealth intervention using SMS reported no improvement in polio vaccination [12]. Factors such as health literacy and gender difference in the response to interventions could potentially influence their effectiveness [11,13].

#### **Research Gap**

Although numerous studies have been conducted to assess the potential of using mHealth in vaccination programs, to the best of our knowledge, there is no comprehensive review that has assessed the effectiveness of mHealth interventions targeting parents and children worldwide to address the HPV vaccination gap. The current limitations in our understanding of how mHealth could affect HPV vaccination intentions among unvaccinated, US children and their parents and its impact on actual vaccine uptake highlight an urgent need for studies in this area to better inform and refine the intervention strategies.

## Objective

This systematic review was conducted to describe, assess, and synthesize the effectiveness of mHealth interventions in promoting HPV-related knowledge, vaccination intentions, and behaviors (uptake) among unvaccinated children and their parents. In the context of this study, "effectiveness" was measured based on the intended outcomes of the intervention, which included promoting HPV-related knowledge and increasing the vaccination intention or actual vaccine uptake among parents or youth. The findings will inform directions for developing effective mHealth interventions to mitigate HPV-related cancers through vaccination.

## Methods

#### Study Design

The authors of this paper conducted a comprehensive literature search and gathered and appraised empirical evidence from databases including Google Scholar, PubMed, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Cochrane Library. Specifically, the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement guided this review process. The PRISMA flow diagram (Figure 1) illustrates the study selection process, reasons for study exclusion, and number of papers obtained and retained. Refer to Multimedia Appendix 1 for the PRISMA checklist.



Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram of the study selection process.



## **Inclusion Criteria**

Inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) peer-reviewed studies published in English from January 2011 to December 2022; (2) mHealth interventions aimed to improve youth's HPV vaccination rates; (3) targeted parents of unvaccinated youth or unvaccinated youth alone; and (4) measured HPV-related knowledge, HPV vaccination intention, or vaccine uptake. Conference abstracts, letters to the editor, and study protocols were excluded.

#### **Search Strategy**

Overall, 3 researchers independently conducted the review and identified potential eligible studies. The title, abstract, and full text of the studies were assessed for inclusion. The reference lists of the included studies were also screened. Medical Subject Heading terms and keywords of the potential eligible papers were both used for the search. Words used for the search were: ("Mobile health" or "mHealth" "eHealth" or "mobile application"), ("Human Papillomavirus" or "HPV"), ("Human Papillomavirus vaccination" "Human Papillomavirus intervention" or "HPV vaccination" or "HPV intervention), ("HPV vaccination intention" or "HPV vaccine uptake"), ("parents" or "caregivers" or "mother" or "father"), and ("children" or "adolescent" or "youth" or "teenager"). Searching strategies for searched databases are presented in Multimedia Appendix 2.

### **Evidence Assessment and Synthesis**

The level of evidence of the included studies was assessed using the modified Melnyk Levels of Evidence [14]. In addition, each study was assessed for its risk of bias and level of certainty in evidence using the Cochrane Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation methodology [15]. The risk of bias was categorized into 3 levels: high, low, or unclear. These were determined based on limitations in the body of evidence, which could subsequently downgrade the quality of evidence from high to very low. Disagreements among the 3 researchers were resolved with discussions until 100% consensus was achieved. Owing to heterogeneity across the studies and variations of evaluated outcomes, a meta-analysis was not performed for the included studies. Thus, we synthesized the evidence by analyzing and comparing the characteristics of these studies and the effectiveness of the mHealth interventions on youth's HPV vaccination intentions and vaccine uptake and discussed the factors associated with the intervention impacts. Specifically, a narrative approach was used, in which the results from individual studies were described and discussed. Details of the studies, intervention characteristics, and findings of each included study are presented in table format to facilitate a clear visual assessment. Studies were grouped according to factors including the study location, design, types of the intervention, outcomes measured, evidence level, and quality of evidence.

## **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics approval was not required for this systematic review as it involves the analysis of previously published data. No new primary data were collected or used for this study.

## Results

## **Included Studies**

The search initially obtained 341 papers, of which 97 (28.4%) were duplicates. After removing the duplicates, the remaining 71.6% (244/341) of the papers were further screened. The primary reason for exclusion at the screening stage was that the study did not focus on HPV vaccination (141/341, 41.3%) or mHealth interventions (59/341, 17.3%). Overall, 44 papers were included for the subsequent full-text review, and 27 (61%)

XSL•FO RenderX

papers were excluded with reasons after assessing the eligibility. Specific reasons for study exclusion included the following: mHealth interventions not targeting parents or children (12/27, 44%); interventions not using mobile devices (6/27, 22%); interventions only focused on the second or third dose of the HPV vaccine uptake (4/27, 15%); and conference abstracts, study protocols, or studies that did not measure vaccination outcomes (5/27, 19%). Overall, 39% (17/44) of the papers were included in the final review.

#### **Study Characteristics**

The characteristics of the 17 included studies are described in Table 1. Most studies (14/17, 82%) included in the review were conducted in the United States [16-29]. The remaining 18% (3/17) of the studies were conducted in the Netherlands, Australia, and Japan, respectively [30-32]. Regarding study settings, 59% (10/17) of the studies recruited the study participants from clinical settings including primary care practice, public health clinics, vaccine clinics, family medicine, pediatric and adolescent clinics, and outpatient clinics [16-19,21,24,25,27-29]. Of the 17 studies, 2 (12%) used both clinic and community recruitment [22,23]; 1 (6%) collaborated with secondary schools to implement the intervention [31]; and 4 (24%) relied on web-based outlets for participant enrollment, with 2 (12%) referring to the National Immunization Register and Surveys [26,30] and 2 (12%) using designated web pages [20,32].

Regarding the target population, of the 17 studies, 9 (53%) comprised diverse racial and ethnic participants [16,19-21,23,25,26,28,29]; 5 (29%) specifically focused on 1 racial and ethnic group, such as African Americans, Vietnamese Americans, Asian participants, or participants of Mexican heritage [17,18,22,24,32]; and 3 (18%) did not specify the racial and ethnic groups they included [27,30,31]. Furthermore, of the 17 studies, 13 (76%) targeted parents [16,18,19,22-32], with

15% (2/13) of them specially focused on mothers [26,30]. A study solely included youths aged 12 years [30], and 76% (13/17) of the other studies involved adolescents aged between 10 and 18 years [16-21,24-29,31]. For the 41% (7/17) of the studies that reported information about the parents' ages, the average age spanned from 38 to 48 years [18,22,23,26,28,29,32].

Among the 17 studies, initiation of at least 1 dose of HPV vaccine was measured as the primary outcome in 12 (71%) interventions [16-21,24,25,27,29-31], and 3 (18%) of the studies also assessed the completion of the vaccine series [17,21,27]. The intention of parents to vaccinate their children against the virus, which was found in 35% (6/17) of the studies, was the second most frequently measured outcome [22-24,26,28,32]. Apart from the 35% (6/17) of studies that examined HPV-related knowledge [18,21-23,28,29], 29% (5/17) of studies also evaluated other determinants of the vaccination, such as attitudes and beliefs toward the vaccine, normative beliefs, facilitators of and barriers to vaccination, perceived susceptibility, and severity of the infection [17,18,22,23,30]. Regarding the study design and quality of the design, of the 17 studies, 12 (71%) used randomized controlled trials [16,17,19,21-27,29-32], 4 (24%) were quasi-experiments [18,20,22,23], and 1 (6%) used a mixed methods approach [28].

Following the Melnyk Levels of Evidence approach, among the 17 studies, 13 (76%) were of level-2 evidence including the mixed methods study [16,17,19,21,24-32] and 4 (24%) quasi-experimental studies [18,20,22,23] were of level-3 evidence [14]. The quantitative elements contained in the mixed methods study were used to determine the level of evidence. Moreover, of the 17 studies, 13 (76%) were found to be of moderate risk of bias [16,18-23,25,26,28-30,32] and 4 (24%) were of high risk [17,24,27,31]. The downgrade in evidence quality was owing to inadequate descriptions of allocation concealment, blinding procedures, and psychometrics of outcome measures.



Table 1. Summary of studies included in the review.

Ou et al

Study, year	Location	Design	Intervention	Outcome measures	Evidence level	Quality of evidence
Rand et al, 2015 [16]	New York, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Centralized Managed Care Organiza- tion-generated text message reminders	The receipt of the first and subsequent doses of the HPV <sup>a</sup> vaccine	2	Moderate
DiClemente et al, 2015 [17]	Atlanta, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Computer-delivered presentation and moti- vational keychains with vaccine re- minders	Perceived susceptibility and severity of contracting HPV and initial HPV vaccine uptake and dosage compliance	2	High
Chen et al, 2017 [18]	Arizona, United States	Quasi-experi- mental design	Bilingual, tablet-tai- lored intervention	HPV-related knowledge, cultural norms, facilitators of and barriers to HPV vaccination, parental inten- tion to vaccinate their children, and the receipt of the first dose of vaccine	3	Moderate
Pot et al, 2017 [30]	Dutch	Randomized controlled trial	Website with web- based assistants	HPV vaccination uptake, mothers' degree of informed decision-mak- ing, decisional conflict, and critical determinants of vaccination uptake	2	Moderate
Hofstetter et al, 2017 [19]	New York, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Automated text re- minders with educa- tional messages	The receipt of the first dose of HPV vaccine and missed vaccina- tion opportunity by 4, 12, and 24 wk after the initial reminder	2	Moderate
Mohanty et al, 2018 [20]	Philadelphia, United States	Quasi-experi- mental design	Facebook vaccination campaign	The receipt of the first, second, and third doses of the HPV vac- cine through the Facebook page, 3 for ME	3	Moderate
Ortiz et al, 2018 [21]	Southeastern Cities, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Social media health intervention	Knowledge related to HPV and its vaccine, interpersonal discussions about HPV and its vaccine, and HPV vaccine immunization status	2	Moderate
Tull et al, 2018 [31]	Victoria, Australia	Randomized controlled trial	Motivational and self- regulatory SMS	The receipt of the HPV vaccine (any dose) and completion of the HPV vaccine schedule	2	High
Chen et al, 2019 [22]	Arizona, United States	Quasi-experi- mental design	Tablet-tailored inter- vention	HPV-related knowledge, perceived risk of having HPV, facilitators of and barriers to HPV vaccination, cultural norms, parental intention to vaccinate their children, and the receipt of the first dose of vaccine	3	Moderate
Chen et al, 2019 [23]	Arizona, United States	Quasi-experi- mental design	Digital storytelling	HPV-related knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs and mothers' intent to vaccinate their children against HPV	3	Moderate
Dempsey et al, 2019 [24]	Colorado, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Web-based, individu- ally customizable in- tervention	The HPV vaccination intention among parents, receipt of any needed dose of the HPV vaccine, and initiation and completion of the vaccine series	2	High
Dixon et al, 2019 [25]	Indiana, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Tablet-based educa- tional intervention	The changes in HPV vaccine sta- tus, including the first dose (initia- tion), second dose, and third dose (completion) of the vaccine series	2	Moderate
Panozzo et al, 2020 [26]	27 states in the Unit- ed States with the lowest HPV vaccine coverage	Randomized controlled trial	Web-based digital videos with tailored messages	Mothers' intent to vaccinate their children and the changes in the strength of the main HPV vaccine concern	2	Moderate

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47334

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e47334 | p.459 (page number not for citation purposes)

Study, year	Location	Design	Intervention	Outcome measures	Evidence level	Quality of evidence
Szilagyi et al, 2020 [27]	New York, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Auto dialer central- ized reminder and re- call	The initiation and completion of the HPV second or third dose of the vaccine series	2	High
Suzuki et al, 2021 [32]	Tokyo, Japan	Randomized controlled trial	Web-based education- al intervention	HPV awareness, attitudes toward the HPV vaccination, and willing- ness of adults to consider chil- dren's vaccination	2	Moderate
Becker et al, 2022 [28]	Texas, United States	Mixed methods study	Smartphone app	Awareness, attitudes, and knowl- edge regarding HPV and the vac- cine; intentions to vaccinate their child; and communication with the child's pediatrician about the vac- cine	2	Moderate
Shegog et al, 2022 [29]	Texas, United States	Randomized controlled trial	Smartphone app	Knowledge about HPV and the HPV vaccine and HPV vaccination initiation rates	2	Moderate

<sup>a</sup>HPV: human papillomavirus.

#### **Intervention Characteristics**

This review encompassed a range of mHealth interventions. Of the 17 studies, 5 (29%) examined the impact of tailored educational information regarding the HPV vaccine, with 60% (3/5) of them using web-based interventions to deliver the messages [24,30,32] and 40% (2/5) using tablet computers [18,23]. Messaging services were used in 24% (4/17) of the studies [16,19,27,31], 75% (3/4) of which featured SMS text messages with embedded educational and customized content [19,27,31]. Digital videos were used in 18% (3/17) of the studies, 67% (2/3) of which incorporated customized messages to address the vaccination concerns of parents or guardians [25,26], whereas the other study used personal stories from mothers of vaccinated adolescents sharing their experiences with HPV and the vaccine [22]. In 12% (2/17) of the studies, Facebook pages were used to reach the targeted adolescents for the intervention [20,21]. Of the 17 studies, 2 (12%) studies used smartphone apps to support parents in making decisions regarding HPV vaccination [28,29]. A study used the combination of a computer-delivered presentation on HPV vaccination, vaccine appointment cards, and keychains with motivational health messages [17].

In addition, the interventions in 18% (3/17) of the studies incorporated culturally tailored and gender-tailored messages addressing cultural beliefs pertinent to HPV vaccination [17,18,22]. Of the 17 studies, 4 (24%) indicated that the development of their interventions was informed by multiple sources. These included key informants; significant community and end user input; and insights from adolescents, parents, and health care providers. This comprehensive approach aimed to capture each individual's unique questions, experiences, attitudes, and beliefs [21-24].

The duration of the intervention was reported in 35% (6/17) of the studies, and it varied depending on the type of intervention, ranging from <50 seconds to 30 minutes [17,18,22,23,25,26]. The delivery frequency of message reminders also varied, with some interventions providing reminders once [31], and others

RenderX

providing up to 4 [16] or 5 weekly messages [19]. However, 18% (3/17) of the studies did not specify the duration of their interventions [24,30,32]. In 18% (3/17) of the studies, only the total duration of the study period was reported, with 2 Facebook-based vaccination campaigns lasting 1 year and 3 months, respectively [20,21], and a study exploring the use of phone reminders lasting 2 years [27]. Another 12% (2/17) of the studies used apps that were assessed by logging data over 5 months [28,29].

Among the 17 studies, 10 (59%) incorporated theories into their interventions. Theories of behavior change were used in 53% (9/17) of the studies to guide the development of the interventions [17,18,20-23,27-29,32], including the Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills model, PRECEDE-PROCEED Model, Health Belief Model, Theory of Planned Behavior, Social Cognitive Theory, and Theory of Reasoned Action. A study of digital storytelling used the Model of Culture-Centric Narratives in Health Promotion as the guiding theoretical framework [22].

#### **Measured Outcomes**

#### HPV-Associated Knowledge, Attitudes, and Beliefs

Of the 17 studies, 6 (35%) that used educational interventions found that the interventions positively influenced HPV-related knowledge, with knowledge scores showing improvement after the intervention [18,21-23,28,29]. The knowledge was assessed through various measures, specifically covering topics including the recognized risk factors for HPV infection, associated diseases, and methods for HPV detection [18]; information about how HPV is sexually transmitted, its symptoms, prevalence, potential to lead to cancer and genital warts in both sexes, and vaccination requirements for both boys and girls [21]; notion of selective vaccination of boys and girls [22]; and HPV risks in teenagers, its ties to different diseases and cancers, preventive approaches, recommended vaccine doses, and its safety [23]. A study assessed different health conditions that the HPV vaccine could prevent and people at risk for HPV infection [29], and another study solely measured the increase

in knowledge about HPV and its vaccine using a 4-point agreement scale [28]. In several papers (4/17, 24%) [22,28,29,32], favorable changes in belief and attitude toward HPV vaccination and its safety and effectiveness were also found among parents who had been enrolled in and completed the intervention.

## Facilitators of and Barriers to HPV Vaccination

Among the 17 studies analyzed, 2 (12%) [18,23] noted a significant rise in parents' perception of facilitators for HPV vaccination between the preintervention and postintervention phases, with P values of .008 and .007, respectively. Several factors facilitating vaccination behavior change were identified and assessed regarding the intervention effectiveness, such as suggestions or recommendations from health care providers or religious leaders, positive attitudes toward the vaccine, support from significant others, and beliefs about vaccine benefits.

In the 12% (2/17) of studies mentioned previously, perceived barriers to vaccination were also compared before and after the intervention. Nevertheless, there was no statistically significant association identified. Factors examined included concern about vaccine safety, lack of health insurance or provider recommendation, language barrier between patients and providers, and worries that the vaccination would encourage early sexual activity.

Moreover, in a study [17], perceived susceptibility or severity of HPV and perceived risk of HPV developing into cervical cancer served as motivating factors for HPV vaccination. The findings indicated that participants exposed to the media intervention had a high level of perceived susceptibility or severity of HPV and HPV - attributable cancers compared with those in the control group. The difference in perceived susceptibility between the 2 study conditions was statistically significant (P=.03).

## Cultural Norms or Beliefs

Of the 17 studies, 4 (24%) evaluated culturally congruent interventions [17,18,22,23], whereas only 2 (12%) of them specifically included cultural beliefs or cultural norms in the outcome measures [18,23]. Despite the computer-tailored intervention using information from sources such as focus groups with parents and health care providers and targeting HPV knowledge and awareness among the youth, the results found no significant difference in cultural norms among parents with unvaccinated adolescents before and after the intervention However, significantly decreased [23]. scores of vaccination-related cultural beliefs (P < .001) and more favorable attitudes toward the vaccine were identified among Mexican-heritage participants in the study [18].

#### Parental Intention and Vaccine Decision-Making

Of the 17 studies, 8 (47%) [18,22-24,26,28,30,32] evaluated changes in participants' intention or willingness to vaccinate after the intervention. Of the 8 studies, 3 (38%) [18,22,23] revealed that the parents' intention to vaccinate their youth was ranging from 95% to 100% during the postintervention period. Of the remaining studies, 63% (5/8) included at least one comparison group. All of these (5/5, 100%) demonstrated a

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47334
```

positive intervention impact, showing a significantly higher intention to vaccinate children compared with the control group, with P values ranging from .002 to <.001. A study [30] found that the tailored intervention, where messages were customized to mother participants' preferences and needs for HPV vaccine decision-making, was particularly useful for them when in doubt, as they experienced less decisional conflict relating to a lack of information after the intervention. However, a study [26] found that the average strength of the main concern about the HPV vaccine among mothers remained high even after receiving the intervention messages tailored to reduce the concerns.

## Vaccine Uptake and Completion

Of the 41% (7/17) studies discussing mHealth's impact on youth's HPV vaccine initiation and completion of HPV vaccine, all tracked this over time, offering data up to 7 months after intervention [16,20,21,24,25,27,31]. Overall, 29% (5/17) of the studies [16-18,25,31] reported notable increases in HPV vaccination rates and vaccine series completion rates. Of these 5 studies, 3 (60%) assessed youth participants' receipt of the initial HPV vaccine dose [16,18,25] and 2 (40%) evaluated youth participants' adherence to the second and third doses of the HPV vaccine series [17,31]. Study [19] noted that after 12 weeks of plain text reminders, there was a significant increase in vaccine uptake among those aged 11 to 12 years (P=.07), but this was not observed in the 13 to 17 age group.

In contrast, the findings of 29% (5/17) of the studies suggested no difference in youth vaccine uptake between the intervention and control groups. Of the 17 studies, 3 (18%) [21,27,30] found no significant difference in the vaccination uptake and completion rates across the intervention and control groups. A study [24] found that the HPV vaccine uptake among Latino adolescents and young adults did not differ significantly across the groups receiving tailored educational messages, nontailored interventions, and usual care despite their improved vaccination intention. The Facebook-based vaccination campaign successfully reached and engaged >12,000 adolescents, whereas only 73 of them received the first dose of the vaccine [20].

## Intervention Engagement

In 24% (4/17) of the studies that evaluated intervention fidelity and engagement, several methods were used. For a smartphone app, qualitative feedback was collected and revealed that participants preferred push notifications for HPV facts and suggested that the app could incorporate broad topics, be more interactive, and contain adolescent-friendly elements such as animations and games [28]. User interactions, such as clicks, likes, comments, and shares, on a vaccine campaign Facebook page were analyzed to determine whether youth participants preferred advertisements highlighting immediate risks (eg, HPV-related infections) as opposed to long-term consequences (eg, HPV-induced cancer). The findings suggested that youth participants might be more responsive to content that focuses on immediate risks; however, further analysis was not conducted to identify how this reception might influence vaccination intent and uptake [20]. Another study of educational messaging intervention proposed an approach to assess the time users engaged with web-based intervention pages to evaluate their

XSL•FO

involvement, with results still under analysis [24]. Moreover, a review was conducted to assess both recall and intervention fidelity, where participants were asked to identify which notifications and specific pieces of information from the Facebook-based intervention they remembered. However, there was no improvement in HPV knowledge or vaccination rates among those using the intervention [21].

## Discussion

## Summary

As of 2022, the HPV vaccination has been introduced in >120 countries worldwide; however, challenges for youth vaccination remain [33]. Digital technologies such as mHealth could be applied to address this global public health concern. This systematic review explored the effectiveness of 17 mHealth interventions in improving the HPV vaccination among unvaccinated youth. The included mHealth interventions used various technologies, including SMS text message reminders, smartphone apps, computer or web-based tailored interventions, social media campaigns, digital videos, and digital storytelling. The findings of the review suggested that mHealth intervention was a promising approach to improving the low HPV vaccination rates among youth. Specifically, these mHealth interventions could effectively enhance knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs related to HPV and its vaccine and motivating factors including perceived susceptibility or severity of HPV infections and its related cancer, which in turn, assisted in making vaccination decisions and promoting the vaccine uptake.

Tailored interventions, which considered the unique needs and concerns of specific groups or individuals, were developed using theoretical components and messaging that resonated with participants in a context-specific manner, such as through cues related to age, gender, race and ethnicity, or culture. These efforts made them more effective in addressing facilitators of and barriers to vaccination and eliciting positive responses for health behavior change compared with the information-only approach [34]. Consistent with previous studies, we found that tailored messages within successful mHealth interventions in this review addressed the knowledge gaps regarding HPV and its vaccine. The customized educational messages were designed with consideration of a variety of factors, including previous empirical evidence; theoretical concepts in the guided framework (eg, knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, perceived risk, barriers, and facilitators); age, gender, ethnicity, race, and cultural beliefs of the children regarding HPV vaccination; youth's current knowledge about the disease and vaccine based on assessment results; feedback from parents in the clinic network obtained through focus groups; inputs from youth advisory board meetings; and insights from other important sources such as health care providers and religious leaders [18,21-23,28,29].

Although it is noteworthy that tailored information is crucial for enhancing the uptake of HPV vaccination among unvaccinated youth and their parents, tailored education that addressed all the concerns of parents was found to be more effective in improving their intentions to vaccinate children than focusing solely on their primary concerns [26]. The results

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47334
```

aligned with those of previous studies indicating that parents who had vaccine hesitancy were more likely to refuse the HPV vaccine owing to a range of concerns related to the importance of the vaccine for both the child and community health, vaccine safety, potential side effects, and overall benefits [35]. Boosting parents' confidence in the HPV vaccine by addressing their concerns and discussing the benefits of the vaccination could lead to a reduction in their hesitancy toward the vaccine [36].

Cultural norm was also found to be associated with the HPV vaccine administration. Parental and youth reluctance to seek the HPV vaccine may be influenced by their traditional beliefs, such as cultural norms that advocate sexual abstinence until marriage [37]. A previous study conducted among ethnic minority parents revealed concerns about the vaccine, stemming from fears that it might encourage risky sexual behavior and promiscuity [38]. Although this study was specifically centered on the ethnic minority population, similar views could also be prevalent among other groups that upheld beliefs valuing a woman's purity and reputation, especially in sexual or relational contexts [39]. These attitudes, in turn, could influence the perceptions about and use of health care services and their self-reported health, health behaviors, and health outcomes [40,41]. Nevertheless, providing relevant and reliable information about the HPV vaccine to parents could help to drive positive change in their attitudes toward the vaccination [18,23,37]. Both religious beliefs and cultural views may influence vaccine decision-making [37]. Hence, engaging spiritual organizations and religious authorities in the design of interventions aimed at increasing HPV vaccination rates among unvaccinated youth could be essential.

Of the 17 studies, 3 (18%) [20,21,30] found that web-based interventions or interventions using social media had limited effects on increasing the actual uptake of the HPV vaccine, despite improved knowledge about the virus and vaccine and vaccination intention among the participants. Although social media platforms such as YouTube, Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter could be a feasible and effective tool with expansive reach and be useful for disseminating health information about the vaccine, providing practical information about how and where to receive the vaccine, and addressing public shared concerns or questions, these interventions may not be sufficient on their own to promote vaccination behavior change among adolescents [42]. The information that individuals receive through social media is not always complete or favorable. To gain a deep understanding of how unvaccinated youth and their parents perceive and trust the information, it is important to explore the factors that influence strategic messaging. This could provide valuable insights into what types of information could be useful and credible for this population.

Although the use of SMS text message interventions had been shown to have a small impact on vaccine uptake and completion among eligible adolescents, positive outcomes varied among states and regions even when using identical messages, regardless of the number of messages sent [27]. These message reminders may only serve as an additional stimulus for those who have already decided to vaccinate [19]. Factors such as timing and setting for the message sent and easy access to vaccination may also be critical to consider in reducing the

XSL•FO RenderX

vaccination gap. To improve youth attendance and stay on track to complete the vaccine schedule, integrating SMS reminders with vaccine appointment alerts could be beneficial. In addition, incorporating secondary school-based vaccination programs, where parents were provided with consent cards and informational booklets and were reminded of upcoming vaccination sessions through school newsletters or a web-based portal, could further increase vaccine completion rates for the second and third doses in the HPV vaccine series [31]. These findings were in accordance with previous studies showing that vaccination interventions were more effective when framed as reminders to receive the vaccine that had already been prescheduled for the message receivers. Moreover, SMS text messages integrated with behavior change theories and sent before health care visits had the potential to significantly boost vaccination rates (P < .05) [43]. The effectiveness of messaging interventions and the direction of the effect may vary based on context. Further studies are needed to determine how successful SMS text message interventions could be adapted across subpopulations and different settings.

The improved HPV vaccination intention among parents may not necessarily translate well into youth HPV vaccine use as suggested by Dempsey et al [24]. Involving youth in vaccination decision-making and addressing their needs in the process may help them take responsibility for their health. In addition, adolescents aged as young as 9 to 12 years may already have the capability to make informed medical decisions [44]. Nonetheless, the review revealed that there was a lack of mHealth interventions that targeted unvaccinated adolescents, with only 4 studies focused on this population. The understanding of successful interventions that could help improve youth vaccination rates could be limited owing to the lack of research in the area. Further studies that investigate adolescent vaccination decision-making and its changes before and after interventions could provide valuable insights into the factors that contribute to effective interventions. These insights could then be used to facilitate the translation of improved vaccination intentions into actual increases in vaccination rates among youth.

Other aspects such as participants' satisfaction and experience with the intervention (utility, usefulness, and quality of the mobile app) were critical to assess [28]. In 24% (4/17) of the studies, the acceptability of the interventions by parents and youth was evaluated. This assessment addressed various aspects of the interventions, including the appropriateness of content and wording, graphic design and color choices, intervention length, the likelihood of recommending the intervention, and discussions about the intervention [18,21,23,30]. These evaluations allowed for a comprehensive assessment of the intervention and provided areas for ongoing improvements to

the technology-mediated, tailored intervention for the HPV vaccination. The findings may also help to inform how to link intervention engagement to youth vaccination and uncover motivational factors that could influence significant vaccination behavior change and adherence.

This systematic review expands the current understanding regarding the use of mHealth interventions and their impact on unvaccinated youth and their parents. It adopted multiple search strategies and was not limited to randomized controlled trials; such inclusion could help gain a more comprehensive understanding of the strengths and limitations of the available evidence. Although this review could be a useful reference to guide the future development and evaluation of mHealth interventions targeting the improvement of HPV vaccination decisions and behaviors among youth, it is essential to note that the studies of moderate quality included in the review may have the potential to compromise the generalizability and transferability of the findings.

#### Limitations

The review also has some limitations, including the limited number of databases searched; exclusion of non-English language studies; and a narrow geographical focus, with most studies conducted in the United States, which could all lead to selection and reporting biases. The evidence presented in the review could not represent all the current mHealth interventions for HPV vaccination as only parents and adolescents were targeted. Moreover, a meta-analysis could not be conducted because of the heterogeneity of the studies and measured outcomes. Finally, the dynamics surrounding HPV vaccine decision-making might be different in various regions outside the United States. For instance, the accessibility or availability of the HPV vaccine might be a predominant factor affecting vaccine decisions in some other countries or regions [45,46]. Although this study sheds light on the situation within the United States, further studies are necessary to explore the nuanced interactions between mHealth tools and vaccine decision-making in diverse international settings.

## Conclusions

This review synthesized the available evidence for mHealth interventions designed to promote HPV vaccination among youth. mHealth has shown promising results in improving youth and their parents' HPV-related knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs toward the vaccine and addressing the barriers to vaccination, vaccination intention, and vaccine uptake. Future studies should examine the factors that could increase the quality of the study evidence and the complexity of the use of mHealth vaccination interventions, as its impact could differ depending on the platforms used, populations involved, settings of the app, and any additional efforts used to encourage the vaccination.

## **Authors' Contributions**

LO, ACCC, and AA conceived the study topic and designed the review protocol. LO and ACCC screened the studies. LO conducted the data extraction and risk of bias assessment, which were validated by ACCC. The systematic review was written by LO, with revisions from ACCC and AA.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## Multimedia Appendix 1

PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 105 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47334 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Searching strategies for searched databases. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 59 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47334 app2.pdf]

## References

- Lewis RM, Laprise JF, Gargano JW, Unger ER, Querec TD, Chesson HW, et al. Estimated prevalence and incidence of disease-associated human papillomavirus types among 15- to 59-year-olds in the United States. Sex Transm Dis 2021 Jan 26;48(4):273-277. [doi: <u>10.1097/olq.0000000001356</u>]
- 2. Human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination and cancer prevention. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/hpv/index.html</u> [accessed 2023-01-08]
- 3. Genital HPV infection basic fact sheet. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/std/hpv/</u> stdfact-hpv.htm [accessed 2023-01-11]
- 4. HPV vaccination recommendations. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/hpv/hcp/recommendations.</u> <u>html#:~:text=HPV%20vaccine%20is%20recommended%20for,not%20adequately%20vaccinated%20when%20younger</u> [accessed 2023-02-01]
- 5. Cancers caused by HPV. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hpv/parents/cancer.html</u> [accessed 2023-01-11]
- 6. Human papillomavirus vaccines (HPV). World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/teams/</u> immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/diseases/human-papillomavirus-vaccines-(HPV) [accessed 2023-01-18]
- Increase the proportion of adolescents who get recommended doses of the HPV vaccine IID-08. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. URL: <u>https://health.gov/healthypeople/ objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/vaccination/</u> increase-proportion-adolescents-who-get-recommended-doses-hpv-vaccine-iid-08 [accessed 2023-02-10]
- Pingali C, Yankey D, Elam-Evans LD, Markowitz LE, Williams CL, Fredua B, et al. National, regional, state, and selected local area vaccination coverage among adolescents aged 13-17 years - United States, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 Sep 03;70(35):1183-1190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7035a1] [Medline: 34473682]
- Labrique AB, Vasudevan L, Kochi E, Fabricant R, Mehl G. mHealth innovations as health system strengthening tools: 12 common applications and a visual framework. Glob Health Sci Pract 2013 Aug;1(2):160-171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-13-00031] [Medline: 25276529]
- Samadbeik M, Garavand A, Aslani N, Sajedimehr N, Fatehi F. Mobile health interventions for cancer patient education: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2023 Nov;179:105214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2023.105214] [Medline: 37729837]
- Oliver-Williams C, Brown E, Devereux S, Fairhead C, Holeman I. Using mobile phones to improve vaccination uptake in 21 low- and middle-income countries: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Oct 04;5(10):e148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7792] [Medline: 28978495]
- Kazi AM, Murtaza A, Khoja S, Zaidi AK, Ali SA. Monitoring polio supplementary immunization activities using an automated short text messaging system in Karachi, Pakistan. Bull World Health Organ 2013 Nov 27;92(3):220-225. [doi: 10.2471/blt.13.122564]
- 13. Women and mobile: a global opportunity: a study on the mobile phone gender gap in low and middle-income countries. The GSMA Development Fund, Cherie Blair Foundation for Women and Vital Wave Consulting. URL: <u>https://www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/GSMA\_Women\_and\_Mobile-A\_Global\_Opportunity.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-12-15]
- 14. Melnyk BM, Fineout-Overholt E. Evidence-Based Practice in Nursing & Healthcare: A Guide to Best Practice. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; Oct 1, 2018.
- 15. Schünemann H, Brożek J, Guyatt G, Oxman A. The GRADE handbook. Cochrane Training. URL: <u>https://training.</u> <u>cochrane.org/resource/grade-handbook</u> [accessed 2023-02-14]
- Rand CM, Brill H, Albertin C, Humiston SG, Schaffer S, Shone LP, et al. Effectiveness of centralized text message reminders on human papillomavirus immunization coverage for publicly insured adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2015 May;56(5 Suppl):S17-S20. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.10.273] [Medline: 25863549]

- DiClemente RJ, Murray CC, Graham T, Still J. Overcoming barriers to HPV vaccination: a randomized clinical trial of a culturally-tailored, media intervention among African American girls. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2015 Sep 17;11(12):2883-2894 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2015.1070996] [Medline: 26378650]
- Chen AC, Todd M, Amresh A, Menon U, Szalacha L. A pilot study of computerized, tailored intervention to promote HPV vaccination in Mexican-heritage adolescents. In: Proceedings of the 5th Annual Worldwide Nursing Conference (WNC 2017). 2017 Presented at: 5th Annual Worldwide Nursing Conference (WNC 2017); July 24-25, 2017; Singapore, Singapore URL: <a href="https://dl4.globalstf.org/wp-content/uploads/wpsc/downloadables/WNC\_Proceedings\_Paper\_37.pdf">https://dl4.globalstf.org/wp-content/uploads/wpsc/downloadables/WNC\_Proceedings\_Paper\_37.pdf</a> [doi: <a href="https://dl4.globalstf.org/wp-content/wpsc/downloadables/WNC\_Proceedings\_Paper\_37.pdf">https://dl4.globalstf.org/wp-content/wpsc/downloadables/WNC\_Proceedings\_Paper\_37.pdf</a> [doi: <a href="https://dl4.globalstf.org/wp-content/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadables/wpsc/downloadable
- Hofstetter AM, Barrett A, Camargo S, Rosenthal SL, Stockwell MS. Text message reminders for vaccination of adolescents with chronic medical conditions: a randomized clinical trial. Vaccine 2017 Aug 16;35(35 Pt B):4554-4560. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.07.022</u>] [Medline: <u>28736201</u>]
- 20. Mohanty S, Leader AE, Gibeau E, Johnson C. Using Facebook to reach adolescents for human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination. Vaccine 2018 Sep 25;36(40):5955-5961. [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.08.060] [Medline: 30172634]
- 21. Ortiz RR, Shafer A, Cates J, Coyne-Beasley T. Development and evaluation of a social media health intervention to improve adolescents' knowledge about and vaccination against the human papillomavirus. Glob Pediatr Health 2018 May 30;5. [doi: 10.1177/2333794x18777918]
- 22. Chen AC, Kim W, Larkey L. Developing and pilot testing a digital storytelling intervention to promote HPV vaccination among Vietnamese American adolescents. GSTF J Nurs Health Care 2020 May 15:1974 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5176/2345-7198\_4.1.137]
- 23. Chen AC, Todd M, Amresh A, Castro FG. Tailored intervention for parents to promote their adolescents' vaccination against HPV. GSTF J Nurs Health Care 2019 May;4(1).
- 24. Dempsey AF, Maertens J, Sevick C, Jimenez-Zambrano A, Juarez-Colunga E. A randomized, controlled, pragmatic trial of an iPad-based, tailored messaging intervention to increase human papillomavirus vaccination among Latinos. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2019 Feb 20;15(7-8):1577-1584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1559685] [Medline: 30689494]
- 25. Dixon BE, Zimet GD, Xiao S, Tu W, Lindsay B, Church A, et al. An educational intervention to improve HPV vaccination: a cluster randomized trial. Pediatrics 2019 Jan 10;143(1):e20181457. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-1457] [Medline: 30530637]
- 26. Panozzo CA, Head KJ, Kornides ML, Feemster KA, Zimet GD. Tailored messages addressing human papillomavirus vaccination concerns improves behavioral intent among mothers: a randomized controlled trial. J Adolesc Health 2020 Aug;67(2):253-261. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.01.024] [Medline: 32199723]
- Szilagyi P, Albertin C, Gurfinkel D, Beaty B, Zhou X, Vangala S, et al. Effect of state immunization information system centralized reminder and recall on HPV vaccination rates. Pediatrics 2020 May;145(5):e20192689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-2689] [Medline: 32253263]
- Becker ER, Shegog R, Savas LS, Frost EL, Coan SP, Healy CM, et al. Parents' experience with a mobile health intervention to influence human papillomavirus vaccination decision making: mixed methods study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 Feb 21;5(1):e30340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30340] [Medline: 35188469]
- Shegog R, Savas LS, Healy CM, Frost EL, Coan SP, Gabay EK, et al. AVPCancerFree: impact of a digital behavior change intervention on parental HPV vaccine -related perceptions and behaviors. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2022 Nov 30;18(5):2087430 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2022.2087430] [Medline: 35699953]
- 30. Pot M, Paulussen TG, Ruiter RA, Eekhout I, de Melker HE, Spoelstra ME, et al. Effectiveness of a web-based tailored intervention with virtual assistants promoting the acceptability of HPV vaccination among mothers of invited girls: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Sep 06;19(9):e312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7449] [Medline: 28877862]
- 31. Tull F, Borg K, Knott C, Beasley M, Halliday J, Faulkner N, et al. Short message service reminders to parents for increasing adolescent human papillomavirus vaccination rates in a secondary school vaccine program: a randomized control trial. J Adolesc Health 2019 Jul;65(1):116-123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.12.026] [Medline: 30879881]
- 32. Suzuki Y, Sukegawa A, Ueda Y, Sekine M, Enomoto T, Miyagi E. Effect of a brief web-based educational intervention on willingness to consider human papillomavirus vaccination for children in Japan: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2021 Sep 27;23(9):e28355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28355] [Medline: 34569941]
- 33. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper (2022 update). World Health Organization. 2022. URL: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/365351/WER9750-645-672-eng-fre.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-03-02]
- Harrington NG, Noar SM. Reporting standards for studies of tailored interventions. Health Educ Res 2012 Apr;27(2):331-342. [doi: <u>10.1093/her/cyr108</u>] [Medline: <u>22156230</u>]
- Szilagyi PG, Albertin CS, Gurfinkel D, Saville AW, Vangala S, Rice JD, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of HPV vaccine hesitancy among parents of adolescents across the US. Vaccine 2020 Aug 27;38(38):6027-6037 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.06.074] [Medline: 32758380]
- 36. Shah PD, Calo WA, Gilkey MB, Margolis MA, Dailey SA, Todd KG, et al. Easing human papillomavirus vaccine hesitancy: a communication experiment with U.S. parents. Am J Prev Med 2021 Jul;61(1):88-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2021.02.009] [Medline: <u>33975768</u>]

- Wong LP, Wong PF, Megat Hashim MM, Han L, Lin Y, Hu Z, et al. Multidimensional social and cultural norms influencing HPV vaccine hesitancy in Asia. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2020 Jul 02;16(7):1611-1622 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2020.1756670] [Medline: <u>32429731</u>]
- 38. Netfa F, Tashani M, Booy R, King C, Rashid H, Skinner SR. Knowledge, attitudes and perceptions of immigrant parents towards human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination: a systematic review. Trop Med Infect Dis 2020 Apr 09;5(2):58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/tropicalmed5020058] [Medline: 32283644]
- Foster S, Carvallo M, Lee J, Fisher R, Traxler H. An implication of impurity: the impact of feminine honor on human papillomavirus (HPV) screenings and the decision to authorize daughter's HPV vaccinations. Stigma Health 2021 May;6(2):216-227. [doi: 10.1037/sah0000230]
- 40. Inglehart R, Baker WE. Modernization, cultural change, and the persistence of traditional values. Am Sociol Rev 2000 Feb;65(1):19-51. [doi: 10.2307/2657288]
- 41. Tzogiou C, Boes S, Brunner B. What explains the inequalities in health care utilization between immigrants and non-migrants in Switzerland? BMC Public Health 2021 Mar 18;21(1):530 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10393-9] [Medline: 33736623]
- 42. Ortiz RR, Smith A, Coyne-Beasley T. A systematic literature review to examine the potential for social media to impact HPV vaccine uptake and awareness, knowledge, and attitudes about HPV and HPV vaccination. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2019 Apr 11;15(7-8):1465-1475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2019.1581543] [Medline: 30779682]
- 43. Milkman KL, Patel MS, Gandhi L, Graci HN, Gromet DM, Ho H, et al. A megastudy of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2021 May 18;118(20):e2101165118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.2101165118] [Medline: 33926993]
- 44. Grootens-Wiegers P, Hein IM, van den Broek JM, de Vries MC. Medical decision-making in children and adolescents: developmental and neuroscientific aspects. BMC Pediatr 2017 May 08;17(1):120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-017-0869-x] [Medline: 28482854]
- 45. Kunitoki K, Funato M, Mitsunami M, Kinoshita T, Reich MR. Access to HPV vaccination in Japan: increasing social trust to regain vaccine confidence. Vaccine 2021 Oct 01;39(41):6104-6110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.08.085] [Medline: 34507858]
- 46. Addisu D, Gebeyehu NA, Belachew YY. Knowledge, attitude, and uptake of human papillomavirus vaccine among adolescent schoolgirls in Ethiopia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Womens Health 2023 May 20;23(1):279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12905-023-02412-1] [Medline: 37210492]

## Abbreviations

HPV: human papillomavirus mHealth: mobile health PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 17.03.23; peer-reviewed by KL Mauco, A Teitelman; comments to author 30.08.23; revised version received 18.09.23; accepted 12.10.23; published 21.11.23.

Please cite as:

Ou L, Chen ACC, Amresh A The Effectiveness of mHealth Interventions Targeting Parents and Youth in Human Papillomavirus Vaccination: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47334 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47334</u> doi:10.2196/47334 PMID:37988155

©Lihong Ou, Angela Chia-Chen Chen, Ashish Amresh. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Digital Technology Characteristics and Literacy Among Families With Children With Asthma: Cross-Sectional Study

Kristin Kan<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MSc, MPH, MD; Lu Morales<sup>3</sup>, AM; Avani Shah<sup>4</sup>, MD; Emily Simmons<sup>4</sup>, MSN, APN, CPNP; Leonardo Barrera<sup>3</sup>, MPH; Liana Massey<sup>3</sup>, BA; Greta List<sup>5</sup>; Ruchi S Gupta<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH, MD

2 3

4

5

**Corresponding Author:** Kristin Kan, MSc, MPH, MD

# Abstract

**Background:** The use of digital technology in pediatric asthma management has emerged as a potential tool for improving asthma management. However, the use of digital tools has the potential to contribute to the inequitable delivery of asthma care because of existing social factors associated with asthma disparities. Our study focused on parents' chosen language and sociodemographic factors that might shape the use of digital technology in asthma self-management.

**Objective:** This study aims to estimate and compare patient, family, and technology-related characteristics by parents' chosen language (English or Spanish) and compare a digital literacy measure by sociodemographic factors.

**Methods:** Survey data were collected from July to December 2021 from parents of children with asthma who were seen by a Chicago pediatric health system pulmonary provider. Questions assessed patient and family characteristics, digital technology use, and digital literacy, measured using the validated eHealth Literacy Scale (eHEALS). Chi-square tests and multivariable logistic regression were used for comparisons, and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used for comparing median eHEALS scores by social characteristics.

**Results:** Of the 197 parents surveyed, 24.4% (n=49) of parents identified as a race categorized as other, 37.1% (n=67) as White, and 38.6% (n=75) as Black; 47.2% (n=93) identified as Hispanic/Latino/Latina. Additionally, 79.7% (n=157) of parents preferred English, and 20.3% (n=40) preferred Spanish. English-speaking parents were more likely to report having a data plan for their smartphone (117/157, 74.5%) or high-speed internet (138/157, 87.9%) compared to Spanish-speaking parents (smartphone: 23/40, 58%; P=.03; internet: 27/40, 68%; P=.002). Compared with Spanish-speaking parents, English-speaking parents were less likely to report having a lot or some concern about paying for internet (28/40, 70% vs 83/157, 52.9%; P=.046) or about data privacy (35/40, 88% vs 105/157, 67.5%; P=.01). Digital literacy scores differed significantly by race, income, education level, and language. In a multivariable model, language was not a significant factor for having high-speed internet service (P=.12) or concern about paying for internet at home (P=.60), but it was a significant factor for concerns about data privacy (P=.04).

**Conclusions:** The significant differences in technology-related characteristics suggest that digital connectivity, affordability, and data privacy may also be important factors in considering digital technology use in asthma care.

## (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48822) doi:10.2196/48822

## **KEYWORDS**

pediatric asthma; digital literacy; health equity; equity; asthma; respiration; respiratory; pulmonary; child; children; youth; survey; surveys; disparity; disparities; socio-demographic; sociodemographic; use; technology use; self-management; family

# Introduction

Digital technology is emerging as a tool to help manage pediatric chronic disease. Studies have shown that disease self-management is improved by the use of smartphone apps and remote monitoring devices, as evidenced by increased medication adherence, improved attendance at medical appointments, and improved measures of quality of life [1,2].

There are similarly promising findings for pediatric asthma management with digital technologies; however, the availability and use of digital technology in asthma care could be inequitable [3-5]. Asthma disparities due to sociodemographic factors, including low socioeconomic status, race, ethnicity, and household language, are well-described [6-9]. Implementing digital technology in the context of existing disparities could potentially widen disparities already experienced in asthma

care. For example, previous studies of general digital technology use have found that Black patients reported using mobile technology for social activities, but fewer used it for health-related information or communication [10]. Furthermore, a study of a large urban area found disparities in digital connectivity for Hispanic populations [11]. Thus while digital health care may have advantages for tailoring health information and education, an intentional design to meet the linguistic, cultural, and literacy needs of specific populations is necessary [12]. Implementation without attention to these known social determinants of health, associated with disparate asthma care, could lead to unintentional perpetuation, or even worsening, of disparities.

In partnership with pediatric pulmonary providers that serve a primarily low-income and racial-ethnically diverse population, our study team examined key characteristics that might influence families' digital technology use for asthma care. In particular, highlighted the differences in technology-related we characteristics between English-speaking and Spanish-speaking families with children with asthma. Language-concordant care is an essential component of high-quality health care in the United States [13,14]. Studies have typically focused on the use of medical interpreters in care delivery, and only a few studies have compared the use of digital health technology among patients with a non-English preference [15]. They found that Spanish speakers tend to have lower digital literacy than English speakers and that there are cultural differences in what they want from health tools [16,17].

Health systems and clinicians need to understand how to support the equitable delivery of digital health for families with children with asthma as digital engagement expands in health care delivery [18]. To inform those efforts, we surveyed parents/caregivers about their digital technology access, use, and preferences at home and in their community. Our study focuses on parent language and other sociodemographic factors that might shape the use of digital technology in asthma self-management.

## Methods

## **Study Procedures and Participants**

For this cross-sectional study, data collection occurred from July 2021 to December 2021. A convenience sample of parents/caregivers (henceforth, parents) of patients with an asthma diagnosis, managed by pediatric pulmonology providers at a single pediatric hospital system, were recruited by email and in person at a clinic. If the child (ie, patient) was seen by a pediatric pulmonology provider during the study period, then their parent was invited to fill out the survey by email. For patients approached at the pediatric asthma clinic, a research staff member asked parents while they were waiting to be seen by their pulmonary provider if they were interested in completing the survey. If they agreed, then the unique survey link was opened on a tablet for completion. The pediatric asthma clinic was located in Chicago, Illinois, whereas other pulmonary clinics, which manage all pulmonary conditions, were located in Chicago and the surrounding suburbs. The characteristics of participants who completed the web-based survey versus the in-person survey are included in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1. We recruited by email and in person to ensure that our sample was not biased toward only those who felt comfortable participating by email. In our previous research, patients expressed that meeting research staff in person was an important component of study participation. While the overall response rate was 47.2% (197/417 participants approached), the response rate was higher in a clinic (81/100, 81% of participants approached) than by email (116/317, 36.6% of participants emailed). During the study period, approximately 1000 unique pediatric patients with asthma were managed by pulmonary providers in our health system, so our sample size represented 20% of that patient population.

To be eligible, the parents had to complete the survey in English or Spanish and have a child with an asthma diagnosis who was younger than 18 years. Parents were excluded if their child had a comorbidity, making the management of asthma different from typical asthma management per the pulmonology provider's clinical judgment (eg, ventilator dependent or interstitial lung disease).

Asthma diagnosis was retrieved from the pulmonology visit's associated *International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10)* code in the patient's chart from the electronic health record. Participants were compensated with a US \$10 electronic gift card. Language preference for survey participation was indicated by selecting English or Spanish when asked "What is your preferred language of communication?" [15].

## **Ethical Considerations**

The Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago Institutional Review Board deemed the study exempt from review (2021-4330).

#### Instrument

The survey was developed with pediatric primary care and pulmonology expertise. Questions evaluated patient and family characteristics [19,20] (parent and child gender, race, and Hispanic/Latino/Latina ethnicity; household income; child grade; and perceived burden from asthma) and digital technology access and use (devices [21], activities on devices, type of internet access [21], concern paying for internet, concern about data privacy, and interest in technology for asthma management; the survey is available in Multimedia Appendix 2 [19-21]). Questions were pretested with research staff, not affiliated with the study, and parents to ensure clarity and reliability regarding the function of the questions before dissemination.

Additionally, digital literacy was measured in the survey using the validated eHealth Literacy Scale (eHEALS), which was developed from social cognitive theory and self-efficacy theory, and is the most commonly used assessment of an individual's ability to use digital resources for health [22-26]. The eHEALS is composed of 8 items measured using a 5-point Likert scale, varying from "strongly agree" (5 points), "agree" (4 points), "neutral" (3 points), "disagree" (2 points), and "strongly disagree" (1 point). The total eHEALS score for a participant completing all items ranged from 8 to 40 by a summation of every item's score, and a higher score meant better digital literacy. The English- and Spanish-validated versions of eHEALS were used.

XSL•FO RenderX
## **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics of key sociodemographic factors and survey responses included frequencies and proportions. Based on distribution for self-identified race, there was further categorization into 3 major groups: Black or African American, White, or other (Asian, American Indian/Alaskan Native, Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, or preferred to self-describe). The child's race was categorized similarly. The estimated household income variable was dichotomized (ie, <US \$50,000 or ≥US \$50,000) at approximately 200% of the federal poverty level of an annual 2022 income for a household of 4 persons (US \$55,500) in the United States [27]. Parent education was dichotomized into two categories: high school education or less and any college education or more, including graduate-level education. Child grade was dichotomized from early child education (kindergarten) to the end of middle school (eighth grade) and high school (ninth to 12th grade). Asthma diagnosis was determined by the ICD-10 code associated with the pulmonary clinic visit and categorized into mild, moderate, or severe based on the visit's coding.

Chi-square tests were used for bivariate comparisons for categorical variables unless there was a small response size, then Fischer exact tests were used. A multivariable logistic regression with parent language (ie, English as the referent group vs Spanish) and dichotomized household income, as defined above, was used to look at three dichotomized dependent variables: has high-speed internet (0 was no and 1 was yes), concern about paying for internet at home during the COVID-19 pandemic (0 for "Not too much/at all/do not have to pay" and 1 for "A lot/Some"), and concern about data privacy (0 for "Not too much/at all/do not have to pay" and 1 for "A lot/Some"). Kruskal-Wallis tests were used for comparing median eHEALS scores by categorical variables. Nonparametric statistical tests were used for the analysis given the small sample size. Results are reported as significant for 2-sided *P* values <.05. Analyses were performed using SPSS, Version 28 (IBM Corp).

## Results

## **Characteristics of Parent and Child**

Of the 197 parent-child dyads surveyed, 89.1% (n=172) were female parents, and 10.4% (n=20) were male parents (Table 1). The median age was 37 (IQR 32-43) years. Surveyed parents identified their race as other (n=49, 24.4%), White (n=67, 37.1%), or Black or African American (n=75, 38.6%), and 47.2% (n=93)identified their ethnicity as Hispanic/Latino/Latina. By language, there were statistical differences in parent education level and income. While 68.8% (108/157) of English-speaking parents reported having at least some college education, only 18% (7/40) of Spanish-speaking parents reported similar education levels (P<.001). Further, 33.1% (48/157) of parents who preferred English and 9% (3/40) of parents who preferred Spanish reported estimated household incomes greater than US \$50,000 (P=.004).



 Table . Characteristics of parent and child by language (N=197).

		Overall sample (N=197)	English (n=157)	Spanish (n=40)	<i>P</i> value
Parent age (years; n=1	81), median (IQR)	37 (32-43)	35 (31-42)	41 (37-45)	.04
Parent gender <sup>a</sup> (n=1	193), n (%)				.26
	Male	20 (10.4)	14 (9.2)	6 (15.4)	
	Female	172 (89.1)	139 (90.8)	33 (84.6)	
Parent race (n=191),	n (%)				<.001
	Black or African American	75 (38.6)	75 (49.0)	0 (0.0)	
	White	67 (37.1)	52 (34.0)	15 (39.5)	
	Other (Asian, Ameri- can Indian/Alaskan Native, Hawaiian/Pacif- ic Islander)	49 (24.4)	26 (17.0)	23 (60.5)	
Parent ethnicity, Hispa n (%)	nic/Latino/Latina (yes),	93 (47.2)	54 (35.3)	39 (97.5)	<.001
Parent education, n (	%)				<.001
	High school or less	82 (41.6)	49 (31.2)	33 (82.5)	
	Any college or more	115 (58.4)	108 (68.8)	7 (17.5)	
Estimated annual hou	usehold income (US \$; n:	=180), n (%)			.004
	<50,000	129 (65.5)	97 (66.9)	32 (91.4)	
	≥50,000	51 (25.9)	48 (33.1)	3 (8.5)	
Child gender, n (%)					.12
	Male	124 (62.9)	103 (65.6)	21 (52.5)	
	Female	73 (37.1)	54 (34.4)	19 (47.5)	
Child race (n=191), n (%)					<.001
	Black or African American	79 (40.1)	79 (52.0)	0 (0.0)	
	White	75 (38.1)	51 (33.6)	24 (61.5)	
	Other (Asian, Ameri- can Indian/Alaskan Native, Hawaiian/Pacif- ic Islander)	37 (18.8)	22 (14.5)	15 (38.5)	
Child ethnicity, Hispan (%)	ic/Latino/Latina (yes), n	92 (46.7)	54 (34.8)	38 (97.4)	<.001
Child grade (2021-20)	22; n=196), n (%)				.78
	Kindergarten to 8th grade	174 (88.8)	138 (88.5)	36 (90.0)	
	9th to 12th grade	22 (11.2)	18 (11.5)	4 (10.0)	
Difficulties caused by	asthma, n (%)				.02
	Minor	63 (32.0)	43 (27.4)	20 (50.0)	
	Moderate	73 (37.1)	60 (38.2)	13 (32.5)	
	Severe	61 (31.0)	54 (34.4)	7 (17.5)	
Asthma diagnosis (n=	<b>:196), n (%)</b>				.77
	Mild	27 (13.8)	22 (14.1)	5 (12.5)	
	Moderate	51 (26.0)	42 (26.9)	9 (22.5)	
	Severe	118 (60.2)	92 (59.0)	26 (65.0)	

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48822

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e48822 | p.470 (page number not for citation purposes)

<sup>a</sup>One participant selected "other/preferred not to answer."

Among the 197 children, 88.8% (n=174) of them were between kindergarten and eighth grade, and 11.2% (n=22) were between ninth and 12th grade (Table 1). When evaluating the self-reported burden experienced by the family from their child's asthma, 32% (n=63) reported minor, 37.1% (n=73) reported moderate, and 31% (n=61) reported severe difficulties. The asthma severity diagnosis distribution, however, was 13.8% (n=21) mild, 25.9% (n=51) moderate, and 60.2% (n=118) severe. While there were statistical differences in the perceived difficulties caused by asthma by language participation (42/157, 27.4% of English-speaking parents and 50% (20/40) of Spanish-speaking parents reported minor difficulties; P=.02), there were no differences in asthma severity diagnosis by language (P=.77).

## **Technology-Related Characteristics**

Most of the 197 parents reported having a smartphone (n=181, 91.9%), with 68.5% (n=135) reporting having a desktop or laptop and 63.5% (n=125) reporting having a tablet computer at home (Table 2). Parents mostly reported that the devices were used for entertainment by their child (n=170, 86.3%); 71.1% (n=140) of parents reported having a cell phone data plan, and 83.8% (n=165) reported having high-speed internet service. More English-speaking parents, compared to Spanish-speaking parents, reported having a cell phone data plan (117/157, 74.5% vs 23/40, 58%; P=.03) or having high-speed internet service (138/157, 87.9% vs 27/40, 68%; P=.002).



Table .	Technology-related	characteristics by	language (N=197).
---------	--------------------	--------------------	-------------------

		Overall sample (N=197), n (%)	English (n=157), n (%)	Spanish (n=40), n (%)	P value
Devices at home (yes) <sup>a</sup>					
	Desktop or laptop	135 (68.5)	110 (70.1)	25 (62.5)	.85
	Smartphone	181 (91.9)	146 (93.0)	35 (87.5)	.26
	Tablet or other portable wireless computer	125 (63.5)	104 (66.2)	21 (52.5)	.11
Child activities on devi	ces (yes) <sup>a</sup>				
	Remote learning	122 (61.9)	97 (61.8)	25 (62.5)	.93
	Entertainment (eg, YouTube, games)	170 (86.3)	136 (86.6)	34 (85.0)	.79
	Communication with family and friends	121 (61.4)	98 (62.4)	23 (57.5)	.57
Types of internet acces	s at home (yes) <sup>a</sup>				
	Cell phone data plan for a smartphone or other mobile device	140 (71.1)	117 (74.5)	23 (57.5)	.03
	High-speed internet service (eg, cable, fiber optic, DSL <sup>b</sup> service)	165 (83.8)	138 (87.9)	27 (67.5)	.002
	Satellite internet ser- vice <sup>c</sup>	16 (8.1)	9 (5.7)	7 (17.5)	.02
	Some other service <sup>c</sup>	5 (2.5)	2 (1.3)	3 (7.5)	.06
Concern about paying	for internet at home du	ring the COVID-19 pan	demic		.046
	A lot/some	111 (56.3)	83 (52.9)	28 (70.0)	
	Not too much/not at all	77 (39.1)	68 (43.3)	9 (22.5)	
	Do not have to pay for internet	9 (4.6)	6 (3.8)	3 (7.5)	
Concern about data privacy					.01
	A lot/some	141 (71.6)	106 (67.5)	35 (87.5)	
	Not too much/not at all	56 (28.4)	51 (32.5)	5 (12.5)	
Interest in technology	for managing your child	l's asthma (n=196)			.29
	A lot/some	154 (78.6)	125 (80.1)	29 (72.5)	
	Not too much/not at all	42 (21.4)	31 (19.9)	11 (27.5)	

<sup>a</sup>These questions asked participants to select all that apply.

<sup>b</sup>DSL: digital subscriber line.

<sup>c</sup>Fisher exact test was used for comparing English- and Spanish-speaking participants due to the small sample responses.

English-speaking parents (68/157, 43.3%) were less likely to have concerns about paying for internet and cell phone service during the pandemic than Spanish-speaking parents (9/40, 23%; P=.02). English-speaking parents (106/157, 67.5%) were also less likely to have concerns about data privacy than Spanish-speaking parents (35/40, 88%; P=.01). There were no statistically significant differences by language in interest in technology use in asthma care (P=.29). In multivariable regression, the associations between having high-speed internet service (adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 0.5, 95% CI 0.2-1.2; P=.12) and concern about paying for internet at home (aOR 1.2, 95% CI 0.5-2.8; P=.60) with parent language were not significant after adjusting for household income (Table 3). Concerns about data privacy by language remained statistically significant after adjusting for household income (aOR 3.2, 95% CI 1.0-9.7; P=.04).

Table . Associations between technology-related perceptions and language (adjusted for income status).

	Spanish, adjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Has high-speed internet service (eg, cable, fiber optic, or DSL <sup>a</sup> service)	0.5 (0.2-1.2)	.12
Concern about paying for internet at home during COVID-19 pandemic <sup>b</sup>	1.2 (0.5-2.8)	.60
Concern about data privacy	3.2 (1.0-9.7)	.04

<sup>a</sup>DSL: digital subscriber line.

<sup>b</sup>The answers were coded as 0 for "not too much/at all/do not have to pay" and 1 for "a lot/some." The referent group for language was English.

## **Digital Literacy**

In an assessment of digital literacy, many of the parents knew how to find helpful health resources on the internet (86/194, 44.3%) and used the internet to answer their health questions (83/196, 42.4%), but only 26.8% (52/194) felt that they could identify high-quality resources from low-quality ones on the internet, and 20.4% (40/196) of respondents felt confident using the information to make health decisions (Figure 1). When examining median eHealth scores, they were significantly different by parent race (P<.001), income (categorized as those above and below an estimated annual household income of US \$50,000; P<.001), education level (P<.001), and parent language (P<.001; Table 4).



Figure 1. Participant responses to digital health literacy items (N=197).



Table . Association between digital literacy and race, ethnicity, income, education level, and language.

		eHealth score, median (IQR)	<i>P</i> value
Overall sample		32 (26-37)	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Parent race			<.001
	Black	32 (27-38)	
	White	33 (29-39)	
	Other (Asian, American Indi- an/Alaskan Native, Hawaiian/Pacif- ic Islander)	30 (24-33)	
Parent ethnicity Hispanic/Latino/I	Latina		.09
	Yes	31 (25-35)	
	No	32 (27-38)	
Income (US \$)			<.001
	<50,000	31 (25-37)	
	≥50,000	33 (30-40)	
Parent education			<.001
	High school or less	28 (24-32)	
	Any college or more	33 (30-39)	
Parent language			<.001
	English	32 (28-38)	
	Spanish	26 (18-31)	

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

This exploratory descriptive study uniquely examined and highlighted the significant differences in technology-related characteristics between English- and Spanish-speaking parents among households with children with asthma. Spanish-speaking parents were less likely to report having high-speed internet and had higher concerns about paying for the internet during the pandemic, although these findings were not significant when adjusted for income status. In the adjusted models, Spanish-speaking parents remained more likely to report concern about data privacy when using technology for their child's health. These findings are crucial in aiding the design and implementation of digital health care for pediatric patients and for prioritizing resources and the concern of parents to ensure the equitable use of these tools by families.

Although some technology differences might be related to economic status, they might be also associated with other important factors that shape families' interests and capacity to use digital tools in asthma management [28-30]. The differences in digital connectivity in the household, internet affordability, perceptions of data privacy, and digital literacy have a potential influence on how families might engage with asthma digital technology. The findings emphasized the need for understanding which characteristics might be potential facilitators or barriers to using digital tools in pediatric asthma clinical care. Knowing the household resources for digital connectivity was critical for understanding families' access to digital health tools. Asthma predominantly affects those in low socioeconomic statuses, and digital health equity has become an increasing issue for those in historically marginalized communities as technology use has expanded [12,18]. Our results were similar to national trends that found nearly 90% of households possessed a smartphone, and there were no significant differences between households for smartphone and tablet ownership [31]. However, racial and ethnic disparities in the types of internet access, reported by the Pew Research Center, were also evident in the parent's chosen language in our results. The national survey in 2021 found that Hispanic adults were less likely to have a home broadband connection and more likely to report smartphone-only internet [31]. Since most Spanish-speaking parents also identified as Hispanic or Latino/Latina in our study, we found similar patterns of fewer Spanish-speaking parents owning a smartphone data plan or high-speed internet service at home than English-speaking parents. The differences in digital connectivity by parent language could be related to affordability and income; although for parents with school-aged children in public schools, there was a program for no-cost internet [32]. Another barrier might also be the lack of high-speed broadband services in neighborhoods where these families live [33,34].

An additional factor shaping differing technology characteristics might be digital literacy. The "digital literacy" term has been interchangeably used with eHealth literacy but was broadly defined as "an individual's ability to access, understand, and engage with digital healthcare materials or technology to

contribute to quality of life." [23,24] The eHEALS is the most widely used eHealth literacy measurement available in different languages and for different age groups [22,35].

Our findings showed significant associations with socioeconomic status and other social determinants of health, like race, income level, education level, and preferred parent language. Since eHealth, or digital literacy, has theoretical foundations in health literacy and self-efficacy, these findings were not surprising. The eHEALS scores mostly varied in the 30s within a potential range of 8 to 40. The differences in median eHEALS scores were largest by parent education level and preferred language in our study, but the aggregate eHEALS scores were similar to previous studies of older adults with chronic disease who had familiarity with health care or with using web-based resources [25,36,37]. While the variation of eHEALS scores was minimal in our study, other literature has emphasized the eHEALS' use longitudinally to evaluate whether exposure to digital health interventions improves participants' scores. Using eHEALS or other assessments of digital literacy might be a helpful way to prioritize resources for supporting patients' use of technology in clinical care [38].

The findings' implications for our clinical population are important. While having high-speed internet and concerns about paying for internet were no longer significant in the adjusted model controlling for household income, concerns about data privacy remained significant by language. Aside from access barriers to digital engagement, patients might have differing views on why they find using digital tools valuable in health care and their comfort with what, how, and why health information is shared. For example, in an SMS text message–based mental health intervention, researchers found that English speakers reported increased introspection with the intervention, but Spanish speakers highlighted feelings of social support [17]. While we did not evaluate motivations for engaging in digital health tools in this study, ensuring that our digital interventions align with why patients might engage with them is necessary for sustaining digital health approaches [39].

## Limitations

There are limitations to this study. This was a single health system study of patients recruited from pediatric pulmonary clinics and may not be generalizable to patients with asthma at other institutions or patients not managed by a specialist. Although eHEALS is the most used validated measure for digital literacy, the questions focus on a person's familiarity with internet use and navigation, which may not be indicative of other skills around digital literacy that have evolved with the use of smartphones and mobile apps. Given the limited sample size, we also could not use a multivariable model to evaluate for confounding between parent language, income level, and parent education level in our study population.

## Conclusions

Our study found that the integration of digital tools into health care will potentially require adaptations to improve access to digital devices, resources for high-quality digital connectivity, and assistance for navigating digital tools for this patient population. Examining and comparing these factors to support the equitable use of digital tools in asthma care is necessary to ensure that our socioeconomically and language-diverse populations with asthma receive high-quality asthma care and support for self-management.

## Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the patients, clinic staff, and health providers who supported this study. This study was supported by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (3K12HS026385-03S1). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Characteristics of parent/caregiver and child by survey participation type (N=197). [DOCX File, 18 KB - pediatrics v6i1e48822 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Survey instrument. [DOCX File, 23 KB - pediatrics v6i1e48822 app2.docx ]

## References

- Downer SR, Meara JG, Da Costa AC, Sethuraman K. SMS text messaging improves outpatient attendance. Aust Health Rev 2006 Aug;30(3):389-396. [doi: <u>10.1071/ah060389</u>] [Medline: <u>16879098</u>]
- Buneviciene I, Mekary RA, Smith TR, Onnela JP, Bunevicius A. Can mHealth interventions improve quality of life of cancer patients? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2021 Jan;157:103123. [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.103123] [Medline: <u>33190065</u>]

- 3. Gupta RS, Fierstein JL, Boon KL, et al. Sensor-based electronic monitoring for asthma: a randomized controlled trial. Pediatrics 2021 Jan;147(1):e20201330. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2020-1330] [Medline: 33386336]
- 4. Ramsey RR, Plevinsky JM, Kollin SR, Gibler RC, Guilbert TW, Hommel KA. Systematic review of digital interventions for pediatric asthma management. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2020 Apr;8(4):1284-1293. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.12.013] [Medline: 31870809]
- 5. Wu YP, Hommel KA. Using technology to assess and promote adherence to medical regimens in pediatric chronic illness. J Pediatr 2014 Apr;164(4):922-927. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.11.013] [Medline: 24359939]
- Sullivan K, Thakur N. Structural and social determinants of health in asthma in developed economies: a scoping review of literature published between 2014 and 2019. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2020 Feb 6;20(2):5. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11882-020-0899-6</u>] [Medline: <u>32030507</u>]
- Johnson CC, Havstad SL, Ownby DR, et al. Pediatric asthma incidence rates in the United States from 1980 to 2017. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2021 Nov;148(5):1270-1280 S0091-6749(21)00723-5. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaci.2021.04.027</u>] [Medline: <u>33964299</u>]
- Zanobetti A, Ryan PH, Coull B, et al. Childhood asthma incidence, early and persistent wheeze, and neighborhood socioeconomic factors in the ECHO/CREW consortium. JAMA Pediatr 2022 Aug 1;176(8):759-767. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.1446] [Medline: 35604671]
- 9. Halterman JS, Aligne CA, Auinger P, McBride JT, Szilagyi PG. Inadequate therapy for asthma among children in the United States. Pediatrics 2000 Jan;105(1 Pt 3):272-276. [Medline: <u>10617735</u>]
- 10. Mitchell SJ, Godoy L, Shabazz K, Horn IB. Internet and mobile technology use among urban African American parents: survey study of a clinical population. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jan 13;16(1):e9. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.2673</u>] [Medline: <u>24418967</u>]
- Kan K, Heard-Garris N, Bendelow A, et al. Examining access to digital technology by race and ethnicity and child health status among Chicago families. JAMA Netw Open 2022 Aug 1;5(8):e2228992. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.28992</u>] [Medline: <u>36018593</u>]
- 12. Anderson-Lewis C, Darville G, Mercado RE, Howell S, Di Maggio S. mHealth technology use and implications in historically underserved and minority populations in the United States: systematic literature review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jun 18;6(6):e128. [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8383] [Medline: 29914860]
- 13. Alvidrez J, Castille D, Laude-Sharp M, Rosario A, Tabor D. The National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities research framework. Am J Public Health 2019 Jan;109(S1):S16-S20. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304883] [Medline: 30699025]
- 14. Race, ethnicity, and language data: standardization for health care quality improvement. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2010 Mar. URL: <a href="https://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/final-reports/iomracereport/index.html">www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/final-reports/iomracereport/index.html</a> [accessed 2023-11-10]
- Yeboah D, McDaniel C, Lion KC. Language matters: why we should reconsider the term "limited English proficiency". Hosp Pediatr 2023 Jan 1;13(1):e11-e13. [doi: <u>10.1542/hpeds.2022-007014</u>] [Medline: <u>36464981</u>]
- 16. Figueroa CA, Luo TC, Jacobo A, et al. Conversational physical activity coaches for Spanish and English speaking women: a user design study. Front Digit Health 2021 Oct 8;3:747153. [doi: <u>10.3389/fdgth.2021.747153</u>] [Medline: <u>34713207</u>]
- 17. Aguilera A, Berridge C. Qualitative feedback from a text messaging intervention for depression: benefits, drawbacks, and cultural differences. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Nov 5;2(4):e46. [doi: <u>10.2196/mhealth.3660</u>] [Medline: <u>25373390</u>]
- 18. Demartini TL, Beck AF, Klein MD, Kahn RS. Access to digital technology among families coming to urban pediatric primary care clinics. Pediatrics 2013 Jul;132(1):e142-e148. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2013-0594</u>] [Medline: <u>23753100</u>]
- 19. Guide to topics & questions asked: 2019 National Survey of Children's Health. Data Resource Center for Child & Adolescent Health. 2019. URL: <u>www.childhealthdata.org/learn-about-the-nsch/topics\_questions/2019-nsch-guide-to-topics-and-questions</u> [accessed 2021-06-19]
- 20. 2003 National Survey of Children's Health. Data Resource Center for Child & Adolescent Health. URL: <u>nschdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=573</u> [accessed 2020-06-19]
- 21. Lewis J. 2016 American Community Survey content test: computer and internet use. United States Census Bureau. 2017 Sep 7. URL: <u>www.census.gov/library/working-papers/2017/acs/2017</u> Lewis 01.html [accessed 2023-11-10]
- 22. Del Giudice P, Bravo G, Poletto M, et al. Correlation between eHealth literacy and health literacy using the eHealth literacy scale and real-life experiences in the health sector as a proxy measure of functional health literacy: cross-sectional web-based survey. J Med Internet Res 2018 Oct 31;20(10):e281. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9401] [Medline: 30381283]
- 23. Stellefson M, Paige SR, Tennant B, et al. Reliability and validity of the telephone-based eHealth literacy scale among older adults: cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 26;19(10):e362. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8481] [Medline: 29074471]
- 24. Faux-Nightingale A, Philp F, Chadwick D, Singh B, Pandyan A. Tools to evaluate digital health literacy and engagement with eHealth resources: a scoping review. Heliyon 2022 Aug 23;8(8):e10380. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e10380</u>] [Medline: <u>36090207</u>]
- 25. Paige SR, Krieger JL, Stellefson M, Alber JM. eHealth literacy in chronic disease patients: an item response theory analysis of the eHealth literacy scale (eHEALS). Patient Educ Couns 2017 Feb;100(2):320-326. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2016.09.008</u>] [Medline: <u>27658660</u>]
- 26. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHEALS: the eHealth literacy scale. J Med Internet Res 2006 Nov 14;8(4):e27. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.4.e27] [Medline: 17213046]

- 27. U.S. federal poverty guidelines used to determine financial eligibility for certain programs. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. URL: <u>aspe.hhs.gov/topics/poverty-economic-mobility/poverty-guidelines</u> [accessed 2022-09-14]
- Arcoleo K, Marsiglia F, Serebrisky D, Rodriguez J, Mcgovern C, Feldman J. Explanatory model for asthma disparities in Latino children: results from the Latino childhood asthma project. Ann Behav Med 2020 Mar 24;54(4):223-236. [doi: 10.1093/abm/kaz041] [Medline: 31586174]
- Arcoleo KJ, McGovern C, Kaur K, et al. Longitudinal patterns of Mexican and Puerto Rican children's asthma controller medication adherence and acute healthcare use. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2019 Jun;16(6):715-723. [doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201807-462OC] [Medline: 30860858]
- 30. Modi AC, Pai AL, Hommel KA, et al. Pediatric self-management: a framework for research, practice, and policy. Pediatrics 2012 Feb;129(2):e473-e485. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-1635] [Medline: 22218838]
- 31. Atske S, Perrin A. Home broadband adoption, computer ownership vary by race, ethnicity in the U.S. Pew Research Center. 2021 Jul 16. URL: <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/07/16/">www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/07/16/</a>
- <u>home-broadband-adoption-computer-ownership-vary-by-race-ethnicity-in-the-u-s</u> [accessed 2021-11-01]
   Chicago Connected. Chicago Public Schools. URL: <u>www.cps.edu/strategic-initiatives/chicago-connected</u> [accessed 2021-07-01]
- Reddick CG, Enriquez R, Harris RJ, Sharma B. Determinants of broadband access and affordability: an analysis of a community survey on the digital divide. Cities 2020 Nov;106:102904. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cities.2020.102904</u>] [Medline: <u>32921864</u>]
- 34. Broadband challenges and opportunities in affordable rental housing. The Pew Charitable Trusts. 2023 Apr 3. URL: www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2023/04/ broadband-challenges-and-opportunities-in-affordable-rental-housing [accessed 2023-05-02]
- James DCS, Harville C. eHealth literacy, online help-seeking behavior, and willingness to participate in mHealth chronic disease research among African Americans, Florida, 2014-2015. Prev Chronic Dis 2016 Nov 17;13:E156. [doi: 10.5888/pcd13.160210] [Medline: 27854421]
- Purcell DJ, Cavanaugh G, Thomas-Purcell KB, et al. E-health literacy scale, patient attitudes, medication adherence, and internal locus of control. Health Lit Res Pract 2023 Apr;7(2):e80-e88. [doi: <u>10.3928/24748307-20230417-01</u>] [Medline: <u>37162255</u>]
- 37. Chung SY, Nahm ES. Testing reliability and validity of the eHealth literacy scale (eHEALS) for older adults recruited online. Comput Inform Nurs 2015 Apr;33(4):150-156. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000146] [Medline: 25783223]
- 38. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun 16;8(2):e9. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9] [Medline: 16867972]
- 39. Lycett HJ, Raebel EM, Wildman EK, et al. Theory-based digital interventions to improve asthma self-management outcomes: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 12;20(12):e293. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.9666]</u> [Medline: <u>30541741</u>]

## Abbreviations

**aOR:** adjusted odds ratio **eHEALS:** eHealth Literacy Scale *ICD-10:* International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 24.05.23; peer-reviewed by IJ Wang, K Kostyrka-Allchorne; revised version received 27.09.23; accepted 16.10.23; published 29.11.23.

Please cite as:

Kan K, Morales L, Shah A, Simmons E, Barrera L, Massey L, List G, Gupta RS Digital Technology Characteristics and Literacy Among Families With Children With Asthma: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e48822 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48822</u> doi:10.2196/48822

© Kristin Kan, Lu Morales, Avani Shah, Emily Simmons, Leonardo Barrera, Liana Massey, Greta List, Ruchi S Gupta. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 29.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Caregivers' Perceptions, Needs, and Data Sharing Concerns in mHealth Research on Pediatric Asthma: Cross-Sectional Survey Study

Glen Meng<sup>1</sup>, DCS; Maliha Jan Ali<sup>1</sup>, MD; Sze Man Tse<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH, MD

**Corresponding Author:** Sze Man Tse, MPH, MD

## **Related Article:**

2

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2024/1/e56046

## Abstract

**Background:** Pediatric asthma is the most common chronic respiratory disease of childhood. Caregivers often report lacking knowledge in several aspects of asthma management at home. Although the use of mobile health (mHealth) tools, such as mobile apps, could facilitate asthma self-management and, simultaneously, the collection of data for research, few studies have explored the features that caregivers would like to see in such a tool and their perceptions on data sharing.

**Objective:** This study evaluates caregivers' perceived knowledge gaps in asthma management; their perceptions of certain features and resources that should be included in a potential mobile app; and any concerns that they may have regarding data sharing for research, including privacy and security concerns.

**Methods:** In this cross-sectional study, we surveyed 200 caregivers of children (aged 1-13 y) with asthma who were followed at a pediatric tertiary care center in Montreal, Canada. Anonymous data were collected through the institutional web-based survey platform. We collected the participants' answers by using a 5-category Likert scale ("completely agree," "agree," "neither agree nor disagree," "disagree," and "completely disagree"), multiple-choice questions, and free-text questions on the abovementioned topics. Descriptive statistics were performed, and answers were compared between caregivers of preschool-aged children and caregivers of school-aged children.

**Results:** Participating children's mean age was 5.9 (SD 3.4) years, with 54% (108/200) aged  $\leq$ 5 years and 46% (92/200) aged >6 years. Overall, caregivers reported having adequate knowledge about asthma and asthma self-management. Nonetheless, they identified several desirable features for a mobile app focused on asthma self-management. The most frequently identified features included receiving alerts about environmental triggers of asthma (153/199, 76.9%), having videos that demonstrate symptoms of asthma (133/199, 66.8%), and being able to log children's asthma action plans in the app (133/199, 66.8%). Interestingly, more caregivers of preschool-aged children preferred textual information when compared to caregivers of school-aged children (textual information for explaining asthma: P=.008; textual information for the symptoms of asthma: P=.005). Caregivers were generally highly in favor of sharing data collected through a mobile app for research.

**Conclusions:** Caregivers of children with asthma in our study identified several desirable educational and interactive features that they wanted to have in a mobile app for asthma self-management. These findings provide a foundation for designing and developing mHealth tools that are relevant to caregivers of children with asthma.

## (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e49521) doi:10.2196/49521

## **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

asthma; mHealth; mobile health; app; application; apps; applications; pediatrics; caregivers; knowledge translation; cross-sectional; survey; surveys; respiratory; pulmonary; lung; pediatric; data sharing; information sharing; privacy; usability; confidentiality; child; children; caregiver; caregiving; patient knowledge

## Introduction

Asthma is a chronic pulmonary inflammatory disorder that affects more than 262 million people of all ages around the world [1], imposing a great burden on patients and society. Among all individuals with asthma, children have the highest rates of asthma-related emergency department visits [2]. Furthermore, asthma can persist until adulthood and has been associated with reduced long-term lung function [3,4]. Therefore, the importance of early diagnosis and management lies in the potential maximization of lung function and reduction of asthma-related morbidity [5]. Moreover, optimal asthma self-management can help prevent unscheduled care, symptom exacerbations, and school and work absences, in addition to helping improve the overall quality of life.

One aspect of optimal asthma self-management is having the necessary knowledge and ability to recognize symptoms. Several studies have explored parents' perceptions of their children's asthma and the gaps in their knowledge of the pathology and management of asthma [6-9]. Although targeted education is delivered by asthma educators and health professionals, several gaps remain in caregivers' knowledge of their children's asthma, which have resulted in many caregivers believing myths about asthma, such as the long-term usage of corticosteroids having a negative impact on cardiac function and dependence [10]. Parents also feel a psychological weight as the caregivers and are often hypervigilant due to the unpredictability of the symptoms of asthma exacerbation [11].

There is thus a need for an effective and accessible tool that can support caregivers in the management of their children's asthma, particularly in between visits with their health professionals. Information-based technologies can serve as good tools for enhancing parents' knowledge of their children's asthma, thereby enabling them to better manage the condition [12]. In particular, the omnipresence of mobile and wireless technologies has driven changes not only in society's daily life but also in the health care system. In 2017, health apps were downloaded about 3.7 billion times [13], with more than 325,000 health apps available across mobile platforms. Mobile health (mHealth) is a term that refers to the "use of mobile phones and other wireless technology in medical care" [14]. Since its introduction into the health care system, many studies evaluating the effects of mHealth have mostly reported positive results with regard to the promotion of self-management, though most of these studies focus on adult patients. For example, a study that was conducted in adult outpatient asthma clinics showed that mobile-based interactive intervention improves pulmonary function, quality of life, asthma symptoms, and treatment adherence while reducing rates of acute exacerbations [15]. mHealth technologies can also help health professionals track patients' progress and symptoms in order to adapt treatment plans, which can in turn reduce adverse outcomes. mHealth benefits have also been studied for nonrespiratory chronic conditions; such studies demonstrated that mHealth technologies were mostly positively rated in terms of usefulness in the management of the condition, as they increased the patients' autonomy by making them actors in their own health [16,17].

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e49521

Although mHealth is already serving a large population, pediatric conditions, including childhood asthma, are commonly neglected when it comes to mHealth technology [18]. Furthermore, the needs of caregivers of children with asthma and whether these needs differ across children of different ages are unknown. Additionally, we could not identify existing mHealth apps for pediatric asthma that explicitly mention that caregivers' perceptions and needs were taken into account during app development. In order to develop a useful tool for caregivers, it is important to explore the gaps that they believe are present in their knowledge or in their daily routine (ie, those that prevent them from achieving optimal asthma management).

In this study, we assessed caregivers of children (aged 1-13 y) with asthma and their perspectives on using mHealth to facilitate asthma management. Specifically, we surveyed caregivers on their perceived knowledge gaps in asthma management, their perceptions of certain features and resources that should be included in a potential mobile app, and any concerns that they may have regarding data sharing specifically for research. This study provides a foundation for designing and cocreating future mHealth tools for childhood asthma self-management.

## Methods

## Study Design

We conducted a cross-sectional survey of caregivers of children with asthma who were followed at the Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) Sainte-Justine in Quebec, Canada. This study was conducted from September 1, 2019, to July 1, 2020.

## **Ethical Considerations**

This study was approved by the CHU Sainte-Justine Research Ethics Board (project number: 2020-2664). Informed consent was obtained with a research information and consent form, which was administered to and signed by participants at the beginning of the survey. Submitted data were anonymous.

#### **Participants and Procedures**

We included the caregivers of (1) children aged 1 to 13 years, inclusively, and (2) children with physician-diagnosed asthma or suspicion of asthma. There were no exclusion criteria. We identified eligible patients from the respiratory medicine and asthma clinics, inpatient units, and pulmonary function test laboratory of the CHU Sainte-Justine. Eligible families were approached in person or contacted by phone, and they were asked to fill in the web-based survey.

## **Data Collection and Questionnaire**

The survey was administered via the CHU Sainte-Justine LimeSurvey platform (LimeSurvey GmbH). We asked participants to fill in a questionnaire to assess the caregivers' (1) knowledge on asthma pathogenesis, symptom recognition, and controller and rescue medication use; (2) perceptions on features that they would like to see in a mobile app for facilitating asthma self-management; and (3) openness to using a mobile app for research purposes and their concerns. We constructed the survey based on the themes we identified as important in the mHealth and asthma fields (knowledge gaps, desirable features, mHealth use in research, and data sharing

XSL•FO

concerns). These themes were based on existing literature and the gaps we identified. We collected the participants' answers by using a 5-category Likert scale ("completely agree," "agree," "neither agree nor disagree," "disagree," and "completely disagree"), multiple-choice questions, and free-text questions. We also collected data on the children's age, sex, and previous asthma history (hospitalizations and emergency department visits in the past year).

## Sample Size and Data Analysis

Our target sample size was 200 caregivers, which would allow for the description of responses with a 7% margin of error at a 95% confidence level. We performed a descriptive analysis of the participants' baseline characteristics and each item in the questionnaire, using frequencies and percentages. Additionally, we compared the perceptions and needs of caregivers of preschool-aged children to those of caregivers of school-aged children, using the chi-square test for proportions and the nonparametric Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for distributions, such as Likert scale distributions.

## Results

## **Participants**

A total of 200 caregivers completed the survey, although some questions were left unanswered by some participants. The mean age of the children for whom the parents answered the survey was 5.9 (SD 3.4) years, and most children were male (142/200, 71%)—a proportion that reflects the sex distribution of pediatric asthma in the general population (Table 1). The majority of children were not hospitalized over the past year (146/199, 73.4%), but more than half reported at least 1 asthma-related emergency department visit over the past year (106/199, 53.3%).

 Table . Baseline characteristics of children for whom the parents answered the survey (N=200).

Participant characteristics		Value
Age (y), mean (SD)		5.9 (3.4)
Age category, n (%)		
	Preschool-age (≤5 y)	108 (54)
	School-age (6-13 y)	92 (46)
Sex, n (%)		
	Male	142 (71)
	Female	58 (29)
Number of asthma-related emergency department visits in the past year, n (% <sup>a</sup> )		
	None	93 (46.7)
	1	38 (19.1)
	2	28 (14.1)
	≥3	40 (20.1)
Number of asthma-related hospitalizations in the past year, n (% <sup>a</sup> )		
	None	146 (73.4)
	1	31 (15.6)
	2	14 (7)
	≥3	8 (4)

<sup>a</sup>Percentages were calculated with a denominator (N) of 199, as 1 caregiver did not answer the question.

## **Caregivers' Perceived Asthma Knowledge**

We first assessed the caregivers' perceived knowledge on asthma and asthma management (Figure 1). The majority of caregivers strongly agreed or agreed that they understood the purpose of asthma medication (191/197, 97%), could explain what asthma is (168/197, 85.3%), and could recognize asthma symptoms (181/196, 92.3%). Caregivers reported that they remembered to give their children's medicine on time (176/194, 90.7%), renewed their prescriptions (176/196, 89.8%), and knew the steps to follow during an asthma exacerbation (157/196,

80.1%). In terms of asthma management, most participants reported that they would be able to identify the triggers of their children's asthma (150/196, 76.5%). Caregivers were comfortable with the methods of administration of their children's treatment (182/200, 91%) and believed that their children's asthma was well controlled (155/200, 77.5%). Interestingly, a big proportion of caregivers were curious about whether there were alternative therapies for asthma (151/200, 75.5%), such as homeopathy and acupuncture. As expected for this study's sample of young children, few children managed their asthma on their own.

Figure 1. Caregivers' perceived asthma knowledge. N/A: not applicable.



## **Desirable Features in a Mobile App Focused on Asthma Self-Management**

We asked caregivers to identify mobile app features that would be helpful in managing their children's asthma and would address their needs (Table 2). Several options were listed (more than 1 could be chosen), along with a free-text option. Receiving alerts about environmental triggers of asthma, such as excessive heat and high pollen levels, was the most frequently identified feature (153/199, 76.9%). Caregivers were also interested in videos demonstrating the symptoms of asthma (133/199, 66.8%) and in the personalization of the app to their own children's situations, which included logging their children's asthma action plans in the app (133/199, 66.8%). Other features that caregivers perceived as useful were charts of their children's symptoms (131/199, 65.8%), a short questionnaire that could be completed regularly to monitor asthma symptoms (123/199, 61.8%), information on new asthma studies (121/199, 60.8%), and reminders to renew inhalers (116/199, 58.3%). Less commonly identified app features among caregivers were textual information that explains inhaler techniques (66/199, 33.2%) and what asthma is (71/199, 35.7%) and a platform to interact with other parents of children with asthma (77/199, 38.7%).

Table . Desirable features in a mobile app for asthma self-management identified by caregivers (N=199).

Features <sup>a</sup>	Caregivers, n (%)
Alerts about asthma triggers in the environment (eg, excessive humidity, high pollen count, etc)	153 (76.9)
Video demonstrating the symptoms of asthma (indrawing, wheezing, etc)	133 (66.8)
The ability to log children's asthma action plans in the app	133 (66.8)
Charts of children's asthma symptoms	131 (65.8)
A questionnaire (5-7 questions) to be completed regularly in order to be able to monitor children's asthma symptoms	123 (61.8)
Information on new studies on asthma	121 (60.8)
Reminders to renew pumps	116 (58.3)
Symptom diary (to be completed manually)	113 (56.8)
Reminders to administer the pumps every day	106 (53.3)
Text explaining the symptoms of asthma	99 (49.7)
Video demonstrating the techniques of pumps' usage	85 (42.7)
Video explaining what asthma is	83 (41.7)
Internet links for more information on asthma	78 (39.2)
A platform to interact with other parents of children with asthma	77 (38.7)
Text that explains what asthma is	71 (35.7)
Text explaining the techniques of pumps' usage	66 (33.2)

<sup>a</sup>More than 1 feature could be chosen by caregivers.

Participants also suggested other needs that were not included in the questionnaire, notably the need for a mobile app adapted to older children and adolescents that could help them develop skills for managing their own asthma and medications. Other caregivers also mentioned the need for a reminder system for upcoming medical appointments.

Stratifying the answers as those from caregivers of preschool-aged children ( $\leq 5$  y) and those from caregivers of

school-aged children (>5 y) showed differences that were statistically significant (Table 3). Specifically, more caregivers of preschool-aged children with asthma than caregivers of school-aged children deemed that a symptom diary (to be completed manually; P=.04), text that explains what asthma is (P=.008), and text that explains the symptoms of asthma (P=.005) would be useful in a mobile app.

Meng et al

**Table**. Desirable mobile app features identified by caregivers of preschool-aged children ( $\leq$ 5 y) and school-aged children (>5 y).

Feature	Caregivers of preschool-aged children (n=108), n (%)	Caregivers of school-aged children (n=92), n (%)	<i>P</i> value
Questionnaire to be completed regu- larly to monitor children's asthma symptoms	72 (66.7)	51 (55.4)	.16
Symptom diary	69 (63.9)	44 (47.8)	.04
Charts of children's asthma symptoms	70 (64.8)	61 (66.3)	.86
Reminders to administer the pumps every day	58 (53.7)	48 (52.2)	.99
Reminders to renew pumps	65 (60.2)	51 (55.4)	.66
Text that explains what asthma is	48 (44.4)	23 (25)	.008
Text explaining the symptoms of asthma	64 (59.3)	35 (38)	.005
Text explaining the techniques of pumps' usage	40 (37)	26 (28.3)	.27
Video explaining what asthma is	46 (42.3)	37 (40.2)	.90
Video demonstrating the symptoms of asthma	77 (71.3)	56 (60.9)	.19
Video demonstrating the techniques of pumps' usage	47 (43.5)	38 (41.3)	.91
The ability to log children's asthma action plans in the app	75 (69.4)	58 (63)	.48
Alerts about environmental asthma triggers	83 (76.9)	70 (76.1)	.99
Internet links for more information on asthma	44 (40.7)	34 (37)	.73
Information on new studies on asthma	70 (64.8)	51 (55.4)	.26
Platform to interact with other par- ents of children with asthma	46 (42.6)	31 (33.7)	.28

## Using Personal Data Through mHealth for Research

We evaluated the caregivers' perceptions on sharing personal data, that is, those entered into a mobile app, with researchers via a secure portal, prefacing that the data would be used to create a database that would allow researchers to carry out projects that aim to improve the management of asthma in children (Figure 2). Most caregivers understood the usefulness of sharing their data for research purposes (186/200, 93%). The majority were comfortable with their data being used by researchers (180/200, 90%) and reported that they would agree to share their data anonymously for research purposes (175/200,

87.5%). Most caregivers were also interested in participating in asthma research projects (151/200, 75.5%) and reported that they would like to be informed of research projects using their data through the app (148/200, 74%). Few caregivers deemed data breach possibilities (58/200, 29%) and the fact that their data would be used for research purposes (11/200, 5.5%) as deterrents for using the mobile tool. We also compared caregivers' perceptions on the use of personal data for research between caregivers of school-aged children and caregivers of preschool-aged children, which did not show statistically significant between-group differences (*P* values for all responses were <.05).



Figure 2. Caregivers' perceptions on the use of data through mHealth for research. N/A: not applicable.



## Discussion

## **Principal Results**

Our study identified features that caregivers of children with asthma would like to see in an mHealth tool, specifically a mobile app, for asthma management despite their perception of having good knowledge about many aspects of asthma. The highly desirable features have personalizable or interactive components. Additionally, we found that some desired features differed between caregivers of preschool-aged children and caregivers of school-aged children. We also found that the use of data collected through a mobile app for research was highly acceptable among caregivers.

RenderX

## **Comparison With Prior Work**

Previous studies documented that caregivers perceived lacking knowledge about asthma pathogenesis [6-8], the medications used in their children's asthma plans [8], the main triggers of asthma [9] and how to avoid them, and recommended changes that they should make at home and in their children's environment to avoid any exacerbations [9]. The perception of lack of knowledge can lead to suboptimal adherence [9], which can result in adverse health events. Our study contrasts with previous literature, as most caregivers reported having good knowledge of asthma. This contrast may be related to the nature of our sample, which consisted of caregivers of children who were followed at a tertiary pediatric care center. However, the caregivers still identified several educational features that they

would like to see in a mobile app for asthma. For example, while 92.3% (181/196) of caregivers strongly agreed or agreed that they could recognize asthma symptoms when their children exhibited them, 66.8% (133/199) reported that they would like to have a video explaining asthma symptoms in the mobile app. This discordance suggests that in addition to identifying knowledge gaps, studies should directly assess caregivers' perspectives on their needs and their proposed solutions.

Interestingly, a majority of caregivers wanted information on alternative therapies for the management of asthma (151/200, 75.5%). This corroborates the existing literature; one study found that parents who wanted to explore alternative therapies denoted that health care professionals had little or no knowledge of them [19]. Although there is currently no evidence-based alternative therapy for asthma, our findings highlight that this is an important asthma management-related issue to discuss with caregivers.

Few mobile apps target caregivers of children with asthma or the pediatric population. Although mHealth can be useful in improving health outcomes in the pediatric population, interventions produce larger changes when caregivers are involved rather than when only children are targeted [20]. Thus, it is essential to assess the caregivers' needs when designing a mobile tool to ensure its relevance. In a study on parents' and clinicians' preferences for a mobile app focused on asthma self-management in adolescents, parents identified the ability to input symptoms into a diary and the ability to generate reports for the physician as the most useful features [21]. Reminder messages for medication and prescription renewals were also features that were appreciated by parents, as they encouraged medication adherence. Although the app targeted adolescents, the study gave an overview of parental needs. In our study, several desirable features were identified by caregivers for an app that would target them. These included reminders for medication administration and renewal, environmental alerts that are relevant to asthma, the ability to log symptoms and children's asthma action plans, and evaluations of asthma control. Many of these features can only be integrated in a mobile or digital tool and cannot be made available through traditional educational sessions or paper materials, underlining the potential usefulness of an mHealth tool. One common theme across these features is the desire for interactivity, which is a key component of mHealth. A second theme is improving asthma management by tracking symptoms and being aware of potential triggers. mHealth tools can readily respond to these needs by providing real-time alerts and feedback to caregivers and by sending programmed medication-related reminders.

Interestingly, we found that some desired features differed between caregivers of preschool-aged children and caregivers of school-aged children, mostly with regard to the mode of education information delivery. More caregivers of preschool-aged children reported that they would like to see textual information on asthma. Although we could not find existing literature to explain this difference in asthma or chronic disease education, our findings suggest that the mode of knowledge transmission is important and has to be considered while creating a mobile tool. In addition to facilitating knowledge sharing and tracking health, mHealth can be a powerful tool for research. With the user's consent, information entered into an app can provide valuable, real-world, longitudinal data on patients with different conditions. For example, these data can be used to conduct observational studies on predictors of adverse outcomes, which in turn could result in targeted interventions and improved management. Our findings suggest that caregivers welcomed research projects that are conducted through a mobile app and were open to sharing their data for research. The majority of caregivers were not deterred by a fear of a possible data breach (142/200, 71%) and were comfortable with sharing data with industrial researchers (156/200, 78%). These perspectives can be leveraged to design research projects around patient-centered or caregiver-centered mobile tools.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

The relatively large sample size of our study allowed us to capture a variety of opinions accurately. Additionally, by including caregivers of preschool-aged children and caregivers of school-aged children, we were able to compare the needs of different populations. Our study also has noteworthy limitations. First, our study surveyed caregivers of children who were followed or treated at a tertiary care center, which may limit the generalizability of our results to children with milder asthma. However, this study population also represents the sickest children with asthma, who may benefit the most from achieving improved self-management through a mobile tool. Second, we assessed only the caregivers' perceptions of asthma knowledge. Caregiver knowledge gaps have been extensively documented in the literature. Although this was not within the scope of this study, these knowledge gaps should be also be addressed when creating an educational tool. Third, given the lack of a standardized survey for assessing parental perceptions of mHealth in asthma management, we constructed our survey based on the knowledge gaps that we identified based on existing literature and our team's clinical experience. Although we checked survey responses for errors and consistency (eg, between items such as "I understand the purpose of asthma medication" and "I know the role of the different medications my child takes for asthma"), the psychometric properties of the survey have not been formally evaluated, and some specific topics may not have been addressed (eg, the use of graphical information). Fourth, given the design of this study, we did not conduct qualitative interviews with the parents, which could have provided a more complete understanding of parental perceptions and concerns. Finally, we did not assess the preferences and needs of adolescents. As they represent a distinct population and are more likely to independently self-manage their asthma, it is important to assess their needs through a survey that specifically targets them.

## Conclusions

Our study found that despite caregivers perceiving that they have good knowledge of asthma and its management, they still identified several desirable educational and interactive features that they wanted to have in a mobile app for asthma self-management. This highlights the potential role that mHealth can play in asthma self-management. Additionally, caregivers

were enthusiastic about sharing their data through a mobile app for research. By identifying these preferences and needs, our findings provide a foundation and starting point for co-designing and codeveloping mHealth tools, so that they are relevant to caregivers of children with asthma.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the caregivers who participated in this survey.

## **Authors' Contributions**

GM contributed to the analysis and drafted the manuscript. MJA contributed to the study design and data collection. SMT contributed to the study design, data analysis and interpretation, and manuscript edits. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- GBD 2019 Chronic Respiratory Diseases Collaborators. Global burden of chronic respiratory diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: an update from the global burden of disease study 2019. EClinicalMedicine 2023 May;59:101936. [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.101936] [Medline: <u>37229504</u>]
- Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R, Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Program. The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. Allergy 2004 May;59(5):469-478. [doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2004.00526.x] [Medline: 15080825]
- Lodge CJ, Lowe AJ, Allen KJ, et al. Childhood wheeze phenotypes show less than expected growth in FEV1 across adolescence. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014 Jun 1;189(11):1351-1358. [doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.201308-1487OC</u>] [Medline: <u>24796409</u>]
- 4. Belgrave DCM, Buchan I, Bishop C, Lowe L, Simpson A, Custovic A. Trajectories of lung function during childhood. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014 May 1;189(9):1101-1109. [doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.201309-1700OC</u>] [Medline: <u>24606581</u>]
- Ducharme FM, Dell SD, Radhakrishnan D, et al. Diagnosis and management of asthma in preschoolers: a Canadian Thoracic Society and Canadian Paediatric Society position paper. Can Respir J 2015;22(3):135-143. [doi: <u>10.1155/2015/101572</u>] [Medline: <u>25893310</u>]
- Anderson K, Burford O, Emmerton L. Mobile health apps to facilitate self-care: a qualitative study of user experiences. PLoS One 2016 May 23;11(5):e0156164. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156164] [Medline: 27214203]
- 7. Cardwell FS, Elliott SJ. Understanding an environmental health risk: investigating asthma risk perception in Ontario youth sport. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Jun 7;16(11):2033. [doi: <u>10.3390/ijerph16112033</u>] [Medline: <u>31181653</u>]
- Holley S, Walker D, Knibb R, et al. Barriers and facilitators to self-management of asthma in adolescents: an interview study to inform development of a novel intervention. Clin Exp Allergy 2018 Aug;48(8):944-956. [doi: 10.1111/cea.13141] [Medline: 29573024]
- Lakhanpaul M, Culley L, Robertson N, et al. A qualitative study to identify parents' perceptions of and barriers to asthma management in children from South Asian and White British families. BMC Pulm Med 2017 Sep 20;17(1):126. [doi: 10.1186/s12890-017-0464-9] [Medline: 28931381]
- Roncada C, de Araujo Cardoso T, Bugança BM, Bischoff LC, Soldera K, Pitrez PM. Levels of knowledge about asthma of parents of asthmatic children. Einstein (Sao Paulo) 2018 Jun 7;16(2):eAO4204. [doi: <u>10.1590/S1679-45082018AO4204</u>] [Medline: <u>29898088</u>]
- 11. Bellin MH, Land C, Newsome A, et al. Caregiver perception of asthma management of children in the context of poverty. J Asthma 2017 Mar;54(2):162-172. [doi: 10.1080/02770903.2016.1198375] [Medline: 27304455]
- Schnall R, Mosley JP, Iribarren SJ, Bakken S, Carballo-Diéguez A, Brown WIII. Comparison of a user-centered design, self-management app to existing mHealth apps for persons living with HIV. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Sep 18;3(3):e91. [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4882] [Medline: 26385783]
- Grundy Q. A review of the quality and impact of mobile health apps. Annu Rev Public Health 2022 Apr 5;43:117-134. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev-publhealth-052020-103738</u>] [Medline: <u>34910582</u>]
- 14. Holman T. mHealth (mobile health). TechTarget. URL: <u>www.techtarget.com/searchhealthit/definition/mHealth</u> [accessed 2019-08-18]
- 15. Liu WT, Huang CD, Wang CH, Lee KY, Lin SM, Kuo HP. A mobile telephone-based interactive self-care system improves asthma control. Eur Respir J 2011 Feb;37(2):310-317. [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00000810] [Medline: 20562122]
- Salimzadeh Z, Damanabi S, Kalankesh LR, Ferdousi R. Mobile applications for multiple sclerosis: a focus on self-management. Acta Inform Med 2019 Mar;27(1):12-18. [doi: <u>10.5455/aim.2019.27.12-18</u>] [Medline: <u>31213737</u>]

- 17. Whitehead L, Seaton P. The effectiveness of self-management mobile phone and tablet apps in long-term condition management: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 May 16;18(5):e97. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.4883</u>] [Medline: <u>27185295</u>]
- Niksch AL. mHealth in pediatrics-finding healthcare solutions for the next generation. Mhealth 2015 Mar 25;1:7. [doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2306-9740.2015.03.09] [Medline: 28293567]
- Shaw A, Thompson EA, Sharp DJ. Expectations of patients and parents of children with asthma regarding access to complementary therapy information and services via the NHS: a qualitative study. Health Expect 2006 Dec;9(4):343-358. [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2006.00402.x] [Medline: 17083561]
- Modi AC, Crosby LE, Hines J, Drotar D, Mitchell MJ. Feasibility of web-based technology to assess adherence to clinic appointments in youth with sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2012 Apr;34(3):e93-e96. [doi: 10.1097/MPH.0b013e318240d531] [Medline: 22278205]
- Geryk LL, Roberts CA, Sage AJ, Coyne-Beasley T, Sleath BL, Carpenter DM. Parent and clinician preferences for an asthma app to promote adolescent self-management: a formative study. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Dec 6;5(4):e229. [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5932] [Medline: 27923777]

## Abbreviations

**CHU:** Centre Hospitalier Universitaire **mHealth:** mobile health

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 15.06.23; peer-reviewed by J Hamid, P Singh; revised version received 11.10.23; accepted 12.10.23; published 19.12.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Meng G, Jan Ali M, Tse SM Caregivers' Perceptions, Needs, and Data Sharing Concerns in mHealth Research on Pediatric Asthma: Cross-Sectional Survey Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e49521 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e49521 doi:10.2196/49521

© Glen Meng, Maliha Jan Ali, Sze Man Tse. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 19.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## The Acceptability of Using Augmented Reality as a Mechanism to Engage Children in Asthma Inhaler Technique Training: Qualitative Interview Study With Deductive Thematic Analysis

Antonia O'Connor<sup>1,2</sup>, MBBS; Andrew Tai<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MBBS, DPhil; Malcolm Brinn<sup>4,5</sup>, DPhil; Amy Nguyen Thuc Hien Hoang<sup>6</sup>, MBBS; Daniele Cataldi<sup>6</sup>, MBBS; Kristin Carson-Chahhoud<sup>2,4,5</sup>, DPhil

<sup>1</sup>Respiratory and Sleep Department, Women's and Children's Hospital, South Australia, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>2</sup>School of Medicine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Robinson Research Institute, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Translational Medicine and Technology Research Group, University of South Australia, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Australian Centre for Precision Health, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>6</sup>Paediatric Medicine, The Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

## **Corresponding Author:**

Antonia O'Connor, MBBS Respiratory and Sleep Department Women's and Children's Hospital, South Australia 72 King William Road, North Adelaide Adelaide, 5006 Australia Phone: 61 08 8161 7234 Email: antonia.chan@sa.gov.au

## Abstract

**Background:** Inhaled medications or inhalers provide first-line pharmacotherapeutic treatment for patients with asthma for both acute symptomatic relief and long-term management to keep symptoms under control. A good technique requires only basic instruction and training; however, a recent study identified that 92% of children do not follow all correct steps when using inhalers. There is a growing interest in technology-enhanced asthma education, with evidence demonstrating improvements in knowledge and treatment adherence. Subsequently, there are calls to explore the role of technology-based solutions in improving asthma management and disease outcomes from public health experts, health professionals, and patients with asthma. Augmented reality (AR) technology is an information delivery mechanism with proven efficacy in educational settings. AR displays digital content in a real-world environment using the camera on a smartphone or tablet device to create an immersive learning experience.

**Objective:** The study aimed to evaluate the acceptability of AR as a mechanism for delivering asthma inhaler technique education from the perspective of children with asthma and their parents and health professionals, examined through the theoretical framework of acceptability (TFA).

**Methods:** An asthma education resource enhanced with AR technology was created to provide inhaler technique education to children. An iterative co-design process was undertaken with target end users for a qualitative evaluation. The participants were 8 to 12 years old with asthma, their caregivers, and health professionals who had experience in managing asthma. Qualitative data were obtained through semistructured one-on-one interviews. Deductive thematic analysis using TFA was undertaken using NVivo software 2020 to assess the acceptability of AR as a delivery modality for asthma inhaler technique education.

**Results:** Overall, 6 health care professionals, 5 asthmatic children, and 5 caregivers of children with asthma totaled a sample of 16. The use of AR in the asthma inhaler resource was found to be acceptable when responses were examined in accordance with TFA. Each of the 7 component constructs of TFA was coded throughout the 16 interviews, with *perceived effectiveness* (157 times) and *affective attitude* (63 times) coded most frequently. Positive responses included the intervention being accessible, easy to use, interesting, and fitting within the users' value systems. Negative responses included the need to maintain an interest in children and concerns about the loss of face-to-face interaction with health professionals.

**Conclusions:** AR appears to be an acceptable modality for delivering asthma education to children when explored using TFA constructs. Although some challenges were identified with the use of AR, the results were predominantly positive. Future designs

of asthma education interventions involving AR should consider the results of this study, and further research should focus on the feasibility, usability, and barriers and facilitators of behavior change to ensure the successful implementation and uptake of AR into clinical settings.

## International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1177/16094069211042229

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40231) doi:10.2196/40231

## **KEYWORDS**

asthma; asthma education; pediatric asthma; augmented reality; mobile phone

## Introduction

There are over 260 million cases of asthma worldwide, with the incidence and prevalence being higher in children than in adults [1,2]. Susceptible individuals can have symptoms of wheezing, coughing, and breathlessness [3,4]. If symptoms are poorly controlled in young people, it can lead to long-term effects, with the potential for pathological airway remodeling, impaired airway development, and possible reductions in maximal attainable lung function than those without asthma [2,5,6]. To minimize long-term airway damage, the use of inhaled medications (ie, inhalers) is the first-line treatment for both acute symptomatic relief and long-term asthma control in both children and adults [7,8]. Current guidelines state that inhaler technique education must be provided with satisfactory techniques demonstrated before the prescription of inhalers with the efficacy of education and training in improving techniques supported by a Cochrane systematic review [7,9].

Despite this, in recent studies where the asthma inhaler technique has been assessed in children, 42% of hospitalized patients have missed a critical step, and 92% of children aged 8-16 years do not properly follow all correct steps when using their inhaler [10-12]. This highlights the need to consider new approaches for educational interventions on inhaler techniques in young people. A recent nationwide survey of over 20,000 young Australians identified a 10 times greater likelihood of seeking web-based support over health professional advice to manage their stress, indicating their penchant toward technology-based solutions [13]. This preference for technology combined with the growing body of evidence suggesting that technology-delivered interventions and asthma education programs can improve knowledge, treatment adherence, and health outcomes in children with asthma highlights the need for using technology-based solutions for inhaler technique education in children to improve engagement and uptake and health outcomes [14-16]. The use of mobile technology-based solutions such as smartphones and tablet devices to deliver asthma education and self-management has also been explored in adults, with systematic reviews identifying improved quality of life and asthma control compared with routine care [17,18].

One relatively new digital solution is augmented reality (AR) defined as *technology which is able to superimpose computer-generated objects into a real-world setting so that the computer-generated objects seem to coexist in the same* space in real time and is one of the top novel technological innovations in the medical and health care industry [19,20]. They can be delivered via smartphones or tablets. It has the benefits of already having proven efficacy in other educational

settings and as a behavioral change tool and would allow asthma inhaler technique education to be delivered via smartphones or tablets through videos and animations [21-26]. Given that more than 80% of children aged 5-17 years own at least one screen-based device in Australia, this suggests an appropriate and accessible delivery modality for asthma inhaler technique education [27]. Apart from 1 study showing an improved asthma inhaler technique limited by evaluation among a pediatric cohort without asthma, AR has not yet been explored in asthma education for children [28]. Research on the acceptability and awareness of this technology is paramount to informing future asthma educational interventions and their successful uptake. To address these gaps, this study aimed to evaluate the acceptability of AR as a mechanism for delivering asthma inhaler technique education.

## Methods

## Overview

An asthma inhaler technique education resource enhanced by AR technology delivered by a smartphone was co-designed for children with asthma, their caregivers, and health care professionals (HCPs) who treat asthma. Qualitative interviews based on the theoretical framework of acceptability (TFA) evaluated the acceptability of AR as a delivery mechanism. The development of TFA was described in 2017 by Sekhon et al [29] to address the lack of consistent definitions and measurements for acceptability, despite recommendations by the United Kingdom Medical Research Council that it be assessed in health care intervention development [30-33]. Acceptability has since been defined as "multi-faceted construct that reflects the extent to which people delivering or receiving a healthcare intervention consider it to be appropriate, based on anticipated or experienced cognitive and emotional responses to the intervention" [34]. Since its development, TFA has been used in multiple studies and is an accepted framework for assessing the acceptability of health care interventions [29,35-40]. A prespecified protocol for this study was published in the Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (Trial ID: ACTRN12621000306819).

## **AR Intervention Development Process**

To establish context for the acceptability evaluation of AR as a delivery mechanism for asthma education, a brief summary of its development is provided. The full development process will be discussed in more detail in future studies.

An iterative co-design process with target end users was undertaken to provide a deeper understanding of their

requirements for technology use and enable improvements in the prototype asthma inhaler technique resource [41,42]. The first cohort of participants interacted with an existing cystic fibrosis–enhanced AR educational resource to provide an example of how AR functions. Their feedback was used to create an asthma-specific AR-enhanced poster to provide education on inhaler techniques. This poster was used to trigger digital educational content through the smartphone or tablet app (Figure 1). This resource was presented to the next cohort of participants who provided feedback, which was again used to enhance the intervention before being presented to the final cohort for feedback. Co-design processes optimize the uptake of digital interventions in children; therefore, this process has been used for intervention development [43-45].

Figure 1. Paper-based poster triggering digital content on smartphone.



## **Participants and Recruitment**

The participants included HCPs who managed asthma, children with asthma, and caregivers of children with asthma.

The inclusion criteria for HCPs included having worked in their profession (nursing, pediatric general medicine medical officers, general practitioners, respiratory specialists, pharmacists, and asthma educators) and having treated patients with asthma regularly for more than 12 months in the previous 5 years. The inclusion criteria in the prespecified protocol for children and adolescents with asthma were having a clinical diagnosis of asthma and being aged between 8 and 17 years. Parents and guardians of children with asthma were included if their child had a clinical diagnosis of asthma and was aged 8 to 17 years. Participants who were unable to provide consent or were non–English-speaking were excluded.

Recruitment was within a South Australian pediatric tertiary hospital, conducted by the primary investigator of the study who approached potential participants for screening. Participants were invited to participate in the study if they met the inclusion criteria and provided informed consent.

Participants were recruited from July 2021 until April 2022. Purposive sampling was intended; however, during recruitment, it became evident that this approach could not be strictly adhered to for representation across the age spectrum. This was owing to a combination of the demographics of children hospitalized for acute asthma treatment and minimization of face-to-face appointments or allowance of patients to attend hospital unless deemed medically necessary during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. This substantially diminished the available sample pool of older children. The inclusion criteria were changed halfway through the recruitment to children aged 8 to 12 years.

A target sample size of 15 to 20 participants was determined to achieve a large enough size to ensure sufficient breadth and depth of data but small enough to achieve meaningful analysis, which was a similar approach to other qualitative studies [46].

#### **Interviews and Data Collection**

Qualitative data were obtained through one-on-one interviews conducted with a trained interviewer. Semistructured moderator

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40231
```

guides were used based on TFA to aid in specifically assessing acceptability within each group of participants. The beginning of the interview explored previous experiences with asthma education, the use of smartphone and tablet apps for health, and AR. Once previous awareness and experience were assessed, the interviewer demonstrated the AR intervention to the participants and allowed them to use it themselves. Further interview questions were then asked based on the participants' experiences of using it.

The interviews took approximately 20 to 40 minutes per participant and were audio-recorded. All the interviews were deidentified and transcribed using an automated transcription service. Interviews were check-backed and corrected by the primary investigator to ensure that they were verbatim. Transcripts were sent back to the participants to validate the content if required.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Using TFA as a coding framework, deductive thematic analysis was performed using the NVivo software (QSR International) [47]. Two researchers (AO and either AH or DC) jointly coded the data into NVivo to improve interrater reliability, with any disagreements resolved through discussion. The 7 component constructs of TFA consisted of an informed coding scheme. The seven constructs and their definitions are as follows: (1) affective attitude-the individuals' feelings of the intervention; (2) burden-the amount of effort required to participate in the intervention; (3) perceived effectiveness-the extent to which the intervention is perceived as likely to achieve its purpose; (4) ethicality—the extent to which the intervention has a good fit with an individual's value system; (5) intervention coherence-the extent to which the participant understands the intervention and how it works; (6) opportunity costs-the extent to which benefits, profits, or values must be given up to engage in the intervention; and (7) self-efficacy-the participant's confidence that they can perform the behavior required to participate in the intervention. Affective attitude, burden, perceived effectiveness, and opportunity cost were also coded as anticipated or experienced on the basis of whether interview questions had been asked before the use of the intervention or after.

## **Ethics Approval**

Ethics and governance approval was obtained from the Women's and Children's Hospital Human Research Ethics Committee on August 21, 2020 (HREC/20/WCHN/74), and acceptance of approval was obtained from the University of Adelaide on October 20, 2021. Informed consent was obtained from all participants before the interviews were taken.

## Results

## **Participant Characteristics**

Of the 16 potential participants, all were recruited and analyzed. There were 6 HCPs, 5 children with asthma, and 5 caregivers (Table 1).

#### Table 1. Participant characteristics.

HCPs were split equally among medical officers and nursing staff who had treated patients with asthma for at least 12 months in the previous 5 years. Two of the participants also had a previous asthma educator role, whereas the other had a pediatric medicine educator role within the ward in which they were working. Overall, 66% (4/6) of the HCPs were female, and the remaining were male. All HCPs reported treating asthma across multiple settings, including within the community, inpatient care, outpatient care, and the emergency department.

Patients with asthma and their caregivers mostly live in metropolitan settings. All patients with asthma were diagnosed by either a respiratory specialist or a general pediatrician. Sixty percent of patients with asthma were male, and 40% were female. All caregivers were female with a range of educational levels.

1			
Characteristics	Health care professionals (n=6)	Children with asthma (n=5)	Caregivers of children with asthma (n=5)
Age (years), mean (SD)	34.33 (4.32)	9.8 (1.10)	41.8 (2.79)
Female sex, n	4	2	5
Mean duration of asthma diagnosis (years)	N/A <sup>a</sup>	4.77 <sup>b</sup>	N/A
Metropolitan vs remote, n (reference: metropolitan)	N/A	4	4
Highest level of education of caregiver (tertiary:high school)	N/A	N/A	1:1 <sup>c</sup>
Mean duration of treating asthma for health care professionals (years)	11.68	N/A	N/A
Occupation (medical professionals:nurs- ing:other)	1:1:0	N/A	N/A

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>b</sup>One unknown.

<sup>c</sup>One participant not disclosed.

## **Coding Results**

#### **Overview**

All 7 TFA component constructs were coded throughout the 16 transcripts. The most frequently coded construct was *perceived effectiveness*, which was coded over double the number of occasions as the second most coded construct of *affective* 

*attitude*, which was coded 63 times. The remaining constructs were coded between 21 and 52 times (Figure 2).

Our findings are reported through a narrative synthesis with representative quotes for the 7 constructs of TFA. Quotes are followed by participant ID in parentheses (AC, asthmatic children; CG, caregivers of children with asthma; HP, health professionals). Table 2 expands the illustrative quotes for each construct.



## Figure 2. Coding frequency. TFA: Theoretical framework of acceptability.





#### Table 2. Theoretical framework of acceptability (TFA) construct illustrative quotes from interviews.

TFA construct	Illustrative quotes		
Perceived effectiveness	<ul> <li>Education in a different form, sort of like an interactive education or a, um, video setting, which might make it more engaging for the patient as well. [HP001]</li> <li>I think it'll definitely add a component of something different and new to get them involved rather than just watching a video on a screen. [HP006]</li> <li>It was very informative. [PA004]</li> </ul>		
Affective attitude	<ul> <li>Like if a kid's looking at a piece of paper and then you put your smartphone over it and it comes to life, that's pretty awesome. [HP002]</li> <li>Pretty good, actually interesting. Cause, um, it would take a lot of coding and stuff to actually work on it. [CH002]</li> <li>I used to think ithealth apps are like boring and that stuff but virtual [augmented] reality is cool. [CH004]</li> <li>Um, I think it's, it's, uh, it's a fantastic idea, uh, to present the information, um, in that format. Um, I think, I think the, uh, use of augmented reality is a novelty that kids would really connect with. [HP005]</li> </ul>		
Intervention coherence	• Um, it was just different to how I envisioned. Um, cool that you can hover over the, the images and then it triggers where you want to learn more from. [HP003]		
Ethicality	<ul> <li>Obviously I would certainly be happy to show people how to access it and, um, you know, just show them that it is something fun and exciting to at least get them excited to then take home and, and be involved with at home. [HP006]</li> <li>It would be really good if it goes ahead and it's become something that we can use[HP002]</li> </ul>		
Self-efficacy	<ul> <li>Pretty easy to use. [CH001]</li> <li>Easy to do, Just click. [PA003]</li> <li>Easy to use. [CH003]</li> <li>I think it was easy yeh. [HP006]</li> <li>Um, definitely good that it's not hard to use. You kind of just go into the portal and then the videos come up, I kind of like that you have to move the phone. Um, and yeah. Seems to be pretty easy to use. [PA005]</li> </ul>		
Burden	<ul> <li>Um, I do wonder if like, especially for littler kids, if it wouldn't be exciting enough or interesting enough, like as an adult and probably as a teenager as well, that would be fine, but for the little ones it could potentially be boring. [HP001]</li> <li>Also when it does slip back to the menu, not making them sit through it again cause they'll be like, if we want them to watch all of them. Then they'll be like 'oh we've seen this bit.' And then they'll just lose focus. [HP004]</li> <li>I do wonder because um, you have, you have to hold the, uh, the, the phone or tablet up to review the video if, um, um, you know, if, if a kid's not able to do it for that long, that might affect your, uh, ability to educate. [HP005]</li> </ul>		
Opportunity cost	<ul> <li>Being able to actually have a hands-on with the puffer and spacer or, your airways or something like that. [HP003]</li> <li>You haven't got someone there to answer your questions. So if like we, we are thinking of things and, and the feedback is there and whatever, and the parent, everyone's individual and everyone's got different backgrounds and different levels of understanding. And I guess the difference with education being provided here before you go home, 'have you got any questions?' We can answer them. [HP004]</li> <li>I guess that's the only negative, is it's not real life. Like it's not, it is augmented reality, not reality. And so, and there are times when you get to the end of asthma education and you go, 'you got any questions?' And they say no, and I go, 'so can you talk to me at what point you would come back to hospital?' I guess you can check their knowledge rather than just assumed. [HP004]</li> <li>Um, it's I guess if we, if we are using this tool, it really, it relies on, um, the family having a device that you can use. Uh, which is probably okay here in Adelaide, but I know that other places I've worked, um, yeah, lots of families don't have smartphones or tablets, so yeah. I guess your uptake is limited by that. [HP005]</li> </ul>		

## **Perceived Effectiveness**

Overall, perceived effectiveness from participants was positive and was coded in all interviews.

Before the intervention, all 16 participants indicated that asthma education delivered via smartphone or tablet apps or by using AR as a delivery mechanism would be a useful modality for asthma inhaler technique education (ie, anticipated effectiveness). When asked why this might be the case, patients

with asthma elaborated that they *understand more with technology* [AC004], and both caregivers and HCPs described the possibility of improving accessibility to education through use of a smartphone or tablet—*It's right there, you can just go have a look if it's got information on it* [CG002]; *it's something that it's all part of our life, day-to-day* [HP003]. HCPs also described the possibility of it being a more engaging modality compared with paper-based resources:

O'Connor et al

Kids are obsessed with devices for starters, not always for a good reason, but I feel like they would, um, they would enjoy accessing this information because it is on a device, and they seem to be very device focused. Um, so it might actually capture their attention and then hopefully that would make it sink in. [HP002]

After using the AR intervention, all 16 participants reported that AR delivered via a smartphone or tablet was a useful modality for asthma education (ie, experienced effectiveness). As postulated, the use of a smartphone or tablet device was described as being accessible—*something like this seems it could be much more easily incorporated into sort of home-based education* [HP001] and AR thought to add a novelty factor for children to aid in engagement—*I think it'll definitely add a component of something different and new to get them involved rather than just watching a video on a screen* [HP006]; *It was, it was new. It was good* [CG001].

## Affective Attitude

Affective attitude involved participants' feelings about the use of the AR intervention. Experienced affective attitude was coded more frequently than anticipated affective attitude (55 and 8 times, respectively), which would likely reflect unknown feelings toward an intervention before experiencing it. Affective attitude was predominantly positive for both anticipated and experienced affective attitude, with participants describing AR as *cool* [AC004, HP003], *fun* [AC004] and a *great* concept [HP004]. The ability to immerse participants within the educational resource was also described:

I think it's like, it feels more, I know that information is probably, the information that's being delivered is the same, but you feel, feel like you're being interacted with, rather than just...there's the info. [HP004]

One child with asthma, however, did describe having negative feelings of having too much knowledge with the use of the intervention—...I could start worrying about my asthma. Get more worried [AC002] and some participants had concerns over the intervention being boring—I think they are okay. But some people might not. Just sit there and go 'Oh this is boring, I don't want to listen to this' [AC002]; I thought it was very clever. Just potentially, just boring for little ones [HP002].

## Intervention Coherence

Intervention coherence was defined as the extent to which participants understood the intervention and how it worked. Before the use of the intervention, many of the participants did not know what AR was; however, after experiencing the AR intervention, despite describing AR as different to what they expected—*different to how I envisioned* [HP003]; *I didn't think people would be talking to me. I actually thought it was going to be more reading* [CG003], most understood the intended purpose of using AR and smartphone or tablet technology to improve asthma inhaler technique and increase engagement and accessibility for asthma education:

So then I could read up from the information and, you know, explain it to her and explain it to others. [HP001]

I like the fact that it's just a piece of paper, um, and they can use their own smartphone...this is so simple, like it's just a piece of paper and your own smartphone, and I'm assuming it works with like Android or apple or whatever. So it's really, it's very accessible. [HP002]

## Ethicality

Ethicality described the extent to which AR and the use of smartphone or tablet technology would be a good fit within the value system of the participants. It was coded in 15 transcripts and was predominantly coded when participants were questioned about their personal views on the use of this technology in asthma education. All HCPs reported that they would use a similar intervention with AR technology if existed:

It would certainly be something that I would involve in my day to day practice if that was available to, um, show to patients, some parents. [HP006]

I would, I would love to have something like this to be able to use, especially in a time pressured world. So yeah. Yeah. I'd be very happy for this to be mainstream. [HP005]

All caregivers of children with asthma, and 4 out of 5 children with asthma also reported that they would use the intervention if they were available to them.

## Self-efficacy

Self-efficacy was described predominantly when participants were discussing the ease of use of the AR intervention and access to smartphones or tablets, and it was coded in 12 transcripts. One hundred percent of children with asthma had access to a smartphone or tablet (either their own individual device or the one within the household), and most participants were confident in their own ability to use the intervention with the description of it being *easy* to use [AC001, AC003, AC004, AC005, CG001, CG002, CG003, CG005, HP003, and HP006]. All coding related to self-efficacy was positive, with no concerns raised about the difficulty or inability to use AR via a smartphone or tablet app for asthma inhaler technique education.

## Burden

Despite the ease of use of the intervention reported by many participants in the self-efficacy construct, there was still a burden of using the AR educational intervention described above. Burden is the perceived effort required to participate in an intervention.

Burden, which was described by participants, included the inability to hold the attention of children through the educational videos alone—*It'd be good if it was more interactive* [AC002]; *I do wonder if like, especially for littler kids, if it wouldn't be exciting enough or interesting enough* [HP002] and technical aspects of the initial iterations of the intervention—*it looked like there was a little bit of lag sometimes* [HP001]; *I guess just working out those little things, like going back to the menu or like, how do you get back to that home page?* [HP003].

The requirement of the paper-based poster required to trigger the digital educational content by holding the phone over it was

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40231

also described as a burden—It would be, it would be good if once it started playing it, you didn't have to hold it there. [HP004]; if you need the paper to use the app and if patients lose the paper, then it...has some issues [HP001].

## **Opportunity Cost**

Opportunity cost, defined as the extent to which benefits, profits, or values must be given to engage in the intervention, was coded in 12 interviews. Opportunity costs were not necessarily explicitly stated, but concerns regarding parents being required to give up their values surrounding screen time if engaging in the intervention were voiced by some HCP participants—sometimes...parents are concerned regarding screen time and some parents may also not like their children using a smartphone, so that might be restrictive to certain patients [HP001]; I think, I think there's, um, I think there's negatives to screens. Um, when it's unsupervised prolonged use that becomes an addiction [HP003]. Interestingly, this was not reported by any of the caregivers.

The concern that the use of the intervention would mean the loss of the face-to-face interaction between families and their HCPs was also expressed as was the concern that for the intervention, access to a smartphone or tablet was necessary, and so people with asthma in a lower socioeconomic status may be missed:

You haven't got someone there to answer your questions...and I guess the difference with education being provided here before you go home, 'have you got any questions?' We can answer them. [HP003]

Some patients and their families may not have access to a smartphone, so that provides limitations in terms of a socioeconomic point of view. [HP001]

Downsides I guess, is, um, you obviously have to have access to the internet and things like that. So I suppose some disadvantaged people might not have a smartphone or wifi, et cetera. [HP006]

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

This qualitative study evaluated the acceptability of AR as a delivery mechanism for asthma inhaler technique education through a robust framework of acceptability, which has been used in the evaluation of other health care interventions [29,35-40].

Overall, participants positively reported the use of AR as a delivery mechanism for asthma inhaler technique and found it to be an acceptable intervention. This is in line with other studies that have examined the acceptability of the use of digital technologies for children and adolescents with asthma who have also indicated generally positive findings regarding the acceptability of interventions [48-50].

The TFA construct of perceived effectiveness was the most coded and reported by all participants. Participants found AR to be new and interesting for children, which would allow for increased engagement in inhaler technique education and the use of smartphones and tablets as an accessible modality for

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40231
```

many communities with asthma. In recent years, challenges from the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic have highlighted the need for alternative health care education delivery mechanisms [51-53]. Therefore, the ability of this intervention to be delivered at home or in other nonclinical settings is advantageous.

The ease of use of a digital health intervention is also important with regard to acceptability. A recent pilot study by Davis et al also discussed the importance placed by participants on the ease of use of a co-designed goal-setting asthma app for young people with asthma [44]. The ease of AR use was highlighted in the TFA construct of self-efficacy, in which participants reported simplicity of the intervention and the ability to confidently use AR technology independently via a smartphone device. Other forms of modern technologies, including virtual reality, may require additional equipment such as head-mounted displays or headphones to create a fully immersive experience, highlighting the relatively uncomplicated nature of AR as a benefit in this investigation [54-56].

The challenges to acceptability included the perceived burden of maintaining the attention of the children through educational videos alone, with suggestions such as increased gamification and animation provided by participants to try to combat this. Recently, multiple publications and systematic reviews have provided evidence of the potential of gamification to improve learning outcomes and promote positive behavioral change in various health care or educational settings [57-63]. Similarly, the impact of animation on visual attention has recently been studied in a systematic review that reported the positive influence animation has on viewers' attention and learning skills [64]. Regarding asthma specifically, smartphone apps such as AsthmaXcel Adventures, which use gamification and animation have been shown to improve asthma control and knowledge and reduce morbidity such as emergency department visits in pediatric patients with asthma, strengthening the case to incorporate these into developing AR interventions [65]. Technical difficulties of the intervention and the use of the paper-based resource requirement to trigger digital content also provided challenges for the use, which in further iterations will be ironed out to minimize this as a barrier for uptake. The opportunity cost of the lack of face-to-face interaction with HCPs was also identified with the use of AR via smartphone or tablet technology. It is possible this may be overcome via incorporation of a *chat* function with HCPs within the digital intervention, such as in the mobile health app designed by Kosse et al, who also showed improved adherence to asthma medication in adolescents with asthma who used this function [<mark>66</mark>].

#### Strengths and Limitations of the Study

The strengths of this study include the recruitment of likely end users for the intervention of participants to ensure optimization of information-rich data and the rigorous qualitative methodology applied to this evaluation. The gold-standard methodology included a prespecified published protocol, qualitative interview training, transcription of audio files, 2 coders to reduce interpretation bias and use of a well-established theoretical framework. The use of TFA allowed interview questions to be formed with a theoretical basis and allowed for

comparison with other studies that use TFA to explore similar themes.

This study has several limitations, including generalizability, limitations of AR technology, and a purely deductive analysis. Generalizability was limited because patients with asthma were excluded if English was not their first language. This precluded the evaluation of acceptability in other ethnic backgrounds, particularly in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in Australia, who have approximately 2 times the asthma prevalence than children who are non-Indigenous [67]. Participants were also unable to use the intervention if they had any visual or hearing impairment. As mentioned in the Methods section, the recruitment inclusion criteria were also changed during the study owing to the restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic and the diminished sample pool of older children (>12 years). To ensure that we adhered to purposive sampling, we could have increased the sample size or adjusted the parameters of our age inclusion criteria. After careful consideration and consultation with both asthma clinical care experts and experts in technological innovation design, it was decided that targeted, more meaningful information would be more likely to be obtained if only the younger cohort was included. It was also felt that the older cohort would have different design and content requirements. Therefore, we did not review the acceptability of AR in the adolescent age group but will do so in a future study. Other aspects of purposive sampling such as representation of the 3 different participant groups and gender were achieved. Purposive sampling is commonly used in qualitative research; however, there is an inherent risk of selection bias, which is another limitation of this study. Recruitment was also only undertaken at a single site-a tertiary pediatric hospital-indicating that the sample pool may not have had widely differing opinions. Patients and parents recruited may have had poorer control or more severe asthma, and HCPs may have been more experienced in managing asthma and providing education to this specific subpopulation. The AR intervention itself also had limitations owing to the availability of only a small amount of funding to design and develop the software, content, and scope of information. This may have affected the feedback received from the participants, especially in terms of the burden of use. This study also used a purely deductive approach for data analysis, which meant that there may have been data that did not fall within TFA and hence possibly missed. However, as TFA was

also used as the basis for interview questions within the semistructured moderator guides, the data generated predominantly fell within the TFA constructs. We did not identify any key outliers or recurring themes outside TFA.

## **Implications for Future Research and Clinical Practice**

AR is a relatively novel technological innovation; only 1 previous study has explored its use as a delivery mechanism in asthma inhaler techniques in children, and no qualitative research on its acceptability has been undertaken [28]. Although there have been multiple studies evaluating the acceptability of mobile apps and other digital interventions in patients with asthma, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the acceptability of AR for asthma inhaler technique education [68-70].

Our findings can inform future designs that should consider incorporating features such as gamification to further increase engagement and ensure a streamlined design with minimal technical difficulties to decrease the perceived burden of use. The possibility of including interactions with health care professionals may also be beneficial to decrease the perceived opportunity cost of loss of the ability of caregivers and children to ask questions, provide feedback, and knowledge *check back*.

To ensure successful uptake and implementation in the clinical setting and for broader generalizability, future research should focus on barriers and facilitators to change the usability of such interventions, feasibility (by focusing on areas such as practicality and efficacy testing), and exploration of the use of AR in other groups who may have suboptimal engagement in asthma inhaler technique education, such as adolescents.

## Conclusions

AR appears to be an acceptable modality for the delivery of inhaler education to children with asthma, their caregivers, and HCPs who provide care to young people with asthma. This evaluation provides important findings to inform further development, expansion, and upscaling of the AR education resource to address issues around inhaler technique education and potential beyond this specific issue. It also identified an appetite for novel technology-based health interventions to deliver best-practice self-management and education within the asthma community. The findings may also be used to inform the design of future interventions using AR-enabled smartphone or tablet apps to deliver health care education.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the children, their families, and health care professionals who participated in this study.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

KCC is a cofounder of a start-up company that includes augmented reality technology as one of the functions in a smartphone app to support smoking cessation attempts. At the time of manuscript submission, personal financial interests have yet to be attained.

## References



- Safiri S, Carson-Chahhoud K, Karamzad N, Sullman MJ, Nejadghaderi SA, Taghizadieh A, et al. Prevalence, deaths, and disability-adjusted life-years due to asthma and its attributable risk factors in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019. Chest 2022 Feb;161(2):318-329. [doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2021.09.042] [Medline: 34699773]
- Dharmage SC, Perret JL, Custovic A. Epidemiology of asthma in children and adults. Front Pediatr 2019 Jun 18;7:246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00246] [Medline: 31275909]
- 3. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma 2007 (EPR-3). NIH National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/guidelines-for-diagnosis-management-of-asthma</u> [accessed 2022-04-20]
- 4. Mims JW. Asthma: definitions and pathophysiology. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol 2015 Sep 03;5 Suppl 1(S1):S2-S6. [doi: 10.1002/alr.21609] [Medline: 26335832]
- 5. Grad R, Morgan WJ. Long-term outcomes of early-onset wheeze and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012 Aug;130(2):299-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.05.022] [Medline: 22738675]
- 6. Fehrenbach H, Wagner C, Wegmann M. Airway remodeling in asthma: what really matters. Cell Tissue Res 2017 Mar 11;367(3):551-569 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00441-016-2566-8] [Medline: 28190087]
- 7. British guideline on the management of asthma. Healthcare Improvement Scotland. URL: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/our-gui</u> <u>delines/british-guideline-on-the-management-of-asthma/</u> [accessed 2022-04-25]
- 8. Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention (2019 update). Global Initiative for Asthma. 2019. URL: <u>https://ginasthma.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/GINA-2019-main-report-June-2019-wms.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-04-20]
- Normansell R, Kew K. Interventions to improve inhaler technique for people with asthma. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2016 Jul 14. URL: <u>https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD012286/full</u> [accessed 2022-04-20]
- Litt HK, Press VG, Hull A, Siros M, Luna V, Volerman A. Association between inhaler technique and confidence among hospitalized children with asthma. Respir Med 2020 Nov;174:106191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2020.106191] [Medline: 33152551]
- Samady W, Rodriguez V, Gupta R, Palac H, Karamanis M, Press V. Critical errors in inhaler technique among children hospitalized with asthma. J Hosp Med 2019 Jun 01;14(6):361-365 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.12788/jhm.3195</u>] [Medline: <u>30986181</u>]
- Sleath B, Ayala GX, Gillette C, Williams D, Davis S, Tudor G, et al. Provider demonstration and assessment of child device technique during pediatric asthma visits. Pediatrics 2011 Apr;127(4):642-648 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-1206] [Medline: 21444594]
- 13. Tiller E, Greenland N, Christie R, Kos A, Brennan N, Di Nicola K, Mission Australia. Youth Survey Report 2021. Sydney, New South Wales: Mission Australia; 2021.
- Al Raimi AM, Chong MC, Tang LY, Chua YP, Al Ajeel LY. The effect of mobile applications in enhancing asthma knowledge among school children with asthma in Malaysia. J Pediatr Nurs 2022 Jul;65:e63-e71. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2022.02.012</u>] [Medline: <u>35279333</u>]
- Drummond D, Monnier D, Tesnière A, Hadchouel A. A systematic review of serious games in asthma education. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2017 May 27;28(3):257-265. [doi: <u>10.1111/pai.12690</u>] [Medline: <u>27992659</u>]
- Ramsey R, Plevinsky J, Kollin S, Gibler R, Guilbert T, Hommel K. Systematic review of digital interventions for pediatric asthma management. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2020 Apr;8(4):1284-1293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.12.013] [Medline: 31870809]
- 17. Farzandipour M, Nabovati E, Sharif R, Arani MH, Anvari S. Patient self-management of asthma using mobile health applications: a systematic review of the functionalities and effects. Appl Clin Inform 2017 Oct;8(4):1068-1081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2017-07-R-0116] [Medline: 29241254]
- Hui CY, Walton R, McKinstry B, Jackson T, Parker R, Pinnock H. The use of mobile applications to support self-management for people with asthma: a systematic review of controlled studies to identify features associated with clinical effectiveness and adherence. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 May 01;24(3):619-632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw143] [Medline: 27694279]
- 19. Akçayır M, Akçayır G. Advantages and challenges associated with augmented reality for education: a systematic review of the literature. Educ Res Rev 2017 Feb;20:1-11. [doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2016.11.002]
- 20. Guevara J. 5 recent tech innovations disrupting the medical and healthcare industry. Health Tech Zone. 2020 Aug 27. URL: https://www.healthtechzone.com/topics/healthcare/articles/2020/08/27/446396-5-recent-tech-innovations-disrupting-me dical-healthcare-industry.htm [accessed 2022-04-25]
- Bacca J, Baldiris S, Fabregat R, Kinshuk. Insights into the factors influencing student motivation in augmented reality learning experiences in vocational education and training. Front Psychol 2018 Aug 21;9:1486 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01486] [Medline: 30186196]
- 22. Eckert M, Volmerg JS, Friedrich CM. Augmented reality in medicine: systematic and bibliographic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 26;7(4):e10967 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10967] [Medline: 31025950]
- 23. Hrishikesh N, Nair J. Interactive learning system for the hearing impaired and the vocally challenged. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI). 2016 Presented at:

International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI); Sep 21-24, 2016; Jaipur, India. [doi: 10.1109/icacci.2016.7732188]

- 24. Lavoye V, Mero J, Tarkiainen A. Consumer behavior with augmented reality in retail: a review and research agenda. Int Rev Retail Distribution Consumer Res 2021 Mar 29;31(3):299-329. [doi: 10.1080/09593969.2021.1901765]
- 25. McGuirt JT, Cooke NK, Burgermaster M, Enahora B, Huebner G, Meng Y, et al. Extended reality technologies in nutrition education and behavior: comprehensive scoping review and future directions. Nutrients 2020 Sep 22;12(9):2899 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu12092899] [Medline: 32971972]
- 26. Santos ME, Chen A, Taketomi T, Yamamoto G, Miyazaki J, Kato H. Augmented reality learning experiences: survey of prototype design and evaluation. IEEE Trans Learning Technol 2014 Jan;7(1):38-56. [doi: 10.1109/tlt.2013.37]
- 27. Graham A, Sahlberg P. Growing up Digital Australia: Phase 2 technical report. Gonski Institute for Education. 2021. URL: https://www.gie.unsw.edu.au/sites/default/files/documents/GONS5000%20Growing%20Up%20Digital%20Report\_FINAL. pdf [accessed 2022-04-22]
- 28. Al-Naimi S, Brady P, Andrews T, Janes C, Ibrahim F, Abdel-Maguid M. Examining the efficacy of a novel augmented reality mobile delivery platform for the enhancement of asthma care education for children. Int J Interact Mob Technol 2021 Apr 09;15(07):47. [doi: 10.3991/ijim.v15i07.20379]
- 29. Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Acceptability of healthcare interventions: an overview of reviews and development of a theoretical framework. BMC Health Serv Res 2017 Jan 26;17(1):88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2031-8] [Medline: 28126032]
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2008 Sep 29;337(sep29 1):a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, et al. Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2015 Mar 19;350:h1258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.h1258] [Medline: 25791983]
- Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Development of a theory-informed questionnaire to assess the acceptability of healthcare interventions. BMC Health Serv Res 2022 Mar 01;22(1):279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-07577-3] [Medline: 35232455]
- Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2021 Sep 30;374:n2061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2061] [Medline: 34593508]
- Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Acceptability of healthcare interventions: an overview of reviews and development of a theoretical framework. BMC Health Serv Res 2017 Jan 26;17(1):88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2031-8] [Medline: 28126032]
- 35. Damush TM, Penney LS, Miech EJ, Rattray NA, Baird SA, Cheatham AJ, et al. Acceptability of a complex team-based quality improvement intervention for transient ischemic attack: a mixed-methods study. BMC Health Serv Res 2021 May 12;21(1):453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06318-2] [Medline: 33980224]
- Hornuvo R, Addo-Lartey A, Alangea DO, Dako-Gyeke P. Using the Theoretical Framework of Acceptability for qualitative assessment of the "COMBAT" VAW intervention in Ghana. PLOS Glob Public Health 2022 May 2;2(5):e0000269. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pgph.0000269]
- Lafferty L, Cochrane A, Sheehan Y, Treloar C, Grebely J, Lloyd AR. "That was quick, simple, and easy": patient perceptions of acceptability of point-of-care hepatitis C RNA testing at a reception prison. Int J Drug Policy 2022 Jan;99:103456. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2021.103456] [Medline: 34560624]
- Murphy A, Gardner D. Pharmacists' acceptability of a men's mental health promotion program using the Theoretical Framework of Acceptability. AIMS Public Health 2019;6(2):195-208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3934/publichealth.2019.2.195] [Medline: 31297404]
- 39. Murphy AL, Gardner DM. Pilot testing the theoretical framework of acceptability in a process evaluation of a community pharmacy–based men's mental health promotion program. SAGE Open 2019 Oct 30;9(4):215824401988512. [doi: 10.1177/2158244019885129]
- 40. Pavlova N, Teychenne M, Olander EK. The concurrent acceptability of a postnatal walking group: a qualitative study using the theoretical framework of acceptability. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Jul 13;17(14):5027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17145027] [Medline: 32668772]
- 41. Sekhon M, van der Straten A, MTN-041/MAMMA Study Team. Pregnant and breastfeeding women's prospective acceptability of two biomedical HIV prevention approaches in Sub Saharan Africa: a multisite qualitative analysis using the Theoretical Framework of Acceptability. PLoS One 2021 Nov 16;16(11):e0259779 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259779] [Medline: 34784355]
- 42. Alwashmi MF, Hawboldt J, Davis E, Fetters MD. The iterative convergent design for mobile health usability testing: mixed methods approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 26;7(4):e11656 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11656] [Medline: 31025951]

- 43. Frith K. Applied Clinical Informatics for Nurses. Burlington, Massachusetts, United States: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2014.
- Davis SR, Peters D, Calvo RA, Sawyer SM, Foster JM, Smith L. "Kiss myAsthma": using a participatory design approach to develop a self-management app with young people with asthma. J Asthma 2018 Sep;55(9):1018-1027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/02770903.2017.1388391] [Medline: 29064746]
- 45. Davis SR, Peters D, Calvo RA, Sawyer SM, Foster JM, Smith LD. A consumer designed smartphone app for young people with asthma: pilot of engagement and acceptability. J Asthma 2021 Feb 06;58(2):253-261. [doi: 10.1080/02770903.2019.1680997] [Medline: <u>31691618</u>]
- 46. Sonney J, Cho EE, Zheng Q, Kientz JA. Refinement of a parent-child shared asthma management mobile health app: human-centered design study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 Feb 17;5(1):e34117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34117] [Medline: 35175214]
- 47. Cleary M, Horsfall J, Hayter M. Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: does size matter? J Adv Nurs 2014 Mar 23;70(3):473-475. [doi: <u>10.1111/jan.12163</u>] [Medline: <u>24450874</u>]
- 48. QSR International homepage. QSR International. URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/</u> [accessed 2022-04-20]
- Chan AH, Stewart AW, Harrison J, Black PN, Mitchell EA, Foster JM. Electronic adherence monitoring device performance and patient acceptability: a randomized control trial. Expert Rev Med Devices 2017 May 03;14(5):401-411. [doi: <u>10.1080/17434440.2017.1322505</u>] [Medline: <u>28434269</u>]
- 50. Milne-Ives M, Lam C, Meinert E. Digital technologies for monitoring and improving treatment adherence in children and adolescents with asthma: scoping review of randomized controlled trials. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Sep 17;4(3):e27999 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27999] [Medline: 34533463]
- 51. Jácome C, Almeida R, Pereira AM, Amaral R, Mendes S, Alves-Correia M, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of an asthma app to monitor medication adherence: mixed methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 May 25;9(5):e26442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26442] [Medline: 34032576]
- Ashley C, Halcomb E, James S, Calma K, Stephen C, McInnes S, et al. The impact of COVID-19 on the delivery of care by Australian primary health care nurses. Health Soc Care Community 2022 Sep 10;30(5):e2670-e2677. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.13710] [Medline: 35001446]
- Park C, Park N. Coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic's implication on future technology-integrated healthcare education. Contemp Nurse 2022;58(2-3):109-112. [doi: <u>10.1080/10376178.2022.2109495</u>] [Medline: <u>35916767</u>]
- Ye J. The role of health technology and informatics in a global public health emergency: practices and implications from the COVID-19 pandemic. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Jul 14;8(7):e19866 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19866] [Medline: 32568725]
- 55. Stromberga Z, Phelps C, Smith J, Moro C. Teaching with disruptive technology: the use of augmented, virtual, and mixed reality (HoloLens) for disease education. Adv Exp Med Biol 2021;1317:147-162. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-61125-5\_8] [Medline: 33945136]
- 56. Khor WS, Baker B, Amin K, Chan A, Patel K, Wong J. Augmented and virtual reality in surgery-the digital surgical environment: applications, limitations and legal pitfalls. Ann Transl Med 2016 Dec;4(23):454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.12.23] [Medline: 28090510]
- 57. Rauschnabel P, Felix R, Hinsch C, Shahab H, Alt F. What is XR? Towards a framework for augmented and virtual reality. Comput Human Behav 2022 Aug;133:107289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2022.107289]
- Gentry SV, Gauthier A, L'Estrade Ehrstrom B, Wortley D, Lilienthal A, Tudor Car L, et al. Serious gaming and gamification education in health professions: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 28;21(3):e12994 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12994] [Medline: 30920375]
- 59. Kalogiannakis M, Papadakis S, Zourmpakis A. Gamification in science education. A systematic review of the literature. Educ Sci 2021 Jan 06;11(1):22. [doi: 10.3390/educsci11010022]
- Manzano-León A, Camacho-Lazarraga P, Guerrero MA, Guerrero-Puerta L, Aguilar-Parra JM, Trigueros R, et al. Between level up and game over: a systematic literature review of gamification in education. Sustainability 2021 Feb 19;13(4):2247. [doi: <u>10.3390/su13042247</u>]
- 61. Mazeas A, Duclos M, Pereira B, Chalabaev A. Evaluating the effectiveness of gamification on physical activity: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jan 04;24(1):e26779 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26779] [Medline: 34982715]
- 62. Suleiman-Martos N, García-Lara RA, Martos-Cabrera MB, Albendín-García L, Romero-Béjar JL, Cañadas-De la Fuente GA, et al. Gamification for the improvement of diet, nutritional habits, and body composition in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutrients 2021 Jul 20;13(7):2478 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu13072478] [Medline: 34371989]
- 63. van Gaalen AE, Brouwer J, Schönrock-Adema J, Bouwkamp-Timmer T, Jaarsma AD, Georgiadis JR. Gamification of health professions education: a systematic review. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract 2021 May 31;26(2):683-711 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10459-020-10000-3] [Medline: 33128662]

- Xu L, Shi H, Shen M, Ni Y, Zhang X, Pang Y, et al. The effects of mHealth-based gamification interventions on participation in physical activity: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022 Feb 03;10(2):e27794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27794] [Medline: 35113034]
- 65. Praveen C, Srinivasan K. Psychological impact and influence of animation on viewer's visual attention and cognition: a systematic literature review, open challenges, and future research directions. Comput Math Methods Med 2022;2022:8802542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2022/8802542] [Medline: 36092789]
- 66. Hsia BC, Singh AK, Njeze O, Cosar E, Mowrey WB, Feldman J, et al. Developing and evaluating ASTHMAXcel adventures: a novel gamified mobile application for pediatric patients with asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2020 Nov;125(5):581-588 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2020.07.018] [Medline: 32711031]
- 67. Kosse RC, Bouvy ML, Belitser SV, de Vries TW, van der Wal PS, Koster ES. Effective engagement of adolescent asthma patients with mobile health-supporting medication adherence. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Mar 27;7(3):e12411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12411] [Medline: 30916664]
- Brew B, Gibberd A, Marks GB, Strobel N, Allen CW, Jorm L, et al. Identifying preventable risk factors for hospitalised asthma in young Aboriginal children: a whole-population cohort study. Thorax 2021 Jun 08;76(6):539-546. [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2020-216189] [Medline: <u>33419952</u>]
- Cushing A, Manice M, Ting A, Parides M. Feasibility of a novel mHealth management system to capture and improve medication adherence among adolescents with asthma. Patient Prefer Adherence 2016 Nov;10:2271-2275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S115713] [Medline: 27853357]
- Farooqui N, Phillips G, Barrett C, Stukus D. Acceptability of an interactive asthma management mobile health application for children and adolescents. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2015 Jun;114(6):527-529 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2015.03.006] [Medline: 26021895]

## Abbreviations

**AR:** augmented reality **HCP:** health care professional **TFA:** theoretical framework of acceptability

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 12.06.22; peer-reviewed by T Risling, B Nievas Soriano; comments to author 26.09.22; revised version received 08.11.22; accepted 09.11.22; published 13.01.23.

Please cite as:

O'Connor A, Tai A, Brinn M, Hoang ANTH, Cataldi D, Carson-Chahhoud K The Acceptability of Using Augmented Reality as a Mechanism to Engage Children in Asthma Inhaler Technique Training: Qualitative Interview Study With Deductive Thematic Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40231 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40231 doi:10.2196/40231 PMID:36637889

©Antonia O'Connor, Andrew Tai, Malcolm Brinn, Amy Nguyen Thuc Hien Hoang, Daniele Cataldi, Kristin Carson-Chahhoud. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.01.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Co-design of an Augmented Reality Asthma Inhaler Educational Intervention for Children: Development and Usability Study

Antonia O'Connor<sup>1,2</sup>, MBBS; Andrew Tai<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MBBS, DPhil; Malcolm Brinn<sup>4,5</sup>, DPhil; Amy Nguyen Thuc Hien Hoang<sup>6</sup>, MBBS; Daniele Cataldi<sup>6</sup>, MBBS; Kristin Carson-Chahhoud<sup>2,4,5</sup>, DPhil

<sup>1</sup>Respiratory and Sleep Department, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>2</sup>School of Medicine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Robinson Research Institute, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Translational Medicine and Technology Research Group, University of South Australia, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Australian Centre for Precision Health, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, Australia

<sup>6</sup>Paediatric Medicine, The Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

## **Corresponding Author:**

Antonia O'Connor, MBBS Respiratory and Sleep Department Women's and Children's Hospital 72 King William Road, North Adelaide Adelaide, 5006 Australia Phone: 61 08 81617234 Email: antonia.chan@sa.gov.au

## Abstract

**Background:** Smartphone and tablet apps that deliver health care education have been identified as effective in improving patient knowledge and treatment adherence in asthma populations. Despite asthma being the most common chronic disease in pediatrics, there are few apps that are targeted specifically for children. Only half of children with asthma have acceptable control of their symptoms, and 40%-98% do not use their inhalers correctly. With children being increasingly connected to technology, there is an opportunity to improve asthma inhaler technique education by delivery via smartphone or tablet apps. Augmented reality (AR) technology was used in this study to capitalize on growing technological innovations. Digital health interventions that use a co-design process for development have the highest likelihood of successful uptake and effectiveness on their intended outcomes. Perceived usability also has been shown to improve the effectiveness of education as well as the acceptance of the intervention.

**Objective:** The aims of this study were to describe the co-design process, development, and design outcomes of a smartphone or tablet app that incorporates AR technology to deliver asthma inhaler technique education to children with asthma. This study also aimed to provide a usability evaluation, using the System Usability Scale to inform our work and future research, and recommendations for others performing similar work.

**Methods:** The development of the AR asthma inhaler technique education app was based on an iterative co-design process with likely end users (children with asthma, their caregivers, and health care professionals). This involved multiple stages: recruitment of end users for qualitative interviews and usability testing with a previously designed educational intervention, which used an AR-embedded smartphone or tablet app; ideation of content for a specific asthma inhaler technique education intervention with end users; development of the specific asthma inhaler intervention; and 2 further rounds of interviews and usability testing with the redesign of the initial prototype.

**Results:** We included 16 participants aged 9-45 years. Using the co-design process, the AR asthma inhaler technique education app was designed, incorporating the preferences of end users. After iteration 1, animation was included based on the feedback provided. Iteration 2 feedback resulted in increased AR experiences and the removal of the requirement of a paper-based resource to trigger AR in the third iteration. Throughout all rounds, the ease of use of the app and the novel nature of the intervention were frequently described. The usability of the intervention overall was perceived to be excellent, and the mean System Usability Scale score of the intervention was found to be highest in the final round of evaluation (90.14).

**Conclusions:** The results from this co-design process and usability evaluation will be used to develop a final AR asthma inhaler technique educational intervention, which will be evaluated in the clinical setting.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1177/16094069211042229

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40219) doi:10.2196/40219

## **KEYWORDS**

asthma; asthma education; pediatric; pediatric asthma; co-design; usability; development; smartphone; tablet; augmented reality; health education; mobile app; mobile phone

## Introduction

## Background

There are currently over 6 billion smartphone users worldwide, with a 50% increase in the number of users over the last 5 years [1]. With the abundance of smartphone users and over 50,000 health care or medical apps available, the ease of access and convenience of such apps became clear during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, during which surveys found that 40% of respondents trialed new health care apps for monitoring their health [2,3]. Systematic reviews of health care education delivered via smartphone or tablet apps have identified effectiveness for outcomes such as improved knowledge, adherence to medications or treatment, and improved clinical care [4]. For asthma self-management, health care apps have also shown positive effects, with improvements in quality of life and asthma control [5,6].

Despite asthma being more prevalent in the pediatric population and only 50% of this population having acceptable control of their asthma symptoms, only 5% of the almost 150 apps available related to asthma are targeted specifically toward children [7-9]. This subgroup of patients with asthma is increasingly connected to digital technology, with the age of introduction continually dropping and research suggesting that some children are more familiar with devices, such as smartphone and tablets, than with books [10]. It is clear that smartphone and tablet-related apps should be designed for this population.

Smartphone and tablet apps that use augmented reality (AR) technology may provide a novel, generation-appropriate delivery mechanism for asthma self-management education in children. Using smartphone and tablets as viewing devices, AR technology has the ability to superimpose digital information over real-world objects, giving the impression of coexistence within the same space [11]. AR is one of the leading novel technological innovations in the medical and health care industry, with their adoption into medical education and training, diagnostic imaging, and patient management already being prominent [12-14]. While research of AR in asthma education is scarce, it has been shown in other sectors to have proven efficacy for behavior change [11,15]. AR has yet to be explored in an asthma pediatric cohort, with only 1 study to date reporting on the use of AR in inhaler education for children without asthma [16].

Although still described as a relatively new process [17], the co-design of digital health interventions facilitates active collaboration between intended end users, key stakeholders,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40219
```

and software developers to build a program with the highest likelihood of successful uptake and effectiveness on intended outcomes [18,19]. There is growing awareness about the importance of consumer co-design for tech-based health interventions among youth and the need to publish specific details of the consumer engagement process, enabling reproducibility and scientific rigor [18-22]. The risk of inadequate engagement is inferior and less appealing products and can lead to low uptake and effectiveness [22]. In 2016, Schneider et al [23] highlighted the importance of developing an app in collaboration with a cohort of young people with asthma. However, to our knowledge, few studies since then have been published on a user-centered design process in asthma [23-27].

In addition to co-design with potential end users and stakeholders, the usability of an intervention should also be evaluated through the design process. The International Organization of Standardization defines usability as "the extent to which the intervention or product can achieve specified goals by specified users with effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction" [28]. Perceived good usability has been shown to improve the effectiveness of the education from the intervention as well as improve productivity and end user well-being in health-related apps [29,30]. Good usability perceived by clinicians is also vital for increasing the likelihood of successful uptake of the intervention within clinical settings, with poor perceived usability of technology-based systems, such as electronic health systems, linked to increased workload and lower acceptance of the system [31-34].

With the asthma inhaler technique having been well studied to be frequently performed incorrectly, with errors in 40%-92% of children, there is a clear ongoing need for alternative methods to deliver asthma inhaler technique education to this cohort [35-37]. Given the popularity of smartphones among young people and their increasing use, a smartphone or tablet app that uses AR may be an effective way to address this. With the small number of apps available for young people with asthma but the growing popularity of their usage, there is a need to co-design a smartphone or tablet app for this cohort. To maximize effectiveness, a co-design process that focuses on usability is necessary.

## Objectives

Our main objective was to undertake a co-design process for a smartphone or tablet app that uses AR technology to deliver asthma inhaler technique education, to capitalize on growing technological innovations in children with asthma and address the paucity of co-designed apps. Our secondary objective was

to evaluate the usability of the AR smartphone or tablet app. As AR is a novel technology for delivering asthma education, the co-design process of an intervention and evaluation of its usability are necessary. Our aims were to describe the process, development, and design outcomes and perform usability evaluation to inform our work and future research, as well as to provide recommendations for others performing similar work.

## Methods

## Overview

We created an AR-enabled smartphone or tablet app to address the 40%-92% of children who have incorrect asthma inhaler technique. Development of the AR asthma inhaler technique education intervention was based on an iterative co-design process [38]. This involved 3 rounds of semistructured one-on-one interviews with likely end users to ideate content for the asthma inhaler technique education intervention initially and then obtain feedback to inform subsequent iteration development. Evaluation of the usability was performed in each round, using the System Usability Scale (SUS) questionnaire [39].

Qualitative evaluation based on the Theoretical Framework of Acceptability and Theoretical Domains Framework was obtained through interviews and questionnaires, with these results presented in separate papers [40,41]. In brief, the Theoretical Framework of Acceptability is a validated framework for the assessment of the acceptability of health care interventions to aid the identification of any characteristics that may be improved [41,42]. The Theoretical Domains Framework is also a validated framework that is used for the investigation of the barriers and facilitators of health behavior change interventions [43]. This paper will focus only on the iterative co-design process and usability, which are important to publish to enable reproducibility and scientific rigor.

## **Ethics Approval**

Ethics and governance were approved on August 21, 2020, after the study was reviewed by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the study site (approval number HREC/20/WCHN/74). Participants were provided with participant information sheets prior to enrollment, and written informed consent or oral assent was obtained from participants prior to interviews being conducted.

## **Recruitment and Participants**

An approximate total sample size of 15-20 participants was determined, prior to recruitment, for 3-4 usability testing rounds. This sample size was based on previous usability studies and experts of usability testing advocating that 5 users be involved per round, as 80% of usability problems can be found within these 5 users [44]. Five users per round was not a strict rule; however, as Faulkner [45] suggested, increasing the numbers tested can improve data confidence.

Purposive sampling was planned for recruitment to ensure adequate diversity of likely end users for maximal transferability of the intervention. Likely end users were children with asthma; their caregivers, who would likely be involved in the supervision

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40219
```

and delivery of the intervention; and health care professionals (HCPs), who had experience in the management of children with asthma and would be those who introduced the intervention to children and their families. HCPs were also thought to be imperative in the co-design process and usability testing, as they would allow for knowledge and feedback on how the intervention would be able to complement standard care and be successfully integrated within the relevant settings. Purposive sampling was also used to ensure that a broad range of experiences, backgrounds, and opinions could be obtained from participants.

Inclusion criteria for children were an age of 8-17 years and a clinical diagnosis of asthma among those who were able to give assent. Inclusion criteria for caregivers were those who were the primary caregivers for children with a clinical diagnosis of asthma and were able to give consent. With purposive sampling intended to gain good representation of end users, it was identified midrecruitment that predominantly younger children were presenting to the hospital during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic when recruitment was occurring, and there were minimal face-to-face outpatient clinic appointments also affecting recruitment from the older cohort. The decision was made halfway through recruitment to change the inclusion criteria to children aged 8-12 years, in consultation with experts in clinical care and technological innovation design.

Inclusion criteria for HCPs were nursing professionals, pediatric general medical doctors, respiratory doctors, pharmacists, asthma educators, or general practitioners who had treated and managed children with asthma regularly for over 12 months in the previous 5 years.

Potential participants who were non-English speaking were excluded. Participants were recruited by the primary investigator, starting from July 2021, at a tertiary pediatric hospital within Australia. Potential participants were approached and screened for inclusion and provided with patient information sheets. Potential participants were given time to review the information sheets and given the opportunity to decline participation.

## **Data Collection and Analysis**

Co-design data were obtained through one-on-one interviews, using semistructured moderator guides, by the primary investigator who had received interview training. Focus groups had been initially planned for the co-design process; however, due to the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, this changed to one-on-one interviews. Interviews took approximately 20-40 minutes per participant and involved four components: (1) exploring the participants' previous experiences with asthma and asthma education (specifically inhaler technique education), experiences with smartphone and tablet apps in health care, and experiences with AR; (2) being shown the intervention by the interviewer; (3) being able to use the intervention as a one-off; and (4) exploring participants' views and experiences of the trialed intervention.

All interviews were audio-recorded, auto-transcribed, and check-backed by the primary investigator to ensure all data were verbatim. Feedback from each iteration was consolidated by
the primary investigator and discussed with the project team, which resulted in an agreed set of changes over subsequent iterations. The evidence underpinning these recommendations has been presented in the results with supporting evidence from the quotes. We prioritized changes where there was some consensus by participants that a change was needed and changes that were within the scope of our budget and time.

Usability data were collected via the SUS questionnaire. The SUS is a common, simple, standardized questionnaire for perceived usability, which has been used since the 1980s [39,46]. It was chosen for this study due to its known suitability in the evaluation of computer systems, medical systems, and mobile devices; its relatively simple ease of administration; its ease of interpretation with known reference standards; and its suitability with small sample sizes [47]. Participants were asked to complete the questionnaire once the interview had been completed.

The standard approach for scoring the SUS was used, in which the 10 questions were answered based on the 5-point scale, odd-numbered items had 1 subtracted from the raw score, and even-numbered items had the raw score subtracted from 5, with the sum of the adjusted scores multiplied by 5 for the standard SUS score [39]. If a participant did not score an item, it was given a raw score of 3 [39]. The standard SUS scores were entered into Microsoft Excel to determine the mean, median, and SD for all participants. The higher the score, the better the usability, with Bangor et al [48] suggesting a system needs to score above 70 to be considered at least passable, and better systems will score in the high 70s to high 80s, with scores over 90 indicating a truly superior system. The SUS, which was supplied for children, had small wording modifications (Table 1).

 Table 1. SUS<sup>a</sup> for children.

Item	SUS statement	Modified statement for children
1	I think that I would like to use this system frequently.	I think that I would like to use this resource often.
2	I found the system unnecessarily complex.	I found the resource unnecessarily complicated.
3	I thought the system was easy to use.	I thought the resource was easy to use.
4	I think that I would need the support of a technical person to use this system.	I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this resource.
5	I found the various functions in this system were well integrated.	I found the various functions in this resource were put together well.
6	I thought there was too much inconsistency in this system.	I thought there were too many differences in this resource.
7	I would imagine that most people would learn to use this system very quickly.	I imagine that most people would learn to use this resource very quickly.
8	I found the system very cumbersome to use.	I found the resource very difficult to use.
9	I felt very confident using the system.	I feel very confident using the resource.
10	I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with this system.	I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with this resource.

<sup>a</sup>SUS: System Usability Scale.

# Results

#### **Participant Characteristics**

A total of 16 participants were recruited between July 2021 and April 2022. This included 5 children with asthma, their 5 caregivers, and 6 HCPs who had experience in managing patients with asthma. There were 3 rounds, with 4 to 6 new participants per round (Table 2).

HCPs (n=6) included respiratory and general pediatrics doctors and nursing staff who had backgrounds of working within inpatient settings, emergency departments, and intensive care units, as well as educator roles within the hospital. Children (n=5) and their caregivers (n=5) with asthma had been predominantly diagnosed by a general pediatrician or respiratory specialist and were recruited while admitted into the hospital for the treatment of asthma exacerbations. All caregivers were female, and there was a broad range of educational levels, from not having completed year 12 to the completion of tertiary education.

Table 2. Number of participants per round of intervi
------------------------------------------------------

	First iteration (N=4)	Second iteration (N=6)	Third iteration (N=6)		
Health care professionals, n	2	2	2		
Children with asthma, n	1	2	2		
Caregivers of children with asthma, n	1	2	2		
Sex (males:females)	0:4	1:5	4:2		



#### **Co-design Process and Intervention Feedback**

#### Iteration 1: Interviews and Feedback

Participants were initially shown an educational intervention, which incorporated AR to deliver education via a smartphone or tablet app on physiotherapy in cystic fibrosis. This was undertaken to provide a basic demonstration as to how AR-enabled technology delivered via a smartphone or tablet app works. The first round was aimed at the general concept of AR, as end-user input for a specific asthma inhaler educational intervention was wanted from the outset, with no previous published qualitative research, usability testing, or design processes for AR interventions in asthma education for children to form a precedence. The activation of digital content on physiotherapy equipment education was triggered (via pattern recognition) when the app was open and the smartphone or tablet hovered over a paper pamphlet. This allowed the user to have a direct view of video demonstrations on their smartphone or tablet device, giving the impression of the images on the paper "coming to life" (Figure 1). Participants were then given time to use the smartphone or tablet to trial the use of the intervention themselves, provide feedback on their experiences with the AR technology, and generate ideas on content specifically for an asthma inhaler technique educational intervention that used AR.

Figure 1. Iteration 1 demonstrated and used by participants in the first round.



During the first round of interviews (N=4), the use of AR technology was found to be novel, interesting, and easy to use:

#### It was, it was new. It was good [caregiver, female]

It's like really being in the future...Like I wouldn't have ever, if you look at this piece of paper, you wouldn't expect that to kind of come to life. So I think that will be like the surprise factor as well, make it interesting for them and yeah. Get their attention [health professional, female]

[it was] pretty easy to use [child, female]

#### I liked it [augmented reality] [child, female]

All participants reported that the use of an AR intervention would be a useful mechanism for delivering education to children and teenagers, including the child participant who answered "yeah" to the question "Do you think it would be useful for…learning about your asthma?" [child, female].

Suggestions and ideas for content were recommended through the interviews for the provision of education on all asthma inhaler devices as well as education on the asthma disease process itself:

It would good to have one, I guess, I mean, for each of the puffers or each of the puffer types like a metered dose inhaler and a spacer, and then like your, um, elliptas and kind of going through all of them with how to use them, that would be good [health professional, female]

So particularly, um, use of inhalers, um, reliever and preventer, and sort of, um, a video representation to children of how they should use their preventer or their reliever [health professional, female]

I guess that would be good to have a broad overview of asthma and what asthma is [health professional, female]

To create content that younger people were more likely to engage with, the addition of animation and the need to improve relatability to children were suggestions that were provided to ensure that the content was more age appropriate:

somehow you have to make it sound exciting rather than just so factual [health professional, female]

*So I don't know if younger ones potentially, um, like cartoony...* [health professional, female]

The use of the paper pamphlet to trigger the AR and the digital educational content itself was also raised as a potential burden:

I guess the paper based resource has limitations in terms of, if you need the paper to use the app and if patients lose the paper, then it makes, has some issues... [health professional, female]

#### Iteration 2: Interviews and Feedback

A second iteration, which was designed specifically for asthma inhaler technique education and used the same AR technology as iteration 1, was created (Figures 2 and 3). This iteration used the same paper-based mechanism to activate educational digital content, for which a poster of 3 children was created. When the smartphone or tablet app was open and hovered over the asthma-specific poster, the digital content-the 3 children "coming to life" and speaking on asthma and asthma inhalers-was triggered, with users being able to view this through the screen of their device, which superimposed the web-based educational content onto the real world. Users were given the option to click on signs being held by each child to view educational content on general asthma information, asthma reliever inhalers, or asthma preventer inhalers. If users chose to view content on asthma inhalers, further videos that demonstrated the steps on inhaler use were provided as options, with users being able to choose which inhalers they would like to learn more about (Figures 2 and 3). Due to time constraints, a purely app-based intervention was unable to be developed for iteration 2 (this was achieved by iteration 3), and hence, the same paper-based trigger mechanism was used. Components of feedback from participants that were addressed in this iteration included education on multiple inhaler devices and a broad overview of asthma, the use of animation, and the use of peer role models to improve relatability to young children. Multiple videos were created to demonstrate the use of the different types of inhalers, with users prompted to click on the inhaler that they wished to learn about. Scripts were written based on Lung Foundation inhaler technique videos, reviewed by asthma educators within the pediatric hospital, and had "readability" scores generated via Grammarly to ensure they were age-appropriate [49,50].

In the second round of interviews (N=6), participants received a demonstration of the AR asthma intervention and were then invited to use it themselves. After testing the intervention, feedback was again provided, and suggestions were made for improvements. The technical functional aspects of the app were commented on, in regard to both the ease of use and the burden of the paper-based requirement for triggering and launching the app. The ease of the launch of the app was commented on by most participants (eg, "Easy to do, Just click" [caregiver, female]). However, technical issues related to functionality features of the paper-based resource were highlighted, which created difficulty in its use at times:

It would be, it would be good if once it started playing it, you didn't have to hold it there. Once you click out of the main menu [health professional, female]

Maybe that once it's on, maybe it'll lock...because it's not comfy putting it over [the paper] [child, female]

Asthma education delivered by children actors was received positively and thought to be a relatable means to deliver information:

my first thought is, oh, this is cool. It's actually kids doing it, which would really target kids. So I was like, oh, that's nice. It just makes it really relatable [health professional, female]

as a kid with asthma, I think it makes it very relatable because you've got kids talking about it, kids demonstrating [health professional, female]

Feedback and suggestions were also provided to improve engagement and decrease boredom for children. This was predominantly reflected in suggestions of animation incorporation, increased AR use, and gamification:

*I do think that you have to [include] a game...just to teach them.* [caregiver, female]

It'd be good if it was more interactive because some people might have trouble listening to things. [child, female]

Maybe you could like, have, um, maybe cartoon people next to them. [child, female]

Just add a little bit more to the actual product...Come to life a little bit more then it grabs the kids [health professional, female]

More components of asthma education were also requested in regard to content, such as expanding on asthma symptom triggers and the addition of asthma action plans:

One of the things that I think you should put on it is triggers [caregiver, female]

you could go through steps of even like your asthma action plan [health professional, female]



Figure 2. Iteration 2 demonstrated and used by participants in the second round.



Figure 3. Iteration 2 demonstrated and used by participants in the second round - digital educational content for multiple asthma inhaler devices.



#### **Iteration 3: Interviews and Feedback**

The third iteration of the AR asthma inhaler educational intervention was devoid of the paper-based trigger and modified, with additional major changes being the expansion of animation

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40219

XSL•FO RenderX and the pivoting of the users' AR experience through the smartphone to increase interaction of the app with young people. With the removal of the piece of paper required to trigger the smartphone or tablet app, an area of homogenous ground was used to trigger digital content instead. Once the app was opened,

the user scanned any area of homogenous ground. This prompted the participant to place a "portal" onto the ground, which then allowed the participant to enter the "portal" and go into a room, which they could view on their smartphone or tablet. Asthma inhaler educational videos and animations were available on the walls of the room for participants to watch (Figures 4 and 5, Multimedia Appendix 1). This included educational content on general asthma information (eg, "What is asthma"), inhaled asthma reliever medications, inhaled asthma preventer medications, and the correct steps in the use of inhalers. Additional educational content on triggers was also added based on feedback; however, gamification was not yet incorporated into this iteration due to limitations on funding and the time it would take to create appropriate gamification for this particular intervention.

Figure 4. Iteration 3 demonstrated and used by participants in the third round—images after having entered a room through the portal and screens shown on the walls of the room with an asthma inhaler educational video.





Figure 5. Iteration 3 demonstrated and used by participants in the third round—images after having entered a room through the portal and screens shown on the walls of the room with a whiteboard animation.



Six participants provided feedback in the third round of interviews after testing the AR smartphone or tablet intervention. An animated introduction using whiteboard animation was well received by all participants, as was the increased AR experience via the use of the portal and room:

*The introduction was kind of fun. The playground and that stuff* [child, male]

the use of the drawings in the intro video, uh, was a great idea [health professional, male]

You kind of just go into the portal and then the videos come up, I kind of like that you have to move the phone [caregiver, female]

I liked the drawings [caregiver, female]

Having children involved as the actors was once again highlighted as a positive to the intervention, as were the use of AR as a novelty technology and increasing the AR experience, which was suggested in iteration 2 to increase interactivity:

I think, I think the, uh, use of augmented reality is a novelty that kids would really connect with. Um, and

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40219

RenderX

the use of children delivering the education is also really good [health professional, male]

I think it'll definitely add a component of something different and new to get them involved rather than just watching a video on a screen (regarding AR technology) [health professional, male];

*it's interesting (regarding AR technology)* [child, male]

*I used to think health apps are like boring and that stuff but...reality is cool* [child, male]

Suggestions for improvement included incorporation of gamification again from children participants, as well as more animation within the intervention:

Animation? (when asked about how the intervention could be improved) [child, male]

*Little games and stuff?* (when asked about how the intervention could be made more interesting or fun) [child, male]

A lot of drawing animation is always, always good [caregiver, female]

#### **Results of Usability (SUS)**

All 16 participants who were recruited completed the usability questionnaire. Only 1 participant did not score all 10 items, and as described in the methods, these items were allocated a raw score of 3. SUS scores provided from participants ranged from 60 to 100, with an average of 87.65 (SD 16.96) and median of 88.75, indicating that the system was acceptable (scores of >70) and that the perceived usability of the intervention was excellent overall, with mean SUS scores between 85.5 (SD 12.17) and 90.4 (SD 11.7) considered within the "excellent" range when SUS scores have an adjective rating applied [51]. While in iteration 2, a child recorded an SUS score of 60; on review of raw data, this identified inconsistent scoring and responses (eg, scoring "agree" for both "I found the resource unnecessarily complicated" and "I thought the resource was easy to use").

Table 3.	SUS <sup>a</sup>	scores	per	partici	pant	group	ρ.
----------	------------------	--------	-----	---------	------	-------	----

This was also inconsistent with their interview transcript, with the participant reporting that the intervention was "easy to use," suggesting that the scoring was likely incorrect.

When SUS scores were compared across the 3 rounds, the mean SUS score was lowest for iteration 2, and the highest mean SUS score was for iteration 3 (ie, the final round). Per Bangor et al [48], based on the SUS mean score, iteration 3 was classified as a truly superior system (Multimedia Appendix 1).

When SUS scores were compared across the 3 participant groups (children with asthma, their caregivers, and health professionals), health professionals scored the intervention highest in terms of perceived usability, with a mean score of 89.58 (SD 5.34), and caregivers scored it the lowest, with a mean score of 85.5 (SD 12.17) (Table 3). Of note, all scores were still within the "excellent" usability range across the 3 participant groups.

Participant group	SUS, mean (SD)	SUS, median (IQR)
Children with asthma	87.5 (16.96)	95 (60-100)
Caregivers of children with asthma	85.5 (12.17)	92.5 (70-97.5)
Health professionals	89.58 (5.34)	87.5 (85-100)

<sup>a</sup>SUS: System Usability Scale.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

This paper is the first to describe the co-design process of an AR asthma inhaler educational intervention for children. End users were engaged in the development from the beginning of the process, which allowed for a user-centered design. Participants had mostly favorable views of the AR intervention, with the ease of use of the technology and the novel nature of AR being able to capture the attention of children for inhaler technique education in all 3 iterations. Through the use of the iterative co-design process, the preferences of end users were also able to be incorporated with key suggestions, such as the addition of animation and increased interactivity with AR included to later iterations. With this process, it was possible to identify areas that required improvement or were perceived to not be necessary (such as the use of the paper-based resource to trigger the AR intervention) and provide information on the preferences of end users to inform further development of the intervention. The use of an iterative co-design process was particularly important for the development of this AR intervention in children for two main reasons: (1) the novel nature of AR as an educational delivery mechanism in health care education, especially for asthma in children, and (2) evidence showing that these design processes increase the efficacy and uptake of the intervention by end users [25].

Through use of the SUS, this intervention was found to have excellent perceived usability, with an overall mean of 87.6. The third iteration had the highest mean of 90.14, indicating a truly superior system, providing encouraging evidence that with the iterative co-design process, the intervention can continue to be improved on throughout subsequent rounds.

## **Comparison With Prior Work**

This paper aimed to describe a user-centered design and the usability of an AR intervention, which was delivered via a smartphone or tablet. To date, there have been no studies identified that describe a co-design process for asthma educational interventions that use AR or the usability of such developed interventions, as in this study.

Smartphone apps, which have poor usability and do not use this design process, have lower adoption rates, and despite the increasing use of mobile apps for health care education, only a small number of papers recently have described a co-design process or usability testing for asthma apps for children and young people [52]. Sonney et al [25] recently described, in 2022, using a "human-centered design" for refinement of an app, which was designed for asthma monitoring and as a behavioral intervention to promote shared asthma management between a parent and child with asthma. While children and their parents were involved in the process, their involvement from the outset in the design of the app was not apparent [53]. Mayoral et al [54] also recently described end-user involvement in the development of a mobile health app for children with asthma; however, children and adolescents were not involved until the later stages of its development. Other studies, such as one by Davis et al [24], described using a participatory approach from the preintervention development phase for an asthma self-management smartphone app; however, this was targeted at people aged 15-25 years with asthma, who would likely have differing preferences compared to our patient cohort. In regard to usability testing for asthma apps for children, Mayoral et al

[54] also used the SUS for usability testing; however, Schneider et al [23] used semistructured interviews by a research assistant. While there is more recent literature on usability testing for asthma apps aimed at adults and adolescents with asthma, usability testing in children remains scarce [55-57].

#### Limitations

Limitations for this study first lie with the limited generalizability of the intervention. Participants were only recruited if they were primarily English-speaking and were recruited from a tertiary pediatric hospital. Children and their caregivers were recruited during a hospital admission, indicating that the end users recruited were predominantly children who may have had more severe or more poorly controlled asthma and may have had a stronger desire for interventions to improve their asthma education. Similarly, health professionals were also recruited within the tertiary hospital setting, which may have led to the recruitment of health professionals who see and manage patients with asthma who have poorer control and are on the more severe end of the spectrum. In addition, 11 of 16 participants were female (69%); it is possible that feedback and app development would have been different with a more even distribution of genders. Although we had intended on purposive sampling, we were limited to the demographic of patients presenting to the site. During the recruitment phase, it was noted that children who were younger were presenting to the site and recruited. To ensure that purposive sampling was completely adhered to, a decision had to be made as to whether to try and increase the sampling size by adding a second site or adjusting the parameters of the age inclusion criteria. Following consultations with experts in clinical care and experts in technological innovation design, it was decided that we would have more targeted information if we focused on the younger cohort alone, and it was likely that the intervention would have had different requirements and feedback from older children (13-17 years inclusive). Another study for the older cohort is planned.

The small sample size of our study also limited the interpretation of the SUS; however, the usability evaluation of this study was for hypothesis-generating purposes. More research is required with a larger sample size to evaluate the intervention's usability in the clinical setting. Another limitation in the evaluation of usability was that while the SUS can be used as an aid for understanding the overall level of the usability of an intervention, it does not necessarily identify detailed information on the intervention's effectiveness or efficiency, which may be able to provide more information for improvement on subsequent iterations [58]. Lastly, while the wording of our SUS instrument was modified slightly for improved understanding among children, this had not been tested or validated previously, decreasing its reliability.

Not all feedback from interview rounds were able to be incorporated into the subsequent iterations, which is a further limitation to our study. Due to time constraints, we were not able to make adjustments to a paper-free version until iteration 3, so during iteration 2, we continued with the paper-based triggering model. There still might be advocation for a paper-based resource however, such as within hospital settings where pamphlets for education are predominantly used or for people who are reluctant to rely solely on technology-based resources. The incorporation of gamification was also not achieved during this study due to time and funding constraints; however, it should be strongly considered for smartphone or tablet asthma education app developers to increase engagement and interactivity with children with asthma. It is possible that had we been able to act on all identified feedback themes, SUS scores may have been higher.

Lastly, this study reports on only the design process and usability, but for the successful uptake and implementation of an intervention on a larger scale, other aspects of the intervention must also be evaluated, such as the acceptability of its use, the barriers and facilitators to its use, the feasibility of the intervention, and its efficacy. These will be addressed in future papers and studies.

#### Conclusions

Not only is published research on the use of AR for asthma educational interventions in children scarce, the use of a co-design process in the development of smartphone or tablet asthma educational intervention apps, as well as the usability of such apps, is also infrequently reported. This contributes to the literature by identifying and incorporating the preferences of intended end users. The key recommendations found in our work, which should be considered by others in the design of similar interventions, are the inclusion of animation, increased interactivity, and gamification. This paper highlighted the importance of co-design and showed the improvement in usability scores with the incorporation of end user feedback through subsequent iterations of design. The results from this process are now being used to develop the final AR intervention for evaluation in the clinical setting.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the participants of this study, including the children with asthma, their families, and the health care professionals who care for these patients.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

KCC is cofounder of a start-up company that will include augmented reality technology as one of the functions in a smartphone app to support smoker quit attempts. At the time of manuscript submission, personal financial interest has yet to be attained.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e4021	9
------------------------------------------	---

Video demonstration of augmented reality intervention. [MP4 File (MP4 Video), 5909 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40219 app1.mp4 ]

# References

- 1. O'Dea S. Smartphone subscriptions worldwide from 2016 to 2027. Statista. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/</u> <u>330695/number-of-smartphone-users-worldwide/</u> [accessed 2023-05-18]
- 2. Ceci L. Google Play: Number of available medical apps as of Q1 2022. Statista. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/</u> <u>statistics/779919/health-apps-available-google-play-worldwide/</u> [accessed 2023-05-18]
- Ganesh D, Balaji KK, Sokkanarayanan S, Rajan S, Sathiyanarayanan M. Healthcare apps for Post-COVID era: trends, challenges and potential opportunities. : IEEE; 2022 Presented at: 2022 IEEE Delhi Section Conference (DELCON); February 11-13, 2022; New Delhi, India p. 1-7. [doi: 10.1109/delcon54057.2022.9753258]
- 4. Timmers T, Janssen L, Kool RB, Kremer JA. Educating patients by providing timely information using smartphone and tablet apps: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(4):e17342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17342] [Medline: 32281936]
- 5. Farzandipour M, Nabovati E, Sharif R, Arani MH, Anvari S. Patient self-management of asthma using mobile health applications: a systematic review of the functionalities and effects. Appl Clin Inform 2017;8(4):1068-1081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2017-07-R-0116] [Medline: 29241254]
- Hui CY, Walton R, McKinstry B, Jackson T, Parker R, Pinnock H. The use of mobile applications to support self-management for people with asthma: a systematic review of controlled studies to identify features associated with clinical effectiveness and adherence. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017;24(3):619-632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw143] [Medline: 27694279]
- 7. CDC. Uncontrolled asthma among children, 2012-2014. Centers for Disease Control. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>asthma/asthma\_stats/uncontrolled-asthma-children.htm</u> [accessed 2019-10-02]
- 8. Enilari O, Sinha S. The global impact of asthma in adult populations. Ann Glob Health 2019;85(1):2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5334/aogh.2412] [Medline: 30741503]
- Huckvale K, Morrison C, Ouyang J, Ghaghda A, Car J. The evolution of mobile apps for asthma: an updated systematic assessment of content and tools. BMC Med 2015;13:58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0303-x] [Medline: 25857569]
- 10. Burns T, Gottschalk F. Educating 21st Century Children: Emotional Well-Being in the Digital Age. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2019.
- 11. Bacca Acosta JL, Baldiris Navarro SM, Fabregat Gesa R, Graf S, Kinshuk. Augmented reality trends in education: a systematic review of research and applications. Educ Technol Soc 2014;17(4):133-149 [FREE Full text]
- 12. Augmented reality and virtual reality in healthcare market size, share and trends analysis report by component (hardware, software, service), by technology (augmented reality, virtual reality), by region, and segment forecasts, 2021 2028. NASDAQ OMX's News Release Distribution Channel. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/</u>virtual-reality-vr-in-healthcare-market [accessed 2023-05-18]
- 13. Bhugaonkar K, Bhugaonkar R, Masne N. The trend of metaverse and augmented and virtual reality extending to the healthcare system. Cureus 2022;14(9):e29071 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.29071] [Medline: 36258985]
- Guevara J. 5 recent tech innovations disrupting the medical and healthcare industry. Health Tech Zone. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.healthtechzone.com/topics/healthcare/articles/2020/08/27/</u> 446396-5-recent-tech-innovations-disrupting-medical-healthcare-industry.htm [accessed 2023-05-18]
- 15. Riva G, Baños RM, Botella C, Mantovani F, Gaggioli A. Transforming experience: the potential of augmented reality and virtual reality for enhancing personal and clinical change. Front Psychiatry 2016;7:164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00164] [Medline: 27746747]
- 16. Al-Naimi S, Brady P, Andrews T, Janes C, Ibrahim F, Abdel-Maguid M. Examining the efficacy of a novel augmented reality mobile delivery platform for the enhancement of asthma care education for children. Int J Interact Mob Technol 2021;15(7):47-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3991/ijim.v15i07.20379]
- Porche MV, Folk JB, Tolou-Shams M, Fortuna LR. Researchers' perspectives on digital mental health intervention co-design with marginalized community stakeholder youth and families. Front Psychiatry 2022;13:867460 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.867460] [Medline: 35530032]
- Bevan Jones R, Stallard P, Agha SS, Rice S, Werner-Seidler A, Stasiak K, et al. Practitioner review: co-design of digital mental health technologies with children and young people. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2020;61(8):928-940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13258] [Medline: 32572961]
- 19. Thabrew H, Fleming T, Hetrick S, Merry S. Co-design of eHealth interventions with children and young people. Front Psychiatry 2018;9:481 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00481] [Medline: 30405450]
- 20. Martin A, Caon M, Adorni F, Andreoni G, Ascolese A, Atkinson S, et al. A mobile phone intervention to improve obesity-related health behaviors of adolescents across europe: iterative co-design and feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(3):e14118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14118] [Medline: 32130179]

- Whale K, Beasant L, Wright AJ, Yardley L, Wallace LM, Moody L, et al. A smartphone app for supporting the self-management of daytime urinary incontinence in adolescents: development and formative evaluation study of URApp. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021;4(4):e26212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26212] [Medline: 34779780]
- 22. Li SH, Achilles MR, Spanos S, Habak S, Werner-Seidler A, O'Dea B. A cognitive behavioural therapy smartphone app for adolescent depression and anxiety: co-design of ClearlyMe. tCBT 2022;15:e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/s1754470x22000095]
- 23. Schneider T, Panzera AD, Couluris M, Lindenberger J, McDermott R, Bryant CA. Engaging teens with asthma in designing a patient-centered mobile app to aid disease self-management. Telemed J E Health 2016;22(2):170-175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2015.0041] [Medline: 26258994]
- 24. Davis SR, Peters D, Calvo RA, Sawyer SM, Foster JM, Smith L. "Kiss myAsthma": using a participatory design approach to develop a self-management app with young people with asthma. J Asthma 2018;55(9):1018-1027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/02770903.2017.1388391] [Medline: 29064746]
- 25. Sonney J, Cho EE, Zheng Q, Kientz JA. Refinement of a parent-child shared asthma management mobile health app: human-centered design study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e34117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34117] [Medline: 35175214]
- 26. Peters D, Davis S, Calvo RA, Sawyer SM, Smith L, Foster JM. Young people's preferences for an asthma self-management app highlight psychological needs: a participatory study. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(4):e113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6994] [Medline: 28400353]
- 27. Kim S, Park Y, Ackerman MK. Designing an indoor air quality monitoring app for asthma management in children: user-centered design approach. JMIR Form Res 2021;5(9):e27447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27447] [Medline: 34550080]
- 28. Alain A, Adel K, Witold S, Ahmed S. Usability meanings and interpretations in ISO standards. Softw Qual J 2003;11(4):325-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1023/A:1025869312943]
- 29. Mayes JT, Fowler CJ. Learning technology and usability: a framework for understanding courseware. Interact Comput 1999;11(5):485-497 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0953-5438(98)00065-4]
- Maramba I, Chatterjee A, Newman C. Methods of usability testing in the development of eHealth applications: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2019;126:95-104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.03.018] [Medline: 31029270]
- Bloom BM, Pott J, Thomas S, Gaunt DR, Hughes TC. Usability of electronic health record systems in UK EDs. Emerg Med J 2021;38(6):410-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/emermed-2020-210401] [Medline: 33658268]
- Melnick ER, Dyrbye LN, Sinsky CA, Trockel M, West CP, Nedelec L, et al. The association between perceived electronic health record usability and professional burnout among US physicians. Mayo Clin Proc 2020;95(3):476-487 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.09.024] [Medline: 31735343]
- 33. Melnick ER, Harry E, Sinsky CA, Dyrbye LN, Wang H, Trockel MT, et al. Perceived electronic health record usability as a predictor of task load and burnout among US physicians: mediation analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(12):e23382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23382] [Medline: 33289493]
- Ratwani RM, Savage E, Will A, Fong A, Karavite D, Muthu N, et al. Identifying electronic health record usability and safety challenges in pediatric settings. Health Aff (Millwood) 2018;37(11):1752-1759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2018.0699] [Medline: 30395517]
- Litt HK, Press VG, Hull A, Siros M, Luna V, Volerman A. Association between inhaler technique and confidence among hospitalized children with asthma. Respir Med 2020;174:106191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2020.106191] [Medline: <u>33152551</u>]
- 36. Samady W, Rodriguez VA, Gupta R, Palac H, Karamanis M, Press VG. Critical errors in inhaler technique among children hospitalized with asthma. J Hosp Med 2019;14(6):361-365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12788/jhm.3195] [Medline: 30986181]
- Gillette C, Rockich-Winston N, Kuhn JA, Flesher S, Shepherd M. Inhaler technique in children with asthma: a systematic review. Acad Pediatr 2016;16(7):605-615 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2016.04.006] [Medline: 27130811]
- 38. Alwashmi MF, Hawboldt J, Davis E, Fetters MD. The iterative convergent design for mobile health usability testing: mixed methods approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(4):e11656 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11656] [Medline: 31025951]
- Lewis JR. The system usability scale: past, present, and future. Int J Hum Comput 2018;34(7):577-590 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1080/10447318.2018.1455307</u>]
- Cane J, O'Connor D, Michie S. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. Implement Sci 2012;7:37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-37] [Medline: 22530986]
- Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Acceptability of healthcare interventions: an overview of reviews and development of a theoretical framework. BMC Health Serv Res 2017;17(1):88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2031-8] [Medline: 28126032]
- Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Development of a theory-informed questionnaire to assess the acceptability of healthcare interventions. BMC Health Serv Res 2022;22(1):279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-07577-3] [Medline: 35232455]

- Cowdell F, Dyson J. How is the theoretical domains framework applied to developing health behaviour interventions? A systematic search and narrative synthesis. BMC Public Health 2019;19(1):1180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7442-5] [Medline: 31455327]
- 44. Alexander S, Frith KH, Hoy H, editors. Applied Clinical Informatics for Nurses. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning, LLC; 2019.
- 45. Faulkner L. Beyond the five-user assumption: benefits of increased sample sizes in usability testing. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 2003;35(3):379-383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3758/bf03195514] [Medline: 14587545]
- 46. Brooke J. SUS: a 'quick and dirty' usability scale. In: Jordan PW, Thomas B, McClelland IL, Weerdmeester B, editors. Usability Evaluation in Industry. London: Taylor & Francis Group; 1996:189-194.
- 47. Liang J, Xian D, Liu X, Fu J, Zhang X, Tang B, et al. Usability study of mainstream wearable fitness devices: feature analysis and system usability scale evaluation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018;6(11):e11066 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11066] [Medline: 30409767]
- 48. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Hum Comput 2008;24(6):574-594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 49. Grammarly. Grammarly Inc. 2022. URL: https://www.grammarly.com/ [accessed 2023-05-18]
- 50. Inhaler technique 2022. Lung Foundation Australia. 2022. URL: <u>https://lungfoundation.com.au/resources/</u> <u>?condition=9&user\_category=31&resource\_type=236&search=inhaler</u> [accessed 2023-05-18]
- 51. Bangor A, Kortum P, Miller J. Determining what individual SUS scores mean: adding an adjective rating scale. J Usability Stud 2009;4(3):114-123 [FREE Full text]
- 52. Rochat J, Ehrler F, Siebert JN, Ricci A, Garretas Ruiz V, Lovis C. Usability testing of a patient-centered mobile health app for supporting and guiding the pediatric emergency department patient journey: mixed methods study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e25540 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25540] [Medline: 35289754]
- Sonney J, Duffy M, Hoogerheyde LX, Langhauser E, Teska D. Applying human-centered design to the development of an asthma essentials kit for school-aged children and their parents. J Pediatr Health Care 2019;33(2):169-177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2018.07.008] [Medline: 30228032]
- Mayoral K, Garin O, Caballero-Rabasco MA, Praena-Crespo M, Bercedo A, Hernandez G, ARCA group. Smartphone app for monitoring asthma in children and adolescents. Qual Life Res 2021;30(11):3127-3144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-020-02706-z] [Medline: <u>33387290</u>]
- 55. Farzandipour M, Nabovati E, Heidarzadeh Arani M, Akbari H, Sharif R, Anvari S. Enhancing asthma patients' self-management through smartphone-based application: design, usability evaluation, and educational intervention. Appl Clin Inform 2019;10(5):870-878 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1700866] [Medline: 31724144]
- 56. Ferreira A, Almeida R, Jácome C, Fernandes J, Fonseca J, Vieira-Marques P. How inspiring is your app: a usability take on an app for asthma medication adherence. : IADIS Press; 2019 Presented at: 11th International Conference on e-Health; July 17-19, 2019; Porto, Portugal p. 225-229. [doi: 10.33965/eh2019\_201910c030]
- Murphy J, McSharry J, Hynes L, Molloy GJ. A smartphone app to support adherence to inhaled corticosteroids in young adults with asthma: multi-methods feasibility study. JMIR Form Res 2021;5(9):e28784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28784] [Medline: 34468325]
- 58. Hägglund M, Scandurra I. User evaluation of the Swedish patient accessible electronic health record: system usability scale. JMIR Hum Factors 2021;8(3):e24927 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24927] [Medline: 34313596]

# Abbreviations

**AR:** augmented reality **HCP:** health care professional **SUS:** System Usability Scale

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 11.06.22; peer-reviewed by D Drummond, J King; comments to author 21.07.22; revised version received 22.12.22; accepted 15.04.23; published 25.07.23.

Please cite as:

O'Connor A, Tai A, Brinn M, Hoang ANTH, Cataldi D, Carson-Chahhoud K Co-design of an Augmented Reality Asthma Inhaler Educational Intervention for Children: Development and Usability Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40219 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40219</u> doi:<u>10.2196/40219</u> PMID:<u>37490325</u>



©Antonia O'Connor, Andrew Tai, Malcolm Brinn, Amy Nguyen Thuc Hien Hoang, Daniele Cataldi, Kristin Carson-Chahhoud. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Usability and Perception of a Wearable-Integrated Digital Maternity Record App in Germany: User Study

Michael Nissen<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Carlos A Perez<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Katharina M Jaeger<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Hannah Bleher<sup>2</sup>, Dipl theol; Madeleine Flaucher<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Hanna Huebner<sup>3</sup>, Dr rer nat; Nina Danzberger<sup>3</sup>, MSc; Adriana Titzmann<sup>3</sup>, Dr med; Constanza A Pontones<sup>3</sup>, Dr med; Peter A Fasching<sup>3</sup>, Dr med; Matthias W Beckmann<sup>3</sup>, Dr med; Bjoern M Eskofier<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Heike Leutheuser<sup>1</sup>, Dr ing

1 2 3

**Corresponding Author:** Michael Nissen, MSc

# Abstract

**Background:** Although digital maternity records (DMRs) have been evaluated in the past, no previous work investigated usability or acceptance through an observational usability study.

**Objective:** The primary objective was to assess the usability and perception of a DMR smartphone app for pregnant women. The secondary objective was to assess personal preferences and habits related to online information searching, wearable data presentation and interpretation, at-home examination, and sharing data for research purposes during pregnancy.

**Methods:** A DMR smartphone app was developed. Key features such as wearable device integration, study functionalities (eg, questionnaires), and common pregnancy app functionalities (eg, mood tracker) were included. Women who had previously given birth were invited to participate. Participants completed 10 tasks while asked to think aloud. Sessions were conducted via Zoom. Video, audio, and the shared screen were recorded for analysis. Task completion times, task success, errors, and self-reported (free text) feedback were evaluated. Usability was measured through the System Usability Scale (SUS) and User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ). Semistructured interviews were conducted to explore the secondary objective.

**Results:** A total of 11 participants (mean age 34.6, SD 2.2 years) were included in the study. A mean SUS score of 79.09 (SD 18.38) was achieved. The app was rated "above average" in 4 of 6 UEQ categories. Sixteen unique features were requested. We found that 5 of 11 participants would only use wearables during pregnancy if requested to by their physician, while 10 of 11 stated they would share their data for research purposes.

**Conclusions:** Pregnant women rely on their medical caregivers for advice, including on the use of mobile and ubiquitous health technology. Clear benefits must be communicated if issuing wearable devices to pregnant women. Participants that experienced pregnancy complications in the past were overall more open toward the use of wearable devices in pregnancy. Pregnant women have different opinions regarding access to, interpretation of, and reactions to alerts based on wearable data. Future work should investigate personalized concepts covering these aspects.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e50765) doi:10.2196/50765

# KEYWORDS

maternity log; maternity logbook; log; logbook; experience; experiences; attitude; attitude; opinion; opinion; perception; perception; perception; perspective; perspective; pregnancy record; personal health record; PHR; health record; health record; feature; features; develop; development; maternity record; electronic; digital; paper hand-held record; mHealth; mobile health; app; apps; application; applications; smartphone; smartphones; wearable; wearables; usability; pregnant; pregnancy; maternal; maternity; electronic maternity record; pregnancy app; data sharing; privacy; online search; searching; information behavior; information behavior; information behavior; maternal; maternity; behaviour; information seeking

# Introduction

RenderX

Home-based maternal records, also referred to as pregnancy logs, maternity records, or hand-held paper records, store women's medical information during pregnancy. These records contain various information, for example, about vaccinations, blood pressure, or ultrasound examinations [1]. They are used in more than 163 countries and greatly vary in design and content [2]. Home-based maternal records have been shown to provide advantages. They establish a better connection between caregivers and pregnant women, an improved sense of women's

empowerment, increased knowledge, family involvement, and continuity of care [3,4].

Digitalization has the potential to alleviate existing pitfalls of home-based maternal records. In a previous study, 36% of women involved in one trial stated that they forgot their records during at least one visit to their caregiver [5]. This and other problems can be solved by digital maternity records (DMRs). DMRs can improve information transfer between general practitioners, gynecologists, midwives, and hospitals [6]. Furthermore, clarity and documentation efforts can be improved while avoiding media discontinuities, that is, changes between communication media, such as (manual) data transfer from fax to paper or digital [7].

Several studies have implemented and investigated the effect of DMRs: Providing maternity data to pregnant women on flash drives resulted in advances in patient empowerment, satisfaction, and safety [8]. A digital pregnancy information and journaling tool could increase patient activation [9], although this may decrease over time compared to paper-based tools [10]. DMRs are mostly perceived as positive [11,12], although confidentiality, privacy, and data control are of concern [13]. A study in the Netherlands [14] found no effect on quality of care or outcomes.

The openness toward the use of wearable devices in maternal care is mixed [15,16]. Motivation to use wearable devices increases if the use is associated with positive outcomes [16]. At the same time, pregnant women state that incorrect or out-of-normal measurements from wearables can be a source of anxiety [16]. A trial that integrated wearables into routine maternal care reported that most participants continued to use the devices through pregnancy and after birth [17].

Patient-centered design transfers the principles of user-centered design (UCD) to the health care domain. UCD aims to increase the chance of user acceptance through regular and iterative inclusion of users in the development process [18,19]. Evidence on usability is crucial for the implementation of new apps in maternal health care [20].

Some studies on DMRs have investigated usability: Shaw et al [21] provided pregnant women with access to websites containing antenatal health information. One group received access to their individual antenatal health record, the other to general pregnancy health information. Users provided with personalized information logged in 6 times as often as users receiving general antenatal health information. Participants in both groups were highly satisfied with the website itself. Chang et al [22] developed a system integrating web-based maternity records, including explanations about individual tests; self-care journals for weight, blood pressure, movement and contraction tracking; and educational features. A survey administered to 68 pregnant participants revealed that the pregnancy calculator, estimated date of birth, and body calculator were particularly relevant for pregnant women, and 80.9% of participants stated the system was useful for their pregnancy. In a previous study, we investigated the use of a DMR interface by physicians and midwives [23]. The completion time for DMR data entries was about 30% higher, while the average number of errors was lower, compared to the analogue version.

However, most studies investigating usability aspects in DMRs have used postuse questionnaires. While this provides general usability metrics, it provides no insights on users' thought processes and behavior. To date, no study has examined the use of a DMR app for pregnant women with live user testing. The effect of displaying wearable data in a pregnancy app has also not been investigated to date. Thus, this work aimed to investigate the usability and perception of a medically guided DMR integrating wearable data by conducting a usability study using a DMR prototype app, think-alouds, and semistructured questionnaires.

# Methods

This work used a mixed methods approach consisting of think-alouds during several usability tasks followed by a semistructured interview.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The study was approved by the ethics committee of Friedrich-Alexander Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg (106\_13 B). The participants provided informed consent to participate.

#### **Concept and Features**

A novel DMR app was developed jointly by obstetricians, ethicists, and computer scientists. This app combined four aspects: (1) DMR functionality, that is, providing users with their personal antenatal care data, (2) the integration of wearable devices, (3) medical trial functionality to deliver questionnaires for this study and other prospective mobile and ubiquitous health studies, and (4) additional features known from commercial pregnancy apps (general information section, week-by-week information, mood tracker).

First, the DMR functionality was developed in close alignment with the official and standardized paper-based German home-based maternal record (Mutterpass). For each section of the Mutterpass, a respective digital page was created ("Lab results," "Previous pregnancies," "Consultation," "Anamnesis," "Special findings," "Date estimation," Gravidogram," "Hospitalizations," "Cardiotocography," "Ultrasound," "Epicrisis"). We refrained from implementing potential improvements related to digitalization or making other major changes, as the official German DMR (E-Mutterpass) currently rolled out is in line with our approach [24]. Second, wearable devices are integrated by displaying heart rate, sleep, and blood pressure data. Third, study functionality is organized around a "My tasks" page. Each category offers visualization options for all data, as well as monthly, weekly, and textual representations. Fourth, the implementation of selected functionalities typically found in pregnancy apps, including a mood tracker, information section, and week-by-week information, aims to improve the overall attractiveness of the app.

#### Development

The app is a progressive web app (PWA) developed using ReactJS (Facebook Inc) as frontend framework. The user interface uses components from MUI (Material-UI SAS). The backend uses the *carecentive* framework [25]. *Carecentive* is implemented using Node.js (OpenJS Foundation), relying on

XSL•FO RenderX

Express.js (OpenJS Foundation) for web server functionality and MySQL (Oracle Corp) as the database. Screenshots of the

developed app are shown in Figure 1. The app was developed in German.

**Figure 1.** Example screenshots of the developed app. (A) "Start," (B) "My tasks," (C) "Mapi questionnaire," (D) "Installation guide," (E) "My measurements," (F) "Main menu," (G) "Ultrasound section," and (H) "Information" sections. The app is intended for a German audience and was thus developed in German. A retrospectively translated English version of these screenshots is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.



#### Recruitment

RenderX

A flyer for participant recruitment was designed and was distributed using the local university department's mailing list, student Facebook groups, local businesses displays, and personal contacts. The flyer included information about the prerequisites for participation. These included having reached the legal age of maturity (18 years), having had one or more pregnancies in the recent past, and having German and English language skills. We did not use a fixed time threshold for the time since the last pregnancy, as participant recruitment for similar studies with such fixed constraints proved to be difficult in the past. Interested individuals were asked to contact the study advisor by email or phone; this contact information was also included in the flyer.

#### **Study Setup**

The study was conducted from December 7, 2021, to January 11, 2022. Germany experienced a significant number of COVID-19 infections during this timeframe. After careful

evaluation, we determined that conducting a lab study with in-person attendance was unreasonable, as our study aims could still be achieved through virtual meetings. Zoom (version 5.8.1; Zoom Video Communications, Inc) was used for this purpose.

#### Procedure

After expressing their interest in the study, participants were sent a Zoom link along with the respective consent forms. After participants provided informed consent, the study advisor started audio and video recording. Following this, participants received study instructions as a PDF document by email. This document led participants through the procedure alongside the study advisor. It comprised questionnaires and instructions for individual tasks.

Afterward, a PDF questionnaire for demographic data (age, number of previous pregnancies, months since last pregnancy, education level, household income, high-risk pregnancy, and familiarity with the German Mutterpass) and technical affinity [26] (enthusiasm, expertise, and positive and negative attitude) was filled out. A short video about pregnancy in gestational week 25 was shown to increase participants' pregnancy immersion [27].

The study advisor shared the screen of a smartphone (Huawei Y7 2017; Android 7.0) via Zoom. A tool that mirrors a

Table . List of study tasks.

smartphone screen on the computer was used for this purpose (Scrcpy version 1.21; Genymobile). Participants were able to control the full mobile phone (not only a browser), including the ability to change phone settings or install apps. The screen was shared with the participant, and interactive use of a keyboard and mouse was enabled. Participants were now able to interact with the app in the same way as if it was used on their computers. This was necessary to record the interactions of the participant with the app for later evaluation. The installation of screen recording software and consecutive transfer of files to the study coordinators was previously deemed unfeasible due to the required technical expertise and significant effort of participants.

Participants were asked to complete 10 tasks and asked to freely express their feelings and thoughts during app use (eg, provide "think-alouds"). The tasks and their respective aims are shown in Table 1. Example screenshots for each task can be found in Multimedia Appendix 2. Following this, users completed the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) [28] and System Usability Scale (SUS) [29] in a digital form directly in the app. A semistructured interview about perceptions and personal preferences regarding information search in pregnancy, wearable device use, integration into maternal care, digitalization potential, and research data sharing concluded the study.

Task ID	Description	Specific aim(s)	Evaluation of success, time, and errors?
1	Create a new user and login	Test login and registration proce- dure	Yes
2	Install the app on the mobile phone	Test progressive web app installa- tion	Yes
3	Free exploration	Assess general perception and initial thoughts	No
4	Complete Multivariable Apnea Pre- diction Index [30]	Test questionnaire interface by us- ing a specific questionnaire as an example	Yes
5	Explore ultrasound section	Test ultrasound section, particularly the Material-UI tabs	No
6	Find remarks on second ultrasound checkup	Test design of digital maternity record section	Yes
7	Explore visualization options	Test wearable data display and pre- sentation	No
8	Find a heart rate value	Test wearable data display and pre- sentation	Yes
9	Find depression information	Test design of information section	No
10	Enter and save information in mood journal	Test design of mood journal	Yes

#### Evaluation

RenderX

SUS, UEQ, and think-aloud remarks were used to evaluate usability. General perception was assessed through the think-aloud and semistructured interview at the end. Personal preferences and habits on online information searching, wearable data presentation and interpretation, at-home examination, and

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50765

willingness to share data for research purposes were also assessed through the semistructured interviews at the end of the study.

Task completion times (TCTs), task success, errors, and self-reported (free text) feedback were recorded to assess effectiveness and efficiency. TCTs were extracted from video recordings. Task success was defined as all actions being clearly

identified and completed, while failure was defined as at least one of the actions composing the task failing once. Errors were categorized as slips (unintended actions such as typos or accidental clicks) and mistakes (wrong actions thought to be correct, such as clicking on a nonclickable item) [31]. GOMS (Goal, operators, methods, and selection rules) modeling using Cogulator (Mitre Corp) was used to estimate reference times. GOMS modeling analyzes and aims to predict user interaction with computer systems. It helps designers, developers, and researchers to understand user behavior. User tasks are divided into goals. Each of the goals is achieved by solving subgoals in a divide-and-conquer approach [32]. In the context of this work, a reference time was estimated by dissecting each task into different subtasks. Each of these subtasks (eg, typing a text, pointing and clicking on an item, processing information) was associated with a certain time.

Oral remarks and comments were aggregated into 3 categories: feature requests, comments about user experience, and identified bugs.

# Results

# **Participants**

A total of 14 participants scheduled appointments for study participation. Two (P6, P7) did not fulfill the inclusion criteria. The screen-recording data of one participant (P3) could not be saved due to technical issues. This participant was thus excluded. Finally, 11 participants were included in the evaluation.

Participants were aged 34.6 (SD 2.2) years, had 1.8 (SD 0.98) previous pregnancies, and had their last delivery 33.2 (SD 24.5) months previously. Education level (n=1: job training; n=3: bachelor's degree; n=1: master's degree; n=6: PhD) and monthly household gross income varied (n=1: O00-O000; n=3: O00-O000; n=3: O00-O000; n=4: >O10; a conversion rate of O1=US \$1.13 applies). Most participants were native German speakers (n=9). The remaining 2 participants reported basic (n=1) and advanced (n=1) German language skills.

#### **Task Completion Time**

The task completion times and GOMS reference times of each task are shown in Figure 2. As outlined in Table 1, no times were measured for explorative tasks.



**Figure 2.** Task completion times for each task. See Table 1 for details on the individual tasks. GOMS (goal, operators, methods, and selection rules) modeling using Cogulator was performed to estimate reference times. No times were measured for explorative tasks (tasks 3, 5, 7, 9).



# **Errors and Task Success**

Recorded errors per task and overall task success rates are shown in Table 2.



Nissen et al

Table .	Total error count	and task success	per task. No t	imes were measured	for explorative tasks	(tasks 3, 5, 7, and 9).
	rotan error eount	and table bacebb	per caon ro c	mies nere measured	ioi emprorative tabito	(abito 0, 0, 7, and 7)

Task ID	Errors, n	Successfully completed tasks (n=11), n (%)
1	1	2 (18)
2	17	11 (100)
4	1	11 (100)
6	4	11 (100)
8	8	5 (46)
10	3	11 (100)

# **Usability Questionnaires**

The app received a mean SUS score of 79.09 (SD 18.38). According to the UEQ, participants rated the app's

attractiveness, perspicuity, efficiency, and stimulation as "above average." It was rated as "good" in dependability and "below average" in novelty (Figure 3).

**Figure 3.** User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) results. The app was rated as "above average" in most areas. The UEQ scales range from -3 to +3. The graphic was derived from the official UEQ evaluation benchmark tool, which crops ranges to improve readability.



#### **Oral Think-Aloud Remarks and Comments**

Participants requested a total of 23 features, of which 16 were unique (Table 3). The study identified 6 unique bugs (Table 4).

Participants made 35 additional usability-related comments regarding 25 unique items (Table 5).



Table . Feature requests as stated by users during the study.

Description	Context	Users, n
Interactive graphs: zoom, pan, hover	Data visualization	4
Upload ultrasound picture	Ultrasound	3
Emergency contact phone numbers	General	2
Send recommendations based on mood trend	Journal	2
Gravida and para values updated automatically	Maternity logbook	1
Contextual explanation of concepts that appear in the app	General	1
Contextual explanation of pregnancy concepts in the app	General	1
Provide information about size and weight of the baby	General	1
Information about items needed when giving birth	Information	1
Information on health professionals involved during pregnancy	Information	1
Reuse information from previous pregnancies	Maternity logbook	1
Overview of scheduled appointments as in the paper version	General	1
Show a questionnaire to enter basic data at first app use	General	1
Show visualization of mood trend	Journal	1
Support multiple pregnancies	Maternity logbook	1
Ultrasound curves	Ultrasound	1

## $\ensuremath{\textbf{Table}}$ . Bugs encountered by users during the study.

Description	Users, n
Automatic logout after some time	7
Scrolling up to the top refreshes the app	6
Installation did not work	1
Opening tasks menu does not delete completed tasks	1
Page reload for unknown reason	1
Questionnaire was not sent	1



Table . Other usability-related comments made by users during the study.

-		
Description	Context	Users, n
Show meaning of abbreviations	General	4
Too much scrolling in the app	General	3
Side menu: too much information	General	3
Unclear why the app needs to be installed	App installation	2
Confusing that the Mutterpass data is editable	Maternity logbook	2
Side menu: avoid scrolling up each time to access side menu	General	2
Heart frequency plots without labels	Data visualization	1
Show the gravidogram version in a user-friendly way	Maternity logbook	1
Visualization options: not easy to find	Data visualization	1
Side menu: use collapsible structure	General	1
Side menu: make it sticky to avoid scrolling up to open it	General	1
Side menu: colors make it unclear which parts are clickable	General	1
Show time estimated to finish a questionnaire	General	1
Show previous ultrasound examinations first by default	Ultrasound	1
Show reference values in plot	Data visualization	1
Heart frequency plots without legends	Data visualization	1
Reduce the amount of information on each screen	General	1
Reduce number of needed clicks in question- naires	General	1
Horizontal scrolling tabs not discoverable	General	1
Hide technical information from the Mutterpass by default	Maternity logbook	1
Color code open tasks if done or in progress	Open tasks	1
Use smaller icons in main screen to reduce scrolling	General	1
Due date estimation: too much information	Maternity logbook	1
Journal option not discoverable	Journal	1
Visualization options: text would look better as a table	Data visualization	1

# **Semistructured Interviews**

The following paragraphs summarize the findings from the semistructured interviews. A more detailed tabular summary is provided in Multimedia Appendix 3.

#### Information Seeking and Online Research

Participants were initially asked about their preferred information depth for medical pregnancy information. For example, they were asked whether they preferred only basic information, as they may feel overwhelmed, or wanted to know "all pregnancy details." Participants answered either that they had no problem during their pregnancy and thus could not answer the question (1/11), did not prefer deep information

(1/11), relied on their physician to deliver adequate information (3/11), felt overwhelmed by information when things were not in order (1/11), or wanted to know all information (5/11). Almost half (5/11) of the participants searched online for information. Three explicitly mentioned that they do not perceive online forums or blogs as trustable. Apps were mentioned 3 times, although one participant said that she ultimately did not use them, as she did not want to pay for them. The reliability of sources, such as apps officially published by a government authority, was a reoccurring topic (4/11). Some participants stated they used books or scientific papers (3/11).

#### Wearables and Wearable Data Interpretation

Participants were invited to discuss the use of wearables during pregnancy, as well as the resulting data presentation (such as vital parameters) and interpretation. Two participants stated they would use wearables as part of regular prenatal care, with one having had a situation in the past where the technology would have been helpful. Almost half (5/11) mentioned that they would only use wearables if required to do so by their physician. One participant mentioned that the use of wearables might be helpful if risk factors were present (such as underweight or obesity). Two participants explicitly stated that they would not use wearable devices. Privacy and cyberchondria concerns were mentioned by 2 participants each.

Regarding the presentation and communication of data-derived information in the app, 1 participant stated that the full data must be accessible to the women. On the contrary, 2 mentioned that the data should only be interpreted by the physician. When asked about how users should be informed about detected anomalies in the recorded data, 6 women stated that they would like to receive a notification in these cases. Out of these 6, 1 said that a physician visit should be enforced after receiving such a notification, another requested immediate feedback to assist with the problem (eg, breathing exercises), 1 stated that data should be generally hidden as she did not understand it, and 2 stated that these notifications should only appear upon severe anomalies.

In terms of data visualization, 2 participants mentioned that this should be organized in a way that a summary or interpretation is first shown before displaying detailed data. One participant mentioned that she could not give any suggestion about how to display the data or whether notifications are useful, as the app or its algorithm may not be trustable in the first place.

#### **At-Home Examinations and Current Practice**

Participants were asked whether they could imagine replacing a limited number of in-person obstetrician-gynecologist visits by conducting at-home measurements. One participant agreed with this idea but mentioned that it depended on the pregnancy and potential complications. One stated that fewer appointments could be convenient when a long drive to the doctor's office is necessary. Another participant mentioned that she overall liked the appointments, but those where the physician was not involved could be potentially replaced. A total of 4 of 9 participants mentioned that they preferred the appointments, as they felt safer (1/4) and were able to ask questions (2/4). The question was not asked in 2 interviews as a result of the semistructured approach.

#### Data Donation: Sharing Data for Research Purposes

Lastly, data sharing for research purposes was discussed with participants. All but one woman stated they would share their data for research purposes, and 6 of 11 explicitly mentioned that the data should be anonymized. Several additional points were discussed by participants: security was perceived as important (1/11); the study and ethics committee should be named (1/11); participants would not share data if the data were invasive (1/11); a clear data protection policy is important (1/11); and data users must follow regulatory recommendations

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50765
```

(1/11). One participant stated that she is privacy aware in everyday life but does not have these concerns regarding maternal record data.

# Discussion

This work aimed to assess usability and perceptions of a wearable-integrated DMR smartphone app. A user study was conducted for this purpose.

#### **Key Results**

The app's SUS score was a mean 79.09 (SD 18.38). This is in the 85th percentile compared to literature benchmarks and represents above average usability [33]. The app scored "above average" in all categories but "novelty." We believe this is attributable to our close copy of the analogue (paper) version of the German maternity record (Mutterpass). It was not our aim to redesign the document, as this is outside the scope of this work. Therefore, we closely copied the document in the maternity record section of our app but did not explore all benefits for the health care setting of a digital redesign.

TCTs in all tasks were higher than those modeled with GOMS, with the highest differences in tasks 1, 2, and 8. The long time taken for task 2 can be attributed to the atypical app installation process. As the app is a PWA, it is installed by using browser-delivered functionality as opposed to an app store. The respective instructions are lengthy and require participant effort. In task 8, users were able to choose different visualization options through a "slide-to-the-side" bar on top of the page. This functionality and the choice of visualization options was not obvious to users. The visualization options were presented using a "slide-to-the-right" bar, also resulting in user experience problems. Users performed think-alouds throughout the tasks. This may also have had a negative effect on task completion time.

Most errors occurred in task 2 (ie, app installation, during which 17 errors occurred; Table 2). The menu button was placed on the top left of the page. It was thus not visible unless users scrolled to the top of the page, which resulted in corresponding errors. Task 1 (user creation and login; 2/11, 18%) and task 8 (find heart rate value; 5/11, 46%) had low task success rates. In the first task, users tried to log in without having previously registered an account, which can be ascribed to poor study instructions. Task 8 suffered from the presentation of visualization options, as explained in the previous paragraph. The study was overall very helpful in finding usability problems in our app, which we continue to improve for future use. This equally applies to the feature requests made by participants.

The trustworthiness of pregnancy apps was considered as important by several women, which favored apps from official sources. This underlines our overall concept.

Interviews provided insights into the perception of individual aspects of our DMR concept. Opinions regarding the overall concept of a wearable-integrated DMR app were mixed. Participants stated that a clear benefit must be communicated, and this benefit should be communicated by the caretaking obstetrician-gynecologist. Participants that experienced

XSL•FO RenderX

pregnancy complications in the past were overall more open toward the idea.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

To the best of our knowledge, previous work, including think-aloud usability sessions or studies focusing on wearable integration in maternity care, is limited to date. Our work is the first to examine usability in a DMR environment using the think-aloud method and the first overall to investigate aspects of usability when integrating wearable data into a DMR app.

Usability is often reported as a secondary element or through postuse surveys or questionnaires [21,22,34]. Scott et al [35] analysed commercial pregnancy apps and found that only 2 of 10 apps had full usability. An online tool for gestational diabetes reached a SUS score of 70.9 [36]. The only study we identified that used think-aloud sessions investigated an app for pregnancy-related work advice [37]. A total of 82 usability problems were identified, and the overall mean SUS score was 68. In light of these findings from the literature, we believe our app (mean SUS score 79.09, SD 18.38) overall has high usability compared to its peers. It furthermore benefited and will continue to benefit from our UCD approach.

Our results from the semistructured interviews are overall in line with previous work. Groenen et al [38] found that users do not start a DMR if they feel it has no perceived value and that physicians play a key role in the adoption of technology. In this previous work, participants similarly stated that pregnancy complications increase the value of technology. Other work confirms these findings [15,16].

#### Strengths, Weaknesses, and Contribution

Several limitations apply to our work. Participants did not conduct the study on their phones, but instead used a phone interface on their desktop computers. This was necessary due to COVID-19-related restrictions. Usability problems related to the actual end device and its use (eg, smartphone or tablet) cannot be discovered in such a setting. The SUS score was shown as a questionnaire in the app. We used a vertical instead of a horizontal layout for the Likert questions, which could influence results. Overall, participants had a both a comparably high education level as well as household income. Women with low digital affinity may be less likely to participate in a study such as ours, and could thus be underrepresented. Interviews may have been biased in the sense that not every participant was asked every question, as they were designed as semistructured sessions to catch overall perceptions and impressions. The semistructured interviews conducted as part of our study design could benefit from additional participants. We did not use a fixed threshold since the last pregnancy as an inclusion criterion. Thus, the time since the last pregnancy varied between participants. This may have influenced participants' responses.

Our study combines several strengths: Regarding the usability study and think-alouds, a sufficient number of women with previous pregnancy experience participated, and the participant size was adequate for the proposed study design [39,40]. We are the first to explicitly conduct an observational usability study of pregnancy mobile health, compared to previous work that

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50765
```

relied on postuse questionnaires. Furthermore, we are the first to evaluate several mobile health and ubiquitous health concepts, including the use of wearables in care practice, in one single prototype. We believe this descriptive prototype makes it easier for participants to understand the underlying concepts and the potential impact on their personal life. Additionally, we evaluated several connected topics of high importance in the realm of mobile and ubiquitous health in maternal care, particularly regarding information research, health anxiety, reaction to potential alerts, and data sharing for research.

#### **Future Work and Areas for Innovation**

We propose several areas for future work. These proposals are based on statements of the participants, the literature, experiences during app development, and lessons learned from conduct of this study. They target both industry innovation and future scientific work.

Participants stated that they would appreciate additional explanations within the DMR section of the app. The existing German paper-based hand-held maternity record largely relies on medical terms and abbreviations. Based on the interviews and our clinical experience, these are not understood by many women. The DMR has the potential to provide understandable additional information in close proximity to the respective fields. This can include easy-to-understand explanations and expert videos; it could even be tailored to individual measurement values or findings.

The visualization and communication of recorded and potentially automatically assessed wearable data must be considered in future work. There was no consensus on whether data should be completely accessible by or hidden from the user. Some participants were aware of potential risks such as cyberchondria and preferred not to view the full data in the first place.

An important related question is the reaction to abnormal measurements. Should the user or the physician be notified? Participants were equally split regarding this question. One way to address these mixed opinions could be a user-controlled setting.

DMRs have the potential to alleviate media discontinuties [23]. They can improve information flow from women to caregivers as well as between caregivers. Thus, DMRs may be a tool to improve overall care.

Recommendations for the use and application of wearables in routine care may be helpful for both pregnant women and caregivers. An important question for future discussion is the measurement reliability of devices and interpretation of the generated data. The latter is relevant as data are generated "in the field" outside the supervision of medical professionals and could be of lower quality and reliability.

Sharing data for research was favored by most participants, although this finding may be biased given that we only interviewed participants that decided to take part in a scientific study in the first place.

Our work only investigated usability, perception, and opinions on several related topics among women who had been pregnant in the past. Longitudinal studies during pregnancy may be

XSL•FO RenderX

helpful to examine how app interaction, opinions, and related phenomena (such as cyberchondria) change throughout pregnancy.

#### Conclusion

We were the first to assess the concept of a wearable-integrated DMR app in terms of usability and overall perception. The app combined several concepts: the maternity record itself, information sections, selected consumer pregnancy app functionalities, and the integration of wearable data. Semistructured interviews on online information research, the use of wearable devices, integration into routine care, and data sharing for research completed the study.

Our work found good overall usability and was helpful in identifying usability problems as well as errors. Participants

were of mixed opinions regarding the integration of wearable technology into prenatal care. Clear benefits of such devices must be communicated to prospective users to ensure user acceptance. Pregnant women rely on the opinion and guidance of their caretakers, particularly gynecologists and midwives, who thus play a key role in the adoption of mobile and ubiquitous health technology such as wearables in maternal care.

Opinions on the display of wearable data, its evaluation, alert levels, and handling of potential alerts were mixed and highly individual. Some women preferred to see all data, while others explicitly did not want access to it. Future work should thus investigate different personalized options for wearable data display, interpretation, automated evaluation, and potential reaction to alerts.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Federal Ministry of Health on the basis of a decision by the German Bundestag (grant 2519DAT400). BME gratefully acknowledges the support of the German Research Foundation within the framework of the Heisenberg professorship program (grant ES 434/8-1). We acknowledge financial support from Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg within the funding program Open Access Publication Funding.

# **Authors' Contributions**

MN conceived the study, developed the app and study design, analyzed data, assisted in interviews, and wrote the manuscript draft. CA Perez assisted in app development, developed the study design, conducted interviews, and analyzed data. All authors reviewed the final manuscript. KMJ, HB, and MF assisted in writing the manuscript. HB provided ethical expertise and assisted in developing the study design. HH, ND, AT, CA Pontones, PAF, and MWB provided clinical expertise and requirements for app development. PAF, MWB, BME, and HL initiated and supervised the project. All authors reviewed the final manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Retrospectively translated English version of example screenshots of the developed app (from top left to bottom right): "Start," "My tasks," "MAPI questionnaire," "Installation guide," "My measurements," "Main menu," "Ultrasound section," and "Information" section. The app is intended for a German audience and was thus originally developed in German. This version was not used in the study but is provided for reference and clearer presentation. [PNG File, 391 KB - pediatrics v6i1e50765 app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Example app walkthrough based on the study procedure. [PDF File, 1414 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e50765\_app2.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 3

Tabular overview of participants' responses during the semistructured interviews. [PDF File, 239 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e50765\_app3.pdf]

# References

- Homer CSE, Davis GK, Everitt LS. The introduction of a woman-held record into a hospital antenatal clinic: the bring your own records study. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 1999 Feb;39(1):54-57. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1479-828x.1999.tb03445.x</u>] [Medline: <u>10099751</u>]
- 2. Home-based records for maternal, newborn and child health. UNICEF Global Development Commons. URL: <u>https://gdc.unicef.org/resource/home-based-records-maternal-newborn-and-child-health</u> [accessed 2022-07-19]
- Brown HC, Smith HJ, Mori R, Noma H. Giving women their own case notes to carry during pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Oct 14;2015(10):CD002856. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002856.pub3] [Medline: 26465209]

- 4. Magwood O, Kpadé V, Afza R, et al. Understanding women's, caregivers', and providers' experiences with home-based records: a systematic review of qualitative studies. PLoS One 2018 Oct 4;13(10):e0204966. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204966] [Medline: 30286161]
- Webster J, Forbes K, Foster S, Thomas I, Griffin A, Timms H. Sharing antenatal care: client satisfaction and use of the "patient-held record". Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 1996 Feb;36(1):11-14. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1479-828x.1996.tb02912.x</u>] [Medline: <u>8775241</u>]
- 6. Maul H, Waller T, Sohn C. Der elektronische Mutterpass potential eines innovativen konzepts [Article in German]. Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd 2006 Sep 19;66(S 01). [doi: <u>10.1055/s-2006-952303</u>]
- Noelle G, Herpers R, Hellmuth D, Christ-Köhler R. Entwicklung eines elektronischen mutterpasses. In: Zacharias C, Horst KW, Witt KU, Sommer V, Ant M, Essmann U, et al, editors. Forschungsspitzen Und Spitzenforschung: Innovationen an Der FH Bonn-Rhein-Sieg, Festschrift Für Wulf Fischer [In German]: Physica-Verlag HD; 2009:51-59. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-7908-2127-7]
- Wäckerle A, Blöchlinger-Wegmann B, Burkhardt T, Krähenmann F, Kurmanavicius J, Zimmermann R. Notes on a stick: use and acceptability of woman-held maternity notes. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2010 Dec;153(2):156-159. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2010.07.019] [Medline: 20674133]
- Ledford CJW, Canzona MR, Cafferty LA, Hodge JA. Mobile application as a prenatal education and engagement tool: a randomized controlled pilot. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Apr;99(4):578-582. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2015.11.006</u>] [Medline: <u>26610389</u>]
- Ledford CJW, Womack JJ, Rider HA, et al. Unexpected effects of a system-distributed mobile application in maternity care: a randomized controlled trial. Health Educ Behav 2018 Jun;45(3):323-330. [doi: <u>10.1177/1090198117732110</u>] [Medline: <u>28918669</u>]
- 11. Murbach M, Martin S, Denecke K, Nüssli S. A first standardized Swiss electronic maternity record. Stud Health Technol Inform 2017;236:248-253. [Medline: <u>28508803</u>]
- 12. Hawley G, Hepworth J, Wilkinson SA, Jackson C. From maternity paper hand-held records to electronic health records: what do women tell us about their use? Aust J Prim Health 2016;22(4):339-348. [doi: 10.1071/PY14170] [Medline: 26351241]
- Quinlivan JA, Lyons S, Petersen RW. Attitudes of pregnant women towards personally controlled electronic, hospital-held, and patient-held medical record systems: a survey study. Telemed J E Health 2014 Sep;20(9):810-815. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0342] [Medline: 25046543]
- Groenen CJM, Kremer JAM, IntHout J, Meinders MJ, van Duijnhoven NTL, Vandenbussche F. Effects of a personal health record in maternity care: a stepped-wedge trial. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Sep 30;18(19):10343. [doi: <u>10.3390/ijerph181910343</u>] [Medline: <u>34639642</u>]
- Schramm K, Grassl N, Nees J, et al. Women's attitudes toward self-monitoring of their pregnancy using noninvasive electronic devices: cross-sectional multicenter study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 7;7(1):e11458. [doi: <u>10.2196/11458</u>] [Medline: <u>30617040</u>]
- Li J, Silvera-Tawil D, Varnfield M, Hussain MS, Math V. Users' perceptions toward mHealth technologies for health and well-being monitoring in pregnancy care: qualitative interview study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Dec 2;5(12):e28628. [doi: 10.2196/28628] [Medline: <u>34860665</u>]
- Grym K, Niela-Vilén H, Ekholm E, et al. Feasibility of smart wristbands for continuous monitoring during pregnancy and one month after birth. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2019 Jan 17;19(1):34. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12884-019-2187-9</u>] [Medline: <u>30654747</u>]
- 18. Morales Rodriguez M, Casper G, Brennan PF. Patient-centered design. The potential of user-centered design in personal health records. J AHIMA 2007 Apr;78(4):44-46. [Medline: <u>17455846</u>]
- Cornet VP, Daley C, Bolchini D, Toscos T, Mirro MJ, Holden RJ. Patient-centered design grounded in user and clinical realities: towards valid digital health. Proc Int Symp Hum Factors Ergon Healthc 2019 Sep;8(1):100-104. [doi: 10.1177/2327857919081023]
- 20. Overdijkink SB, Velu AV, Rosman AN, van Beukering MD, Kok M, Steegers-Theunissen RP. The usability and effectiveness of mobile health technology–based lifestyle and medical intervention apps supporting health care during pregnancy: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Apr 24;6(4):e109. [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8834] [Medline: 29691216]
- 21. Shaw E, Howard M, Chan D, et al. Access to web-based personalized antenatal health records for pregnant women: a randomized controlled trial. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2008 Jan;30(1):38-43. [doi: 10.1016/S1701-2163(16)32711-6] [Medline: 18198066]
- 22. Chang CW, Ma TY, Choi MS, Hsu YY, Tsai YJ, Hou TW. Electronic personal maternity records: both web and smartphone services. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2015 Aug;121(1):49-58. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2015.02.008</u>] [Medline: <u>26004998</u>]
- 23. Dörflinger L, Nissen M, Jäger K, et al. Digital maternity records: motivation, acceptance, requirements, usability and prototype evaluation of an interface for physicians and midwives. Presented at: MuC '21: Mensch und Computer 2021; Sep 5-8, 2021; Ingolstadt, Germany p. 204-209. [doi: 10.1145/3473856.3473994]

- 24. Bundesministerium für Gesundheit [In German]. Der elektronische Mutterpass (E-Mutterpass). URL: <u>https://gesund.bund.de/</u> elektronischer-mutterpass [accessed 2022-08-08]
- 25. The Mobile and Ubiquitous Health Framework. URL: https://carecentive.net/ [accessed 2023-06-06]
- Karrer K, Glaser C, Clemens C, Bruder C. Technikaffinität Erfassen der Fragebogen TA-EG [Article in German]. ResearchGate. URL: <u>www.researchgate.net/publication/266876811</u> Technikaffinitat erfassen - der Fragebogen TA-EG [accessed 2023-11-28]
- 27. 25. SSW / 25. Schwangerschaftswoche D-SSK.De. Dein Schwangerschaftskalender YouTube page. 2017 Mar 23. URL: www.youtube.com/watch?v=OrHdBk5VmIw [accessed 2022-08-09]
- 28. Holzinger A. HCI and usability for education and work. Presented at: Construction and Evaluation of a User Experience Questionnaire; Nov 20-21, 2008; Graz, Austria p. 63-76. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-540-89350-9</u>]
- 29. Brooke J. SUS: a quick and dirty usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation in Industry: Routledge; 1995.
- 30. Maislin G, Pack AI, Kribbs NB, et al. A survey screen for prediction of apnea. Sleep 1995 Apr;18(3):158-166. [doi: 10.1093/sleep/18.3.158] [Medline: 7610311]
- 31. Norman DA. The Design of Everyday Things, Revised and Expanded Edition: Basic Books; 2013.
- 32. Card SK, Moran TP, Newell A. The Psychology of Human-Computer Interaction: L. Erlbaum Associates; 1983.
- 33. Lewis JR, Sauro J. Item benchmarks for the System Usability Scale. JUX 2018;13(3) [FREE Full text]
- Rothstein JD, Jennings L, Moorthy A, et al. Qualitative assessment of the feasibility, usability, and acceptability of a mobile client data app for community-based maternal, neonatal, and child care in rural Ghana. Int J Telemed Appl 2016;2016:2515420. [doi: 10.1155/2016/2515420] [Medline: 28070186]
- 35. Scott KM, Gome GA, Richards D, Caldwell PHY. How trustworthy are apps for maternal and child health? Health Technol 2015 Apr;4(4):329-336. [doi: 10.1007/s12553-015-0099-x] [Medline: <u>33162775</u>]
- 36. Gianfrancesco C, Darwin Z, McGowan L, et al. Exploring the feasibility of use of an online dietary assessment tool (myfood24) in women with gestational diabetes. Nutrients 2018;10(9):1147. [doi: 10.3390/nu10091147]
- 37. van Beukering M, Velu A, van den Berg L, et al. Usability and usefulness of a mobile health app for pregnancy-related work advice: mixed-methods approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 May 9;7(5):e11442. [doi: 10.2196/11442] [Medline: 31094353]
- Groenen CJM, van Duijnhoven NTL, van Denbussche FPHA, van Hoogstraaten MJ, Faber MJ, Kremer JAM. Personal health records in maternity care "a process evaluation". J Comput Sci Appl Inf Technol 2017 Jan 20;2(1):1-5. [doi: 10.15226/2474-9257/2/1/00109]
- 39. How to determine the right number of participants for usability studies. Uxmatters. URL: <u>www.uxmatters.com/mt/archives/</u>2016/01/how-to-determine-the-right-number-of-participants-for-usability-studies.php [accessed 2022-11-17]
- 40. Nielsen J, Landauer TK. A mathematical model of the finding of usability problems. In: Proceedings of the INTERACT '93 and CHI '93 Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems: Association for Computing Machinery; 1993:206-213. [doi: 10.1145/169059.169166]

# Abbreviations

DMR: digital maternity record GOMS: goal, operators, methods, and selection rules PWA: progressive web app SUS: System Usability Scale TCT: task completion time UCD: user-centered design UEQ: User Experience Questionnaire

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 12.07.23; peer-reviewed by G Colonna, M Gong; revised version received 20.09.23; accepted 02.10.23; published 15.12.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Nissen M, Perez CA, Jaeger KM, Bleher H, Flaucher M, Huebner H, Danzberger N, Titzmann A, Pontones CA, Fasching PA, Beckmann MW, Eskofier BM, Leutheuser H Usability and Perception of a Wearable-Integrated Digital Maternity Record App in Germany: User Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e50765 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e50765</u> doi:<u>10.2196/50765</u>

© Michael Nissen, Carlos A Perez, Katharina M Jaeger, Hannah Bleher, Madeleine Flaucher, Hanna Huebner, Nina Danzberger, Adriana Titzmann, Constanza A Pontones, Peter A Fasching, Matthias W Beckmann, Bjoern M Eskofier, Heike Leutheuser. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 15.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Original Paper**

# Evaluating the Impact of an App-Delivered Mindfulness Meditation Program to Reduce Stress and Anxiety During Pregnancy: Pilot Longitudinal Study

Donna Balsam<sup>1</sup>, RN, MSN, PhD; Dawn T Bounds<sup>2</sup>, PMHNP-BC, PhD; Amir M Rahmani<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Adeline Nyamathi<sup>2</sup>, ANP, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing, San Diego State University, San Diego, CA, United States
 <sup>2</sup>Sue & Bill Gross School of Nursing, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Donna Balsam, RN, MSN, PhD School of Nursing San Diego State University 5500 Campanile Mall San Diego, CA, 92182 United States Phone: 1 6195942540 Fax: 1 6195941920 Email: dbalsam@sdsu.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Stress and anxiety during pregnancy are extremely prevalent and are associated with numerous poor outcomes, among the most serious of which are increased rates of preterm birth and low birth weight infants. Research supports that while in-person mindfulness training is effective in reducing pregnancy stress and anxiety, there are barriers limiting accessibility.

**Objective:** The aim of this paper is to determine if mindfulness meditation training with the Headspace app is effective for stress and anxiety reduction during pregnancy.

**Methods:** A longitudinal, single-arm trial was implemented with 20 pregnant women who were instructed to practice meditation via the Headspace app twice per day during the month-long trial. Validated scales were used to measure participant's levels of stress and anxiety pre- and postintervention. Physiological measures reflective of stress (heart rate variability and sleep) were collected via the Oura Ring.

**Results:** Statistically significant reductions were found in self-reported levels of stress (P=.005), anxiety (P=.01), and pregnancy anxiety (P<.0001). Hierarchical linear modeling revealed a statistically significant reduction in the physiological data reflective of stress in 1 of 6 heart rate variability metrics, the low-frequency power band, which decreased by 13% (P=.006). A total of 65% of study participants (n=13) reported their sleep improved during the trial, and 95% (n=19) stated that learning mindfulness helped with other aspects of their lives. Participant retention was 100%, with 65% of participants (n=13) completing about two-thirds of the intervention, and 50% of participants (n=10) completing  $\geq$ 95%.

**Conclusions:** This study found evidence to support the Headspace app as an effective intervention to aid in stress and anxiety reduction during pregnancy.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e53933) doi:10.2196/53933

#### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

mindfulness app; pregnancy; pregnant; maternal; obstetric; obstetrics; stress; anxiety; heart rate variability; mindfulness; mHealth; mobile health; app; apps; applications; mental health; meditation; mind-body; complementary; alternative; heart rate; sleep; mobile phone

# Introduction

## Overview

Stress and anxiety during pregnancy are extremely prevalent, where an estimated 58% of people who are pregnant experience prenatal stress [1], and 25% experience anxiety [2]. Stress and anxiety during pregnancy are associated with numerous poor outcomes, among the most serious are increased rates of preterm birth [3] and low birth weight infants [4]. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), preterm birth is the leading cause of infant morbidity and mortality in children worldwide [5], with an estimated 15 million preterm infants born annually [6]. In the United States, approximately 11% of infants are born preterm [7], leading to societal costs of US \$26 billion each year [8].

Mind-body practices like yoga and mindfulness meditation are becoming increasingly popular to manage stress and anxiety. Mindfulness is the awareness that arises through paying attention, on purpose, in the present moment, nonjudgmentally [9]. There is evidence that mindfulness meditation training can have a beneficial impact on reducing perinatal stress [10] and anxiety [11]. However, in-person instruction has barriers including accessibility, availability, cost, and time.

Internet mindfulness-based interventions (iMBIs), including computer and app-based resources, provide a convenient alternative to traditional mindfulness classes. Studies examining the impact of iMBIs during pregnancy found a reduction in stress [12,13] and anxiety [14,15]. However, limitations included high attrition, poor adherence, and lack of objective or physiological measures of stress, like heart rate variability (HRV) and sleep. Research supports that HRV is an objective, reliable measure of stress [16]. Sleep is also reflective of stress, where improved sleep reduces stress [17]. None of the reviewed studies used top-rated iMBIs like the Headspace app. Headspace is among the highest-scoring mindfulness apps based on the Mobile Application Rating System [18]. The purpose of this study was to determine if a more accessible form of mindfulness meditation training, specifically Headspace, can help reduce stress and anxiety during pregnancy.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework for this study is based on the polyvagal theory [19], which postulates that the vagus nerve has two branches that regulate different physiological states: the dorsal vagal complex, associated with immobilization

behaviors (rest or digest and shutdown or freeze), and the ventral vagal complex, associated with social engagement, calm, and safety [19]. Relaxation practices like meditation activate the ventral vagal complex, reducing stress [20], and improving HRV [21]. Various HRV metrics, which are reflective of vagus nerve activity, can be extracted. For example, the HRV metric the root-mean-square of successive differences between adjacent normal heartbeats (RMSSD) is mediated by the vagus nerve [22], with higher values indicating relaxation and lower mental stress [23]. The HRV metric low-frequency (LF), reflects a mix of the sympathetic and vagal influences on HRV [24], and lowers with relaxation practices, like mindfulness [25,26].

# **HRV** Changes in Pregnancy

Most HRV metrics decrease throughout pregnancy [27,28]. A recent study, which evaluated HRV changes during pregnancy against age-matched nonpregnant controls, found that there was reduced HRV in the pregnant groups for all trimesters [29]. A more recent systematic review evaluating 8 research studies measuring HRV trends across gestation in healthy pregnant women found further evidence that HRV decreases across gestation for all HRV metrics but 2. The LF and the LF per high-frequency (HF) ratio showed an ascending trend from early to late pregnancy [28]. Despite the variations in HRV observed during pregnancy as compared to the nonpregnant population, several studies have used HRV as a physiological measure of stress during pregnancy [26,30-32].

# Methods

# **Participants**

The study sample consisted of 20 study participants to achieve 80% power with a moderate effect size (0.35) and  $\alpha$  of .05. The inclusion criteria were (1) pregnant people residing in San Diego County; (2) age 18-35 years; (3) between 10 and 32 weeks gestation; (4) able to read and understand English; and (5) access to a smartphone, Wi-Fi, email, and able to download apps. Exclusion criteria were (1) people who regularly ( $\geq 3 \times$  per week) engaged in other mindfulness practices like yoga, (2) concurrent enrollment in a mindfulness meditation class, (3) hearing impairment, (4) cognitive impairment, (5) chronic health or pregnancy-related medical condition causing "high risk" pregnancy, (6) current psychotherapy, (7) current psychoactive medications, and (8) severe depression or anxiety. A total of 33 people were screened for eligibility, with 8 excluded for advanced maternal age, and 4 were excluded because they had passed 32 weeks of gestation (Figure 1).



Figure 1. CONSORT diagram. CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials.



#### **Ethical Considerations**

After the institutional review board approval from the University of California, Irvine (HS# 2021-6664), recruitment flyers were posted at maternity clinics, describing the study, and providing contact information. Once contacted, potential participants were sent a recruitment email containing further study details and instructions to contact the investigator if they met eligibility criteria. Next, a phone conversation was scheduled to further assess eligibility, provide details, and answer questions. During the call, potential participants were asked to give their verbal consent for the investigator to further assess their eligibility, and screen them for severe anxiety and depression. Participants were informed that all records would be kept confidential and stored in REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University), a Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA)-compliant web-based app for managing clinical research data.

#### **Design and Procedure**

Potential participants were screened for severe depression using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) [33] and severe anxiety using the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD-7) [34]. EDPS scores of  $\geq$ 19 and GAD-7 scores of  $\geq$ 15 rendered potential participants ineligible. Next, a meeting was arranged for consent, completion of baseline measures, and assistance with study apps and materials (Multimedia Appendix 1). Participants were loaned an Oura Ring to wear nightly during the study period. Participants wore the ring for 4 days (2 workdays and 2 days off) prior to starting the intervention to get a baseline HRV reflective of their stress levels. The researcher monitored the Oura Ring server throughout the experiment to assess participant compliance with wearing the Oura ring, and that data were recorded. Surveys and measures of stress and anxiety were completed at baseline and study completion, and measures for anxiety were additionally collected at the study midpoint (Multimedia Appendix 2).

#### Incentive

RenderX

As a study incentive, participants each received a 6-month subscription to the Headspace app, as well as US \$50. Once mid-study surveys were completed, participants received a US \$15 gift card incentive by email. At study completion, once the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e53933
```

participants finished the final study measures, they were contacted by the investigator to arrange a meeting time and place to return their Oura Ring and charger and receive their remaining financial incentive (US \$35 gift card).

#### **Materials: Headspace**

Participants were instructed to practice meditation with Headspace twice daily during the month-long trial, starting with "Basics," followed by "Pregnancy." "Basics" contained 30 meditations, between 3 and 20 minutes long, introducing the essentials of mindfulness meditation. Next, participants were instructed to complete 30 meditations in the "Pregnancy" course, between 10 and 20 minutes long, which focused on the development of favorable conditions for pregnancy and birth. The total intervention was 60 meditations for a range of 530-1050 minutes.

#### Measures

#### Screening Measures

#### Screening Tool

A screening tool was used to assess eligibility via the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

#### Severe Depression

Potential study participants were screened for severe depression using the EPDS [33]. The EDPS has been validated against both the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5) and the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10), with high sensitivity and specificity [35]. Scores of this 10-item scale range from 0 to 30, with higher scores indicating the presence of depressive symptoms.

#### Severe Anxiety

Potential study participants were screened for severe anxiety using the GAD-7 [34]. The GAD-7 assesses the most prominent diagnostic features from the DSM-5 for generalized anxiety disorder [36]. The GAD-7 asks respondents to rate how often they experienced the survey anxiety symptoms within the last 2 weeks. Scores range from 0 to 21, and scores of 5, 10, and 15 are the respective cut-off points for mild, moderate, and severe anxiety [34]. The GAD-7 has demonstrated good reliability

(Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.89) and validity in the pregnant population [37]. This measure was additionally used as an anxiety assessment at baseline and study completion.

#### **Other Baseline Measure: Social Support**

Social support was assessed using the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS) [38]. The MSPSS consists of 12 questions using a 7-item Likert scale for participant responses, ranging from "very strongly disagree" (1) to "very strongly agree" (7), with higher numbers indicating greater social support. The MSPSS has shown good-to-excellent internal reliability with a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .81-.98, and test-retest reliability of 0.92-0.94 [38].

#### **Physiologic Measures and Dependent Variables**

#### **Heart Rate Variability**

HRV data were collected by the Oura Ring, which wirelessly syncs data to the Oura app and server. The Oura Ring uses photoplethysmography for HRV monitoring, a commonly used signal in wearable technology designed for stress measurement. Oura Ring measurements of HRV are highly accurate [39]. Various HRV metrics were extracted and analyzed, with each metric correlating with a physiological representation of stress, depending on whether their values are low or high. To evaluate the impact of an intervention on these metrics, we can observe if the values increase or decrease. As the most accurate HRV assessments are recorded with the participant at rest in the supine position [40], HRV data were collected during participant sleep hours.

#### Sleep

Sleep data were collected by the Oura Ring, which analyzes sleep by measuring the following: resting heart rate (HR), body temperature, time spent in specific sleep stages (including light, deep, and rapid eye movement), and movement [41] via actigraphy, a validated method of measuring sleep via an accelerometer [42]. Oura's algorithms combine the measurements, yielding a sleep score ranging 0-100, with higher scores indicating better sleep. Oura Ring measurements of sleep are highly accurate [43].

#### Self-Report Measures

# General Anxiety and Pregnancy Anxiety and Dependent Variables

To evaluate anxiety, the GAD-7 (see above) and the Pregnancy-Related Anxiety Scale (PRAS) [44] were used. PRAS is a measure specific to pregnancy anxiety (eg, worries about health during pregnancy and childbirth). This 10-item instrument used a Likert scale, where participants answered questions with options ranging from "never or not at all" (1) to "a lot of the time or very much" (4). Scores range from 0 to 30, with higher scores indicating greater anxiety. This scale has good internal reliability, with a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .78 [44].

#### Stress, Dependent Variable

Stress was measured using the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) [45], a questionnaire that was designed to measure how uncontrollable and overloaded participants perceive their lives to be [45]. The PSS-10 is a 10-item, 5-point Likert scale

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e53933
```

assessment, which asks participants questions based on their thoughts or feelings over the previous month. Scores range from 0 to 40, with higher scores indicating higher stress. The PSS has good psychometric qualities [45,46], with good internal consistency and a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .89 [46].

#### **Investigator-Developed Items**

Investigator-developed items were collected at baseline and study completion to assess potentially confounding lifestyle information (medications, substance use, and exercise). An example Likert-style question used in the exit survey was "My exercise level increased during this trial" with answers ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree," and an open-ended question asking how learning and practicing mindfulness meditation helped with other aspects of their life.

#### **Data Analysis**

HRV and sleep data were obtained from the Oura dashboard and analyzed. To extract HRV features, we used the interbeat interval (IBI) data. Oura calculates HR and IBI using the optical photoplethysmography sensor embedded in the Oura Ring. Time-domain variables (HR, RMSSD, and SD of the IBI of normal sinus heartbeats, with "normal" referring to the removal of artifact [SDNN]) were extracted through statistical analysis, and frequency domain variables (LF, HF power bands, and LF per HF ratio) were extracted and analyzed by fast Fourier transform and power spectral density algorithms [16,22]. To assess potential physiological changes reflective of reduced stress (HRV and sleep changes over time), hierarchical linear modeling (HLM) was used.

To evaluate subjective changes in stress, anxiety, and pregnancy anxiety, the self-report measures (PSS, GAD-7, and PRAS) were assessed at baseline and study completion. Paired 1-tailed t tests compared the before and after observations on the same subjects. Subjective sleep was assessed with a Likert scale prompt on the postintervention questionnaire: "My sleep improved during this trial," with options ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree."

# Results

#### **Participants**

Most study participants were White (n=16, 69.6%), educated (n=18, 90% completed college), with high social support (n=18, 90%), married (n=15, 75%), working full-time (n=14, 70%), and an average age of 29.45 years (Table 1). Data on exercise were collected as an increase in exercise level during the trial could have been a potential confounder. At baseline, 50% (n=10) of the women reported exercising regularly. Use of certain medications, alcohol, tobacco, recreational drugs, and excessive caffeine can impact HRV [47], so baseline data on participant usage were collected. All participants denied taking medications that are known to impact HRV, and 100% (n=20) of the participants denied use of alcohol, recreational drugs, tobacco, and vaping. All participants indicated they consumed low-to-no caffeine (≤1-2 cups per day). At baseline, 60% (n=12) of participants reported regular stress-management activities (eg, prayer and massage). Participants' baseline stress and anxiety levels were low-to-moderate. Baseline stress (PSS) levels were

as follows: 50% (n=10) had low, 45% (n=9) had moderate, and 5% (n=1) had high stress. Baseline general anxiety (GAD-7) levels were as follows: 65% (n=13) had mild, 25% (n=5) had moderate, and 10% (n=2) had severe general anxiety. Baseline pregnancy anxiety (PRAS) was interpreted as mild to moderate (mean score 10.84, SD 5.2).

Parity and gestation trimester can impact HRV [27]. Most study participants were primiparous (n=12), while the remainder were

multiparous. At the start of the study, 30% of participants (n=6) were in their first trimester, 55% (n=11) were in their second trimester, and 15% (n=3) were in their third trimester. During the month-long trial, all participants stayed within a week range of their original trimester, except for 3 who changed, 1 from first to second and 2 from their second to their third trimester. At study completion, 25% (n=5) were in their first trimester, 50% (n=10) were in their second trimester, and 25% (n=5) were in their third trimester (Table 1).

 Table 1. Sample baseline characteristics.

Characteristics	Values	
Age, mean (SD)	29.45 (3.27)	
Race or Ethnicity (including dual ethnicity identity), n (%)		
White or European American	16 (69.6)	
Hispanic or Latino	4 (17.4)	
Asian or Pacific Islander	2 (8.7)	
Black or African American	0 (0.0)	
Other	1 (4.3)	
Parity, n (%)		
Primiparous	12 (60)	
Multiparous	8 (40)	
Trimester of gestation, n (%)		
First trimester	6 (30)	
Second trimester	11 (55)	
Third trimester	3 (15)	
Education, n (%)		
Completed master's degree or higher	6 (30)	
Completed bachelor's degree	8 (40)	
Completed associate degree	4 (20)	
Completed high school or equivalent	2 (10)	
Relationship type, n (%)		
Married	15 (75)	
Cohabitating	3 (15)	
Single	2 (10)	
Employment status, n (%)		
Full-time	14 (70)	
Part-time	3 (15)	
Unemployed	3 (15)	
Exercise, n (%)		
Regular exercise	10 (50)	
No regular exercise	10 (50)	
Denied alcohol, recreational drugs, or vaping	20 (100)	
Caffeine, n (%)		
Denied caffeine use	7 (35)	
Drank 1-2 cups of caffeinated drinks per day	13 (65)	
Regular stress-management activities, n (%)		
Yes	12 (60)	
No	8 (40)	

Yes12 (60)No8 (40)Social support, mean (SD)6.14 (0.73)High social support18 (90)Moderate social support2 (10)Low social support0 (0)

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e53933

XSL•FO RenderX

#### HRV

The HLM analysis of the physiological data showed changes in HRV reflective of reduced stress (Table 2). A total of 1 of 6 HRV metrics, LF, changed in the direction of reduced stress, lowering by 13% (P=.006). The LF per HF ratio changed in the direction of reduced stress, decreasing by 2% and trending toward significance (P=.09). The statistically significant results in 2 additional HRV metrics, HR and RMSSD, moved in the opposite direction of what was hypothesized, with minimum or resting HR increasing by 2.3% (P=.007), and RMSSD decreasing by 9% (P=.007). SDNN (P=.09) and HF (P=.07) both decreased, moving opposite of the hypothesized direction.

Table 2. Results of physiological stress outcome measures.

Monitoring parameter or metric	Expected direction of change indicating reduced stress [26]	% change in 4 weeks	P value
HRV <sup>a</sup> metric			
Min HR <sup>b</sup> (resting)	$\downarrow$	Increased by 2.3	.007
RMSSD <sup>c</sup>	$\uparrow$	Decreased by 9	.007
SDNN <sup>d</sup>	$\uparrow$	Decreased by 7	.09
HF <sup>e</sup>	$\uparrow$	Decreased by 11	.07
$LF^{\mathrm{f}}$	$\downarrow$	Decreased by 13	.006
LF per HF ratio	$\downarrow$	Decreased by 2	.09
Sleep metric			
Sleep score	↑	Increased by 2	.09

<sup>a</sup>HRV: heart rate variability.

<sup>b</sup>HR: heart rate.

<sup>c</sup>RMSSD: the root mean square of successive differences between adjacent normal heartbeats.

<sup>d</sup>SDNN: SD of the IBI of normal sinus heartbeats, with "normal" referring to the removal of artifact.

<sup>e</sup>HF: high-frequency.

<sup>f</sup>LF: low-frequency.

#### Stress

Paired *t* test analysis yielded statistically significant reductions in stress (P=.005) from baseline to postintervention (Table 3).

Table 3. Pre- and postintervention mean	n comparisons fo	r self-report variable.
-----------------------------------------	------------------	-------------------------

Measure	Pre, mean (SD)	Post, mean (SD)	<i>P</i> value
PSS <sup>a</sup>	14.4 (5.83)	10.25 (5.4)	.005
GAD-7 <sup>b</sup>	4.65 (3.25)	2.6 (2.93)	.01
PRAS <sup>c</sup>	10.84 (5.2)	5.9 (3.99)	.0001

<sup>a</sup>PSS: Perceived Stress Scale.

<sup>b</sup>GAD-7: General Anxiety Disorder Scale.

<sup>c</sup>PRAS: Pregnancy-related Anxiety Scale.

#### **General Anxiety and Pregnancy Anxiety**

Paired *t* test analysis yielded statistically significant reductions in anxiety (P=.01) and pregnancy anxiety (P=.0001) from baseline to postintervention (Table 3).

# Sleep

HLM analysis of sleep indicated that sleep score increased by 2%, trending toward significance (P=.09; Table 2), which reflects decreased stress. On the exit survey, 13 (65%) participants reported their improved sleep during the trial.

# Other

Regarding potential confounders, none of the study participants were on medications or used substances that may have impacted their HRV. A total of 9 study participants indicated that their level of exercise increased during the study period. Of the 13 participants who reported improved sleep during the trial, 6 reported increased exercise.

An exit survey question asked, "Did learning/practicing mindfulness meditation help with other aspects of your life?" The overwhelming majority, 19 participants, answered "yes." A total of 17 participants provided narrative details, and a



quasi-qualitative thematic evaluation identified that learning and practicing mindfulness meditation helped study participants with the following: improved patience, improved perspective, improved focus, improved conflict management, reduced emotional reactivity, and a greater focus on self-care. All participants completed the postintervention assessments, received their financial incentive, and returned the Oura Rings and chargers, indicating a 100% retention rate, with no attrition.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This study found evidence to support that the Headspace app is an impactful mindfulness meditation intervention to aid in stress and anxiety reduction for the pregnant population. Study results indicated that LF, 1 of 6 HRV parameters evaluated in this study, decreased significantly by 13% (P=.006). LF reflects both sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and parasympathetic activity, with the SNS and baroreceptor activity playing a large role in generating this frequency [22]. A recent systematic review which included 8 studies analyzing HRV among healthy pregnant women found that LF showed an ascending trend from early to late pregnancy, indicating that an increase in sympathetic activity is common in pregnancy [28]. As lower levels of power in the LF band indicate relaxation and low mental stress [48], the reduced levels of LF in this trial support the efficacy of the intervention for stress reduction among study participants. Another HRV metric, LF per HF ratio, decreased by 2%, trending toward significance (P=.09). The LF per HF ratio is a commonly used index of sympatho-vagal balance and generally increases with stress [23,48]. Therefore, the decreased value suggests reduced mental stress for study participants.

In the literature using HRV metrics as outcome variables, when one of the metrics changed in the direction expected for a stress-reducing intervention, the findings were reported as evidence that the intervention was effective [30,31]. Therefore, the HRV results in this study follow current reporting trends.

In this trial, the HLM analysis indicated that the participants' HR measure changed in the opposite direction of what was hypothesized, increasing by 2.3% (P=.007). For the general population, it is expected that a stress-reducing intervention would cause a decrease in HR. However, during pregnancy, there is an expected increase in HR. A recent meta-analysis evaluating trends in HR among 8317 pregnant women found that on average, the HR during pregnancy increased by 10% (7.6 beats per min) [49]. As the increase in HR for this pilot study population was 2.3% (P=.007), it is possible that the intervention impacted the participant's HR, potentially causing a smaller increase than would have been expected without a stress-reducing intervention. It could be that the impact was less pronounced due to the normal physiological pregnancy changes impacting HR.

The remaining HRV results in this pilot study were consistent with current research findings regarding the expected direction of HRV metrics during pregnancy. A recent study examining HRV trends across pregnancy compared to unpregnant matched controls found that SDNN, RMSSD, LF, and HF metrics decreased significantly during the second trimester [27]. Half of the women in this pilot study were in their second trimester, which could explain the decreased levels of these metrics observed in this experiment. Furthermore, it has been found that HRV reduction in pregnancy is more marked for primiparous versus multiparous women [29]. A total of 12 (60%) of the women in this pilot study were primiparous, which may have contributed to the study findings.

A total of 13 (65%) participants reported an improvement in their sleep during the trial, and the physiological data analysis found that sleep improved by 2%, trending toward statistical significance (P=.09). Exercise may have been a confounder, as exercise is associated with improved sleep and reduced stress [10] and anxiety [50]. Given that 9 (45%) study participants reported increased exercise during the trial, there is a question as to whether the improvement in their stress, anxiety, and sleep could have been related to exercise. A narrative review which included 13 studies evaluating mindfulness interventions during pregnancy noted that none of the studies evaluated sleep and asserted that it is imperative to evaluate sleep in this population [51]. This study contributes to the literature by including sleep as an outcome variable and by providing preliminary data that practicing mindfulness meditation with the Headspace intervention may improve sleep during pregnancy.

Participants were asked to complete 60 meditations, for a total range of 530-1050 minutes of meditation. A total of 13 of 20 participants completed  $\geq 65\%$  of the intervention, with 10 of those participants completing  $\geq 95\%$  of the intervention. This supports the acceptability and feasibility of Headspace as a mindfulness meditation intervention for this population.

#### **Conclusion, Study Strengths, and Limitations**

The use of technology via the Oura Ring and Headspace enabled the collection of objective data (HRV, sleep, and intervention-time usage), which contributed to validity. Using the Oura Ring to collect HRV data yielded approximately 3000 data points per individual, reducing the standard error in the results, and contributing to the overall study strength. The study design included best practices related to HRV collection, and the inclusion of recommended HRV variables [52]. That the study participants did not partake of potentially confounding substances (eg, alcohol and tobacco) was a strength, as was the collection of data that were potential confounders. There was a 100% participant retention rate, and adherence to the intervention was very good, providing support for the feasibility of this study design, and the usability and feasibility of the intervention.

The study may have been underpowered due to the sample size and potential lack of time engaging with the intervention to achieve significant findings in some HRV metrics. The sample population was homogenous, consisting of predominantly White, educated, women of low to moderate stress, and who self-selected to participate, which limits the generalizability of study results. Future research needs to be done with a more diverse study sample. Participants may have been influenced by the recommendations provided by the Oura Ring app. Subjective sleep was not evaluated with a validated scale and the qualitative analysis may have been biased as the investigator
was the sole interpreter. The GAD-7 assesses anxiety within the past 2 weeks. Recommendations for future research include a stronger study design, such as a randomized controlled trial (RCT) with a mixed methods component; for the RCT to have controls that are matched by factors that impact HRV (parity, gestational age, and maternal age); inclusion of a validated self-report sleep measure; objective collection of exercise data; and having a large enough sample size to independently analyze HRV trends per trimester. This study adds to the body of scientific knowledge supporting that mindfulness meditation, and specifically the Headspace app, is an effective iMBI for stress and anxiety reduction among the pregnant population. While future research is necessary, this pilot study showed promising initial results.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Headspace, the study participants, and the dedicated librarian at the University of California, Irvine, Stephen Clancy, for their support. We would also like to thank the providers at West Coast Obstetrics and Gynecology, Best Start Birth Center, and Inge Taylor, Certified Nurse-Midwife for assistance with recruitment. With gratitude for the analytical support provided by Salar Hashemitaheri, and for the financial support received from emeritus faculty member at San Diego State University, Dr Betty L Broom, the California State University Chancellor's Doctoral Incentive Program, the University of California, Irvine Graduate Division, and the Sue & Bill Gross School of Nursing.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Instructions and product information. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 75 KB - pediatrics v6i1e53933 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Study timeline. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 39 KB - pediatrics v6i1e53933 app2.pdf]

#### References

- Stone SL, Diop H, Declercq E, Cabral HJ, Fox MP, Wise LA. Stressful events during pregnancy and postpartum depressive symptoms. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2015;24(5):384-393 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1089/jwh.2014.4857</u>] [Medline: <u>25751609</u>]
- 2. Field T. Prenatal anxiety effects: a review. Infant Behav Dev 2017;49:120-128. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.infbeh.2017.08.008</u>] [Medline: <u>28886563</u>]
- Schetter CD, Rahal D, Ponting C, Julian M, Ramos I, Hobel CJ, et al. Anxiety in pregnancy and length of gestation: findings from the healthy babies before birth study. Health Psychol 2022;41(12):894-903 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/hea0001210] [Medline: 36154104]
- 4. Lima SAM, El Dib RP, Rodrigues MRK, Ferraz GAR, Molina AC, Neto CAP, et al. Is the risk of low birth weight or preterm labor greater when maternal stress is experienced during pregnancy? A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. PLoS One 2018;13(7):e0200594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0200594] [Medline: 30048456]
- Perin J, Mulick A, Yeung D, Villavicencio F, Lopez G, Strong KL, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000-19: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2022;6(2):106-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(21)00311-4] [Medline: 34800370]
- Walani SR. Global burden of preterm birth. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2020;150(1):31-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13195] [Medline: 32524596]
- Hamilton BE, Martin JA, Osterman MJ. Births: provisional data for 2021. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2022. URL: <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/116027</u> [accessed 2023-12-08]
- Frey HA, Klebanoff MA. The epidemiology, etiology, and costs of preterm birth. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2016;21(2):68-73. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.siny.2015.12.011</u>] [Medline: <u>26794420</u>]
- 9. Kabat-Zinn J. Wherever You Go, There You Are: Mindfulness Meditation in Everyday Life. New York: Hachette Books; 2009.
- Guo P, Zhang X, Liu N, Wang J, Chen D, Sun W, et al. Mind-body interventions on stress management in pregnant women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Adv Nurs 2021;77(1):125-146. [doi: <u>10.1111/jan.14588</u>] [Medline: <u>33048358</u>]
- Zarenejad M, Yazdkhasti M, Rahimzadeh M, Mehdizadeh Tourzani Z, Esmaelzadeh-Saeieh S. The effect of mindfulness-based stress reduction on maternal anxiety and self-efficacy: a randomized controlled trial. Brain Behav 2020;10(4):e01561 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/brb3.1561] [Medline: 32162450]

- 12. Matvienko-Sikar K, Dockray S. Effects of a novel positive psychological intervention on prenatal stress and well-being: a pilot randomised controlled trial. Women Birth 2017;30(2):e111-e118. [doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2016.10.003] [Medline: 27810284]
- 13. Krusche A, Dymond M, Murphy SE, Crane C. Mindfulness for pregnancy: a randomised controlled study of online mindfulness during pregnancy. Midwifery 2018;65:51-57. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.midw.2018.07.005</u>] [Medline: <u>30099285</u>]
- Silang KA, Sohal PR, Bright KS, Leason J, Roos L, Lebel C, et al. eHealth interventions for treatment and prevention of depression, anxiety, and insomnia during pregnancy: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(2):e31116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31116] [Medline: 35188471]
- Yang M, Jia G, Sun S, Ye C, Zhang R, Yu X. Effects of an online mindfulness intervention focusing on attention monitoring and acceptance in pregnant women: a randomized controlled trial. J Midwifery Womens Health 2019;64(1):68-77. [doi: 10.1111/jmwh.12944] [Medline: 30695166]
- 16. Kim HG, Cheon EJ, Bai DS, Lee YH, Koo BH. Stress and heart rate variability: a meta-analysis and review of the literature. Psychiatry Investig 2018;15(3):235-245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30773/pi.2017.08.17] [Medline: 29486547]
- Scott AJ, Webb TL, Martyn-St James M, Rowse G, Weich S. Improving sleep quality leads to better mental health: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Sleep Med Rev 2021;60:101556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2021.101556] [Medline: 34607184]
- 18. Mani M, Kavanagh DJ, Hides L, Stoyanov SR. Review and evaluation of mindfulness-based iPhone apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(3):e82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4328] [Medline: 26290327]
- 19. Porges SW. Orienting in a defensive world: mammalian modifications of our evolutionary heritage. a polyvagal theory. Psychophysiology 1995;32(4):301-318. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1995.tb01213.x] [Medline: 7652107]
- 20. Porges SW. Vagal pathways: portals to compassion. In: Seppälä EM, Simon-Thomas E, Brown SL, Worline MC, Cameron CD, Doty JR, editors. The Oxford Handbook of Compassion Science. New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press; 2017:189-202.
- 21. Christodoulou G, Salami N, Black DS. The utility of heart rate variability in mindfulness research. Mindfulness 2020;11(3):554-570.
- 22. Shaffer F, Ginsberg JP. An overview of heart rate variability metrics and norms. Front Public Health 2017;5:258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00258] [Medline: 29034226]
- Taelman J, Vandeput S, Vlemincx E, Spaepen A, Van Huffel S. Instantaneous changes in heart rate regulation due to mental load in simulated office work. Eur J Appl Physiol 2011;111(7):1497-1505. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00421-010-1776-0</u>] [Medline: <u>21188414</u>]
- Immanuel S, Teferra MN, Baumert M, Bidargaddi N. Heart rate variability for evaluating psychological stress changes in healthy adults: a scoping review. Neuropsychobiology 2023;82(4):187-202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000530376] [Medline: 37290411]
- 25. Tung YH, Hsieh JC. The impacts of mindfulness on heart rate variability: a brief review. Int J Pharma Med Biol Sci 2019;8(4):132-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18178/ijpmbs.8.4.132-137]
- 26. Teckenberg-Jansson P, Turunen S, Pölkki T, Lauri-Haikala MJ, Lipsanen J, Henelius A, et al. Effects of live music therapy on heart rate variability and self-reported stress and anxiety among hospitalized pregnant women: a randomized controlled trial. Nord J Music Ther 2019;28(1):7-26. [doi: 10.1080/08098131.2018.1546223]
- 27. Sarhaddi F, Azimi I, Axelin A, Niela-Vilen H, Liljeberg P, Rahmani AM. Trends in heart rate and heart rate variability during pregnancy and the 3-month postpartum period: continuous monitoring in a free-living context. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022;10(6):e33458 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33458] [Medline: 35657667]
- 28. Sharifiheris Z, Rahmani A, Onwuka J, Bender M. The utilization of heart rate variability for autonomic nervous system assessment in healthy pregnant women: systematic review. JMIR Bioinform Biotech 2022;3(1):e36791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/36791]
- 29. Solanki JD, Desai FH, Desai KH. Heart rate variability is reduced in normal pregnancy irrespective of trimester: a cross-sectional study from Gujarat, India. J Family Med Prim Care 2020;9(2):626-631 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc 1123 19] [Medline: 32318393]
- Muthukrishnan S, Jain R, Kohli S, Batra S. Effect of mindfulness meditation on perceived stress scores and autonomic function tests of pregnant Indian women. J Clin Diagn Res 2016;10(4):CC05-CC08 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/16463.7679] [Medline: 27190795]
- 31. Hayase M, Shimada M. Effects of maternity yoga on the autonomic nervous system during pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2018;44(10):1887-1895. [doi: 10.1111/jog.13729] [Medline: 30019537]
- 32. Niela-Vilén H, Auxier J, Ekholm E, Sarhaddi F, Mehrabadi MA, Mahmoudzadeh A, et al. Pregnant women's daily patterns of well-being before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Finland: longitudinal monitoring through smartwatch technology. PLoS One 2021;16(2):e0246494 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0246494] [Medline: 33534854]
- Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression. Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. Br J Psychiatry 1987;150:782-786. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.150.6.782</u>] [Medline: <u>3651732</u>]
- 34. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006;166(10):1092-1097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 16717171]

RenderX

- Smith-Nielsen J, Matthey S, Lange T, Væver MS. Validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale against both DSM-5 and ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for depression. BMC Psychiatry 2018;18(1):393 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1965-7] [Medline: 30572867]
- 36. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. BMC Med 2013;17:133-137.
- 37. Gong LL, Xie XY, Liu ST, Hu WH, Niu YJ, Sun Y, et al. Reliability and validity of generalized anxiety disorder 7-item scale in early pregnant women. Reprod Dev Med 2022;6(4):249-253. [doi: <u>10.1097/RD9.00000000000046</u>]
- Zimet GD, Powell SS, Farley GK, Werkman S, Berkoff KA. Psychometric characteristics of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support. J Pers Assess 1990;55(3-4):610-617. [doi: <u>10.1080/00223891.1990.9674095</u>] [Medline: <u>2280326</u>]
- 39. Cao R, Azimi I, Sarhaddi F, Niela-Vilen H, Axelin A, Liljeberg P, et al. Accuracy assessment of Oura Ring nocturnal heart rate and heart rate variability in comparison with electrocardiography in time and frequency domains: comprehensive analysis. J Med Internet Res 2022;24(1):e27487 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27487] [Medline: 35040799]
- 40. Herbell K, Zauszniewski JA. Reducing psychological stress in peripartum women with heart rate variability biofeedback: a systematic review. J Holist Nurs 2019;37(3):273-285. [doi: 10.1177/0898010118783030] [Medline: 29944076]
- 41. Sleep score. Oura. 2023. URL: <u>https://support.ouraring.com/hc/en-us/articles/360025445574-Sleep-Score#01GME06XT88</u> 60VSY3DV6FD54VW [accessed 2023-11-20]
- 42. Smith MT, McCrae CS, Cheung J, Martin JL, Harrod CG, Heald JL, et al. Use of actigraphy for the evaluation of sleep disorders and circadian rhythm sleep-wake disorders: an American Academy of Sleep Medicine clinical practice guideline. J Clin Sleep Med 2018;14(7):1231-1237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5664/jcsm.7230] [Medline: 29991437]
- 43. de Zambotti M, Rosas L, Colrain IM, Baker FC. The sleep of the ring: comparison of the OURA sleep tracker against polysomnography. Behav Sleep Med 2019;17(2):124-136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15402002.2017.1300587] [Medline: 28323455]
- Rini CK, Dunkel-Schetter C, Wadhwa PD, Sandman CA. Psychological adaptation and birth outcomes: the role of personal resources, stress, and sociocultural context in pregnancy. Health Psychol 1999;18(4):333-345. [doi: 10.1037//0278-6133.18.4.333] [Medline: 10431934]
- 45. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983;24(4):385-396. [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 46. Roberti JW, Harrington LN, Storch EA. Further psychometric support for the 10-item version of the perceived stress scale. J of College Counseling 2011;9(2):135-147. [doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1882.2006.tb00100.x]
- 47. Heart rate variability. Oura. 2020. URL: <u>https://support.ouraring.com/hc/en-us/articles/360025441974-An-Introduction-to-Heart-Rate-Variability</u> [accessed 2020-11-15]
- 48. Delaney JP, Brodie DA. Effects of short-term psychological stress on the time and frequency domains of heart-rate variability. Percept Mot Skills 2000;91(2):515-524. [doi: <u>10.2466/pms.2000.91.2.515</u>] [Medline: <u>11065312</u>]
- Loerup L, Pullon RM, Birks J, Fleming S, Mackillop LH, Gerry S, et al. Trends of blood pressure and heart rate in normal pregnancies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Med 2019;17(1):167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1399-1] [Medline: 31506067]
- 50. Kandola A, Stubbs B. Exercise and anxiety. In: Xiao J, editor. Physical Exercise for Human Health. Singapore: Springer; 2020:345-352.
- Lucena L, Frange C, Pinto ACA, Andersen ML, Tufik S, Hachul H. Mindfulness interventions during pregnancy: a narrative review. J Integr Med 2020;18(6):470-477. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.joim.2020.07.007</u>] [Medline: <u>32798196</u>]
- 52. Laborde S, Mosley E, Thayer JF. Heart rate variability and cardiac vagal tone in psychophysiological research—recommendations for experiment planning, data analysis, and data reporting. Front Psychol 2017;8:213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00213] [Medline: 28265249]

## Abbreviations

DSM-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition
EPDS: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale
GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale
HF: high-frequency
HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
HLM: hierarchical linear modeling
HR: heart rate
HRV: heart rate variability
IBI: interbeat interval
ICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision
iMBI: internet mindfulness-based intervention
LF: low-frequency
MSPSS: Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support

RenderX

PRAS: Pregnancy-Related Anxiety Scale
PSS: Perceived Stress Scale
RCT: randomized controlled trial
REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture
RMSSD: root mean square of successive differences between adjacent normal heartbeats
SDNN: SD of the IBI of normal sinus heartbeats, with "normal" referring to the removal of artifact
SNS: sympathetic nervous system
WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach, S Badawy; submitted 31.10.23; peer-reviewed by W Duan, F Sarhaddi; comments to author 18.11.23; revised version received 05.12.23; accepted 06.12.23; published 25.12.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Balsam D, Bounds DT, Rahmani AM, Nyamathi A Evaluating the Impact of an App-Delivered Mindfulness Meditation Program to Reduce Stress and Anxiety During Pregnancy: Pilot Longitudinal Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e53933 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e53933</u> doi:<u>10.2196/53933</u> PMID:<u>38145479</u>

©Donna Balsam, Dawn T Bounds, Amir M Rahmani, Adeline Nyamathi. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Implementation of a Web Camera System in an Australian Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: Pre- and Postevaluation of the Parent and Staff Experience

Alexandra A Legge<sup>1</sup>, BMed, MPHTM; Jennifer L Middleton<sup>1</sup>, BS, RN; Shelley Reid<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH; Adrienne Gordon<sup>1,3,4,5</sup>, MBChB, PhD

1

3

4

5

**Corresponding Author:** Alexandra A Legge, BMed, MPHTM

## Abstract

**Background:** Admission to a neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) for prematurity or illness is necessary for approximately 20% of newborns in Australia, resulting in parent-infant separation. Web cameras in the NICU provide a virtual link for parents to remain remotely connected to their infant during admission. Web camera use is increasing; however, there is limited evidence on the impact of web cameras on parents, infants, and neonatal staff.

**Objective:** There were two objectives: (1) to determine the attitudes of parents and staff toward web cameras in the NICU and (2) to compare parental depression, anxiety, and stress levels using validated scales before and after web camera implementation in the NICU.

**Methods:** A pre- and postevaluation survey was administered before and after implementation of the NICVIEW camera system in a tertiary NICU in Sydney, Australia. The NICVIEW camera system provides secure real-time viewing of infants and can be accessed from any device with an internet connection. Surveys were administered to parents of inpatients and staff, and included open- and closed-ended questions and Likert scales. Survey questions aimed to determine parent and staff attitudes and use of web cameras before and after implementation. In addition, pre- and postimplementation parental levels of depression, anxiety, and stress, as measured by the 21-item version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-21) and Parental Stressor Scale: Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, were recorded.

**Results:** In total, 94 parents and 109 staff members completed the pre- and postimplementation surveys. Post implementation, 43 of 44 (98%) parents supported web cameras, and 40 of 42 (95%) parents stated that they used web cameras. The most common reasons for support from parents included web cameras making parents feel more at ease, facilitating parent-infant bonding, increasing parental confidence in staff, and allowing others to see infants. There was no significant difference between the parental groups for the depression, anxiety, or stress scales measured by DASS-21. Staff support for web cameras increased significantly from 34 of 42 (81%) participants before to 64 of 67 (96%) participants after implementation (P=.01). Following implementation, there was a resolution in staff concerns about web cameras having an adverse impact on staff roles and privacy and security concerns.

**Conclusions:** Web camera use in a tertiary Australian NICU was strongly supported by parents and staff and may reduce parental stress, facilitate parent-infant bonding, and encourage positive parent-staff engagement. Web cameras are a feasible method of providing continuity of care for families and should be considered as a standard of care in similarly resourced settings.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47552) doi:10.2196/47552

## **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

web camera; telehealth; telemedicine; neonate; neonatology; NICU; virtual visitation; implementation; Australia; prematurity; illness; newborns; parent-infant separation; stress; parental; engagement; neonatal intensive care unit

## Introduction

In Australia, approximately 1 in 5 babies require admission to a special care nursery or neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) [1], resulting in parent and infant separation. Advances in telecommunication and internet accessibility have allowed the implementation of web cameras into neonatal care units to facilitate virtual visitation. Web cameras are being increasingly used and provide parents with images, videos, or a live stream of their infant, accessible from any device with internet connectivity. Videophones were first used to connect parents remotely with their infants in 1983 [2], and the first internet web camera system Baby CareLink [3] was evaluated using a randomized trial in the late 1990s. Global uptake of the technology followed, with the first installation in Australia in 2009 [4]. Despite their widespread acceptance and use, there is limited evidence of the impact of web cameras on infants, families, and neonatal staff.

Bonding and attachment between parents and their infant may be interrupted when a neonatal admission occurs. An infant may need to stay in a neonatal unit geographically distanced from the family home for a period that may extend for months. Factors related to the NICU that may interfere with attachment and bonding include physical and logistical barriers to visiting, the physical environment of the NICU, parental stress, separation, and the intermittent sense of parenthood [5,6].

Web cameras provide one way for parents to remain connected to their infant when they are unable to be at the bedside and, thereby, mitigate factors that may disrupt bonding. This concept is supported by Dunham and Marin [7] who incorporated virtual visitation as a modifiable variable into a conceptual model describing the NICU maternal-infant bonding process. A recent systematic review found that web cameras may be helpful to reduce parent stress and anxiety, and enhance parental responsiveness and feelings of closeness with their infant, increasing emotional attachment [8]. This is supported by findings of reduced parental stress when given access to web cameras [9,10] and positive parental perceptions in the evaluation of a web camera system [9]. Web cameras are reported to be associated with improved breast milk-pumping experiences, increased motivation for mothers [11], and improved rates of breast milk feeding at the time of discharge from the NICU [12]. Other literature describes positive perceptions before the implementation of a web camera system [13] and the role of web cameras in assisting fathers in visiting their infants [14].

While attitudes toward web cameras are largely positive, staff working with web cameras have described increased workloads [15,16], disruptions to usual duties, and potential negative impacts on the quality of care [16]. Kubicka et al [9] did not find a significant difference in work-related burnout for staff who work with web cameras but described staff perceptions of increased nursing and parental stress, and no improvement in the quality of care provided to infants.

The Family Integrated Care (FICare) model of incorporating parents into caring for their infants in the NICU has demonstrated positive outcomes for infants [17] and reduced

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47552
```

parental stress and anxiety [17,18]. Web cameras could be considered an extension of FICare for providing continuity for parents and virtual access to infants for other family and friends. The COVID-19 pandemic and its challenges, including limitations on visiting the NICU, have made it pertinent for NICUs to provide alternative ways for families and infants to remain connected.

This study aimed to determine parental and staff attitudes before and after the implementation of a web camera system in an Australian neonatal unit. A secondary aim was to determine parental depression, anxiety, and stress levels using validated scales before and after web camera implementation.

## Methods

#### Design

The study is a pre- and postintervention evaluation survey administered to parents and staff before and after the installation of the NICVIEW camera system in one neonatal unit.

#### Setting

The study was conducted in a tertiary neonatal unit located in a large metropolitan hospital in Sydney, Australia. The neonatal unit is an open-plan design of 10 intensive care beds and 24 beds for high- to low-dependency care. There are approximately 1000 admissions per year, of which approximately 50 are transferred from other hospitals.

#### Intervention

The NICVIEW camera system was installed in June 2018. Above each bed space, a camera is located on an adjustable arm. The cameras provide secure real-time viewing of infants from any device with internet access. There is no audio component or storage of video footage. Parents are provided with verbal and written information, and are required to sign a consent form and accept the terms and conditions before use. Parents receive an email with unique log-in credentials to access the website. Log-in details can be shared with others at the parents' discretion. Cameras are on 24 hours per day but turned off for episodes of care, procedures, and the relocation of patients to another area in the unit.

#### **Survey Instrument**

Parent and staff surveys were developed by the authors for data collection. The parent survey included closed- and open-ended questions exploring demographics, visiting patterns (including barriers to visiting), camera use, and attitudes toward cameras. Parent data was collected in 5-year epoch categories. Gestational age at birth was converted from a continuous variable into categorical data consistent with stages of prematurity. As outlined below, validated scales were incorporated into the survey. The survey design was pragmatic, limiting the number of additional questions to minimize the survey burden. The staff survey included closed- and open-ended questions and Likert scales for exploring demographics, staff experience in using cameras, the cameras' impact on their role, and staff support for or against cameras. The surveys were pilot-tested with a multidisciplinary group to ensure functionality and assess the timing for completion.

XSL•FO RenderX

#### **Outcome Measures**

The secondary aim was to assess parental depression, anxiety, and stress before and after web camera implementation; therefore, additional scales were used in the parent survey.

The 21-item version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-21) [19] was administered to parents in the pre- and postimplementation surveys. The DASS-21 was used as a measure of the psychosocial impact of having an infant in the neonatal unit. It is a self-report instrument consisting of 3 scales of 7 items, measuring the emotional states of depression, anxiety, and stress. Respondents read each item and recorded their answers using a Likert scale ranging from 0 (did not apply to me at all) to 3 (applied to me very much or most of the time). Answers were summed to generate a total score for the depression, anxiety, and stress scales, and then stratified into mild, moderate, severe, and extremely severe categories. It has been validated for use in the general population, among pregnant women, and in the postpartum period [20-22].

Following analysis of the preimplementation results, the Parental Stressor Scale: Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (PSS:NICU) [23] was included in the postimplementation survey to gather comprehensive NICU-specific information about stress. The revised PSS:NICU was administered, consisting of 17 items in the "Looks and Behavior of the Infant" and 11 items in the "Parental Role" subscales. The "Looks and Behavior" subscale variables include parental perception of stress based on the appearance of the baby such as color, breathing, movement, and size; the use of equipment including intravenous lines; and behaviors of the baby, including crying and appearing to be sad or in pain. The "Parental Role" subscale variables include parental perception of stress to being separated from their baby; their role as a caregiver including feeding, touching, and providing care; and feelings of helplessness and of staff being closer to their baby. The camera system does not have audio; therefore, the "Sights and Sounds" subscale was omitted. All items were answered with a response scale of 1 (not stressful) to 5 (extremely stressful). PSS:NICU results were scored according to metric 2 (overall stress level), which considers all items to calculate the overall stress score. Items not experienced by the respondent were given a score of 1.

#### Sample Size

The primary purpose of the study was to determine the attitudes of parents and staff before and after web camera implementation, with a secondary aim to determine any effect on DASS-21 and PSS:NICU scores. At the time of the study design, there were no data available to determine an expected estimate of the effect of DASS-21 or PSS:NICU scores in a population following web camera implementation. Therefore, a sample size was unable to be predetermined. We aimed to collect approximately 100 survey responses in both the parent and staff groups.

## Eligibility

All parents with an infant admitted to the neonatal unit during the preintervention (November 2017 and February 2018) and postintervention (July 2020 and May 2021) survey administration periods were eligible for inclusion. Parents of infants who had been discharged but admitted to the neonatal

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47552
```

unit during the postimplementation period were eligible for inclusion in the postimplementation survey. There were no exclusion criteria based on gestation or multiple births or whether infants were inborn or transferred from other facilities.

All staff, including medical, nursing, allied health, and administrative staff, employed to work in the neonatal unit during the survey administration periods were eligible for inclusion.

Parent and staff surveys were only available for completion in the English language.

#### **Recruitment and Data Collection**

The preimplementation parent survey was distributed to parents of infants admitted to the NICU between November 2017 and February 2018. The postimplementation survey was distributed to parents of infants admitted between July 2020 and May 2021 following camera installation. Surveys were distributed using flyers with QR codes or website links, and paper copies were available for parents to complete at a convenient time. During their infant's admission, parents of inpatients were approached once by designated staff not providing clinical care to the infant to request survey completion. As the postimplementation surveys were distributed during the COVID-19 lockdown, which affected the number of visitors to the NICU, the QR code and website links to the postimplementation survey were published in a newsletter distributed to parents of infants who were recently discharged from the neonatal unit but admitted during the postimplementation period.

The staff survey was distributed for completion between August and September 2017 before camera installation and between July and November 2020 after installation. Surveys were distributed using flyers with QR codes and a website link, emails with a website link, and paper copies. Staff were approached by authors and designated staff to request survey completion in person and by email during the study period.

#### Data Analysis

Study data were collected and managed using REDCap, an electronic data capture tool hosted at Sydney Local Health District [24,25]. REDCap is a secure web-based software platform designed to support data capture for research studies. Results were exported from REDCap into Excel version 16.49 (Microsoft Corporation) for provisional analysis, and descriptive statistics were generated using SPSS Statistics 27 (IBM Corp). Parent and staff demographic and web camera characteristics were described using proportions and compared using chi-square and Fisher exact tests. DASS-21 ordinal scores were assessed for distribution and investigated using the Mann-Whitney U test. P values less than .05 were considered statistically significant. We planned to perform a multivariate analysis if any univariate associations were noted in the univariate analysis.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Consent was implied by survey completion following an introductory consent statement. Surveys could be discontinued at any stage. All surveys were anonymous unless parents or

staff chose to provide details. No respondents received compensation for participation in the survey.

The study was approved by the Ethics Review Committee (Royal Prince Alfred Hospital Zone) of the Sydney Local Health District (protocol X16-0298 & HREC/16/RPAH/381).

## Results

### Overview

A total of 125 parents and 110 staff members commenced the surveys. Data analyses were possible for ~94 parents and 109 staff members with complete responses. The exact response rate for the survey is uncalculable as the survey was anonymous,

and twins and multiple parents of the same infant are unable to be accounted for. In addition, families who declined or were not offered a web camera in the postimplementation period were not documented. A total of 301 babies were admitted in the preimplementation and 941 in the postimplementation period.

## Parents

## **Demographics**

Parent demographic characteristics for parents who completed the survey are presented in Table 1. There was no significant difference between groups. We also compared parent demographic characteristics for parents who did not complete the survey and noted no differences (Multimedia Appendix 1).



Legge et al

Table . Characteristics of parents in the pre- and postimplementation web camera groups.

Characteristic		Preimplementation (n=43), n (%)	Postimplementation (n=51), n (%)	P value
Gender		-		.63
	Female	34 (79)	38 (75)	
	Male	9 (21)	13 (26)	
Age (years)				.24
	20-24	2 (5)	2 (4)	
	25-29	4 (9)	3 (6)	
	30-34	13 (30)	25 (49)	
	35-39	12 (28)	14 (28)	
	40-44	9 (21)	7 (14)	
	≥45	3 (7)	0 (0)	
Marital status				.43
	Married or de facto	37 (86)	46 (90)	
	Never married	3 (7)	3 (6)	
	Separated	0 (0)	2 (4)	
	Widowed	0 (0)	0 (0)	
	Did not answer	3 (7)	0 (0)	
Country of birth				.22
	Born in Australia	29 (67)	28 (55)	
	Born overseas	14 (33)	23 (45)	
Language spoken				.35
	English only	34 (79)	36 (71)	
	Additional language	9 (21)	15 (29)	
Highest level of education				.29
	Postgraduate degree	15 (35)	16 (31)	
	Bachelor's degree	15 (35)	21 (41)	
	Certificate, diploma, or ad- vanced diploma	6 (14)	6 (12)	
	Graduate certificate	1 (2)	4 (8)	
	High school	6 (14)	2 (4)	
	Did not finish high school	0 (0)	2 (4)	
Employment status				.11
	Full-time	21 (49)	29 (57)	
	Part-time	11 (26)	3 (6)	
	Do not have a job	2 (5)	5 (10)	
	On paid leave	4 (9)	13 (26)	
	Other	4 (9)	1 (2)	
	Did not answer	1 (2)	0 (0)	
Place of birth				.10
	Inborn	35 (81)	48 (94)	
	Ex utero transfer	8 (19)	3 (6)	
Gestation (weeks)				.21
	24-25	2 (5)	2 (4)	

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47552

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristic		Preimplementation (n=43), n (%)	Postimplementation (n=51), n (%)	<i>P</i> value
	26-27	4 (9)	2 (4)	
	28-31	22 (51)	17 (33)	
	32-36	12 (28)	22 (43)	
	37-42	3 (7)	8 (16)	

## Parental Visiting and Barriers

Most parents reported that they visited their infant daily. A higher proportion of parents experienced barriers to visiting after web camera implementation (13/43, 30%) compared to

preimplementation (7/42, 17%). There was a reduction from pre- to postimplementation in the proportion of parents who stated they would feel better if they could visit for longer. Detailed results for parental visiting and barriers are outlined in Table 2.

Table . Parental visiting and barriers for the pre- and postimplementation web camera groups.

		Preimplementation, n (%)	Postimplementation, n (%)	P value
Visiting frequency				>.99
	Daily	34 (92)	38 (93)	
	3-5 d/wk	3 (8)	3 (7)	
	Total	37	41	
Time (hours/visit)				.99
	>8	8 (21)	7 (17)	
	5-8	17 (44)	20 (48)	
	3-4	11 (28)	13 (31)	
	1-2	3 (8)	2 (5)	
	<1	0 (0)	0 (0)	
	Total	39	42	
Would you feel better if you	i could visit for longer?			.01
	Yes	33 (81)	23 (55)	
	No	8 (20)	19 (45)	
	Total	41	42	
Barriers to visiting experienced				.14
	Yes	7 (17)	13 (30)	
	No	35 (83)	30 (70)	
	Total	42	43	
Barriers identified				N/A <sup>a</sup>
	Personal health	1 (14)	3 (23)	
	Lack of transport	3 (43)	6 (46)	
	Financial	1 (14)	1 (8)	
	Caring for other children	3 (43)	7 (54)	
	Distance required to travel	0 (0)	5 (39)	
	Work commitments	1 (14)	0 (0)	
	COVID-19 reasons	0 (0)	5 (39)	
	Other	0 (0)	2 (15)	
	Total	7	13	

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

### Parental Web Camera Use and Attitudes

Web cameras were reported to be used by the majority of parents (40/42, 95%), and most parents (30/42, 71%) stated that their family used the web camera. The most common viewing times were in the evening and overnight. Almost all parents were supportive of web cameras before (37/40, 92%) and after (43/44, 98%) implementation. The most common reason for support in both groups was that the web camera helped parents feel at ease

when they were unable to visit their infant. After implementation, one parent was not supportive of web cameras, identifying that they made them feel anxious or stressed. Concerns regarding privacy and security were not cited as reasons against support after implementation. Detailed results for parental views are outlined in Table 3, and free-text comments from parents in the postimplementation survey are included in Multimedia Appendix 2.

Table . Parental views on web cameras in the pre- and postimplementation groups.

		Preimplementation, n (%)	Postimplementation, n (%)	<i>P</i> value
Support web camera use		•		.34
	Yes	37 (93)	43 (98)	
	No	3 (7)	1 (2)	
	Total	40	44	
Reasons for web camera su	pport			N/A <sup>a</sup>
	Parent-infant bonding	16 (43)	21 (49)	
	Help parents feel at ease if unable to visit	36 (97)	37 (86)	
	Allow others to see infant	27 (73)	29 (67)	
	Increase confidence in staff	20 (54)	23 (54)	
	Positive staff engagement	18 (49)	17 (40)	
	Breastfeeding/expressing	0 (0)	3 (7)	
	Transition to home	0 (0)	1 (2)	
	Other	3 (8)	1 (2)	
	Total	37	43	
Reasons against web camer	ra support			N/A
	Compromise parental care	1 (33)	0 (0)	
	Privacy concerns	3 (100)	0 (0)	
	Security concerns	1 (33)	0 (0)	
	Distraction from care	1 (33)	0 (0)	
	Increase anxiety or stress	3 (100)	1 (100)	
	Witness adverse event or in- fant distress	2 (67)	1 (100)	
	Total	3	1	

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

## Parental Depression, Anxiety, and Stress

There were no significant differences between the groups for the DASS-21 depression, anxiety, or stress scales (Table 4). However, there was a nonsignificant trend toward lower stress scales as measured by DASS-21 in the postimplementation group. The PSS:NICU scores were collected for the postimplementation group (Table 4) and provided NICU-specific information regarding stress for parents.



**Table .** Parent Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-21) scores for the pre- and postimplementation web camera groups and Parental Stressor Scale:Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (PSS:NICU) mean scores for the parent postimplementation group.

			Preimplementation	Postimplementation	P value
DASS 21, n (%)					
	Depression				.83
		Normal	34 (79)	40 (78)	
		Mild	4 (9)	7 (14)	
		Moderate	5 (12)	3 (6)	
		Severe	0 (0)	1 (2)	
		Extremely severe	0 (0)	0 (0)	
		Total	43	51	
	Normal vs any depr	ression			.94
		Normal	34 (79)	40 (78)	
		Any depression	9 (21)	11 (22)	
		Total	43	51	
	Anxiety				.42
		Normal	29 (67)	35 (69)	
		Mild	8 (19)	8 (16)	
		Moderate	1 (2)	5 (10)	
		Severe	0 (0)	1 (2)	
		Extremely severe	5 (12)	2 (4)	
		Total	43	51	
	Normal vs any anxi	iety			.90
		Normal	29 (67)	35 (69)	
		Any anxiety	14 (33)	16 (31)	
		Total	43	51	
	Stress				.48
		Normal	28 (65)	37 (73)	
		Mild	9 (21)	8 (16)	
		Moderate	3 (7)	4 (8)	
		Severe	2 (5)	2 (4)	
		Extremely severe	1 (2)	0 (0)	
		Total	43	51	
	Normal vs any stres	SS			.44
		Normal	28 (65)	37 (73)	
		Any stress	15 (35)	14 (28)	
		Total	43	51	
PSS:NICU, mean (	SD)				N/A <sup>a</sup>
	Looks and behavior	(n=47)	N/A	2.65 (1.50)	
	Parental role (n=49)		N/A	2.74 (1.35)	

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### Staff

XSL•FO RenderX

Staff characteristics are shown in Table 5. Staff support for web cameras significantly increased from 34 of 42 (81%) participants

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47552

supporting before implementation to 64 of 67 (96%) participants after implementation (P=.01). There was a reduction in staff concerns regarding the web cameras having an adverse impact

on their role in the postimplementation survey. The main areas for staff concern included the web cameras taking time away from patient care, technical or equipment issues relating to web cameras, phone calls from parents, and parental anxiety. A total of 15 staff members identified that they would prefer restrictions on the time the web cameras can be turned on, with the majority stating that cameras should be turned off during procedures or caring routines. The majority of staff members (54/67, 81%) found current web camera resources adequate. Staff suggested additional support resources including a guideline or mobile app. Staff views on the web cameras and their impact on the staff's role are outlined in Table 6.

Table . Characteristics of staff in the pre- and postimplementation web camera groups.

Legge et al

		Preimplementation, n (%)	Postimplementation, n (%)	<i>P</i> value
Role				.60
	Administration	1 (2)	1 (2)	
	Nursing	37 (88)	63 (93)	
	Medical	4 (10)	3 (4)	
	Allied health	0 (0)	1 (2)	
	Total	42	68	
Time worked in a tertiary	neonatal setting (years)			.24
	<1	2 (5)	5 (8)	
	1-5	10 (24)	25 (37)	
	6-10	6 (14)	12 (18)	
	>10	24 (57)	25 (37)	
	Total	42	67	
Time worked at study site	(years)			.24
	<1	3 (7)	9 (13)	
	1-5	11 (26)	25 (37)	
	6-10	5 (12)	10 (15)	
	>10	23 (55)	24 (35)	
	Total	42	68	
Age (years)				.33
	<25	1 (2)	3 (5)	
	25-35	16 (38)	37 (55)	
	36-45	12 (29)	12 (18)	
	46-55	5 (12)	8 (12)	
	>55	8 (19)	7 (10)	
	Total	42	67	
Born in Australia				.20
	Yes	24 (59)	46 (71)	
	No	17 (42)	19 (29)	
	Total	41	65	
Area worked				.98
	Intensive care	37 (88)	56 (82)	
	High dependency	37 (88)	59 (87)	
	Special care nursery	36 (86)	51 (75)	
	Outpatients	3 (7)	5 (7)	
	Total	42	68	
Previous web camera expe	rience			.67
	Yes	3 (7)	3 (4)	
	No	39 (93)	65 (96)	
	Total	42	68	



XSL•FO RenderX

Table . Staff views on web cameras in the pre- and postimplementation web camera groups

		Preimplementation, n (%)	Postimplementation, n (%)	P value
Support web cameras		-		.01
	Yes	34 (81)	64 (96)	
	No	8 (19)	3 (5)	
	Total	42	67	
Reasons for support				N/A <sup>a</sup>
	Parent-infant bonding	17 (50)	47 (73)	
	Reduce parental anxiety	31 (91)	59 (92)	
	Allow others to see infant	24 (71)	58 (91)	
	Increase confidence in staff and the unit	16 (47)	26 (41)	
	Positive parental-staff en- gagement	20 (59)	31 (48)	
	Other	4 (12)	4 (6)	
	Total	34	64	
Reasons against support				N/A
	Physically impede access	3 (38)	1 (33)	
	Compromise care	1 (13)	1 (33)	
	Privacy concerns	8 (100)	0 (0)	
	Security concerns	5 (63)	0 (0)	
	Distraction from care	5 (63)	3 (100)	
	Staff anxiety/stress	4 (50)	0 (0)	
	Parents witness adverse event or infant distress	5 (63)	2 (67)	
	Reduced parental visiting	4 (50)	0 (0)	
	Other	6 (75)	2 (67)	
	Total	8	3	
Adverse impact on staff role				N/A
	Strongly agree	2 (5)	1 (2)	
	Agree	7 (17)	7 (10)	
	Unsure	10 (24)	13 (19)	
	Disagree	16 (39)	34 (51)	
	Strongly disagree	6 (15)	12 (18)	
	Total	41	67	

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

## Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

Our pre-post implementation study found that web camera use in an Australian tertiary neonatal unit was strongly supported by both parents and staff, and that web cameras were well used following installation. Web cameras may assist with reducing parental stress and facilitating parent-infant bonding while not increasing parental reported depression or anxiety. Initial staff concerns about web cameras were largely alleviated following their implementation. Parent confidence in staff and positive staff engagement were common reasons cited for web camera support from parents in both the pre- and postimplementation periods.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

This study simultaneously examines parent and staff perceptions, and the impact of web cameras on parent depression, anxiety, and stress in neonatal care. Our findings support the existing conclusion that web cameras are an acceptable and feasible intervention to facilitate virtual visitation and support families during a neonatal admission [26-28].

XSL•FO

DASS-21 scores demonstrated that the implementation of web cameras did not increase parents' levels of depression, anxiety, or stress in this study. There was, however, a nonsignificant trend in reducing any stress on DASS-21 post implementation (15/43,35% preimplementation to 14/51. 28% postimplementation). We investigated this trend further by comparing the mean PSS:NICU subscale scores (collected in the postimplementation survey) with scores from a published comparison population group enrolled in the FICare intervention trial. This trial, completed in Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, aimed to identify how FICare affects maternal stress and anxiety, and has published baseline data from similar neonatal units. Our study's PSS:NICU scores for "Looks and Behavior" (mean 2.65, SD 1.50 vs mean 2.78 [18], mean difference -0.13, 95% CI -0.23 to -0.02; P=.02) and "Parental Role" (mean 2.74, SD 1.35 vs mean 2.98 [18], mean difference -0.23, 95% CI -0.35 to -0.12; P<.001) were significantly lower when compared to the group in Cheng et al [18]. This comparison, although not within our setting, supports the concept that a web camera service within a NICU may reduce parental stress. This result is further supported by recent findings by Kubicka et al [9] who found a reduction in PSS:NICU scores comparing an "on web camera" to an "off web camera" group.

Reasons for web camera support identified by parents included that web cameras help with bonding, make parents feel more at ease, and allow others to see the infant. Kubicka et al [9] discussed similar findings, with 86% of parents reporting that watching their baby on the web camera made them feel better. These findings are further supported by Kerr et al [28] who highlighted the positive parental perceptions of web cameras, including enhanced feelings of closeness, emotional well-being, and the involvement of family and friends. A small number (n=3) of parents in this study identified that web cameras helped with breastfeeding and expressing. A sustained intention to breastfeed or provide breast milk to the baby and an improved expressing experience has been described in recent literature [11,12], which provides a positive direction for future research.

Our findings indicate that, following implementation, most staff support the use of web cameras. This finding is in contrast to those by Kubicka et al [9] who reported that 86% of the nursing staff did not believe that web cameras improved infants' quality of care. Our findings suggest that initial staff concerns regarding web cameras are balanced by experience and the identified benefits for families, a sentiment previously discussed by Joshi et al [16]. Furthermore, staff should be reassured that many parents identified that web cameras increased their confidence in and had positive effects on their engagement with staff. This was also the case for the Baby CareLink intervention group, which reported higher overall quality of care [3], and for Kubicka et al [9], who reported that 83% of parents were reassured about their infant's nursing care. The hesitations regarding the privacy and security of web cameras were not sustained following implementation. However, a small number of staff reported that web cameras may have an adverse impact on their role, highlighting that support for and provision of adequate resources for staff are imperative for the ongoing success of a web camera service.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

Strengths of our study included the pre-post implementation approach, the inclusion of both parents and staff, and the use of validated scales to assess depression, anxiety, and stress. Our NICU is located in a large Australian city and services a culturally diverse population, increasing the generalizability of results to other tertiary neonatal units. The separation in periods between the pre- and postsurvey administration allowed for web cameras to be well integrated within the culture of the neonatal unit. A study limitation was the absence of preimplementation PSS:NICU results. This scale was added to the postimplementation survey, as the analysis of the preimplementation DASS-21 scores suggested a reduction in stress, and the PSS:NICU collects NICU-specific stress information. We addressed this limitation by using a large comparison cohort that was generalizable to our study population [18] to compare our scores. Additional limitations include the absence of a prespecified sample size specifically for the DASS-21 outcomes for parents and the unlikely but possible potential for duplicate survey responses. The timing of survey completion by parents during their infant's admission was not collected and may be a confounder. There is potential reporter bias, as those parents completing the survey may be more likely to use and be supportive of the cameras; however, our respondents appeared to be representative of our unit's parent population. The postimplementation survey was administered during the COVID-19 pandemic when restrictions limited visits to one parent at a time. We hypothesize that support for web cameras will inevitably increase during a period where visiting is limited, and this may potentially reduce the generalizability of results.

#### Conclusions

This study contributes to the growing body of evidence on the impact of web cameras in NICUs. Web cameras were strongly supported by parents and staff, and may reduce parental stress, facilitate parent-infant bonding, and encourage positive parent-staff engagement.

Web cameras are a feasible and acceptable method of providing support and continuity of care for families during neonatal unit admission and should be considered as a standard of care in similarly resourced settings.

#### Acknowledgments

The NICVIEW camera system was purchased and installed using funds generously donated by the Australian Stockbrokers Foundation, Annette Olle, and the many donors who have contributed to the Neonatal Unit in Sydney Local Health District.



## **Data Availability**

The data sets generated or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

## **Authors' Contributions**

AG was responsible for the study concept and design, and for ethics approval. AG and SR were responsible for the preimplementation survey design, development, and administration. AAL contributed to the postimplementation survey development, administration, and data collection. JLM assisted with the postimplementation survey administration and data collection. AG and AAL performed the data analysis. AAL drafted the first version of the manuscript. AG and SR contributed to writing and editing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### Multimedia Appendix 1

Characteristics of parents for complete and incomplete surveys for the pre- and postimplementation of web camera groups. [DOCX File, 21 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47552 app1.docx ]

### Multimedia Appendix 2

Free-text parent comments from the postimplementation survey. [DOCX File, 14 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47552 app2.docx ]

### References

- 1. Australia's mothers and babies. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2023 Jun 29. URL: <u>www.aihw.gov.au/reports/</u> <u>mothers-babies/australias-mothers-babies/contents/about</u> [accessed 2023-03-24]
- 2. Piecuch RE, Roth RS, Clyman RI, Sniderman SH, Riedel PA, Ballard RA. Videophone use improves maternal interest in transported infants. Crit Care Med 1983 Aug;11(8):655-656. [doi: 10.1097/00003246-198308000-00014] [Medline: 6872554]
- Gray JE, Safran C, Davis RB, Pompilio-Weitzner G, Stewart JE, Zaccagnini L, et al. Baby CareLink: using the internet and telemedicine to improve care for high-risk infants. Pediatrics 2000 Dec;106(6):1318-1324. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.106.6.1318</u>] [Medline: <u>11099583</u>]
- 4. Kecskes Z, Connors B. Implementation FO Australia's 1st webcam in a NICU. Pediatr Res 2011 Nov;70:660. [doi: 10.1038/pr.2011.885]
- Cox C, Bialoskurski M. Neonatal intensive care: communication and attachment. Br J Nurs 2001;10(10):668-676. [doi: 10.12968/bjon.2001.10.10.9987] [Medline: 12048467]
- 6. Obeidat HM, Bond EA, Callister LC. The parental experience of having an infant in the newborn intensive care unit. J Perinat Educ 2009;18(3):23-29. [doi: 10.1624/105812409X461199] [Medline: 20514124]
- 7. Dunham MM, Marin T. NICU maternal-infant bonding: virtual visitation as a bonding enhancement tool. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs 2020;34(2):171-177. [doi: 10.1097/JPN.000000000000484] [Medline: 32332447]
- Gibson R, Kilcullen M. The impact of web-cameras on parent-infant attachment in the neonatal intensive care unit. J Pediatr Nurs 2020 Feb 1;52:e77-e83. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2020.01.009] [Medline: 32014335]
- Kubicka Z, Zahr E, Clark P, Williams D, Berbert L, Arzuaga B. Use of an internet camera system in the neonatal intensive care unit: parental and nursing perspectives and its effects on stress. J Perinatol 2021 Aug;41(8):2048-2056. [doi: 10.1038/s41372-021-00934-w] [Medline: <u>33510415</u>]
- Guttmann K, Patterson C, Haines T, Hoffman C, Masten M, Lorch S, et al. Parent stress in relation to use of bedside telehealth, an initiative to improve family-centeredness of care in the neonatal intensive care unit. J Patient Exp 2020 Dec;7(6):1378-1383. [doi: 10.1177/2374373520950927] [Medline: <u>33457590</u>]
- 11. Hoyt-Austin AE, Miller IT, Kuhn-Riordon KM, Rosenthal JL, Chantry CJ, Marcin JP, et al. Bonding, relaxation, separation, and connection: expressing human milk while videoconferencing with the hospitalized premature infant. Breastfeed Med 2022 Aug;17(8):653-659. [doi: 10.1089/bfm.2021.0214] [Medline: 35605051]
- 12. Weber JC, Sohn K, Sauers-Ford HS, Hanhauser A, Tancredi DJ, Marcin JP, et al. Impact of a parent video viewing program in the neonatal intensive care unit. Telemed J E Health 2021 Jun;27(6):679-685. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2020.0251</u>] [Medline: <u>32985954</u>]
- 13. Hawkes GA, Livingstone V, Ryan CA, Dempsey EM. Perceptions of webcams in the neonatal intensive care unit: here's looking at you kid!. Am J Perinatol 2015 Feb;30(2):131-136. [doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1376388] [Medline: 24896140]
- 14. Rhoads SJ, Green A, Gauss CH, Mitchell A, Pate B. Web camera use of mothers and fathers when viewing their hospitalized neonate. Adv Neonatal Care 2015 Dec;15(6):440-446. [doi: <u>10.1097/ANC.0000000000235</u>] [Medline: <u>26505333</u>]
- 15. Rhoads SJ, Green AL, Lewis SD, Rakes L. Challenges of implementation of a web-camera system in the neonatal intensive care unit. Neonatal Netw 2012;31(4):223-228. [Medline: 22763249]

RenderX

- 16. Joshi A, Chyou PH, Tirmizi Z, Gross J. Web camera use in the neonatal intensive care unit: impact on nursing workflow. Clin Med Res 2016 Mar;14(1):1-6. [doi: 10.3121/cmr.2015.1286] [Medline: 26864509]
- 17. O'Brien K, Robson K, Bracht M, Cruz M, Lui K, Alvaro R, et al. Effectiveness of family integrated care in neonatal intensive care units on infant and parent outcomes: a multicentre, multinational, cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2018 Apr;2(4):245-254. [doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30039-7] [Medline: 30169298]
- Cheng C, Franck LS, Ye XY, Hutchinson SA, Lee SK, O'Brien K. Evaluating the effect of family integrated care on maternal stress and anxiety in neonatal intensive care units. J Reprod Infant Psychol 2021 Apr;39(2):166-179. [doi: 10.1080/02646838.2019.1659940] [Medline: <u>31502862</u>]
- 19. Lovibond SH, Lovibond PF. Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales, 2nd edition: Psychology Foundation; 1995. ISBN: 7334-1423-0.
- Antony MM, Bieling PJ, Cox BJ, Enns MW, Swinson RP. Psychometric properties of the 42-item and 21-item versions of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) in clinical groups and a community sample. Psychological Assess 1998 Jun;10(2):176-181. [doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.10.2.176]
- Henry JD, Crawford JR. The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. Br J Clin Psychol 2005 Jun;44(Pt 2):227-239. [doi: 10.1348/014466505X29657] [Medline: 16004657]
- 22. Cunningham NK, Brown PM, Brooks J, Page AC. The structure of emotional symptoms in the postpartum period: is it unique? J Affect Disord 2013 Nov;151(2):686-694. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.08.002] [Medline: 23978685]
- 23. Miles MS, Funk SG, Carlson J. Parental Stressor Scale: neonatal intensive care unit. Nurs Res 1993;42(3):148-152. [Medline: 8506163]
- 24. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 25. Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, et al. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208</u>] [Medline: <u>31078660</u>]
- 26. Yeo C, Ho SK, Khong K, Lau Y. Virtual visitation in the neonatal intensive care: experience with the use of internet and telemedicine in a tertiary neonatal unit. Perm J 2011;15(3):32-36. [doi: <u>10.7812/TPP/11-063</u>] [Medline: <u>22058667</u>]
- Le Bris A, Mazille-Orfanos N, Simonot P, Luherne M, Flamant C, Gascoin G, et al. Parents' and healthcare professionals' perceptions of the use of live video recording in neonatal units: a focus group study. BMC Pediatr 2020 Apr 1;20(1):143. [doi: 10.1186/s12887-020-02041-9] [Medline: 32238158]
- 28. Kerr S, King C, Hogg R, McPherson K, Hanley J, Brierton M, et al. Transition to parenthood in the neonatal care unit: a qualitative study and conceptual model designed to illuminate parent and professional views of the impact of webcam technology. BMC Pediatr 2017 Jul 11;17(1):158. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12887-017-0917-6</u>] [Medline: <u>28693450</u>]

## Abbreviations

DASS-21: 21-item version of the Depression Anxiety and Stress Scales FICare: Family Integrated Care NICU: neonatal intensive care unit PSS:NICU: Parental Stressor Scale: Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 11.04.23; peer-reviewed by J Marcin, T Marin; revised version received 04.09.23; accepted 18.09.23; published 22.11.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Legge AA, Middleton JL, Reid S, Gordon A Implementation of a Web Camera System in an Australian Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: Pre- and Postevaluation of the Parent and Staff Experience JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47552 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47552</u> doi:<u>10.2196/47552</u>

© Alexandra A Legge, Jennifer L Middleton, Shelley Reid, Adrienne Gordon. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The

complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

## **Original Paper**

# Iterative Development, Validation, and Certification of a Smartphone System to Assess Neonatal Jaundice: Development and Usability Study

Anders Aune<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, MPH; Gunnar Vartdal<sup>2</sup>, MSc; Gabriela Jimenez Diaz<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, MPH; Lobke Marijn Gierman<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Håkon Bergseng<sup>3,4</sup>, MD, PhD; Elisabeth Darj<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Public Health and Nursing, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

<sup>2</sup>Picterus AS, Trondheim, Norway

<sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

<sup>4</sup>Department of Neonatology, St.Olav Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

### **Corresponding Author:**

Anders Aune, MD, MPH Department of Public Health and Nursing Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Norwegian University of Science and Technology Olav Kyrres gate 9 Trondheim, 7030 Norway Phone: 47 95034601 Email: <u>a.aune@ntnu.no</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Medical device development is an area facing multiple challenges, resulting in a high number of products not reaching the clinical setting. Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia, manifesting as neonatal jaundice (NNJ), is an important cause of newborn morbidity and mortality. It is important to identify infants with neonatal hyperbilirubinemia at an early stage, but currently there is a lack of tools that are both accurate and affordable.

**Objective:** This study aimed to develop a novel system to assess the presence of NNJ. The device should provide accurate results, be approved as a medical device, be easy to use, and be produced at a price that is affordable even in low-resource settings.

**Methods:** We used an iterative approach to develop a smartphone-based system to detect the presence of NNJ. We performed technical development, followed by clinical and usability testing in parallel, after which we initiated the regulatory processes for certification. We updated the system in each iteration, and the final version underwent a clinical validation study on healthy term newborns aged 1 to 15 days before all documentation was submitted for conformity assessment to obtain Conformité Européenne (CE) certification. We developed a system that incorporates a smartphone app, a color calibration card, and a server.

**Results:** Three iterations of the smartphone-based system were developed; the final version was approved as a medical device after complying with Medical Device Regulation guidelines. A total of 201 infants were included in the validation study. Bilirubin values using the system highly correlated with total serum or plasma bilirubin levels (r=0.84). The system had a high sensitivity (94%) to detect severe jaundice, defined as total serum or plasma bilirubin >250 µmol/L, and maintained a high specificity (71%).

**Conclusions:** Our smartphone-based system has a high potential as a tool for identifying NNJ. An iterative approach to product development, conducted by working on different tasks in parallel, resulted in a functional and successful product. By adhering to the requirements for regulatory approval from the beginning of the project, we were able to develop a market-ready mobile health solution.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40463) doi:10.2196/40463



### **KEYWORDS**

neonatal jaundice; neonatal hyperbilirubinemia; newborns; mobile app; design; validation; regulatory processes; mobile health; mHealth; mobile phone

## Introduction

### Background

Medical devices are a central part of medicine today and can be defined as any "products or equipment intended for a medical purpose" [1]. The development of novel medical devices is an area facing multiple barriers [2]. These include time for development, strict regulatory requirements, and financial aspects along with unknown market potential, limiting the number of devices reaching the clinical setting. Furthermore, numerous devices fail to scale up [3]. For the development of medical devices for infants and children, the challenges are even larger [4,5].

The field of eHealth and mobile health (mHealth) services has been rapidly developing, with technological advances opening new avenues for delivering health care, including point-of-care services. The expectations of this field have been high, especially in traditionally underserved areas [6]. Although many mHealth developments have shown promise, a key obstacle has been extending innovations from pilot projects and ideas to clinical implementation, a problem described as *pilotitis* [7]. Several factors have been linked to this phenomenon, such as regulatory requirements, lack of user perspective and engagement during development, and an absence of sustainable financial models in place, resulting in short-lived software applications and devices not tailored to the actual needs of the target population and users [8-10].

Neonatal jaundice (NNJ) is a common condition among newborns because it affects 60% of all term newborns and 80% of all preterm newborns [11]. Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia (NHB) is one of the leading causes of readmission to the hospital after discharge [12]. Although most cases are self-limiting, the condition could lead to severe consequences such as brain damage, sensory defects, or even death if not detected and treated in a timely fashion, and globally NHB remains an important cause of neonatal mortality [13-15]. Most of the severe cases occur in low- and middle-income countries. In addition, shortened stays at maternity wards after delivery are shown to increase the risk of hospital readmission for NNJ, which was further exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic [16,17]. To reduce the adverse consequences of NHB, timely detection of infants with the condition is important [18]. NHB can be detected in multiple ways, but the currently available

methods all have specific limitations. Visual assessment is shown to be unreliable; transcutaneous bilirubin (TcB) measurements are too expensive for many settings; and measurement of total serum or plasma bilirubin (TSB) requires training and an invasive blood draw, in addition to having the necessary equipment. There is clearly a pressing need for novel detection technologies [19-21].

### **Development of a Smartphone-Based System**

On the basis of the need for novel technologies for NNJ detection, we developed a smartphone-based system with the following properties:

- 1. It provides accurate results.
- 2. It has been approved as a medical device.
- 3. It is easy to use.
- 4. It is affordable.

To achieve this, we (1) explored methods that could be adapted to our system, (2) tested and evaluated prototypes, and (3) developed a final product for formal validation before submission for conformity assessment.

In this paper, we describe our complete developmental process: going from product idea to a Conformité Européenne (CE)–marked medical device, which we call the *Picterus Jaundice Pro*.

## Methods

#### **Project Overview**

We worked on this project from January 2014 to October 2021 in 3 different developmental phases before entering the final phase to obtain CE approval. We used an iterative approach that enabled us to work on different aspects of the product in parallel. The different stages included development of software and algorithms for bilirubin measurements, usability evaluations, product development, and collection of clinical data. An overview of the different stages is shown in Figure 1. All phases were carried out in compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation [22].

This project was initiated as a research project at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology and St Olav Hospital, both in Trondheim, Norway, and continued later in collaboration with the spin-off company Picterus AS.



Aune et al

Figure 1. Overview of the development phases. Ahus: Akershus University Hospital; CE: Conformité Européenne.



#### Phase 1

In the first developmental phase, we developed skin simulations to mimic the bio-optical properties of newborn skin and explored the technical properties of digital cameras used in smartphones [23].

The skin simulations were based on how light interacts with varying levels of the most important compounds that make up skin color, that is, melanin, blood, and bilirubin [24]. Each simulation resulted in a color. By running many simulations, we were able to generate a large database of bilirubin level–color pairs. We then compared the ability of different smartphone cameras to distinguish among colors in relation to different levels of bilirubin.

As color analysis of digital images depends on accurate color detection, we explored several ways of obtaining colors relevant for bilirubin detection. First, we tested a paper-based foldable spectrometer that was attached over the camera lens (Foldable Mini-Spectrometer; Public Lab) to separate the light into different wavelengths. Second, we attached band-pass filters (FB450-40 and FB550-40; Thorlabs Inc) over the camera lens that only allowed transmission of bilirubin-specific wavelengths. Finally, we obtained digital images using the standard camera on the smartphones of a fixed color reference, a MacBeth ColorChecker (X-Rite Inc). This ColorChecker is a reference card with different color samples with known properties and is commonly used by photographers to calibrate photographs [25].

A clinical pilot study was then performed to obtain sets of skin images of the chests of newborns. Thirty infants, dressed only in a diaper, were placed on their backs on a standard examination table, and 6 images were captured, 3 with flash and 3 without. A MacBeth ColorChecker was placed on the side of each infant's chest. Images were taken at a distance of 40 cm from the chest using the built-in camera on a Samsung Galaxy S3 smartphone. TSB and TcB levels were measured for each infant within 60 minutes before or after image capture. The images were uploaded to a server and skin colors analyzed. The skin colors were first calibrated using the ColorChecker and then converted into bilirubin values based on our skin simulations. We then compared these values with the TSB values.

The results from the technical work and analyses of the newborns' images were supplemented with input from clinical experience of jaundice assessment and literature searches on NHB. On the basis of published literature, we chose the best measurement site on newborns' bodies to test our prototype system [26]. Version 1 of the system was then developed based on these findings (Figure 1).

#### **Regulatory Processes**

We performed an initial assessment of whether a potential final product would be considered a medical device in accordance with European regulations [27,28]. On the basis of this assessment, a regulatory process for approval was initiated [29].

First, a quality management system in accordance with International Organization for Standardization 13485 standards was initiated. Thereafter, we conducted a comprehensive analysis of potential risks related to the product and created a risk management file. All risks related to the use of the product were evaluated and classified based on severity, risk of occurrence, and probability of intervention.

Definitions of the intended user and intended use as well as specifications of customer requirements were developed, which defined the criteria for technological development. All documentation of the product, including manufacturing, was incorporated into a technical file. We developed a clinical evaluation plan based on the relevant risks for the use of the product.

With regard to fulfilling regulatory requirements as a medical device, it should be noted that all the described regulatory processes do not have an end point but are continually updated throughout the lifetime of the medical device. The described regulatory documents in development phase 1 were continually updated during all phases of the project, and all involved participants were trained.

#### Phase 2

In phase 2, we evaluated version 1 of the system.

#### **Clinical Study**

A clinical study was performed at St Olav Hospital, and relevant data were published in 2020 [30]. A cross-sectional study compared bilirubin levels from digital images, obtained with a

RenderX

smartphone together with a calibration card, with TcB and TSB levels. Four images from different distances were captured in a standardized setting. Infants were placed on a white cloth on an examination table under illumination provided by halogen light bulbs. All sunlight was blocked out with dark curtains.

#### Usability Testing

We used different methods to assess user experience of the system. First, a method known as guerrilla testing was applied [31]. This method provides rapid insights into how a system is perceived and involves little effort from test users. Nurses, midwives, and physicians at St Olav Hospital were asked to participate. This user group was chosen based on experience with handling newborns and knowledge of NHB. They were presented with version 1 of the system and asked to perform a supervised test on a baby doll. They were encouraged to express their opinions and experience while using the system.

Second, during the clinical study phase, research assistants who helped with data collection provided feedback on the system. This yielded additional insights because the research assistants used the system on live newborns and not on a doll. The images collected during the clinical study not only revealed technical issues but also provided insights into how the user captured the images.

### **Technological Development**

Image sets with corresponding TSB levels from 34 randomly selected newborns in the clinical study were chosen and used to adjust the skin simulation models. We examined all collected images visually for quality and developed a method for an automated analysis of the image sets. Images that did not fulfill the quality criteria were excluded. To be included in the next phase of the analysis, the following criteria needed to be met: all color patches on the calibration card had to be clean and present in the image, there should be no major shadows over the skin or card, no object should have covered the lens, and the images should have been captured from the correct distance. For a set of images to be included, 3 out of the 4 images had to fulfill the quality criteria.

This procedure was then used to determine bilirubin levels in the remaining image sets (n=101). These levels were compared with TSB and TcB levels and evaluated using Pearson correlations and Bland-Altman plots.

A bench study was performed using version 1 of the system under different illumination conditions and with different smartphones. Skin phantoms were created by mixing gelatin with varying concentrations of bilirubin. Images of these phantoms were obtained under a standardized setting where the illumination could be altered. Four different smartphones were used, and 3 images for each phantom were obtained. The smartphones were placed on a stand to enable the capturing of stable images from the same distance and angle. A color calibration card, which was developed in phase 1, was used as a fixed reference for each image. The colors in the images before and after color calibration were compared, both under different light sources and among different smartphones. The clinical study, bench testing, and usability studies resulted in an improved version of the system (version 2).

#### Phase 3

In the third development phase (Figure 1), we tested and evaluated version 2 of the system and developed the final product.

## **Clinical Testing**

Version 2 of the system was evaluated in a clinical study at the Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway, and relevant data have been published [30]. We used inclusion criteria and methods that were similar to those used in the phase 2 clinical study. However, the illumination was not standardized, and images were captured under ambient light conditions to evaluate the performance in settings closer to those in which the final product would be used.

### Usability Testing

Usability testing in phase 3 was also conducted by applying the guerrilla method using a doll as well as by recording the experiences of research assistants taking part in data collection.

### **Technological Development**

Images collected in the clinical study of phase 2 were used for evaluating the clinical performance of the system, as well as for developing a method for automated quality checks of the images. Moreover, a method for checking the quality of the calibration card was developed. We set up the server to perform automated bilirubin measurements from approved image sets, and we developed a communication module that would report the result back to the app on the user's smartphone.

To ensure safe storage and transport of the cards, we designed special packaging for the calibration cards in compliance with regulatory requirements. Instructions for use were provided in both paper and web-based formats, as well as an in-app teaching module. The results from usability testing were used to improve the design of the calibration card as well as the smartphone app.

The combined findings in the third phase of the development led to version 3 of the system.

## Validation and Submission Phase

In the last phase, we aimed to finalize a fully tested system that was ready for certification as a medical device. To achieve this, we performed validation and verification tests of the software and hardware, as well as formal usability testing, and executed a clinical validation study of version 3 of the system.

#### Software and Hardware Validation and Verification

We developed validation and verification tests of the software and hardware of version 3 to prove that the system meets user needs and intended use criteria, as well as system requirements and specifications [32]. These tests are based on the needs and requirements of users, as well as risks identified in the risk assessment.

## Usability Validation

To be in accordance with regulatory requirements, a formal usability study was performed. Sixteen health care workers were



recruited and shown the system with the app, instructions for use, and calibration card. The risk analysis identified potential misuse of the product, and the users were presented with 10 different test cases that simulated scenarios where such misuse could happen. Tests were performed on a baby doll lying on an examination table. The test cases included basic tests to assess the ease of downloading and installing the app, as well as the users' understanding of the intended use of the product. Specific pass or fail criteria for each test case were defined in advance.

#### **Clinical Validation Study**

#### **Study Design**

We conducted a cross-sectional prospective study in the maternity ward and a breastfeeding outpatient clinic at St Olav Hospital. Data collection took place from September 5, 2019, to September 9, 2020.

#### **Study Participants**

Newborns were selected for the study if they were aged 1 to 15 days, born at term (37 weeks of gestation or more), and with birth weights ranging from 2500 g to 4500 g. Newborn infants with signs of disease or skin conditions other than jaundice and who received advanced medical treatment or phototherapy were excluded.

#### Recruitment

To include newborns with a wide range of bilirubin levels, we recruited them from 3 different groups: newborns at the maternity ward who needed a TSB determination for clinical purposes, newborns without visible jaundice but whose parents were willing to let them undergo a TSB sample drawn during their newborn screening when they were aged approximately 48 hours, and newborns brought to the breastfeeding clinic for follow-up care and who needed TSB determination for clinical purposes. The parents were asked to participate in the study, and informed written consent was obtained.

### **Data Collection**

For each newborn, the following variables were collected: day and time of birth, birth weight, gestational age, sex, and feeding type, as well as mother and newborn blood type and Rh type. A blood volume of 600  $\mu$ L was obtained by heel prick or venipuncture and stored in light-protected containers. The blood samples were analyzed at St Olav Hospital by applying the vanadate oxidation method using the Advia Chemistry XPT system (Siemens Healthcare GmbH). Within 60 minutes of blood collection, each newborn was placed on an examination table, and a measurement using the Picterus Jaundice Pro was performed. A color calibration card was placed over the sternum, and an image set, consisting of 3 images with flash and 3 without, was collected using a Samsung Galaxy S7 smartphone with version 3 of the Picterus Jaundice Pro. For each image, color correction was carried out and bilirubin levels determined. Bilirubin assessment using a TcB-measuring device (Jaundice Meter JM-105; Dräger) was performed immediately thereafter. All measurements were performed by the same trained person following hospital routines and instructions from the manufacturer.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Bilirubin measurements using the different methods were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test with the Dunn multiple comparison post hoc test. The correlations between Picterus Jaundice Pro bilirubin levels and TSB levels were evaluated using Pearson *r*. Bland-Altman plots were performed to determine the mean bias and 95% CIs between Picterus Jaundice Pro and TSB levels. Receiver operating characteristic curves were constructed to determine the sensitivity and specificity to detect severe jaundice, defined as TSB >250 µmol/L (14.6 mg/dL). Analyses were performed using MedCalc (version 20.109; MedCalc Software Ltd).

### Submission for Conformity Assessment

A notified body was contracted to perform the conformity assessment and collect all documents to comply with Medical Device Regulation (MDR) approval. The documents included the technical file describing all components of the product, a clinical evaluation report, a plan for postmarket surveillance and clinical follow-up to capture user feedback and confirm safety of the product, the risk analysis, and the quality management system.

## **Ethics Approval and Study Registration**

The clinical studies were approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Southeast Norway (2014/618) and by data protection officers at both St Olav Hospital and Akershus University Hospital. The validation study was approved by the Norwegian Medicines Agency as a study of a non–CE-marked medical device. The clinical studies were registered in ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03007563 and NCT04182555).

## Results

The development of the Picterus Jaundice Pro involved 3 phases before the final version was approved for CE certification as a medical device (Figure 1). The 3 phases produced 3 iterations of the calibration card (Figure 2) and 3 iterations of the image capture interface of the app (Figure 3).



Figure 2. Versions of the calibration card. (A) Phase 1. (B) Phase 2. (C) Phase 3 (final version).



Figure 3. Versions of the app slides of the image capture module. (A) Phase 1. (B) Phase 2. (C) Phase 3 (final version).



#### Phase 1

XSL•FO RenderX

#### System With 3 Major Components

In phase 1, we developed a system consisting of 3 major components: an app to collect and upload images of the skin of newborns, functionality to accurately calibrate the colors in the

images, and a server that could communicate with the smartphone and where images could be stored and analyzed.

Initial assessment of the smartphone cameras revealed that they were able to distinguish among colors reflecting different levels of bilirubin [23]. However, under varying illumination conditions, using a fixed reference in the images in the form of the color calibration card was the only way to detect colors with

the needed accuracy; accordingly, other methods of color detection were abandoned. This resulted in a system consisting of a color calibration card, an app, and a server.

In the pilot testing in phase 1, the newborns had a mean TSB level of 166 (SD 74)  $\mu$ mol/L (mean 9.71, SD 4.33, mg/dL) and a mean TcB level of 150 (SD 120)  $\mu$ mol/L (mean 8.78, SD 7.02, mg/dL). The bilirubin measurements from the images had a mean level of 190 (SD 119)  $\mu$ mol/L (mean 11.1, SD 6.96, mg/dL). The TSB and TcB levels were highly and significantly correlated (Pearson *r*=0.92; *P*=.005). Comparison of bilirubin values from the images with TSB and TcB levels revealed no significant correlation (Pearson *r*=0.04; *P*=.23).

On the basis of these findings, we identified several areas for improvement, with *how* images were captured being most essential. The design of the ColorChecker [25] was not optimal for color calibration of images of newborns' skin, and the ColorChecker needed to be positioned closer to the measurement site.

As a result, we developed the first version of the color calibration card (Figure 2A). This card consisted of various color and gray patches. To get these patches close to the measuring site, the card had a hole in the center showing where

Textbox 1. Description of version 1.

to perform skin measurements. We implemented a spectral printing method, which makes colors consistent when exposed to different illuminations [33]. We printed the cards using an inkjet printer and standard photo paper (HP DesignJet Z7300 printer and HP Premium Matte Photo Paper; HP Inc), which made it possible to print these cards at a low price. To ensure color consistency, all cards were measured with a spectrophotometer after printing.

Although image standardization with regard to distances and angles among the newborns was attempted, the built-in camera app of the smartphones was not adequate for this purpose. We therefore developed an app with an image capture module (Figure 3A) to standardize how images were obtained. The app was developed for an Android operating system. We included functionality to store and upload images. In addition, we set up a server that could communicate with the app and link image sets to unique identity numbers for each newborn.

All implemented features of version 1 of the app, color calibration card, and server are described in Textbox 1. The color calibration card of version 1 is shown in Figure 2A, and the app slide of the image capture module is presented in Figure 3A.

### • App

- Functionality to take sufficient images for clinical study
- Communicates with server to upload images
- Software for recognizing card
- Takes images from different distances
- Takes images with and without flash
- Image sets coded to unique ID
- Indicates to user when to take photographs
- Indicates to user how to position smartphone
- Crops image
- Calibration card
  - 24 color and 8 gray patches
  - Strip of 6 different gray tones
  - Hole for skin analysis
  - Colors close to hole
  - Opaque
  - Matte surface to reduce reflections
  - Size that fits on infant's chest
  - Safe for the newborn: biocompatible material and no sharp edges
- Server
  - Receives and stores images with unique ID for later analysis

#### **Regulatory** Compliance

The initial assessment of the final system concluded that the system could be considered class 1 medical device software according to the Medical Device Directive [27]. Through the timeline of the development, European regulations regarding medical devices changed, with the MDR replacing the Medical Device Directive [28]. A new assessment of the final system according to the updated regulations classified the system as a class 2a medical device. The color calibration card had been classified as a class 1 medical device accessory, and this classification remained the same after the change to the MDR.

The intended users of the system were defined as health care personnel, with intended use at hospitals, clinics, health stations, or during home visits. The system was identified as a screening system that assists health care workers in their assessment of NNJ and not as a stand-alone diagnostic tool. According to MDR specifications, the device was to be used on newborns born at term, with normal birth weight, and not showing signs of pathologic jaundice.

During the risk assessment, we found 3 risks that needed to be mitigated by a clinical evaluation: confirmation of a relationship between bilirubin levels in the skin and in blood, verification that bilirubin measurements in digital images in general correlate to bilirubin levels in blood, and demonstration to prove that bilirubin measurements using our system are correlated to bilirubin levels in blood. The first and second risks were resolved by reviewing published papers, but for the third risk we had to gather our own clinical data to have the system approved as a medical device.

To be compliant with the General Data Protection Regulation, all images were cropped so that no identifiable features of the newborns were visible.

#### Phase 2

In phase 2, we tested, evaluated, and improved upon the first prototype of the system (version 1).

During the clinical study of phase 2, a total of 181 newborns were recruited: 36 (19.9%) had image sets that had technical errors or were completely missing, another 10 (5.5%) had missing blood samples or were excluded because of miscoding or not meeting our inclusion criteria, and a subset of 34 (18.8%) newborns who were used to calibrate our model were also excluded from further analysis, leaving 101 (55.8%) image sets available for final analysis. Bilirubin values from the images were highly and significantly correlated to TSB values (Pearson r=0.83; P<.001) and TcB values (Pearson r=0.85; P<.001) [30].

An analysis of the image sets with technical errors revealed several weaknesses with version 1, and usability testing showed that the method of obtaining images was inadequate. The technical errors in the 36 rejected image sets included images where the infants' clothes covered portions of the color calibration card or the fingers of the researcher covered the lens, as well as image sets where the color calibration card or the infant was not captured in the image.

The software for recognizing the calibration card did not perform as intended, and there was an unwanted delay between the time that the app judged that conditions for capturing an image were met and the time that the actual images could be obtained. After testing different methods, we added 4 QR position codes to the calibration card and implemented updated software to recognize these position codes (Figure 2B). The position codes served as distinct and easily recognizable features on the card and made sampling of the color patches from the images more stable and easier to automate.

In version 1, the user had to press a button to capture images, which made it difficult to hold the smartphone steady. We implemented automated image capturing and added a camera shutter sound as well as a progress bar indicating the progress of the image capture operation.

Images from different distances did not improve correlations, added complexity, and reduced usability; therefore, a standard distance of 25 cm was chosen. Testing on live newborns showed that it was challenging to have the color calibration card stay in place during image capture, and we increased the size of the card, adding a section where the user could hold the card without affecting the color patches or the QR position codes (Figure 2B).

Analysis of the images of the skin phantoms showed that the method of color calibration was able to correct for changes in illumination as well as differences among the cameras in the 4 different smartphones that we tested. The analysis further showed that some of the patches on the calibration card were not needed and were therefore removed (Figure 2B).

All implemented features in version 2 of the app, color calibration card, and server are described in Textbox 2. The color calibration card of version 2 is shown in Figure 2B, and the image capture interface is presented in Figure 3B. The implementation of the combined findings from the second phase led to version 2 of the system with an updated interface for the app and a new version of the color calibration card.



Textbox 2. Description of version 2.

- App
  - Updated software for recognizing calibration card
  - Takes images from fixed distance
  - Takes images from same angle
  - Takes images automatically
  - Only takes images when conditions are met
  - Plays shutter sound when taking images
  - Displays a frame of the calibration card to ease positioning of the phone
  - Illustrates progress of image capture operation
  - Collects data on gestational age, birth weight, and current age
- Calibration card
  - Flap to hold the card
  - Barcode to identify unique card
  - QR position codes to improve card detection
- Server
  - Receives and stores images with unique ID for later analysis

#### Phase 3

In phase 3, we tested and evaluated version 2 and developed a final product (version 3) that was ready for formal validation before submission for conformity assessment.

During the clinical study of phase 3, a total of 161 newborns were recruited, of whom 3 (1.9%) had been miscoded and were excluded. Updating of the software and calibration card resulted in improved image capture quality: no image set had to be excluded. We determined a bilirubin value in the remaining 158 infants, of whom 84 (53.2%) had a TSB test performed, and the bilirubin measurements from our system were highly and significantly correlated to the TSB values (Pearson r=0.85; P<.001) and TcB values (Pearson r=0.79; P<.001) [30].

Usability tests and the experience of the research assistants showed that the image capture process was still not optimal, and it was difficult to align the smartphone and the card. We changed the design of the calibration card to a circular layout that reduced the need for this alignment and changed the user interface accordingly (Figures 2C and 3C). Another challenge was that users had to hold the card in place with one hand and then position the smartphone with the other. This was especially difficult when the newborn was moving. Therefore, we added double-sided medical tape, intended for use on newborn skin, on the back of the card to hold it in place while capturing images. To help new users, we developed a training module and implemented this in the app (Figure 4).

On the basis of the outcomes of the clinical study, we developed multiple quality checks for both the calibration card and the images. Inputs to these quality checks were based on continually updated risk analysis. The quality checks for the calibration card included tests to ensure that there were no shadows over the card, the card was not manipulated, nothing was spilled on the card, and the card was not damaged in other ways. The quality checks of the skin patch included checks to determine that the test area only captured human skin, that the skin had no rash, and that there were no shadows in the area chosen for analysis.

To maintain the colors on the calibration card, we designed special packaging that would protect the card from exposure to sunlight. Finally, instructions for use, terms and conditions, and a privacy policy were developed in accordance with relevant requirements.

All implemented features of version 3 of the app, the color calibration card, and the server are described in Textbox 3. The color calibration card of version 3 is shown in Figure 2C, and the image capture interface is presented in Figure 3C.

Aune et al

Figure 4. App slides of the training module.





Textbox 3. Description of version 3.

- App
  - Gives immediate result
  - On-boarding sequence
  - Learning module
  - Shows terms and conditions
  - Instructions for use
  - Stores latest measurement results
  - Reduces need for user input
  - Shows user whether position, angle, and distance are within required levels
  - Developed using software that would enable use of both Android and iOS smartphones
  - Includes functionality to translate app text into multiple languages
- Calibration card
  - Safe packaging of card
  - Circular design to ease alignment with the smartphone
  - Sticker to hold the card in place on the chest
  - Increased size of hole for skin analysis
  - Separate version for multiple use and possible to sanitize card
  - Multiple-use card (laminated)
- Server
  - Performs automated bilirubin assessment from images
  - Communicates result to app
  - Rejects image sets if quality requirements are not met
  - Calibration card present in the image
  - All color patches (colors and gray) on the calibration card present
  - Barcode present in all images
  - Colors in the card hole for the skin within normal range for skin colors (meaning no object other than human skin is being evaluated)
  - Cross validation of colors
  - Checks whether card is damaged

## Validation and Submission Phase

In the final phase, we demonstrated that the system was ready for approval as a medical device. Using version 3, we performed validation and verification tests of the software and hardware and also conducted formal usability testing and a clinical validation study.

## Software and Hardware Validation and Verification

Validation and verification tests of version 2 were developed and executed, and the system passed all the tests.

## Usability Validation

During formal usability testing, one of the test participants failed in 1 of the 10 test cases regarding the definition of the intended users of the system. This was not considered critical, and no risk mitigation was required.

## **Results of Clinical Validation Study**

A total of 248 newborns were recruited in the study, of whom 201 (81%) met the inclusion criteria for the intended use of the system and were included for data analysis. Birth weight, gestational age, and TSB and TcB levels as well as bilirubin measurements from the Picterus Jaundice Pro system are shown in Table 1. Thirty-four newborns were classified with severe hyperbilirubinemia, defined as TSB >250  $\mu$ mol/L (14.6 mg/dL).

The scatterplot (Figure 5A) shows a significant positive correlation between TSB and Picterus Jaundice Pro values (Pearson r=0.85; P<.001). Correlations between TcB and Picterus Jaundice Pro values showed similar results (Pearson r=0.85; P<.001). The mean difference between Picterus Jaundice Pro values and TSB levels was  $-9.7 \mu mol/L$  (95% CI -89.9 to 70.6  $\mu mol/L$ ; -0.57 mg/dL, 95% CI -5.26 to 4.13 mg/dL). No systematic overestimations or underestimations of bilirubin

levels were observed (Figure 5B). Receiver operating characteristic curve (Figure 5C) analysis of data from newborns with severe hyperbilirubinemia, defined as TSB >250  $\mu$ mol/L

(14.6 mg/dL), showed an area under the curve value of 0.89 and a Youden index with cutoff at >214  $\mu$ mol/L (12.5 mg/dL), resulting in a sensitivity of 94.1% and a specificity of 70.7%.

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of the included newborns (N=201).

Characteristics		Values, mean (SD; range)
Birth we	eight (g)	3642 (460; 2510-4830)
Gestatio	nal age (weeks)	39.7 (1.4; 37-42)
Bilirubi	in levels	
μm	ol/L	
	Picterus Jaundice Pro	186.6 (66.5; 1-322)
	TSB <sup>a,b</sup>	178.2 (76.5; 13-367)
	TcB <sup>c,d</sup>	156.7 (70.4; 0-304) <sup>e</sup>
mg	/dL	
	Picterus Jaundice Pro	10.9 (3.9; .1-18.8)
	TSB <sup>b</sup>	10.4 (4.5; 0.8-21.5)
	TcB <sup>d</sup>	9.2 (4.1; 0-17.8) <sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup>TSB: total serum bilirubin.

<sup>b</sup>Total serum bilirubin and transcutaneous bilirubin levels and bilirubin measurements from the Picterus Jaundice Pro system were analyzed with the Kruskal-Wallis test with the Dunn multiple comparison post hoc test.

<sup>c</sup>TcB: transcutaneous bilirubin.

<sup>d</sup>Information from 2 newborns is missing.

<sup>e</sup>*P*<.05 versus total serum bilirubin.



an of TSB and F

Figure 5. Correlation between Picterus Jaundice Pro and total serum bilirubin (TSB) levels illustrated in (A) a scatterplot, (B) a Bland-Altman plot, and (C) a receiver operating characteristic curve.

#### Submission for Conformity Assessment

TSB (µmol/L)

## Discussion

icterus Jaundice Pro (μmol/L)

On the basis of the risks outlined in the results of phase 1, a literature review was performed by searching PubMed, MEDLINE (via Ovid), and Scopus databases. Relevant information from 59 articles was included in the review.

Our own clinical data were insufficient to claim that the device could be used on newborns born to parents with the darkest skin types, defined as type 5 and 6 on the Fitzpatrick scale, and this limitation was added to the intended use of the product. A notified body reviewed all documentation of our system and performed 2 on-site audits before the certificate of the CE mark for the device was issued on October 22, 2021 [34]. For the calibration card, which was classified as an accessory, a self-declaration was sufficient to obtain the CE mark.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40463
```

RenderX

Summary

In this paper, we have described the development of a new digital system for screening of NNJ using a CE-certified medical device. By working in parallel along technical, clinical, usability, and regulatory axes, we developed iterations of the system that progressively resulted in a medical device that was approved as a CE-marked medical device. Clinical validation studies demonstrated that the Picterus Jaundice Pro bilirubin measurements highly correlated with TSB levels with a high sensitivity to identify newborns with severe hyperbilirubinemia.

100-Sp

ificity

For the development of this system, we set 4 objectives:

- First, we wanted to create a device that provides accurate results. The clinical validation study demonstrated a strong correlation between Picterus Jaundice Pro and TSB measurements. This objective was, however, only partially met because validation for all skin types was not yet demonstrated.
- Second, the system had to be approved as a medical device, and this was achieved by obtaining the CE mark. The CE mark is only valid in the region where this mark is accepted; however, this proves that our system will fulfill safety requirements, and adaptation to regulatory requirements in other regions will be easier.
- Third, the system should be easy to use. This is a necessity for lowering the threshold for using the system and making it accessible even for users with limited experience in using digital tools. Through usability testing and iterative development, we received feedback on different versions of the system and gradually improved it to meet the needs of the intended users.
- Fourth, we aimed to create a system that would be affordable even in low-income settings. A key advantage of digital solutions is the relatively low costs of scaling up the solution. However, maintenance costs will still apply as will costs involved in product approval. Furthermore, regulatory requirements result in continuous costs incurred on safety and clinical performance follow-up. The costs of production of the calibration card are low, but distribution costs will increase the cost for the user. Nonetheless, compared with other relevant medical devices for NHB, the total costs are substantially lower.

#### Strengths

From the initial phase of the project onward, the overarching goal was to convert our work into actual improvement in newborns' health by creating a product ready for users and also to develop the technology. The iterative approach combining usability and clinical testing in parallel with technological development enabled us to gradually develop a product that fulfilled our objectives. The guerrilla testing method is easy to conduct and made it possible to reach the intended users despite their busy clinical work.

Regulatory compliance work has been a substantial part of this development and included tasks that are often seen as cumbersome, expensive, and challenging. The rationale behind these processes is to prevent unsafe devices from reaching patients and to ensure that the benefits of a device can justify any remaining risks related to it. In this development, we identified potential risks from the beginning and evaluated and mitigated the risks when needed. Implementing the regulatory processes from the beginning ensured feasibility of the actual product in terms of increased patient safety, which will lead to increased acceptance of the product by users.

Compared with projects that are a result of technology discoveries, an advantage of this project is that it originates from a clinical need. This factor, often called "the why," has been highlighted as key to scaling and spreading innovations [3].

## Limitations

Although we developed, user-tested, validated, and obtained regulatory approval for a novel system fulfilling a clinical need, further development is needed to ensure successful implementation of the innovation [3,35].

Although we performed usability testing of the device, at this stage we were not able to test the system in clinical practice. We need to understand how this system will fit into the daily workflow of delivery of health care and how users will experience added value [10]. Use in clinical practice would further contribute to understanding which other features the system should include; for instance, the system currently provides no interpretation of the results, and this could be an important feature for further development. The largest burden of NHB today is experienced in low- and middle-income countries, and a limitation of this project is that we did not perform usability testing with users in such settings. Although the usability experience regarding the image capture module is likely to be similar, implementation of new features must be adapted to specific contexts, especially because many newborns in low-resource settings are seen by health care workers with less education.

Moreover, the ability to scale up the innovation is required to ensure successful implementation. The system was approved and tested for a limited set of smartphones, but to scale up the system, it must work and be approved for use on most smartphones. The calibration cards are currently being printed on a small scale, and a system for mass production needs to be developed. The system further requires connectivity, and for remote and less developed areas this would be a limiting factor. As sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia are among the regions experiencing the largest burden of NNJ, it will be important to have the system approved for newborns with all skin pigmentations.

Finally, sustainability of innovations includes financial sustainability, with appropriate business models generating revenue. Development of such models has been part of our work but is not included in this paper. In general, the organization of a health care system is complex and differs from country to country, and our business models will need to be adjusted depending upon how health services are financed within each specific market.

## Conclusions

In conclusion, we have described the development of a novel system for screening of NNJ from conceptualization to a CE-certified medical device. By following an iterative approach and by working along different axes in parallel and with considerations given to requirements for regulatory approval from the beginning, we developed a market-ready mHealth solution.



## Acknowledgments

The authors thank Professor Lise L Randeberg for her contribution to this project, all health personnel at St Olav Hospital and Akershus University Hospital who contributed to data collection and usability testing, and finally all parents who allowed their infants to take part in this development study. This project has received funding through an individual PhD grant from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology to the first author as well as from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (946013).

## **Authors' Contributions**

AA and GV were responsible for the initiation of this project. AA, GV, GJD, and LMG were responsible for system development. AA, GJD, HB, and ED collected the clinical data. AA, GV, GJD, and LMG carried out usability testing. AA, GV, LMG, HB, and ED performed data analysis. All authors contributed to the drafting and revision of the final manuscript, and all authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

AA and GV are both employed at, and shareholders of, Picterus AS, which is currently commercializing the Picterus Jaundice Pro app. GJD and LMG are both employed at Picterus AS.

## References

- 1. Medical devices. European Medicines Agency. URL: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-regulatory/overview/</u> <u>medical-devices</u> [accessed 2022-06-08]
- 2. Bergsland J, Elle OJ, Fosse E. Barriers to medical device innovation. Med Device 2014 Jun:205. [doi: 10.2147/mder.s43369]
- Côté-Boileau E, Denis J, Callery B, Sabean M. The unpredictable journeys of spreading, sustaining and scaling healthcare innovations: a scoping review. Health Res Policy Syst 2019 Sep 13;17(1):84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12961-019-0482-6] [Medline: 31519185]
- 4. Espinoza J, Shah P, Nagendra G, Bar-Cohen Y, Richmond F. Pediatric medical device development and regulation: current state, barriers, and opportunities. Pediatrics 2022 May 01;149(5):e2021053390. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2021-053390] [Medline: 35425971]
- Dimitri P, Pignataro V, Lupo M, Bonifazi D, Henke M, Musazzi UM, et al. Medical device development for children and young people-reviewing the challenges and opportunities. Pharmaceutics 2021 Dec 17;13(12):2178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics13122178] [Medline: 34959459]
- 6. Istepanian RS. Mobile health (m-Health) in retrospect: the known unknowns. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 Mar 22;19(7):3747 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19073747] [Medline: 35409431]
- 7. Huang F, Blaschke S, Lucas H. Beyond pilotitis: taking digital health interventions to the national level in China and Uganda. Global Health 2017 Jul 31;13(1):49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-017-0275-z] [Medline: 28756767]
- 8. Peiris D, Miranda JJ, Mohr DC. Going beyond killer apps: building a better mHealth evidence base. BMJ Glob Health 2018;3(1):e000676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000676] [Medline: 29527353]
- 9. Bhatia A, Matthan R, Khanna T, Balsari S. Regulatory sandboxes: a cure for mHealth pilotitis? J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 15;22(9):e21276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21276] [Medline: 32763889]
- 10. Cripps M, Scarbrough H. Making digital health "Solutions" sustainable in healthcare systems: a practitioner perspective. Front Digit Health 2022 Mar 31;4:727421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2022.727421] [Medline: 35434699]
- 11. Amos RC, Jacob H, Leith W. Jaundice in newborn babies under 28 days: NICE guideline 2016 (CG98). Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed 2017 Aug 08;102(4):207-209. [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-311556] [Medline: 28179382]
- Young PC, Korgenski K, Buchi KF. Early readmission of newborns in a large health care system. Pediatrics 2013 May;131(5):e1538-e1544. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2012-2634</u>] [Medline: <u>23569092</u>]
- Bhutani VK, Zipursky A, Blencowe H, Khanna R, Sgro M, Ebbesen F, et al. Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia and Rhesus disease of the newborn: incidence and impairment estimates for 2010 at regional and global levels. Pediatr Res 2013 Dec 20;74 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):86-100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/pr.2013.208] [Medline: 24366465]
- Slusher TM, Zamora TG, Appiah D, Stanke JU, Strand MA, Lee BW, et al. Burden of severe neonatal jaundice: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Paediatr Open 2017 Nov 25;1(1):e000105 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjpo-2017-000105</u>] [Medline: <u>29637134</u>]
- Olusanya BO, Teeple S, Kassebaum NJ. The contribution of neonatal jaundice to global child mortality: findings from the GBD 2016 study. Pediatrics 2018 Feb;141(2):e20171471. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2017-1471</u>] [Medline: <u>29305393</u>]
- Farhat R, Rajab M. Length of postnatal hospital stay in healthy newborns and re-hospitalization following early discharge. N Am J Med Sci 2011 Mar;3(3):146-151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4297/najms.2011.3146] [Medline: 22540081]
- 17. Mokha S, Heintz C, Agrawal V, Reynolds AM, Berkelhamer SK. Increased prevalence of severe neonatal hyperbilirubinaemia during social distancing. J Paediatr Child Health 2022 Jun 08;58(6):991-995. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.15881] [Medline: 34997787]

RenderX

- Olusanya BO, Ogunlesi TA, Slusher TM. Why is kernicterus still a major cause of death and disability in low-income and middle-income countries? Arch Dis Child 2014 Dec 14;99(12):1117-1121. [doi: <u>10.1136/archdischild-2013-305506</u>] [Medline: <u>25123403</u>]
- Slusher TM, Zipursky A, Bhutani VK. A global need for affordable neonatal jaundice technologies. Semin Perinatol 2011 Jun;35(3):185-191. [doi: <u>10.1053/j.semperi.2011.02.014</u>] [Medline: <u>21641493</u>]
- Hulzebos CV, Vitek L, Coda Zabetta CD, Dvořák A, Schenk P, van der Hagen EA, et al. Diagnostic methods for neonatal hyperbilirubinemia: benefits, limitations, requirements, and novel developments. Pediatr Res 2021 Aug 04;90(2):277-283. [doi: 10.1038/s41390-021-01546-y] [Medline: 33948000]
- Hulzebos CV, Vitek L, Coda Zabetta CD, Dvořák A, Schenk P, van der Hagen EA, et al. Screening methods for neonatal hyperbilirubinemia: benefits, limitations, requirements, and novel developments. Pediatr Res 2021 Aug 03;90(2):272-276. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41390-021-01543-1</u>] [Medline: <u>33941863</u>]
- 22. General data protection regulation. European Commision. URL: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2016/679/oj</u> [accessed 2022-06-03]
- 23. Vartdal G. Development of a smartphone-based diagnostic tool for jaundice. Norwegian University of Science and Technology. 2014. URL: <u>https://ntnuopen.ntnu.no/ntnu-xmlui/handle/11250/2400635</u> [accessed 2017-06-07]
- 24. Randeberg L, Roll EB, Nilsen LT, Christensen T, Svaasand L. In vivo spectroscopy of jaundiced newborn skin reveals more than a bilirubin index. Acta Paediatr 2005 Jan;94(1):65-71. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1651-2227.2005.tb01790.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15858963</u>]
- 25. McCamy C, Marcus H, Davidson J. A color-rendition chart. J App Photogr Eng 1976;2(3):95-99.
- 26. Rennie J, Burman-Roy S, Murphy MS, Guideline Development Group. Neonatal jaundice: summary of NICE guidance. BMJ 2010 May 19;340(may19 3):c2409. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.c2409</u>] [Medline: <u>20484363</u>]
- 27. Council Directive 93/42/EEC of 14 June 1993 concerning medical devices. European Commission. URL: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=celex:31993L0042</u> [accessed 2022-05-05]
- Regulation (EU) 2017/745 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2017 on medical devices, amending Directive 2001/83/EC, Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and Regulation (EC) No 1223/2009 and repealing Council Directives 90/385/EEC and 93/42/EEC (Text with EEA relevance. ). European Commission. 2020 Apr 24. URL: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32017R0745</u> [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 29. Keutzer L, Simonsson US. Medical device apps: an introduction to regulatory affairs for developers. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jun 26;8(6):e17567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17567] [Medline: 32589154]
- Aune A, Vartdal G, Bergseng H, Randeberg LL, Darj E. Bilirubin estimates from smartphone images of newborn infants' skin correlated highly to serum bilirubin levels. Acta Paediatr 2020 Dec 19;109(12):2532-2538. [doi: 10.1111/apa.15287] [Medline: 32267569]
- 31. Allen J, Chudley J. Smashing UX Design Foundations for Designing Online User Experiences. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley; 2012. ISBN: 978-0470666852.
- 32. Ogrodnik P. Medical Device Design Innovation from Concept to Market. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier Science; 2019.
- 33. Le Moan S, Urban P. Spectral printing with a CMYKRGB printer: a closer look. In: Proceedings of the Color and Imaging Conference. 2014 Presented at: Color and Imaging Conference; Nov 3-7, 2014; Boston, MA, United States.
- 34. Customers and certificates. DQS. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/yrvhh5cc</u> [accessed 2022-05-04]
- 35. Labrique AB, Wadhwani C, Williams KA, Lamptey P, Hesp C, Luk R, et al. Best practices in scaling digital health in low and middle income countries. Global Health 2018 Nov 03;14(1):103. [doi: 10.1186/s12992-018-0424-z] [Medline: 30390686]

## Abbreviations

CE: Conformité Européenne MDR: Medical Device Regulation mHealth: mobile health NHB: neonatal hyperbilirubinemia NNJ: neonatal jaundice TcB: transcutaneous bilirubin TSB: total serum bilirubin



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 28.06.22; peer-reviewed by M Mirro, T Parikh, RJ Wong; comments to author 18.11.22; revised version received 16.12.22; accepted 16.01.23; published 28.02.23.
<u>Please cite as:</u>
Aune A, Vartdal G, Jimenez Diaz G, Gierman LM, Bergseng H, Darj E
Iterative Development, Validation, and Certification of a Smartphone System to Assess Neonatal Jaundice: Development and Usability
Study
JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40463
URL: <a href="https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40463">https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40463</a>
PMID:36853753

©Anders Aune, Gunnar Vartdal, Gabriela Jimenez Diaz, Lobke Marijn Gierman, Håkon Bergseng, Elisabeth Darj. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# The Effectiveness of Interactive Text Messaging and Structured Psychosocial Support Groups on Developmental Milestones of Children From Adolescent Pregnancies in Kenya: Quasi-Experimental Study

Valerian Mwenda<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MD, MSc; Ireen Makena<sup>4</sup>, BSc, MSc; Vincent Ogweno<sup>5</sup>, BSc; James Obonyo<sup>6</sup>, BSc; Vincent Were<sup>7</sup>, BSc, PhD

<sup>2</sup>Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program, Ministry of Health, Nairobi, Kenya

<sup>7</sup>Kenya Medical Research Institute-Wellcome trust, Nairobi, Kenya

### **Corresponding Author:**

Valerian Mwenda, MD, MSc Department of Non-communicable Diseases Ministry of Health PO Box 30016 Nairobi, 00100 Kenya Phone: 254 723992573 Email: <u>valmwenda@gmail.com</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** In sub-Saharan Africa, one-quarter of all pregnancies occur in adolescents. Children born to adolescent mothers have poorer physical and socio-cognitive development. One reason may be inadequate knowledge on childcare and psychosocial support during pregnancy and post partum, since adolescent mothers have less antenatal care attendance and overall interaction with the health care system. Mobile health technology has been used to relay health information to special groups; however, psychosocial support commonly requires physical interaction.

**Objective:** We aimed to assess the efficacy of an interactive mobile text messaging platform and support groups in improving adolescent mothers' knowledge and practices as well as infant growth and development.

**Methods:** This was a quasi-experimental study, conducted among adolescent mothers with infants younger than 3 months, in Homa Bay County, Kenya. Five of the 8 subcounties in Homa Bay County were purposively selected as study clusters. Four subcounties were assigned as intervention clusters and 1 as a control cluster. Adolescent mothers from 2 intervention subcounties received interactive text messaging only (limited package), whereas those from the other 2 subcounties received text messaging and weekly support groups, moderated by a community health extension worker and a counselor (full package); the control cluster only received the end-line evaluation (posttest-only control). The follow-up period was 9 months. Key outcomes were maternal knowledge on childcare and infant development milestones assessed using the Developmental Milestones Checklist (DMC III). Knowledge and DMC III scores were compared between the intervention and control groups, as well as between the 2 intervention groups.

**Results:** We recruited 791 mother-infant pairs into the intervention groups (full package: n=375; limited package: n=416) at baseline and 220 controls at end line. Attrition from the intervention groups was 15.8% (125/791). Compared with the control group, adolescent mothers receiving the full package had a higher knowledge score on infant care and development (9.02 vs 8.01; P<.001) and higher exclusive breastfeeding rates (238/375, 63.5% vs 112/220, 50.9%; P=.004), and their infants had higher average DMC III scores (53.09 vs 48.59; P=.01). The limited package group also had higher knowledge score than the control group (8.73 vs 8.01; P<.001); this group performed better than the full package group on exclusive breastfeeding (297/416, 71.4%)

RenderX

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Non-communicable Diseases, Ministry of Health, Nairobi, Kenya

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Field Epidemiology Society of Kenya, Nairobi, Kenya

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Biological Sciences, Chuka University, Chuka, Kenya

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of Nairobi, NAIROBI, Kenya

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>County Department of Health, Homa Bay County, Homa Bay, Kenya
vs 112/220, 50.9%; P<.001) and DMC III scores (58.29 vs 48.59; P<.001) when compared with the control group. We found a marginal difference in knowledge scores between full and limited package groups (9.02 vs 8.73; P=.048) but no difference in DMC III scores between the 2 groups (53.09 vs 58.29; P>.99).

**Conclusions:** An interactive text messaging platform improved adolescent mothers' knowledge on nurturing infant care and the development of their children, even without physical support groups. Such platforms offer a convenient avenue for providing reproductive health information to adolescents.

Trial Registration: Pan African Clinical Trials Registry PACTR201806003369302; https://tinyurl.com/kkxvzjse

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e37359) doi:10.2196/37359

#### KEYWORDS

text messages; adolescent pregnancy; milestones; mHealth; psychosocial support; Kenya; nurturing care

# Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 23 million girls younger than 20 years of age become pregnant in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) every year [1]. The burden of adolescent pregnancies is the highest in Sub-Saharan Africa, where one-quarter of all pregnancies occur in adolescents [2]. In Kenya, the adolescent pregnancy rate is 96 per 1000 births, with some counties having a higher burden [3].

Adolescent pregnancies are associated with poorer physical and socio-cognitive development during infancy and early childhood, partly due to inadequate knowledge on infant care [1]. Children born to mothers younger than 20 years of age have a 50% higher chance of being born as stillbirths, dying within the first few weeks after birth or being born with low birth weight; they also have a higher risk of long-term effects, behavioral problems in childhood, poor cognitive development, and worse educational outcomes [4-9]. Adolescent mothers have higher rates of depression, poverty, and poor economic development since the majority are forced to drop out of school [5,10].

Adolescent mothers show less sensitive and more intrusive, hostile interactive behaviors and less frequently engage in direct interactions with their children [11]. Maternal sensitivity has also been shown to be of major significance for children's attachment and socio-emotional development as well as cognitive development [12,13]. Another study showed that cognitive developmental differences in 3-year-old children of adolescent and adult mothers were indirectly mediated by maternal parenting behaviors [14]. Some of these behaviors among adolescent mothers may arise from the lack of knowledge on proper infant feeding and care practices. Socioeconomic problems such as economic deprivation, which accompany many adolescent pregnancies, are associated with negative developmental outcome in the offspring [15]. This may be due to low cognitive stimulation in the home, including toys, books, and learning opportunities that shape the developing brain [16].

Adolescent mothers have less knowledge on infant care and development compared with their older counterparts [17,18]. Antenatal care (ANC) offers an opportunity for the provision of information and advice for a healthy pregnancy, safe childbirth, and postnatal recovery; care of the newborn; and promotion of early, exclusive breastfeeding [19]. However, adolescent mothers also attend ANC less often than recommended [20]. Therefore, a different approach is necessary

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e37359

for ensuring that these mothers receive this vital information. Identifying adolescent pregnancies early on and offering a specialized package of care involving education, counseling, and support together with nutritional supplementation can reduce neurocognitive underdevelopment at minimal cost in LMICs [21,22]. Mobile health (mHealth) technology has been applied in various settings in LMICs to motivate positive health behaviors and improve health outcomes, including HIV testing [23], antiretroviral treatment adherence [24-26], postoperative clinic follow-ups [27], malaria treatment [28], immunization [29], and postnatal care and follow-ups [30]. Such innovations have been shown to be cost-effective in improving maternal, newborn, and child health outcomes [31,32].

The WHO Nurturing Care Framework identifies the formation of parent groups, counseling, and support as a model for achieving responsive care giving [33]. We sought to test the efficacy of interactive mobile text messaging on childcare and development, with or without psychosocial support groups, among adolescent mothers in improving maternal knowledge and early infant development.

### Methods

#### **Study Design and Population**

This was a quasi-experimental study to assess the efficacy of a nurturing care package delivered through mHealth and psychosocial support on the development of children born to adolescent mothers. The study was conducted in 5 subcounties purposively selected from the 8 subcounties in Homa Bay County, Kenya. Homa Bay County has the second highest prevalence of adolescent pregnancies in Kenya, at 33.3% in 2019 [34].

The study population was adolescent mothers and their infants. The minimum sample size required per cluster was 200, based on a 22% expected difference in exclusive breastfeeding rates between adolescent and mature mothers [35]. Adolescent mothers (aged younger than 20 years) with a child younger than 3 months of age at recruitment, who are residents of 1 of the selected subcounties, were eligible for inclusion. We excluded those who did not have access to a mobile phone within the family setup. Written consent was obtained from all the participants; for those younger than 18 years of age, a guardian had to give consent before inclusion.

#### **Sampling Procedures**

We adopted a cluster-sampling method, with the subcounty representing a cluster. Four subcounties were randomly selected from the 8 in Homa Bay County and assigned to 1 of the 2 study arms: full package intervention or limited package intervention (2 subcounties each). Eligible adolescent mothers were recruited by community health extension workers working in each of the subcounties. A baseline survey was conducted, collecting key variables including age, education, occupation, telephone number, and knowledge and practices on infant care and development. A total of 791 adolescent mothers were recruited into the study at baseline. We did not recruit a no-intervention control group at baseline due to 2 reasons. First, the community health extension workers in the study locations felt that recruiting a control group and then following up with them until

the final evaluation with no intervention may be difficult to explain to the adolescents and their guardians. On the contrary, a control group at end line would be packaged as a health promotion activity in the community. Second, since the study team would still need to do community tracking of the adolescents in the control group, it would be difficult to avoid providing information similar to our interventions if specifically asked by the participants; this would result in contamination risk. Therefore, we adopted a pretest-posttest design with a posttest-only control [36]. We recruited a control group with comparable key characteristics (maternal age younger than 20 years with a child between the age of 9-12 months) from a different subcounty in Homa Bay County at end line. A total of 220 adolescent mothers were recruited in the control group (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Study CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) flow diagram.





#### Intervention

The intervention consisted of (1) the delivery of targeted messages on childcare and nurturing through an interactive text messaging platform and (2) psychosocial support groups for the adolescent mothers, moderated by trained personnel. This was based on the WHO Nurturing Care Framework, which emphasizes health, nutrition, early learning, and responsive care giving through parent groups, counseling, and support [33]. By delivering a package of targeted interventions to the adolescent mothers, we expected to improve their knowledge and practices in childcare, which would translate to better development of their children. We hypothesized that although an mHealth platform could provide an avenue for health education, psychosocial support for the adolescent mothers may still need a physical interaction. The interventions were implemented in 4 subcounties: 2 received text messaging only and 2 received the full package of text messaging and psychosocial support groups. The text messaging intervention consisted of the transmission of text messages, arranged in themes each week, at a rate of 5-10 key messages per week. These themes included feeding at every age (including during diarrhea and other illnesses), breastfeeding, immunization, danger signs in infants and young children, general childcare and safety, developmental milestones, and when to seek care. The interactive feature allowed the adolescent mothers to engage experts on the platform to seek clarification, ask questions, or obtain guidance on various aspects of their health or that of their children, at no cost on their side. The psychosocial support groups consisted of 5-10 adolescent mothers, grouped by the ward of residence. Each group held weekly meetings, with a community health extension worker and a counselor moderating the discussions. Discussion topics were based on the themes addressed by the text messages transmitted that week. Meetings were usually held during weekends, to accommodate adolescent mothers who were in school. The total follow-up period was 9 months; the interventions were conducted from October to December 2019, and the postintervention follow-up was conducted from January to June 2020.

## **Data Collection**

A baseline questionnaire was administered, documenting the demographic and contact information of the eligible participants. Key information at baseline included the ages of the mother and infant, residence, and mobile telephone number. Data were collected by community health extension workers. Development assessment used the Developmental Milestones Checklist (DMC III) [37], with questions from the checklist matched with the age of the infant at final evaluation. The DMC III items had 3 likely responses: milestone observed continually (score 2), milestone observed occasionally (score 1), and milestone not observed at all (score 0). The DMC III evaluation involves both interviewing the mother as well as observing and assessing the infant. Data were collected electronically using Android tablets. A survey questionnaire was administered to the adolescent mothers at end line, measuring knowledge (12 items) and practices in feeding, vaccination, growth monitoring, breastfeeding, hygiene, and milestones in a child's development. Each of the survey questions was scored as either 0 if the mother did not know the correct response or 1 for correct responses.

For the DMC III checklist, the gross motor component had 25 items, the fine motor component had 12 items, and the language component had 18 items. Each item was either scored 0 (caregiver has not observed that milestone in the previous 4 weeks), 1 (the milestone item has been observed but not continuously), or 2 (the milestone had been observed continuously in the previous 4 weeks). In addition to the questionnaire administered to the mother, other assessments on the infants included weight, midupper arm circumference, head circumference, and height or length.

#### **Study Outcomes**

The primary outcomes were (1) maternal knowledge and practices (exclusive breastfeeding, immunization, feeding, and stimulation) on childcare and development and (2) infant developmental milestones at end line as assessed by the DMC III. The secondary outcomes were (1) the incidence of diarrhea and respiratory illnesses and (2) anthropometric measurements. The secondary outcomes are not reported in this paper.

#### **Data Management and Statistical Analysis**

We first explored the descriptive analysis using independent sample 2-tailed t test to compare mean estimates of the outcomes between study arms and by survey period. The study end points were analyzed at end line only, comparing the 2 interventions against the control, as well as against each other (full package vs control, limited package vs control, and full package vs limited package). Development milestones were summed to generate continuous variables representing knowledge, fine motor, gross motor, and language scores. These were considered normally distributed variables, and hence, means and SDs were used to compare the significant differences. Independent sample t tests were then used to test the hypothesis that the mean differences in DMC III scores were similar for those participants who received the full package intervention compared to controls. To account for cluster effects and probability sampling weights and to assess the effectiveness of the interventions at the same time, we fitted a generalized estimating equations (GEE) model with a linear model for a continuous outcome. The GEE model was used with a small-sample correction, due to the small number of clusters [38]. The dependent variables were knowledge, language, gross motor, and fine motor scores. The effect factor was a binary variable representing either full package versus control, limited package versus control, or full package versus limited package. Results with P values <.05 were considered statistically significant results. The analysis was done using Stata (version 15; StataCorp), and effects were reported with 95% CIs. Data management was carried out by a statistical team that was independent from the main study group.

#### **Ethics Approval**

Eligible study participants were given the rationale and aims of the intervention study. Written informed consent was then obtained from all enrolled adolescent mothers. The protocol was approved by the African Medical Research Foundation Ethics and Scientific Review Committee (protocol ESRC P589/2019). We also obtained approval of local authorities, at the county and subcounty levels, and community strategy coordination before the implementation of the study. The study

XSL•FO RenderX

protocol was registered at the Pan African Clinical Trials Registry (PACTR201806003369302).

# Results

# **Baseline Sociodemographic Characteristics of the Study Population**

A total of 1011 adolescent mothers were recruited: 416 in the limited package arm, 375 in the full package arm, and 220 in the control group. The majority of the participants (873/1011, 86.4%) were between the ages 16 and 19 years, and 61.6% (623/1011) were students. Only 10% (101/1011) had completed secondary school. One-quarter (265/1011, 26.2%) were married, and only 16.4% (166/1011) were involved in any form of income-generating activity (business, employment, casual labor, or farming). Antenatal clinic attendance for at least 1 visit was high for all the groups (370/375, 98.7% for the full package

group; 396/416, 95.2% for the limited package group; and 215/220, 97.7% for the control group). The comparison of the various parameters across the 3 groups is shown in Table 1.

At end line, 666 adolescent mothers in the intervention groups were still active in the study, translating to an overall attrition rate of 15.8% (125/791; 70/416, 16.8% in the limited package intervention group vs 55/375, 14.7% in the full package intervention group). The mean age of the children at the end-line evaluation was 11.8 (SD 2.5) months for the full intervention group, 12.4 (S.D 2.8) months for the limited intervention group, and 11.0 (S.D 4.2) months for the control group. Exclusive breastfeeding rates were higher in the full package intervention group compared with the control group (238/375, 63.5% vs 112/220, 50.9%; P=.004); the difference was even higher for the limited package intervention group (297/416, 71.4% vs 112/220, 50.9%; P<.001).

<b>Table I</b> booldenoelabile enalged of blad bobalation	Table 1.	Sociodemographic	characteristics of	of study populatio	m <sup>a</sup> .
-----------------------------------------------------------	----------	------------------	--------------------	--------------------	------------------

Characteristics	Full package (n=375), n (%)	Limited package (n=416), n (%)	Control (n=220), n (%)
Age range (years)			
12-15	64 (20)	63 (15.1)	11 (5)
16-19	311 (82.9)	353 (84.9)	209 (95)
Education level			
Primary, incomplete	134 (38.7)	163 (39.2)	83 (37.5)
Primary, completed	38 (10.1)	59 (14.2)	27 (12.3)
Secondary, incomplete	156 (41.6)	162 (38.9)	88 (40.2)
Secondary, completed and above	47 (12.5)	32 (7.7)	22 (10.1)
Occupation			
Business	8 (2.1)	32 (7.7)	11 (5)
Casual laborer	6 (1.6)	7 (1.7)	4 (1.6)
Farming	24 (6.4)	50 (12)	20 (9.3)
Formal employment	0 (0)	2 (0.5)	0 (0)
Housewife	68 (18.1)	72 (17.3)	39 (17.9)
Student	260 (69.3)	227 (54.6)	136 (61.7)
Other	9 (2.4)	26 (6.3)	10 (4.5)
Marital status			
Married	84 (22.4)	123 (29.6)	58 (26.4)
Single	291 (77.6)	292 (70.2)	162 (73.6)
Other <sup>b</sup> (separated, divorced, or widowed)	0 (0)	1 (0.2)	0 (0)
Source of family income			
Agriculture	128 (34.1)	286 (68.8)	115 (52.3)
Business	195 (52)	75 (18)	75 (34.1)
Employment	30 (8)	14 (3.4)	12 (5.6)
Others	22 (5.9)	41 (9.9)	18 (8)
Religion			
Christian	375 (100)	409 (98.3)	218 (99.1)
Muslim	0 (0)	7 (1.7)	2 (0.9)
ANC <sup>c</sup> attendance at least 1 visit			
Yes	370 (98.7)	396 (95.2)	215 (97.7)
No	5 (1.3)	20 (4.8)	5 (2.3)

<sup>a</sup>This includes the number of participants as at recruitment—the intervention groups at baseline and the control group at end line.

<sup>b</sup>Other includes those who are separated, divorced, or widowed; these were combined since the numbers were very small.

<sup>c</sup>ANC: antenatal care.

# Change in Maternal Knowledge on Infant Care and Developmental Milestones at End Line

Compared with the control group, adolescent mothers who received the full package had a higher knowledge score on infant care and development (9.02 vs 8.01; P<.001); the same was

observed for those who received the limited package (8.73 vs 8.01; P<.001), as shown in Table 2.

The infants of mothers in both intervention groups also had higher average scores on the DMC III in developmental milestones (Figure 2).

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 2. Comparison of maternal knowledge score between the 2 interventions groups and the control group at end line<sup>a</sup>.

1		e		0 1	6 1	
Package	Intervention		Control		Knowledge score, mean difference	<i>P</i> value ( <i>t</i> test)
	Participant, n	Knowledge score, mean (SD)	Participant, n	Knowledge score, mean (SD)		
Full package	307	9.02 (2.19)	199	8.01 (2.07)	1.01	<.001 <sup>b</sup>
Limited package	297	8.73 (2.22)	199	8.01 (2.07)	0.73	<.001 <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>The n values differ from the numbers analyzed from the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram due to records with missing key variables that were dropped from the model.

<sup>b</sup>Significant results at *P*<.05.

**Figure 2.** Comparison between groups in (A) maternal knowledge and (B) infant developmental milestones at end line. (A) Full package vs control: P<.001; limited package vs control: P<.001; full package vs limited package: P=.01. (B) Full package vs control: P=.01; limited package vs control: P<.001; full package vs limited package: P=.003. DMC: Developmental Milestones Checklist.



#### Differences in Developmental Milestones at End Line for the Intervention Groups and the Control Group

Compared with the control group, participants who received the full package had significantly higher gross motor (26.55 vs 23.50; P<.001), fine motor (12.97 vs 11.41; P<.001), as well as overall DMC III score (53.09 vs 48.59; P=.01). However, there was no significant difference in language scores between

those who received the full package of interventions and the control group (13.57 vs 13.68; P=.56; Table 3).

Participants who received limited package also had significantly higher scores in fine motor (12.59 vs 11.41; P=.002), gross motor (27.95 vs 23.50; P<.001), and also language (17.75 vs 13.68; P<.001) scores compared with the control group. Overall DMC III scores were also significantly higher for those who received limited package compared with control (58.29 vs 48.59; P=.002; Table 3).

Table 3. Comparison of mean Developmental Milestones Checklist (DMC III) scores between the intervention groups and the contri
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Score	Full package (n=307), mean (SD)	Control (n=199), mean (SD)	P value	Limited package (n=297), mean (SD)	Control (n=199), mean (SD)	P value
Fine motor	12.97 (4.80)	11.41 (5.09)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>	12.59 (4.02)	11.41 (5.03)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>
Gross motor	26.55 (9.52)	23.50 (10.60)	.56	27.95 (9.33)	23.50 (10.60)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>
Language	13.57 (8.20)	13.68 (9.18)	.01 <sup>a</sup>	17.75 (7.91)	13.68 (9.18)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>
Total DMC III score	53.09 (20.02)	48.59 (23.32)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>	58.29 (19.28)	48.59 (23.32)	.002 <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Significant results at P<.05.

#### Comparison of Mean Developmental Milestone Scores Between the Full and Limited Package Groups

Overall, there was no statistical difference in developmental milestones between those who received the full package and

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e37359

Table 4.	Comparison of	knowledge and mean	Developmental Milestones	Checklist (DMC III) scores b	between the full and limited package groups.
	1	0	1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Score	Full package (n=307), mean (SD)	Limited package (n=297), mean (SD)	P value
Knowledge	9.02 (2.19)	8.73 (2.22)	.048 <sup>a</sup>
Fine motor	12.97 (4.80)	12.59 (4.02)	.15
Gross motor	26.55 (9.52)	27.24 (9.44)	.97
Language	13.57 (8.20)	17.75 (7.91)	>.99
Total DMC III score	53.09 (20.02)	58.29 (19.28)	>.99

<sup>a</sup>Significant results at P<.05.

# Discussion

#### **Key Findings**

In this study, using an interactive text messaging service to provide information and support to adolescent mothers improved their knowledge on nurturing infant care and the developmental milestones of their children at 1 year of age. Adding psychosocial support groups did not have superior impact on maternal knowledge nor infant developmental milestones compared with the interactive text messaging alone.

#### **Comparison With Other Studies**

Other studies have showed mixed findings on the impact of providing information and psychosocial support to mothers; most showed improvement in some but not all of the growth and developmental parameters of the children. A cluster intervention trial in Zambia evaluating home visits and parenting groups found an improvement in some anthropometric measures (stunting) as well as language but no effects on motor skills, cognitive, or socio-emotional development [39]. In Uganda, an intervention to reduce maternal depression and improve child development through group education on feeding, hygiene, and stimulation improved the cognitive and language development of the children [40]. Other interventions in mothers that provide information and support have been shown to improve various nutritional parameters [41]. A randomized trial in Ethiopia found improvement in socio-emotional and language development after an intervention consisting of play stimulation during home visits [42]. However, a home-based parenting support program delivered until 6 months post partum in South Africa found no impact on the cognitive development of the infants [43]. Our study found improvements in both maternal knowledge and infant development parameters. One possible reason for this may be because we were intervening among adolescent mothers only, whereas the other studies were among mixed-age mothers. Adolescent mothers are at a very high risk of maternal depression due to the lack of familial social support and socioeconomic hardships; any intervention in a convenient approach therefore could have higher impact [44]. Most of the studies mentioned above had a component of home support visits; however, we found no added benefits of home visits or psychosocial support groups to either maternal knowledge or infant growth and development outcomes. A possible explanation is since we were using an interactive text messaging platform, the adolescent mothers were able to access both information and sense of support from the platform, similar to what they would have acquired through home visits or support

RenderX

groups, but with an added advantage of privacy and convenience. An expansion of such a platform to include peer-to-peer interaction can further changes, knowledge, and behavior on nurturing infant care [45]. Interactive mHealth solutions that give users the opportunity to ask question or seek clarifications are more acceptable and effective than one-way platforms and can increase access to health information, especially to special populations, in an equitable and cost-effective way [46-49]. This would be valuable in providing adolescent mothers with information and support on reproductive health, which are services traditionally offered at health facilities. Interestingly, ANC attendance was high for all the groups in this study; this implies that the main limiting factor may not be the lack of interaction with the health care system but the provision of tailored, adolescent-responsive reproductive health information conveniently.

#### **Limitations and Strengths**

The findings of this study should be interpreted in consideration of some limitations. First, the study had a limited number of clusters. To minimize the likely effect on the type 1 error rate, the GEE model with a small-sample correction was performed. Due to reservations of community stakeholders on recruiting vulnerable adolescent mothers with no planned interventions, we were not able to recruit a control group at baseline. The control group was recruited during the end-line survey, in a different subcounty in the study county, among adolescent mothers with infants between the ages of 9-12 months (similar to the intervention groups at the end of follow-up). Therefore, uncontrolled differences between the intervention groups and the control group could have contributed, in part, to the observed differences in developmental outcomes. Studies with posttest-only controls also have a weakness in that they may not adequately measure the change brought about by maturation (threats to validity that happen over time during follow-up) or sensitization (the impact of the intervention groups being exposed to the survey at baseline) [36]. Additionally, the groups had significant differences in socioeconomic variables at recruitment, which could have influenced the outcomes due to residual confounding. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we were not able to conduct assessments at 6 and 12 months but had our final evaluation after 9 months of follow-up.

Our study also has several strengths. Our target population was a vulnerable segment of the female reproductive population, which is a leading contributor to maternal and infant morbidity as well as mortality. Since the lack of information on reproductive health among adolescents is a key causative factor,

out study provides evidence on how such information and support can be availed efficiently to this vulnerable demographic. Second, other than the information itself, our implementation approach was to use currently available structures (mobile phones and community health strategy) to make available information and support to adolescent mothers. Only 5.8% (49/840) of eligible participants were excluded due to the lack of a reliable mobile phone. This can make scaling up both feasible and sustainable. The mHealth strategic framework and electronic community health information system by the Kenya Ministry of Health are some of the pathways through which our findings can be adopted into policy, to drive interventions targeted at adolescent mothers and their children.

#### Conclusion

In this study, an interactive text messaging platform among adolescent mothers in rural Kenya improved both the knowledge of mothers on infant nurturing care and the development milestones of their infants. These findings, if replicated in other studies in different settings, can provide a mechanism of improving the overall reproductive health of adolescents in LMICs. Although the addition of support groups in such interventions has been adopted before, we did not find any additional benefit in improving developmental outcomes. Therefore, an interactive mHealth solution could serve as a minimum intervention package among this vulnerable group to improve health outcomes.

#### Acknowledgments

We wish to thank the Homa Bay County Department of Health and the Field Epidemiology Society of Kenya team, for their support and facilitation during the conduction of this study.

This study was funded by Grand Challenges Canada, under the Saving Brains Initiative (grant SB-POC-1810-19773).

#### **Authors' Contributions**

VM conceived and provided leadership in the execution of the study; IM led the monitoring and evaluation component; VO and VW performed the data processing, analysis, and reporting; and JO coordinated the study fieldwork. All the authors led and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1116 KB - pediatrics v6i1e37359 app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Adolescent pregnancy. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/</u> adolescent-pregnancy [accessed 2021-05-01]
- Azzopardi PS, Hearps SJC, Francis KL, Kennedy EC, Mokdad AH, Kassebaum NJ, et al. Progress in adolescent health and wellbeing: tracking 12 headline indicators for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2016. Lancet 2019 Mar 16;393(10176):1101-1118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32427-9] [Medline: 30876706]
- 3. Early childbearing. UNICEF. 2019. URL: <u>https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-health/adolescent-health/</u>[accessed 2021-05-01]
- Black RE, Allen LH, Bhutta ZA, Caulfield LE, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. Lancet 2008 Jan 19;371(9608):243-260. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61690-0</u>] [Medline: <u>18207566</u>]
- Kumar M, Huang K, Othieno C, Wamalwa D, Madeghe B, Osok J, et al. Adolescent pregnancy and challenges in Kenyan context: perspectives from multiple community stakeholders. Glob Soc Welf 2018;5(1):11-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40609-017-0102-8] [Medline: 29744286]
- 6. Morinis J, Carson C, Quigley MA. Effect of teenage motherhood on cognitive outcomes in children: a population-based cohort study. Arch Dis Child 2013;98(12):959-964. [doi: <u>10.1136/archdischild-2012-302525</u>] [Medline: <u>24126496</u>]
- Chandra-Mouli V, Camacho AV, Michaud P. WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. J Adolesc Health 2013;52(5):517-522. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.03.002] [Medline: 23608717]
- Wall-Wieler E, Lee JB, Nickel N, Roos LL. The multigenerational effects of adolescent motherhood on school readiness: a population-based retrospective cohort study. PLoS One 2019;14(2):e0211284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211284] [Medline: <u>30726256</u>]
- Khatun M, Al Mamun A, Scott J, William GM, Clavarino A, Najman JM. Do children born to teenage parents have lower adult intelligence? a prospective birth cohort study. PLoS One 2017;12(3):e0167395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167395] [Medline: 28278227]

- Ganchimeg T, Ota E, Morisaki N, Laopaiboon M, Lumbiganon P, Zhang J, WHO Multicountry Survey on Maternal Newborn Health Research Network. Pregnancy and childbirth outcomes among adolescent mothers: a World Health Organization multicountry study. BJOG 2014;121 Suppl 1:40-48. [doi: <u>10.1111/1471-0528.12630</u>] [Medline: <u>24641534</u>]
- 11. Krpan KM, Coombs R, Zinga D, Steiner M, Fleming AS. Experiential and hormonal correlates of maternal behavior in teen and adult mothers. Horm Behav 2005;47(1):112-122. [doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2004.08.006] [Medline: 15579272]
- 12. Crandall A, Deater-Deckard K, Riley AW. Maternal emotion and cognitive control capacities and parenting: a conceptual framework. Dev Rev 2015;36:105-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2015.01.004] [Medline: 26028796]
- 13. Rutherford HJV, Wallace NS, Laurent HK, Mayes LC. Emotion regulation in parenthood. Dev Rev 2015;36:1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2014.12.008] [Medline: 26085709]
- 14. Rafferty Y, Griffin KW, Lodise M. Adolescent motherhood and developmental outcomes of children in early head start: the influence of maternal parenting behaviors, well-being, and risk factors within the family setting. Am J Orthopsychiatry 2011;81(2):228-245. [doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2011.01092.x] [Medline: 21486265]
- 15. Duncan GJ, Magnuson K, Votruba-Drzal E. Moving beyond correlations in assessing the consequences of poverty. Annu Rev Psychol 2017;68:413-434 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010416-044224] [Medline: 27648987]
- Johnson SB, Riis JL, Noble KG. State of the art review: poverty and the developing brain. Pediatrics 2016;137(4):e20153075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-3075] [Medline: 26952506]
- Hackett KM, Mukta US, Jalal CSB, Sellen DW. Knowledge, attitudes and perceptions on infant and young child nutrition and feeding among adolescent girls and young mothers in rural Bangladesh. Matern Child Nutr 2015;11(2):173-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/mcn.12007] [Medline: 23061427]
- 18. Mangeli M, Rayyani M, Cheraghi MA, Tirgari B. Exploring the challenges of adolescent mothers from their life experiences in the transition to motherhood: a qualitative study. J Family Reprod Health 2017;11(3):165-173 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 30018654]
- 19. Lincetto O, Mothebesoane-Anoh S, Gomez P, Munjanja S. Antenatal care. In: Opportunities for Africa's Newborns: Practical Data, Policy and Programmatic Support for Newborn Care in Africa. Geneva; Switzerland: The Partnership for Maternal, Newborn & Child Health; 2006:55-62.
- Ronen K, McGrath CJ, Langat AC, Kinuthia J, Omolo D, Singa B, et al. Gaps in adolescent engagement in antenatal care and prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission services in Kenya. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2017;74(1):30-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000001176] [Medline: 27599005]
- 21. Engle PL, Black MM, Behrman JR, Cabral de Mello M, Gertler PJ, Kapiriri L, International Child Development Steering Group. Strategies to avoid the loss of developmental potential in more than 200 million children in the developing world. Lancet 2007;369(9557):229-242. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60112-3] [Medline: 17240290]
- 22. McGuinness TM, Medrano B, Hodges A. Update on adolescent motherhood and postpartum depression. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv 2013;51(2):15-18. [doi: 10.3928/02793695-20130109-02] [Medline: 23330798]
- 23. de Tolly K, Skinner D, Nembaware V, Benjamin P. Investigation into the use of short message services to expand uptake of human immunodeficiency virus testing, and whether content and dosage have impact. Telemed J E Health 2012;18(1):18-23. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0058] [Medline: 22150712]
- 24. Lester RT, Ritvo P, Mills EJ, Kariri A, Karanja S, Chung MH, et al. Effects of a mobile phone short message service on antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya (WelTel Kenya1): a randomised trial. Lancet 2010;376(9755):1838-1845. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61997-6] [Medline: 21071074]
- 25. Mbuagbaw L, Thabane L, Ongolo-Zogo P, Lester RT, Mills EJ, Smieja M, et al. The Cameroon Mobile Phone SMS (CAMPS) trial: a randomized trial of text messaging versus usual care for adherence to antiretroviral therapy. PLoS One 2012;7(12):e46909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046909] [Medline: 23236345]
- 26. Pop-Eleches C, Thirumurthy H, Habyarimana JP, Zivin JG, Goldstein MP, de Walque D, et al. Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource-limited setting: a randomized controlled trial of text message reminders. AIDS 2011;25(6):825-834 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32834380c1] [Medline: 21252632]
- 27. Odeny TA, Bailey RC, Bukusi EA, Simoni JM, Tapia KA, Yuhas K, et al. Text messaging to improve attendance at post-operative clinic visits after adult male circumcision for HIV prevention: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One 2012;7(9):e43832 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043832] [Medline: 22957034]
- 28. Zurovac D, Sudoi RK, Akhwale WS, Ndiritu M, Hamer DH, Rowe AK, et al. The effect of mobile phone text-message reminders on Kenyan health workers' adherence to malaria treatment guidelines: a cluster randomised trial. Lancet 2011;378(9793):795-803 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60783-6] [Medline: 21820166]
- 29. Bangure D, Chirundu D, Gombe N, Marufu T, Mandozana G, Tshimanga M, et al. Effectiveness of short message services reminder on childhood immunization programme in Kadoma, Zimbabwe a randomized controlled trial, 2013. BMC Public Health 2015;15:137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1470-6] [Medline: 25885862]
- 30. Oramisi VA, Were E, Oyugi E, Obonyo M, Owiny MO, Githuku J, et al. Use of short text message reminders to improve attendance of postnatal care at a referral maternity hospital, Kenya, 2016 a randomised controlled trial. Journal of Interventional Epidemiology and Public Health 2019;2:4. [doi: 10.37432/jieph.2019.2.1.15]

- 31. Prinja S, Gupta A, Bahuguna P, Nimesh R. Cost analysis of implementing mHealth intervention for maternal, newborn & child health care through community health workers: assessment of ReMIND program in Uttar Pradesh, India. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2018;18(1):390 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-2019-3] [Medline: 30285669]
- Bowser DM, Shepard DS, Nandakumar A, Okunogbe A, Morrill T, Halasa-Rappell Y, et al. Cost effectiveness of mobile health for antenatal care and facility births in Nigeria. Ann Glob Health 2018;84(4):592-602 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9204/aogh.2364] [Medline: 30779506]
- 33. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, World Bank Group. Nurturing care for early childhood development: a framework for helping children survive and thrive to transform health and human potential. World Health Organization. 2018. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272603</u> [accessed 2023-04-11]
- 34. Unintended pregnancies and HIV among adolescents and young people: a situation analysis of Homa Bay, Kenya. UNICEF. 2020 Nov. URL: <u>https://www.unicef.org/kenya/reports/</u> unintended-pregnancies-and-hiv-among-adolescents-and-young-people-Homa-Bay [accessed 2023-04-12]
- Uzun AK, Orhon FS, Baskan S, Ulukol B. A comparison between adolescent mothers and adult mothers in terms of maternal and infant outcomes at follow-ups. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2013;26(5):454-458. [doi: <u>10.3109/14767058.2012.733748</u>] [Medline: <u>23020604</u>]
- 36. Valente TW. Evaluating Health Promotion Programs. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- Abubakar A, Holding P, Van de Vijver F, Bomu G, Van Baar A. Developmental monitoring using caregiver reports in a resource-limited setting: the case of Kilifi, Kenya. Acta Paediatr 2010;99(2):291-297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01561.x] [Medline: 20353499]
- 38. Leyrat C, Morgan KE, Leurent B, Kahan BC. Cluster randomized trials with a small number of clusters: which analyses should be used? Int J Epidemiol 2018;47(1):321-331. [doi: <u>10.1093/ije/dyx169</u>] [Medline: <u>29025158</u>]
- Rockers PC, Zanolini A, Banda B, Chipili MM, Hughes RC, Hamer DH, et al. Two-year impact of community-based health screening and parenting groups on child development in Zambia: follow-up to a cluster-randomized controlled trial. PLoS Med 2018;15(4):e1002555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002555] [Medline: 29689045]
- 40. Atukunda P, Muhoozi GKM, Westerberg AC, Iversen PO. Nutrition, hygiene and stimulation education for impoverished mothers in rural Uganda: effect on maternal depression symptoms and their associations to child development outcomes. Nutrients 2019;11(7):1561 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu11071561] [Medline: 31373314]
- Maingi M, Kimiywe J, Iron-Segev S. Effectiveness of Baby Friendly Community Initiative (BFCI) on complementary feeding in Koibatek, Kenya: a randomized control study. BMC Public Health 2018;18(1):600 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5519-1] [Medline: 29739374]
- 42. Worku BN, Abessa TG, Wondafrash M, Lemmens J, Valy J, Bruckers L, et al. Effects of home-based play-assisted stimulation on developmental performances of children living in extreme poverty: a randomized single-blind controlled trial. BMC Pediatr 2018;18(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-018-1023-0] [Medline: 29402258]
- Murray L, Cooper P, Arteche A, Stein A, Tomlinson M. Randomized controlled trial of a home-visiting intervention on infant cognitive development in peri-urban South Africa. Dev Med Child Neurol 2016;58(3):270-276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12873] [Medline: 26303135]
- 44. Hymas R, Girard L. Predicting postpartum depression among adolescent mothers: a systematic review of risk. J Affect Disord 2019;246:873-885. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.041] [Medline: 30795494]
- 45. Prieto JT, Zuleta C, Rodríguez JT. Modeling and testing maternal and newborn care mHealth interventions: a pilot impact evaluation and follow-up qualitative study in Guatemala. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017;24(2):352-360 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw102] [Medline: 27474102]
- 46. Chen Y, Ronen K, Matemo D, Unger JA, Kinuthia J, John-Stewart G, et al. An interactive text messaging intervention to improve adherence to Option B+ prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission in Kenya: cost analysis. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2020;8(10):e18351 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18351] [Medline: 33006562]
- 47. Timmers T, Janssen L, Pronk Y, van der Zwaard BC, Koëter S, van Oostveen D, et al. Assessing the efficacy of an educational smartphone or tablet app with subdivided and interactive content to increase patients' medical knowledge: randomized controlled trial. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2018;6(12):e10742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10742] [Medline: 30578185]
- 48. Borrelli B, Henshaw M, Endrighi R, Adams WG, Heeren T, Rosen RK, et al. An interactive parent-targeted text messaging intervention to improve oral health in children attending urban pediatric clinics: feasibility randomized controlled trial. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2019;7(11):e14247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14247] [Medline: 31710306]
- 49. Brar Prayaga R, Jeong EW, Feger E, Noble HK, Kmiec M, Prayaga RS. Improving refill adherence in medicare patients with tailored and interactive mobile text messaging: pilot study. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2018;6(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8930] [Medline: 29382623]

# Abbreviations

RenderX

ANC: antenatal care DMC III: Developmental Milestones Checklist GEE: generalized estimating equations

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e37359

LMIC: low- and middle-income country mHealth: mobile health WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 17.02.22; peer-reviewed by T Zan, T Tigest, D Linde, K Uludag; comments to author 19.04.22; revised version received 23.07.22; accepted 23.08.22; published 01.05.23.

Please cite as:

 Mwenda V, Makena I, Ogweno V, Obonyo J, Were V

 The Effectiveness of Interactive Text Messaging and Structured Psychosocial Support Groups on Developmental Milestones of Children

 From Adolescent Pregnancies in Kenya: Quasi-Experimental Study

 JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e37359

 URL: <a href="https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e37359">https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e37359</a>

 PMID:37126373

©Valerian Mwenda, Ireen Makena, Vincent Ogweno, James Obonyo, Vincent Were. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 01.05.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

# A Mobile Self-Management App (CanSelfMan) for Children With Cancer and Their Caregivers: Usability and Compatibility Study

Hamed Mehdizadeh<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Farkhondeh Asadi<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Eslam Nazemi<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Azim Mehrvar<sup>4</sup>, MD, PhD; Azade Yazdanian<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Hassan Emami<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Health Information Technology Department, School of Allied Medical Sciences, Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences, Sari, Iran

<sup>2</sup>Health Information Technology and Management Department, School of Allied Medical Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

<sup>3</sup>Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Shahid Beheshti University, Tehran, Iran

<sup>4</sup>MAHAK Pediatric Cancer Treatment and Research Center, Tehran, Iran

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Hamed Mehdizadeh, PhD Health Information Technology Department School of Allied Medical Sciences Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences Farah Abad Blvd, Sari, 4818911916 Iran Phone: 98 1133543246 Email: hamed13sep@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Despite the increasing development of different smartphone apps in the health care domain, most of these apps lack proper evaluation. In fact, with the rapid development of smartphones and wireless communication infrastructure, many health care systems around the world are using these apps to provide health services for people without sufficient scientific efforts to design, develop, and evaluate them.

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to evaluate the usability of CanSelfMan, a self-management app that provides access to reliable information to improve communication between health care providers and children with cancer and their parents/caregivers, facilitating remote monitoring and promoting medication adherence.

**Methods:** We performed debugging and compatibility tests in a simulated environment to identify possible errors. Then, at the end of the 3-week period of using the app, children with cancer and their parents/caregivers filled out the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) to evaluate the usability of the CanSelfMan app and their level of user satisfaction.

**Results:** During the 3 weeks of CanSelfMan use, 270 cases of symptom evaluation and 194 questions were recorded in the system by children and their parents/caregivers and answered by oncologists. After the end of the 3 weeks, 44 users completed the standard UEQ user experience questionnaire. According to the children's evaluations, attractiveness (mean 1.956, SD 0.547) and efficiency (mean 1.934, SD 0.499) achieved the best mean results compared with novelty (mean 1.711, SD 0.481). Parents/caregivers rated efficiency at a mean of 1.880 (SD 0.316) and attractiveness at a mean of 1.853 (SD 0.331). The lowest mean score was reported for novelty (mean 1.670, SD 0.225).

**Conclusions:** In this study, we describe the evaluation process of a self-management system to support children with cancer and their families. Based on the feedback and scores obtained from the usability evaluation, it seems that the children and their parents find CanSelfMan to be an interesting and practical idea to provide reliable and updated information on cancer and help them manage the complications of this disease.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43867) doi:10.2196/43867

#### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

Digital health; eHealth; Telehealth; mHealth; Mobile app; self-management; cancer; child; parent; caregiver; usability evaluation

# Introduction

Recent advances in smartphone technology have made a wide variety of apps available to the public [1] that have multiple uses in health care, such as supporting patients and providing medical services [2,3]. Since children and teenagers are active users of this technology, smartphones can be an acceptable social tool to provide education and self-management to these groups [4,5]. Studies show that the rate of learning, use, and satisfaction was high in children with technological tools such as smartphones, and this group has no problem using these tools [6]. This provides a suitable opportunity for a wide population of children and adolescents to access support, assessment, and treatment of disease-related symptoms over the internet [7-9]. Despite there being many different smartphone apps in this field, most lack proper evaluation. In fact, with the rapid development of smartphones and wireless communication infrastructure, many health systems around the world are using these apps to provide health services for people without sufficient scientific efforts to design, develop, and evaluate them [10]. A review of over 75 clinical trial studies related to mobile health showed that most of these interventions, although they were conducted in high-income countries, were of low quality, and the results were far from expected. For example, as Free and colleagues [11] reported, "Our meta-analyses show that, to date, mobile technology-based interventions for diabetes control that have statistically significant effects are small and of borderline clinical importance."

Therefore, to facilitate an increase in effectiveness, satisfaction, and trust of users, a suitable standard method should be used to evaluate the intervention [12,13]. A usability test is one of the best ways to ensure that a product meets the users' needs [14]. According to the International Standard Organization, usability refers to "the extent to which a product can be used by a specific user to achieve specific goals with effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction" [13]. Moreover, usability refers to users' satisfaction and level of engagement with the system's user interface, ease of use, and simplicity of learning [1] Therefore, an evaluation of usability is an important step in health interventions. Additionally, a review of the final product based on the end users' opinions provides valuable information about

the quality and usability of the product for the developer [15]. This issue is influential because usability is a key factor in the acceptance and use of any new technology in the health industry, and it can have a direct impact on users' satisfaction. [16,17]

Thus, it seems obvious that usability testing should be a common step in the development process, even for small-scale systems [16,18]. Studies show that products with higher scores in usability evaluation tests are more desired and used, while low usability has a negative effect on user acceptance [19,20]. Without considering usability and user satisfaction, no app can expect long-term use by users. For example, most users usually spend less than 30 seconds working with a new app, and if not satisfied within that time frame, they will delete it and use other alternative apps [21]. Therefore, to ensure that the product meets user needs, its usability must be evaluated. For this purpose, we aimed to evaluate the usability of CanSelfMan, a self-management system for children with cancer and their families (which we covered in another report [22]), via the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) questionnaire (Multimedia Appendix 1).

# Methods

#### **System Description**

CanSelfMan is a self-management system for children with cancer that includes a web-based dashboard for oncologists and an Android app for the children and their parents/caregivers. In the initial version of CanSelfMan, there were 2 distinct versions for parents/caregivers and children. In the final iteration, a single app was made for both children and their parents/caregivers. The final version of the app had 5 modules, which included (1) cancer knowledge (ie, information about the definition of the disease, causes of the disease, treatment methods, and complications), (2) self-management recommendations (ie, recognition of symptoms, control of symptoms, physical activities, and nutritional information), (3) symptom management, (4) self-assessment questionnaire of symptoms, and (5) questions from the physician and reminders. Additionally, the oncologists' dashboards included parts to see the results of patient assessments, questions, and answers to patients' questions (Figure 1).





#### **Usability Tests**

#### **Performance and Compatibility Test**

After we completed the steps related to coding and developing the final prototype, we performed a debugging test to evaluate app performance and identify possible errors. The process of finding and fixing errors in a software or app is called debugging, and it includes detecting codes that cause problems in app execution or performance. A debugger is a tool that helps you find and fix errors. Debugging can be done manually or through a debugger [23]. In this study, the debugging process was carried out by the principal researcher (HM) with an Android debugger.

Following this, a compatibility test was done in a simulated environment to ensure the final version of the app could run properly on different phones with different hardware and software capabilities. This test was done to check the compatibility of the app on smartphones produced by different manufacturers and with different screen sizes. For this simulation, the pCloudy [24] platform was used. This test evaluates how a mobile app performs in terms of battery consumption, memory, processor, and network data usage. It also checks how the app performs with the different smartphone brands and presents the results.

#### **UEQ** Evaluation

Next, to evaluate usability and user satisfaction, we used a questionnaire. After reviewing similar studies and based on the opinions of research team members, we decided to use the standard UEQ, a free questionnaire that measures usability and user experience. It has been described as a "fast and reliable questionnaire to measure the user experience of interactive products [that is] available in more than 30 languages [and is] easy to use due to rich supplementary material" [25]. It has been widely used in human-computer interaction research, and along with other qualitative evaluation methods like Think Aloud

Textbox 1. The 6 measures of the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ).

[22], it can accurately identify the weak and strong points of a product. In our previous report, we explained the results obtained from the Think Aloud evaluation [22].

The UEQ is filled out by the user after they use the product to measure its effectiveness [25]. Usually, it takes between 3 and 5 minutes to complete this questionnaire. Therefore, it is one of the most efficient methods to measure users' opinions about a software product. The official version of this questionnaire has been translated into over 20 different languages, including Persian. It has 26 questions that include 6 measures, namely, (1) attractiveness, (2) perspicuity, (3) efficiency, (4) dependability, (5) stimulation, and (6) novelty in the 2 axes of design quality and use quality. Additionally, it measures both usability and user satisfaction with the product [26]. Textbox 1 briefly explains each of these 6 measures.

The remaining 5 scales have an impact on the attractiveness scale, which measures the user's overall impression of the app. While stimulation and novelty describe hedonic (non-goal-directed) quality criteria, the scales of perspicuity, efficiency, and dependability provide information about pragmatic (goal-directed) quality aspects. Each item is a pair of opposites with a 7-point Likert scale, which is the form of a semantic differential. [27]. Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the UEQ items.

The UEQ has a tool designed in Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corp) to calculate and interpret the results, as well as a database containing the results of previous studies, allowing us to compare our results with those of 246 previous studies [25,28]. The answer to each question is on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from -3 (completely agree with the negative conditions) to +3(completely agree with the positive opinion), with 0 being neutral. If the total score of each measure is less than -0.8, it means unacceptable or weak, -0.8 to +0.8 means acceptable, and +0.8 to 3 is considered good and excellent.

Attractiveness: Do users like or dislike the app? 2. Perspicuity: Is it easy to get used to and understand how to use the app?

- 3. Efficiency: Can users get their work done quickly and efficiently?
- 4. Dependability: Are interactions with the app safe and predictable?
- 5. Stimulation: Is using the app enjoyable and motivating?
- 6. Novelty: Do users feel motivated to continue using the app?

## **Ethics Approval**

1.

This study received ethical review approval from Shahid Beheshti of Medical Sciences University (IR.SBMU.RETECH.REC.1396.1316).

#### **Study Setting and Population**

After compatibility and technical testing, the final version was provided to end users to evaluate usability. For this purpose, a banner was placed in the outpatient department of MAHAK's Pediatric Cancer Treatment and Research Center inviting people to participate in the study. The inclusion criteria for entering

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43867

RenderX

this study for children were (1) children with acute lymphoid leukemia referred to MAHAK who were in the phase of chemotherapy treatment (ie, at least 1 year had passed since the start of treatment), (2) at least 7 years of age, and (3) can work with a smartphone. For parents/caregivers, the inclusion criteria were (1) having at least 1 child with cancer that has been diagnosed for a year and is currently undergoing active treatment with chemotherapy, (2) having the ability to read and write in Persian, and (3) having an Android smartphone (version 8 to 11). The exclusion criteria were patients who were in the end stages of cancer and those struggling with their mental health

and parents/caregivers who did not know how to work a smartphone and could not read or write. In addition, 4 oncologists participated in this study to answer patients' questions.

Before initiating the study, we presented information about the study to the participants in a 30-minute session. In this session, the principal researcher (author HM) explained the app to the participants and the purpose of this study in plain language. Following that, another researcher (author AM) obtained permission from the children's parents/caregivers to participate in this study and then from the children themselves. After this, the parents signed the consent form.

We explained to all participants that they could withdraw at any stage of the study without providing a reason. After this, the CanSelfMan app was installed on their smartphones, and they were shown how to use the app. After 3 weeks of use, the participants returned to MAHAK in person and completed a questionnaire related to demographic information including age, sex, place of residence, and education, along with the UEQ.

# Results

#### **CanSelfMan Compatibility Test**

At this stage, to ensure that the final app was functioning correctly, a compatibility test was performed using a simulation with the pCloudy service. The results are shown in Figure 2.

One of the important issues in the compatibility test included installing, running, and uninstalling the app, which was done on 10 different brands of smartphones in the pCloudy platform.

The app was installed and run on all the desired phones without any errors. Then, the app was examined from compatibility and applicability aspects on different smartphones with different screen sizes. Again, it was executed without any problems. Next, 4 features, namely, memory, processor, network data, and battery consumption, were examined. Based on the results of this simulation, CanSelfMan acquire scored 7.9 out of 10 possible points in the battery consumption section, which is considered a good score and indicates an optimal consumption of battery and memory. Moreover, in the network exchange data evaluation, it obtained a score of 9.6, which is a very high score (Figure 2).

Figure 2. CanSelfMan app results for the compatibility test. CPU: Central Processing Unit; mAh: milliampere hour.



#### **Usability and User Satisfaction**

During the 3 weeks of app use, 270 symptom evaluations and 194 questions were recorded in the system by children and their parents/caregivers and answered by oncologists. After the end of the 3-week period, 44 users completed the UEQ. Respondents included 25 parents who had a child under the age of 7 years with cancer.

The age range of the parents/caregivers in this phase was between 27 and 48 years, with an average age of 32 years, and most (n=16, 64%) were female. Table 1 shows the participants' demographic information.

A total of 19 children with cancer ranging in age from 7 to 14 years, with an average age of 12 years, completed the UEQ. The majority (11/19, 58%) of the children were female. The range of points that can be obtained in UEQ is from -3 (the lowest possible point) to +3 (the maximum point that can be obtained). The results are interpreted based on average values, and there is no unique score. In addition, the CI of the measurements refers to the level of accuracy in estimating the average. As a result, the smaller the CI, the higher accuracy and reliability of the obtained results. Since each of the 6 measures in UEQ includes a set of items, none of the items can be interpreted alone. Therefore, for each measure, the total score of the related items was calculated.

Table 1.	Participants'	demographic	information.
----------	---------------	-------------	--------------

Participants	Parents (n=25)	Children (n=19)
Age (years), mean (SD; range)	32 (2.1; 27-48)	10 (1.7; 7-14)
Gender, n (%)		
Female	16 64))	11 (58)
Male	9 (36)	8 (42)
Residence, n (%)		
Urban	14 (56)	13(68)
Rural	11 (44)	6(32)
Education level, n (%)		
Secondary school	1 (4)	9 (47)
College diploma	13 (52)	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Junior college	3 (12)	N/A
Bachelor's degree and above	8 (32)	N/A

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

The results showed the measures of transparency, motivation, and attractiveness had the highest possible points, respectively. Table 2 shows the average score and SD of each measure for both groups (ie, parents/caregivers and children). According to the children's evaluations, attractiveness (mean 1.956, SD 0.547) and efficiency (mean 1.934, SD 0.499) achieved the best results compared with novelty (mean 1.711, SD 0.481). Parents/caregivers rated efficiency at a mean of 1.880 (SD 0.316) and attractiveness at a mean of 1.853 (SD 0.331). The lowest score was reported for novelty (mean 1.670, SD 0.225). In addition, to determine the app quality, the UEQ shows the overall performance of the product with 3 measures (attractiveness, quality of use, and quality of design) [25].

UEQ parameters can also be divided into 2 general groups: pragmatic quality (perspicuity, efficiency, dependability) and hedonic quality (stimulation and originality). Table 3 shows the app's pragmatic and hedonic quality scores. Pragmatic quality describes task-related quality aspects, and hedonic quality describes non-task-related quality aspects [25].

According to the obtained results, CanSelfMan scored above +0.8 in all measures, which is above the average score of 1.5, thus falling in the good category. The results of the evaluation showed that the CanSelfMan app ranked highest in attractiveness and efficiency and lowest in novelty, which indicates a high

RenderX

level of user satisfaction with the app's quality and user interface. One of the reasons for the app's attractive user interface could be the use of graphic elements and gamification, which attracted children's attention and subsequently increased scores in the efficiency and app usage scales. In addition, the low score on the novelty scale may be because new apps do not evoke a sense of innovation and novelty for young users due to the increasing number of apps that are designed for this age group.

For the parents/caregivers, the app scored highly for efficiency and attractiveness and lowest for novelty. Obtaining a high score in efficiency indicates the app's quality and the high satisfaction of users regarding the use of the app. One of these reasons for this can be the integrated and modular design of the app, which, by separating the functions of each part and reducing the complexity of the app as much as possible, has made it easy for users to perform tasks and use the app. Accordingly, a high score in the attractiveness category for parents can also be a sign of the quality of the app's user interface design, which led to high user satisfaction. The low score for novelty could be attributed to the increase in health apps in this domain available through app stores; thus, a new app like CanSelfMan may not excite or delight users enough.

The UEQ also provides a calculation tool that includes evaluation data from previous studies. Therefore, the results obtained in each evaluation can be compared with previous studies. To provide a better overall picture of the app quality, the results were compared with the benchmark data set of the UEQ. The data set was collected for 246 studies evaluating various products, including, web pages, mobile apps, social networks, and so forth. A comparison of the results of this study with those of previous studies indicates the relative quality of CanSelfMan on an international scale. Figure 3 shows the CanSelfMan results compared to those of 246 previous studies conducted with the UEQ.

Table 2.	Results of the	User Experience	Questionnaire	(UEQ) for both	study groups	(parents/caregivers and c	hildren).
----------	----------------	-----------------	---------------	----------------	--------------	---------------------------	-----------

Measures	Children (n=19)		Parents/caregivers (n=25)	
Scales	Mean (SD)	95% CI	Mean (SD)	95% CI
Attractiveness	1.956 (0.547)	1.710-2.202	1.853 (0.481)	1.724-1.983
Perspicuity	1.895 (0.668)	1.594-2.195	1.830 (0.481)	1.678-1.982
Efficiency	1.934 (0.668)	1.710-2.159	1.880 (0.316)	1.756-2.004
Dependability	1.803 (0.668)	1.567-2.038	1.820 (0.255)	1.720-1.920
Stimulation	1.776 (0.399)	1.597-1.956	1.680 (0.223)	1.593-1.767
Novelty	1.711 (0.481)	1.494-1.927	1.670 (0.225)	1.582-1.758

 $\label{eq:constraint} \textbf{Table 3.} \ \textbf{The CanSelfMan app's pragmatic and hedonic quality scores}.$ 

Study groups	Children	Parents/caregivers
Attractiveness	1.96	1.85
Pragmatic quality	1.88	1.84
Hedonic quality	1.74	1.68





# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Information systems researchers [1] have confirmed the importance of evaluating product usability. In this study, we evaluated the usability of CanSelfMan from the aspects of technical performance and usability. CanSelfMan is an educational self-management app aimed at supporting children with cancer and their parents/caregivers, which provides access

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43867

RenderX

to up-to-date and reliable information about cancer and information on how to deal with and manage symptoms related to cancer.

In the first step, the technical performance of the app was examined. In general, issues such as screen size, screen resolution, processing ability, and the amount of system resource usage are considered common problems and limitations of smartphones [13]. These limitations, especially frequent outages in communication or connection to the network, variable

bandwidth, and high-energy consumption can have negative effects on app quality, especially on usability and reliability [29]. Various studies have been conducted that focus on the challenges related to the usability of these tools, including the ability to run on devices with different screen sizes and the consumption of system resources including the processor, battery, system memory, and connection speed [30]. The results of these studies show that well-designed apps increase app usage and user satisfaction [31]. On the other hand, considering that different phone manufacturers make smartphones with different technical features [32], ensuring the optimality of the apps and their ability to run on and adapt to a wide range of devices with different technical characteristics is essential. Therefore, we tried to ensure the optimality of CanSelfMan via a simulation, thereby reducing the negative effects on the usability of the final version.

Since one of the limitations of smartphones is the limited amount of battery or charge maintenance, one of the most important issues relating to apps is the optimal use of this limited energy [32]. The results of the simulation and the score of 7.9 out of 10 possible points for battery consumption in different devices indicated an acceptable overall score. These features indicated that the app operated correctly, with the absence of additional load in terms of energy consumption and overall device memory usage. Moreover, this simulation provided information about the optimal execution of the app on devices with different screen sizes and showed that it was compatible with screens of different sizes and ran without any issues.

After the performance evaluation, we evaluated the CanSelfMan app from the usability aspect. Usability measurement studies can facilitate a better understanding of user interactions with the final product and help determine the strengths and weaknesses of the product according to different user groups. The results obtained from these evaluations can provide important information about user behaviors and tendencies when it comes to new technologies, thereby providing a better understanding of user acceptance for the developer [33]. As such, app developers, especially those in the health care domain, should focus on users' needs and ensure the practicality and effectiveness of the product [34]. To this end, it is essential to perform usability tests to ensure that the final product meets the users' needs [35]. Accordingly, we used the UEQ to evaluate the app's usability.

The results of the UEQ provided useful information about various aspects of the app. We were also able to compare various aspects of our app relating to design and performance with other similar software. This questionnaire has been widely used in human-computer interaction studies and is considered an efficient and accurate method of measuring users' feelings toward software products. The validity and reliability of this questionnaire are very high, and it helped us obtain a comprehensive evaluation of the feelings and experiences of the users toward the CanSelfMan app. Similarly, Salari and colleagues [36] used this questionnaire to evaluate an educational and self-management app designed to support people with type 2 diabetes.

Subsequently, the final evaluation of the CanSelfMan was carried out by the children with cancer and their parents/caregivers. For both groups, attractiveness, motivation, and efficiency scales scored higher than others, indicating their satisfaction with the user interface and graphic elements used in the app, which could motivate them further to use the app. Additionally, the high scores on the efficiency, transparency, and reliability scales indicate the app's quality and high user satisfaction. Similarly, MacPherson and colleagues [37] designed a mobile app called C-SCAT to measure and report symptoms related to chemotherapy in children and adolescents with cancer. It also provided information about symptoms, possible causes, mitigating or aggravating factors, and self-management tips to control symptoms. The results related to the usability evaluation indicated the ease of use, applicability, and high satisfaction of users of the C-SCAT app.

In another study, Wang and colleagues [38] developed a mobile app to collect, record, and assess symptoms in children with cancer and their families. The user interface of this app was designed appropriately for children, and animation and attractive colors were used. The results of the evaluation showed that children and parents felt that the app was easy to use.

However, this may raise the question of whether children have the competence and ability to evaluate app usability. The answer is yes. Currently, there are many apps designed specifically for children, and due to the increasing use of tablets and smartphones, children have a high ability to use these tools [39,40]. Moreover, based on the studies conducted in this field, children between the ages of 6 and 10 years can understand and follow instructions-skills that they learn in school. Therefore, they can complete the evaluation without any challenges. This also extends to children aged 11 to 14 years, who also have no issue in this regard due to their familiarity with computers and digital devices. [41,42]. Moreover, having children evaluate usability can be a valuable problem-solving process for app designers and help them understand how children use the product. In a study similar to ours, Massoud and colleagues [39] evaluated the usability and user interface of an educational app aimed at 4- to 5-year-old preschool children. In another study, Brown and colleagues [43] evaluated the usability of an educational app about nutrition and diet called Foodbot Factory. In their study, children aged between 9 and 12 years evaluated the app's usability, and the results showed that the majority of them found the app easy to use and fun.

In another study, Grasaas and colleagues [6] investigated the usability of the iCanCope app, which was designed to teach adolescents with cancer self-management and pain control. It was evaluated via the System Usability Scale, with the results showing that iCanCope scored high in usability and user satisfaction. Cheng and his colleagues [44] evaluated a mobile app aimed at supporting families and children with complex conditions and family-delivered enteral tube care. In this study, the children and their families completed a questionnaire to evaluate the app's usability. The level of user satisfaction and app usability was high, and users declared that they would recommend this app to others. In our study, both groups of users (children and their parents/caregivers) were generally satisfied with the quality of CanSelfMan.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43867

XSL•FO

#### Weaknesses, Strengths, and Limitations

This study had several limitations. These include the small sample size and the low diversity of participants (all participants were from the same treatment center) in the evaluation stages, which makes it impossible to generalize the results of this study. However, small sample sizes in early evaluation studies usually provide adequate information about implementations. Another limitation of this study was that the usability test was conducted with the participation of elementary school children. To create a sense of confidence and facilitate cooperation, the children were accompanied by 1 parent. Additionally, while the children were completing the UEQ, one of the researchers (authors HM or AM) was present with them and explained all the options to them so that they could answer the questions. Finally, although this study was able to collect useful data on the app usability and user satisfaction through the questionnaire, the next step for future research could be to assess additional indicators such as the level of digital health literacy, the level of access to technology, and the clinical outcomes related to using this app.

#### Conclusions

In this study, we described the evaluation process of CanSelfMan, a self-management app designed to support children with cancer and their families. We adopted a user-centered strategy and involved end users at every stage of app development and evaluation to ensure it was in line with the users' requirements. To this end, the usability evaluation was carried out with the aim of solving potential issues with the app to develop a final product that would be user friendly and acceptable. The results of this study show that we were successful in achieving this goal.

Based on the feedback and the scores obtained from the usability evaluation, the children and their parents/caregivers found CanSelfMan to be an appealing and practical tool to provide reliable, up-to-update information on cancer and help them manage the complications of this health condition. However, because our small sample size prevents the generalization of our study results, other studies are needed to evaluate the usability of this app with a larger population. In future studies, we plan to investigate the clinical outcomes and the effects of the short versus long-term use of this app.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

HM conceptualized and designed the study. All authors were involved in the app development, data extraction, and evaluation process. All authors critically reviewed, provided comments on, and approved the final manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) items. [DOCX File , 15 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e43867\_app1.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Kasali FA, Awodele O, Kuyoro S, Akinsanya A, Eze M. A conceptual design and evaluation framework for mobile persuasive health technologies (usability approach). Res J Math Comput Sci 2017. [doi: 10.28933/rjmcs-2017-10-1401]
- 2. Annah A, Anna M, Lori W. Pediatric Psychosocial Oncology: Textbook for Multidisciplinary Care. New York, NY: Springer; Aug 30, 2016:542-543.
- 3. Wesley K, Fizur P. A review of mobile applications to help adolescent and young adult cancer patients. Adolesc Health Med Ther 2015:141-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/ahmt.s69209] [Medline: 26316835]
- 4. de la Vega R, Roset R, Castarlenas E, Sánchez-Rodríguez E, Solé E, Miró J. Development and testing of painometer: a smartphone app to assess pain intensity. J Pain 2014 Oct;15(10):1001-1007. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpain.2014.04.009</u>] [Medline: <u>24854065</u>]
- 5. Stinson J, McGrath P, Hodnett E, Feldman B, Duffy C, Huber A, et al. Usability testing of an online self-management program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Med Internet Res 2010 Jul 29;12(3):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1349] [Medline: 20675293]
- Grasaas E, Fegran L, Helseth S, Stinson J, Martinez S, Lalloo C, et al. iCanCope With Pain: cultural adaptation and usability testing of a self-management app for adolescents with persistent pain in Norway. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Jun 03;8(6):e12940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12940] [Medline: 31162132]
- Slater H, Stinson JN, Jordan JE, Chua J, Low B, Lalloo C, et al. Evaluation of digital technologies tailored to support young people's self-management of musculoskeletal pain: mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 05;22(6):e18315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18315] [Medline: 32442143]
- Stinson J, Wilson R, Gill N, Yamada J, Holt J. A systematic review of internet-based self-management interventions for youth with health conditions. J Pediatr Psychol 2009 Jun 23;34(5):495-510. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsn115</u>] [Medline: <u>19029142</u>]

- Mehdizadeh H, Asadi F, Mehrvar A, Nazemi E, Emami H. Smartphone apps to help children and adolescents with cancer and their families: a scoping review. Acta Oncologica 2019;58(7):1003-1014 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/0284186x.2019.1588474]
- Ben-Zeev D, Kaiser S, Brenner C, Begale M, Duffecy J, Mohr D. Development and usability testing of FOCUS: a smartphone system for self-management of schizophrenia. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013 Dec;36(4):289-296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/prj0000019] [Medline: 24015913]
- 11. Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, Watson L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med 2013 Jan 15;10(1):e1001362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001362] [Medline: 23349621]
- Jake-Schoffman D, Silfee V, Waring M, Boudreaux E, Sadasivam R, Mullen S, et al. Methods for evaluating the content, usability, and efficacy of commercial mobile health apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 18;5(12):e190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8758] [Medline: 29254914]
- 13. Harrison R, Flood D, Duce D. Usability of mobile applications: literature review and rationale for a new usability model. J Interact Sci 2013;1:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2194-0827-1-1]
- 14. Earthy J, Jones B, Bevan N. ISO standards for user-centered design: the specification of usability. In: Buie E, Murray D, editors. Usability in Government Systems: User Experience Design for Citizens and Public Servants. Waltham, MA: Elsevier; 2012:267.
- 15. Stinson J, Gupta A, Dupuis F, Dick B, Laverdière C, LeMay S, et al. Usability testing of an online self-management program for adolescents with cancer. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2015 Jul 18;32(2):70-82. [doi: 10.1177/1043454214543021] [Medline: 25037173]
- 16. Demiris G, Afrin LB, Speedie S, Courtney KL, Sondhi M, Vimarlund V, et al. Patient-centered applications: use of information technology to promote disease management and wellness. A white paper by the AMIA Knowledge in Motion Working Group. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2008 Jan 01;15(1):8-13. [doi: 10.1197/jamia.m2492]
- 17. Junnu P. Mobile Application Usability Research: Case Study of a Video Recording and Annotation Application. Thesis.: Helsinki Metropolia University of Applied Sciences; 2016. URL: <u>https://www.theseus.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/106239/junnu\_pitkanen.pdf;sequence=1</u> [accessed 2022-09-12]
- Mourouzis A, Chouvarda I, Maglaveras N. mHealth: common usability and user experience practices and flaws. 2015 Presented at: The European, Mediterranean & Middle Eastern Conference on Information Systems; June 1-2; Athens, Greece p. 1-16.
- Hyzy M, Bond R, Mulvenna M, Bai L, Dix A, Leigh S, et al. System Usability Scale benchmarking for digital health apps: meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022 Aug 18;10(8):e37290 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/37290</u>] [Medline: <u>35980732</u>]
- 20. van der Velde M, Valkenet K, Geleijn E, Kruisselbrink M, Marsman M, Janssen LM, et al. Usability and preliminary effectiveness of a preoperative mHealth app for people undergoing major surgery: pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jan 07;9(1):e23402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23402] [Medline: 33410758]
- Liew MS, Zhang J, See J, Ong YL. Usability challenges for health and wellness mobile apps: mixed-methods study among mHealth experts and consumers. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 30;7(1):e12160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12160] [Medline: 30698528]
- Mehdizadeh H, Asadi F, Emami H, Mehrvar A, Nazemi E. An mHealth sellf-management system for support children with acute lymphocytic leukemia and their caregivers: qualitative co-design study. JMIR Form Res 2022 Apr 15;6(4):e36721 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/36721] [Medline: 35228195]
- 23. Debuggers: important tools for troubleshooting in software. Digital Guide IONOS. 2020 Oct 13. URL: <u>https://www.ionos.com/digitalguide/websites/web-development/debugger/</u> [accessed 2022-12-20]
- 24. pCloudy. URL: https://www.pcloudy.com/ [accessed 2023-03-13]
- 25. User Experience Questionnaire. URL: <u>https://www.ueq-online.org/</u> [accessed 2022-10-20]
- 26. Schrepp M, Hinderks A, Thomaschewski J. Construction of a benchmark for the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ). Int J Interact Multimed Artif Intell 2017;4(4):40. [doi: <u>10.9781/ijimai.2017.445</u>]
- 27. Truong MT, Nwosu OB, Gaytan Torres ME, Segura Vargas MP, Seifer A, Nitschke M, et al. A yoga exercise app designed for patients with axial spondylarthritis: development and user experience study. JMIR Form Res 2022 Jun 03;6(6):e34566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34566] [Medline: 35657655]
- Schrepp M, Hinderks A. Design, user experience, and usability. Theory, methods, tools and practice. 2011 Presented at: First International Conference on Design, User Experience, and Usability (DUXU 2011); July 9-14; Orlando, FL URL: <u>http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-21708-1</u> [doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-21708-1]
- 29. Moumane K, Idri A, Abran A. Usability evaluation of mobile applications using ISO 9241 and ISO 25062 standards. Springerplus 2016 Apr 29;5(1):548 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-2171-z] [Medline: 27190747]
- 30. Ismail N, Ahmad F, Kamaruddin NI. A review on usability issues in mobile applications. J Mob Comput Appl 2016;3(3):47-52 [FREE Full text]
- 31. Hoehle H, Aljafari R, Venkatesh V. Leveraging Microsoft s mobile usability guidelines: conceptualizing and developing scales for mobile application usability. Int J Hum Comput Stud 2016 May;89:35-53. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2016.02.001]

- Idri A, Moumane K, Abran A. On the use of software quality standard ISO/IEC9126 in mobile environments. 2013 Presented at: 20th Asia-Pacific Software Engineering Conference (APSEC); December 2-5; Bangkok, Thailand p. 1-8. [doi: 10.1109/APSEC.2013.12]
- Bird M, Carter N, Lim A, Kazmie N, Fajardo C, Reaume S, et al. A novel hospital-to-home system for children with medical complexities: usability testing study. JMIR Form Res 2022 Aug 12;6(8):e34572 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34572] [Medline: 35969456]
- Johnson SG, Potrebny T, Larun L, Ciliska D, Olsen NR. Usability methods and attributes reported in usability studies of mobile apps for health care education: scoping review. JMIR Med Educ 2022 Jun 29;8(2):e38259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/38259] [Medline: <u>35767323</u>]
- 35. Paz F, Pow-Sang JA. A systematic mapping review of usability evaluation methods for software development process. Int J Softw Eng its Appl 2016 Jan 31;10(1):165-178. [doi: 10.14257/ijseia.2016.10.1.16]
- Salari R, Niakan Kalhori SR, GhaziSaeedi M, Jeddi M, Nazari M, Fatehi F. Mobile-based and cloud-based system for self-management of people with type 2 diabetes: development and usability evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jun 02;23(6):e18167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18167] [Medline: 34076579]
- Macpherson C, Linder L, Ameringer S, Erickson J, Stegenga K, Woods N. Feasibility and acceptability of an iPad application to explore symptom clusters in adolescents and young adults with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2014 Nov;61(11):1996-2003 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.25152] [Medline: 25066927]
- Wang J, Yao N, Liu Y, Geng Z, Wang Y, Shen N, et al. Development of a smartphone application to monitor pediatric patient-reported outcomes. Comput Inform Nurs 2017;35(11):590-598. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.000000000000357</u>] [Medline: <u>28471762</u>]
- 39. Masood M, Thigambaram M. The usability of mobile applications for pre-schoolers. 2015 Presented at: International Conference on Educational Sciences; Feb 5-7; Athens, Greece p. 1818-1826. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.241</u>]
- 40. Mohd Azam O, Abdullah Zawawi T, Zainal Abidin S, Tan SY, Abdullah Sani A. A study of the trend of smartphone and its usage behavior in Malaysia. Int J New Comput Archit Appl 2012;2(1):274-285.
- 41. Hanna L, Risden K, Alexander K. Guidelines for usability testing with children. Interactions 1997 Sep;4(5):9-14. [doi: 10.1145/264044.264045]
- 42. Libby H, Neapolitan D, Risden K. Evaluating computer game concepts with children. New York United States; 2004 Presented at: The 3rd International Conference on Interaction Design and Children: Building a Community; June 1-3; MD p. 49-56. [doi: 10.1145/1017833.1017840]
- 43. Brown JM, Savaglio R, Watson G, Kaplansky A, LeSage A, Hughes J, et al. Optimizing child nutrition education with the Foodbot Factory mobile health app: formative evaluation and analysis. JMIR Form Res 2020 Apr 17;4(4):e15534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15534] [Medline: 32301743]
- 44. Cheng C, Werner N, Doutcheva N, Warner G, Barton HJ, Kelly MM, et al. Codesign and usability testing of a mobile application to support family-delivered enteral tube care. Hosp Pediatr 2020 Aug;10(8):641-650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2020-0076] [Medline: 32616602]

# Abbreviations

UEQ: User Experience Questionnaire

Edited by G Eysenbach, S Badawy; submitted 27.10.22; peer-reviewed by K Butten; comments to author 26.11.22; revised version received 28.02.23; accepted 04.03.23; published 30.03.23.

Please cite as:

Mehdizadeh H, Asadi F, Nazemi E, Mehrvar A, Yazdanian A, Emami H A Mobile Self-Management App (CanSelfMan) for Children With Cancer and Their Caregivers: Usability and Compatibility Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43867 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43867 doi:10.2196/43867 PMID:36995746

©Hamed Mehdizadeh, Farkhondeh Asadi, Eslam Nazemi, Azim Mehrvar, Azade Yazdanian, Hassan Emami. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 30.03.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Characteristics of Inclusive Web-Based Leisure Activities for Children With Disabilities: Qualitative Descriptive Study

Mehrnoosh Movahed<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD; Ishana Rue<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Paul Yejong Yoo<sup>1\*</sup>, OT, PhD; Tamara Sogomonian<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Annette Majnemer<sup>1</sup>, OT, PhD; Keiko Shikako<sup>1</sup>, OT, PhD

School of Physical and Occupational Therapy, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada <sup>\*</sup>these authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** Keiko Shikako, OT, PhD School of Physical and Occupational Therapy, McGill University 3654 Prom Sir-William-Osler Montreal, QC, H3G 1Y5 Canada Phone: 1 514 488 5552 ext 1141 Email: <u>keiko.thomas@mcgill.ca</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The participation of children with disabilities in leisure activities is a key determinant of their physical and mental health. The COVID-19 pandemic has limited participation in leisure activities for all children, particularly those with disabilities. As a result, children with disabilities may be less active while feeling more isolated and stressed. Web-based communities and activities have become increasingly important. Understanding how web-based activities include or exclude children with disabilities can contribute to the development of inclusive communities that may support participation after the pandemic.

**Objective:** This study aimed to identify factors that may facilitate or prevent the participation of children with disabilities in web-based leisure activities.

**Methods:** We adopted a qualitative descriptive interpretative methodology and conducted interviews with 2 groups of participants: service providers offering inclusive web-based leisure activities and parents of children with disabilities who have engaged in web-based leisure activities during the COVID-19 pandemic. A semistructured interview format was created based on the Theoretical Domains Framework. The questions focused on the description of the web-based activities offered by the service provider (eg, age range, frequency, cost, target population, and type of activity offered) and any adaptations to make the web-based activity accessible to children and youth with disabilities, and their perceptions and beliefs about what supported or deterred participation in the activities.

**Results:** A total of 17 participants described their experiences in participating in and creating web-based leisure programs and the factors preventing or facilitating children's participation in web-based activities. Environment and context factors included accommodations, the format of activities and the web-based setting, stakeholder involvement, and materials and resources available. Activities that had flexible schedules, both recorded and live options for joining, and that provided clear instructions and information were perceived as more accessible. Beliefs involved the characteristics of the child and the family environment, as well as the characteristics of the organizations providing the activity. Activity facilitators who were familiar with the web-based environment and knew the specific characteristics of the child facilitated their participation. Engagement in community champions and respect for children's individual preferences were perceived as positive. Access to technology, funding, and caregivers' ability to facilitate child engagement are crucial factors that must be considered when offering web-based programs.

**Conclusions:** Web-based environments offer an accessible and safe option for leisure participation when public health conditions prevent children with disabilities from participating in in-person activities. However, to make web-based activities accessible to children with a variety of disabilities, there needs to be a clear plan toward universal web-based accessibility that accounts for individual needs and collective approaches to web-based leisure. Future work should consider developing and testing guidelines for web-based accessibility, equity, public policy, and programming considerations in offering these activities for all children.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e38236) doi:10.2196/38236



#### KEYWORDS

children with disabilities; social inclusion; participation; accessibility; leisure; web-based activities; pandemic

## Introduction

#### Background

Participation in leisure activities is a human right as per the United Nations Conventions on the Rights of the Children statement that "accessible and inclusive environments and facilities must be made available to children with disabilities, to enable them to enjoy their rights" (Article 31; page 5) [1]. In addition, it is indicated by the United Nations Conventions on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities to "ensure that children with disabilities have equal access with other children to participation in play, recreation and leisure and sporting activities, including those activities in the school system" [2].

Leisure refers to the time designated for freely chosen activities performed outside self-care or work (school) [3]. Participation in leisure activities is a key determinant of the physical and mental health of children with disabilities, essential in developing skills and competencies, socializing with peers, exploring personal interests, and improving their quality of life [4-7]. However, children with disabilities are at a higher risk of exclusion from several forms of participation in leisure activities. Children with disabilities and their families face challenges in engaging in different activities and accessing essential services throughout their lives [8]. A Canadian national survey demonstrated that among children with disabilities in Canada aged 0-4 years, 69.7% reported mild or moderate difficulty while playing, and 8.8% reported severe difficulty while playing. Among children aged 5-14 years with disabilities, 44.3% reported disadvantages in transportation or leisure, illustrating the many barriers that exist for children with different disabilities in engaging in leisure environments [9].

With the rapid spread of COVID-19 the World Health Organization declared the outbreak a public health emergency of international concern on January 30, 2020; and on March 11, 2020, it was declared a global pandemic [10]. Countries worldwide, including Canada, began massive health campaigns to protect the public through prevention protocols and control interventions to limit the spread of the virus. These measures include self-isolation, social distancing, and stay-at-home recommendations. Accordingly, public and private facilities were obligated to close, which also led to a sudden change in the availability of leisure activities, programs, and all other essential forms of socialization for children [5].

The challenges faced by all children during the pandemic, including social isolation and disruption of daily activities, have been exacerbated in children with disabilities and their families [11]. For instance, approximately 45% of children with disabilities did not have access to in-clinic services for mental or physical health, and approximately 40% did not benefit from telehealth services for mental or physical health during the pandemic [12]. Only a minority (30%) had access to

individualized educational plans [13]. Studies during the pandemic have found that lockdown restrictions have had considerable negative effects on physical activity levels and the mental and behavioral health of children with disabilities [14]. According to Statistics Canada, 50% of parents were concerned about their children's physical activity levels. In addition, more than 60% of parents reported concerns about a lack of opportunities for their children to socialize [15].

#### Objective

Technology and web-based environments were essential for optimizing communication and socialization during the COVID-19 pandemic. Adults and children shifted to web-based environments to learn, stay connected with their peers, and maintain their physical, social, and mental health [16]. Many organizations that previously led in-person leisure activities quickly pivoted to web-based platforms to continue offering options for activities such as sports, music, arts, camps, and life skills programs [15]. Allen et al [17] found that during the pandemic, parents with young children acknowledged the importance of physical activity for their children but questioned the suitability of web-based leisure activities as an option for young children. The same issue was raised by parents of children with disabilities in web-based forums and support groups during the pandemic period. Although web-based activities present as a positive alternative for maintaining physical activity, socializing, and receiving health and education services [18], little is known about the characteristics of web-based activities that can enhance inclusion and accessibility for children with different disabilities. Therefore, the objective of this study was to identify factors that may facilitate or prevent the participation of children with disabilities in web-based leisure activities and to inform the development of future inclusive web-based environments.

# Methods

#### Overview

We developed an interview guide using the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF), which was created to identify barriers and facilitators in clinical practice [19]. The TDF identifies areas that can act as barriers or facilitators to implement a certain type of intervention. For instance, it suggests individual (eg, service provider perceives their role as responsible to implement the web-based program) and organizational (eg, the organization has a culture of innovation) factors that promote or hinder the implementation of practices or programs. In this case, we applied the TDF to understand the barriers and facilitators to participation of children with in web-based leisure activities. Examples of the interview questions and their corresponding TDF domains are listed in Table 1. Multimedia Appendix 1 provides the full interview guide.

Table 1.	Examples of interview	questions and	corresponding	Theoretical I	Domains Framework	(TDF) domains.
----------	-----------------------	---------------	---------------	---------------	-------------------	----------------

TDF	Questions			
Social or professional role and identity	• <i>Service providers</i> : did you consult with an expert (eg, accessibility consultant, web-based platform consultant, occupational therapist) on how to make your web-based program accessible before introducing your programs?			
Beliefs about capabilities	Question to both service providers and parents:			
	<ul> <li>In your opinion, how accessible is the program to individuals with different activity limitations?</li> <li>Parents: what were the main challenges that your child faced in the web-based activities in which your child participated?</li> </ul>			
Beliefs about consequences	• <i>Service providers</i> : in an ideal world, what would make this web-based activity more accessible or fully accessible or more inclusive?			
Environmental context and re-	Question to both service providers and parents:			
sources	<ul> <li>Is it free or is there a fee?</li> <li>Requires registration or anyone can join?</li> <li>Is it open to "new" members or only for people who participated before COVID?</li> </ul>			

We adopted a semistructured interview format to facilitate dialogue between the researcher and participants to collect open-ended qualitative data. The questions focused on the description of the web-based activities offered by the service provider (eg, age range, frequency, cost, target population, and type of activity offered) and any adaptations that were implemented to make the web-based activity more accessible to children and youth with disabilities. Follow-up questions were asked as needed to explore participants' thoughts and insights on the topic of inclusive web-based activities to provide the opportunity to discuss personal experiences [20].

#### **Participants and Procedures**

Participants were selected from organizations listed as offering web-based leisure activities to children with disabilities on the Jooay App. These activities were added to the App by the Jooay App team through extensive web-based searches during the pandemic. The Jooay App is a free mobile and web app (Jooay [21]) created in Canada in 2015 [22]. It is a resource platform on which children with disabilities and their families, clinicians, educators, and others can locate leisure opportunities that are close to where they live, accessible, suit their needs and abilities, and match their preferences.

We used a convenience, purposeful maximum representation sample to recruit two distinct groups of participants: (1) service providers offering inclusive web-based leisure activities and (2) parents of children with disabilities who participated in web-based leisure activities during the pandemic. These 2 groups were selected to identify the structural and experiential aspects of the programs, representing different types of activities (eg, sports and arts) and activities tailored to different types of disabilities (eg, physical disabilities, autism spectrum disorders, and visual impairments). Children and youth were considered for interviews, but because of limitations in the ethics review board procedures during the pandemic, they were excluded from the study.

#### **Recruitment of Service Providers**

A recruitment email, including information about the Jooay App, the objective of the study, and the steps required for participation in the study, was sent to the service providers of

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38236
```

RenderX

inclusive web-based activities in Canada, which were listed as "Online" activities on the Jooay App. The email was followed by a phone call to the publicly available phone number if no email response was received.

#### **Recruitment of Parents**

A recruitment flyer was posted multiple times on Jooay social media platforms including Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter. Interested participants were contacted via email to schedule an interview at their convenience (phone or videoconference on Zoom platform), in their preferred language (English or French), using accessibility options, if desired. Once the interview was scheduled, the participant received both a consent form and a demographic form to be returned before the scheduled interview. The interviews took approximately 30 to 45 minutes, and each interview was led by 1 of 3 members of the research team. The interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim for qualitative analyses.

#### Data Analysis

Interview transcripts were imported into NVivo 12 (QSR International) [23], a qualitative data management software. An interpretative descriptive analysis methodology was applied to analyze the data collected in this study to understand the factors that may facilitate or hinder participation in web-based leisure activities for children with disabilities in web-based activities. First, the research team developed an initial coding scheme, based on a sample analysis of the 2 interviews. The initial themes were identified deductively (through the questions or answers, based on the TDF) and then inductively (distancing from the questions to interpret what the participants were bringing to the discussion, generalizing and creating new themes based on the interpretation gained beyond the direct questions). Two members of the team analyzed the remaining interview transcripts to refine the codebook and complete the analysis. The research team met regularly to discuss points of disagreement in the analysis and salient content emerging from the iterative analysis. Descriptive analysis of the participants' sociodemographic characteristics was conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics 24 [24].

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University (A00-B67-16B). All the participants provided informed consent form before the interviews. The contact information of the team members conducting the interviews was provided on the consent form, and there were any questions or concerns. The interviewer was also mindful of participants' concerns or discomfort. Finally, the participants' names and affiliations were removed from the analysis to ensure confidentiality. Results

#### **Participants' Characteristics**

A total of 15 interviews were conducted with a total of 17 participants (12 service providers and 5 parents; 2 interviews had 2 individuals from the same organization responding together). The sociodemographic characteristics of the participants and their children (parents of children with disabilities) are presented in Tables 2 and 3.

Table 2. Sociodemographic characteristics of organization representatives.

ID	Age	Education	Position	Work status
1	30	University—postgraduate degree	Recreation therapist	Full-time
2	45	University degree	Executive director	Full-time
3	52	a	Executive director	Part-time
4	31	University—postgraduate degree	Teacher; therapist	Part-time
5	43	University degree	Regional manager	Full-time
6	28	Some high school education	Program's coordinator	Full-time
7	57	University—postgraduate degree	Executive director	Full-time
8	66	University—postgraduate degree	Executive director	Full-time
9	22	University degree	Community engagement coordinator	Full-time
10	31	University—postgraduate degree	Founder; Executive Director	Part-time
11	44	University degree	Director of Operations	Full-time
12	42	University degree	Founder; Executive Director	Full-time

<sup>a</sup>Missing data as the participant preferred not to answer the question.

Table 3. Sociodemographic characteristics of parents and their children<sup>a</sup>.

ID	Parent's age	Education	Annual family income	Child's age	Type of disabilities
13	45	University degree	Between CAD \$40,000 and CAD \$60,000	11	Autism spectrum disorder
14	54	High-school diploma	Between CAD \$20,000 and CAD \$40,000	21	Intellectual + physical + Autism spectrum disorder
15	47	University degree	b	11	Intellectual
16	51	University degree	Between CAD \$60,000 and CAD \$80,000	19	Intellectual
17	43	Postsecondary or professional de- gree	Between CAD \$40,000 and CAD \$60,000	4	Physical

<sup>a</sup>CAD \$1 was about US \$0.77 at the time of interviews.

<sup>b</sup>Missing data as the participant preferred not to answer the question.

The age range of children with disabilities whose parents participated in this project was 4-21 years, with a mean age of 13 (SD 6.8) years, with 3 (60%) of them being female. The types of disabilities in children included intellectual disabilities, physical disabilities, and autism spectrum disorders. Most of the organization representatives who participated in the study had more than 10 years of experience working with children with disabilities, with only 2 having between 5 and 10.

#### **Programs' Characteristics**

The web-based programs provided were categorized into multiple types (art, music, sports, camps, and others). Examples of web-based leisure programs included web-based zoo and museum tours, book clubs, life skills groups, and youth leadership development programs. The activities included a vast age range and types of disabilities (Table 4). The activities described were offered 1 to 5 times a week for groups of 3-10 participants with 30-90–minute duration.



Table 4. Characteristics of web-based leisure programs (n=34).

Characteristics of programs	Values, n (%)	
Activity type		
Art	2 (6)	
Music	3 (9)	
Sport	7 (21)	
Camp	3 (9)	
Others	19 (56)	
Age range <sup>a</sup>		
Preschool (0-5 years old)	2 (6)	
School age (5-18 years old)	25 (71)	
Young adult (>18 years old)	8 (23)	
Types of disabilities accommodated <sup>a</sup>		
Intellectual	3 (7)	
Physical or motor	7 (16)	
Autism spectrum disorder	7 (16)	
Visual	0 (0)	
Hearing	0 (0)	
Behavioral or mental health	1 (2)	
Communication	3 (7)	
Chronic illnesses	4 (9)	
Others		
Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder	1 (2)	
Cerebral palsy	8 (19)	
Developmental coordination disorder	6 (14)	
Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder	3 (7)	

<sup>a</sup>Some programs were provided to more than 1 age group or types of disabilities; therefore, the total number in these 2 categories were more than 34.

# Factors Influencing Participation in Web-Based Activities

The interpretative descriptive analysis yielded 7 main themes under the 2 broad TDF categories of Environmental context and Resources and Beliefs as factors associated with participation of children with disabilities in web-based leisure activities. These are discussed in the following sections. These factors were divided into several subcategories, as listed in Table 5.



Movahed et al

 Table 5. Factors influencing participation in web-based leisure activities.

Category and subcategory	Summary points			
Environmental context and resources (TDF <sup>a</sup> domain)				
Accommodations				
Individual	<ul><li>Individual activities</li><li>Individual adaptations made in group activities</li></ul>			
General	<ul><li>Strong collaboration with children and families</li><li>Adequate activity duration with time for engagement</li></ul>			
Format or setting				
Sensory considerations	• Close captioning and sign language for live and prerecorded videos			
Accessible platforms and formats	<ul><li>Live stream with recorded option</li><li>Structured activity sequence, flexible schedule options</li></ul>			
Environment	<ul> <li>Simple background</li> <li>Platform safety (logins and password required, advertising free)</li> </ul>			
Setup	• Objects needed for the activities at hand			
Variety of programs	• Different options of programs offered to meet child's preferences			
Stakeholder involvement in program development				
Opportunities to socialize and connect with others	<ul><li>Family involvement in planning</li><li>Collaboration with community organizations</li></ul>			
Material resources				
Activities	<ul><li>Appropriate for the child's age, ability, and skill level</li><li>Cost of activities and materials, funding options</li></ul>			
Information	• Clear and provided in advance			
Technology and equipment	• Verification of equipment requirements in advance			
Beliefs (TDF domain)				
Characteristics of children	<ul><li>Limited attention span to focus on the screen</li><li>Individualized needs known to activity provider</li></ul>			
Characteristics of the home environments and families	<ul><li>Parents availability to support or participate in the activity</li><li>Familiarity with web-based environments</li></ul>			
Characteristics of the organizations	<ul> <li>Collaborations with other organizations</li> <li>Interprofessional support</li> <li>Staff training and retention</li> <li>Readiness to change or respond</li> <li>Staff knowledgeable about activity and about individual needs of participants</li> </ul>			

<sup>a</sup>TDF: Theoretical Domains Framework.

#### **Environmental Context and Resources**

#### Accommodations

Accommodations are considered as the features that help making web-based activities inclusive. Individual accommodations were those made to address specific needs of children, as described by a service provider:

#### We're looking at everybody that we're supporting on a very individual basis. So, you know, it really depends on who we're serving. [ID#12]

The participants suggested that service providers must *establish a strong collaboration* with children and parents in advance. This included incorporating input from parents about program options and their child's needs and creating space for parents to give feedback and request specific accessibility accommodations. Examples of how this was done include creating a registration form or making individual phone calls

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38236
```

XSL•FO RenderX

to collect information and interact with parents before the activity. Service providers also modified their activities based on participants' characteristics, including allowing extra time between activities so that all children could be prepared for the next activity or providing extra guidance to help a child get a movement done right. Other accommodations included *providing options for modifications*, such as the design of a standing or sitting form for a given movement. For example, one service provider mentioned as follows:

So, if I know that we are going to be doing something that is a little bit more challenging, give some form of modification so that it is all inclusive. I will demonstrate in the way that I believe everybody could potentially have the ability to do it. [ID#5]

Families also contributed accommodations to facilitate their child's participation; for example, parents used a larger screen to help the child focus and identify the optimal duration of the activity to sustain the child's attention. Service providers in our study described *program durations* ranging from 20 minutes to 1.5 hours. A shorter duration was often preferred for children, especially in younger age groups, because of the limited attention span on a screen. It was also noted that short breaks during activities helped maintain participation.

#### Format or Setting

Participants noted how the format and setting of the web-based environment contributed to or hindered participation. Some participants indicated that live, synchronous sessions were more engaging, whereas others mentioned the benefits of recorded programs. Recorded programs allowed families to follow the program at times that might be more convenient for them, alleviating the competing demands during the pandemic:

They had shown us the super simple songs on YouTube where they have 2 to 30 minute engaging songs and videos about counting and numbers and alphabets and colors and all that type early learning stuff that I could set (my daughter) up with one of those and I could get a few things done or answer emails or do paperwork...So, that was a good one for us for me to get a break. [ID#17]

Having both synchronous and asynchronous options available seemed to be the preferred format for families:

It was a Facebook live event. But if you weren't able to make it for that time, you could go back and watch it later, which was really a big deal for us because morning is a hard time for us to get going, so we were always able to go and watch these little videos and sort of put them in throughout our day for like a little break. [ID#17]

Many parents noted that web-based programs offered more flexibility than in-person activities, avoiding commute time and other accessibility issues such as parking or facing treacherous weather conditions:

Outside the pandemic, I would sign up for some of these things again. During cold and flu season in the winter when we don't want to drag the wheelchair outside to go to a class..., like not having to move the chair in and out or clean it off the snow when you get to the place that you're going to it was. It's a pretty big deal. [ID#17]

However, the web-based format also presents an inherent barrier to participation, for instance, parents' familiarity with the web-based platform—"*The technology requires a certain amount of know-how*" (*ID#11*)—and physical presence requirements during the activity to facilitate their children's participation. Strategies to overcome the accessibility issues in the web-based environment included offering the families a brief training on how to use the platform before the activity and sending a preactivity survey to identify, whereas participants had the technology required for participation. It also included considering the background of the program to be simple and conducive to facilitating focus on the staff facilitating the activity with few elements that could be distracting for participants.

The characteristics of the activities provided by organizations played an important role in the participation of children with disabilities. The opportunity for the child to choose from a variety of activities that aligned with their preferences and interests was a key motivator for participation. Parents and organizations noted that leisure and recreation activities were the activities that children enjoyed the most. Leisure provided opportunities to stay active and allowed social connections that were critical during the COVID-19 pandemic. The appropriateness of the activity to the child's age and skill level was also essential for the success of the activity. In addition, participants noted that having a regular, predictable, and consistently structured program facilitated children's participation:

It's really engaging. It goes by super-fast. She doesn't get bored, and by the time like half an hour's long for a 4.5-year-old on the computer, right, she's happy to be done, but they do a hello song and a goodbye song, so the kids know what's coming at the beginning and the end. [ID#17]

#### Stakeholder Involvement in Program Development

Web-based activities became a platform for children to socially connect and build communities for children and parents alike when they connect with other families. *Family involvement* in the planning and migration of activities from the in-person to the web-based environment was fundamental to facilitating participation. The web-based format was accommodating for parents and siblings to participate with the child. This family involvement created a familiar environment for the child to feel safe, where the parent can help if and when the child is "having a hard time self-regulating or with coping strategies" (ID#12), as mentioned by a service provider.

Family involvement was encouraged by the organizations by *collecting and incorporating feedback and suggestions provided by children and families* into the activities, as illustrated by a service provider:

XSL•FO RenderX

I say, what do you want to learn? What do you feel like doing or how do you want me to help you get stronger? So, it's a very open dialogue. [ID#10]

This information was collected before the development of the program and after a few sessions. The children's preferences were also considered, as they often determined what activity was done that day and informed further program development in a client-centered approach to service delivery as presented by a service provider: "We always plan our activities around what our clients want to do" (ID#5). In addition, collaboration with external organizations and stakeholders was also important in designing and creating activities or programs. For instance, organizations collaborated with recreation specialists and camp directors, whereas others partnered with para-athletes to share their experiences participating in a sport and answer participants' questions. Indeed, collaboration with other organizations was perceived as contributing to better program and activity development and helped create a more engaging environment. This was illustrated by a service provider who mentioned the following:

We have often paired with other organizations...we've been doing lots of partnership and so a lot of new program ideas come from what they are hopeful to see as well for their families. [ID#12]

#### Material Resources

The resources described by the study participants can be divided into *financial, information, technology, and equipment*. Financial resources were a main barrier for service providers to offer quality and accessible programs and for parents to register their children. Financial support by governmental or nongovernmental organizations was a facilitator of participation; nevertheless, free activities may have reduced families' commitment to participate. This was illustrated by one parent:

I really appreciated the fact that they were free. It gave you the option to go on, but with free programming, like someone was obviously paying for it out of a resource fund that they had, but I find that you as a participant don't have to pay even a token 5\$ or whatever it is towards it, but since you're not paying and it's not out of pocket for you, your level of responsibility is very low, your accountability. [ID#15]

Another concern for parents was information about appropriate activities. Families highlighted the importance of clearly identifying which demographic activity was tailored to assess the fit of the activity for their child. A parent mentioned the following:

It's been hard to figure out and navigate new programming and things that are accessible for her. [ID# 15]

#### Another parent indicated that:

We were really, really happy with the different things that were available to us, but we are also super connected in our community and with our recreation therapists. So, I think if parents don't have connections, they're not gonna realize what's out there, so they obviously need to advertise it a little bit more too. I mean, we do a lot of things by word of mouth as well. [ID#17]

Adequate technology available, including a computer and reliable internet for the use of the child, was essential to engage with the web-based programs, and acted as a barrier for participation if those resources were not available, as indicated by a service provider:

One of our regular families through the years has four kids so they would send four at a time, but they don't have four computers so they would send two at a time for virtual programs. [ID#8]

#### Beliefs

Beliefs about capabilities—what one knows and how it is applied into the program, and about consequences—the understanding about what happens if certain information or knowledge is used or not, were also part of how study participants described the actions taken in the web-based programs to facilitate participation in the activities.

#### **Characteristics of Children**

Participants expressed several challenges that were unique to their child's condition, and how the pandemic exacerbated ongoing problems, such as finding leisure activities that are suitable for their child's needs. For example, one parent mentioned that the following:

My daughter has cerebral palsy, she's nonverbal, and has a seizure disorder and also a cognitive delay. So, finding activities appropriate for her is very very challenging. [ID#15]

However, parents' beliefs on the importance of leisure, and the outcomes to their child, motivated them to make the necessary efforts to have their child engaging:

"I have two daughters with special needs. It's been challenging, but as I said, before the pandemic, she was very social, she has lots of friends, but one of the main problems, the friends that she need, she does end up connecting with them a lot online, through Facebook and other social media, because they live all over the city" [ID#16]

and that despite parents' own experience in navigating web-based activities, "We are a bit zoomed-out" (ID#16).

In addition, as the pandemic situation evolved rapidly, it was challenging for children to clearly understand the situation and why they had to switch to web-based activities instead of in-person settings. For children with intellectual disabilities and younger children, parents mentioned that limited attention span to focus on the screen and lack of understanding that other people on the screen were engaging in the activity with them in real time were barriers to engagement. For example, one parent mentioned the following:

The second session he started having a tantrum because he didn't understand what was going on, why I was keeping him in front of the screen. [ID#13]

Parents suggested that the activity should be very stimulating and adopt different formats to help the child stay focused. However, parents noticed an improvement over time as their child adjusted to the web-based format, demonstrating increased confidence in the program as familiarity with the format grew.

#### **Characteristics of the Home Environment and Families**

Parents reported that their child's experience of the activity was influenced by the *presence of parents, siblings* or other support workers with the child during the activity. Adult involvement included facilitating the use of technology, creating space for the child to perform physical activity, and communicating with the activity facilitator on behalf of the child. For activities targeted at younger children, parents felt it was helpful to have activities in which they had a specific role, similar to the therapist's role during an in-person activity. Although *willing to engage* and believing in the value of providing these activities for their children, parents were juggling multiple roles during the pandemic; therefore, the need to be present at the child's web-based activity was sometimes perceived as an added stressor, whereas in-person activities were seen as opportunities for respite:

Parents have to be a lot more hands-on. It is a burden on us as parents. [ID#14]

Activity providers supported parents' beliefs in their limited capabilities and created resources in response:

What we've done is we've taken videos of kids doing activities so that we can then share them so that families can imitate it 'cause obviously parents are facilitators in these activities. They are there with the child to manage the technology but also to make sure the kid stays put. So, the way we're presenting it is trying to engage parent and child together in the activity, just as if it would be a therapist and a child. [ID#11]

#### **Characteristics of the Organizations**

For organizations, the impact of COVID-19 was reactionary in nature. Although some web-based activities existed before the pandemic, organizations either started promoting the existing web-based activities more actively, added more features to these web-based activities, or began offering web-based activities in response to restrictions and closures. For some organizations, this shift to a web-based environment was quick, as children with multiple disabilities were considered particularly susceptible.

It was evident that organizations had different levels of readiness to switch from in-person to web-based activities during the COVID-19 lockdown. The presence of an interdisciplinary team of health professionals and educators, such as recreational, occupational, and music therapists and early child educators, facilitated a quicker transition into web-based sessions. A *multidisciplinary team* accelerated planning for activities that were most appropriate for the organization's clientele, accommodating individual needs and sustaining participation throughout the program season. For example, a service provider indicated as follows: Everyone in the team that we have has different expertise, and also is an artist themselves, so that was never lost. They're always thinking like how we can still make this you know, creative and fun. [ID#4]

*Organization leadership* that also resourced into volunteers and had a wider community support had positive experiences to report:

These are university students for the most part, they know some of the kids 'cause they've worked with them in the previous summer and they're just their camp counselors, so they're creative and flexible and motivated and enthusiastic, and that's been a real asset to the program. [ID#2]

Certain organizations hired staff who were once participants in their activities themselves. Having the participants come back as camp leaders ensured that the personnel working at the organizations were very familiar with the environment. Perceived benefits were participants reporting a feeling that this was a safe environment, and people with disabilities were represented as leaders.

Organizations readiness to change was also reflected in their ability to navigate web-based environments and resources. Organizations that felt familiar with their clientele did not undergo formal training to make the web-based activities accessible but rather gathered tips on how to make the web-based version of their activities accessible. Other service providers received training specific to group facilitation through Zoom to tailor activities using that platform, communicate in a text-based environment, and prompt the children to interact in specific ways to ensure flow during the activity. Nevertheless, the abrupt transition to a web-based environment was challenging for all organizations. They had to mobilize resources quickly and take considerable time and effort. These challenges were overcome through a firm belief in the organization's missions and value of the services provided to maintain children's health and well-being:

It's not camp at all, and we've been very forward and upfront with our community that this is not what we do, but we want to stay connected and build community and build those connections. It's crucially important. It is a challenging time for mental health and depression and social isolation and anxiety. And so, if we can bring a teeny tiny little bit of the Magic of camp into their [kids] homes and also encourage them to like get outside, get active, make some new friends...People are making new friends and we're getting some of the benefits, we are fulfilling our mission just in a very, very different way. [ID#2]

*Staff knowledge of the activity* and about the child's and families' needs contributed to creating programs that were trusted by parents and perceived as beneficial by the organization. Service providers described strategies they believed helped maintain attention and facilitate engagement such as understanding children's cues, knowing when to take a break, or including extra breaks in a program when there were many participants who found it challenging to stay focused. *Making information available* for families and sending related



resources (eg, links to samples of the web-based activity or related videos to gauge children's interest in the activity, instructions for the session, and lists of required materials) to parents ahead of time helped parents adjust their child's expectations and structure the home environment to optimize participation. This was accomplished by email, posting on the organization's website, social media, or mail. Some organizations used mobile apps, where the list of resources and calendar of events were updated regularly and categorized by the type of activity, as illustrated by one parent:

They provide a calendar of events that they are having every month and things that repeat every month. That's something that's really handy when you are now planning extracurricular activities,..., it's very important to have access to what's available. [ID#15]

*Staff's attitudes* that supported inclusion included acknowledging the presence of all participants, ensuring that everyone felt included, and ensuring a good connection with all participants. Some service providers recruited student volunteers to cofacilitate and support the lead instructor during the program. One parent mentioned the following:

So, they really just make an effort to acknowledge that he's there and it's a really interesting skill to be able to speak to him as though he can speak but at the same time understanding that he's not going to speak. That's actually a pretty good skill to have. [ID#14]

In addition, *collaborations among organizations* allowed for extended access to programs for clients and enhanced the belief in staff's capabilities by creating leadership, mentorship, interprofessional support, and knowledge sharing opportunities for staff across organizations:

We would often partner with organizations that would recruit us to help them develop more inclusive programming, implement the programming and then train their staff. [ID#12]

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased barriers to participation in leisure activities and other essential activities for children with disabilities [14,25,26]. The lack of access to facilities and in-person activities rapidly increased the demand for the creation of web-based communities, activities, and programs to promote health and well-being during these challenging times [16,18]. This study underscored the importance of web-based activities in promoting and maintaining physical and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic and identified key environmental and contextual factors contributing to the participation of children with diverse disabilities in web-based programs, as well as parents' and service providers' beliefs that contribute to child participation in these programs. These characteristics included staff training and preparedness, use of accessible technology and provision of information for participants, variety of offers of activities with a structured and familiar sequence, ability to integrate children's individual needs into group settings,

XSL•F() RenderX inclusion of parents and other caregivers in program development, and interprofessional and cross-organization collaborations.

This study also showed that although organizations and parents struggled with the abrupt migration from in-person to web-based environments because of the pandemic, there was also a perceived advantage of these programs. Web-based environments can contribute to increased participation by providing community building and socialization opportunities without the physical and social accessibility barriers of in-person activities. Previous studies have demonstrated the positive influence of web-based peer mentorship programs on social engagement and participation in life situations for children with disabilities [27]. However, many web-based resources designed for children are usually not accessible to children with disabilities and require close supervision by a parent or caregiver, thus limiting participation [14]. Despite the benefits and inevitable need to develop web-based activities during the pandemic, this format is not always preferred by youth who desire social connection and have functional limitations that may limit their written or verbal communication that is prioritized in web-based environments [28]. This study confirmed this through parents' concerns over the need for adult mediation and limited socialization opportunities in web-based activities.

Staff training and the ability to respond to children's evolving needs have been identified as crucial aspects of inclusive leisure programing [29] and were perceived as an essential component for program creation during the COVID-19 pandemic. Client-centered activities and programs are crucial for creating inclusive web-based environments. This includes considering child and family preferences in relation to leisure participation, while considering the context of a family's values and other personal and environmental factors related to the child [25,30]. Service providers should ensure that every activity is prepared that participants can meaningfully engage with so encouragement and support through a clear description of the activity and instructions provided in advance. The duration of the activities should be adjusted to the web-based format, age group of the children, and number of children partaking. Our results suggest that the optimal duration of activities involves an interplay between the activity type, the skill level of the child, the familiarity of the moderator (staff) with the web-based environment, and the characteristics of participants, the platform used, and the presence or absence of other facilitators who are physically with the child. In line with a previous study, our participants suggested that smaller groups of participants in each program could help children engage more meaningfully in activities [31].

Access to information about programs and dissemination of information to potential users are known determinants of participation [32,33]. During the pandemic, families dealt with a large amount of evolving information about public health measures and updates. The amount of information, coupled with the disruption in daily routines, lockdowns, and reduced social support and services, were a major source of distress for all, but particularly for families of children with disabilities [13,15]. Families can benefit from clear information tailored to their

needs and from trusted sources, so they do not need to rely on generic search sites for accurate information. Leisure is often perceived by families as a source of well-being for their children and respite for parents [4], but these effects may be extinguished if they cannot access the necessary information to allow for their child's participation and face technological barriers such as inaccessible platforms or no access to the internet. A collaborative approach to equitable access to technology that forms partnerships across sectors-education, health, community serving persons with disabilities, and web-based and mobile app listings-is an essential step for service providers and governments to be aware of [34]. In a separate study, we found that listing detailed information about existing web-based leisure activities increased the search for these activities after an all-time low search for this information during the first weeks of lockdowns in Canada [22]. We can infer that families are seeking opportunities to maintain their child's health under all circumstances, and programs are continuously adapting and providing services that match their mission, but all operate under limited resources and strenuous circumstances. Therefore, public health initiatives are needed to bridge these resources and make information available to those who need it.

Sociodemographic and equity considerations cannot be overlooked when discussing web-based programs. Participants in this study emphasized the challenges of having technology equipment available exclusively for their child when parents were often working from home and the lack of other support that would allow for participation. In a recent study in Canada, we identified a decreased number of offerings of in-person community leisure activities in neighborhoods with higher social and material deprivation [35]. Web-based activities require access to technology and the internet. Canada has recently acknowledged a "national connectivity gap" where rural Canadians face the daily challenge of slower, less reliable internet access than those in urban centers [36]. Only 37% of rural households have access to internet speeds necessary for contemporary use, whereas only 24% of households in indigenous communities have access to such speeds. Furthermore, it was found that those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds were less likely to have a computer at home [37]. Although this finding was from 2003, it raised the ongoing concern for sufficient technology or devices or both for current internet use, particularly when there are multiple users at once. In our study, families with 1 device in their home had to share and allocate time for its use for each member of the family, which means that use is limited for each member of the household, including the child who wishes to participate in web-based leisure activities.

#### Limitations and Directions for Future Research

In this study, we used a small convenience sample of Jooay App users, which limits the generalizability of our findings. As is the case for qualitative studies, however, we preconize an in-depth depiction of web-based leisure experiences to gain perspectives on characteristics that can foster reflection on the context and beliefs surrounding the creation of these programs and promote greater participation of children with disabilities in leisure and the web-based world. Furthermore, as mentioned, interviews with children and youth were not feasible because of delays in the ethics review board procedures during the pandemic. Future studies should obtain the perspectives of children and youth with a variety of disabilities and age groups and in different types of programs. The information obtained in this study can guide future studies on making web-based leisure activities more inclusive for children with disabilities, developing universal accessibility guidelines for web-based activities, and, in particular, structured evaluations of the impact of universal accessibility and client-centered web-based programs on children's participation in leisure activities. Future studies should also consider the equity and socioeconomic factors related to the growing provision of web-based services, proposing a critical reflection on who benefits from these programs and the groups that may be further marginalized through its creation.

#### Conclusions

This study identified the important characteristics of inclusive web-based activities for children with disabilities and provided suggestions on how to make future web-based activities inclusive. Despite the unprecedented nature of the pandemic and the challenges faced by engaging in web-based activities, our study also revealed that there is a strong willingness to cope, adapt, and succeed in the implementation of these programs, which also testifies to the value of these activities for children with disabilities and their families. Similarly, an organization's readiness to change and the propensity to continue offering programs they believe were essential for the vulnerable population they serve was primordial in making these programs possible.

Although our study highlighted the willingness of organizations to adapt themselves to web-based activities, their capacities, strategies, and knowledge of how to make their programs accessible to children with disabilities varied. It is conceivable that organizations offer a blend of in-person and web-based leisure activities postpandemic to maximize accessibility and flexibility. This study can inform the development of resources aimed at promoting inclusive web-based activities that can be used by both service providers and parents of disabled children in collaborative programming.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview questions.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38236

#### [DOC File, 57 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e38236\_app1.doc]

#### References

- 1. General Assembly resolution 44/25. Convention on the Rights of the Child. United Nations. 1989 Nov 20. URL: <u>http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx</u> [accessed 2022-03-20]
- 2. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD). United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Disability. 2006. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/</u> convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html
- 3. Painter J. Quick reference dictionary for occupational therapy. Occupational Ther Health Care 2009 Jul 10;22(4):82-83. [doi: 10.1080/07380570802244563]
- 4. Dahan-Oliel N, Shikako-Thomas K, Majnemer A. Quality of life and leisure participation in children with neurodevelopmental disabilities: a thematic analysis of the literature. Qual Life Res 2012 Apr 19;21(3):427-439. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-0063-9] [Medline: 22101860]
- Kantartzi IM, Karlis G. COVID-19 and leisure: directions for policy makers. HAPSc Policy Briefs Series 2020 Jun 30;1(1):115-122. [doi: <u>10.12681/hapscpbs.24956</u>]
- McManus V, Corcoran P, Perry I. Participation in everyday activities and quality of life in pre-teenage. BMC Pediatr 2008 Oct 31;8:50. [Medline: <u>18976459</u>]
- Shikako-Thomas K, Kolehmainen N, Ketelaar M, Bult M, Law M. Promoting leisure participation as part of health and well-being in children and youth with cerebral palsy. J Child Neurol 2014 Aug 05;29(8):1125-1133. [doi: 10.1177/0883073814533422] [Medline: 24907136]
- 8. Breitkreuz R, Wunderli L, Savage A, McConnell D. Rethinking resilience in families of children with disabilities: a socioecological approach. Community Work Family 2014 Mar 05;17(3):346-365. [doi: <u>10.1080/13668803.2014.893228</u>]
- 9. Disability in Canada: a 2006 profile. Government of Canada. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/</u> employment-social-development/programs/disability/arc/disability-2006.html [accessed 2022-03-20]
- 10. Archived: WHO timeline COVID-19. World Health Organization. 2020 Jun 29. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/</u> 27-04-2020-who-timeline---covid-19 [accessed 2022-03-20]
- Majnemer A, Leblanc A, Faust L, Costello C, Thomson D, Goldowitz D, et al. Knowledge empowers: responding to the knowledge needs of youth with disabilities and families during the pandemic. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2020 Aug 04;40(5):487-490. [doi: <u>10.1080/01942638.2020.1801298</u>] [Medline: <u>32748661</u>]
- 12. Gonzalez M, Zeidan J, Lai J, Yusuf A, Wright N, Steiman M, et al. Socio-demographic disparities in receipt of clinical health care services during the COVID-19 pandemic for Canadian children with disability. BMC Health Serv Res 2022 Nov 28;22(1):1434 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-08672-1] [Medline: 36443767]
- 13. Gonzalez M, Yusuf A, Steiman M, Wright N, Karpur A, Shih A, et al. The Global Report on Developmental Delays, Disorders and Disabilities-Canada. Report submitted to the Steering Group for the UNICEF and World Health Organization Global report on developmental delays, disorders and disabilities. 2021. URL: <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/58cc13fd37c5817a683e8bd7/t/6442aa16b0fd14122dcafaf2/1682090519720/WHO+Report\_v6\_final\_April08.pdf</u>
- Theis N, Campbell N, De Leeuw J, Owen M, Schenke KC. The effects of COVID-19 restrictions on physical activity and mental health of children and young adults with physical and/or intellectual disabilities. Disabil Health J 2021 Jul;14(3):101064 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101064] [Medline: 33549499]
- 15. Arim R, Findlay L, Kohen D. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Canadian families of children with disabilities. Statistics Canada. 2020 Aug 27. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00066-eng.htm</u> [accessed 2022-03-20]
- Goldschmidt K. The COVID-19 pandemic: technology use to support the wellbeing of children. J Pediatr Nurs 2020 Jul;53:88-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2020.04.013] [Medline: 32317129]
- 17. Allen G, Velija P. Parents perceptions of online physical activity and leisure with early years children during Covid-19 and beyond. Leisure Stud 2022 Aug 30;42(1):23-37. [doi: 10.1080/02614367.2022.2115111]
- Shahidi SH, Stewart Williams J, Hassani F. Physical activity during COVID-19 quarantine. Acta Paediatr 2020 Oct 03;109(10):2147-2148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/apa.15420] [Medline: 32557827]
- Cane J, O'Connor D, Michie S. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. Implement Sci 2012 Apr 24;7(1):37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-37] [Medline: 22530986]
- DeJonckheere M, Vaughn LM. Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigour. Fam Med Community Health 2019 Mar 08;7(2):e000057 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/fmch-2018-000057</u>] [Medline: <u>32148704</u>]
- 21. Jooay. URL: https://jooay.com/ [accessed 2023-04-18]
- Yoo PY, Movahed M, Rue I, Santos CD, Majnemer A, Shikako K. Changes in use of a leisure activity mobile app for children with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic: retrospective study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 Feb 25;5(1):e32274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32274] [Medline: 35100129]

- 23. QSR International. NVivo. URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software/home/</u>[accessed 2022-03-20]
- 24. IBM SPSS Statistics. IBM. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/products/spss-statistics</u> [accessed 2022-03-20]
- 25. Anaby D, Ryan M, Palisano RJ, Levin MF, Gorter JW, Avery L, et al. Participation during a pandemic: forging new pathways. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2021 Jan 28;41(2):115-119. [doi: <u>10.1080/01942638.2021.1875739</u>] [Medline: <u>33508997</u>]
- 26. Lachance EL. COVID-19 and its impact on volunteering: moving towards virtual volunteering. Leisure Sci 2020 Jul 09;43(1-2):104-110. [doi: 10.1080/01490400.2020.1773990]
- Saxena S, Mitchell J, Ehsan A, Majnemer A, Shikako-Thomas K. Online peer mentorship programmes for children and adolescents with neurodevelopmental disabilities: a systematic review. Child Care Health Dev 2020 Jan 09;46(1):132-148. [doi: 10.1111/cch.12726] [Medline: 31782542]
- Asbury K, Fox L, Deniz E, Code A, Toseeb U. How is COVID-19 Affecting the Mental Health of Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and Their Families? J Autism Dev Disord 2021 May;51(5):1772-1780 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2] [Medline: <u>32737668</u>]
- 29. Mogo E, Badillo I, Majnemer A, Duckworth K, Kennedy S, Symington V, et al. Using a rapid review process to engage stakeholders, inform policy and set priorities for promoting physical activity and leisure participation for children with disabilities in British Columbia. Leisure/Loisir 2020 Jun 08;44(2):225-253. [doi: 10.1080/14927713.2020.1760121]
- Shikako-Thomas K, Majnemer A, Law M, Lach L. Determinants of participation in leisure activities in children and youth with cerebral palsy: systematic review. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2008 May 10;28(2):155-169. [doi: 10.1080/01942630802031834] [Medline: 18846895]
- 31. Ng K. Adapted physical activity through COVID-19. Eur J Adapt Physical Activity 2020 Apr 30;13(1):1. [doi: 10.5507/euj.2020.003]
- Anaby D, Hand C, Bradley L, DiRezze B, Forhan M, DiGiacomo A, et al. The effect of the environment on participation of children and youth with disabilities: a scoping review. Disabil Rehabil 2013 Sep 25;35(19):1589-1598. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2012.748840] [Medline: 23350759]
- Zeidan J, Joseph L, Camden C, Shevell M, Oskoui M, Lamotte P, et al. Look around me: environmental and socio-economic factors related to community participation for children with cerebral palsy in Québec. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2021 Jan 25;41(4):429-446. [doi: <u>10.1080/01942638.2020.1867693</u>] [Medline: <u>33487079</u>]
- 34. Promising practices for children's unstructured play: emerging programs, initiatives, and policies across Canada. Canadian Public Health Association. 2019 Jul. URL: <u>https://www.cpha.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/resources/play/play-promising-practices-e.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-20]
- 35. Mogo ER, Martial L, Correa JA, Majnemer A, Shikako K. Using crowdsourced data to assess the relationship between neighbourhood-level deprivation and the availability of inclusive leisure programmes in Canadian cities. Cities Health 2022 Mar 09;6(3):503-510. [doi: 10.1080/23748834.2022.2027710]
- 36. High-speed access for all: Canada's connectivity strategy. Government of Canada. URL: <u>https://ised-isde.canada.ca/site/high-speed-internet-canada/en/canadas-connectivity-strategy/high-speed-access-all-canadas-connectivity-strategy</u> [accessed 2022-04-11]
- 37. Looker D, Thiessen V. The digital divide in Canadian schools: factors affecting student access to and use of technology. Statistics Canada. 2008 Jul 21. URL: <u>https://www.tonybates.ca/2008/07/21/</u> the-digital-divide-in-canadian-schools-factors-affecting-student-access-to-and-use-of-technology/ [accessed 2022-03-20]

# Abbreviations

**TDF:** Theoretical Domains Framework

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 24.03.22; peer-reviewed by A Joseph, N Yu; comments to author 25.08.22; revised version received 07.11.22; accepted 25.12.22; published 04.05.23.

Please cite as:

Movahed M, Rue I, Yoo PY, Sogomonian T, Majnemer A, Shikako K

Characteristics of Inclusive Web-Based Leisure Activities for Children With Disabilities: Qualitative Descriptive Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e38236 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38236</u>

PMID:<u>36668903</u>

©Mehrnoosh Movahed, Ishana Rue, Paul Yejong Yoo, Tamara Sogomonian, Annette Majnemer, Keiko Shikako. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 04.05.2023. This is an open-access article distributed

doi:<u>10.2196/38236</u>

under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Prospective Association Between Video and Computer Game Use During Adolescence and Incidence of Metabolic Health Risks: Secondary Data Analysis

Stephanie R Lebby<sup>1</sup>, BA, MS; Sangeetha Shyam<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Amutha Ramadas<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Andrew R Bohm<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Julia C Hill<sup>6</sup>, BA; Karen L Fortuna<sup>7</sup>, PhD; Stephanie R Zoltick<sup>6</sup>, BA

<sup>1</sup>College of Nursing and Health Sciences, University of Vermont, Burlington, VT, United States

<sup>2</sup>Centre for Translational Research, Institute for Research, Development, and Innovation, International Medical University, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia <sup>3</sup>Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, Human Nutrition Unit, Rovira i Virgili University, Reus, Spain

<sup>4</sup>Jeffrey Cheah School of Medicine & Health Sciences, Monash University Malaysia, Selangor, Malaysia

<sup>5</sup>The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, United States

<sup>6</sup>Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, United States

<sup>7</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, United States

**Corresponding Author:** 

Karen L Fortuna, PhD Department of Psychiatry Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth 1 Medical Center Drive Lebanon, NH, 03756 United States Phone: 1 603 722 5727 Email: Karen.L.Fortuna@dartmouth.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Video and computer games are popular activities, with 72% of adolescents aged 13 to 17 years reporting video game use on either a computer, game console, or portable device. Despite high levels of video and computer game use in adolescence, relatively little scientific literature exists examining the association and effects of video and computer games on adolescents.

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to examine the prevalence of video and computer game use among US adolescents and rates of positive screens for obesity, diabetes, high blood pressure (BP), and high cholesterol.

**Methods:** A secondary data analysis was conducted using the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health) data, including adolescents aged 12 to 19 years between 1994 and 2018.

**Results:** Respondents (n=4190) who played the most video and computer games had a significantly (P=.02) higher BMI and were more likely to self-report having at least one of the evaluated metabolic disorders: obesity (BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), diabetes, high BP (BP >140/90), and high cholesterol (>240). With increased video or computer game use, there was a statistically significant increase in high BP rates in each quartile, with those with more frequent use also having higher rates of high BP. A similar trend was observed for diabetes, though the association did not reach statistical significance. No significant association was observed between video or computer game use and diagnoses of dyslipidemia, eating disorders, or depression.

**Conclusions:** Frequency of video and computer game use is associated with obesity, diabetes, high BP, and high cholesterol in adolescents aged 12 to 19 years. Adolescents who play the most video and computer games have a significantly higher BMI. They are more likely to have at least one of the evaluated metabolic disorders: diabetes, high BP, or high cholesterol. Public health interventions designed to target modifiable disease states through health promotion and self-management may support the health of adolescents aged 12 to 19 years. Video and computer games can integrate health promotion interventions in gameplay. This is an important area for future research as video and computer games are integrated into the lives of adolescents.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44920) doi:10.2196/44920


# **KEYWORDS**

video games; obesity; pediatrics; computer games; portable device; teenager; adolescents; health data; BMI; diabetes; high blood pressure; high cholesterol; metabolic disorder

# Introduction

Video and computer games are popular activities, with 72% of adolescents aged 13 to 17 years reporting video game use on either a computer, game console, or portable device [1]. Despite high levels of video and computer game use in adolescence, relatively little scientific literature exists examining the association of the effects of video and computer games on health risks in adolescents. With video and computer games being traditionally sedentary behaviors, the increase in video and computer game use is concerning. However, sedentary behavior is one of the leading modifiable risk factors for noncommunicable diseases. As video and computer games are commonplace in daily life, more research is needed to assess the association between video and computer games and chronic health conditions.

Sedentary behavior throughout the lifespan increases one's risk for all-cause and cardiovascular disease (CVD) mortality, incident CVD, and type 2 diabetes [2]. Sedentary behavior is also associated with multiple forms of cancer [2]. Sedentary behavior may be associated with disease states due to hemodynamic, inflammatory, and metabolic processes resulting in impaired arterial health [3]. Similarly, systematic reviews have focused on the relationship between screen time in general and children's adiposity measures (ie, BMI, percentage body fat, and waist circumference). For example, a systematic review examining 40 studies from 2010 to 2017 shows a positive association of screen time (ie, time spent on screen devices) with adiposity in children and adolescents (5 to 19 years old) in 85% of the studies [4].

In addition to being associated with chronic health conditions, sedentary screen time is related to psychological conditions. In a study of youth aged 11 to 20 years (n=2282), sedentary screen time (ie, time spent doing sedentary screen-based activities) was associated with the severity of depression ( $\beta$ =.23, *P*<.001) and anxiety ( $\beta$ =.07, *P*<.01) [5]. In particular, video game playing ( $\beta$ =.13, *P*<.001) and computer use ( $\beta$ =.17, *P*<.001) were associated with more severe depressive symptoms, and video game playing ( $\beta$ =.11, *P*<.001) was associated with the severity of anxiety [5].

This study aimed to examine the prevalence of video and computer game use among US adolescents and rates of positive screens for obesity, diabetes, high blood pressure (BP), and high cholesterol. Video and computer games are defined as electronic games played on either a personal computer or a video screen. This does not include smartphone games. The research question that guided this secondary data analysis was the following: To what extent is the frequency of video games and computer game use associated with self-reported chronic health conditions (ie, conditions that last a year or more and require ongoing medical attention, or limit activities of daily living, or both)?

# Methods

#### Overview

A secondary data analysis was conducted in 2022 using the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health) 1994-2018. Add Health was a longitudinal study of US adolescents aged 12 to 19 years, starting in the 1994-1995 school year. This cohort was interviewed in 5 waves between 1994 and 2018. Waves 1 through 5 were collected in 1994-1995, 1996, 2001-2002, 2008-2009, and 2016-2018, respectively.

# **Data Collection**

Data were collected from the Add Health longitudinal study, in which all respondents who recorded data for both wave 1 (1994-1995) and wave 5 (2006-2018) were considered eligible. Add Health data came from 80 high schools selected from a sample frame of 26,666. Prior to sampling, schools were sorted by size, school type, census region, level of urbanization, and percent White race. Of the 80 selected, 52 were eligible and agreed to participate. Participating high schools then identified their feeder middle schools, resulting in one school pair. Parental consent was required for students to participate in the study. Some schools required passive consent (assuming parents granted permission for students to participate unless otherwise indicated), and others required active consent (a parental signature had to be returned before a student could participate). Data were collected from respondents using a combination of physical measurements, biospecimens, and self-reported surveys.

Demographic information was collected from the master data set, and exposure and outcome-specific variables were recorded from the respective wave data sets. Video game use variables were collected from wave 1 to capture video and computer game use while in adolescence (all wave 1 data were collected when the respondents were in grades 7-12). Outcome variables were recorded in wave 5 (21-23 years later), including outcomes related to health conditions. Any chronic conditions reported in a previous wave were recorded in wave 5. This allowed for maximum follow-up time through adulthood to capture as many conditions as possible.

# Variables

Variables in the data set were identified as exposures (video or computer game frequency) and outcomes (health outcomes). Wave 1 data were used at the exposure, and wave 5 data were used at the outcome. The exposure variable included self-reported video or computer game play duration and was measured in hours per week. Outcome variables included obesity (BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), diabetes, high BP, hyperlipidemia, depression, and eating disorders. Obesity was measured using weight and height to calculate BMI, with BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> indicating obesity. Hyperlipidemia was measured using a biospecimen. High BP was measured using physical measurements. Diabetes, depression, and eating disorders were measured by a self-reported survey of whether or not each participant had been

diagnosed with the disorder. Self-reported measures of diabetes, depression, and eating disorders have been found to be reliable and valid in other studies [6-8]. Additionally, lifestyle variables were assessed. Lifestyle variables included self-reported measures of dairy, fruit, vegetable, grain, and pastry intake, as well as smoking, drinking, drug, and exercise habits.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The exposure of interest was split into quartiles to better understand the effects of none, low, moderate, and high video game use. All those in the lowest quartile were nonusers, and those in the remaining quartiles were evenly distributed. All baseline and demographic features listed above were evaluated across all quartiles for baseline differences in video and computer game use at the start of the study. Similarly, lifestyle characteristics were also evaluated across all quartiles at baseline. The relationship between video or computer game use at enrollment (baseline: wave 1) and reported metabolic and health outcomes at wave 5 was examined using logistic regression using the following four models: (1) the first model was an unadjusted crude model; (2) the second model adjusted for sociodemographics (ie, age, race, and sex); (3) the third model, in addition to sociodemographics, adjusted for socioeconomic characteristics (ie, public assistance and money bills); and (4) the final model for adjusted for sociodemographics, socioeconomic characteristics, and current lifestyle behaviors (ie, cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, sedentariness, and fast food intake at wave 5), accounting for sampling weight and cluster sampling. Additionally, the exposure variable (duration of video or computer game played) was investigated as both a categorical value and a continuous variable in all models. All data were analyzed in 2022.

A supplementary analysis was carried out to evaluate the relationship between video or computer game use at enrollment (baseline: wave 1) and reported metabolic and health outcomes at wave 5 while adjusting for current BMI at wave 5 to account for the role of obesity in the development of other metabolic risks.

Only cases with complete data at both waves were used for statistical analysis, with no imputation of missing values required. A total of 6504 completed respondent records were identified in wave 1. Of these 6504 records, 6390 were completed through wave 5. Those respondents without complete wave data were removed from our analytic sample, for a total of 114 respondents (1.75%) at this point. Additionally, any records that contained incomplete data for any metric included in this study at any timepoint or wave were also removed. This removed 2200 respondents (33.83%) from our analytic sample. Due to a large amount of missing data across this longitudinal panel, we decided to use listwise deletion to avoid any bias or influence introduced with imputation. Our final analytic database included 4190 respondents.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (version 25.0; IBM Corp).

# **Ethical Considerations**

This study did not require ethics approval as it involved secondary analysis of data available in the public domain.

# Results

# Video Games and Computer Game Use Among the Respondents

A total of 4190 respondents were included in this analysis. The median (range) hours spent by the respondents on video games and computer games was 1 (0-99) hours per week. Approximately 47% of the respondents did not play video games. The distribution of socioeconomic characteristics of respondents by quartile of the duration of video game played per week is shown in Table 1. Respondents who did not play any video games or computer games were typically older (16-17 years) and predominantly female (1440/4190, 72.5%) versus respondents in the other quartiles. While respondents who identified themselves as White were more likely to be represented in the lower quartiles (Q1 and 2), African American respondents had a higher likelihood of being in the higher quartiles (Q3 and 4) of duration spent playing video or computer games per week. A U-shaped association of the quartiles of the duration of video games and computer games played per week was observed with the location of residence and indicators of socioeconomic status, with urban residents and those receiving public assistance more likely to be in the extreme quartiles.



**Table 1.** Socioeconomic characteristics of all respondents by quartile of the duration of gameplay at enrollment. Values in the same row or category not sharing the same superscript are significantly different at P<.05 in the 2-sided test of equality for column proportions. Values with no superscript letters were not included in the test. Tests assume equal variances. Tests are adjusted for all pairwise comparisons within the rows in each subcategory using Bonferroni correction.

	Quartile of the duration of video games played per week				P value
	1 (n=1986)	2 (n=672)	3 (n=720)	4 (n=812)	
Duration of video games played (hours/week), median (95% CI)	0 (0-0)	1 (1-1)	2 (2-3)	7 (7-8)	<.001
Age (years), median (95% CI)	16 (16-17) <sup>a</sup>	15 (15-16) <sup>b</sup>	15 (15-16) <sup>b</sup>	15 (15-16) <sup>b</sup>	<.001
Age range (years)	13-18	12-18	12-18	13-18	
Male, %	27.5 <sup>a</sup>	49.7 <sup>b</sup>	52.1 <sup>b</sup>	67.5 <sup>c</sup>	<.001
Race, %					<.001
White	68.7 <sup>a</sup>	75.0 <sup>b</sup>	66.1 <sup>a,c</sup>	61.8 <sup>c</sup>	
Black or African American	20.4 <sup>a</sup>	15.5 <sup>b</sup>	20.8 <sup>a,b</sup>	28.1 <sup>c</sup>	
American Indian or Native American	1.1 <sup>a</sup>	1.9 <sup>a</sup>	1.9 <sup>a</sup>	1.4 <sup>a</sup>	
Asian or Pacific Islander	3.2 <sup>a</sup>	4.0 <sup>a</sup>	3.5 <sup>a</sup>	3.2 <sup>a</sup>	
Other	6.5 <sup>a</sup>	3.6 <sup>b</sup>	7.6 <sup>a</sup>	5.5 <sup>a,b</sup>	
Completely urban residence, %	52.1 <sup>a</sup>	44.9 <sup>b</sup>	51.3 <sup>a,b</sup>	52.2 <sup>a</sup>	.01
Receiving public assistance, %	8.5 <sup>a</sup>	4.2 <sup>b</sup>	7.7 <sup>a,b</sup>	9.4 <sup>a</sup>	.002
Having enough money for bills, %	81.0 <sup>a</sup>	84.8 <sup>a,b</sup>	86.2 <sup>b</sup>	82.3 <sup>a,b</sup>	.01

# Duration of Video or Computer Game Use and Lifestyle Characteristics

The distribution of lifestyle characteristics of respondents by quartile of the duration of video games played per week is shown in Table 2. Respondents in the higher quartiles of the duration spent on video or computer games more frequently reported consuming dairy products (54.6%); bread, pasta, or rice (65%); and pastry products (25.6%) on the previous day. They were

also less likely to report not consuming fruit juice the previous day (49%). No association was found with vegetable consumption. Compared to those who reported playing video games, those who reported not playing them were more likely to report smoking (22%) and drug use (29%). No association was observed between video or computer gameplay and participation in a school club or physical education classes (proxy indicators of physical activity).

#### Lebby et al

 Table 2. Lifestyle characteristics of respondents by quartile of the duration of gameplay at enrollment. Values in the same row or category not sharing the same superscript are significantly different at P<.05 in the 2-sided test of equality for column proportions. Values with no superscript letters were not included in the test. Tests assume equal variances. Tests are adjusted for all pairwise comparisons within the rows in each subcategory using Bonferroni correction.

	Quartile of	Quartile of the duration of video game played per week				
	1	2	3	4		
Ate dairy products yesterday					<.001	
Did not eat	19.3 <sup>a</sup>	14.3 <sup>b</sup>	12.8 <sup>b</sup>	15.0 <sup>b</sup>		
Ate once	35.0 <sup>a</sup>	26.9 <sup>b</sup>	31.5 <sup>a,b</sup>	30.3 <sup>a,b</sup>		
Ate twice or more	45.6 <sup>a</sup>	58.8 <sup>b</sup>	55.7 <sup>b</sup>	54.6 <sup>b</sup>		
Ate fruit or fruit juice yesterday					.03	
Did not eat	23.6 <sup>a</sup>	17.4 <sup>b</sup>	20.8 <sup>a,b</sup>	20.1 <sup>a,b</sup>		
Ate once	30.3 <sup>a</sup>	32.6 <sup>a</sup>	32.6 <sup>a</sup>	30.9 <sup>a</sup>		
Ate twice or more	46.2 <sup>a</sup>	50.0 <sup>a</sup>	46.5 <sup>a</sup>	49.0 <sup>a</sup>		
Ate vegetables yesterday					.08	
Did not eat	32.5 <sup>a</sup>	26.8 <sup>b</sup>	31.4 <sup>a,b</sup>	30.2 <sup>a,b</sup>		
Ate once	39.1 <sup>a</sup>	44.0 <sup>a</sup>	37.5 <sup>a</sup>	40.9 <sup>a</sup>		
Ate twice or more	28.4 <sup>a</sup>	29.2 <sup>a</sup>	31.1 <sup>a</sup>	28.9 <sup>a</sup>		
Ate bread, pasta, or rice yesterday					.004	
Did not eat	8.9 <sup>a</sup>	6.7 <sup>a,b</sup>	7.1 <sup>a,b</sup>	5.1 <sup>b</sup>		
Ate once	31.2 <sup>a</sup>	27.4 <sup>a</sup>	29.6 <sup>a</sup>	30.0 <sup>a</sup>		
Ate twice or more	59.9 <sup>a</sup>	65.9 <sup>b</sup>	63.3 <sup>a,b</sup>	65.0 <sup>a,b</sup>		
Ate pastry products yesterday					<.001	
Did not eat	50.7 <sup>a</sup>	42.0 <sup>b</sup>	40.6 <sup>b</sup>	41.7 <sup>b</sup>		
Ate once	30.6 <sup>a</sup>	36.5 <sup>b</sup>	37.2 <sup>b</sup>	32.7 <sup>a,b</sup>		
Ate twice or more	18.7 <sup>a</sup>	21.6 <sup>a,b</sup>	22.2 <sup>a,b</sup>	25.6 <sup>b</sup>		
Regular cigarette smoking	22.0 <sup>a</sup>	15.0 <sup>b</sup>	16.8 <sup>b</sup>	17.6 <sup>a,b</sup>	<.001	
Drink alcohol >2-3 times	59.4 <sup>a</sup>	49.0 <sup>b</sup>	50.1 <sup>b</sup>	48.6 <sup>b</sup>	<.001	
Drug use	29.0 <sup>a</sup>	22.2 <sup>b</sup>	22.5 <sup>b</sup>	23.5 <sup>b</sup>	<.001	
Participation in any sports-related clubs at school	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	N/A <sup>c</sup>	
Days or week of physical education classes					.07	
0 days	43.7 <sup>a</sup>	36.7 <sup>a,b</sup>	34.57 <sup>a,b</sup>	33.9 <sup>b</sup>		
1 day	1.5 <sup>a</sup>	2.7 <sup>a,b</sup>	4.4 <sup>b</sup>	1.6 <sup>a,b</sup>		
2 days	5.4 <sup>a</sup>	7.0 <sup>a</sup>	6.8 <sup>a</sup>	4.4 <sup>a</sup>		
3 days	9.6 <sup>a</sup>	9.4 <sup>a</sup>	8.4 <sup>a</sup>	10.4 <sup>a</sup>		
4 days	1.7 <sup>a</sup>	1.2 <sup>a</sup>	1.2 <sup>a</sup>	2.0 <sup>a</sup>		
5 days	38.0 <sup>a</sup>	43.0 <sup>a,b</sup>	44.6 <sup>a,b</sup>	47.8 <sup>b</sup>		

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### Duration of Video or Computer Game Use and Health

The distribution of metabolic and health indicators among respondents by quartile of the duration of video game played per week is shown in Table 3. Quartile 4 respondents had a significantly higher BMI and were more likely to report having at least one of the evaluated metabolic disorders (obesity (BMI

>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), diabetes, high BP, and high cholesterol). The trend for an increased prevalence of high BP with increasing quartiles of video or computer game use was significant. A similar trend was observed for diabetes, though the association did not reach statistical significance. No significant association was observed between video or computer game use and the diagnosis of dyslipidemia, eating disorders, or depression.

**Table 3.** Metabolic and health indicators at wave 5 by quartile of the duration of gameplay at enrollment. Values in the same row or category not sharing the same superscript are significantly different at P<.05 in the 2-sided test of equality for column proportions. Values with no superscript letters were not included in the test. Tests assume equal variances. Tests are adjusted for all pairwise comparisons within the rows in each subcategory using Bonferroni correction.

	Quartile of the duration of video game played per week				
	1 (n=1986)	2 (n=672)	3 (n=720)	4 (n=812)	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), median (95% CI)	28.4 (28.2-29.1) <sup>a</sup>	27.5 (27.3-28.3) <sup>a</sup>	28.1 (27.4-29.0) <sup>a</sup>	29.5 (29.1-30.1) <sup>b</sup>	<.001
BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> , %	42.8 <sup>a</sup>	37.2 <sup>a</sup>	38.3 <sup>a</sup>	47.1 <sup>b</sup>	<.001
Any one metabolic disorder, %	54.2 <sup>a</sup>	50.7 <sup>a</sup>	52.8 <sup>a</sup>	60.3 <sup>b</sup>	.001
Ever diagnosed with diabetes, %	5.5 <sup>a</sup>	5.2 <sup>a</sup>	6.3 <sup>a</sup>	7.4 <sup>a</sup>	.20
Ever diagnosed with high BP, %	16.8 <sup>a</sup>	19.9 <sup>a,b</sup>	21.7 <sup>b</sup>	22.5 <sup>b,c</sup>	.001
Ever diagnosed with hyperlipidemia, %	16.6 <sup>a</sup>	17.8 <sup>a</sup>	17.7 <sup>a</sup>	19.7 <sup>a</sup>	.28
Ever diagnosed with depression, %	26.8 <sup>a</sup>	23.5 <sup>a</sup>	23.8 <sup>a</sup>	23.7 <sup>a</sup>	.14
Ever diagnosed with eating disorder, %	2.2 <sup>a</sup>	1.2 <sup>a</sup>	1.0 <sup>a</sup>	1.5 <sup>a</sup>	.08

# Relationship Between Duration of Video or Computer Game Use and Health Indicators

In brief, the odds for the presence of any metabolic abnormality, obesity, or diabetes were significantly higher in the highest quartile compared to the lowest quartile of video and computer game use at enrollment. Quartile 4 (highest duration spent) compared to quartile 1 (lowest duration; this quartile reportedly did not play these games) had 23%, 27%, and 63% higher odds of reporting or having a metabolic abnormality, obesity, or diabetes, respectively.

# Video or Computer Game Use and Metabolic Abnormalities

In the unadjusted model, every additional hour reportedly spent playing video games per week increased the odds of metabolic abnormalities by 1% (odds ratio [OR] 1.014, 95% CI 1.004-1.025). The relationship remained significant when adjusted for sociodemographic variables (age, sex, and race; OR 1.016, 95% CI 1.005-1.028) and additionally for socioeconomic indicators (OR 1.015, 95% CI 1.003-1.028). However, the association was not significant in the fully adjusted model.

# Video or Computer Game Use and Obesity

In the unadjusted model, every additional hour reported to have been spent on playing video games per week increased the odds of obesity by approximately 1% (OR 1.013, 95% CI 1.003-1.023). When adjusted for sociodemographic variables (age, sex, and race), the strength of the association increased (OR 1.019, 95% CI 1.008-1.030). On additional adjustments for factors such as socioeconomic indicators, the association

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44920

remained significant (OR 1.017, 95% CI 1.005-1.029). The relationship remained statistically significant even when the current lifestyle of the respondents and cluster sampling were accounted for (OR 1.016, 95% CI 1.003-1.029). However, such a significant association was not found with quartiles of video game playing duration in the final model.

# Video or Computer Game Use and Diabetes

In the crude model, the duration of playing video games was not associated with diabetes incidence. However, when adjusted for sociodemographic variables (age, sex, and race; OR 1.020, 95% CI 1.004-1.037) and additionally for socioeconomic indicators (OR 1.019, 95% CI 1.002-1.037), the associations became significant. The association was attenuated and no longer statistically significant when the final model estimates were adjusted for current lifestyle (OR 1.011, 95% CI 0.991-1.031). Similarly, no significant association was found between quartiles of video game playing duration and the incidence of diabetes in the final model.

# Video or Computer Game Use, High BP, and High Blood Cholesterol

The associations between video or computer game use, high BP, and high blood cholesterol were much less evident. While compared to those in Q1 (those who did not play the games), Q2, 3, and 4 had higher odds of reporting high BP or high blood cholesterol, a linear dose-response relationship was absent.

#### Video or Computer Game Use and Chronic Disease

Chronic disease was described as reporting any one of the following conditions: heart disease, kidney disease, stroke, and heart failure at wave 5. No association was observed between

XSL•FO RenderX

the risk for the prevalence of a chronic disease and the duration of video or computer game use (Table 4).

A supplementary analysis that adjusted for current obesity in evaluating the association between video or computer game use and cardiometabolic risks is presented in Multimedia Appendix 1. The results remained unaltered in this analysis.

Lebby et al

Table 4. Association between duration of gameplay in adolescence (wave 1) and subsequent metabolic abnormality diagnosis (wave 5).<sup>a</sup>

Diagnosis and duration of video game use	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
(hours/week)	<b>•</b>			··
Any one of the metabolic disorders				
Quartile 1	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Quartile 2, OR (95% CI)	0.871 (0.731-1.038)	0.897 (0.745-1.080)	0.845 0.692-1.031)	1.348 (1.087-1.671)
Quartile 3, OR (95% CI)	0.945 (0.797-1.121)	0.963 (.802-1.155)	1.015 (0.833-1.237)	1.111 (0.879-1.404)
Quartile 4, OR (95% CI)	1.287 (1.090-1.519)	1.315 (1.094-1.580)	1.240 (1.018-1.510)	0.941(0.735-1.205)
<i>P</i> value	.001	.002	.03	.70
$R^2$	0.005	0.017	0.013	0.063
Continuous, OR (95% CI)	1.014 (1.004-1.025)	1.016 (1.005-1.028)	1.015 (1.003-1.028)	1.012 (0.998-1.026))
<i>P</i> value	.006	.005	.01	.09
$R^2$	0.003	0.015	0.024	0.060
Obesity				
Quartile 1	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Quartile 2, OR (95% CI)	0.792 (0.660-0.950)	0.856 (0.706-1.037)	0.818 (0.664-1.007)	0.736 (0.594-0.911)
Quartile 3, OR (95% CI)	0.831 (0.697-0.990)	0.871 (0.722-1.050)	0.892 (0.729-1.092)	0.857(0.679-1.083)
Quartile 4, OR (95% CI)	1.189 (1.008-1.403)	1.319 (1.098-1.585)	1.263 (1.037-1.539)	1.144 (0.897-1.460)
<i>P</i> value	<.001	<.001	.002	.88
$R^2$	0.006	0.014	0.021	0.076
Continuous, OR (95% CI)	1.013 (1.003-1.023)	1.019 (1.008-1.030)	1.017 (1.005-1.029)	1.016 (1.003-1.029)
<i>P</i> value	.009	.001	.004	.02
$R^2$	0.002	0.011	0.019	0.073
Diabetes				
Quartile 1	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Quartile 2, OR (95% CI)	0.792 (0.660-0.950)	0.856 (0.706-1.037)	0.818 (0.664-1.007)	1.155 (0.620-2.152)
Quartile 3, OR (95% CI)	0.831 (0.697-0.990)	0.871 (0.722-1.050)	0.892 (0.729-1.092)	1.278(0.806-2.026)
Quartile 4, OR (95% CI)	1.189 (1.008-1.403)	1.319 (1.018-1.585)	1.263 (1.037-1.539)	1.356(0.823-2.235)
<i>P</i> value	<.001	<.001	.002	.46
$R^2$	0.006	0.014	0.021	0.023
Continuous, OR (95% CI)	1.015 (0.999-1.031)	1.020 (1.004-1.037)	1.019 (1.002-1.037)	1.011 (0.991-1.031)
<i>P</i> value	.06	.02	.03	.29
$R^2$	0.002	0.007	0.008	0.022
High BP				
Quartile 1	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Quartile 2, OR (95% CI)	1.229 (0.983-1.537)	1.178 (0.926-1.499)	1.158 (0.892-1.504)	1.114(0.827-1.502)
Quartile 3, OR (95% CI)	1.372 (1.109-1.698)	1.319 (1.048-1.661)	1.419 (1.108-1.817)	1.291(0.924-1.806)
Quartile 4, OR (95% CI)	1.432 (1.169-1.755)	1.217 (0.967-1.531)	1.145 (0.891-1.471)	0.969(0.723-1.289)
<i>P</i> value	.001	.09	.05	.92
$R^2$	0.006	0.023	0.027	0.047
Continuous, OR (95% CI)	1.013 (1.002-1.024)	1.007 (0.995-1.019)	1.006 (0.993-1.019)	1.002(0.982-1.023)
<i>P</i> value	.01	.27	.38	.84
$R^2$	0.002	0.021	0.024	0.044

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44920

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e44920 | p.619 (page number not for citation purposes)

JMIR PEDIATRICS	AND PARENTING
-----------------	---------------

Diagnosis and duration of video game use (hours/week)	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
High blood cholesterol	•			
Quartile 1	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Quartile 2, OR (95% CI)	1.090 (0.865-1.373)	1.059 (0.827-1.357)	1.027 (0.785-1.343)	1.024(0.751-1.397)
Quartile 3, OR (95% CI)	1.079 (0.861-1.351)	1.052 (0.825-1.339)	1.096 (0.845-1.420)	1.152)
Quartile 4, OR (95% CI)	1.232 (0.998-1.520)	1.139 (0.900-1.441)	1.164 (0.904-1.498)	1.197(0.882-1.624)
P value	.28	.76	.67	.76
$R^2$	0.001	0.012	0.013	0.017
Continuous, OR (95% CI)	1.004 (0.992-1.016)	1.002 (0.989-1.016)	1.005 (0.991-1.018)	1.007(0.989-1.026)
P value	.48	.73	.48	.44
$R^2$	0.000	0.011	0.012	0.017
Chronic disease				
Quartile 1	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Quartile 2, OR (95% CI)	0.842 (0.441-1.610)	0.889 (0.442-1.785)	1.045 (0.499-2.191)	0.820(0.306-2.199)
Quartile 3, OR (95% CI)	1.044 (0.583-1.870)	1.093 (0.583-2.050)	1.198 (0.606-2.366)	0.933 (0.432-2.014)
Quartile 4, OR (95% CI)	1.529 (0.931-2.511)	1.493 (0.837-2.662)	1.538 (0.815-2.904)	1.050 (0.428-2.575)
<i>P</i> value	.26	.46	.59	.06
$R^2$	0.05	0.008	0.023	0.050
Continuous, OR (95% CI)	1.025 (1.005-1.044)	1.028 (1.007-1.048)	1.039 (1.014-1.066)	1.014(0.975-1.054)
P value	.01	.007	.003	.48
$R^2$	0.006	0.012	0.041	0.052

<sup>a</sup>The multivariate logistic regression (enter) method was applied. Metabolic abnormality was defined as having been diagnosed with any one of the following: obesity, diabetes, high BP, and high cholesterol at wave 5. Metabolic disease was defined as having been diagnosed with any one of the following: heart disease, kidney disease, stroke, and heart failure at wave 5. Model 1 was an unadjusted model; model 2 was adjusted for demography (age, race, and sex); model 3 was adjusted for demography and socioeconomic characteristics (public assistance and money for bills); model 4 was adjusted for demography, socioeconomic characteristics, current lifestyle (cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, sedentariness, and fast food intake at wave 5) and the clustering effect. No interaction or collinearity between covariates were found.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The objective of this study was to examine the prevalence of video and computer game use among US adolescents and assess its association with obesity and associated metabolic disorders longitudinally. Respondents who played the most video and computer games at enrollment had a significantly higher BMI and were more likely to report having at least one of the evaluated metabolic disorders (obesity, ie, BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; diabetes; high BP; and high cholesterol) than those who did not report playing games over the 2 decades of follow-up. No significant association was observed for diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, eating disorders, or depression.

The associations between video and computer game use and obesity are of public health importance. The raw mean difference in BMI between the lowest and highest quartiles of video game use was approximately  $1 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . It is estimated that the odds of developing type 2 diabetes per unit increase in BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) range between 1.19 and 1.38 [9]. Possible explanations for the relationship between video games and a significantly

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44920

RenderX

higher BMI include sedentary behavior, increased food intake during video game sessions, and insufficient sleep [10,11]. However, current literature suggests there is an inconsistent relationship between video games and obesity [12]. We acknowledge that obesity has a multifactorial etiology and requires a multipronged approach to effectively prevent and manage the epidemic in several populations [13,14]. The fully adjusted model evaluating the association between the duration of video game use (hours/week) and obesity accounts for approximately 7% of the variation in the outcome. While each factor may account for a small variance, identifying variables that are associated with the long-term development of obesity will aid in individualizing strategies for the prevention and treatment of obesity. Further research is needed on the role video games play in obesity-related behaviors.

It is noted that obesity usually precedes the development of metabolic abnormalities. This could explain why the association of video and computer game use with obesity was statistically significant, but the trend did not reach statistical significance for other metabolic disorders. The trend for an increased prevalence of high BP with increasing video or computer games aligns with current literature [15]. Elevated BP as an adolescent

is associated with CVD outcomes as an adult [16]. Similar to the association between video games and BMI, video games may increase BP through increased food intake while playing and a lack of sleep [10,11]. Further, BP may be elevated due to the excitement, stress, and concentration needed for effective gaming [15]. Further research is needed on separating obesity-related behaviors from the stress-inducing behaviors of video and computer game play.

Similarly, there was an observed potential for an increased likelihood of diabetes, which did not reach statistical significance. Current literature suggests inconsistent findings exist on the relationship between video games and diabetes. One cross-sectional study of adolescents aged 14-18 years (n=307) found no association between video games and an elevated risk of diabetes [17], and another pilot study (n=12) found video games to induce a state of excitation sufficient to activate the sympathetic system and alter the course of glycemia in children with type 1 diabetes [18]. Similar to an increase in BP, excitation, leading to mental and physical stress, may contribute to the increase in blood glucose. Due to the inconsistency in the findings, more research is needed to determine the direction of the association between diabetes and video and computer games.

No significant association was observed between video or computer game use and the diagnosis of dyslipidemia, eating disorders, or depression. Current literature has mixed findings on the relationship between video and computer games and depression. One study (n=126) found mobile phone and TV viewing were associated with higher levels of depression a year later [19]. However, video game play was unrelated. Another study found video game playing ( $\beta$ =.13, P<.001) and computer use ( $\beta$ =.17, P<.001) were associated with more severe depressive symptoms [5]. No known studies are looking at the association of video game play with eating disorders (anorexia nervosa or bulimia). However, one study looks at the use of video games to treat bulimia. There are no studies currently associating dyslipidemia and video games, however, there is evidence that dyslipidemia is observed in obese and overweight youth [17].

# Limitations

The Add Health study is robust, yet the limitations of large databases and secondary data analyses are present. First, the

quantification of exposures and outcomes is accurate within the limitations of the self-reported nature of this data. Second, the long retrospective period of this study is both to its benefit and a potential limitation. With more than 20 years between exposure (wave 1) and outcome (wave 5), there is adequate time to assess the development of the outcomes of interest into adulthood; however, this also opens the study up to more than 20 years of unmeasured confounding and loss to follow-up. However, this does not diminish the observed association. Third, in our categorization of video game use, quartile 1 included all respondents who reported that they did not play video games at enrollment. This approximately represented 48% of the respondents. The rest of the respondents were distributed between the remaining quartiles, resulting in a skewed distribution of respondents among the quartiles. We also acknowledge that the available data does not allow for a trajectory analysis of important confounders such as diet and physical activity. Thus, this analysis assumes that these variables were stable during the course of the follow-up and that residual confounding cannot be discounted. Finally, video game technology as well as social understanding around the topic has greatly changed in the past 20 years. These limitations, however, highlight areas for future study, as the vast majority of them are related to the secondary data source used. A purpose-built study design and data collection would address these limitations and help to examine the relationship found.

#### Conclusions

The frequency of video and computer game use in adolescents aged 12 to 19 years is longitudinally associated with obesity, with trends for higher prevalence of diabetes, high BP, and high cholesterol after 20 years of follow-up. Adolescents who play the most video and computer games have a significantly higher BMI in adulthood. They are more likely to have developed at least one of the evaluated metabolic disorders: diabetes, high BP, and high cholesterol. Obesity, diabetes, high BP, or high cholesterol are all modifiable health conditions. As such, public health interventions designed to target modifiable disease states through health promotion and self-management may support the health of adolescents aged 12 to 19 years. Potentially, video and computer games can integrate health promotion interventions into gameplay. This is an important area for future research as video and computer games are integrated into the lives of adolescents.

#### Acknowledgments

KLF was funded by a National Institute of Mental Health K01 award (K01MH117496).

# **Conflicts of Interest**

KLF offers consulting services through Social Wellness and partners with Emissary Health, Inc.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Association between duration of gameplay in adolescence (wave 1) and subsequent metabolic abnormality diagnosis (wave 5), controlling for current BMI.

[DOCX File, 24 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44920\_app1.docx]



# References

- 1. Lenhart A. Teens, technology and friendships. Pew Research Center. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/</u> 2015/08/06/teens-technology-and-friendships/ [accessed 2022-05-29]
- Katzmarzyk PT, Powell KE, Jakicic JM, Troiano RP, Piercy K, Tennant B, 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. Sedentary behavior and health: update from the 2018 physical activity guidelines advisory committee. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2019;51(6):1227-1241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001935] [Medline: 31095080]
- 3. Carter S, Hartman Y, Holder S, Thijssen DH, Hopkins ND. Sedentary behavior and cardiovascular disease risk: mediating mechanisms. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2017;45(2):80-86. [doi: 10.1249/JES.000000000000106] [Medline: 28118158]
- 4. Tripathi M, Mishra SK. Screen time and adiposity among children and adolescents: a systematic review. J Public Health (Berl.) 2020;28(3):227-244. [doi: 10.1007/s10389-019-01043-x]
- 5. Maras D, Flament MF, Murray M, Buchholz A, Henderson KA, Obeid N, et al. Screen time is associated with depression and anxiety in Canadian youth. Prev Med 2015;73:133-138. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.029</u>] [Medline: <u>25657166</u>]
- 6. Santos BF, Oliveira HN, Miranda AES, Hermsdorff HHM, Bressan J, Vieira JCM, et al. Research quality assessment: reliability and validation of the self-reported diagnosis of depression for participants of the Cohort of Universities of Minas Gerais (CUME project). J Affect Disord Rep 2021;6:100238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100238]
- Moradpour F, Piri N, Dehghanbanadaki H, Moradi G, Fotouk-Kiai M, Moradi Y. Socio-demographic correlates of diabetes self-reporting validity: a study on the adult Kurdish population. BMC Endocr Disord 2022;22(1):139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12902-022-01056-w] [Medline: <u>35619088</u>]
- Keski-Rahkonen A, Sihvola E, Raevuori A, Kaukoranta J, Bulik CM, Hoek HW, et al. Reliability of self-reported eating disorders: optimizing population screening. Int J Eat Disord 2006;39(8):754-762. [doi: <u>10.1002/eat.20277</u>] [Medline: <u>16937380</u>]
- Corbin LJ, Richmond RC, Wade KH, Burgess S, Bowden J, Smith GD, et al. BMI as a modifiable risk factor for type 2 diabetes: refining and understanding causal estimates using mendelian randomization. Diabetes 2016;65(10):3002-3007 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/db16-0418] [Medline: 27402723]
- Chaput JP, Visby T, Nyby S, Klingenberg L, Gregersen NT, Tremblay A, et al. Video game playing increases food intake in adolescents: a randomized crossover study. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;93(6):1196-1203. [doi: <u>10.3945/ajcn.110.008680</u>] [Medline: <u>21490141</u>]
- 11. Turel O, Romashkin A, Morrison KM. A model linking video gaming, sleep quality, sweet drinks consumption and obesity among children and youth. Clin Obes 2017;7(4):191-198. [doi: 10.1111/cob.12191] [Medline: 28320073]
- Kracht CL, Joseph ED, Staiano AE. Video games, obesity, and children. Curr Obes Rep 2020;9(1):1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13679-020-00368-z] [Medline: 32077041]
- Marcos-Pasero H, Colmenarejo G, Aguilar-Aguilar E, de Molina AR, Reglero G, Loria-Kohen V. Ranking of a wide multidomain set of predictor variables of children obesity by machine learning variable importance techniques. Sci Rep 2021;11(1):1910 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-81205-8] [Medline: <u>33479310</u>]
- 14. Rippe JM, Crossley S, Ringer R. Obesity as a chronic disease: modern medical and lifestyle management. J Am Diet Assoc 1998;98(10 Suppl 2):S9-S15. [doi: 10.1016/s0002-8223(98)00704-4] [Medline: 9787730]
- 15. Goldfield GS, Kenny GP, Hadjiyannakis S, Phillips P, Alberga AS, Saunders TJ, et al. Video game playing is independently associated with blood pressure and lipids in overweight and obese adolescents. PLoS One 2011;6(11):e26643 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026643] [Medline: 22069461]
- Yang L, Magnussen CG, Yang L, Bovet P, Xi B. Elevated blood pressure in childhood or adolescence and cardiovascular outcomes in adulthood: a systematic review. Hypertension 2020;75(4):948-955. [doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.14168] [Medline: 32114851]
- Goldfield GS, Saunders TJ, Kenny GP, Hadjiyannakis S, Phillips P, Alberga AS, et al. Screen viewing and diabetes risk factors in overweight and obese adolescents. Am J Prev Med 2013;44(4 Suppl 4):S364-S370. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.11.040] [Medline: 23498300]
- Phan-Hug F, Thurneysen E, Theintz G, Ruffieux C, Grouzmann E. Impact of videogame playing on glucose metabolism in children with type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes 2011;12(8):713-717. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1399-5448.2011.00770.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21564452</u>]
- Bickham DS, Hswen Y, Rich M. Media use and depression: exposure, household rules, and symptoms among young adolescents in the USA. Int J Public Health 2015;60(2):147-155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00038-014-0647-6] [Medline: 25586816]

# Abbreviations

Add Health: Adolescent to Adult Health BP: blood pressure CVD: cardiovascular disease OR: odds ratio



```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44920
```

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 08.12.22; peer-reviewed by T Baranowski, A Sevic; comments to author 27.01.23; revised version received 20.03.23; accepted 03.04.23; published 06.07.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lebby SR, Shyam S, Ramadas A, Bohm AR, Hill JC, Fortuna KL, Zoltick SR Prospective Association Between Video and Computer Game Use During Adolescence and Incidence of Metabolic Health Risks: Secondary Data Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44920 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44920 doi:10.2196/44920 PMID:37410530

©Stephanie R Lebby, Sangeetha Shyam, Amutha Ramadas, Andrew R Bohm, Julia C Hill, Karen L Fortuna, Stephanie R Zoltick. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 06.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# An Individualized Postoperative Pain Risk Communication Tool for Use in Pediatric Surgery: Co-Design and Usability Evaluation

Michael D Wood<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Nicholas C West<sup>2</sup>, MSc; Christina Fokkens<sup>2,3</sup>, BA, BEd; Ying Chen<sup>2,3</sup>, BA; Kent C Loftsgard<sup>4</sup>; Krystal Cardinal<sup>2</sup>, BSc; Simon D Whyte<sup>1,2</sup>, MBBS, FRCA, FRCPC; Elodie Portales-Casamar<sup>2,5</sup>, PhD; Matthias Görges<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD

<sup>2</sup>Research Institute, BC Children's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Patient Partner, Vancouver, BC, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Matthias Görges, PhD Research Institute BC Children's Hospital Rm V3-324, 950 West 28th Ave Vancouver, BC, V5Z 4H4 Canada Phone: 1 6048752000 ext 5616 Email: <u>mgoerges@bcchr.ca</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Risk identification and communication tools have the potential to improve health care by supporting clinician-patient or family discussion of treatment risks and benefits and helping patients make more informed decisions; however, they have yet to be tailored to pediatric surgery. User-centered design principles can help to ensure the successful development and uptake of health care tools.

**Objective:** We aimed to develop and evaluate the usability of an easy-to-use tool to communicate a child's risk of postoperative pain to improve informed and collaborative preoperative decision-making between clinicians and families.

**Methods:** With research ethics board approval, we conducted web-based co-design sessions with clinicians and family participants (people with lived surgical experience and parents of children who had recently undergone a surgical or medical procedure) at a tertiary pediatric hospital. Qualitative data from these sessions were analyzed thematically using NVivo (Lumivero) to identify design requirements to inform the iterative redesign of an existing prototype. We then evaluated the usability of our final prototype in one-to-one sessions with a new group of participants, in which we measured mental workload with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Task Load Index (TLX) and user satisfaction with the Post-Study System Usability Questionnaire (PSSUQ).

**Results:** A total of 12 participants (8 clinicians and 4 family participants) attended 5 co-design sessions. The 5 requirements were identified: (A) present risk severity descriptively and visually; (B) ensure appearance and navigation are user-friendly; (C) frame risk identification and mitigation strategies in positive terms; (D) categorize and describe risks clearly; and (E) emphasize collaboration and effective communication. A total of 12 new participants (7 clinicians and 5 family participants) completed a usability evaluation. Tasks were completed quickly (range 5-17 s) and accurately (range 11/12, 92% to 12/12, 100%), needing only 2 requests for assistance. The median (IQR) NASA TLX performance score of 78 (66-89) indicated that participants felt able to perform the required tasks, and an overall PSSUQ score of 2.1 (IQR 1.5-2.7) suggested acceptable user satisfaction with the tool.

**Conclusions:** The key design requirements were identified, and that guided the prototype redesign, which was positively evaluated during usability testing. Implementing a personalized risk communication tool into pediatric surgery can enhance the care process and improve informed and collaborative presurgical preparation and decision-making between clinicians and families of pediatric patients.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Anesthesiology Pharmacology & Therapeutics, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>School of Information, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Centre de recherche, Centre Hospitalier universitaire Sainte-Justine, Montreal, QC, Canada

#### **KEYWORDS**

eHealth; risk communication; decision aid; pain; individualized risk; surgery; anesthesia; postoperative; risk; co-design; focus group; requirement definition; prototyping; usability; prototype; child; pediatric; decision support; iterative

# Introduction

Surgery poses a substantial risk for postoperative pain, with roughly 1 in 5 children experiencing pain 12 months following surgery [1], which can have detrimental consequences on their long-term well-being and future care-seeking behaviors [2]. The discovery of factors that increase the risk of postoperative pain (eg, anxiety, poor pain coping skills, and pain catastrophizing) [1-6] and the development of prehabilitation plans (eg, improved nutrition and exercise) [7-11] presents an opportunity to improve postoperative outcomes (eg, reduced length of stay [12] and reduced pain [13]). However, these risk factors and potential mitigation are not always communicated clearly and consistently in line with the information needs of the patients and their families [14]. Consequently, researchers are developing a risk identification and communication tools to improve information-sharing with patients and to improve care [15], with some initial success (eg, improved comprehension of procedure-associated risks) [16]. This work has all been focused on adult patients, but there is a clear need to extend this approach to pediatric surgery [14].

Furthermore, the development of health risk communication tools has typically not applied user-centered design principles [16,17]. Participatory design techniques, such as co-design focus groups, can directly incorporate stakeholders throughout development and ensure end user needs are addressed in the design process [18]. Engaging end users has several benefits: access to tacit knowledge and improved knowledge generation [19]; more profound understanding of user needs through examining visual overviews and written communication between users [20-22]; improved design of research materials; and improved quality of service, including a better fit between user needs and the service provided, and increased trust during participation in clinical trials [23,24]. These benefits can all potentially increase the generalizability of results [25]. Hence, incorporating primary end users' feedback into the development process is imperative to creating easy-to-use and effective risk communication tools and their successful uptake in clinical practice.

Aligned with the BC Children's Hospital's (BCCH) continued priority of improving pediatric pain management [3] and patient-centered care [4], our research program aims to (1) contribute to the efforts to minimize postoperative pain and to reduce pain medication requirements, specifically opioids and (2) generalize from the specific use case of pediatric postsurgical pain to develop a range of risk prediction communication tools pertinent to other clinical scenarios. In a previous study, we established the design requirements for a pediatric postoperative pain risk visualization tool, which guided the development of the initial prototype for an easy-to-use tool targeted at clinicians and family users [26]. Our preliminary prototype design was guided by our expected end users' requirements and included

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46785
```

the nonthreatening and multimodal presentation of risk, an estimation of risk factors' contribution, and mitigation strategies to decrease the patient's level of risk [26].

The purpose of this study was to further develop and evaluate our preliminary pediatric postoperative pain risk communication prototype before implementing it into clinical practice. Hence, we aimed to (1) acquire additional design requirements from both sets of expected end users (clinicians and family members) through a critique of our preliminary design and a series of co-design activities and (2) evaluate the usability of the redesigned prototype through role-play based on low- and high-risk clinical scenarios and follow-up with standardized usability questionnaires.

# Methods

#### **Study Design and Approval**

We conducted a two-stage study: (1) small group co-design over 2 sessions, followed by (2) individual usability evaluation sessions. Both stages were conducted with BCCH clinicians and family participants, including parents whose children had previously undergone surgery and adults with lived pediatric surgical experience.

#### Participants

We recruited BCCH attending physicians and nurse practitioners via departmental email distribution lists, parents via BCCH patient experience email lists and in-person invitations in the anesthetic care unit, and adults with previous childhood surgery via a provincial research network platform (REACH BC). A trained research team member described the study in detail and acquired written informed consent or web-based informed consent using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap, Vanderbilt University) [27,28]. In our report, parents and adults with pediatric surgical experience are collectively referred to as "family participant(s)" to protect their privacy. All participants were remunerated CAD \$25 (US \$19.50) per hour for their expertise and time. The co-design sessions included a mixture of family participants and clinicians. Usability evaluation sessions were individual, and participants in these sessions had not previously participated in co-design.

#### **Data Collection**

#### **Overview**

A brief prestudy questionnaire, administered via REDCap, collected participants' demographic information. A total of 2 research team members with expertise in qualitative methods conducted 5 web-based co-design and 12 usability testing sessions between December 2021 and August 2022 using Zoom (Zoom Video Communications); 2 researchers cofacilitated each session (MDW along with CF or YC). The researchers briefly introduced the session, including an overview of the

XSL•FO RenderX

research program, described the co-design or usability evaluation process to illustrate the intended purpose of each activity, and conducted an icebreaker activity to increase participant comfort. Panels of approximately 3-5 family participants or 3-5 clinicians were targeted for each co-design session; usability evaluation sessions had 1 participant each.

All sessions were conducted web-based, so participants were required to have an internet connection, access to an electronic device with a camera, and proficiency in English. Co-design sessions lasted approximately 60 minutes each, were audio-recorded, and digitally transcribed; usability testing sessions lasted approximately 45 minutes each. Participant names were replaced by sequential identifiers, and transcripts were verified by a research team member (CF or YC).

#### **Co-Design Iteration 1**

Participants were given 4 minutes to rapidly sketch 4 distinct pain risk scores to evaluate potential design approaches and visualization strategies. Next, each participant completed a wireframing exercise in turn, in which each participant was presented with empty rectangular text boxes indicating the prototype sections (demographics, risk factors, and mitigation strategies) and risk score examples (bar chart, pie chart, line plot, people count arrays, thermometer, or fuel gauge). They were then instructed to place the 3 prototype sections and 1 risk score into an empty canvas to indicate their preferences for placement, positioning, and sizing of each section. Finally, participants were shown our initial prototype [26] (Figure 1A) and prompted to critically evaluate the design. Data from the first round of co-design sessions were used to generate redesign themes and requirements.

Figure 1. Redesign of the risk score prototype from requirements identified during the first co-design session. (A) The initial prototype [26]. (B) The redesigned prototype. Text in green boxes describes key design requirements identified from thematic analysis (see Table 1).



# **Co-Design Iteration 2**

Participants were invited to return for a second co-design session to elicit additional design requirements and visualization preferences to inform iterative prototype development. They were also asked to provide feedback on low- and high-risk clinical scenarios (including the corresponding risk score visualization) to be used during the usability evaluation sessions, specifically to comment on the scenario's accuracy, understandability, realistic representation of patient risk, and whether they had any final suggestions.

# Usability Evaluation

Pilot usability testing sessions were conducted to confirm the applicability and feasibility of using the proposed low- and

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46785
```

high-risk scenarios and to ensure the appropriateness of the interview questions before formal testing sessions. Then, an additional cohort of family participants and clinicians, who did not participate in any previous session, was recruited for usability evaluation.

Each participant was asked to identify information in the various prototype sections, for which we recorded time and accuracy. Specifically, they were asked to complete four tasks: (1) identify key demographic information (patient's visit number and diagnosis date), (2) report the patient's likelihood (and uncertainty) of developing postoperative pain if they did not adopt any team strategies to reduce its risk, (3) identify the patient's risk factor that has the highest contribution to the patient's overall chance of developing postoperative pain, and

XSL•FO RenderX

(4) indicate what the patient's chance of developing postoperative pain is if the patient adopts the identified team risk-reduction strategies. This list of tasks was informed by the design team and our patient and clinical partners and was confirmed with study participants during the second co-design session.

Participants were then asked to role-play and "think aloud" through both the low-risk (inguinal hernia) and high-risk (scoliosis correction) scenarios (see Multimedia Appendix 1). Clinicians were asked to state how they would use the tool to communicate risk scores and team risk-reduction strategies to the patients' families; family participants were asked to state how they would explain their child's condition to their spouse or child. The order in which the low- and high-risk scenarios were presented to participants was alternated to minimize order effects. Task completion time, the accuracy of prototype interpretation, and the participants' decision-making processes were recorded and analyzed. At the end of each session, we measured participants' mental workload with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Task Load Index (TLX) [29] and user satisfaction with the Post-Study System Usability Questionnaire (PSSUQ) [30]. Both were administered via REDCap [28].

#### **Data Analysis**

Session transcripts were analyzed with NVivo, and results were summarized using a thematic analysis [31]. The 2 research team members (MDW along with CF or YC) independently reviewed the 2 transcripts. They used inductive coding [32] to develop a preliminary list of thematic codes organized by theme, subtheme, and participant type [33]. These researchers then compared interpretations and developed consistent codes, which were applied to the remaining 3 transcripts using deductive coding [32]. The 3 researchers discussed additional themes that emerged after coding these remaining transcripts, resolved any discrepancies, and modified the coding framework to ensure that the key concepts were captured. For co-design, a saturation criterion was implemented [34]; specifically, the 2 research team members (MDW along with CF or YC) determined that similar comments and concerns were repeatedly discussed and that data saturation had occurred.

Our prototype was developed using an iterative process in which the research team created, discussed, and revised the prototype using Figma (Figma Inc). Prominent themes emerging from co-design sessions were then used to generate design themes and requirements for prototype redesign.

For the usability evaluation, quantitative data for task completion times, workload, and user perceptions were summarized as median (IQR) values using R (R Core Team). Task accuracies and requests for assistance were summarized as counts and percentages.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethical approval was obtained from the University of British Columbia or Children's & Women's Health Centre of British Columbia Research Ethics Board (H20-00613; date of approval 2020-10-20; Principal Investigator: MG). Findings are reported following the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research checklist [35].

# Results

### **Participant Demographics**

A total of 12 participants, including 8 clinicians (3 nurse practitioners and 5 anesthesiologists) and 4 family participants attended 5 co-design sessions with a mix of 3-5 clinical and family participants in each session; 12 participants, including 7 clinicians (1 registered nurse, 5 anesthesiologists, and 1 surgeon) and 5 family participants evaluated the usability of our prototype. Family participants were: 6/9 (67%) female; 3/9 (33%) over the age of 49; and 6/9 (67%) with either a certificate (university or nonuniversity) or university degree, and 3/9 (33%) with a high school diploma (or equivalent). Clinicians were female (8/15, 53%), older than 49 years (7/15, 47%), in practice for more than 5 years (10/15, 67%), and clinical fellows (2/15, 13%).

#### **Co-Design Sessions**

#### Overview

Through 2 rounds of co-design sessions, we identified requirements for (1) presentation and usability of the visualization tool, (2) identifying and categorizing risks and mitigation strategies, and (3) supporting collaboration and communication. We present them in detail below.

#### Presentation and Usability of the Visualization Tool

The key themes from the first co-design sessions were that the tool should (A) present risk severity descriptively and visually and (B) ensure that the appearance and navigation are user-friendly (Table 1). Most participants strongly preferred including a descriptive representation of risk severity (from "low" to "high"; design requirement R1.1, Table 1). To represent risk graphically, family participants typically drew child-friendly symbols and real-world objects, such as traffic lights or a race car on a track (R1.2). At the same time, clinicians preferred more traditional graphical representations, such as bar or pie charts (R1.3). This conflict was resolved by incorporating both views in the final set of requirements (R1.2 and R1.3). We were encouraged to change our original circular charts for risk factors and mitigation strategies (Figure 1A) to "fishbowls" for a more child-friendly tone, with the water level representing risk percentage (R1.2; Figure 1B).



Wood et al

Table 1. Summary of design requirements obtained from iterative co-design sessions.

	• •	<u> </u>			
Design requirement theme	Require	ements elicited during the first co-design session	Requirements elicited during the second co-design session		
	ID	Specific design requirement	ID	Specific design requirement	
(A) Present risk severit	ty descri	ptively and visually			
	R1.1	Communicate risk severity descriptively (eg, "low" or "high")	N/A <sup>a</sup>	N/A	
	R1.3	Visualize continuum of risk level			
(B) Ensure appearance	e and nav	vigation are user-friendly			
	R1.2	Use real-world symbols to increase user-friendliness	R2.7	Add page numbers to encourage users to review both pages	
	R1.4	Use color to highlight essential information			
	R1.5	Order sections to match users' intuitive information processing expectations			
(C) Frame risk identifi	cation a	nd mitigation strategies in positive terms			
	R1.6	Reduce patient and family anxiety by emphasizing positive impact risk mitigation strategies can provide	R2.3	Maintain positive framing of optimizing comfort; include pain terminology in relevant sections	
			R2.4	Separate risk scale into before and after to high- light the effect of mitigation strategies	
			R2.5	Emphasize mitigation strategies and subsequent effects on reducing the risk of pain	
(D) Clearly categorize	and desc	ribe risks			
	R1.7	Increase clarity by improving categorization of risk factors	R2.1	Reword textual risk statements to increase read- ability and reduce anxiety	
(E) Emphasize collabo	ration aı	nd effective communication			
	N/A	N/A	R2.2	Emphasize collaboration of cross-functional care teams	
			R2.6	Create a separate page for the checklist and notes section	

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

Participants suggested emphasizing the risk score visualization as it represented essential information. Similarly, the elements for successful risk reduction and the change in risk score "after team strategies" (see also R2.4) were deemed essential and should be emphasized with color (R1.4). The wireframing exercise established an expected ordering of sections (Figure 1B). To accentuate the risk score, most participants enlarged the visualization, placed it centrally in the frame, and placed risk factors and mitigation strategies adjacently (R1.5).

# Identifying and Categorizing Risks and Mitigation Strategies

Further themes derived from a critical examination of the existing prototype were that the tool should (C) frame risk identification and mitigation strategies positively and (D) clearly categorize and describe risks (Table 1).

Most participants approved of using a risk score's range with uncertainty, as "it shows that there is always a margin of error" (family participant 2), and showing risk factors with percentages. However, some clinicians insisted that risk information be presented in a way that reduces anxiety, for example, displaying "non-modifiable [risk factors], such as biological sex, might distress the patient" (clinician 7), and "presenting families with a risk assessment of the potential pain after surgery could cause unintended adverse effects...you may be inducing pain by showing patients how much pain they might feel" [Clinician 4].

By "focusing on the possibility of mitigation, clinicians can focus the conversation on discussing pre-habilitation" (clinician 5) to reduce their risk score (R1.6). Separating risk factors that are "modifiable from non-modifiable" (clinician 1) and prioritizing modifiable factors may emphasize positive aspects of improving outcomes (R1.7).

Following a critical review of the revised prototype in the second co-design session, participants suggested we clarify some textual statements, such as changing "improving comfort" to "optimizing comfort" (R2.1; Figure 2A; for a higher-resolution version, see Multimedia Appendix 2).



Figure 2. Prototype redesign following the second co-design session. (A) Demographic and clinical information, risk score before and after team strategies, and targeted strategies to reduce risk. (B) Comprehension checklist and expanded notes section on a second page. Text in green boxes describes fundamental redesign changes (see Table 1). For a higher-resolution version of the figure, Multimedia Appendix 2



Clinicians remained concerned that a patient's level of pain "is highly influenced by consultation dialogue" (clinician 2) and thus favored using positive framing of risk around the concept of comfort; on the other hand, some family participants insisted that "using comfort/discomfort in a pain management tool confuses the goal of the tool for patients and families" (family participant 4). A clinician noted that "there is a lot of evidence that suggests the language we use can change people's perception of pain" but acknowledged that some "pain language must be there" (clinician 5). This conflict was resolved by balancing both viewpoints equally in our design requirement; that is, we determined that we should maintain the positive framing of "optimizing comfort" but include pain terminology, such as "significant postoperative pain," where relevant (R2.3).

Both clinicians and family participants needed clarification about the percentage changes associated with risk reduction (Figure 1B). They suggested we separate our risk score into 2 components: "Before team strategies" and "After team strategies" (R2.4 and see also R1.4). Most participants did not identify the asterisk footnote about the statistical uncertainty of the risk score (Figure 1B), which suggested we move this detail to the textual risk statement (R2.1).

Clinicians and family participants recommended "focusing families on the mitigation strategies" (clinician 2) and their ability to reduce the risk of pain following surgery; that is, we should emphasize how much risk reduction the cross-functional teams can achieve in the "After Team Strategies" risk score (R2.5; Figure 2A). Finally, it was suggested that we reorder the modifiable contributors to read from high to low, reflecting how users would process the information (reinforcing R1.5).

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46785
```

Some participants were confused about whether the risk factor percentages (Figure 1) were population-based or personalized and recommended "stressing that the percentages are individualized" (clinician 4; Figure 2A). Similarly, separating "Other contributors to score" (eg, medication) from "Nonmodifiable contributors to score" (eg, age and biological sex) would improve clarity (reinforcing R1.7).

We were asked to update "Diet" to "Nutrition" to emphasize nutrient intake rather than food quantity (Figure 2A), and a family participant noted that diet and exercise "might be the hardest to implement in your daily life if you have disabilities, live in poverty, and/or a pre-existing condition(s)" (family participant 4). It was suggested that we change the section title to "Potentially Modifiable Contributors" and list the strategies in point form to increase ease of readability (R2.1).

#### Supporting Collaboration and Communication

The final theme from the co-design sessions was that the tool should (E) emphasize collaboration and effective communication (Table 1). Following a critical review of the revised prototype in the second co-design session, participants suggested it should emphasize the collaboration of cross-functional care teams (patient's family, nurses, and physicians) by changing "your physician" to "your health care team" (R2.2).

Our original notes section was too small; it needed sufficient space for participants to write and draw essential information from the consultation (R2.6) and thus was separated and placed on a separate numbered page (see also R2.7; Figure 2B). Participants approved the checklist questions as reminders of topics to discuss during the consultation (Figure 1B). However,

several participants stated the importance of knowing who to contact to assist with their child's care (see also R2.1). Some insisted that the questions should be connected to the information shown and not require complex answers (see also R2.1; Figure 2B).

#### **Usability Evaluation**

#### Potential Use of the Tool in Practice

During low- and high-risk clinical role-play, participants typically said they would use the tool by comparing the risk scores before and after risk reduction strategies to demonstrate the proposed benefits to motivate positive change. Participants typically said they would describe the top 3 modifiable contributors and ensure the family could implement the targeted strategies. Most participants thought that the comprehension checklist was a helpful reminder and that the notes section was beneficial to document clinical information, such as targeted strategies, referral contacts, aftercare instructions, and questions arising during the consultation.

Most participants agreed that the child would benefit from seeing the tool, at least for older children (>12 years of age), though

some felt it would benefit children as young as 5 years of age. There were conflicting views on the use of the tool in practice: some clinicians would not focus on discussing low-risk pain with the patient, or if only a small risk mitigation was anticipated, as it may increase patient anxiety; however, family participants all agreed that the risk score should be used in both low- and high-risk scenarios as any decrease in postoperative pain would be meaningful for a child's surgical experience. All participants recognized that nonmodifiable contributors, such as biological sex and age, provided context but would not discuss these with the child.

#### Task Completion, Usability Ratings, and Workload

Completion time across tasks varied, but tasks were largely completed quickly (median time to complete each task ranged from median 5.0, IQR 2.9-6.8 seconds to median 16.6, IQR 10.9-34.3 seconds) and accuracy ranged from 11/12 (92%) correct to 12/12 (100%) correct, with only 2 requests for assistance and no evidence for substantial differences between clinicians and family participants (Table 2).

Table 2.	Participant speed,	accuracy,	and requests for	r assistance wh	ile identifying	essential pers	sonalized risk in	nformation during usabili	ty evaluation.
----------	--------------------	-----------	------------------	-----------------	-----------------	----------------	-------------------	---------------------------	----------------

Task	Time (seconds), median (IQR)		Accuracy (n=12), n (%)	Requests for assistance
	Clinicians (n=7)	Family participants (n=5)		
Task 1: demographics	11.8 (7.5-20.9)	11.4 (9.2-17.4)	11 (92)	0
Task 2: risk of pain	16.5 (7.2-25.3)	16.6 (15.6-34.3)	11 (92)	1 Family participant
Task 3: main risk factor	7.0 (3.4-10.7)	6.9 (4.0-9.3)	11 (92)	1 Clinician
Task 4: effect of team strategies	6.1 (3.0-7.3)	4.3 (2.9-6.1)	12 (100)	0

Median (IQR) PSSUQ scores [30] (on a 1-7 scale) across all participants were 2.0 (IQR 1.5-2.2) for system usefulness, 2.5 (IQR 1.9-3.0) for information quality, 2.0 (IQR 1.8-2.7) for interface quality, and 2.1 (IQR 1.5-2.7) for overall score, which are within typical ranges of acceptability [36]. The scores were

similar between clinicians and family participants, but there was some evidence for differences in their levels of satisfaction with information quality and interface quality (Table 3), which may reflect conflicting views on the use of this tool in all scenarios.

Table 3. Post-Study System Usability Questionnaire scores<sup>a</sup>.

PSSUQ <sup>b</sup> factor	Composite score, median (IQR)		Composite score of $\leq 3$ equating to strongly agree, agree, a somewhat agree, n (%)		
	Clinicians (n=7)	Family participants (n=5)	Clinicians (n=7)	Family participants (n=5)	
System usefulness	2.0 (2.0-2.4)	1.3 (1.0-1.5)	7 (100)	5 (100)	
Information quality	3.0 (2.7-3.4)	1.7 (1.0-2.0)	4 (57)	5 (100)	
Interface quality	2.7 (2.3-3.2)	1.5 (1.0-2.0)	5 (71)	$4(100)^{c}$	
Overall	2.6 (2.2-2.9)	1.4 (1.4-1.5)	5 (71)	5 (100)	

<sup>a</sup>Composite scores are the mean of subcomponent scores on a 1-7 scale, with lower numbers indicating greater agreement.

<sup>b</sup>PSSUQ: Post-Study System Usability Questionnaire.

<sup>c</sup>One family participant answered not applicable for all "interface quality" questions.

Median (IQR) NASA TLX subcomponent scores [29] suggested that participants generally felt they were able to perform the tasks required of them, though clinicians scored this subcomponent lower than family participants. Mental demand and effort to achieve their performance contributed the most to the overall workload; scores for temporal demand, physical demand, and frustration were low (Table 4).

Table 4.	National	Aeronautics	and Space	Administration	Task Load	Index scores <sup>a</sup>
----------	----------	-------------	-----------	----------------	-----------	---------------------------

TLX <sup>b</sup> subcomponent	Score, median (IQR)			
	Clinicians (n=7)	Family participants (n=5)		
1. Mental demand	27 (19-34)	16 (15-23)		
2. Physical demand	12 (0-12)	0 (0-2)		
3. Temporal demand	15 (14-18)	3 (1-6)		
4. Performance	67 (64-79)	96 (82-97)		
5. Effort	50 (17-56)	48 (21-50)		
6. Frustration	13 (8-23)	2 (1-3)		

<sup>a</sup>Scores are given on a sliding scale from 0=very low to 100=very high.

<sup>b</sup>TLX: Task Load Index.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

In this user-centered study, 5 outline design requirements for a pediatric postoperative pain risk visualization tool were identified during co-design focus group sessions, which built on previously published work [26]: (A) present risk severity descriptively and visually, (B) ensure appearance and navigation are user-friendly, (C) frame risk identification and mitigation strategies in positive terms, (D) categorize and describe risks clearly, and (E) emphasize collaboration and effective communication. A revised risk communication prototype based on these requirements was used by both clinical and family participants quickly and accurately. Only minor frustration was reported during the usability evaluation, and user perception of the tool was acceptable.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

#### Development and Use of Risk Communication Tools

Personalized risk communication tools have yet to be widely implemented in clinical practice and have not yet been studied in the context of pediatric pain risk following surgery. However, in preliminary studies previously conducted with adult patients, participants have largely rated personalized risk communication tools as easy to use [37,38], helpful [39], and beneficial to patients [40]. Participants believed that personalized risk communication might result in increased patient engagement [41], increased awareness and understanding of potential surgical complications, and deeper discussion with providers [42]. Participants who were presented with a personalized risk score while consenting for surgery, in particular, agreed that they had received adequate time discussing surgical risks, felt more comfortable with their procedure, had decreased anxiety [43], were significantly more satisfied with the consent process [40,43], and had increased knowledge about the risks associated with their surgery [40]. These other studies explicitly support the motivation behind our research program and the development of a perioperative pediatric risk communication tool. Our usability data mirror some of these findings.

In previous studies, patients also preferred the visual consent tool to text-based documents [42], found personalized surgical risk communication tools helpful for informed decision-making

RenderX

[39], indicated that they would use a personalized risk tool again before a future procedure [40], and believed sharing personalized risk information should be a universal requirement during surgical consultations [44]. Clinicians also highlighted that identifying modifiable risk factors was more important than nonmodifiable ones; thus, separating their contributions was critical [38]. On viewing their risk of postsurgical complications, most patients said they would consider participating in a structured prehabilitation program to decrease their risk and improve postsurgical outcomes [44]. These results are promising and broadly consistent with our findings. However, these previous studies were conducted only with adult participants. While they helped inspire our design decisions, their detailed recommendations can only be fully translated by reevaluating how this approach should be applied in the pediatric surgical setting, as we have done in this study.

#### Personalized and Contextualized Risk Scores

Other studies have shown that data-driven personalized risk calculations can perform significantly better than physicians in predicting patient outcomes in the perioperative domain, and exposure to the calculated risk scores can improve physicians' prediction accuracy [37]. Patients with low-risk may be more likely to overestimate their surgical risk [39,44], and patients with high-risk may be more likely to underestimate their risk [44], highlighting the importance of improving patient understanding of potential postsurgical complications through supported communication. As we discovered during our usability testing sessions, a point of conflict between patients and health care professionals is that patients typically prefer to be shown their personalized risk scores even when they are low-risk, while some health care professionals felt that this might result in a misuse of clinic time (as was also found in other previous studies [39,41]) or unnecessarily increase anxiety; our family participants universally agreed the risk tool should be used in low- as well as high-risk situations, explaining that any opportunity to decrease postoperative pain, no matter how small, would be beneficial to their child. This further highlights the benefit of involving family participants in the design process to ensure effective use by expected end users.

#### **Essential Design and Feature Considerations**

Where patients and health care professionals have provided input to the design and feature considerations of personalized

risk score tools, their requirements echo the findings from this study. For example, other studies also identified simplicity and clarity as essential characteristics to facilitate shared decision-making [45,46], and to ensure that risk information does not overwhelm patients [45-47]. Other focus group studies have also suggested including less complex language for risk severity, such as "low," "medium," and "high" [44], and that simplistic visualizations and language are crucial to understanding—patients have been confused by highly interactive visualizations and better comprehended static charts [45]. These previous findings are similar to the design requirements we established for this prototype.

Patients and care providers have previously indicated that a multimodal risk score supports the learning styles and preferences of various users [40,46]. Furthermore, continuing to engage stakeholders, educating staff, and allowing smooth integration into workflows have previously been noted as important implementation success factors [40]. The findings from these other studies are broadly reflected in our participants' comments during our co-design sessions and usability evaluation.

# Differences Between Clinical and Family Participants' Design Requirements

While addressing user needs overall is critical, we must acknowledge some differences between clinicians' and family participants' perceptions of the risk communication tool in our usability testing. While clinicians were satisfied with the tool overall, their lower levels of satisfaction with information and interface quality (as evidenced by their lower PSSUQ scores for these components) may have reflected concerns about what information is presented; clinicians also felt less able to perform the tasks required of them (as evidenced by their lower NASA TLX performance scores). These differences may reflect clinicians' concerns about the potential adverse effects of communicating risk to patients via the "nocebo effect" [48], which should be recognized and addressed, particularly in the pediatric setting. We incorporated this clinical guidance into the final iteration of our prototype to provide the risk information through a "comfort" lens; that is, we aimed to focus the efforts of the clinician and family team on "maintaining comfort" rather than "reducing pain," while still acknowledging the risk of pain inherent in their surgical procedure. This approach is consistent with international initiatives aimed at prioritizing compassionate approaches to the recognition, prevention, and treatment of children's pain (eg, ChildKind International [49]) as well as our own institution's recommended approach [50]. It seems these changes may not have been sufficient to address the concerns of our clinical participants in usability testing. Importantly, however, other research has shown that, while increased risk has been correlated with patients wanting to discuss the procedure in more detail with their providers [37], presenting patients with their personalized risk has not been associated with canceling procedures or changes in the decision to undergo surgery [39,43,44].

#### **Limitations and Future Work**

We must acknowledge several limitations in our study. First, our study participants included no surgeons during the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46785
```

requirements gathering phase and only 1 surgeon in the usability testing phase; however, all clinician participants were anesthesiologists or nurses with expertise and regular involvement in predicting, diagnosing, treating, and offering families guidance on managing postoperative pain. Second, we did not include children or adolescents. Future work may involve evaluating the benefit of developing a child-centered version of the tool. At this stage, we adopted the strategy of developing a family-centered tool, but we aim to expand this idea to a tool targeted at adolescents. We have begun this process with a perioperative survey of our adolescent surgical population, which evaluates potential preoperative risk factors and postoperative recovery indicators. If successful, we can expand this work to younger children. Participants in this study echoed this aim: most agreed that children older than 12 years of age would benefit, and some felt we could consider including children between the ages of 5 and 11 years.

Third, our focus group sizes were relatively small (3-5 participants per session), typically due to the challenges of scheduling time with clinicians and family participants. While this could have avoided "group think," it may have hindered collaborative idea generation. Furthermore, we did not use a dynamic prototyping tool in our co-design sessions with participants working collaboratively on a shared resource, which may have enhanced the design process; in pilot-testing, this had been found to be a barrier to participation. However, our patient partners suggested that screen sharing the exercises would increase accessibility as it may be challenging to teach participants of various education and language proficiencies to use a prototyping tool in real time or if they were using a small screen (eg, cell phone) and could not easily complete each exercise, or had a disability that might limit motor function and participation. Fourth, conducting co-design sessions over Zoom rather than in-person may have biased our sample. On the one hand, the requirement for an internet connection may have prevented participation by some families, which may have impacted the social equity of our findings and on the other hand, it may have facilitated participation for some people who would otherwise have been able to contribute due to travel or time constraints.

Finally, our usability evaluation provides only limited evidence of the tool's readiness for implementation. Although its intended real-world use is as a shared clinician-family resource, we evaluated with individuals (either a clinician or family participant but not both at the same time), using a static prototype, with tasks that may have been too simple to evaluate the usability effectively. That said, the tool is not designed to be a complex, dynamic tool, but rather to communicate a fixed set of information personalized to each clinician-family presurgical encounter.

Future work will involve implementing the design in digital form, which will first be evaluated with a range of clinical scenarios and take account of the need for joint clinician-family evaluation. We are also collecting data in a separate study to generate a risk prediction model, which will supply the personalized risk predictions and proposed prehabilitation strategies that the tool is designed to present [51]. A key point that should be addressed ideally before implementation is how

XSL•FO RenderX

widely the tool should be used in practice: in all cases, as our family participants suggested; only in cases with a high risk of pain; or where team mitigation strategies are expected to make a significant difference.

#### Conclusions

This user-centered co-design study identified essential requirements for a pediatric postoperative pain risk visualization tool to present risk severity descriptively and visually, to ensure that appearance and navigation are user-friendly, to frame risk identification and mitigation strategies in positive terms, to categorize and describe risks clearly, and to emphasize collaboration and effective communication. The usability of the resulting paper prototype was positively evaluated by both clinical and family participants suggesting that it is ready to be implemented as a digital prototype that can be tested in a clinical setting to establish its efficacy in supporting communication about postoperative pain risk.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported, in part, by a University of British Columbia Canada's Digital Technology Supercluster expansion research grant and a BC Children's Hospital Research Institute Evidence to Innovation Research Theme seed grant. MG holds a Michael Smith Health Research BC scholar award; MDW holds a Mitacs postdoctoral fellowship. The authors thank the participating families and BC Children's Hospital staff for their time and insights. The authors would also like to thank Kim Correa for her help in conducting the initial co-design sessions and verifying transcripts and Rama Sreepada for assisting with recruitment and providing content expertise to study implementation. Finally, they would like to thank Amanda Ross-White (Queen's University) for lending her librarian expertise to assist in searching and identifying literature relevant to study preparation. The authors thank the BC Children's Hospital Foundation for its support.

# **Authors' Contributions**

MDW, CF, and YC participated in study design, data collection, qualitative analysis, prototype design, and paper drafting and editing. EPC, KCL, and SDW participated in study design, designing of the prototype, and paper drafting and editing. NCW and KC participated in the study design, paper drafting, and editing. MG participated in study design, data collection, designing of the prototype, and paper drafting and editing.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

We disclosed our redesigned prototype for Intellectual Property protection to the University of British Columbia University-Industry Liaison Office (2022-07-29).

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Low- and high-risk scenarios for role-play and "think aloud." [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 101 KB - pediatrics v6i1e46785 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Higher-resolution version of the risk communication tool prototype following the second co-design session. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 31596 KB - pediatrics v6i1e46785 app2.pdf ]

#### References

- Rabbitts JA, Fisher E, Rosenbloom BN, Palermo TM. Prevalence and predictors of chronic postsurgical pain in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain 2017;18(6):605-614 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2017.03.007] [Medline: 28363861]
- 2. Williams G, Howard RF, Liossi C. Persistent postsurgical pain in children and young people: prediction, prevention, and management. Pain Rep 2017;2(5):e616 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000616] [Medline: 29392231]
- Robillard JM, Bourne SC, Tam MT, Page PM, Lamb EA, Gogal C, et al. Improving the paediatric surgery patient experience: an 8-year analysis of narrative quality data. BMJ Open Qual 2020;9(2):e000924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjoq-2020-000924] [Medline: 32381597]
- 4. Tam MT, Wu JM, Page PM, Lamb EA, Jordan I, Chambers CT, et al. Barriers and facilitators to effective pain management by parents after pediatric outpatient surgery. J Pediatr Health Care 2020;34(6):560-567. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2020.06.008] [Medline: 32868162]
- Feinstein AB, Sturgeon JA, Bhandari RP, Yoon IA, Ross AC, Huestis SE, et al. Risk and resilience in pediatric pain: the roles of parent and adolescent catastrophizing and acceptance. Clin J Pain 2018;34(12):1096-1105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000639] [Medline: 30028367]
- Busse JW, Heels-Ansdell D, Makosso-Kallyth S, Petrisor B, Jeray K, Tufescu T, Fluid Lavage of Open Wounds Investigators. Patient coping and expectations predict recovery after major orthopaedic trauma. Br J Anaesth 2019 Jan;122(1):51-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2018.06.021] [Medline: 30579406]

- 7. Pillinger NL, Robson JL, Kam P. Nutritional prehabilitation: physiological basis and clinical evidence. Anaesth Intensive Care 2018;46(5):453-462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0310057X1804600505] [Medline: 30189818]
- 8. Minnella EM, Carli F. Prehabilitation and functional recovery for colorectal cancer patients. Eur J Surg Oncol 2018;44(7):919-926. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejso.2018.04.016</u>] [Medline: <u>29754828</u>]
- Jensen BT, Laustsen S, Jensen JB, Borre M, Petersen AK. Exercise-based pre-habilitation is feasible and effective in radical cystectomy pathways-secondary results from a randomized controlled trial. Support Care Cancer 2016;24(8):3325-3331. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3140-3] [Medline: 26961741]
- Corr AM, Liu W, Bishop M, Pappo A, Srivastava DK, Neel M, et al. Feasibility and functional outcomes of children and adolescents undergoing preoperative chemotherapy prior to a limb-sparing procedure or amputation. Rehabil Oncol 2017;35(1):38-45 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>28948112</u>]
- Ferreira V, Agnihotram RV, Bergdahl A, van Rooijen SJ, Awasthi R, Carli F, et al. Maximizing patient adherence to prehabilitation: what do the patients say? Support Care Cancer 2018 Aug;26(8):2717-2723. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-018-4109-1</u>] [Medline: <u>29478189</u>]
- 12. Brady MA, Carrington H, Theologis T. Prehabilitation in paediatric orthopaedic surgery reduces hospital length of stay. Clin Audit 2021;13:1-7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/ca.s296690]
- 13. Fortier MA, Kain ZN. Treating perioperative anxiety and pain in children: a tailored and innovative approach. Paediatr Anaesth 2015;25(1):27-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pan.12546] [Medline: 25266082]
- 14. Arulanandam B, Selvarajan A, Piche N, Sheldon S, Bloom R, Emil S, et al. Use of a risk communication survey to prioritize family-valued outcomes and communication preferences for children undergoing outpatient surgical procedures. J Pediatr Surg 2022;57(5):788-797. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2021.12.033] [Medline: 35063255]
- 15. Wijeysundera DN. Predicting outcomes: is there utility in risk scores? Can J Anaesth 2016;63(2):148-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12630-015-0537-2] [Medline: 26670801]
- Harris EP, MacDonald DB, Boland L, Boet S, Lalu MM, McIsaac DI. Personalized perioperative medicine: a scoping review of personalized assessment and communication of risk before surgery. Can J Anaesth 2019;66(9):1026-1037 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12630-019-01432-6] [Medline: 31240608]
- 17. Ancker JS, Senathirajah Y, Kukafka R, Starren JB. Design features of graphs in health risk communication: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2006;13(6):608-618 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2115] [Medline: 16929039]
- Greenhalgh T, Jackson C, Shaw S, Janamian T. Achieving research impact through co-creation in community-based health services: literature review and case study. Milbank Q 2016;94(2):392-429 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.12197] [Medline: 27265562]
- Langley J, Wolstenholme D, Cooke J. 'Collective making' as knowledge mobilisation: the contribution of participatory design in the co-creation of knowledge in healthcare. BMC Health Serv Res 2018;18(1):585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3397-y] [Medline: 30045726]
- Carr EC, Babione JN, Marshall D. Translating research into practice through user-centered design: an application for osteoarthritis healthcare planning. Int J Med Inform 2017;104:31-37. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.05.007</u>] [Medline: <u>28599814</u>]
- Xu X, Griva K, Koh M, Lum E, Tan WS, Thng S, et al. Creating a smartphone app for caregivers of children with atopic dermatitis with caregivers, health care professionals, and digital health experts: participatory co-design. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(10):e16898 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16898] [Medline: 33118949]
- 22. Garne K, Brødsgaard A, Zachariassen G, Clemensen J. Telemedicine in neonatal home care: identifying parental needs through participatory design. JMIR Res Protoc 2016;5(3):e100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5467] [Medline: 27392576]
- 23. Steen M, Manschot M, De Koning N. Benefits of co-design in service design projects. Int J Des 2011;5(2):53-60 [FREE Full text]
- 24. Jagosh J, Macaulay AC, Pluye P, Salsberg J, Bush PL, Henderson J, et al. Uncovering the benefits of participatory research: implications of a realist review for health research and practice. Milbank Q 2012;90(2):311-346 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0009.2012.00665.x] [Medline: 22709390]
- 25. Slattery P, Saeri AK, Bragge P. Research co-design in health: a rapid overview of reviews. Health Res Policy Syst 2020;18(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-0528-9] [Medline: 32046728]
- 26. Wood MD, Correa K, Ding P, Sreepada R, Loftsgard KC, Jordan I, et al. Identification of requirements for a postoperative pediatric pain risk communication tool: focus group study with clinicians and family members. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(3):e37353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/37353] [Medline: 35838823]
- 27. Lawrence CE, Dunkel L, McEver M, Israel T, Taylor R, Chiriboga G, et al. A REDCap-based model for electronic Consent (eConsent): moving toward a more personalized consent. J Clin Transl Sci 2020;4(4):345-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cts.2020.30] [Medline: 33244416]
- 28. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]

- 29. Hart SG, Staveland LE. Development of NASA-TLX (Task Load Index): results of empirical and theoretical research. In: Meshkati N, Hancock PA, editors. Human Mental Workload. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science; 1988:139-183.
- 30. Lewis JR. IBM computer usability satisfaction questionnaires: psychometric evaluation and instructions for use. Int J Hum Comput Interact 1995;7(1):57-78. [doi: 10.1080/10447319509526110]
- 31. King N. Using templates in the thematic analysis of text. In: Cassell C, Symon G, editors. Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. London, United Kingdom: Sage Publications Ltd; 2004:256-270.
- 32. Thomas DR. A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Am J Eval 2016;27(2):237-246. [doi: 10.1177/1098214005283748]
- 33. Vollstedt M, Rezat S. An introduction to grounded theory with a special focus on axial coding and the coding paradigm. In: Kaiser G, Presmeg N, editors. Compendium for Early Career Researchers in Mathematics Education. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2019:81-100.
- Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant 2018;52(4):1893-1907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8] [Medline: 29937585]
- 35. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007;19(6):349-357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042] [Medline: 17872937]
- 36. Sauro J, Lewis J. Standardized usability questionnaires. In: Sauro J, Lewis J, editors. Quantifying the User Experience, 2nd Edition. Burlington, MA: Morgan Kaufmann; 2016:185-248.
- 37. Brennan M, Puri S, Ozrazgat-Baslanti T, Feng Z, Ruppert M, Hashemighouchani H, et al. Comparing clinical judgment with the MySurgeryRisk algorithm for preoperative risk assessment: a pilot usability study. Surgery 2019;165(5):1035-1045 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2019.01.002] [Medline: 30792011]
- Fritz BA, Pugazenthi S, Budelier TP, Pennington BRT, King CR, Avidan MS, et al. User-centered design of a machine learning dashboard for prediction of postoperative complications. Anesth Analg 2023. [doi: <u>10.1213/ANE.000000000006577</u>] [Medline: <u>37339083</u>]
- 39. Bronsert MR, Lambert-Kerzner A, Henderson WG, Hammermeister KE, Atuanya C, Aasen DM, et al. The value of the "Surgical Risk Preoperative Assessment System" (SURPAS) in preoperative consultation for elective surgery: a pilot study. Patient Saf Surg 2020;14:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13037-020-00256-4] [Medline: 32724336]
- Hladkowicz E, Yachnin D, Boland L, Wilson K, McKinnon A, Hawrysh K, et al. Evaluation of a preoperative personalized risk communication tool: a prospective before-and-after study. Can J Anaesth 2020;67(12):1749-1760 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12630-020-01809-y] [Medline: 32929659]
- 41. Lambert-Kerzner AC, Aasen DM, Overbey DM, Damschroder LJ, Henderson WG, Hammermeister KE, et al. Use of the consolidated framework for implementation research to guide dissemination and implementation of new technologies in surgery. J Thorac Dis 2019;11(Suppl 4):S487-S499 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/jtd.2019.01.29] [Medline: 31032067]
- 42. Gisladottir U, Nakikj D, Jhunjhunwala R, Panton J, Brat G, Gehlenborg N. Effective communication of personalized risks and patient preferences during surgical informed consent using data visualization: qualitative semistructured interview study with patients after surgery. JMIR Hum Factors 2022;9(2):e29118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29118] [Medline: 35486432]
- 43. Wiesen BM, Bronsert MR, Aasen DM, Singh AB, Lambert-Kerzner A, Henderson WG, et al. Use of Surgical Risk Preoperative Assessment System (SURPAS) and patient satisfaction during informed consent for surgery. J Am Coll Surg 2020;230(6):1025-1033.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2020.02.049] [Medline: 32251847]
- 44. Raymond BL, Wanderer JP, Hawkins AT, Geiger TM, Ehrenfeld JM, Stokes JW, et al. Use of the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program surgical risk calculator during preoperative risk discussion: the patient perspective. Anesth Analg 2019;128(4):643-650. [doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000003718] [Medline: 30169413]
- 45. Hakone A, Harrison L, Ottley A, Winters N, Gutheil C, Han PKJ, et al. PROACT: iterative design of a patient-centered visualization for effective prostate cancer health risk communication. IEEE Trans Vis Comput Graph 2017;23(1):601-610. [doi: 10.1109/TVCG.2016.2598588] [Medline: 27875175]
- 46. Gainer RA, Curran J, Buth KJ, David JG, Légaré JF, Hirsch GM. Toward optimal decision making among vulnerable patients referred for cardiac surgery: a qualitative analysis of patient and provider perspectives. Med Decis Making 2017;37(5):600-610. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X16675338] [Medline: 27803362]
- 47. Lambert-Kerzner A, Ford KL, Hammermeister KE, Henderson WG, Bronsert MR, Meguid RA. Assessment of attitudes towards future implementation of the "Surgical Risk Preoperative Assessment System" (SURPAS) tool: a pilot survey among patients, surgeons, and hospital administrators. Patient Saf Surg 2018;12:12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13037-018-0159-z] [Medline: 29881458]
- 48. Arrow K, Burgoyne LL, Cyna AM. Implications of nocebo in anaesthesia care. Anaesthesia 2022;77(Suppl 1):11-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/anae.15601] [Medline: 35001386]
- 49. Childkind.: ChildKind International; 2022. URL: https://childkindinternational.org/ [accessed 2023-01-06]
- 50. Pediatric pain guide for caregivers: comfort approaches. BC Children's Hospital and BC Women's Hospital & Health Centre. 2022. URL: <u>https://cw-bc.libguides.com/c.php?g=718190&p=5202851</u> [accessed 2023-01-06]

51. Wood MD, West NC, Sreepada RS, Loftsgard KC, Petersen L, Robillard JM, et al. Identifying risk factors, patient-reported experience and outcome measures, and data capture tools for an individualized pain prediction tool in pediatrics: focus group study. JMIR Perioper Med 2022;5(1):e42341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/42341] [Medline: 36378509]

#### Abbreviations

**BCCH:** BC Children's Hospital NASA: National Aeronautics and Space Administration PSSUQ: Post-Study System Usability Questionnaire REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture TLX: Task Load Index

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 24.02.23; peer-reviewed by H Yang, D Nakikj; comments to author 06.06.23; revised version received 07.07.23; accepted 23.10.23; published 17.11.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Wood MD, West NC, Fokkens C, Chen Y, Loftsgard KC, Cardinal K, Whyte SD, Portales-Casamar E, Görges M An Individualized Postoperative Pain Risk Communication Tool for Use in Pediatric Surgery: Co-Design and Usability Evaluation JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46785 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46785</u> doi:10.2196/46785 PMID:37976087

©Michael D Wood, Nicholas C West, Christina Fokkens, Ying Chen, Kent C Loftsgard, Krystal Cardinal, Simon D Whyte, Elodie Portales-Casamar, Matthias Görges. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 17.11.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Exploring Social Media Preferences for Healthy Weight Management Interventions Among Adolescents of Color: Mixed Methods Study

Selenne Alatorre<sup>1\*</sup>, MPH; Aviva G Schwarz<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Kelsey A Egan<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MD; Amanda R Feldman<sup>3</sup>, BA; Marielis Rosa<sup>3</sup>, BA; Monica L Wang<sup>1,4,5\*</sup>, MS, ScD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Community Health Sciences, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Division of General Academic Pediatrics, Department of Pediatrics, Boston Medical Center, Boston University Chobanian & Avedisian School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>3</sup>College of Arts and Sciences, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>4</sup>Office of Narrative, Boston University Center for Antiracist Research, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>5</sup>Department of Health Policy and Management, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>\*</sup>these authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** 

Monica L Wang, MS, ScD Department of Community Health Sciences Boston University School of Public Health 801 Massachusetts Avenue Boston, MA, 02118 United States Phone: 1 6179106041 Email: <u>mlwang@bu.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Social media holds promise as an intervention platform to engage youths in healthy weight management and target racial inequities in obesity.

**Objective:** This mixed methods study aimed to examine social media habits, preferences, and obesity-related behaviors (eg, diet and physical activity) among adolescents of color and understand preferences for healthy weight management interventions delivered via social media.

**Methods:** This mixed methods study is comprised of a cross-sectional web-based survey and a series of digital focus groups. Study participants (English-speaking youths of color ages 14-18 years) were recruited from high schools and youth-based community settings in Massachusetts and California. For surveys, participants were invited to complete an anonymous web-based survey assessing self-reported sociodemographics, social media habits and preferences, health behaviors (diet, physical activity, sleep, and screen time), and height and weight. For focus groups, participants were invited to participate in 45- to 60-minute web-based group discussions assessing social media habits, preferred social media platforms, and preferences for physical activity and nutrition intervention content and delivery. Survey data were analyzed descriptively; focus group transcripts were analyzed using a directed content analysis approach.

**Results:** A total of 101 adolescents completed the survey and 20 adolescents participated in a total of 3 focus groups. Participants reported most frequently using TikTok, followed by Instagram, Snapchat, and Twitter; preference for platform varied by purpose of use (eg, content consumption, connection, or communication). TikTok emerged as the platform of choice as an engaging way to learn about various topics, including desired health information on physical fitness and diet.

**Conclusions:** Findings from this study suggest that social media platforms can be an engaging way to reach adolescents of color. Data will inform future social media–based interventions to engage adolescents of color in healthy weight management content.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43961) doi:10.2196/43961



#### **KEYWORDS**

social media; adolescents of color; obesity disparities; disparity; disparities; healthy weight management; health education; child health; mHealth; mobile health; weight; obese; obesity; child; pediatric; adolescent; adolescence; preference; health behavior; mobile phone

# Introduction

The high rates of adolescent obesity in the United States remain a significant public health concern. Nearly 1 in 4 (22.2%) adolescents aged 12-19 years in the United States had obesity from 2017 to 2020 [1]. Youths of color experience disproportionately higher rates of obesity, with 26.2% of Hispanic and 24.8% of non-Hispanic Black youths ages 2-19 years with obesity, compared to 16.6% of their non-Hispanic White peers [1]. Given the adverse effects associated with adolescent obesity, including elevated risk for diabetes, heart disease, and shorter life expectancies, developing intervention strategies with a health equity lens to prevent and treat obesity, particularly among youths of color who face disproportionately higher rates, is critical [2-4].

Digital or mobile health interventions, defined as health services delivered electronically through formal or informal care, hold promise as a modality to engage adolescents in improving obesity-related health behaviors, such as diet and physical activity [5-8]. Studies to date that have evaluated digital health interventions as a primary or supplemental tool within behavior change obesity interventions have primarily targeted adults or have assessed programs that jointly engage adolescents and their parents or guardians [6,9,10]. Prior digital health interventions targeting adolescents have largely focused on chronic disease management (eg, type 1 diabetes) rather than health behavior change related to obesity prevention and treatment [7,11]. Further, research on digital health interventions targeting obesity-related behaviors with content and strategies tailored for adolescents of color is limited.

Given the high prevalence of smartphone and social media use among adolescents, social media-delivered health interventions are a promising approach to engage adolescents in healthy weight management [12]. In 2021, 84% of adolescents 13-18 years of age reported ever using social media [13]. Social media use among this age group increased during the COVID-19 pandemic, with an average of 1 hour and 27 minutes per day spent on social media in 2021, up from 1 hour and 10 minutes in 2019 [13]. A 2018 Pew Research study found that 95% of 13- to 17-year-olds reported having access to a smartphone and nearly half reported being on the internet almost constantly, with over 70% of Black and Latine youth participants reported using at least 1 social media platform [14]. The Pew study also reported gender differences in social media platform preference among adolescents, with females more likely to prefer Snapchat than males and males more likely to prefer YouTube than females. The prevalent use of social media platforms among all adolescents, including those of color, highlights the potential of social media as a vehicle to deliver accurate and engaging health content to promote healthy weight management behaviors.

The limited literature on adolescents' exposure to and consumption of health information, particularly related to healthy weight management, through social media platforms has produced mixed findings. A small pilot study evaluating the consumption of health- and fitness-related social media content among adolescent females found that participants did not follow health-related pages or accounts and did not actively search for health content on social media [15]. A systematic review of social media interventions with content targeting nutrition and obesity among adolescents and young adults found that two-thirds of such interventions were associated with at least 1 clinical nutritional or dietary behavioral improvement [16]. However, none to our knowledge have specifically examined the efficacy of such interventions among adolescents of color.

This mixed methods study aims to (1) examine social media habits, preferences, and obesity-related behaviors (eg, diet and physical activity) among adolescents of color and (2) understand intervention preferences to inform the development of future healthy weight management behavioral intervention delivered via social media through cross-sectional surveys and focus groups among a sample of adolescents of color.

# Methods

# Design

This study collected quantitative and qualitative data from high school students aged 14-18 years who identified as people of color in order to assess adolescents' weight management behaviors, attitudes, practices, and social media preferences. Participants were asked to answer questions related to their social media habits, preferences for physical activity and nutrition intervention content and delivery, preferred social media platform, self-reported measures of obesity-related behaviors (eg, diet and physical activity), and height and weight via an anonymous cross-sectional web-based survey and web-based focus groups.

# **Ethics Approval**

Study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of Boston University Medical Campus (IRB # H-40968).

#### **Recruitment, Setting, and Procedures**

The investigative team contacted youth-based or youth-affiliated organizations in their network, including the Massachusetts Alliance of Boys & Girls Clubs (BGC), high schools in California, and community partners in Massachusetts and California to recruit participants. BGC staff, high school administrators, and community partners in Massachusetts and California were informed of the purpose and methods of the study. In total, 3 BGCs in Massachusetts and 2 high schools in southern California indicated interest in participating and were asked to share physical recruitment flyers with adolescents of color ages 14-18 years. Adolescent participants were also invited

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43961
```

XSL•FC

to share the survey with their social networks. Survey recruitment and administration took place from March 2021 to April 2022 with interested and eligible participants provided with a web-based QR code to access and complete the 1-time web-based survey. Focus group recruitment and facilitation took place from April 2021 to September 2021. Study staff contacted interested and eligible focus group participants to identify a date and time for a web-based 1-hour meeting (6-8 participants per group). Focus groups were conducted by a trained facilitator using Zoom, lasted 45-60 minutes in duration, and were recorded and transcribed.

#### **Participants**

Inclusion criteria for survey and focus group participants included 14-18 years of age; self-identification as a person of color (African American or Black, Latine or Hispanic, Native American or American Indian, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Asian, other, or Multiracial); and able to read and communicate verbally in English. Survey participants were asked to provide electronic consent. Focus group participants were recruited from the sample of survey participants. Focus group members provided verbal consent. Participants were offered a US \$25 gift card for participating in the study survey and US \$50 for participating in the study focus group.

#### Measures

#### Survey Measures

Web-based survey questions measured self-reported sociodemographics, health behaviors, height and weight, and social media habits and preferences. Sociodemographics included gender (male, female, or nonbinary); age (years); grade level; Hispanic or Latine ethnicity; race (White, Black or African American, Asian, American Indian or Alaskan Native, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, other, or multiracial) with more than one response permitted; and state or territory of residence in the United States. Items from the 2019 Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey were used to assess health behaviors, including number of servings of fruit, vegetables, and sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) on a typical day in the past week [17]; number of days engaged in at least 60 minutes of physical activity per day over the past week; number of hours slept on an average school day and a weekend day over the past week; and number of hours engaged in screen time (nonschoolwork) on an average school day.

Survey items on social media habits and preferences assessed current use of major platforms (TikTok, Instagram, Twitter, Facebook, Snapchat, YouTube, Tumblr, Reddit, and Pinterest) as well as asked participant to identify their single most-used platform. Participants reported usage frequency (several times a day, once a day, 3-5 times per week, 1-2 times per week, every few weeks, and less often) for each platform of interest and were asked to identify their preferred platform to receive health information and connect with other adolescents of color on health behaviors.

# Focus Group Measures

A trained facilitator asked a series of open-ended questions assessing social media usage and preferences, health-related

RenderX

concerns, and design and content preferences for a social media intervention to address obesity risk behaviors (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for guide).

#### **Data Analysis**

#### Quantitative Survey Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were compiled to characterize the study population according to sociodemographics, health behaviors, social media usage, and age- and gender-adjusted BMI-based weight status categories. Race and Hispanic or Latine ethnicity were combined into mutually exclusive race and ethnicity categories: Hispanic or Latine; non-Hispanic Black; non-Hispanic Asian; or non-Hispanic other or multiple races. BMI was computed from self-reported height and weight and classified based on age- and gender-specific percentiles as follows: underweight (<5th percentile), healthy weight (5th-84th percentile), overweight (85th-94th percentile), and obese (>95th percentile), with missing or implausible responses excluded. Average daily screen time combined the number of hours watching television and using video games and computers.

For participants who did not respond to the question on single most-used social media platform (n=23), a most-used platform was imputed based on their reported usage frequency of each platform, resulting in 93 responses for this measure. Overall social media usage frequency (several times a day, once per day, or less than once per day) combined the reported frequency of use for each individual platform and was defined as frequent usage if the frequency exceeded once per day.

Differences in health behaviors, social media habits, and covariates of interest by gender (male vs female) and weight status (underweight or healthy weight vs overweight or obese) were explored using chi-square tests. Data presented in the tables were not stratified by gender or weight status as the study was not powered to detect differences by these characteristics, and data were not compared by race or ethnicity, state of residence, or social media usage frequency because the sample lacked sufficient distribution across subgroups. All analyses were conducted using SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute).

#### Focus Group Data Analysis

Focus group audio was transcribed verbatim and thematically analyzed by study staff. The analysis used a directed content analysis approach, where common themes were identified by a study staff member and used to formulate an initial codebook [18]. Two independent coders reviewed the transcripts and codes and revised the codebook to incorporate additional themes as needed. Initial interrater agreement of coding was 85.7%; discrepancies were resolved via discussion until 100% consensus was reached. The 2 coders also identified quotes that represented themes from focus group discussions.

# Results

# **Survey Results**

A total of 101 adolescents of color (mean age of 16.4, SD 1.3 years) completed the survey. An equal proportion (48.5%) identified as male and female, and 3.0% identified as nonbinary. The majority of respondents indicated Hispanic or Latine

ethnicity (79.0%) and California residence (63.4%). Over half of the participants (53.6%) had BMI in the healthy weight category, followed by overweight (25.8%) and obese (17.5%). Social media usage frequency exceeded once per day for 88.1% of survey participants (see Table 1 for additional characteristics). The top most-used social media platforms included TikTok (40.9%), Instagram (17.2%), Snapchat (11.8%), and Twitter (8.6%; Table 2). The majority of survey participants reported some use of TikTok (80.2%) and Instagram (71.3%). TikTok was also the most frequent response for preferred platform to receive health advice (55.4%) and connect with others (44.0%).

Table 1.	Characteristics of 101	adolescents of color in a	a mixed methods social	media study (2021).
----------	------------------------	---------------------------	------------------------	---------------------

Characteristics		Values			
Ge	Gender, n (%)				
	Male	49 (48.5)			
	Female	49 (48.5)			
	Nonbinary	3 (3.0)			
Age, mean (SD)		16.4 (1.3)			
Race and ethnicity <sup>a</sup> , n (%)					
	Hispanic or Latine	79 (79.0)			
	Non-Hispanic Black or African American	12 (12.0)			
	Non-Hispanic Asian	3 (3.0)			
	Non-Hispanic other or multiple races	6 (6.0)			
State of residence <sup>b</sup> , n (%)					
	California	63 (63.4)			
	Massachusetts	28 (28.3)			
	Other states	8 (8.1)			
Social media usage frequency, n (%)					
	Once per day or more	89 (88.1)			
	Less than once per day	8 (7.9)			
BN	II <sup>c</sup> , mean (SD)	24.6 (5.2)			
	Underweight or healthy, n (%)	55 (56.7)			
	Overweight, n (%)	25 (25.8)			
	Obese, n (%)	17 (17.5)			
Health behaviors					
	Number of days engaged in moderate to vigorous physical activity at least 60 minutes per day over the past 7 days, mean (SD)	4.1 (2.2)			
	Engaged in daily moderate to vigorous physical activity at least 60 minutes per day, n (%)	27 (26.7)			
	Number of fruit and vegetable servings consumed per day, mean (SD)	4.3 (2.5)			
	Consumed at least 5 servings of fruits and vegetables on a typical day over the past 7 days, n (%)	44 (43.6)			
	Number of sugar-sweetened beverage servings consumed per day over past 7 days, n (%)	1.8 (1.4)			
	Consumed 0 or 1 servings of sugar-sweetened beverages per day on a typical day over the past 7 days, n (%)	54 (53.5)			
	Screen time (hours per day) over the past 7 days, mean (SD)	4.4 (2.8)			
	Hours slept per night on a typical school night over the past 7 days, mean (SD)	7.2 (1.3)			
	Slept at least 8 hours per night on a typical school night over the past 7 days, n (%)	39 (38.6)			

<sup>a</sup>Race or ethnicity information was missing for 1 respondent.

<sup>b</sup>State of residence was missing for 2 respondents.

<sup>c</sup>BMI was calculated based on self-reported height and weight. Height or weight data for BMI were missing or implausible for 4 respondents.

XSL•FO

Alatorre et al

Table 2. Social media platform usage among 101 adolescents of color in a mixed methods study (2021).

	Ever used platform (N=101), n (%)	Most used platform (N=93), n (%)	Preferred platform for advice on health behaviors (N=101), n (%)	Preferred platform to connect with others on health behaviors (N=100), n (%)
TikTok	80 (80.2)	38 (40.9)	56 (55.4)	44 (44.0)
Instagram	72 (71.3)	16 (17.2)	17 (16.8)	22 (22.0)
YouTube	70 (69.3)	7 (7.5)	2 (2.0)	4 (4.0)
Snapchat	65 (64.4)	11 (11.8)	4 (4.0)	7 (7.0)
Twitter	41 (40.6)	8 (8.6)	10 (9.9)	8 (8.0)
Pinterest	35 (34.7)	3 (3.2)	N/A <sup>a</sup>	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Facebook	32 (31.7)	6 (6.5)	6 (5.9)	10 (10.0)
Reddit	17 (16.8)	2 (2.2)	1 (1.0)	0 (0.0)
Tumblr	3 (2.97)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.0)
Other or none	N/A	2 (2.2)	5 (5.0)	4 (4.0)

<sup>a</sup>N/A: Not applicable; Pinterest was not offered as a survey choice for this question.

Compared to males, female adolescents were less likely to engage in 60 minutes or more of moderate to vigorous physical activity daily (16.3% vs 38.8%; P=.01) and consumed more daily servings of SSBs (mean 2.0, SD 1.4 vs mean 1.4, SD 1.3; P=.04; results not shown in tables). No other significant differences were found between male and female participants in terms of age, social media usage frequency, screen time, BMI, fruit and vegetable intake, or sleep measures. Participants with overweight or obesity were significantly more likely than those with healthy weight or underweight to report consuming more than one daily serving of SSBs (66.7% vs 45.5%; P=.04; data not shown in tables). No other significant differences in health behaviors by weight status were observed. We were unable to assess whether weight status or health behaviors varied by frequent social media usage due to an insufficient number of respondents (n=12) reporting usage frequency of once per day or less (Table 1).

Among the 93 participants with data on a single most-used platform (TikTok, Instagram, Snapchat, Twitter, or all other platforms combined), a significant difference was found in the distribution of most-used social media platform by gender (P=.03). Among males, TikTok was the most-used platform for

40.0% of respondents, followed by Instagram (22.2%) and Twitter (15.6%). Only 4.4% of males reported Snapchat as their most-used platform. Female respondents also reported TikTok as their most-used platform (41.3%), followed by Snapchat (19.6%) and Instagram (13.0%), with only 2.2% of females reporting Twitter as their most-used platform. The distributions of the most-used social media platform, preferred platform to receive health advice, and preferred platform to connect with others did not vary significantly by weight status (data not shown in tables).

# **Focus Group Results**

#### **Overview**

A total of 20 adolescents of color ages 14-18 years (80% female) from 8 youth-based settings participated in 1 of 3 web-based focus groups for the qualitative portion of this study. Using a directed content analysis approach, 4 themes were identified and coded based on the focus group guide: preferred social media platform, purpose of platform use, satisfaction and engagement with platform, and preferences for healthy weight management content and delivery. These themes are summarized in Table 3 and presented alongside illustrative quotes.



Table 3. Illustrative quotes by theme from focus groups with 20 adolescents of color in a mixed methods social media study (2021).

Themes	Illustrative quotes			
Preferred social medial platform (overall	)			
TikTok	<ul> <li>"TikTok [has] a lot of versatility to itthere's more than one thing you can doyou can watch videos, or you can make them, and it's just fun to do."</li> <li>"TikTok would be my favorite app you can meet new people through comments and stuff like that, so I think that's fun about it."</li> <li>"TikTok literally has everything you can search all the other social media [platforms] keep up with people's [lives] instead of learning stuff."</li> </ul>			
Instagram	<ul> <li>"I use Instagram because I like seeing what's going on in the world."</li> <li>"There's like a lot of pages, especially on Instagramthat show appreciation for having darker skin orhaving a certain type of body."</li> </ul>			
Platform preference use by purpose or fu	nction			
Variety and entertainment	<ul> <li>"[TikTok] is just nonstop contentliterally never endingit'll just make you laugh the whole time."</li> <li>"Tik tok literally has everythingyou can search for [dance, art, health]for other social media platforms, you [see] other people's loves."</li> </ul>			
New content and information	<ul> <li>"[On TikTok] there's always something newgive you new ideas."</li> <li>"If you ever want to learn somethingthere's multiple creators [on TikTok] who are specifically posting content about that topic."</li> <li>"TikTok has taught mea lot of stuff that they don't teach you in school."</li> <li>"If I can't find it [on TikTok]then I will go on on YouTube and find it because YouTube has a lot of various options as well."</li> </ul>			
Messaging and communication	<ul> <li>"I use Instagram a lot to message my friends and family members because we all use Instagram to message each other."</li> <li>"[For Snapchat], you can communicate a message directly with friends, and then you can post stories to it as well."</li> <li>"I usually use Snapchat toconnect with friends and see what my friends are doingon a daily basis."</li> <li>"Snapchat [is] the way I can talk to people without having their contact information."</li> </ul>			
Maintaining real-life connections	<ul> <li>"Snapchats [are] the main communication when I talk to my friends."</li> <li>"I use Facebook to reach out to people, mostly to stay connected with my family, my friends, because it's very easy to tag people."</li> </ul>			
Satisfaction and engagement with platfor	m			
TikTok	<ul> <li>"TikTok would be my favorite app you can meet new people through comments and stuff like that, so I think that's fun about it."</li> <li>"Time goes by so fast and you're laughingyou just keep scrolling and clickingit kind of like changes your mood."</li> </ul>			
Preferences for health weight intervention	n content and delivery			
TikTok as platform for health content; Instagram for live engagement	<ul> <li>"I like to follow a lot of health content [on TikTok]."</li> <li>"I prefer TikTokthey do help videos [that you can] incorporate with your life andthe things you do daily."</li> <li>"Instagram and TikTok are the ones to go to because those are the ones that platforms that spread the most information."</li> <li>"Instagram Live ismore popular getting questions from [the] audience really helps because a lot of people [can] relate they're asking different questions that you might have thought of, or you haven't [thought of]."</li> <li>"Instagram[is] a good one would where everyone could interact."</li> </ul>			

Themes	Illustrative quotes		
Content on physical and mental health	<ul> <li>"I think that people could benefit [from nutrition and exercise content] because we're youngand it's easier for us to lose weightwhen you're an adult, it's a lot harder to lose weight. So you can start making a change now so you can be better off in the future."</li> <li>"[Content on] physical and mental healthbecause you got to be mentally motivated for a physical kind of thing."</li> <li>"Promoting mental health morenobody actually talks about their emotions [or] problems, they keep it inside and hide it."</li> <li>"[Content on] my mental health and also my physical health, like my diet and my weight in particular. I'm very conscious about it."</li> </ul>		
Peer messengers and trusted sources	<ul> <li>"[On TikTok] we seepeople who work in the medical fieldwho have training."</li> <li>"[On] Tik Tokyou can follow certain creators for the content that you want to see likelike an OB/GYN I knowI follow [her]."</li> <li>"[I want to hear from] people our agebecause they know what we are going through and have the same mindset."</li> <li>"[It] felt good, very good to see somebody like in your shoes, and then see them get better, because it's very encouraging."</li> <li>"I know I'm like not the only one finding people that are like relatable to me would help"</li> </ul>		
Relatable posts and users on healthy eating and physical activity	<ul> <li>"[It's] very good to see somebody in your shoes, and then see them get better, because it's very encouraging[you realize] it's not just me, I could do it too."</li> <li>"People relate more when they see people [who] look like them talking about [health information]people of all different races and all different body shapes, all different sexes"</li> </ul>		
Frequent microhealth tips	<ul> <li>"I like when people give out a little tip little steps to help you get through the daythose are really helpful."</li> <li>"if you keep seeing it over and overit's going to motivate you even more."</li> <li>"it helps when the [creator] is consistent or the page is consistent with new content."</li> </ul>		
Design methods to enhance engagement	• "try to include [the post] with new songs todaysongs that we all knowit [makes it] more pleasing to look at instead of somebody's just talking to you about it."		

# Preferred Social Media Platform (Overall)

TikTok emerged among focus group participants as the overall preferred platform of choice generally and with respect to health content. Most participants preferred TikTok due to its versatility, tailored content for the individual user, and options for multiuse engagement (watching, making videos, and interacting with other users through comments, liking, sharing, and dueting). The majority of participants also described initiating use or engaging in more frequent use of TikTok as a result of being isolated from their peers during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic. Instagram emerged as the second most preferred platform with ease of being able to visually share information and updates, follow and engage with people outside of one's personal network (eg, influencers and celebrities), and connect with real-life network members (eg, family members, friends, and classmates).

# Platform Preference by Purpose or Function

Participants discussed using multiple social media platforms for different purposes. With respect to obtaining new content or information and entertainment, TikTok emerged as the preferred platform. With respect to frequent (eg, daily and weekly) messaging and engaging in conversation with others, including interfacing with new individuals or accounts, Snapchat and Instagram were identified as the preferred platforms. In terms of maintaining real-life connections (eg, longer-term updates) with family members and friends, participants identified using Snapchat, Instagram, and Facebook.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43961
```

RenderX

# Satisfaction and Engagement With Platforms

The majority of focus group participants discussed TikTok as yielding the highest amount of satisfaction and engagement. Participants reported that often learning or being exposed to something uplifting, positive, or humorous (resulting in improved mood) on TikTok and that this platform offered a variety of content that was constantly tailored to user preferences. Participants also valued TikTok as a platform for its novelty ("always something new to see") and relatability ("can always find something [or someone] to relate to"). The second most preferred platform was Instagram, where participants enjoyed viewing updates, viewing inspirational content, and seeing representation of other peers.

# Preferences for Weight Management Content and Delivery

Key suggestions and preferences for healthy weight management content and delivery via social media that participants voiced included content that addressed the intersection of mental and physical health (eg, body image and the types of strategies to engage in healthy eating and physical activity that also improve mental well-being); peer messengers and information from trusted sources (eg, health care providers and health experts); posts or content that were relatable (eg, information, strategies, and stories from people going through similar experiences); and consistency and frequency in posting content on small, attainable behavioral goals (eg, frequent micro tips on healthy eating or exercise routines). Participants' views on the ideal source for

health-related content were mixed; some participants wanted to see content from health professionals only, whereas other participants preferred to view content from peers with the same everyday, lived experiences.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This mixed methods study is the first to our knowledge to examine social media platform use, design, and content preferences for social media–delivered weight management interventions among adolescents of color. Participants in our study reported most frequently using TikTok, followed by Instagram, Snapchat, and Twitter, and preference for platform varied by purpose of use. Participants reporting using TikTok primarily for entertainment, consumption, and creation of content, Snapchat and Instagram for frequent communication or messaging, and a variety of platforms (Snapchat, Instagram, and Facebook) to stay connected with family, friends, and peers. These findings are similar to a small pilot study conducted among adolescent girls aged 12-18 years who reported using Snapchat and Instagram as ways to communicate and stay connected with friends [15].

In concordance with recent trends on social media use among US teens ages 13-17 years from a 2022 Pew Research Center report, TikTok was the most popular social media platform reported by our sample of adolescents of color aged 14-18 years, followed closely by Instagram and Snapchat [14]. These patterns were reflected in both the study's survey and focus group data. Findings from our study are also in line with 2022 Pew data indicating higher shares of Black and Hispanic teens reporting usage of TikTok, Instagram, and Twitter compared with White teens. Focus group data from our study also support prior research findings that while adolescents are often exposed to health information via social media, they more frequently turn to websites versus social media when proactively searching for health information and are aware of the need to evaluate the accuracy and trustworthiness of health information obtained on the internet [19-21].

Importantly, our study added to the literature by examining adolescents' preferred platform by function (information vs connection) in the context of a healthy weight management intervention and solicited open-ended input from adolescents of color on their preferences for health intervention content, design, and delivery. Quantitative and qualitative data from this study highlighted TikTok as one of the top preferred platforms of choice for learning new information on healthy weight management, and TikTok and Instagram as preferred platforms for connecting with others (eg, live discussion, commenting, and supporting) on healthy weight management behavioral changes. This study additionally identified adolescents' specific healthy weight intervention design preferences, such as trusted sources for health information (health professionals and peers), consistency and high frequency of content exposure, importance of being able to relate to others through content (creator or story is one that they can identify with) or connection (engaging with other viewers going through similar experiences), and priority

topics they would find engaging and relevant (intersection of physical and mental health).

Compared to national estimates, the prevalence of certain health behaviors among our target sample of adolescents of color (majority Latine) differed; 44% of our study sample reported consuming 5 or more servings of fruits and vegetables daily and 39% reported sleeping 8 or more hours per night compared to 15% and 26% of adolescents from the 2017 Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance Survey, respectively [22]. With respect to interest in intervention content on physical fitness, diet, and mental health, our study findings were consistent with a prior study on social media use and mental well-being among participants aged 14-22 years that reported fitness, nutrition, stress, anxiety, and depression as the top 5 topics searched on social media platforms [23].

To date, there is a lack of research on healthy weight management or obesity interventions delivered via social media among adolescents in the United States. A few studies have examined the efficacy of mobile health interventions targeting diet, physical activity, and BMI among adolescents with promising improvements in certain health behaviors, though the vast majority of these interventions are app or text-based, are not delivered via social media, and lack adequate representation of participants of color [24-26]. One pilot intervention study targeting weight-related behaviors among primarily White adolescents aged 14-18 years incorporated social media (Facebook) as an intervention component to enhance engagement [27]. Participants in the aforementioned study experienced an average increase in steps, though the majority of participants reported preferring other social media platforms such as Instagram over Facebook for intervention purposes. This body of literature combined with findings from this study highlights gaps in the field in leveraging social media as an intervention modality to promote healthy eating and physical activity among adolescents, particularly those of color.

Given the high rates of social media use among adolescents and the prevalence and fast spread of inaccurate health information on social media, the following design considerations, based on our results, may be helpful to guide the development of social media–delivered interventions targeting healthy weight management behaviors among adolescents of color [28]. These include designing content that can be readily disseminated via multiple platforms to reach multiple audiences; matching intervention activities with platforms that are most suited to meet the activity's purpose (eg, knowledge transfer, connect with others, and sustain motivation); collaborating with adolescent peer leaders to co-design and deliver content to enhance engagement and relatability of content; incorporating frequent microhealth tips; and integrating discussion of physical and mental health topics.

Study strengths include the recruitment of adolescents of color who experience disproportionately higher rates of obesity and are underrepresented in health research and the use of quantitative survey and qualitative focus group methodology to understand patterns and preferences for a social media–based intervention targeting healthy weight management behaviors. Qualitative data provided additional context of the reasons

behind participants' preferences of certain social media platforms over others, why certain platforms were preferred for a social media–based intervention targeting healthy weight management, and what respondents felt should be included in such an intervention. Study limitations include a relatively small sample size of 101 survey respondents and 20 focus group respondents (compared to larger polls or cohort studies), where most focus group respondents were female (thus limiting the male perspective); cross-sectional assessments, which limit our ability to examine changes over time; the use of self-reported measures, which may be subject to recall and social desirability bias; selection bias (eg, participants with greater interest in healthy eating and physical fitness may be more likely to participate in this study than those who did not); and convenience sampling, which resulted in a majority Latine sample recruited from Massachusetts and California, thus limiting generalizability of study findings.

#### Conclusions

Given the near ubiquity and high prevalence of social media use among adolescents and adolescents of color, a social media–delivered intervention has a high potential to reach and engage adolescents of color in healthy weight management behaviors. Findings from this study, along with further partnership with adolescent peer leaders, can be used to begin to inform the choice of platform and development of content and strategies for future social media–delivered interventions for youths of color and subsequent efficacy trials of intervention approaches tailored for this population.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Focus group guide for 20 adolescents of color participating in a mixed methods pilot social media study. [DOCX File , 16 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43961\_app1.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Prevalence of childhood obesity in the United States. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html#:~:text=For%20children%20and%20adolescents%20aged,to%2019%2Dyear%2Dolds</u> [accessed 2023-04-18]
- Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Després JP, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened beverages, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease risk. Circulation 2010;121(11):1356-1364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.876185] [Medline: 20308626]
- 3. Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JWR, van Mechelen W, Chinapaw MJM. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. Obes Rev 2008;9(5):474-488. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-789X.2008.00475.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18331423</u>]
- 4. Park MH, Falconer C, Viner RM, Kinra S. The impact of childhood obesity on morbidity and mortality in adulthood: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2012;13(11):985-1000 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.01015.x] [Medline: 22731928]
- 5. Wienert J, Jahnel T, Maaß L. What are digital public health interventions? First steps toward a definition and an intervention classification framework. J Med Internet Res 2022;24(6):e31921 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/31921</u>] [Medline: <u>35763320</u>]
- 6. Cooper M, Morton J. Digital health and obesity: how technology could be the culprit and solution for obesity. In: Rivas H, Wac K, editors. Digital Health: Scaling Healthcare to the World. Cham: Springer; 2018:169-178.
- Runyan T. Kurbo: a digital health solution for overweight youth. Pediatrics 2018;141:231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-3228] [Medline: 29487163]
- Sanchez-Flack J, Buscemi J, O'Donnell A, Clark Withington MH, Fitzgibbon M. Black American and Latinx parent/caregiver participation in digital health obesity interventions for children: a systematic review. Front Digit Health 2021;3:687648 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2021.687648] [Medline: 34713158]
- 9. Cardel MI, Taveras EM. Let's not just dismiss the weight watchers Kurbo app. Child Obes 2020;16(8):547-548 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2019.29000.car] [Medline: 31448955]
- Jakicic JM, Davis KK, Rogers RJ, King WC, Marcus MD, Helsel D, et al. Effect of wearable technology combined with a lifestyle intervention on long-term weight loss: the IDEA randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2016;316(11):1161-1171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.12858] [Medline: 27654602]
- Otis M, Zhu J, Mustafa-Kutana SN, Bernier AV, Ma Shum J, Soros Dupre AA, et al. Testing usability and feasibility of a mobile educator tool for pediatric diabetes self-management: mixed methods pilot study. JMIR Form Res 2020;4(5):e16262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16262] [Medline: 32356773]
- 12. Yonker LM, Zan S, Scirica CV, Jethwani K, Kinane TB. "Friending" teens: systematic review of social media in adolescent and young adult health care. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3692] [Medline: 25560751]

- 13. Rideout V, Peebles A, Mann S, Robb MB. Common sense census: media use by tweens and teens. Common Sense. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/default/files/research/report/8-18-census-integrated-report-final-web\_0.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-04-18]
- 14. Anderson M, Jiang J. Teens, social media and technology. Pew Research Center. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/</u> [accessed 2023-04-18]
- Leary MP, Clegg EN, Santella ME, Murray PJ, Downs JS, Olfert MD. Consumption of health-related content on social media among adolescent girls: mixed-methods pilot study. JMIR Form Res 2019;3(1):e11404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11404] [Medline: 30821696]
- Chau MM, Burgermaster M, Mamykina L. The use of social media in nutrition interventions for adolescents and young adults—a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2018;120:77-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.10.001] [Medline: 30409348]
- 17. Youth risk behavior survey data. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/</u> <u>data/yrbs/index.htm</u> [accessed 2023-04-18]
- Hsieh H, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 19. Anderson M, Jiang J. Teens' social media habits and experiences. Pew Research Center. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/11/28/teens-social-media-habits-and-experiences/</u> [accessed 2023-04-18]
- 20. Freeman JL, Caldwell PHY, Scott KM. The role of trust when adolescents search for and appraise online health information. J Pediatr 2020;221:215-223.e5. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.02.074] [Medline: 32446485]
- Colditz JB, Woods MS, Primack BA. Adolescents seeking online health information: topics, approaches, and challenges. In: Moreno MA, Radovic A, editors. Technology and Adolescent Mental Health. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018:21-35.
- 22. Narcisse M, Long CR, Felix HC, Howie EK, Purvis RS, McElfish PA. Adherence to sleep guidelines reduces risk of overweight/obesity in addition to 8-5-2-1-0 guidelines among a large sample of adolescents in the United States. Sleep Health 2019;5(5):444-451 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2019.03.004] [Medline: 31023558]
- 23. Rideout V, Fox S, Well Being Trust. Digital health practices, social media use, and mental well-being among teens and young adults in the U.S. Articles, Abstracts, and Reports. 2018. URL: <u>https://digitalcommons.psjhealth.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2092&context=publications</u> [accessed 2023-04-18]
- 24. Benavides C, Benítez-Andrades JA, Marqués-Sánchez P, Arias N. eHealth intervention to improve health habits in the adolescent population: mixed methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021;9(2):e20217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20217] [Medline: 33599616]
- 25. Gustafson A, Jilcott Pitts SB, McQuerry K, Babtunde O, Mullins J. A mentor-led text-messaging intervention increases intake of fruits and vegetables and goal setting for healthier dietary consumption among rural adolescents in Kentucky and North Carolina, 2017. Nutrients 2019;11(3):593 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu11030593] [Medline: 30862118]
- 26. Fuemmeler BF, Holzwarth E, Sheng Y, Do EK, Miller CA, Blatt J, et al. Mila blooms: a mobile phone application and behavioral intervention for promoting physical activity and a healthy diet among adolescent survivors of childhood cancer. Games Health J 2020;9(4):279-289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2019.0060] [Medline: 32391734]
- Schoenfelder E, Moreno M, Wilner M, Whitlock KB, Mendoza JA. Piloting a mobile health intervention to increase physical activity for adolescents with ADHD. Prev Med Rep 2017;6:210-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2017.03.003] [Medline: 28373931]
- 28. Suarez-Lledo V, Alvarez-Galvez J. Prevalence of health misinformation on social media: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(1):e17187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17187] [Medline: 33470931]

# Abbreviations

**BGC:** Massachusetts Alliance of Boys & Girls Clubs **SSB:** sugar-sweetened beverage

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 31.10.22; peer-reviewed by M Katzow, D Young; comments to author 24.01.23; revised version received 21.03.23; accepted 10.04.23; published 08.05.23.

Please cite as:

Alatorre S, Schwarz AG, Egan KA, Feldman AR, Rosa M, Wang ML Exploring Social Media Preferences for Healthy Weight Management Interventions Among Adolescents of Color: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43961 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43961 doi:10.2196/43961 PMID:37155230



©Selenne Alatorre, Aviva G Schwarz, Kelsey A Egan, Amanda R Feldman, Marielis Rosa, Monica L Wang. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 08.05.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Review**

# Social Media Interventions for Nutrition Education Among Adolescents: Scoping Review

Yalinie Kulandaivelu<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Jill Hamilton<sup>2</sup>, MD; Ananya Banerjee<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Anatoliy Gruzd<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Barkha Patel<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Jennifer Stinson<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Child Health Evaluative Sciences, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Centre for Healthy Active Kids, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Information Technology Management, Toronto Metropolitan University, Toronto, ON, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Yalinie Kulandaivelu, MSc Child Health Evaluative Sciences The Hospital for Sick Children Peter Gilgan Centre for Research and Learning 686 Bay Street Toronto, ON, M5G 0A4 Canada Phone: 1 416 813 7654 ext 327105 Email: yalinie.kulandaivelu@mail.utoronto.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Adolescence is a critical period for reinforcing healthy dietary behaviors and supporting the development of cooking skills. Social media may be an avenue for supporting these behaviors, as it is popular among adolescents and can improve access to nutrition education interventions. This study sought to understand the optimal implementation of effective social media–based nutrition education interventions to inform the implementation of future social media–based nutrition education interventions.

**Objective:** A scoping review of the characteristics, feasibility, effectiveness, and factors influencing social media–based nutrition education interventions for adolescents was conducted.

**Methods:** We searched MEDLINE, Embase, CINAHL, Web of Science, and PsycINFO databases using a predefined search strategy. Primary research articles were independently screened and included if they involved adolescent populations (10-18 years old) and delivered nutrition education through social media. The information on intervention characteristics, feasibility, effectiveness, and factors influencing social media–based nutrition education interventions was extracted.

**Results:** A total of 28 publications out of 20,557 met the eligibility criteria. Twenty-five nutrition interventions were examined by 28 studies. Fourteen interventions used homegrown social media platforms, 8 used Facebook, and 2 used Instagram. Feasibility outcomes were infrequently reported, and the cost of intervention delivery was not reported. Engagement with interventions was variable; high engagement was not required to elicit significant improvements in dietary behaviors. Tailoring interventions, offering practical content, meaningful peer support, and involving families and communities facilitated successful interventions. Strategies to address engagement and technical issues were varied.

**Conclusions:** Emerging evidence demonstrates that social media interventions for adolescent nutrition are acceptable and improve nutrition outcomes. Future interventions should strengthen peer support components and tailor delivery to specific populations. Further research should examine engagement, adherence, and the impact of interventions on behavioral and physical outcomes. This review is the first to examine the use of social media as the primary medium for nutrition education for adolescent populations. The analysis used in this review argues the importance of peer support in social media–based nutrition interventions and the need for user-centered design of the interventions.

#### (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e36132) doi:10.2196/36132

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

adolescents; digital health intervention; food literacy; health literacy; nutrition; peer education; peer support; social media
# Introduction

Poor nutrition, such as the consumption of highly processed foods and infrequent consumption of vegetables, is directly linked to a multitude of preventable chronic illnesses, including ischaemic heart disease, diabetes, cancer, and poor mental health [1]. Dietary behaviors are influenced by a complex set of factors, including food security, social environments, attitudes and beliefs about food, and nutrition and food literacy [2-11]. Food and nutrition literacy are the skills and knowledge that allow individuals to prepare and eat good-tasting, healthy, and affordable foods on a daily basis and are linked to improved diet quality in adolescence [12,13]. Rates of preventable chronic illness will continue to increase, particularly in young people, if modifiable factors influencing nutrition are not addressed [14].

Cooking skills during adolescence also track into adulthood and are predictive of diet quality (eg, vegetable consumption) and confidence in cooking abilities in adulthood [15,16]. Behavioral patterns established during adolescence influence adolescents' risk of developing chronic illnesses during adulthood and their current health. However, opportunities for learning cooking and food preparation skills have decreased in school and at home, and family meals have decreased due in part to parental precarious work, poor housing conditions, and the use of devices and media during mealtimes [17-20]. Thus, promoting food and nutrition literacy during adolescence is an important component of a multipronged chronic illness prevention strategy [21,22].

Interventions for food and nutrition literacy have positive impacts on adolescents' nutrition knowledge, self-efficacy in cooking skills, and dietary behaviors [13,23-26]. Technology-based interventions, especially social media, are recommended to effectively engage adolescents, especially older adolescents [23,24]. Adolescents are especially sensitive to their social environments (eg, peers and social media) and use social media to socialize and learn new information, making social media an important avenue for health promotion [27,28]. Irrespective of income level, 95% of adolescents today use mobile phones, and upwards of 70%-80% of adolescents use social media (eg, Instagram or Snapchat) [28].

However, the effective design and implementation of social media interventions for nutrition in adolescents remain unclear [29]. One review of social media interventions for nutrition in adolescents and young adults found some positive impacts on BMI and dietary intake. However, the components of the interventions eliciting positive impacts, especially for adolescents from low socioeconomic status (SES) communities, remained unclear [29]. Adolescents from low SES communities are at the highest risk of poor nutrition due to food insecurity, uncertain or limited access to healthy foods, and lower food and nutrition literacy due to poor housing conditions and parental precarious working conditions [7,15-20,30-39]. To inform the development and evaluation of a social media-based food literacy intervention for adolescents from low SES settings, we sought to conduct a scoping review of the evidence on social media-based interventions for nutrition outcomes among adolescents. This review differs from previous reviews in several

ways: we focused on adolescent populations as there are several implementation issues (eg, privacy and consent) and differences in food environments for this population (eg, living with parents or guardians); we used a broader search strategy and inclusion criteria, including earlier studies (2000 onward) and qualitative and quantitative studies, and we sought to identify any barriers and facilitators to the interventions and highlight factors that were specific to adolescents from low SES communities. Our research questions were:

- 1. What are the characteristics (eg, platform or frequency) of social media interventions used to address nutrition outcomes in adolescents?
- 2. What is the feasibility (eg, dropout rates or cost) of delivering interventions using social media for improving nutrition outcomes in adolescents?
- 3. What is the effectiveness of social media interventions in achieving positive changes in nutrition outcomes (eg, attitudes about nutrition, BMI, or dietary intake) among adolescents?
- 4. What factors influence the implementation and success of social media interventions for nutrition outcomes?

# Methods

We conducted a scoping review, as articulated by Arksey and O'Malley [40]. We chose a scoping review over a systematic review methodology due to our broader research questions and overarching aim to inform the development and evaluation of a social media–based food literacy intervention for adolescents from low SES settings [40].

# Literature Sources and Search Strategy

The search strategy was developed in collaboration with a medical library information specialist. It combined subject headings and text words relating to the main concepts using "AND" and "OR." The search concepts were (1) social media, (2) children or adolescents, and (3) nutrition-related interventions. Searches of relevant electronic bibliographic databases (MEDLINE, Embase, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Web of Science) for published work meeting the inclusion criteria were conducted, restricted to the years 2000 to April 7, 2022, with no language restrictions. We limited searches to the years 2000 and onward, corresponding with the emergence of social media for public use. We chose to include earlier studies with the earliest forms of social media because the essence of social media, which is peer-to-peer sharing and user-generated content, has remained consistent irrespective of the changes in platforms and technology over time. Reference lists of primary studies included in the review and of any relevant, previously published reviews were hand-searched. We initially reviewed the gray literature but decided not to include it to maintain the feasibility of the review. The gray literature we reviewed did not include evaluations of the interventions that were not already published in a peer-reviewed journal. A search strategy is available on request.

# **Selection Criteria and Screening Process**

We included publications in peer-reviewed journals meeting the following criteria: (1) population ages of 10-18 years old,

as consistent with previous literature in this area and World Health Organization definitions of adolescence or described as adolescents; (2) social media as the primary intervention or a component of a complex intervention; (3) primary intervention provided nutrition education; and (4) conducted an evaluation of the social media intervention. All empirical study designs were included. Conference abstracts, guidelines, protocols, editorials or commentaries, dissertations, and reviews were excluded. Relevant reviews were examined for any potentially eligible studies, and dissertations were used to identify peer-reviewed publications. Social media was defined as electronic communications allowing for the creation of user-created communities and the sharing of information, personal messages, ideas, and audiovisual content [41]. Examples of social media include applications and websites such as Facebook, TikTok, and Instagram; forums (eg, Reddit); microblogging (eg, Twitter); and social bookmarking (eg, Pinterest) [42].

A calibration exercise was completed to ensure screening consistency and agreement; a random 10% subset of references was screened by 2 review authors (YK and BP), achieving an initial agreement of 97%. Any disagreements were resolved by discussion to achieve 100% agreement. Following the calibration exercise, the titles and abstracts of retrieved studies were screened independently by at least one review author (YK or BP) to identify studies that potentially met the selection criteria. The same exercise was completed again for full-text screening, achieving 95% agreement initially and 100% agreement following discussion. The screening was conducted using Covidence systematic review software [43].

## **Data Extraction**

Data extraction was conducted on Excel (Microsoft Corp) using a prepiloted form developed by the review authors to independently extract data [44]. Extracted information included: study context (eg, country and setting); intervention characteristics (eg, platform and content); population demographics (eg, ages and gender); study methodology (eg, study design); quantitative and qualitative study results; and study discussion and conclusions.

## **Data Synthesis**

We descriptively summarized study characteristics, intervention characteristics, and feasibility outcomes that were extracted from the included studies. Qualitative results from studies were analyzed using qualitative content analysis to identify and summarize factors influencing the implementation and success of the intervention. Data included in qualitative analyses included survey data, focus group discussions, individual interviews, and observation and field notes made by research staff during programs.

# Results

XSL•FC RenderX

## **Study Characteristics**

A total of 20,557 unique references were retrieved through database searches and screened for inclusion based on the selection criteria. Of these, 28 studies of 25 distinct interventions met the inclusion criteria and were included in the review. See

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e36132
```

Multimedia Appendix 1 for the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram, including reasons for exclusion at the full-text screening stage. Fourteen studies were from the United States, 3 from Spain, 2 from Malaysia, 2 from Canada; and the remainder were from Brazil, Denmark, France, Indonesia, Portugal, and South Korea. Eleven studies were randomized controlled trials, 3 of which were cluster randomized controlled trials; 8 studies were pre-post designs, 2 of which were feasibility studies; 4 studies were quasi-experimental pre-post with control group designs; 2 studies were process evaluations; 2 studies were qualitative evaluations; and 1 study was a usability study. See Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for the characteristics of the included studies.

#### **Study Participant Characteristics**

Total sample sizes ranged from 13 participants to 2001 participants. Four interventions were for females only; 11 studies had mostly female participants (60% or more); and 2 studies did not report the sex or gender of participants. Sixteen studies reported on race or ethnicity, 13 of which were from the United States, 1 from Malaysia, 1 from Canada, and 1 from Spain and Mexico. Of the 13 studies from the United States, 7 had mostly (50% or higher) Caucasian participants, 9 studies reported a proportion of African American participants (mean 22%; range 1.4%-46.2%), 7 studies reported a proportion of Latino or Hispanic participants (mean 20%; range 7.3%-43.5%), 1 study reported 16% of Asian participants, 1 study reported 4.9% American Indian or Alaska Native participants, 1 study targeted only Korean American participants, and 8 studies reported proportion of other or multiethnic categories (mean 17.6%; range 7.6%-46.7%). Four studies reported on the SES of participants using varying definitions and categorizations of SES, summarized in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2. Eleven studies targeted adolescents who were considered overweight or obese. See Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for characteristics of included studies.

## **Social Media Interventions**

Intervention durations were between 6 weeks and 2 years with the most common length being 12-16 weeks (9/22, 41%; 3 studies did not report length). Most interventions used homegrown websites with social networking functions (10/25, 40%), 4 (16%) interventions used homegrown mobile phone apps, 8 (32%) used Facebook, 2 (8%) used Instagram, and 1 (4%) used an unspecified social networking service. Homegrown platforms included discussion forums, chat functions, resource centers, games, and education modules. Thirteen studies involved additional intervention components (17/25, 68%), including attendance at a weight management clinic, intermittent face-to-face group meetings or meetings with a health professional, text message reminders, weekly newsletters, weekly quizzes, web-based rewards for healthy goal setting, informational websites, changes to the school curriculum, a food diary, exergaming, and a new food labeling system at the school cafeteria. In addition to nutrition education, 16 interventions addressed physical activity and exercise; 7 interventions addressed weight management, weight loss, and obesity; 5 interventions addressed eating disorders, body image,

or related symptoms and behaviors; and 2 interventions addressed stress management. Nine interventions (9/25, 36%) involved parents, with parent-specific websites or newsletters, or providing intervention access to parents. Ten interventions (10/25, 40%) reported how they were developed, 8 used feedback from or the involvement of adolescents to design the intervention, and 2 used an iterative user-centered design process. Four interventions were designed by educators or health care providers. No interventions reported including a cooking skills component to the intervention. See Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 3 for a summary of social media intervention characteristics.

# Feasibility

Most studies did not report recruitment rates (17/25, 26%), while 3 (16%) recruited participants in a short period of time (eg, 1-3 weeks) at the start of the intervention. Twelve studies reported dropout rates, ranging from no dropouts to 68% dropout; however, most (7/12) were between 0% and 22%. Eight studies (8/24, 33%) reported some program costs: 5 gave participants gift certificates or compensation (US \$20 to US \$50) for outcome measures or study completion; 2 used prize contests to motivate increased participation; 2 provided participants with equipment (eg, iPhone and digital food scale) to participate in the intervention; 1 allowed participants to "cash in" points from adhering to the intervention to redeem at local merchants; and 1 provided a US \$25 monthly incentive to assist participants with mobile data costs [45]. See Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 4 for a summary of feasibility outcomes.

# Factors Influencing Implementation and Success of Interventions

# Overview

Factors influencing the implementation and success of interventions were categorized into the following themes: role of families and communities, tailoring interventions for the target population, engagement, technical and logistical issues, and peer support. See Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 5 for a complete summary of categories.

# **Role of Families and Communities**

Studies reported that parents' inclusion in programs elicited positive impacts on participants, irrespective of their level of involvement, and that positive behavior changes among participants diffused to their families and peers [46-53]. When considering parents' inclusion in programs, studies suggested that parental digital literacy needed to be considered as well as whether their involvement would detract from the independence adolescents would be attempting to achieve during this period of development [47,53,54]. Conversely, the positive impact of including families in interventions needed to be balanced with intervention content that addressed interpersonal barriers to healthy eating, such as peer and family pressure, lack of parental support for healthy eating, lack of control over food at home and in social settings, and tensions with cultural foods and healthier food choices [52,55,56]. Designing interventions in concert with community partners aided in the planning and delivery of the intervention, identifying improvements, and ensuring intervention sustainability [48,57-62].

# Tailoring for Target Population

Studies recommended selecting social media platforms according to the target population, as differences in usage of platforms may exist between genders, SES levels, age groups, and countries [47,48,52,54,55,63]. Adolescents preferred content presented in actionable terms; frequent opportunities for peer interaction; examples of good-tasting healthy food; minimal, low-cost ingredient simple recipes; and culturally relevant content [48,52,55,59,61,64,65]. Studies found that content should be reviewed ahead of delivery to avoid stigmatizing messaging and encourage healthy lifestyles [52,63,64,66-69]. Finally, including adolescents' feedback at all stages of the research was effective in ensuring the relevance of interventions to youths [47,51,56,59,62,64].

# Engagement

Participants were more motivated to engage with interventions when they were involved in existing peer networks and peer support and used social media platforms that they already use [48,57,59,63,64,68-70]. Strategies, such as notifications and message prompts; adjunct in-person meetings; peer leaders, educators, and mentors; and greater intervention guidance, facilitated engagement [45,48,57,58,64,67-70]. Low or passive engagement may be enough to elicit preliminary improvements in dietary behaviors [54,58]. However, for future interventions, dynamic and responsive social media environments similar to media that adolescents already engage with would be essential to maintain adolescents' engagement in the intervention and nutrition education more broadly [48,67,71].

# Technical and Logistical Issues

To ensure the success of interventions, studies recommended using platforms that participants already use, adapting to changes in social media, testing social media functionalities regularly, counseling participants on privacy and safety on the internet, creating privacy and safety contingency plans, and ensuring access to devices and the internet [45,48,52,59,62,65,70,72].

# Peer Support

Nutrition education delivered through social media needed to involve meaningful peer support to facilitate sustainable changes in health behaviors [45,48,52,61,63,67-69]. Effective peer support was drawn from participants' existing social networks, from individuals whose opinions and judgments they valued, and from those who were from similar backgrounds [45,48,52,61,63,67-69]. Several mechanisms of influence explain the role of peer support in health behavior change using social media [48,49,52,68,69]. Thus, studies reported some uncertainty regarding how interventions should be designed to facilitate health behavior change [48,49,52,68,69].

# Discussion

# Summary

We sought to review the literature on social media interventions for nutrition in adolescent populations. Twenty-eight studies met our eligibility criteria and were included in the synthesis. The interventions were highly varied, although generally, they used similar social media platforms (eg, Facebook, homegrown

XSL•FO RenderX

websites, or apps) and duration (12-16 weeks). The feasibility of interventions could not be adequately assessed due to a lack of reporting and varied dropout rates, engagement, and reported costs. Of the studies examining the effectiveness of interventions, improvements in BMI and dietary behaviors typically occurred between 6 and 9 months of follow-up. Finally, factors influencing interventions suggested that effective interventions must be tailored to populations, offer peer support, and be dynamic and responsive, similar to existing social media environments.

## **Principal Results**

Social media interventions varied in the platform, length, theoretical foundation, format, and content, similar to previous review findings [73,74]. Trends, such as the use of Facebook and websites, reflect the dominant social media platforms from 2007 to 2014 when the top social media platform used by adolescents was Facebook [75]. Yet, the trend in the use of homegrown apps and websites continued into later studies included in this review. This may be due in part to concerns regarding the safety of adolescents when using popular social media, which remains a challenge in delivering these interventions. Today, adolescents report using platforms such as Instagram and Snapchat exclusively on mobile phones [28]. Reviews of social media interventions for child health, HIV treatment and prevention, and smoking, and studies in this review suggest that the best practice is to use existing social media platforms that adolescents already use to increase ease of use and accessibility and reduce costs [76-79]. New platforms may be adopted according to current trends and the target population's usage [76-79]. However, irrespective of technology and platform, studies reported challenges in maintaining adequate peer-to-peer sharing and support. Many studies reported using interpersonal-level theories to inform the design of interventions since a key feature of social media is peer-to-peer sharing. However, few interventions centered on using peer support to achieve behavior change, and the peer educators or mentors had a limited role in the few interventions where they were involved.

There was limited information on feasibility in the included studies. Dropout rates and engagement varied widely when reported, and recruitment rates and cost information were seldom reported. The promise of social media-based health interventions lies in their assumed ability to reach broader geographic regions, increase accessibility, be cost-effective, and effectively engage adolescents; however, no studies have examined the extent to which this occurs. Many existing nutrition education programs are delivered by dieticians or other licensed health professionals or by teachers in schools, have limits on the number of participants they may reach, and vary in terms of their ability to provide tailored content to adolescents, reach broader geographic regions, effectively engage adolescents, and achieve improvements in dietary behaviors [13,23-26]. A clearer understanding of the costs and benefits of the different types of programs can aid decision makers in determining appropriate interventions and sustainability.

The data on the effectiveness of interventions was variable. Some studies demonstrated effects on BMI and dietary behaviors up to a 6- to 9-month follow-up. Similar improvements in dietary behaviors were found in a review of social media interventions for diet and exercise [80]. However, our ability to conclude effectiveness is limited due to the heterogeneity of social media interventions and the presence of multicomponent interventions. While these findings suggest some positive impact of social media interventions on nutrition outcomes in adolescent populations, without an appropriate understanding of dose-response, it is difficult to generalize the findings of these studies to other interventions or populations. Future definitive trials focused on examining effectiveness and dose-response will be needed to better understand these interventions.

We grouped factors influencing interventions into several categories, including the role of families and communities, tailoring for population characteristics, engagement with the intervention, technical and logistical issues, and peer support.

A few studies examined the role of parents in the intervention and suggested that they facilitated engagement with the intervention. Studies that involved parents found that they were facilitators regardless of how involved they were [48-51,81]. Even the act of parents providing consent for adolescents to participate in the intervention had an effect on improving participation [48]. These findings suggest significant involvement among parents may not be an essential component of programs for adolescents and can reduce some of the challenges when targeting low-income or ethnic minority youths, where parental time constraints, language, digital literacy, and other barriers may prevent parents from being involved in the intervention.

Several studies emphasized the role of involving communities in ensuring engagement, sustainability, and success of the intervention. Evidence from a range of health promotion interventions suggests that community-based interventions are most successful in improving nutrition [77,82]. Community partners can continue to deliver successful programs after studies end, streamline recruitment, and increase the acceptability of the program as participants are more likely to participate in a program delivered by familiar people and organizations.

Studies unanimously recommended more tailored approaches to program delivery. However, there was limited information regarding the tailoring of interventions to low SES and ethnic minority populations. Many US-based studies mainly targeted White participants, and others did not report the race or ethnicity of participants, similar to the findings of the systematic review of social media for diet and exercise by Williams et al [80]. However, studies such as Januraga et al [52] reported that interventions need further modifications to resolve participants' tensions between family and culture-centered values, their desire to make healthy changes to their diets, and the interpersonal barriers that adolescents face in advocating for their healthier choices to parents and peer circles. A US study that targeted Korean-American adolescents also reported a need for more culturally tailored information [56]. Evidence on health behavior change in ethnic minority populations suggests that culturally tailored and facilitated interventions are more likely to achieve

```
SL-FO
```

improvements in health outcomes [83]. Social media interventions have an opportunity to address these gaps, as official and national dietary guidelines may not address the breadth of diverse populations to the same extent as social media [84]. Among studies designed with youths' involvement, none reported the extent to which youths' preferences for nutrition education content were included. Nutrition education in the interventions was developed based on a variety of sources. Due to the scope of this review, we were unable to contact the authors of studies for further information regarding the nutrition curriculum used for each intervention and examine whether it was evidence-based.

Many studies targeted female participants and had higher female participation than male participation. The focus on adolescent females may be because several studies had the concurrent aim of eating disorder prevention, which affects girls and women at higher rates [85]. However, poor dietary behaviors and obesity affect males at higher rates than females, and males are less likely to engage with health services or be targeted by programs or services than females [86-88]. Furthermore, no studies in this review addressed adolescents who identify along the continuum of gender identity or sexual orientation, despite these adolescents being at greater risk of poor dietary behaviors, obesity, and disordered eating [89].

Engagement with interventions was often reported as a challenge, and several strategies were suggested for improving engagement. Challenges with engagement are frequently reported in other social media-based health interventions, and strategies, such as end user involvement in intervention design and financial incentives for participation, are suggested as potential ways to improve engagement [80]. However, despite involving end users in intervention design and financial incentives, studies in this review still found difficulties in engagement. Instead, feedback from adolescents suggested that leveraging existing friendships and social networks would increase engagement. Furthermore, most interventions in this review were static, with intervention content developed and then delivered with no further changes. Interventions are often "competing" with social media and adolescents consume on a regular basis that involve real-time responsiveness to participant engagement and feedback and tailoring content as social media users interact with it. Social media-based interventions for HIV treatment and prevention that involve dynamic and responsive content and peer-to-peer interaction have found fewer challenges with engagement [76].

Where peer support was active and engaged, participants reported positive experiences and a preference for more opportunities for peer support, a preference that is in line with previous reviews of social media for adolescent health [77]. Reviews of social media interventions for HIV treatment and prevention find that those that involved significant peer or social support components (eg, mentors or the primary aim of peer-to-peer communication) had high participant satisfaction with peer and social support and were linked to higher testing rates [76,90]. The role of peer mentors or educators was minimal in most interventions in our review, with few offering formal training to peer mentors. However, should future interventions incorporate peer mentors or leaders, formal training may ensure the effectiveness of mentor support by providing mentors with appropriate skills and strategies to deliver interventions [91].

Several studies discussed the role of technical issues and the need for them to be solved in real time and addressed ahead of or during the intervention in usability testing. A few studies discussed issues related to privacy and consent for studies. As many studies used homegrown websites and applications, the study teams were able to have greater control over intervention privacy. Studies that used Facebook asked adolescents to create new accounts for the study itself or used private, anonymized pages or groups. This issue requires further attention to ensure the successful implementation of social media–based nutrition education for adolescents without increasing barriers to participation [74].

This review highlighted several potential areas for future research on social media interventions for adolescent nutrition to explore. First, given that the aim of social media is to promote peer-to-peer sharing and communication, interventions should ensure peer and social support remain central to the intervention and are measured as part of outcomes. Second, in the literature reviewed, few described tailoring to ethnic minority populations or targeting populations most vulnerable to poor nutrition. Addressing these issues will be important to reduce health inequities and ensure effectiveness among diverse populations. Many of the studies had a focus on adolescent females or generally had higher rates of adolescent females participating. The risk of overweight, obesity, and dietary behaviors tends to be higher in males versus females; thus, ensuring interventions are accessible and effective for different sexes and genders is crucial to reducing health disparities. Third, examining dose-response and essential components of interventions will improve estimates of improvements in outcomes and the successful implementation of programs. Identifying the appropriate length, frequency, and engagement with the intervention will improve program rollout and allow interventions to be replicated accordingly based on evaluations of dose-response of interventions. Last, none of the included studies examined the cost-effectiveness or cost of the intervention. Examining cost-effectiveness will be important for policy makers and decision makers.

#### Strengths and Limitations

One of the strengths of this review was the inclusion of both qualitative and quantitative data, allowing them to be interpreted in context with one another. Examining both types allowed us to identify factors influencing social media interventions for nutrition among adolescents. The second was the comprehensive search strategy we developed in collaboration with a medical library information specialist. The search strategy ensured we addressed a broad range of social media and varieties of interventions addressing nutrition in adolescent populations and addressed several gaps in previous reviews. Third, our focus on adolescents allowed us to examine specific issues related to consent, privacy, and safety, as well as the role of parents and communities. Previous reviews of social media interventions for health have combined adolescents with young adult populations [29,42]. Finally, our focus on the peer-to-peer sharing aspects of social media allowed us to gain an

XSL•FO RenderX

understanding of the unique role of social media in nutrition and health promotion for adolescents.

The results of this scoping review must be interpreted in context with its limitations. Due to resource constraints, the authors of included studies were not contacted for missing or unpublished data which may have yielded potential information to address our research questions. This review did not examine in depth the nutrition education provided in the interventions as it was beyond the scope of the review; however, summaries of the nutrition education are provided in Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 3. Studies came from different fields interested in nutrition education interventions, such as eating disorder prevention, weight management, and healthy eating promotion. Thus, the outcomes measured in certain studies are less applicable to other fields, and intervention design, development, and content focus differ depending on the health concern.

# Conclusions

Accessible and cost-effective health promotion targeting adolescents' nutrition is an important component of a multipronged strategy for the prevention of chronic illnesses. Social media interventions are essential components of effective health promotion, as social media are ubiquitous among adolescents and afford the ability to provide education and psychosocial support in developing healthy eating. The results of this review demonstrate that social media interventions for adolescents' nutrition are acceptable and demonstrate promising impacts on dietary behaviors. Further research is required to understand the dose-response of interventions, the role of parents in interventions, the design of programs tailored to ethnically diverse adolescents and adolescent males, the role of peer leaders and peer support in programs, the impact on health-related outcomes, and cost-effectiveness.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Prisma flow chart. [DOCX File , 42 KB - pediatrics v6i1e36132 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Table S1. Characteristics of included studies. [DOCX File , 296 KB - pediatrics v6i1e36132 app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Table S2. Summary of social media intervention characteristics. [DOCX File , 289 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e36132\_app3.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Table S3. Feasibility outcomes. [DOCX File , 288 KB - pediatrics v6i1e36132 app4.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Table S4. Factors influencing implementation and success of interventions. [DOCX File , 285 KB - pediatrics v6i1e36132 app5.docx ]

## References

- GBD 2017 Diet Collaborators. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. Lancet 2019;393(10184):1958-1972 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30041-8] [Medline: 30954305]
- Nicklas TA, Dwyer J, Feldman HA, Luepker RV, Kelder SH, Nader PR. Serum cholesterol levels in children are associated with dietary fat and fatty acid intake. J Am Diet Assoc 2002;102(4):511-517. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0002-8223(02)90117-3</u>] [Medline: <u>11985407</u>]
- van der Pols JC, Bain C, Gunnell D, Smith GD, Frobisher C, Martin RM. Childhood dairy intake and adult cancer risk: 65-y follow-up of the Boyd Orr Cohort. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86(6):1722-1729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ajcn/86.5.1722] [Medline: 18065592]
- Frankel S, Gunnell DJ, Peters TJ, Maynard M, Smith GD. Childhood energy intake and adult mortality from cancer: the Boyd Orr Cohort study. BMJ 1998;316(7130):499-504 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.316.7130.499</u>] [Medline: <u>9501710</u>]

- Mishra GD, dos Santos Silva I, McNaughton SA, Stephen A, Kuh D. Energy intake and dietary patterns in childhood and throughout adulthood and mammographic density: results from a British prospective cohort. Cancer Causes Control 2011;22(2):227-235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10552-010-9690-7] [Medline: 21113794]
- Maynard M, Gunnell D, Emmett P, Frankel S, Smith GD. Fruit, vegetables, and antioxidants in childhood and risk of adult cancer: the Boyd Orr Cohort. J Epidemiol Community Health 2003;57(3):218-225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.57.3.218] [Medline: 12594199]
- Mello JA, Gans KM, Risica PM, Kirtania U, Strolla LO, Fournier L. How is food insecurity associated with dietary behaviors? An analysis with low-income, ethnically diverse participants in a nutrition intervention study. J Am Diet Assoc 2010;110(12):1906-1911 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2010.09.011] [Medline: 21111099]
- 8. Matheson DM, Varady J, Varady A, Killen JD. Household food security and nutritional status of hispanic children in the fifth grade. Am J Clin Nutr 2002;76(1):210-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ajcn/76.1.210] [Medline: 12081837]
- Akande VO, Hendriks AM, Ruiter RAC, Kremers SPJ. Determinants of dietary behavior and physical activity among Canadian inuit: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2015;12:84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0252-y] [Medline: 26104152]
- 10. Taylor JP, Evers S, McKenna M. Determinants of healthy eating in children. Can J Public Health 2005;96:S22-S29. [doi: 10.1007/BF03405197]
- 11. Public Health Ontario. Public Health Ontario. In: Addressing Obesity in Children and Youth: Evidence to Guide Action for Ontario. Ontario: Public Health Ontario; 2013.
- 12. Vidgen HA, Gallegos D. Defining food literacy and its components. Appetite 2014;76:50-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2014.01.010]
- 13. Cullerton K, Vidgen HA, Gallegos D. A review of food literacy interventions targeting disadvantaged young people. Brisbane, Queensland, Australia: Queensland University of Technology; 2012.
- 14. Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian institute for health information. Obesity in Canada. Obes 2011 [FREE Full text]
- Larson NI, Neumark-Sztainer D, Hannan PJ, Story M. Family meals during adolescence are associated with higher diet quality and healthful meal patterns during young adulthood. J Am Diet Assoc 2007;107(9):1502-1510. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2007.06.012] [Medline: <u>17761227</u>]
- Lavelle F, Spence M, Hollywood L, McGowan L, Surgenor D, McCloat A, et al. Learning cooking skills at different ages: a cross-sectional study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016;13(1):119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0446-y] [Medline: 27842556]
- 17. Lichtenstein AH, Ludwig DS. Bring back home economics education. JAMA 2010;303(18):1857-1858 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.592] [Medline: 20460625]
- Banwell C, Hinde S, Dixon J, Sibthorpe B. Reflections on expert consensus: a case study of the social trends contributing to obesity. Eur J Public Health 2005;15(6):564-568 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cki034] [Medline: 16141305]
- Laska MN, Hearst MO, Lust K, Lytle LA, Story M. How we eat what we eat: identifying meal routines and practices most strongly associated with healthy and unhealthy dietary factors among young adults. Public Health Nutr 2015;18(12):2135-2145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980014002717] [Medline: 25439511]
- 20. Community Food Centres Canada. Community Food Centres Canada. Backgrounder: Best Practices in Healthy Eating Programs for Children and Youth. 2018. URL: <u>https://cfccanada.ca/en/News/Publications/Backgrounders/</u> [accessed 2023-06-13]
- 21. Viner RM, Ozer EM, Denny S, Marmot M, Resnick M, Fatusi A, et al. Adolescence and the social determinants of health. Lancet 2012;379(9826):1641-1652. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60149-4] [Medline: 22538179]
- 22. Williams PG, Holmbeck GN, Greenley RN. Adolescent health psychology. J Consult Clin Psychol 2002;70(3):828-842. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.70.3.828]
- 23. Brooks N, Begley A. Adolescent food literacy programmes: a review of the literature. Nutr Diet 2013;71(3):158-171. [doi: 10.1111/1747-0080.12096]
- 24. Wickham CA, Carbone ET. What's technology cooking up? A systematic review of the use of technology in adolescent food literacy programs. Appetite 2018;125:333-344. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2018.02.001] [Medline: 29471069]
- 25. Chapman P, Toma RB, Tuveson RV, Jacob M. Nutrition knowledge among adolescent high school female athletes. Adolescence 1997;32(126):437-446. [Medline: <u>9179339</u>]
- 26. Bailey CJ, Drummond MJ, Ward PR. Food literacy programmes in secondary schools: a systematic literature review and narrative synthesis of quantitative and qualitative evidence. Public Health Nutr 2019;22(15):2891-2913 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980019001666] [Medline: 31290384]
- 27. Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, Blakemore SJ, Dick B, Ezeh AC, et al. Adolescence: a foundation for future health. Lancet 2012;379(9826):1630-1640. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60072-5] [Medline: 22538178]
- 28. Anderson M, Jiang J. Pew Research Center 2018;31:1673-1689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/978-1-349-70154-4\_163]
- Chau MM, Burgermaster M, Mamykina L. The use of social media in nutrition interventions for adolescents and young adults-a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2018;120:77-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.10.001] [Medline: 30409348]

- 30. Zheng M, Rangan A, Huang RC, Beilin LJ, Mori TA, Oddy WH, et al. Modelling the effects of beverage substitution during adolescence on later obesity outcomes in early adulthood: results from the raine study. Nutrients 2019;11(12):2928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu11122928] [Medline: 31816850]
- 31. Nissinen K, Mikkilä V, Männistö S, Lahti-Koski M, Räsänen L, Viikari J, et al. Sweets and sugar-sweetened soft drink intake in childhood in relation to adult BMI and overweight. The cardiovascular risk in young finns study. Public Health Nutr 2009;12(11):2018-2026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980009005849] [Medline: 19476678]
- Striegel-Moore RH, Thompson D, Affenito SG, Franko DL, Obarzanek E, Barton BA, et al. Correlates of beverage intake in adolescent girls: the national heart, lung, and blood institute growth and health study. J Pediatr 2006;148(2):183-187. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpeds.2005.11.025</u>] [Medline: <u>16492426</u>]
- 33. Zheng M, Rangan A, Olsen NJ, Andersen LB, Wedderkopp N, Kristensen P, et al. Sugar-sweetened beverages consumption in relation to changes in body fatness over 6 and 12 years among 9-year-old children: the european youth heart study. Eur J Clin Nutr 2014;68(1):77-83. [doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2013.243] [Medline: 24281311]
- Viner RM, Cole TJ. Who changes body mass between adolescence and adulthood? Factors predicting change in BMI between 16 year and 30 years in the 1970 british birth cohort. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006;30(9):1368-1374. [doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803183] [Medline: 16552412]
- Wennberg M, Gustafsson PE, Wennberg P, Hammarström A. Poor breakfast habits in adolescence predict the metabolic syndrome in adulthood. Public Health Nutr 2015;18(1):122-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980013003509] [Medline: 24468205]
- 36. Sarlio-Lähteenkorva S, Lahelma E. Food insecurity is associated with past and present economic disadvantage and body mass index. J Nutr 2001;131(11):2880-2884 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jn/131.11.2880] [Medline: 11694612]
- Rose D, Oliveira V. Nutrient intakes of individuals from food-insufficient households in the United States. Am J Public Health 1997;87(12):1956-1961 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/ajph.87.12.1956] [Medline: 9431283]
- Kendall A, Olson CM, Frongillo EA. Relationship of hunger and food insecurity to food availability and consumption. J Am Diet Assoc 1996;96(10):1019 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(96)00271-4] [Medline: 8841164]
- 39. Kirkpatrick SI, Tarasuk V. Food insecurity is associated with nutrient inadequacies among Canadian adults and adolescents. J Nutr 2008;138(3):604-612 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jn/138.3.604] [Medline: 18287374]
- 40. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol: Theory Pract 2005;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- 41. Merriam Webster Dictionary. Merriam Webster Dictionary. Social Media | Definition of Social Media by Merriam-Webster. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/social%20media</u> [accessed 2018-05-31]
- Klassen KM, Douglass CH, Brennan L, Truby H, Lim MSC. Social media use for nutrition outcomes in young adults: a mixed-methods systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2018;15(1):70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0696-y] [Medline: 30041699]
- 43. Veritas Health Innovation. Veritas Health Innovation. Covidence systematic review software [Internet]. URL: <u>https://www.covidence.org/</u> [accessed 2023-06-13]
- 44. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 45. Parks EP, Moore RH, Li Z, Bishop-Gilyard CT, Garrett AR, Hill DL, et al. Assessing the feasibility of a social media to promote weight management engagement in adolescents with severe obesity: pilot study. JMIR Res Protoc 2018;20(3):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.8229] [Medline: 29555623]
- 46. Doyle AC, Goldschmidt A, Huang C, Winzelberg AJ, Taylor CB, Wilfley DE. Reduction of overweight and eating disorder symptoms via the internet in adolescents: a randomized controlled trial. J Adolesc Health 2008;43(2):172-179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.01.011] [Medline: 18639791]
- 47. Ragelien? T, Aschemann-Witzel J, Grønhøj A. Efficacy of a smartphone application-based intervention for encouraging children's healthy eating in Denmark. Health Promot Int Internet 2022 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapro/daab081]
- 48. Saez L, Langlois J, Legrand K, Quinet MH, Lecomte E, Omorou AY, PRALIMAP-INÈS Trial Group. Reach and acceptability of a mobile reminder strategy and facebook group intervention for weight management in less advantaged adolescents: insights from the PRALIMAP-INÈS trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018;6(5):e110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7657] [Medline: 29776897]
- 49. Kulik N, Ennett ST, Ward DS, Bowling JM, Fisher EB, Tate DF. Brief report: a randomized controlled trial examining peer support and behavioral weight loss treatment. J Adolesc 2015;44:117-123. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2015.07.010</u>] [Medline: <u>26265590</u>]
- 50. Sousa P, Fonseca H, Gaspar P, Gaspar F. Controlled trial of an internet-based intervention for overweight teens (Next.Step): effectiveness analysis. Eur J Pediatr 2015;174(9):1143-1157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00431-015-2502-z] [Medline: 25772743]
- Brown JB, Winzelberg AJ, Abascal LB, Taylor CB. An evaluation of an internet-delivered eating disorder prevention program for adolescents and their parents. J Adolesc Health 2004;35(4):290-296. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.10.010</u>] [Medline: <u>15450542</u>]

- 52. Januraga PP, Izwardi D, Crosita Y, Indrayathi PA, Kurniasari E, Sutrisna A, et al. Qualitative evaluation of a social media campaign to improve healthy food habits among urban adolescent females in Indonesia. Public Health Nutr 2021;24(S2):s98-s107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980020002992] [Medline: 32907648]
- 53. Félix S, Ramalho S, Ribeiro E, Pinheiro J, de Lourdes M, Gonçalves S, et al. Experiences of parent-adolescent dyads regarding a Facebook-based intervention to improve overweight/obesity treatment in adolescents: a qualitative study. Appl Psychol Health Well Being 2022;14(1):122-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/aphw.12294] [Medline: 34286907]
- 54. Lin Y, Mâsse LC. A look at engagement profiles and behavior change: a profile analysis examining engagement with the Aim2Be lifestyle behavior modification app for teens and their families. Prev Med Rep 2021;24:101565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101565] [Medline: 34976631]
- 55. Chae SM, Yeo JY, Hwang JH, Kang HS. Effects of school-based "We Fit" weight control programme in adolescents. Nurs Open 2022;9(1):721-732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nop2.1125] [Medline: 34792283]
- 56. Park BK, Nahm ES, Rogers VE, Choi M, Friedmann E, Wilson M, et al. A Facebook-based obesity prevention program for Korean American adolescents: usability evaluation. J Pediatr Health Care 2017;31(1):57-66. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2016.02.002] [Medline: 26952300]
- 57. Frerichs L, Sjolie S, Curtis M, Peterson M, Huang TTK. Process and outcomes from a youth-led campaign to address healthy eating in an urban high school. J Prim Prev 2015;36(6):433-438. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10935-015-0409-0</u>] [Medline: <u>26510746</u>]
- Lana A, Faya-Ornia G, López ML. Impact of a web-based intervention supplemented with text messages to improve cancer prevention behaviors among adolescents: results from a randomized controlled trial. Prev Med 2014;59:54-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.11.015] [Medline: 24287124]
- 59. Chamberland K, Sanchez M, Panahi S, Provencher V, Gagnon J, Drapeau V. The impact of an innovative web-based school nutrition intervention to increase fruits and vegetables and milk and alternatives in adolescents: a clustered randomized trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017;14(1):140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0595-7] [Medline: 29037203]
- Jones M, Lynch KT, Kass AE, Burrows A, Williams J, Wilfley DE, et al. Healthy weight regulation and eating disorder prevention in high school students: a universal and targeted Web-based intervention. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(2):e57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2995] [Medline: 24583683]
- 61. Chester A, Hanks S, Kuhn S, Jones F, White T, Harris M, et al. Social media based STEM enrichment curriculum positively impacts rural adolescent health measures. J STEM Outreach 2018;1(1):1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15695/jstem/v1i1.17] [Medline: 31938768]
- 62. Whittemore R, Chao A, Jang M, Jeon S, Liptak T, Popick R, et al. Implementation of a school-based internet obesity prevention program for adolescents. J Nutr Educ Behav 2013;45(6):586-594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2013.03.012] [Medline: 23850014]
- 63. Pretlow RA, Stock CM, Allison S, Roeger L. Treatment of child/adolescent obesity using the addiction model: a smartphone app pilot study. Child Obes 2015;11(3):248-259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2014.0124] [Medline: 25760813]
- 64. DeBar LL, Dickerson J, Clarke G, Stevens VJ, Ritenbaugh C, Aickin M. Using a website to build community and enhance outcomes in a group, multi-component intervention promoting healthy diet and exercise in adolescents. J Pediatr Psychol 2009;34(5):539-550 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsn126] [Medline: 19091807]
- 65. Gonçalves RJM, Castro RAS, Belo VS, Coelho LSVA, Lagares EB, Novais RLR, et al. Saúde on-line: impacto na prevalência de obesidade e satisfação corporal de adolescentes. Rev enferm UFPE on line 2018;12(2):312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5205/1981-8963-v12i2a230510p312-319-2018]
- 66. Jones M, Luce KH, Osborne MI, Taylor K, Cunning D, Doyle AC, et al. Randomized, controlled trial of an internet-facilitated intervention for reducing binge eating and overweight in adolescents. Pediatr 2008;121(3):453-462. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1173] [Medline: 18310192]
- 67. Jefrydin N, Sedik FSM, Kamaruzaman NA, Nor NM, Shapi'i A, Talib RA. Use of Instagram® to educate adolescents on nutrition labelling: a feasibility study in Selangor, Malaysia. Jurnal Gizi dan Pangan 2020;15(3):149-158. [doi: 10.25182/jgp.2020.15.3.149-158]
- 68. Benavides C, Benítez-Andrades JA, Marqués-Sánchez P, Arias N. eHealth intervention to improve health habits in the adolescent population: mixed methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021;9(2):e20217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20217] [Medline: 33599616]
- Benítez-Andrades JA, Arias N, García-Ordás MT, Martínez-Martínez M, García-Rodríguez I. Feasibility of social-network-based eHealth intervention on the improvement of healthy habits among children. Sensors (Basel) 2020;20(5):1404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s20051404] [Medline: 32143458]
- 70. Kulik NL, Fisher EB, Ward DS, Ennett ST, Bowling JM, Tate DF. Peer support enhanced social support in adolescent females during weight loss. Am J Health Behav 2014;38(5):789-800. [doi: 10.5993/AJHB.38.5.16] [Medline: 24933148]
- 71. Nawi AM, Jamaludin FIC. Effect of internet-based intervention on obesity among adolescents in Kuala Lumpur: a school-based cluster randomised trial. Malays J Med Sci 2015;22(4):47-56 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>26715908</u>]
- 72. Whittemore R, Jeon S, Grey M. An internet obesity prevention program for adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2013;52(4):439-447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.07.014] [Medline: 23299003]

- 73. Shaw JM, Mitchell CA, Welch AJ, Williamson MJ. Social media used as a health intervention in adolescent health: a systematic review of the literature. Digit Health 2015;1:2055207615588395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207615588395] [Medline: 29942540]
- 74. Yonker LM, Zan S, Scirica CV, Jethwani K, Kinane TB. "Friending" teens: systematic review of social media in adolescent and young adult health care. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3692] [Medline: 25560751]
- 75. Lenhart A. Teens, social media & technology overview 2015. Washington, D.C., U.S: Pew Research Center; 2015.
- 76. Taggart T, Grewe ME, Conserve DF, Gliwa C, Isler MR. Social media and HIV: a systematic review of uses of social media in HIV communication [Internet]. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(11):e4387 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4387]
- 77. Hamm MP, Shulhan J, Williams G, Milne A, Scott SD, Hartling L. A systematic review of the use and effectiveness of social media in child health. BMC Pediatr 2014;14:138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-14-138] [Medline: 24886048]
- 78. Wong CA, Merchant RM, Moreno MA. Using social media to engage adolescents and young adults with their health. Healthc (Amst) 2014;2(4):220-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.hjdsi.2014.10.005] [Medline: 25984444]
- 79. Luo T, Li MS, Williams D, Phillippi S, Yu Q, Kantrow S, et al. Using social media for smoking cessation interventions: a systematic review [internet]. Perspectives in Public Health 2021;141(1):50-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1757913920906845]
- Williams G, Hamm MP, Shulhan J, Vandermeer B, Hartling L. Social media interventions for diet and exercise behaviours: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ Open 2014;4(2):e003926 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003926] [Medline: 24525388]
- Brown JB, Winzelberg AJ, Abascal LB, Taylor CB. An evaluation of an internet-delivered eating disorder prevention program for adolescents and their parents. J Adolesc Health 2004;35(4):290-296. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.10.010</u>] [Medline: <u>15450542</u>]
- Black AP, D'Onise K, McDermott R, Vally H, O'Dea K. How effective are family-based and institutional nutrition interventions in improving children's diet and health? A systematic review. BMC Public Health 2017;17(1):1-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4795-5]
- Renzaho AMN, Mellor D, Boulton K, Swinburn B. Effectiveness of prevention programmes for obesity and chronic diseases among immigrants to developed countries - a systematic review. Public Health Nutr 2010;13(3):438-450 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S136898000999111X] [Medline: 19723366]
- 84. Leme ACB, Laila A, Hou S, Fisberg RM, Ma DWL, Fisberg M, et al. Perceptions of the 2019 Canada's food guide: a qualitative study with parents from Southwestern Ontario. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2019;47(1):34-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1139/apnm-2021-0414]
- 85. Striegel-Moore RH, Rosselli F, Perrin N, DeBar L, Wilson GT, May A, et al. Gender difference in the prevalence of eating disorder symptoms. Int J Eat Disord 2009;42(5):471-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/eat.20625] [Medline: 19107833]
- Pagoto SL, Schneider KL, Oleski JL, Luciani JM, Bodenlos JS, Whited MC. Male inclusion in randomized controlled trials of lifestyle weight loss interventions. Obes (Silver Spring) 2012;20(6):1234-1239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.140] [Medline: 21633403]
- 87. McKenzie B, Santos JA, Trieu K, Thout SR, Johnson C, Arcand J, et al. The science of salt: a focused review on salt-related knowledge, attitudes and behaviors, and gender differences. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2018;20(5):850-866 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jch.13289] [Medline: 29722131]
- Denton M, Prus S, Walters V. Gender differences in health: a canadian study of the psychosocial, structural and behavioural determinants of health. Soc Sci Med 2004;58(12):2585-2600 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.09.008] [Medline: 15081207]
- Simone M, Hazzard VM, Askew AJ, Tebbe EA, Lipson SK, Pisetsky EM. Variability in eating disorder risk and diagnosis in transgender and gender diverse college students. Ann Epidemiol 2022;70:53-60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2022.04.007] [Medline: 35472489]
- 90. Cao B, Gupta S, Wang J, Hightow-Weidman LB, Muessig KE, Tang W, et al. Social media interventions to promote HIV testing, linkage, adherence, and retention: systematic review and meta-analysis [internet]. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(11):e7997 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7997]
- 91. Kohut SA, Stinson JN, Ruskin D, Forgeron P, Harris L, van Wyk M, et al. iPeer2Peer program: a pilot feasibility study in adolescents with chronic pain. Pain 2016;157(5):1146-1155. [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000496] [Medline: 26808145]

# Abbreviations

**PRISMA:** Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses **SES:** socioeconomic status



PMID:37471119

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 29.06.22; peer-reviewed by E Hohman, S Hewko; comments to author 05.09.22; revised version received 27.01.23; accepted 08.06.23; published 20.07.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Kulandaivelu Y, Hamilton J, Banerjee A, Gruzd A, Patel B, Stinson J Social Media Interventions for Nutrition Education Among Adolescents: Scoping Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e36132 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e36132 doi:10.2196/36132

©Yalinie Kulandaivelu, Jill Hamilton, Ananya Banerjee, Anatoliy Gruzd, Barkha Patel, Jennifer Stinson. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 20.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Parents' Perceptions of the Factors Influencing the Uptake of Remote Pediatric Hearing Aid Support: Development of a Conceptual Framework

Silva Kuschke<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Sheila Moodie<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Keshinisuthan Kirubalingam<sup>4</sup>, MClSc, MD; Robin O'Hagan<sup>3</sup>, BA; Danielle Glista<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>hearX SA (Pty) Ltd, Pretoria, South Africa

<sup>2</sup>School of Communication Sciences and Disorders, Faculty of Health Sciences, The University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada
 <sup>3</sup>National Centre for Audiology, The University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Department of Otolaryngology – Head & Neck Surgery, The University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

# **Corresponding Author:**

Danielle Glista, PhD School of Communication Sciences and Disorders Faculty of Health Sciences The University of Western Ontario 1201 Western Road London, ON, N6G 1H1 Canada Phone: 1 519 661 2111 ext 88913 Email: <u>dglista@uwo.ca</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** To achieve effective integration of virtual care into family-centered audiology practices, participatory research methods, including parents as vital participants in the delivery of pediatric audiology care, should be considered. A better understanding of the barriers and facilitators influencing the adoption of virtual care for families is warranted.

**Objective:** This study aimed to develop a conceptual framework of the factors perceived to influence the adoption of remote pediatric hearing aid support among the parents of children with hearing loss.

**Methods:** A total of 12 parents of children who wear hearing aids, between the ages of 0-17 years, were recruited to participate in group or individual interviews as part of the 6-step participatory-based concept mapping (CM) process. Data collection was specific to parents in a Canadian context. Analyses included multidimensional scaling and hierarchical cluster analysis.

**Results:** The CM process resulted in 6 main themes, displayed in a cluster map according to their order of importance. These themes include access to timely, consistent care; technology considerations; convenience; child engagement; cost; and partnership considerations. Key underlying statements and subthemes are highlighted per theme.

**Conclusions:** Findings from this study demonstrate the use of CM in participatory research with parents and as part of a family-centered care model. Future research should aim to investigate the factors that influence the uptake of remote hearing aid support in different contexts, for example, in low- to middle-income countries versus those in high-income countries.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47358) doi:10.2196/47358

# **KEYWORDS**

audiology; care; child engagement; children; concept mapping; cost; hearing aid; hearing loss; hearing; integration; parents; pediatric audiology; pediatric; remote hearing aid support; support; virtual care

# Introduction

RenderX

Clinical interactions occurring remotely have been slowly increasing in audiology practice over the past few decades, with a rapid increase observed since the onset of the COVID-19

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47358

pandemic to improve access to audiological services [1-3]. Remote delivery of hearing health care services can be accomplished using a virtual care delivery model. Within this study, virtual care describes interactions among families, patients, and audiologists delivering follow-up hearing aid

services remotely using any forms of communication or information technologies with the aim of facilitating or maximizing the quality and effectiveness of the care process [4]. According to recent survey findings reported by Eikelboom and colleagues [2], international audiologists exhibit more positive attitudes toward and a greater use pattern around virtual audiology care following COVID-19, pointing to the need to integrate virtual care as part of the new normal. This study aimed to contextualize virtual care within Canadian hearing health care, with a focus on the provision of family-centered care.

For young children, early intervention for hearing loss significantly improves speech and language development trajectories, helping to ensure that children are ready for school entry [5]. Limited access to early hearing detection and intervention services may negatively impact speech, language, and other important early developmental milestones [6]. For families of children with hearing loss, virtual care has been shown to reduce the rate of loss due to early hearing loss detection follow-up appointments without affecting level of satisfaction with service delivery [7]. Family members are often included in virtual care appointments as patient-site facilitators with varying roles [8]. The benefits of family-centered engagement in virtual care are starting to appear in the hearing health care literature. For example, Muñoz et al [9] reported improved parental knowledge, confidence, and abilities to manage their child's hearing aid following a randomized control trial on the topic of eHealth parent education specific to hearing aid management intervention. The literature also reported positive parent experiences with virtual support interventions, indicating that the sessions they were provided with were effective for supporting their partnership with service providers [10]. Overall, virtual care can benefit families through the provision of flexible and timely access to support, and as part of pediatric hearing aid management care, it has been reported to improve hearing aid use [11].

Central to the development of listening and spoken language is the use of hearing aid technology to support child development. Within virtual environments, barriers still exist when it comes to the effective integration of hearing technology, calling for a better understanding of the implications for parents and families and the range of support required to facilitate virtual care [10]. From the clinician perspective, barriers to effective virtual care delivery may include the quality of the patient-provider relationship, technology limitations at the patient or remote site, digital literacy, and the need for additional training as significant barriers to the delivery of virtual audiology [12,13]. When it comes to technology-related considerations, key clinical factors influencing the use of virtual care include the integration of accessible and easy-to-use technology, a robust internet connection, and the provision of support around the setup and maintenance of equipment [14]. There is a gap in the literature around the key factors perceived to influence family-centered virtual care, including remote hearing aid support.

Engaging families and community partners in the research process have been identified as a feasible and effective tool for obtaining a broad range of input to identify priorities in intervention approaches [15]. Concept mapping (CM) is emerging as an increasingly useful methodology for implementation science and participatory-based research [16]. This collaborative approach to research can be useful to ensure successful integration of novel intervention procedures by identifying barriers to uptake [17-19]. Within the field of communication sciences and disorders, CM has been used to better understand the barriers and facilitators associated with the uptake of evidence-based services [14,20]. Recently, Glista et al [14] used CM to help identify factors perceived by audiologists to be significant in the adoption of remote hearing aid support services, as a sister project to the study presented within this paper. One of the inherent strengths of CM is that participants are directly involved in the data analysis process, helping to drive the interpretation of findings and discussions [21,22]. The structured process of CM helps to produce results that directly reflect the thoughts and ideas of the participants, with a focus on 1 topic of interest and the integration of participant input to produce an interpretable graphic view of interrelated ideas [21,23,24]. Traditionally, CM involves a 6-step mixed methods process; this process, as well as description of all related tasks per step as implemented in this study, are depicted in Figure 1.

To date, there have been few studies conducted with parents that examine their perspective of virtual audiology services as well as a knowledge gap specific to remote hearing aid support. This study aims to fill this knowledge gap to help guide family-centered virtual hearing aid care, an integral part of early hearing detection and intervention programs, by examining the factors that influence Canadian parents' use of remote hearing aid support. This work is timely as virtual hearing aid services are continuing to expand globally, and it is incumbent that we understand how to achieve effective delivery in family-centered care models.



Kuschke et al

Figure 1. The 6-step concept mapping process as integrated in this study.



# Methods

# **Study Design**

In this study, CM methodology was used to develop a conceptual framework of the factors that influence adoption of virtual

audiology practices by parents of children with hearing loss and the provision of follow-up hearing aid support. Figure 2 illustrates this application of virtual care and a typical interaction that can result between an audiologist at a clinic-site and a family (eg, child and parent) at their home location.

Figure 2. An illustration of remote hearing aid support, connecting an audiologist at a clinic site to a family at home.



## **Participants**

The participant recruitment process was guided by selecting appropriate study participants based on the research goals [22,25]. Convenient purposive sampling was used to recruit parent participants until no new statements were generated during the brainstorming phase. Details added to Methods section: there is no specific number of participants recommended for a CM study [26]. Kane and Trochim [27] suggest that least 5 participants can produce meaningful data. Parents of children aged 0-17 years who have hearing loss, who were fitted with hearing aids, and who reside in the province of Ontario, Canada, were included. Parents were required to have had experience participating in audiology appointments related to their child's hearing aid fittings; have access to a computer and the internet at home; and be proficient in English. Parents were recruited from a database within Western University's National Centre for Audiology or through professional networks. Recruiting audiologists were given a letter of information to pass on to potential parent participants. Interested parents were asked to contact either the principal investigator or another member of the research team. Parents were invited to participate in a face-to-face group setting (n=3) or as part of a 1-on-1 telephone interview (n=9) during the timeline of June 2018 to June 2019. Participant characteristics are summarized in Table 1, including information related to the audiology care setting experienced by the family and parent-specific technology use.

 Table 1. Participant characteristics as reported by the parents.

Participant characteristics	Participants (N=12), n (%)		
Parent age (years)			
30-49	9 (75)		
50-64	3 (25)		
Parent gender			
Male	0 (0)		
Female	12 (100)		
Audiology care setting			
Private practice	2 (17)		
Hospital	4 (33)		
College or University	8 (67)		
Mobile clinic	1 (8)		
Technology owned			
Smartphone	12 (100)		
Tablet	10 (83)		
Desktop	5 (36)		
Laptop	12 (100)		
Computer knowledge level			
Beginner	1 (8)		
Average	8 (67)		
Advanced	3 (25)		
Expert	0 (0)		
Ability to use smartphones or tablets			
Beginner	1 (8)		
Average	10 (83)		
Advanced	1 (8)		
Expert	0 (0)		
Ability to download "apps" on a smartphone or tablet			
Beginner	2 (17)		
Average	7 (58)		
Advanced	3 (25)		
Expert	0 (0)		
Current use of virtual care			
Yes	2 (17)		
No	10 (83)		
Child age (years)			
0-3	0 (0)		
4-7	1 (7)		
8-11	5 (36)		
12-17	8 (57)		
Child identity			
Male	8 (67)		
Female	4 (33)		

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47358

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e47358 | p.663 (page number not for citation purposes)

Kuschke et al

Participant characteristics	Participants (N=12), n (%)
Child attendance in care appointments	
Yes	12 (100)
No	0 (0)
Child-led technologies	
Smartphone	8 (57)
Tablet	11 (92)
Desktop	4 (33)
Laptop	10 (83)

## **Ethics Approval**

This study was part of a sister project also exploring the factors that influence the uptake of remote hearing aid follow-up support by clinicians [14]. Both studies were approved by the Health Sciences Research Ethics Board of the University of Western Ontario (approval number 109403). All participants provided written consent to participate in either a face-to-face session or a telephone interview, as well as several follow-up web-based tasks using a personal computer.

## Procedures

Participants completed web-based tasks, including sorting and rating, using the Concept Systems Global Max software [28]. The Concept Systems Global Max software uses CM methodology with a web-based interface and is based on group process techniques [29]. To enable web-based tasks, participants were invited through email, in which a weblink to the CM software was provided. A paper record of a unique login and password was provided to each participant.

## Preparation

All participants were asked to complete a short demographic survey that was delivered in person for face-to-face session attendees and over the phone for telephone interviews. Focus prompt development was consistent with that of the sister project, using expert opinion in the development [14].

#### **Brainstorming and Idea Synthesis**

Each face-to-face session began with a brief orientation presentation on the topic of remote support in audiology, sample applications, the use case of interest (follow-up hearing aid support), as well as a summarization of the study methods. Before telephone sessions, the orientation step was delivered using a short, animated 4-minute video created in VideoScribe. The video was accessed by the participants through an emailed weblink. During all sessions, participants were asked to develop as many statements as possible to complete the CM focus prompt: "One thing that may influence my use of teleaudiology for remote follow-up hearing aid support is ... " A synthesis step was used by the investigators to combine the final statements into 1 large data set and eliminate redundancies. The decisions made during the synthesis step were manually recorded by the investigators, resulting in a list of key statement synthesis decisions. The face-to-face sessions and phone interviews were also audio-recorded.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47358
```

XSL•FO RenderX The researchers compiled all the statement sets into 1 large set that was then edited and synthesized by the research team to eliminate redundancies and refine statements to ensure clarity and comprehension. Statements that were unrelated to the prompt were removed; statements were also merged or split to ensure that each statement had 1 clear meaning [25]. The statement synthesis steps were recorded to create an audit trail of the consolidated set of 125 statements. The final (synthesized) set included 107 unique parent statements related to the focus prompt.

#### Structuring

Participants were contacted twice through email to complete web-based follow-up tasks. Overall, 8 participants completed the web-based sorting task and 9 completed the importance ranking task. A web link to the Global Max software was sent in the first follow-up email. Instructions were given within the software to facilitate the sorting of the final set of statements into piles and the ranking of the statements based on perceived importance. The importance-ranking instructions provided to the participants were as follows: "Please rate each statement on a scale of 1 to 5 where; 1=relatively unimportant; 2=somewhat important; 3=moderately important; 4=very important; 5=extremely important. To complete each rating, type a number next to each statement."

Following analyses, the research team conducted a final review of the statements, clusters (which are resultant categories of similar ideas generated in the brainstorming phase), and corresponding names of each cluster, with the end goal of achieving group consensus on acceptable labels for each cluster and number of clusters. This final step was mainly driven by the research team due to the outbreak of the global COVID-19 pandemic, which limited contact with the participants.

# Results

#### Representation

The representation of results was enabled using the Global Max software and used 2 types of analyses: multidimensional scaling and hierarchical cluster analysis. Details regarding the production of the final concept map are described in the representation section. Multidimensional scaling was used to locate each parent statement in a 2D space to display on a point map, following a 2-step process from Kane and Trochim [27]: (1) A similarity matrix, using a similarity cutoff of 3 to filter

out false relationships between statements, was generated by pairing the 107 statements with one another and assigning a numerical value indicating the number of parents who put that pair of statements in the same pile; and (2) A 2D solution was used to produce x- and y-coordinates for each statement, following a bivariate distribution. These steps resulted in the generation of a point map that was used to yield a 6-cluster configuration; this cluster map is illustrated in Figure 3. Each point on the point map represents 1 statement. Statements that were sorted together more often by the participants appear as points closer together; statements that were less often sorted together appear further apart [30]. A stress value is a statistic routinely generated and reported in multidimensional scaling analyses, indicating how well the statement configuration matches the data [21]. The final stress value of 0.34 falls within the normal and acceptable range for CM research, indicating that the map appropriately represents the sorting data [27]. Also known as a concept map, the resulting cluster map helps to

depict a group-level conceptualization of parent-generated ideas around the factors influencing the uptake of remote hearing aid support. The final stress value of 0.34 falls within the normal and acceptable range for CM research, indicating that the map appropriately represents the sorting data [27].

Hierarchical cluster analyses, using input from multidimensional scaling, mathematically grouped each statement into adjustable cluster configurations, based on how parents rated and sorted the data. Each cluster represents a unique theme on the resulting map (Figure 3). The selection of the final number of clusters included in the CM required both software and researcher input to yield an optimal solution. The recommendation is for researchers to examine a range of possible clusters suggested by the software program, consider the statements included within the cluster, and use this information to formulate a cluster configuration [27]. Possible cluster configurations were considered and discussed by the research team (DG, SM, and RO) and a final configuration of 6 clusters was selected.

Figure 3. Six-cluster map of the 107 statement point map, of factors influencing the uptake of remote hearing aid support by parents labeled by importance rating.



#### Interpretation

Final cluster labels reflect the general theme for each cluster of statements. The layers per cluster indicate the level of importance rating provided by the parents for their statements per cluster. A greater number of layers represents greater importance for the group of statements included within the cluster, as judged by individual parents. For example, access to timely, consistent care was rated by the parents as more important when compared to partnership considerations.

A list of the main themes, subthemes, and example statements were generated using single cluster go-zone plots, allowing for visualization of the relationship between participant ratings with respect to the concept map (Table 2). The example statements presented by theme included those that received high overall average ratings of importance. Table 3 provides a count of the total number of statements that appear in each cluster, along with the mean importance values for each cluster. Mean cluster values are presented in order of importance from most to least important and correspond to responses collected using the 5-point scale.



Table 2. Concept mapping clusters, subthemes, and example statements created using the prompt: "One factor that will influence my uptake of remote hearing aid follow-up support is..."

Cluster	Overall subthemes	Example statements
Access to timely, consistent care	Participation of relevant stakeholders and consis- tent access to remote audiological services	<ul> <li>"Ability to troubleshoot remotely in listening environments important to my child."</li> <li>"The ability to access remote fitting support in times of need (eg, during extracurricular activities, hearing aid emergencies)."</li> </ul>
Technology considerations	Access to stable and consistent technology (equipment and internet access); training and support available	<ul> <li>"Access to a phone/tablet that is current enough to be used for remote fitting appointments."</li> <li>"The learning curve associated with remote hearing aid ap- pointments."</li> </ul>
Convenience	Traveling distance; time taken off from work and school	<ul> <li>"If I don't have to miss work for an appointment."</li> <li>"If my child doesn't have to miss school for an appointment."</li> <li>"If it eliminates the need to arrange for child-care at the time of an appointment."</li> </ul>
Child engagement	Child's, parent's, and audiologist's confidence and involvement in appointments	<ul> <li>"If it builds/maintains a positive relationship between my child and his/her Audiologist."</li> <li>"If it addresses my child's need for frequent follow-up appointments following a new hearing aid fitting."</li> </ul>
Cost (financial and otherwise)	Costs associated with the appointment in terms of equipment and traveling	<ul> <li>"If the cost of a remote appointment is the same or less than a face-to-face appointment."</li> <li>"The need to negotiate with family members to use a phone/tablet for a remote appointment."</li> </ul>
Partnership considerations	Privacy considerations; participation of family members and other health care professionals in the appointment	<ul> <li>"The ability to have other healthcare professionals participate in an appointment."</li> <li>"The quality of the services being delivered remotely, in comparison to face-to-face."</li> </ul>

Table 3. Clusters and corresponding total statement numbers arranged by importance level, along with the overall mean importance values.

Cluster	Statements, n	Importance values, mean (SD; range)
Access to timely, consistent care	22	4 (0.51; 3.1-4.9)
Technology considerations	24	3.93 (0.57; 2.2-4.7)
Convenience	13	3.71 (0.68; 2.3-4.6)
Child engagement	23	3.65 (0.69; 2.6-4.8)
Cost (financial and otherwise)	11	3.55 (0.67; 1.8-4.2)
Partnership considerations	14	3.41 (0.96; 1.3-4.7)

# Discussion

#### Overview

RenderX

This study demonstrates how CM was used to develop a conceptual framework in collaboration with parents of children wearing hearing aids to explore factors that may influence the adoption of remote follow-up hearing aid support services delivered through teleaudiology. A total of 12 parents of children who have hearing loss and reside in Ontario, Canada, were recruited to participate in this study. Overall, 6 themes were developed to form the final conceptual framework of the perceived factors that influence the uptake of remote hearing aid support by parents of children with hearing loss. These 6 themes, in order of overall level of importance, were (1) access

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47358
```

to timely, consistent care; (2) technology considerations; (3) convenience; (4) child engagement; (5) cost; and (6) partnership considerations.

Access to timely, consistent audiological care was rated by the parents as the most important factor in delivering remote hearing aid support to their children. Subthemes in this cluster highlighted that parents value the ability to access hearing aid support remotely in times of hearing aid emergencies or during extracurricular activities where listening demands are different. Virtual audiological consultations with parents and families of children who have hearing loss have shown benefits in terms of flexibility and timely access to support [10,11]. Furthermore, increased access to audiological care can result in direct, collaborative problem-solving between the parents and the

audiologist, which could lead to increased hearing aid use and better hearing outcomes.

Technology considerations were ranked as the second most important factor in the uptake of pediatric remote hearing support. Technological barriers (such as consistent internet connection and availability of training and support) have been cited in the literature as one of the main reasons why remote hearing aid support is not readily adopted worldwide [31]. The top-rated overall statements by parents regarding technological considerations and infrastructure pertained to accessibility of phones or tablets that are up-to-date to support remote hearing aid fitting appointments and the learning curve associated with remote hearing aid appointments. Confidence is a key aspect when considering engagement in remote hearing aid support, and additional support can guide patients in their ability to manage remote technology [32]. Additionally, the technical knowledge of audiologists who engage in remote hearing aid support has emerged as an important factor in the uptake of remote support by pediatric audiologists [14]. This theme highlights the need for developing clinical guidelines to support both parents of children who have hearing loss and pediatric audiologists in the clinical implementation of remote hearing aid support services and clinical resources to assess and guide family-centered training around virtual care.

Patient- and family-centered factors pertaining to service accessibility were also deemed important by parents. These include convenience (traveling distance, time taken off from work and school, and the need to arrange for childcare), cost (related to traveling and equipment needed for remote support), and child engagement (addressing the 'child's need for frequent follow-up appointments following a new hearing aid fitting). Teleaudiology has been reported as a cost-effective manner of service provision [33]. In addition, increased convenience and decreased cost could lead to fewer missed appointments [14]. Access to more frequent remote follow-up appointments for the pediatric population could, in turn, minimize the detrimental effects of hearing loss on speech and language development in children [34].

The final cluster pertained to participation and the collaboration between the professional, the parents, and their family members. Audiologists play a vital role in partnering with parents and families to provide the support needed for the effective day-to-day management of their child's hearing aids [11]. Building a trusting parent-professional partnership helps to implement and sustain consistent daily hearing aid use, which can support developmental outcomes for children.

## Usage

The use step in a CM framework is an ongoing process related to the study objectives and involves working with the stakeholder team to determine the best ways to use the maps and reports produced as part of the CM procedures [30]. A total of 6 main themes and related subthemes emerged from this study, which focused on parent-perceived factors influencing the uptake of remote hearing aid support for their children with hearing loss. Recommendations arising from the identified themes will ultimately be used to help guide the planning, development, and implementation of teleaudiology services, such as remote hearing aid support, into pediatric clinical practice. Planning and implementation of pediatric remote audiological care should be tailored according to a parent and family focus. Results of this CM study reinforce the need for standardized pediatric telehealth protocols and procedures to facilitate remote audiological follow-up care for children [35]. In addition, the CM framework in this study will be used to support future research, including development of best-practice guidelines and training documents to assist in the uptake of remote hearing aid support services for parents and families of children with hearing loss.

# **Limitations and Future Research**

Study limitations include the use of nonrandom sampling, which results in a sampling bias; a small sample size, which limits generalizability; the labor-intensive process of creating a CM framework; and the personal attributes of the participants, which likely shaped the resulting themes in the framework of this study [36]. Furthermore, no parents of very young children (0-3 years of age) and only 1 parent with a child in the 4-7 years of age category participated in this study, which limits understanding of parent perspectives across the age spectrum. For example, parents typically need educational and management support when hearing aids are first fitted, but this theme was not identified by the participants in this study. A possible reason for this could be that the parents in this study had more experience and were focused on how virtual care could currently help them. Another limitation for this study was that the final member-checking step (usually done by the participants in a CM study) was not completed due to the outbreak of the global COVID-19 pandemic; this was due to an inability to recruit parents to participate in additional steps during this time. Therefore, the final resultant clusters in the CM framework were not reviewed by the parent participants to obtain feedback.

Results of this study demonstrate the benefit of CM methodology in facilitating parent engagement in research. Through the inclusion of parent participants, greater value is added when considering family-centeredness in the context of virtual audiology care. Future research could use a similar approach to investigate factors that influence parental uptake of remote hearing aid support in different contexts and across different languages, for example, in low- to middle-income countries versus high-income countries, as well as in populations for whom English is not the predominant language.

# Acknowledgments

This project was supported by a research grant awarded by Sonova to D Glista. The authors are thankful for data management support provided by Ben Tran throughout this project.



# **Authors' Contributions**

Following the Contributor Roles Taxonomy (CRediT), authorship contributions were collated to provide visibility and recognition for all team members (Allen et al [37]). SM and DG were involved in conceptualization. SM, KK, RO, and DG performed data curation. SK, SM, RO, and DG contributed in formal analysis. DG and SM were involved in funding acquisition. SK, SM, KK, and RO performed the investigation. SM and DG were involved in methodology. SM, KK, and DG contributed in project administration. SM, KK, and DG were involved with resources. SM and DG performed supervision. SK, SM, RO, and DG contributed in writing of original draft. SK, SM, KK, RO, and DG contributed in revision and editing.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Aggarwal K, Gunjawate DR, Yerraguntla K, Ravi R. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on audiology practice: a scoping review. Clin Epidemiol Glob Health 2022;13:100939 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cegh.2021.100939] [Medline: 35005299]
- Eikelboom RH, Bennett RJ, Manchaiah V, Parmar B, Beukes E, Rajasingam SL, et al. International survey of audiologists during the COVID-19 pandemic: use of and attitudes to telehealth. Int J Audiol 2022;61(4):283-292. [doi: 10.1080/14992027.2021.1957160] [Medline: 34369845]
- 3. Saunders GH, Roughley A. Audiology in the time of COVID-19: practices and opinions of audiologists in the UK. Int J Audiol 2021;60(4):255-262. [doi: 10.1080/14992027.2020.1814432] [Medline: 32909474]
- 4. Shaw J, Jamieson T, Agarwal P, Griffin B, Wong I, Bhatia RS. Virtual care policy recommendations for patient-centred primary care: findings of a consensus policy dialogue using a nominal group technique. J Telemed Telecare 2018;24(9):608-615. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X17730444] [Medline: 28945161]
- Tomblin JB, Oleson JJ, Ambrose SE, Walker E, Moeller MP. The influence of hearing aids on the speech and language development of children with hearing loss. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2014;140(5):403-409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2014.267] [Medline: 24700303]
- 6. Wilson BS, Tucci DL, Merson MH, O'Donoghue GM. Global hearing health care: new findings and perspectives. Lancet 2017;390(10111):2503-2515. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31073-5] [Medline: 28705460]
- 7. Dharmar M, Simon A, Sadorra C, Friedland G, Sherwood J, Morrow H, et al. Reducing loss to follow-up with tele-audiology diagnostic evaluations. Telemed J E Health 2016;22(2):159-164. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2015.0001] [Medline: 26544032]
- Coco L, Davidson A, Marrone N. The role of patient-site facilitators in teleaudiology: a scoping review. Am J Audiol 2020;29(3S):661-675 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1044/2020 AJA-19-00070] [Medline: 32692575]
- Muñoz K, San Miguel GG, Barrett TS, Kasin C, Baughman K, Reynolds B, et al. eHealth parent education for hearing aid management: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Int J Audiol 2021;60(sup1):S42-S48. [doi: <u>10.1080/14992027.2021.1886354</u>] [Medline: <u>33635156</u>]
- Nelson LH, Rudge AM, Dawson P, Culianos D, Broekelmann C, Stredler-Brown A. Parents' perspectives about tele-intervention services for their children who are deaf or hard of hearing. J Early Hear Detect Interv 2022;7(2):9-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.26077/c47b-5497]
- Muñoz K, Kibbe K, Preston E, Caballero A, Nelson L, White K, et al. Paediatric hearing aid management: a demonstration project for using virtual visits to enhance parent support. Int J Audiol 2017;56(2):77-84. [doi: <u>10.1080/14992027.2016.1226521</u>] [Medline: <u>27608520</u>]
- 12. Abrams HB, Callahan C. Health behavior and motivational engagement models can explain and modify teleaudiology uptake. Am J Audiol 2022;31(3S):1043-1051. [doi: <u>10.1044/2022 AJA-21-00204</u>] [Medline: <u>36048627</u>]
- Bennett RJ, Kelsall-Foreman I, Barr C, Campbell E, Coles T, Paton M, et al. Utilisation of tele-audiology practices in Australia during the COVID-19 pandemic: perspectives of audiology clinic owners, managers and reception staff. Int J Audiol :1-8 Preprint posted online on April 12, 2022. [doi: 10.1080/14992027.2022.2056091] [Medline: 35412406]
- Glista D, O'Hagan R, Moodie S, Scollie S. An examination of clinical uptake factors for remote hearing aid support: a concept mapping study with audiologists. Int J Audiol 2021;60(suppl1):S13-S22. [doi: <u>10.1080/14992027.2020.1795281</u>] [Medline: <u>32749182</u>]
- Allen ML, Schaleben-Boateng D, Davey CS, Hang M, Pergament S. Concept mapping as an approach to facilitate participatory intervention building. Prog Community Health Partnersh 2015;9(4):599-608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1353/cpr.2015.0076] [Medline: 26639387]
- Joukes E, Cornet R, de Bruijne MC, de Keizer NF. Eliciting end-user expectations to guide the implementation process of a new electronic health record: a case study using concept mapping. Int J Med Inform 2016;87:111-117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.12.014] [Medline: 26806718]
- 17. Green AE, Fettes DL, Aarons GA. A concept mapping approach to guide and understand dissemination and implementation. J Behav Health Serv Res 2012;39(4):362-373 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11414-012-9291-1] [Medline: 22892987]

- Powell BJ, Beidas RS, Lewis CC, Aarons GA, McMillen JC, Proctor EK, et al. Methods to improve the selection and tailoring of implementation strategies. J Behav Health Serv Res 2017;44(2):177-194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11414-015-9475-6] [Medline: 26289563]
- 19. Windsor LC. Using concept mapping in community-based participatory research: a mixed methods approach. J Mix Methods Res 2013;7(3):274-293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1558689813479175] [Medline: 26561484]
- 20. Kwok EYL, Glista D, Moodie STF. Concept mapping as a research tool for knowledge users' engagement: a tutorial. Can J Speech Lang 2021;45(4):239-249 [FREE Full text]
- 21. Rosas SR, Kane M. Quality and rigor of the concept mapping methodology: a pooled study analysis. Eval Program Plann 2012;35(2):236-245. [doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2011.10.003] [Medline: 22221889]
- 22. Vaughn LM, Jones JR, Booth E, Burke JG. Concept mapping methodology and community-engaged research: a perfect pairing. Eval Program Plann 2017;60:229-237. [doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.08.013] [Medline: 27591958]
- 23. LaNoue M, Mills G, Cunningham A, Sharbaugh A. Concept mapping as a method to engage patients in clinical quality improvement. Ann Fam Med 2016;14(4):370-376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1929] [Medline: 27401427]
- 24. Trochim WMK. An introduction to concept mapping for planning and evaluation. Eval Program Plan 1989;12(1):1-16. [doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(89)90016-5]
- 25. Bennett RJ, Laplante-Lévesque A, Meyer CJ, Eikelboom RH. Exploring hearing aid problems: perspectives of hearing aid owners and clinicians. Ear Hear 2018;39(1):172-187. [doi: 10.1097/AUD.00000000000477] [Medline: 28787315]
- 26. Pantha S, Jones M, Gray R. Development of a guideline to enhance the reporting of concept mapping research: study protocol. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022;19(12):7273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19127273] [Medline: 35742523]
- 27. Kane M, Trochim WMK. Concept Mapping for Planning and Evaluation. Vol 50. California: Sage Publications; 2007:216.
- The Concept System Global MAX. Concept Systems Incorporated. 2017. URL: <u>https://conceptsystemsglobal.com/</u> [accessed 2023-05-16]
- 29. The Concept System Global Max software guide. Concept Systems Incorporated. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.conceptsystems.com/content/uploads/2015/09/CS-Global-Max-Software-Guide.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-05-16]
- Trochim WM, McLinden D. Introduction to a special issue on concept mapping. Eval Program Plann 2017;60:166-175. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.10.006</u>] [Medline: <u>27780609</u>]
- Kruse CS, Karem P, Shifflett K, Vegi L, Ravi K, Brooks M. Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2018;24(1):4-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16674087] [Medline: 29320966]
- 32. Angley GP, Schnittker JA, Tharpe AM. Remote hearing aid support: the next frontier. J Am Acad Audiol 2017;28(10):893-900. [doi: 10.3766/jaaa.16093] [Medline: 29130437]
- 33. Ravi R, Gunjawate DR, Yerraguntla K, Driscoll C. Knowledge and perceptions of teleaudiology among audiologists: a systematic review. J Audiol Otol 2018;22(3):120-127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7874/jao.2017.00353] [Medline: 29719949]
- Walker EA, Holte L, Spratford M, Oleson J, Welhaven A, Harrison M. Timeliness of service delivery for children with later-identified mild-to-severe hearing loss. Am J Audiol 2014;23(1):116-128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1044/1059-0889(2013/13-0031)] [Medline: 24018573]
- 35. Govender S, Mars M. The use of telehealth services to facilitate audiological management for children: a scoping review and content analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2017;23(3):392-401. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X16645728</u>] [Medline: <u>27130158</u>]
- 36. Bennett B. Improve your patients' hearing aid management skills. Hear J 2019;72(4):20-21. [doi: 10.1097/01.HJ.0000557746.12905.5a]
- 37. Allen L, O'Connell A, Kiermer V. How can we ensure visibility and diversity in research contributions? How the Contributor Role Taxonomy (CRediT) is helping the shift from authorship to contributorship. Learn Publ 2019;32(1):71-74 [FREE Full text]

# Abbreviations

CM: concept mapping



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 17.03.23; peer-reviewed by K Munoz, L Coco; comments to author 10.04.23; revised version received 27.04.23; accepted 11.05.23; published 06.06.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Kuschke S, Moodie S, Kirubalingam K, O'Hagan R, Glista D Parents' Perceptions of the Factors Influencing the Uptake of Remote Pediatric Hearing Aid Support: Development of a Conceptual Framework JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47358 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47358 doi:10.2196/47358 PMID:37279061

©Silva Kuschke, Sheila Moodie, Keshinisuthan Kirubalingam, Robin O'Hagan, Danielle Glista. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 06.06.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Feasibility of Video Consultation for Preterm Neurodevelopmental Follow-up Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cohort Study

Bilge Albayrak<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Dr med; Larissa Jane Cordier<sup>1,2\*</sup>, MSc, DPhil; Sandra Greve<sup>1,2</sup>, Dr med; Uta Teschler<sup>1,2</sup>, MA; Anne-Kathrin Dathe<sup>1,2</sup>, Diplom, Dr. rer. medic.; Ursula Felderhoff-Müser<sup>1,2</sup>, Prof Dr; Britta Maria Hüning<sup>1,2</sup>, Dr med, PD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics I, Neonatology, Pediatric Intensive Care and Pediatric Neurology, University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany

<sup>2</sup>Center for Translational Neuro- and Behavioral Sciences, University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany \*these authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Larissa Jane Cordier, MSc, DPhil Department of Pediatrics I, Neonatology, Pediatric Intensive Care and Pediatric Neurology University Hospital Essen University of Duisburg-Essen Department of Pediatrics I Hufelandstraße 55 Essen, 45147 Germany Phone: 49 201723 ext 82831 Fax: 49 2017235503 Email: larissa.cordier@uk-essen.de

# Abstract

**Background:** During the COVID-19 pandemic, parents of infants born very preterm or at risk were exceptionally worried about being infected. The only means of protection during the onset of the pandemic was social distancing. Video consultations for neurodevelopmental follow-up care were offered as an alternative way to stay in contact with patients and their families, to provide expert support, and to monitor and assess children's development.

**Objective:** To assess the feasibility of and family satisfaction with video consultations, interviews were conducted after video and in-person consultations.

**Methods:** An interview with 28 questions was created to evaluate parental satisfaction with the consultations (eg, their confidentiality and the children's behavior). A total of 93 interviews with parents were conducted between March 2020 and February 2021 and compared (58 after video consultations and 35 after in-person consultations). The interviews were conducted at the end of the consultations by a trained professional. The video consultations were conducted using a certified platform created by Zava Sprechstunde Online, maintaining data protection with end-to-end encryption. Follow-up consultations (video or in-person) were performed at corrected ages of 3, 6, and 12 months as well as 2, 3, 4, and 5 years. The rate of total follow-up appointments attended during the survey period was evaluated and compared with the previous year.

**Results:** There were no significant differences between the video and in-person consultation groups in satisfaction, attitudes on the confidentiality of the consultation, or discussion of private and sensitive information. Following video consultations, parents were significantly more likely to report that they were avoiding contact with medical professionals during the pandemic (P=.045; Shapiro-Wilk W=1094.5, Cohen d=-0.1782146) than the in-person consultation group. Parents in the video-consultation group stated that performing a guided examination on their child was comfortable and helped them understand their child's development. In fact, they agreed to take advantage of future video consultations. The rate of total follow-up appointments increased compared to the previous year. Between March 2019 and February 2020, 782 of 984 (79.5%) children born at Essen University Hospital attended a follow-up appointment. During the survey period, between March 2020 and February 2021, a total of 788 of 1086 children (73%) attended a follow-up appointment, of which 117 (14.9%) were video consultations.

**Conclusions:** The feasibility of attending video consultations for follow-up care of very preterm or at-risk infants and parental satisfaction with these consultations were as high as for in-person consultations. Parents rated video consultations as being as

confidential as in-person appointments. Telemedicine can be offered as an equivalent alternative to in-person consultations and is particularly useful under certain circumstances, such as for very sick children who require assistive devices or respiratory support and oxygen or for those living a long distance away.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40940) doi:10.2196/40940

#### **KEYWORDS**

COVID-19; very preterm infant; video consultation; follow-up care; COVID-19 pandemic; neurodevelopmental outcome

# Introduction

Approximately 15 million newborns are born preterm worldwide each year, which is more than 1 in 10, and this rate is increasing in almost every country. Substantial progress in perinatal care has significantly increased survival rates over the past 3 decades. However, long-term morbidity remains a concern [1,2]. Approximately 14% of newborn infants (preterm and term-born infants) need postnatal care in Germany, and 8.6% of infants are born preterm [3,4]. Therefore, follow-up care for these patients at risk is an important part of a safe transition from the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) to home care, and it is crucial for long-term monitoring and support of these infants' neurodevelopment [5]. For early detection and intervention, international guidelines recommend follow-up examinations at defined times, starting with discharge management and support during the transition to school age [6]. The use of standardized tests is advisable, as well as assessment of the physical and mental health of both children and parents. Other important aspects of follow-up consultations are to support parent-child interactions, provide information on how parents can promote their child's development, and give practical recommendations about the challenges of daily life, such as feeding, sleeping, dealing with behavioral problems, and monitoring and administering drugs [5,7].

Whereas follow-up care in very preterm children can detect severe motor and cognitive impairment for up to 2 years, long-term follow-up care, until school age, is recommended to detect more subtle development disorders [8]. Regular follow-up appointments enable early intervention in children who have previously demonstrated age-appropriate development, but later show development disturbances. However, during the COVID-19 pandemic, appointments may have been missed at critical periods of development. The reasons for this are manifold: symptoms of infection, quarantine and hygiene restrictions, and fear of infection.

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, neither vaccination nor adequate therapies were available, and the only means of protection was social distancing. To reach out to patients and their families who would not or could not attend regular follow-up appointments, video consultations were offered. This method provided several opportunities: it allowed health care providers to stay in contact with patients and their families, provide expert support and information, and keep track of the children's development. However, there were potential challenges, such as a lack of confidentiality, the discussion of private and sensitive information, technical issues, accessibility, and acceptance of this new digital tool. To assess the feasibility of this method and family satisfaction, we conducted interviews

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40940
```

after video and in-person consultations. The rate of total follow-up appointments attended during the period of the survey, which took place during the COVID-19 pandemic, was evaluated and compared with the previous year.

# Methods

# Subjects

A total of 93 interviews were conducted with parents (58 after a video consultation and 35 after an in-person outpatient appointment) between March 2020 and February 2021. On average, parents of the participants were aged 33.45 (SD 5.11) years in the video-consultation group and 31.40 (SD 5.86) years in the in-person group. Inclusion criteria for participation in the video-consultation group were sufficient language skills in German, English, or Turkish and the possession of the minimum required technical equipment, such as a mobile phone. Interviews were conducted at the end of the in-person or digital appointment by a professionally trained neurodevelopmental psychologist. The video consultations were conducted on a certified platform developed by Zava Sprechstunde Online that maintained data protection with end-to-end encryption.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The investigation was approved by the ethics committee of the Medical Faculty of the University Hospital Essen (20-9319-BO) and adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki.

# Planning and Implementation of Digital Consultations at the Onset of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Starting on March 13, 2020, the German federal states ordered the closure of schools and kindergartens, postponed semester breaks, and banned visits to nursing homes to protect the elderly [9]. Two days later, the borders with Austria, Denmark, France, Luxembourg, and Switzerland were closed. By March 22, curfews had been imposed in 6 states, while others prohibited physical contact with more than one person outside the household [10]. To protect the most fragile patients, such as follow-up groups of premature or high-risk infants, the department of neurodevelopmental follow-up care at our institution sought an alternative as soon as possible to protect patients and their families from the unknown COVID-19 virus. All high-risk patients and families already scheduled for in-person appointments were contacted and asked if they would be willing to change to a video consultation. If they declined, the in-person appointment was performed wearing protective equipment and was scheduled so that patients did not meet each other. If a family agreed to hold the scheduled appointment as a video consultation, they received an email in advance with the necessary technical requirements and items to have ready

XSL•FO RenderX

for the appointment (eg, an ID card to identify themselves, an internet-enabled device with a camera, and toys). After the video consultation and outpatient appointment with the staff, an interview (described in the Measurements section of this paper) was conducted with the same staff member to compare the quality of the appointment to an in-person consultation. This was highly important to the department of neurodevelopmental follow-up care, as it was crucial to know whether digital appointments via video consultation were feasible during this time of uncertainty in the pandemic. The participants in the video interviews could decide whether they wanted to take part or not. They had the option to cancel the interview and recall their data at any time. Due to the completely anonymous collection of the data, no conclusions can be drawn about the families, the age of the patients, or whether the same families participated in multiple video consultations.

## **Video Consultation Procedure**

Follow-up care, both via video consultation and in person, was performed by authors BMH, BA, and SG (who are medical doctors), LJC (a psychologist) AKD (an occupational therapist) and UT (a physiotherapist). During the in-person visits, a detailed medical history was taken with the parents, and the child was then examined by the various professionals. During video consultations, a detailed medical history was also taken, but the camera was pointed at the child so that he or she could be observed in his or her home environment. After the medical history was taken, parents were subsequently instructed to position the child and the camera. The parents were guided with a mannequin through different positions of the infant, such as a traction attempt, held seat and held stand, the axillary hanging position, the floating stomach position, and the passive rotation and stomach position. The spontaneous movements of the infant in these different positions were observed. Preschool-age children were instructed to perform fine and visual motor tasks, including copying forms; using scissors to cut along a line; and grasping, transferring, and releasing paper clips into a match box, to test precise finger coordination. Gross motor functions were tested using regular neurological examinations, such as the finger-nose test, walking in tandem, and the stance and gait test.

While guiding parents, the examiner explained all observed items and findings. In addition, questions regarding the examination, as well as everyday life issues, were answered, including questions related to weight gain, feeding, developmental steps, and self-regulation. Physicians were able to assess fine and gross motor skills, as well as cognitive function, in the children through visual observation, for example, by observing how a toddler explored and handled items.

## Measurements

To determine the parents' perspectives on video and in-person consultations at the follow-up outpatient clinic for preterm and high-risk infants during the COVID-19 pandemic, an interview with 26 questions was created based on a questionnaire by Rutherford et al [11] (Multimedia Appendix 1). Questions 1 to 5 related to demographic information and distance from the outpatient clinic. Questions 6 to 20 (for the in-person appointment interviews) and 6 to 26 (for the video consultation

interviews) related to parents' satisfaction with the appointments. Parents' satisfaction was reported on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The 6 additional questions in the interviews after the video consultations were related to technical implementation and feasibility (eg, the kind of device used, satisfaction with the video and audio quality, self-examination of the child, instructions on position changes and explanations of development, differences with in-person appointments, and likelihood to use future video consultation).

To evaluate the total attendance rates for follow-up appointments (for both in-person appointments and video consultations) for the children, the total number of consultations was compared with the number of scheduled appointments for preterm infants born at University Hospital Essen and also compared with the previous year.

# Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using the R environment for statistical computing and graphics with the RStudio integrated development environment. All data were tested for normal distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The distribution was not normal, so all comparisons between groups (ie, the video consultation and in-person appointment groups) were calculated using the Mann-Whitney U test. In cases with significant differences, the effect size was calculated with the Cohen d.

# Results

Between March 2020 and February 2021, 93 interviews were conducted and analyzed. There were no significant differences between the video and in-person consultation groups in satisfaction or attitudes toward confidentiality and discussion of private and sensitive information. Parents in the video-consultation group were significantly more likely to agree (mean Likert score 4.82, SD 2.26) that they were avoiding contact with medical professionals during the pandemic than the in-person consultation group (mean score 3.89, SD 2.25; Shapiro-Wilk *W*=1094.5; *P*=.045; *d*=-0.1782146). Furthermore, parents in the video-consultation group agreed that they would take advantage of future video consultations (mean score 6.49, SD 1.09). Parents reported being empowered by the self-examination of their child (mean score 6.53. SD 1.39) and learning more about their neurodevelopment. All children were calm and cooperative (mean score 6.45, SD 1.17) in their home setting with only familiar people.

Significant differences between the groups were found in parental age (Figure 1), estimates of waiting time before the appointment (Figure 2), belief in safety from pathogens, and avoidance of contact with medical professionals (Figure 3).

Parents who attended a video consultation were significantly older on average (mean age 33.45, SD 5.11 years) than parents who attended an in-person appointment (mean age 31.4, SD 5.86 years; Shapiro-Wilk W=1043; P=.044; d=-0.1767638). The video-consultation group made estimates of the potential waiting time at the clinic that were significantly longer (mean 23.58, SD 27.75 minutes) than estimates of the potential waiting

time at the clinic made by the in-person group (mean 11.39, SD 17.6 minutes; Shapiro-Wilk W=1387.5; P<.001; d=-0.3633795). Parents reported feeling safer from pathogens at home (mean score 6.78, SD 0.76) after a video consultation than after an in-person appointment (mean score 6.37, SD 1.09; Shapiro-Wilk W=1060.5; P=.02; d=-0.2577713).

Parents were on average very satisfied with the video and audio quality of the video consultations (mean score 6.29, SD 1.26); they considered examining their children themselves under supervision was on average beneficial (mean score 6.53, SD 1.39) and allowed them to better understand their development

(mean score 6.57; SD 1.36); they considered that the video consultations were implemented similarly to in-person appointments (mean score 5.67, SD 1.84); and they accepted video consultations as an alternative in the future and wished to use them again (mean score 6.49; SD 1.09).

Between March 2019 and February 2020, 782 of 984 (79.5%) children born at Essen University Hospital attended a follow-up appointment. During the survey period between March 2020 and February 2021, a total of 788 of 1086 children (73%) attended a follow-up appointment, of which 117 (14.9%) were video consultations.

Figure 1. Mean age in years of the parents (P=.044 between groups). The bars indicate mean values and tails indicate SD.



**Figure 2.** Mean estimates of potential waiting time in minutes for in-person appointments (*P*<.001 between groups). These estimates were made after either an in-person consultation or a video consultation. The bars indicate mean values and tails indicate SD.





**Figure 3.** Level of agreement with statements on avoidance of contact with medical professionals during the pandemic (P=.045 between groups) and belief in safety from pathogens at home (P=.02 between groups). Higher numbers indicate stronger agreement. All ratings were made after either an in-person consultation or a video consultation. The bars indicate mean values and tails indicate SD.



Avoidance of Contact Safety from Pathogens

# Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

The subjective satisfaction of families attending video consultations for follow-up care for their very preterm or at-risk infants was as high as in-person consultations. Parents found the video consultations to be as confidential as in-person appointments. In addition, parents felt comfortable and self-confident performing the guided examinations of their children by themselves during video consultations. Parents indicated that performing the examinations of their children gave them a better understanding of their development. During video consultations, the parents rated the children as being as calm and cooperative as at in-person appointments. Parents rated the feasibility of the video consultations as very high and similar to in-person appointments. Acceptance of the video consultations was considered high, as the parents agreed to choose video consultations again.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, cancellation of in-person appointments due to symptoms of infection with SARS-CoV-2, other viral infections, or quarantine of family members was frequent. However, missed appointments often could not be made up in a timely manner. Dayal et al [12] compared an in-person visit cohort with a telemedicine visit cohort in their outpatient pediatric neurology clinic and reported that telemedicine visits were more likely to be completed versus cancelled or missed compared to in-person visits. The authors concluded that telemedicine could serve as an equal supplement to in-person visits.

## **Feasibility of Video Consultations**

Parents strongly considered video consultation as an equal alternative for keeping scheduled follow-up appointments. The acceptance of the video consultations by parents and their positive evaluations of the confidentiality of the conversations suggests the possibility of using this modality beyond the pandemic.

Offering video consultations from the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic was a rapid, adaptive response to meet the needs of the patient population. According to Chew et al [13] the successful deployment of digital tools is dependent on patient willingness to use the tools, provider acceptance, and quality of hardware infrastructure [14].

It is much more difficult for highly complex patients, such as those receiving home oxygen therapy or those who live far away from the hospital, to attend in-person appointments. However, keeping track of patients with ongoing medical and therapeutic requirements reduces the rate of hospitalization. This also holds true for neonatal patients. Robinson et al [15] showed that telemedicine for follow-up care of infants after discharge from the NICU reduced emergency visits to the hospital. Furthermore, it has been reported that 26% of parents receiving telemedicine felt they had more scheduled appointments than necessary, which increased their level of satisfaction [16]. Gund et al [17] showed that telemedicine could reduce the need for home visits among parents practicing neonatal home care. There are examples of randomized controlled trials with promising outcomes for digital tools with ecological validity. The SAVED (Safety and Efficacy of Follow-up for Patients With Abdominal Pain Using Video Consultation) study [18], a randomized controlled trial, showed that video consultation was a safe and efficient tool for follow-up care in patients presenting with acute abdominal pain in the emergency room. Richards et al [19] showed that digital intervention for patients with depression and anxiety was therapeutic and cost-effective and could be a strong tool to counter or account for the treatment gap in mental health. With time- and cost-effective digital tools, diagnosis and treatment may be offered significantly earlier to patients in distress.

Neurodevelopmental follow-up in preterm infants aims to identify children at risk early, in order to initiate intervention

to best promote development. De Kleine et al [7] investigated long-term follow-up care of preterm children up to the age of 5 years and revealed a large group of children with developmental disturbances who were previously considered developmentally appropriate. Video consultations offered an opportunity in this study to evaluate development of the children and consult parents about all developmental domains of their child. Gavazzi et al [16] showed the feasibility of video consultations for standardized measurement instruments, such as the Gross Motor Function Measure-88, in a pediatric group with chronical neurological disease. Li et al [20] showed that a combination of follow-up visits that were face-to-face and via video allowed a follow-up rate that was as high during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in April 2020 as in the previous year. In this study, due to the additional offer of a video consultation, the rate of follow-up appointments decreased slightly, but the total number of consultations increased.

During the first 3 infectious peaks of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany (March 2020-January 2021), there were several weeks when planned in-person appointments for medical causes that were not urgent were prohibited by social distancing rules. This study showed that parents who preferred follow-up care via video consultation were significantly more afraid of an infection and were significantly more likely to avoid contact with medical professionals. Parents of very preterm children have been exceptionally worried about being infected due to the fact that preterm children suffer from respiratory infections more often and have an increased risk of rehospitalization, especially during the first 2 years of life [1]. Brasseler (personal communication, July 8, 2022) showed that parents with preterm infants had more anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic than parents of infants born at term. Furthermore, participants in the video-consultation group in this study were significantly older than those in the in-person appointment group. A great deal of research has shown that higher maternal age, among other factors, is correlated with higher compliance to follow-up care among very-low-birth weight infants and infants discharged from the NICU [21,22].

In the outpatient clinic, 3 follow-up visits are scheduled in the first year of life and annually until school age (6 years in Germany). The video consultations for follow-up care in this study included patient-reported medical history and a guided examination of the patients by the parents. Observing children in their home environment following parental instructions provided an opportunity to gain insight into the family environment. Standardization was a challenge, and only individual items could be measured. Muscle tone and muscle strength were difficult to examine via video consultation. Nevertheless, observation of the infant's spontaneous motor skills is one of the most important examinations and is easy to perform via video consultation in most cases. In toddlers and children, an overview of developmental domains in fine and gross motor skills, language and speech, cognition, performance and reasoning, sensory skills, and social-emotional behavior was obtained [7]. The subjective impression of the examiners was also that the children were calmer and more relaxed in their home environment.

# Limitations

This study used a nonrandomized cohort design as the onset of the pandemic required rapid adaptation for developmental neurological follow-up care due to contact restrictions. Due to the completely anonymous collection of the data, no conclusions can be drawn about the families retrospectively. Nevertheless, additional variables would have been of interest from the current perspective, such as the age of the children or the frequency of participation in video consultations. Furthermore, the interviews were conducted after the appointments or consultations and were thus not anonymously registered.

Parents in the in-person appointment group estimated the potential waiting time as being shorter than parents in the video-consultation group. However, technical problems (eg, not enough mobile data available or insufficient battery) also often led to waiting times before video consultations. The actual waiting time was not recorded in either group. Similarly, parents who were offered video consultations but did not accept the offer were not included or evaluated in this study.

#### **Future Perspectives**

The examiners' perspectives were not elicited but might have revealed valuable new approaches for further research. There appears to be a lack of evidence from research in digital health, which in turn hinders implementation, and vice versa. Future randomized controlled studies are needed for the evaluation of digital tools in medical services offered to chronically ill children [23]. Future studies should also address technological considerations, such as the devices used, data volume, and signal strength.

In developing countries with low incomes and high rural populations, telemedicine could offer, on one hand, opportunities to bring a higher level of health service to patients in isolated regions [12,15], but on the other hand, they might be limited by the supply of hardware and software, as well as by data volume and signal strength; these are issues that should be investigated.

Independent of the pandemic, video consultation has been developed as a low-threshold service to bring medical care closer to the patient. It serves patients very well who live far away from specialists or who have greater logistical challenges, such as children on ventilators [24]. Telemedicine significantly reduces health service use and may therefore reduce health service costs [15,25,26]. Parents feel secure and adequately supported in their own home with their preterm infants and children. This generation of parents has an innate understanding of digital devices and services [27,28]. They feel well informed about the neurodevelopment of their children at risk of neurodevelopmental difficulties. Being closely involved in the examination of their infants during video consultations as part of follow-up care gives parents a better understanding of the neurodevelopment of their children and empowers them as caregivers. Offering follow-up care as a multi-professional team with a combination of in-person visits and interactive media may have the potential to improve the compliance of families and lengthen the period of follow-up care [28]. Overall, telemedicine and video consultations may be used as



supplementary tools in medical and follow-up care in the twenty-first century for chronically ill patients and children with the need for continuous attendance and surveillance. The opportunities certainly outweigh the challenges in times such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

## Conclusion

The feasibility of video consultations for follow-up care of very preterm or at-risk infants and parental satisfaction with the

#### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank the Stiftung Universität Essen foundation, which started this trial as part of its COVID-19 projects (20204699123), and the University Medicine Essen Clinician Scientist Academy, which funded author BA. We also sincerely thank the children, parents, and other participants for their contribution to this trial.

# **Data Availability**

All data presented in this article and the code for reproducing the statistical results and figures are available in Multimedia Appendix 2.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## Multimedia Appendix 1

Interviews to evaluate the video or in-person consultation of follow-up care of premature infants. [DOCX File, 19 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40940 app1.docx ]

#### Multimedia Appendix 2

Video consultation in preterm follow-up care during the COVID-19 pandemic -opportunities and challenges. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 953 KB - pediatrics v6i1e40940 app2.pdf ]

# References

- Priante E, Moschino L, Mardegan V, Manzoni P, Salvadori S, Baraldi E. Respiratory outcome after preterm birth: a long and difficult journey. Am J Perinatol 2016 Sep;33(11):1040-1042. [doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1586172] [Medline: 27603531]
- 2. Howson CP, Kinney MV, Lawn JE. Born too soon: the global action report on preterm birth. World Health Organization. URL: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44864/9789241503433\_eng.pdf;jsessionid=167AFDDBA85D3F3</u> CB280E3DB33811544?sequence=1 [accessed 2022-12-23]
- Zeitlin J, Szamotulska K, Drewniak N, Mohangoo A, Chalmers J, Sakkeus L, Euro-Peristat Preterm Study Group. Preterm birth time trends in Europe: a study of 19 countries. BJOG 2013 Oct;120(11):1356-1365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.12281] [Medline: 23700966]
- 4. Doyle L, Anderson P, Battin M, Bowen J, Brown N, Callanan C, et al. Long term follow up of high risk children: who, why and how? BMC Pediatr 2014 Nov 17;14:279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-14-279] [Medline: 25399544]
- Novak I, Morgan C, Adde L, Blackman J, Boyd RN, Brunstrom-Hernandez J, et al. Early, accurate diagnosis and early intervention in cerebral palsy: advances in diagnosis and treatment. JAMA Pediatr 2017 Sep 01;171(9):897-907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.1689] [Medline: 28715518]
- Albayrak B, Dathe A, Cordier L, Felderhoff-Müser U, Hüning B. Clinical experience on video consultation in preterm follow-up care in times of the COVID-19 pandemic. Pediatr Res 2021 May;89(7):1610-1611. [doi: 10.1038/s41390-020-01169-9] [Medline: 32961545]
- de Kleine MJK, den Ouden AL, Kollée LAA, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG, Sondaar M, van Kessel-Feddema BJM, et al. Development and evaluation of a follow up assessment of preterm infants at 5 years of age. Arch Dis Child 2003 Oct;88(10):870-875 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.88.10.870] [Medline: 14500304]
- Dayal P, Chang C, Benko W, Ulmer A, Crossen S, Pollock B, et al. Appointment completion in pediatric neurology telemedicine clinics serving underserved patients. Neurol Clin Pract 2019 Aug;9(4):314-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/CPJ.00000000000649] [Medline: 31583186]
- Täglicher Lagebericht des RKI zur Coronavirus-Krankheit-2019 (COVID-19) 13.03.2020-Aktualisierter Stand Für Deutschland. Robert Koch Institute. 2020 Mar 13. URL: <u>https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges\_Coronavirus/</u> <u>Situationsberichte/2020-03-13-de.pdf?\_blob=publicationFile</u> [accessed 2022-12-23]

- 10. Täglicher Lagebericht des RKI zur Coronavirus-Krankheit-2019 (COVID-19) 22.03.2020-Aktualisierter Stand Für Deutschland. Robert Koch Institute. 2020 Mar 22. URL: <u>https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges\_Coronavirus/Situationsberichte/2020-03-22-de.pdf?\_blob=publicationFile</u> [accessed 2022-12-23]
- Rutherford E, Noray R, Ó hEarráin C, Quinlan K, Hegarty A, Ekpotu L, et al. Potential benefits and drawbacks of virtual clinics in general surgery: pilot cross-sectional questionnaire study. JMIR Perioper Med 2020 Jan 13;3(1):e12491 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12491] [Medline: 33932277]
- Dayal P, Chang CH, Benko WS, Pollock BH, Crossen SS, Kissee J, et al. Hospital utilization among rural children served by pediatric neurology telemedicine clinics. JAMA Netw Open 2019 Aug 02;2(8):e199364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.9364] [Medline: <u>31418803</u>]
- Chew AMK, Ong R, Lei H, Rajendram M, Verma SK, Fung DSS, et al. Digital health solutions for mental health disorders during COVID-19. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:582007 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3389/fpsyt.2020.582007</u>] [Medline: <u>33033487</u>]
- 14. Gunasekeran DV. Technology and chronic disease management. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2018 Feb;6(2):91. [doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30441-2] [Medline: 29413164]
- 15. Robinson C, Gund A, Sjöqvist BA, Bry K. Using telemedicine in the care of newborn infants after discharge from a neonatal intensive care unit reduced the need of hospital visits. Acta Paediatr 2016 Aug;105(8):902-909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/apa.13407] [Medline: 26999007]
- Gavazzi F, Adang L, Waldman A, Jan AK, Liu G, Lorch SA, et al. Reliability of the telemedicine application of the Gross Motor Function Measure-88 in patients with leukodystrophy. Pediatr Neurol 2021 Dec;125:34-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2021.09.012] [Medline: 34624609]
- 17. Gund A, Sjöqvist BA, Wigert H, Hentz E, Lindecrantz K, Bry K. A randomized controlled study about the use of eHealth in the home health care of premature infants. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013 Feb 09;13:22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-22] [Medline: 23394465]
- Gunasekeran DV, Liu Z, Tan WJ, Koh J, Cheong CP, Tan LH, et al. Evaluating safety and efficacy of follow-up for patients with abdominal pain using video consultation (SAVED Study): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 15;22(6):e17417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17417] [Medline: 32459637]
- Richards D, Enrique A, Eilert N, Franklin M, Palacios J, Duffy D, et al. A pragmatic randomized waitlist-controlled effectiveness and cost-effectiveness trial of digital interventions for depression and anxiety. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0293-8] [Medline: 32566763]
- 20. Li L, Li Z, Wan W, Li J, Zhang Y, Wang C, et al. Management of follow-up with preterm infants during the outbreak in China. Front Pediatr 2021;9:637275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.637275] [Medline: 33996687]
- Kim NH, Youn YA, Cho SJ, Hwang J, Kim E, Kim EA, Korean Neonatal Network. The predictors for the non-compliance to follow-up among very low birth weight infants in the Korean neonatal network. PLoS One 2018 Oct 1;13(10):e0204421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204421] [Medline: 30273357]
- 22. Nehra V, Pici M, Visintainer P, Kase J. Indicators of compliance for developmental follow-up of infants discharged from a regional NICU. J Perinat Med 2009;37(6):677-681. [doi: 10.1515/JPM.2009.135] [Medline: 19678740]
- Guo C, Ashrafian H, Ghafur S, Fontana G, Gardner C, Prime M. Challenges for the evaluation of digital health solutions-A call for innovative evidence generation approaches. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-00314-2] [Medline: 32904379]
- 24. Rasmusson KA, Hartshorn JC. A comparison of epilepsy patients in a traditional ambulatory clinic and a telemedicine clinic. Epilepsia 2005 May;46(5):767-770 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005.44804.x] [Medline: 15857445]
- McCrossan B, Morgan G, Grant B, Sands AJ, Craig BG, Doherty NN, et al. A randomised trial of a remote home support programme for infants with major congenital heart disease. Heart 2012 Oct;98(20):1523-1528. [doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2012-302350] [Medline: 22888158]
- 26. A Portrait of "Generation Next". Pew Research Center. 2009 Jan 09. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2007/01/</u> 09/a-portrait-of-generation-next/ [accessed 2022-12-23]
- 27. Eckleberry-Hunt J, Tucciarone J. The challenges and opportunities of teaching "generation y". J Grad Med Educ 2011 Dec;3(4):458-461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4300/JGME-03-04-15] [Medline: 23205190]
- 28. Kang S, Cho H. Research trends of follow-up care after neonatal intensive care unit graduation for children born preterm: a scoping review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Mar 22;18(6):3268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18063268] [Medline: 33809933]

# Abbreviations

NICU: neonatal intensive care unit



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 10.07.22; peer-reviewed by D Gunasekeran, M Silva; comments to author 22.10.22; revised version received 11.11.22; accepted 17.11.22; published 25.01.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Albayrak B, Cordier LJ, Greve S, Teschler U, Dathe AK, Felderhoff-Müser U, Hüning BM Feasibility of Video Consultation for Preterm Neurodevelopmental Follow-up Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cohort Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40940 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40940 doi:10.2196/40940 PMID:36409307

©Bilge Albayrak, Larissa Jane Cordier, Sandra Greve, Uta Teschler, Anne-Kathrin Dathe, Ursula Felderhoff-Müser, Britta Maria Hüning. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.01.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Understanding Transgender and Gender-Diverse Youth's Experiences Receiving Care via Telemedicine: Qualitative Interview Study

Nicole F Kahn<sup>1,2,3</sup>, PhD, MEd; Yomna H Anan<sup>3</sup>, BA; Kevin M Bocek<sup>2</sup>, BA; Dimitri A Christakis<sup>1,3</sup>, MD, MPH; Laura P Richardson<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MD, MPH; Wanda Pratt<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Gina M Sequeira<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MD, MS

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Division of Adolescent Medicine, Seattle Children's Hospital, Seattle, WA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Center for Child Health, Behavior and Development, Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States

<sup>4</sup>The Information School, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Nicole F Kahn, PhD, MEd Center for Child Health, Behavior and Development Seattle Children's Research Institute 1920 Terry Ave Seattle, WA, 98101 United States Phone: 1 206 987 0988 Email: nicole.kahn@seattlechildrens.org

# Abstract

**Background:** Access to virtual care has increased since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, yet little is known about transgender and gender-diverse (TGD) youth's experiences and perspectives on receiving care via telemedicine.

**Objective:** The purpose of this study was to explore these experiences to (1) inform necessary changes to the provision of pediatric gender-affirming care and (2) help providers and health systems determine if and how telemedicine should be made available post pandemic.

**Methods:** Youth (aged 14-17 years) who completed a telemedicine visit in the Seattle Children's Gender Clinic were invited to participate in a semistructured interview exploring perceived advantages or disadvantages of telemedicine and preferred visit modalities. Interview transcriptions were analyzed by 2 research team members using an inductive thematic analysis framework.

**Results:** A total of 15 TGD youth completed an interview. Commonly cited advantages of telemedicine were convenience and comfort with having visits in their own environments. Reported disadvantages included technical issues, discomfort with the impersonal nature, lack of familiarity with the platform, and privacy concerns. Overall, slightly more youth preferred in-person visits over telemedicine, referencing both specific characteristics of the clinical visit (ie, initial vs return and complexity) and proximity to the clinic as reasons for this preference. Although a plurality of TGD youth preferred in-person visits, they also recognized the value of telemedicine and the impact it may have in facilitating access to care.

**Conclusions:** Given the variations in needs and visit complexity, our study supports the provision of both in-person and telemedicine modalities as options for pediatric gender-affirming care.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42378) doi:10.2196/42378

# KEYWORDS

transgender and gender diverse youth; adolescent; telemedicine; gender-affirming care; qualitative methods; COVID-19; pandemic; youth; gender; care; technical; implementation; transgender; telemedicine; gender diverse; complexity

# Introduction

RenderX

Telemedicine provides a means for 2-way, real-time, synchronous communication between a health care provider

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42378

and a patient, who are not in the same physical location, using audio or video technology [1]. Although telemedicine has been available for a number of years, it has primarily been used to support populations who experience geographic barriers to

specialty health care (eg, rural settings and health professional shortage areas) [1]. However, the COVID-19 pandemic has recently forced health care systems to rapidly implement or scale up the availability of telemedicine visits to continue serving patients, resulting in increased focus on optimizing these platforms for broader use [2,3].

Even before the pandemic, work was in progress to expand telemedicine for the provision of subspecialty care to other vulnerable populations, including children and youth [4]. This was also true for transgender and gender-diverse (TGD) youth seeking access to gender-affirming care, which may include social or psychological supports and medical care that affirms an individual's gender identity. Telemedicine represented an important mode of care delivery for TGD youth, given that experience substantial barriers to receiving many gender-affirming care due to the limited number of clinics across the United States that deliver this care and the fact that few providers outside of these clinics have received formal training in this area [5-7]. However, few guidelines were in place for the provision of these services [3], and little research had been conducted regarding youth's needs and preferences with this modality of care delivery [8,9].

More recent research during the pandemic with a nationally representative sample of youth has shown that young people see value in telemedicine for minor concerns or follow-up care, but that most still prefer in-person visits [10]. Similarly, research conducted before the pandemic showed that just under half (47%) of TGD youth were interested in telemedicine, but they, too, preferred to use this modality for follow-up care [9,11,12]. However, telemedicine interest was especially high among TGD youth who had less parental support for their identities [11]. Such unique experiences illustrate the importance of understanding diverse patient perspectives as health care systems make decisions about whether and how to provide telemedicine services moving forward. As such, now that telemedicine services are more widespread, more research is needed to understand TGD youth's perspectives on receiving gender-affirming care via telemedicine and whether this could be a way to improve access and help overcome the unique barriers to care faced by this population [5,6,13].

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to further explore TGD youth's experiences receiving gender-affirming care via telemedicine, with the broader goals of (1) informing necessary changes to the provision of pediatric gender-affirming care and (2) helping gender-affirming care providers and health systems determine if and how this modality should continue to be made available following the COVID-19 pandemic.

# Methods

## **Participants and Recruitment**

Youth aged 14-17 years who completed a telemedicine visit with a Seattle Children's Gender Clinic physician or nurse practitioner to discuss or receive gender-affirming medical care within the last 6 months were invited to complete a screening survey, and if eligible, to participate in a semistructured, one-on-one Zoom interview. For the purpose of this study, the term "telemedicine" was defined as any visit that occurred using real-time video and audio technology from a location outside of the clinic.

For initial recruitment, members of the research team reviewed electronic medical records to identify patients who met initial inclusion criteria to contact by email or during an in-person visit to the clinic. All prospective participants were directed to a Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) [14] screening survey to determine eligibility and to provide additional information about the study. Eligible participants were then contacted by a member of the research team to schedule an interview over Zoom [15].

#### **Ethics Approval**

Due to the low-risk nature of this study and to avoid excluding participants who may not have disclosed their gender identity to a parent, a waiver of parental consent was granted by the Seattle Children's Hospital Institutional Review Board (STUDY00002873), and all participants provided verbal assent to participate prior to the start of the interview. Each interview participant received a US \$20 Amazon e-gift card. All study procedures were approved by the Seattle Children's Institutional Review Board.

#### Measures

# Screening Survey

Demographic information regarding age, gender identity, ethnicity, and race were self-reported on the REDCap screening survey.

For gender identity, respondents could select all that applied from the following: transmale or transmasculine, transfemale or transfeminine, nonbinary, genderqueer, genderfluid, gender questioning, gender nonconforming, agender, demigender, gender variant, androgyne, two spirit (or other identity of indigenous origin), cisgender male, cisgender female, and other.

Respondents were also asked about travel time to the clinic, how supportive their most supportive parent or legal guardian was of their transition on a scale from 1 to 10, and whether a parent had participated in their telemedicine visit with the gender clinic.

#### Interview

The first part of the semistructured interview included open-ended questions related to participants' experiences receiving gender-affirming care via telemedicine. The second half of the interview focused on their attitudes toward receiving gender-affirming care in the primary care setting. This paper focuses on the first half of the interview, which asked the following open-ended questions:

- "How did you feel about doing a gender clinic visit using telemedicine?"
- "Were there particular aspects of the telemedicine visit you liked or didn't like? Why?"
- "If you had the option of doing a visit over telemedicine vs in-person, what would you choose and why?"

Interview questions were reviewed by members of a TGD youth advisory board for clarity and applicability prior to implementation.

## Analyses

Interview transcripts were automatically generated by the Zoom computer program [15] and reviewed by members of the research team for clarity and accuracy. Transcripts were then analyzed by 2 members of the research team using an inductive thematic analysis framework [16] and Dedoose qualitative analysis software (SocioCultural Research Consultants) [17]. Specifically, 2 members of the research team ("coders") used an initial codebook that was generated collaboratively with TGD youth, parent, and primary care provider stakeholders to analyze the data. The coders then met weekly to discuss disagreements and to add codes iteratively as other key themes emerged from the interviews until thematic saturation was achieved. The final results were triangulated with members of a TGD youth advisory board who were provided with a list of themes and examples to ensure they agreed with the quote categorizations.

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

Of the 45 TGD youth who completed the screening survey, 29 (64%) were deemed eligible and invited for an interview, of which 15 (52%) agreed to participate (Table 1). The mean age of interview participants was 15.7 years (SD 1.1). The majority (n=11, 73%) identified as transmale or transmasculine, and one-third (n=5, 33%) selected more than one gender identity (range: 1-8). Most of the interviewed youth (n=12, 80%) completed their first gender-clinic visit in person, while 3 (20%) youth had completed their first gender-clinic visit via telemedicine. Nearly all of the interviewed TGD youth lived within an hour from the clinic (n=14, 93%). Overall, youth indicated high levels of support for their transition from a parent (mean 8.5, SD 1.9), and 12 (80%) youth had a parent join for a telemedicine visit. Interviews ranged in length from 20 to 45 minutes.

Kahn et al

 Table 1. Demographic characteristics of screening survey and interview participants.

Variables	Screened (n=45)	Interviewed (n=15)
Age (years), mean (SD)	16.2 (1.2)	15.7 (1.1)
Gender identity <sup>a</sup> , n (%)		
Transmale or male	30 (62.5)	11 (73.3)
Transfemale or female	11 (22.9)	3 (20.0)
Nonbinary	14 (29.2)	6 (40.0)
Genderqueer	5 (10.4)	3 (20.0)
Genderfluid	2 (4.2)	2 (13.3)
Gender questioning	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Gender nonconforming	3 (6.3)	3 (20.0)
Agender	4 (8.3)	1 (6.7)
Demigender	4 (8.3)	2 (13.3)
Gender variant	1 (2.1)	1 (6.7)
Androgyne	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Two spirit (or other identity of indigenous origin)	1 (2.1)	0 (0.0)
Cismale	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Cisfemale	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Bigender	2 (4.2)	1 (6.7)
>1 gender identity (range: 1-8)	15 (33.3)	5 (33.3)
Ethnicity or race <sup>a</sup> , n (%)		
Hispanic	9 (18.8)	2 (13.3)
American Indian or Alaska Native	2 (4.2)	0 (0.0)
Asian	5 (10.4)	2 (13.3)
Black or African American	3 (6.3)	1 (6.7)
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	2 (4.2)	1 (6.7)
White	37 (77.1)	13 (86.7)
Distance to clinic, n (%)		
≤30 minutes	10 (20.8)	5 (33.3)
31 minutes to 1 hour	25 (52.1)	9 (60.0)
1 to 2 hours	4 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
2 to 3 hours	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
3 to 4 hours	2 (4.2)	1 (6.7)
>4 hours	2 (4.2)	0 (0.0)
First visit, n (%)		
In person	29 (60.4)	12 (80.0)
Telemedicine	14 (29.2)	3 (20.0)
Parental support for transition (mean; 1-10)	8.2 (2.1)	8.5 (1.9)
Parent at telemedicine visit, n (%)	38 (79.2)	12 (80.0)

<sup>a</sup>Youth could select more than one gender identity and ethnicity or race.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Telemedicine Modality for Gender-Affirming Care Key themes of the TGD youth's responses regarding the aspects that they liked and disliked about telemedicine with representative quotes are shown in Table 2.


Kahn et al

 Table 2. Advantages and disadvantages of telemedicine for gender-affirming care (n=15).

Themes and subthemes	Quotations
Advantages	
Convenience (n=13, 87%)	
Travel time	<ul> <li>"I do like that it's more convenient. Like you just don't have to, like, drive out or get your parents to drive you out to a specific location."</li> <li>"I especially appreciated that for very short check-in visits. That was, like, super easy to do via telemedicine. That would have taken up a big portion of my day if we'd had to drive down."</li> </ul>
Efficiency	<ul> <li>"There is also no wait time. I had some long waiting in the office times with the gender clinic. But with telemedicine, it's just like, you log on and they're right there. So, it's very, very efficient."</li> <li>"I think for like just checkups and stuff and general symptoms it's good for telehealth because you can just call and make it happen instead of having to drive over."</li> </ul>
User-friendly	<ul> <li>"It's very like easy to use the telemedicine videos like you can, like it's very like easy to learn like it's not really complicated like you can just, press on the Zoom link and then go on and then, if you have to put your password or your name you just click enter and then and it's super reliable too, so I like it."</li> <li>"Telemedicine is easy, you can do it at your house, in your bed, you don't really have to do much, you just tap a few buttons."</li> </ul>
Comfort (n=10, 67%)	
Own environment	<ul> <li>"Well, I mean it's nice to do visits from my house. It's like being in my home is a little bit more comforting because you know, when I go to [CLINIC NAME] I'm in a hospital."</li> <li>"Um, for me, it's mostly the environment around me because when I'm actually in clinic it doesn't really have that same feeling that at home it does, cuz that's homeit's home. But the clinic, it feels like there's a bunch of doctors and nurses and it just doesn't have that same comfort that it would be at home."</li> </ul>
Social anxiety	<ul> <li>"It might be scary you're going to in person, because they've never had to, cause gender is, like a really touchy subject and, like it can be a little bit uncomfortable sometimes, so I think having the screen in between can sometimes make it a little bit less scary."</li> <li>"For me, especially back then, before I started hormones, I was a very socially anxious person. So, it's always a little daunting going in and sitting face to face with somebody for an hour and you're just looking at a doctor and I feel like through telemedicine it kind of broke that weird barrier there. Like I wasn't as anxious going into it and it was a really good introduction into my care there."</li> </ul>
Avoiding COVID-19	• "Personally, I like it just because like especially right now, because, like COVID and, like the delta variant and all that stuff going on, I don't feel super comfortable going in, even though I am vaccinated like fully but I do like in this current time, the distance because of the health precautions and stuff."
	• "especially with COVID it- it's it it's a lot safer"
Disadvantages	
Technical issues (n=9, 60%)	
Bad connection	<ul> <li>"Occasionally it's annoying if like, connections are bad and it's hard to understand people, technology issues, that sort of thing. But that's about it. That's pretty much the only issues I've had."</li> <li>"It's not really the telemedicine, like visit. It's more like the, like if you live somewhere like, where the Internet is weird like, sometimes the connection is like, unstable."</li> </ul>
Difficulty using platforms	<ul> <li>"I think, I think it's a bit difficult sometimes because of planning around it and about environment. Because it can be stressful to figure out how to set up something like Zoom or Teams if you haven't before."</li> <li>"I don't personally have any concerns but I know that some people might struggle with a public video call software via the platform that we use. It might be more comfortable for some people to be able to do theirs through something that can be assured as limited access and very secure. Like a [HOSPITAL NAME] run portal type thing."</li> </ul>
Discomfort (n=8, 53%)	
Impersonal	<ul> <li>"There is kind of more of a personal aspect to sitting with somebody. You kind of get to be with them and it's more of a close connection you have with them."</li> <li>"I just think sitting in a room with someone and seeing them right there kind of helps you get more of a feeling of 'this is a real person.' Because sometimes, looking at a screen, it's just 'this is my computer.' There's just this barrier in between you and the other person."</li> </ul>

Kahn et al

Themes and subthemes	Quotations
Unfamiliar	<ul> <li>"It's just a different environment and it changes how you feel about a certain area."</li> <li>"I think at first it was very unfamiliar to me and kind of hard to adjust with talking to someone on a screen instead of in person. Especially about kind of personal things, but that wasn't an issue much as I got more used to doing that."</li> </ul>
Privacy (n=7, 47%)	
	<ul> <li>"Some of the things that I don't really like is because everybody's at home, I feel like people will overhear me because the walls aren't that thick and, or like they'll come up to me and say like, 'hey I heard you say this over your interview' or like, 'during your visit.'"</li> <li>"Like the contrast between being in person and being like, through Zoom - when you're in person you're in an office or you're in a room somewhere and it's just the two of you, and you know that it's private. But then when you're not, on their end it's private but also like, on your end, you can be anywhere"</li> </ul>

# Advantages

The 2 main themes that emerged regarding the advantages of telemedicine included *convenience* (n=13, 87%) and *comfort* (n=9, 60%). Regarding convenience, participants appreciated not having to commute to the clinic, the efficiency of their visit, and the user-friendliness of the web-based platform. Regarding comfort, TGD youth liked being in their own environment to conduct the visit, not having to deal with social anxiety surrounding their gender identity when visiting the clinic, and avoiding exposure to COVID-19.

# Disadvantages

The most commonly reported disadvantage of conducting the visit over telemedicine was *technical issues* (n=9, 60%). Specifically, TGD youth cited unreliable internet connections and difficulty navigating a new or different platform to engage with their providers. Just over half of the TGD youth also reported *discomfort* (n=8, 53%) using telemedicine, indicating that these visits felt impersonal and were an unfamiliar way of engaging with their providers. Finally, participants frequently voiced concerns about *privacy* (n=7, 47%), explaining that they felt more likely to be overheard by family or others while connecting with their providers from home.

# Preferred Modalities for Receiving Gender-Affirming Care

A slight majority of the interviewed youth (n=7, 47%) indicated that they preferred in-person visits compared to telemedicine (n=5, 33%), while the remaining 3 (20%) youth said it would depend on certain characteristics of the visit. Interestingly, although most youth had a specific preference for either in-person or telemedicine modality, it became clear through further discussion that their preferred modality could vary based on certain characteristics of the visit (Table 3).

Specifically, youth indicated that their first visit to the gender clinic would be better done in person, but for return or follow-up visits, they preferred telemedicine. In fact, of the 5 youth who preferred telemedicine visits, 3 (60%) indicated wanting their first visit to be in person. Regarding the first visit, participants cited wanting to build rapport with their provider and have their initial conversations occur face-to-face. Participants who preferred telemedicine for follow-up or return visits most often indicated that this was due to the simplicity of the visit and the frequency with which they occur.

Another main theme was visit complexity. Participants suggested that complex visits, including those that involved procedures or major changes to their care, were better done in person. Conversely, participants indicated that less complex visits, including verbal check-ins with a provider, could be easily completed via telemedicine.

Finally, youth cited distance to the clinic as an important factor in deciding when to use telehealth services. Specifically, youth suggested that in-person visits were better for those who lived closer to the gender clinic, while telemedicine were better for those who lived further away or with other transportation barriers.

The following quote from a study participant illustrates this interplay between these characteristics:

My first visit with the gender clinic was definitely better in person, but many consecutive appointments after that, I would have absolutely done telemedicine. Because there was my first appointment, I was prescribed something out the gate and that's, you know, I would prefer that to be in person. But every subsequent appointment besides that wasn't talking about starting a new medication. It was definitely like, I'm here for 10 minutes and I'm out. All right, well goes back to convenience, where I don't really want to hear the same thing, I don't want to go drive half an hour and then hear the same thing that I heard last appointment then drive away... I guess it depends on the subject matter and the duration of the visit...But yeah, yeah it's not, it, I feel like, ironically, despite my stance on telemedicine, like, as in, like, it's probably my least preferred way of communicating medical ideals, it's, I also believe that it's the future of medicine, because it's so convenient.



Table 3. Reasons for in person versus telemedicine care.

Themes	Visit description and quotations					
	In-person	Telemedicine				
Visit type	<ul> <li>First visit</li> <li>"I personally would prefer the first appointment to be in person, just so it's easier to connect."</li> <li>"I think maybe go in person, just for like a big initial visit, and then after that I would have just been com- fortable with telemedicine."</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Return visit</li> <li>"I think follow ups it really makes sense to do them virtually because you're gonna have so many of them."</li> <li>"I honestly think that telemedicine makes a lot more sense than in person, especially for follow ups"</li> </ul>				
Complexity	<ul> <li>More complex visit <ul> <li>"If we were going to talk about doing something new or making a big change to the stuff I'm already doing, I think that's something that would be better done face-to-face."</li> <li>"If they need to, you know, run tests, draw blood or whatever like that, then I would rather come in then, be in person, because I feel like that's harder to do virtually."</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Less complex visit <ul> <li>"It kind of depends what the subject of the visit would be, but for the normal check-ins I do, I think telemedicine is preferable."</li> <li>"I think it depends on what needs to be done at my visit, because for just an average 'how are you doing on your hormones' kind of talking thing, I would prefer telemedicine."</li> </ul> </li> </ul>				
Distance	<ul> <li>Closer proximity to clinic</li> <li>"I don't think, there's no challenges or obstacles because like, we live like, really close to her like, well, to the hospital."</li> <li>"I guess if you're closer to [CITY] and, and would, you would be, different reasons."</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Further distance from clinic</li> <li>"Personally, I thought it was a lot easier because I live a few hours away."</li> <li>"I think time is a big part of itLike, for me, I prefer telemedicine because it's a long time to drive."</li> </ul>				

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The purpose of this study was to better understand TGD youth's perspectives and preferences regarding how they receive gender-affirming care services in order to inform and improve future care delivery. Our results support those of past surveys and quantitative research, which have shown that youth prefer in-person visits to telemedicine [8-11]; however, our qualitative discussions regarding benefits and drawbacks of each modality further indicate that the choice is not so simple. Although a plurality of TGD youth in our study indicated a preference for in-person visits, they also recognized the value of telemedicine to themselves and others for less complex or follow-up visits and the impact it may have in facilitating access to care [12]. Given variations in needs and visit complexity, our results suggest that both in-person and telemedicine modalities should be options for the provision of gender-affirming care, and that patient needs and constraints should be considered as these services become more widely implemented.

Although the rapid implementation and scale-up of telemedicine options resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have allowed health care systems to continue serving patients remotely, any such rapid change also brings growing pains [2,3]. Some of these may be remediable with time. For example, certain disadvantages cited by the youth in our study, including discomfort with the new modality and certain technical issues, may improve as patients become more familiar with the visit process and platforms used. Other disadvantages, such as feeling impersonal, may also be helped by additional provider training on building rapport virtually. However, there are some

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42378
```

RenderX

disadvantages, such as privacy issues, which may be more difficult to change given the different environments where youth engage in their telemedicine visits. National guidelines emphasize the importance of confidential health services for adolescents, which allow for private discussion of sensitive health topics and encourage adolescent responsibility for their own health care [18,19]. This may be even more important for TGD youth who are not open about their gender identity to all of the individuals with whom they live or those who have limited parental support [11,20]. Additional changes to virtual care provision (eg, room scans, use of headphones, asking whether the patient is alone or if they can be overheard at the start of the visit) may help to alleviate some of these privacy concerns, but further solutions to ensure access to confidential care via telemedicine are warranted [21].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

An important strength of this study is our use of qualitative methods to engage more deeply with end users. Existing stakeholder-engaged research mechanisms have allowed for patient-centered discussions regarding their needs and expectations around their health care [22]. However, youth, and particularly TGD youth, are rarely included in these conversations [23]. Thus, engaging with youth in this way represents an important first step toward developing more youth-friendly health information technology, which will not only make these services more responsive to the unique needs of youth but will likely also increase patient satisfaction and engagement with health care [23-26]. Given the current generation's access to and familiarity with technology [27], such adolescent-informed platforms may also have additional benefits as they relate to promoting adolescent autonomy over

their health care and facilitating their successful transition to adult care [28-30].

A critical limitation of our study is sample size, as the experiences of this small group of youth cannot be interpreted as representative of the broader population of TGD youth. Similarly, rates of perceived parental support among participants in our sample were quite high, which can be attributed to our recruitment strategy that focused on TGD youth who had already completed a telemedicine visit at the Seattle Children's Gender Clinic. Care must therefore be taken not to generalize these findings to youth who may have lower rates of perceived parental support. Our study is also limited by a relative lack of diversity, which is not uncommon in clinic-based studies of TGD youth, [30] but reflects the characteristics of populations with greater access to gender-affirming care services [31]. That said, it is critically important to recognize how intersectional identities and experiences-such as those who identify as gender diverse and are Black, Indigenous, and people of color or live rurally—can further exacerbate barriers to care [31]. Furthermore, additional barriers that may disproportionately impact TGD youth, such as parent or caregiver dependence for

access to care and consent to services, should also be considered when developing pediatric gender-affirming care services [6,32].

Relatedly, since we interviewed youth via Zoom and only interviewed those who had participated in a telemedicine visit, we did not hear the perspectives of youth who experience barriers to accessing these services. Specifically, those who live in areas where internet access is unavailable or less reliable may still have disproportionately less access to health care and other services. Despite the often-cited advantage of increasing access to health services among those living in medically underserved areas, we must remain aware of the fact that the rapid implementation of telemedicine could exacerbate existing disparities [33].

# Conclusions

Overall, our study supports the provision of both in-person and telemedicine modalities as options for pediatric gender-affirming care. Moreover, the benefits and drawbacks identified by TGD youth in this study can be used to inform new and developing telemedicine programs for adolescent health care as well as future work focused on building adolescent-friendly and responsive health systems.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was supported by the Seattle Children's Research Institute and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ; K12HS026393-03; principal investigator: GMS) and Pivotal Ventures.

Thank you to the Seattle Children's Gender Clinic TGD youth advisory board for their review of the interview questions and results. Thank you to Elsie Rockers for her assistance with data collection.

# **Authors' Contributions**

NFK drafted the initial manuscript, carried out initial analyses, and reviewed and revised the manuscript. YHA assisted with drafting the initial manuscript, collected data, carried out the initial analyses, and reviewed and revised the manuscript. KMB collected data and reviewed and revised the manuscript. DAC and LPR assisted in conceptualizing and designing the study and critically reviewed and revised the manuscript. WP critically reviewed and revised the manuscript. GMS conceptualized and designed the study and data collection instruments, supervised data collection, and reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript as submitted and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

The author GMS has received consultative compensation from Pivotal Ventures and the Fenway Institute.

# References

- Olson CA, McSwain SD, Curfman AL, Chuo J. The Current Pediatric Telehealth Landscape. Pediatrics 2018 Mar 27;141(3):e20172334. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2017-2334</u>] [Medline: <u>29487164</u>]
- Koonin LM, Hoots B, Tsang CA, Leroy Z, Farris K, Jolly B, et al. Trends in the Use of Telehealth During the Emergence of the COVID-19 Pandemic - United States, January-March 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Oct 30;69(43):1595-1599. [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6943a3] [Medline: 33119561]
- Barney A, Buckelew S, Mesheriakova V, Raymond-Flesch M. The COVID-19 Pandemic and Rapid Implementation of Adolescent and Young Adult Telemedicine: Challenges and Opportunities for Innovation. J Adolesc Health 2020 Aug;67(2):164-171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.05.006] [Medline: 32410810]
- Burke BL, Hall RW, SECTION ON TELEHEALTH CARE. Telemedicine: Pediatric Applications. Pediatrics 2015 Jul;136(1):e293-e308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-1517] [Medline: 26122813]
- Dowshen N, Meadows R, Byrnes M, Hawkins L, Eder J, Noonan K. Policy Perspective: Ensuring Comprehensive Care and Support for Gender Nonconforming Children and Adolescents. Transgend Health 2016;1(1):75-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/trgh.2016.0002] [Medline: 28861528]

- Inwards-Breland DJ, Karrington B, Sequeira GM. Access to Care for Transgender and Nonbinary Youth: Ponder This, Innumerable Barriers Exist. JAMA Pediatr 2021 Nov 01;175(11):1112-1114. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.2068</u>] [Medline: <u>34279557</u>]
- Weixel T, Wildman B. Geographic Distribution of Clinical Care for Transgender and Gender-Diverse Youth. Pediatrics 2022 Dec 01;150(6):e2022057054. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2022-057054</u>] [Medline: <u>36443242</u>]
- 8. Ray KN, Ashcraft LE, Mehrotra A, Miller E, Kahn JM. Family Perspectives on Telemedicine for Pediatric Subspecialty Care. Telemed J E Health 2017 Oct;23(10):852-862 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0236] [Medline: 28430021]
- 9. Sequeira GM, Kidd KM, Rankine J, Miller E, Ray KN, Fortenberry JD, et al. Gender-Diverse Youth's Experiences and Satisfaction with Telemedicine for Gender-Affirming Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Transgend Health 2022 Apr 01;7(2):127-134. [doi: 10.1089/trgh.2020.0148] [Medline: 35586577]
- Waselewski ME, Waselewski EA, Wasvary M, Wood G, Pratt K, Chang T, et al. Perspectives on Telemedicine from a National Study of Youth in the United States. Telemed J E Health 2022 Apr;28(4):575-582. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2021.0153</u>] [Medline: <u>34415810</u>]
- Sequeira GM, Kidd KM, Coulter RW, Miller E, Fortenberry D, Garofalo R, et al. Transgender Youths' Perspectives on Telehealth for Delivery of Gender-Affirming Care. J Adolesc Health 2021 Jun;68(6):1207-1210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.08.028] [Medline: 32980246]
- 12. Russell MR, Rogers RL, Rosenthal SM, Lee JY. Increasing Access to Care for Transgender/Gender Diverse Youth Using Telehealth: A Quality Improvement Project. Telemed J E Health 2022 Jun 08;28(6):847-857. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2021.0268] [Medline: 34637658]
- 13. Stewart MK, Allison MK, Grant Hunthrop MS, Marshall SA, Cornell CE. Outcomes Research on Telemedicine-Delivered Gender-Affirming Health Care for Transgender Youth Is Needed Now: A Call to Action. Transgender Health 2021 Dec 14:1-5. [doi: 10.1089/trgh.2021.0063]
- 14. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 15. Zoom Video Communications. URL: https://zoom.us/ [accessed 2023-02-07]
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: <u>10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>]
- 17. Dedoose. 2018. URL: https://www.dedoose.com/ [accessed 2023-02-07]
- 18. Hagan J, Shaw J, Duncan P. Bright Futures: Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents. 4 ed. Elk Grove, IL, USA: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2017.
- 19. Ford C, English A, Sigman G. Confidential health care for adolescents: position paper of the Society for Adolescent Medicine. Journal of Adolescent Health 2004 Aug;35(2):160-167. [doi: <u>10.1016/s1054-139x(04)00086-2</u>]
- 20. Hadland SE, Yehia BR, Makadon HJ. Caring for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Questioning Youth in Inclusive and Affirmative Environments. Pediatr Clin North Am 2016 Dec;63(6):955-969. [doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2016.07.001] [Medline: 27865338]
- Curfman A, McSwain S, Chuo J, Yeager-McSwain B, Schinasi D, Marcin J, et al. Pediatric Telehealth in the COVID-19 Pandemic Era and Beyond. Pediatrics 2021 Sep;148(3):e2020047795 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2020-047795</u>] [Medline: <u>34215677</u>]
- Kirwan JR, de Wit M, Frank L, Haywood KL, Salek S, Brace-McDonnell S, et al. Emerging Guidelines for Patient Engagement in Research. Value Health 2017 Mar;20(3):481-486 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2016.10.003] [Medline: 28292494]
- 23. Graham R, Kahn NF, editors. Promoting Positive Adolescent Health Behaviors Outcomes: Thriving in the 21st Century. Washington, DC, US: The National Academies Press; 2020.
- 24. Gurung G, Richardson A, Wyeth E, Edmonds L, Derrett S. Child/youth, family and public engagement in paediatric services in high-income countries: A systematic scoping review. Health Expect 2020 Apr;23(2):261-273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.13017] [Medline: 31981295]
- 25. Powers JL, Tiffany JS. Engaging youth in participatory research and evaluation. J Public Health Manag Pract 2006 Nov;Suppl:S79-S87. [doi: 10.1097/00124784-200611001-00015] [Medline: 17035908]
- 26. Zeldin S, Christens B, Powers J. The psychology and practice of youth-adult partnership: bridging generations for youth development and community change. Am J Community Psychol 2013 Jun;51(3-4):385-397. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10464-012-9558-y</u>] [Medline: <u>23054170</u>]
- 27. Anderson M, Jiang J. Teens, Social Media and Technology. Pew Research Center. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/</u> [accessed 2023-02-07]
- 28. White PH, Cooley WC, Transitions Clinical Report Authoring Group, American Academy of Pediatrics, American Academy of Family Physicians, American College of Physicians. Supporting the Health Care Transition From Adolescence to Adulthood in the Medical Home. Pediatrics 2018;142(5):e20182587. Pediatrics 2019 Feb 31;143(2):e20183610 Erratum for: Pediatrics. 2018 Nov;142(5). [doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-3610] [Medline: 30705144]

- 29. Stroud C, Walker LR, Davis M, Irwin CE. Investing in the health and well-being of young adults. J Adolesc Health 2015 Feb;56(2):127-129. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.11.012] [Medline: 25620297]
- Pham T, García A, Tsai M, Lau M, Kuper LE. Transition from Pediatric to Adult Care for Transgender Youth: A Qualitative Study of Patient, Parent, and Provider Perspectives. LGBT Health 2021;8(4):281-289. [doi: <u>10.1089/lgbt.2020.0487</u>] [Medline: <u>33835876</u>]
- Adams N, Pearce R, Veale J, Radix A, Castro D, Sarkar A, et al. Guidance and Ethical Considerations for Undertaking Transgender Health Research and Institutional Review Boards Adjudicating this Research. Transgend Health 2017 Dec;2(1):165-175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/trgh.2017.0012] [Medline: 29098202]
- Kearns S, Kroll T, O'Shea D, Neff K. Experiences of transgender and non-binary youth accessing gender-affirming care: A systematic review and meta-ethnography. PLoS One 2021 Sep 10;16(9):e0257194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0257194] [Medline: 34506559]
- Wilcock AD, Rose S, Busch AB, Huskamp HA, Uscher-Pines L, Landon B, et al. Association Between Broadband Internet Availability and Telemedicine Use. JAMA Intern Med 2019 Nov 01;179(11):1580-1582 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.2234] [Medline: <u>31355849</u>]

# Abbreviations

**REDCap:** Research Electronic Data Capture **TGD:** transgender and gender diverse

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 01.09.22; peer-reviewed by K Braune, L Thurston, M Mars; comments to author 29.01.23; revised version received 01.02.23; accepted 04.02.23; published 14.02.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Kahn NF, Anan YH, Bocek KM, Christakis DA, Richardson LP, Pratt W, Sequeira GM Understanding Transgender and Gender-Diverse Youth's Experiences Receiving Care via Telemedicine: Qualitative Interview Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42378 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42378</u> doi: <u>10.2196/42378</u> PMID:<u>36745775</u>

©Nicole F Kahn, Yomna H Anan, Kevin M Bocek, Dimitri A Christakis, Laura P Richardson, Wanda Pratt, Gina M Sequeira. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 14.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Review** 

# Satisfaction With Telehealth Services Compared With Nontelehealth Services Among Pediatric Patients and Their Caregivers: Systematic Review of the Literature

Gergana Damianova Kodjebacheva<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Taylor Culinski<sup>1,3</sup>; Bushra Kawser<sup>1</sup>, BDS; Katelynn Coffer<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Public Health and Health Sciences, College of Health Sciences, University of Michigan-Flint, Flint, MI, United States

<sup>2</sup>International Institute, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Behavioral Sciences, College of Arts and Sciences, University of Michigan-Flint, Fint, MI, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Gergana Damianova Kodjebacheva, PhD Department of Public Health and Health Sciences College of Health Sciences University of Michigan-Flint 303 E. Kearsley St. Flint, MI, 48502 United States Phone: 1 (810) 424 5373 Email: gergana@umich.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Telehealth refers to the use of technology to deliver health care remotely. The COVID-19 pandemic has prompted an increase in telehealth services.

**Objective:** This study aimed to review satisfaction with pediatric care in studies that had at least one group of pediatric patients and their caregivers receiving telehealth services during the COVID-19 pandemic and at least one comparison group of those receiving nontelehealth services.

**Methods:** We searched for peer-reviewed studies published in the English language that compared the satisfaction with pediatric care between pediatric patients and their caregivers receiving telehealth services during the COVID-19 pandemic and those receiving nontelehealth services. Owing to stay-at-home orders, studies with comparison groups for nontelehealth services that took place either before or during the pandemic were eligible. We searched the PubMed, Embase, CINAHL, and PsycINFO databases on January 5, 2023. We followed the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines. A total of 2 reviewers independently screened the titles and abstracts before reviewing the full text of the remaining articles. The following information was extracted from each eligible study: country, participant characteristics by comparison group, study design, telehealth approach, measurement tools to assess satisfaction, and findings by comparison group.

**Results:** All 14 eligible studies assessed satisfaction among caregivers and pediatric patients participating in video or telephone visits during the COVID-19 pandemic compared with those having in-person appointments either before or during the pandemic. In 5 of the 14 studies, a comparison of nontelehealth services took place before the pandemic, and in the remaining 9 investigations, nontelehealth services took place during the pandemic. A total of 13 studies were observational investigations with different designs, and 1 study was a quasi-experimental intervention with 3 comparison groups for video, in-person, and hybrid visits. In 9 of the 14 studies, satisfaction with telehealth services was higher than during in-person visits. Caregivers were satisfied with video visits for the ease of use and reduced need for transportation. Reasons caregivers were not satisfied with remote care included limited personal interaction with the provider, technological challenges, and a lack of physical examination. Those participating in nontelehealth services expressed that in-person interactions promoted treatment adherence. Only 1 study assessed satisfaction where adolescent patients completed their own surveys; a higher percentage of adolescents using telehealth services reported effective communication with the provider compared with patients using in-person visits.

**Conclusions:** In most studies, telehealth services received more favorable or comparable satisfaction ratings than in-person visits. Needed improvements in telehealth services included strategies to address technological challenges and develop better rapport among the patient, caregiver, and medical provider. Interventions may investigate the influence of telehealth services on access to and quality of care.

# **KEYWORDS**

satisfaction; pediatrics; telehealth; telemedicine; virtual care; caregivers; patients; children; COVID-19; coronavirus; SARS-CoV-2; technology use; caregiver; adolescent; youth; satisfaction survey; health outcome; review methodology; systematic review

# Introduction

# Background

Many health care providers switched from using in-person to remote care for medical visits to adhere to federal, state, and local stay-at-home orders during the COVID-19 pandemic. A 154% increase in the use of telehealth services occurred in March 2020 compared with March 2019 [1]. Telehealth is defined as "the remote provision of health care services through telecommunication technologies for prevention, diagnosis, and treatment" [2].

Telehealth can be synchronous care, asynchronous care, and remote monitoring [3]. Synchronous care entails a direct conversation between the patient and health care provider using telecommunication technology to complete a health care appointment. Asynchronous telehealth involves patient-provider interactions via email, text messaging, or patient portals, where medical questions, photographs, test results, reminders, and medical history are exchanged [3]. Remote monitoring can include receiving frequent vital signs and photographs from patients for detection and intervention [4].

The use of telehealth services has limitations. Previous studies indicated that technological issues [5], incomplete appointments [5], the lack of in-person and personable interaction [5-7], linguistic barriers to access [6], and lower compassion in care [5] were areas of concern in the use of telehealth services. To improve these downfalls in telehealth care, understanding satisfaction with pediatric telehealth services compared with pediatric nontelehealth services provides insight into health care enhancements.

The literature surrounding the use of telehealth services during the COVID-19 crisis is growing, but to the best of our knowledge, no systematic review assessed satisfaction with pediatric care comparing separate groups of participants, where at least one group received telehealth services and another group received nontelehealth services during the time frame of the pandemic. In one published scoping review focusing on both adult and pediatric care during the COVID-19 pandemic, satisfaction was mentioned briefly, stating that there was insufficient information on that topic and proposed researching satisfaction in the future [7]. In a systematic literature review of pediatric randomized controlled trials (RCTs) conducted before the COVID-19 pandemic, telemedicine interventions resulted in slightly better or comparable satisfaction with care and health outcomes compared with control groups in all 10 included studies [8].

#### Objective

XSL•FO

Our study sought to investigate satisfaction with telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic compared with nontelehealth use among caregivers and pediatric patients. Our systematic

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41554
```

literature review included only studies that compared satisfaction in separate groups of participants (ie, caregivers and pediatric patients), where at least one group participated in telehealth services and 1 group received nontelehealth services. Because of stay-at-home orders, studies with comparison groups for nontelehealth services that took place either before or during the pandemic were eligible.

# Methods

# Research Question, Review Design, and Eligibility Criteria

#### **Overview**

The review question was as follows: what is the satisfaction of pediatric patients and their caregivers involved in telehealth compared with those involved in nontelehealth services? We followed the 2020 PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines [9]. The page numbers where different elements of the PRISMA are included in this study are in the completed PRISMA 2020 checklist in Multimedia Appendix 1. Before conducting the literature search, the review protocol was registered in the International Platform of Registered Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Protocols (INPLASY; registration 202290067) [10].

One of the PRISMA 2020 checklist items is "Describe and explain any amendments to information provided at registration or in the protocol" [9]. In the original registered review protocol, the intent was to not restrict to only studies with comparison groups. Owing to the large number of studies with no comparison groups (ie, 187 studies), we restricted our search to only studies with comparison groups. Initially, the study included pediatricians along with pediatric patients and caregivers as participants; as we were reviewing studies, we realized that the same pediatricians were asked to compare their in-person and telehealth visits without separating medical providers into comparison groups. In addition, our search was initially conducted without the guidance of a librarian, resulting in 13 eligible studies. As a manuscript focusing on how to conduct literature searches following PRISMA guidelines states, guidance provided by librarians can result in reproducible searches [11]. Revising the search strings through the collaboration of a librarian resulted in 1 additional article or a total of 14 studies. Thus, the review protocol was revised to include a comparator, exclude pediatricians as part of the participants (ie, exclude pediatricians describing their satisfaction and only include pediatric patients and their caregivers), and revise the search strategy by using Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) words as described below based on the suggestions of a librarian [10]. The Populations, Interventions (or Exposures), Comparators, Outcomes, and

Study designs or Settings (PI(E)COS) structure used in this review is as follows:

- Outcome: satisfaction
- Participants: pediatric patients and their caregivers
- Intervention or exposure: telehealth
- Comparison group: a group not participating in telehealth services, such as a group receiving in-person services
- Time frame: COVID-19 pandemic

# Language and Study Designs

The inclusion criteria were peer-reviewed studies with full text in the English language seeking to gain perspectives on satisfaction among pediatric patients and their caregivers involved in telehealth services compared with pediatric patients and their caregivers involved in nontelehealth services. Conference abstracts and dissertations were also excluded.

There were no restrictions on the study design because of the limited number of studies with comparison groups. The 2020 PRISMA guidelines state that checklist items "are applicable to systematic reviews with objectives other than evaluating interventions" [9]. All intervention designs were included specifically randomized RCTs, quasi-experimental studies with control or no control groups, and qualitative studies. In addition to interventions studies, observational cross-sectional, cohort, and case-control studies involving surveys and interviews assessing satisfaction among those participating in telehealth services were also included in the study. Both prospective and retrospective analyses were eligible for inclusion in the study.

# Health Conditions

Pediatric patients aged between 0 and 18 years could be seen for any physical or mental health condition in this review. No restrictions on the type of condition were placed. Studies on satisfaction during pregnancy were also excluded.

# Time Frame

Telehealth services that occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic were also included. As at times, only telehealth services may have been allowed because of stay-at-home orders, studies with comparison groups for nontelehealth services that took place either during or before the pandemic were included. As search words for the COVID-19 pandemic were used, the search was not restricted by date. Interventions and observational studies with published dates occurring after the onset of the pandemic were excluded if they did not address the implications of the COVID-19 crisis or if the study period occurred before the pandemic. Studies from the period when the COVID-19 crisis had not yet been defined as a pandemic were excluded.

# **Participants**

Patients (ie, children and adolescents aged 0-18 years) and caregivers (eg, family members, parents, mothers, or fathers) were included. Studies in which adults discussed experiences with their own health care and nonpediatric care were excluded.

# Intervention or Exposure

Studies in which participants received telehealth services such as video and telephone visits and remote monitoring were included. No restrictions were imposed on the type of telehealth.

# Intervention or Exposure Comparator

Studies in which there was at least one comparison group of participants who were receiving nontelehealth services, such as in-person visits, were included. Studies comparing telehealth services and nontelehealth services in the same group of participants (such as in studies where the same patients were asked to compare their experiences with telehealth services and nontelehealth services) were excluded.

#### Outcome

No standard measurement of satisfaction was included in the study. Studies that created their own measurements, as well as studies that used reliable or valid or other measurements, were included.

# Databases and Search Strategy

Literature review searches were performed in the PubMed, CINAHL, Embase, and PsycINFO databases on January 5, 2023. The search strings were developed with the guidance of a librarian from the University of Michigan—Flint library, as stated in the *Acknowledgments* section. The search strings in Multimedia Appendix 2 were used in each database. Multimedia Appendix 2 also lists the specific steps of the search, such as a description of whether an advanced search was used and in what box or field the strings were entered so that one could reproduce the searches.

As different countries may use different synonyms for keywords, we sought to use various synonyms. Synonyms for exposure were "telehealth," "telemedicine," "video consultation," and "remote consultation." Synonyms of the outcomes were "patient satisfaction," "satisfaction," "perception," and "attitude." Synonyms for the type of care and population included "pediatrics," "paediatric," "pediatric," "baby," "infant," "child," "teen," and "adolescent." Synonyms for the time frame were "Covid-19," "SARS-CoV-2," "sars-cov-2," "sars-cov-2," "Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus," "NCOV," "2019 NCOV," and "coronavirus."

PubMed and Embase allowed for the use of MeSH and explosion (marked by /exp) terms, respectively, which used their own synonyms as part of the search. In PubMed, the following MeSH terms were entered: "pediatrics," "child," "infant," "adolescent," "telemedicine," "remote consultation," "patient satisfaction," "COVID-19," "sars-cov-2," and "coronavirus." Telemedicine is a MeSH term introduced in 1993 that is associated with the following synonyms: "telehealth," "tele-referral," "virtual medicine," "tele-intensive care," "tele-ICU," "mobile health," "mHealth," and "eHealth."

Essential keywords were entered both as MeSH words or expanders and separately with truncations; therefore, the search allowed the inclusion of more relevant articles. Specifically, "pediatric," "paediatric," "child," "adolescent," "attitude," and "perception" were entered as MeSH/explosion terms and separate words with truncations. The symbol for truncation is



the asterisk (\*), which allows for the retrieval of all words that contain the part of the term preceding the asterisk. Truncations in all databases were as follows: "pediatric\*," "paediatric\*," "child\*," "adolescen\*," "attitude\*," and "perception\*." MeSH words and expanders must be entered without truncations.

# **Data Extraction and Synthesis**

After using the search words in Multimedia Appendix 2 in each database, all articles were uploaded to EndNote Basic (Clarivate), where duplicates were removed using automation tools. Following the removal of duplicates, 2 authors (GDK and TC) reviewed all the remaining titles and abstracts. If the title and abstract did not clearly indicate whether the study met or did not meet the inclusion criteria, the reviewer opened the full text of the article. Each reviewer made notes about why the study fit the inclusion or exclusion criteria in a separate Excel file. The 2 reviewers resolved disagreements after reviewing the full text of the article. A consensus was reached between the reviewers on the items when there were differing opinions on inclusion in the literature review.

The final studies were categorized based on the participant group whose satisfaction was assessed. Information was extracted on the location, sample size by comparison group, mean and median age of participants or other information provided on age, pediatric health condition, telehealth and comparison group definitions, assessment of satisfaction, and findings by comparison group. Some studies used the term "telehealth" and others used "telemedicine." The terms referred to in these studies were used.

If the article did not specify the type of study design used, we made decisions on what the study design was based on descriptions in the text. Owing to the many satisfaction findings in most studies, not all outcomes were extracted in tables. Findings representative of the overall study results were extracted; for example, for studies that concluded that patients were more satisfied with in-person visits than telehealth visits, representative findings showing lower satisfaction with telehealth visits were extracted. If a study used both close-ended and open-ended items, the key results for both types of items were presented. Findings extracted were not based on the same measures because the studies used various definitions of satisfaction. Risk ratios, mean differences, and P values, if any, were reported as the key results. GDK conducted data extraction. TC reviewed the extracted data. GDK and TC reviewed the final data and resolved any disagreements through discussions.

# Quality of Evidence or Risk of Bias

The quality of evidence in the studies was independently evaluated by 2 reviewers (GDK and TC) using 2 methods: the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) approach [12] and the Joanna Briggs Institute (JBI) critical appraisal tools [13].

The GRADE approach involves assigning a quality level rating to a study based on the study design [12]. According to the GRADE approach, RCTs receive a high rating, and observational studies receive a low rating [12]. In this review, the ratings based on study design were as follows: RCTs, high; quasi-experimental pretest and posttest study, moderate; cohort

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41554

study (prospective) and case-control study (retrospective), low to moderate; and analytic cross-sectional study (retrospective), low. Similarities and differences in sociodemographic characteristics of participants in comparison groups and validity and reliability of data collection tools were reviewed in more detail in a narrative table to assess limitations in the study design and execution of the study in Multimedia Appendix 3 [14-27].

In addition, to assess specific limitations in the study design and execution of the studies, scores were assigned based on answering common questions across study types on JBI forms [13] in Multimedia Appendix 4 [14-27]. In total, 2 independent reviewers (GDK and TC) used the forms separately with JBI assessment form questions for each study including the following:

- Were the criteria for inclusion in the sample clearly defined?
- Were the study participants and setting described in detail?
- Were the comparison groups (telehealth and nontelehealth) comparable in terms of sociodemographic characteristics?
- Was the period (such as months and years) of the study periods for each comparison group clearly defined?
- Was satisfaction measured in the same way in the comparison groups?
- Were satisfaction outcome measures valid and reliable?
- Were appropriate statistical analyses used?

A score of 1 for the above questions meant "yes," a score of 0.5 signified "partially," and a score of 0 meant "no or unclear." The scores were summed up for each question for each study. Higher total scores indicated higher study quality and a lower risk of bias. Disagreements in GRADE quality levels and JBI critical appraisal forms scores were resolved through discussion between the 2 reviewers.

# Results

# **Literature Search**

Figure 1 illustrates the flow of the systematic review in selecting articles. A total of 14 manuscripts met the inclusion criteria [14-27].

Of the 959 articles following the original search, 382 (39.8%) were removed using automation tools because they were duplicates. A total of 355 articles were removed during title or abstract review. Among the 219 full-text articles assessed, 187 (85.3%) were excluded because they focused on satisfaction in pediatric care during the pandemic but did not have a comparison group. An example of a study that was excluded was that from Zambia, in which 1 group of adolescents answered questions about experiences and perceptions related to telephone visits without comparing the results with a group of adolescents having nontelehealth visits [28]. Of the 187 articles, only 14 (7.4%) assessed satisfaction with health care among pediatric patients and their caregivers participating in telehealth services.

Among the 14 studies [14-27], 13 (93%) assessed satisfaction among caregivers by asking them about the health care of their children [14-26] and 1 (7%) [27] assessed satisfaction by asking caregivers and adolescents (ie, patients) about their satisfaction

separately. Furthermore, 1 study compared video, in-person, and hybrid visits [14], and 1 study compared telephone visits with in-person visits [25]. Another study compared video, telephone, and in-person visits [24]. All others compared video and in-person visits.

Table 1 provides the location, number of participants, number of visits, mean and median age of participants or other information provided on age, and the pediatric health condition within each study. Table 2 includes information on the telehealth and comparison group definitions, assessment of satisfaction, and findings for telehealth and nontelehealth groups.







 Table 1. Location, number, age, and condition among participants in the 14 included studies.

Study	Country	Number of participants or number of visits	Mean or median age of participants or other information provided on age	Pediatric health condition		
Caregivers or patie presented together	Caregivers or patients: caregivers completed survey items on behalf of children or adolescents; results for caregivers and patients were presented together without presenting separate results for patients					
Corona et al [14], 2021	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 95 patients</li> <li>Video visit patients: 46</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 49</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Video visits patient mean age: 28.17 months</li> <li>In-person visits patient mean age: 27.96 months</li> </ul>	Autism spectrum disorder		
Hoi et al [15], 2022	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 21,592 visits</li> <li>Telemedicine visits: 2051</li> <li>In-person visits: 19,541</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Telemedicine visits patient mean age: 7.2 years</li> <li>In-person visits patient mean age: 7.3 years</li> </ul>	Otolaryngology		
Holzman et al [16], 2021	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 153 patients</li> <li>Telemedicine visit patients: 51</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 102</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Telemedicine visits patient median age: 8.0 years</li> <li>In-person visits patient median age: 7.5 years</li> </ul>	Urology		
Johnson et al [17], 2020	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 15,562 visits</li> <li>Telemedicine visits: 11,192</li> <li>In-person visits: 4370</li> </ul>	• Not stated	A variety of pediatric specialties, such as attention-deficit hyperactiv- ity disorder, adolescent health, devel- opmental and behavioral, cystic fi- brosis		
Katz et al [18], 2021	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 150 patients</li> <li>Telemedicine visit patients: 23</li> <li>In-person patients: 127</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Telemedicine visits patient age distribution: <ul> <li>&lt;1: 0%</li> <li>1-4: 17.39%,</li> <li>5-10: 39.13%</li> <li>11-14: 30.43%</li> <li>≥15: 13.04%</li> </ul> </li> <li>In-person visit patient age distribution: <ul> <li>&lt;1: 29.13%</li> <li>1-4: 33.07%</li> <li>5-10: 25.2%</li> <li>11-14: 8.67%</li> <li>≥15: 3.94%</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Primary care		
Kennelly et al [19], 2021	United States	<ul><li>Total: 1514 visits</li><li>Telemedicine visits: 688</li><li>In-person visits: 826</li></ul>	• Not stated	Development pediatrics and autism		
Love et al [20], 2022	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 232</li> <li>Telemedicine visit patients: 156</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 76</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Telemedicine visits patient age distribution:         <ul> <li>&lt;1: 6%</li> <li>1-10: 44%</li> <li>≥10: 50%</li> </ul> </li> <li>In-person visit patient age distribution:         <ul> <li>&lt;1: 1%</li> <li>1-10: 51%</li> <li>≥10: 47%</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Pediatric gastroenterology		
Mahmoud et al [21], 2022	Egypt	<ul> <li>Total: 1928 patients</li> <li>Telemedicine visit patients: 1056</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 874</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Telemedicine visits patient mean age: 1.2</li> <li>In-person visits patient mean age: 1.6</li> </ul>	Ambulatory surgery		

XSL•FO RenderX

# Kodjebacheva et al

Study	Country	Number of participants or number of visits	Mean or median age of participants or other information provided on age	Pediatric health condition
Marques et al [22], 2020	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 9392 visits</li> <li>Telemedicine visits: 2960</li> <li>In-person visits: 6362</li> </ul>	• Not stated	Ambulatory care
McCoy et al [23], 2022	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 172 patients</li> <li>Telemedicine visit patients: 59</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 113</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Telemedicine visits patient mean age: 4.99</li> <li>In-person visits patient mean age: 6.15</li> </ul>	Otolaryngology
Mustafa et al [24], 2021	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 401 patients</li> <li>Video visit patients: 98</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 303</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Video visits patient mean age: 29 (range 11-52.5) years</li> <li>In-person visits patient mean age: 20 (range 6-52.5) years</li> </ul>	Allergy or immunology
Ragamin et al, 2021 [25]	The Nether- lands	• Total: 144 patients	• Patient median age: 6 years	Atopic dermatitis
Summers et al [26], 2022	United States	<ul> <li>Total: 817 patients</li> <li>Video visit patients: 674</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 143</li> </ul>	• Not stated	Ophthalmology

Satisfaction assessed separately for adolescents and caregivers: adolescents answered at least some satisfaction surveys items separately; results were presented separately for adolescents and caregivers

Troncone et al Italy [27], 2022	<ul> <li>Total: 610 patients</li> <li>Video visit patients: 305</li> <li>In-person visit patients: 305</li> <li>Video visit caregivers: 305</li> <li>In-person visit caregivers: 305</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Video visits patient mean age: 12.17 years</li> <li>In-person visits patient mean age: 12.12 years</li> </ul>	Type 1 diabetes
---------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------



Kodjebacheva et al

1 \_

Study	Telehealth approach and comparison groups	Satisfaction data collection tool examples	Findings
Caregivers or patien	nts: caregivers completed survey ite	ms on behalf of children or adolescents; re	esults for caregivers and patients were
Corona et al [14], 2021	Video sessions between March 2020 and August 2020 compared with in- person visits between July 2019 and March 2020	<ul> <li>A 14-item closed-ended survey developed by the authors, including items, such as "I would recommend these services to other families," "My child's behavior and skills improved during this service," and "I am pleased with the outcome of services for me and my child."</li> </ul>	• 89% of caregivers participating in telehealth service strongly agreed that they were pleased with the outcome of the visit compared with 87% of caregivers participating in in-person visits.
Hoi et al [15], 2022	Telemedicine visits consisting of 352 new patient video visits, 1548 return video visits, 109 phone visits, 41 nonportal video visits for caregiv- er without portal access, and 1 pa- tient education video visit compared with in-person visits consisting of new patient visits, return visits, pre- operative visits, and postoperative visits between April 1, 2020, and April 30, 2021	<ul> <li>Surveys with closed-ended and open- ended items.</li> <li>Surveys asked respondents to express a positive or negative sentiment with the visit as well as to provide narrative comments on the experience with the visit.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>96% of caregivers or patients reported positive experiences with the in-person visit compared with 100% with the telemedicine visit.</li> <li>An example of a positive comment regarding the in-person visit was, "All of my concerns about my son's health have been listened to."</li> <li>An example of a positive comment regarding the in-person visit was, "The video visit saved us a 10-h drive."</li> </ul>
Holzman et al [16], 2021	Video visits between April 2020 till 2020 compared with in-person visits between January 2019 and March 2020	• Survey with a close-ended question on satisfaction: "using a number from 1 to 10, where 1 is the worst provider possible and 10 is the best provider possible, what number would you use to rate this provider?"	• 92% of caregivers and patients partici- pating in telemedicine visits reported high satisfaction with the provider compared with 87% of caregivers and patients participating in in-person vis- its (odds ratio 1.7, 95% CI 0.53-5.7).
Johnson et al [17], 2020	Video visits compared with in-per- son visits between April 2020 and May 2020	• Survey with a closed-ended question on satisfaction: "using a number from 1 to 10, where 1 is the worst provider possible and 10 is the best provider possible, what number would you use to rate this provider?"	• 97.9% of caregivers and patients par- ticipating in telemedicine visits report- ed high satisfaction with the provider compared with 83.9% of caregivers and patients participating in in-person visits (P=.07).
Katz et al [18], 2021	Video visits compared with in-per- son visits between March 10 and June 29, 2020	• Survey with closed-ended questions on satisfaction, such as "Provider ex- plained problem or condition" and "Provider made efforts to include us in decisions"	• In 91.25% of telemedicine visits, caregivers indicated the provider pro- vided a very good explanation of the problem or condition compared with 84.57% of in-person visits. This differ- ence was not statistically significant. The mean visit satisfaction scores were 92.25% for in-person visits and 95.37 for telemedicine visits.
Kennelly et al [19], 2021	Telemedicine visits for caregivers between June 2020 till July 2021 compared with in-person visits for caregivers/patients between June 2019 and May 2020	<ul> <li>Press Ganey survey consisting of 21 items; 7 items not relating to telemedicine were excluded.</li> <li>A closed-ended item on overall assess- ment of care included likelihood of your recommending our practice to others.</li> </ul>	• 87.25% of caregivers and patients participating in telemedicine visits were likely to recommend practice to others compared with 85.76% of caregivers and patients participating in inperson visits (P<.99).



Study	Telehealth approach and comparison groups	Satisfaction data collection tool examples	Findings
Love et al [20], 2022	In-person visits compared with video visits between May 2020 and June 2020	• Oral telephone survey with questions 2 weeks after the visit on reasons for preferring the type of visit. The specif- ic questions asked were not included. It appeared from the descriptions that the questions were closed ended.	<ul> <li>Among those in the telemedicine group, the reasons for preferring the visit were time savings associated with less driving and reduced cost.</li> <li>Among those in the in-person group, the reasons for favoring the visit were having a preferred physician and wanting a physical examination.</li> </ul>
Mahmoud et al [21], 2022	Video visits between April 2020 till May 2020 compared with in-person visit between January 2020 and February 2020	<ul> <li>Patient experience assessment survey with closed-ended items, such as "overall the service was excellent and it met my expectations."</li> <li>Caregivers were asked for the reasons, if any, why they were dissatisfied with the visit experience.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>92% of caregivers and patients participating in telemedicine visits were satisfied with the visit compared with 63% of caregivers and patients participating in in-person visits (P=.04).</li> <li>8% of all caregivers and patients participating in telemedicine visits were dissatisfied with the visit because of not being persuaded by the video visit, having internet problems, and having a time that interfered with their schedule.</li> <li>37% of all caregivers and patients participating in in-person visits were dissatisfied with the visit because of issues related to parking, cleanliness, wait time, and provider and reception office attitudes.</li> </ul>
Marques et al [22], 2022	In-person visits compared with video visits between January 2020 and December 2020	• A 16-item closed-ended patient experi- ence survey with items, such as how well the nurse listened to you; likeli- hood of recommending the practice to others; our concern for your privacy. Each question had ratings of 1-5. A rating of 5/5 was considered "top box."	• No statistically significant differences in satisfaction (as assessed by top box percentages) existed between care- givers participating in in-person and those participating in telemedicine visits.
McCoy et al [23], 2022	Video visits for the first 6 weeks when telemedicine was implement- ed compared with in-person visits for the 6 weeks before telemedicine was implemented	• Closed-ended items, such as: "How would you rate the following aspects of your child's experience:" ability to communicate with the physician and the overall outpatient experience.	• The ability to communicate with the physician was rated higher (mean 4.6) in the in-person group compared with the telemedicine group (mean 4.4; P<.01)
Mustafa et al [24], 2021	Video new and follow-up visits compared with in-person new and follow-up visits from June 26, 2020, to July 31, 2020	<ul> <li>Closed-ended items, such as, "Overall, I was satisfied with my in-person/video encounter; my in-person/video encounter resulted in a complete evaluation; in the future, I would prefer the following visit type: in-person, video etc."</li> <li>Open-ended items, such as, "What is the most important reason you would prefer an in-person encounter?"</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>81.5% responded that they strongly agreed that they were satisfied with the in-person visit compared with 72.7% with the video visit.</li> <li>The most frequently mentioned reason caregivers were satisfied with an inperson visit was to have a physical examination. Another theme was "inperson care allows for a more personal interaction and more questions." Reasons why respondents were satisfied with video visits included: frequent follow-up, convenience, and COVID-19 safety.</li> </ul>
Ragamin et al [25], 2021	New and follow-up in-person con- sultations compared with new and follow-up telephone consultations from March 2020 to July 2020. Telephone consultations could be with or without shared imagines via email to aid the visit.		

 $\label{eq:https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41554} \texttt{XSL} \bullet FO$ 

Study	Telehealth approach and comparison groups	Satis	faction data collection tool examples	Fin	dings
		•	Closed-ended items, such as, "What is your general satisfaction with received care?" and "Assess your patient satis- faction in these areas: information provided, active involvement, needs addressed, emotional support, interac- tion in general" Open-ended items on reasons why caregivers preferred face-to-face or remote consultations.	•	34.7% of caregivers who received face-to-face consultations were very satisfied compared with 12.1% of caregivers who received remote consul- tations (P<.001). Caregivers who received face-to-face consultations were significantly more satisfied on the emotional support scale compared with those who received re- mote consultations (P=.039). Reasons why caregivers preferred face-to-face consultations included "face-to-face examination is impor- tant"; "face-to-face consultations raise treatment adherence"; "face-to-face consultations are more efficient."
Summers et al [26], 2022	In-person visits compared with telehealth visits completed by care- givers and patients between March 2020 and July 2020	•	Patient satisfaction survey adminis- tered by an outside company with items, such as: "How likely would you be to recommend this facility to your family and friends?" with a score of 0 being not all likely and 10 being ex- tremely likely.	•	The satisfaction survey scores for "recommend institution" and "recom- mend provider" were 79.6 and 86.4, respectively, for in-person visits and 81.4 and 92.3, respectively, for tele- health visits.

Satisfaction assessed separately for adolescents and caregivers: adolescents answered at least some satisfaction surveys items separately; results were presented separately for adolescents and caregivers.

video visits answered no to, "I would like to see improvement in the comfor and support the provider gave to the child" compared with 81% of care- givers participating in in-person visit (P=.597).	Troncone et alVideo visits between April 2020 and May 2020 compared with in-person visits between June 2020 and July 2020	Patients themselves completed the JSPPPE <sup>a</sup> . Caregivers completed the CASC <sup>b</sup> . Examples of CASC items included "I would like to see improvement in the comfort and support the provider gave to the child: yes/no."	<ul> <li>Adolescents: the mean JSPPPE score was 28.92 for video consultations and 27.82 for the in-person visits showing slightly higher satisfaction with the video visit, which was not statistically significant (P=.096).</li> <li>Caregivers: there were no statistically significant differences in responses to items as part of CASC. For example, 83% of caregivers participating in video visits answered no to, "I would like to see improvement in the comfort and support the provider gave to the child" compared with 81% of caregivers participating in n-person visits (P=.597).</li> </ul>
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<sup>a</sup>JSPPPE: Jefferson Scale of Patient Perceptions of Physician Empathy. <sup>b</sup>CASC: comprehensive assessment of satisfaction with care.

#### **Study Characteristics**

In total, 11 studies were conducted in the United States [14-20,22-24,26] and 1 each was conducted in Egypt [21], the Netherlands [25], and Italy [27] (Table 1). Some studies provided information only on the number of visits and other studies provided information on the number of participants. The sample sizes of the participants ranged from 23 to 1056 telehealth visit patients and from 49 to 874 in-person visit patients.

Table 2 includes the periods for telehealth and nontelehealth services. In all 14 studies, telehealth services were provided during the pandemic. In 5 of the 14 studies [14,16,19,21,23], nontelehealth services were provided before the pandemic, and in the remaining 9 investigations, nontelehealth services were

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41554
```

RenderX

provided during the pandemic. In the 5 studies where nontelehealth services were provided before the pandemic, satisfaction was higher with remote compared with in-person visits in 4 studies [14,16,19,21], whereas it was higher with in-person than remote visits in 1 study [23].

#### **Quality and Risk of Bias Assessment**

#### **Overview**

Multimedia Appendix 3 includes information related to quality including study design, quality of evidence rating, similarities and differences in sociodemographic characteristics among the comparison groups, and validity and reliability of the data collection tools. Multimedia Appendix 4 includes the risk of bias scores based on the common questions of the JBI critical assessment tools.

# Study Design

Among the 14 studies, there was 1 intervention: a pretest-posttest 3-group intervention [14] (Multimedia Appendix 3). In the pretest-posttest 3-group intervention, the 3 comparison groups were families who received behavioral and support sessions through telemedicine only, families who received sessions through in-person interaction only, and families who received the intervention in a hybrid mode [14].

Of the 14 studies, 5 were prospective cohort investigations [15,20,23,24,27]. In these prospective cohort studies, investigators classified individuals as participating in nontelehealth or telehealth services and then followed them over time to assess their satisfaction. In addition, 1 study was a retrospective case-control investigation that used propensity score matching to match individuals who had in-person and telehealth services in the past [16]. Furthermore, 7 studies used retrospective analyses in which answers to satisfaction surveys between individuals participating in telehealth and nontelehealth services were compared at certain periods in the past [17-19,21,22,25,26]. On the basis of the types of design according to the GRADE approach, the distribution of gradings were 7 studies with a low grading, 6 studies with a low to moderate grading, and 1 study with a moderate grading.

# Similarities and Differences in Participants Between the Nontelehealth and Telehealth Groups

In 6 studies, there were no sociodemographic comparisons of participants between telehealth and nontelehealth groups [17,19,20,22,25,26] (Multimedia Appendix 3). In most studies that reported sociodemographic characteristics of telehealth and nontelehealth groups, there were both similarities and differences between the groups. For example, in 1 study, the 2 groups (telehealth and in-person) were similar in terms of race and ethnicity (94.7% of White participants in the in-person group and 94.9% of White participants in the telehealth group) but not in terms of sex (61.9% of male participants in the in-person group and 49.2% of male participants in the telehealth group) [23]. In another study, the 2 groups (telehealth and in-person) were similar in terms of sex but not in terms of residence (66.4% of participants in the remote care group were rural residents compared with 47.7% of participants in the in-person group) [21]. In a study with propensity score matching to separate patients seen in the past into 2 groups, the telehealth and in-person groups were similar in terms of age, language, and type of visit but not in terms of sex [16].

# *Outcome Variable (ie, Satisfaction) Reliability and Validity*

Some authors have used reliable and valid surveys (Multimedia Appendix 3), such as the Jefferson scale of patient perceptions of physician empathy (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.896) [26]. A total of 8 studies provided no information regarding the reliability and validity of the satisfaction survey [14,15,17,20,21,23,24,26]. In 1 study, the authors specified that they developed their own satisfaction survey [14]. Satisfaction was measured in the same way in all studies, except for in 1 [20], in the telehealth and nontelehealth groups.

# Quality of Evidence Scores Based on JBI Critical Assessment Tool Common Questions

The total scores among the 14 studies are included in Multimedia Appendix 4. The reasons for decreased scores included limited description of the participants and settings, differences in sociodemographic characteristics between participants in the comparison groups, the lack of valid and reliable measures of satisfaction, and not using the same questions for participants in the telehealth and nontelehealth groups.

# Satisfaction Among Caregivers Completing Survey Items on Behalf of Children and Adolescents

In 13 studies focusing on caregiver satisfaction [14-26], caregivers completed the survey items (Table 2). The results for caregivers and patients were presented together without presenting separate results based on the patient perspective in the 13 studies. Examples of close-ended survey items to assess satisfaction were as follows: "My child's behavior and skills improved during this service" [14], "I am pleased with the outcome of services for me and my child" [14], "Overall the service was excellent and it met my expectations" [21], and "How would you rate your child's ability to communicate with the physician?" [23]. Of the 13 studies, 4 involved the use of open-ended items in addition to close-ended items to assess satisfaction in surveys [15,21,24,25]. Examples of open-ended questions as part of the surveys (not interviews) were as follows: "Provide narrative comments on your experience with the visit" [15], "What were the reasons you were dissatisfied with the visit experience?" [21], and "What is the most important reason you would prefer an in-person/telehealth encounter?" [24,25].

In 8 of the 13 studies on caregivers, participants in telehealth services were more satisfied with care compared with participants in nontelehealth services. For example, in the study of Holtzman et al [16], 92% of caregivers and patients participating in telemedicine visits reported high satisfaction with the provider compared with 87% of caregivers and patients participating in in-person visits (odds ratio 1.7, 95% CI 0.53-5.7). In the study of Johnson et al [17], 97.9% of caregivers and patients participating in telemedicine visits reported high satisfaction with the provider compared with 83.9% of caregivers and patients participating in in-person visits (P=.07).

In 1 out of the 13 studies focusing on caregivers, satisfaction levels in people receiving telehealth services and those receiving in-person visits were very similar. Specifically, no statistically significant differences in satisfaction (as assessed by top box percentages) existed between in-person caregivers and those participating in telemedicine visits [22].

In 4 of the 13 studies focusing on caregivers, satisfaction tended to be higher with in-person visits compared with telehealth visits. For example, 34.7% of caregivers who received in-person consultations were very satisfied compared with 12.1% of caregivers who received remote consultations (P<.001) [25]. In a study by Mustafa et al [24], 81.5% responded that they strongly agreed that they were satisfied with the in-person visit compared with 72.7% with the video visit. In a study by McCoy et al [23], the ability to communicate with the physician was



rated higher (mean 4.6, SD 0.8) in the in-person group compared with the telemedicine group (mean 4.4, SD 0.7; P=.01).

Open-ended items offered more specific information on why the participants were satisfied with the visit. The strengths of the visits indicated by caregivers using telehealth included time savings [15], convenience [24], frequent follow-up [24], and protection from COVID-19 [24]. The limitations indicated by caregivers using telehealth included poor technological access and connectivity [21], limited personal connection with providers [24], and the lack of laboratory testing and physical examination [24]. The strengths of nontelehealth services indicated by caregivers using in-person visits included being listened to [15], having opportunities for personal interactions and questions [24], and ensuring treatment adherence [25].

# **Satisfaction Among Patients and Caregivers**

Overall, both pediatric patients and caregivers participating in telehealth appointments in separate surveys noted higher satisfaction when talking to their provider than patients and caregivers having in-person visits, although these findings were not statistically significant [27]. Specifically, among adolescents, the mean satisfaction score was 28.92 for video consultations and 27.82 for the in-person visits showing slightly higher satisfaction with the video visit, which was not statistically significant (P=.096) [27]. In the same study, there were no statistically significant differences in responses to items as part of the caregiver satisfaction survey. For example, 83% of caregivers participating in video visits answered no to "I would like to see improvement in the comfort and support the provider gave to the child" compared with 81% of caregivers participating in in-person visits (P=.597) [27].

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The 14 included studies focused on satisfaction among caregivers and patients in a variety of pediatric care needs and specialties, including allergy and immunology, developmental and behavioral health conditions, concussion, type 1 diabetes, otolaryngology, ophthalmology, urology, gastroenterology, primary care, and ambulatory care. This literature review focused only on studies in which there was at least 1 comparison group of participants (ie, pediatric patients and caregivers) for telehealth and 1 comparison group of participants for nontelehealth services. Although the literature search resulted in 187 studies focusing on satisfaction with pediatric telehealth in general, only 14 studies included a comparison group for nontelehealth services. A reason for the limited number of articles with comparison groups may be that there were periods during the pandemic when patients relied only or mostly on remote care for their health care needs.

Most studies compared video and in-person visits. Only 1 of the 14 studies was an intervention (pretest-posttest quasi-experimental with 3 comparison groups) [14]. Previous literature reviews did not focus on comparison groups of telehealth and nontelehealth services in pediatric care [29-32].

In this review, a trend of overall higher or comparable satisfaction with telehealth compared with in-person visits in a

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41554

pediatric setting was observed in most studies. Open-ended items were especially helpful in understanding the reasons for the satisfaction ratings. High satisfaction ratings with telehealth were commonly because of convenience and health benefits. The benefits of telehealth included not requiring transportation, ease of use, ability for frequent follow-up, and reduced likelihood of contracting the COVID-19 virus.

Only 1 study in which adolescents completed their own surveys on satisfaction was included in this review. The study found higher satisfaction with video visits compared with in-person visits among adolescents, although the difference was not statistically significant [27]. In an investigation conducted before the pandemic, adolescents and their caregivers were randomly assigned to an in-person visit and a video visit [33]. The mean for positivity for the telehealth visit was slightly higher at 5.53 compared with 5.37 for the in-person visit among adolescents [33].

One finding in this review was the concern for the lack of physical examination of patients during telehealth visits. In 1 study included in this review, 48% of caregivers having remote visits noted that the lack of physical examination was the greatest limitation of telehealth services [20]. Therefore, the ability to undergo physical examination is vital to the participants. Home-monitoring equipment may supplement remote appointments and prevent misdiagnoses [34]. To make monitoring equipment available and equitable, health care entities may offer these devices as loans for patients to use during remote appointments through mail-in programs, thus reducing disparities in telehealth use among patients.

Another key finding was the concern that telehealth appointments were less personalized compared with in-person appointments. For example, in 1 reviewed study, a theme based on responses to open-ended items was that in-person visits offered opportunities for personal interaction and asking more questions [24]. In another study, caregivers who received in-person consultations were significantly more satisfied with the emotional support scale compared with those who received remote consultations (P=.039) [25]. A prior study that asked open-ended questions of 105 caregivers similarly found that a lack of in-person interaction was a challenge for telehealth use [35]. Caregivers stated that they lost the feeling that the provider was compassionate during remote care [35]. To increase empathetic care during telecare, health care providers may look straight at the camera; offer verbal cues when needing to look away; start appointments with mutual agenda and goal setting; avoid the use of medical terminology; ask how the health condition affects the daily life of the patient; express knowledge of the patient's history by mentioning prior visits; and, if possible, suggest in-person visits to supplement remote appointments [36].

Studies have identified issues with technology during telehealth appointments. Quality and affordable internet access is essential, and a lack of technological services should not prevent pediatric patients from receiving the care they need. To improve satisfaction in this area, we propose continued support in making access to internet services and technological products more readily available and equitable to families of different racial

XSL•FO RenderX

and ethnic and socioeconomic groups. In the United States, a federal program plans to cover 85% of the costs associated with broadband connectivity and network equipment needed to support connected care in selected locations by allocating over US \$100 million over 3 years through competitive funding processes [37].

# **Limitations of Reviewed Studies**

Limitations included a nonrandomized design, small sample size, low generalizability beyond a specific health care setting or group, sampling method (ie, convenience sampling), limited diversity in backgrounds or no information on sociodemographic characteristics among participants, and the lack of reliable and valid satisfaction assessment tools. Among studies that presented sociodemographic characteristics of participants, differences in the comparison groups may have affected the findings. For example, in 1 study, 66.4% of participants in the telehealth group were rural residents, compared with 47.7% in the in-person group [21]. Rural participants may be more likely to have favorable views toward telehealth compared with urban residents because of transportation barriers associated with attending in-person visits in remote locales.

Most studies assessed satisfaction related to videoconferencing in a telehealth setting. Few studies have assessed satisfaction with telephone appointments [24,25]. In a study comparing telephone and in-person visits, telephone consultations could be conducted with or without shared images via email to aid the visit [25]. Another limitation is that in some studies, video visits were conducted using different technologies, such as FaceTime and Skype [24,27]. Time constraints and lack of assessment of longitudinal changes were other limitations of the reviewed studies. Another limitation is that most studies did not survey adolescents on their own opinions.

# **Limitations of This Review**

Represented in this review were peer-reviewed articles in the English language only. More eligible articles may have been published after the search date. Only the studies in the databases that were searched were included in this review. Other synonyms for the main keywords may have yielded additional eligible results. The use of additional or shorter truncations in all the databases may have resulted in more eligible articles.

Lower income or developing countries may use other terms to describe telehealth not included within the umbrella of the MeSH or explosion terms. We located studies without comparison groups in countries classified as lower income or developing, specifically Argentina [38], Brazil [39,40], India [41-44], Jordan [45], North Macedonia [46], Philippines [47], Saudi Arabia [48,49], and Zambia [28], which used the terms telehealth, telemedicine, and remote consultation. Therefore, we believe that this review allowed for various countries to be included. Still, although the review did not place restrictions

on country, 13 of the 14 included studies were from developed nations. It is possible that studies in developing nations did not have as many resources to conduct studies with comparison groups, which may be more costly. The results were mostly applicable to higher income countries because the characteristics of telehealth in lower income countries may be distinct.

Another limitation was the inclusion of different populations (such as by age and type of condition). Owing to stay-at-home orders, in some studies, nontelehealth services were conducted before the pandemic when telehealth services were not as widespread. Participants in comparison groups for nontelehealth services before and during the pandemic may have had different perceptions of in-person visits. Given the different designs and measurements among the studies, we did not perform a meta-analysis.

# **Future Research**

Much prior research has focused on satisfaction with telehealth services without including a comparison group for nontelehealth services [44,50-70]. Additional research comparing satisfaction with telehealth and nontelehealth pediatric services during the same timeframe will be beneficial. Such research provides insight into the type of support patients and caregivers need to access and use for telehealth and in-person visits. RCTs may compare the influence of telehealth and nontelehealth services on medical and pharmacy costs, the accuracy of the patient and caregiver recall, quality of health care, and pediatric health. In addition, comparing satisfaction with in-person laboratory visits and mobile laboratory visits is innovative.

Future studies involving focus groups and interviews with health care providers may offer insight into how telehealth and nontelehealth services influence a provider's ability to conduct all the necessary examinations for a patient. Interventions may assess the influence of education for health care providers in strategies for personable interactions during telehealth appointments on patient and caregiver satisfaction with pediatric care. Education should provide information on how communication during telehealth visits can be tailored to the different cultural and linguistic groups of patients and caregivers.

# Conclusions

Telehealth visits were comparable or superior in terms of patient and caregiver satisfaction compared with in-person visits in most of the reviewed studies. This review identifies potential weaknesses of telehealth services that need improvement such as problems with technology connectivity, limited ability to undergo a physical examination, difficulty in having personable interactions with the medical provider, and lower adherence to treatment. Health care providers may develop strategies to overcome these weaknesses and improve telehealth during the pandemic and beyond.

# Acknowledgments

The authors are immensely grateful to Emily Newberry, Senior Associate Librarian, University of Michigan, Flint, for guiding them in the development of search strings for the 4 databases. GDK was supported by the Frances Willson Thompson Fellowship.

# **Authors' Contributions**

GDK contributed to conceptualization. TC, BK, and KC contributed to literature search. GDK, TC, BK, and KC contributed to synthesis of information in tables. GDK and TC contributed to analyses of information in articles. TC and GDK contributed to manuscript writing. GDK, TC, BK, and KC contributed to final approval of the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) 2020 checklist. [DOCX File, 33 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e41554\_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Search strings by database. [DOCX File , 16 KB - pediatrics v6i1e41554 app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Quality of evidence based on design, sociodemographic participant characteristics, and tool reliability and validity. [DOCX File , 17 KB - pediatrics v6i1e41554 app3.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Quality of evidence scores based on Joanna Briggs Institute critical assessment tool common questions. [DOCX File, 17 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e41554\_app4.docx]

# References

- Koonin LM, Hoots B, Tsang CA, Leroy Z, Farris K, Jolly T, et al. Trends in the use of telehealth during the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic - United States, January-March 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Oct 30;69(43):1595-1599 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6943a3] [Medline: 33119561]
- 2. A health telematics policy in support of WHO's health-for-all strategy for global health development: report of the WHO group consultation on health telematics. World Health Organization. 1998. URL: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/63857/WHO\_DGO\_98.1.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-03-03]
- 3. Mechanic OJ, Persaud Y, Kimball AB. Telehealth Systems. Treasure Island, FL, USA: StatPearls Publishing; Jan 2023.
- 4. Farias FA, Dagostini CM, Bicca YA, Falavigna VF, Falavigna A. Remote patient monitoring: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2020 May;26(5):576-583. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2019.0066] [Medline: 31314689]
- Carrillo de Albornoz S, Sia KL, Harris A. The effectiveness of teleconsultations in primary care: systematic review. Fam Pract 2022 Jan 19;39(1):168-182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmab077] [Medline: 34278421]
- 6. Taddei M, Bulgheroni S. Facing the real time challenges of the COVID-19 emergency for child neuropsychology service in Milan. Res Dev Disabil 2020 Dec;107:103786 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103786] [Medline: 33007533]
- Doraiswamy S, Abraham A, Mamtani R, Cheema S. Use of telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 01;22(12):e24087 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24087] [Medline: 33147166]
- 8. Shah AC, Badawy SM. Telemedicine in pediatrics: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Feb 24;4(1):e22696 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22696] [Medline: 33556030]
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. PLoS Med 2021 Mar 29;18(3):e1003583 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003583] [Medline: 33780438]
- Kodjebacheva GK, Culinski T, Kawser B, Coffer K. Satisfaction with pediatric telehealth services in studies with comparison groups for non-telehealth services during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review of the literature. Inplasy protocol 202290067. International Platform of Registered Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Protocols. 2022 Sep 15. URL: https://inplasy.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/INPLASY-Protocol-3855-1.pdf [accessed 2023-03-03]
- Rethlefsen ML, Kirtley S, Waffenschmidt S, Ayala AP, Moher D, Page MJ, PRISMA-S Group. PRISMA-S: an extension to the PRISMA statement for reporting literature searches in systematic reviews. J Med Libr Assoc 2021 Apr 01;109(2):174-200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5195/jmla.2021.962] [Medline: 34285662]
- Atkins D, Best D, Briss PA, Eccles M, Falck-Ytter Y, Flottorp S, GRADE Working Group. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. BMJ 2004 Jun 19;328(7454):1490 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7454.1490] [Medline: 15205295]
- 13. Moola S, Munn Z, Tufanaru C, Aromataris E, Sears K, Sfetcu R, et al. Systematic reviews of etiology and risk. In: Aromataris E, Munn Z, editors. JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. Adelaide, Australia: Joanna Briggs Institute; 2020.

- Corona LL, Stainbrook JA, Simcoe K, Wagner L, Fowler B, Weitlauf AS, et al. Utilization of telemedicine to support caregivers of young children with ASD and their part C service providers: a comparison of intervention outcomes across three models of service delivery. J Neurodev Disord 2021 Sep 15;13(1):38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s11689-021-09387-w] [Medline: 34525940]
- Hoi KK, Brazina SA, Kolar-Anderson R, Zopf DA, Bohm LA. A longitudinal comparison of telemedicine versus in-person otolaryngology clinic efficiency and patient satisfaction during COVID-19. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol (forthcoming) 2021 Dec 03:34894211055349. [doi: 10.1177/00034894211055349] [Medline: 34861781]
- Holzman SA, Davis-Dao CA, Khoury AE, Fortier MA, Kain ZN. Telemedicine and patient satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic: a case-control study of outpatient pediatric urology patients. J Child Health Care (forthcoming) 2021 Dec 06:13674935211058272. [doi: 10.1177/13674935211058272] [Medline: <u>34865548</u>]
- 17. Johnson C, Taff K, Lee BR, Montalbano A. The rapid increase in telemedicine visits during COVID-19. Patient Exp J 2020 Aug 04;7(2):72-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.35680/2372-0247.1475]
- Katz SE, Spencer P, Stroebel C, Harnack L, Kastner J, Banerjee R. Patient and provider perspectives on pediatric telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic. Telemed Rep 2021 Dec 28;2(1):293-297 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1089/tmr.2021.0032</u>] [Medline: <u>35720742</u>]
- 19. Kennelly AM, McIntyre B, Wood AC, Monteiro S, Voigt RG. Patient satisfaction in neurodevelopmental pediatrics: in-person vs telemedicine. J Child Neurol 2022 Mar;37(3):181-185. [doi: 10.1177/08830738221075451] [Medline: 35410515]
- Love M, Hunter AK, Lam G, Muir LV, Lin HC. Patient satisfaction and perceived quality of care with telemedicine in a pediatric gastroenterology clinic. Pediatr Rep 2022 Apr 12;14(2):181-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/pediatric14020025] [Medline: 35466204]
- Mahmoud MA, Daboos M, Gouda S, Othman A, Abdelmaboud M, Hussein ME, et al. Telemedicine (virtual clinic) effectively delivers the required healthcare service for pediatric ambulatory surgical patients during the current era of COVID-19 pandemic: a mixed descriptive study. J Pediatr Surg 2022 Apr;57(4):630-636 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2021.11.018] [Medline: 34953564]
- 22. Marques S, Cruz JA, da Cunha MA, Tuon FF, de Moraes TP, Daiane Zdziarski A, et al. Patient and family experience with telemedicine and in-person pediatric and obstetric ambulatory encounters throughout 2020, during the COVID-19 epidemic: the distance effect. BMC Health Serv Res 2022 May 16;22(1):659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-08037-8] [Medline: 35578239]
- 23. McCoy JL, Shaffer AD, Dohar JE. Pediatric otolaryngology telemedicine amid a pandemic and beyond. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2022 Feb;153:111014 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijporl.2021.111014] [Medline: 34974276]
- 24. Mustafa SS, Vadamalai K, Ramsey A. Patient satisfaction with in-person, video, and telephone allergy/immunology evaluations during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2021 May;9(5):1858-1863 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2021.01.036] [Medline: 33548516]
- 25. Ragamin A, de Wijs LE, Hijnen DJ, Arends NJ, Schuttelaar ML, Pasmans SG, et al. Care for children with atopic dermatitis in the Netherlands during the COVID-19 pandemic: lessons from the first wave and implications for the future. J Dermatol 2021 Dec;48(12):1863-1870 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.16130] [Medline: 34459024]
- 26. Summers AI, Kuo A, Zaback T, Loh AR, Brinks MV, Hribar MR. Pediatric ophthalmology provider and staff attitudes and patient satisfaction in telehealth implementation during COVID-19. Telemed J E Health 2022 May;28(5):675-681. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2021.0189] [Medline: 34520277]
- Troncone A, Cascella C, Chianese A, Zanfardino A, Casaburo F, Piscopo A, et al. Doctor-patient relationship in synchronous/real-time video-consultations and in-person visits: an investigation of the perceptions of young people with type 1 diabetes and their parents during the COVID-19 pandemic. Int J Behav Med 2022 Oct;29(5):638-647 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12529-021-10047-5] [Medline: 35076861]
- Munthali-Mulemba S, Figge CJ, Metz K, Kane JC, Skavenski S, Mwenge M, et al. Experiences and perceptions of telephone-delivery of the common elements treatment approach for mental health needs among young people in Zambia during the COVID-19 pandemic. Front Public Health 2022 Oct 13;10:906509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.906509] [Medline: 36311612]
- 29. Andrews E, Berghofer K, Long J, Prescott A, Caboral-Stevens M. Satisfaction with the use of telehealth during COVID-19: an integrative review. Int J Nurs Stud Adv 2020 Nov;2:100008 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnsa.2020.100008] [Medline: 33083791]
- Cunningham NR, Ely SL, Barber Garcia BN, Bowden J. Addressing pediatric mental health using telehealth during coronavirus disease-2019 and beyond: a narrative review. Acad Pediatr 2021 Sep;21(7):1108-1117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2021.06.002] [Medline: 34118499]
- Bucki FM, Clay MB, Tobiczyk H, Green BN. Scoping review of telehealth for musculoskeletal disorders: applications for the COVID-19 pandemic. J Manipulative Physiol Ther 2021 Sep;44(7):558-565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jmpt.2021.12.003] [Medline: 35249750]
- 32. Chaudhry H, Nadeem S, Mundi R. How satisfied are patients and surgeons with telemedicine in orthopaedic care during the COVID-19 pandemic? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2021 Jan 01;479(1):47-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CORR.0000000001494] [Medline: 33009231]

- Elbin RJ, Stephenson K, Lipinski D, Maxey K, Womble MN, Reynolds E, et al. In-person versus telehealth for concussion clinical care in adolescents: a pilot study of therapeutic alliance and patient satisfaction. J Head Trauma Rehabil 2022 Jul;37(4):213-219. [doi: 10.1097/HTR.00000000000707] [Medline: 34320555]
- Davis J, Gordon R, Hammond A, Perkins R, Flanagan F, Rabinowitz E, et al. Rapid implementation of telehealth services in a pediatric pulmonary clinic during COVID-19. Pediatrics 2021 Jul;148(1):e2020030494. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2020-030494</u>] [Medline: <u>33632935</u>]
- Kodjebacheva GD, Tang C, Groesbeck F, Walker L, Woodworth J, Schindler-Ruwisch J. Telehealth use in pediatric care during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study on the perspectives of caregivers. Children (Basel) 2023 Feb 06;10(2):311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/children10020311] [Medline: 36832439]
- Gordon HS, Solanki P, Bokhour BG, Gopal RK. "I'm not feeling like I'm part of the conversation" patients' perspectives on communicating in clinical video telehealth visits. J Gen Intern Med 2020 Jun;35(6):1751-1758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05673-w] [Medline: 32016705]
- 37. Connected care pilot program. Federal Communications Commission. 2020 Jul 10. URL: <u>https://www.fcc.gov/</u> wireline-competition/telecommunications-access-policy-division/connected-care-pilot-program [accessed 2022-02-20]
- 38. Semprino M, Fasulo L, Fortini S, Martorell Molina CI, González L, Ramos PA, et al. Telemedicine, drug-resistant epilepsy, and ketogenic dietary therapies: a patient survey of a pediatric remote-care program during the COVID-19 pandemic. Epilepsy Behav 2020 Nov;112:107493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107493] [Medline: 33181913]
- Costa RL, Costa RF, Gonçalves CP, Cohen RW, Santana NN. Telemedicine of patients with cystic fibrosis during the COVID-19 pandemic. Rev Paul Pediatr 2022 May 06;40:e2021118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1984-0462/2022/40/2021118IN] [Medline: 35544907]
- 40. Schlichting T, Martins da Silva K, Silva Moreira R, Marques de Moraes MV, Cicuto Ferreira Rocha NA, Boyd RN, et al. Telehealth program for infants at risk of cerebral palsy during the COVID-19 pandemic: a pre-post feasibility experimental study. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2022;42(5):490-509. [doi: 10.1080/01942638.2022.2057209] [Medline: 35341469]
- 41. Awasthi S, Aravamudhan S, Jagdish A, Joshi B, Mukherjee P, Kalkivaya R, et al. Transitioning ABA services from in clinic to telehealth: case study of an Indian organization's response to COVID-19 lockdown. Behav Anal Pract 2021 Aug 11;14(4):893-912 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40617-021-00600-9] [Medline: 34394851]
- 42. Gulati S, Sengar A. Experience with telemedicine in paediatric nephrology during the COVID pandemic. Pediatr Nephrol 2021 Aug;36(8):2499-2500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00467-021-05085-w] [Medline: 34013387]
- Kumari J, Jat KR, Kabra SK. Role of telemedicine in follow-up care of children with respiratory illnesses at a tertiary care hospital an ambispective observational study. Indian J Pediatr 2021 Oct;88(10):974-978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12098-020-03590-8] [Medline: 33394296]
- 44. Panda PK, Dawman L, Panda P, Sharawat IK. Feasibility and effectiveness of teleconsultation in children with epilepsy amidst the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic in a resource-limited country. Seizure 2020 Oct;81:29-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2020.07.013] [Medline: 32712376]
- 45. Odeh R, Gharaibeh L, Daher A, Kussad S, Alassaf A. Caring for a child with type 1 diabetes during COVID-19 lockdown in a developing country: challenges and parents' perspectives on the use of telemedicine. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2020 Oct;168:108393 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108393] [Medline: 32858098]
- 46. Haxhihamza K, Arsova S, Bajraktarov S, Kalpak G, Stefanovski B, Novotni A, et al. Patient satisfaction with use of telemedicine in university clinic of psychiatry: Skopje, North Macedonia during COVID-19 pandemic. Telemed J E Health 2021 Apr;27(4):464-467. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0256] [Medline: 32809916]
- 47. Eguia KF, Capio CM. Teletherapy for children with developmental disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Philippines: a mixed-methods evaluation from the perspectives of parents and therapists. Child Care Health Dev 2022 Nov;48(6):963-969. [doi: 10.1111/cch.12965] [Medline: 35023228]
- Al Awaji NN, Almudaiheem AA, Mortada EM. Assessment of caregivers' perspectives regarding speech-language services in Saudi Arabia during COVID-19. PLoS One 2021 Jun 22;16(6):e0253441 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0253441</u>] [Medline: <u>34157033</u>]
- 49. Al-Sofiani ME, Alyusuf EY, Alharthi S, Alguwaihes AM, Al-Khalifah R, Alfadda A. Rapid implementation of a diabetes telemedicine clinic during the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak: our protocol, experience, and satisfaction reports in Saudi Arabia. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2021 Mar;15(2):329-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296820947094] [Medline: 32762362]
- 50. Capusan KY, Fenster T. Patient satisfaction with telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic in a pediatric pulmonary clinic. J Pediatr Health Care 2021 Nov;35(6):587-591 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2021.07.014] [Medline: 34417077]
- 51. Dempsey CM, Serino-Cipoletta JM, Marinaccio BD, O'Malley KA, Goldberg NE, Dolan CM, et al. Determining factors that influence parents' perceptions of telehealth provided in a pediatric gastroenterological practice: a quality improvement project. J Pediatr Nurs 2022 Jan;62:36-42. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2021.11.023] [Medline: 34894421]
- 52. Jaclyn D, Andrew N, Ryan P, Julianna B, Christopher S, Nauman C, et al. Patient and family perceptions of telehealth as part of the cystic fibrosis care model during COVID-19. J Cyst Fibros 2021 May;20(3):e23-e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2021.03.009] [Medline: 33775604]

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41554
```

- 53. Knaus ME, Ahmad H, Metzger GA, Beyene TJ, Thomas JL, Weaver LJ, et al. Outcomes of a telemedicine bowel management program during COVID-19. J Pediatr Surg 2022 Jan;57(1):80-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2021.09.012</u>] [Medline: <u>34686377</u>]
- 54. Shanok NA, Lozott EB, Sotelo M, Bearss K. Community-based parent-training for disruptive behaviors in children with ASD using synchronous telehealth services: a pilot study. Res Autism Spectr Disord 2021 Oct;88:101861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2021.101861]
- 55. Cook A, Bragg J, Reay RE. Pivot to telehealth: narrative reflections on circle of security parenting groups during COVID-19. Aust N Z J Fam Ther 2021 Mar;42(1):106-114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/anzf.1443] [Medline: 34230766]
- 56. Staffieri SE, Mathew AA, Sheth SJ, Ruddle JB, Elder JE. Parent satisfaction and acceptability of telehealth consultations in pediatric ophthalmology: initial experience during the COVID-19 pandemic. J AAPOS 2021 Apr;25(2):104-107. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaapos.2020.12.003] [Medline: 33689911]
- 57. Allison BA, Rea S, Mikesell L, Perry MF. Adolescent and parent perceptions of telehealth visits: a mixed-methods study. J Adolesc Health 2022 Mar;70(3):403-413. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.09.028] [Medline: 34756777]
- 58. Johnson C, Taff K, Lee BR, Montalbano A. The rapid increase in telemedicine visits during COVID-19. Patient Exp J 2020 Aug 04;7(2):72-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.35680/2372-0247.1475]
- 59. Wood SM, Pickel J, Phillips AW, Baber K, Chuo J, Maleki P, et al. Acceptability, feasibility, and quality of telehealth for adolescent health care delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional study of patient and family experiences. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Nov 15;4(4):e32708 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32708] [Medline: 34779782]
- 60. Graziano S, Boldrini F, Righelli D, Milo F, Lucidi V, Quittner A, et al. Psychological interventions during COVID pandemic: telehealth for individuals with cystic fibrosis and caregivers. Pediatr Pulmonol 2021 Jul;56(7):1976-1984 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ppul.25413] [Medline: 33905614]
- 61. Barnett ML, Sigal M, Green Rosas Y, Corcoran F, Rastogi M, Jent JF. Therapist experiences and attitudes about implementing internet-delivered parent-child interaction therapy during COVID-19. Cogn Behav Pract 2021 Nov;28(4):630-641 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2021.03.005] [Medline: 33994769]
- 62. Dietzen A, Ide W, Pavone L. Telehealth in pediatric rehabilitation medicine: a survey of clinician reported utilization and experience. J Pediatr Rehabil Med 2020;13(3):281-288. [doi: <u>10.3233/PRM-200762</u>] [Medline: <u>33252099</u>]
- 64. Hall JB, Luechtefeld JT, Woods ML. Adoption of telehealth by pediatric physical therapists during COVID-19: a survey study. Pediatr Phys Ther 2021 Oct 01;33(4):237-244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PEP.00000000000817] [Medline: 34323864]
- 65. Pooni R, Ronis T, Lee T. Telemedicine use by pediatric rheumatologists during the COVID-19 pandemic. Pediatr Rheumatol 2021 Jun 16;19(1):93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-021-00565-7]
- 66. Romani PW, Kennedy SM, Sheffield K, Ament AM, Schiel MA, Hawks J, et al. Pediatric mental healthcare providers' perceptions of the delivery of partial hospitalization and outpatient services via telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic. Evid Based Pract Child Adolesc Ment Health 2022;7(3):327-340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/23794925.2021.1931985]
- 67. Schweiberger K, Hoberman A, Iagnemma J, Schoemer P, Squire J, Taormina J, et al. Practice-level variation in telemedicine use in a pediatric primary care network during the COVID-19 pandemic: retrospective analysis and survey study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 18;22(12):e24345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24345] [Medline: 33290244]
- Shah A, Skertich NJ, Sullivan GA, Silverberg JT, Gadepalli S, Raval MV, et al. The utilization of telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic: an American pediatric surgical association survey. J Pediatr Surg 2022 Jul;57(7):1391-1397 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2022.01.048] [Medline: 35249736]
- Mohammed HT, Hyseni L, Bui V, Gerritsen B, Fuller K, Sung J, et al. Exploring the use and challenges of implementing virtual visits during COVID-19 in primary care and lessons for sustained use. PLoS One 2021 Jun 24;16(6):e0253665 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253665] [Medline: 34166441]
- Santayana G, Carey B, Shenker RC. No other choice: speech-language pathologists' attitudes toward using telepractice to administer the Lidcombe program during a pandemic. J Fluency Disord 2021 Dec;70:105879. [doi: 10.1016/j.jfludis.2021.105879] [Medline: <u>34624789</u>]

# Abbreviations

GRADE: Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation
INPLASY: International Platform of Registered Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Protocols
JBI: Joanna Briggs Institute
MeSH: Medical Subject Headings
PI(E)COS: Populations, Interventions (or Exposures), Comparators, Outcomes, and Study designs or Settings
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach, S Badawy; submitted 12.08.22; peer-reviewed by T Parikh, M Anderson; comments to author 07.09.22; revised version received 10.11.22; accepted 27.03.23; published 27.04.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Kodjebacheva GD, Culinski T, Kawser B, Coffer K Satisfaction With Telehealth Services Compared With Nontelehealth Services Among Pediatric Patients and Their Caregivers: Systematic Review of the Literature JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e41554 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e41554 doi:10.2196/41554 PMID:37000504

©Gergana Damianova Kodjebacheva, Taylor Culinski, Bushra Kawser, Katelynn Coffer. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 27.04.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Remote Recruitment Strategy and Structured E-Parenting Support (STEPS) App: Feasibility and Usability Study

Katarzyna Kostyrka-Allchorne<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Petrina Chu<sup>2</sup>, MSc; Claire Ballard<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Nancy Lean<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Blandine French<sup>3,4</sup>, MSc, PhD; Ellen Hedstrom<sup>5</sup>, MA, PhD; Sarah Byford<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Samuele Cortese<sup>5,7,8</sup>, MD, PhD; David Daley<sup>9</sup>, PhD, CPsychol; Johnny Downs<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Cristine Glazebrook<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD; Kimberley Goldsmith<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MPH, PhD; Charlotte L Hall<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD; Hanna Kovshoff<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Jana Kreppner<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Kapil Sayal<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD; James Shearer<sup>6</sup>, Grad Dip, PhD; Emily Simonoff<sup>1</sup>, MD; Margaret Thompson<sup>5,7</sup>, ChB, MD, DCh, DRCOG; Edmund J S Sonuga-Barke<sup>1,10</sup>, PhD

<sup>7</sup>Solent NHS Trust, Southampton, United Kingdom

<sup>9</sup>Nottingham Trent University Psychology, School of Social Science, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom

<sup>10</sup>Department of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

# **Corresponding Author:**

Edmund J S Sonuga-Barke, PhD Department of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience King's College London 16 De Crespigny Park London, SE58AF United Kingdom Phone: 44 02078483682 Email: edmund.sonuga-barke@kcl.ac.uk

# Abstract

**Background:** The Structured E-Parenting Support (STEPS) app provides support for parents of children with elevated hyperactivity, impulsivity, inattention, and conduct problems who are awaiting clinical assessment. STEPS will be evaluated in a randomized controlled trial (RCT) within the Online Parent Training for the Initial Management of ADHD Referrals (OPTIMA) research program in the United Kingdom. Phase 1 of the OPTIMA tested the feasibility of participants' recruitment and the app's usability.

**Objective:** This study aimed to adapt a digital routine clinical monitoring system, myHealthE, for research purposes to facilitate waitlist recruitment; test using remote methods to screen and identify participants quickly and systematically; pilot the acceptability of the recruitment and assessment protocol; and explore the usability of STEPS.

**Methods:** myHealthE was adapted to screen patients' data. Parents' and clinicians' feedback on myHealthE was collected, and information governance reviews were conducted in clinical services planning to host the RCT. Potential participants for the observational feasibility study were identified from new referrals using myHealthE and non-myHealthE methods. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the demographic and outcome variables. We estimated whether the recruitment rate would meet the planned RCT sample size requirement (n=352). In addition to the feasibility study participants, another group of parents was recruited to assess the STEPS usability. They completed the adapted System Usability Scale and responded to open-ended questions about the app, which were coded using the Enlight quality construct template.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom <sup>2</sup>Department of Biostatistics and Health Informatics, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Academic Unit of Mental Health & Clinical Neurosciences, School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Centre for ADHD and Neurodevelopmental Disorders Across the Lifespan, Institute of Mental Health, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>School of Psychology, Faculty of Environmental and Life Sciences, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Department of Health Service and Population Research, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>New York University Child Study Center, Hassenfeld Children's Hospital at NYU Langone, New York, NY, United States

## Kostyrka-Allchorne et al

**Results:** Overall, 124 potential participants were identified as eligible: 121 (97.6%) via myHealthE and 3 (2.4%) via non-myHealthE methods. In total, 107 parents were contacted, and 48 (44.9%) consented and were asked if, hypothetically, they would be willing to participate in the OPTIMA RCT. Of the 28 feasibility study participants who provided demographic data, 21 (75%) identified as White. Their children had an average age of 8.4 (SD 1.7) years and 65% (31/48) were male. During the primary recruitment period (June to July 2021) when 45 participants had consented, 38 (84%) participants agreed hypothetically to take part in the RCT (rate of 19/mo, 95% CI 13.5-26.1), meeting the stop-go criterion of 18 participants per month to proceed with the RCT. All parents were satisfied or very satisfied with the study procedures. Parents (n=12) recruited to assess STEPS' usability described it as easy to navigate and use and as having an attractive combination of colors and visual design. They described the content as useful, pitched at the right level, and sensitively presented. Suggested improvements included adding captions to videos or making the recorded reflections editable.

**Conclusions:** Remote recruitment and study procedures for testing a parenting intervention app are feasible and acceptable for parents. The parents felt that STEPS was a useful and easy-to-use digital parenting support tool.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1186/s40814-021-00959-0

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47035) doi:10.2196/47035

# **KEYWORDS**

parenting intervention; mobile app; attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; ADHD; behavior problems; mobile health; mHealth; children; usability; mobile phone

# Introduction

# Background

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neurodevelopmental condition with an estimated prevalence of between 2% and 7% of children worldwide [1,2]. It is manifested by symptoms of inattention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity and is associated with impairment across multiple life domains [3-6]. Over 40% of children with an ADHD diagnosis also display oppositional, disruptive, or defiant behaviors and meet the criteria for an oppositional defiant disorder (ODD) diagnosis [7,8]. Managing this combination of ADHD and ODD is a major challenge for parents [9]. For many parents, it is this combination that motivates them to seek help through a clinical referral to pediatric clinics or child and adolescent mental health services [10]. Parent training as recommended by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence is the most common evidence-based intervention used to help parents manage their children's disruptive and defiant behaviors [11].

# The Structured E-Parenting Support App

Parent training is traditionally delivered in person by clinically trained professionals. However, universal shortages in health care workforces combined with financial challenges facing public health services mean that parents face substantial waiting times in accessing this kind of support [12]. These considerable delays in access to parent training increase the risk of further deterioration of the parent-child relationship and the escalation of their the children's problems. We have developed a digital mobile phone app to address this problem. Structured E-Parenting Support (STEPS) [13] was designed to help parents manage the disruptive and defiant behaviors of their children with elevated levels of hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattention symptoms. In comparison with in-person support, STEPS is a low-cost, easy, and quick-to-access parenting support intervention, which provides evidence-based advice and support. Its design was inspired by an in-person parent training program,

the New Forest Parenting Programme [14], with its content reflecting many years of research about parenting and child behavior [11,15-17]. Using audio-visual and graphic elements, STEPS aims to increase parents' knowledge of children's behavior problems, build children's confidence, facilitate effective communication between parents and children, and provide parents with strategies and skills to better manage their children's challenging behavior.

STEPS is currently being evaluated in a large-scale multicenter randomized controlled trial (RCT) as a way of delivering support to the families of children referred to clinical services who are on the waiting list for specialist assessment and treatment. The RCT represents the second phase of the Online Parent Training for the Initial Management of ADHD Referrals (OPTIMA; funder reference number RP-PG-0618-20003) program. Phase 1 of the OPTIMA program had 4 objectives to help the study team prepare for the future RCT, which was prospectively registered on November 18, 2021 (registration number ISRCTN16523503).

The first objective was to adapt and implement a digital platform, myHealthE, for the remote identification and screening of recently referred families [18]. This is an essential part of OPTIMA, as it ensures rapid and systematic screening of ADHD and ODD symptoms in children accepted by clinical services for a wide range of problems and from different referral sources. We asked the following question: how should myHealthE be adapted so that it can be implemented across a variety of clinical services to support OPTIMA recruitment? Objective 2 was to test the feasibility of a remote recruitment strategy incorporating myHealthE. Objective 3 was to test the wider feasibility of the full-scale trial [13]. To achieve objectives 2 and 3, we conducted a single-arm nonrandomized study. We asked two questions: (1) can the necessary number of eligible families be recruited using our remote identification and screening strategy within the planned time frame to meet the sample size requirements and provide sufficient power in the planned RCT? and (2) is the proposed RCT recruitment and assessment approach acceptable to participants? Objective 4 was to make the final,

XSL•FO RenderX

minor updates required to optimize the value of the STEPS app for families. To achieve this objective, we conducted a separate mixed methods usability evaluation of the STEPS app with a different group of parents of children aged 4 to 11 years. We asked the following questions: (1) what is the experience of parents using the STEPS app? and (2) are there ways in which they think it can be improved?

# Methods

# Adaptation of myHealthE for OPTIMA (Objective 1)

Adaptation of the platform was done based on anecdotal feedback from parents, clinicians, service managers, and research governance teams from the participating organizations. This feedback was collected through (1) group meetings with the professionals and the myHealthE team to review the plans and resources required to support implementation and (2) individual interviews with parents who are members of the OPTIMA Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement panel. The initial plan was to integrate myHealthE into local digital platforms. However, after extensive consultation with these stakeholders, it was decided that myHealthE would work better if it was a stand-alone web application. Depending on the organization's preference, the flow of patients' personal and clinical information between myHealthE and clinical records would occur either via manual data entry or a process of robotic process automation. Through a set of programmed instructions, the robotic process automation process allows a software robot to mimic human front-end tasks, such as manual referral data entry into myHealthE, with high efficiency [18]. This change also enhanced functionality for myHealthE users (ie, clinicians and clinical administrators) by allowing the use of a report button to generate caregiver and teacher response outcome reports, whenever needed. This new report can also be manually uploaded to the patient's electronic clinical notes. Further, the central myHealthE team can provide group clinical outcome data as an extract on a periodic basis to support business intelligence work, such as outcome submission to the Mental Health Services Data Set, a repository of information collected via different clinical systems as part of routine patient care, and for local commissioners. Each organization received the National Health Service Digital Technology Assessment Criteria pack for myHealthE, which included data privacy impact assessment, and signed the information processing agreements with the lead organization. The success of myHealthE implementation as a gateway to STEPS access was measured in terms of the number of services that adopted the platform and five additional key performance indicators: (1) the number of parents who were onboarded onto the platform (ie, their contact details were logged, which triggered the invitation to register with myHealthE); (2) the number of those who then registered with the platform; (3) the number of those who completed the routine Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) and (4) provided consent for research contact; and, finally, (5) the number of children whose parents provided consent for research contact were flagged up as OPTIMA eligible based on their age, referral date, and SDQ subscale scores for hyperactivity and conduct problems.

# **Ethical Considerations**

The observational feasibility study received ethics approval from London–Riverside Research Ethics Committee on November 17, 2020 (reference 20/LO/1173). There was no financial incentive for taking part. The STEPS app usability assessment study was approved by King's College London PNM Research Ethics Panel (reference LRS-20/21-21359). Each participant provided written consent on the web and was given a £30 (US \$38.1) shopping voucher to thank them for their time.

# **Observational Feasibility Study (Objectives 2 and 3)**

# **Design and Setting**

This was a single-arm observational feasibility study conducted remotely [13]. Clinical recruitment sites were in England, in urban areas with catchment populations from a wide range of ethnic and socioeconomic backgrounds. The overall recruitment period lasted for 2.5 months from mid-May to the end of July 2021, with the primary recruitment period restricted to June and July 2021. The participants completed the study questionnaires and accessed the STEPS app using their private devices in their preferred setting.

# **Participants**

The participants of this study were parents and teachers. Parents were recruited from 4 recruitment sites. Of these sites, 3 adopted myHealthE to facilitate trial recruitment. The fourth site used nondigital methods (not myHealthE) to obtain consent for research contact and screen for ADHD- and ODD-type symptoms. One further site agreed to support the pilot and feasibility study but did not recruit any participants. Inclusion criteria specified that participants were parents of new referrals (on waitlist no longer than 6 calendar months; the initial definition for "new referrals" referring to children being on the waitlist for less than 3 months was modified during the study, and this modification was approved on June 25, 2021) aged 5 to 11 years who passed the initial triage and had been accepted onto the assessment waiting list but had not yet received a diagnosis of ADHD. The parent had to have rated their child as having a high level of ADHD symptoms (a score≥8) and conduct problems (a score≥4) during routine clinical screening with the SDQ, a brief questionnaire used to measure symptoms of psychopathology in children and adolescents [19]. Following an initial conversation with researchers, parents were excluded if they lacked access to a suitable electronic device, had an insufficient level of English language, or if their child was under local authority care. Parents who met the eligibility criteria were invited to participate in the study. Parents who agreed to participate provided written web-based consent, including, in most cases, consent for the team to contact their child's general practitioner and school. Reasons for not enrolling in the study were recorded by the study team.

There were no inclusion or exclusion criteria for teachers, but researchers were required to obtain parents' permission for contacting teachers.

#### Testing the Feasibility of Remote Recruitment

The feasibility of recruiting a sufficient number of participants for the RCT was assessed by asking each study participant a *feasibility question*. More specifically, participants who consented to take part in the observational feasibility study were read a script explaining the proposed design and procedures of the phase 2 OPTIMA RCT and how it would differ from the current feasibility study. It was explained to participants that taking part in the phase 2 RCT would involve a longer time commitment than the current feasibility study and that they would be randomly assigned to either a group that received the STEPS app straight away or a group that remained on the waitlist without access to the app. Following this explanation, participants were asked to respond "yes" or "no" to whether they would be willing to participate in such a study *in principle*.

Power calculations for the planned RCT in phase 2 of the OPTIMA program indicated that 13 participants per month would need to be recruited to the trial over the 27-month recruitment period (n=352) for the trial to have sufficient power to test for hypothesized differences in the primary outcome. A more conservative stop-go requirement of recruiting 18 participants per month was adopted in the observational feasibility study to consider the potential differences between agreeing in principle in the current feasibility study and actually consenting to take part in the OPTIMA RCT. The rate of participants agreeing per month was calculated as the number of participants agreeing in principle to take part in the RCT during the primary feasibility study recruitment period (June to July 2021) with the associated 95% Poisson CI (using an immediate CI command in Stata [version 17; StataCorp] specifying a Poisson distribution). We also calculated the proportion of participants who agreed by dividing the number of participants who agreed by the number of participants who were recruited and then multiplying the resultant value by 100.

# Piloting the Acceptability of the Recruitment and Assessment Protocol

The acceptability of the recruitment and assessment protocol was evaluated by asking parents to provide ratings of satisfaction with the consenting procedures and web-based data collection via the exit questionnaire. In addition, we measured the following: (1) the time taken to complete the remote consenting procedures; (2) the proportion of participants who completed all outcome questionnaires within 7 days of receiving a link to the web-based questionnaires out of the number of participants who were in the study; (3) the number of reminder emails about completing the outcome questionnaires sent to parents by the research team; (4) the proportion of participants who completed the adverse event questionnaire within 7 days of receiving a link to the web-based questionnaire out of the number of participants who were in the study; and (5) the mean number of reminder emails about completing the adverse events questionnaire sent to parents by the research team. We also assessed the feasibility of collecting data from children's teachers by measuring the time needed to identify teachers and the proportion of teachers who returned the outcome questionnaire within 7 days of receiving a link to the web-based questionnaire out of the number of teachers who were recruited.

The piloted measures included parent-completed questionnaires, specifically prebaseline measures to characterize the sample and outcome measures, and a teacher-completed questionnaire. The prebaseline measures included the Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory [20]; Social Communication Questionnaire [21]; and ADHD subscale of the Swanson, Nolan, and Pelham Rating Scale [22]. The outcome measures included the O'Leary Parenting Scale [23,24]; the ODD subscale of the Swanson, Nolan, and Pelham Rating Scale [22]; the Parental Sense of Competence Scale [25]; the Caregiver Strain Questionnaire [26]; and a demographic questionnaire, which asked questions about the parent's gender, educational level, employment status, income, ethnicity, and relationship status and the number and ages of other children in the household and whether they had received an ADHD diagnosis. Finally, parents were also asked whether they had received parent training of any type or had any mental health difficulties that required clinical treatment in the previous 6 months. The teachers completed only the ODD subscale of the Swanson, Nolan, and Pelham Rating Scale [22].

# Procedure

Information on the child's age, sex, ADHD symptoms, and conduct problems was derived from the existing referral information. Parents completed questionnaires on the web using Qualtrics (Qualtrics International Inc), a secure web-based data collection platform. Each participant was enrolled in the study for approximately 4 weeks. Those who completed the baseline questionnaires were then emailed instructions on how to access the STEPS app. Importantly, they were informed that the use of the app was optional and were not prompted to use it (the plan for the definitive trial was to monitor and prompt use). Two weeks after the baseline questionnaires were completed, parents were sent a link asking them to complete an adverse events questionnaire on the web. Four weeks after the baseline questionnaires were completed, parents were debriefed and asked to complete an exit questionnaire assessing satisfaction with the remote consenting process and the web-based outcome and adverse events data collection procedures. Parents who consented to have their child's teacher contacted provided the teacher's contact information so that a teacher information sheet and consent statement could be sent to the teacher, along with a link to the web-based teacher questionnaire.

# Data

We recorded baseline demographic information, scale scores from the prebaseline and baseline outcome questionnaires, the time taken to complete the study procedures, the number of reminder emails sent, satisfaction survey responses, and the number of participants who completed all web-based questionnaires within 7 days (as a proportion of the number of participants who were given access). The number of people who took up the invitation to download the app was also recorded. Safety data were summarized as the number of adverse events and the number of people who experienced adverse events. The prebaseline and baseline questionnaire score summaries are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1.

XSL•FO

# STEPS App Usability Assessment (Objective 4)

# **Participants**

Participants were 12 parents (all female) of children aged 4 to 11 years recruited from the general population through advertisements on social media, as well as through the OPTIMA Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement panel. One further parent took part in the initial session but did not complete the entire study and was, therefore, subsequently excluded from the sample.

# Measures

The measures used to fulfill objective 4 were an adapted System Usability Scale [27] and open-ended questions asked in a think-aloud session and follow-up semistructured interviews. The System Usability Scale is a 10-item questionnaire that uses a mix of positively and negatively worded items designed to assess the usability of a digital tool (eg, the ease of use, a user's confidence in using the tool, and the perceived amount of technical support that would be required to use the tool). Responses were made on a 5-point scale ranging from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 5 ("strongly agree"). To calculate the overall usability score, 1 is subtracted from the score of each positively worded item and the score of each negatively worded item is subtracted from 5 to give a score ranging from 0 to 4 for each item, where higher scores reflect more positive responses. These item scores are then summed and multiplied by 2.5 to give a total score ranging from 0 to 100.

Open-ended questions probed the participants' first impressions about the app, including its look, feel, and navigation, as well as elicited more detailed views on the overall experience of using the app and on each of the elements contained within the app.

# The STEPS App

A detailed description of the STEPS app is provided in Multimedia Appendix 2. Because of the unguided nature of the STEPS app, several design features were implemented in it to improve engagement. First, a "Buddy," a parent played by an actor, accompanies the user on their journey through STEPS. Upon registering with the app, each user is directed to a screen that provides brief video vignettes of the 4 available Buddies (Figure 1) and is asked to select 1. Buddies can be changed an unlimited number of times during subsequent use of the app. Within each module, the selected Buddy provides an overview of the content and then recaps the key points covered. Second, a brief introductory module needs to be completed, where the selected Buddy provides a brief overview of the content and gives advice on how to use STEPS (eg, take a break for a few days between the modules and record reflections). Third, the app has a linear structure to allow users to build up their parenting skills, with a clear visual distinction between the completed modules (and components within each module; Figure 1) and those that are yet to be completed. Users can also make a note of the content that they particularly like or would like to revisit for quick access by including it among their favorites. Finally, the content is delivered in short, accessible, and "bite-size" pieces, that is, individual videos or audio clips are not longer than 3 minutes to keep users engaged and avoid overwhelming them with too much information.

Figure 1. Examples of the Structured E-Parenting Support (STEPS) app screens: (A) Home screen. (B) Buddy selection screen. (C) Introduction screen. (D) Resources screen.



# Procedure

RenderX

Each participant took part in 2 remote video sessions facilitated by a trained researcher. In the first, think-aloud, session, participants were asked to download the app, complete a few simple navigation tasks (eg, select and change a Buddy, watch a video, record a reflection, and save an item to favorites), and

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47035
```

speak out loud what came to their mind as they completed these tasks. They also answered questions regarding their first impressions of STEPS. The second, follow-up, session was scheduled approximately a week later, and the participants were instructed to use the app as much as they could during the intervening period. In the second session, participants were first asked questions about their general mobile phone use and then

asked more detailed questions about their views on the STEPS app. All sessions were audio and video recorded. The automatically generated transcripts were checked, and any identifying information was removed. The participants were also emailed a link asking them to complete the System Usability Scale on the web via Qualtrics.

# Data Analyses

The total System Usability Scale and individual item scores were summarized using means and SDs. Qualitative data from the think-aloud and follow-up sessions were analyzed using the template analysis method [28]. This is a style of thematic analysis that requires the development of a structured coding template. To align with the themes discussed in previous relevant studies, we adopted a prespecified coding template. Specifically, responses were coded using the Enlight quality construct template developed by Baumel et al [29]. This template was derived from a systematic review of quality rating criteria for digital health interventions, tested with both mobile phone–based and web-based interventions, and includes the following core constructs:

- 1. Usability: the ease of learning how to use the app and the ease of using it properly
- 2. Visual design: the look and feel of the app
- 3. User engagement: the extent to which the app's design attracts users to use it
- 4. Content: the content provided or learned while using the app
- 5. Therapeutic persuasiveness: the extent to which the app is designed to encourage positive behavior changes
- 6. Therapeutic alliance: the ability of the app to create an alliance with the user to motivate change
- 7. Potential: a subjective evaluation of the app's potential to benefit its target users

# Results

# myHealthE Adaptation (Objective 1)

myHealthE was used by 2 child and adolescent mental health services and 1 local authority early behavioral help service. At the end of the overall feasibility recruitment period (July 31, 2021), a total of 1024 patients were onboarded onto the platform, including 952 (92.97%) new referrals and 72 (7.03%) existing patients. Of the 952 new referrals, 768 (80.7%) registered with the platform, 649 (68.2%) completed the routine SDQ, and 308 (32.4%) provided consent for research contact. Finally, 121 children whose parents provided consent for research contact were flagged up as *OPTIMA eligible*.

# **Observational Feasibility Study**

# **Participant Characteristics**

Of the 107 eligible referrals, who were approached with an invitation to participate in the study, 104 (97.2%) were identified by myHealthE, and the remaining 3 (2.8%) were identified via non-myHealthE methods. Of the 107 referrals, 48 (44.9%) consented to participate in the study (Figure 2). All 48 participants answered the feasibility question about willingness to participate in principle in an OPTIMA RCT and were given access to the prebaseline questionnaires, which were completed by 34 (71%) participants. Then, 38 participants received access to the baseline questionnaires (4 participants were incorrectly given access), which were completed by 25 (66%) participants. These 25 participants were provided with access to the STEPS app (1 was given access erroneously). Of the 25 people who were given access to the app, 21 (84%) downloaded it. Of the 24 participants provided with the adverse events questionnaire about medical and psychological events and difficulties (1 was not provided with the questionnaire owing to the recruitment site closure), there were 15 (62%) completers. Information about the adverse events reported in the study is included in Multimedia Appendix 3. The same 24 participants were provided with exit questionnaires, with 9 (38%) completers. Only 1 (2%) participant out of the total 48 formally withdrew from the feasibility study owing to a house move. Of the 48 parents, 40 (83%) provided teacher information, and 37 (92%) teachers were contacted. A total of 8% (3/40) of teachers were not contacted (2/40, 5% owing to school holidays preventing contact and 1/40, 2% owing to a parent requesting a delay to search for an email address of the teacher, which was never provided). Only 7 (19%) out of the 37 teachers completed the questionnaire within the 1-week response window.

The mean age of the children in the feasibility participant sample (n=48) was 8.4 (SD 1.7) years, and 31 (65%) out of 48 were male. The mean SDQ hyperactivity subscale score was 9.5 (SD 0.7), and the mean conduct problem subscale score was 6.2 (SD 1.7). Of the 28 parents who provided responses on the demographic questionnaire, 21 (75%) were White. Of the 28 parent respondents, 16 (57%) were married or in a long-term relationship and 16 (57%) had completed General Certificate of Secondary Education, Certificate of Secondary Education, Ordinary Level, or equivalent qualifications. All participants' demographic information and children's ADHD symptoms and conduct problems scores are presented in Table 1. A summary of the clinical outcome measure scores is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.



#### Kostyrka-Allchorne et al

Figure 2. Observational feasibility study CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) flowchart. AE: adverse event; MHE: myHealthE; STEPS: Structured E-Parenting Support.





 Table 1. Characteristics of the observational feasibility study participants.

Characteristic	Values
Children (n=48)	
Age (years)	
Mean (SD)	8.4 (1.7)
Median (IQR)	9 (7-10)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	17 (35)
Male	31 (65)
SDQ <sup>a</sup> hyperactivity subscale score	
Mean (SD)	9.5 (0.7)
Median (IQR)	10 (9-10)
SDQ conduct problem subscale score	
Mean (SD)	6.2 (1.7)
Median (IQR)	6 (5-7)
Parent participants (n=28)	
Ethnicity, n (%)	
Black or Black British	6 (21)
White British, Irish, or other	21 (75)
Mixed race White and Black or Black British	1 (4)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	28 (100)
Education, n (%)	
No formal qualifications	9 (32)
Completed GCSE <sup>b</sup> or CSE <sup>c</sup> or O-levels <sup>d</sup> , equivalent	16 (57)
Completed post-16 vocational course	2 (7)
Undergraduate or professional qualification	1 (4)
SES <sup>e</sup> (£ <sup>f</sup> ; annual income levels), n (%)	
<16,000	9 (32)
16,000-29,999	7 (25)
30,000-59,999	11 (39)
≥60,000	1 (4)
Marital status, n (%)	
Single (never married)	9 (32)
Married or in a long-term relationship	16 (57)
Widowed	1 (4)
Divorced	1 (4)
Separated	1 (4)

<sup>a</sup>SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.

<sup>b</sup>GCSE: General Certificate of Secondary Education.

<sup>c</sup>CSE: Certificate of Secondary Education.

<sup>d</sup>O-levels: ordinary level.

<sup>e</sup>SES: socioeconomic status.

XSL•FO RenderX

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47035

 $f_{\pm 1} = US \ 1.27.$ 

# **Findings**

# Can We Recruit a Sufficient Number of Participants Using Our Remote Strategy to Meet the Power Needs of the OPTIMA RCT?

All 48 participants answered the feasibility question, with 41 (85%) agreeing in principle to take part in an RCT. Focusing on the primary recruitment period (June to July 2021), 38 (84%) out of 45 participants agreed in principle to take part in an RCT. This was a rate of 19 (95% CI 13.5-26.1) participants per month, which exceeded the conservative stop or go criterion of 18 participants per month set a priori. We note that the lower limit of the CI excludes 13 per month, that is, the less conservative estimate of the number needed from the power calculation. This suggests we will likely be able to recruit >13 families per month.

#### Is the Recruitment and Assessment Protocol Acceptable?

The mean time from a service accepting a referral onto a waitlist to the completion of remote consenting by the participant was 51 (SD 40) days. The mean parent rating of satisfaction with consenting procedures was 4.6 (SD 0.5) out of 5; a total of 4 (44%) out of 9 parents were "satisfied," and 5 (56%) out of 9 were "very satisfied."

Of the 38 parents who provided baseline outcome data, 23 (61%) completed all the questionnaires within 7 days. The mean number of reminder emails about web-based data completion sent to parents was 1.1 (SD 1.6; median 0, IQR 0-3). The mean parent rating of satisfaction with web-based data collection was 4.4 (SD 0.7) out of 5; overall, 1 (11%) out of 9 participants selected a "neutral" response, 3 (33%) out of 9 participants were "satisfied," and 5 (56%) out of 9 participants were "very satisfied." Finally, 9 (38%) out of 24 parents completed adverse event questionnaires within 7 days, and the mean number of reminder emails about adverse event questionnaire completion sent to parents was 0.67 (SD 0.70). The average time from the date when participants consented to the date when teachers were identified was 1.5 (SD 6.3; median 1, IQR 0-1) days, and 7 (19%) out of the 37 teachers returned questionnaires within 7 days.

# **STEPS Usability Evaluation**

# **Participant Characteristics**

Of the 12 participants who were recruited specifically for the STEPS usability study, 8 (67%) worked part time or full time, and 4 (33%) were stay-at-home parents. All participants reported using mobile phones frequently for various purposes, such as communication, leisure, banking, navigation, or shopping. None of them reported any general difficulties with using mobile phone technology. Overall, 33% (4/12) of participants reported lesser mobile phone use on weekends than on weekdays. The main reason cited for reduced weekend mobile phone use was "family time."

# Findings

#### System Usability Scale Analysis

Parents rated the app's usability as very high; the overall STEPS usability score on the System Usability Scale was 94.8 (SD 4.8) out of 100. Individual item responses also showed that

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47035
```

participants' experience of using STEPS was positive (Multimedia Appendix 4).

#### Template Analysis of Open-Ended Questions About the App

*Usability*: all participants found the app simple to use and straightforward to navigate. Many commented that the app was "intuitive" and that navigation was "obvious" and "self-explanatory." Detailed quotes are presented in Multimedia Appendix 5. Some participants attributed the ease of use to the fixed linear structure of the app. However, 1 parent found the need to complete the modules in a fixed order frustrating. Participants found the clear visual distinction between completed and not-completed steps helpful in navigating the app and commented that simple language also improved the usability of the app. Participants made suggestions for improvements, for example, providing captions for videos and transcripts and making the recorded reflections editable. Some also wanted to receive more information about Buddies and their roles.

*Visual design*: the parents provided very positive feedback about the look and feel of the app. In particular, they commented on the attractive combination of colors and visual design features:

I really like the look of it, I really like the design and the graphics, they look really classy, but they also just look very professional.

Some participants used the word "friendly" to describe the look and feel of the app:

It's simple to use and kind of feels nice and modern and friendly.

Finally, 1 participant's comment also suggested that the structure of the app created very positive first impressions about the look and feel:

I found it made sense and it flowed well. I like the way it's laid out. I think it's going to be easy to use on my first impression, it's certainly not daunting, it's quite clear to understand.

*User engagement*: comments from several participants suggested that receiving information in short "bite-size" pieces was the key to successful engagement with the app:

...and it was also bite-sized amount of information which I liked. It wasn't throwing loads of information at you at once, because obviously that's just overloads yourself [sic], especially if you're busy. I found that quite useful.

Parents also mentioned that receiving a notification from their Buddy (push notification) served as a useful reminder to log back into the app:

If I had like a really busy day and I hadn't looked at it [the app] and then I got a notification from my buddy that said about Steps, it was like a little reminder, oh yes, I need to log on and do that and that was actually was [sic] really helpful. It's quite motivating that you've got that little prompt.

The variety of formats, including videos, audio clips, and text resources, made the app more engaging:

I liked that there was [sic] different elements, it wasn't all just videos, there was some audio. I like the versatility of it and just that there was [sic] different elements, it wasn't just consistently the same thing.

Although the possibility of accessing the app at any time and at any place is created by general smartphone affordances rather than benefits specifically limited to STEPS, users highlighted such accessibility as an important feature:

# I think it's really useful just to kind of have it in your pocket all the time and to have it readily available.

Several participants wanted to receive more information regarding the Reflections feature of the app, specifically, in relation to the privacy and confidentiality of what is recorded there by users. One of the participants said that they would "filter" what they would record in Reflections, rather than freely express their thoughts, if these recordings would be shared with others. Suggestions were also made that although some reflections should be private, it would be useful to be able to choose to share some of the recordings, for example, with a clinician or another professional as "evidence of the child's behaviour or reflections on what's worked well."

*Content*: participants commented that the content was pitched at the right level and presented in a sensitive way:

I liked the content I thought it [expert videos] was really well written in that it gave you the information that you needed, but it was in a very understandable format and I like again the fact it was a video very relatable, not patronising, I thought it was good.

The variety of examples included in the app made the content applicable to a wide range of parents, as one participant noted:

It's quite nice when you first open it [examples] that you can just see a range of children and a range of problems of looking like a menu for things and you can sort of spot which ones.

The participants highlighted the importance of including children's perspectives in the examples and provided further suggestions on how to give children more presence in the app. For example, this could be achieved by including real stories of children whose parents used the app successfully or by creating sections within the app that could be completed by both a parent and child.

*Therapeutic persuasiveness*: participants commented that the aims of STEPS were realistic and that the advice was straightforward to implement:

I like the fact that it starts at the very beginning and about reconnecting with your child and your relationship with your child and that it works through. I thought the aims were also realistic.

One participant provided an example of how working through the STEPS resources motivated them to reflect on their own situation and to act to effect change:

I did find them [resources] useful. Oh yeah, it was the making quality time for yourself. So, reading through that I actually bought myself a yoga mat in

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47035

the week 'cause I thought, ok I'm going to sit with my headphones on, forget everything and do that. So yeah, reading through that has made me realise if I'm not at my best because I'm always busy and I'm always doing everything.

Including children's perspectives in the app's examples was also noted as a factor that may help motivate change:

Examples from the children and giving their perspective on things, and I wasn't expecting that, and actually I found that really useful and quite kind of it's almost moving, going and I'm not doing it on purpose and generally don't hear when my mum is telling me to turn off my gaming and that I thought was really, really kind of makes you go oh gosh, yeah [sic]. So, that I think was brilliant having those little bits in, because they are only very short aren't they? I think really quite powerful in a way.

Finally, one of the parents suggested how reflections could be used to motivate changes by giving users space to write an action plan which advice or skills they want to implement:

The other thing I thought is, the reflections bit at the moment is just getting you to think about stuff but, I wondered from a kind of behaviour change perspective, if whether sometimes that could be used to prompt people to commit to things that they want to try, like what are you going to try this week? Which of these suggestions would be good for you? And how and when are you going to try them out? 'Cause that would then act as something to stop it just being something that you spent 10 minutes having a quick listen to or look at and then don't do anything with.

# **Therapeutic Alliance**

*Therapeutic alliance*: several participants commented that their Buddies managed to create a sense of personal connection and relatability:

I think the buddy system is probably my favourite. I've never come across anything like that before...It makes it easier to connect I think with the buddies.

They also commented that the inclusion of various examples helped demonstrate that the app's aims were achievable, and the context was relatable:

I thought they [examples] were really good because they were very accurate and they also made it easier to relate to the Steps programme, because the examples were realistic and were quite common problems that parents would be going through.

The expert videos also came across as friendly and knowledgeable, and the content was delivered using an accessible language:

That's really good. I like that, she's a great speaker. She's very calm. She's not overcomplicating. She's not using loads of jargon and everything which I hate when you start getting into these sorts of things.

However, the comment from one of the parents highlighted an important risk that is inherent to unguided parenting

XSL•FC RenderX

interventions, that is, working through the app may create uncomfortable reflections about one's parenting and lead to the feeling of self-blame:

I think the lady, the doctor that was describing it she was fantastic and she kept it very simple, but sometimes when I was listening to it I felt like oh, not I know that [sic], but it felt like a bit like ok, so everything that's happening in my life...it felt like it's my fault, like I've not been the best parent up to now.

*Potential*: participants noted the gap in the provision of help and support for parents and thought that the app could help address some of those unmet needs:

I think it's a great idea. I have to say I think there is really a gap in parental support. So actually, to have something that is available absolutely all the time at any point when you need it, I think is really good. I think it's a great way to try and support parents' cause.

They commented that the app could be helpful to a wide range of parents, regardless of whether their child has received a diagnosis or is on the waitlist:

I know a lot of parents who've already had their diagnosis and have literally just been given a diagnosis and said congratulations off you go now and that's it [sic]. With no help or support. Just there you go, and they would really benefit from this. So, it would be great if it was more widely available. But also, yes for that for that waiting period it's horrendous and you do know nothing.

Finally, the app could also be helpful to parents of children who do not have clinical-level needs:

I think every parent is looking for something like this, because we all struggled. And of course, parenting is such a difficult thing and there is lots of scope in it, you know to improve yourself, so I think it is giving me a very positive vibe [sic]. In helping myself and my child to manage the behaviour and the steps don't look complicated.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This paper reported on phase 1 of the OPTIMA research program. It had 4 objectives concerning the adaptation and testing the feasibility of the screening and waitlist recruitment strategy facilitated by the myHealthE platform, piloting the acceptability of the proposed remote recruitment and assessment protocol, and exploring the usability of the STEPS mobile app to optimize its functionality for parents. Overall, our findings were positive and demonstrated that the planned recruitment strategy and assessment protocol were feasible and acceptable to participants. Usability data also supported the use of STEPS to provide support for families on the child health services waitlist and provided useful recommendations for minor modifications to the app. Our findings showed that myHealthE can be successfully adapted and used across the 3 different child health services in the United Kingdom. To support timely implementation, the original plan to make the platform interoperable with the local clinical patient records systems had to be modified, and myHealthE was implemented as a stand-alone desktop application that could be accessed via a web browser. This adaptation did not compromise the platform's clinical utility in terms of monitoring patient-reported outcomes, as individual reports could be easily generated by the clinic staff. Crucially, myHealthE provided a systematic and efficient way for researchers to screen and identify eligible families from the waitlist of the participating services without the need to involve members of the clinical care team. Traditional approaches require that a patient's (or, in the case of patients aged <16 years, their parent's) consent for research contact be obtained by a clinician and recorded in clinical notes. These notes are subsequently manually screened to identify potentially eligible participants. Such a process not only is time consuming, resulting in delays in contact, but also means that clinicians act as the main gatekeepers to providing access to research opportunities. For families on the waitlist who have very limited or no contact with clinicians until their first assessment appointment, this could be a substantial barrier to being involved in research. Compared with these traditional approaches, myHealthE permitted a straightforward and convenient way of obtaining consent for research contact and facilitated the timely and efficient recruitment of participants from the service waitlist into the study.

Our remote recruitment strategy was also successful. During the primary feasibility study recruitment period, 45 participants consented to take part in the study, and 38 (84%) of them agreed in principle to take part in the RCT, exceeding our conservative assumption of 18 participants per month. This suggests that we should comfortably achieve our planned RCT recruitment target of 13 participants per month. This finding is important for 2 reasons. First, meeting trial recruitment targets is essential to ensuring the success of a trial. Second, recruitment from health services can be very challenging (even more so when participants are recruited from the waitlist), and a substantial proportion of trials either experience delays leading to higher research costs or are stopped owing to poor recruitment [30]. It could be that using remote approaches, such as the one adopted in this study, which give participants the maximum flexibility of completing consenting procedures at the time and place that are convenient to them, helps overcome some of the key barriers to successful recruitment. Importantly, remote recruitment and assessments were also acceptable to parents. Those who provided exit questionnaire data were either satisfied or very satisfied with the study procedures. In addition, the feasibility study provided an important learning opportunity for the research team. We uncovered some errors in the study procedures, such as participants receiving access to web-based questionnaires or the app when they should not have. Becoming aware of these potential issues during the feasibility study will help us to develop clear operating procedures to minimize the risk of making errors in the RCT.



Finally, the STEPS app received high usability ratings, and parents provided very positive feedback about the app. Participants found the app easy to navigate (mainly owing to its clear linear structure) and visually attractive. They appreciated the easy-to-understand language used in the app, which was clear of psychological jargon, and found it useful to have information presented in varied formats (ie, text, video, and audio). Many parents emphasized that it was helpful to have information presented in short, "bite-size" pieces that could be accessed when they had a few spare minutes (eg, when waiting to collect their child after school). Although some parents found the functionality that allowed them to record reflections useful, a few expressed concerns about the confidentiality of recording their private thoughts within the app. The key recommendations for enhancing the app included making improvements to the process of app registration, making resources shareable, improving video playback, and adding captions to videos.

The use of digitally mediated approaches to identification, recruitment, and data collection is efficient from the researchers' point of view and convenient for many participants. We established that myHealthE provided an effective method for screening and identifying participants and that our remote recruitment and assessment strategy was feasible and acceptable. However, adopting digital methods may have resulted in a sample that overrepresented individuals with a high level of digital skills. Moreover, access to myHealthE and the STEPS

app relies on having access to a device that is connected to the internet, which some families may not have. Ultimately, these families would not be able to access and potentially benefit from the intervention. Research suggests that it is often those already at a disadvantage because of education and employment opportunities, income, disability, or geographic location who are most likely to be excluded from digital access [31]. If not managed carefully, this may further widen existing health inequalities. Furthermore, we should acknowledge that the eligibility requirement that study participants have a reasonable understanding of English has inevitably led to the exclusion of parents from linguistically (and culturally) diverse backgrounds. Researchers adopting digital recruitment methods and those developing mobile phone interventions should consider the impact of digital competence and language exclusion on the generalizability and reach of their findings.

#### Conclusions

This study demonstrated that digital screening and remote recruitment from child clinical services' waiting lists are feasible. They are also timely and efficient and minimize the burden on clinical teams, which are typically substantially involved when nondigital recruitment methods are used. Such procedures are also acceptable to participants. Usability data indicate that STEPS has the potential to deliver parenting support to parents of children with ADHD-type symptoms.

## Acknowledgments

Online Parent Training for the Initial Management of ADHD Referrals (OPTIMA) is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research (RP-PG-0618-20003). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care. The funding body played no role in the study design and conduct.

This paper represents an independent research project part funded by the NIHR Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre at South London and Maudsley National Health Service Foundation Trust and King's College London and the NIHR Applied Research Collaboration South London at King's College Hospital National Health Service Foundation Trust. The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the National Health Service, NIHR, or Department of Health and Social Care.

CLH acknowledges support from the NIHR Nottingham Biomedical Research Centre and NIHR MindTech MedTech Co-operative. KS is an NIHR Senior Investigator.

The authors would like to thank the parents who are members of the OPTIMA Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement panel for their continuous support, advice, and involvement in the project.

# **Authors' Contributions**

EJSS-B is the Online Parent Training for the Initial Management of ADHD Referrals (OPTIMA) chief investigator and led the original study conceptualization, the design of phase 1 of OPTIMA, and the writing of the paper with KK-A. KK-A was responsible for coordinating the observational feasibility and usability studies and analyzed the usability study data. CB, BF, and EH were responsible for enrolling participants, administering outcome measures, and coordinating recruitment in the observational feasibility study. CB cocoordinated the usability study with KK-A. ES, SC, DD, and JD contributed to the conception and design of the study and were responsible for liaising with clinical services. JD led the adaptation and implementation of myHealthE. JK contributed to the conception and design of the observational feasibility study and was responsible for overseeing research activities in the Southampton trial center. KS and CLH were responsible for overseeing research activities. KG contributed to the conception and design of the project and for patient and public involvement activities. KG contributed to the conception and design of the observational feasibility study and supervised the feasibility study data analyses. PC conducted the feasibility study data analyses. SB contributed to the conception and design of the occupation of the economic component of the overall research program. JS contributed to the design of the overall research program. JS contributed to the design of the overall research program.
MT contributed to the conception and design of the observational feasibility study and the Structured E-Parenting Support (STEPS) app development. HK and CG contributed to the conception and design of the observational feasibility study. All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

SC declares honoraria and reimbursement for travel and accommodation expenses for lectures from the following nonprofit associations in the last 3 years: Association for Child and Adolescent Central Health, Canadian ADHD Alliance Resource, the British Association of Pharmacology for educational activity on attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. DD declares educational talks for Medice, and Takeda, advisory board attendance for Takeda, and educational travel from Takeda and Medice. He has also received royalties from the sale of a self-help version of the New Forest Parenting Programme, on which STEPS is based, payments for providing training on New Forest Parenting Programme, nonmonetary support from Qbtech, and research funding from National Institute for Health Research. EJSS-B declares speaker fees and conference support from Takeda and Medice, honoraria from the Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Aarhus University, and research support from Qbtech, Medical Research Council, Economic and Social Research Council, National Institute for Health Research, Waterloo Foundation, and Shanly Foundation.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Prebaseline and baseline questionnaire score summaries. [DOCX File , 14 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47035 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 The Structured E-Parenting Support app. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 385 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47035 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Adverse event and serious adverse event summary metrics. [DOCX File, 18 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e47035\_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 The System Usability Scale individual item scores. [DOCX File , 15 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47035 app4.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Additional quotes from the usability interviews. [DOCX File, 17 KB - pediatrics v6i1e47035 app5.docx]

#### References

- Polanczyk GV, Salum GA, Sugaya LS, Caye A, Rohde LA. Annual research review: a meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2015 Mar;56(3):345-365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12381] [Medline: 25649325]
- 2. Sayal K, Prasad V, Daley D, Ford T, Coghill D. ADHD in children and young people: prevalence, care pathways, and service provision. Lancet Psychiatry 2018 Feb;5(2):175-186. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30167-0] [Medline: 29033005]
- Erskine HE, Ferrari AJ, Nelson P, Polanczyk GV, Flaxman AD, Vos T, et al. Epidemiological modelling of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and conduct disorder for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2013 Dec 04;54(12):1263-1274. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12144] [Medline: 24117530]
- 4. Fletcher JM. The effects of childhood ADHD on adult labor market outcomes. Health Econ 2014 Feb 21;23(2):159-181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/hec.2907] [Medline: 23427026]
- 5. Moyá J, Stringaris AK, Asherson P, Sandberg S, Taylor E. The impact of persisting hyperactivity on social relationships: a community-based, controlled 20-year follow-up study. J Atten Disord 2014 Jan 21;18(1):52-60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1087054712436876] [Medline: 22441888]
- Polderman TJ, Boomsma DI, Bartels M, Verhulst FC, Huizink AC. A systematic review of prospective studies on attention problems and academic achievement. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2010 Oct;122(4):271-284. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2010.01568.x] [Medline: 20491715]
- Jensen PS, Martin D, Cantwell DP. Comorbidity in ADHD: implications for research, practice, and DSM-V. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1997 Aug;36(8):1065-1079 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/00004583-199708000-00014] [Medline: 9256586]

- 8. Tung I, Li JJ, Meza JI, Jezior KL, Kianmahd JS, Hentschel PG, et al. Patterns of comorbidity among girls with ADHD: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2016 Oct;138(4):e20160430 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-0430] [Medline: 27694280]
- 9. Theule J, Wiener J, Rogers MA, Marton I. Predicting parenting stress in families of children with ADHD: parent and contextual factors. J Child Fam Stud 2010 Nov 19;20(5):640-647. [doi: 10.1007/s10826-010-9439-7]
- Woodward L, Dowdney L, Taylor E. Child and family factors influencing the clinical referral of children with hyperactivity: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1997 May;38(4):479-485 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01533.x] [Medline: 9232493]
- 11. Daley D, Van Der Oord S, Ferrin M, Cortese S, Danckaerts M, Doepfner M, et al. Practitioner review: current best practice in the use of parent training and other behavioural interventions in the treatment of children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2018 Sep 30;59(9):932-947. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12825] [Medline: 29083042]
- 12. Parenting services under pressure: unequal access to early years support in England. Action for Children. URL: <u>https://media.actionforchildren.org.uk/documents/Parenting\_services\_under\_pressure.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-02-20]
- Kostyrka-Allchorne K, Ballard C, Byford S, Cortese S, Daley D, Downs J, et al. The feasibility of a strategy for the remote recruitment, consenting and assessment of recent referrals: a protocol for phase 1 of the On-Line Parent Training for the Initial Management of ADHD referrals (OPTIMA). Pilot Feasibility Stud 2022 Jan 03;8(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-021-00959-0] [Medline: 34980279]
- 14. Sonuga-Barke EJ, Thompson M, Abikoff H, Klein R, Brotman LM. Nonpharmacological interventions for preschoolers with ADHD. Infant Young Child 2006;19(2):142-153. [doi: <u>10.1097/00001163-200604000-00007</u>]
- 15. Sonuga-Barke EJ, Barton J, Daley D, Hutchings J, Maishman T, Raftery J, et al. A comparison of the clinical effectiveness and cost of specialised individually delivered parent training for preschool attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and a generic, group-based programme: a multi-centre, randomised controlled trial of the New Forest Parenting Programme versus Incredible Years. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2018 Jun 30;27(6):797-809 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00787-017-1054-3] [Medline: 29086103]
- 16. Thompson MJ, Laver-Bradbury C, Ayres M, Le Poidevin E, Mead S, Dodds C, et al. A small-scale randomized controlled trial of the revised new forest parenting programme for preschoolers with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2009 Oct 30;18(10):605-616. [doi: 10.1007/s00787-009-0020-0] [Medline: 19404717]
- 17. van der Oord S, Tripp G. How to improve behavioral parent and teacher training for children with ADHD: integrating empirical research on learning and motivation into treatment. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 2020 Dec 24;23(4):577-604 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10567-020-00327-z] [Medline: 32968886]
- Morris AC, Ibrahim Z, Heslin M, Moghraby OS, Stringaris A, Grant IM, et al. Assessing the feasibility of a web-based outcome measurement system in child and adolescent mental health services myHealthE a randomised controlled feasibility pilot study. Child Adolesc Ment Health 2023 Feb 09;28(1):128-147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/camh.12571] [Medline: 35684987]
- 19. Goodman R. The extended version of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire as a guide to child psychiatric caseness and consequent burden. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2008 Jun 28;40(5):791-799. [doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00494]
- 20. Eyberg SM, Ross AW. Assessment of child behavior problems: the validation of a new inventory. J Clin Child Psychol 2009 Oct 20;7(2):113-116. [doi: 10.1080/15374417809532835]
- 21. Berument SK, Rutter M, Lord C, Pickles A, Bailey A. Autism screening questionnaire: diagnostic validity. Br J Psychiatry 1999 Nov 03;175(5):444-451. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.175.5.444] [Medline: 10789276]
- 22. Swanson JM, Kraemer HC, Hinshaw SP, Arnold LE, Conners CK, Abikoff HB, et al. Clinical relevance of the primary findings of the MTA: success rates based on severity of ADHD and ODD symptoms at the end of treatment. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001 Feb;40(2):168-179. [doi: 10.1097/00004583-200102000-00011] [Medline: 11211365]
- 23. Arnold DS, O'Leary SG, Wolff LS, Acker MM. The Parenting Scale: a measure of dysfunctional parenting in discipline situations. Psychol Assess 1993 Jun;5(2):137-144. [doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.5.2.137]
- 24. Rhoades KA, O'Leary SG. Factor structure and validity of the parenting scale. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2007 Aug 11;36(2):137-146. [doi: 10.1080/15374410701274157] [Medline: 17484687]
- 25. Ohan JL, Leung DW, Johnston C. The Parenting Sense of Competence scale: evidence of a stable factor structure and validity. Can J Behav Sci / Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement 2000;32(4):251-261. [doi: 10.1037/h0087122]
- 26. Brannan AM, Heflinger CA, Bickman L. The caregiver strain questionnaire: measuring the impact on the family of living with a child with serious emotional disturbance. J Emot Behav Disorder 2016 Sep 13;5(4):212-222. [doi: 10.1177/106342669700500404]
- 27. Brooke J. SUS: a 'quick and dirty' usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation In Industry. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996.
- 28. Brooks J, McCluskey S, Turley E, King N. The utility of template analysis in qualitative psychology research. Qual Res Psychol 2015 Apr 03;12(2):202-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14780887.2014.955224] [Medline: 27499705]
- Baumel A, Faber K, Mathur N, Kane JM, Muench F. Enlight: a comprehensive quality and therapeutic potential evaluation tool for mobile and web-based eHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 21;19(3):e82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7270] [Medline: 28325712]

- 30. Treweek S, Lockhart P, Pitkethly M, Cook JA, Kjeldstrøm M, Johansen M, et al. Methods to improve recruitment to randomised controlled trials: cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2013 Feb 07;3(2):e002360 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002360] [Medline: 23396504]
- 31. Digital exclusion: a review of Ofcom's research on digital exclusion among adults in the UK. Ofcom. 2022 Mar 30. URL: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/ data/assets/pdf\_file/0022/234364/digital-exclusion-review-2022.pdf [accessed 2023-06-30]

#### Abbreviations

ADHD: attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder ODD: oppositional defiant disorder OPTIMA: Online Parent Training for the Initial Management of ADHD Referrals RCT: randomized controlled trial SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire STEPS: Structured E-Parenting Support

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 14.03.23; peer-reviewed by V Prasad, K Kan; comments to author 14.06.23; revised version received 19.07.23; accepted 20.07.23; published 11.09.23.

#### <u>Please cite as:</u>

Kostyrka-Allchorne K, Chu P, Ballard C, Lean N, French B, Hedstrom E, Byford S, Cortese S, Daley D, Downs J, Glazebrook C, Goldsmith K, Hall CL, Kovshoff H, Kreppner J, Sayal K, Shearer J, Simonoff E, Thompson M, Sonuga-Barke EJS Remote Recruitment Strategy and Structured E-Parenting Support (STEPS) App: Feasibility and Usability Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e47035 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e47035</u> doi:<u>10.2196/47035</u> PMID:<u>37695667</u>

©Katarzyna Kostyrka-Allchorne, Petrina Chu, Claire Ballard, Nancy Lean, Blandine French, Ellen Hedstrom, Sarah Byford, Samuele Cortese, David Daley, Johnny Downs, Cristine Glazebrook, Kimberley Goldsmith, Charlotte L Hall, Hanna Kovshoff, Jana Kreppner, Kapil Sayal, James Shearer, Emily Simonoff, Margaret Thompson, Edmund J S Sonuga-Barke. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 11.09.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Dropout or Drop-In Experiences in an Internet-Delivered Intervention to Prevent Depression and Enhance Subjective Well-Being During the Perinatal Period: Qualitative Study

Lisbeth Valla<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Silje Marie Haga<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Susan Garthus-Niegel<sup>3,4,5</sup>, PhD; Filip Drozd<sup>1</sup>, PhD

2 3

1

4

5

**Corresponding Author:** Lisbeth Valla, PhD

## Abstract

**Background:** The perinatal period is a vulnerable time when women are at increased risk of depression. "Mamma Mia" is a universal preventive internet-delivered intervention offered to pregnant women, with the primary goals of preventing the onset or worsening of depression and enhancing subjective well-being during the perinatal period. However, treatment dropout from internet-delivered interventions is often reported.

**Objective:** The study aim was to acquire an understanding of the different experiences among participants who dropped out of the Mamma Mia intervention during pregnancy, compared to participants who dropped out during the postpartum follow-up phase.

**Methods:** A total of 16 women from a larger randomized controlled trial (Mamma Mia) participated in individual semistructured interviews following a strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats format. Of the 16 participants included, 8 (50%) women dropped out early from the intervention during pregnancy (pregnancy group), whereas 8 (50%) women dropped out later, after giving birth (postpartum follow-up group). Data were analyzed using the framework approach.

**Results:** The results showed that there were differences between the groups. In general, more participants in the postpartum follow-up group reported that the program was user-friendly. They became more aware of their own thoughts and feelings and perceived that the program had provided them with more new knowledge and practical information than participants in the pregnancy group. Participants in both groups suggested several opportunities for improving the program.

**Conclusions:** There were differences between women who dropped out of the intervention during pregnancy and the postpartum follow-up phase. The reported differences between groups should be further examined.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46982) doi:10.2196/46982

## KEYWORDS

perinatal depression; internet intervention; dropout; well-being; perinatal period

## Introduction

Mental health problems are one of the leading causes of disability worldwide. In particular, depression constitutes a major public health problem [1]. Women are particularly susceptible to depression throughout the perinatal period [2]. During this period, between 10% to 15% of women experience moderate to severe depressive symptoms [3,4]. Depression is commonly associated with a range of negative consequences for the woman (eg, reduced life quality and social functioning); it may also affect the mother-infant relationship and have long-term consequences for their child [5-10] and partner [11,12].

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46982
```

RenderX

Despite the availability of different types of traditional treatments for mental health problems, help-seeking behavior among women with perinatal depression remains low (ie, 17%-25% [13-15]). The negative consequences of maternal depression for the child and the whole family highlight the importance of adequate and timely treatment [8]. Internet-delivered interventions have emerged as an innovative approach to prevent and treat depression. Recent studies have demonstrated their usability, feasibility [16-18], and effectiveness in reducing depressive symptoms [19-24]. However, treatment dropout is often reported, both in unguided and guided internet-delivered interventions [25,26]. Dropout is often preceded by missed sessions or ending without completing the treatment components [27]. Research considers a lower

treatment completion rate as a moderator of treatment effect size [28]. It is important to understand participants' reasons for dropout. Exploring and comparing dropout at different stages helps researchers identify and understand the underlying causes of dropout at different stages of intervention. Researchers have previously found that baseline symptoms of depression, depression with comorbid anxiety symptoms, lower educational levels, interventions without guidance, and gender are risk factors for dropout from psychological web-based interventions for depression [29-31]. Dropout is also frequently cited as being caused by the perception of lengthy and time-consuming content, social changes, the demands of caring for a newborn, a lack of motivation to begin the intervention, engagement with the content and relationship with technology, and feelings of benefits from the intervention [26,32,33].

A qualitative systematic review and meta-synthesis across 24 quality studies was aimed at exploring the views of people who had been invited to participate in digital health interventions for depression [34]. Three themes emerged regarding acceptability and usability: initial motivations and approaches to digital health interventions, the personalization of treatment, and the value of receiving personal support in digital health interventions. The meta-synthesis suggests that participants' initial beliefs about digital health interventions can have an important effect on their engagement with these types of interventions.

In this study, we focused on an internet-delivered, unguided self-help program for depression ("Mamma Mia"), to achieve a deeper understanding of user experiences. Mamma Mia is designed as a universal preventive intervention that can be offered to all pregnant women. Its' primary goals are to prevent the onset or development of depression and enhance subjective well-being during the prenatal and postnatal periods. Examining participants' experiences from a qualitative perspective can provide more in-depth answers about the complexity of treatment dropout. The study aim was thus to acquire an understanding of the different experiences among participants who dropped out of the intervention during pregnancy, compared to participants who dropped out during the postpartum follow-up phase.

## Methods

#### **Study Design and Participants**

This study used a qualitative design with individual semistructured interviews following a strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) format. Participants were recruited through the Mamma Mia randomized controlled trial [20,35], where pregnant women in Norway were invited to participate between December 2013 and February 2015. They were recruited at well-baby clinics, during routine prenatal care, and via hospitals in Eastern Norway during regular ultrasound imaging (gestational wk 18-20). Eligible participants had to be pregnant (up to gestational wk 25), 18 years or older, able to read and write Norwegian, and have access to the internet and an email account. All participants were enrolled for the study, enrolled in the intervention, and invited for an interview, consecutively. Inclusion criteria for being invited to an interview

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46982

were either (1) completing the intervention, (2) having no program activity during the last 4 weeks, or (3) lagging 3 or more sessions behind the prescribed intervention schedule. Participants fulfilling the 2 latter criteria were defined as dropouts.

In this study, 16 interviews were conducted. Respondents were women who were either pregnant or had given birth at the time of the interview. Of the 16 participants included, 8 (50%) women dropped out early in the intervention during pregnancy (pregnancy group), whereas 8 (50%) women dropped out later, after giving birth (postpartum follow-up group). Participants in the pregnancy group had completed between 3 to 15 sessions out of a total of 44 sessions. At the time they were invited to interview, these 8 women had no program activity during the last 4 weeks or were lagging 3 or more sessions behind the prescribed intervention schedule. They had left the program before it ended at session 44 (after birth). Participants in the postportum follow-up group had completed between 25 to 38 sessions out of a total of 44 sessions. They had followed the intervention from session 1 (during pregnancy) to sessions 25-38 (after birth); however, they did not complete the intervention, and at the time they were invited to the interview, they had had no program activity during the last 4 weeks or were lagging 3 or more sessions behind the prescribed intervention schedule.

#### Mamma Mia

Mamma Mia is a universal internet-delivered intervention developed with the primary goals of improving or maintaining subjective well-being and preventing the onset of or reducing depressive symptoms during pregnancy up to 6 months after birth. Overall, Mamma Mia consists of 44 sessions over 11 months in 3 phases, starting from pregnancy between gestational weeks 17 and 24 and lasting into the postpartum period 6 months after childbirth. The first phase, the pregnancy phase, consists of 16 sessions, which starts at gestational week 21 and ends at week 40. The second phase is the maternity phase, which starts when the infant is 2-3 weeks old and lasts for 6 weeks. Sessions are delivered 3 times a week, for a total of 18 sessions. The final phase is the low-intensity follow-up phase, consisting of 10 sessions over 18 weeks. These sessions are delivered with some variation (weekly at first and then biweekly). All sessions include themes specific to the perinatal period. Mamma Mia was deployed as an unguided, universal intervention with a tunneled design to guide women through the program in a step-by-step fashion, in accordance with the psychological preparation of becoming a mother. Each session was designed to take 10-15 minutes. Mamma Mia has a website that could be use on tablets and mobile devices, and the intervention is delivered through email and interactive websites that include text, pictures, prerecorded audio files, and user feedback [36]. In the Mamma Mia randomized controlled trial, the total number of respondents in the total sample was 1342 at baseline; 1117 (83.2%) at gestation week 37; and 962 (71.7%), 886 (66%), 847 (63.1%) at 6 weeks, 3 months, and 6 months post partum, respectively.

#### Interviews

The semistructured interviews followed the theory-neutral SWOT framework, focusing on participants' spontaneous and

open appraisals of Mamma Mia. Each participant was asked questions about what they perceived to be the SWOT to Mamma Mia. During the first part of the interview, participants spoke freely about the different SWOT. In the second part of the interview, a more exploratory approach was used to obtain additional information and a richer description of the SWOT described in the first part of the interview. The SWOT format can be helpful to understand the intervention better and provide potentially more accurate perspectives on the intervention.

The interviews were conducted from March 2014 to April 2015 and were carried out at the Regional Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health. All interviews were recorded electronically and transcribed verbatim. The length of the interviews ranged from 48 to 110 (mean 75.8) minutes.

#### Analysis

Descriptive statistics and frequencies were used to describe the characteristics of the sample. Interviews were analyzed using the framework approach as suggested by Gale et al [37]. The framework approach consisted of 5 phases: familiarization, identification of a thematic framework, indexing, charting, and mapping and interpretation. Familiarization involved immersion in the data by reading the transcripts several times. In developing the thematic framework, we identified themes from issues that the participants raised themselves. Indexing involved systematically applying the thematic framework to all interview transcripts. During the charting phase, we lifted data from their original context and rearranged them according to theme. We identified themes and patterns within and between the 2 different groups of participants: the pregnancy group and the postpartum follow-up group. In the mapping and interpretation phase, we reviewed the charts, compared and contrasted the data, and sought patterns and explanations within the data. NVivo (version 12; Lumivero) was used to structure the condensed meaning units and group differences. The final interviews did not reveal new information or insights, and it was considered that data saturation had been reached. To contribute to reflexivity in the research, continuous reflection was applied throughout the research processes on the researcher's role, biases, values, and relationships.

Frequency labels were used to characterize the data. The "general" label corresponds to all or all but 1 case (n=7-8); the "typical" label corresponds to more than half of the cases up to the cutoff point for the "general" label (n=5-6); and the "some" label corresponds to 2 cases up to the cutoff point for the

"typical" label (n=2-4). When comparing the 2 groups, we defined the results as different if they varied by at least 2 frequency labels [38].

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The study has been performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and has been approved by an appropriate ethics committee, the Norwegian Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics (project REK-SØ 2012/1716). The study was conducted in line with the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist to promote transparency. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants upon recruitment. The Regional Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, has granted permission to access and use the data set. The participants did not receive financial compensation.

## Results

#### **Participants**

In the pregnancy group, the age ranged from 26 to 40 years, with a mean age of 31 years. One of the participants in this group was not a native Norwegian. In the postpartum follow-up group, the age ranged from 21 to 33 years, with a mean age of 29 years, and all the women were native Norwegians. In both groups, all women were married or cohabitating. They were highly educated-in both groups, 38% (3/8) had 1-3 years of college or university education, and 62% (5/8) had  $\geq$ 4 years of college or university education-and all were currently employed. They had few symptoms of depression as measured by the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale [39]; mean scores were 6.8 (SD 5.1) and 6.1 (SD 5.9) in the pregnancy and postpartum follow-up groups, respectively. At baseline in the pregnancy group, the mean Satisfaction With Life Scale [40] score was 21.1 (SD 3.2), mean positive affect score was 37.0 (SD 6.7), and mean negative affect score was 18.50 (SD 7.3). At baseline in the postpartum follow-up group, the mean Satisfaction With Life Scale score was 21.5 (SD 3.9), mean positive affect score was 31.8 (SD 3.06), and mean negative affect score was 22.25 (SD 10.12).

Table 1 shows the 4 primary themes that emerged from the interviews in the 2 groups: user-friendliness, awareness, learning, and adaption.



Valla et al

Table. Perceived experiences of the Mamma Mia intervention as reported by participants in the pregnancy and postpartum follow-up groups

Themes		Pregnancy group	Postpartum follow-up group
User-friendliness	Similarities in subthemes	<ul> <li>Easy to use</li> <li>Technical problems</li> <li>Time-consuming to follow up</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Easy to use</li> <li>Technical problems</li> <li>Time-consuming to follow up</li> </ul>
	Differences in subthemes	• N/A <sup>a</sup>	<ul> <li>Accessibility</li> <li>Simple design</li> <li>Weekly reminders</li> <li>Positive repetition of information</li> <li>Difficult to catch up</li> </ul>
Awareness			
	Similarities in subthemes	• Relationship to the partner	• Relationship to the partner
	Differences in subthemes	• Awareness of the pregnancy phases	<ul> <li>Conscious of thoughts and feelings</li> <li>Connection to the baby</li> <li>Normalization of emotions</li> <li>Reflection</li> </ul>
Learning			
	Similarities in subthemes	• Evidence-based information	• Evidence-based information
	Differences in subthemes	• Instructive exercises	<ul><li>New knowledge</li><li>New tools</li></ul>
Adaptation			
	Similarities in subthemes	• Follow-up	• Follow-up
	Differences subthemes	<ul><li>Adaptation to the target group</li><li>Relevant information</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Flexibility in the program</li> <li>More information or links to external sources</li> </ul>

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **User-Friendliness**

There was a group difference in the perceived user-friendliness of the program. Only some of the women in the pregnancy group mentioned that the program was easy to use, whereas women in the postpartum follow-up group generally reported that the program was user-friendly. When they reported that the program was user-friendly, they highlighted the accessibility of the program, the design, the weekly reminders, and the repetition of information to increase usability. They emphasized that the intervention contained brief, relevant information and appropriate reminders for the user. They also favored the program over other websites or web-based sources of information.

It was very easy to log in, click on the links, and follow the program. It was also very easy to use...There was an okay amount of information. [Respondent 238]

I appreciate that the program is friendliness. You click on the E-mail, and you don't need a password. It is an advantage with weekly reminders. [Respondent 8]

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46982
```

RenderX

# It is very easy to use. I have it on my phone, an email comes up. So, it is very user-friendly. [Respondent 173]

At the same time, participants in both groups typically experienced technical challenges with the program. They reported that the program did not always work well on mobile phones and tablets. It was also difficult to store and retrieve information and videos in the program, especially when using a mobile phone. As 1 woman in the pregnancy group said: "The program did not work very well on my phone. It should be easier to follow the program if it had worked on my mobile" (respondent 327)

In general, participants in both groups also reported that the program was time-consuming with frequent emails and many program days. They did not always have time to complete the sessions according to the prescribed program schedule, especially if they had other children to care for. When they fell behind schedule, it felt difficult to catch up again, and for some women, this was perceived as stressful. A participant in the postpartum follow-up group said: "It's challenging to spend so much time with your PC. Before I had the baby, it was nice to

get an email and pay attention to the program. But after having the baby, I simply did not have the time" (respondent 8).

A participant from the pregnancy group said: "I used the program more actively in the beginning. I had decided to prioritize it" (respondent 248).

#### Awareness

After participating in Mamma Mia, participants in the postpartum follow-up group generally reported that they had become more aware of their own thoughts and feelings than participants in the pregnancy group.

I became more aware of my own thoughts, feelings, and moods...It made me aware of processes in myself. [Respondent 238]

I'm more aware of all these emotions, and became a little more...[have] gotten more in touch with myself. [Respondent 279]

Some participants in the pregnancy group talked about awareness in relation to the phases of pregnancy and in their relationship with their partner. In contrast, women in the postpartum follow-up group typically talked about the changes that occurred during the transition to motherhood, as well as how the information in the program created awareness and self-reflection and contained important reminders that facilitated attachment and bonding with the baby. They emphasized that themes containing information about the baby were one of the strengths of the program.

You feel like you are better able to connect with your baby. It strengthens the bond with the baby...and the connection is something that comes gradually. [Respondent 155]

I can now see how my baby responds to different things. [Respondent 218]

The postpartum follow-up group also mentioned the ways in which the program helped them in their daily life by looking at things more positively. In addition to normalizing feelings, during pregnancy or in situations where it was difficult to comfort the child, they gained a greater understanding that they were not alone in experiencing such situations.

It is useful to learn that people may have the same kind of challenges with the child as you. I became aware that some situations are normal, and I am not the only one who has these experiences. [Respondent 202]

Many people, my-self included, have concerns. When you are told that, for example, negative thoughts are normal, it feels good. [Respondent 251]

#### Learning

There was a difference between the groups in terms of learning outcomes. Learning was not to any great extent reported in the pregnancy group, whereas respondents in the postpartum follow-up group generally reported that the program had provided them with new knowledge and practical information that were useful. However, in the pregnancy group, relaxation exercises, such as mindfulness exercises, were perceived as

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46982
```

pleasant and instructive by some respondents. Participants in the postpartum follow-up group typically reported that they had gained knowledge through information and interactivity in the program. They highlighted knowledge such as how to comfort the child, the stages of infant sleep-wake cycles, and how to manage conflicts in their relationship with their partner. This was useful because they used it in their interaction with their child and partner.

There is a lot of practical information that you need as a new parent. I learned a few techniques, for example, to distinguish between the different stages of sleep. I learned a lot from that. [Respondent 155] I learned a lot of things that I wasn't fully aware of, such as comforting the child. [Respondent 279]

I really think that the whole program was very educational. [Respondent 238]

In general, participants in the postpartum follow-up group described that they changed their thoughts, feelings, and ways of interacting with their child and partner by acquiring new knowledge. They received practical strategies that influenced how they adapted to different requirements and environments, whether this applied to their child or partner. Participants said that they have been given new useful tools. For example, methods such as "gradual comforting" and managing infant sleep-wake cycles were mentioned as useful tools that were translated into practical strategies, helping them consider "what should be done" and "how it should be done."

It was very exciting...You don't necessarily solve all problems, but you get some tools that can be used to solve problems constructively. [Respondent 155] When a situation gets difficult, I now have a strategy to use. [Respondent 238]

They appreciated that the content provided in the program was quality assured, in contrast to other information found on the web. They described the information that was given as trustworthy, and a couple of participants in both groups highlighted that the information in the program was evidence based. However, although the content was relevant, some of the participants also said that some exercises were difficult to implement. Difficult exercises that were mentioned were techniques intended to improve communication skills and facilitate conflict resolution with their partner.

#### Adaptation

Participants in both groups suggested several opportunities for improving the program. Women in the pregnancy group typically suggested that the content of the program should be better adapted. They perceived that the content of the program was aimed at first-time mothers and suggested that the program should also be addressed to a greater extent to multiparous women. Some respondents also reported that some of the content in the program was familiar or not very relevant. Some sessions were considered too brief, and they emphasized the lack of depth and relevance of the information as central weaknesses. Furthermore, they suggested a parallel program dealing with problems concerning difficulties relevant to multiparous women.

The challenge is that...there are people with different personalities and situations in one program. It is difficult to find a program that could be adapted to everyone. [Respondent 248]

The fact that I am a third-time mother may have affected me in the way I perceive Mamma Mia...It could have been divided into first- and second-time mothers, and asked questions about how the current pregnancy is different from the previous pregnancy. [Respondent 32]

It was, in general, more pronounced in the postpartum follow-up group that they wanted more flexibility in the program. They reported dissatisfaction with the tunneled sequence—having to complete 1 module before starting the next one. A better adaptation of the program, where participants can drop some of the modules or reenter the program later, may help them perceive the program as being less stressful. The lack of flexibility was also mentioned with regard to subjects the women wanted to learn more about. Some sessions were considered too brief and superficial. Therefore, participants suggested links to web portals or other sources to retrieve more information of interest. The participants expressed a desire to go deeper into 1 subject of interest. Specifically, a link to more information about practical care for the infant and sleep was mentioned.

It's really about making suggestions about where to find more information, quality-assured information. [Respondent 255]

Access to resources, libraries or something where you have the opportunity to find out more. [Respondent 155]

Some respondents in both groups, regardless of how long they had used the program for, wanted further follow-up when something was difficult.

...that I get further help to figure out what to do next when I'm very depressed, or something is wrong. A description of how to proceed to get help. [Respondent 8]

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study aimed to acquire an understanding of the participants' experiences of a universal, internet-delivered intervention offered to all pregnant women, with the primary goals of preventing the onset or worsening of depression and enhancing subjective well-being during the perinatal period. We compared the experiences between participants who dropped out during the pregnancy phase to participants who dropped out during the postpartum follow-up phase. The analysis resulted in 4 themes, each relating to different experiences with the intervention. The results showed that there were similarities but also differences between the groups. The postpartum follow-up group had a larger proportion of participants who reported that the program was user-friendly. They also became more aware of their own thoughts and feelings and perceived that the program had provided them with more new knowledge and practical information than participants in the pregnancy group. However,

respondents in both groups suggested several opportunities to improve the program. Although women in the pregnancy group typically suggested that the content of the program should be better adapted to the target group, it was generally more pronounced in the postpartum follow-up group that they wanted more flexibility.

Despite these findings, Mamma Mia was described as a positive and credible intervention in both groups. The main different between the group was that, in general, more women in the postpartum follow-up group reported that the program was user-friendly; emphasized the accessibility of the program; and indicated that the intervention containing brief, relevant information and reminders suitable for the user. They reported that the presentation and navigation in the program was easy to use and understand and was aesthetically pleasing, which was mainly due to the design. The experiences of user-friendliness may have contributed to the fact that women in the postpartum follow-up group followed the intervention longer than women in the pregnancy group. Users of internet-delivered interventions often experience barriers and difficulties when using new technology [26,41], but a design that is easy to use and perceived as user-friendly can reduce this burden [42]. It can thus contribute to maintaining engagement and achieving benefits from digital health interventions [43-45]. However, technical challenges with the program were mentioned by participants in both groups. They reported that the program did not always work well on mobile phones and tablets and that it sometimes was difficult to store and retrieve information and videos in the program, especially when using a mobile phone. This issue is important since previous research has shown that improving the convenience of internet programs improves usability and reduces attrition [26,41]. Our findings add to this evidence, indicating that there is still great potential for improvement in the design of eHealth products to provide technology that users will participate in and use.

Women in both groups also typically reported that the program was time-consuming and that they did not always have time to complete the sessions as prescribed according to the program schedule. Giving birth and caring for a new infant mark an important transition in life. Although this transition is often exciting and rewarding, it also leads to a multitude of new responsibilities, often alongside a range of physical, psychological, and social changes [46]; this may have made it difficult to follow the program on a weekly basis post partum. However, adaptation to a maternal role is affected by individual factors, such as educational background, their partner, and psychological state (eg, depression) [47-49]. The literature has previously documented the influence of external factors on treatment dropout [50,51], stating that the demands these factors place on the individual will lead to dropout if they are viewed as an obstacle to the individual's daily life [51]. Lagging behind may result in perceiving the program as stressful, and the demands of motherhood may directly interfere with their ability to complete the program [52].

Differences between the groups were also found in relation to awareness and learning outcomes. In general, more women in the postpartum follow-up group reported how the information in the program had created awareness and self-reflection and

XSL•FO RenderX

contained important reminders that facilitated attachment and bonding with the baby. These findings are in line with previous research showing that many noncompleters also experience the clinical benefit of programs [53] and that the greatest benefits of interventions can be observed among those with a completion rate in the top quartile [28]. However, the postpartum follow-up group dropped out later and thus may have found the program more beneficial or positive in general. From a prevention and treatment perspective, these findings are important because the intervention was designed to prevent the onset or worsening of perinatal depression among pregnant and postpartum women and, thus, negative consequences for the child as well [6,54]. Our findings of different learning and awareness experiences in the 2 groups could be contributed to both individual differences between the participants and factors related to the intervention. However, there were no differences between participants in the groups in terms of marital status, education, or employment. Participants in both groups also had few symptoms of depression, and there were no differences in quality of life or negative affect scores between the participants before they started the intervention.

Opportunities for improving the program were mentioned by both groups. Although women in the pregnancy group typically suggested that the content of the program should be better adapted to the target group, women in the postpartum follow-up group emphasized that they wanted more flexibility in the program. Although participants in internet-delivered interventions usually can choose where and when they want to work with the program, they requested more flexibility and suggested links to more information on some subjects. This is in line with previous research, showing that inflexibility is a common experience among participants in internet-delivered treatment that can lead to nonadherence [55]. Some important limitations should be noted when interpreting the results of this study. First, the women who participated were typically living with a partner, well educated, and employed. They also scored low on depressive symptoms and high on subjective well-being. Thus, a limitation of this study is the potential of sampling bias. Maternal mental health can change during pregnancy and the postpartum period, and therefore, universal health programs must reach as many women as possible, including those who are doing well. However, future research should include a more diverse sample of women, for example, women with lower socioeconomic status, a history of depressive disorders, or current mild to moderate symptoms of depression (ie, Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale score≥10). Despite these limitations, the result of this study adds to the literature on user experiences with dropout from a universal internet-delivered program in the perinatal period.

#### Conclusion

The results of this study showed that there were differences between women who dropped out of the intervention during pregnancy and the postpartum follow-up phase. In general, more women in the postpartum follow-up group reported that the program was user-friendly. They became more conscious of their own thoughts and feelings and perceived that the program had provided them with more new knowledge and practical information than participants in the pregnancy group. However, women in both groups suggested several opportunities to improve the program. Although women in the pregnancy group typically suggested that the content of the program should be better adapted to the target group, it was in general more pronounced in the postpartum follow-up group that they wanted more flexibility in the program. The reported differences between groups should be further examined.

#### Acknowledgments

We are grateful to all the women who took part in this study.

#### **Data Availability**

The data that support the findings of this study are available from Regional Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, Oslo, Norway, but restrictions apply to the availability of these data, which were used under license for the current study and so are not publicly available. Data are however available from the author upon reasonable request and with permission of the Regional Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

LV participated in the study design and contributed to the interpretation. LV was responsible for the analytic framework of the study and writing of the manuscript. SMH participated in the study design, conducted the interviews, participated in the analytic framework of the study, and critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. SG-N critically revised the manuscript for the study design; conducted the interviews; and participated in the analytic framework of the study, data interpretation, and in the writing of the manuscript. All authors have given their final approval of the final version of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

XS	L•	F	С
Rei	۱d	eı	٠X

- 1. Herrman H, Patel V, Kieling C, et al. Time for united action on depression: a Lancet-World Psychiatric Association commission. Lancet 2022 Mar 5;399(10328):957-1022. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02141-3] [Medline: 35180424]
- 2. O'Hara MW, McCabe JE. Postpartum depression: current status and future directions. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2013;9:379-407. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185612] [Medline: 23394227]
- Woody CA, Ferrari AJ, Siskind DJ, Whiteford HA, Harris MG. A systematic review and meta-regression of the prevalence and incidence of perinatal depression. J Affect Disord 2017 Sep;219:86-92. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2017.05.003</u>] [Medline: <u>28531848</u>]
- 4. Hahn-Holbrook J, Cornwell-Hinrichs T, Anaya I. Economic and health predictors of national postpartum depression prevalence: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression of 291 studies from 56 countries. Front Psychiatry 2017 Feb 1;8:248. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00248] [Medline: 29449816]
- Bornstein MH, Manian N, Henry LM. Clinically depressed and typically developing mother-infant dyads: domain base rates and correspondences, relationship contingencies and attunement. Infancy 2021 Nov;26(6):877-900. [doi: 10.1111/infa.12427] [Medline: <u>34343395</u>]
- Slomian J, Honvo G, Emonts P, Reginster JY, Bruyère O. Consequences of maternal postpartum depression: a systematic review of maternal and infant outcomes. Womens Health (Lond) 2019;15:1745506519844044. [doi: 10.1177/1745506519844044] [Medline: 31035856]
- 7. Black MM, Walker SP, Fernald LCH, et al. Early childhood development coming of age: science through the life course. Lancet 2017 Jan 7;389(10064):77-90. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31389-7] [Medline: 27717614]
- Netsi E, Pearson RM, Murray L, Cooper P, Craske MG, Stein A. Association of persistent and severe postnatal depression with child outcomes. JAMA Psychiatry 2018 Mar 1;75(3):247-253. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.4363</u>] [Medline: <u>29387878</u>]
- Rogers A, Obst S, Teague SJ, et al. Association between maternal perinatal depression and anxiety and child and adolescent development: a meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2020 Nov 1;174(11):1082-1092. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.2910</u>] [Medline: <u>32926075</u>]
- 10. Federica G, Renata T, Marzilli E. Parental postnatal depression in the time of the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review of its effects on the parent-child relationship and the child's developmental outcomes. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2023 Jan 21;20(3):2018. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph20032018] [Medline: 36767385]
- Thiel F, Pittelkow MM, Wittchen HU, Garthus-Niegel S. The relationship between paternal and maternal depression during the perinatal period: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Psychiatry 2020 Oct 29;11:563287. [doi: <u>10.3389/fpsyt.2020.563287</u>] [Medline: <u>33192682</u>]
- 12. Chhabra J, McDermott B, Li W. Risk factors for paternal perinatal depression and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychol Men Masc 2020;21(4):593-611. [doi: 10.1037/men0000259]
- Seefeld L, Mojahed A, Thiel F, Schellong J, Garthus-Niegel S. Preferences and barriers to counseling for and treatment of intimate partner violence, depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorder among postpartum women: study protocol of the cross-sectional study INVITE. Front Psychiatry 2022 Mar 29;13:836350. [doi: <u>10.3389/fpsyt.2022.836350</u>] [Medline: <u>35422719</u>]
- 14. Jones A. Help seeking in the perinatal period: a review of barriers and facilitators. Soc Work Public Health 2019;34(7):596-605. [doi: 10.1080/19371918.2019.1635947] [Medline: 31242074]
- 15. Sorsa MA, Kylmä J, Bondas TE. Contemplating help-seeking in perinatal psychological distress-a meta-ethnography. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 May 14;18(10):5226. [doi: <u>10.3390/ijerph18105226</u>] [Medline: <u>34069073</u>]
- 16. Danaher BG, Milgrom J, Seeley JR, et al. MomMoodBooster web-based intervention for postpartum depression: feasibility trial results. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 4;15(11):e242. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.2876</u>] [Medline: <u>24191345</u>]
- 17. Haga SM, Drozd F, Brendryen H, Slinning K. Mamma Mia: a feasibility study of a web-based intervention to reduce the risk of postpartum depression and enhance subjective well-being. JMIR Res Protoc 2013 Aug 12;2(2):e29. [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2659] [Medline: 23939459]
- Avalos LA, Aghaee S, Kurtovich E, et al. A mobile health mindfulness intervention for women with moderate to moderately severe postpartum depressive symptoms: feasibility study. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Nov 12;7(11):e17405. [doi: 10.2196/17405] [Medline: 33180028]
- Milgrom J, Danaher BG, Seeley JR, et al. Internet and face-to-face cognitive behavioral therapy for postnatal depression compared with treatment as usual: randomized controlled trial of MumMoodBooster. J Med Internet Res 2021 Dec 8;23(12):e17185. [doi: 10.2196/17185] [Medline: 34889742]
- Haga SM, Drozd F, Lisøy C, Wentzel-Larsen T, Slinning K. Mamma Mia a randomized controlled trial of an internet-based intervention for perinatal depression. Psychol Med 2019 Aug;49(11):1850-1858. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291718002544</u>] [Medline: <u>30191779</u>]
- 21. Lee EW, Denison FC, Hor K, Reynolds RM. Web-based interventions for prevention and treatment of perinatal mood disorders: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Feb 29;16:38. [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0831-1] [Medline: 26928898]
- 22. Chae JM, Kim HK. Internet-based prenatal interventions for maternal health among pregnant women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Child Youth Serv Rev 2021 Aug;127:106079. [doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106079]

- 23. Hanach N, de Vries N, Radwan H, Bissani N. The effectiveness of telemedicine interventions, delivered exclusively during the postnatal period, on postpartum depression in mothers without history or existing mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Midwifery 2021 Mar;94:102906. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2020.102906] [Medline: 33360589]
- 24. Lau Y, Htun TP, Wong SN, Tam WSW, Klainin-Yobas P. Therapist-supported internet-based cognitive behavior therapy for stress, anxiety, and depressive symptoms among postpartum women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 28;19(4):e138. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6712</u>] [Medline: <u>28455276</u>]
- 25. Børtveit L, Dechsling A, Sütterlin S, Nordgreen T, Nordahl-Hansen A. Guided internet-delivered treatment for depression: scoping review. JMIR Ment Health 2022 Oct 4;9(10):e37342. [doi: 10.2196/37342] [Medline: 36194467]
- 26. Lawler K, Earley C, Timulak L, Enrique A, Richards D. Dropout from an internet-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy intervention for adults with depression and anxiety: qualitative study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Nov 12;5(11):e26221. [doi: 10.2196/26221] [Medline: 34766909]
- 27. Melville KM, Casey LM, Kavanagh DJ. Dropout from internet-based treatment for psychological disorders. Br J Clin Psychol 2010 Nov;49(Pt 4):455-471. [doi: 10.1348/014466509X472138] [Medline: 19799804]
- 28. Wright JH, Owen JJ, Richards D, et al. Computer-assisted cognitive-behavior therapy for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 2019 Mar 19;80(2):18r12188. [doi: <u>10.4088/JCP.18r12188</u>] [Medline: <u>30900849</u>]
- 29. Karyotaki E, Kleiboer A, Smit F, et al. Predictors of treatment dropout in self-guided web-based interventions for depression: an 'individual patient data' meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2015 Oct;45(13):2717-2726. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000665] [Medline: 25881626]
- Haller K, Becker P, Niemeyer H, Boettcher J. Who benefits from guided internet-based interventions? a systematic review of predictors and moderators of treatment outcome. Internet Interv 2023 Jun 9;33:100635. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.invent.2023.100635</u>] [Medline: <u>37449052</u>]
- Li L, Yue S, Xu J, Qiao J, Redding SR, Ouyang YQ. Effectiveness of internet-based psychological interventions for treating perinatal depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Nurs 2023 Jul;32(13-14):3087-3101. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.16399] [Medline: 35697972]
- Beatty L, Binnion C, Kemp E, Koczwara B. A qualitative exploration of barriers and facilitators adherence to an online self-help intervention for cancer-related distress. Support Care Cancer 2017 Aug;25(8):2539-2548. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3663-2] [Medline: 28299458]
- Xavier S, Monteiro F, Canavarro MC, Fonseca A. Be a Mom: patterns of program usage and acceptability among women with low-risk and high-risk for postpartum depression. Front Glob Womens Health 2022 Mar 17;3:841427. [doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2022.841427] [Medline: 35368996]
- Patel S, Akhtar A, Malins S, et al. The acceptability and usability of digital health interventions for adults with depression, anxiety, and somatoform disorders: qualitative systematic review and meta-synthesis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 6;22(7):e16228. [doi: 10.2196/16228] [Medline: 32628116]
- 35. Haga SM, Kinser P, Wentzel-Larsen T, et al. A randomized controlled trial of an internet intervention to enhance subjective well-being in perinatal women. J Posit Psychol 2021;16(4):446-454. [doi: 10.1080/17439760.2020.1738535]
- Drozd F, Haga SM, Brendryen H, Slinning K. An internet-based intervention (Mamma Mia) for postpartum depression: mapping the development from theory to practice. JMIR Res Protoc 2015 Oct 12;4(4):e120. [doi: <u>10.2196/resprot.4858</u>] [Medline: <u>26476481</u>]
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Sep 18;13:117. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-117] [Medline: 24047204]
- Hill CE, Thompson BJ, Williams EN. A guide to conducting consensual qualitative research. Couns Psychol 1997 Oct;25(4):517-572. [doi: 10.1177/0011000097254001]
- Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. Br J Psychiatry 1987 Jun;150:782-786. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.150.6.782</u>] [Medline: <u>3651732</u>]
- 40. Diener E, Emmons RA, Larsen RJ, Griffin S. The Satisfaction With Life Scale. J Pers Assess 1985 Feb;49(1):71-75. [doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901\_13] [Medline: 16367493]
- Fernández-Álvarez J, Díaz-García A, González-Robles A, Baños R, García-Palacios A, Botella C. Dropping out of a transdiagnostic online intervention: a qualitative analysis of client's experiences. Internet Interv 2017 Sep 22;10:29-38. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.invent.2017.09.001</u>] [Medline: <u>30135750</u>]
- 42. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among US mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov 4;3(4):e101. [doi: <u>10.2196/mhealth.4924</u>] [Medline: <u>26537656</u>]
- 43. Lie SS, Karlsen B, Oord ER, Graue M, Oftedal B. Dropout from an eHealth intervention for adults with type 2 diabetes: a qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 30;19(5):e187. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.7479</u>] [Medline: <u>28559223</u>]
- 44. Earley C, Joyce C, McElvaney J, Richards D, Timulak L. Preventing depression: qualitatively examining the benefits of depression-focused iCBT for participants who do not meet clinical thresholds. Internet Interv 2017 Jul 10;9:82-87. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.07.003] [Medline: 30135841]

- 45. Pugh NE, Hadjistavropoulos HD, Hampton AJD, Bowen A, Williams J. Client experiences of guided internet cognitive behavior therapy for postpartum depression: a qualitative study. Arch Womens Ment Health 2015 Apr;18(2):209-219. [doi: 10.1007/s00737-014-0449-0] [Medline: 25109484]
- 46. Deave T, Johnson D, Ingram J. Transition to parenthood: the needs of parents in pregnancy and early parenthood. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2008 Jul 29;8:30. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-8-30] [Medline: 18664251]
- 47. Kirova K, Snell T. Women's experiences of positive postnatal partner support. J Reprod Infant Psychol 2019 Apr;37(2):206-218. [doi: 10.1080/02646838.2018.1542120] [Medline: 30481064]
- 48. Solera C, Martín-García T. Does the field of study affect entry into motherhood? evidence from Italy. Popul Rev 2020;59(1). [doi: <u>10.1353/prv.2020.0000</u>]
- 49. Wiklund I, Edman G, Larsson C, Andolf E. First-time mothers and changes in personality in relation to mode of delivery. J Adv Nurs 2009 Aug;65(8):1636-1644. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05018.x] [Medline: 19602011]
- 50. Waller R, Gilbody S. Barriers to the uptake of computerized cognitive behavioural therapy: a systematic review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. Psychol Med 2009 May;39(5):705-712. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291708004224] [Medline: 18812006]
- 51. Johansson O, Michel T, Andersson G, Paxling B. Experiences of non-adherence to internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy: a qualitative study. Internet Interv 2015 May;2(2):137-142. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2015.02.006]
- O'Mahen HA, Grieve H, Jones J, McGinley J, Woodford J, Wilkinson EL. Women's experiences of factors affecting treatment engagement and adherence in internet delivered behavioural activation for postnatal depression. Internet Interv 2015 Mar;2(1):84-90. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.11.003]
- Hilvert-Bruce Z, Rossouw PJ, Wong N, Sunderland M, Andrews G. Adherence as a determinant of effectiveness of internet cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety and depressive disorders. Behav Res Ther 2012 Aug;50(7-8):463-468. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2012.04.001] [Medline: 22659155]
- 54. Goodman SH, Rouse MH, Connell AM, Broth MR, Hall CM, Heyward D. Maternal depression and child psychopathology: a meta-analytic review. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 2011 Mar;14(1):1-27. [doi: 10.1007/s10567-010-0080-1] [Medline: 21052833]
- 55. Halmetoja CO, Malmquist A, Carlbring P, Andersson G. Experiences of internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for social anxiety disorder four years later: a qualitative study. Internet Interv 2014 Jul;1(3):158-163. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.08.001]

#### Abbreviations

**COREQ:** Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research **SWOT:** strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 04.03.23; peer-reviewed by A Reupert, J Scott, LL Leng, M Gonzalez; revised version received 24.10.23; accepted 06.11.23; published 22.12.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Valla L, Haga SM, Garthus-Niegel S, Drozd F Dropout or Drop-In Experiences in an Internet-Delivered Intervention to Prevent Depression and Enhance Subjective Well-Being During the Perinatal Period: Qualitative Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46982 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46982</u> doi:<u>10.2196/46982</u>

© Lisbeth Valla, Silje Marie Haga, Susan Garthus-Niegel, Filip Drozd. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Review**

# Digital Behavioral Activation Interventions During the Perinatal Period: Scoping Review

Elisa Mancinelli<sup>1,2\*</sup>, MSc; Gaia Dell'Arciprete<sup>1\*</sup>, MSc; Davide Pattarozzi<sup>1\*</sup>, MSc; Silvia Gabrielli<sup>2\*</sup>, PhD; Silvia Salcuni<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Developmental and Socialization Psychology, University of Padova, Padova, Italy

<sup>2</sup>Digital Health Lab, Centre for Digital Health and Wellbeing, Fondazione Bruno Kessler, Trento, Italy \*all authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** 

Elisa Mancinelli, MSc Department of Developmental and Socialization Psychology, University of Padova Via Venezia 8 Padova, 35121 Italy Phone: 39 3342799698 Email: <u>elisa.mancinelli@phd.unipd.it</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Pregnancy is a complex period that implies many biopsychosocial changes, and the way women adapt to these changes impacts their well-being and the chances of developing mental health problems. During the perinatal period, women have expressed a preference for support delivered on the web. In this regard, interventions such as behavioral activation (BA), which are brief and structured psychosocial interventions, seem particularly suited to be delivered through digital solutions.

**Objective:** This study aimed to map the literature investigating digital BA interventions deployed during the perinatal period. We paid particular attention to the methodological underpinnings of the studies, the potential impact of BA interventions on symptoms other than depression, and the existence of differences occurring when these interventions were administered during pregnancy versus the postpartum period.

**Methods:** A systematic search compliant with the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis extension for Scoping Reviews) guidelines was conducted considering 5 bibliographic databases; reference lists and key journals were also screened by 2 independent authors following a double-blind approach.

**Results:** A total of 7 studies published between 2013 and 2022 were included. In total, 2 studies were protocols for randomized controlled trials, 5 were empirical studies, and 1 was a qualitative study. All studies focused on the postpartum period, except for 1 that focused on the broader perinatal period. Promising effects on depression symptoms were reported but not on other psychosocial symptoms. Low intervention adherence has emerged, whereas the usability associated with the digital means used to deploy interventions was scarcely addressed; moreover, information on the digital platforms used was poorly reported overall.

**Conclusions:** Our findings highlight the scarcity and preliminary nature of digital BA interventions deployed during the perinatal period, where the focus seems more on treatment rather than prevention. Moreover, future studies should also consider and address usability and user engagement, given their relevance to intervention efficacy.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40937) doi:10.2196/40937

#### **KEYWORDS**

behavioral activation; eHealth; perinatal care; depression symptoms; scoping review; mobile phone

## Introduction

#### Background

RenderX

The transition to motherhood is a life-changing experience entailing a series of social, psychological, and hormonal

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40937

changes, which may be challenging to adapt to and often cause exhaustion, a sense of overwhelm, and fatigue [1,2], thereby directly impacting pregnant and postpartum women's quality of life and overall well-being. Taken together, these factors define the perinatal period as a high-risk period for women's mental health [3,4]. The literature provides plenty of evidence

on this matter, highlighting how pregnancy is often associated with mood instability [5] and common mental disorders (1%-37%) [6] as well as depression (approximately 25.3%) [6,7] and anxiety (1%-26%) [6]. Depression symptoms during pregnancy, in particular, are among the main predictors of postpartum depression [8]. From a clinical viewpoint, depression during the perinatal period is described as peripartum depression, which consists of an episode of major depression with peripartum onset, satisfying the criteria for either major depression or persistent depressive disorder [9]. The direct association of peripartum depression with the peculiar challenges and bodily changes intrinsic to the perinatal period makes the condition peculiar, thereby determining the need to consider it as a stand-alone disorder [10]. Accordingly, a recent review concluded that peripartum depression "may be distinct from major depressive disorder with respect to symptom severity, hormone contributions, heritability, epigenetic mechanisms, and response to standard and novel treatment interventions" [**10**].

Considering the detrimental effects that depression symptoms, together with the often associated anxiety and stress symptoms, have on the physical and psychological well-being of both mothers and children [4], it is paramount to take prompt action and minimize the incidence of adverse effects. In this regard, it is important to emphasize that in the present age, beside the abovementioned challenges, the perinatal period can be experienced very differently by women. Physiological pregnancies and artificially induced ones, that is, pregnancies reached through assisted reproductive techniques (ARTs; eg, in vitro fertilization and intracellular sperm injection), can particularly be distinguished between in this regard. As a matter of fact, ARTs are infertility treatment that determine a series of specific challenges that differentiate them from physiological pregnancies, such as increased psychological distress, loss of self-esteem, relationship problems, disruption in personal life, and even economic problems linked to the substantial expenses they entail [11-14]; this determines a greater psychological toll compared with physiological pregnancies. Moreover, ART are associated with an increased risk of miscarriage [15,16], which could further hinder women's adaptation capacities; although having reached pregnancy, many women might still be mourning their previous interrupted ones [17]. For these reasons, physiological pregnancies, ART-induced pregnancies, and consequent postpartum periods must be deemed as very different experiences. Accordingly, it is paramount to account for their peculiarities in clinical practice by tailoring interventions specifically to their respective needs.

In this regard, contrary to women undergoing ART who are kept under greater clinical scrutiny by default, access to mental health care for women at large going through the perinatal period is severely limited by a series of logistic challenges; for instance, time constraints, lack of information about services, and social stigma are indicated by women themselves as the main obstacles hindering their ability and willingness to seek help [18-20]. However, such barriers can be overcome through the implementation of digital interventions; the literature not only highlights a clear preference for support delivered through a web-based format expressed by women experiencing mental health issues during the postpartum period [21-23] but also underscores how such treatments are effective in decreasing the severity of mood disorders, both during pregnancy and the postpartum period [24-26].

In this regard, behavioral activation (BA) interventions, which in their modern protocols can be counted among the so-called "third wave" cognitive and behavioral therapies [27], seem particularly suited to be implemented digitally. BA is a brief, structured, and empirically supported psychotherapeutic approach developed as a stand-alone treatment for depression [28]. Laying its foundation on the behavioral model, it is mainly aimed at increasing engagement in adaptive and pleasurable activities and decreasing engagement in maladaptive behaviors through the systematic targeting of patients' escape and avoidance strategies [29,30]. The focus is exclusively on the promotion of behavioral change, stimulated by using a series of different strategies such as self-monitoring, activity scheduling, values and goals assessment, and skills training. The ultimate goal is to encourage patients to act in line with their values, allowing them to reconnect with sources of positive reinforcement and fostering a sense of well-being, agency, and mastery through the reconstruction of a routine [30]. Both the efficacy and effectiveness of in-person BA as a treatment specific for depression have been widely proven [31], and the literature also provides promising evidence regarding its efficacy in perinatal depression, both in terms of improved outcomes [29,32] and of engagement and satisfaction [33]. The distinctive features of BA render it a parsimonious, transportable, simple to implement, and cost-effective treatment, suitable to be administered by both specialists and generic mental health professionals [34] in a wide range of formats such as web-based interventions or self-guided smartphone apps [29]. Encouraging findings already exist on the feasibility of internet-based BA interventions for adults with symptoms of depression [35]; therefore, it seems appropriate to further investigate the topic within the context of perinatal care. Nonetheless, it is worth mentioning that evidence on the efficacy and specific features of BA interventions during the perinatal period is still scarce and inconspicuous. For instance, there is some initial evidence highlighting that the effect of in-person BA on depression symptoms might also generalize to other symptoms, thereby leading to the simultaneous reduction of the highly associated anxiety and stress [29,30,32]. However, studies investigating the efficacy of BA interventions have classically focused on the mere reduction of depression symptoms; thus, further research is needed to deepen our knowledge and provide solid evidence on its effects on other concurrent mental health conditions. Similarly, although as previously mentioned, existing studies regarding digital interventions show promising results, and it must be noted that it is a fairly new field and is still under development; therefore, further studies are needed in this area as well [35,36]. Accordingly, this scoping review aimed to map the available literature on digital BA interventions administered specifically during the perinatal period. Scoping reviews serve to bring together "literature in disciplines with emerging evidence, as they are suited to addressing questions beyond those related to the effectiveness or experience of an intervention" [37]. Indeed, this methodological approach to literature review allows us to map the range, nature, and extent

XSL•FO RenderX

of existing research evidence on a given topic regardless of the specific study design while also allowing the identification of gaps within the available literature [38]. Accordingly, this scoping review intended to investigate how BA interventions have been deployed through digital solutions, paying particular attention to their methodological underpinnings; a further aim was to assess if studies have considered the potential of digital BA interventions to influence symptoms and conditions other than depression (eg, anxiety and stress symptoms, overall quality of life, and well-being). This was expected to provide insights useful for refining the existing digital BA interventions. Moreover, it was also expected to support the further development of effective prevention and intervention programs divulged through digital solutions for women in the perinatal period, thereby supporting both their own and their children's well-being.

#### **Objectives**

The specific research questions guiding this scoping review were as follows: (1) How have BA interventions been structured (eg, intervention length, number of modules, topics considered, and guided vs unguided interventions) to be administered through digital means? (2) Has a specific BA protocol been followed? If so, on what BA protocol were the interventions based? [39] (3) What were the main barriers, including both participants' concerns and issues given by the digital tool itself, in implementing BA interventions through digital means? (4) Were digital BA interventions able to influence psychosocial symptoms other than depression? (5) Have they willingly been used to influence simptoms other than depression? and (6) Are there differences in the BA interventions administered during the antenatal period versus the postnatal period?

## Methods

This scoping review was conducted in compliance with the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis extension for Scoping Reviews) guidelines (refer to Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [40-47]).

#### **Eligibility Criteria**

The inclusion criteria for this study were as follows: (1) considering BA interventions administered through digital means (web-based, smartphone-based, telehealth, etc), (2) inclusion of women aged  $\geq 18$  years, (3) focusing on the peripartum period (both antenatal and post partum), (4) inclusion of women who were experiencing or had experienced a physiological pregnancy (up to 1 year post partum), and (5) being written in English.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) being a review article, (2) focusing on or including women who were experiencing or had experienced artificially induced pregnancy, and (3) focusing on or including women with preexisting medical conditions.

In line with the intent of scoping reviews, that is, mapping the available literature regardless of its specific study design [38], no restrictions were imposed on the study design. Accordingly, any type of study satisfying the criteria mentioned above was included, as the intent was to provide an overview of existing

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40937
```

literature that is informative of what has already been done (eg, already published studies), what is expected to be done in the near future (eg, study protocols), and what is still lacking entirely or needs further investigation (ie, literature gaps). For the same reason, studies relying on secondary data were also included if they provide information that adds up to the primary analysis, thereby allowing a more in-depth understanding of the intervention evaluated and, more broadly, of the state of the art.

#### **Search Strategy**

A total of 5 electronic bibliographic databases, namely, Web of Science, PubMed, PsycINFO, Embase, and CINAHL, were screened in April 2022 to identify studies that met the eligibility criteria. No search restrictions were applied. Reference lists were also scanned, and a handsearching of key journals (ie, Journal of Medical Internet Research and Telemedicine and e-Health) was performed to ensure a comprehensive literature search. Studies were identified using the following search strings: (behavioral activation OR behavioral activation OR activity scheduling OR pleasant events OR pleasant event) AND (digital interventions OR telehealth OR telemedicine) AND (perinatal depression OR antenatal depression OR postpartum depression OR perinatal mental health); (behavioral activation) AND (web-based interventions OR e-health OR internet-based interventions) AND (perinatal OR postnatal OR prenatal OR antenatal OR postpartum OR maternal OR pregnant OR pregnancy).

#### **Study Screening and Data Charting Process**

A double-blind screening of titles and abstracts was performed using the ASReview Lab software [48] by 2 authors (EM and DP), who also manually inspected the software results and then performed the subsequent full-text screening in a double-blind fashion. Any doubts or disagreements were resolved by consulting a third author (SS). Similarly, 2 independent authors (EM and DP) performed the data extraction in a double-blind fashion. Any disagreement was resolved by consulting a third author (SG). The extracted data, collected in an Excel (Microsoft Corporation) sheet, were as follows: study characteristics (digital object identifier; first author's name; publication year; country of origin; study design; study aim; time points for data collection; outcomes considered by the included study; measurement tools used to evaluate the outcomes; main results; reason for dropout, if applicable; participants' feedback on the intervention, if present; and type of comparator, if present), sample characteristics (sample size, age, ethnicity, occupation, marital status, educational level, income, clinical characteristics, gestational week or postpartum period, and inclusion and exclusion criteria for the participants), and BA intervention characteristics (description of the BA protocol, original BA protocol from which the new one was derived, if and how the protocol was modified, intervention length and structure, digital means used to administer the BA, and intervention delivery format).

## Results

#### Search Results

The database search yielded 194 studies (Figure 1). Following duplicate removal, the titles and abstracts of 160 studies were screened; 141 studies were removed, resulting in 19 studies whose full text was screened in accordance with the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Of these 19 studies, 5 (26%) were

eventually included. The database search was integrated with a manual search of key journals and the screening of reference lists, through which 7 more studies were identified for full-text screening; only 2 studies complied with the inclusion criteria. Taken together, 7 studies were ultimately included in this scoping review. Excluded studies with reasons for exclusion are reported in Tables S2, S3, and S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) 2020 flow diagram, including searches of databases, registers, and other sources. BA: behavioral activation.



#### **Studies' Characteristics**

The aims and design of the studies are reported in Table 1, and the studies' main outcomes are summarized in Figure 2. The included studies were published between 2013 and 2022, of which 2 are randomized controlled trials (RCTs) [41,42] and 2 are protocols for RCTs [43,44]. Moreover, 2 studies are secondary analyses conducted on the RCT by O'Mahen et al [42], 1 is a secondary analysis focused on a subsample of the original sample [45], and 1 is a secondary analysis focused only on follow-up data of the total sample [46]. Finally, 1 is a qualitative study, which included participant-level analyses as well as 2 case studies [47]. Both the studies by Singla et al [44,47] relate to the same broad ongoing study. Only the 2 protocol studies [43,44] preregistered their clinical trials. All included studies were focused on evaluating the efficacy or effects of a digital BA intervention, except for 1 study [45], which investigated the processes underlying digital BA's efficacy. The outcomes considered by the included studies are summarized in Figure 2. Although all interventions were developed to target depression symptoms, coherently with the intents of BA, studies have also marginally considered other maternal variables such as anxiety symptoms (n=3) [43,44,46],

and mother-child bonding (n=3) [42-44]. Moreover, only Obikane et al [43] and Singla et al [44] included child-related variables in their protocol study, such as maternal psychological and physical aggression toward the child (n=1) [43], the child's physiological (n=1) [43] or mental development (n=1) [44], and the level of health care services used for the child (n=2) [43,44] (Figure 2; Table S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1). The included studies also marginally evaluated the intervention-related outcomes. Specifically, 1 study protocol [44] reported that they will evaluate therapy quality as well as homework completion and the frequency with which the intervention sessions are followed. Instead, 3 studies [44-46] evaluated intervention adherence, operationalized as the number of intervention modules opened and completed [45,46]. Only 2 studies specifically considered interventions' feasibility (ie, if the intervention is feasible for further testing) and acceptability (ie, how well the intervention meets the needs of the target population) [41,43]. Finally, only 1 study [43], a study protocol, reported that the assessment of usability will be conducted through the System Usability Scale [49].

parental stress (n=1), quality of life (n=1) [43], social support

(n=4) [42,44,46], work and social functioning (n=3) [42,45,46],

Table 1. Aims and characteristics of the studies.

Study	Study type	Study aim
Bagnall [46], 2014	Long-term follow- up of RCT <sup>a</sup> (doctor- al dissertation)	<ol> <li>To collect 16-month follow-up data of postnatal women who participated in a feasibility RCT investigating an internet-based BA<sup>b</sup> [42]</li> <li>To investigate intervention efficacy at a 16-month follow-up</li> <li>To investigate the intervention adherence and predictors of intervention outcomes</li> <li>To investigate the predictive role of psychological or demographic factors of attrition throughout the study and at follow-up</li> </ol>
Obikane et al [43], 2021	Protocol for RCT	<ol> <li>To investigate the efficacy of a postnatal internet-based BA program targeting postpartum depression in reducing depression symptoms (primary aim) as well as mother-child bonding, parental stress, and quality of life</li> <li>To investigate the program's efficacy in preventing child psychological and physical abuse and to evaluating the associated child developmental measures</li> <li>To investigate the program's acceptability, feasibility, and appropriateness and their association with the participants' medical and social characteristics</li> </ol>
O'Mahen et al [41], 2014	RCT	<ol> <li>To investigate the feasibility (primary aim), assessed as treatment adherence, of an internet-based BA program targeting postpartum depression</li> <li>To investigate the program's efficacy in reducing depression symptoms compared with usual care</li> </ol>
O'Mahen et al [42], 2014	RCT	<ol> <li>To investigate the feasibility, assessed as treatment adherence, and to identify adherence predictors (primary aims) of an internet-based BA program targeting postpartum depression</li> <li>To investigate the program's efficacy in reducing depression and anxiety symptoms as well as functional impairment, perceived support, and mother-child bonding</li> </ol>
O'Mahen et al [45], 2017	Secondary analysis from the study by O'Mahen et al [42]	<ol> <li>To investigate the participants' processes referred to sudden gains and depression spikes associated with an internet-based BA program targeting postpartum depression [42]</li> <li>To investigate the association between participants' sudden gains and therapists' actions</li> </ol>
Singla et al [44], 2021	Protocol for 4-arm RCT (noninferiority trial)	<ol> <li>To investigate if a BA intervention targeting postpartum depression can be delivered by nonspecialists (primary aim)</li> <li>To compare the efficacy of a BA intervention in reducing depression symptoms delivered through telemedicine versus delivered in person (primary aim)</li> <li>To investigate the efficacy of the BA intervention in reducing anxiety symptoms</li> <li>To investigate the comparative effectiveness of the BA intervention delivered antenatally versus postnatally</li> <li>To investigate whether the timing of the BA intervention administration differently influences the child's mental development</li> <li>To investigate barriers, facilitators, and processes subsuming the BA intervention efficacy in reducing depression and anxiety symptoms</li> </ol>
Singla et al [47], 2022	Qualitative study	1. To qualitatively investigate the barriers and facilitators of BA intervention delivered through telemedicine from both participants' and intervention providers' perspectives (ongoing trial)

<sup>a</sup>RCT: randomized controlled trial.

<sup>b</sup>BA: behavioral activation.



Figure 2. Circular bar plot of the main outcomes of the studies. n=frequency of the outcomes reported by the included studies.



#### **Sample Characteristics**

The sample characteristics and studies' sample-related inclusion criteria are summarized in Table 2. All participants were postpartum women, except for those in the study by Singla et al [44,47], which focused on both antenatal and postnatal women. All studies used the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale to include women in their study, albeit relying on different cutoff values. Moreover, in their 2014 study, O'Mahen et al [42,45,46] had supplemented the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale with a telephone interview aimed at ensuring that women satisfied the criteria for major depressive disorder according to the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision. With regard to demographic information (Table S6

in Multimedia Appendix 1), information on the sample's age was reported by only 2 studies [42,47], the sample's ethnicity by 3 studies [42,44,45], occupation by 4 studies [41,42,45,47], educational level by 3 studies [41,42,45], income by 2 studies [42,45], marital status by 4 studies [41,42,45,47], and the total number of children by 3 studies [41,42,45]. Finally, with regard to the studies' sample sizes, the 2 protocol studies included [43,44] stated that they will include samples whose numerosity will be based on preliminary power analyses, and all the other included studies reported small sample sizes. Only 1 study [41] reported a larger sample size (<150); nonetheless, changes in the sample's numerosity from baseline to intervention end point and follow-up are unclear.



Table 2. Sample characteristics.

Study	Sample, N	Perinatal period	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Obikane et al [43], 2021	Over 75 per group (4 groups: estimat- ed)	Post partum	<ul> <li>Aged ≥20 years (adult age in Japan)</li> <li>Having given birth within the past 10 weeks</li> <li>Available internet-access</li> <li>Living with the newborn baby</li> <li>Fluent in Japanese</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Suicidal intent</li> <li>Receiving public livelihood assistance</li> </ul>
O'Mahen et al [41], 2013	EG <sup>a</sup> : 164; CG <sup>b</sup> : 134	Post partum	<ul> <li>Aged ≥18 years</li> <li>EPDS<sup>c</sup> &gt;12</li> <li>Having given birth within the past 12 months</li> <li>Being a member of Netmums</li> </ul>	• Not reported
O'Mahen et al [42], 2014; Bagnall [46], 2014	EG: 41; CG: 42	Post partum	<ul> <li>Aged ≥18 years</li> <li>Having given birth within the past 12 months</li> <li>EPDS &gt;12</li> <li>MDD<sup>d</sup> (International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision criteria)</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Substance abuse</li><li>Psychosis</li></ul>
O'Mahen et al [45], 2017	32 (subsample of the study by O'Mahen et al [42])	Post partum	• As per the study by O'Mahen et al [42]	• As per the study by O'Mahen et al [42]
Singla et al [44], 2021	342 per group (4 groups; estimated)	Perinatal	<ul> <li>Aged ≥18 years</li> <li>EPDS ≥10</li> <li>Pregnant up to 36 weeks or 4-30 weeks post partum</li> <li>Speaks English or (US sites) Spanish</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Suicidal intent</li> <li>Active symptoms of psychosis or mania</li> <li>Taking psychotropic medication</li> <li>Change of medication 2 weeks before enrollment</li> <li>Ongoing psychotherapy</li> <li>Substance abuse</li> <li>Severe fetal anomalies, stillbirth, or infant death for pregnant participants</li> </ul>
Singla et al [47], 2022	23	Perinatal	• As per the study by Singla et al [44]	• As per the study by Singla et al [44]

<sup>a</sup>EG: experimental group.

<sup>b</sup>CG: control group.

<sup>c</sup>EPDS: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale.

<sup>d</sup>MDD: major depression disorder.

#### **Digital Interventions' Characteristics**

The characteristics of the different interventions are reported in Table 3 and Table S7 in Multimedia Appendix 1. All interventions were based on validated BA protocols (ie, validated and manualized intervention protocols); however, none extensively explained the changes made to adapt the intervention to either the population or the digital setting. Studies' intervention content structuring is quite consistent, with differences given mainly by the inclusion of optional modules [42,46] or the possibility to customize sessions [41]. Furthermore, in the qualitative study by Singla et al [47], the intervention protocol deployed during the COVID-19 lockdown was adapted to account for pandemic-related stressors and participants' perceived racial injustice in a subsample of ethnic minority participants. All interventions were guided, except for an unguided one [41] that, nonetheless, included a sort of "technical" support, whereby psychologists or specialized health visitors gave advice for homework completion and answered participants' questions on the program material; no further information was reported. With regard to guided interventions, only O'Mahen et al [42] and Singla et al [44,47] reported information on how supporters guiding them had been trained and monitored through supervision by expert clinicians. Moreover, in the studies by Singla et al [44,47] and O'Mahen et al [42], authors monitored and evaluated supporters through independent fidelity raters who listened to recordings of the sessions. All 3 studies by O'Mahen et al [41,42,45] and the related secondary analysis by Bagnall [46] considered the web-based Netmums BA program; both the studies by Singla et al [44,47] relied on telemedicine, whereas only Obikane et al [43] reported the development of a web-based BA intervention that can be deployed through

Table 3. Characteristics of the interventions.

smartphones. Obikane et al [43] further reported that they will ensure data confidentiality by temporarily storing data in the Amazon Elastic Compute Cloud system and will only later move them in a password-protected computer. No other study reported information referred to data privacy and storage.

Study	Intervention name	Length (weeks), to- tal number of sessions	Guided versus un- guided	Guided—description	Digital means	Intervention d	elivery format
Obikane et al [43], 2021	SmartMama	12, 12	Guided (psy- chotherapists)	<ul> <li>Provided participants with feedback</li> <li>Answered participants' questions about the in- tervention</li> </ul>	Web-based app for smartphones	• Not repo	rted
O'Mahen et al [41], 2013	Postnatal iBA <sup>a</sup>	15, 11	Unguided	• N/A <sup>b</sup>	Web based (Netmums site)	<ul> <li>Multimet</li> <li>Web-bas</li> <li>Web-bas</li> <li>Possibility</li> <li>weekly w</li> <li>time "cli</li> <li>Web-bass</li> <li>moderate</li> <li>porters</li> </ul>	dia presentations ed materials ed homework ty to access veb-based real- nics" ed chat room ed by parent sup-
O'Mahen et al [42], 2013; O'Mahen et al [45], 2014; Bagnall [46], 2014	NetmumsHWD	17, 12	Guided (mental health workers)	<ul> <li>Answered participants' questions about the in- tervention</li> <li>Support the overcom- ing of barriers to the implementation of the intervention</li> </ul>	Web based (Netmums site)	<ul> <li>Multimet</li> <li>Web-bas</li> <li>Web-bas</li> <li>Possibility</li> <li>weekly v</li> <li>time "cli</li> <li>Web-bass</li> <li>moderate</li> <li>ers</li> </ul>	dia presentations ed materials ed homework ty to access veb-based real- nics" ed chat room d by peer support-
Singla et al [44], 2021	Behavioral activa- tion	6-8, 6-8	Guided (nonspecial- ists and specialists)	<ul> <li>Delivers the intervention</li> <li>Addresses treatment barriers and facilitators</li> </ul>	Telemedicine	• Zoom (Z municati bEx vide	oom Video Com- ons Inc.) or We- o calls
Singla et al [47], 2022	Behavioral activa- tion	Not report- ed, 8	Guided (trained psychologists)	<ul> <li>Delivered the intervention</li> <li>Addresses treatment barriers and facilitators</li> <li>Accounted for COVID-19 and racial injustice worries</li> </ul>	Telemedicine	• Zoom or calls	WebEx video

<sup>a</sup>iBA: internet-based Behavioral Activation.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **Results of Individual Evidence and Overall Synthesis**

The main results of the studies, referring to both clinical outcomes and intervention-related outcomes, are summarized in Table 4. Overall, these studies consistently showed a significant intervention effect on depression symptoms. However, following multiple imputation analyses, the results of the study by O'Mahen et al [42] showed that such differences were not significant between the intervention and control groups. The same authors reported a trend for reduced anxiety symptoms and improved work and social functioning compared with the control condition at the intervention end point; however, this trend was not statistically significant. Accordingly, in the secondary follow-up analysis by Bagnall [46], the intervention

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40937

RenderX

effect was not significantly different between groups at any time point. Notwithstanding, the 2 case studies reported by Singla et al [47] were useful in highlighting the subjective experience of participants and their perceived benefits of the interventions. In both case studies, participants reported an improvement in communication skills that favored the support between them and their husbands by sharing child-related responsibilities. Moreover, at the end of the intervention, participants reported better associating their mood with what was happening in their lives, thereby voluntarily redirecting their attention toward value-based activities that would improve their mood. At the intervention end point, one of the women self-reported remission in both depression and anxiety symptoms, whereas the other

reported that she was then able to embrace her past traumas, triggered by postpartum-related stressors, and thereby requested a referral to a clinical professional. The secondary analysis performed by O'Mahen et al [45] was also useful in highlighting the relevant processes underlying the intervention that were associated with its efficacy. Specifically, the authors observed that slightly more than half of the sample (18/32, 51%) showed at least one sudden improvement or gain in depression symptoms, even though these were often followed by a depression spike; however, participants showing these sudden improvements reported much reduced depression symptoms at intervention end point and also reported having followed more web-based intervention modules compared with those who had not reported such improvements. The same participants had also talked about more specific and concrete topics during the telephone sessions preceding the sudden gains [45].

Regarding the interventions' feasibility, acceptability, and overall intervention adherence, the available information is limited. However, although studies explicitly evaluated these factors, their results on dropout rates and adherence seemingly suggest reduced acceptability. The studies by O'Mahen et al [41,42] provided information in this regard, reporting that dropouts were quite high and that there was limited participation in the real-time "online clinics" as well as in the chat rooms made available for mums to talk with each other. Moreover, limited intervention adherence was highlighted by the modest

#### Mancinelli et al

median completion rate of the intervention sessions. In this regard, it is noteworthy that reduced adherence was associated with women's lower socioeconomic level, reduced social support as well as reduced work and social functioning, and with attending school or working [42]. Nonetheless, based on participants' feedback, what had favored acceptability and adherence was the convenient delivery of the intervention's content and the ease experienced in following the program; however, the latter is hindered when interventions include large number of sessions and activities that women are requested to follow [41]. Accordingly, O'Mahen et al [41,42] had simplified their intervention from their 2013 versus 2014 study. Moreover, contrary to what was reported by O'Mahen et al [42] regarding the predictors of intervention adherence, the study by Bagnall [46] did not identify any significant predictors (ie, depression symptoms level, level of BA, social support, and household income) of intervention adherence or the predictive role of assessments' adherence to the intervention outcomes (eg, depression symptoms). The latter study was primarily focused on investigating participants' adherence to follow-up assessments (which might thus better fit within the broader construct of "intervention feasibility" more than within that of "adherence"). In this regard, they reported that outreach helped improve participation in the follow-up assessments. No study investigated the programs' usability; however, 1 of the included study protocols [43], as previously reported, is expected to provide further information in this regard.

Table 4. Main results of the studies.

Study	Assessment time points	Clinical outputs	Intervention-related outputs
Bagnall [46], 2014	<ul> <li>T0<sup>a</sup>: baseline</li> <li>T1<sup>b</sup>: intervention end point</li> <li>T2<sup>c</sup>: follow-up, 10 months from intervention end point</li> <li>T3<sup>d</sup>: follow-up, 16 months from intervention end point</li> </ul>	• No significant reduction in depression and anxiety symptoms or improvements in work and social functioning as well as the level of BA <sup>e</sup> emerged, at any time point, among participants from the intervention group compared with participants in the usual care condition	<ul> <li>Intervention adherence was not associated with depression symptoms at any time point following the intervention</li> <li>Household income, relationship status, depression symptoms, and level of BA and social support at baseline were predictive of attrition</li> </ul>
Obikane et al [43], 2021	<ul> <li>T0: baseline</li> <li>T1: intervention end point</li> <li>T2: follow-up, 12 weeks from intervention end point</li> </ul>	• N/A <sup>f</sup>	• N/A
O'Mahen et al [41], 2013	<ul><li>T0: baseline</li><li>T1: intervention end point</li></ul>	• Significant reduction in depression symp- toms among participants from the interven- tion group compared with participants in the usual care condition	<ul> <li>Appreciation for the program's flexibility and convenient delivery</li> <li>Difficulty in keeping up with the program requirements</li> <li>Low participation in the chat rooms with other mothers and in the webbased clinics</li> <li>Drop in the sessions' adherence following the second session</li> </ul>
O'Mahen et al [42], 2014	<ul> <li>T0: baseline</li> <li>T1: intervention end point</li> <li>T2: follow-up, 6 months from intervention end point</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Trend of greater reduction in depression and anxiety symptoms and improvement in life function in the intervention group compared with participants in the usual care condition</li> <li>Significant greater chances of clinically improved depression symptoms (odds ratio 0.26, 95% CI 0.10-0.71) in the intervention group compared with the control condition</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Modest intervention adherence overall</li> <li>Reduced intervention adherence among women (1) working or attending school, (2) with less social support, (3) reduced life functioning at baseline, and (4) with a lower socioeconomic status</li> <li>Only 5% completed ≥8 sessions, of which 5 completed all 12 sessions</li> <li>Most chosen optional module was the one on motherhood (chosen by 22% of participants)</li> </ul>
O'Mahen et al [45], 2017	<ul> <li>As per the study by O'Mahen et al [42]</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Overall fast initial improvement in depression symptoms (particularly among women with higher baseline symptoms), which slowed down over time</li> <li>In total, 51% of the sample had a sudden gain (ie, clinically relevant improvement in depression symptoms); associated with reduced depression symptoms overall at the intervention end point</li> <li>In total, 19% of the sample showed depression spike</li> <li>In total, 75% of the sample that had experienced a depression spike and also showed a sudden gain, with the latter preceding the depression spike</li> <li>Women showing more sudden gains had completed more web-based modules but not more telephone sessions</li> </ul>	• N/A
Singla et al [44], 2021	<ul> <li>T0: baseline</li> <li>T1: 3 months from randomization</li> <li>T3: 6 months from randomization</li> <li>T4<sup>g</sup>: 12 months from randomization</li> </ul>	• N/A	• N/A



Mancinelli et al

Study	Assessment time points	Clinical outputs	Intervention-related outputs
Singla et al [47], 2022	• N/A	<ul> <li>The 2 case studies highlighted the intersection between depression symptoms during the postpartum period, public health responses, pandemic-related interpersonal consequences, and the awareness of racial responses</li> <li>The qualitative participant-level results highlighted that among women receiving the intervention during the pandemic, the main facilitators were (1) the provision of creative problem-solving to attend the intervention, (2) BA helped deal with pandemic-related distress, (3) BA provided connection and support during the pandemic, and (4) telemedicine. The main barriers were (1) privacy, (2) greater pandemic-related stressors, and (3) limited activity owing to the pandemic</li> </ul>	• N/A

<sup>a</sup>T0: Time 0.
<sup>b</sup>T1: Time 1.
<sup>c</sup>T2: Time 2.
<sup>d</sup>T3: Time 3.
<sup>e</sup>BA: behavioral activation.
<sup>f</sup>N/A: not applicable.
<sup>g</sup>T4: Time 4.

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This scoping review aimed to map the available literature on digital BA interventions administered during the perinatal period. The research questions guiding this work have focused on the interventions' methodological underpinnings as well as on the interventions' targets, referring to the specificities of the population considered as well as to the symptoms experienced by the latter.

Regarding research questions (4) Were digital BA interventions able to influence psychosocial symptoms other than depression? and (5) Have they willingly been used to influence symptoms other than depression? in line with expectations, they seem to be overall promising in reducing depression symptoms among postpartum women; however, owing to the limited literature available, it is not possible to draw definitive conclusions in this regard. Moreover, although an in-person BA intervention administered to pregnant women was effective in reducing anxiety symptoms [32], the sole concluded trial included in this review that had evaluated anxiety symptoms [42,46] reported no significant intervention effect. Accordingly, to date, it is not possible to draw complete conclusions on the generalizability of the efficacy of digital BA interventions on psychosocial variables (eg, anxiety and stress symptoms and quality of life) other than depression symptoms. This is mostly owing to the above-mentioned marginal investigation of these symptoms.

Referring, instead, to research question (6) *Are there differences in the BA interventions administered during the antenatal period versus the postnatal period*? it is noteworthy that of all the included studies, most [41-43,45,46] focused solely on the

postnatal period by considering women who had recently given birth, whereas none specifically focused on pregnant women and, therefore, on the antenatal period. However, one of the included protocol studies [44] reported that it foresees the future inclusion of both antenatal and postnatal women to compare intervention efficacy as a function of the perinatal period during which it is deployed. Thus, overall, it is not possible to answer the research question focused on the efficacy of digital BA interventions deployed during the antenatal period versus the postnatal period. The lack of digital interventions administered during the antenatal period represents a limitation of the available literature in terms of both evidence-based treatments and prevention programs. This is relevant, especially considering the high prevalence of depressive symptoms during pregnancy (between 15% and 65% [50]) and of the interrelated [51,52] anxiety (between 18% and 24% [53]) and stress symptoms (low-moderate symptoms level 78% [54]). Altogether, these hinder women's quality of life [55], with repercussions on the child's development and well-being [56-58], while further significantly increasing the risk of postpartum depression [8,59]. These results might be particularly insightful if read through the lens of the Stepped Care model [60]. This specific approach to health care advocates for a highly collaborative approach among primary and secondary mental health services to choose and deliver the most appropriate treatment, ranging from primary low-burden care to more intensive and specialized care on the basis of patients' specific level of need and distress, which should ultimately improve access to health care for patients on one hand and, on the other hand, the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of treatments themselves [60]. Within this theoretical framework, prevention programs can be regarded as primary health services; therefore, research on the feasibility and effectiveness of digital interventions within the perinatal

XSL•FO RenderX

period should be encouraged; such treatments are expected to be of great benefit for both women in the perinatal period and the health care system on the whole, as they should foster scalability and thereby reduce health care costs [61,62].

Similarly, with regard to overcoming the broader barriers already reported in the literature, limiting access to mental health care programs (eg, time constraints, lack of information about services, and social stigma [18-20]), the creation and implementation of acceptable and effective digital interventions would also be advantageous in terms of both time and expenses for both the patients and the health care specialists. Moreover, through the advent of social media platforms and the possibility to create ad hoc websites, digital interventions can be made known and spread with greater ease, thereby allowing the extension of care to patients living in hard-to-reach areas. These same premises might also be associated with a reduction in the social stigma surrounding health care seeking by, on the one hand, normalizing the reliance on psychological programs and, on the other hand, allowing the maintenance of privacy within one's social environment. This review also attempted to identify the logistic, social, and pragmatic barriers specifically associated with digital BA interventions. Focusing, instead, on research question (3) What were the main barriers, including both participants' concerns and issues given by the digital tool itself, in implementing BA interventions through digital means? the data reported here do not allow to gather insights or formulate suggestions regarding the existence and potential overcoming of barriers within the context of digital BA interventions during the perinatal period. In fact, only 1 study [47] specifically addressed the intervention's barriers, raising some concerns about the maintenance of privacy during the intervention; however, this might be strictly linked to the use of telemedicine in general rather than on digital BA interventions specifically.

Regarding the remaining research questions, namely, (2) Has a specific BA protocol been followed? if so, on what BA protocol were the interventions based? [39] and (1) How have BA interventions been structured (eg, intervention length, number of modules, topics considered, and guided versus unguided interventions) to be administered through digital means? it is worth highlighting that all interventions were based on validated BA protocols [63], but no extensive explanation of the changes made to the original protocols were reported. Similarly, scarce information was reported on the role of the guidance in the guided interventions as well as on the specificities of the digital means used to administer the interventions. This limits the reproducibility of studies as well as the advancement of the matter, as it restricts the possibility of identifying the benefits and limitations of the different digital BA interventions. Likewise, all the included studies reported limited information on how the interventions' content and home assignments were implemented and deployed. However, a thorough reporting of the choices made on the intervention content and structuring, of the specificities of the technological components used to implement the intervention, and of the potential drawbacks that might have emerged from the trials is needed to foster information exchange within the scientific community. This is particularly relevant, considering their value for the feasibility and efficacy of the intervention as well as for overall usability.

Including such information in trial reports would ultimately contribute to the broader research field. In line with this thought, the work by O'Mahen et al [41,42] is noteworthy with regard to the investigation of the feasibility of interventions, as they reported refining their intervention structuring in line with participants' feedback and then retesting its efficacy. In this regard, although none of the studies provided reasons for choosing a certain number of sessions composing the interventions, O'Mahen et al [41,42] reported reducing the number of core sessions while including some optional modules [42]—a decision based on participants' feedback stating that they could not "keep up" with the intervention [41]. This particular mode of action is what seems to be lacking and should instead be promoted, as it provides information on the interventions' specific structures, thereby favoring scientific exchange and, ultimately, the advancement of the matter. Future studies might benefit from including qualitative evaluations of the interventions' experience and overall usability, for instance, by foreseeing the use of semistructured interviews at the end of the intervention [64]. In this regard, it should be stressed that usability was not evaluated by any of the concluded research studies included in this review, although the criticality of adherence to interventions was highlighted as it emerged in previous studies [65,66]. Usability is conceptualized as the output of the interaction between the user and the tools (eg, website) used [67] and includes 5 main concepts [68]: ease of use, intended as learnability, experienced by users learning how to use a digital tool; the efficiency with which users interact with the digital tool; the memorability of how to use a digital tool to which the user has been already exposed; the errors users make, intended as the number of trials needed to make a certain action correctly; and the perceived users' satisfaction with the user experience. The latter further includes aspects relevant to user engagement, including the affective, cognitive, and behavioral response of the user to the digital tool [69]. In this regard, Bagnall [46], referring to the nonpredictive effect of intervention adherence on the intervention outcomes, discussed that beyond adherence, it might indeed be the level of engagement with the intervention, intended as behavioral participation, to be particularly relevant in influencing intervention efficacy. In line with this, O'Mahen et al [42] highlighted that intervention acceptability as well as adherence, as reported by women, was favored by the convenient delivery of the intervention's content and the ease felt in following the program, which are all aspects relevant to usability. This further highlights the importance of accounting for usability facets when investigating the efficacy of digital interventions, which emerged in this review as a strong limitation of the literature on digital BA interventions deployed during the perinatal period. Future studies should, therefore, more carefully and consistently account for and thoroughly explain the results of the user experience while also accounting for user engagement [70].

Overall, the information retrieved through this scoping review does not allow to provide specific suggestions for the implementation of interventions. However, the gaps identified in the available literature can be useful for refining existing protocols and supporting the design of future interventions. Specifically, there has emerged a need to substantially investigate both the usability and user engagement associated

XSL•FO RenderX

with these digital interventions to better understand and refine them. The human-computer interaction aspects of these interventions, as of today, seem only marginally considered but should instead be central in future research, as they define the "setting" in which interventions take place. It should be noted that the existing literature does provide guidelines [70] or models [71] that should be followed in future trials to support adherence and engagement, as they are pivotal for the efficacy of interventions. Moreover, greater flexibility in the structuring of interventions (ie, the number of sessions and time required to complete each session) is recommended, as it would support acceptability. These aspects might be particularly valuable, considering the high attrition rate of these interventions, which had already been pointed out by existing literature and was coherently reported by the included studies as well [66].

#### Conclusions

Taken together, the available literature examined was useful in highlighting the potential, and also the immaturity, of the research field on digital BA interventions, while promptly stressing the need to develop interventions specifically targeting pregnant women. To address this gap, future research should focus on addressing such limitations, paying particular attention to the investigation of the feasibility, acceptability, and usability of interventions. Moreover, future studies should invest in the development and evaluation of digital prevention programs deployed during pregnancy.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary materials. [DOCX File , 286 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e40937\_app1.docx ]

#### References

- Cheng CY, Chou YH, Wang P, Tsai JM, Liou SR. Survey of trend and factors in perinatal maternal fatigue. Nurs Health Sci 2015 Mar;17(1):64-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12149] [Medline: 24835296]
- Nelson AM. Transition to motherhood. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2003 Jul;32(4):465-477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0884217503255199] [Medline: 12903696]
- Fisher J, Cabral de Mello M, Patel V, Rahman A, Tran T, Holton S, et al. Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in low- and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 2012 Feb 01;90(2):139G-149G [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.091850] [Medline: 22423165]
- 4. Howard LM, Khalifeh H. Perinatal mental health: a review of progress and challenges. World Psychiatry 2020 Oct;19(3):313-327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20769] [Medline: 32931106]
- Li H, Bowen A, Bowen R, Balbuena L, Feng C, Bally J, et al. Mood instability during pregnancy and postpartum: a systematic review. Arch Womens Ment Health 2020 Feb;23(1):29-41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00737-019-00956-6] [Medline: 30834475]
- 6. Jha S, Salve HR, Goswami K, Sagar R, Kant S. Burden of common mental disorders among pregnant women: a systematic review. Asian J Psychiatr 2018 Aug;36:46-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2018.06.020] [Medline: 29966886]
- Gelaye B, Rondon MB, Araya R, Williams MA. Epidemiology of maternal depression, risk factors, and child outcomes in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet Psychiatry 2016 Oct;3(10):973-982 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30284-X] [Medline: 27650773]
- 8. Hutchens BF, Kearney J. Risk factors for postpartum depression: an umbrella review. J Midwifery Womens Health 2020 Jan;65(1):96-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jmwh.13067] [Medline: 31970924]
- 9. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5). 5th edition. Washington, DC, USA: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- Batt MM, Duffy KA, Novick AM, Metcalf CA, Epperson CN. Is postpartum depression different from depression occurring outside of the perinatal period? A review of the evidence. Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ) 2020 Apr;18(2):106-119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20190045] [Medline: 33162848]
- Valoriani V, Lotti F, Lari D, Miccinesi G, Vaiani S, Vanni C, et al. Differences in psychophysical well-being and signs of depression in couples undergoing their first consultation for assisted reproduction technology (ART): an Italian pilot study. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2016 Feb;197:179-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2015.11.041] [Medline: 26773309]
- 12. Monga M, Alexandrescu B, Katz SE, Stein M, Ganiats T. Impact of infertility on quality of life, marital adjustment, and sexual function. Urology 2004 Jan;63(1):126-130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2003.09.015] [Medline: 14751363]
- 13. Peterson BD, Pirritano M, Christensen U, Schmidt L. The impact of partner coping in couples experiencing infertility. Hum Reprod 2008 May;23(5):1128-1137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/humrep/den067] [Medline: 18325885]
- 14. Schmidt L. Psychosocial burden of infertility and assisted reproduction. Lancet 2006 Feb 04;367(9508):379-380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68117-8] [Medline: 16458748]

- Wang L, Wang L, Yang X, Jin P, Zhang R, Jiang Y, et al. Risk factors related to early pregnancy loss in fresh IVF/ICSI: an analysis of 954 embryo transfer cycles. Medicine (Baltimore) 2022 Aug 26;101(34):e30166. [doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000030166] [Medline: 36042604]
- Bu Z, Hu L, Su Y, Guo Y, Zhai J, Sun YP. Factors related to early spontaneous miscarriage during IVF/ICSI treatment: an analysis of 21,485 clinical pregnancies. Reprod Biomed Online 2020 Feb;40(2):201-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2019.11.001] [Medline: <u>31883882</u>]
- 17. Malham S. The mental health effects of assisted reproductive technology. East Carolina University. 2022. URL: <u>https://thescholarship.ecu.edu/handle/10342/10829</u> [accessed 2022-10-31]
- 18. Hadfield H, Wittkowski A. Women's experiences of seeking and receiving psychological and psychosocial interventions for postpartum depression: a systematic review and thematic synthesis of the qualitative literature. J Midwifery Womens Health 2017 Nov;62(6):723-736 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jmwh.12669] [Medline: 29210501]
- 19. Jones A. Help seeking in the perinatal period: a review of barriers and facilitators. Soc Work Public Health 2019;34(7):596-605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/19371918.2019.1635947] [Medline: 31242074]
- 20. Megnin-Viggars O, Symington I, Howard LM, Pilling S. Experience of care for mental health problems in the antenatal or postnatal period for women in the UK: a systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative research. Arch Womens Ment Health 2015 Dec;18(6):745-759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00737-015-0548-6] [Medline: 26184835]
- Ashford MT, Ayers S, Olander EK. Interest in web-based treatments for postpartum anxiety: an exploratory survey. J Reprod Infant Psychol 2017 Sep;35(4):394-409 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1080/02646838.2017.1320364</u>] [Medline: <u>29517373</u>]
- 22. Lackie ME, Parrilla JS, Lavery BM, Kennedy AL, Ryan D, Shulman B, et al. Digital health needs of women with postpartum depression: focus group study. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jan 06;23(1):e18934 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18934] [Medline: 33404506]
- 23. Wenze SJ, Miers QA, Battle CL. Postpartum mental health care for mothers of multiples: a qualitative study of new mothers' treatment preferences. J Psychiatr Pract 2020 May;26(3):201-214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PRA.00000000000469] [Medline: 32421291]
- 24. Chae J, Kim HK. Internet-based prenatal interventions for maternal health among pregnant women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Child Youth Serv Rev 2021 Aug 01;127:106079 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106079]
- 25. Dol J, Richardson B, Murphy GT, Aston M, McMillan D, Campbell-Yeo M. Impact of mobile health interventions during the perinatal period on maternal psychosocial outcomes: a systematic review. JBI Evid Synth 2020 Jan;18(1):30-55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11124/JBISRIR-D-19-00191] [Medline: 31972680]
- Lee EW, Denison FC, Hor K, Reynolds RM. Web-based interventions for prevention and treatment of perinatal mood disorders: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Feb 29;16:38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0831-1] [Medline: 26928898]
- Hayes SC, Hofmann SG. "Third-wave" cognitive and behavioral therapies and the emergence of a process-based approach to intervention in psychiatry. World Psychiatry 2021 Oct;20(3):363-375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20884] [Medline: 34505370]
- 28. Jacobson NS, Martell CR, Dimidjian S. Behavioral activation treatment for depression: returning to contextual roots. Clin Psychol (New York) 2001;8(3):255-270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/clipsy.8.3.255]
- Dimidjian S, Barrera Jr M, Martell C, Muñoz RF, Lewinsohn PM. The origins and current status of behavioral activation treatments for depression. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2011;7:1-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032210-104535] [Medline: 21275642]
- 30. Kanter JW, Manos RC, Bowe WM, Baruch DE, Busch AM, Rusch LC. What is behavioral activation? A review of the empirical literature. Clin Psychol Rev 2010 Aug;30(6):608-620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.04.001] [Medline: 20677369]
- Soucy Chartier I, Provencher MD. Behavioural activation for depression: efficacy, effectiveness and dissemination. J Affect Disord 2013 Mar 05;145(3):292-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2012.07.023</u>] [Medline: <u>22884236</u>]
- Dimidjian S, Goodman SH, Sherwood NE, Simon GE, Ludman E, Gallop R, et al. A pragmatic randomized clinical trial of behavioral activation for depressed pregnant women. J Consult Clin Psychol 2017 Jan;85(1):26-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000151] [Medline: 28045285]
- O'Mahen HA, Grieve H, Jones J, McGinley J, Woodford J, Wilkinson EL. Women's experiences of factors affecting treatment engagement and adherence in internet delivered behavioural activation for postnatal depression. Internet Interv 2015 Mar;2(1):84-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.11.003]
- Ekers D, Richards D, McMillan D, Bland JM, Gilbody S. Behavioural activation delivered by the non-specialist: phase II randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2011 Jan;198(1):66-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.079111] [Medline: 21200079]
- Huguet A, Miller A, Kisely S, Rao S, Saadat N, McGrath PJ. A systematic review and meta-analysis on the efficacy of internet-delivered behavioral activation. J Affect Disord 2018 Aug 01;235:27-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.02.073] [Medline: 29649708]

- 36. Spates CR, Padalino R, Hale AC, Germain CS, Nimmo K, Kohler R. A review of web based technology in behavioural activation. Clin Psychol 2016 Jan 21;20(1):27-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/cp.12087]
- Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2007 Feb 23;8(1):19-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- Lejuez CW, Hopko DR, Acierno R, Daughters SB, Pagoto SL. Ten year revision of the brief behavioral activation treatment for depression: revised treatment manual. Behav Modif 2011 Mar;35(2):111-161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0145445510390929] [Medline: 21324944]
- 40. Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 41. O'Mahen HA, Woodford J, McGinley J, Warren FC, Richards DA, Lynch TR, et al. Internet-based behavioral activation--treatment for postnatal depression (Netmums): a randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2013 Sep 25;150(3):814-822 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.03.005] [Medline: 23602514]
- 42. O'Mahen HA, Richards DA, Woodford J, Wilkinson E, McGinley J, Taylor RS, et al. Netmums: a phase II randomized controlled trial of a guided Internet behavioural activation treatment for postpartum depression. Psychol Med 2014 Jun;44(8):1675-1689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291713002092] [Medline: 24148703]
- 43. Obikane E, Baba T, Shinozaki T, Obata S, Nakanishi S, Murata C, et al. Internet-based behavioural activation to improve depressive symptoms and prevent child abuse in postnatal women (SmartMama): a protocol for a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2021 Apr 20;21(1):314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-021-03767-9] [Medline: 33879065]
- 44. Singla DR, Meltzer-Brody SE, Silver RK, Vigod SN, Kim JJ, La Porte LM, et al. Scaling up maternal mental healthcare by increasing access to treatment (SUMMIT) through non-specialist providers and telemedicine: a study protocol for a non-inferiority randomized controlled trial. Trials 2021 Mar 05;22(1):186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-021-05075-1] [Medline: 33673867]
- 45. O'Mahen HA, Wilkinson E, Bagnall K, Richards DA, Swales A. Shape of change in internet based behavioral activation treatment for depression. Behav Res Ther 2017 Aug;95:107-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2017.05.011] [Medline: 28618298]
- 46. Bagnall KM. Long-term follow-up of netmumshwd: a feasibility randomised controlled trial of telephone supported online behavioural activation for postnatal depression at 16 months post-randomisation. University of Exeter. 2014 May 06. URL: https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/handle/10871/15289 [accessed 2022-05-24]
- 47. Singla DR, Hossain S, Ravitz P, Schiller CE, Andrejek N, Kim J, et al. Adapting behavioral activation for perinatal depression and anxiety in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and racial injustice. J Affect Disord 2022 Feb 15;299:180-187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.12.006] [Medline: 34875282]
- 48. van de Schoot R, de Bruin J, Schram R, Zahedi P, de Boer J, Weijdema F, et al. An open source machine learning framework for efficient and transparent systematic reviews. Nat Mach Intell 2021 Feb 01;3(2):125-133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s42256-020-00287-7]
- 49. Brooke J. SUS: a 'quick and dirty' usability scale. In: Jordan PW, Thomas B, McClelland IL, Weerdmeester B, editors. Usability Evaluation in Industry. Boca Raton, FL, USA: The CRC Press; 1996:189-194.
- Dadi AF, Miller ER, Bisetegn TA, Mwanri L. Global burden of antenatal depression and its association with adverse birth outcomes: an umbrella review. BMC Public Health 2020 Feb 04;20(1):173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-8293-9] [Medline: 32019560]
- 51. Cena L, Gigantesco A, Mirabella F, Palumbo G, Camoni L, Trainini A, et al. Prevalence of comorbid anxiety and depressive symptomatology in the third trimester of pregnancy: analysing its association with sociodemographic, obstetric, and mental health features. J Affect Disord 2021 Dec 01;295:1398-1406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.09.015] [Medline: 34583842]
- Cheng CY, Chou YH, Chang CH, Liou SR. Trends of perinatal stress, anxiety, and depression and their prediction on postpartum depression. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Sep 03;18(17):9307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18179307] [Medline: 34501906]
- 53. Dennis CL, Falah-Hassani K, Shiri R. Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2017 May;210(5):315-323. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.187179] [Medline: 28302701]
- Woods SM, Melville JL, Guo Y, Fan MY, Gavin A. Psychosocial stress during pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2010 Jan;202(1):61.e1-61.e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.07.041] [Medline: 19766975]
- 55. Lagadec N, Steinecker M, Kapassi A, Magnier MA, Chastang J, Robert S, et al. Factors influencing the quality of life of pregnant women: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2018 Nov 23;18(1):455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-2087-4] [Medline: 30470200]

- 56. Betts KS, Williams GM, Najman JM, Alati R. The relationship between maternal depressive, anxious, and stress symptoms during pregnancy and adult offspring behavioral and emotional problems. Depress Anxiety 2015 Feb;32(2):82-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/da.22272] [Medline: 24788841]
- 57. Field T, Diego M, Hernandez-Reif M, Figueiredo B, Deeds O, Ascencio A, et al. Comorbid depression and anxiety effects on pregnancy and neonatal outcome. Infant Behav Dev 2010 Feb;33(1):23-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2009.10.004] [Medline: 19945170]
- 58. Talge NM, Neal C, Glover V, Early Stress, Translational Research and Prevention Science Network: Fetal and Neonatal Experience on Child and Adolescent Mental Health. Antenatal maternal stress and long-term effects on child neurodevelopment: how and why? J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2007 Mar;48(3-4):245-261. [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01714.x] [Medline: 17355398]
- Caparros-Gonzalez RA, Romero-Gonzalez B, Strivens-Vilchez H, Gonzalez-Perez R, Martinez-Augustin O, Peralta-Ramirez MI. Hair cortisol levels, psychological stress and psychopathological symptoms as predictors of postpartum depression. PLoS One 2017 Aug 28;12(8):e0182817 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0182817</u>] [Medline: <u>28846691</u>]
- 60. Richards DA. Stepped care: a method to deliver increased access to psychological therapies. Can J Psychiatry 2012 Apr;57(4):210-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/070674371205700403] [Medline: 22480585]
- 61. Conejo-Cerón S, Lokkerbol J, Moreno-Peral P, Wijnen B, Fernández A, Mendive JM, et al. Health-economic evaluation of psychological interventions for depression prevention: systematic review. Clin Psychol Rev 2021 Aug;88:102064. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102064] [Medline: 34304111]
- 62. Wang Q, Su M, Zhang M, Li R. Integrating digital technologies and public health to fight Covid-19 pandemic: key technologies, applications, challenges and outlook of digital healthcare. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jun 04;18(11):6053 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18116053] [Medline: 34199831]
- 63. Addis ME, Martell CR. Overcoming Depression One Step at a Time: The New Behavioral Activation Approach to Getting Your Life Back: New Harbinger Self-help Workbook. Oakland, CA, USA: New Harbinger; 2004.
- 64. Bassi G, Giuliano C, Perinelli A, Forti S, Gabrielli S, Salcuni S. A virtual coach (Motibot) for supporting healthy coping strategies among adults with diabetes: proof-of-concept study. JMIR Hum Factors 2022 Jan 21;9(1):e32211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32211] [Medline: 35060918]
- 65. Bassi G, Mancinelli E, Dell'Arciprete G, Rizzi S, Gabrielli S, Salcuni S. Efficacy of eHealth interventions for adults with diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Aug 26;18(17):8982 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18178982] [Medline: 34501572]
- 66. Mancinelli E, Bassi G, Gabrielli S, Salcuni S. The efficacy of digital cognitive-behavioral interventions in supporting the psychological adjustment and sleep quality of pregnant women with sub-clinical symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 Aug 03;19(15):9549 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19159549] [Medline: 35954901]
- 67. Ergonomics of human-system interaction Part 11: Usability: Definitions and concepts. ISO 9241-11:2018(en). International Organization for Standardization. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:9241:-11:ed-2:v1:en</u> [accessed 2022-05-19]
- 68. Nielsen J. Usability Engineering. Burlington, MA, USA: Morgan Kaufmann; 1993.
- 69. O'Brien HL, Cairns P, Hall M. A practical approach to measuring user engagement with the refined user engagement scale (UES) and new UES short form. Int J Hum Comput Stud 2018 Apr;112:28-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2018.01.004]
- Petersen GB, Nielsen JH, Olsen JV, Kok RN. Usability guidelines for developing and evaluating web-based mental health interventions: establishing a practical framework. PsyArXiv Preprint posted online August 21, 2019. [doi: 10.31234/osf.io/3ewz4]
- 71. Cole-Lewis H, Ezeanochie N, Turgiss J. Understanding health behavior technology engagement: pathway to measuring digital behavior change interventions. JMIR Form Res 2019 Oct 10;3(4):e14052 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14052] [Medline: 31603427]

## Abbreviations

ART: assisted reproductive technique
BA: behavioral activation
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis
PRISMA-ScR: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis extension for Scoping Reviews
RCT: randomized controlled trial



Edited by T Leung, G Eysenbach; submitted 10.07.22; peer-reviewed by MP Gagnon, A Coe; comments to author 23.09.22; revised version received 07.12.22; accepted 03.01.23; published 28.02.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Mancinelli E, Dell'Arciprete G, Pattarozzi D, Gabrielli S, Salcuni S Digital Behavioral Activation Interventions During the Perinatal Period: Scoping Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e40937 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e40937 doi:10.2196/40937 PMID:36853756

©Elisa Mancinelli, Gaia Dell'Arciprete, Davide Pattarozzi, Silvia Gabrielli, Silvia Salcuni. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## A Family-Based Collaborative Care Model for Treatment of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms in Perinatal Women: Results From a Pilot Study

Fallon Cluxton-Keller<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD; Ardis Olson<sup>2,3\*</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Community and Family Medicine, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Fallon Cluxton-Keller, PhD Department of Psychiatry Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth One Medical Center Drive Lebanon, NH, 03756 United States Phone: 1 603 650 4726 Email: Fallon.P.Cluxton-Keller@dartmouth.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Untreated perinatal depression and anxiety can have detrimental consequences on family function. Logistical barriers prevent many perinatal women from accessing treatment, and these barriers are compounded for women residing in rural areas. This paper describes a Family-Based Collaborative Care Model (FBCCM) that is designed to bypass barriers to increase access to care for depressed and anxious perinatal women in rural regions of the United States. The FBCCM includes the following two components: (1) a 10-session video-delivered family therapy treatment for perinatal depression and anxiety and (2) a video-delivered infant care provider training on addressing the parenting needs of depressed and anxious mothers.

**Objective:** This paper describes the feasibility of implementing the FBCCM with families and infant care providers. Findings are presented on the preliminary effectiveness of the video-delivered family therapy treatment in reducing maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms, and family conflict.

**Methods:** This pilot study was carried out using an implementation-effectiveness hybrid trial design without a comparison group. Changes in maternal depressive symptoms, maternal anxiety symptoms, and family conflict were measured at posttreatment, 3 months, and 6 months later.

**Results:** On average, mothers (n=24) attended 9.79 (SD 1.02) sessions. On average, their family members (n=24) attended 9.42 (SD 1.28) sessions. A total of 31 infant care providers attended the training on addressing the parenting needs of depressed and anxious mothers. Mothers reported a significant reduction in depressive symptoms (P<.001) and anxiety symptoms (P<.001) from baseline to the 6-month follow-up. Mothers reported a significant reduction in conflict (P<.001), and their family members also reported a significant reduction in conflict (P=.007) from baseline to the 6-month follow-up.

**Conclusions:** The findings from this study provide support for the feasibility and preliminary effectiveness of the FBCCM. The findings will be used to inform a larger study of the FBCCM.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e45616) doi:10.2196/45616

## KEYWORDS

RenderX

anxiety; depression; family treatment; infant care; maternal health; parenting; pediatric primary care; perinatal anxiety; perinatal care; perinatal depression; video therapy; women's health

## Introduction

#### Background

Perinatal depression and anxiety are increasing in the United States with prevalence rates ranging from 10% to 23% for depression [1-3] and 11% to 20% for anxiety [4,5]. Although the United States Preventative Task Force recommends for providers to screen women for perinatal depression and refer them for treatment [1], barriers (eg, no childcare or transportation) prevent women from getting treatment and under 25% initiate treatment [6,7]. These barriers are compounded for perinatal women in rural regions.

There is growing recognition that technology-based interventions for depression and anxiety bypass logistical barriers for pregnant and postpartum women [8-14]. Further, research has shown that technology-based interventions for perinatal depression and anxiety are feasible for use within routine perinatal care [8,9]. For example, MomMoodBooster2 has been shown to be an effective treatment option within routine perinatal care, especially when combined with universal depression screening and referral [8]. Although some technology-based treatments include some strategies to address instrumental support and relational health (ie, partner support website), the primary focus is cognitive-behavioral individual-level treatment for perinatal depression and anxiety [8,11-14].

Untreated perinatal depression and anxiety are precipitants and consequences of family conflict that worsens these symptoms [15-18]. Since mothers with perinatal depression tend to experience a mix of depressive and anxiety symptoms, the current COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated their symptoms [19,20]. Perinatal depression and anxiety in combination with the current pandemic place demands on families that they are unprepared to meet, which can increase family conflict. Despite this, no evidence-based family therapy treatment exists for perinatal depression and anxiety [15,21,22].

This study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic and explored the feasibility and preliminary effectiveness of a Family-Based Collaborative Care Model (FBCCM) to address perinatal depression and anxiety. The FBCCM includes following two components: (1) a video-delivered family therapy treatment for depressed and anxious perinatal women receiving obstetrics care in rural clinics and (2) training for infant care providers on addressing the parenting needs of depressed and anxious mothers. The FBCCM uses technology to increase access to treatment for perinatal depression and anxiety and training for infant care providers in rural areas.

#### **Objectives**

This paper has 2 objectives. The first objective is to present findings on the feasibility of the FBCCM for use with families and infant care providers. The second objective is to present findings on the preliminary effectiveness of the video-delivered family therapy treatment in reducing maternal depressive symptoms and anxiety symptoms, and family conflict. We hypothesized that (1) perinatal women will report significant reductions in depressive symptoms and anxiety symptoms from

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e45616
```

baseline to the 6-month follow-up, and (2) families will report a significant reduction in conflict from baseline to the 6-month follow-up.

## Methods

#### **Study Design**

This implementation effectiveness hybrid trial, without a comparison group, tested both clinical interventions and implementation strategies [23]. The first objective pertains to implementation aspects of the design and reflects strategies to explore the feasibility of implementing the FBCCM with families receiving routine care in obstetrics clinics and infant care providers. The second objective pertains to clinical effectiveness aspects of the design to explore preliminary impacts on maternal and family outcomes.

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study has been approved by an institutional review board (IRB) at an academic medical center in New England (02000646).

#### Framework of FBCCM

Our research on perinatal depression guided the development of the FBCCM that includes 2 components. The first component is a video-delivered family therapy treatment (Resilience Enhancement Skills Training [REST]) [24-26] that is summarized in this section. REST is informed by Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT) Skills Training [27] and includes systemic interventions [28] to address conflict. Standard DBT is based on cognitive-behavioral therapy and includes individual therapy, skills training, and coaching, and it is effective for use in populations with severe depressive symptoms [29-31]. DBT skills training targets cognitive, emotional, and behavior regulation [27]. REST includes a total of 10 weekly, 30-minute interactive sessions that are delivered by a clinician using Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act-compliant video technology (VCT) to families. Families attend sessions by clicking links on their cell phones, tablets, or computers from home. To date, REST has been delivered using 2 types of Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act VCT: Vidyo [32] and WebEx [33].

The results of the preliminary pilot study of REST with home-visited families showed that it significantly reduced maternal depressive symptoms and family conflict [24]. Although the participants in this study had an overall higher level of education and greater financial security than those who participated in other studies of REST [24-26], the severity levels for maternal depressive symptoms and family conflict are similar. This study expands the existing research on REST to explore its impact on perinatal anxiety.

The first author delivered REST to families in this study using Vidyo [32] and Cisco WebEx [33]. The selection of VCT was dependent on the participant's bandwidth consumption limits. This study used the same technology training procedures for REST participants that were used in other studies [24-26].

The second component of the FBCCM is a 1-hour video-delivered training session provided by the second author

to infant care providers on addressing the parenting needs of depressed and anxious mothers within the context of well-child visits. The training was offered during lunchtime to increase the likelihood of provider attendance. The training used elements of the second author's guide on addressing maternal depression in primary care [34], cited by the American Academy of Pediatrics [35,36]. The established training was expanded to include guidance on addressing the parenting needs of anxious mothers. The training primarily focused on expanding maternal knowledge of developmentally appropriate expectations, validating parenting efforts, and responding to infant fussiness.

#### **Eligibility Criteria**

The study population included mothers at least 18 years of age in any trimester of pregnancy and up to three months postpartum, and their adult family members receiving perinatal care in 2 participating obstetrics clinics in rural regions of New England. This study included a 2-phase eligibility screen process for mothers. Mothers routinely complete the Patient Health Questionnaire-2item [37] and Generalized Anxiety Disorder-2 item [38,39] in the patient portal on electronic tablets when they check in for perinatal care appointments. In phase 1, mothers with Patient Health Questionnaire-2item scores of  $\geq 2$  [40] or Generalized Anxiety Disorder-2 item scores of  $\geq 3$  [39] were automatically directed to an IRB-approved study information sheet (included an overview of the study goals, video-delivered family therapy treatment, and potential benefits and risks) to read that was followed by a question on whether or not they wanted to be contacted by the first author to learn more about the study. Mothers who selected "Yes" to the question entered their contact information in a textbox. The electronic medical record system automatically sent the first author a notification with the contact information of mothers who requested to be contacted about the study. Mothers who did not want to be contacted about the study received standard services (eg, referral to mental health provider) through the obstetrics clinic where they were receiving perinatal care.

The first author called mothers within 48 hours of receipt of their requests to provide more details on the study and ask if they wanted to proceed with the phase 2 eligibility screen. The first author secured electronic consent for the phase 2 eligibility screen from mothers and administered the measures. Each mother was asked to select a "family member" (defined as her adult relative or current intimate partner) with whom she had conflict who could potentially participate with her in the study. The Family Environment Scale-Conflict (FES-C) subscale [41] was administered to mothers to assess the level of conflict between the mother and the selected family member. Mothers with FES-C scores of at least four (indicative of moderate to high conflict) without domestic violence as measured by the Abuse Assessment Screen [42] were eligible for participation. The Beck Depression Inventory-Second Edition (BDI-II) [43] and State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-State Anxiety (STAI-S) scale [44] were administered to mothers to detect severity of symptoms. Mothers with BDI-II scores below 54 without suicidal ideation were eligible for study participation. Participants had to be fluent in English since the intervention materials were written in English. Participants had to have consistent internet access (ie, subscribe to an internet service

provider without weekly disruptions in service) on a cell phone, tablet, or computer equipped with a camera and microphone to participate in sessions. Mothers on stable doses (eg, at least 3 months) of psychiatric medications were eligible for study participation. Mothers with current individual therapy or a history of DBT were not eligible for study participation. The first author referred ineligible mothers to appropriate services in the community.

Infant care providers, willing physicians, resident physicians, and nurse practitioners who provided infant care at participating pediatric and family medicine clinics were eligible for study participation. The second author used video communication technology (Zoom) to deliver presentations to infant care providers that included an overview of the study goals, study participation, and description of the FBCCM (infant care provider training and family therapy treatment) potential benefits and risks. Infant care providers were informed that mothers, some of whom were served by their clinics, would be recruited for study participation and this confidential information could only be shared with them by the mother. Infant care providers were informed that the training would be provided to help mothers who are participating in the study and any other mothers with depression and anxiety who are served in their clinics.

#### **Recruitment and Consent Procedures**

The first author secured electronic consent of the IRB-approved consent form for the phase 2 eligibility screen from 89 willing mothers. Of these 89 screened mothers, 29 of them were ineligible (n=16 low family conflict; n=7 receiving therapy; n=5 inconsistent internet access; and n=1 upcoming move to another state). The first author referred ineligible mothers to appropriate services in the community. Of the 60 eligible mothers, 21 of them decided not to enroll in the study due to busy schedules.

The first author secured electronic consent of the IRB-approved consent form for study enrollment from 39 willing mothers and their 29 willing family members. It is important to note that 10 mothers enrolled in the study without family members, and we plan to prepare a separate paper with the data on this subgroup of the sample. Of the 29 families who enrolled in the study, 3 of them dropped out before the first session due to busy schedules.

Infant care providers from 5 participating clinics were invited to attend the training. The second author secured electronic consent of the IRB-approved consent form for study enrollment from 9 willing infant care providers to complete a survey prior to the training. The 9 infant care providers were from 3 of the clinics.

#### **Data Collection**

Participants completed a web-based baseline questionnaire in research electronic data capture [45]. The maternal and family member questionnaire included demographic items (eg, age, race, gender, highest level of education, and employment). The infant care provider questionnaire included demographic items (eg, age and gender). It also included items that pertained to current clinic practices for screening for maternal depression and anxiety with response options of "yes" or "no." It included

items on perceived job responsibilities for addressing maternal depression and anxiety within the context of well-child visits with response options that ranged from 1 "strongly disagree" to 4 "strongly agree."

#### Feasibility

The first author calculated the number of REST sessions attended by each participant and the number of families who completed REST. The second author recorded the number of infant care providers who attended the training.

The first author closely monitored maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms (safety) and family conflict (tolerability) during the treatment phase. Mothers completed the BDI-II [43] after session numbers 2, 4, 6, and 8. The time points for the BDI-II align with standard guidelines for monitoring moderate to severe perinatal depression during treatment [46,47]. Since this was the first REST study that enrolled perinatal women with moderate to severe anxiety, the STAI-S [44,48,49] was also administered to mothers at these 4 time points in the treatment phase to closely monitor anxiety symptoms. The safety protocol outlined referral procedures for mothers with increased BDI-II or STAI-S scores from baseline, indicative of increased moderate to severe symptoms, for more intensive treatment services. The protocol specified that mothers with suicidal ideation were immediately connected to emergency services. The first author administered the FES-C subscale [41] to each mother and her family member separately after session numbers 4 and 8 to assess tolerability. The FES-C is designed to measure conflict in the past month [41]. Each respondent was directed to respond to the items based on experiences that occurred within the past month with the family member who participated in the study. The tolerability protocol outlined referral procedures to services in the community for families with increased conflict or sustained high conflict from baseline. This protocol also specified safety planning and referral procedures if domestic violence was reported by a mother or her family member.

#### **Preliminary Effectiveness of REST**

Mothers and family members completed web-based measures in research electronic data capture at baseline, postintervention (within a week after the final session), and 3-month and 6-month follow-ups.

The STAI-S [44] was used to measure maternal anxiety in this study. It is a reliable and valid measure in perinatal women [48,49]. It includes 20 items that are rated by symptom intensity. STAI-S scores range from 20 to 80, and scores of at least 38 indicate moderate to high anxiety in perinatal women [50-52].

The BDI-II [43] was used to measure maternal depression in this study. It has established reliability and validity in perinatal women [53-55]. It includes 21 items to assess depressive symptom severity by intensity and frequency, including suicidal ideation. The BDI-II scores range from 0 to 63, and scores of at least 20 indicate moderate to severe depressive symptoms [43].

The NIH Toolbox *Perceived Hostility Survey Ages 18*+ (PHS) [56] was used as the family conflict outcome measure in this

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e45616

study. It is a reliable and valid measure for conflict-based communication [56]. It includes 8 items, each have a 5-point scale with response options that range from 1 "never" to 5 "always" [56]. PHS scores range from 8 to 40, and scores of at least 16 indicate moderate to high conflict in perinatal women [57]. Each respondent was directed to respond to the items based on experiences in the past month with the family member who participated in the study.

#### Statistical Methods

#### **Participant Characteristics**

Univariate statistics were used to characterize families at baseline and infant care providers.

#### Feasibility

Ratios for actual to expected number of sessions (10 sessions) were calculated for each family in REST. Means and SDs were calculated for sessions attended by mothers and family members. High retention was defined as families attending  $\geq$ 80% of sessions. The number of infant care providers who attended the training session was calculated.

For safety of REST for mothers, means and SDs were calculated for the BDI-II and the STAI-S from baseline through each clinical monitoring time point (session numbers 2, 4, 6, and 8). Wilcoxon signed rank tests were used to assess changes in BDI-II and STAI-S scores from baseline through session number 8. For tolerability of REST for families, means and SDs were calculated for the FES-C from baseline through each clinical monitoring time point (session numbers 4 and 8). Maternal and family member scores were calculated separately for the FES-C at each clinical monitoring time point. Wilcoxon signed rank tests were used to assess changes in FES-C scores from baseline through session number 8 for mothers and family members separately.

#### Preliminary Effectiveness of REST

Given the small sample size of mothers, the Friedman test was used to assess changes in maternal depressive symptoms (BDI-II scores) and maternal anxiety symptoms (STAI-S scores) from baseline to the follow-up time points (postintervention, 3-month follow-up, and 6-month follow-up). For significant results, post hoc pairwise comparison analyses were conducted using the Wilcoxon signed rank test with a Bonferroni correction applied, resulting in a significance level set at P=.008. Evidence of effectiveness will be demonstrated at the 6-month follow-up by significant reductions in maternal depressive symptoms on the BDI-II and maternal anxiety symptoms on the STAI-S.

Family conflict was analyzed in mothers and their family members separately. Given the small sample size of mothers and small sample size of family members, the Friedman test was used to assess changes (PHS scores) from baseline to the follow-up time points (postintervention, 3-month follow-up, and 6-month follow-up). For significant results, post hoc pairwise comparison analyses were conducted using the Wilcoxon signed rank test with a Bonferroni correction applied, resulting in a significance level set at P=.008. Evidence of effectiveness will be demonstrated at the 6-month follow-up by significant reductions in family conflict on the PHS.

#### Cluxton-Keller & Olson

## Results

#### **Participant Characteristics**

Of the 26 families who started REST, 24 families contributed follow-up data. The baseline characteristics for these 24 families are included in Table 1. Mothers' ages ranged from 26 to 40 years old. Mothers either selected their partners or spouses to participate with them in the study; 88% (21/24) of mothers were married. Family members' ages ranged from 27 to 49 years old. About 96% (n=23) of mothers were pregnant at baseline. About 63% (n=15) of mothers were in the second trimester of pregnancy, and the remainder of them were in the third trimester. Half were first-time mothers. About 46% (n=11) of mothers had moderate to severe anxiety symptoms and moderate to

severe depressive symptoms. Half of mothers had moderate to severe anxiety symptoms and mild depressive symptoms. One mother had severe depressive symptoms and mild anxiety symptoms.

The characteristics for the 9 infant care providers are included in Table 2. All providers identified as pediatricians, and 44% (4/9) of them were resident physicians. Prior to the training, one-third of providers reported they had not received sufficient education about maternal depression and how to address it in practice. Over half of providers (56%, 5/9) reported they had not received sufficient education about maternal anxiety and how to address it in practice. About 78% (7/9) of providers agreed that family social determinants of health limited what they could do to help depressed mothers and anxious mothers.

Table 1. Family baseline characteristics.

	Mothers (N=24)	Family members (N=24)
Age (years), mean (SD)	32.79 (3.08)	34.13 (4.84)
Race, n (%)		
Asian	2 (8)	0 (0)
More than one race	1 (4)	1 (4)
White	21 (88)	23 (96)
Highest level of education, n (%)		
High school diploma or General Educational Diploma	1 (4)	2 (8)
College degree	8 (33)	11 (46)
Graduate school degree	15 (63)	11 (46)
Employed, n (%)	18 (75)	22 (92)
Family conflict score <sup>a</sup> , mean	55.8	54.4
Maternal depression score <sup>b</sup> , mean (SD)	20 (7.62)	N/A <sup>c</sup>
Maternal anxiety score <sup>d</sup> , mean (SD)	43.63 (7.37)	N/A

<sup>a</sup>Perceived Hostility Survey Ages 18+ (PHS) [56] uncorrected T-Score from the NIH Toolbox Raw Score to T-Score Conversion Table.

<sup>b</sup>Beck Depression Inventory-Second Edition (BDI-II) scores of 20-28 indicate moderate depressive symptoms [43].

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>d</sup>State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-State Anxiety (STAI-S) [44] scale scores of at least 38 indicate clinically significant anxiety [50].



Table 2. Infant care provider characteristics.

	Infant care providers (N=9)
Age (years), mean (SD)	35.56 (7.49)
Female, n (%)	7 (78)
Race, n (%)	
More than one race	1 (11)
White	8 (89)
Clinic implements postpartum depression screens, n (%)	6 (67)
Job responsibilities for maternal depression, n (%)	
Recognition of postpartum depression	
Strongly agree	6 (67)
Agree	3 (33)
Addressing parenting issues that pertain to maternal depression	
Strongly agree	6 (67)
Agree	3 (33)
Clinic implements postpartum anxiety screens, n (%)	2 (22)
Job responsibilities for maternal anxiety, n (%)	
Recognition of postpartum anxiety	
Strongly agree	4 (44)
Agree	5 (56)
Addressing parenting issues that pertain to maternal anxiety	
Strongly agree	5 (56)
Agree	4 (44)

#### Feasibility

Of the 26 families who started REST, 2 families dropped out prior to the third session due to busy schedules. One family attended 5 sessions, reported they resolved their conflict, and they did not need more sessions. Nearly all mothers (96%; 23/24) attended all 10 sessions. On average, mothers attended 9.79 (SD 1.02) sessions. A few family members had to miss sessions due to work commitments. On average, family members attended 9.42 (SD 1.28) sessions. Overall, 83% of participants attended all 10 sessions.

The training on addressing maternal depression and anxiety in well-child visits was offered to infant care providers at 5 participating clinics. A total of 31 infant care providers attended the training.

The results indicate that REST is safe for mothers. Mothers reported a significant reduction in depressive symptoms

(Z=-3.95, P<.001) and a significant reduction in anxiety symptoms (Z=-3.49, P<.001) from baseline through session 8. No mothers required referrals to intensive mental health services. Figure 1 shows the changes in maternal depressive symptoms and maternal anxiety symptoms from baseline through the treatment phase.

The results indicate that REST is well tolerated by families. No families were removed from the study due to increased family conflict on the FES-C or domestic violence. Mothers reported a significant reduction in family conflict on the FES-C (Z=-4.16, P<.001) and their family members also reported a significant reduction in family conflict on the FES-C (Z=-2.42, P=.02) from baseline through session number 8. Figure 2 shows the changes in family conflict in mothers' FES-C scores and family members' FES-C scores from baseline through the treatment phase.


Figure 1. Changes in maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms from baseline through the treatment phase. BDI-II: Beck Depression Inventory-Second Edition; STAI-S: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-State Anxiety scale.







## **Preliminary Effectiveness of REST**

Of the 48 participants who completed the baseline measure, 47 of them also completed the postintervention measure. One mother's family member was unable to complete the postintervention measure but completed the 3-month and 6-month follow-up measures. Two couples (n=4 individuals) were lost to follow-up after completing the postintervention measure.

Table 3 includes the changes in maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms from baseline to each of the 3 follow-up time points. Mothers reported a significant decrease in depressive symptoms

over time ( $\chi^2_{3,22}$ =27.26, *P*<.001). There were statistically significant reductions in maternal depressive symptoms from baseline to postintervention (*Z*=-4.06, *P*<.001), baseline to the 3-month follow-up (*Z*=-3.87, *P*<.001), and baseline to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=-3.82, *P*<.001). Although the significant reduction in maternal depressive symptoms was sustained at the 6-month follow-up, there were no significant differences in maternal BDI-II scores from postintervention to the 3-month follow-up (*Z*=-1.15, *P*=.25), postintervention to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=-0.61, *P*=.54).

Table 3. Changes in maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms by time point.

	Baseline (N=24)	Postintervention (N=24)	P value	3-month fol- low-up (N=22)	P value	6-month fol- low-up (N=22)	P value
BDI-II <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	20 (7.62)	6.96 (2.77)	<.001	8.46 (4.19)	<.001	8.27 (5.11)	<.001
STAI-S <sup>b</sup> , mean (SD)	43.63 (7.37)	33.17 (6.94)	<.001	33.73 (7.97)	<.001	33.77 (7.56)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>BDI-II: Beck Depression Inventory-Second Edition scores.

<sup>b</sup>STAI-S: State Trait Anxiety Inventory- State Anxiety scale.



Mothers reported a significant decrease in anxiety symptoms over time ( $\chi^2_{3,22}$ =25.29, *P*<.001). There were statistically significant reductions in maternal anxiety symptoms from baseline to postintervention (*Z*=-4.03, *P*<.001), baseline to the 3-month follow-up (*Z*=-3.67, *P*<.001), and baseline to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=-3.81, *P*<.001). Although the significant reduction in maternal anxiety symptoms was sustained at the 6-month follow-up, there were no significant differences in maternal STAI-S scores from postintervention to the 3-month follow-up (*Z*=-0.42, *P*=.68), postintervention to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=-0.15, *P*=.88), and the 3-month follow-up to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=-0.14, *P*=.89).

Table 4 includes changes in family conflict, measured separately using mothers' PHS scores and their family members' PHS scores, from baseline to each of the 3 follow-up time points. Mothers reported a significant decrease in conflict with their participating family members over time ( $\chi^2_{3,22}$ =26.66, *P*<.001). There were statistically significant reductions in mothers' PHS scores from baseline to postintervention (*Z*=-3.90, *P*<.001), baseline to the 3-month follow-up (*Z*=-2.98, *P*=.003), and baseline to the 6-month follow-up (Z=-3.41, P<.001). Although the significant reduction in maternal reported family conflict was sustained at the 6-month follow-up, there were no significant differences in maternal PHS scores from postintervention to the 3-month follow-up (Z=1.31, P=.19), postintervention to the 6-month follow-up (Z=-0.79, P=.43), and the 3-month follow-up to the 6-month follow-up (Z=-0.57, P=.57).

Family members also reported a significant decrease in conflict with mothers over time ( $\chi^2_{3,21}$ =17.65, *P*<.001). There were statistically significant reductions in family member reported conflict from baseline to postintervention (*Z*=-2.81, *P*=.005), baseline to the 3-month follow-up (*Z*=-3.32, *P*<.001), and baseline to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=-2.67, *P*=.007). Although the significant reduction in family member reported conflict was sustained at the 6-month follow-up, there were no significant differences in family member PHS scores from postintervention to the 3-month follow-up (*Z*=-1.42, *P*=.16), postintervention to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=-0.16, *P*=.88), and the 3-month follow-up to the 6-month follow-up (*Z*=1.44, *P*=.15).

Table 4. Changes in family conflict by participant type and time point.

	Baseline (N=48)	Postintervention (N=47)	P value	3-month fol- low-up (N=44)	P value	6-month fol- low-up (N=44)	P value
Maternal PHS <sup>a</sup> , mean	55.8	48.1	<.001	49.8	.003	48.1	<.001
Family member PHS <sup>a</sup> , mean	54.4	51.4	.005	48.1	<.001	49.8	.007

<sup>a</sup>Perceived Hostility Survey Ages 18+ uncorrected mean T-Score from the NIH Toolbox Raw Score to T-Score Conversion Table.

## Discussion

## **Principal Results**

The findings from this study support the feasibility and preliminary effectiveness of REST in reducing maternal depressive symptoms, maternal anxiety symptoms, and family conflict from baseline through the 6-month follow-up. Mothers reported a significant reduction in depressive symptoms (P<.001) and a significant reduction in anxiety symptoms (P<.001) from baseline to the 6-month follow-up. This study is the first to explore REST's potential effectiveness in reducing maternal anxiety. We plan to conduct more research to determine REST's effectiveness in reducing maternal anxiety.

Mothers reported a significant reduction in conflict with their family members (P<.001) from baseline to the 6-month follow-up. Family members reported a significant reduction in conflict with mothers from baseline to the 6-month follow-up (P=.007). More studies are needed to show that REST is an effective treatment, especially in ethnically diverse families. A preliminary pilot study of REST showed that it was feasible and acceptable for socioeconomically disadvantaged families [24]. A pilot randomized trial is currently underway that is testing REST's impacts on depression and family function in a more diverse population of families [26], and the results will be published in a subsequent journal paper.

A total of 31 infant care providers attended the training on addressing the parenting needs of depressed and anxious mothers. Given that the providers are overburdened with clinical responsibilities that have multiplied due to the current pandemic, it is not surprising that only 9 of them agreed to complete the questionnaire prior to the training. Of these 9 infant care providers, 67% (n=6) of them reported that mothers are screened for depression at their clinics, and 22% (n=2) of them reported that mothers are screened for anxiety at their clinics. Although the infant care providers acknowledged that it is important to screen mothers for anxiety; the lack of available treatment resources in rural regions has likely inhibited clinic managers' decisions to require routine screening procedures for maternal depression and anxiety. Regardless of clinic decisions to implement routine screening procedures, mothers may still disclose depressive symptoms and anxiety symptoms during well-child visits and infant care providers need to know how to best help them. This study offered these providers convenient and easily accessible training on addressing the parenting needs of depressed and anxious mothers.

## **Comparison With Prior Work**

The current findings for REST can be compared to those of previous research [24]. The feasibility results that pertain to family retention, session attendance, safety, and tolerability of REST are consistent with those of previous research on REST [24]. REST was primarily developed for use with families

enrolled in early childhood home visiting programs. Although the sample of families in this study was not enrolled in home visiting, the findings on REST's impacts on maternal depression and family conflict are consistent with the findings for the home visited families [24]. The current and previous results [24] showed that mothers experienced significant reductions in depressive symptoms, and families experienced significant reductions in conflict. The current findings strengthen the previous findings in that the current findings show that REST's impact was sustained for 6 months after the final session.

The characteristics of the infant care providers who completed the questionnaire prior to the training are similar to those who participated in the second author's previous research [58]. The study took place during the COVID-19 pandemic and many of the participating clinics were rapidly transitioning to electronic administration of patient clinical screening measures and video-delivered services, which required providers to quickly adjust to these new practices. Although infant care providers were very busy adapting to these new changes, they prioritized the training in an effort to increase their knowledge on addressing the parenting needs of depressed and anxious mothers. The training time and duration, 1 hour at lunchtime, and video-based format likely made it convenient and easy for them to attend it.

## Limitations

This study is not without limitations. First, the sample sizes were small for families and infant care providers. For this reason, the findings should be interpreted with caution. Second, few ethnically diverse families and infant care providers participated in the study. Thus, the results may not be generalizable to more diverse populations. Although rural areas of the United States are less ethnically diverse than urban areas [59], we plan to conduct future research on the effectiveness of FBCCM with ethnically diverse populations. Third, this pilot study did not include a comparison group. It was not feasible to include a comparison group in this study. We plan to conduct a larger study that will include comparison groups in order to assess differences in outcomes for FBCCM participants.

## Conclusions

This paper included findings that support the feasibility of the FBCCM and preliminary effectiveness of the family therapy treatment component of this model. These findings are important in justifying a larger study. Our future research will focus on testing the impact of the FBCCM in improving outcomes for families and infant care providers.

## Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the Couch Family Foundation.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- Bauman BL, Ko JY, Cox S, D'Angelo Mph DV, Warner L, Folger S, et al. Vital signs: postpartum depressive symptoms and provider discussions about perinatal depression- United States, 2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(19):575-581 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6919a2] [Medline: 32407302]
- Van Niel MS, Payne JL. Perinatal depression: a review. Cleve Clin J Med 2020;87(5):273-277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3949/ccjm.87a.19054] [Medline: 32357982]
- Ko JY, Rockhill KM, Tong VT, Morrow B, Farr SL. Trends in postpartum depressive symptoms 27 states, 2004, 2008, and 2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017;66(6):153-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6606a1] [Medline: 28207685]
- Kendig S, Keats JP, Hoffman MC, Kay LB, Miller ES, Moore Simas TA, et al. Consensus bundle on maternal mental health: perinatal depression and anxiety. Obstet Gynecol 2017;129(3):422-430 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000001902] [Medline: 28178041]
- Fawcett EJ, Fairbrother N, Cox ML, White IR, Fawcett JM. The prevalence of anxiety disorders during pregnancy and the postpartum period: a multivariate Bayesian meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 2019;80(4):18r12527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4088/JCP.18r12527] [Medline: 31347796]
- Schmit S, Walker C. Seizing new policy opportunities to help low-income mothers with depression: current landscape, innovations, and next steps. Clasp. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publications/publication-1/</u> <u>Opportunities-to-Help-Low-Income-Mothers-with-Depression-2.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-02-08]
- Albaugh AS, Friedman SH, Yang SN, Rosenthal M. Attendance at mental health appointments by women who were referred during pregnancy or the postpartum period. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2018;47(1):3-11. [doi: 10.1016/j.jogn.2017.11.001] [Medline: 29174538]
- Danaher BG, Seeley JR, Silver RK, Tyler MS, Kim JJ, La Porte LM, et al. Trial of a patient-directed eHealth program to ameliorate perinatal depression: the MomMoodBooster2 practical effectiveness study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2022:760-768 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2022.09.027] [Medline: 36174746]

- 9. Avalos LA, Aghaee S, Kurtovich E, Quesenberry C, Nkemere L, McGinnis MK, et al. A mobile health mindfulness intervention for women with moderate to moderately severe postpartum depressive symptoms: feasibility study. JMIR Ment Health 2020;7(11):e17405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17405] [Medline: 33180028]
- Loughnan SA, Joubert AE, Grierson A, Andrews G, Newby JM. Internet-delivered psychological interventions for clinical anxiety and depression in perinatal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Womens Ment Health 2019;22(6):737-750. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00737-019-00961-9</u>] [Medline: <u>31101993</u>]
- 11. Milgrom J, Danaher BG, Seeley JR, Holt CJ, Holt C, Ericksen J, et al. Internet and face-to-face cognitive behavioral therapy for postnatal depression compared with treatment as usual: randomized controlled trial of MumMoodBooster. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(12):e17185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17185] [Medline: 34889742]
- 12. Milgrom J, Danaher BG, Gemmill AW, Holt C, Holt CJ, Seeley JR, et al. Internet cognitive behavioral therapy for women with postnatal depression: a randomized controlled trial of MumMoodBooster. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(3):e54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4993] [Medline: 26952645]
- O'Mahen HA, Woodford J, McGinley J, Warren FC, Richards DA, Lynch TR, et al. Internet-based behavioral activation--treatment for postnatal depression (Netmums): a randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2013;150(3):814-822. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.03.005] [Medline: 23602514]
- 14. Loughnan SA, Butler C, Sie AA, Grierson AB, Chen AZ, Hobbs MJ, et al. A randomised controlled trial of 'MUMentum postnatal': Internet-delivered cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety and depression in postpartum women. Behav Res Ther 2019;116:94-103. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.03.001] [Medline: 30877878]
- Pilkington PD, Milne LC, Cairns KE, Lewis J, Whelan TA. Modifiable partner factors associated with perinatal depression and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2015;178:165-180. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2015.02.023</u>] [Medline: <u>25837550</u>]
- 16. Wynter K, Tran TD, Rowe H, Fisher J. Development and properties of a brief scale to assess intimate partner relationship in the postnatal period. J Affect Disord 2017;215:56-61. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2017.03.001</u>] [Medline: <u>28319692</u>]
- Moyer CA, Compton SD, Kaselitz E, Muzik M. Pregnancy-related anxiety during COVID-19: a nationwide survey of 2740 pregnant women. Arch Womens Ment Health 2020;23(6):757-765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00737-020-01073-5] [Medline: 32989598]
- 18. Guintivano J, Sullivan PF, Stuebe AM, Penders T, Thorp J, Rubinow DR, et al. Adverse life events, psychiatric history, and biological predictors of postpartum depression in an ethnically diverse sample of postpartum women. Psychol Med 2018;48(7):1190-1200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291717002641] [Medline: 28950923]
- 19. Sherin M, Gildner TE, Thayer ZM. COVID-19-related changes to pregnant people's work-plans increase prenatal depression. Front Glob Womens Health 2021;2:639429 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2021.639429] [Medline: 34816196]
- Lebel C, MacKinnon A, Bagshawe M, Tomfohr-Madsen L, Giesbrecht G. Elevated depression and anxiety symptoms among pregnant individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Affect Disord 2020;277:5-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.126] [Medline: 32777604]
- Cluxton-Keller F, Bruce ML. Clinical effectiveness of family therapeutic interventions in the prevention and treatment of perinatal depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2018;13(6):e0198730 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198730] [Medline: 29902211]
- 22. Noonan M, Jomeen J, Doody O. A review of the involvement of partners and family members in psychosocial interventions for supporting women at risk of or experiencing perinatal depression and anxiety. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18(10):5396 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18105396] [Medline: 34070148]
- Curran GM, Bauer M, Mittman B, Pyne JM, Stetler C. Effectiveness-implementation hybrid designs: combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to enhance public health impact. Med Care 2012 Mar;50(3):217-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182408812] [Medline: 22310560]
- 24. Cluxton-Keller F, Williams M, Buteau J, Donnelly CL, Stolte P, Monroe-Cassel M, et al. Video-delivered family therapy for home visited young mothers with perinatal depressive symptoms: quasi-experimental implementation-effectiveness hybrid trial. JMIR Ment Health 2018;5(4):e11513 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11513] [Medline: 30530456]
- Cluxton-Keller F, Buteau J, Williams M, Stolte P, Monroe-Cassel M, Bruce ML. Engaging rural young mothers in a technology-based intervention for depression. Child Youth Serv 2019;40(2):158-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/0145935X.2018.1561264] [Medline: 31274940]
- Cluxton-Keller F, Hegel MT. A video-delivered family therapeutic intervention for perinatal women with clinically significant depressive symptoms and family conflict: indicators of feasibility and acceptability. JMIR Form Res 2022;6(10):e41697 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/41697] [Medline: 36194458]
- 27. Rathus JH, Miller AL. DBT® Skills Manual for Adolescents. New York: Guilford Press; 2015.
- 28. von Bertalanffy BL. General Systems Theory: Foundations, Development, Applications. New York, NY: George Braziller; 1968.
- 29. Woodberry KA, Popenoe EJ. Implementing dialectical behavior therapy with adolescents and their families in a community outpatient clinic. Cognitive Behav Practice 2008;15(3):277-286. [doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2007.08.004]

- 30. Pistorello J, Fruzzetti AE, Maclane C, Gallop R, Iverson KM. Dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) applied to college students: a randomized clinical trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2012;80(6):982-994 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0029096] [Medline: 22730955]
- McCauley E, Berk MS, Asarnow JR, Adrian M, Cohen J, Korslund K, et al. Efficacy of dialectical behavior therapy for adolescents at high risk for suicide: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry 2018;75(8):777-785 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.1109] [Medline: 29926087]
- 32. Vidyo in health care. Vidyo Inc. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.vidyo.com/video-conferencing-solutions/health</u> [accessed 2017-02-17]
- 33. Webex for healthcare. Webex by Cisco. 2007. URL: <u>https://www.webex.com/industries/healthcare.html?dtid=osscdc000283</u> [accessed 2021-01-09]
- 34. Olson A, Gaffney C. Parental Depression Screening for Pediatric Clinicians: An Implementation Manual. New York: The Commonwealth Fund; 2007.
- Earls MF, Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health American Academy of Pediatrics. Incorporating recognition and management of perinatal and postpartum depression into pediatric practice. Pediatrics 2010;126(5):1032-1039. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2010-2348</u>] [Medline: <u>20974776</u>]
- Rafferty J, Mattson G, Earls MF, Yogman MW, Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health. Incorporating recognition and management of perinatal depression into pediatric practice. Pediatrics 2019;143(1):e20183260. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-3260] [Medline: 30559118]
- 37. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The patient health questionnaire-2: validity of a two-item depression screener. Med Care 2003;41(11):1284-1292. [doi: 10.1097/01.MLR.0000093487.78664.3C] [Medline: 14583691]
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW, Monahan PO, Löwe B. Anxiety disorders in primary care: prevalence, impairment, comorbidity, and detection. Ann Intern Med 2007;146(5):317-325. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-146-5-200703060-00004</u>] [Medline: <u>17339617</u>]
- 39. Skapinakis P. The 2-item generalized anxiety disorder scale had high sensitivity and specificity for detecting GAD in primary care. Evid Based Med 2007;12(5):149. [doi: 10.1136/ebm.12.5.149] [Medline: 17909240]
- 40. Bennett IM, Coco A, Coyne JC, Mitchell AJ, Nicholson J, Johnson E, et al. Efficiency of a two-item pre-screen to reduce the burden of depression screening in pregnancy and postpartum: an IMPLICIT network study. J Am Board Fam Med 2008;21(4):317-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2008.04.080048] [Medline: 18612058]
- 41. Moos RH, Moos BS. Family Environment Scale Manual: Development, Applications, Research (4th ed). Palo Alto: Center for Health Care Evaluation, Department of Veteran Affairs and Stanford University Medical Centers; 2009.
- 42. McFarlane J, Parker B, Soeken K, Bullock L. Assessing for abuse during pregnancy. Severity and frequency of injuries and associated entry into prenatal care. JAMA 1992;267(23):3176-3178. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.267.23.3176</u>] [Medline: <u>1593739</u>]
- 43. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. Manual for the Beck Depression Inventory-II. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation; 1996.
- 44. Spielberger CD. The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1983.
- 45. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Grote NK, Katon WJ, Russo JE, Lohr MJ, Curran M, Galvin E, et al. Collaborative care for perinatal depression in socioeconomically disadvantaged women: a randomized trial. Depress Anxiety 2015;32(11):821-834 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/da.22405] [Medline: 26345179]
- 47. Miller ES, Jensen R, Hoffman MC, Osborne LM, McEvoy K, Grote N, et al. Implementation of perinatal collaborative care: a health services approach to perinatal depression care. Prim Health Care Res Dev 2020;21:e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1463423620000110] [Medline: 32907689]
- 48. Meades R, Ayers S. Anxiety measures validated in perinatal populations: a systematic review. J Affect Disord 2011;133(1-2):1-15. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2010.10.009</u>] [Medline: <u>21078523</u>]
- 49. Sinesi A, Maxwell M, O'Carroll R, Cheyne H. Anxiety scales used in pregnancy: systematic review. BJPsych Open 2019;5(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjo.2018.75] [Medline: 30762504]
- 50. Knight RG, Waal-Manning HJ, Spears GF. Some norms and reliability data for the state--trait anxiety inventory and the Zung self-rating depression scale. Br J Clin Psychol 1983;22 (Pt 4):245-249. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.2044-8260.1983.tb00610.x</u>] [Medline: <u>6640176</u>]
- Ravid E, Salzer L, Arnon L, Eisner M, Wiznitzer A, Weller A, et al. Is there an association between maternal anxiety propensity and pregnancy outcomes? BMC Preg Childbirth 2018;18(1):287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-1925-8] [Medline: 29973180]
- 52. Newham JJ, Westwood M, Aplin JD, Wittkowski A. State-trait anxiety inventory (STAI) scores during pregnancy following intervention with complementary therapies. J Affect Disord 2012;142(1-3):22-30. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.04.027] [Medline: 22959685]

- 53. ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice. ACOG committee opinion no. 757: screening for perinatal depression. Obstet Gynecol 2018;132(5):e208-e212. [doi: 10.1097/AOG.0000000002927] [Medline: 30629567]
- Tandon SD, Cluxton-Keller F, Leis J, Le H, Perry DF. A comparison of three screening tools to identify perinatal depression among low-income African American women. J Affect Disord 2012;136(1-2):155-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.07.014] [Medline: 21864914]
- Ammerman RT, Putnam FW, Altaye M, Teeters AR, Stevens J, Van Ginkel JB. Treatment of depressed mothers in home visiting: impact on psychological distress and social functioning. Child Abuse Negl 2013;37(8):544-554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.003] [Medline: 23623623]
- 56. NIH and Northwestern University. Scoring and interpretation guide for the i-Pad v1.7.5.25.21. NIH Toolbox. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y4mf5pzp</u> [accessed 2023-02-08]
- 57. Gershon R. NIH Toolbox Norming Study. Harvard Dataverse. 2016. URL: <u>https://dataverse.harvard.edu/</u> <u>dataset.xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.7910/DVN/FF4DI7</u> [accessed 2023-02-14]
- Olson AL, Kemper KJ, Kelleher KJ, Hammond CS, Zuckerman BS, Dietrich AJ. Primary care pediatricians' roles and perceived responsibilities in the identification and management of maternal depression. Pediatrics 2002;110(6):1169-1176. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.110.6.1169</u>] [Medline: <u>12456915</u>]
- 59. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Racial and ethnic minorities made up about 22 percent of the rural population in 2018, compared to 43 percent in urban areas. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/chart-gallery/gallery/chart-detail/</u> ?chartId=99538 [accessed 2023-02-08]

## Abbreviations

BDI-II: Beck Depression Inventory-Second Edition
DBT: Dialectical Behavior Therapy
FBCCM: Family-Based Collaborative Care Model
FES-C: Family Environment Scale-Conflict
IRB: institutional review board
PHS: Perceived Hostility Survey Ages 18+
REST: Resilience Enhancement Skills Training
STAI-S: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-State Anxiety scale
VCT: compliant video technology

Edited by S Badawy, G Eysenbach; submitted 10.01.23; peer-reviewed by A Woolard, P Watson; comments to author 01.02.23; revised version received 06.02.23; accepted 07.02.23; published 13.04.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Cluxton-Keller F, Olson A A Family-Based Collaborative Care Model for Treatment of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms in Perinatal Women: Results From a Pilot Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e45616 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e45616</u> doi:10.2196/45616 PMID:37052997

©Fallon Cluxton-Keller, Ardis Olson. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.04.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

Novel At-Home Mother's Milk Conductivity Sensing Technology as an Identification System of Delay in Milk Secretory Activation Progress and Early Breastfeeding Problems: Feasibility Assessment

Sharon Haramati<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Anastasia Firsow<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Daniela Abigail Navarro<sup>2</sup>, PhD, IBCLC, RD; Ravid Shechter<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>MyMilk Laboratories Ltd, Glil Yam, Israel

<sup>2</sup>Department of Nutrition Sciences, Ariel University, Ariel, Israel

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Ravid Shechter, PhD MyMilk Laboratories Ltd Glil Yam, Kibbutz Glil Yam, 4690500 Israel Phone: 972 526166705 Email: <u>shechter.ravid@gmail.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Prolonged exclusive breastfeeding is a public health priority and a personal desire by mothers; however, rates are low with milk supply challenges as a predominant cause. Early breastfeeding management at home is key. Milk electrolytes, mainly sodium ions, are accepted as biomarkers of secretory activation processes throughout the first weeks after birth and predictors for prolonged breastfeeding success, although they are not incorporated into routine care practice.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to test the feasibility of a novel handheld smartphone-operated milk conductivity sensing system that was designed to compute a novel parameter, milk maturation percent (MM%), calculated from milk sample conductivity for tracking individual secretory activation progress in a real-world home setting.

**Methods:** System performance was initially evaluated in data collected from laboratory-based milk analysis, followed by a retrospective analysis of observational real-world data gathered with the system, on the spot in an at-home setting, implemented by lactation support providers or directly by mothers (N=592). Data collected included milk sample sensing data, baby age, and self-reported breastfeeding status and breastfeeding-related conditions. The data were retroactively classified in a day after birth–dependent manner. Results were compared between groups classified according to breastfeeding exclusivity and breastfeeding problems associated with ineffective breastfeeding and low milk supply.

**Results:** Laboratory analysis in a set of breast milk samples demonstrated a strong correlation between the system's results and sodium ion levels. In the real-world data set, a total of 1511 milk sensing records were obtained on the spot with over 592 real-world mothers. Data gathered with the system revealed a typical time-dependent increase in the milk maturation parameter (MM%), characterized by an initial steep increase, followed by a moderate increase, and reaching a plateau during the first weeks postpartum. Additionally, MM% levels captured by the system were found to be sensitive to breastfeeding status classifications of exclusive breastfeeding and breastfeeding problems, manifested by differences in group means in the several-day range after birth, predominantly during the first weeks postpartum. Differences could also be demonstrated for the per-case time after birth–dependent progress in individual mothers.

**Conclusions:** This feasibility study demonstrates that the use of smart milk conductivity sensing technology can provide a robust, objective measure of individual breastfeeding efficiency, facilitating remote data collection within a home setting. This system holds considerable potential to augment both self-monitoring and remote breastfeeding management capabilities, as well as to refine clinical classifications. To further validate the clinical relevance and potential of this home milk monitoring tool, future controlled clinical studies are necessary, which will provide insights into its impact on user and care provider satisfaction and its potential to meet breastfeeding success goals.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43837) doi:10.2196/43837



#### **KEYWORDS**

breastfeeding; feasibility; human milk; biomarker; remote sensing technology; mobile health; retrospective; secretory activation; lactogenesis; milk supply; milk; sensing technology; monitoring tool; lactation; exclusive breastfeeding; breastfeed; maternal health; maternal and infant health; infant health; maternal and child health; prolactin; lactation consultant; lactation support provider; mother; milk maturation

## Introduction

Despite the growing body of knowledge regarding breastfeeding benefits for both the mother and baby [1,2] and efforts of national and international health organizations to promote and support breastfeeding, exclusive breastfeeding rates remain low [3]. While breastfeeding initiation rates are relatively high (>80%), use of commercial milk formula (hereafter referred to as "formula") is high [4]. There is a sharp drop where a third of mothers stop breastfeeding within the first month after birth [5,6], with insufficient milk supply being the most prevalent self-reported contributing factor [4,7].

Postglandular (or secondary) lactation insufficiency, caused by ineffective or infrequent milk removal, is reportedly the most common cause of inability to support an exclusively breastfed infant's optimal growth and development [8]. Early proactive and corrective care, when the lactation process is most amenable to positive manipulation, can have a great impact on milk supply in the short and long term [4,9].

Lactogenesis, the process by which the mammary glands develop and regulate milk secretion, is a complex physiological process involving an orchestrated series of endocrine and autocrine/paracrine hormonal changes. The secretory activation stage (known as lactogenesis II) is tightly related to effective breastfeeding with frequent and adequate milk removal from the breast [10]; therefore, this stage can be dramatically perturbed by the introduction of nonmother's milk feeds [4]. Inadequate secretory activation progress constitutes a higher risk for insufficient subsequent milk production, leading to excessive infant weight loss and early exclusive and/or any breastfeeding cessation [11,12]. Thus, objective assessment tools for monitoring an individual's lactogenesis progress warrant attention.

Researchers over the past 70 years have identified a variety of components in human milk indicative of mammary gland progress toward the production of copious mature milk, including electrolytes such as sodium, potassium, and chloride ions, alongside lactose, protein, and citrate [13-18]. Electrolytes, mainly sodium ions, and related measures, including milk conductivity, show unique dynamics over the first weeks postpartum. These factors have been demonstrated to serve as useful biomarkers for successful or failed secretory activation, as a potential measure of increased risk for early breastfeeding cessation [19-24], and were recently assessed as a potential care support tool [25-28]. Early and frequent breast stimulation and efficient emptying were shown to improve marker dynamics and milk supply. Milk electrolyte balance was also shown to be affected by breast inflammation, a well-reported obstacle to breastfeeding success [29,30]. However, the main testing methods available for these biomarkers to date require

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43837

RenderX

laboratory-based approaches, hindering their large-scale practical use.

Breastfeeding is managed by the mother at home. Early education and support by lactation consultants via home visits or remotely via telehealth, especially in the first 4 weeks after birth, were shown to impact the success and maintenance of exclusive breastfeeding [31-34]. In recent years, mobile health apps have been paving the way toward more personalized self-care. Breastfeeding tracking and support apps have increasingly been adopted both in nonclinical and clinical contexts [35]. Augmenting health tracking tools with sensor technologies operated in the home setting has the potential to advance our understanding of the dynamics of breastfeeding physiology and low supply etiologies, demonstrating potential for future clinical care implementation.

We here describe the development and early real-world evidence from the use of a novel milk conductivity sensing system designed for tracking individual mothers' milk secretory activation progress at home. The handheld milk conductivity sensing device and a mobile app were designed for an instant computation of a milk maturation percent (MM%) parameter that is computed from milk sample conductivity measured by the device, reflecting sample maturation status in percentages within the full dynamic range from initial colostrum to fully mature milk; the lower the MM%, the less advanced the mother is in her lactogenesis phase progress and supply process.

The aim of this study was to test the feasibility of this smartphone-operated milk conductivity sensing system to track individual secretory activation progress in a real-world home setting and its ability to identify different breastfeeding classifications associated with milk supply in a diverse set of real-world users.

## Methods

#### **Research Design**

This retrospective study was based on a data set gathered by real-world users of a novel milk conductivity sensing system with the purpose of assessing individual secretory activation progress at home. The study objective was to assess feasibility of the novel system for remotely tracking secretory activation status at home. We referred to the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) guidelines for reporting cross-sectional observational data and also to the Guidelines and Checklist for the Reporting on Digital Health Implementations, when applicable.

System performance was initially evaluated in data collected from laboratory-based milk analysis, followed by a retrospective analysis of observational real-world data gathered with the system implemented by lactation support providers and directly by mothers in the home setting.

The available data set in the company's database allowed for a cost-effective analysis in studying the relationship between milk maturation progress and breastfeeding exclusivity and related problems, which can provide insight for the design of future prospective and randomized trials.

Users joined the technology assessment on their sole discretion; downloaded the app; and consented before use to terms of use, privacy policy, and data usage for anonymous research purposes (see Multimedia Appendix 1). Users' data were adequately secured according to the organization's privacy policies designed for maintaining confidentiality and privacy, and the study data set was deidentified at extraction for analysis.

The system was not intended for diagnosing or treating a medical condition but rather as an informational/educational, noninvasive, and low-risk tool for promoting a healthy lifestyle. This was clearly indicated at all steps of registration. The system was implemented in a nonclinical nonacademic setting; any and all system interaction was at the sole discretion of users.

#### **Ethical Approval**

This study was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee of Ariel University (approval number AU-HEA-AN-20221220).

## Setting and Context

This retrospective analysis observed data records from breastfeeding mothers in the state of Israel. According to formal figures published by the Israel Ministry of Health, the breastfeeding initiation rate in Israel is 93% and exclusive breastfeeding rates drop to 55% by 1 month and to 20% at 6 months (data collected by the software "Healthy thinking" within "Tipat Halav" national well-baby visit centers [36]).

#### Sample

The study population included users registered between July 2018 and October 2020. A total of 592 mothers were included in the retrospective analysis (555 recorded by lactation support providers and 37 self-recorded directly). Users were not compensated for participation. Several users covered shipment costs. Sample demographics, including data on birth weight, gestational week at birth, parity, age, sex of the infant, and more, can be found in Multimedia Appendix 2. The study set was not controlled and was subjected to selection bias, and therefore cannot and is not intended to represent the general population.

#### **Measurement Apparatus and Software**

The milk conductivity sensing system comprised a handheld device for sensing the conductivity of small human milk samples and a smartphone app for data recording, computation of MM%, and user output.

The device included a sample cell for holding a small milk sample with two fixed electrodes (cell constant K=1) and a temperature probe. The electronic board featured a microprocessor, LCD display, and was powered by two 1.5-V batteries. Sample conductivity was computed from measured conductance, corrected to  $25^{\circ}$ C, and calibrated per device using potassium chloride standard solutions. The device's laboratory performance was tested for linearity, precision, accuracy, repeatability, and stability using standard solutions and frozen

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43837
```

breast milk specimens (see Multimedia Appendix 2), and was compared with a lab-grade conductivity analyzer (LAQUAtwin, EC-33 HORIBA).

Several milk sample cell configurations were tested to minimize sample size. Comparable results were observed for sample volumes of 0.2 ml, 0.5 ml, 1 ml, and 2 ml, leading to the selection of minimal volume cells of 0.5 ml and 0.2 ml for device assembly (see Multimedia Appendix 2 [37]).

Electrical conductivity, a measure of a fluid's current conduction capability, is linked to the concentration and mobility of ions. The charged particles in body fluids are primarily sodium, potassium, and chloride. The relationship between breast milk conductivity and specific electrolyte concentrations has been previously reported [17].

We investigated sodium ion (Na<sup>+</sup>), a well-studied breast milk electrolyte linked to lactogenesis [14,15,38] and lactation adequacy [19,22,23], in relation to the measurements obtained with our apparatus. We used a large set of breast milk samples (n=79) for this lab-based test, plotting the measured relative conductivity against the sodium concentration, as assessed by a lab-grade ion-selective electrode analyzer (Roche/Hitachi Cobas 6000 c501 system, ISE module) and a portable Na<sup>+</sup>-selective electrode instrument (LAQUATwin, NA-11 HORIBA) that was previously validated for human milk [37]. The results showed a strong correlation, suggesting Na<sup>+</sup> ion as a key factor in milk conductivity (see Multimedia Appendix 2 [15,29]). No correlation was found with Na<sup>+</sup> or conductivity and certain milk components demonstrating significant interindividual variability (fat; vitamins A, B1, B2, B6, and B12; and caffeine; for details see Multimedia Appendix 2 [39]). However, protein levels, which show similar dynamics to Na<sup>+</sup> in lactogenesis [15] and little interindividual difference in mature milk, positively correlated with both conductivity and Na<sup>+</sup>. Postpartum day-specific conductivity patterns mirrored Na<sup>+</sup> trends, similar to the results reported by Neville et al [15], and mirrored Na<sup>+</sup> trends in certain inflammation-associated breast pain cases, confirming previous reports [29,30] (see Multimedia Appendix 2 [19,22,23]).

MM% was calculated from device-measured conductivity using a predefined equation, based on an empirical data set of 625 breast milk samples from the first 10 days postpartum (detailed in Multimedia Appendix 2). The result was computed for each breast, saved, and displayed on the user interfaces in seconds.

Two apps were developed: a user-friendly app for mothers to record and track daily inputs, complemented by educational materials (iOS-compatible; see Multimedia Appendix 2) and a separate app for lactation support providers to manage records of different mothers (iOS- and Android-compatible; Multimedia Appendix 2).

System-recorded data included the baby's birth date and time, birth weight, sex, breastfeeding exclusivity, and milk sample measurements. Users could self-report additional data, including conditions (low milk supply, slow weight gain, tongue-tie, latch problem, breast pain, and nipple pain), baby weights, mother's

XSL•FO RenderX

age, birth type, preterm birth, and obstetrics/gynecology history. The mother-facing app allowed for calculating a self-assessment LATCH score [40], breastfeeding confidence score (adapted from the Mother Infant Breastfeeding Satisfaction Scale subscale of the Hill & Humenick lactation scale [41]), daily diaper counts, and a pain scale scored from 0 to 5. The questionnaire format was not independently validated.

Data were stored in separate secure cloud-based data storage servers for each app (AWS and Google Cloud). The system was established for investigational use only was not intended to diagnose or treat any medical condition nor to serve as a substitute for medical advice or guide medical care. Data confidentiality was maintained according to user consent and usage terms (see Multimedia Appendix 1).

## **Data Collection**

This study utilized a data set collected from July 2018 to October 2020 by lactation support providers (n=30), including International Board-Certified Lactation Consultants, that used the system at routine home visits, as well as mothers joining in their third trimester who voluntarily used the system for repeated self-assessment starting soon after birth. An additional data set used for milk sample analysis in our laboratory from 2015 to 2023 was also included for system performance assessment (for details see Multimedia Appendix 2). Participation and use were optional, and the informed consent form explained system use, system limitations, and data handling (see Multimedia Appendix 1).

For analysis, data were anonymized, manually organized, and combined from the two app data storage servers. Specific records missing vital classification data or flagged as system failures or misuse were excluded. The unstructured data collection schedule, optional data tags, data merging from two participant groups, and reliance on self-reported data present study limitations. To offer comprehensive group-level analysis, all scans were treated as independent, including multiple-day scans from the same mother, presenting a possible bias toward mothers who scanned more frequently.

## **Data Analysis**

We defined exclusive, full, and partial breastfeeding as previously described [42].

For data set analysis, data points were retrospectively categorized into three types of breastfeeding—"normal," "low supply," and "breastfeeding problems"—based on system interactions by the lactation support provider or mother. These categories reflected reported breastfeeding exclusivity and problem severity.

The "normal" classification included either exclusive breastfeeding, full breastfeeding, full mother's own milk (as described by Labbok and Starling [42]), or predominant mother's milk ( $\geq$ 80% of daily feeds, also referred to as high partial mother's milk feeding) at the time of the scan, with no indicated problems associated with low milk supply.

The "low supply" classification included lactation support provider's reports of formula feeding (defined as nonexclusive breastfeeding since birth and formula feeding during the 24

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43837
```

hours prior to the scan; also referred to as low or medium partial feeding) that were also tagged with problems associated with ineffective breastfeeding and/or low milk supply, or mothers' reports of indirect indicators of low milk supply and slow baby weight gain or significant formula feeds (over 20% of daily feeds and up to mainly formula as the nutrition source of the baby at the time of the report). Importantly, milk supply was not directly evaluated.

The "breastfeeding problems" classification included nonexclusive, partial breastfeeding (any formula at 34 hours prior to the scan) but with no obvious tagging of problems, or predominant breastfeeding ( $\geq 80\%$  mother's milk at scan) also tagged with problems associated with ineffective breastfeeding and/or low milk supply (latch problems, 32.9%; tongue/lip-tie, 23.9%; low weight gain, 18.7%; and/or low milk supply, 5.2%).

Group names do not imply either a diagnosis or a confirmed clinical condition. This study is limited by the fact that classification was based on subjective user-reported suspected status, with no direct measurements of milk volumes or per-feed milk transfer by the authors. For ease of reporting, throughout this article, the short descriptors are used as noted above.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was conducted using JASP Graphical Statistical Software Version 0.17.1.0 (JASP Team, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands). Descriptive statistics included mean, median, standard error, coefficient of variation, minimum/maximum percentiles, and quartiles. A two-factor ANOVA was used to estimate the mean change in MM% based on feeding and days after birth, followed by a Tukey test for multiple comparisons. Scatter and interval plots are used to represent numeric variables and 95% CIs, respectively. For percentile analysis, a  $\pm$ 24-hour smoothing window was applied for the first 3 days and a –24-hour window was applied thereafter. Data set distributions were visualized with raincloud plots and quantile limits were visualized with boxplots.

# Results

For Visual Abstract see Multimedia Appendix 3.

## Milk Sensing Device and App

The milk electric conductivity sensing apparatus used to collect data presented in this manuscript was initially tested for laboratory performance in a series of breast milk samples. Results obtained with the apparatus were found to strongly correlate with milk sodium (Na<sup>+</sup>), a well-studied electrolyte with regard to lactation state [14,15,19,22,23] (see Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2). In our records, both the apparatus results and Na<sup>+</sup> showed a strong day-after-birth–dependent dynamic change, previously linked to secretory activation [15,38], and both presented a similar association with inflammation-associated breast pain, as previously reported [29,30] (Figure S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2). Although in the scope of this study not all possible contributors can be ruled out, no such correlation was found to a set of milk components

with large interindividual variability in mature milk (Figure S3 Multimedia Appendix 2).

The system (Figure 1) was designed to reliably sense conductivity in a small ( $200 \mu$ I) human milk sample (see Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 2) and instantly computes MM% by a proprietary equation defined based on an empirical data set of breast milk samples (detailed in the Methods section). MM% was designed to intuitively follow the directional progress

of mother's milk on a continuous 0% to 100% scale determined empirically. The system was operated by the user via a mobile app for data recording and presentation. The lactation support provider app was designed as a dashboard to manage records of different mothers, while the mother-facing app was designed to follow individual mothers' day-to-day milk maturation progress and allow for additional voluntary data recording (see Figure S5 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

**Figure 1.** Schematic illustration of the milk sensing system. The system is composed of a milk sensing device and smartphone app. The milk sensing device design consists of (1) a sample cell with two electrodes and temperature (temp) sensor, (2) a firmware processor converting raw measurements to temp-corrected conductance, and (3) a display output. On the smartphone app side, (4) a software applies a per-device calibration on the measurable conductivity and computes the milk maturation percent (MM%) parameter. Computation is based on an empirical breast milk history data set.



Mobile app



#### Participants

A group of 30 professional lactation support providers were voluntarily enrolled and equipped with systems for use as an informational tool in their routine face-to-face home visits. A separate group of 37 expecting mothers (third trimester) were voluntarily enrolled for self and repeated use of the system at their home, starting early after birth. The intended use of the system was informational only and was not intended for diagnosing or treating any medical condition nor to substitute any medical advice. A retrospective analysis was performed on the observational data set recorded in the system data store between July 2018 and October 2020 as part of rolling continued data gather using the system by real-world users, mostly in the home setting.

The data set included 1511 scans, including 1098 scans recorded at 593 appointments of professional lactation support collected from 555 mothers and 421 scans recorded on the mother-facing app from mothers that used the system for repeated self-home-tracking. At the stage of analysis, the lactation support providers-derived data set included 555 mothers, with an average maternal age of 30 (SD 5.7) years, reported infant sex of 278 girls and 276 boys, average birth weight of 3224 grams, and average child number 2.2 (out of 519 records, 53% 1st, 18% 2nd, 11% 3rd, and 13% 4th+ child). Infant age at the scan ranged from 0 to 1051 days with a median of 26.6 days. The self-enrolled mother group included 37 mothers; the average baby birth weight was 3103 grams, average child number 1.8, and average gestational week at birth was 37; see detailed sample demographics in Multimedia Appendix 2. As the

RenderX

participating population was not controlled and was subjected to selection bias, the results of the current analysis are not intended to and cannot provide insight into distributions in the general population.

#### Milk Maturation Progress in Exclusive Breastfeeding

Analysis from home use of the device demonstrated that MM% in exclusive normal breastfeeding progressed steeply throughout the first days and then gradually increased to reach a plateau within 2-3 weeks postpartum.

We analyzed a data set of scan records tagged as exclusive breastfeeding, full breastfeeding (as previously defined [42]), and predominant mother's own milk (≥80% of daily feeds, also referred to as high partial breastfeeding) at the time of the scan, with no breastfeeding problems indicated at the time of the reporting by either the lactation support provider face-to-face evaluation or by the mother (collectively referred to as the "normal" data set). A total of 507 scans fit these criteria. Data analysis revealed rapid elevation in the MM% parameter in the first days from birth that continued to increase slowly along 2 and 3 weeks postpartum, reaching a stable plateau of approximately 100% (Figure 2A-C). High variability was noted in the first days; however, the cofactors contributing to this variation were not assessed in the current study design. We next set per-day MM% "normal" percentiles, defined at the 15th, 50th, and 85th percentiles for each day/day range (daily in the first 21 days postpartum and at 7-10-day intervals at days 21-60 and >60 postpartum) (Figure 2C). These calculations and visualizations were further used as references for single or multiple sets of measurements.

#### Haramati et al

**Figure 2.** Milk maturation percent (MM%) distribution in a data set of a predominant breastfeeding population. A data set of 507 scans recorded from exclusive breastfeeding or predominant mother's milk ( $\geq$ 80% daily feeds), with no problems at the time of the scan were included. (A) Dot plot chart of MM% to day from birth at scanning. The upper chart shows the full scale up to 300 days (N=507); the lower chart enlarges the 0-60 days snapshot (n=463). (B) Box plot presentation of the data distribution and quantile limits (+1.5 IQR) for each day postbirth (0-60 days). (C) MM% to day postbirth (0-60 days) chart with ranges set by the data set percentile array, where the lower full line depicts the 15th percentile, the middle dashed line depicts the 50th percentile, and the upper dotted-dashed line depicts the 85th percentile.



# Individual Mother's Milk Maturation Parameter Dynamics

Next, we assessed the dynamics of MM% in individual mothers who used the system repeatedly in a home setting (712 scans from 17 mothers that used the system on at least 4 separate occasions). The frequency of use of the device was at the mother's sole discretion (varied between 8 and 42 scans for each mother). MM% for each breast was analyzed separately. The plot of per-mother MM% versus day (Figure 3A) revealed similar dynamics to the population medians, where MM% values increased sharply within the first days after birth and continued to change gradually within the second week, eventually reaching a plateau. Records of mothers with no apparent breastfeeding complications tended to have MM% values above the "normal" group's 15th percentile line, often very close to the 50th percentile line (Figure 3A, i-ii). Several records presented more rapid dynamics (Figure 3A iii), reaching full (100%) maturation faster within several days from birth. In contrast, the records from selected individuals with reported breastfeeding problems associated with low milk supply reflected slower MM% versus days dynamics, where MM% values were below the 15th percentile norm line (or close to) from the early days after birth and for a period of time thereafter (Figure 3B). One record presents MM% records of exclusive breastfeeding with reported differences in milk production between breasts, with one side initially below the 15th percentile, demonstrating possible independent dynamics between sides (Figure 3C).



**Figure 3.** Per-case milk maturation percentage (MM%)-to-day from birth charts in individual mothers. The data set comprised 712 scans recorded by a group of 18 mothers who used the system independently at their homes. Right and left scans are depicted by separate lines. Black lines represent the 15th percentile and 50th percentile data array generated in the "exclusive" reference group. (A) MM% records from 14 exclusive breastfeeding mothers with no indications of breastfeeding problems (blue), showing similar dynamics (i, ii) or advanced (iii) relative to the 50th percentile line. (B) Three individual breastfeeding mothers with indications of breastfeeding problems of low milk supply (orange), showing slower MM%-to-day dynamics below the 15th percentile line. (C) MM% records from exclusive breastfeeding mother with delayed milk production on one side that was balanced.



#### Milk Maturation Dynamics in Ineffective Breastfeeding

Analysis of data from home use of the device showed that lower MM% values are associated with early breastfeeding problems indicative of a low milk supply.

We aimed to test if reported early ineffective breastfeeding status and milk supply problems are associated with different MM% dynamics. The data set was retrospectively classified into one of three breastfeeding classes based on user records of breastfeeding exclusivity and reported breastfeeding problems as "normal," "breastfeeding problems," and "low supply," representing the "severity" of milk supply problems (see detailed data classification and limitations in the Methods). We performed a retrospective analysis in which we compared the

Days from birth

"normal" data set as described above to the data set of records classified as "low supply" (n=253 scan records). The low supply MM% array revealed a tendency toward lower values compared to the "normal" predominant exclusive breastfeeding classification, with lower group median, quartiles, and mean MM% for the "low supply" group compared with those of the "normal" group throughout the full period (Figure 4A-D). Per-day range analysis revealed a lower mean MM% in the "low supply"–classified records compared with that of the "normal"-classified group in every day range analyzed (Figure 4B, two-factor ANOVA P<.001; Tukey test for breastfeeding classification P<.001). Posthoc analysis showed strong statistical significance between data sets at day 5 onward after birth (days 5-20 P<.001; days 20-60 P=.002) (Figure 4C).



**Figure 4.** Milk maturation percentage (MM%) in population groups of low milk supply and breastfeeding problems. Analysis of scans' MM% recorded from breastfeeding women with indication of a low milk supply, as reported by face-to-face evaluation by lactation support provider or mother self-report ("low supply," n=253), compared to "normal" group of exclusive/predominant ( $\geq$ 80% mothers' own milk) breastfeeding ("exclusive," n=463) and a third group of diverse breastfeeding problems ("BF Problem"; n=569, purple). (A) Dot plot presentation of MM% to day from birth at day 6-20: "exclusive," green; "low," orange; the black line is the MM% 15th percentile from the norm array. (B) Per-day range comparison analysis of MM% records between the two factors "low supply" and "exclusive." Two-factor ANOVA *P*<.001, Tukey BF *P*<.001; posthoc comparisons for the interaction BF×day is statistically significant Tukey *P*<.001 at day 5 (d5) to day 20 (d20). (C) Raincloud plot visualization ("exclusive," green; "low supply," orange; "BF Problems," purple) at day ranges, showing group separation at 5-20 days from birth. Box plot presenting quantile limits (Q1, median, Q3, and ±1.5 IQR). (D) MM% group moving median per-day range at 0-20 days. Data set of days 20-60 grouped at day 20.



For the day range 6-20 after birth, 110 out of 135 records classified as "low supply" showed MM% under the 15th  $\,$ 

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43837

XSL•FO RenderX percentile threshold line, suggesting a potential preliminary sensitivity of 81% for using the daily 15th percentile of the

"normal" predominant exclusive breastfeeding class as a potential reference threshold (see the detailed analysis in Table S1 of Multimedia Appendix 2). Future controlled prospective pilots and implementation studies, with population representative samples, direct milk supply measurements, and prolonged outcome evaluation, are required for validation of the usefulness and diagnostic capabilities of the system.

The intermediate data set, including scan records with indication of varying milder breastfeeding problems (see data classification in the Methods; n=569 scan records), showed persistent intermediate MM% median values, which were higher than those of the "low supply" group and lower than those of the "exclusive" norm values, most noticeably between days 5 and 19 (Figure 4D), with extended distribution over the full range defined by the two other groups (Figure 4C). As expected in this nonhomogeneous data set, some individual MM% records presented intermediate values in line with intermediate breastfeeding problem severity, while others were either more similar to the "exclusive" data set or to the "low supply" data set. Further metadata analysis and follow-up studies may highlight cofactors involved and their impact on the recorded MM% and possible subclassifications within and between groups.

# Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

Here, we present the first real-world data collected in real time using a newly developed human milk conductivity sensing system in the most intensive postnatal period and in a natural home setting. The real-world data design enabled a large, diverse, unique data set, including the MM% parameter alongside unique mother-baby data from numerous heterogeneous cases.

Retrospective analysis of the data demonstrated a typical "normal" MM% progress at the group level and in individual repeated measurements over the first days and weeks postpartum, and demonstrated that the system described is sensitive to breastfeeding exclusivity and milk supply problem severity at multiple and ongoing time frames after birth.

While randomized controlled clinical studies are warranted for evaluating the clinical usefulness compared to current practice and for validating the diagnostic capabilities of the new tool, the benefit of collecting real-time, real-world evidence in a natural setting is powerful. This can promote our understanding of breastfeeding physiology, low milk supply risks, and etiology, and serve as a step toward practical care insights.

## **Building on Prior Work**

Milk electrolytes are used in research as biomarkers of secretory activation, which have been highlighted as predictors of successful or failed breastfeeding [15,18,20,27]. Although precluded from routine practice, previous studies by Humenick [43], Humenick et al [23], and Morton [19] have identified the potential use of milk secretory activation biomarkers for clinicians' per-case evaluation, suggesting that early assessment of secretory activation biomarkers can be used for early evaluation of the adequacy of lactation and the effectiveness of

suckling, assist the optimal timing for a follow-up visit, enable the evaluation of progress, and evaluate the cause of inadequate lactation. A recent study validated the use of a portable instrumentation for sodium measurement directly by clinicians [44]. The system we described herewith enabled taking this theory out of the controlled setting into practice in a natural home setting, with an easy-to-operate, immediate, handheld, relatively low-cost technology, well-correlated with prior findings. The described milk conductivity sensing technology may be influenced or correlated with additional factors beyond those assessed in the scope of this study. Future controlled studies assessing various population subsets will assist in defining system usability and limitations, alongside driving further algorithm improvements.

Most studies evaluate individual data relative to a single cutoff criterion for a secretory activation biomarker level (particularly sodium). We argue that with the attempt to translate a gradually changing biomarker to a meaningful tool, an improved methodology can be to compare individual data to day-from-birth matched references. Our preliminary sensitivity assessment using per-day references in the exclusive breastfeeding "norm" population shows promise. Further studies are needed to validate norm values for a large and variable population and to evaluate or adjust the percentiles depicted in this study.

## **Future Directions**

Although preliminary, limited, and out of the scope of the current analysis, in a small-scale user survey, lactation support provider users verbally indicated that the system was valuable for their case assessment and follow-up (see representative quotes in Multimedia Appendix 2), raising the potential of a milk biomarker measuring system to support data-powered and remote care. The current system is built as an informational tool, not intended to diagnose or treat a medical condition and secondary to any professional care. Future studies are warranted to validate the usability and usefulness of the system and for assessing the diagnostic capabilities of the tool.

The system did not distinguish all "low supply" cases. This can be linked to primary lactation insufficiency, hypoplasia, or levels of insufficient glandular tissue [22]; cases where first use of the system was relatively late; or cases of perceived insufficient milk supply. There are certain additional conditions such as mastitis, breast inflammation, and milk stasis that are also reflected in abnormal levels of milk electrolytes [29,30]. Preliminary data suggest the ability of the system to differentiate the above cases (data not shown) and additional research is warranted for validating system use for specific intended uses.

Low milk supply is often diagnosed and managed late [9,45,46]. Insufficient lactation can reflect a variety of cases with different underlying contributing factors that can all benefit to a significant extent from as-early-as-possible preventative and corrective management. Use of the described system may assist in understanding the efforts required to increase supply. The lower the MM%, the less advanced the mother is in her milk supply establishment process, but this can also indicate that the mother's supply can still be significantly increased with frequent and effective milk removal. Early and repeated system use can

XSL•FO RenderX

reflect day-to-day progress and may assist in evaluation of the effectiveness of management.

Using the daily milk maturation parameter and its dynamic progress throughout the postpartum period, easily measured by the mother at home with minimal effort, combined with additional data on mother and baby harbor the potential to enable (1) the classification of cases to those with lower and higher risk for a breastfeeding problem; (2) evaluating the efforts required for enhancing milk supply and to assess intervention efficiency; (3) differentiating between problems that originate in maternal physiology (glandular) to problems originating in inefficient breastfeeding (postglandular, whether it stems from the baby physiology, breastfeeding management routine, or latch); and (4) structuring a tailor-made care practice accordingly on a case-by-case basis.

A mother-facing system that will include result interpretation and enhances the milk measurement with data-tracking tools, personal insights, and educational materials, tailored to the baby age and to the milk status, may enable personal, comprehensive, empathetic, and practical guidance, and has the potential to drive a mother's early proactivity. This was not directly evaluated in this study and should be addressed in future research, along with assessing the system's benefits beyond the current standard of care.

#### Limitations

This study was designed as a retrospective descriptive analysis of the data recorded in real-world use by early adopters assessing the technology. First, as the real-world data were not collected as part of a structured research, study limitations include potential selection bias, data inconsistency, confounding factors, and quality assessment challenges. Second, system usage was not routinely controlled and self-reported records were subjective and not complete, limiting data analysis capabilities. In an effort to minimize biases caused by these factors, we chose to include a relatively large data set in this feasibility study.

Third, the app was available only in English and only for iPhone, and the population was not randomized nor controlled but rather included a self-volunteered population that are in favor of the solution; therefore, the data set cannot and is not intended to represent the general population. Future large-scale controlled studies on a representative sample will help in addressing some of these limitations.

## Conclusions

This novel mother's milk conductivity sensing technology used by real mothers provides a proof of concept for real-time self and remote reliable assessment of individual milk secretory activation progress in a home setting. Bringing a milk assessment technology for self and remote tracking to the hands of mothers and lactation support providers for use at home, the place where breastfeeding is normally managed in real life, and at the most sensitive and critical period of breastfeeding establishment harbor future research and care potential.

Adoption of secretory activation biomarkers sensing solutions, even as an informational-only tool, could be potentially leveraged into promoting breastfeeding rates and maternal well-being.

#### Acknowledgments

We want to thank all of the curious women, mothers, and lactation support providers that have taken part in the evaluation of the technology and contributed to data collection.

#### **Data Availability**

The data sets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to data privacy and intellectual property reasons, but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

SH, RS, and AF have financial disclosures related to MyMilk Laboratories Ltd. SH and RS are cofounders of MyMilk Laboratories Ltd and own stock options in the company. AF is an employee of MyMilk Laboratories Ltd. MyMilk Laboratories is a commercial company in the breastfeeding and human milk analysis and support space. The milk sensing device described in this manuscript is in the research and development stage and not commercially available. DAN has no conflicts to declare.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Privacy policy and consent wording. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 172 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e43837\_app1.pdf ]

#### Multimedia Appendix 2

Description of the device and laboratory testing data (Figure S1), milk biochemical correlation analysis (Figures S2-S3), sample size and stability testing (Figure S4), calculation of MM%, app screenshots (Figure S5), sample demographics, predictive analysis of MM% (Table S1), representative quotes of feedback from lactation consultant users. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1217 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e43837\_app2.pdf]

## References

- Meek J, Noble L, Section on Breastfeeding. Policy Statement: Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 2022 Jul 01;150(1):e2022057988. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2022-057988] [Medline: 35921640]
- Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, Lancet Breastfeeding Series Group. Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? Lancet 2016 Jan 30;387(10017):491-504. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01044-2] [Medline: 26869576]
- 3. Breastfeeding rates. National Immunization Survey (NIS). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/data/nis\_data/index.htm</u> [accessed 2023-07-20]
- 4. Pérez-Escamilla R, Tomori C, Hernández-Cordero S, Baker P, Barros AJD, Bégin F, 2023 Lancet Breastfeeding Series Group. Breastfeeding: crucially important, but increasingly challenged in a market-driven world. Lancet 2023 Feb 11;401(10375):472-485 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01932-8] [Medline: 36764313]
- 5. Ertem IO, Votto N, Leventhal JM. The timing and predictors of the early termination of breastfeeding. Pediatrics 2001 Mar;107(3):543-548. [doi: 10.1542/peds.107.3.543] [Medline: 11230597]
- 6. Infant Feeding Survey UK, 2010. NSH Digital. 2012. URL: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/</u> statistical/infant-feeding-survey/infant-feeding-survey-uk-2010 [accessed 2023-07-20]
- 7. Odom EC, Li R, Scanlon KS, Perrine CG, Grummer-Strawn L. Reasons for earlier than desired cessation of breastfeeding. Pediatrics 2013 Mar;131(3):e726-e732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1295] [Medline: 23420922]
- 8. Boss M, Hartmann P, Turner J, Pritchard D, Pérez-Escamilla R, Clifford R. Development of LactaPedia: a lactation glossary for science and medicine. Matern Child Nutr 2020 Jul 07;16(3):e12969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/mcn.12969] [Medline: 32032481]
- Hurst NM. Recognizing and treating delayed or failed lactogenesis II. J Midwifery Womens Health 2007 Dec 24;52(6):588-594. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jmwh.2007.05.005</u>] [Medline: <u>17983996</u>]
- Neville MC, Morton J. Physiology and endocrine changes underlying human lactogenesis II. J Nutr 2001 Nov;131(11):3005S-3008S. [doi: <u>10.1093/jn/131.11.3005S</u>] [Medline: <u>11694636</u>]
- Dewey K, Nommsen-Rivers LA, Heinig MJ, Cohen RJ. Risk factors for suboptimal infant breastfeeding behavior, delayed onset of lactation, and excess neonatal weight loss. Pediatrics 2003 Sep;112(3 Pt 1):607-619. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.112.3.607</u>] [Medline: <u>12949292</u>]
- 12. Brownell E, Howard CR, Lawrence RA, Dozier AM. Delayed onset lactogenesis II predicts the cessation of any or exclusive breastfeeding. J Pediatr 2012 Oct;161(4):608-614 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.03.035] [Medline: 22575242]
- 13. Medina Poeliniz C, Engstrom JL, Hoban R, Patel AL, Meier P. Measures of secretory activation for research and practice: an integrative review. Breastfeed Med 2020 Apr 01;15(4):191-212. [doi: <u>10.1089/bfm.2019.0247</u>] [Medline: <u>32155345</u>]
- Parker LA, Sullivan S, Cacho N, Engelmann C, Krueger C, Mueller M. Indicators of secretory activation in mothers of preterm very low birth weight infants. J Hum Lact 2021 Aug 22;37(3):581-592. [doi: <u>10.1177/0890334420980424</u>] [Medline: <u>33351691</u>]
- 15. Neville M, Allen J, Archer P, Casey C, Seacat J, Keller R, et al. Studies in human lactation: milk volume and nutrient composition during weaning and lactogenesis. Am J Clin Nutr 1991 Jul;54(1):81-92. [doi: 10.1093/ajcn/54.1.81] [Medline: 2058592]
- 16. Kulski J, Hartmann P. Changes in human milk composition during the initiation of lactation. Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci 1981 Feb 01;59(1):101-114. [doi: 10.1038/icb.1981.6] [Medline: 7236122]
- 17. Kermack WO, Miller RA. The electrical conductivity and chloride content of women's milk: Part I: methods and practical application. Arch Dis Child 1951 Jun 01;26(127):265-269. [doi: 10.1136/adc.26.127.265] [Medline: 14857800]
- 18. Humenick SS, Mederios D, Wreschner TB, Walton MB, Hill PD. The Maturation Index of Colostrum and Milk (MICAM): a measurement of breast milk maturation. J Nurs Meas 1994 Jan 01;2(2):169-186. [doi: 10.1891/1061-3749.2.2.169]
- Morton JA. The clinical usefulness of breast milk sodium in the assessment of lactogenesis. Pediatrics 1994 May;93(5):802-806. [Medline: <u>8165082</u>]
- 20. Miller RA. Electrical conductivity and chloride content of women's milk. Part 3. Relationship to adequacy of lactation. Arch Dis Child 1951 Aug 01;26(128):325-329 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.26.128.325] [Medline: 14878473]
- Miller RA, Jackson IIA. The electrical conductivity and chloride content of women's milk: Part 4: results and their relationship to milk yield and to duration of lactation. Arch Dis Child 1951 Aug 01;26(128):329-334. [doi: <u>10.1136/adc.26.128.329</u>] [Medline: <u>14878474</u>]
- 22. Murase M, Wagner EA, J Chantry C, Dewey KG, Nommsen-Rivers LA. The relation between breast milk sodium to potassium ratio and maternal report of a milk supply concern. J Pediatr 2017 Feb;181:294-297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.10.044] [Medline: 27871690]
- 23. Humenick SS, Hill PD, Thompson J, Hart AM. Breast-milk sodium as a predictor of breastfeeding patterns. Can J Nurs Res 1998;30(3):67-81. [Medline: 10030186]

- 24. Esquerra-Zwiers AL, Mulder C, Czmer L, Perecki A, Goris ED, Lai CT, et al. Associations of secretory activation breast milk biomarkers with breastfeeding outcome measures. J Pediatr 2023 Feb;253:259-265. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2022.09.055] [Medline: 36208666]
- Magalhães M, Havelaar AH, Varma DS, Cacho N, Sullivan S, Parker LA. Leveraging mHealth and a milk expression frequency biomarker during postpartum to prolong lactation among parents of critically ill infants: a pilot study. J Perinatol 2023 May 08;43(5):616-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41372-023-01639-y] [Medline: 36882532]
- Yuan S, Li Q, Wang H, Xu X. The utilization of sodium concentration in human milk from pump-dependent mothers of preterm infants as a measure of milk production. Breastfeed Med 2023 Jul 01;18(7):506-513. [doi: <u>10.1089/bfm.2022.0263</u>] [Medline: <u>37327383</u>]
- Hoban R, Medina Poeliniz C, Somerset E, Tat Lai C, Janes J, Patel AL, et al. Mother's own milk biomarkers predict coming to volume in pump-dependent mothers of preterm infants. J Pediatr 2021 Jan;228:44-52. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.09.010</u>] [Medline: <u>32916143</u>]
- Hoban R, Patel AL, Medina Poeliniz C, Lai CT, Janes J, Geddes D, et al. Human milk biomarkers of secretory activation in breast pump-dependent mothers of premature infants. Breastfeed Med 2018 Jun;13(5):352-360. [doi: 10.1089/bfm.2017.0183] [Medline: 29708764]
- Pace RM, Pace CDW, Fehrenkamp BD, Price WJ, Lewis M, Williams JE, et al. Sodium and potassium concentrations and somatic cell count of human milk produced in the first six weeks postpartum and their suitability as biomarkers of clinical and subclinical mastitis. Nutrients 2022 Nov 08;14(22):4708 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu14224708] [Medline: 36432395]
- Furukawa K, Mizuno K, Azuma M, Yoshida Y, Den H, Iyoda M, et al. Reliability of an ion-selective electrode as a simple diagnostic tool for mastitis. J Hum Lact 2022 May 10;38(2):262-269. [doi: <u>10.1177/08903344221075050</u>] [Medline: <u>35139680</u>]
- Pérez-Escamilla R, Martinez JL, Segura-Pérez S. Impact of the Baby-friendly Hospital Initiative on breastfeeding and child health outcomes: a systematic review. Matern Child Nutr 2016 Jul 29;12(3):402-417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/mcn.12294] [Medline: 26924775]
- 32. Ahmed AH, Roumani AM, Szucs K, Zhang L, King D. The effect of interactive web-based monitoring on breastfeeding exclusivity, intensity, and duration in healthy, term infants after hospital discharge. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2016 Mar;45(2):143-154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jogn.2015.12.001] [Medline: 26779838]
- Hubschman-Shahar LE. Lactation telehealth in primary care: a systematic review. Breastfeed Med 2022 Jan 01;17(1):6-21. [doi: <u>10.1089/bfm.2021.0105</u>] [Medline: <u>34534013</u>]
- 34. Ferraz Dos Santos L, Borges RF, de Azambuja DA. Telehealth and breastfeeding: an integrative review. Telemed J E Health 2020 Jul 01;26(7):837-846. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2019.0073] [Medline: 31633467]
- Lewkowitz A, Cahill AG. Mobile health approaches to breastfeeding. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2021 Jun 01;64(2):384-391.
   [doi: <u>10.1097/GRF.0000000000666</u>] [Medline: <u>33813523</u>]
- 36. The Ministry of Health is marking breastfeeding week for 2018. State of Israel Ministry of Health. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.il/English/News\_and\_Events/Spokespersons\_Messages/Pages/29072018\_1.aspx</u> [accessed 2023-07-27]
- Lai C, Gardner H, Geddes D. Comparison of inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry with an ion selective electrode to determine sodium and potassium levels in human milk. Nutrients 2018 Sep 03;10(9):1218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu10091218] [Medline: 30177589]
- Koo WW, Gupta JM. Breast milk sodium. Arch Dis Child 1982 Jul 01;57(7):500-502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.57.7.500] [Medline: 7103538]
- Seal AD, Bardis CN, Gavrieli A, Grigorakis P, Adams JD, Arnaoutis G, et al. Coffee with high but not low caffeine content augments fluid and electrolyte excretion at rest. Front Nutr 2017;4:40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnut.2017.00040] [Medline: 28868290]
- 40. Jensen D, Wallace S, Kelsay P. LATCH: a breastfeeding charting system and documentation tool. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 1994 Jan;23(1):27-32. [doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.1994.tb01847.x] [Medline: 8176525]
- 41. Hill PD, Humenick SS. Development of the H and H Lactation Scale. Nurs Res 1996;45(3):136-140. [doi: 10.1097/00006199-199605000-00003] [Medline: 8637793]
- 42. Labbok MH, Starling A. Definitions of breastfeeding: call for the development and use of consistent definitions in research and peer-reviewed literature. Breastfeed Med 2012 Dec;7(6):397-402. [doi: 10.1089/bfm.2012.9975] [Medline: 23215907]
- 43. Humenick SS. The clinical significance of breastmilk maturation rates. Birth 1987 Dec;14(4):174-181. [doi: 10.1111/j.1523-536x.1987.tb01487.x] [Medline: 3689514]
- 44. Esquerra-Zwiers A, Vroom A, Geddes D, Lai CT. Use of a portable point-of-care instrumentation to measure human milk sodium and potassium concentrations. Breastfeed Med 2022 Jan 01;17(1):46-51. [doi: <u>10.1089/bfm.2021.0046</u>] [Medline: <u>34319795</u>]
- 45. Riddle S, Nommsen-Rivers LA. Low milk supply and the pediatrician. Curr Opin Pediatr 2017 Apr;29(2):249-256. [doi: 10.1097/MOP.0000000000468] [Medline: 28134707]
- 46. Huang Y, Liu Y, Yu X, Zeng T. The rates and factors of perceived insufficient milk supply: a systematic review. Matern Child Nutr 2022 Jan 12;18(1):e13255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/mcn.13255] [Medline: 34382733]

## Abbreviations

## **MM%:** milk maturation percentage **STROBE:** Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 26.10.22; peer-reviewed by A Finny, S Sulaiman; comments to author 17.04.23; revised version received 01.06.23; accepted 18.07.23; published 22.08.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Haramati S, Firsow A, Navarro DA, Shechter R Novel At-Home Mother's Milk Conductivity Sensing Technology as an Identification System of Delay in Milk Secretory Activation Progress and Early Breastfeeding Problems: Feasibility Assessment JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43837 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43837</u> doi:<u>10.2196/43837</u> PMID:<u>37464893</u>

©Sharon Haramati, Anastasia Firsow, Daniela Abigail Navarro, Ravid Shechter. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 22.08.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# The Effectiveness of an After-school Sport Sampling Intervention on Urban Middle School Youth in the Midwest: Posttest-Only Study

Joseph Lightner<sup>1\*</sup>, MPH, PhD; Katlyn Eighmy<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH; Ella Valleroy<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH; Bridget Wray<sup>1</sup>, BHS; Amanda Grimes<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing and Health Studies, University of Missouri-Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, United States <sup>2</sup>Department of Population Health, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, United States \*these authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Joseph Lightner, MPH, PhD School of Nursing and Health Studies University of Missouri-Kansas City 2464 Charlotte St Kansas City, MO, 64108-2718 United States Phone: 1 8162351703 Email: lightnerj@umkc.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Effective and scalable interventions are needed to combat chronic low levels of youth physical activity. After-school sport sampling programs may be vital interventions for teaching sports and increasing physical literacy and physical activity, which result in healthy lifelong habits that are maintained into adulthood.

**Objective:** The purpose of this study was to test the effectiveness of an after-school sport sampling intervention among underserved youth in the Midwest.

**Methods:** Youth (n=81) in 3 middle schools within a large Midwest city participated in an 8-month, after-school physical activity intervention that aimed to increase moderate- and vigorous-intensity physical activity, improve physical literacy, and decrease BMI. Difference scores for this 2-group, posttest-only design were calculated. A series of 2-tailed *t* tests were conducted to assess between-group differences.

**Results:** The intervention group had significantly better physical literacy ( $t_{115}$ =7.57; P=.004) and engaged in more moderateand vigorous-intensity physical activity minutes per week ( $t_{115}$ =4.28; P=.04) and steps per day ( $t_{115}$ =4.29; P=.03).

**Conclusions:** An after-school sport sampling program may be an effective solution for combating youth physical inactivity. Future research should assess the scalability of this intervention with larger populations and in different areas.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/37126

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42265) doi:10.2196/42265

## **KEYWORDS**

physical activity; adolescent; sport sampling; physical literacy; BMI; health intervention; parenting; healthy lifestyle; youth; health inequality; underserved population

# Introduction

Nationally, 71.3% of middle schoolers do not meet physical activity recommendations [1]. Low levels of physical activity have contributed to increased rates of poor health, chronic disease, and obesity [2]. Obesity rates among youth have risen by nearly 7% in the last 20 years [3]. In 2018, over 1 in 5 youth (21.2%) were obese. Racial and ethnic minority youth are

RenderX

disproportionately affected by weight status. In 2017, it was reported that 37.7% of Black youth and 38.8% of Hispanic youth were overweight or obese, whereas 27.7% of White youth were overweight or obese [1]. Similarly, concerning trends are seen in physical activity rates. Physical activity rates have decreased by 5.5% among adolescents in the last 8 years alone, with only 21.1% of Black youth, 20.9% of Hispanic youth, and 25.6% of White youth engaging in at least 1 hour of moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) per day in 2019 [4].

Evidence suggests that sports participation is associated with increased physical activity [5,6]. Therefore, playing sports outside of school hours is a promising strategy for physical activity interventions. However, sports participation differs by race, ethnicity, gender, and socioeconomic status [7,8]. Racial and ethnic minority students, as well as those who are socioeconomically disadvantaged, have lower rates of participation in sports [7]. Adolescent girls also participate less in sports teams than adolescent boys [8]. To increase participation, middle schoolers recommend that programming should incorporate a variety of sports in noncompetitive environments [9].

A barrier to sports participation is lacking the skills to be able to have fun and enjoy playing sports [10]. The "motivation, confidence, physical competence, knowledge, and understanding to value and take responsibility for engagement in physical activities for life" are determinants of physical literacy [11]. Physical literacy is increasingly recognized as a core construct in physical activity interventions and sports programming [12-14]. Overall, children have low levels of physical literacy, with 85% demonstrating inadequate levels [15]. Little is known about the relationship between physical literacy and long-term health outcomes, but emerging evidence suggests that physical literacy is related to physical activity levels and other health outcomes [16]. Although there has been a robust scientific conversation around the concept of physical literacy, more research is needed to explore relationships among physical literacy, physical activity, and health outcomes [17].

Sport sampling interventions may be a potential mechanism for increasing physical activity and physical literacy among youth. However, to date, a school-based, culturally tailored, participant-informed sport sampling intervention has not been evaluated for effectiveness. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine the effectiveness of an after-school, culturally tailored, participant-informed sport sampling program on physical activity, physical literacy, and BMI among underserved racial and ethnic minority youth in the Midwest.

## Methods

## Study Design, Settings, and Participants

The *Move More, Get More* study was conducted as a 2-group, posttest-only study. A total of 3 middle schools with grades 6 to 8 in the Kansas City Public School District (KCPS) participated in this study. All participating schools were public,

but one was classified as a KCPS signature school that focuses on college preparation. All students at the three schools were eligible to participate in the intervention. Schools were recruited through the school district and identified as schools in the most need of programming to increase physical activity. The KCPS is the 12th largest school district in Missouri and primarily serves ethnic minority, low-income, and inner-city youth [18]. Over 36 languages are spoken in the schools, with 22% of students receiving English language learner services. All students qualify for free lunches or lunches at reduced costs [18]. Due to the nature of this study, we were unable to collect baseline physical activity data because students began the intervention on the day that they were provided with accelerometers. Therefore, we used end point assessments to compare the intervention group to the control group.

#### **Ethics Approval**

All procedures of this study were approved by the University of Missouri-Kansas City Institutional Review Board (protocol number: 2017528).

#### Intervention

The intervention aimed to increase the overall physical activity levels of middle school youth. Each school had a minimum of 2 trained sport instructors for leading after-school sport sampling sessions. Youth were not separated by gender, and youth only attended activities at their school. Table 1 shows the activities provided. The activities included equipment-based sports (basketball, soccer, football, etc), dance, yoga, and team-based games. The activities were selected and adapted based on student interest, culture, available facilities, instructor expertise, and available equipment. Sessions were held in a variety of settings at the school, including outdoor fields, indoor gymnasiums, hallways, and classrooms. Session locations varied depending on weather conditions and availability, which was based on other after-school programming.

The dose of the intervention was adapted for each school based on the schools' release times and bus schedules. The first school hosted two 1-hour sessions each week. The second school hosted three 1-hour sessions each week. The third school hosted three 2-hour sessions each week. After-school sessions were held from September 2021 through May 2022 and aligned with the KCPS academic calendar. No COVID-19 restrictions (eg, social distancing), other than masking, were imposed by schools or public health agencies. Masking requirements ended in March 2022.



Table 1. Activities by school.

Study week	School 1 activities	School 2 activities	School 3 activities
1	Basketball	Basketball	Basketball
2	Basketball	Basketball and flag football	Basketball
3	Flag football	Basketball and flag football	Flag football
4	Flag football	Basketball	Flag football
5	Soccer	Dodgeball and basketball	Softball and baseball
6	Soccer	Basketball	Basketball
7	Capture the flag	Kickball	Yoga and aerobics
8	Games (red light, green light; shark and minnows; and tag)	Basketball	Yoga and aerobics
9	Games (red light, green light; shark and minnows; and tag)	Basketball	Frisbee, jump rope, and dance
10	Dodgeball and soccer	Flag football and kickball	Frisbee, jump rope, and dance
11	Games (red light, green light; shark and minnows; and tag)	Lacrosse and kickball	Soccer, frisbee, and dance
12	Mini-competition of basketball, soccer, football, and frisbee	Lacrosse and kickball	Soccer, frisbee, and dance
13	Mini-competition of basketball, soccer, football, and frisbee	Yoga, jump rope, and dodgeball	Free play
14	Canceled by school	Canceled by school	Canceled by school
15	Jump rope	Indoor games and trashball	Canceled by school
16	Jump rope and jump rope games	Indoor games and trashball	Aerobics, dance, and yoga
17	Basketball	Soccer	Aerobics, dance, and yoga
18	Basketball	Soccer	Jump rope and jump rope games
19	Flag football and basketball	Basketball	Kickball and basketball
20	Flag football	Basketball	Relay races
21	Basketball	Flag football	Basketball
22	Basketball and kickball	Flag football	Basketball
23	Circuit training and basketball	Badminton	Soccer and handball
24	Soccer	Volleyball	Soccer and handball
25	Soccer	Volleyball	Olympics week
26	Kickball	Kickball	Olympics week
27	Kickball	Kickball	Football
28	Ultimate frisbee	Ultimate frisbee	Football
29	Ultimate frisbee or dodgeball	Ultimate frisbee	Dodgeball and volleyball
30	Free play or review of sports	Free play or review of sports	Dodgeball and volleyball
31	Free play or review of sports	Free play or review of sports	Free play or review of sports

## **Recruitment and Enrollment**

Participants were recruited in August and September 2021 during multiple school events, such as the district enrollment fair, school lunches, and parent-teacher conferences. Parents provided written consent for students to participate in this study. Students also provided written and verbal assent before participating in this study. Participants completed a web-based questionnaire and an objective physical literacy assessment at baseline.

#### Incentives

Participants received a US \$25 gift card upon completion of their enrollment and follow-up data collection. A Garmin Vivofit 4 (Garmin Ltd) was provided as an incentive at baseline. Participants were also entered into a raffle giveaway for a US \$150 gift card.

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Measures

#### **Physical Activity**

Physical activity was assessed with Garmin Vivofit 4 accelerometers throughout the study period. Daily steps and active minutes data were aggregated at the week level. To account for nonwear days, a daily mean was calculated based on a given week. Detailed accelerometer procedures can be found in the previously published protocol [19]. Similar accelerometer procedures were used in previous studies [20].

## **Physical Literacy**

Physical literacy was assessed objectively by trained research assistants using the PLAYbasic instrument [21]. PLAYbasic assesses the physical abilities of participants in the following four domains: locomotor, throwing, kicking, and balance. Research staff set up a course in a school gymnasium where participants were asked to perform the following five tasks: (1) run to a cone approximately 5 m away, turn around, and run back to the starting point; (2) hop to the same cone on 1 leg and hop back to the starting point; (3) throw a tennis ball overhand to a wall 1.5 m away and have it bounce back over their head; (4) kick a ball to a wall 4 m away over a line 1 m from the ground; and (5) walk toe-to-heel in a straight line for 2 m. The tasks were assessed on a scale ranging from 1 to 100, with 0 to 25 representing initial ranking, 25 to 50 representing emerging, 50 to 75 representing competent, and 75 to 100 representing proficient. Final scores were calculated by adding section totals to obtain a total score and then dividing by 5, according to the scale's instructions [21].

#### **BMI** Assessment

Height and weight were assessed objectively by trained research staff using a validated scale [22] and stadiometer [23]. BMIs were calculated with the following formula:

 $BMI = weight (kg)/height (m)^2$ 

#### **Demographics**

Age, race, ethnicity, and sex were assessed by using questions from the Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System [1].

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Univariate statistics were conducted for all study variables. Chi-square difference tests were conducted on demographic variables between groups. Mean difference scores for each outcome variable were calculated. A series of 2-tailed *t* tests were conducted to assess between-group differences. All analyses were conducted in SPSS (IBM Corp) [24]. An  $\alpha$  level of 95% was used for all analyses. All self-report data were collected in Qualtrics (Qualtrics International Inc) [25]. Accelerometry data were collected from the Garmin application programming interface.

Of the 179 intervention youths that initially consented to participating in this study, 42 were excluded, and 56 were lost to follow-up, resulting in 81 intervention youths being included in the analyses. Of the 50 control youths that initially consented to participating in this study, 15 were lost to follow-up, resulting in 35 control youths being included in the analyses (Figure 1).

Table 2 presents demographic information on the intervention and control participants. In the intervention group, participants were aged 13.4 (SD 1.0) years and distributed among the sixth (31/81, 38%), seventh (26/81, 32%), and eighth (24/81, 30%) grades. Further, 64.2% (52/81) reported being male, 76.5% (62/81) reported being African American or Black, 15% (12/81) reported being Hispanic or Latinx, and 19% (15/81) reported being White. In the control group, participants were aged 13.8 (SD 0.97) years, and more participants were in the eighth grade, with 11% (4/35), 31% (11/35), and 57% (20/35) in grades 6, 7, and 8, respectively. Moreover, 49% (17/35) reported being male, 51% (18/35) reported being African American or Black, 9% (3/35) reported being Hispanic or Latinx, and 11% (4/35) reported being White.

Chi-square difference tests were conducted for all categorial variables to understand if there was a difference in demographic variables between the intervention and control groups. There were no significant differences among demographic variables between groups.

Table 3 presents differences in BMIs, physical literacy, and accelerometry-measured physical activity between the intervention and control groups. The mean BMI was 23.37 (SD 5.91) kg/m<sup>2</sup> for intervention participants and 25.19 (SD 7.10) kg/m<sup>2</sup> for control participants. The small difference in BMIs between groups was not statistically significant ( $t_{115}$ =1.41; P=.90).

Physical literacy was statistically different between the intervention and control groups ( $t_{115}$ =7.57; P=.004). Participants in the intervention group had an average physical literacy score of 75.62 (SD 14.13), indicating a proficient ranking, while the participants in the control group had an average physical literacy score of 50.71 (SD 19.73), indicating a competent ranking. The mean difference in physical literacy between groups was 24.91 on the 100-point scale.

Minutes per week of MVPA ( $t_{115}$ =4.28; P=.04) and steps per day ( $t_{115}$ =4.29; P=.03) were statistically different between groups. On average, participants in the intervention group engaged in 107.01 (SD 34.94) minutes of MVPA per week and 10,847.11 (SD 3758.33) steps per day. Participants in the control group engaged in 53.01 (SD 11.17) minutes of MVPA per week and 5030.09 (SD 1128.24) steps per day. The mean differences between groups were 53.99 minutes of MVPA per week and 5817.01 steps per day.

Figure 1. Flowchart of participants in this study.



#### Table 2. End point univariate statistics.

Characteristic	Intervention group (n=81)	Control group (n=35)	Chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)	13.4 (1.0)	13.8 (0.97)	7.61 (115)	.11
Grade in school, n (%)			3.06 (115)	.22
Sixth grade	31 (38)	4 (11)		
Seventh grade	26 (32)	11 (31)		
Eighth grade	24 (30)	20 (57)		
Sex, n (%)			1.95 (115)	.38
Male	52 (64)	17 (49)		
Female	28 (35)	18 (51)		
Prefer not to say	1 (1.2)	0 (0)		
Race <sup>a</sup> , n (%)			15.63 (115)	.11
African American or Black	62 (77)	18 (51)		
Hispanic or Latinx	12 (15)	3 (9)		
White, Non-Hispanic	15 (19)	4 (11)		
Asian	5 (6)	1 (3)		
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	3 (4)	0 (0)		
American Indian or Alaska Native	3 (4)	4 (11)		

<sup>a</sup>Participants were able to choose multiple racial categories.



Outcome	Intervention group, mean (SD)	Control group, mean (SD)	Mean difference (95% CI)	t test (df)	P value
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.37 (5.91)	25.19 (7.10)	1.82 (-4.60 to 0.96)	1.41 (115)	.90
Physical literacy score	75.62 (14.13)	50.71 (19.73)	24.91 (18.39 to 31.43)	7.57 (115)	.004
Moderate to vigorous physical activity (minutes per week)	107.01 (34.94)	53.01 (11.17)	53.99 (28.45 to 79.54)	4.28 (115)	.04
Steps per day	10,847.11 (3758.33)	5030.09 (1128.24)	5817.01 (3073.15 to 8560.88)	4.29 (115)	.03

# Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine the potential effectiveness of an after-school sport sampling program on physical activity, physical literacy, and BMI among underserved racial and ethnic minority youth in the Midwest. Overall, intervention participants had significantly higher physical literacy scores (P=.004) and engaged in more MVPA (P=.04) and steps (P=.03) than youth in the control group after the intervention. This study aids in the understanding of physical activity for youth in a large, urban Midwest city and provides some evidence that a participant-informed, culturally tailored sport sampling intervention may be a mechanism for increasing physical activity and physical literacy among youth.

This study observed significant differences in MVPA between the intervention and control groups. This difference is consistent with past research that found that after-school programming is an effective strategy for increasing physical activity [26,27]. This study also adds important evidence on the use of sport sampling interventions to potentially reduce health inequality for Black and Hispanic youth.

*Move More, Get More* allowed youth to provide input on which sports they wanted to learn and practice. By incorporating youths' preferences for which sports they want to engage in, we are potentially better able to maintain their interest in sports and physical activity. Future research should empirically examine if this participant-led approach results in maintained engagement in sports and physical activity for the long-term.

Physical literacy was significantly better in the intervention group compared to that in the control group (P=.004), indicating that a sport sampling intervention may be a good strategy for increasing physical literacy. Rajabiyan and Talebi [28] similarly found that an intervention of selected sports was effective in improving physical literacy. More broadly, a recent systematic review found that physical literacy–related interventions can be successful [29]. Evidence supports that physical literacy is associated with physical activity [17] and is believed to contribute to lifelong physical activity [16]. Future research

should examine the long-term impacts of physical activity interventions on physical literacy and related health outcomes.

Unexpectedly, there was no significant difference in BMIs between youth in the intervention group and youth in the control group at posttest (P=.90). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommend increasing BMI cutoff points for youth until the age of 20 years [30]. Although increases in BMI are usually indicative of poorer health behaviors, as middle school students grow and mature, increases in BMI may be an expected part of normal development. Future studies may consider alternative measures to assess body composition for this age group.

There are several strengths to this study. First, this study was conducted in an urban environment where 100% of the school districts' students qualify for free lunches or lunches at reduced costs and schools serve predominantly racial and ethnic minority individuals. Second, this study adds to the limited research on the effectiveness of sport sampling interventions on physical literacy and physical activity. Additionally, this study assessed physical activity via accelerometry and objectively measured physical literacy and BMIs by using reliable and validated tools.

This study however relies on a posttest-only design that may contribute to type 2 error. A posttest-only design is one way to assess differences among groups while also delivering a needed intervention for underserved populations. Although not ideal, several physical activity studies have used a posttest-only design to increase the external reliability of real-world interventions [31-33].

Over 10 million youths participate annually in after-school programming [26]. These programs have the potential to provide a unique opportunity to help millions of youths become more active and improve MVPA. Although limited, our study and other evidence suggest that after-school sport sampling interventions are effective strategies for increasing physical literacy and physical activity among underserved racial and ethnic minority youth. Future research needs to be conducted on the best way to scale such interventions to board populations of youth to improve physical activity, physical literacy, and health equity.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank our many community partners that assisted with this study, including University Health's Mobile Market; Mattie Rhodes Centers; Kansas City Parks and Recreation; Kansas City Public Schools; Children's Mercy Hospital (Shelly Summar, Dr Jordan Carlson, Dr Robin Shook, and Dr Emily Hurley); and the team of undergraduate researchers at the University

XSL•F(

of Missouri, Kansas City (Niveen Al-Saoudi, Victor Arellano, Macy Hornosky, Tra Statler, Maya Baughn, Denise Dean, and Cynthea Thompson).

## **Authors' Contributions**

JL and AG are joint senior authors. KE and EV are joint junior authors who assisted in the data collection, analysis, and writing of this manuscript. BW led the data collection and project implementation.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- 1. Eaton DK, Kann L, Kinchen S, Shanklin S, Flint KH, Hawkins J, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Youth risk behavior surveillance United States, 2011. MMWR Surveill Summ 2012 Jun 08;61(4):1-162 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22673000]
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Overweight and obesity. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/basics/causes.html?CDC\_AA\_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.</u> gov%2Fobesity%2Fchildhood%2Fcauses.html [accessed 2022-08-19]
- Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among children and adolescents aged 2–19 years: United States, 1963–1965 through 2015–2016. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018 Sep. URL: <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/58669</u> [accessed 2022-08-22]
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity. DNPAO data, trends and maps: Explore by topic. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://nccd.cdc.gov/dnpao\_dtm/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DNPAO\_DTM.</u> <u>ExploreByTopic&islClass=PA&islTopic=PA1&go=GO</u> [accessed 2022-08-23]
- Shull ER, Dowda M, Saunders RP, McIver K, Pate RR. Sport participation, physical activity and sedentary behavior in the transition from middle school to high school. J Sci Med Sport 2020 Apr;23(4):385-389 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2019.10.017] [Medline: 31722841]
- Wickel EE, Eisenmann JC. Contribution of youth sport to total daily physical activity among 6- to 12-yr-old boys. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007 Sep;39(9):1493-1500. [doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e318093f56a] [Medline: 17805079]
- Johnston LD, Delva J, O'Malley PM. Sports participation and physical education in American secondary schools: current levels and racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities. Am J Prev Med 2007 Oct;33(4 Suppl):S195-S208. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.07.015] [Medline: 17884568]
- Kanters MA, Bocarro JN, Edwards MB, Casper JM, Floyd MF. School sport participation under two school sport policies: comparisons by race/ethnicity, gender, and socioeconomic status. Ann Behav Med 2013 Feb;45 Suppl 1:S113-S121. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9413-2] [Medline: 22993023]
- 9. Grimes A, Lightner JS, Pina K, de Miranda ESD, Meissen-Sebelius E, Shook RP, et al. Designing an adaptive adolescent physical activity and nutrition intervention for COVID-19-related health challenges: Formative research study. JMIR Form Res 2022 Jan 21;6(1):e33322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33322] [Medline: 34932499]
- Vasquez T, Fernandez A, Haya-Fisher J, Kim S, Beck AL. A qualitative exploration of barriers and facilitators to physical activity among low-income Latino adolescents. Hisp Health Care Int 2021 Jun;19(2):86-94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1540415320956933] [Medline: 32911975]
- 11. International Physical Literacy Association. Defining physical literacy. International Physical Literacy Association. URL: https://www.physical-literacy.org.uk/blog/defining-physical-literacy/ [accessed 2022-08-22]
- 12. Edwards LC, Bryant AS, Keegan RJ, Morgan K, Jones AM. Definitions, foundations and associations of physical literacy: A systematic review. Sports Med 2017 Jan;47(1):113-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0560-7] [Medline: 27365029]
- Edwards LC, Bryant AS, Keegan RJ, Morgan K, Cooper SM, Jones AM. 'Measuring' physical literacy and related constructs: A systematic review of empirical findings. Sports Med 2018 Mar;48(3):659-682 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0817-9] [Medline: 29143266]
- 14. Tremblay MS, Costas-Bradstreet C, Barnes JD, Bartlett B, Dampier D, Lalonde C, et al. Canada's Physical Literacy Consensus Statement: process and outcome. BMC Public Health 2018 Oct 02;18(Suppl 2):1034 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5903-x] [Medline: 30285701]
- Longmuir PE, Gunnell KE, Barnes JD, Belanger K, Leduc G, Woodruff SJ, et al. Canadian Assessment of Physical Literacy Second Edition: a streamlined assessment of the capacity for physical activity among children 8 to 12 years of age. BMC Public Health 2018 Oct 02;18(Suppl 2):1047 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5902-y] [Medline: 30285687]
- Cairney J, Dudley D, Kwan M, Bulten R, Kriellaars D. Physical literacy, physical activity and health: Toward an evidence-informed conceptual model. Sports Med 2019 Mar;49(3):371-383. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-019-01063-3</u>] [Medline: <u>30747375</u>]

- Belanger K, Barnes JD, Longmuir PE, Anderson KD, Bruner B, Copeland JL, et al. The relationship between physical literacy scores and adherence to Canadian physical activity and sedentary behaviour guidelines. BMC Public Health 2018 Oct 02;18(Suppl 2):1042 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5897-4] [Medline: 30285783]
- 18. By the numbers. Kansas City Public Schools. URL: <u>https://www.kcpublicschools.org/about/kcps-numbers</u> [accessed 2022-08-22]
- Grimes A, Lightner JS, Eighmy K, Wray BD, Valleroy E, Baughn M. Physical activity and nutrition intervention for middle schoolers (Move More, Get More): Protocol for a quasi-experimental study. JMIR Res Protoc 2022 May 04;11(5):e37126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/37126] [Medline: 35507392]
- Grimes A, Lightner JS, Eighmy K, Steel C, Shook RP, Carlson J. Decreased physical activity among youth resulting from COVID-19 pandemic-related school closures: Natural experimental study. JMIR Form Res 2022 Apr 15;6(4):e35854 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35854] [Medline: 35297778]
- 21. Physical Literacy. PLAY tools. Physical Literacy. URL: <u>https://physicalliteracy.ca/play-tools/</u> [accessed 2022-08-22]
- 22. seca. seca 813 Electronic flat scales with very high capacity. seca. URL: <u>https://www.seca.com/en\_ee/products/all-products/</u> product-details/seca813.html [accessed 2022-08-22]
- 23. seca. seca 213 Portable stadiometer. seca. URL: <u>https://www.seca.com/en\_us/products/all-products/product-details/seca213.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2022-08-22]
- 24. IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics. IBM Corp. URL: https://www.ibm.com/products/spss-statistics [accessed 2023-01-17]
- 25. Qualtrics International Inc. Qualtrics XM: The leading experience management software. Qualtrics International Inc. URL: <a href="https://www.qualtrics.com/">https://www.qualtrics.com/</a> [accessed 2023-01-17]
- 26. Beets MW, Beighle A, Erwin HE, Huberty JL. After-school program impact on physical activity and fitness: a meta-analysis. Am J Prev Med 2009 Jun;36(6):527-537. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.01.033] [Medline: 19362799]
- 27. Pate RR, O'Neill JR. After-school interventions to increase physical activity among youth. Br J Sports Med 2009 Jan;43(1):14-18. [doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.055517] [Medline: 19019903]
- Rajabiyan Z, Talebi N. Effect of a selected exercise program on physical literacy and body composition of elementary school girls with overweight and obesity. Pajouhan Scientific Journal 2021;19(3):12-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.52547/psj.19.3.12]
- 29. Liu Y, Chen S. Physical literacy in children and adolescents: Definitions, assessments, and interventions. Eur Phy Educ Rev 2020 Jun 11;27(1):96-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1356336x20925502]
- 30. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. About child and teen BMI. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/childrens\_bmi/about\_childrens\_bmi.html [accessed 2022-08-22]
- Cohen DA, Marsh T, Williamson S, Han B, Derose KP, Golinelli D, et al. The potential for pocket parks to increase physical activity. Am J Health Promot 2014;28(3 Suppl):S19-S26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4278/ajhp.130430-QUAN-213] [Medline: 24380461]
- 32. Yancey AK, McCarthy WJ, Taylor WC, Merlo A, Gewa C, Weber MD, et al. The Los Angeles Lift Off: a sociocultural environmental change intervention to integrate physical activity into the workplace. Prev Med 2004 Jun;38(6):848-856. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2003.12.019</u>] [Medline: <u>15193908</u>]
- Farbo D, Maler LC, Rhea DJ. The preliminary effects of a multi-recess school intervention: Using accelerometers to measure physical activity patterns in elementary children. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Nov 30;17(23):8919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17238919] [Medline: 33266266]

## Abbreviations

**KCPS:** Kansas City Public School District **MVPA:** moderate to vigorous physical activity

Edited by S Badawy, G Eysenbach; submitted 30.08.22; peer-reviewed by A Chwałczyńska, M Kapsetaki; comments to author 10.09.22; revised version received 18.10.22; accepted 10.01.23; published 25.01.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lightner J, Eighmy K, Valleroy E, Wray B, Grimes A The Effectiveness of an After-school Sport Sampling Intervention on Urban Middle School Youth in the Midwest: Posttest-Only Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e42265 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e42265</u> doi:<u>10.2196/42265</u> PMID:<u>36696161</u>

©Joseph Lightner, Katlyn Eighmy, Ella Valleroy, Bridget Wray, Amanda Grimes. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.01.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Supporting Children's Social Connection and Well-Being in School-Age Care: Mixed Methods Evaluation of the Connect, Promote, and Protect Program

Alyssa Clare Milton<sup>1,2,3</sup>, BSc, MAppSc, PhD; Zelalem Mengesha<sup>4,5</sup>, BSc, MPhil, PhD; Kristin Ballesteros<sup>6</sup>, BHSc; Tom McClean<sup>4</sup>, BA, MSc, PhD; Saskia Hartog<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MPH; Lucie Bray-Rudkin<sup>4</sup>, BCom; Cathy Ngo<sup>1</sup>, BSc, BPharm, MPH; Ian Hickie<sup>2</sup>, AM, MD

<sup>1</sup>Central Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

<sup>3</sup>ARC Centre of Excellence for Children and Families over the Life Course, Sydney, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Research and Social Policy Unit, Uniting, North Parramatta, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Centre for Health Equity Training, University of New South Wales, Kensington, Australia

<sup>6</sup>Children, Youth and Families, Uniting, North Parramatta, Australia

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Alyssa Clare Milton, BSc, MAppSc, PhD Central Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health University of Sydney Level 5 Professor Marie Bashir Building, Missenden Road Camperdown, 2050 Australia Phone: 61 2 8627 7240 Email: alyssa.milton@sydney.edu.au

# Abstract

**Background:** School-age care, such as outside school hours care (OSHC), is the fastest-growing childhood education sector in Australia. OSHC provides a unique opportunity to deliver programs to enhance primary school–age children's social, emotional, physical, and cognitive well-being.

**Objective:** This study aimed to pilot the co-designed Connect, Promote, and Protect Program (CP3) and conduct formative and process evaluations on how well the CP3 achieved its intended aims, ascertain areas for improvement, and determine how the CP3 model could be better sustained and extended into OSHC settings.

**Methods:** A naturalistic formative and process evaluation of the CP3 implementation was undertaken at 1 and then 5 OSHC sites. Qualitative and quantitative feedback from stakeholders (eg, children, OSHC educators, volunteers, and families) was collected and incorporated iteratively for program improvement.

**Results:** The formative and process evaluations demonstrated high program engagement, appropriateness, and acceptability. Co-design with children was viewed as highly acceptable and empowered children to be part of the decision-making in OSHC. Feedback highlighted how the CP3 supported children in the 4 CP3 domains: Build Well-being and Resilience, Broaden Horizons, Inspire and Engage, and Connect Communities. Qualitative reports suggested that children's well-being and resilience were indirectly supported through the Broaden Horizons, Inspire and Engage, and Connect Communities. Matched-sample 2-tailed *t* tests found that children's prosocial behaviors increased (mean difference=0.64; *P*=.04;  $t_{57}$ =-2.06, 95% CI -1.36 to -0.02) and peer problems decreased (mean difference=-0.69; *P*=.01;  $t_{57}$ =2.57, 95% CI 0.14-1.13) after participating in the CP3. Program feasibility was high but dependent on additional resources and CP3 coordinator support.

**Conclusions:** To our knowledge, the CP3 is the first co-designed well-being program developed and evaluated specifically for OSHC services. This early evidence is promising. The CP3 may provide a unique opportunity to respond to the voices of children in OSHC and those that support them through creative and engaging co-designed activities. Our research suggests that CP3 provides OSHC with a framework and high-quality program planning tool that promotes tailored interventions developed based on the unique needs and preferences of those who will use them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Brain and Mind Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44928) doi:10.2196/44928

### **KEYWORDS**

participatory design; evaluation; children; school-age care; after-school care; health; well-being; program development; community consultation

## Introduction

#### Background

Approximately, 1 in 5 primary school-age children in Australia are vulnerable to developmental delay, which can affect well-being (social, emotional, and physical), language, and cognitive skills [1]. Furthermore, the second Australian Child and Adolescent Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing (Young Minds Matter) found that, among primary school students, an estimated 18.2% of boys and 12.4% of girls had experienced a mental health-related disorder in the previous 12 months [2]. To address childhood vulnerability, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development [3,4] calls for increasing focus on child well-being programs and optimizing educational environments. A critical strategy includes harnessing existing educational structures and broadening the scope of educational curricula to target children's health and well-being. Importantly, this includes delivering programs not only during formal school hours but also in school-age care, which encompasses outside school hours care (OSHC), before- and after-school care, vacation care, and leisure-time centers [3].

School-age care, such as OSHC, is the fastest-growing childhood education and care sector in Australia [5]. In 2020, the Productivity Commission reported 5000 OSHC sites supporting 460,000 Australian children. OSHC services offer a secure and supervised environment for primary school-age children before and after school, generally for 2 to 3 hours a day during the school term [6], and offer vacation care during school holidays. In Australia, school-age care services can be provided in schools or community facilities by for-profit and not-for-profit organizations and are regulated by the National Quality Framework and National Quality Standard of the Australian Children's Education and Care Quality Authority (ACECQA) [7,8]. School-age care services such as OSHC provide an essential service for many families by enabling parents and primary caregivers to achieve a balance between childcare, social responsibilities, and work beyond regular school hours [9]. However, a recent New South Wales (NSW) Department of Education review reported that the standard of well-being-focused initiatives in the OSHC sector needed

improvement [5]. The review's recommendations called for OSHC sites to extend beyond providing "convenient care" [5] and, instead, be a place where children's well-being is actively supported. Indeed, OSHC offers a unique opportunity to implement prevention and early intervention programs designed to multidimensionally enhance children's health and well-being [10].

As such, there has been increased attention from researchers, educators, the government, and the broader community toward how specific well-being–focused programs delivered during OSHC could be better used to support children's learning and growth. Such programs need to be researched, and the OSHC community should be an active research partner [5], through co-design. This is important as OSHC services differ considerably in geography, community context, educator expertise, and the number and characteristics of the children who attend. Programs that are suitable for one OSHC service may not be feasible or appropriate for another [6].

The only known well-being–focused OSHC program that has been developed in Australia through the use of co-design is the Connect, Promote, and Protect Program (CP3) [6]. Co-design, also known as participatory design, places stakeholders at the center of the design process [11,12]. It enables a paradigm shift toward collaborative bottom-up engagement whereby stakeholders (eg, OSHC children, educators and volunteers, and parents or guardians) jointly explore and create solutions for program design and service delivery [6]. Essentially, participatory design allows programs to be co-designed with the people who use them.

CP3 is a structured method for co-designed OSHC activity program development and delivery. It provides opportunities for social connection, child leadership, and engagement and delivers activities that broaden children's experiences, opportunities, and well-being. As shown in the CP3 model (Figure 1) and discussed in previous co-design research [6], the CP3 has four guiding programming principles: (1) Build Well-being and Resilience, (2) Broaden Horizons, (3) Inspire and Engage, and (4) Connect Communities. CP3 is the only cited example of co-designed research in the OSHC space in the Department of Education review of OSHC services [5].





## Objectives

This study reports on the formative and process evaluation of the CP3 model through a partnership between the University of Sydney's Brain and Mind Centre (an Australian multidisciplinary research institute focusing on conditions that affect child development, youth mental health, and brain aging) and Uniting (formally Uniting Care NSW.ACT, a large provider of children's services, including before- and after-school care, vacation care, occasional care, long-day care, and preschool in NSW, Australia). The main objective of this study was to pilot the co-designed CP3 in real-world school-age care services to conduct a formative and subsequent process evaluation. The purpose of the evaluation was to establish how well the CP3 achieved its intended aims, ascertain areas for improvement, and determine how the CP3 model could be better sustained and extended to OSHC settings. Therefore, the research questions were as follows: (1) How well did the CP3 achieve its intended aims in terms of engagement, appropriateness, acceptability, feasibility, and preliminary effectiveness? and (2) What were the barriers, facilitators, and areas for improvement regarding CP3 implementation to inform future program delivery?

## Methods

# Ethics Approval and Compliance With Ethical Standards

This study was approved by the University of Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (protocol 2018/832). All procedures were performed in accordance with the with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44928
```

standards. All data, including the images and figures in this publication, are presented in nonidentifiable formats.

#### **Study Design**

This study was a naturalistic formative evaluation and subsequent process evaluation of the CP3 model in OSHC services. The CP3 model was developed with local stakeholders in 2017 using participatory design and is reported elsewhere [6]. A mixed methods evaluation was used in this study, including the collection, analysis, and interpretation of quantitative and qualitative data [13]. The overarching CP3 research is based on the Medical Research Council guidelines for developing complex interventions [14], which use an iterative research design cycle of development, feasibility, evaluation, and implementation.

#### **Participants and Setting**

In both the formative and process evaluations, participants comprised three stakeholder groups: (1) children attending OSHC, (2) OSHC volunteers (ie, CP3 principle mentors and CP3 skilled mentors, defined in the *CP3 Roles* section) or educators (including managers), and (3) parents or guardians of children attending OSHC. The inclusion criteria were (1) being identified as belonging to one of the stakeholder groups, (2) ability to participate in English, and (3) the provision of written informed consent to participate. For a child to participate in any evaluation, both parental or guardian and child written consent were obtained. For the formative evaluation, participants were both children and adults recruited from an OSHC site in the Illawarra region of NSW, Australia, between July 2019 and June 2020. For the subsequent process evaluation, participants were both children and adults recruited from 5 OSHC sites in

the Sydney region of NSW, Australia. The CP3 was implemented at these sites in 2020 (term 4) and 2021 (term 2) over a 10-week period.

## CP3 Roles

There are multiple CP3 roles and CP3 personnel who support CP3 delivery, and they will be discussed throughout the reporting of the evaluation findings. This includes the roles outlined in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. The roles in the Connect, Promote, and Protect Program (CP3).

#### **CP3** coordinator

• This is the overarching coordinator of the CP3, who supports sites implementing the CP3 through resourcing, training, activity planning, delivery, and evaluation.

#### **CP3** site champion

• This is the nominated educator who is responsible at a site level for supporting CP3 delivery.

#### **CP3** skilled mentors

• Skilled mentoring complements the range of activities that can be provided as part of the CP3. These champions are mentors with specialized skills that can facilitate activities in their areas of expertise—whether it be movie making, martial arts, or community advocacy. Depending on their availability, skilled mentors can help facilitate one-off sessional activities or a full CP3 activity program or they may simply offer outside school hours care (OSHC) sites the use of specialized resources.

#### **CP3** principle mentors

• These mentors are trained in and have an in-depth understanding of the

#### CP3 principles

(ie, Build Well-being and Resilience, Broaden Horizons, Inspire and Engage, and Connect Communities). Their role is to support the CP3 activities each week to ensure that the CP3 principles are being delivered in each session.

#### **CP3** peer champions

• These are children attending OSHC sites who are particularly interested in the CP3. These peer champions can play a variety of roles depending on the OSHC. For example, they might lead CP3 announcements in the OSHC community meetings or buddy up with other children who might need additional support during CP3 workshops or CP3 activities.

#### **Recruitment and Informed Consent**

Electronic and paper-based advertising materials were used to notify potential participants (as well as students' parents or guardians) of the study. Recruitment was passive so that participants (or their parents or guardians) initially volunteered by contacting researchers to participate, or they could directly take part by completing the survey (paper-based or web-based depending on participant preference). After parental consent was obtained, children went through a consent and a subsequent assent process immediately before the activity. All individuals completed an informed consent process before participating in this research. All participants were reassured of the voluntary nature of participation and that they could stop at any time. Participants did not receive any compensation or reward for taking part in the research; however, all workshops were catered.

#### Outcomes

For the formative evaluation, a survey collected details such as gender, age, postcode, language spoken at home (children only), year at school (children only), relationship with OSHC site (adults only), satisfaction with the OSHC service, social connectedness (measured using the 1-item Inclusion of Community in Self scale [15]), and quality of life (measured using the Personal Wellbeing Index [16,17]). For the process evaluation, the primary outcome was measured using changes in Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) [18] scores

from baseline to the end of the CP3. The SDQ was already used by OSHC educators for routine monitoring and, thus, aligned with naturalistic service delivery and minimized additional administrative burden. The SDQ is a 25-item behavioral screening questionnaire with 5 scales (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity or inattention, peer relationship problems, and prosocial behaviors). The SDQ has sound psychometric properties in Australian samples of children (aged 4-9 years) [19]. Demographic details such as child gender and age were also available from OSHC routine data monitoring. For both stages of the evaluation, qualitative data related to CP3 acceptability and feasibility were gathered through surveys, participatory design workshops, and routine data outcome monitoring interviews.

#### **Data Analysis**

#### Qualitative

Qualitative data sources and artifacts from participatory design workshops and interviews included detailed notes from workshops by the research team, deidentified transcription notes from routine data outcome monitoring, and notes written by participants on handouts and worksheets. Qualitative data were analyzed using a six-step qualitative thematic analysis [20]: (1) data familiarization; (2) generating initial codes; (3) searching for themes and subthemes; (4) reviewing themes; (5) refining, defining, and naming themes; and (6) report writing. This

stepwise process provides a flexible and accessible way of analyzing qualitative data and enables iterative exploration of patterns and relationships between different themes while ensuring research rigor. All qualitative data sources from the workshops and interviews were reviewed by 3 researchers (KB, ZM, and AM), who noted relevant points and key concepts across all participants to develop an initial coding framework. The pattern of themes generated from the data was mapped back to the CP3 principles (Build Well-being and Resilience, Broaden Horizons, Inspire and Engage, and Connect Communities), program satisfaction, program challenges, and educator and volunteer outcomes. This became the framework matrix used for coding the data [21]. Notes were then coded in the NVivo software (version 11; QSR International) [22] using this framework by 2 researchers per transcript (SH and LBR), and any discrepancies were discussed with a third researcher (AM). Coding followed an iterative process of reading, coding, and discussing the pattern and content of the coded data.

#### Quantitative

Owing to the small number of participants in the formative evaluation, statistical analysis of the quantitative data generated from the child and adult evaluation surveys was descriptive only. For the process evaluation, SDQ scores from routine data outcome monitoring were used. SDQ scores from scales 1 to 4 were added to obtain a total difficulties score. The SDQ recommends a four-fold classification: (1) close to average, (2) slightly raised or lowered, (3) high or low, and (4) very high or very low. Analysis of SDQ data was performed using SPSS (version 28; IBM Corp). Participant data were matched across baseline and follow-up data. After a 1-sample *t* test (2-tailed) was performed to ensure that there was no difference between the matched and full sample in baseline emotional and behavioral difficulties SDQ scores, a matched-sample t test was performed to analyze the mean difference (MD) between baseline and follow-up scores. The post hoc calculation for the matched sample indicated that we could detect a small to

medium effect size (0.38) at 80% power (2-tailed; Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.05) with the achieved sample (n=58).

## Results

#### **Formative Evaluation**

#### **Implementation Phases**

The CP3 model and implementation process (stages 1 to 3) were tested during the formative evaluation.

#### Stage 1: Consult and Create

During the first school term, CP3 implementation commenced with initial community consultation to provide information about the CP3 and obtain an early understanding of the needs and wants of the OSHC community. This was followed by CP3 training and participatory design workshops with educators or volunteers (n=6 in 1 workshop) and then 90-minute participatory design workshops with a proportion of the OSHC children (n=16 in 3 workshops) who had parental consent to co-design the CP3 activities for planned delivery. These were facilitated by a psychologist with support from the CP3 site champion (an OSHC educator) and the CP3 coordinator, who took detailed session notes. The main purpose of the child workshops was to engage children in decision-making and planning for the upcoming CP3 enhanced activities. This consisted of four stages: (1) discovery: exploring the children's activity interests; (2) evaluation: understanding children's preferences for the different enhanced activity ideas that had been cocreated in previous workshops with children and educators; (3) mapping: obtaining further information on how children think the activities are linked to the 4 CP3 principles; and (4) prototyping: encouraging children to cocreate their own CP3 activity. The outcome of the consult and create phase was 3 activities focusing on promoting physical activity, creative pursuits, and skill development, which were further enhanced by educators and children during the participatory design sessions to align with the CP3 principles. An example activity is provided in Textbox 2.

Textbox 2. Example activity.

#### Example

• A popular activity co-designed in the *consult and create* stage that was highly acceptable to children was Woodwork Café. Regarding Connect, Promote, and Protect Program principles, children envisioned that the activity would make them feel connected to their families as it was an activity they could do with them; children could give (or sell) the things they built to others in the community (*Connect Communities*); the activity could be a cognitive challenge for their brain and fun and, therefore, make them happy (*Build Well-being and Resilience*); and the activity would be exciting and fun to do (*Inspire and Engage*) and allow them to build things they had not made before and use their imaginations (*Broaden Horizons*).

#### **Stage 2: Test and Refine**

Ideas generated in the *consult and create* phase were actively applied via a taste-tester program. All the children attending the OSHC site were able to participate in this program during the second school term. Multiple co-designed activities generated in stage 1 (Woodwork Café, Movie Maker, Get Active, and Art Space; Textbox 3) were tested, and feedback from children, volunteers, educators, and families was collected.



Textbox 3. Connect, Promote, and Protect Program (CP3) implementation stages.

#### Stage 1: activities co-designed by children and educators—term 1 (Figure 2)

- Woodwork Café: this was a program focused on developing woodworking skills.
- Movie Maker: this was a program focused on script writing, performance, and film production.
- Get Active: this was a program focused on physical activity.
- Art Space: this was a program focused on well-being and creative expression through art.
- Science Sparks: this was a program focused on engaging Science, technology, engineering, mathematics (STEM) activities.
- The Zen Den: this was a program focused on mindfulness and nature.
- Farm to Fork: this was a program focused on gardening and cooking skills.

#### Stage 2: co-designed activities selected and trialed in taste-tester sessions at the outside school hours care (OSHC) site—term 2

- Woodwork Café: volunteers (trained as CP3 principle mentors) supported children to learn to use tools to build 2 go-carts for the OSHC. The children then raced the go-carts in teams at a community event. The program built their planning and communication skills, fine and gross motor skills, and teamwork and community connection.
- Movie Maker: the children taste-tested drama sessions with a volunteer drama teacher (a CP3 skilled mentor) to build their confidence in acting and speaking in public and community links with the local drama school.
- Get Active: the children taste-tested lawn bowls with local volunteers (trained as CP3 principle mentors) at the local community club, building community connection, intergenerational bonds, teamwork, and gross and fine motor skills.
- Art Space: a young local person and artist (CP3 skilled mentor) volunteered to run an art class with the children, and peer-to-peer mentoring also took place with older children (CP3 peer mentors) supporting younger ones. Children worked collaboratively to create an art project that was based on their own choosing for exhibition at the OSHC.

#### Stage 3: co-designed activities selected and implemented as a full program—term 3

- Woodwork Café was selected by children and educators to continue as a larger program in the final CP3 term. Children, educators, parents, and volunteers collaboratively contributed and co-designed what the program would look like and how it met the CP3 principles. In brief, for this full-term CP3 activity, volunteers (trained as CP3 principle mentors) from the local community supported children in building their own chicken coop at the OSHC site. A volunteer brought a chicken for an OSHC site visit so children could interact with and learn about chickens before baby chickens arrived on-site. Furthermore, an OSHC family provided the CP3 with 2 baby chickens and an incubator to hatch the eggs to live in the coop. Children could engage on the web as well as on-site to see the chickens hatching. The process was documented from beginning to end with updates and photos, which could be shared in paper-based and web-based formats with the OSHC community, enhancing children and their family's engagement and excitement. The co-designed program connected children with their community, broadened their horizons through skill development, and fostered child leadership and well-being. For example:
  - Cognitive well-being: through active collaborative planning—the children actively researched how to care for chickens and the best options for chicken coops.
  - Physical well-being: fine and gross motor skills were developed through learning to use tools.
  - Social well-being: children worked as a team and communicated with each other about the planning and the building of the chicken coop, and intergenerational connections were made with the community volunteers and another local preschool (the children shared resources and ideas about chickens and coops with younger children).
  - Emotional well-being: information about the well-being benefits of animals (eg, companionship, soothing capacity, and happiness promotion) was discussed with children and families verbally and via a web-based communication platform. Well-being resources were shared with families related to strategies for managing anxiety and boosting resilience.



Figure 2. Participatory design artefact—Woodwork Café.



#### Stage 3: Implement and Evaluate

This last phase involved the implementation and evaluation of a full-length CP3 activity program after incorporating feedback from the *test and refine* phase delivered over a full school term with the full cohort of children attending the OSHC site. In stage 3, the children and educators collaboratively selected which co-designed program they would like to undertake from the taste testers, and they subsequently participated in the third consecutive school term. Examples of the co-design and implementation of the activities over all 3 stages are presented in brief in Textbox 3.

#### **CP3** Formative Evaluation Feedback

*Engagement* with the CP3 formative evaluation pilot program was high, with educators reporting that most children at the pilot site engaged in the program, including children with additional support needs. Participation rates were an average of 10 to 15 children per session throughout CP3 implementation.

The *appropriateness and acceptability* of the CP3 formative evaluation pilot program were rated as very high based on child, educator, and CP3 volunteer (ie, CP3 principle mentors and CP3 skilled mentors) feedback (demographics are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1). Specifically, the average endorsement by children on CP3 target areas (feeling happy and talking about feelings, staff listening, having fun and making their own choices, and learning and trying new things) across all time points was high—ranging from 84% (16/19) of the children agreeing that they could make their own decisions in OSHC to 100% (22/22) agreeing that the CP3 at the OSHC site was fun.

Table 1 summarizes adult participant endorsement rates (agree to strongly agree) with the CP3 principles demonstrated over the program timeline.

To assess CP3 *feasibility*, workplace-related satisfaction questions were presented to educators and volunteers at time point 3 (Multimedia Appendix 2), and a focus group was run. Volunteers were satisfied or very satisfied with all the items. Educators were satisfied to very satisfied with most items, with paperwork and being part of the decision-making at the OSHC site receiving the lowest satisfaction scores (3/5, 60% of the educators being satisfied or very satisfied). The workshop yielded highly positive feedback on the CP3. Ideas were collated from this to form a CP3 implementation guide for future implementation and the process evaluation at additional OSHC services.



Table 1. Adult participant endorsement rates (agree to strongly agree) with aggregated Connect, Promote, and Protect Program (CP3) principle evaluation items.

CP3 principle	Items	Baseline (before CP3 en- gagement; n=5), item en- dorsement rate, n/N (%)	Time point 2 (after CP3 taste-tester activity; n=9), item endorsement rate, n/N (%)	Time point 3 (end of CP3; n=18), item endorsement rate, n/N (%)
Build Well-being and Resilience	<ul> <li>Social well-being</li> <li>Emotional well-being</li> <li>Cognitive well-being</li> <li>Physical well-being</li> <li>Resilience</li> </ul>	20/50 (40)	38/42 (90)	87/90 (97)
Broaden Horizons	<ul><li>Broaden children's skills</li><li>Diverse range of experiences</li></ul>	4/10 (40)	18/18 (100)	35/36 (97)
Inspire and Engage	<ul> <li>Interesting</li> <li>Motivating</li> <li>Believing that their skills and talents can grow</li> <li>Part of the decision-making</li> <li>Leadership skills</li> </ul>	13/25 (52)	39/44 (89)	83/90 (92)
Connect Communities	<ul> <li>Strong links with local resources</li> <li>Strong links with local community</li> <li>Connectedness and belonging of children and their families</li> <li>Communication with children and their families</li> </ul>	8/20 (40)	29/35 (85)	65/71 (92)

#### **Process Evaluation**

The number of returned SDQs completed by educators for each participating OSHC site is presented in Multimedia Appendix 3. Site 5's follow-up data collection was affected considerably by the COVID-19 lockdown (7/32, 22% completion rate), and site 1 did not collect SDQ data because of workforce capacity issues. The SDQ scores for all participants at all sites are presented in Multimedia Appendix 4.

Of the 88 students who had SDQ data collected at follow-up, 58 (66%) could be matched. A total of 81% (47/58) of these students were female and had a mean age of 7.9 (SD 1.9) years.

The baseline total emotional and behavioral difficulties SDQ scores for the matched-sample subset did not differ significantly from those of the full baseline sample in the 1-sample *t* test (8.95 vs 9.08; *P*=.28;  $t_{89}$ =1.08, 95% CI –0.09 to 0.32). A matched-sample *t* test analysis of matched students found that prosocial behaviors significantly increased (MD=0.64; *P*=.04;  $t_{57}$ =-2.06, 95% CI –1.36 to –0.02) and peer problems significantly decreased (MD=–0.69; *P*=.01;  $t_{57}$ =2.57, 95% CI 0.14-1.13) after participating in the CP3 (Table 2). All other changes in SDQ items (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, and hyperactivity) were not statistically significant (all *P*>.05; Table 2).

Fable 2.	Changes in Stu	rengths and Difficultie	s Questionnaire items	s for the matched	sample (n=58
----------	----------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	-------------------	--------------

	Mean difference (SD; 95% CI)	t test ( $df$ )	P value (2-tailed)
Emotional symptoms	-0.10 (1.71; -0.55 to 0.35)	-0.46 (57)	.65
Conduct problems	0.22 (1.95; -0.29 to 0.74)	0.87 (57)	.39
Hyperactivity	0.38 (2.43; -0.26 to 1.02)	1.19 (57)	.24
Peer problems	0.64 (1.89; 0.14 to 1.13)	2.57 (57)	.01
Prosocial behaviors	-0.69 (2.55; -1.36 to -0.02)	-2.06 (57)	.04

## **Qualitative Evaluation**

## Overview

RenderX

In total, 24 adults provided qualitative evaluation feedback (n=3, 12% parents or guardians; n=2, 8% volunteers; n=15, 62% educators; and n=4, 17% coordinators or managers) in interviews and focus groups. In total, 2 child workshops with 11 children

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44928

also took place after the CP3 process evaluation. The pattern of themes from the data was mapped back to the original CP3 principles and, therefore, was used in a framework analysis approach alongside reporting program satisfaction, program barriers, and impact on educators and volunteers.
# **Program Satisfaction**

# **Child Satisfaction**

Child satisfaction with the CP3 was very high, with children describing it as a "more fun than normal OSHC day" (child; workshop 2). A number of children recognized that other children also enjoyed the CP3—"when you do this activity everyone is running to do it" (workshop 1)—and expressed a desire for more CP3 activities:

*I wish I could do CP3 more often.* [Workshop 2] ...make OSHC better by having more stuff to do like

this. [Workshop 1]

Adult participants echoed that children thoroughly enjoyed and looked forward to OSHC when the CP3 was on, particularly because of differentiation from normal OSHC days:

*Oh, she loves it very much. She really looks forward to going to it...she enjoys the different activities and she really likes [educator name], and the educators, and she really enjoys spending time with them.* [Parent; P10]

# **Family Satisfaction**

The CP3 was seen as strengthening the relationship between families and OSHC, enabling families to be more involved in decision-making, and increasing awareness of their children's talents and capabilities:

It leads to happy parents. Parents are happy to see the different, the new, the challenging activities. Children learning a different sport or a different skill or giving back to the community, which, that feedback gets fed through to the provider, to the service. [OSHC manager; P7]

### Volunteer and Mentor Satisfaction

CP3 volunteers and mentors relayed that they benefited personally, felt proud of what they had achieved, developed new skills, and felt more connected to their community. Volunteering had a ripple effect in the community, where what volunteers taught children was then passed on to others, such as family and friends:

For me as a businessman, it was nice to just sort of be out and about in a different world. It broke up the daily activity. I felt like I was making a difference, which is something is important to me. Anyway, obviously I understand the kids probably don't get this access. Because that's why they're doing after school care, I suppose. They're not getting the sporting opportunity. So they're not missing out...at times, like,...giving back in some way, at some point in my life, this was a good engagement for me to see where I'm at as a person, I suppose to start doing that, give back process. [CP3 volunteer; P24]

### **Educator Satisfaction**

Educators and OSHC coordinators described the CP3 as a highly positive experience as the CP3 was inclusive, unique, innovative, and community-minded. The CP3 supported best-practice program planning and OSHC community engagement and encouraged collaboration and teamwork. The CP3 provided the OSHC with additional resources, equipment, and personnel, which was highly valued. The CP3 principles were reflected in the outcomes for educators personally, which supported their workplace well-being and increased their levels of job satisfaction:

I just think it was a great experience...Yeah. I enjoyed it, and I know the kids enjoyed it, so. No, I don't think there's anything much you have to change at all. [Educator; P11]

### **Child-Focused CP3 Outcomes**

### **Build Well-being and Resilience**

The CP3 was described as supporting and building children's resilience and well-being:

*CP3* has been good for the children's social, emotional, physical wellbeing. They talk a lot about *CP3*. They enjoy doing it with their friends. [Educator; P1]

The CP3 also enhanced well-being indirectly during activities so that children were building skills to support their well-being in a natural and authentic way, including those with underlying challenges or vulnerabilities:

...the kids...struggle with...their emotional regulation...initiating play and interacting with each other is really challenging...Robotics and coding program, they were all initiating in play together, sharing their experience...but also working together as a group and learning through play how to connect with each other through their interests. [OSHC coordinator; P21]

Gaps in regular OSHC delivery were highlighted, and the need to scale programs such as the CP3 was suggested:

...there is a definite need and gap in the mental health space for children...I've seen it in children as young as five, trying to end their lives...a program like CP3 provides connection, support, acceptance, all these things, the sense of belonging that these children clearly aren't feeling, and at the age of five that's heart-breaking. And so, I think CP3...captures those children, that everyone else is missing. The schooling system doesn't work for them. For some reason, home life isn't what they want it to be or need it to be. And there's not a lot we can do about that, but we can create a space in an OSHC through CP3 that supports...and engages those children. It gives them a sense of belonging and so that they know that they matter. [OSHC manager; P7]

Most child feedback did not identify well-being directly but, rather, indirectly from other CP3 principles related to learning new things, social connection, helping others, and having fun.

### **Broaden Horizons**

One of the most consistent themes was that the CP3 broadened the children's experiences by creating opportunities to learn

new skills or expand their knowledge. The CP3 provided a vast range of new experiences as children were "being exposed to things that just generally wouldn't be exposed to" (OSHC manager; P7) and facilitated the engagement of children who did not usually participate in OSHC:

The children are excited... "Hey, we're doing this next week." It's supported children in a different sense, where we're seeing children showing us more of their skills...children who don't normally participate in activities...we're actually seeing them participate... [OSHC coordinator; P2]

The exposure to new activities fostered future hobbies and interests. Child– and community–co-designed CP3 activities ranged from European handball, cooking, Diwali (festival of lights) celebrations, dancing, soccer, build a bear, woodworking, coding and robotics, crafts, gardening, knitting, and visiting a farm. As activities were co-designed by each OSHC community to uniquely meet their own identified needs and goals, "no two services have been the same" (OSHC manager; P7).

Children commented that "I like it because it's different" (workshop 1), "It's different to normal OSHC" (workshop 1), "It means we do new things" (workshop 1), and it "helped me learn how to make things" (workshop 2).

#### **Inspire and Engage**

The CP3 principle Inspire and Engage aims to create a "spark" in children with interesting activities that motivate and foster growth mindsets. Meaningful involvement in the CP3 is encouraged by promoting children's leadership, decision-making, and choice:

Child engagement has been fantastic. The children have been so excited to tell us what they want to do at their OSHC. Educators are learning from that too...they say, "Oh, I didn't know that they were interested in that." So child engagement and having the child's voice heard has been very successful. [CP3 coordinator; P4]

Each OSHC site varied in how they engaged children in the CP3 decision-making process. Child-led decision-making processes included "using a voting system which kept activities relevant and maintained children excitement" (educators; P13 and P6), "asking the students what they want to do, [and then] incorporating that into [their] program" (educator; P3), using a book in which children could "write down their ideas," and conducting a survey to decide what activities to do (educator; P8).

An educator highlighted the following:

It was an excellent way of looking at things, seeing what they would like to do in a different way than just asking them, "what's your interests?" [P14]

This made the activities more personally meaningful to the children and resulted in high levels of child engagement and enthusiasm for the CP3. An educator noted that the children selecting the activity and it subsequently being implemented "was a meaningful experience for them because they felt heard" (P13).

Children felt empowered to communicate their opinions:

...we've seen children now taking ownership of setting out programs that they want to participate in, really speaking up about what they wanted to do. For example, saying "this is how I feel, I'm not having a turn, I would like more of a turn, or I really want to do this"...We've really seen that change in dynamic of that communication now, what I want to do this in taking the ownership of, "Hey, this is my OSHC. This is the program that I want to do." [Educator; P17]

Children mostly reflected the Inspire and Engage theme through their enthusiasm for the program, describing it as "...so much fun. Normal OSHC is boring, and school is really boring but CP3 made OSHC a fun thing."

#### **Connect Communities**

Connect Communities was the most prominent theme identified in the interviews. Participants said that the CP3 helped build children's relationships and improved their sense of belonging and the way they socialized:

They were all initiating in play together, working together as a group and learning through play how to connect with each other through their interests. [Educator; P18]

When they come here to OSHC, it's all together. We're all sitting down, we're all socializing. I think it just brings us all together...and there's a community spirit. [Educator; P16]

This was especially important for children who struggled with emotional regulation and initiating play with others. Multiple participants highlighted that, instead of solitary or small-group play, CP3 activities encouraged purposeful mingling of larger groups:

...this year I can see a change in that child, they are playing in a group now, rather than solitary play. [Educator; P8]

Furthermore, the program "provides connection, support, acceptance, all these things, the sense of belonging" (educator; P18).

Children actively developed their interpersonal, collaboration, and teamwork skills by navigating ways to work together and be respectful of each other's needs and ideas in an inclusive space:

It's about the safe space, knowing the kids, doing the activities together, finding your own wavelength...everyone working together and sharing their views and just talking to each other and talking your ideas through. It's just self-confidence...you might not have the right solution, or the right idea, but it's okay. And being patient to hear each one out as well. [Parent; P19]

During CP3 activities, peer-to-peer learning and support occurred organically, whereby children with different skill levels supported each other:

I think the other big part would be the peer-to-peer learning...by the children. I'm thinking of the soccer activity. There were some children who are obviously very skilled in soccer and some that weren't and the children who were skilled supporting those that weren't. [CP3 coordinator; P4]

At the community level, participants emphasized that the CP3 benefited children by building their relationships with educators through enhanced communication skills, which in turn improved the educator-student relationship (educator; P20).

The CP3 also helped link children to their local community—examples included a partnered senior school or local sporting group. It was viewed as extremely important in supporting a child's well-being, encouraging a sense of belonging (CP3 coordinator; P4), forging new and important relationships for the future, and being a source of inspiration for the children (educators; P5, P15, and P16). This connection to the community could also make children more aware of their world, have a greater understanding of their community, and feel more like active and connected citizens (OSHC coordinator; P21). Furthermore, the CP3 created an opportunity for children to build a trusting relationship with an adult outside of their immediate family:

It's another adult in the children's eyes that they can trust and go to. And if they ever need help, it's having that relationship there. Which you don't get, unless you put effort and time into it, which CP3 encourages, in again, that fun setting. [OSHC manager; P7]

Children commented on how they enjoyed involving their family and friends:

I like baking and love chocolate, so the cooking was my favourite and my family loved it too. It was more exciting and more fun because I was doing it with my sister and families and friends. [Workshop 2]

Helping others in the wider community was also reflected, with a child commenting that "we will help charity" by knitting and "donating [beanies] to other people who need them" (workshop 1) and another child stating that they enjoyed the CP3 as they made "a house for animals affected by the bush fire" (workshop 2).

### **Educator and Volunteer Outcomes**

The CP3 was described as a "professional development opportunity" (OSHC manager; P7) that could enhance their engagement and interaction skills with children and make them actively consider child well-being in their practice. A coordinator (P4) reported that educators "definitely gain a lot more depth and understanding on what they [the children] want, need, what makes them tick and how we as a service can best support them." Many comments from service providers indicated that educators connected with children in new and improved ways:

# *I really connected in a different way or for the first time.* [Educator; P6]

Another educator (P20) highlighted that the CP3 provided "such a joyful experience" as it enabled educators "to see children in

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44928
```

a different way, being able to see them become stronger individuals, learning, taking that opportunity, being motivated." Educators had a greater desire to pay attention to, understand, and act upon children's wants and needs, which increased their connection with the children.

Job satisfaction and well-being were positively reported:

There's also been an increased happiness with the educators when they're participating in the program. [Educator; P22]

A CP3 activity that celebrated the Diwali festival of lights resulted in 2 educators feeling proud to share their culture with the children.

Educators also described that CP3 volunteer mentors were "feel[ing] proud" that they "[had come] here as a volunteer and they [taught] something new to the children." This volunteering had a ripple effect on the local community as they came in to teach something that resulted in "children are teaching their families and cousins and siblings" (educator; P23). Although a volunteer CP3 mentor reported that the CP3 had been a challenging but highly enjoyable experience, helping him "grow further understanding different of things in life with regards to communities and all that sort of stuff," he emphasized that, through the CP3, "I felt like I was making a difference, which is something important to me" (P24).

#### **Challenges to CP3 Implementation**

A major challenge to CP3 implementation highlighted by educators was related to the administration of CP3 activities, potentially causing heavier workloads:

...it is a lot of work for us educators. On top of what we already have to do. [Educator; P1]

This included engaging in the research (eg, completing SDQ assessments) and sourcing volunteers. Although some OSHC sites delivering the CP3 reported that finding volunteers was an easy process, 20% of the educators advised that sourcing appropriate volunteers from the community was a major barrier. A coordinator described that "the most challenging thing was trying to find volunteers to come in and do activities free of charge" and "it was a challenge to arrange a time that suited both people, especially if it was a teacher or a parent because parents send their kids to OSHC because they work...So not all people are willing to come after they've worked to come to OSHC to participate" (P21). Participants highlighted the critical role of a person dedicated to supporting the implementation of the CP3 (the CP3 coordinator) and that this role needed to continue to be embedded in the program.

Some participants reported that educators who were not directly involved in CP3 delivery struggled to explain the CP3 to parents and guardians:

Yeah, how is it valuable, and then that can help them explain it to parents and carers as well because they were struggling to explain, I guess, how the program was going to be...[the CP3 Coordinator] explained it, but they were struggling to deliver that to parents and carers. [CP3 coordinator; P21]

Family engagement varied across the participating OSHC sites; some reported excellent engagement, whereas others identified challenges. This was attributed to parents being busy or at work, hence their use of OSHC in the first place. In total, 13% of the educators highlighted that more families at their center wished to be involved, but COVID-19 restrictions prevented engagement. Furthermore, the CP3 coordinator suggested that it may have been a result of "educators not understanding why, how we're doing this, and prioritizing time" (P4), so further educator training may assist in addressing this.

The level of engagement of the OSHC coordinator was another factor that influenced the success of CP3 implementation:

...the coordinator seems to be the gateway to the inspiration of CP3 within the team...When I was working alongside an engaged, motivated coordinator, it was really, really easy to implement CP3. They put the time and the effort in...Whereas if the coordinator was a bit more distant, a bit more challenging to communicate with, it was more challenging definitely to do...The sparkle wasn't there. The magic was lost a little. [CP3 coordinator; P4]

One of the most cited challenges to CP3 implementation and engagement with the program related to external factors that were beyond OSHC control. This was identified as an issue by many participants and included the COVID-19 pandemic, regional natural disasters, and school protocols in response to such events:

I think out of [OSHC site], we had the fires, then we had poor air quality, then there was flooding. We've also had COVID-19...we had some volunteers from the local church congregation who were in their senior years and we weren't able to re-engage those volunteers as a result of COVID. We sourced volunteers from within the immediate community. So it was educators who might have had a family member, for example. And at [another OSHC site], we had an educator who had a family member who was a soccer coach, so we engaged that person. They were part of the existing community, so we weren't actually introducing anybody from outside of the immediate community to the space. Schools were quite strict with who came onto the grounds during COVID-19, so that impacted community connections again. [CP3 coordinator; P4]

Some OSHC sites were agile and used creative engagement strategies; for example, in response to COVID-19 restrictions, an educator (P22) described purposely setting up the CP3 activities in front of the parent sign-in area so that parents could still engage in some capacity. She also ensured that parents were able to see photos of the activities "so, as much as families couldn't come in and be involved, they were still involved in a different way." Other educators (P11 and P12) sought volunteers through family connections and teachers from a linked school.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

To our knowledge, the CP3 is the first co-designed social connection and well-being program model for primary school–age children (aged 5 to 12 years) specifically for OSHC settings in Australia. Our study used a 2-stage mixed methods formative and process evaluation to assess the acceptability and feasibility of the CP3. These evaluation stages of research are crucial as research suggests that many mentor-style programs are pursued without any supporting evidence from reliable or valid process or outcome evaluations [23,24].

Our evaluation highlights the high level of satisfaction and engagement with the CP3 and demonstrates promising preliminary findings in terms of the positive impact of the CP3 principles (ie, *Build Well-being* and *Resilience*, *Broaden Horizons*, *Inspire and Engage*, and *Connect Communities*). The process evaluation reported significant positive impacts of the CP3 on prosocial behaviors and reducing peer-related problems in children, as measured using the SDQ. These are important findings, especially as the research was conducted from 2019 to 2020 through unprecedented events such as fires, floods, and the COVID-19 pandemic where it was expected that children's well-being would be negatively affected. Our planned next stage of research is to consolidate these findings by conducting an evaluation of the CP3 using a stepped-wedge cluster randomized controlled study.

# **Co-design With Children and Their Communities at** the Heart of CP3

The qualitative findings demonstrated the positive flow on the effect of children making active decisions about the service where they play, learn, and grow. Research highlights that central to achieving a shift in OSHC service delivery is the need to listen to children's voices [25,26]. As highlighted by Flückiger et al [27] and echoed in Australian research [28], educators need to be able to listen to children to develop policies and practices that directly respond to their needs and perspectives. This process of enabling OSHC services and their educators to listen and respond to children's voices is structurally supported through the CP3 as a best-practice programming tool.

The wider OSHC community (including educators and CP3 volunteer mentors) also described benefiting from the CP3 co-design process. Research highlights that, for educators, having a voice in service delivery is critical in addressing workforce issues that have arisen in recent years [29]. The educator voice is recognized in the Australian National Quality Standard [7], which emphasizes the need for democratic practices and collaborative decision-making across all aspects of service delivery. The qualitative results from this process evaluation indicate a positive impact of the CP3 on educator well-being and sense of community. This warrants further quantitative research to understand whether the CP3 providing a framework for such collaborative decision-making practices influences educators' workplace well-being.



#### **Creative Engagement**

Past Australian qualitative research has highlighted that, when asked, children emphasize the importance of friendship, play, and choice of specific activities in OSHC [28]. All these ideas are echoed in the CP3 principles of Broaden Horizons, Inspire and Engage, and Connect Communities. Creative engagement through these channels is a way of directly and indirectly enhancing child social, emotional, physical, and cognitive well-being. The qualitative findings of this study highlighted that more susceptible children were more likely to engage positively with CP3 activities as compared with regular OSHC. There was a distinct change in how they engaged socially and emotionally, forming positive connections through play via the CP3 activities they had themselves co-designed. This high-quality programming process through the CP3 is important as there is research evidence suggesting that, in other childcare settings, those that are most likely to benefit from high-quality programming are children who experience circumstances of disadvantage [30].

## The Reality of CP3

The main criticism of the CP3 relates to its potential to add to the workload of OSHC service providers if not properly resourced. For example, the level of paperwork was a concern raised in our formative and process evaluation findings. Although this may have been because educators had conflated research-related paperwork with the CP3 itself, this aspect remains important. Research in the early childhood education sector has highlighted that issues such as paperwork are a major impediment to workplace well-being and the educational effectiveness of educators [31], which can, in turn, influence the quality of OSHC service provision and child outcomes [32,33]. The digitization of CP3 implementation and support tools is planned to minimize the administrative burden of the CP3. This is also intended to augment the CP3's reach to OSHC services located in regional and rural areas.

In line with the "Shaping our Future" strategy, which focuses on supporting Australia's childcare workforce over the next decade [34], if the CP3 is to be successful in the future, it needs to positively affect educator well-being and not be a source of burden. Thus, the CP3 coordinator and CP3 training infrastructure being in place to support OSHC services to deliver, fully resource, and upskill the workforce will be essential to the ongoing success of the CP3. Workforce issues are currently of major concern across the childcare sector, and these types of well-being–focused programs can only be implemented and provide value if funding and resources are sufficient to ensure effective implementation.

Another concern was that the quality of the program could fluctuate depending on the CP3 champion at the OSHC service. This could be attributed to some of the aforementioned workforce issues. However, this may also be because implementation practices differed between services. To understand and be able to support services with this variability, a CP3 fidelity tool is being developed. It is envisaged that a CP3 fidelity tool will (1) provide a structured framework for quality assurance and quality improvement of CP3 delivery; (2) allow services to identify and address any implementation or resourcing issues early; and (3) provide a means for researchers to identify components of the CP3 model, if any, that are critical for positive outcomes.

#### Strengths and Limitations of the Research

For the first formative evaluation, the CP3 was piloted at 1 OSHC site only, which meant that the sample numbers for the child and educator surveys were very small and may be biased toward the specific sociocultural-economic aspects of that area. The CP3 was subsequently rolled out across an additional 5 sites for the process evaluation so as to gather further evidence in more diverse settings and with a larger sample size. In this evaluation phase, mixed methods data were gathered from children, but only qualitative data could be gathered from educators given funding constraints and the fact that the primary target of the intervention were children. For the process evaluation preliminary effectiveness, only 58 children could be matched across the 2 time points for the SDQ surveys. This was due to children at each time point either joining or leaving the service or the service not completing the routine data outcome monitoring at the time because of unforeseeable circumstances (eg, fires, floods, and COVID-19-related lockdowns). The average attrition rate across all sites from baseline to follow-up was 33.8% (88/122), which increased to 52.5% (58/122) in the matched sample. This attrition is high and poses a threat to the validity of the findings; thus, statistical testing must be interpreted with caution. A real-world randomized cluster stepped-wedge trial is being carried out at regional and urban OSHC sites in NSW, Australia, and will provide more comprehensive evidence for the CP3 model from both a child and an educator perspective.

A critical strength of the CP3 model is that it has undergone iterative development following recommendations of the Medical Research Council guidelines for developing complex interventions [14]. After the initial co-design of the CP3 model [6], the use of a 2-step formative and process evaluation enabled further program design to be agile and actively respond to the identified needs as they arose, for example, the development of a fidelity measure and additional resources to support educators in explaining the CP3 to the community. By using this approach, the CP3 model can grow and be improved upon in real time as a program and service improvement process.

#### Conclusions

There is strong academic evidence for the developmental effectiveness of providing high-quality programming (intellectually stimulating, emotionally supportive, and providing socially engaging learning experiences) in early childcare settings [29]. This should be extended to OSHC in the primary school years. Providing high-quality OSHC programming is an investment in children's futures given that OSHC is the fastest-growing childhood education and care sector in Australia [5]. OSHC sites need to extend beyond simply existing as "convenient care" and be valued as a place where children's well-being is supported [5]. The early evidence for the CP3 is promising and may provide a unique opportunity to listen and respond to the voices of children in OSHC and those that support them. To ensure future sustainability and scalability, there must be sufficient resources to ensure that such programs do not

XSL•FO RenderX

burden an already overstretched workforce. The CP3 provides OSHC with a much-needed framework and high-quality program planning tool, which promotes the development of tailored interventions depending on the unique needs and preferences of those who will use them.

# Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a benevolent grant from Uniting. Ongoing Connect, Promote, and Protect Program research and write-up of the manuscript were funded by a partnership grant from the University of Sydney Brain and Mind Centre. In addition, ACM was supported partially by the Australian Government through the Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for Children and Families over the Life Course (project ID: CE200100025). The authors acknowledge all the members of the Uniting NSW.ACT out of school hours care community, including the children, families, educators, and volunteers who participated in and supported this research. In particular, they would like to thank Rod Nadwie-Smith, Melisa Giles, Sophie Fraser, Madonna Lee, and Haley La Monica.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

IH was an inaugural commissioner on Australia's National Mental Health Commission (2012-2018). He is the codirector of Health and Policy at the Brain and Mind Centre, University of Sydney. The Brain and Mind Centre operates early-intervention youth services at Camperdown under contract to the headspace. He has previously led community-based and pharmaceutical industry–supported (Wyeth, Eli Lily, Servier, Pfizer, and AstraZeneca) projects focused on the identification and better management of anxiety and depression. He was a member of the Medical Advisory Panel for Medibank Private until October 2017, a board member of Psychosis Australia Trust, and a member of the Veterans Mental Health Clinical Reference Group. He is the chief scientific advisor to and an equity shareholder in Innowell. Innowell has been formed by the University of Sydney and PwC to deliver the Aus \$30 million (US \$19.9 million) Australian Government–funded Project Synergy. Project Synergy is a 3-year program for the transformation of mental health services through the use of innovative technologies. The Connect, Promote, and Protect Program has an executed intellectual property agreement between the University of Sydney (ACM and IH) and Uniting. All other authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Child and adult formative evaluation demographics.

[DOCX File, 16 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44928 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Staff (n=5) and volunteer (n=2) satisfaction with Connect, Promote, and Protect Program items during term 1 in 2020. [DOCX File, 17 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44928\_app2.docx]

### Multimedia Appendix 3

Number of completed Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaires at baseline and follow-up by outside school hours care site. [DOCX File, 14 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e44928\_app3.docx]

# Multimedia Appendix 4

Educator baseline and follow-up results for each Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) scale by 4-fold SDQ categories. [DOCX File, 17 KB - pediatrics v6i1e44928 app4.docx]

# References

- Australian early development concesus national report: a snapshot of early childhood development in Australia. National Library of Australia. Canberra, Australia: Department of Education and Training; 2016. URL: <u>https://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-541256216</u> [accessed 2022-12-01]
- 2. Goodsell B, Lawrence D, Ainley J, Sawyer M, Zubrick S, Maratos J. Child and adolescent mental health and educational outcomes: an analysis of educational outcomes from young minds matter: the second Australian child and adolescent survey of mental health and wellbeing. The University of Western Australia. 2017 Dec. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/bdzz2jvd</u> [accessed 2022-12-01]
- 3. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Starting Strong III: A Quality Toolbox for Early Childhood Education and Care. Paris, France: OECD Publishing; Dec 16, 2011.
- 4. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Starting Strong 2017: Key OECD Indicators on Early Childhood Education and Care. Paris, France: OECD Publishing; Jun 21, 2017.
- 5. Cartmel J, Hurst B. More than 'just convenient care': what the research tells us about equitable access to outside school hours care. New South Wales Department of Education. 2021 Jun. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/3ufxhmu5</u> [accessed 2022-11-30]

- Milton AC, Stewart E, Ospina-Pinillos L, Davenport T, Hickie IB. Participatory design of an activities-based collective mentoring program in after-school care settings: connect, promote, and protect program. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Apr 12;4(2):e22822 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22822] [Medline: 33843603]
- 7. National quality standards. 2018. Australian Children's Education & Care Quality Authority. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.acecqa.gov.au/sites/default/files/2018-07/RevisedNQSHandoutA4.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-11-30]
- My time, our place: framework for school age care in Australia (V2.0). Australian Government Department of Education. 2023. URL: <u>https://www.acecqa.gov.au/sites/default/files/2018-05/</u> my time our place framework for school age care in australia 0.pdf [accessed 2022-11-30]
- 9. Hand K, Baxter J. Maternal employment and the care of school-aged children. Aust J Labour Econ 2013;16(3):329-349
   [FREE Full text]
- Winefield H, Piteo A, Kettler L, Roberts R, Taylor A, Tuckey M, et al. Australian parents' needs and expectations regarding out of school hours care: a pilot study. J Early Child Res 2011 Oct;9(3):196-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1476718x10389142]
- Sjöberg C, Timpka T. Participatory design of information systems in health care. J Am Med Inform Assoc 1998 Mar;5(2):177-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.1998.0050177] [Medline: 9524350]
- Ospina-Pinillos L, Davenport TA, Ricci CS, Milton AC, Scott EM, Hickie IB. Developing a mental health eClinic to improve access to and quality of mental health care for young people: using participatory design as research methodologies. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 28;20(5):e188. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9716]
- 13. Burch PE, Heinrich CJ. Mixed Methods for Policy Research and Program Evaluation. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; Mar 2015.
- 14. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of medical research council guidance. BMJ 2021 Sep 30;374:n2061. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2061] [Medline: 34593508]
- 15. Mashek D, Cannaday LW, Tangney JP. Inclusion of community in self scale: a single-item pictorial measure of community connectedness. J Community Psychol 2007 Mar;35(2):257-275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jcop.20146]
- 16. International Wellbeing Group. Personal Wellbeing Index-Adult. 4th edition. The Australian Centre on Quality of Life, Deakin University. 2006. URL: <u>https://www.acqol.com.au/uploads/pwi-a/pwi-a-chinese-cantonese.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-11-30]
- 17. Tomyn AJ, Fuller Tyszkiewicz MD, Cummins RA. The personal wellbeing index: psychometric equivalence for adults and school children. Soc Indic Res 2013;110(3):913-924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11205-011-9964-9]
- Goodman R. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1997 Jul;38(5):581-586.
   [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x</u>] [Medline: <u>9255702</u>]
- 19. Hawes DJ, Dadds MR. Australian data and psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2004 Aug;38(8):644-651. [doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2004.01427.x] [Medline: 15298588]
- 20. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 21. Ritchie J, Spencer L. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In: Bryman A, Burgess B, editors. Analyzing Qualitative Data. Oxfordshire, UK: Routledge; 2002:187-208.
- 22. NVivo for Windows: NVivo qualitative data analysis software. Lumivero. 2016. URL: <u>https://lumivero.com/products/</u> <u>nvivo/</u> [accessed 2022-06-30]
- 23. Rhodes JE. Stand by Me: The Risks and Rewards of Mentoring Today's Youth. Cambridge, MA, USA: Harvard University Press; 2002.
- 24. Sipe CL. Mentoring programs for adolescents: a research summary. J Adolesc Health 2002 Dec;31(6 Suppl):251-260. [doi: 10.1016/s1054-139x(02)00498-6] [Medline: 12470922]
- 25. Cartmel J, Hayes A. Before and after school: literature review about Australian school age child care. Child Aust 2016 Sep;41(3):201-207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cha.2016.17]
- 26. Simoncini K, Cartmel J, Young A. Children's voices in Australian school age care: what do they think about afterschool care? Int J Res Entend Educ 2015 Jun 15;3(1):114-131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3224/ijree.v3i1.19584]
- 27. Flückiger B, Dunn J, Stinson M. What supports and limits learning in the early years? Listening to the voices of 200 children. Aust J Educ 2018 Aug;62(2):94-107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0004944118779467]
- 28. Moir P, Brunker N. 'We actually get to go out and play': looking through children's views on out of school hours care to children's experience of school. Int J Play 2021 Aug 09;10(3):302-315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21594937.2021.1959226]
- 29. Thorpe K, Jansen E, Sullivan V, Irvine S, McDonald P, The Early Years Workforce Study team. Identifying predictors of retention and professional wellbeing of the early childhood education workforce in a time of change. J Educ Change 2020 May 29;21(4):623-647 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10833-020-09382-3]
- 30. Duncan GJ, Magnuson K. Investing in preschool programs. J Econ Perspect 2013;27(2):109-132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1257/jep.27.2.109] [Medline: 25663745]



- 31. Thorpe K, Panthi N, Houen S, Horwood M, Staton S. Support to stay and thrive: mapping challenges faced by Australia's early years educators to the national workforce strategy 2022–2031. Aust Educ Res (forthcoming) 2023 Jan 06 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13384-022-00607-3]
- Rankin PS, Staton S, Potia AH, Houen S, Thorpe K. Emotional quality of early education programs improves language learning: a within-child across context design. Child Dev 2022 Nov;93(6):1680-1697 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/cdev.13811] [Medline: 35699730]
- McMullen MB, Lee MS, McCormick KI, Choi J. Early childhood professional well-being as a predictor of the risk of turnover in child care: a matter of quality. J Res Child Educ 2020;34(3):331-345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/02568543.2019.1705446]
- 34. "Shaping our future": a ten-year strategy to ensure a sustainable, high-quality children's education and care workforce 2022–2031. National Children's Education and Care Workforce Strategy. 2021 Sep. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/mr4avuuw</u> [accessed 2022-11-30]

# Abbreviations

ACECQA: Australian Children's Education and Care Quality Authority CP3: Connect, Promote, and Protect Program MD: mean difference NSW: New South Wales OSHC: outside school hours care SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire

Edited by S Badawy, G Eysenbach; submitted 08.12.22; peer-reviewed by K Lim, K Hopps; comments to author 25.03.23; revised version received 27.03.23; accepted 28.03.23; published 25.07.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Milton AC, Mengesha Z, Ballesteros K, McClean T, Hartog S, Bray-Rudkin L, Ngo C, Hickie I Supporting Children's Social Connection and Well-Being in School-Age Care: Mixed Methods Evaluation of the Connect, Promote, and Protect Program JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44928 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44928 doi:10.2196/44928 PMID:37490323

©Alyssa Clare Milton, Zelalem Mengesha, Kristin Ballesteros, Tom McClean, Saskia Hartog, Lucie Bray-Rudkin, Cathy Ngo, Ian Hickie. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.07.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Viewpoint** 

# Designing an App for Parents and Caregivers to Promote Cognitive and Socioemotional Development and Well-being Among Children Aged 0 to 5 Years in Diverse Cultural Settings: Scientific Framework

Jacob J Crouse<sup>1</sup>, BPsych, MBMSc, PhD; Haley M LaMonica<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MA, PhD, ABPP-CN; Yun Ju Christine Song<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Kelsie A Boulton<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Cathrin Rohleder<sup>1,3</sup>, PhD; Marilena M DeMayo<sup>4,5,6</sup>, PhD; Chloe E Wilson<sup>1</sup>, BPsych, PhD; Victoria Loblay<sup>1,7</sup>, BA, MASocSc, PhD; Gabrielle Hindmarsh<sup>1</sup>, BA (Hons), PhD; Tina Stratigos<sup>8</sup>, PhD; Michael Krausz<sup>9</sup>, MD, PhD; Nathanael Foo<sup>10</sup>, BSc, MBA; Melissa Teo<sup>10</sup>, BA; Andrew Hunter<sup>10</sup>, MA; Adam J Guastella<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Richard B Banati<sup>11</sup>, PhD; Jakelin Troy<sup>12</sup>, PhD; Ian B Hickie<sup>1</sup>, MD, AM

- <sup>6</sup>Department of Radiology, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada
- <sup>7</sup>The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre, Menzies Centre for Health Policy, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia
- <sup>8</sup>Sydney School of Education and Social Work, Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

- <sup>10</sup>Minderoo Foundation, Perth, Australia
- <sup>11</sup>Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation, Sydney, Australia
- <sup>12</sup>Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

# **Corresponding Author:**

Jacob J Crouse, BPsych, MBMSc, PhD Youth Mental Health and Technology Team Brain and Mind Centre Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney 94-100 Mallett St Camperdown, 2050 Australia Phone: 61 291144000 Email: jacob.crouse@sydney.edu.au

# Abstract

Recent years have seen remarkable progress in our scientific understanding of early childhood social, emotional, and cognitive development, as well as our capacity to widely disseminate health information by using digital technologies. Together, these scientific and technological advances offer exciting opportunities to deliver high-quality information about early childhood development (ECD) to parents and families globally, which may ultimately lead to greater knowledge and confidence among parents and better outcomes among children (particularly in lower- and middle-income countries). With these potential benefits in mind, we set out to design, develop, implement, and evaluate a new parenting app—Thrive by Five—that will be available in 30 countries. The app will provide caregivers and families with evidence-based and culturally appropriate information about ECD, accompanied by sets of collective actions that go beyond mere tips for parenting practices. Herein, we describe this ongoing global project and discuss the components of our scientific framework for developing and prototyping the app's content. Specifically, we describe (1) 5 domains that are used to organize the content and goals of the app's information and associated practices; (2) 5 neurobiological systems that are relevant to ECD and can be behaviorally targeted to potentially influence social, emotional,

RenderX

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Youth Mental Health and Technology Team, Brain and Mind Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia <sup>2</sup>Clinic for Autism and Neurodevelopment Research, Brain and Mind Centre, Children's Hospital Westmead Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Central Institute of Mental Health, Medical Faculty Mannheim, Heidelberg University, Mannheim, Germany

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Hotchkiss Brain Institute, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

and cognitive development; (3) our anthropological and cultural framework for learning about local contexts and appreciating decolonization perspectives; and (4) our approach to tailoring the app's content to local contexts, which involves collaboration with in-country partner organizations and local and international subject matter experts in ECD, education, medicine, psychology, and anthropology, among others. Finally, we provide examples of the content that was incorporated in Thrive by Five when it launched globally.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e38921) doi:10.2196/38921

# KEYWORDS

early childhood development; digital technology; health information technology; mHealth; smartphone; neuroscience; pediatrics; mobile app

# Introduction

The first 5 years of human life are a remarkable period of cognitive, social, and emotional change. Before modern neuroimaging technologies, it was an open question as to how and to what extent the brain matures during childhood. Our understanding of this phenomenon is now much clearer, with a growing literature demonstrating large-scale structural and functional changes in the brain across childhood, starting from the very first months of life [1-6]. The development of the brain and its cognitive, social, and emotional functions during early life is critical for lifelong health and well-being. Levels of cognitive, social, and emotional functioning during childhood are associated with a variety of adult social, economic, and health outcomes [7-9], and children who struggle with some of these abilities (eg, self-control) when they are young are at elevated risk for negative outcomes as adults (eg, criminality) [9,10]. The degree to which child-rearing practices influence the development of these abilities during early childhood is of great interest.

Behavior genetics has demonstrated complex gene-environment interactions that, beyond a simple nature-nurture dichotomy [11,12], contribute greatly to how people differ in terms of cognitive, social, and emotional functioning. Notably, potentially modifiable environmental factors, such as what parents and families do with children, have a substantial influence on these differences. For example, a recent meta-analysis of twin studies estimated that around 40% of individual differences in self-control are attributable to environmental effects [13]. Twin studies have shown the contribution of the shared (family) environment to individual differences in language ability [14], empathy [15], and cognitive school readiness [16], among other traits. Epidemiologic studies have also revealed the need to protect children from harmful environments to ensure optimal cognitive, social, and emotional development [17,18]. Critically, exposure to certain harms (eg, chronic stress and abuse) might be avoided by educating parents and by equipping them and their children with protective strategies. Altogether, we now know that childhood cognitive, social, and emotional traits are malleable. Improving children's functioning in early life via parental behaviors may optimize development and prevent poor outcomes in adulthood, ultimately resulting in lifelong health and well-being.

Modern digital technologies (eg, smartphone apps) offer a highly scalable platform for delivering health information across a range of settings (eg, low- and middle-income countries),

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38921
```

purposes (eg, education and prevention), and health conditions [19-22]. In an increasingly web-based world, app-based technologies offer the potential to address ethnic, racial, socioeconomic, and regional disparities in access to health information and may represent an effective means of delivering information about early childhood development (ECD) to parents and caregivers globally. Realizing these opportunities hinges on investigating and interrogating the social, cultural, and political dimensions of digital technology use [23], as well as conducting detailed examinations of how users of digital technologies perceive a specific platform's usability (eg, user-friendliness), acceptability (eg, cultural appropriateness), and feasibility (eg, ease of use in daily life) [24].

With the goal of meeting these challenges and opportunities, we partnered with a philanthropic organization-Minderoo Foundation-in 2021 to develop, implement, and evaluate an app that aims to provide parents from approximately 30 countries with science-based and culturally relevant information about ECD. At the time of writing, the app-Thrive by Five-has been launched as 5 localized, country-specific versions. A key difference between Thrive by Five and other popular parenting apps is our focus on combining scientific knowledge with a cultural and anthropologic analysis of each country's local context (eg, approaches to child-rearing, gender roles, and the position of the child in the family; Figure 1). Moreover, rather than focusing only on 1 parent and 1 child, we broadened the scope of the app's child-rearing tips to draw in wider family and community networks, with the goal of exposing children to a wider set of cultural and traditional practices (eg, folk stories; myths; and traditional songs, music, and dance). Accordingly, we refer to the activities in the app as collective actions.

The objective of this paper is to describe this project's scientific framework. By *scientific framework*, we refer to the project's basic conceptual and pragmatic approach, including *what* we are targeting (ie, cognitive, social, and emotional well-being); *why* these targets are of interest (ie, the empirical, scientific rationale); and, critically, *how* users can engage with specific practices to potentially drive their children's development in these target areas in ways that are culturally relevant. As our approach to integrating science, culture, and anthropology within a co-design context is novel, the rationale of describing our scientific framework is to provide a road map that other projects with similar aspirations may find useful, as well as a transparent description of the process underlying the design and development of the Thrive by Five app.

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Crouse et al

Figure 1. Overview of our scientific framework for developing the Thrive by Five app. We combine cultural and anthropological analyses and scientific knowledge to develop and iterate country-specific practices for parents and significant others (collective actions).



# Methods

# Scientific Framework Overview

In the following sections, we elaborate on this project's scientific framework. First, we describe 5 conceptual domains that are used to organize the content and goals of the information about ECD and child-rearing and outline 5 neurobiological systems that can be behaviorally targeted to influence social, emotional, and cognitive development (Scientific Framework Part 1). Second, we discuss our approach to developing an understanding of each country through the cocreation of a cultural framework that summarizes various literature regarding factors that may impact child-rearing and child development (Scientific Framework Part 2). Third, we introduce the concept of collective actions as an alternative to parenting tips, emphasizing the strengths of involving wider family and community networks in child-rearing (Scientific Framework Part 3). Fourth, we discuss our iterative approach to localizing the app's content for each country, which involves holding collaborative workshops with in-country partner organizations; subject matter experts in ECD, education, medicine, psychology, and anthropology, among other disciplines; and potential users of the app in each country (Scientific Framework Part 4). Finally, we provide examples of the content (ie, collective actions) that was included in the app when it launched internationally in 2022 (the first full version of the app was implemented in Indonesia).

# Scientific Framework Part 1—Linking Content Development to 5 Thematic Domains and 5 Neurobiological Systems

Before developing the app's content, we agreed on 5 thematic domains that are relevant to children's social, emotional, and cognitive development and 5 neurobiological systems that are involved in social, emotional, and cognitive development. These domains and neurobiological systems (Figure 2) guide the development of the app's content, are used to categorize the content within the app, and provide the scientific rationale for encouraging parents to engage with the practices promoted by the app.

(Figure 2) guide the used to categorize the scientific rationale for practices promoted by

RenderX

The thematic domains are based broadly on the Bright Tomorrows project (developed by Minderoo Foundation and Telethon Kids Institute), with the Brain and Mind Centre team mapping new domains. The domains and the broad types of content included in each domain are (1) the Cognitive Brain domain, which includes content about broad cognitive processes (eg, attention, learning, memory, visual and auditory processing, motor skills, and imagination); (2) the Social Brain domain, which includes content about social interaction and the sociocognitive processes involved in recognizing, interpreting, and responding to social cues (eg, eye gaze, joint attention, and facial expressions); (3) the Language and Communication domain, which includes content about processing, understanding, and using verbal and nonverbal language and signals (eg, gestures); (4) the Identity and Culture domain, which includes content about the development of a sense of personal, social, and community identity and the roles that culture and place play in identity development (eg, customs, festivals, and folk stories); and (5) the Physical Health domain, which includes content about physical health, growth, and development and physical protection from harm and abuse (eg, harsh discipline).

The neurobiological systems that we focus on and an outline of their relevance to early child development are shown in Figure 2. These five systems and their main functions include (1) the stress response system, which creates a hormonal response to stress (prolonged activation of the stress response system is associated with negative emotional, behavioral, and physical health outcomes); (2) the oxytocin system, which regulates social, behavioral, and emotional processes (eg, smiling, attention to eye gaze, and breastfeeding), of which many are fundamentally important for early child-caregiver bonds and other social bonds; (3) the learning system, which assigns value to objects and behaviors (in childhood, this is fundamental for motivation creation, social behaviors, and associative learning); (4) the fear-arousal-memory system, which encodes and maintains memories of fearful stimuli and the contexts in which they are experienced; and (5) the circadian system, which orchestrates the daily rhythmic timing of almost all physiological processes and behaviors (eg, sleep and

wakefulness, appetite, mood, and cognitive function). Other relevance to early child development [25-38]. publications provide more details about these systems and their

Figure 2. The five domains for collective action and the five neurobiological systems/circuits used to guide the conceptualization and development of the app's content.

# **Domains for Collective Action**

### Cognitive Brain ("Play")

- Neurocognitive function (eg, attention)
- Fine and gross motor skills
- Imagination (eg, perspective-taking)

#### Social Brain ("Connect")

- Social cues (eg, eye gaze, facial expression)
- Social problem-solving
- Interpersonal relationships (eg, kindness)

#### Language & Communication ("Talk")

- Verbal communication (eg, language)
- Nonverbal communication (eg, gesturing)
- Identifying and communicating emotions

#### Identity & Culture ("Community")

- Sense of self (eg, uniqueness, roles)
- Connection to place (eg, nature, locale)
- Connection to family (eg, kinship, trust)

#### Physical Health ("Healthy Home")

- Exercise and nutrition (eg, breastfeeding)
- Child protection (eg, abuse prevention)
- Biobehavioral cycles (eg, routines)

# Scientific Framework Part 2—Development of Cultural Frameworks to Localize Content

For each country, a cultural framework is developed collaboratively with the research team and a nominated country-specific expert. This framework is used to guide the first draft of the app's content for each local context. The cultural framework summarizes information from a variety of published literature (eg, government reports, journal articles, and textbooks) that is relevant to child-rearing; family environments; and broader social, economic, and political factors that may influence family functioning and early child development. For each country, we follow a dedicated pro forma that covers the topics presented in Figure 3.

# Neurobiological systems/circuits

#### Stress response

- Major role: Regulate optimal behavioral and physiological responses to stressors
- App targets: Self-soothing, safety behaviors

#### Oxytocin

- Major role: Reinforce optimal social relations and bonding/attachment to key caregivers
- App targets: Breastfeeding, physical touch, socializing

#### Learning

- Major role: Make certain behaviors more or less likely to be repeated over time
- App targets: Positive reinforcement, repetition

#### Fear-arousal-memory

- Major role: Encode threatening events in memory to alter behavior and prevent re-exposure
- App targets: Self-soothing, protective environments

#### Circadian

- Major role: Regulate daily timing of biobehavioral rhythms (eg, sleep-wake cycle, cognition, hormones)
- App targets: Routines, light exposure, activity

Concurrently, the research team prepares a literature summary that presents the strengths (eg, transgenerational family networks; the empowerment of women; and the cultural celebration of art, music, and dance) and challenges (eg, high rates of childhood mortality, obesity, and exposure to corporal punishment) of each country, which are considered when developing the app's content. The content aims to celebrate the cultural strengths and practices of each country by highlighting how they align with the scientific evidence about childhood development while also considering the various challenges that may impede these practices and how these challenges may be mitigated. Once complete, the cultural framework and literature summary are reviewed and approved by an in-country partner organization.







# Scientific Framework Part 3—Conceptualizing the App's Content as Collective Actions and Not Just as Parenting Tips

Many available parenting apps adopt a narrow focus in their content, encouraging activities to be completed by 1 parent (typically a mother) with 1 child. Although these activities are well-meaning and are still of potential benefit, their dyadic structure is limiting. Such activities reduce exposure to a variety of social interactions with different people; lack the richness of multigenerational and extended family structures; and narrow the bounds of the complexity and variety of children's social, emotional, and cognitive experiences. Therefore, we conceptualize the content in the app not as parenting tips but as collective actions.

These collective actions broaden the scope of the child-focused activities to include a significantly larger network of individuals in a child's life. As well as mothers, fathers, uncles, aunts, siblings, cousins, grandmothers, and grandfathers (Figure 4), we also encourage families to bring in other trusted adults from their communities and social networks to engage in these actions. We believe that this wider circle of interactions with and around a child may drive greater gains in cognitive, social, and emotional development (by increasing the varieties of experiences, stimuli, and interactions), in addition to increasing the opportunities for a child to be exposed to and embedded within the rich tapestries of their extended family's culture and history (eg, rituals; folk stories; myths; and traditional songs, music, and dance).

In the Thrive by Five app, the primary content (collective actions) comprises 2 components (Figure 5). First, "The Why" provides the scientific background that supports a particular activity (eg, the importance of breastfeeding for a baby's social, cognitive, emotional, and physical development and health outcomes) [39,40]. Second, the "Activity Pop Up" provides a practical activity in which parents, siblings, grandparents, other extended family members, and trusted community members could participate with the child. "The Why" and the "Activity Pop Up" are available both in text form and in audio form.



Figure 4. Our approach to content: collective actions, not just parenting tips. As opposed to a set of child-rearing practices that encourage simplistic parent-child interactions, our concept of collective actions encourages involvement from many family members (eg, grandparents, siblings, and cousins) and trusted community members in interactions with the child. Although we have placed the child at the center of this network, we also recognize the child as an "actor," as children often initiate interactions with others, and that these communications represent interactive loops rather than a unidirectional interaction.



Figure 5. An example of a collective action, including "The Why" and "Activity Pop Up" components in English (top row) and Bahasa Indonesia (bottom row).



XSL•FO RenderX

# Scientific Framework Part 4—The Iterative Process of Localizing Content to Each Country

Over the course of this 3-year project, the Thrive by Five app will be implemented in 30 countries. A unique feature of this project is that for each country, we are actively considering how we can integrate cultural practices into the collective actions as a way of strengthening connections across families and communities and connections to places, cultural traditions, and values. To ensure that the app's content is culturally acceptable, usable, relevant, and engaging, we developed a 4-stage process for developing and prototyping the country-specific collective actions (Figure 1) in partnership with local and international experts in ethnography, anthropology, ECD, medicine, psychology, and other disciplines.

The first phase of development is the conceptualization of the initial library of collective actions for a given country. This process is guided by the research team's expertise and an examination of published research in areas that are relevant to the five domains and the five neurobiological systems that we previously described (Figure 2). The cultural framework (Figure 3) is used concurrently to highlight topics regarding local needs (eg, hygiene and distress management).

In the second phase of development and prototyping, the research team-in cooperation with a nominated in-country partner and representatives from the Minderoo Foundation-holds a series of co-design workshops with local subject matter experts (eg, educators, pediatricians, and psychologists) to examine the acceptability, feasibility, and relevance of the draft content (more details are provided elsewhere [41]). Similarly, in the third phase of development and prototyping, the research team holds a series of workshops with in-country parents, using a beta version or clickable demonstration version of the app to further examine the acceptability, usability, and relevance of the content. Based on the data that emerge from the co-design workshops, the drafted content is iteratively revised.

Finally, the last phase of development and prototyping includes the implementation of the app in the given country, after which an evaluation phase is conducted that examines the impacts of the Thrive by Five app on several factors, including parent-level confidence and self-efficacy (more details are provided elsewhere [41]). Importantly, at any one of the phases that involve communication with in-country partners, experts, and parents, ideas for subsequent collective actions may emerge.

# Results and Discussion

The international launch of the Thrive by Five app was in March 2022, marked by the implementation of the first full version of the app in Indonesia. Further, 4 other versions of the app (with localized country-specific content) have been successfully

implemented in Afghanistan, Namibia, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan as of November 2022, and 5 other country-specific libraries of localized content have already been codeveloped and are awaiting implementation. As this project continues to progress, the team will codevelop 20 country-specific libraries and implement the app in 25 countries (bringing the total to 30 countries).

A series of evaluation studies will investigate the parent-level, family-level, and system-level impacts of the app on several factors, including the perceived connection between parents and children and between children and the community, parents' confidence in their caregiving abilities, and knowledge gain with regard to positive child-rearing practices [41]. These evaluations will include a mix of quantitative and qualitative designs and a mix of country-specific investigations and larger cross-country investigations. We anticipate the first empirical reports from this program to be submitted for publication in early 2023.

We acknowledge several limitations of our approach. First, while we are co-designing each of the collective actions (collaborating with potential users and local experts) and the aspects of the app's design (eg, illustrations) [41], several of the features and functions of the app were developed before the co-design phase. Second, in some instances, we have had strong feedback from co-design workshop participants about the relative lack of content related to religious practices. Although obviously culturally relevant, we decided that many of these suggestions would not be included in the app's content, as we could not be confident about their relationships with the cognitive, emotional, and social outcomes of this project. Third, we recognize that while some of our team members have personal experiences with the countries for which we are developing the app, we cannot truly understand the nuances, particularities, and meanings of each country's cultural practices (A Poulsen et al, unpublished data, 2022) [42]. In these instances, we adopt a position of cultural humility and rely more heavily (and modestly) on collaboration with our in-country partners and workshop participants. We hope that we can learn and understand enough to make each app feel authentic and relevant to the users.

Our approach to developing the Thrive by Five app—combining science with cultural and anthropological knowledge—is highly original, and we hope that it will produce a useful, relevant, and engaging resource for parents and families around the world. The first outcomes from this work are expected to be published in early 2023. In closing, this global project brings together cutting-edge knowledge from neuroscience, ECD, digital technology, and anthropology, with the major goal of empowering families around the world with new tools and practices for shaping their children's futures.

# Acknowledgments

XSL•F() RenderX

This research is being conducted by the University of Sydney's Brain and Mind Centre, pursuant to a 3-year agreement between the university and Minderoo Foundation Limited (Minderoo). Minderoo's Thrive by Five international app targets parents and

caregivers of children aged 0 to 5 years to support the cognitive, socioemotional development and well-being of young children across diverse cultures.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

IBH is the codirector of health and policy at the Brain and Mind Centre, University of Sydney. The Brain and Mind Centre operates an early intervention youth service at Camperdown, under contract to headspace. He is the chief scientific advisor to and a 5% equity shareholder in InnoWell Pty Ltd. InnoWell was formed by the University of Sydney (45% equity) and PwC (Australia; 45% equity) to deliver the Aus \$30 million (Aus \$1=US \$0.70), Australian government–funded Project Synergy program (2017-2020; a 3-year program for the transformation of mental health services) and to lead the transformation of mental health services internationally through the use of innovative technologies. MT and NF are employed by Minderoo Foundation (funder). VL is a board member for Matana Foundation, a philanthropic organization that provides funding to programs for disadvantaged young people in Australia. She does not receive any financial benefit for this role. The other authors have no disclosures.

# References

- 1. Gilmore JH, Knickmeyer RC, Gao W. Imaging structural and functional brain development in early childhood. Nat Rev Neurosci 2018 Feb 16;19(3):123-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nrn.2018.1] [Medline: 29449712]
- Lebel C, Beaulieu C. Longitudinal development of human brain wiring continues from childhood into adulthood. J Neurosci 2011 Jul 27;31(30):10937-10947 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5302-10.2011] [Medline: 21795544]
- Raznahan A, Shaw P, Lalonde F, Stockman M, Wallace GL, Greenstein D, et al. How does your cortex grow? J Neurosci 2011 May 11;31(19):7174-7177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0054-11.2011] [Medline: 21562281]
- 4. Reynolds JE, Grohs MN, Dewey D, Lebel C. Global and regional white matter development in early childhood. Neuroimage 2019 Aug 01;196:49-58. [doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.04.004] [Medline: 30959194]
- Knickmeyer RC, Gouttard S, Kang C, Evans D, Wilber K, Smith JK, et al. A structural MRI study of human brain development from birth to 2 years. J Neurosci 2008 Nov 19;28(47):12176-12182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3479-08.2008] [Medline: 19020011]
- Ouyang M, Dubois J, Yu Q, Mukherjee P, Huang H. Delineation of early brain development from fetuses to infants with diffusion MRI and beyond. Neuroimage 2019 Jan 15;185:836-850 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.04.017] [Medline: 29655938]
- Althoff RR, Verhulst FC, Rettew DC, Hudziak JJ, van der Ende J. Adult outcomes of childhood dysregulation: a 14-year follow-up study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2010 Nov;49(11):1105-1116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.08.006] [Medline: 20970698]
- 8. Ahmed SF, Kuhfeld M, Watts TW, Davis-Kean PE, Vandell DL. Preschool executive function and adult outcomes: A developmental cascade model. Dev Psychol 2021 Dec;57(12):2234-2249. [doi: 10.1037/dev0001270] [Medline: 34928671]
- Moffitt TE, Arseneault L, Belsky D, Dickson N, Hancox RJ, Harrington H, et al. A gradient of childhood self-control predicts health, wealth, and public safety. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011 Feb 15;108(7):2693-2698 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1010076108] [Medline: 21262822]
- Fergusson DM, Boden JM, Horwood LJ. Childhood self-control and adult outcomes: results from a 30-year longitudinal study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2013 Jul;52(7):709-717.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaac.2013.04.008</u>] [Medline: <u>23800484</u>]
- 11. Turkheimer E. Three laws of behavior genetics and what they mean. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2000;9(5):160-164. [doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00084]
- 12. Chabris CF, Lee JJ, Cesarini D, Benjamin DJ, Laibson DI. The fourth law of behavior genetics. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2015 Jul 01;24(4):304-312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0963721415580430] [Medline: 26556960]
- 13. Willems YE, Boesen N, Li J, Finkenauer C, Bartels M. The heritability of self-control: A meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2019 May;100:324-334 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.02.012] [Medline: 30822436]
- Kovas Y, Hayiou-Thomas ME, Oliver B, Dale PS, Bishop DVM, Plomin R. Genetic influences in different aspects of language development: the etiology of language skills in 4.5-year-old twins. Child Dev 2005;76(3):632-651 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00868.x] [Medline: 15892783]
- Abramson L, Uzefovsky F, Toccaceli V, Knafo-Noam A. The genetic and environmental origins of emotional and cognitive empathy: Review and meta-analyses of twin studies. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2020 Jul;114:113-133. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.03.023</u>] [Medline: <u>32353470</u>]
- Lemelin JP, Boivin M, Forget-Dubois N, Dionne G, Séguin JR, Brendgen M, et al. The genetic-environmental etiology of cognitive school readiness and later academic achievement in early childhood. Child Dev 2007;78(6):1855-1869. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01103.x] [Medline: 17988326]
- 17. Lupien SJ, McEwen BS, Gunnar MR, Heim C. Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. Nat Rev Neurosci 2009 Jun;10(6):434-445. [doi: 10.1038/nrn2639] [Medline: 19401723]

- Kim P, Evans GW, Angstadt M, Ho SS, Sripada CS, Swain JE, et al. Effects of childhood poverty and chronic stress on emotion regulatory brain function in adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013 Nov 12;110(46):18442-18447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1308240110] [Medline: 24145409]
- Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Araya R, Marsch LA, Unützer J, Patel V, et al. Digital technology for treating and preventing mental disorders in low-income and middle-income countries: a narrative review of the literature. Lancet Psychiatry 2017 Jun;4(6):486-500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30096-2] [Medline: 28433615]
- 20. Hickie IB. The role of new technologies in monitoring the evolution of psychopathology and providing measurement-based care in young people. World Psychiatry 2020 Feb;19(1):38-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20697] [Medline: 31922686]
- Buss VH, Leesong S, Barr M, Varnfield M, Harris M. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus using mobile health technology: Systematic review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 29;22(10):e21159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21159] [Medline: 33118936]
- 22. Akinosun AS, Polson R, Diaz-Skeete Y, De Kock JH, Carragher L, Leslie S, et al. Digital technology interventions for risk factor modification in patients with cardiovascular disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Mar 03;9(3):e21061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21061] [Medline: 33656444]
- 23. Lupton D. Health promotion in the digital era: a critical commentary. Health Promot Int 2015 Mar;30(1):174-183. [doi: 10.1093/heapro/dau091] [Medline: 25320120]
- 24. Nievas-Soriano BJ, García-Duarte S, Fernández-Alonso AM, Bonillo-Perales A, Parrón-Carreño T. Users evaluation of a Spanish eHealth pediatric website. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2021 Nov;212:106462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2021.106462] [Medline: 34715515]
- 25. LeGates TA, Fernandez DC, Hattar S. Light as a central modulator of circadian rhythms, sleep and affect. Nat Rev Neurosci 2014 Jul;15(7):443-454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nrn3743] [Medline: 24917305]
- 26. Ludwig M. Dendritic release of the neuropeptides vasopressin and oxytocin. In: Armstrong WE, Tasker JG, editors. Neurophysiology of Neuroendocrine Neurons. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons; Oct 06, 2014:881-895.
- 27. McLaughlin KA, Sheridan MA, Tibu F, Fox NA, Zeanah CH, Nelson CA3. Causal effects of the early caregiving environment on development of stress response systems in children. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015 May 05;112(18):5637-5642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1423363112] [Medline: 25902515]
- Shahrestani S, Kemp AH, Guastella AJ. The impact of a single administration of intranasal oxytocin on the recognition of basic emotions in humans: a meta-analysis. Neuropsychopharmacology 2013 Sep;38(10):1929-1936 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/npp.2013.86] [Medline: 23575742]
- 29. Tovote P, Fadok JP, Lüthi A. Neuronal circuits for fear and anxiety. Nat Rev Neurosci 2015 Jun;16(6):317-331. [doi: 10.1038/nrn3945] [Medline: 25991441]
- 30. Agorastos A, Pervanidou P, Chrousos GP, Kolaitis G. Early life stress and trauma: developmental neuroendocrine aspects of prolonged stress system dysregulation. Hormones (Athens) 2018 Dec;17(4):507-520. [doi: <u>10.1007/s42000-018-0065-x</u>] [Medline: <u>30280316</u>]
- 31. Akacem LD, Wright KPJ, LeBourgeois MK. Sensitivity of the circadian system to evening bright light in preschool-age children. Physiol Rep 2018 Mar;6(5):e13617 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14814/phy2.13617] [Medline: 29504270]
- 32. Allada R, Bass J. Circadian mechanisms in medicine. N Engl J Med 2021 Feb 11;384(6):550-561 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1802337] [Medline: 33567194]
- Crouse JJ, Carpenter JS, Song YJC, Hockey SJ, Naismith SL, Grunstein RR, et al. Circadian rhythm sleep-wake disturbances and depression in young people: implications for prevention and early intervention. Lancet Psychiatry 2021 Sep;8(9):813-823. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00034-1] [Medline: 34419186]
- 34. Dedovic K, Duchesne A, Andrews J, Engert V, Pruessner JC. The brain and the stress axis: the neural correlates of cortisol regulation in response to stress. Neuroimage 2009 Sep;47(3):864-871. [doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.05.074] [Medline: 19500680]
- 35. Dias CC, Figueiredo B, Rocha M, Field T. Reference values and changes in infant sleep-wake behaviour during the first 12 months of life: a systematic review. J Sleep Res 2018 Oct;27(5):e12654 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jsr.12654] [Medline: 29356197]
- Feldman R, Gordon I, Influs M, Gutbir T, Ebstein RP. Parental oxytocin and early caregiving jointly shape children's oxytocin response and social reciprocity. Neuropsychopharmacology 2013 Jun;38(7):1154-1162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/npp.2013.22] [Medline: 23325323]
- 37. Guastella AJ, Mitchell PB, Dadds MR. Oxytocin increases gaze to the eye region of human faces. Biol Psychiatry 2008 Jan 01;63(1):3-5. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.06.026</u>] [Medline: <u>17888410</u>]
- 38. Rilling JK, Young LJ. The biology of mammalian parenting and its effect on offspring social development. Science 2014 Aug 15;345(6198):771-776 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.1252723] [Medline: 25124431]
- Horta BL, de Mola CL, Victora CG. Breastfeeding and intelligence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015 Dec;104(467):14-19. [doi: 10.1111/apa.13139] [Medline: 26211556]

RenderX

- 40. Sankar MJ, Sinha B, Chowdhury R, Bhandari N, Taneja S, Martines J, et al. Optimal breastfeeding practices and infant and child mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015 Dec;104(467):3-13. [doi: 10.1111/apa.13147] [Medline: 26249674]
- LaMonica HM, Crouse JJ, Song YJC, Alam M, Ekambareshwar M, Loblay V, et al. Developing a parenting app to support young children's socioemotional and cognitive development in culturally diverse low- and middle-income countries: Protocol for a co-design study. JMIR Res Protoc 2022 Oct 31;11(10):e39225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/39225] [Medline: 36315237]
- 42. Garner SL, Koch H, George CE, Hitchcock J, Norman G, Green G, et al. Cross cultural team collaboration: Integrating cultural humility in mHealth development and research. Inform Health Soc Care 2021 Dec 02;46(4):345-354. [doi: 10.1080/17538157.2021.1895168] [Medline: <u>33779468</u>]

# Abbreviations

ECD: early childhood development

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 06.05.22; peer-reviewed by B Nievas Soriano, K Lawrence; comments to author 29.10.22; revised version received 02.11.22; accepted 28.12.22; published 13.02.23. <u>Please cite as:</u> Crouse JJ, LaMonica HM, Song YJC, Boulton KA, Rohleder C, DeMayo MM, Wilson CE, Loblay V, Hindmarsh G, Stratigos T, Krausz M, Foo N, Teo M, Hunter A, Guastella AJ, Banati RB, Troy J, Hickie IB Designing an App for Parents and Caregivers to Promote Cognitive and Socioemotional Development and Well-being Among Children Aged 0 to 5 Years in Diverse Cultural Settings: Scientific Framework JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e38921 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e38921 doi:10.2196/38921 PMID:36780220

©Jacob J Crouse, Haley M LaMonica, Yun Ju Christine Song, Kelsie A Boulton, Cathrin Rohleder, Marilena M DeMayo, Chloe E Wilson, Victoria Loblay, Gabrielle Hindmarsh, Tina Stratigos, Michael Krausz, Nathanael Foo, Melissa Teo, Andrew Hunter, Adam J Guastella, Richard B Banati, Jakelin Troy, Ian B Hickie. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Associations Between Patient-Reported Outcome Measures of Physical and Psychological Functioning and Willingness to Share Social Media Data for Research Among Adolescents With a Chronic Rheumatic Disease: Cross-Sectional Survey

Elissa R Weitzman<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MSc, ScD; Machiko Minegishi<sup>1,3</sup>, MSW, MPH, MD; Rachele Cox<sup>1,3</sup>, MPH; Lauren E Wisk<sup>4</sup>, PhD

1 2 3

4

**Corresponding Author:** Elissa R Weitzman, MSc, ScD

# Abstract

**Background:** Social media data may augment understanding of the disease and treatment experiences and quality of life of youth with chronic medical conditions. Little is known about the willingness to share social media data for health research among youth with chronic medical conditions and the differences in health status between sharing and nonsharing youth with chronic medical conditions.

**Objective:** We aimed to evaluate the associations between patient-reported measures of disease symptoms and functioning and the willingness to share social media data.

**Methods:** Between February 2018 and August 2019, during routine clinic visits, survey data about social media use and the willingness to share social media data (dependent variable) were collected from adolescents in a national rheumatic disease registry. Survey data were analyzed with patient-reported measures of disease symptoms and functioning and a clinical measure of disease activity, which were collected through a parent study. We used descriptive statistics and multivariate logistic regression to compare patient-reported outcomes between youth with chronic medical conditions who opted to share social media data and those who did not opt to share such data.

**Results:** Among 112 youths, (age: mean 16.1, SD 1.6 y; female: n=72, 64.3%), 83 (74.1%) agreed to share social media data. Female participants were more likely to share (P=.04). In all, 49 (43.8%) and 28 (25%) participants viewed and posted about rheumatic disease, respectively. Compared to nonsharers, sharers reported lower mobility (T-score: mean 49.0, SD 9.4 vs mean 53.9, SD 8.9; P=.02) and more pain interference (T-score: mean 45.7, SD 8.8 vs mean 40.4, SD 8.0; P=.005), fatigue (T-score: mean 49.1, SD 11.0 vs mean 39.7, SD 9.7; P<.001), depression (T-score: mean 48.1, SD 8.9 vs mean 42.2, SD 8.4; P=.003), and anxiety (T-score: mean 45.2, SD 9.3 vs mean 38.5, SD 7.0; P<.001). In regression analyses adjusted for age, sex, study site, and Physician Global Assessment score, each 1-unit increase in symptoms was associated with greater odds of willingness to share social media data, for measures of pain interference (Adjusted Odds Ratio [AOR] 1.07, 95% CI 1.001-1.14), fatigue (AOR 1.08, 95% CI 1.03-1.13), depression (AOR 1.07, 95% CI 1.01-1.13), and anxiety (AOR 1.10, 95% CI 1.03-1.18).

**Conclusions:** High percentages of youth with rheumatic diseases used and were willing to share their social media data for research. Sharers reported worse symptoms and functioning compared to those of nonsharers. Social media may offer a potent information source and engagement pathway for youth with rheumatic diseases, but differences between sharing and nonsharing youth merit consideration when designing studies and evaluating social media–derived findings.

# (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46555) doi:10.2196/46555

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

patient-reported outcomes; PROM; outcome measure; outcome measures; patient reported; patient data; social media; sharing; personally generated data; chronic illness; quality of life; rheumatic disease; rheumatic; rheumatoid; adolescent; adolescents; youth; research involvement; privacy; confidentiality; confidential; personal

# Introduction

Nearly 1 in 4 US youths are growing up with a chronic illness [1]. Many experience significant levels of disease and treatment burden (eg, pain and medication side effects) that undermine well-being, leading to frequent and costly health care utilization and family financial problems [2]. By adulthood, youth with a chronic illness face increased risks of poor educational, relationship, economic, and health outcomes [3,4]. Life-course risks reflect the complex interplay of disease and treatment experiences and the cumulative effects of social isolation, victimization, school disruption, psychological injury, and home life strain that can accompany chronic illness [5]. Capturing patients' perspectives about these issues is vital to creating supportive interventions. This is especially true for adolescents, as the biopsychosocial processes of puberty, maturation, and development can impact the course and experience of chronic illness just as chronic illness experiences can impact these processes [6,7]. Patient-centered research with adolescents may advance understanding of these issues [8-10].

Psychosocial factors contribute to disease symptoms, such as pain and fatigue, among adolescents with a chronic illness [11]. However, we do not know, with regard to the day-to-day lives of adolescents, what issues are the most important to address to disrupt feedback between disease activity and psychosocial health [12-14]. For example, the experience of pain may be exacerbated by feelings of stress and isolation related to a chronic illness, which can be missed by clinicians when making a treatment decision. Discordance between a young patient's disease experience, including their sense of well-being, and clinical manifestations of disease can stymie and misdirect treatment. This is important for chronic relapsing conditions that may have an unpredictable disease course with periods of flare and dormancy, such as pediatric-onset rheumatic diseases [15-18], which affect 1 in 250 US children younger than 18 years and account for an estimated US \$8.3 billion in annual hospital charges [19,20]. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) are two common forms of pediatric-onset rheumatic disease. JIA is the most common cause of acquired disability in the United States and the fifth most common chronic childhood disease [21]. Youth with JIA report poorer health-related quality of life than that of their peers, even in the setting of low disease activity and after treatment with biologic agents [22-24]. The impacts of JIA persist into adulthood, by which time nearly half of affected youth still experience recurrent or ongoing disease activity, active arthritis, progressive joint destruction, and decreased health-related quality of life [22,25-28]. SLE is a lifelong, chronic, multisystem autoimmune disease; around 15% of persons with SLE developed it in childhood [29], and these persons typically experience severe phenotypes, including organ disease. Youth with SLE may experience secondary morbidities and psychosocial difficulties (eg, mood disorders, body image problems, and academic and social challenges [30]) because, in addition to life-threatening disease manifestations, treatment includes exposure to high doses and prolonged courses of glucocorticoids, as well as cytotoxic agents [31-33].

Patient-reported outcome (PRO) measures that capture dimensions of well-being can inform understanding of treatment experience and efficacy [33], and studies on the clinical validity of PROs are underway among youth with rheumatic diseases and other conditions [10,33]. Data gleaned from youths' social media use may serve as an additional source of information about young patients' experiences of disease and treatment.

Engaging youth with JIA and SLE in reporting about their health via social media and in sharing their social media data with investigators may provide a channel for learning about youth psychosocial status and physical functioning to complement clinical observations and PROs. Social media data may be obtained passively or actively. In the passive case, social media data may be obtained without youths' permission or even without their awareness (as when data are programmatically collected and even sold by social media platforms). Additionally, social media data may be obtained sharing, opt-in settings, and explicit notifications [34-38].

Regulatory efforts are being enacted to protect the privacy and autonomy of youth in web-based spaces [39,40]. As such, it is vital to understand whether young cohorts are willing to actively share their social media data for health research and whether health status differs between sharing and nonsharing groups [41]. Such insight would (1) clarify the feasibility of engaging youth with rheumatic diseases in sharing social media data for research and (2) help to quantify biases that could arise when relying on active models of collecting data from web-based cohorts. We sought to describe social media use among a clinically characterized cohort of youth with rheumatic diseases and to understand their passive (reading and viewing activities) and active (posting text or images) social media use in relation to these diseases. We further sought to quantify willingness to share social media data for health research and associations between willingness to share and patient-reported experiences of disease symptoms and functioning. We hypothesized that there would be equivalent percentages of youth who would and youth who would not agree to share their social media data for health research under a model of direct observation (ie, friending or otherwise providing access to social media data). Additionally, we hypothesized that the sharing cohort would report fewer symptoms and better functioning compared to those of the nonsharing cohort, potentially reflecting a greater sense of comfort and ease with their health and activities and fewer inhibitions about revealing any vulnerabilities. To date, few studies have been able to link personally generated data from social media with PROs and clinical data [42] to elucidate biases relevant to establishing the validity of social media data for health research—a recognized need [43,44].

# Methods

#### Overview

Among adolescents with JIA or SLE who were members of the Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance (CARRA) Registry [45,46] and enrolled in a prospective multisite study to clinically validate PRO measures [33], we investigated associations between social media use and

XSL•FO

willingness to share social media data for research. Survey reports were collected via a tablet computer by using the REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) secure web application [47,48] at regularly scheduled clinics visits, during which PRO and clinical data were also collected.

### **Ethical Considerations**

A small stipend was provided to participants in the form of a US \$20 gift card. Trained research assistants obtained in-person informed assent and assigned participants a unique study ID that was linked to the ID used for the clinical validation study and registry to ensure confidentiality. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Boston Children's Hospital institutional review board (protocol number: IRB-P00025665).

### **Setting and Sample**

Adolescents were eligible if they were members of the CARRA Registry, were diagnosed with JIA or SLE, enrolled in the parent prospective clinical validation study [33], and were at 1 of 3 validation study sites that participated in this substudy. Additional eligibility criteria were an age of 13 to 18 years, the ability to complete the survey in English on a tablet computer, and the reported use of at least 1 of 4 popular social media platforms (Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or Snapchat) in the past 30 days. Patients were ineligible if they were medically or emotionally unstable or were otherwise unable to assent, as determined by a clinician or site research team member; were unable to speak or read English at an eighth-grade reading level; or did not attend the data collection visit (absent at recruitment).

Of the 145 patients approached, 123 consented (84.8%), of whom 6 were excluded because they were absent during data collection or reported Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) measures at a time that did not overlap social media data collection. Of the remaining 117 patients, 5 did not use Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or Snapchat and were excluded, leaving an analytic sample of 112 (91.1%; Figure 1).



Figure 1. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram of study sample.



#### Sources of Study Data and Measures

Clinical and demographic data were drawn from the CARRA Registry. PRO and social media survey data were collected electronically by using wireless touch screen tablets during the clinic visit. Social demographic measures included race, Hispanic ethnicity, sex at birth, date of birth, insurance status, and the highest education attained by a parent. Clinical characteristics included the study recruitment and treatment site, the Physician Global Assessment (PGA) score [49], a 10-point visual analog scale score (a value of  $\geq 1$  represented active disease), BMI, and disease duration in months.

PROMIS Pediatric measures [50,51] included short-form measures of fatigue, mobility, pain interference, depressive

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46555
```

RenderX

symptoms, anxiety, and meaning and purpose, which were administered by using computer-assisted technology [10,33]. Higher PROMIS symptom T-scores reflect worse symptom levels, and higher functioning scores reflect better functioning. PROMIS measures are designed such that the mean score of the relevant reference population (ie, healthy youth) is 50, with an SD of 10 [52]. A 3-point difference in the PROMIS Pediatric T-score metric is considered a minimally important difference [53].

Willingness to share social media data via direct observation by the research team was assessed for Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, and Snapchat. Willingness measures are summarized in Table 1, along with related measures of motivation to share

social media data, reasons for not sharing, and passive and active use patterns.

Table . Measures of willingness to share social media data.

Weitzman et al

Question		Response options	Answers	
Willingness to share social media				
	"Are you willing to share your so- cial media posts from the following site(s) for the two-week time inter- val around this study visit and your next study visit? This involves 'friending' the study account so the study team can view your posts. We will not message, 'like,' post on, or interact with your accounts'	<ul><li>Facebook</li><li>Twitter</li><li>Instagram</li><li>Snapchat</li></ul>	<ol> <li>Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>	
	"(If YES to sharing any SM with the study) How much do you agree with the following statements regard- ing your motivations for sharing your social media data with this study?"	<ul> <li>I will be able to help other patients with rheumatic conditions</li> <li>I am interested in research</li> <li>I am interested in social media and technology</li> <li>Participating in this research makes me feel valued</li> <li>The \$20<sup>a</sup> gift card incentivized me to participate in this research</li> <li>I have some other motivation for sharing my social media data with this study</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Strongly agree</li> <li>Agree</li> <li>Disagree</li> <li>Strongly disagree</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>	
Frequency of social media use				
	"About how often do you visit OR use the following social media sites?"	<ul> <li>Facebook</li> <li>Twitter</li> <li>Instagram</li> <li>Snapchat</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Several times a day</li> <li>About once a day</li> <li>A few times a week</li> <li>Every few weeks</li> <li>Less often</li> <li>I do not use this site</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>	
	"How often do you VIEW/READ about other people who have a rheumatic condition on any of the following sites?"	<ul><li>Facebook</li><li>Twitter</li><li>Instagram</li><li>Snapchat</li></ul>	<ol> <li>Often</li> <li>Sometimes</li> <li>Rarely</li> <li>Never</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>	
	"Have you ever POSTED about your rheumatic condition on social media?"	• N/A <sup>b</sup>	<ol> <li>Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>	

Benefits of viewing/reading about others with RD<sup>c</sup>



Question	Response options	Answers	
"VIEWING/READING about other people who have a rheumatic condi- tion on social media"	<ul> <li>Helps me to feel less alone with my rheumatic condition</li> <li>Helps me to talk to my friends about my rheumatic condition</li> <li>Helps me to feel more prepared when talking to my doctor/care team about my rheumatic condition</li> <li>Provides me with information about my condition that I can understand</li> <li>Helps me to talk to my parents or guardians about my rheumatic ondition</li> <li>Provides me with information about treatments for my rheumatic condition</li> <li>Provides me with health information about treatments for my rheumatic condition</li> <li>Provides me with health information that my doctors/care team cannot provide</li> <li>Provides me with health information that I cannot find any-where else</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Strongly agree</li> <li>Agree</li> <li>Disagree</li> <li>Strongly disagree</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>	
Motivations for posting			

Question		Response options	Answers
	"How much do the following rea- sons motivate you to POST/SHARE about your condition on social me- dia?"	<ul> <li>I want to feel understood</li> <li>I want to help or provide support to other people living with a rheumatic condition</li> <li>I want to connect with others living with a rheumatic condition</li> <li>I want to connect with others living with a rheumatic condition or any chronic health condition</li> <li>I want to share my experiences with a community that believes me</li> <li>I want to update my friends/family members about my rheumatic condition</li> <li>I want to get help or support from others who are living with a rheumatic condition</li> <li>I want to share my thoughts/feelings when my rheumatic condition</li> <li>I want to share my thoughts/feelings when I am experiencing disease symptoms</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>A great deal</li> <li>Somewhat</li> <li>Very little</li> <li>Not at all</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>
	"How important to you are the fol- lowing reasons when you are mak- ing decisions NOT to POST/SHARE about your rheumatic condition?"	<ul> <li>My rheumatic condition does not define me</li> <li>I do not want others to feel bad for me because of my rheumatic condition</li> <li>I do not want to disclose my diagnosis public on the internet</li> <li>My rheumatic condition is not serious enough for me to post about it on social media</li> <li>I worry about others knowing too much about my health</li> <li>I do not want my friends to find out how I am feeling or doing</li> <li>People might make fun of me, or I might get teased/bullied</li> <li>I do not want my parents or guardians to find out how I am feeling or doing</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>A great deal</li> <li>Somewhat</li> <li>Very little</li> <li>Not at all</li> <li>Prefer not to answer</li> </ol>

<sup>a</sup>US \$20. <sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>RD: rheumatic disease.

# **Data Analyses**

Summary statistics were computed to characterize the study sample overall and by willingness to share social media data for research. The differences in demographic characteristics based on willingness to share social media data were analyzed by using appropriate statistical tests, including the Kruskal-Wallis test, 2-tailed *t* test, 2-sided Fisher exact test, and chi-square test. For 2 participants with JIA and 1 patient with SLE, we imputed missing values on the PGA by using the median score for their disease group and similarly imputed missing BMI values for 2 participants with JIA. In separate multivariable logistic regressions, we assessed the associations between willingness to share social media data for research (the dependent variable) and each PROMIS measure. All models controlled for age, biological sex, study site, and PGA score. The analyses were conducted by using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute) [54]. Statistical significance was considered at P<.05.

# Results

#### **Sample Characteristics**

Of the 112 participants, 98 (87.5%) were persons with JIA and 14 (12.5%) were persons with SLE. Overall, participants were

XSL•FO RenderX

aged 13 to 18 (mean 16.1, SD 1.6) years, 72 (64.3%) were female, 86 (76.8%) were White, 105 (93.8%) were non-Hispanic, and 101 (90.2%) had private insurance. For all, the average BMI was  $23.2 (SD 4.3) \text{ kg/m}^2$ , and the average PGA score was 0.8 (SD 1.5), indicating inactive disease.

Willingness to share social media data was reported by a majority (83/112, 74.1%) of participants. In all, 43.8% (49/112) reported viewing or reading about others with rheumatic diseases on social media, and 25% (28/112) reported posting about rheumatic disease (Table 1).

# Association Between Willingness to Share Social Media Data and Health Status

Willingness to share social media data was associated with female sex (P=.04) and greater disease activity (P=.04), which

was measured as a mean PGA score (Table 2). Compared to nonsharers, sharers reported lower mobility (T-score: mean 49.0, SD 9.4 vs mean 53.9, SD 8.9; P=.02), greater pain interference (T-score: mean 45.7, SD 8.8 vs mean 40.4, SD 8.0; P=.005), more fatigue (T-score: mean 49.1, SD 11.0 vs mean 39.7, SD 9.7; P<.001), more depression (T-score: mean 48.1, SD 8.9 vs mean 42.2, SD 8.4; P=.003), and greater anxiety (T-score: mean 45.2, SD 9.3 vs mean 38.5, SD 7.0; P<.001).

In logistic regression analyses that controlled for age, sex, study site, and PGA score, each 1-unit increase in symptoms was associated with greater odds of willingness to share social media data, for measures of pain interference (Adjusted Odds Ratio [AOR] 1.07, 95% CI 1.001-1.14), fatigue (AOR 1.08, 95% CI 1.03-1.13), depression (AOR 1.07, 95% CI 1.01-1.13), and anxiety (AOR 1.10, 95% CI 1.03-1.18; Table 3).

### Weitzman et al

Table . Characteristics of the sample by willingness to share social media.

Characteristics		All participants (N=112)	Social media sharin	g	<i>P</i> value
			Yes (n=83, 74.1%)	No (n=29, 25.9%)	
Age (years), mean (	SD)	16.1 (1.6)	16.2 (1.6)	15.9 (1.5)	.34
Biological sex, n (% <sup>a</sup> )					.04
	Male	40 (35.7)	25 (30.1)	15 (51.7)	
	Female	72 (64.3)	58 (69.9)	14 (48.3)	
Race, n (% <sup>a</sup> )					.51
	White	86 (76.7)	65 (78.3)	21 (72.4)	
	Asian	5 (4.5)	2 (2.4)	3 (10.3)	
	African American	2 (1.8)	2 (2.4)	0 (0)	
	Mixed race	4 (3.6)	3 (4.6)	1 (3.4)	
	Other race <sup>b</sup>	6 (5.4)	5 (6)	1 (3.4)	
	Unknown	9 (8)	6 (7.2)	3 (10.3)	
Ethnicity, n (% <sup>a</sup> )					.67
	Hispanic	7 (6.3)	6 (7.2)	1 (3.4)	
	Non-Hispanic	105 (93.8)	77 (92.8)	28 (96.6)	
Parental education	<b>, n</b> (% <sup>a</sup> )				.10
	Less than a college degree	2 (1.8)	0 (0)	2 (6.9)	
	College degree or higher	39 (34.8)	29 (34.9)	10 (34.5)	
	Prefer not to answer or missing	71 (63.4)	54 (65.1)	17 (58.6)	
Insurance, n (% <sup>a</sup> )					.15
	Private health insurance	101 (90.2)	77 (92.8)	24 (82.8)	
	Government insurance or other	11 (9.8)	6 (7.2)	5 (17.2)	
Rheumatic disease	diagnosis, n (% <sup>a</sup> )				.19
	Systemic lupus erythematosus	14 (12.5)	8 (9.6)	6 (20.6)	
	Juvenile idiopathic arthritis	98 (87.5)	75 (90.4)	23 (79.3)	
Health characteris	tics, mean (SD)				
	BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.2 (4.3)	23.3 (4.3)	22.7 (4.6)	.39
	Disease duration (months)	84.6 (53.8)	84.2 (52.9)	85.6 (57.1)	>.99
	Physician Global Assessment (score)	0.8 (1.5)	1.0 (1.6)	0.5 (1.1)	.04
PROMIS <sup>c</sup> Pediat	ric measure (T-score)				
	Mobility	50.3 (9.5)	49.0 (9.4)	53.9 (8.9)	.02
	Pain interference	44.3 (8.9)	45.7 (8.8)	40.4 (8.0)	.005
	Fatigue	46.7 (11.4)	49.1 (11.0)	39.7 (9.7)	<.001
	Depressive symptoms	46.6 (9.1)	48.1 (8.9)	42.2 (8.4)	.003
	Anxiety	43.5 (9.2)	45.2 (9.3)	38.5 (7.0)	<.001
	Meaning and purpose <sup>d</sup>	47.4 (8.3)	47.4 (8.6)	47.2 (7.4)	.91
Passive social media use, n (% <sup>a</sup> )		49 (43.8)	39 (47)	10 (34.5)	.24
Active social media use, n (% <sup>a</sup> )		28 (25)	23 (27.7)	5 (17.2)	.26

<sup>a</sup>Column percentages are shown (ie, the percentages were calculated by using the n values presented in the "All Participants" [N=112], "Yes" [n=83],

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46555

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

and "No" [n=29] headings as the denominators).

<sup>b</sup>Includes Middle Eastern or North African, Native American, American Indian, Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian, or other Pacific Islander.

<sup>c</sup>PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

<sup>d</sup>PROMIS measures for meaning and purpose were assessed among a total of 105 participants, including 80 (76.2%) in the "Yes" social media sharing group. Out of 112 total participants, 7 were not administered the PROMIS Meaning and Purpose survey during the parent study visit for reasons of timing.

**Table**. Associations between PROMIS<sup>a</sup> Pediatric measures of physical functioning, symptoms, and psychosocial well-being and social media sharing (N=112).<sup>b</sup>

PROMIS Pediatric measure	Adjusted odds ratio <sup>c</sup> (95% CI)
Mobility	0.95 (0.89-1.003)
Pain inference	1.07 (1.001-1.14)
Fatigue	1.08 (1.03-1.13)
Depressive symptoms	1.07 (1.01-1.13)
Anxiety	1.10 (1.03-1.18)
Meaning and purpose <sup>d</sup>	1.01 (0.95-1.07)

<sup>a</sup>PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

<sup>b</sup>Outcome: sharing social media contents (reference: not sharing social media); exposure: 1-unit increase in the PROMIS.

<sup>c</sup>Adjusted models controlled for the participants' age, sex, study sites, and Physician Global Assessment score. The reference group for the model is the participant group that was not willing to share the contents of any of their social media platforms with the researchers for this study. For each model, each individual PROMIS measure was entered independently, so these estimates do not reflect adjustment for other PROMIS measures.

<sup>d</sup>PROMIS measures for meaning and purpose were assessed among a total of 105 participants, including 80 (76.2%) in the "Yes" social media sharing group. Out of 112 total participants, 7 were not administered the PROMIS Meaning and Purpose survey during the parent study visit for reasons of timing.

# Social Media Use and Value for Youth With Rheumatic Disease

The use of Instagram, Snapchat, Facebook, and Twitter was reported by 94.6% (106/112), 83.9% (94/112), 42.9% (48/112), and 31.3% (35/112) of participants, respectively, and poly-platform use was reported by 84.8% (95/112) of participants. More than two-fifths of participants (49/112,

43.8%) reported passive social media use, that is, reading about others with rheumatic diseases, while one-quarter (28/112, 25%) reported active social media use, that is, posting about rheumatic disease. Passive and active use patterns did not differ by age or by diagnosis; however, larger percentages of female participants than male participants reported both passive and active rheumatic disease–related social media activity (Table 4).



Table . Sample characteristics by passive or active social media use.

Characteristics		All partici- pants (N=112)	Read about others with RD <sup>a</sup> on SM <sup>b</sup>			Post about RD on SM		
			Yes (n=49, 43.8%)	No (n=63, 56.3%)	P value	Yes (n=28, 25%)	No (n=84, 75%)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)		16.1 (1.6)	16.3 (1.6)	16.0 (1.6)	.32	16.3 (1.6)	16.1 (1.6)	.61
Biological sex,	n (%)							
	Male	40 (35.7 <sup>c</sup> )	9 (22.5 <sup>d</sup> )	31 (77.5 <sup>d</sup> )	<.001	2 (5 <sup>d</sup> )	38 (95 <sup>d</sup> )	<.001
	Female	72 (64.3 <sup>c</sup> )	40 (55.6 <sup>d</sup> )	32 (44.4 <sup>d</sup> )	N/A <sup>e</sup>	26 (36.1 <sup>d</sup> )	46 (63.9 <sup>d</sup> )	N/A
Rheumatic disease diagnosis, n (%)		n (%)						
	Systemic lu- pus erythe- matosus	14 (12.5 <sup>°</sup> )	9 (64.3 <sup>d</sup> )	5 (35.7 <sup>d</sup> )	.10	5 (35.7 <sup>d</sup> )	9 (64.3 <sup>d</sup> )	.33
	Juvenile idio- pathic arthritis	98 (87.5 <sup>°</sup> )	40 (40.8 <sup>d</sup> )	58 (59.2 <sup>d</sup> )	N/A	23 (23.5 <sup>d</sup> )	75 (76.5 <sup>d</sup> )	N/A
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), mean (SD)		23.2 (4.3)	23.3 (4.3)	23.0 (4.4)	.78	24.4 (4.8)	22.7 (4.1)	.12
Disease duration (months), mean (SD)		84.6 (53.8)	76.9 (49.2)	90.5 (56.7)	.21	83.2 (48.7)	85.0 (55.6)	.96
Physical Global Assessment (score), mean (SD)		0.8 (1.5)	0.8 (1.2)	0.8 (1.7)	.23	0.6 (0.7)	0.9 (1.6)	.99

<sup>a</sup>RD: rheumatic disease.

<sup>b</sup>SM: social media.

<sup>c</sup>This percentage was calculated by using the total number of participants (N=112) as the denominator.

<sup>d</sup>A row percentage is presented (ie, the n value in the corresponding "All Participants" row total was used as the denominator).

<sup>e</sup>N/A: not applicable.

Among 49 youths who reported passive disease-related use of social media, there were high levels of agreement that such use is helpful for observational learning from others and for alleviating feelings of isolation (Figure 2). Similarly, many reported that passive use increases their access to understandable information and helps them feel prepared in speaking with family and their care team about rheumatic disease. Of the 28 social media users who reported that they use social media actively to post about rheumatic disease, many reported doing so to feel understood, support and connect with others with rheumatic disease, and share experiences with family and the rheumatic disease community (Figure 3). Among all social

media users, a plurality endorsed the importance of not defining themselves by their condition and not wanting others to feel badly for them because of their condition, reporting these as reasons for *not* posting about their condition. Others refrained from posting about their condition to avoid public disclosure, retain privacy, and protect themselves from others' attention or because they considered their condition insufficiently serious to merit attention (Figure 4). Finally, participants who shared their social media data reported they were motivated to do so because they were interested in research or technology, out of altruism toward other patients with the same conditions, to feel valued, and to receive a stipend (Figure 5).



Figure 2. Responses for the following measure: "VIEWING/READING about other people who have a rheumatic condition on social media." RD: rheumatic disease.





Figure 3. Responses for the following measure: "How much do the following reasons motivate you to POST/SHARE about your condition on social media?" RD: rheumatic disease.





Figure 4. Responses to the following measure: "How important to you are the following reasons when you are making decisions NOT to POST/SHARE about your rheumatic condition?" RD: rheumatic disease.





Figure 5. Responses to the following measure: "How much do you agree with the following statements regarding your motivations for sharing your social media data with this study?" RD: rheumatic disease.



# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

In this multisite cohort study centered on adolescents with rheumatic diseases, we found high levels of willingness to share social media data for health research. Contrary to our original hypothesis that willingness to share would be associated with lower levels of symptoms and better psychosocial status, sharing was associated with higher levels of disease-related symptoms, specifically pain interference and fatigue, and higher levels of depression and anxiety. Both passive and active disease-related use of social media were reported, and larger percentages of female participants than male participants engaged in these

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46555

RenderX

activities. Passive and active social media use patterns were motivated by participants' goals regarding observational learning about their condition and connection to others with similar conditions, as well as by the exchange of social support. Motivations to refrain from posting about rheumatic disease reflected participants' goals of wanting to avoid having their condition define them, remaining private, and protecting against disclosure and ridicule. Among participants who agreed to share their social media data for research (n=83), almost all did so out of interest in research (83/83, 100%), to help others with a rheumatic condition (80/83, 96%), and because they felt it was of value personally (70/83, 84%) and financially (ie, for compensation; 59/83, 71%).

A growing body of research indicates the potential for improving adolescent and young adult health behaviors and outcomes (eg, health food consumption, reduced BMI, and reduced tobacco use) through engagement with social media and related features for peer groups and messaging [55-57]. Nevertheless, understanding of the potential for using social media as a source of health information and as a platform for research engagement is constrained by the lack of insight into the differences in health status between persons who are and persons who are not willing to share their data. For participatory surveillance models, some evidence shows that greater sharing and openness exist among early adopters of research apps and among persons whose disease is better controlled [58]. Other studies have found less reticence to share digital health data for care improvement among technology users who report lower incomes when compared to those who report higher incomes [59].

This study adds to what is known about willingness to share social media, with the added advantage of assessing reports from a clinically characterized cohort whose actual sharing was directly observed, differing from studies on hypothetical willingness, which are more common [60-62]. Few studies of social media use and social media data sharing provide access to linked clinical data [42] or structured PROs, and to our knowledge, none have been undertaken among youth with rheumatic diseases. Research with teenagers is vital, since this group is assuming control over their own health care, health information, and social media, and as a group, teenagers are both heavily engaged with social media [63] and uniquely vulnerable to social influences communicated through web-based channels [58,59,64,65].

Our findings of differences between sharing and nonsharing cohorts have implications for the use of personally generated data from web-based cohorts. In this study, sharing was associated with worse health. It is not clear what explains differences in health status between sharing and nonsharing youth. It may be that youth with rheumatic diseases who are unwilling to share their social media data are more socially engaged in ways that they consider unsuitable or too sensitive to allow sharing. Alternatively, they may be less desirous of research attention if they feel well and are able to satisfy their social needs through offline means. Future work may help elucidate reasons for observed differences. Similarly, future work with youth affected by other conditions is merited to understand whether differences between sharing and nonsharing groups hold.

The findings from this study have larger implications for social media–related research. First, investigators who use social media platforms to engage adolescents in health research should be explicit about the potential for biases related to inferences when denominators are poorly specified or are unknown [41,66]. The results from this study suggest that observations about the health of youth with rheumatic diseases drawn from social media–engaged cohorts may be skewed toward describing youth with greater symptoms and worse psychosocial health. This is a limitation when the goal of a study is to understand the entirety

of a patient population but may be an advantage when the aim of a study is to engage youth who are struggling. The internet and social media serve important supportive functions for youth with a chronic illness, of whom many have been disproportionately adversely affected by social isolation and the hardships of the recent COVID-19 pandemic [67]. Second, findings regarding the high value placed by youth with rheumatic diseases on obtaining social and informational support related to their condition from others on the web is revealing of the seriousness of the gaps in support available from organized health care systems, as others have reported [68]. As youth turn to social media for support to fill these gaps, it remains important to consider the accuracy and safety of information offered by web-based peers, accessibility to youth across a range of health literacy and technology access levels, and the potential for harm from exposure to misinformation. Steps for detecting and addressing this during clinical visits might include asking young patients about their need for information and support and their ability to access web-based resources, as well as providing links and pointers to reliable, vetted sources of web-based guidance. These "low-tech" strategies can be implemented among even more computationally sophisticated systems for evaluating and improving the quality and accuracy of web-based information.

# Limitations

This report draws from a convenience sample of youth, and generalizability is limited by several factors, including the focus on youth with rheumatic diseases who have access to and use the internet and social media. The study cohort consisted of youth who were previously enrolled in research, and our findings may not generalize to youth who refrain from or have limited access to research opportunities. Sociodemographic diversity is also limited. However, the clinical confirmation of disease status and availability of validated health measures (eg, PROMIS measures) are strengths. Nevertheless, the results may not generalize to youth at other clinical sites, a broader sample of youth with rheumatic diseases, youth with other chronic conditions, or youth who do not use social media. This study did not assess participants' understanding of health information or their ability to discern information quality or misinformation. The cross-sectional nature of this study precludes causal interpretation.

### Conclusions

We found high willingness to share social media data for health research among a clinically characterized cohort of adolescents with rheumatic diseases and substantial use of social media for disease-related observational learning and social connection. Differences in health status between sharing and nonsharing youth (as well as between social media users and nonusers) underscore the importance of considering the potential for biases in research results that rely on social media data and the importance of identifying opportunities to engage and improve the health of youth who may be on the web and in need of support.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Kara Magane and Alexandra Marin for help with study planning and Sydney Pierce and Laura Blakemore for help with manuscript preparation. We thank Dr Fatma Dedeoglu, Dr Bryce B Reeve, Dr Sarah Ringold, Dr Laura E Schanberg, Dr Richard Vehe, and Dr Emily von Scheven for providing access to study registry and patient-reported outcome data. The authors wish to acknowledge the Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance (CARRA) and the ongoing Arthritis Foundation financial support of CARRA. This work was funded by the National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases/National Institutes of Health (NIAMS/NIH; R21AR070944-01A1).

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- NSCH 2018 19: number of current or lifelong health conditions, nationwide, age in 3 groups. National Survey of Children's Health Data Resource Center for Child & Adolescent Health. URL: <u>nschdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=7625&g=787</u> [accessed 2023-10-23]
- 2. /pub/Health\_Statistics/NCHS/slaits\_cshcn\_survey/2009\_2010/datasets/. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>ftp.cdc.gov/pub/Health\_Statistics/NCHS/slaits\_cshcn\_survey/2009\_2010/datasets/</u> [accessed 2023-11-14]
- 3. Wisk LE, Weitzman ER. Expectancy and achievement gaps in educational attainment and subsequent adverse health effects among adolescents with and without chronic medical conditions. J Adolesc Health 2017 Oct;61(4):461-470. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.04.006] [Medline: 28734632]
- 4. Wisk LE, Weitzman ER. Social relationships and associated health effects among adolescents with and without chronic medical conditions. J Adolesc Health 2017 Feb;60(2 suppl 1):S19-S20. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.10.058</u>]
- Compas BE, Jaser SS, Dunn MJ, Rodriguez EM. Coping with chronic illness in childhood and adolescence. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2012;8:455-480. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143108] [Medline: 22224836]
- Michaud PA, Suris JC, Viner R. The adolescent with a chronic condition: epidemiology, developmental issues and health care provision. World Health Organization. 2007 Mar 28. URL: <u>iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/43775/</u> 9789241595704 eng.pdf?sequence=1 [accessed 2023-10-23]
- 7. April KT, Cavallo S, Feldman DE. Children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: are health outcomes better for those diagnosed younger? Child Care Health Dev 2013 May;39(3):442-448. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2012.01386.x] [Medline: 22676178]
- 8. Lavallee DC, Chenok KE, Love RM, et al. Incorporating patient-reported outcomes into health care to engage patients and enhance care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2016 Apr;35(4):575-582. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1362] [Medline: 27044954]
- 9. Nap-van der Vlist MM, Hoefnagels JW, Dalmeijer GW, et al. The PROactive cohort study: rationale, design, and study procedures. Eur J Epidemiol 2022 Sep;37(9):993-1002. [doi: 10.1007/s10654-022-00889-y] [Medline: 35980506]
- 10. Forrest CB, Schuchard J, Bruno C, et al. Self-reported health outcomes of children and youth with 10 chronic diseases. J Pediatr 2022 Jul;246:207-212.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2022.02.052] [Medline: 35247394]
- Fair DC, Rodriguez M, Knight AM, Rubinstein TB. Depression and anxiety in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: current insights and impact on quality of life, a systematic review. Open Access Rheumatol 2019 Nov 1;11:237-252. [doi: 10.2147/OARRR.S174408] [Medline: 31807093]
- 12. Weiss JE, Luca NJC, Boneparth A, Stinson J. Assessment and management of pain in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Paediatr Drugs 2014 Dec;16(6):473-481. [doi: 10.1007/s40272-014-0094-0] [Medline: 25331986]
- Luca NJC, Feldman BM. Health outcomes of pediatric rheumatic diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2014 Apr;28(2):331-350. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.berh.2014.04.001</u>] [Medline: <u>24974066</u>]
- 14. La Hausse de Lalouvière L, Ioannou Y, Fitzgerald M. Neural mechanisms underlying the pain of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2014 Apr;10(4):205-211. [doi: <u>10.1038/nrrheum.2014.4</u>] [Medline: <u>24492386</u>]
- 15. Wallace CA, Huang B, Bandeira M, Ravelli A, Giannini EH. Patterns of clinical remission in select categories of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2005 Nov;52(11):3554-3562. [doi: <u>10.1002/art.21389</u>] [Medline: <u>16255044</u>]
- 16. Ringold S, Seidel KD, Koepsell TD, Wallace CA. Inactive disease in polyarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis: current patterns and associations. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2009 Aug;48(8):972-977. [doi: <u>10.1093/rheumatology/kep144</u>] [Medline: <u>19535609</u>]
- Magni-Manzoni S, Pistorio A, Labò E, et al. A longitudinal analysis of physical functional disability over the course of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2008 Aug;67(8):1159-1164. [doi: <u>10.1136/ard.2007.078121</u>] [Medline: <u>17965116</u>]
- Kamphuis S, Silverman ED. Prevalence and burden of pediatric-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2010 Sep;6(9):538-546. [doi: <u>10.1038/nrrheum.2010.121</u>] [Medline: <u>20683438</u>]
- 19. Hersh AO, Watkins-Castillo SI. Juvenile arthritis. The Burden of Musculoskeletal Diseases in the United States. URL: www.boneandjointburden.org/fourth-edition/iiib60/juvenile-arthritis [accessed 2023-02-15]
- 20. Juvenile arthritis treatment & diagnosis. National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases. URL: www.niams.nih.gov/health-topics/juvenile-arthritis [accessed 2023-02-15]

RenderX
- Sacks JJ, Helmick CG, Luo YH, Ilowite NT, Bowyer S. Prevalence of and annual ambulatory health care visits for pediatric arthritis and other rheumatologic conditions in the United States in 2001-2004. Arthritis Rheum 2007 Dec 15;57(8):1439-1445. [doi: 10.1002/art.23087] [Medline: 18050185]
- 22. Seid M, Opipari L, Huang B, Brunner HI, Lovell DJ. Disease control and health-related quality of life in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2009 Mar 15;61(3):393-399. [doi: 10.1002/art.24477] [Medline: 19248113]
- Haverman L, Grootenhuis MA, van den Berg JM, et al. Predictors of health-related quality of life in children and adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: results from a web-based survey. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2012 May;64(5):694-703. [doi: 10.1002/acr.21609] [Medline: 22238240]
- 24. Gutiérrez-Suárez R, Pistorio A, Cruz AC, et al. Health-related quality of life of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis coming from 3 different geographic areas: the PRINTO multinational quality of life cohort study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007 Feb;46(2):314-320. [doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kel218] [Medline: 16877459]
- 25. Minden K, Niewerth M, Listing J, et al. Long-term outcome in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2002 Sep;46(9):2392-2401. [doi: 10.1002/art.10444] [Medline: 12355487]
- 26. Oen K, Malleson PN, Cabral DA, Rosenberg AM, Petty RE, Cheang M. Disease course and outcome of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis in a multicenter cohort. J Rheumatol 2002 Sep;29(9):1989-1999. [Medline: <u>12233897</u>]
- 27. Packham JC, Hall MA, Pimm TJ. Long-term follow-up of 246 adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: predictive factors for mood and pain. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2002 Dec;41(12):1444-1449. [doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/41.12.1444] [Medline: 12468828]
- 28. Zak M, Pedersen FK. Juvenile chronic arthritis into adulthood: a long-term follow-up study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2000 Feb;39(2):198-204. [doi: <u>10.1093/rheumatology/39.2.198</u>] [Medline: <u>10725073</u>]
- Tucker LB, Menon S, Schaller JG, Isenberg DA. Adult- and childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus: a comparison of onset, clinical features, serology, and outcome. Br J Rheumatol 1995 Sep;34(9):866-872. [doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/34.9.866] [Medline: 7582729]
- 30. Meacock R, Dale N, Harrison MJ. The humanistic and economic burden of systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review. Pharmacoeconomics 2013 Jan;31(1):49-61. [doi: 10.1007/s40273-012-0007-4] [Medline: 23329592]
- Vazzana KM, Daga A, Goilav B, et al. Principles of pediatric lupus nephritis in a prospective contemporary multi-center cohort. Lupus 2021 Sep;30(10):1660-1670. [doi: <u>10.1177/09612033211028658</u>] [Medline: <u>34219529</u>]
- 32. Chaigne B, Chizzolini C, Perneger T, et al. Impact of disease activity on health-related quality of life in systemic lupus erythematosus a cross-sectional analysis of the Swiss Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Cohort Study (SSCS). BMC Immunol 2017 Mar 28;18(1):17. [doi: 10.1186/s12865-017-0200-5] [Medline: 28351341]
- Weitzman ER, Gaultney A, von Scheven E, et al. Construct validity of patient-reported outcomes measurement information system paediatric measures in juvenile idiopathic arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus: cross-sectional evaluation. BMJ Open 2023 Jan 27;13(1):e063675. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjopen-2022-063675</u>] [Medline: <u>36707118</u>]
- 34. Ancker JS, Witteman HO, Hafeez B, Provencher T, Van de Graaf M, Wei E. "You get reminded you're a sick person": personal data tracking and patients with multiple chronic conditions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Aug 19;17(8):e202. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4209] [Medline: 26290186]
- 35. Wong CA, Merchant RM, Moreno MA. Using social media to engage adolescents and young adults with their health. Healthc (Amst) 2014 Dec;2(4):220-224. [doi: 10.1016/j.hjdsi.2014.10.005] [Medline: 25984444]
- 36. Hausmann JS, Weitzman ER. The promises and perils of social media for pediatric rheumatology. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2022 Feb;48(1):233-243. [doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2021.09.005] [Medline: 34798949]
- Wong CA, Madanay F, Ozer EM, et al. Digital health technology to enhance adolescent and young adult clinical preventive services: affordances and challenges. J Adolesc Health 2020 Aug;67(2S):S24-S33. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.10.018</u>] [Medline: <u>32718511</u>]
- 38. Eggleston EM, Weitzman ER. Innovative uses of electronic health records and social media for public health surveillance. Curr Diab Rep 2014 Mar;14(3):468. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11892-013-0468-7</u>] [Medline: <u>24488369</u>]
- 39. Online privacy and safety. European Commission: shaping Europe's digital future. URL: <u>digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/</u> <u>policies/online-privacy</u> [accessed 2023-06-14]
- 40. Children's Online Privacy Protection Rule ("COPPA"). Federal Trade Commission. URL: <u>www.ftc.gov/legal-library/</u> <u>browse/rules/childrens-online-privacy-protection-rule-coppa</u> [accessed 2023-07-19]
- 41. Chunara R, Wisk LE, Weitzman ER. Denominator issues for personally generated data in population health monitoring. Am J Prev Med 2017 Apr;52(4):549-553. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.10.038] [Medline: 28012811]
- Padrez KA, Ungar L, Schwartz HA, et al. Linking social media and medical record data: a study of adults presenting to an academic, urban emergency department. BMJ Qual Saf 2016 Jun;25(6):414-423. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004489</u>] [Medline: <u>26464519</u>]
- 43. Peat G, Rodriguez A, Smith J. Social media use in adolescents and young adults with serious illnesses: an integrative review. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2019 Sep;9(3):235-244. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjspcare-2018-001646</u>] [Medline: <u>30514717</u>]
- 44. Park E, Kwon M. Health-related internet use by children and adolescents: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 3;20(4):e120. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7731] [Medline: 29615385]
- 45. Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance. CARRA. URL: carragroup.org/ [accessed 2023-10-23]

- 46. Fuhlbrigge RC, Schanberg LE, Kimura Y. CARRA: the Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2021 Nov;47(4):531-543. [doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2021.07.010] [Medline: 34635290]
- 47. Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, et al. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208</u>] [Medline: <u>31078660</u>]
- 48. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap) a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 49. Nikiphorou E, Radner H, Chatzidionysiou K, et al. Patient global assessment in measuring disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis: a review of the literature. Arthritis Res Ther 2016 Oct 28;18(1):251. [doi: 10.1186/s13075-016-1151-6] [Medline: 27793211]
- 50. Reeve BB, Hays RD, Bjorner JB, et al. Psychometric evaluation and calibration of health-related quality of life item banks: plans for the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS). Med Care 2007 May;45(5 Suppl 1):S22-S31. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000250483.85507.04] [Medline: 17443115]
- 51. Broderick JE, DeWitt EM, Rothrock N, Crane PK, Forrest CB. Advances in patient-reported outcomes: the NIH PROMIS(®) measures. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2013 Aug 2;1(1):1015. [doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1015] [Medline: 25848562]
- 52. Carle AC, Bevans KB, Tucker CA, Forrest CB. Using nationally representative percentiles to interpret PROMIS pediatric measures. Qual Life Res 2021 Apr;30(4):997-1004. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-020-02700-5] [Medline: 33201388]
- 53. Thissen D, Liu Y, Magnus B, et al. Estimating minimally important difference (MID) in PROMIS pediatric measures using the scale-judgment method. Qual Life Res 2016 Jan;25(1):13-23. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-1058-8] [Medline: 26118768]
- 54. SAS: analytics, artificial intelligence and data management. SAS Institute. URL: <u>www.sas.com/en\_us/home.html</u> [accessed 2023-07-23]
- Chau MM, Burgermaster M, Mamykina L. The use of social media in nutrition interventions for adolescents and young adults-a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2018 Dec;120:77-91. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.10.001</u>] [Medline: <u>30409348</u>]
- Wicks P, Thorley EM, Simacek K, Curran C, Emmas C. Scaling PatientsLikeMe via a "generalized platform" for members with chronic illness: web-based survey study of benefits arising. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 7;20(5):e175. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9909] [Medline: 29735472]
- Rothman M, Gnanaskathy A, Wicks P, Papadopoulos EJ. Can we use social media to support content validity of patient-reported outcome instruments in medical product development? Value Health 2015 Jan;18(1):1-4. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jval.2014.10.001</u>] [Medline: <u>25595228</u>]
- Weitzman ER, Adida B, Kelemen S, Mandl KD. Sharing data for public health research by members of an international online diabetes social network. PLoS One 2011 Apr 27;6(4):e19256. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0019256</u>] [Medline: <u>21556358</u>]
- Weitzman ER, Kelemen S, Kaci L, Mandl KD. Willingness to share personal health record data for care improvement and public health: a survey of experienced personal health record users. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012 May 22;12:39. [doi: <u>10.1186/1472-6947-12-39</u>] [Medline: <u>22616619</u>]
- 60. Li P, Xu L, Tang T, Wu X, Huang C. Users' willingness to share health information in a social question-and-answer community: cross-sectional survey in China. JMIR Med Inform 2021 Mar 30;9(3):e26265. [doi: 10.2196/26265] [Medline: 33783364]
- 61. Grande D, Mitra N, Iyengar R, et al. Consumer willingness to share personal digital information for health-related uses. JAMA Netw Open 2022 Jan 4;5(1):e2144787. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.44787</u>] [Medline: <u>35072717</u>]
- 62. Weitzman ER, Cole E, Kaci L, Mandl KD. Social but safe? quality and safety of diabetes-related online social networks. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2011 May 1;18(3):292-297. [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.009712] [Medline: 21262920]
- 63. Lenhart A. Teens, social media & technology overview 2015. Pew Research Center. 2015 Apr 9. URL: <u>www.pewresearch.org/</u> <u>internet/2015/04/09/teens-social-media-technology-2015/</u> [accessed 2023-07-23]
- 64. Weitzman ER, Kaci L, Quinn M, Mandl KD. Helping high-risk youth move through high-risk periods: personally controlled health records for improving social and health care transitions. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2011 Jan 1;5(1):47-54. [doi: 10.1177/193229681100500107] [Medline: 21303624]
- 65. Weitzman ER, Magane KM, Wisk LE. How returning aggregate research results impacts interest in research engagement and planned actions relevant to health care decision making: cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 21;20(12):e10647. [doi: 10.2196/10647] [Medline: 30578228]
- 66. Goldberg EM, Rosen RK, Dizon DS, et al. Using social media for clinical research: recommendations and examples from the Brown-Lifespan Center for Digital Health. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jun 13;24(6):e35804. [doi: 10.2196/35804] [Medline: 35700012]
- 67. Houtrow A, Harris D, Molinero A, Levin-Decanini T, Robichaud C. Children with disabilities in the United States and the COVID-19 pandemic. J Pediatr Rehabil Med 2020;13(3):415-424. [doi: <u>10.3233/PRM-200769</u>] [Medline: <u>33185616</u>]
- Knight A, Vickery M, Faust L, et al. Gaps in mental health care for youth with rheumatologic conditions: a mixed methods study of perspectives from behavioral health providers. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2019 May;71(5):591-601. [doi: 10.1002/acr.23683] [Medline: 29953741]

#### Abbreviations

AOR: adjusted odds ratio CARRA: Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance JIA: Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis PGA: Physician Global Assessment PRO: Patient-Reported Outcome PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture SLE: systemic lupus erythematosus

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 30.03.23; peer-reviewed by K Allen, M Kwon; revised version received 27.07.23; accepted 15.08.23; published 06.12.23.

 Please cite as:

 Weitzman ER, Minegishi M, Cox R, Wisk LE

 Associations Between Patient-Reported Outcome Measures of Physical and Psychological Functioning and Willingness to Share

 Social Media Data for Research Among Adolescents With a Chronic Rheumatic Disease: Cross-Sectional Survey

 JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e46555

 URL: <a href="https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46555">https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e46555</a>

© Elissa R Weitzman, Machiko Minegishi, Rachele Cox, Lauren E Wisk. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 6.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# A Web-Based Intervention to Address Risk Factors for Maternal Morbidity and Mortality (MAMA LOVE): Development and Evaluation Study

Alexis Dunn Amore<sup>1</sup>, PhD, CNM; Abby Britt<sup>1</sup>, MAPA, CNM; Santiago J Arconada Alvarez<sup>2</sup>, MS; Morgan N Greenleaf<sup>2</sup>, MS

1

**Corresponding Author:** Alexis Dunn Amore, PhD, CNM

# Abstract

**Background:** Maternal mortality in the United States is a public health crisis and national emergency. Missed or delayed recognition of preventable life-threatening symptoms and untimely treatment of preventable high-risk medical conditions have been cited as key contributors to the nation's worsening mortality rates. Effective strategies are urgently needed to address this maternal health crisis, particularly for Black birthing populations. Morbidity and Mortality Assessment: Lifting Outcomes Via Education (MAMA LOVE) is a web-based platform that focuses on the identification of maternal morbidity and mortality risk factors.

**Objective:** The purpose of this paper is to present the conceptualization, development, heuristics, and utility evaluation of the web-based maternal mortality risk assessment and educational tool MAMA LOVE.

**Methods:** A user-centered design approach was used to gain feedback from clinical experts and potential end users to ensure that the tool would be effective among groups most at risk for maternal morbidity and mortality. A heuristic evaluation was conducted to evaluate usability and need within the current market. Algorithms describing key clinical, mental health, and social conditions were designed using digital canvas software (Miro) and incorporated into the final wireframes of the revised prototype. The completed version of MAMA LOVE was designed in Figma and built with the SurveyJS platform.

**Results:** The creation of the MAMA LOVE tool followed three distinct phases: (1) the content development and creation of an initial prototype; (2) the feedback gathering and usability assessment of the prototype; and (3) the design, development, and testing of the final tool. The tool determines the corresponding course of action using the algorithm developed by the authors. A total of 38 issues were found in the heuristic evaluation of the web tool's initial prototype.

**Conclusions:** Maternal morbidity and mortality is a public health crisis needing immediate effective interventions. In the current market, there are few digital resources available that focus specifically on the identification of dangerous symptoms and risk factors. MAMA LOVE is a tool that can address that need by increasing knowledge and providing resources and information that can be shared with health care professionals.

## (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44615) doi:10.2196/44615

#### **KEYWORDS**

maternal mortality prevention; mobile technology; pregnancy; Black women; maternal; pregnant; mortality; web-based; utility; usability; mHealth; mobile health; algorithm; development; design; software; risk assessment; patient education

## Introduction

Maternal mortality in the United States is a public health crisis and national emergency [1-3]. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), US maternal mortality rates (defined as the number of maternal deaths/100,000 live births) worsened from 2019 (20.1) to 2020 (23.8) [3]. Stark racial disparities persist in maternal mortality, with rates highest among Black women (55.3) as compared to White (19.1) and Hispanic (18.2) women. Missed or delayed recognition of

RenderX

preventable life-threatening symptoms and untimely treatment of preventable high-risk medical conditions have been cited as key contributors to the nation's worsening mortality rates [3,4]. Effective strategies are needed to address this maternal health crisis, particularly for Black birthing populations [5].

The leading pregnancy-related causes of death among Black populations include cardiovascular conditions, hypertensive disorders, hemorrhage, and infection, conditions in which the timeliness of patient reporting and subsequent medical intervention are critical [3,4,6]. Additionally, mental and social

conditions such as postpartum depression and psychosis as well as accidental death from violence, suicide, and opioid overdose increase the risk for self-harm; however, these factors have been largely overlooked in the evaluation of risk factors contributing to maternal death [6-11]. The risk for maternal mortality and poor health outcomes are also influenced by larger systemic, economic, and societal factors including lack of access to resources, racism, and bias [12-15].

Black women consistently report feeling ignored and unheard by providers when expressing concerns about health symptoms and the necessary resources to address them [16,17]. The development of interventions that not only improve the effectiveness of maternal mortality risk assessment but also provide ways to elevate the patient perspective and communication with providers may prove effective in combating the rising maternal morbidity and mortality rates. Technology-based health communications have proven to be effective tools to increase knowledge and improve communication activity among black populations engaged in mobile health (mHealth) research for people with other medical conditions [18,19]. Innovative strategies are needed that empower birthing people to overcome concerns of feeling unheard and disrespected in the birthing setting while ensuring that high-risk symptoms are addressed effectively.

There is limited research on the development, testing, and use of maternal mHealth apps that specifically address serious maternal morbidity and mortality risk for birthing people of color [20]. However, one study evaluated commercially available mHealth apps and the quality of the maternal health information content, app usability, and the inclusion of representation of people of color, who are those at the highest risk of serious maternal morbidity and mortality [20]. The authors screened over 300 mHealth apps, and only 25 met the inclusion criteria. The study found that most mHealth apps addressed peripartum behaviors but not health symptoms or risk factors, and most did not include adequate representation of birthing people of color [20]. Additionally, a meta-analysis of 15 randomized controlled trials implementing mobile technology to address perinatal mental and physical health showed moderate to large effect sizes in measured outcomes related to maternal physical and mental health and knowledge about pregnancy; however, there was no discussion on the impact on communities of color [20]. Other platforms focused on addressing maternal health issues in Black pregnant populations exist but are focused on topics related to weight management, gestational diabetes, and breastfeeding [21-24].

Taken together, these findings suggest that mHealth apps, when developed in collaboration with target demographic communities, appear to be an effective way to communicate information related to knowledge about maternal physical and mental health to birthing people. However, existing platforms do not currently address symptoms related to the high-risk conditions that contribute most to maternal morbidity and mortality, and those that do are not tailored toward communities of color, the population at greatest risk of experiencing adverse perinatal outcomes. We conducted a market analysis in October 2021 looking at the availability and quality of evidence-based tools that provide customized symptom resources for Black female peripartum consumers. The market analysis was performed through a keyword search of the Apple App Store and Google Play Store, public websites, and PubMed. Our main findings included the Believe Her app (a CDC black mental health clinicians' platform for peer-support and resource access) [25], the Irth app (crowdsourced reviews of health care providers from Black and Indigenous women of color) [26], and several web-based applications, such as Wolomi, Mahmee, and Mae (pregnancy and postpartum resources) [27-29]. These findings provide valuable insights into the market for evidence-based tools that cater to the specific needs of peripartum Black women consumers. While these platforms are important, it becomes apparent that there are a limited number of resources available that specifically address the needs of peripartum Black women consumers specifically related to risk factors for maternal morbidity and mortality [30]. Despite an increasing number of contributions to the field, there remains a critical gap in our understanding of how to best meet these unique health care needs of women of color during the peripartum period.

Morbidity and Mortality Assessment: Lifting Outcomes Via Education (MAMA LOVE) is a web-based platform that focuses on the identification of maternal morbidity and mortality risk factors, a feature not identified during our market search. The platform has been designed to address the leading medical conditions associated with maternal morbidity and mortality with an additional focus on mental health conditions and social determinants of health. Specifically, the platform provides the following: options for users to select symptoms associated with each category (physical, mental health, and social); feedback and recommendations on follow-up timelines for selected symptoms; tailored educational and resource links for selected symptoms; and a downloadable document of all physical, mental health, and social factors selected, which can be presented to health care providers as a communication tool. Tools that provide education for birthing people on perinatal urgent warning signs are needed to equip and empower them to seek care and communicate effectively with care providers. A key benefit provided by MAMA LOVE is the ability to tailor resources based on user-entered information, as evidenced by the market analysis. Given this capability, there may be regulatory implications in future versions of the tool. For example, Food and Drug Administration clearance would be required if the app were to make clinical recommendations based on the results of the survey.

The purpose of this paper is to present the conceptualization, development, heuristics, and utility evaluation of the web-based maternal mortality risk assessment and educational tool, MAMA LOVE. Specifically, in this paper, a detailed description of the content development process, feedback and end user recommendations, heuristic evaluation of the platform components, and final tool are presented along with a discussion about implications for future directions.



XSL•FO

## Methods

The creation of the MAMA LOVE tool followed three distinct phases (Figure 1): (1) the content development and creation of

an initial prototype; (2) the feedback gathering and usability assessment of the prototype; and (3) the design, development, and testing of the final tool. In this section, we further describe the methods for each of these phases.

Figure 1. Flowchart of the study's methodology. HE: heuristic evaluation; MAMA LOVE: Morbidity and Mortality Assessment: Lifting Outcomes Via Education.



## **Phase 1: Content Development**

## **Physical Indicators**

The initial conceptualization of the tool was guided by information identified in clinical practice guidelines, publicly available data, and maternal mortality review reports related to the leading maternal health conditions contributing to morbidity and mortality, both in the United States and globally [7,8,31-33].

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44615

RenderX

Epidemiologic-level data and factors identified in the literature were used to ensure that the most common high-risk physical conditions were included [3,7,9]. The CDC has leveraged administrative hospital discharge data and *International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10)* diagnosis and procedure codes to create a list of the 21 most common severe maternal morbidity conditions; these created the foundation for the symptom screening component of the app [33].

Additionally, the World Health Organization's *The WHO Application of ICD-10 to Deaths During Pregnancy, Childbirth and the Puerperium: ICD-MM* report was consulted as a resource to ensure that the full range of most common causes of maternal death were incorporated into the physical screening portion of the tool [34].

#### Mental Health and Social Indicators

Health disparities are driven by multiple interrelated medical, social, and societal factors that promote susceptibility to disease [3,12-14]. Within the context of maternal mortality identification, medical conditions and their risks are well documented. However, less has been published on the relationship between maternal mental health conditions that increase the risk for self-harm and maternal mortality rates [35]. Additional content on maternal mental health conditions as well as social determinants were added given that the data on the leading causes of maternal death and severe illness include many of these factors as potential contributors [4,10-15,15]. The options available for selection by end users incorporate terminology that captures both the user experience as well as symptoms listed in clinical guidelines related to the conditions.

#### Resources

Educational resources were collected on each associated physical condition from reputable academic (ie, Mayo Clinic and University of California, San Francisco), governmental (ie, CDC), and nonprofit/community-based organizations (ie, Pre-Eclampsia Foundation, National Blood Clot Alliance, and Black Mamas Matter Alliance) to create customized educational reports based on the symptoms selected by the user.

#### **Prototype**

From the information identified in the literature, clinical practice guidelines, and public reports about the leading contributors to maternal morbidity and mortality, a prototype was built. This initial prototype of the tool (not shown) was developed via a collaboration between nurse midwifery researchers, community experts, and a software engineer at a private institution in Atlanta, Georgia. The initial prototype was developed with a third party with the guidance of the clinical authors over a period of 1 year. The format of the tool included an introduction to the MAMA LOVE platform; sociodemographic questions; symptom options for physical, mental health, and social factors; sample recommendations for a course of action options; and examples of resources that could be included. The goal of the prototype design was to validate whether the tool captured the most common symptoms and risk factors associated with high-risk perinatal conditions and to explore if the conditions and resources included in the tool were relevant to end users. Due to limitations in the software, the inability to make changes easily, and difficulty in addressing the heuristic evaluation results, a second tool was developed that allowed for more

robust algorithm development and seamless transition between selected items, recommendations, and resources.

#### Phase 2: Feedback and Usability Evaluation

#### Focus Group Sessions

Given the persistent racial and geographic disparities in maternal mortality risk, a robust approach inclusive of the community and social environment in which Black women reside may prove effective in ameliorating maternal mortality risk. As such, five focus group sessions (n=19) were conducted on the initial prototype with a mix of Black birthing parents (n=3) as well as doulas (n=6), community organization representatives (n=4), and health care providers (n=6) to assess initial impressions of the tool and to validate the concept. A rapid analysis of the focus group sessions was conducted to quickly identify key areas for feedback and revision of the tool [36]. The Emory University Institutional Review Board approved the study.

#### Heuristic Evaluation Methods

A heuristic evaluation is a qualitative assessment in which a usability expert measures a user interface against a set of principles to find usability issues. The heuristic evaluation was conducted on the initial prototype independently by five experts using Nielsen and Norman's 10 Usability Heuristics, and the number of evaluators was determined using heuristic evaluation principles [37]. The experts responsible for conducting the heuristic evaluation consist of three graduates and two current students of the Masters in Human Computer Interaction program at the Georgia Institute of Technology, in collaboration with digital health developers at the AppHatchery at Emory University.

#### Phase 3: Design, Development, and Testing

## Algorithm Design

The algorithm development followed an iterative approach in the translation from the clinicians to the developers. First, the clinician would list the symptoms related to a given condition and the suggested recommendation for the user. The developer partners would then review that representation and, with the clinicians, verify that the symptoms map properly to the condition. Common computer nomenclature was used to facilitate implementation and testing. Due to the algorithm's complexity and many mappings between symptoms and conditions, a visual approach to organizing the information was used. Miro is a digital canvas tool that allows for real-time collaboration and facilitates mind mapping, which made it ideal for this use case. Symptoms in the algorithm were arranged head to toe and then mapped to select conditions (see Figure 2). Lastly, the language of the symptoms was carefully crafted to be understood by Black birthing parents, incorporating both the feedback from the focus groups as well as the authors' experiences hearing patient questions in clinics.



#### Amore et al

**Figure 2.** Visual representation of the algorithm for the head. Symptoms are represented in the turquoise, blue, and yellow sticky notes depending on the symptom category (main or additional). Conditions are in purple diamonds. The recommended course of action is outlined in the textboxes on the right-hand side. HELLP: hemolysis-elevated enzymes and low platelets.



## Tool Design and Development

Limitations in the first prototype tool related to software, the inability to make changes easily, and difficulty in addressing the heuristic evaluation results prompted the development of a second and final tool that allowed for more robust algorithm development and seamless transition between selected items, recommendations, and resources.

The second tool was designed in Figma (Adobe), developed with the SurveyJS framework, and carried out by AppHatchery. AppHatchery is a National Institutes of Health–funded team part of the Georgia Clinical and Translation Science Alliance that creates patient-centered digital tools for health care through strategy, user research, design, software development, and clinical studies. The design and development of the tool took 6 months from August 2022 to January 2023, during which weekly meetings were held between the AppHatchery team and the clinical experts. Additionally, the collection of use metrics (Pendo.io) and survey responses (Firebase) was set up to validate the tool's usability and intervention's feasibility; this will be reported in a future paper.

#### **Beta Testing**

Once the tool was finalized and made available on MAMA LOVE, it was tested by the authors and 3 nurse midwifery

experts from Emory University prior to public promotion of the platform. The aim was to find issues with the algorithm recommendations and to ensure the data collection was accurately capturing users' behavior in the tool and their submitted responses. During this iterative testing process, inaccuracies were identified and corrected.

#### **Ethics Approval**

Ethical considerations and safety were evaluated and approved via the Emory Institutional Review Board's review process (IRB STUDY00002618).

## Results

### **Phase 1: Content Development**

#### Overview

The tool was primarily developed to screen for symptoms related to the most common conditions associated with severe maternal morbidity and mortality. From this list of conditions, clinician experts created symptom panels that map a user's reported symptom experiences to a list of potential health conditions. Symptoms were arranged head to toe and then mapped to potential conditions that include the symptoms selected. Additionally, mental health conditions were included in the design prototype to further contextualize risk factors that may increase the risk for maternal morbidity or mortality. Recent findings indicate that mental and social conditions such as substance use disorder, suicide, and homicide are the leading contributors to serious maternal morbidity, particularly in the later postpartum period [11,35,38]. Overwhelmingly, mental health has been overlooked in the context of maternal mortality risk, but data suggest that more screening and attention to mental health are needed.

When ascertaining which social determinants of health to include in the tool, several modalities were leveraged. The first was expert clinician brainstorming sessions to identify the most common social determinants of health that have the potential to contribute to maternal morbidity and mortality. The search was then expanded to include, from an epidemiological perspective, the social determinants of health found to most commonly predict maternal morbidity and mortality at a large scale. The final conditions included in the tool were determined by the clinical authors in consultation with health care providers who participated in focus group sessions to assess the initial features of the tool. Additional feedback was gathered from other end users including community organizations, doulas, and Black women with experiences of high-risk morbidity conditions who participated in focus group sessions. The Area Deprivation Index was found to be a strong predictor of adverse perinatal outcomes [39-41]. Thus, the potentially modifiable components used to calculate this index were built into the tool, including housing, employment, and access to transportation. Finally, an extensive literature search was performed to further inform the selection of social determinants of health to ensure the most important factors were incorporated, including housing instability, intimate partner violence, rural location or transportation difficulties, and food insecurity [15,38,42-44].

#### Resources

Delayed reporting of concerning symptoms can result in ineffective and untimely management of potentially deadly conditions. The development of interventions that empower and educate pregnant populations to accurately recognize life-threatening symptoms, provide access to necessary resources, and promote effective communication with providers are needed to mitigate the maternal mortality risk among high-risk populations. It is essential that users are directed to reliable educational resources that consistently use the most up-to-date available evidence. Additionally, resources for mental health and other social determinants of health were included with a particular focus on including culturally focused content from groups like the Black Mamas Matter Alliance and Every Mother Counts organizations. Mental health resources were obtained primarily from Postpartum Support International (PSI), which is a leading nonprofit organization with a focus on perinatal mental health conditions [45]. In addition to educational information on perinatal mood disorders, users can access a PSI-sponsored 24-hour emergency crisis hotline for immediate support and a directory with mental health providers in their area. State- and national-level resources to address food insecurity, housing instability, insurance enrollment information, and transportation resources are also included.

#### Phase 2: Feedback and Usability Evaluation

#### Focus Group Sessions

To ensure that MAMA LOVE would be effective, feedback on the first prototype was sought from Black birthing people and community stakeholder experts (comprised of doulas, community organizers, and health care providers). Key aspects identified in the rapid analysis of the focus group sessions included simplification of the terminology used across the platform, incorporation of examples to describe conditions, features to show the end user how far along they are in the platform, grouping of demographics questions, use of more images and fewer words, and expansion of resources lists to include more content from diverse groups that serve Black pregnant populations. A more robust thematic analysis of the focus group sessions is reported elsewhere (manuscript in submission). These preliminary findings were used to inform the development of the second tool.

#### Heuristic Evaluation Results

Following a heuristic evaluation with 5 usability experts, a total of 38 issues were found in the initial prototype of the web tool. Sample comments for each usability factor related to the website are reported in Table 1. The newer version of the tool implemented changes to tackle the major usability issues such as navigation (allowing the user to move freely back and forth through the survey), mobile responsiveness (text and content should scale accordingly to the device type being used), and the consistent use of standard button and interaction paradigms throughout the tool. For the purposes of providing context, a visual example of the changes implemented between the prototype and the final tool is shown in Figure 3.

Table . Heuristic evaluation results and changes.

Heuristic principle	Sample quote	Design alterations
Visibility of system status	• "After selecting symptoms on the cards themselves, the user doesn't see what those selections were."	<ul><li>Text with a time estimate for completion of the survey was included.</li><li>The section the user is on was highlighted on a navigation menu.</li></ul>
Match between system and the real world	• "It might be better to put some illustration of the body parts."	• Images were not included as part of the new design due to time constraints on the construction of the second version of the tool.
User control and freedom	• "Users are not allowed to go back to change their answer."	• A back button on all pages and a navigation bar were incorporated to allow user mobility through the different sections of the tool.
Consistency and standards	• "After selecting a symptom type, the ques- tionnaire changes style into a popup win- dow, and each category (which was not clear they were categories vs. answers) is scrollable into expanded choices- different from the first half."	<ul> <li>The format of web elements such as hyperlinks, buttons, and banners followed standards.</li> <li>A visual style was applied to the tool to improve consistency from page to page.</li> </ul>
Help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors	• "Clicking save & continue button without clicking the checkbox doesn't prompt the user with any messages nor visual feedback of what is missing."	• An error message pops up indicating to the user that they must select an answer to proceed.
Error prevention	• "On mobile, the selection boxes are really close together."	<ul> <li>Larger checkboxes or tappable targets were used.</li> <li>Allowing the user to go back to verify what symptoms they have selected can prevent a wrong assessment.</li> </ul>
Recognition rather than recall	• "Unclear that if you are answering age, if it's your own or the person you are filling this out for. The language for the questions doesn't remind the user to answer for anoth- er person if this was their choice."	• User selections are saved from page to page so that going back does not require them to remember what they selected.
Flexibility and efficiency of use	<ul> <li>"It asks what type of delivery the user had, although I selected 'No' in the question about giving birth in the last year."</li> <li>"Symptoms related to a cesarean infection showed up although I did not select cesarean birth."</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Conditional logic was applied so that questions or symptom selections that are irrelevant for the user do not appear.</li> <li>A tappable area was added to the selection text in addition to the checkbox or radio button to improve speed of use.</li> </ul>
Aesthetic and minimalist design	<ul> <li>"Pages are not responsive for mobile, text doesn't scale, and information is very hard to read."</li> <li>"All questions have the label Question."</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Mobile responsiveness was incorporated to allow text and content to scale properly.</li> <li>Redundant text and information was re- moved to reduce visual cognitive load.</li> </ul>
Help and documentation	• "It is unclear what the user should do on the category selection page. The 'Save & Continue' button appears only when you select items in each category. This is not obvious to the user."	• Instructions were included throughout the tool to support the users in areas where confusion may arise, such as symptom selection.



Figure 3. Comparison of the results page after addressing issues described in the heuristic evaluation. Left: old; right: new.



The annotations in Figure 3 indicate the changes that were made to the updated version of the tool. These changes aimed to improve the user experience and make the tool more user-friendly:

- 1. The addition of a navigation menu allowed users to easily navigate to any section of the tool they want to revisit. This provides users with more freedom and improves the visibility of system status by highlighting the section they are currently on.
- 2. Removal of redundant elements, such as empty content, and the reorganization of the information architecture helps visually prioritize urgency. This means that potential conditions are listed first, so users can immediately see what is important without having to scroll.

```
3. Changing the format of the download button and presenting it by itself can help users locate the button and avoid confusion over its purpose.
```

- The resource section only includes necessary information, and URL links are formatted following web standards to improve user understanding and expectations of their behavior.
- 5. The addition of a back button allows users to go back and change their choices if they wish, while the finish button ensures that the user knows there is no more content to interact with.

Overall, the changes made to the tool were designed to make it more user-friendly and improve the user experience. The annotations on the figure provide a clear visual representation

XSL•FO RenderX

of the changes that were made, making it easy for readers to understand how the updated version of the tool differs from the original version. However, there were more changes that were implemented to improve usability, such as saving user selections on previous pages, using consistent colors and standards, increasing the tapping targets so clicking is easier, reducing the amount of text on the screen to the strictly necessary, and making the website mobile responsive.

#### Phase 3: Design, Development, and Testing

## Algorithm Design

The tool determines the corresponding course of action using the algorithm developed by the authors. Following the decision to create a second tool, the algorithm to determine the corresponding course of action was developed between the clinician and developer partner. Examples of algorithms from each of the three categories included in MAMA LOVE are outlined in Figures 4, 5, and 6. Figure 4 outlines the pathway that could lead to pre-eclampsia or eclampsia in a setting where a client would not have access to measure their blood pressure. Figure 5 outlines the pathway related to antenatal or postpartum depression. Figure 6 outlines experiences of racism and mistreatment in the perinatal setting and the pathway to self-advocacy resources.



**Figure 4.** An example of a user with symptoms associated with pre-eclampsia (not able to measure blood pressure). If a user indicated they have a headache that gets worse over time and they are having confusion or trouble speaking, the tool would predict they have pre-eclampsia. Additionally, if the user is having seizures, the tool will predict eclampsia. It is worth noting that if the user is having seizures, the tool will predict eclampsia immediately without needing the other symptoms. Depending on the predicted condition, the tool would provide a recommended course of action tailored to the severity of the condition (ie, pre-eclampsia: contact your health care provider; eclampsia: go to the hospital). However, a user could arrive at these conditions through different symptom paths (refer to other paths in the diagram and to Figure 1 for an expanded view of more symptoms). HELLP: hemolysis-elevated enzymes and low platelets.





XSL•FO RenderX

**Figure 5.** An example implementation of the algorithm for mental symptoms. If a user indicated they have a lasting sad, depressed, or "empty" mood; feelings of irritability; or restlessness while they are pregnant, the tool would predict they have antenatal depression. Alternatively, if the user is 0-2 weeks post partum, the tool will predict baby blues, and if greater than 2 weeks post partum, it will predict potential postpartum depression. Depending on the predicted condition, the tool would provide a recommended course of action tailored to the severity of the condition; in this case, all three possible conditions suggest calling the nurse or provider to discuss the symptoms.



https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44615

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 6. An example implementation of the algorithm for social risk factors. If a user indicated they felt unheard or mistreated by their OBGYN (medical doctor) the tool would recommend them to explore a list of self-advocacy resources including but not limited to the Black Mamas Matter Alliance, which is a holistic care for Black women resource. Depending on the predicted need (self-advocacy, prenatal resources, etc) the tool would provide a list of recommended resources. In this case, all social risk factors displayed map to a recommended need for self-advocacy. OBGYN: obstetrics and gynecology.



## Final MAMA LOVE Design and Development

MAMA LOVE is a web-based tool designed to support Black birthing populations by providing guidance and resources on the leading high-risk conditions. The tool follows a survey structure (Figure 7). It begins with a brief introduction explaining the purpose of the tool, questions, and information being collected. It then moves on to a series of simple questions to collect demographic information and the stage of pregnancy or postpartum course. The user can then select whether they have any specific physical symptoms, mental health symptoms, or social risk factors. The final page includes a recommended course of action based on the user's selected symptoms as well as a list of recommended resources based on reported risk factors.

XSL•FO

Figure 7. Screenshots of the final version of Morbidity and Mortality Assessment: Lifting Outcomes Via Education (MAMA LOVE). (A) Stage of pregnancy. (B) Physical symptoms selection page. (C) Results page.



#### **Beta Testing**

Prior to public release, the research team of midwives and AppHatchery experts encountered several issues related to the mapping of symptoms to conditions. For example, the algorithm for symptoms that link to pre-eclampsia also includes those that overlap with the stroke algorithm. During the evaluation, it was noted that the end output was only identifying stroke as a potential condition. The team identified that the language used by the lead midwife researcher on the visual algorithm platform was being read differently by the design team. Once this difference was identified, the issue was corrected, thus resulting in the desired end conditions appearing in the output. Each

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44615

RenderX

section of the tool was carefully evaluated and tested in this manner.

## Discussion

#### Overview

There is limited research on the development, testing, and use of maternal mHealth apps that specifically address serious maternal morbidity and mortality for birthing people of color. Of those evaluated in a recent meta-analysis of 15 randomized controlled trials of mobile technology addressing peripartum physical and mental health behaviors, none specifically focused on the identification of symptoms and risk factors for morbidity

and mortality in the general population nor among populations of color [30].

MAMA LOVE is designed to address the leading physical, mental health, and social risk factors that increase the risk for maternal morbidity and mortality. The leading pregnancy-related causes of death among Black women include cardiovascular conditions, hypertensive disorders, hemorrhage, and infection, conditions in which the timeliness of patient reporting and subsequent medical intervention are critical, as many of these deaths are deemed preventable [7]. The additional focus on mental health and social determinants of health adds a layer of screening that contextualizes risk and highlights the importance of evaluating the individual lived experience within the context of "risk." The final algorithms used in the creation of the MAMA LOVE platform incorporate these concepts in a fashion that is designed to be usable and effective for the end user. As such, this tool would be generalizable and useful, particularly among at-risk populations.

Resources are included in the tool that direct users to well-known, community-led, and state- and national-level academic, governmental, and nonprofit resources. However, there is a need for more robust culturally tailored educational and social support resources. There was an effort to include resources from community groups caring for people of color; however, those resources were not plentiful. The need for culturally designed resources is particularly important for those most at risk for severe maternal morbidity and mortality. Using this cultural perspective, we worked with the development group during the design process to ensure that the imagery, language, and functionalities of the tool were designed with the end user in mind.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

There is limited research available regarding the use of mHealth apps and their effectiveness in mitigating maternal mortality risk. As previously discussed, there are apps available that provide quality content around health behaviors in pregnancy. However, they do not adequately represent people of color. It has been shown that Black women are willing to use their smartphones to access health promotion content and to participate in mHealth research [18]. Although more than 300 mHealth apps are available, most offerings do not provide adequate evidence-based maternal health information and are not reflective of women of color [20]. We expect that a platform providing immediately accessible, accurate, timely, and culturally appropriate information will be uniquely advantageous when used for the preventive care of Black women [5], as has been shown in Black women experiencing other medical conditions [19,46,47]. As such, the addition of MAMA LOVE fills a unique gap in that it is a community-designed platform specifically focused on the mitigation of maternal mortality risk.

While other studies detailed the development and testing of mHealth apps for pregnant people of color, they focused on topics other than serious maternal morbidity and mortality, such as postpartum fitness and weight loss (BeFAB) [24], physical activity and weight control during pregnancy [23], gestational diabetes (SweetMama) [21], and breastfeeding (KULEA-NET)

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44615
```

[22]. The developers of these mHealth apps used a similar approach for the development of their app by reviewing current mHealth app technology and evidence-based best practices for their topic areas to create an initial prototype, conducting formative research with women in the potential user demographic or health care providers, and incorporating their feedback into the final tool. These studies provide support for the mHealth app development pathway used by MAMA LOVE, with an initial design based on current evidence and subsequent iterative feedback sessions with pregnant people of color and health care providers as an effective way to tailor an mHealth app for communities of color.

#### Limitations

The tool is limited in its scope as it identifies symptoms or social conditions after they have already occurred. In the quest to prevent maternal morbidity and mortality, this may be too late. There is a need for a tool or resource that captures data and information in real time so that interventions can be instituted earlier in the pregnancy or postpartum period. Additionally, the resources that are included in the tool will have to be continually revised to ensure accuracy and relevance to the population. Additionally, the tool has been developed by researchers and app developers in the southeastern United States; as such, the types of resources included were naturally influenced by this geographic lens.

The development group responsible for building the tool consisted of individuals with diverse backgrounds, including in product management, design, and development. The team had prior experience working on other technology projects aimed at African American minorities, which provided a strong foundation for their work on this tool. The group was composed of individuals from African Black, Hispanic, and White backgrounds, which helped ensure a broad perspective and inclusivity during the design and development process.

In addition, the group leveraged specific design methodologies to navigate cultural values and paternalism during the development of the tool. These methodologies included incorporating common visual styles and themes from other tools aimed at Black birthing parents, such as using visuals of birthing parents throughout the tool. The team also sought to avoid paternalistic and critical language in the tool, which could be perceived as condescending or dismissive. By taking these measures, the development group aimed to create a tool that was culturally sensitive and inclusive while also providing accurate and useful information to users.

Despite the outcomes of the heuristic evaluation and design changes implemented, it is important to acknowledge the limitations. Although the conceptualization of the project and creative design of the tool was led by a Black researcher, the evaluation of the tool was conducted by a team of designers who were not specialized in website design for Black birthing parents. While the team had experience in evaluating and designing digital tools, they may not have been fully attuned to the specific cultural and experiential needs of this population. As such, it is possible that certain design issues or cultural considerations were not fully captured by the evaluation, and

additional research by specialized user experience–specific experts may be warranted to further refine the tool.

#### Conclusions

Maternal morbidity and mortality is a public health crisis needing immediate effective interventions. Comprehensive models and strategies that improve the ability of at-risk groups to better identify their risk are needed. MAMA LOVE seeks to empower pregnant populations with knowledge and resources to encourage self-advocacy, particularly among Black populations who have the greatest risk of dying during the perinatal period. Given that many pregnant populations have identified that they often do not feel heard or are not taken seriously when presenting with concerning symptoms, MAMA LOVE is a tool that has the potential to address that need by increasing knowledge and providing information that can be shared with health care professionals.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge Wonshik Chee, PhD, for his contributions in assisting with the design of the initial prototype of Morbidity and Mortality Assessment: Lifting Outcomes Via Education (MAMA LOVE). This study was funded by a grant to ADA from the Board of Trustees at Emory University. Additionally, the design of this tool occurred while ADA was funded by the Georgia Clinical Translational Science Alliance 3UL1TR002378. The content of this paper is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of Emory University.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Maternal mortality. URL: <u>www.cdc.gov/nchs/maternal-mortality/index.htm</u> [accessed 2023-03-24]
- 2. Hoyert DL, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Maternal mortality rates in the United States. URL: <u>www.cdc.gov/</u><u>nchs/data/hestat/maternal-mortality/2020/maternal-mortality-rates-2020.htm</u> [accessed 2022-03-24]
- 3. Collier AR, Molina RL. Maternal mortality in the United States: updates on trends, causes, and solutions. Neoreviews 2019 Oct;20(10):e561-e574. [doi: 10.1542/neo.20-10-e561] [Medline: 31575778]
- 4. Howell EA. Reducing disparities in severe maternal morbidity and mortality. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2018 Jun;61(2):387-399. [doi: 10.1097/GRF.00000000000349] [Medline: 29346121]
- Ahn R, Gonzalez GP, Anderson B, Vladutiu CJ, Fowler ER, Manning L. Initiatives to reduce maternal mortality and severe maternal morbidity in the United States: a narrative review. Ann Intern Med 2020 Dec 1;173(11 Suppl):S3-S10. [doi: 10.7326/M19-3258] [Medline: 33253021]
- 6. Lister RL, Drake W, Scott BH, Graves C. Black maternal mortality-the elephant in the room. World J Gynecol Womens Health 2019;3(1). [doi: 10.33552/wjgwh.2019.03.000555] [Medline: 32719828]
- 7. Georgia Department of Public Health. Georgia maternal mortality. URL: <u>dph.georgia.gov/document/document/</u> <u>maternal-mortality-factsheet-2018-2020-data/download</u> [accessed 2023-03-24]
- 8. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Pregnancy Mortality Surveillance System. URL: <u>www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>reproductivehealth/maternal-mortality/pregnancy-mortality-surveillance-system.htm#race-ethnicity</u> [accessed 2023-03-24]
- MacDorman MF, Thoma M, Declcerq E, Howell EA. Racial and ethnic disparities in maternal mortality in the United States using enhanced vital records, 2016-2017. Am J Public Health 2021 Sep;111(9):1673-1681. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2021.306375] [Medline: 34383557]
- Howard LM, Khalifeh H. Perinatal mental health: a review of progress and challenges. World Psychiatry 2020 Oct;19(3):313-327. [doi: <u>10.1002/wps.20769</u>] [Medline: <u>32931106</u>]
- 11. Chin K, Wendt A, Bennett IM, Bhat A. Suicide and maternal mortality. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2022 Apr;24(4):239-275. [doi: 10.1007/s11920-022-01334-3] [Medline: 35366195]
- Crear-Perry J, Correa-de-Araujo R, Lewis Johnson T, McLemore MR, Neilson E, Wallace M. Social and structural determinants of health inequities in maternal health. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2021 Feb;30(2):230-235. [doi: <u>10.1089/jwh.2020.8882</u>] [Medline: <u>33181043</u>]
- 13. Saluja B, Bryant Z. How implicit bias contributes to racial disparities in maternal morbidity and mortality in the United States. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2021 Feb;30(2):270-273. [doi: <u>10.1089/jwh.2020.8874</u>] [Medline: <u>33237843</u>]
- Hirshberg A, Srinivas SK. Epidemiology of maternal morbidity and mortality. Semin Perinatol 2017 Oct;41(6):332-337. [doi: <u>10.1053/j.semperi.2017.07.007</u>] [Medline: <u>28823579</u>]
- Wang E, Glazer KB, Howell EA, Janevic TM. Social determinants of pregnancy-related mortality and morbidity in the United States: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2020 Apr;135(4):896-915. [doi: <u>10.1097/AOG.00000000003762</u>] [Medline: <u>32168209</u>]

- Vedam S, Stoll K, Taiwo TK, Rubashkin N, Cheyney M, Strauss N, et al. The Giving Voice to Mothers Study: inequity and mistreatment during pregnancy and childbirth in the United States. Reprod Health 2019 Jun 11;16(1):77. [doi: 10.1186/s12978-019-0729-2] [Medline: 31182118]
- Collins CC, Rice H, Bai R, Brown PL, Bronson C, Farmer C. I "felt like it would've been perfect, if they hadn't been rushing": Black women's childbirth experiences with medical providers when accompanied by perinatal support professionals. J Adv Nurs 2021 Oct;77(10):4131-4141. [doi: 10.1111/jan.14941] [Medline: 34137066]
- Chandler R, Guillaume D, Parker A, Wells J, Hernandez ND. Developing culturally tailored mHealth tools to address sexual and reproductive health outcomes among Black and Latina women: a systematic review. Health Promot Pract 2022 Jul;23(4):619-630. [doi: 10.1177/15248399211002831] [Medline: <u>33771045</u>]
- Kathuria-Prakash N, Moser DK, Alshurafa N, Watson K, Eastwood JA. Young African American women's participation in an m-Health study in cardiovascular risk reduction: feasibility, benefits, and barriers. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2019 Oct;18(7):569-576. [doi: 10.1177/1474515119850009] [Medline: 31088306]
- Tucker L, Villagomez AC, Krishnamurti T. Comprehensively addressing postpartum maternal health: a content and image review of commercially available mobile health apps. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2021 Apr 20;21(1):311. [doi: 10.1186/s12884-021-03785-7] [Medline: <u>33879089</u>]
- 21. Yee LM, Leziak K, Jackson J, Strohbach A, Saber R, Niznik CM, et al. Patient and provider perspectives on a novel mobile health intervention for low-income pregnant women with gestational or type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2021 Sep;15(5):1121-1133. [doi: 10.1177/1932296820937347] [Medline: 32627582]
- 22. Patchen L, Ellis L, Harrington CB, Ma T, Mohanraj R, Andrews V, et al. Engaging African American parents to develop a mobile health technology for breastfeeding: KULEA-NET. J Hum Lact 2020 Aug;36(3):448-460. [doi: 10.1177/0890334420930208] [Medline: 32525434]
- 23. Tinius R, Duchette C, Beasley S, Blankenship M, Schoenberg N. Obstetric patients and healthcare providers perspectives to inform mobile app design for physical activity and weight control during pregnancy and postpartum in a rural setting. Int J Womens Health 2021 Apr 29;13:405-432. [doi: <u>10.2147/JJWH.S296310</u>] [Medline: <u>33953614</u>]
- Napolitano MA, Harrington CB, Patchen L, Ellis LP, Ma T, Chang K, et al. Feasibility of a digital intervention to promote healthy weight management among postpartum African American/Black women. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Feb 23;18(4):2178. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18042178] [Medline: 33672229]
- 25. Google Play. Believe Her. URL: <u>play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.tchtnk.believeher</u> [accessed 2023-03-24]
- 26. IRTH. URL: irthapp.com [accessed 2023-03-24]
- 27. Wolomi. URL: <u>www.wolomi.com/</u> [accessed 2023-03-24]
- 28. Mahmee. URL: <u>network.mahmee.com/</u> [accessed 2023-03-24]
- 29. Meet Mae. URL: meetmae.com/ [accessed 2023-03-24]
- Tucker L, Villagomez AC, Krishnamurti T. Comprehensively addressing postpartum maternal health: a content and image review of commercially available mobile health apps. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2021 Apr 20;21(1):311. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12884-021-03785-7</u>] [Medline: <u>33879089</u>]
- 31. Gestational hypertension and preeclampsia: ACOG practice bulletin summary, number 222. Obstet Gynecol 2020 Jun;135(6):1492-1495. [doi: 10.1097/AOG.0000000000003892] [Medline: 32443077]
- Committee on Practice Bulletins-Obstetrics. Practice bulletin No.183: postpartum hemorrhage. Obstet Gynecol 2017 Oct;130(4):e168-e186. [doi: <u>10.1097/AOG.00000000002351</u>] [Medline: <u>28937571</u>]
- 33. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. How does CDC identify severe maternal morbidity. URL: <u>www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/smm/severe-morbidity-ICD.htm</u> [accessed 2023-07-21]
- 34. World Health Organization. The WHO application of ICD-10 deaths during pregnancy, childbirth, and the puerperium: ICD-MM. URL: <a href="https://www.application.com">apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/70929/9789241548458</a> eng.pdf [accessed 2023-07-21]
- Mangla K, Hoffman MC, Trumpff C, O'Grady S, Monk C. Maternal self-harm deaths: an unrecognized and preventable outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2019 Oct;221(4):295-303. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajog.2019.02.056</u>] [Medline: <u>30849358</u>]
- 36. Nevedal AL, Reardon CM, Opra Widerquist MA, Jackson GL, Cutrona SL, White BS, et al. Rapid versus traditional qualitative analysis using the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR). Implement Sci 2021 Jul 2;16(1):67. [doi: 10.1186/s13012-021-01111-5] [Medline: 34215286]
- 37. Nielsen J, Molich R. Heuristic evaluation of user interfaces. New York, New York, USA Presented at: the SIGCHI conference; Seattle, Washington, United States p. 249-256. [doi: 10.1145/97243.97281]
- Campbell J, Matoff-Stepp S, Velez ML, Cox HH, Laughon K. Pregnancy-associated deaths from homicide, suicide, and drug overdose: review of research and the intersection with intimate partner violence. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2021 Feb;30(2):236-244. [doi: 10.1089/jwh.2020.8875] [Medline: 33295844]
- Singh GK. Trends and social inequalities in maternal mortality in the United States, 1969-2018. Int J MCH AIDS 2021;10(1):29-42. [doi: <u>10.21106/ijma.444</u>] [Medline: <u>33442490</u>]
- 40. Neighborhood Atlas. 2018. URL: www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu/ [accessed 2023-07-21]
- 41. Mehra R, Shebl FM, Cunningham SD, Magriples U, Barrette E, Herrera C, et al. Area-level deprivation and preterm birth: results from a national, commercially-insured population. BMC Public Health 2019 Feb 27;19(1):236. [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6533-7] [Medline: 30813938]

- 42. DiTosto JD, Holder K, Soyemi E, Beestrum M, Yee LM. Housing instability and adverse perinatal outcomes: a systematic review. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2021 Nov;3(6):100477. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajogmf.2021.100477] [Medline: 34481998]
- Hung P, Casey MM, Kozhimannil KB, Karaca-Mandic P, Moscovice IS. Rural-urban differences in access to hospital obstetric and neonatal care: how far is the closest one? J Perinatol 2018 Jun;38(6):645-652. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41372-018-0063-5</u>] [Medline: <u>29453436</u>]
- 44. Tipton MJ, Wagner SA, Dixon A, Westbay L, Darji H, Graziano S. Association of living in a food desert with pregnancy morbidity. Obstet Gynecol 2020 Jul;136(1):140-145. [doi: <u>10.1097/AOG.00000000003868</u>] [Medline: <u>32541293</u>]
- 45. Postpartum Support International. 2022. URL: <u>www.postpartum.net/</u> [accessed 2022-12-7]
- 46. Chandler R, Hernandez N, Guillaume D, Grandoit S, Branch-Ellis D, Lightfoot M. A community-engaged approach to creating a mobile HIV prevention app for Black women: focus group study to determine preferences via prototype demos. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 24;8(7):e18437. [doi: <u>10.2196/18437</u>] [Medline: <u>32706723</u>]
- James DCS, Harvillec 2nd C, Whitehead N, Stellefson M, Dodani S, Sears C. Willingness of African American women to participate in e-Health/m-Health research. Telemed J E Health 2016 Mar;22(3):191-197. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2015.0071</u>] [Medline: <u>26313323</u>]

## Abbreviations

CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention *ICD-10: International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision* MAMA LOVE: Morbidity and Mortality Assessment: Lifting Outcomes Via Education mHealth: mobile health

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 20.12.22; peer-reviewed by J Watterson, K Butten, S Kristoffer; revised version received 27.03.23; accepted 22.05.23; published 18.08.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Amore AD, Britt A, Arconada Alvarez SJ, Greenleaf MN A Web-Based Intervention to Address Risk Factors for Maternal Morbidity and Mortality (MAMA LOVE): Development and Evaluation Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e44615 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e44615</u> doi:10.2196/44615

© Alexis Dunn Amore, Abby Britt, Santiago J Arconada Alvarez, Morgan N Greenleaf. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 18.8.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Using a Design Thinking Approach to Develop a Social Media–Based Parenting Program for Parents of Children With Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Mixed Methods Study

Umaporn Yam-Ubon<sup>1</sup>, MD; Therdpong Thongseiratch<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MD

2

**Corresponding Author:** Therdpong Thongseiratch, MSc, MD

# Abstract

**Background:** Parenting programs have proven effective in improving the behavior of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). However, barriers such as job and transportation constraints hinder parents from attending face-to-face therapy appointments. The COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated these challenges.

**Objective:** This study aimed to develop and test the feasibility of a social media–based parenting program for parents of children with ADHD, considering both the pre-existing challenges faced by parents and the additional barriers imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

**Methods:** This study used a 5-stage design thinking process, encompassing empathizing with parents, defining their needs, ideating innovative solutions, prototyping the program, and testing the program with parents. Qualitative interviews were conducted with 18 parents of children with ADHD to understand their unique needs and values. Brainstorming techniques were used to generate creative ideas, leading to the creation of a prototype that was tested with 32 parents. Participants' engagement with the program was measured, and posttraining feedback was collected to assess the program's effectiveness.

**Results:** Parents of children with ADHD encounter specific challenges, including managing impulsive behavior and difficulties in emotion regulation. The social media–based parenting program was delivered through the LINE app (Line Corporation) and consisted of 7 modules addressing topics related to ADHD management and effective parenting strategies. The program exhibited a high completion rate, with 84% (27/32) of participants successfully finishing it. Program provider–participant interaction peaked during the first week and gradually decreased over time. Qualitative feedback indicated that the program was feasible, accessible, and well received by participants. The LINE app was found to be convenient and helpful, and participants preferred content delivery once or twice per week, expressing acceptance for various content formats.

**Conclusions:** This study emphasizes the significance of adopting a human-centered design thinking approach to develop parenting programs that cater to the unique needs and values of parents. By leveraging social media platforms, such as LINE, a parenting program can overcome the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic and other constraints faced by parents. LINE offers a viable and feasible option for supporting parents of children with ADHD, with the potential for customization and widespread dissemination beyond the pandemic context.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6(1):e48201) doi:10.2196/48201

## KEYWORDS

attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; ADHD; parenting programs; human-centered design thinking; online interventions; COVID-19 pandemic; children; development; online parenting program; parenting; behavior; support; feasibility; social media; prototype; testing; design

# Introduction

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a prevalent psychological condition among school-aged children, affecting approximately 7.2% of children and adolescents aged  $\leq$ 18 years [1]. ADHD is associated with a range of negative consequences, including academic difficulties, impaired social relationships, and compromised quality of life, for both children and their families [2,3].

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48201

RenderX

In the management of ADHD, parenting programs and medication are recognized as crucial components. Although medication can help manage symptoms, it is often insufficient to address the complex challenges associated with ADHD, without the support and guidance provided by parenting programs [4,5]. Parenting programs have shown effectiveness in reducing children's disruptive behaviors and improving their adaptive functioning, making them a recommended primary intervention for managing ADHD symptoms [6,7]. These

programs typically involve systematic interventions designed to educate and empower parents in effectively managing their child's ADHD-related behaviors and challenges, with the ultimate goal of enhancing the child's overall well-being [8,9].

Traditionally, parenting programs have been delivered through face-to-face group sessions, wherein parents from different families come together at a designated clinic or primary care unit [10]. Although some programs may offer in-home training, group-based face-to-face sessions have been the preferred format for managing ADHD symptoms. However, these programs encounter numerous structural barriers that limit their accessibility and impact. These barriers include financial constraints, limited resources, logistical challenges, time constraints, the lack of available childcare, and scheduling conflicts [11]. In addition to these structural barriers, there may be negative attitudes toward seeking mental health services for children, which can deter parents from engaging in group-based parenting programs [12,13].

The generalizability and effectiveness of traditional parenting programs may also be limited in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), where socioeconomic conditions and health care systems differ significantly from those of high-income countries. Factors such as inadequate family income and limited access to mental health services can significantly moderate treatment outcomes [14]. Furthermore, the scarcity of trained mental health professionals in LMICs raises concerns about the feasibility and sustainability of therapist-delivered interventions [15]. Research on parenting programs in LMICs is relatively limited, and the delivery of such programs faces additional barriers, including the lack of a skilled and trained workforce and limited resources for supporting the implementation and dissemination of evidence-based interventions [16,17]. These challenges are further exacerbated by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which has introduced additional barriers and limitations to the delivery of parenting programs.

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted many aspects of daily life, including access to health care services and support programs. Parents of children with ADHD have faced significant challenges in accessing and completing parenting programs during this time [18]. Lockdown measures and restrictions have resulted in increased behavioral problems among children with ADHD due to reduced opportunities for social interaction and disrupted routines [19]. Moreover, the pandemic has exacerbated parenting-related fatigue and psychological distress, further straining the well-being of parents [20]. Research has shown that parent support programs implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic have been associated with lower levels of parental stress and improved well-being [21].

To address the challenges faced by parents both during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond, it is essential to prioritize the accessibility and effectiveness of parenting programs [22]. Social media–based programs have emerged as a promising solution, offering convenient and cost-effective interventions for various health issues, including obesity, diabetes mellitus, and certain mental health problems [23]. Social media–based programs provide higher accessibility rates than those of traditional face-to-face methods, allowing for timely intervention

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48201
```

RenderX

and support as soon as prodromal symptoms appear [24]. However, it is important to acknowledge that existing social media–based parenting programs have primarily been commercially driven [25], lacking effective bidirectional communication between parents and program providers [26-29], and have not undergone sufficient research to establish their efficacy in managing ADHD symptoms. Therefore, there is a need for evidence- and social media–based parenting programs specifically designed to address the unique challenges of managing ADHD.

## Methods

#### Setting

This study, which is part of a social media–based parenting program project, took place at a large university hospital in Songkhla, Thailand, during June 2020 (the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Thailand). A multidisciplinary team of health care professionals, including 1 general pediatrician, 2 developmental-behavioral pediatricians, 1 developmental-behavioral nurse, and 2 child psychologists, developed and coordinated the program.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The study protocol was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University (research ethics committee number: 62-381-1-1).

#### **Study Design**

We used a mixed methods approach, which involved participatory action research [30] and a design thinking process [31,32], to develop a social media–based parenting program for parents and caregivers of children with ADHD. The 5-step design thinking model from Stanford University's Hasso-Plattner Institute of Design (d. school) was used, including empathy, define, ideate, prototype, and test [33,34].

#### Phase 1: Empathy

Semistructured in-depth interviews with parents and caregivers of children with ADHD were conducted to understand their challenges, problem-solving abilities, and preferences for a social media–based parenting program [35]. Demographic information was also collected.

## Phase 2: Define

The research team synthesized the information from the interviews into a point-of-view statement [36], ensuring that it met the needs of the end users [35,37]. A group discussion refined the definition of parental requirements.

#### Phase 3: Ideate

Ideas for addressing the challenges and meeting the needs of parents were brainstormed, focusing on the creation of innovative solutions for the program content and features. Visual representations and structured brainstorming sessions facilitated the process [35,37].

#### **Phase 4: Prototype**

One or more prototypes were developed based on the previous phases' data. Rapid feedback was collected during testing to

determine end users' needs, and this feedback was used to further develop the prototype toward its full potential [35,37].

## Phase 5: Test

Feedback from users was collected after the prototype's launch [35,38]. Data on parental engagement and feedback on both benefits and potential negative interactions were used to refine the parent training program.

This study evaluated the five phases of the design thinking process, assigning distinct study populations to each stage based on the phase-related objectives. Data were collected from parents and caregivers of children with ADHD during the empathizing phase [39]. Afterward, during the ideation phase, these data were integrated into the initial program design and discussed with multidisciplinary health care professionals, including general pediatricians, developmental-behavioral pediatricians, developmental-behavioral nurses, and child psychologists. A prototype [38] was subsequently created and tested with parents and caregivers of children with ADHD. The participants in the test phase included those who were engaged in the empathizing phase, as well as new participants who were recruited specifically to increase the saturation of the findings of the testing phase. Posttraining feedback was collected, and participant engagement with the program was evaluated in the testing phase (Table 1).

Table . The five phases of the design thinking process and the methods used.

Phase	Concepts	Methods	Participants
Empathy	To discover users' needs and values for a familial technology-based solu- tion	In-depth interviews	18 parents
Define	To refine and narrow the definition in the revised solution to meed the end users' needs	Brainstorming technique	The research team
Ideate	To concentrate on idea generation and obtain innovative solutions for users	Brainstorming technique	The research team
Prototype	To generate the demonstrative solu- tion for users	Design a web-based prototype for trial use	The research team
Test	To obtain pilot results and feedback on the prototype	Collect feedback via a quantitative and qualitative approach	32 parents

## **Data Collection**

To assess participant engagement, a manual text mining script was used to extract full transcripts of messages from moderators, researchers, and participants. These messages were categorized as text, images, videos, stickers, and audio messages. In addition to engagement, qualitative research was conducted during the empathy and test phases to gather data on parents' needs, their perceptions, and lessons learned from the groups. Participants answered an open-ended questionnaire at the empathy phase and participated in in-depth interviews during the test phase.

#### **Data Analysis**

The engagement analysis involved calculating the total number of messages per topic and the frequency of messages sent per week by mothers and moderators. The frequency of messages, according to the day of the week and time of the day, was also evaluated to estimate mothers' most active moments in social media groups. In terms of the qualitative analysis, a grounded theory approach was adopted. The research team read all in-depth interview transcripts, identified emergent patterns, and used inductive coding to pinpoint key themes and concepts. Text was extracted from transcriptions to generate analysis content, themes, and findings, which were subsequently translated to English.

## Results

## Phase 1: Empathy

## Participant Characteristics

A total of 18 participants (primarily mothers), with a mean age of 42 years, were enrolled in this phase. The demographic data can be found in Table 2. Over half of the participants (10/18, 56%) had a bachelor's degree or higher. The qualitative research involved a thematic analysis and identified 8 themes, which are discussed below.



Yam-Ubon & Thongseiratch

Table . Summary data of participants (N=18) in the empathy phase.

Characteristic		Value	
Age (years), mean (range)		42 (25-55)	
Relationship, n (%)			
	Father	4 (22)	
	Mother	11 (61)	
	Grandmother	2 (11)	
	Aunt	1 (6)	
Education, n (%)			
	Primary school	1 (6)	
	High school	3 (17)	
	Diploma	4 (22)	
	Bachelor's degree	7 (39)	
	Master's degree	3 (17)	
Occupation, n (%)			
	Government official	4 (22)	
	Businessman	2 (11)	
	Freelance	6 (33)	
	Gardener	2 (11)	
	Merchant	3 (17)	
	Housewife	1 (6)	

## Theme 1: Parenting Problems

Participants expressed concerns about their children's behavior and its impact on their own mental health (eg, "Not only is unfinished homework the most common childrearing issue, but parents' mental health is also important in childrearing management").

## Theme 2: Parental Needs

Parents expressed a desire to learn techniques to help their children academically and emotionally (eg, "I'd like to learn the technique so that I can help him improve his academic performance").

## Theme 3: Target Problems to Resolve

Participants identified their children's primary issues, such as a lack of focus, disobedience, and a lack of self-control (eg, "I wish he was focused on my words, obedient, and capable of self-control").

## Theme 4: Internet Use Behavior

Parents shared information about their preferred electronic devices and social media–based platforms (eg, "I have a smartphone and a PC. In my daily existence, I frequently utilize LINE, Facebook, and Google").

## Theme 5: Frequency, Duration, and Time Periods

Participants discussed their daily internet usage habits and preferred times for intervention (eg, "I use my cellphone for 1-2 hours a day, between the hours of 8 and 10p.m.").

RenderX

## Theme 6: Media Types

Parents indicated their preferred media formats for the parenting program, such as infographics and videos (eg, "I recommend infographics and brief video clips").

## Theme 7: Individual Versus Group Counseling

Participants debated the merits of individual versus group counseling for addressing parenting issues (eg, "If the program is set up in a group setting, we may share experiences and track the development of the children").

## Theme 8: Target Recipients

Parents highlighted the importance of involving all family members in the parenting intervention (eg, "Information should be sent to the parents, grandparents, and grandfather due to possible inconsistencies in childrearing within the family").

## Phase 2: Define

In this phase, the research team, consisting of developmental-behavioral pediatricians, general pediatricians, a developmental-behavioral pediatrics nurse, and a psychologist, aimed to incorporate user requirements from the previous phase into the problem statement. They identified the users as "parents and caregivers of children with ADHD" and determined their critical need to be "learning parenting techniques" to help ameliorate their children's behavioral problems.

Through the analysis of the empathize phase, the team gained real insights into the parents' and caregivers' perspectives. Parents expressed feelings of being overwhelmed and sometimes felt helpless in the face of their children's ADHD-related

challenges. They also emphasized the importance of practical and easily applicable solutions that could seamlessly be integrated into their daily routines. The point-of-view statement, which was formulated based on these insights, was as follows:

Parents and caregivers of children with ADHD need effective parenting techniques and support to improve their children's behavior and overall well-being, while addressing their own emotional needs and fostering a sense of empowerment.

The insight synthesized from the data denoted the desire "to improve the behavioral issues of children with ADHD." This understanding led to the formulation of a "How Might We" (HMW) statement, which serves as a driving question to inspire innovative solutions. The HMW statement developed was as follows:

How might we create a supportive and accessible program that equips parents and caregivers of children with ADHD with the necessary parenting techniques to effectively manage their children's behavioral challenges and improve their overall well-being, while also addressing their emotional needs and fostering a sense of empowerment?

#### Phase 3: Ideate

The ideation phase began with the development team discussing potential solutions, using the HMW statement as a guide. The facilitator led a roundtable discussion centered around the HMW question.

To ensure a diverse range of ideas during the brainstorming session, the team used the "Work Alone Together" technique. This method allowed individual team members to generate ideas independently before sharing them with the group. This approach fostered creativity and encouraged the team to explore multiple channels, formats, and platforms for the parenting program, such as using social media, videoconferencing, booklets, podcasts, and group meetings to deliver the program content.

After the brainstorming session, the team used an affinity map (Textbox 1) to categorize and organize the generated ideas. This process allowed them to identify similarities, relationships, and patterns among the concepts. The affinity map included categories like LINE (Line Corporation), Facebook (Meta Platforms Inc), YouTube (YouTube LLC) or videos, videoconferences, booklets, lists, group meetings, telephone counseling, e-counseling, podcasts, behavioral tutorials, and television advertising.



Textbox 1. Affinity mapping.

- 1. LINE (Line Corporation)
  - LINE group
  - Parent LINE group
  - LINE group: parents and teacher
  - Individual LINE
- 2. Facebook (Meta Platforms Inc)
  - Facebook: changing behavior
  - Facebook page for children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)
  - Facebook pages
  - Facebook group of ADHD caregivers
- 3. YouTube (YouTube LLC) or videos
  - Suggested list of videos in YouTube
  - Develop video scenarios for behavioral management (published via a YouTube channel)
  - Videos describing common behavioral problems
- 4. Videoconferences
  - Use Zoom (Zoom Video Communications Inc) program for tracking behavioral problems
- 5. Booklets
  - Booklet for behavioral management
  - Brochure
  - Question-and-answer brochure about common behavioral problems
- 6. Lists
  - List of interesting Facebook pages
  - Lists of websites about parenting
  - Suggest websites about ADHD
- 7. Group meetings
  - Group meeting for ADHD caregivers
  - Parent group meeting
- 8. Telephone counseling
- 9. e-Counseling
  - Advise behavioral management
  - Target behavior according to age
- 10. Podcast: parenting management
- 11. Behavioral tutorial via teacher
- 12. Television advertising at schools and hospitals

The team used a prioritization map (Figure 1) to rank the ideas. Before using the member voting technique, they arranged the ideas in the four quadrants of the prioritization map. This approach helped them evaluate the importance and feasibility of each idea. After organizing the ideas in the quadrants, the team voted to determine the most effective and straightforward

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48201

RenderX

indicated that LINE was the preferred choice. Consequently, LINE was chosen as the social media platform for content delivery in this study. The ideation phase also resulted in the creation of prototypes for the proposed parent training programs, which included text messages, infographics, videos, and

platform for developing the parent training program. The results

assignments. Weekly learning goals were set, and samples of content for end users were designed.

Figure 1. Prioritization map.



#### **Phase 4: Prototype**

The prototype phase involved the development of a comprehensive social media–based parent training program, based on the insights and ideas gathered in the previous three phases of the design thinking process. The prototype consisted of a LINE-based parenting program, which included various components, such as content creation, user experience (UX) development of infographics, and video clip production, to provide parenting models for parents and caregivers.

## **Content Prototype**

The content prototype was designed to address the needs and preferences of the target users. The team developed a curriculum of 7 parent training modules, which were to be completed over a 7-week intervention period. Each module covered a specific topic related to parenting children with ADHD and offered practical strategies, advice, and tips. The content was delivered through a combination of text messages, infographics, videos, and assignments, ensuring that the program was engaging, informative, and easy to follow (Table 3).

Table . Prototype LINE-based parenting contents.

Weeks and days		Contents
Weeks 1-2		Introduction
	Day 1	Program introduction
	Days 1-2	Understanding ADHD <sup>a</sup>
	Day 3	Treatment of ADHD
	Day 4	Case scenario video (homework)
	Day 5	Parental concern and setting goal
	Day 6	Rationale, rule, and cycle of problem
	Days 6-7	Basic principles in child behavioral management
	Day 8	Advantage of parent training
	Days 9-10	ABC <sup>b</sup> model (homework)
	Days 11-12	Problem solutions
	Days 13-14	Summary and discussion
Week 3		Basic communication skills
	Day 1	Inappropriate conversations (homework)
	Days 1-2	Negative conversations
	Days 3-4	Using "I" messages and "you/he/she" messages
	Day 5	Effective communication
	Day 6	Constructive instruction
	Day 7	Case scenario video (homework)
Week 4		Praise
	Day 1	Praise
	Day 2	Case scenario video (homework)
	Day 3	Principles, components, and examples
	Days 3-6	Diary notes
	Days 5-7	Reminders about basic communication skills
	Day 7	Reflection
Week 5		Rewards
	Day 1	Types of rewards
	Day 2	Principles of rewards
	Day 3	Define target behaviors
	Days 4-6	Reflection and technique suggestion
	Days 4-6	Diary notes
	Day 7	Summary and discussion
	Day 7	Reminders about previous skills
Week 6		How to deal with behavioral problems
	Day 1	Objectives and principles of behavioral management
	Day 2	Effective behavioral management
	Day 3	Time-out
	Day 4	Verbal command
	Day 4	Ignorance
	Days 5-6	Case scenario video (homework)



XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | iss. 1 |e48201 | p.856 (page number not for citation purposes)

Yam-Ubon & Thongseiratch

Weeks and days		Contents
	Days 2-6	Sharing the experiences
	Days 2-6	Diary notes
	Day 7	Summary and discussion
Week 7		How to deal with homework
	Day 1	Principles of doing homework
	Day 2	How to deal with homework
	Day 3	Behavioral management
	Day 4	Self-reporting card
	Days 2-7	Sharing the experiences
	Days 2-7	Diary notes
	Day 7	Summary and discussion

<sup>a</sup>ADHD: attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder.

<sup>b</sup>ABC: Antecedent, Behavior, and Consequences.

#### **UX** Development and Parent Interaction

In order to create a visually appealing, user-friendly experience that also facilitated meaningful interaction among parents, the team focused on the design of infographics and on fostering engagement among users. The infographics were designed to be clear, concise, and informative, presenting complex information in an easily digestible format. They included visuals, charts, and graphs to illustrate key points and concepts, making it easier for parents to understand and apply the strategies discussed in the program. To promote interaction and engagement, the team incorporated features that encouraged parents to share their experiences, ask questions, and provide support to one another. This was achieved through the creation of a dedicated LINE group, wherein users could engage in discussions, share their progress, and seek advice from both experts and fellow parents. The group also served as a platform for sharing additional resources, hosting live question-and-answer sessions, and conducting polls to gather feedback and gauge user satisfaction. By fostering a sense of community and providing opportunities for interaction, the UX development aimed to enhance the overall effectiveness and appeal of the program (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Example of a conversation through a moderated LINE group.



#### Video Clip Production

To further enhance the program's effectiveness and user engagement, the team produced a series of video clips that demonstrated various parenting models and techniques. These videos featured expert advice, real-life examples, and step-by-step instructions to help parents and caregivers better understand and apply the strategies discussed in the program. The videos were designed to be short, focused, and easy to access, allowing users to watch them at their convenience.

#### **Prototype Evaluation**

Once the initial prototype was complete, it was evaluated by a group of parents and caregivers who participated in a pilot testing phase. Participants completed a web-based eligibility

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48201

RenderX

screening and informed consent process as part of the baseline survey. Those who met the eligibility criteria and provided their consent were directed to complete comprehensive baseline surveys. Participants received a general schedule for the completion of the seven parent training modules and were provided with approximately one or two inputs daily, between 6 PM and 9 PM. They were also given 2 assignments per week, with a 1-week deadline for completing the assigned tasks.

The feedback gathered from the pilot testing phase was used to refine and improve the prototype, ensuring that it effectively addressed the needs and preferences of the target users. The final prototype of the LINE-based parenting program was then prepared for implementation and further evaluation.

#### Phase 5: Test

## **Participants**

A total of 32 participants from 24 families, who were parents or caregivers of children (aged 4 to 10 years) diagnosed with ADHD, were enrolled in this phase. Participants included mothers (20/32, 63%) and primary caregivers (29/32, 91%) with a bachelor's degree. Most children were boys aged 8 to 10 years who were receiving medication as primary treatment (24/32, 75%).

#### Participant Engagement in the Program

Engagement was assessed by tracking the content marked as "read" in the LINE app every week over the 7-week intervention

Table . Classification of patient engagement scores.

period. The responses to interventions were categorized on a 4-point scale (0=unread; 1=only read; 2=interaction with the intervention [posting a sticker, responding with "OK," or writing "thank you"]; 3=initiating a discussion or asking a question). A score of 46 represented that the participant had read all the content, while scores above 46 indicated that they read and interacted with the program providers. Table 4 illustrates the distribution of participants' levels of engagement with the program, showing that the majority of them (16/32, 50%) completed the intervention, while 34% (11/32) demonstrated higher engagement by actively interacting with the content. On the other hand, 16% (5/32) of the participants were classified as nonadherent, indicating a lower level of engagement with the program.

Classification	Score	Participants (N=32), n (%)
Nonadherence	<46	5 (16)
Completion	46	16 (50)
Adherence	>46	11 (34)

Participants' engagement levels were charted by using a linear graph, which depicted their levels of interaction with the content over the 7-week period (Figure 3). The first week showed the

highest engagement levels, which gradually decreased over time, reaching the lowest point in the last week.

These data highlight the overall participant engagement in the program and how it evolved throughout the intervention.

Figure 3. Response from intervention.



#### **Posttraining Feedback**

Qualitative data were collected from 32 participants via in-depth interviews after they completed the LINE parenting program. The following four themes emerged from the thematic analysis: (1) social media platform, (2) internet use behavior, (3) content formats, and (4) intervention adherence.

#### Theme 1: Social Media Platform

Participants found the LINE app to be convenient and accessible, accessing it daily. They appreciated being able to save and review images and videos. One participant said:

LINE is convenient, but an OPD visit is still necessary because when the doctor speaks to my son, he listens and follows your advice.

#### Theme 2: Internet Use Behavior

Participants often read the content at night or on weekends, and the daily delivery of content was considered appropriate. Primary caregivers preferred daily content delivery, while others favored weekly delivery. A participant stated:

*I read the content on weekdays, after 21:00. Frequency of content delivery is acceptable at about 2–3 times per day.* 

#### Theme 3: Content Formats

All content formats were deemed acceptable, and participants found Google Forms (Google LLC) to be user-friendly for assignments and questionnaires. They suggested the addition of more video clips that demonstrate communication techniques. One participant made the following suggestion:

Google forms make it simple to complete assignments and questionnaires. Some content should be adjusted to reflect the child's age and developmental stage.

#### **Theme 4: Intervention Adherence**

Participants applied the praising and communication skills from the modules in their daily lives. Many believed that a parenting program is suitable for primary caregivers, though some recommended adaptations for specific situations. For example, a participant said:

A parenting program is appropriate for primary caregivers. If the recipient is not the primary caregiver, the content should be delivered at a slower rate.

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

The innovative social media–based parenting program, which was developed through a design thinking process, demonstrates the potential of leveraging familiar and accessible platforms to address the needs of parents and caregivers of children with ADHD. By using the LINE app, the program delivered content in varied formats, offering valuable ADHD information, parenting guidance, assignments, and screen-to-screen consultations. This approach made the program accessible, feasible, and acceptable for Thai parents, who found it convenient to save and review information as needed. The success of the program can be attributed to the incorporation of the participants' needs and values, its feasibility, and its acceptability, as evidenced by the high retention rate and qualitative feedback.

The internet use behaviors observed in this study, such as preferred communication times and the use of familiar social media apps, align with previous research [40-45]. This highlights the importance of considering user preferences and behaviors in the development of social media–based interventions, as doing so can increase engagement, effectiveness, and acceptability. The use of the LINE app facilitated user engagement, as it was familiar, simple, and accessible. This supports the notion that promoting credible social media sites and educating users on proper social media use can help reduce misinformation regarding parenting issues [46-50]. Additionally, using a platform that users are familiar with can minimize barriers to access and improve UX.

The content, structure, and delivery of the program were crucial factors that contributed to its feasibility and acceptability. Participants appreciated the convenience of receiving the program through the LINE app, which they used daily. The praise-focused content was particularly interesting to the participants, in line with a previous meta-analysis that found a

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48201
```

XSI•FC

large effect size for praise, reward, and logical sequence techniques [8]. The program's flexible structure allowed parents to engage with the content at their preferred times and facilitated the sharing of content with other individuals facing similar challenges.

Participants were highly engaged with the program, with 84% (27/32) of participants expressing interest in the intervention. Parents were familiar with the LINE app and discussed their children's behavioral difficulties. Although participants did not always respond immediately to the inputs, they reported reading the material later, saving photographs and video clips on their devices, and sharing the materials with others who faced similar problems with their children's behavior. These engagement rates compare favorably with previous studies; Franke et al [51] found that 55% of participants completed all 8 modules of their intervention, while Baker et al [52] reported a retention rate of approximately 92.5% at postintervention assessment, with 81% of participants completing the 9-month follow-up evaluation.

Participants believed that the program should also include other caregivers, but the content should be brief and summarized for nonprimary caregivers. Previous research has also shown that interactive programs are more effective in improving child behavior than noninteractive programs [47]. This highlights the importance of customization in social media–based parenting programs. Participants also provided valuable suggestions for improving the program, such as including more behavioral management video simulations and tailoring content to different family circumstances. These recommendations highlight the importance of continuously refining and adapting interventions to better address the specific needs and contexts of target populations. Customization and personalization have been shown to be significant factors in the success of social media–based parenting programs [8,9,53,54].

#### **Future Research and Implementation**

With regard to future research and implementation, human-centered solutions are necessary to reduce the gap between parents' needs and the content and structure of parenting programs, particularly for parents of children with ADHD. Future studies should focus on personalization, engagement, and positive parental experiences to improve social media-based parenting programs. Additionally, more research is needed to understand how to optimize the integration of technology into parenting interventions, especially in LMICs, where resources and access to quality information may be limited. Collaboration among health care providers, researchers, and technology developers is essential for the creation of effective and accessible social media-based interventions. By working together, these stakeholders can ensure that evidence-based information and guidance are disseminated to parents and caregivers in an engaging, user-friendly format. Furthermore, public health organizations and educational institutions can play a critical role in promoting and supporting the adoption of such interventions within communities.

#### Limitations

This study has several limitations that should be acknowledged. First, the sample size was small, which may impact the statistical

power of the quantitative findings. However, it is important to note that this study used a mixed methods approach, which allows for data saturation and ensures comprehensive exploration of the research questions beyond mere statistical power. Second, this study was conducted within a single institution; as such, there is a possibility of selection bias, and the findings many not be generalizable to a broader population. To address this limitation, future research should consider multicenter collaborations to include more diverse settings and participants, thereby enhancing the external validity of the findings. Additionally, volunteer bias may have influenced the results, as participants who volunteered for this study may have had characteristics or motivations that were distinct from those of nonparticipants. To mitigate this bias, future studies could explore recruitment strategies that reach a wider range of participants, aiming for a more representative sample.

#### Conclusion

This study provides evidence for the feasibility and acceptability of a social media–based parenting program for Thai parents of children with ADHD. The program was developed by using a design thinking approach and delivered through the LINE app, a social media platform that was familiar and accessible to the participants. The program provided valuable technical skills related to nurturing children with ADHD and was well received by parents and caregivers. Future research on social media–based parenting programs should focus on personalization and on meeting the specific needs of parents and caregivers to improve long-term outcomes for children with ADHD and their families.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- 1. Thomas R, Sanders S, Doust J, Beller E, Glasziou P. Prevalence of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2015 Apr;135(4):e994-e1001. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2014-3482</u>] [Medline: <u>25733754</u>]
- Agnew-Blais JC, Polanczyk GV, Danese A, Wertz J, Moffitt TE, Arseneault L. Young adult mental health and functional outcomes among individuals with remitted, persistent and late-onset ADHD. Br J Psychiatry 2018 Sep;213(3):526-534. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.97] [Medline: 29957167]
- 3. Peters K, Jackson D. Mothers' experiences of parenting a child with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Adv Nurs 2009 Jan;65(1):62-71. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04853.x] [Medline: 19120583]
- 4. Daley D, Jones K, Hutchings J, Thompson M. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in pre-school children: current findings, recommended interventions and future directions. Child Care Health Dev 2009 Nov;35(6):754-766. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.00938.x] [Medline: 19508319]
- Barbaresi WJ, Campbell L, Diekroger EA, Froehlich TE, Liu YH, O'Malley E, et al. The Society for Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics clinical practice guideline for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with complex attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: process of care algorithms. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2020;41 Suppl 2S:S58-S74. [doi: 10.1097/DBP.000000000000781] [Medline: 31996578]
- Nowak C, Heinrichs N. A comprehensive meta-analysis of Triple P-Positive Parenting Program using hierarchical linear modeling: effectiveness and moderating variables. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 2008 Sep;11(3):114-144. [doi: 10.1007/s10567-008-0033-0] [Medline: 18509758]
- Dekkers TJ, Groenman AP, Wessels L, Kovshoff H, Hoekstra PJ, van den Hoofdakker BJ. Which factors determine clinicians' policy and attitudes towards medication and parent training for children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder? Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2022 Mar;31(3):483-493. [doi: 10.1007/s00787-021-01735-4] [Medline: 33585968]
- Leijten P, Gardner F, Melendez-Torres GJ, van Aar J, Hutchings J, Schulz S, et al. Meta-analyses: key parenting program components for disruptive child behavior. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2019 Feb;58(2):180-190. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.900] [Medline: 30738545]
- Leijten P, Melendez-Torres GJ, Gardner F, van Aar J, Schulz S, Overbeek G. Are relationship enhancement and behavior management "the golden couple" for disruptive child behavior? Two meta-analyses. Child Dev 2018 Nov;89(6):1970-1982. [doi: 10.1111/cdev.13051] [Medline: 29557553]
- 10. Shaffer A, Kotchick BA, Dorsey S, Forehand R. The past, present, and future of behavioral parent training: interventions for child and adolescent problem behavior. Behav Anal Today 2001;2(2):91-105. [doi: 10.1037/h0099922]
- Reardon T, Harvey K, Baranowska M, O'Brien D, Smith L, Creswell C. What do parents perceive are the barriers and facilitators to accessing psychological treatment for mental health problems in children and adolescents? A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2017 Jun;26(6):623-647. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00787-016-0930-6]</u> [Medline: <u>28054223</u>]
- Hansen AS, Telléus GK, Mohr-Jensen C, Lauritsen MB. Parent-perceived barriers to accessing services for their child's mental health problems. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health 2021 Jan 29;15(1):4. [doi: <u>10.1186/s13034-021-00357-7</u>] [Medline: <u>33514400</u>]

- Ohan JL, Visser TAW, Moss RG, Allen NB. Parents' stigmatizing attitudes toward psychiatric labels for ADHD and depression. Psychiatr Serv 2013 Dec 1;64(12):1270-1273. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201200578</u>] [Medline: <u>24292733</u>]
- Mejia A, Calam R, Sanders MR. A review of parenting programs in developing countries: opportunities and challenges for preventing emotional and behavioral difficulties in children. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 2012 Jun;15(2):163-175. [doi: 10.1007/s10567-012-0116-9] [Medline: 22427004]
- 15. Kakuma R, Minas H, van Ginneken N, Dal Poz MR, Desiraju K, Morris JE, et al. Human resources for mental health care: current situation and strategies for action. Lancet 2011 Nov 5;378(9803):1654-1663. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61093-3] [Medline: 22008420]
- Leijten P, Melendez-Torres GJ, Knerr W, Gardner F. Transported versus homegrown parenting interventions for reducing disruptive child behavior: a multilevel meta-regression study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2016 Jul;55(7):610-617. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2016.05.003] [Medline: 27343888]
- 17. Parra-Cardona R, Leijten P, Lachman JM, Mejía A, Baumann AA, Amador Buenabad NG, et al. Strengthening a culture of prevention in low- and middle-income countries: balancing scientific expectations and contextual realities. Prev Sci 2021 Jan;22(1):7-17. [doi: 10.1007/s11121-018-0935-0] [Medline: 30058025]
- Summers J, Baribeau D, Mockford M, Goldhopf L, Ambrozewicz P, Szatmari P, et al. Supporting children with neurodevelopmental disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2021 Jan;60(1):2-6. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaac.2020.09.011</u>] [Medline: <u>32998024</u>]
- Raviv T, Warren CM, Washburn JJ, Kanaley MK, Eihentale L, Goldenthal HJ, et al. Caregiver perceptions of children's psychological well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Apr 1;4(4):e2111103. [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.11103] [Medline: <u>33914046</u>]
- 20. Marchetti D, Fontanesi L, Mazza C, Di Giandomenico S, Roma P, Verrocchio MC. Parenting-related exhaustion during the Italian COVID-19 lockdown. J Pediatr Psychol 2020 Nov 1;45(10):1114-1123. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa093</u>] [Medline: <u>33068403</u>]
- 21. Brown SM, Doom JR, Lechuga-Peña S, Watamura SE, Koppels T. Stress and parenting during the global COVID-19 pandemic. Child Abuse Negl 2020 Dec;110(Pt 2):104699. [doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104699] [Medline: 32859394]
- Baumel A, Pawar A, Mathur N, Kane JM, Correll CU. Technology-assisted parent training programs for children and adolescents with disruptive behaviors: a systematic review. J Clin Psychiatry 2017;78(8):e957-e969. [doi: 10.4088/JCP.16r11063] [Medline: 28493653]
- 23. Fedele DA, Cushing CC, Fritz A, Amaro CM, Ortega A. Mobile health interventions for improving health outcomes in youth: a meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2017 May 1;171(5):461-469. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0042</u>] [Medline: <u>28319239</u>]
- 24. Lupton D, Pedersen S, Thomas GM. Parenting and digital media: from the early web to contemporary digital society. Sociol Compass 2016 Aug;10(8):730-743. [doi: 10.1111/soc4.12398]
- 25. Breitenstein SM, Fogg L, Ocampo EV, Acosta DI, Gross D. Parent use and efficacy of a self-administered, tablet-based parent training intervention: a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Apr 20;4(2):e36. [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5202] [Medline: 27098111]
- Morgan AJ, Rapee RM, Tamir E, Goharpey N, Salim A, McLellan LF, et al. Preventing anxiety problems in children with Cool Little Kids Online: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2015 Nov 5;16:507. [doi: 10.1186/s13063-015-1022-5] [Medline: 26541812]
- Ghaderi A, Kadesjö C, Björnsdotter A, Enebrink P. Randomized effectiveness trial of the Family Check-Up versus internet-delivered parent training (iComet) for families of children with conduct problems. Sci Rep 2018 Jul 31;8(1):11486. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41598-018-29550-z</u>] [Medline: <u>30065246</u>]
- 28. Baumel A, Faber K. Evaluating Triple P Online: a digital parent training program for child behavior problems. Cogn Behav Pract 2018 Nov;25(4):538-543. [doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2017.10.001]
- 29. Florean IS, Dobrean A, Păsărelu CR, Georgescu RD, Milea I. The efficacy of internet-based parenting programs for children and adolescents with behavior problems: A meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 2020 Dec;23(4):510-528. [doi: 10.1007/s10567-020-00326-0] [Medline: 32897527]
- 30. Katoppo ML, Sudradjat I. Combining participatory action research (PAR) and design thinking (DT) as an alternative research method in architecture. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2015 May;184:118-125. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.05.069]
- 31. Hahn-Goldberg S, Chaput A, Rosenberg-Yunger Z, Lunsky Y, Okrainec K, Guilcher S, et al. Tool development to improve medication information transfer to patients during transitions of care: a participatory action research and design thinking methodology approach. Res Social Adm Pharm 2022 Jan;18(1):2170-2177. [doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2021.04.002] [Medline: 33926826]
- 32. Wolcott MD, McLaughlin JE, Hubbard DK, Rider TR, Umstead K. Twelve tips to stimulate creative problem-solving with design thinking. Med Teach 2021 May;43(5):501-508. [doi: <u>10.1080/0142159X.2020.1807483</u>] [Medline: <u>32847450</u>]
- Plattner H, Meinel C, Leifer L, editors. Design Thinking Research: Building Innovators. Cham, Switzerland: Springer Cham; 2015. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-319-06823-7</u>]

- 34. Haesebaert J, Samson I, Lee-Gosselin H, Guay-Bélanger S, Proteau JF, Drouin G, et al. How to engage patients in research and quality improvement in community-based primary care settings: protocol for a participatory action research pilot study. Res Involv Engagem 2018 Oct 1;4:30. [doi: 10.1186/s40900-018-0113-3] [Medline: 30288298]
- 35. Hasso Plattner Institute of Design at Stanford University. An introduction to design thinking process guide. 2020. URL: web.stanford.edu/~mshanks/MichaelShanks/files/509554.pdf [accessed 2023-06-27]
- van der Westhuizen D, Conrad N, Douglas TS, Mutsvangwa T. Engaging communities on health innovation: experiences in implementing design thinking. Int Q Community Health Educ 2020 Oct;41(1):101-114. [doi: <u>10.1177/0272684X19900880</u>] [Medline: <u>31973626</u>]
- 37. Ku B, Lupton E. Health Design Thinking: Creating Products and Services for Better Health. Cambridge, United States: The MIT Press; 2020.
- Hou IC, Lan MF, Shen SH, Tsai PY, Chang KJ, Tai HC, et al. The development of a mobile health app for breast cancer self-management support in Taiwan: design thinking approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Apr 30;8(4):e15780. [doi: 10.2196/15780] [Medline: 32352390]
- 39. Salminen M, Hamari J, Ravaja N. Empathizing with the end user: effect of empathy and emotional intelligence on ideation. Creat Res J 2021 Jan 4;33(2):191-201. [doi: 10.1080/10400419.2020.1864164]
- 40. Wolfers LN, Kitzmann S, Sauer S, Sommer N. Phone use while parenting: an observational study to assess the association of maternal sensitivity and smartphone use in a playground setting. Comput Hum Behav 2020 Jan;102:31-38. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.08.013]
- 41. Kim C, Kang KI, Lee N. Intergenerational transmissions of mother-adolescent smartphone dependency: the mediating role of negative parenting and the moderating role of gender. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Aug 13;17(16):5871. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17165871] [Medline: 32823575]
- 42. Modecki KL, Low-Choy S, Uink BN, Vernon L, Correia H, Andrews K. Tuning into the real effect of smartphone use on parenting: a multiverse analysis. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2020 Aug;61(8):855-865. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13282] [Medline: 32638400]
- 43. Hooglugt F, Ludden GDS. A mobile app adopting an identity focus to promote physical activity (MoveDaily): iterative design study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jun 15;8(6):e16720. [doi: <u>10.2196/16720</u>] [Medline: <u>32538795</u>]
- 44. Militello L, Melnyk BM, Hekler EB, Small L, Jacobson D. Automated behavioral text messaging and face-to-face intervention for parents of overweight or obese preschool children: results from a pilot study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Mar 14;4(1):e21. [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4398] [Medline: 26976387]
- 45. Marko-Holguin M, Cordel SL, Van Voorhees BW, Fogel J, Sykes E, Fitzgibbon M, et al. A two-way interactive text messaging application for low-income patients with chronic medical conditions: design-thinking development approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 May 1;7(5):e11833. [doi: 10.2196/11833] [Medline: 31042152]
- 46. Hagg E, Dahinten VS, Currie LM. The emerging use of social media for health-related purposes in low and middle-income countries: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2018 Jul;115:92-105. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.04.010</u>] [Medline: <u>29779724</u>]
- 47. Baumel A, Pawar A, Kane JM, Correll CU. Digital parent training for children with disruptive behaviors: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2016 Oct;26(8):740-749. [doi: 10.1089/cap.2016.0048] [Medline: 27286325]
- 48. Enebrink P, Högström J, Forster M, Ghaderi A. Internet-based parent management training: a randomized controlled study. Behav Res Ther 2012 Apr;50(4):240-249. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2012.01.006] [Medline: 22398153]
- 49. Morgan AJ, Rapee RM, Salim A, Goharpey N, Tamir E, McLellan LF, et al. Internet-delivered parenting program for prevention and early intervention of anxiety problems in young children: randomized controlled trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2017 May;56(5):417-425.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2017.02.010] [Medline: 28433091]
- 50. Sourander A, McGrath PJ, Ristkari T, Cunningham C, Huttunen J, Lingley-Pottie P, et al. Internet-assisted parent training intervention for disruptive behavior in 4-year-old children: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry 2016 Apr;73(4):378-387. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.3411] [Medline: 26913614]
- 51. Franke N, Keown LJ, Sanders MR. An RCT of an online parenting program for parents of preschool-aged children with ADHD symptoms. J Atten Disord 2020 Oct;24(12):1716-1726. [doi: 10.1177/1087054716667598] [Medline: 27609783]
- 52. Baker S, Sanders MR, Turner KMT, Morawska A. A randomized controlled trial evaluating a low-intensity interactive online parenting intervention, Triple P Online Brief, with parents of children with early onset conduct problems. Behav Res Ther 2017 Apr;91:78-90. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2017.01.016] [Medline: 28167330]
- 53. Thongseiratch T, Leijten P, Melendez-Torres GJ. Online parent programs for children's behavioral problems: a meta-analytic review. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020 Nov;29(11):1555-1568. [doi: 10.1007/s00787-020-01472-0] [Medline: 31925545]
- 54. Farao J, Malila B, Conrad N, Mutsvangwa T, Rangaka MX, Douglas TS. A user-centred design framework for mHealth. PLoS One 2020 Aug 19;15(8):e0237910. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237910] [Medline: 32813711]

## Abbreviations

RenderX

ADHD: attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder
HMW: How Might We LMIC: low- and middle-income country UX: user experience

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 15.04.23; peer-reviewed by M Gasmi, S Gupta; revised version received 06.06.23; accepted 13.06.23; published 28.07.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Yam-Ubon U, Thongseiratch T Using a Design Thinking Approach to Develop a Social Media–Based Parenting Program for Parents of Children With Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6(1):e48201 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e48201</u> doi:<u>10.2196/48201</u>

© Umaporn Yam-ubon, Therdpong Thongseiratch. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.7.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Pediatric Delirium Educational Tool Development With Intensive Care Unit Clinicians and Caregivers in Canada: Focus Group Study

Michael Wood<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Kavi Gandhi<sup>1</sup>, BCom; Andrea Chapman<sup>1,2</sup>, MD; Peter Skippen<sup>1,3</sup>, MD; Gordon Krahn<sup>1</sup>, RRT, BSc; Matthias Görges<sup>1,4</sup>, PhD; S Evelyn Stewart<sup>1,2,5</sup>, MD

**Corresponding Author:** S Evelyn Stewart, MD

# Abstract

**Background:** Pediatric intensive care unit (PICU)–associated delirium contributes to a decline in postdischarge quality of life, with worse outcomes for individuals with delayed identification. As delirium screening rates remain low within PICUs, caregivers may be able to assist with early detection, for which they need more education, as awareness of pediatric delirium among caregivers remains limited.

**Objective:** This study aimed to develop an educational tool for caregivers to identify potential delirium symptoms during their child's PICU stay, educate them on how to best support their child if they experience delirium, and guide them to relevant family resources.

**Methods:** Web-based focus groups were conducted at a tertiary pediatric hospital with expected end users of the tool (ie, PICU health care professionals and caregivers of children with an expected PICU length of stay of over 48 h) to identify potential educational information for inclusion in a family resource guide and to identify strategies for effective implementation. Data were analyzed thematically to generate requirements to inform prototype development. Participants then provided critical feedback on the initial prototype, which guided the final design.

**Results:** In all, 24 participants (18 health care professionals and 6 caregivers) attended 7 focus groups. Participants identified five informational sections for inclusion: (1) delirium definition, (2) key features of delirium (signs and symptoms), (3) postdischarge outcomes associated with delirium, (4) tips to inform family-centered care, and (5) education or supportive resources. Participants identified seven design requirements: information should (1) be presented in an order that resembles the structure of the clinical discussion around delirium; (2) increase accessibility, recall, and preparedness by providing multiple formats; (3) aim to reduce stress by implementing positive framing; (4) minimize cognitive load to ensure adequate information processing; (5) provide supplemental electronic resources via QR codes; (6) emphasize collaboration between caregivers and the health care team; and (7) use prompting questions to act as a call to action for caregivers.

**Conclusions:** Key design requirements derived from end-user feedback were established and guided the development of a novel pediatric delirium education tool. Implementing this tool into regular practice has the potential to reduce distress and assist in the early recognition and treatment of delirium in the PICU domain. Future evaluation of its clinical utility is necessary.

## (JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e53120) doi:10.2196/53120

## **KEYWORDS**

pediatric delirium education; pediatric ICU; focus groups, prototyping; end users; users; education; educational; educational tool; tool; development; caregiver; Canada; PICU; pediatric intensive care unit; quality of life; child; children; family resource; cognition; clinical utility; intensive care unit

RenderX

## Introduction

## Background

Delirium is a neurological dysfunction characterized by an acute onset of inattention, consciousness fluctuations, or disorganized thinking [1,2]. Approximately 25% of pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) patients experience delirium throughout their stay [3], with greater prevalence among children who require mechanical ventilation (54%-74%) [4]. PICU patients with delirium tend to have an increased length of stay, and pediatric delirium has been independently associated with mortality [5]. PICU survivors frequently experience substantial physical and psychosocial morbidities, such as sleep disturbances, anxiety, depression, and memory impairments, which may increase in severity with increased delirium duration [6,7]. Following discharge, PICU patients with delirium also experience decreased quality of life (eg, physical functioning, bodily pain, and social behaviors) [8], as do their caregivers (eg, physical and emotional well-being [8] and financial difficulties [6]). Collectively, pediatric delirium results in long-term complications affecting both patients and their caregivers.

An educational tool can help caregivers recognize delirium symptoms, aid in delirium detection, and help diminish caregiver anxiety and distress when delirium occurs [4,9-18]. Early intervention has been associated with a substantial decrease in delirium duration and subsequent complications [19], further indicating the need to use the caregiver's unique and vital role in recognizing deviations from their child's premorbid baseline functioning [9,14]. Family-based identification can be comparable to clinical identification [14] and is essential in pediatrics, given that only 2% to 7% of PICU patients are routinely screened for delirium [4]. Thus, empowering caregivers to increase their understanding and involvement in preventing, detecting, and managing delirium has been suggested [9,12-14,20,21]. Despite these recommendations and the clinical relevancy of delirium, family caregiver education remains rare [10], representing an opportunity to implement practical educational tools in the PICU.

#### **Objectives**

We aimed to develop an educational tool for caregivers whose child may develop PICU-associated delirium, which would enable them to identify signs of delirium and bring that information to the health care providers' attention during the PICU stay, provide education on how they can best support their child if their child experiences delirium, and provide relevant resources to support families.

## Methods

## **Study Design**

We applied patient-oriented research principles [22]. We conducted a qualitative study using focus groups with caregivers (ie, parents of children currently receiving, or who recently received, pediatric intensive care with an expected length of stay for over 48 h) and clinicians or allied health professionals (eg, pediatricians, psychiatrists, clinical fellows, resident physicians, psychologists, nurse practitioners, nurses, and

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e53120
```

pharmacists), all of whom have experience in PICU-associated delirium and who work at BC Children's Hospital (BCCH) in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethical approval was obtained from the University of British Columbia and Children's & Women's Health Centre of British Columbia Research Ethics Board (H22-03478; date of approval: February 28, 2023; principal investigator: SES). Our findings are reported following the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist [23].

### Participant Recruitment and Eligibility

Clinicians and allied health professionals were approached by trained research staff at BCCH and contacted via departmental email distribution lists. In contrast, caregivers were recruited in person in the PICU during their child's hospital stay. After a trained research team member described the study and answered any questions, informed consent was obtained in person or electronically using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap; Vanderbilt University) [24,25]. As the focus groups were conducted over the web, participants were required to have an internet connection and access to an electronic device (eg, tablet, smartphone, or computer). To encourage participation, participants were provided CAD \$25 (US \$18.35) per hour as an honorarium for their time and expertise. Each focus group session aimed to have mixed participant types and included approximately 3 to 5 clinicians and allied health professionals and 3 to 5 caregivers.

### **Data Collection**

Following informed consent, a brief demographics questionnaire (eg, age range, education level, etc) was administered using REDCap [25]. Two trained research team members (MW and KG) conducted the focus group meetings between February and August 2023 using Zoom (Zoom Video Communications). One researcher facilitated the sessions (MW) while another research team member took notes (KG); only the 2 research team members and the recruited participants attended each session. At the start of each focus group, the team members introduced themselves and their role and then asked the participants to provide a brief introduction. A team member gave an overview of the research program, including the rationale for educating caregivers about pediatric delirium.

The focus groups were iterative, consisting of 2 stages, and participants were invited to both. First, sessions used guided questions to prompt participants to discuss three themes: (1) how delirium education has been given to caregivers previously, or how clinicians or allied health professionals have previously provided delirium education; (2) what educational tools or instruments participants have used; and (3) what type of information is pertinent to educate caregivers about pediatric delirium (see Multimedia Appendix 1). We then shared adult delirium educational tool examples (created or adapted from Vanderbilt University) to elicit design requirements and visualization preferences to inform prototype development. In follow-up sessions, we reviewed the findings from the previous focus groups and screen-shared our educational tool prototype to obtain end-user feedback to guide the final design. While

viewing examples and the prototype, participants were prompted to indicate their general thoughts on the designs, such as what they liked or disliked about the design and suggestions for improvement.

Sessions lasted approximately 1 hour, were audio recorded, and were digitally transcribed using the live transcription function in Zoom. Transcripts were verified by a research team member (MW or KG), and participant names were replaced by sequential identifiers. For methodological rigor, our data saturation criterion [26] aimed to discontinue data collection when we reached informational redundancy. Specifically, 2 research team members (MW and KG) determined that similar comments and concerns were repeatedly discussed across sessions and that data saturation had occurred.

### **Data Analysis**

Participant characteristic questionnaire data were summarized using R software (version 4.3.1; R Foundation for Statistical Computing). Qualitative data (ie, focus group transcripts) were analyzed using NVivo (QSR International) and summarized using thematic analysis [27]. Two research team members (MW and KG) independently reviewed 2 transcripts and used inductive coding [28] to develop a preliminary list of thematic codes organized by theme, subtheme, and participant labels to describe these data and generated a preliminary codebook [29]. To ensure consistency, these researchers then compared interpretations, resolved any discrepancies, and applied these codes to the remaining transcripts using deductive coding [28]. To ensure key concepts were not missed and that additional coding remained consistent, these researchers iteratively discussed additional themes that emerged after coding the remaining transcripts and adjusted the coding framework accordingly.

Coded quotes were organized by a theme, subtheme, and participant type (ie, a clinician or allied health professional [denoted by "HCP"] or a caregiver [denoted by "CG"]). Prominent themes that emerged from focus groups (see the *Results* section) were used to generate requirements to develop the delirium education tool. Participant responses to the

open-ended questions defined how delirium education is conducted in practice and what sections should be included in the tool to resemble this discussion; their responses also suggested potential design requirements to ensure effective use in hospitals, which were further explored based on participant feedback on the adult delirium education tools.

# Results

## **Focus Group Participant Demographics**

In all, 24 participants, including 18 PICU clinicians and allied health care professionals (6 registered nurses, 3 psychologists, 3 clinical fellows, 4 psychiatrists, 1 physiotherapist, and 1 intensivist) and 6 family members, attended 7 focus group sessions consisting of 4 to 6 participants (1 session was comprised of only 2 participants due to cancellations), and 57% (4/7) of the sessions consisted of mixed groups (combining clinicians, allied health care professionals, and caregivers). When approached in the PICU, 2 family members declined because they did not have the time and energy to participate, 11 family members could not be contacted following informed consent, and no participants were excluded. However, 67% (4/6) of the caregivers and 40% (6/15) of the health care professionals dropped out of the study from stage 1 to stage 2; thus, 3 additional health care professionals were recruited during stage 2 accordingly. These high attrition rates were predominately attributed to a child being readmitted (worsening or additional illness) or limited availability. Of the enrolled participants, 79% (19/24) identified as female, and 88% (21/24) were aged <50 years. Of the family member participants, 67% (4/6) had a high school diploma (or equivalent) and 33% (2/6) had either a certificate (university or nonuniversity) or university degree.

## **PICU Delirium Education in Practice: Key Themes**

Data from focus group discussions were grouped into 3 thematic domains, described in detail below, with a summary of design requirements and tool informational sections shown in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

Table . Summary of themes and design requirements identified from the initial focus groups with health care professionals and caregivers of critically ill children.

Identified themes	Design requirements
Present tool information in a logical order	• R1.1: Present educational information in an order that resembles the structure of the discussion between health care professionals and caregivers around delirium
Ensure that the tool is user-friendly	<ul> <li>R2.1: Provide multiple formats to increase information accessibility and recall, and to ensure that all families feel prepared</li> <li>R2.2: Minimize potential distress by implementing positive framing</li> <li>R2.3: Reduce cognitive load of caregivers to ensure effective information processing</li> <li>R2.4: Make detailed supplemental electronic resources readily available via web links and QR codes</li> </ul>
Delirium education should provide a sense of agency	<ul> <li>R3.1: Emphasize the importance of collaboration between the care-giver(s) and the health care team</li> <li>R3.2: Ask prompting questions to act as a call to action for the care-giver(s)</li> </ul>



Table . Summary of informational sections that should be included in the tool to ensure effective delirium education.

Section	Description
S1	Provide a succinct delirium definition to indicate that it is a common and transient condition among critically ill children
S2	Describe common signs and symptoms to ensure that families can identify key features of pediatric delirium
S3	Highlight clinically relevant long-term outcomes associated with delirium to contextualize the importance of early detection and management
S4	Indicate suggestions on how caregivers can assist with the care of their child who is currently experiencing delirium
S5	Incorporate education and supportive resources for families that require additional information or assistance
Additional sections for consideration	Delirium risk factors, potential causes, and mental health and supportive resource for caregivers

## **Overview of Delirium Education in Practice**

When considering how clinicians typically provide delirium education to caregivers, PICU health care professionals indicated that they do not typically discuss delirium until "staff start to observe symptom onset" (HCP09). As many health care professionals outside of psychiatry and psychology do not feel that they have delirium expertise, clinicians will typically "provide a short summary" (HCP08) and discuss delirium broadly (eg, signs and symptoms, potential causes, and long-term outcomes) following onset. During this discussion, clinicians may also describe delirium management techniques (eg, prompt extubation, sedation vacation, and early mobilization) if prompted by caregivers. As "parents are typically distressed" (HCP08) during their child's PICU stay and feel that they "lack control for caring for their child" (HCP01), health care professionals consistently provide details on how the family can assist their child (eg, bringing the child's favorite toy or blanket, family photos, and art). Subsequently, the discussion concludes by ensuring that the family has an accurate understanding of delirium and answering any remaining questions. Caregivers who had a child experience delirium indicated a similar process, whereas caregivers of children without delirium believed that the process and format would be informative (requirement R1.1 in Table 1).

#### Previous Experience With Educational Tools or Instruments

Most participants indicated that delirium education is a conversation at the bedside and that tools or instruments should be regularly implemented. Some clinicians indicated they might refer caregivers to the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry web-based resources, such as "Delirium in Children and Adolescents" or "When Your Child has Pediatric Delirium." Notably, most health care professionals were unaware that delirium education tools existed and indicated that their clinic or unit "doesn't currently have a delirium pamphlet or tool" (HCP03) that they can refer families to. A caregiver indicated that they had used surgical education tools (eg, websites and brochures) previously, which were "extremely helpful" (CG02), acted as a resource that could be reviewed as required, and ensured that they were prepared for the surgical journey (requirement R2.1). Another caregiver echoed this

sentiment and indicated that that during a stressful event, such as having a child in the PICU, "you don't necessarily remember what was said [by health care professionals]" and having "this information to refer back to is paramount" (CG06) to ensuring effective delirium education.

## Information Required to Provide Effective Delirium Education in the PICU

First, participants agreed that delirium should be clearly defined. Due to potential delirium-associated distress, participants suggested that the tool should then provide contextual information to emphasize that delirium is a commonly occurring condition among critically ill children (eg, 1 in 4 children experience delirium) and is a "temporary condition" (HCP12) that typically "resolves as the child's health improves" (HCP10; section S1 in Table 2).

As parents may be able to assist with the early detection of "subtle changes in their child's behavior [from baseline]" (HCP11), participants indicated that a "signs and symptoms" (HCP12) section should identify common features of delirium (eg, fluctuating course, confusion, altered sleep-wake cycle, rapid mood changes, hypoactive to hyperactive features, etc; section S2). Most participants further indicated that a section on outcomes associated with delirium (eg, increased length of hospital stay and decreased postdischarge quality of life) would contextualize the importance of prompt delirium detection and management (section S3). Some clinicians believed that the tool should indicate potential risk factors associated with delirium, as well as indicate how children are diagnosed and treated; however, most participants believed that indicating risk factors may "increase family anxiety" (HCP14). Participants further suggested that due to the complexity of the PICU and the stress associated with their child's acute illness, the educational tool should apply positive framing throughout (requirement R2.2).

To ensure caregivers are effectively used in early recognition of delirium and helpful treatment strategies, participants indicated that the tool should emphasize "the collaborative relationship between families and the medical team" (HCP10; requirement R3.1) and indicate how caregivers can "have an active role in their child's care" (HCP06; section S4). For

example, parents could bring "comfort items" (CG02) to the hospital, as well as implement daily routine reminders, such as opening the blinds, turning on room lights during the day, or brushing their child's teeth and showering them when it is safe to do so.

Most participants indicated that the education tool should conclude with a section for additional resources, such as pediatric delirium websites and options for local supportive services (section S5). As having a child admitted to the PICU greatly "impacts parents and their own mental health" (CG06), some participants further indicated that mental health and supportive resources should be available to ensure that caregivers feel supported during their child's hospital stay.

## Additional Requirements and Suggestions Identified From Reviewing Adult Delirium Education Tools

### Minimize Cognitive Load of Users

Participants identified that education tools may be cognitively demanding for caregivers who are already experiencing the distress associated with having a critically ill child (requirement R2.3); therefore, the tool should serve as a "quick reference" that is "a summary of the clinical discussion" (HCP11). Specifically, the tool should (1) implement "lay language [throughout]" (CG05); (2) avoid redundancy; (3) have "clear separation between each section" (HCP14); (4) use "bullet points to ensure information is easier to process" (CG06); and (5) use informative and representative icons. Participants further indicated that the 1-page format was less cognitively demanding overall and more accessible to review as an electronic resource than a trifold brochure, but a more detailed document may be beneficial for some families.

# The Delirium Education Tool Should Use Prompting Questions

Although the tool can only provide generic pediatric delirium education, most participants felt that the tool should provide a sense of personalization. The tool should "center on the child" (HCP11) by using "prompting questions" (HCP04) to act as a call to action for parents (eg, Is your child experiencing any of the following? and How can you help your child while they experience delirium?), which would engage families and potentially provide a sense of agency over their child's care (requirement R3.2).

#### Include Multiple Formats to Increase Use

Most participants believed the tool should have a 1-page version and a more detailed version readily available. Participants requested that the 1-page tool should remain a physical copy that provides only "necessary information" to ensure "its education information is not overwhelming" (CG02) and that families can read it "when they have time to process the information" (HCP09). Families (and potentially staff) that request additional educational information should have the option to access a more detailed document and other delirium-related resources via web links or QR codes (requirement R2.4).

# Additional Suggestions to Finalize the Delirium Education Tool Design

Participants indicated that our delirium education tool design (Figures 1-3) effectively included all sections and requirements identified from the previous sessions and that the tool would be highly beneficial to future families whose child is experiencing delirium in the PICU. While viewing the prototype, end users provided minor suggestions for improvement and indicated that the tool should (1) implement bold or italic text to emphasize key concepts; (2) provide section headings for each piece of text (acting as a question and answer format); (3) reduce medical terminology, vague constructs (eg, irregular moods), and redundant text; (4) include informative and representative icons; (5) ensure lists have a logical flow; and (6) contextualize if symptoms are in hospital versus after discharge. These suggestions were directly incorporated into our prototype, resulting in the finalized design of a multiformat delirium education tool in pediatrics.



Figure 1. One-page pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) delirium educational tool for caregivers.





Figure 2. Two-page (front) pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) delirium educational tool for caregivers.





JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023 | vol. 6 | e53120 | p.872 (page number not for citation purposes)

Figure 3. Two-page (back) pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) delirium educational tool for caregivers.



## Discussion

## **Primary Findings**

During the focus group sessions, our expected end users (health care professionals and caregivers) indicated five informational sections to develop a pediatric delirium education tool: (1) delirium definition, (2) key features (signs and symptoms), (3) postdischarge outcomes associated with PICU delirium onset, (4) tips and suggestions to inform family-centered care, and (5) education or supportive resources. To use educational information in practice, participants further indicated seven design requirements: information should (1) be presented in an order that resembles the structure of the clinical discussion around delirium; (2) increase accessibility, recall, and

preparedness by providing multiple formats; (3) reduce stress by implementing positive framing; (4) minimize the cognitive load of users to ensure adequate information processing; (5) provide supplemental electronic resources via QR codes; (6) emphasize collaboration between caregivers and the health care team; and (7) ask prompting questions to act as a call to action for caregivers. These findings culminated in the development of a delirium education tool for the PICU.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

Previous research in adult palliative care has resulted in educational tools with similar informational sections and requirements: for example, including a delirium definition, causes, signs and symptoms, as well as the treatment of delirium

[11,15,17,18]; implementing easily understood language throughout [18]; using direct, specific, and action-oriented lists [18]; applying simple layouts to ease processing; reducing text [11,15,17,18], and applying intuitive designs (eg, bold contrasting colors and large headings) [18]. Additional suggestions included implementing rest periods to mitigate caregiver exhaustion and daily communications with the patients' health care professionals about delirium [15]. We tried to address these suggestions by including additional sections on how caregivers can be supported and emphasizing collaboration between caregivers and the health care team. These previous studies were conducted in adult populations, and these findings broadly agree with those from our study. However, previous delirium education tool developments have rarely implemented patient-oriented research principles [22], such as directly involving expected end users [11,18], which may limit their implementation and clinical utility.

Adult delirium education tools have increased caregiver understanding of the causes of delirium [17], and health care professionals indicated that they were an efficient way to support caregivers and facilitate their involvement in providing care [11]. Such educational tools have led caregivers to report increased comfortability in delirium discussions with other family members, increased confidence in caretaking abilities, and decreased emotional distress (eg, feeling responsible, guilty, and powerless) during delirium episodes [15]. Furthermore, caregivers who received a delirium educational tool reported lower levels of anxiety and depression compared to caregivers who did not [30]. Usability surveys further indicated that health care professionals and caregivers found adult delirium education tools to be comprehensive and easily understandable [11] and that health care professionals intended to use them with future families [18]. Taken together, delirium education tools have the potential to increase caregivers' knowledge and confidence while decreasing their delirium-related distress, which suggests that future research is warranted to demonstrate both tool validity and usability in pediatrics.

#### Limitations

Our participants comprised a representative cohort of PICU health care professionals but only a small number of caregivers

from a single center, which may limit the transferability of our findings. We also had a large amount of attrition, which may have further limited transferability but also reflects the challenges of conducting qualitative research with repeated observations among complex patient populations. Future studies will need to implement multiple strategies (eg, providing incentives, conducting rapport-building exercises, enacting frequent communication, and indicating study benefits) to improve retention [31]. However, we included a wide range of health care professions (eg, psychiatrists, pharmacists, nurses, etc) and achieved data saturation; thus, robust findings were likely identified. To reduce additional distress and facilitate effective instruction, including children in future focus groups may be imperative; however, due to the large number of patients aged <7 years at our site, parents and caregivers were deemed as an appropriate proxy. Despite language interpretation services and closed captioning being offered during recruitment, our focus groups comprised only English-speaking participants, which may have further limited transferability. Although participants provided feedback on our current prototype, these findings lay the foundation to investigate the clinical impact of delirium education and inform the development of a study to investigate the family's role in detecting delirium in pediatrics. Assessing the clinical utility and usability of our pediatric delirium education tool prototype was beyond the scope of this study due to limited resources, and further research is warranted.

#### Conclusions

Our study identified several requirements for developing a PICU-associated delirium education tool, such as presenting the information in a way that resembles the consult, providing multiple formats, implementing positive framing, minimizing the cognitive load of users, using QR codes for additional resources, emphasizing collaboration, and asking prompting questions to act as a call to action. Although clinical evaluation is still required, implementing an educational tool guided by clinicians, allied health professionals, and caregivers into clinical practice can potentially reduce caregiver distress and assist in promptly recognizing and treating delirium in the PICU.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank the participating families, health care professionals, and the Health Promotion & Health Literacy team at BC Children's Hospital (BCCH) for their invaluable time, insights, and support. MW holds a Child and Adolescent Postdoctoral Fellowship at BCCH. MG holds a Michael Smith Health Research BC scholar award. This work was internally funded by a BCCH Research Institute Brain Behavior and Development Research Theme Trainee Boost Award.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

MW and KG participated in study design, data collection, qualitative analysis, as well as the drafting and editing of the manuscript. AC, PS, GK, MG, and SES participated in study design, drafting, and critical revision of the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e53120

```
XSL•FC
RenderX
```

Focus group guide for health care professionals and parents. [DOCX File, 38 KB - pediatrics\_v6i1e53120\_app1.docx]

## References

- Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Gélinas C, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of pain, agitation/sedation, delirium, immobility, and sleep disruption in adult patients in the ICU. Crit Care Med 2018 Sep;46(9):e825-e873. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003299] [Medline: 30113379]
- Barr J, Fraser GL, Puntillo K, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of pain, agitation, and delirium in adult patients in the intensive care unit: executive summary. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2013 Jan 1;70(1):53-58. [doi: 10.1093/ajhp/70.1.53] [Medline: 23261901]
- 3. Traube C, Silver G, Reeder RW, et al. Delirium in critically ill children: an international point prevalence study. Crit Care Med 2017 Apr;45(4):584-590. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000002250] [Medline: 28079605]
- 4. Kalvas LB, Harrison TM. State of the science in pediatric ICU delirium: an integrative review. Res Nurs Health 2020 Aug;43(4):341-355. [doi: 10.1002/nur.22054] [Medline: 32632985]
- 5. Traube C, Silver G, Gerber LM, et al. Delirium and mortality in critically ill children: epidemiology and outcomes of pediatric delirium. Crit Care Med 2017 May;45(5):891-898. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000002324] [Medline: 28288026]
- 6. Ducharme-Crevier L, La KA, Francois T, et al. PICU follow-up clinic: patient and family outcomes 2 months after discharge. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2021 Nov 1;22(11):935-943. [doi: <u>10.1097/PCC.00000000002789</u>] [Medline: <u>34101680</u>]
- Turkel SB. Pediatric delirium: recognition, management, and outcome. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2017 Nov 7;19(12):101. [doi: 10.1007/s11920-017-0851-1] [Medline: 29110102]
- 8. Silver G, Doyle H, Hegel E, et al. Association between pediatric delirium and quality of life after discharge. Crit Care Med 2020 Dec;48(12):1829-1834. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004661] [Medline: 33031144]
- Malas N, Brahmbhatt K, McDermott C, Smith A, Ortiz-Aguayo R, Turkel S. Pediatric delirium: evaluation, management, and special considerations. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2017 Aug 12;19(9):64-78. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11920-017-0817-3</u>] [Medline: <u>28801871</u>]
- Carbone MK, Gugliucci MR. Delirium and the family caregiver: the need for evidence-based education interventions. Gerontologist 2015 Jun;55(3):345-352. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnu035</u>] [Medline: <u>24847844</u>]
- 11. Kang Y, Moyle W, Cooke M, O'Dwyer S. South Korean family caregiver involvement in delirium care: a qualitative descriptive study. J Gerontol Nurs 2017 Dec 1;43(12):44-51. [doi: <u>10.3928/00989134-20170707-03</u>] [Medline: <u>28700075</u>]
- 12. Engel J, von Borell F, Baumgartner I, et al. Modified ABCDEF-bundles for critically ill pediatric patients what could they look like? Front Pediatr 2022 May 2;10:886334. [doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.886334] [Medline: 35586826]
- 13. Bigatello LM, Amirfarzan H, Haghighi AK, et al. Effects of routine monitoring of delirium in a surgical/trauma intensive care unit. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2013 Mar;74(3):876-883. [doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e31827e1b69] [Medline: 23425751]
- Moss SJ, Hee Lee C, Doig CJ, Whalen-Browne L, Stelfox HT, Fiest KM. Delirium diagnosis without a gold standard: evaluating diagnostic accuracy of combined delirium assessment tools. PLoS One 2022 Apr 18;17(4):e0267110. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0267110] [Medline: 35436316]
- Gagnon P, Charbonneau C, Allard P, Soulard C, Dumont S, Fillion L. Delirium in advanced cancer: a psychoeducational intervention for family caregivers. J Palliat Care 2002;18(4):253-261. [doi: <u>10.1177/082585970201800402</u>] [Medline: <u>12611315</u>]
- Assa AH, Wicks MN, Umberger RA. Family caregivers' experience of patients with delirium in critical care units: a state-of-the-science integrative review. Am J Crit Care 2021 Nov 1;30(6):471-478. [doi: <u>10.4037/ajcc2021394</u>] [Medline: <u>34719705</u>]
- Otani H, Morita T, Uno S, et al. Effect of leaflet-based intervention on family members of terminally ill patients with cancer having delirium: historical control study. Am J Hosp Palliat Care 2014 May;31(3):322-326. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049909113486171</u>] [Medline: <u>23616273</u>]
- 18. Paulson CM, Monroe T, McDougall GJ, Fick DM. A family-focused delirium educational initiative with practice and research implications. Gerontol Geriatr Educ 2016;37(1):4-11. [doi: 10.1080/02701960.2015.1031896] [Medline: 26165565]
- 19. Corona A, Colombo R, Catena E. Early identification of Subsyndromal delirium in the critically ill: don't let the delirium rise? Crit Care Med 2016 Mar;44(3):644-645. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001544] [Medline: 26901554]
- 20. Fick DM, Hodo DM, Lawrence F, Inouye SK. Recognizing delirium superimposed on dementia: assessing nurses' knowledge using case vignettes. J Gerontol Nurs 2007 Feb;33(2):40-47. [doi: 10.3928/00989134-20070201-09] [Medline: 17310662]
- 21. Fick DM, Mion LC. How to try this: delirium superimposed on dementia. Am J Nurs 2008 Jan;108(1):52-60. [doi: 10.1097/01.NAJ.0000304476.80530.7d] [Medline: 18156861]
- 22. Strategy for patient-oriented research patient engagement framework. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. URL: <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/48413.html</u> [accessed 2023-11-24]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]

RenderX

- 24. Lawrence CE, Dunkel L, McEver M, et al. A REDCap-based model for electronic consent (eConsent): moving toward a more personalized consent. J Clin Transl Sci 2020 Apr 3;4(4):345-353. [doi: <u>10.1017/cts.2020.30</u>] [Medline: <u>33244416</u>]
- 25. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 26. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant 2018;52(4):1893-1907. [doi: 10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8] [Medline: 29937585]
- 27. King N. Using templates in the thematic analysis of text. In: Cassell C, Symon G, editors. Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2004:256-270. [doi: <u>10.4135/9781446280119</u>]
- 28. Thomas DR. A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Am J Eval 2006 Jun;27(2):237-246. [doi: 10.1177/1098214005283748]
- Vollstedt M, Rezat S. An introduction to grounded theory with a special focus on axial coding and the coding paradigm. In: Kaiser G, Presmeg N, editors. Compendium for Early Career Researchers in Mathematics Education: Springer; 2019:81-100. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-15636-7\_4]
- 30. Lee J, Yeom I, Yoo S, Hong S. Educational intervention for family caregivers of older adults with delirium: an integrative review. J Clin Nurs 2023 Oct;32(19-20):6987-6997. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.16816</u>] [Medline: <u>37370251</u>]
- Abshire M, Dinglas VD, Cajita MIA, Eakin MN, Needham DM, Himmelfarb CD. Participant retention practices in longitudinal clinical research studies with high retention rates. BMC Med Res Methodol 2017 Feb 20;17(1):30. [doi: 10.1186/s12874-017-0310-z] [Medline: 28219336]

## Abbreviations

**BCCH:** BC Children's Hospital **COREQ:** Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research **PICU:** pediatric intensive care unit **REDCap:** Research Electronic Data Capture

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 26.09.23; peer-reviewed by S Kaur, S Etches; revised version received 13.11.23; accepted 14.11.23; published 11.12.23.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Wood M, Gandhi K, Chapman A, Skippen P, Krahn G, Görges M, Stewart SE Pediatric Delirium Educational Tool Development With Intensive Care Unit Clinicians and Caregivers in Canada: Focus Group Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e53120 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e53120</u> doi:10.2196/53120

© Michael Wood, Kavi Gandhi, Andrea Chapman, Peter Skippen, Gordon Krahn, Matthias Görges, S Evelyn Stewart. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 11.12.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Canadian Pediatric Intensive Care Adaptations for Critically III Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Survey Study

Evan Parchomchuk<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Tanya Holt<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MD; Gregory Hansen<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MPH, MD

<sup>1</sup>College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada
<sup>2</sup>Jim Pattison Children's Hospital, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

**Corresponding Author:** Gregory Hansen, MSc, MPH, MD Jim Pattison Children's Hospital Pediatric Intensive Care Unit 103 Hospital Drive Saskatoon, SK, S7N 0W8 Canada Phone: 1 306 844 1068 Fax: 1 306 975 3767 Email: gregory.hansen@usask.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** The COVID-19 pandemic overwhelmed Canadian hospitals with adult admissions. A large number of adult patients required critical care therapies, placing significant strain on hospital resources. In order to decompress adult intensive care units, pediatric intensive care units (PICUs) introduced adapted models of traditional care to lessen these burdens.

**Objective:** We aimed to evaluate how PICUs across Canada adapted care for the high volumes of critically ill adults.

**Methods:** A survey containing 40 questions was sent to the medical directors of 14 Canadian PICUs where English was the primary clinical language. The survey was designed to gain perspective on the various adaptations that PICUs instituted during the COVID-19 pandemic.

**Results:** Of the 13 PICUs that returned survey responses (response rate: 13/14, 93%), 10 (77%) participated in at least one adaptation to support the influx of admitted adults with COVID-19. The key challenges included disorganization, loss of autonomy, and compromised patient care. The significant advantages of these adaptations included a sense of learning and comradery.

**Conclusions:** Our study highlighted an unpreparedness in critical care surge capacity. During the COVID-19 pandemic, adaptations rapidly emerged in Canada that involved PICUs with adult care. In the future, preplanned adaptations for optimizing robust critical care services should be developed based on what has been learned from the COVID-19 pandemic.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43602) doi:10.2196/43602

## KEYWORDS

Canada; COVID-19 pandemic; delivery of health care; pediatrics; population health; health care; intensive care; patient care

# Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic dramatically impacted hospital utilization. Many admitted adult patients had prolonged hospital stays, with a large number requiring support in intensive care units (ICUs) [1]. Unfortunately, the number of adult patients who needed critical care soon outpaced the availability of conventional critical care resources [2-4], while the number of children generally did not [5]. As such, 3 variations to traditional pediatric ICU (PICU) models of care became prevalent to treat this influx.

One adaptation was to have pediatric intensivists mange adult patients in the PICU [6]. As pediatric critical care capacity was protected [7], care was standardized, collaboration with adult physicians occurred, licensing was addressed, and team preparedness was ensured [8], mortality outcomes were very favorable [9-12]. A second adaptation was to redeploy PICU staff to adult ICUs. At least two centers [13,14] documented PICU physician, nurse, and physician assistant redeployment after rapid training sessions. Strain between PICU and ICU staff was noted [14], but this diminished as familiarity with the style of practice was established [14]. The final adaption was to have the PICU to act as a unit for ICU overflow that was staffed by



adult physicians. As a single pool of critical care resources was distributed to both adult and pediatric patients, equitable considerations became necessary [15-19].

The purpose of this study was to evaluate how PICUs across Canada adapted care for the high volumes of critically ill adults during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# Methods

## **Survey Development**

PubMed and Google Scholar were searched for articles containing the keywords COVID-19, critical care, adults, and pediatric intensive care units. Literature was limited to articles published in the last 2 years, due to the novelty of the COVID-19 pandemic. The literature was retrieved, and the references were reviewed. Following this, 2 pediatric intensive care specialists reviewed the literature and began to create the survey. The survey addressed the following three main adaptations to traditional models of care: opening PICU beds for adult ICU staff and patients, deploying PICU staff to adult ICUs, and managing adult patients with PICU staff in the PICU. Pertinent questions related to these adaptations were reviewed by an independent intensivist to ensure the validity and relevancy of questions. The survey was created and then converted to a REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) survey. REDCap was designed to support data capture for research studies, ensure secure web authentication and secure layer encryption, and allow for anonymous participant responses [20]. REDCap was maintained by the University of Saskatchewan.

## **Ethics Approval**

The survey was approved by the human research ethics board of the University of Saskatchewan (#3248).

## **Survey Format**

The survey (Multimedia Appendix 1) consisted of 40 possible questions that were divided into 3 domains that corresponded to an adaptation. The three adaptations were titled *opening PICU* beds for adult staff and patients, deploying PICU staff to adult ICUs, and managing adult patients with PICU staff in the PICU. Each domain had required responses, and subsequent questions would only be displayed, via an embedded branching logic algorithm, for certain responses. If participants did not participate in any of the three adaptations mentioned in the survey, they were immediately directed to the conclusion of the survey.

#### **Survey Administration**

The contact information of 14 Canada medical-surgical PICUs or mixed medical-surgical–cardiac PICUs, where English was the primary clinical language, was gathered from university directories and local sources. In April 2022, a cover letter that introduced the survey and briefly described the content was distributed to the medical directors of each of these PICUs. The link to the REDCap survey was attached to a cover letter that stated "completion and return of the survey implies consent to participate." Survey answers could be changed prior to submission. Further, 3 reminder emails were sent to the participants every 2 weeks. Coded usernames were stored with responses and later deleted to prevent duplicate entries. No incentive was given for the completion of the survey.

### **Data Management and Statistics**

Data were collected and managed by using REDCap software. Participant data were anonymous and were analyzed by using IBM SPSS Statistics 28 (IBM Corp). Responses were reviewed for completeness. Proportions were calculated for questions, when applicable. Further, 2 authors (GH and TH) inductively coded all comments as a whole and deductively coded comments from each section into a framework of lessons learned and positive or negative aspects. Representative quotations were agreed upon by all authors.

## Results

## **Overview of Survey Responses**

A total of 13 survey responses (response rate: 13/14, 93%) were returned by PICU medical directors. All returned surveys were fully completed. Of the 13 PICUs, 3 (23%) had pre-existing pandemic plans that involved adult ICU and PICU collaborations. During the COVID-19 pandemic, 10 (77%) PICUs participated in adult intensive care by opening PICU beds for adult ICU staff and patients (3/13, 23%), deploying PICU staff to adult ICUs (5/13, 38%), and managing adult patients with PICU staff in the PICU (8/13, 62%).

## **Opening PICU Beds for Adult Staff and Patients (n=3)**

This adaptation was coordinated at the institutional (n=1), regional health authority (n=1), and provincial health authority (n=1) levels. The trigger for the initiation of this model of care was adult ICU capacity being overwhelmed (n=3). The PICUs accepted COVID-19–positive patients (n=1), COVID-19–negative patients (n=1), or both COVID-19–positive patients and COVID-19–negative patients (n=1). A range of 4 to >100 adults were admitted, through this adaptation, over a period of <2 weeks to 10 months. Center responses are summarized in Textbox 1.



Textbox 1. Pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) medical directors' perspectives on opening PICU beds for adult patients and staff.

#### Negative effects on PICU patient care (n=2)

- 1. "Communication and practice style between adult intensivists, registered nurses (RN) and respiratory therapists (RRT) were very different, and so there were difficulties felt on the part of our staff (PICU, RNs) not wanting to pick up shifts because they did not what not deal with adults and adult style of medicine."
- 2. "Short staffing in the PICU was amplified, and staff felt they had to sedate their patients more in order to take care of all of the patients."

#### Positive observations for this adaptation (n=3)

- 1. "Sense of help during crisis...adult side incredibly grateful."
- 2. "Saw more early patient mobilization."
- 3. "Good learning experience during periods of surges."

#### Lessons learned (n=3)

- 1. "The great work that we do at end-of-life with children becomes evident when you see how that type of care is provided to dying adults."
- 2. "A ton of work and planning sent into this probably easier to replicate in the future."

### **Deploying PICU Staff to Adult ICUs (n=5)**

A total of 5 centers deployed registered nurses, 4 deployed registered respiratory therapists, and 1 deployed physicians. No centers deployed social workers, pharmacists, or dieticians. Further, 2 centers coordinated this adaptation at the institutional level, while the others involved all levels, including the regional

health authority, provincial health authority, and provincial Ministry of Health levels. The duration of this adaptation ranged from 6 weeks to 8 months, and this adaptation was specifically triggered by projections of ICU admissions, actual ICU admissions, and ICU staff shortages. Center responses are summarized in Textbox 2.

Textbox 2. Pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) medical directors' perspectives on deploying PICU staff to adult intensive care units.

#### Concerns of ensuring clinical preparedness (n=3)

- 1. "Nurses were supposed to be given some training...some got more than others."
- 2. "There was minimal preparation provided to the RNs and RRTs. They were initially in more supervised roles on the adult units before taking on patients independently."
- 3. "Buddy days for some people, but the majority were RNs with previous adult experience who just went straight to patient care."

#### Negative effects in PICUs with this adaptation (n=2)

- 1. "We had to cancel elective surgeries due to lack of RNs in PICU during high volume days."
- 2. "The impact was felt more on the RRT side. We often just worked short. The facility did float ward nurses to us more frequently to backfill PICU nursing shortages, but this couldn't be done with RRTs."

#### Positive observations for this adaptation (n=4)

1. "Team members returned with some added perspectives they were able to share with all of us on the practice of critical care, during the pandemic, and in general."

#### Lessons learned (n=3)

- 1. "There is more in common between PICU and adult ICU than there is different."
- 2. "Be transparent with your team. Consider seeking for volunteers before assuming mandatory deployment."

# Managing Adult Patients With PICU Staff in the PICU (n=8)

The coordination of this adaptation was largely done (n=6) via collaborations among the regional health authority, provincial health authority, and provincial Ministry of Health levels. The volume of adult admissions to Canadian PICUs ranged from 6 to 100 patients during an admission period ranging from 2 weeks to 8 months. Further, 4 centers restricted their admissions to COVID-19–positive patients, 1 restricted its admissions to

COVID-19–negative patients, and 3 admitted both COVID-19–positive patients and COVID-19–negative patients. Additionally, 3 centers also limited the adults they cared for to those aged a maximum of 50 years. A total of 4 centers had a pre-existing specialized pediatric transport team, but only 1 center became involved with the interfacility transport of adult patients. To ensure that pediatric capacity for critically ill patients was not compromised, most centers (7/8, 87.5%) used a refined daily approach to managing bed availability in the adult ICUs. This adaptation was triggered by projected and

actual surges in hospitalizations, with adult capacity ranging Center responses are summarized in Textbox 3. between 100% and 125%.

Textbox 3. Pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) medical directors' perspectives on managing adult patients with PICU staff in the PICU.

#### Measures to ensure that adult care was not compromised (n=8)

- 1. "Supervised by adult intensivists."
- 2. "Rapid development of policies and procedures, education sessions, shared folders with resource documents"
- 3. "We arranged for adult subspecialists to consult with us rather than their pediatric versions."
- 4. "Adult code simulations"

#### Negative effects on PICU patient care (n=3)

- 1. "We worked more hours in the month compromising our lifestyle."
- 2. "Emotional strain of managing COVID-19 and death of adult patients was different"

#### Positive observations for this adaptation (n=7)

- 1. "Some exposure to new ways of doing things."
- 2. "Adult intensivists understood that were intensivists also."
- 3. "Multiple opportunities for collaboration and engagement occurred with our adult ICU colleagues."

#### Lessons learned (n=7)

- 1. "Different staffing models explored."
- 2. "Surge capacity can be organized and resiliency in moments of national emergency were very developed"
- 3. "With good back up, adults can be cared for well in a PICU (some patients' families did not want to go back when the time came!)."

#### Lack of Engagement and Autonomy (n=8)

The primary theme that arose from PICU directors' responses was their perceived lack of engagement and autonomy (n=8). They commented that adaptation decisions were "imposed," they had "no choice," there was not a venue "for [pushback]," and adaptation decisions were conducted with "excessive zeal." In one instance, directors "had other models proposed…not accepted." Moreover, similar reflections were noted after the crisis had subsided, as follows:

Not enough engagement, and not enough push back and not enough power to bring the staff back when the situation improved.

Even with very low (adult ICU admission) numbers, the PICU was not given back to us.

We did not have enough power (to return to regular model of care) when the situation improved.

## Discussion

Our Canadian survey demonstrated a lack of pre-existing COVID-19 pandemic plans among adult ICUs and PICUs. Grappling to find solutions for adult ICU surges, many PICU directors felt uninvolved with the new care modeling and felt that they had compromised care in the process. However, each center described positive learning experiences, which may be useful for future pandemic planning.

The lack of PICU preparedness for adapting to adult ICU surges resulted in concerns from directors. Many were unhappy with their lack of engagement and autonomy in decision-making,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43602
```

leading to adaptations that were not desirable and precipitously instituted. Although the survey did not specifically ask for details of engagement, acute adult surges may have resulted in efficiency and speed being prioritized. Furthermore, several adaptations were initiated by novel committees from provincial pandemic organizations, which may have lacked adequate pediatric representation.

Regardless of the adaptation, many PICU directors suggested that pediatric care was compromised. The adaptations resulted in strategically placed PICU resources being moved, staff shortages, the cancellation of pediatric surgeries, and increased patient sedation due to busier patient assignments. Although the survey was not designed to quantitatively assess these compromises, the sentiments conveyed an environment of suboptimal care in which both pediatric and adult patient morbidities could have occurred.

Despite the adaptations' negative consequences, some unexpected positive lessons emerged. A sense of esprit de corps and pride emerged, as pediatric intensivists understood the necessity of the adaptions and exhibited a willingness to assist with the adult ICU surge. Positive relationships between adult and pediatric intensivists were fostered, as there was a recognition of the commonalties between adult and pediatric care. Clinically, exposure to adult care and protocols provided unique perspectives and learning opportunities. Most importantly, some centers felt empowered when reflecting on what was accomplished.

Going forward, the concerns that arose from Canadian PICU directors during the COVID-19 pandemic suggest a necessary

preparedness for future pandemics. Provincial commitments are required to ensure dedicated funding for existing adult and pediatric critical care beds, the continuation of opening additional beds, and the recruitment and training of critical care physicians. New models of critical care could be considered that view critical care as a service line and have adaptable transition points between PICUs and adult ICUs. Intraprovincial collaborations that involve institutions, medical leadership, and health authorities at the local, regional, and provincial levels are needed to address pediatric and adult surge planning with potential adaptations that involve cross coverage. Lastly, interprovincial collaborations could be initiated, as many provinces had to rely on cross-border patient transports. However, PICU directors were very clear that any potential shifts must be guided by transparency and multidisciplinary team engagement.

The survey had several potential limitations. Although our total response rate was 93% (13/14), there is a risk of sampling bias

with only surveying medical directors from English-speaking PICUs. Furthermore, despite our best efforts to create a survey that avoided leading questions, our data may reflect response biases due to the nature of the pandemic and its progression. As this study addressed large challenges for critical resources, voluntary response bias may have resulted in the overrepresentation of PICU medical directors with strong opinions. Finally, whether the findings here can be generalized to PICUs outside Canada cannot be determined.

Across Canada, the abrupt need for critical care surge capacity resulted in adaptations of PICU care. Although several negative aspects of these adaptations were revealed, many lessons were learned, and some positive feedback emerged. These considerations may be important for ensuring that robust critical care services can be rapidly and efficiently mobilized during future pandemics.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survey questionnaire. [DOCX File , 16 KB - pediatrics v6i1e43602 app1.docx ]

### References

- COVID-ICU Group on behalf of the REVA Network and the COVID-ICU Investigators. Clinical characteristics and day-90 outcomes of 4244 critically ill adults with COVID-19: a prospective cohort study. Intensive Care Med 2021 Jan;47(1):60-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06294-x] [Medline: 33211135]
- Xie J, Tong Z, Guan X, Du B, Qiu H, Slutsky AS. Critical care crisis and some recommendations during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. Intensive Care Med 2020 May;46(5):837-840 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-05979-7] [Medline: 32123994]
- Grasselli G, Pesenti A, Cecconi M. Critical care utilization for the COVID-19 outbreak in Lombardy, Italy: Early experience and forecast during an emergency response. JAMA 2020 Apr 28;323(16):1545-1546 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.4031] [Medline: 32167538]
- 4. Ferguson NM, Laydon D, Nedjati-Gilani G, Imai N, Ainslie K, Baguelin M, et al. Report 9 Impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) to reduce COVID-19 mortality and healthcare demand. Imperial College London. 2020 Mar 16. URL: <u>https://www.imperial.ac.uk/mrc-global-infectious-disease-analysis/covid-19/report-9-impact-of-npis-on-covid-19/</u> [accessed 2022-10-17]
- CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Coronavirus disease 2019 in children United States, February 12-April 2, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Apr 10;69(14):422-426 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6914e4] [Medline: 32271728]
- Philips K, Uong A, Buckenmyer T, Cabana MD, Hsu D, Katyal C, et al. Rapid implementation of an adult coronavirus disease 2019 unit in a children's hospital. J Pediatr 2020 Jul;222:22-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.04.060] [Medline: 32380026]
- Sinha R, Aramburo A, Deep A, Bould EJ, Buckley HL, Draper ES, et al. Caring for critically ill adults in paediatric intensive care units in England during the COVID-19 pandemic: planning, implementation and lessons for the future. Arch Dis Child 2021 Jun;106(6):548-557 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-320962] [Medline: <u>33509793</u>]
- 8. Mcnamara A, Fadden E, Thorburn K. P0734 / #1793: Caring for adults with COVID-19 in a standalone paediatric intensive care unit. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2021 Mar;22(Supplement 1 3S):353-354. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.pcc.0000741272.82299.c0</u>]
- 9. Holt T, Smith L, Hansen G. Adult admissions to a Canadian PICU during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Pediatr Intensive Care 2022 Jun 20. [doi: 10.1055/s-0042-1747928]
- Remy KE, Verhoef PA, Malone JR, Ruppe MD, Kaselitz TB, Lodeserto F, et al. Caring for critically ill adults with coronavirus disease 2019 in a PICU: Recommendations by dual trained intensivists. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2020 Jul;21(7):607-619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002429] [Medline: 32420720]

- Fernandes ND, Cummings BM, Naber CE, Salt MD, Lok J, Yager PH, et al. Adult COVID-19 patients cared for in a pediatric ICU embedded in a regional biothreat center: Disease severity and outcomes. Health Secur 2021;19(4):442-446. [doi: 10.1089/hs.2020.0225] [Medline: 33326301]
- Gist RE, Pinto R, Kissoon N, Ahmed YE, Daniel P, Hamele M. Repurposing a PICU for adult care in a state mandated COVID-19 only hospital: Outcome comparison to the MICU cohort to determine safety and effectiveness. Front Pediatr 2021 May 14;9:665350 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.665350] [Medline: 34055697]
- Wasserman E, Toal M, Nellis ME, Traube C, Joyce C, Finkelstein R, et al. Rapid transition of a PICU space and staff to adult coronavirus disease 2019 ICU care. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2021 Jan 01;22(1):50-55. [doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002597] [Medline: <u>33031350</u>]
- 14. Levin AB, Bernier ML, Riggs BJ, Zero SD, Johnson ED, Brant KN, et al. Transforming a PICU into an adult ICU during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: Meeting multiple needs. Crit Care Explor 2020 Sep 15;2(9):e0201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CCE.0000000000201] [Medline: 32984831]
- 15. Christian MD, Hawryluck L, Wax RS, Cook T, Lazar NM, Herridge MS, et al. Development of a triage protocol for critical care during an influenza pandemic. CMAJ 2006 Nov 21;175(11):1377-1381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.060911] [Medline: 17116904]
- Christian MD, Sprung CL, King MA, Dichter JR, Kissoon N, Devereaux AV, Task Force for Mass Critical Care, Task Force for Mass Critical Care. Triage: care of the critically ill and injured during pandemics and disasters: CHEST consensus statement. Chest 2014 Oct;146(4 Suppl):e61S-e74S [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1378/chest.14-0736] [Medline: 25144591]
- Devereaux AV, Dichter JR, Christian MD, Dubler NN, Sandrock CE, Hick JL, Task Force for Mass Critical Care. Definitive care for the critically ill during a disaster: a framework for allocation of scarce resources in mass critical care: from a Task Force for Mass Critical Care summit meeting, January 26-27, 2007, Chicago, IL. Chest 2008 May;133(5 Suppl):51S-66S. [doi: 10.1378/chest.07-2693] [Medline: 18460506]
- Christian MD, Wax R, Lazar N, Hawryluck L, Herridge M, Fortier W, et al. Critical care during a pandemic: final report of the Ontario health plan for an influenza pandemic (OHPIP) working group on adult critical care admission, discharge and triage criteria. Center for Infectious Disease Research and Policy. 2006 Apr. URL: <u>https://www.cidrap.umn.edu/sites/ default/files/php/21/21\_report.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-02-03]
- Christian MD, Kissoon N. Caring for critically ill adults in PICUs is not "Child's Play". Pediatr Crit Care Med 2020 Jul;21(7):679-681 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002430] [Medline: 32420719]
- 20. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]

## Abbreviations

ICU: intensive care unit PICU: pediatric intensive care unit REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 17.10.22; peer-reviewed by J Foster, M Bernier, M Kapsetaki; comments to author 02.11.22; revised version received 16.11.22; accepted 16.01.23; published 10.02.23.

Please cite as:

Parchomchuk E, Holt T, Hansen G Canadian Pediatric Intensive Care Adaptations for Critically Ill Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Survey Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2023;6:e43602 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2023/1/e43602</u> doi:<u>10.2196/43602</u> PMID:<u>36724349</u>

©Evan Parchomchuk, Tanya Holt, Gregory Hansen. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.02.2023. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

